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THE

Comprehensive Gazetteer
OF

ENGLAND AND WALES.

The want of a trustworthy modern work of reference on the topography of our

own country is one that has long been felt and frequently expressed, and the

issue of the completed results of the tenth census of England and Wales appeared

to afibrd the most appropriate occasion for supplying it. With that object the

"Comprehensive Gazetteer of England and Wales" was projected, and it has

been the aim of the publisher to make it the most trustworthy and practically

useful work of the kind, whether to the resident or the traveller, to the man of

business or the man of leisure—to all, in short, who have any relations with their

fellow-countrymen, and who take an interest in the wonderful development of their

native country in the closing decade of the nineteenth century.

The information which the body of the work contains has been collected during

a number of years by an experienced staff of compilers under the editorship of

Mr. J. H. F. Brabner, F.R.G.S. The articles on the more important cities and towns

have, to secure the utmost attainable accuracy, been written on the spot, while the

smaller articles, numbering of necessity many thousands, have, as a precaution against

the risk of error, been submitted to local authorities specially qualified to supply

the latest and most correct information with respect to the places described.

In selecting this information, particular attention has been paid to its practical

value. The distances from the nearest railway stations, or the nearest large

town, are noted, and special attention has been given to the postal and telegraphic

connections of the places described, latest information on which is very often

hurriedly sought for, and only obtained, if at all, after much loss of time and

trouble. Prominence has been given to the latest statistics relating to education,

commerce, shipping, manufactures, and agriculture, the figures in every case being

obtained from the latest official reports, while the areas of the parishes, &c., are from

the latest returns of the Ordnance Survey department. The great railways, canals,

reservoirs, and other engineering works with which the prosperity of our country

is so intimately associated, necessarily receive particular notice.

The populations given are the finally corrected results of the census of 1891, and
where the municipal and parliamentary limits of cities and towns, or the boundaries

of civil and ecclesiastical parishes of the same name, are not identical, the popula-

tion of each area is stated. The churches, livings, &c., in the various parishes are

the subjects of special reference, as are likewise any objects of interest to the historian

or the archieologist, noblemen's and gentlemen's seats, &c., &c.

The illustrations, which in a work of this description are not second in importance

to the text, include a series of full -page etchings of typical examples of the

scenery of England and Wales, and a series of maps of all the counties, specially

reduced from the Ordnance Survey for this work by Mr. F. S. Weller, F.R.G.S., and
printed in colours to show with the utmost clearness their i^resent political divisions.

Such a series is of great practical value in a work of reference, as it enables the

map of any district to be readily referred to under the name of the county, which
necessarily appears in its alphabetical order. In these maps, besides the natural features

of the country, such as mountains, rivers, lakes, and estuaries, prominence is given

to the main roads, railways, and canals, which form the means of communication and
highways of commerce. The whole is supplemented by street plans, printed in colours

and on an enlarged scale, of the principal cities and towns, and by a general map
of England and Wales.

The work is issued in Six Volumes, handsomely bound in cloth, gilt tops, price

Ten Shillings each, net.







"lilli

/''it
'//I







THE

Comprehensive Gazetteer

OF

ENGLAND AND WALES.

EDI TED BY

J. H F. BRABNER, F.R.G S.,

EDITOll OF THE NATIONAL EN U VC LOP A:DI A.

LONDON:
WILLIAM MACKENZIE, 69 LUDGATE HILL,

EDINBURGH AND DUBLIN.





1595958































^^^^



F.SWeller FRGS
PiGH & GLASGOW

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found






























52:i

Stealer of Miles

JiaHwavs o—— Roads «

CAR D I G A N

r^ X LnqEla^— Fm V pan \ BetWsEi^Y^Srfm a.in.-} ^ * m A

WILLIAM MACKE.NZIL. LOt



1 ampeja^^l^^









T.S.WeEei-, FR.GS









FSWeaior.F.aG-S,

.EDINBURGH a 1,IASG0W.





























THE

COMPREHENSIVE GAZETTEER

ENGLAND AND WALES.

Contractions used in this Work— G.E.R., Great Eastern Raihuay ; G.N.R., Great Northern Hailway ; G.W.R., Great Western Hailway ;

L.D. & E.C.R., Lancashire, Derbyshire, and East Coast Railway; L. & Y.R., Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway; L.B. & S.C.K.,

London, Brighton, and South Coast Railway; Ij.C. & D.K., London, Chatham, and Dover Railway; L. & N.W.R., London and
North-Western Railway ; L. & S.W.R., London and South-Western Railway; M.R., Midland Railway; M.S. & L.R., Manchester,

Sfte_ffield, and Lincolnshire Railway; N.E.R., Korth-Eastern Railway; S.E.R., South-Eastern Railway; N.R., North Riding, d:c.;

R.O., Receiving Office (Post); Ji.S., Railway Station ; R.S.O., Railway Sul-office ; S.O., Sub-office.

Note.—In the case oj parishes, where only one population is given^ the populations of the civil and ecclesiastical parishes are the same-

The populations given aie from the Census of 1S91.

Aaron End, a mountain on the S side of the pass from

Bonowdale ovur Sty Head toward Wastdale, Cumberland.

Abberley, a parish in Worcestershire, 6 miles S\V of

Stourport station, on the G.W.R. It has a post ofBce under

Stourport; Great Witley, 2 miles distant, is the money

order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2360; population of

the civil pai'ish, 6G3 ; of the ecclesiastical, 595. Abberley

Hall was long in the possession of the Walsh family, one

of whom was the friend and p.atron of the poet Pope, but

it is now the property of the Jones family. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford; net value, £252.

The church, in the Early English style, was built in 1852.

The chancel and some arches of the old Norman church

still remain. There is a Wesleyan chapel. Abberley Hill,

the northern end of the Malvern system, commands a fine

view, and faces an ancient encampment on Woodbury, a mile S.

Abberton, a parish in Esses, on the river Roman, 5 miles

south of Colchester, and 2J SW of Wivenhoe station on the

G.E.R. It has a post ofBce under Colchester ; money order

and telegraph office, Rowliedge. Acreage, 1068; population

of the civil parish, 252. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St Albans; yearly value, £238 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is plain but good,

and there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Abberton, a village and a parish in Worcestershire, 6 miles

NNE of Pershore. Post town, Pershore. Acreage, 999
;

population, 95. Abberton Hall is the chief residence. There

are saline springs, similar to the waters of Cheltenham.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value,

£142. The church was rebuilt in 1881.

Abberwick, a township in Edlingham parish, Northumber-
land, on the river Alne, 3^ miles W of Alnwick. Acreage,

1680; population, 88. Alnwick is the post town; money
order and telegraph office, Glanton.

Abbess Roding. See Abbotts Roding.
Abbey, a station in Cumberland, on the North British

railway, 317 miles from London and 17 WSW of Carlisle.

See Abbey Holme.
Abbey, Norfolk, a station on the G.E.K., 88 miles from

London and 1 from West Dereham.
Abbey-Cwm-Hir, a village .and a parish in Radnorshire, 5J

miles from Penybont station on the L. & N.W.R., and from
Pantydwr station on the Cambrian railway, and 6J ENE of

Rhayader. Post town, Penybont (R.S.O.) Acreage, 11,3-15;

population, 452. The name signifies the Abbey of the Long
Vale. The surface lies along the Clywedog, a tributary of

the Ithon
; and is a charming, fertile valley, environed .and

overhung by picturesque wooded hills. A Cistercian abbey
was founded here in 1143, and sacked in 1401 by Owen
Glendower. The nave of the abbey church was 242 feet

long and 73 feet wide, but only a few fragments of it remain.

The seat of the Philips family, The Hall (rebuilt in 1868),
stands adjacent. A Roman road goes up the vale past the

abbey, toward the valley of the Marteg. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of St David's ; net value, £173. The
parish church is small but handsome.

Abbeydale, a hamlet in Ecclesall Bierlow township, W. R.

Yorkshire, 3 miles SW of Sheffield. The ecclesiastical parish

of Abbeydale, which was formed in 1878, extends into

Derbyshire, in which county the parish church is situated.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Southwell

;

net value, £161. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Sheffield.

Abbeydore, a village and a parish, and the head of a poor-

law union, in the county of Hereford, 156 miles from London,
with a station on the Golden Valley Line, which forms a
junction 2 miles south at Pontrilas with the G.W. system.

The village stands on the river Dore, and offers facilities for

anglers. It has a post office under Pontrilas (R.S.O.), which
is the telegi-.aph office; money order office, Ewyas Harold.

The parish comprises 5503 acres; population, 480. Abbey-
dore Court is the chief residence. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Hereford ; net value, £421. A CLstercian abbey was
founded here by Robert Ewias in 1147, and p.assed at the

dissolution to the Scudamores. The choir, transept, and five

chapels remain of the old abbey church, which was restored

in 1634 by Lord Scudamore, and is now a large and beautiful

edifice, containing some beautiful painted windows and several

ancient monuments. The workhouse will accommodate 100
inmates.

Abbey Green, a hamlet in Leek parish, Staffordshire, less

than a mile N of Leek. There are remains of an ancient

abbey, now used as a farmhouse.

Abbey-Holme or Holme-Cnltram, a p.arish and a town-

ship in Cumberland. The parish comprises the several quarters

of Abbey-Town, East Waver, St Cuthberts, and Low Quarter,

and lies on the river Waver, and on the North British railway,

near the head of Moricambe Bay, 6 miles WNW of Wigton. It

has two railway stations, and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office of the name of Abbey-Town nnder Silloth. It was
formerly a market-town ; and it still b.as fairs on 29 Oct.

and Tuesday before Whitsuntide. A Cistercian abbey was
founded here in the 12th century by Henry I., and rose to

such consequence that ita abbots were frequently summoned
1



ABBEY-HULTON

to sit in Parliament in tlie reigns of Edward I. and II. It

was partly demolished by Robert Bruce, but afterwards splen-

didly rebuilt. It sustained much injury in the time of Henry
VIII. ; but its church continued in good condition till 1000,
when the steeple fell, and destroyed a great part of the

chancel ; and in 10 04 most of the rest was ruined by an
accidental fire. The area is 5235 acres

;
population, 90G.

The living of Holme-Cultram is a rectory in the diocese of

Carlisle ; net value, £280, in the gift of Oxford University.

There are also places of worship for Congregationalists,

Friends, Primitive and Wesleyan Methodists, and several

good schools.

Abbey-Hulton, a lordship in Burslem parish, Stafford-

shire, 2 miles from Newcastle-nnder-Lyme. It contains the

hamlets of Milton and Sneyd-Green, and has remains of a
Cistercian abbey, founded in 1223 by Henry de Audley.

Abbey-Lands, a township in Alnwick parish, Northum-
berland, 2 miles NW of Alnwick. It contains the hamlets

of Broomhonse, Hcckly-House, and Heckly-Grange, and it

formerly cont.ained an abbey of canons.

Abbeystead, one of the twelve vaccaries or cattle gates

into which the township of Over Wyresdale is divided, in Lan-
caster parish, Lancashu-e. The Earl of Sefton has a beautiful

seat here, built in 1887, situ.ated on the banks of a large re-

servoir belonging to the Lancaster water-works. There is a

school with an endowment of £200 per annum.
Abbey Village, a vilhage in Witlmell parish, Lancashire.

It has a post office under Chorley; railway station and
telegraph office, Brinscall.

Abbey Wood, a hamlet in Erith p.arish, Kent, on the

S.E.R., 25 miles E of Woolwich. It was named from the

abbey of Lessness, about a mile distant. It has become a

metropolit.in suburb, and it has a railway station witli a post,

money order, .and telegi'aph office under Belvedere (S.O.)

Abbots, a tithing in Portbury parish, Somerset, 6J miles

WNW of Bristol. It had a cell of the Augustinian priory of

Eromere.

Abbots-Ann, a parish in H.'ints, on the river Ann,
2i miles SW by W of Andover station on the L. & S.W.E.
It has a post office under Andover. Acreage, 3390

;
popu-

lation, 589. Red Rice House, .an ancient mansion, is the place

where George IV. was manied to Mrs Fitzherbert. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester ; net value, £002.
The ancient church belonged to the abbey of Cornelies, in

Normandy. The present church is a structure of the 18th
centuiy, exceedingly well built, but of faulty design. There
is a Congi-egational chapel.

Abbots-Bickington, a parish in Devon, on the river Tor-
ridge, 7 miles NNE of Holsworthy st.ation on the L. & S.W.R.
Acreage, 1097; population of the civil parish, 53; of the

ecclesiastical, 156. A blue limestone, used for building, is

quaiTied. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter

;

net value, £120. The ancient church was a cell of the

abbey of Hartland. The present church is a small stracture

of chancel, n.ave, two iiisles, and low tower.

Abbots-Bromley, a large vilhage and a parish in StafTord-

shire. The village, 5i miles from Rugeley station on the L.&
N.W.R., and C S of Uttoxeter, has a post, money order, and
telegi'aph office under Rugeley. Fonnerly a m.arket-town, it

consists chiefly of a long street, containing some good houses
and an ancient canopied market-place. The parish includes

also the liberty of Bromley-Hurst and the lordship of B.agots-

Broraley. Acreage, 9476; population of the civil parish,

1411 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1257. The manor anciently be-

longed to Burton Abbey. The li\'ing is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lichfield; net value, £22(5. The church is an
ancient stracture, in various styles ; it was restored in 1855,
and contains a small brass. There are chapels for Congre-
giitionalists, Wesleyans, and Primitive Methodists. Here
also are two middle-class schools for girls in connection with

Denstone College, and Ellesmere School for boys, under the

Woodard foundation. These schools are fine buildings, and
have their own chapel.

Abbotsbury, a large vilhage and a parish in Dorsetshire.

The village stands in a vale, about a mile from the sea,

and is the terminus of the Abbotsbuiy branch of the G.W.R.
from Weymouth. There is a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Dorchester. Acreage, 4872
;
population,

903. It was formerly a market-town. Most of its inhabit-

2
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ants engage in fishing. The parish contains also the hamlets

of Rodden, Elworth, .and Luke, and exhibits picturesque

features of both shore and sm-face. The rocks belong to the

shelly Oolite. The coast commands brilliant views, and is

flanked by Chesil Bank, occasioning tumultuous tides. (See

Chesil Bank.) St Catherine's Chapel, romantically situ-

ated on the crown of a hill between the village and the sea,

is a very strong edifice of the 15tli centnry, with large but-

tresses, a clerestory, and an oct.agonal tower, and serves as

a landmark to mariners. A Benedictine abbey was founded

at Abbotsbury in 1044 by Orcus, steward of King Canute,

and passed at the dissolution to the Strangeways. The
gateway of its chm-ch, the walls of a dormitory and barn,

and some fragments scattered over a large area, still remain.

A sw.annery which belonged to the abbey, and is s.aid to have

contained about 8000 swans, still exists, with over 1000
swans, and is connected with a decoy for the capture of wild

fowl. A castellated seat of the Earl of Ilchester, the present

proprietor, is .adj.acent. An ancient fortification, li mile to

the west, occupies 20 acres, comprises very high ramparts,

ditches, and redoubts, and commands a noble view. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury ; net value,

£150. The church adjoins the abbey ruins, and is .an old

embattled edifice with a curious weather-woini sculpture over

the west door ; it was reseated and a new organ erected in

1880. There is a Congregational chapel.

Abbotsham, a p.arish in Devon, between Ton-idge and
Barnstaple B.ay, 2J miles W of Bideford station on the L. &
S.W.R. It contains the hamlets of RIccards, Down, and
Buckleigh, and has a post office ; money order and telegraph

office, Bideford. Acreage, 1878; population, 528. Odun,
Earl of Devon, in 878 vanquished and slew the Danish in-

vader Hubba at Kenwith Castle. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Exeter ; net v.alue, £233. The church is

a fine structure with a square tower, and was restored in

1870. Abbotsham Cliffs are a favourite resort in summer
for sea-bathing. There is a small Baptist chapel.

Abbots-Hill, a hamlet on the north border of Dorset, 5

miles SW of Yeovil. I

Abbotside, High and Low, two townships in the parish

of Aysg.arth, N. E. Yorkshire. The former lies 2 miles NNW
of Hawes, and the two are separated from each other by Whit-
field Gill. H.awes is the nearest railw.ay station, post, money
order, and telegraph office. Acreage of High Abbotside,

6289
;
population, 412 ; of Low Abbotside, 2066

;
popula-

tion, 143. Much of both townships is high moorland and
lofty fell, intersected by ravines and deep narrow vales, ail

within the upper basin of the river Ure. A remarkable

waterfall, called Hardraw Force, occurs in one of the ravines,

and a picturesque waterfall, called Whitfield Force, in another.

Abbots-Isle. See Islk-Aueots.

Abbots-Kerswell or Abbots-Carswell, a p.arish in

Devon, 2 miles S of Newton-Abbot station on the G.W.R.
It has a post office under Newton-Abbot, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1480 ;

population, 431.

The minerals comprise limestone, potter's clay, and alum.

The living is a vicar.age in the diocese of Exeter ; net value,

£276. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The ancient church

was a cell of Montacute Abbey. The present church is a

ne.at small edifice of n.ave, chancel, and aisles, with a square

tower. There are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels.

Abbots-Langley or Chiltern Langley, a parish in Herts.

It lies on the Grand Junction Canal and the L. & N.W.R. , 1

mile SE of King's Langley station, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under King's Langley. The parish

was the birthplace of Nicholas de Breakspe.oi-, Pope Adrian

IV.; and was given to the abbots of St Albans "to find them
in clothes." The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St

Albans ; net yearly value, £218 with residence. The church

is partly Norman, partly of later date, and contains an

ancient font and some handsome monuments. There is

also a sm.all iron church at Bedmont, and Baptist, Con-
gregation.al, and Wesleyan chapels. Cecil Lodge, Manor
House, and Langley House are country residences here. A
pleasure fair is held here on 1 M.ay. The p.arish, which in-

cludes the hamlets of Bedmont, Sheppeys, Kitters Green, and

Trolley Bottom, has an area of 5255 acres of land and 20 of

water
;
population of the civil parish, 3230 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 1861.



ABBOTS-LEIGS

Abbots-Leigh, a parish in Somerset, on the left hank of

the Avon, 3 J miles WNW of Bristol, and 2 from Pill station

on the G.W.R. It has a post office under Bristol; money
order and telegraph office, Pill. Area of the parish, 2276
acres; population, 312. Limestone is quarried. Leigh

Court, the seat of the Miles family, is an elegant structure,

with Ionic porticoes, huilt hy P. J. Jliles, Esq., early in the

19th century, and contains a splendid collection of pictures.

The old Conrt, near the site of this mansion, helonging to the

family of Norton, gave concealment to Charles II. after the

battle of Worcester, as recorded on the tablet of the Nortons
in the chui'ch. The living is a \'icar.age in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £180. Patron, the

Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. Leigh, under the title of

" Lege, " is mentioned in Domesd.ay Book (1086) and also in

the Gheld Inquest (1084).

Abbotsley, a village and a paiish in Huntingdon, 5 miles

SE from St Neots station on the G.N.R., and 5 NW from
Gamlingay station on the L. & N.W.R., with a post office

under St Neots, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Area, 1723 acres ; population, 365. The living is a

vicai-age in the diocese of Ely; yearly value, £170. The
church, which dates from the 14th century, is in the Early
English style. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Abbotston, a hamlet and a parish in Hants. The ham-
let lies 2^ miles KW of Alresford, and 7 ESE of Micheldever

railway station. The parish is a rectory, united with the

vicai-age of Itchin-Stoke, in the [diocese of Winchester. It

contains a mined church and pai*t of an old mansion of the

Faulets. See Itchin-Stoke.
Abbotts-Morton, a village and a parish in Worcestershire,

.*) miles SW of Alcester. Post town, Redditch ; money order

office, Inkberrow ; telegraph office, Alcester. Acreage, 1474

;

population, 153. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Worcester; net value, £159. The church is a stone edifice

in the Perpendicular style, with a pinnacled tower.

Abbotts-Ripton, a village and a parish in Hunts, 5
miles N of Huntingdon, with a station on the G.N.R. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely

;
yearly value, £4G8.

The church is an ancient building of stone in the Early
English style. Abbotts-Ripton Hall is a seat of the De
Ramsay family. The parish, which includes the hamlet of

Wennington, 1 mile NE of the village, has an ai'ea of 4191
acres; population, 391. There is a post office under Hun-
tingdon, which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

Abbotts Boding or Abbess Roding, or Roothing, a
village and a parish in Essex, on the river Roding, 6 miles

N from Ongar station on the G.E.R. It has a post office under
Ongar; money order office. White Roding; telegraph office.

Matching Green. Acreage, 1618; population, 240. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value

£323. This parish forms one of a group of agricultur.al

parishes which are collectively styled the Rodings or Roothings.

Abcott, a township in Clungunford parish, Salop, on the
river Clnn, 8i miles WNW of Ludlow.

Abdon, a parish in S.alop, under the Clce Hills, 5 miles
SE of Rnshbury station on the G.W.R., .and 9 NNE of Lud-
low. Post town, Craven Arms (R.S.O.), which is the tele-

graph office; money order office, Munslow. Acreage, 2189;
population, 172. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Hereford; gross value, £236. Patron, the Earl of Pem-
broke. The church has been enlarged .and will seat 100.
Abdon Bnrf is a Large enclosure on Brown Clee Hill, con-
taining DruiJical remains, and a Roman camp can be traced
close at hand.

Abenbury-Fawr, a township in the part of Wrexham
parish within Denbighshire. Acreage, 1263

;
population,

265. See Wrexhaji.
Abenbury-Fechan, a township in the part of Wrexham

parish within Flintshire. See Wrexham.
Abenhall. See Abinghall.
Aber, a local name of the ancient Britons designating any

place of a marked character near the month of a stream,
whether on the coast or inland. It occurs seldom by itself,

but often and prominently .as a prefix.

Aber, a small village and a parish in Camarvonshire.
The rilLage stands i mile inland, 6 miles E of Bangor. It

has a post office under Bangor, and a station on the L. &
N.W.R., 234 miles from London. The full name of the

ABERAYEON

village is Ahergwynrjregijn, which means "the stream of
white shells." It is charmingly situated at the month of a
beautiful glen, and is much frequented by tourists. The
views all round, and in the neighhom-hood, over sea and
land, are rich and varied ; and some of them are panoramic
and extensive. The Lavan sands extend in front, dry for
nearly 4 miles at low water ; and in former days they were
often crossed on foot to the feny of Beaumaris. The glen,

nan-ow and romantic, strikes about 2 miles inland, flanked
on one side by the lofty wooded hill of Maes-y-Gaer, and on
the other by Fridd Ddu, the northern shoulder of Moel
Wnion, and is blocked at the head by the precipices of
Llwydmor and Bera, over which falls the famous cataract

Rhayadi- JIawr. The cataract is fringed by ash trees, and
first breaks on the cliffs into three or four parts, then makes
a sheer leap of more than 60 feet. An artificial conical

mound, near the village, is said to be the site of a castle of

the Welsh princes, where Llewelyn the Great received the

summons to surrender his rights to Edward I. of England.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bangor

;
gross value,

£414. It is in the gift of Lord Penrhyn. The church is

ancient, but has been rebuilt. There are chapels for Cal-
vinistic Methodists and Wesleyans. The river is free to

anglers. There is an annual fair held here on 2 October for

the sale of sheep, cattle, and ponies. Acreage, 7306
;
popu-

lation of the parish in 1881, 442, and in 1891, 422. On
both occasions the sexes were equal.

Aberaman, a village and railway station on the Taff
Vale railway, 1 mile SW of Aberdare, Glamorgan, with a
handsome church in the Early English style, built in 1883.
Aberaman is the residence of the Bailey family.

Aberavon, a market-town, municipal borough, and a
parish at the mouth of the river Avon, Glamorgan, 1 mile
NW of Port Talbot, 6 miles SSE of Neath, 32 \\'NW of

Cardiff, and 196 from London. Aberavon proper is a little

inland, and has a station on the Rhondda and Swansea Bay
railway. Port Talbot, formerly called Abermouth or Aber-
avon Port, is about a mile from the town, in the parish of

M.argam, and comprises the harbour and docks. It has a
post, money order, and telegraph office, with a branch post
office at Aberavon. Aberavon has grown rapidly in connec-
tion with neighbouring mines and collieries and the export

of their produce. At Cwm-Avon, in the vicinity, are exten-
sive copper, iron, and tinplate works. The municipal borough
was incorporated under the Municipal Corporation Act in

1861, and is governed by a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 coun-
cillors. The corporation is the tu-ban sanitary authority, and
owns the gas and waterworks and markets. There is a good
system of main drainage. Population of municipal borough,
6300. The parish comprises 1331 acres of land and 728 of

water; population, 6086. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Llandaff; net value, £235. The Church of St
Maiy, an edifice in the Early English style, consists of nave,

chancel, south aisle, and porch, with a tower, and w.as built

in 18G1 on the site of the old parish church. It has a
beautiful reredos containing figures representing the Good
Shepherd and the four evangelists, which were exhibited in

the Academy in 1889—the work of H. H. Armstead, M.A.
Baglan, which was formerly united to Aberavon, is now a
separ.ate benefice ; net value, £210. It was severed in 1891.
There are chapels for Roman Catholics, Congregationalists,

Baptists, Calvinistic Methodists, Primitive Methodists, and
Bible Christians. Aberavon is a centre for an intermediate

and technical school under the Welsh Intermediate Educa-
tion Act. Some interesting localities are in the neighbour-
hood.

Aberajrron, a small seaport town in Cai'dlganshire. The
town stands in the parishes of Henfynyw and Llanddewi-
Aberarth, at the mouth of the Ayron river, 16 miles SSW
of Abei-ystwyth, and 13 NW of Lampeter station on the

Jfanchester and Milford railway. It has a small harbour,

and a post, money order, and telegraph office (K.S.O.)

It was long a retired village, but has become a market-town
and a watering-place. The views around it are delightful

;

and the climate is bracing. The parish church of St Daviil's,

Llanddewi-Aberarth, about a mile distant, dales from the

13th centuiy. The church of Holy Trinity is a chapel of

ease under Hentynyw, and there are Congregational, Cal-

vinistic Methodist, Wesleyan, and Baptist chapels. The living

8
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of Llanddewi-Aberarth is a vicarage in the diocese of St

David's. A market is held every Wednesday in the town-hall.

The chief imports are coal, limestone, timber, and slates.

Petty sessions are held on the fourth Wednesday in each

month; and fairs on 14 March and 13 November. A circular

camp, called Castell Cadwg.an, and believed to have been

formed in 1148 by Cadwgan ap Bleddyn, is on the shore.

Population of the local government district, 1273.

Aberbaidan. See Llanelly.
Aberbeeg, a village in the parish of Llanhilleth, Jlon-

mouthshire, with a station .at the junction of tlie Nant-y-glo

and Ebbw Vale lines on the G.W.R., distant 15J miles from

Newport* It has a post and money order office (K.S.O.)

under Abertillery ; telegraph office at railway station.

Aberbran, a station on the Swansea, Brecon, and Hereford

branch of the_M.R., 4| miles SW of Brecon, and 189 from
London.

Abercanaid, a hamlet in GLimorgan, 1 mile S of Merthyr-
Tydvil, with a station on the G.W. and Khymney Joint

railway, 176 miles from London. It has a post and money
order office under Merthyr-Tydvil, which is the telegraph

office.

Abercam, a town in Mynyddy.slwyn parish, Monmouth-
shire, on the G.W.R., 10 miles NW of Newport. It has a
post, money order, and telegraph office under Newport, a

railway station, chemical works, iron and tinplate works, and
extensive collieries. There are several chapels. Population,

10,4G4.

Abercastle, a village inMathi-y p.arish, Pembrokeshire, on
the coast, OJ miles NNE of St David's. It has a small har-

bour. On the farm of Longhouse, above it, is a cromlech,

comprising a massive capstone 16 feet long, four supporting

stones Ilk feet high, and two other stones.

Abercrombie, one of the parliament.ary divisions of Liver-

pool, formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885.

Population, 55,630.

Aberdare, a market-town and parish in Glamorgan.
The town stands at the confluence of the Dare and the Cynon,
6 miles SW of Merthyr-Tydvil, and 24 NNW of Cardiff. It

has stations on the G.W. and the Taff Vale railways, and the

Glamorgan Canal also connects it with Cardiff. The scenery

around it is picturesque. Extensive coUieiies and ironworks

are adjacent ; .and these have raised the place, since about the

year 1835, from the condition of a village to that of a large

and flom-ishing town. The parish church of St John the Bap-
tist, a plain stone building, consisting of nave and chancel,

dates from the 11th centm-y, and was rebuilt in 1869. St

Elvan's, a handsome church in the Decor.ated style, situated

on rising ground near the centre of the town, was built in

1860 ; it has a beautiful peal of eight bells, and a very good
choir, and the services are entirely in English. St Mary's, in

Pembroke Street, a beautiful church in the French Gothic

style, was built in 1865 ; the services are in Welsh. There
are numerous dissenting chapels. A fine park of 49 acres was
opened in 18G9. The principal public buildings .are the town-
hall, which contains the offices of the local board, school board,

&c. ; the police station, which also contains the petty sessions

room and an armoury for volunteers ; the temperance h.all, in

which the sittings of the county com't are held ; the Con-
servative Club, opened in 1893; and the market-place, in

which markets are held on Saturdays. There are three annual
fairs on 1st .and ICth April, and on 13th Nov. There is a
post, money order, and telegraph office. The town is well

lighted and the water supply is good. The coal obtained

from the collieries in the district is considered the best steam
coal in W.ales, and is largely used in the navy and the great

steamship lines. Population, 38,431.

The parisli contains the hamlets of Aberaman, Abernant,
Cap Coch, Cwmam.™, Cwmdai'e, Hirwain, Llwydcoed, and
Trecynon, and is all within the parliamentary borough of

Merthyr-Tydvil. Acreage, 1G,C19
;
population of the civil

parish, 40,917 ; of the ecclesiastical, 25,811. The living is

a vicarage, united with the clmpclries of St Elv.an, Hirwain,
and St Mary, in the diocese of Llandaff; net v.alue, £173.
Patron, the Marquis of Bute. Tlie Welsh poet Owen was a

native, .and the dissenting theologian 1']. Evans died here.

Aberdare-Junction, a station on the Taff Valley railway,

in Glauiorgan, 7| miles SSE of Aberdare.

Aberdaron, a village and a parish in Carnarvonshire. The
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village st.ands on the sea coast in a vale overhung by lofty

cliffs, at the head of a small bay of its own name, near the

extremity of the peninsula of Lleyn, 7 miles N of Bardsey
Island, and 16 SW of Pwllheli. It is a primitive little fishing

village. It has a post office under Pwllheli ; money order

and telegraph office, Ne\'iD. The p.arish comprises 7236
acres of land and 142 of foreshore and w.ater; population of

the civil parish, 1170 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1363. Bodwrdda,
a large, well-constructed mansion, dating from the time of

Charles I., now a farmhouse, stands about a mile from the

village. There is a large circular ancient camp at Castell

Odo, IJ mile NE. At Braich-y-Pwll, the extremity of the

promontory, is the site of an ancient chapel, Eglwys Fair

;

in a cave below the cliff, and only accessible at low water, is

Ffynnon Fair, Our Lady's Well. The scenery here, and at

other parts of the coast, is wild and grand ; at Parwyd,
opposite Bardsey Island, the cliffs make a sheer descent of

600 feet to the sea. The living is a vicai'age in the diocese

of Bangor, and includes the vicarage of Llanvaelrhys ; net

value, £143 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Bangor.

The old church is an ancient structm-e of different styles, with

a beautiful Norman door and a good Perpendicular e.ast

window ; it has been restored through the liberality of Lord
Penrhyn and Col. Wynne Finch, and services are now regu-
larly held in it. The church is dedicated to St Hywyn, a

British saint of the 5th century. The new church is a

recent tasteless structure. Richard Robert Jones, called

Dick of Aberdai'on, a carpenter's son with an extraordinary

genius for the acquisition of languages, was born here in

1788. He was p.atronized by Mr WiUham Roscoe of Liver-

pool, and was bm'ied in St Asaph.

Aberdovey or Aberdyfi, a small town and seaport in

Merionethshire. It stands on the Dovey estuary, 4 miles

S of Towyn, with a station on the Cambrian railway, 233
miles from London. It is a quiet little watering-place, and
the mildness .and salubrity of its climate render it suitable

as a winter residence. There is a wide expsmse of firm

sands, which .afford good bathing, a golf club, with an un-
usually fine link ; and excellent boating in the estn.ary. The
scenery is amongst the most beautiful in N Wales. The
Dovey or Dyfi here is about a mile wide, and is crossed by a

ferry to the Borth s.ands, leading towards Aberystwyth, which

is 11 miles distant. Wooded banks extend on either side of

the estuary, and behind them rise high ranges of hills. The
town consists of a long straggling street close to the .shore.

Some fishing is carried on, and there is an export trade in

slate, minerals, &c. It has a post office (R.S.O.) The parish

is 8 miles in length, extending in one direction as fai" as

Pennal. Population, 1317. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Bangor ; net value, £250, in the gift of the Church
Patronage Society. The church of St Peter is modern.
There are four dissenting ch.apels.

Aberdulais or Aberdylais, a village at the influx of the

Dulais river to the Neath, 2 miles NE of Neath, Glamorgan.

It has a post and money order office under Neath, which i&

the telegi-aph office, and a station on the G.W. R. Extensive

tinworks ai'e in the neighbourhood.

Aberdj^. See Aberdovey.
Aberedw, a sm.all village and a parish in Eadnor.shire, at

the influx of the Edw to the Wye, with a station on the

Cambrian railw.ay, 4 miles SE of Builth. Post town, Builth.

Acreage, 4861
;
population of the civil parish, 195 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 344. Aberedw Castle, now reduced to

mouldering walls, much hidden by foliage, on the summit of

a mound, was the hunting-seat of Llewelyn-ap-Griffith, the

Last native prince of Wales. The adjacent scenery, up the

glen of the Edw, is highly picturesque. Prince Llewelyn was
slain in the vicinity ; and an excavation in the rock, about
6 feet square, still beai's the name of Llewelyn's Cave. The
living is a rectory, united with Llanfaredd, in the diocese of

St David's; net value, £303. Patron, the Bishop of St
David's. The church is an old edifice, in good condition, on
an eminence a short w.ay above the castle.

Abererch, a village and a parish in Carnarvonshire, on the

river Erch, 2 miles from Pwllheli, with a station on the Cam-
brian railway. It ha-s a post ofiice under Pwllheli, which
is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 6731, of

which 342 are foreshore and water; population, 1701. The
hving is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor ; net value,



ABERFFRAW

£150 with residence. Patron, tlie Bishop of Baugor. The
chuich, a picturesque, ivy-covered building, is partly Early

English. There are chapels for Congregationalists, Calvin-

istic Jlethodlsts, and Baptists. It is a purely agricultural

pai-ish.

Aberffraw, a seaport village and a parish iu the county

of Anglesey. The village stands at the mouth of the Ffraw

rivulet, on a creek of Carnarvon Bay, 3 miles from Bodorg.an

and Ty Croes stations on the L. & N.W.K,, and 12 SE of

Holyhead. It has a post office under Ty Croes (R.S.O.),

and was formerly a market-town. It is now a poor place,

inhabited chiefly by fishermen and fai'm-labourers ; but it

anciently, for four centuries, till the death of Llewelyn-ap-

Griflith, was a capital of the Princes of Wales. No remains

of the palace exist, but a garden at the S end of the village

still bears the name of Gardd-y-Llys or " palace-garden."

The eisteddfodau, or assemblies of the bards, were anciently

held here. The pai'ish comprises 66G4 acres of land and

173 of foreshore and water; population of the civil parish,

059 ; of the ecclesiastical, 983. A lake, called Llyn Coron,

about 2 miles in circumference, lies a little east of the village,

and is much frequented by anglers. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Bangor; net v,alue, £lJ6n. Patron, the

Crown. The old church, which contains a very interesting

doorway of the 12th century, is iu good condition. There

are two dissenting chapels.

Aberford, a village, a township, and a parish in the W. K.

Yorkshire. The village stands on the rivulet Cock, 3 miles

NNE of G.arforth railway station, and 5h S\V of Tadcaster.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Leeds.

It was formerly a mai'ket-town. A famous pin manufacture

once flourished in it, but h.as disappeared. Coal, limestone,

and a line white building-stone are worked in its neighbour-

hood. Acreage, 1580 ;
population of the civil parish, 612

;

of the ecclesiastical parish of Aberford St Recarius, 857.

Watling Street bisects the parish. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of York ; net value, £325 with residence.

Patron, Oriel College, O.'itord. The church is excellent. There

are a Jlethodist chapel, a Roman Catholic chapel, and

charities £300.

Aberford, Sherbm-n, W. K. Yorkshhre. See Lothebton-
CUM-Ar.KI:FOKD.

Abergavenny, a market-town and a parish in Monmouth-
shire. The town stiinds at the confluence of the Gavenny
with the Usk, 17 miles W of Monmouth, 18 N of Newport,

20 SE of Brecon, and 1C7 from London. Population, 7743.

Its environs comprise a picturesque reach of the Usk's valley,

amid a near amphitheatre of mountains, with the Skyrrid-

Vawr (1601 feet), the Blorenge (1908), the Sugar-Loaf

(1951), and other summits, and are covered with woods and

studded with mansions. Its site was occupied by the Roman
Gobannium, and has yielded coins and bricks and other

Roman relics. The place, owing to its position on the verge

of the hill-country, was long an important post in Border

warfare, and witnessed many a strife between the Normans
and the Welsh. The town was described by Leland, in the

time of Henry VTIL, as " a fair walled town, well inhabited,"

and one of its gates, caUed Tudor's gate, stood till recent

times, and was then needlessly destroyed. The present

streets ure chiefly three, leading out to Monmouth, Hereford,

and Brecon, and they aie, for the most part, nan-ow and

irregular, and show a mixture of old and new buildings. A
c.istle on an eminence near the S end was built by the Nor-

man, Hammeline de Biiladun, soon after the Conquest, and
passed successively to the houses of Braose, Cantilupe, Hast-

ings, Valence, Herbert, Grey, Beauchamp, and Neville. Al-

though fragmentary and shattered it is stiU a picturesque

and interesting ruin, much frequented by visitors. The poet

Churchyard in 1587 sang of its " most goodly towers," and
a more modem poet speaks of it as

"The rent Norman tower that overhangs
The lucid Usk."

Some remains of a Benedictine priory of early date stand

on the SE side of the town, but now form part of a private

residence. The priory church, called St JIary's, was formerly

a very fine ci"ucifonn structure, and, although injured by
modern alterations, still attracts the .antiquary and artist by

many curious monuments, especially knightly effigies, in

the Herbert Chapel. It dates from the beginning of the
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14th century, no portions of the earlier Norman chapel

now remaining. There is a fine fragment of a Jesse genea-

logical tree of the 15th century in the S aisle or Herbert
Chapel. St .John's, the original paiish church, was con-

verted by Henry VIII. into a free gramm.ar school, and
this has an endowed income of £279, and a fellowship

and exhibitions at Jesus' College, Oxford. Trinity Church,

a stone building in the Late Perpendicular style, was erected

and endowed by Miss Rachel Herbert, by whom also the

adjacent almshouses were built and endowed. The Roman
Catholic chapel of Our Lady and St Michael is an edifice

in Decorated style, with Bath stone dressings, erected in

1860. There are Congregational, Baptist, Wcsleyan, and
Presbyteri,an chapels. An old stone bridge of 7 arches takes

the pubhc read .across the Usk, and adjacent is a fine iron

bridge, on a higher level, over which the L. & N.W.R.
crosses. The town hall is a fine Gothic building in grey

stone, erected in 1873 ; attached to it are the spacious

market-house and the Corn Exchange. The lunatic asylum

for the counties of Monmouth, Brecon, and Radnor is a hand-

some stone building in the Early English style, situated on an

eminence overlooking the town. It was erected in 1851, and
has since been considerably enlarged. The town was formerly

famous for tine Welsh flannel, and for fashionable Welsh wigs,

made of goats' h.air, but is now notable chiefly for the

traffic of neighbouring coal and iron works, and especially

for crowded markets. The markets ai'e held on Tuesday,

and a fruit and vegetable market on Friday ; and fairs are

held on the third Tuesday in M.oi-ch, on 14 May, on the

third Tuesday in June, on the Tuesday before 20 July, on

25 Sept., and on 19 Nov. There are three railway stations,

the G.W. in Station Road, the L. & N.W. (Brecon Road),

and Abergavenny Junction (G.W. and L. & N.W), about a

mile to the north. There ai'e fom- banks, a post and tele-

graph office, a dispensaiy, breweries, com mills, iron foundries

and engine works, and brick works. The town is well paved
and lighted, and has an excellent water-supply and .an

efficient system of drainage. It is a seat of petty sessions

and a polling-place, and headquarters of the county con-

stabulary ; it was anciently a corporate town, governed by a

bailifi*, a recorder, and 27 comicillors, but it forfeited its

charter in the time of William III. It is now governed by
the Abergavenny Improvement Commissioners. Bishop Can-
tilupe, who died in 1267, and Baker, the Benedictine historian,

were natives. The town gives the title of Marquis to the

family of Neville. The Marquis of Abergavenny is lord of

the manor and one of the chief landowners.

The parish includes the town, and contains the hamlets of

Hardwicke and Llwyndu. Acreage, 4251
;
population, 9036.

A lai'ge proportion of the surface is hill-sheepwalk. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Llandaff; net value,

£450. Trinity Church is a separate benefice, a perpetual

curacy. Patron, the Bishop of Llandaff".

Abergele, a mai-ket-town and a parish partly in Flint-

shire and partly in Denbighshire. The town stands on the

coast, 7 miles WNW of St Asaph, 34 W of Chester, and
213 from London. It has a station on the L. cS; N.W.R.
Population, 1981. It consists chiefly of one wide street,

along the highway, about a mile from the shore. A weekly

market is held on Saturday, .and fairs are held on 12 Feb.,

2 April, on the day before Holy Thmsday, on 18 June, 20
Aug., 9 Oct., and 6 Dec. It has a post office (R.S.O.)

The beach is excellent bathing-ground, and the surrounding

scenery, of coast and mountain, is good. As a watering-

place it has been eclipsed by a modern rival, Pensarn, close

to the station and sea. Castell-y-Cawr, on a high rock

about a niile inland from the church, is one of the most
perfect camps in Wales; and Corddyn-ilawr, on Copp.a'r

Wylfa, or " the mount of the watch-tower," a mile farther

W, is a large, strong, British hill-fort. Gwrycli Castle,

under a high hill on the caast, about a mile W of the town,

is a modem castellated edifice, with a frontage of 480 yards,

a tower 93 feet high, .and 17 turrets, and the grounds around

it command delightful views. Cefn-yr-Ogof, in the vicinity

of Gwrych, is a calcareous rock, pierced with several curious

caverns. Near Gwrych Richard II. was betrayed to Boling-

broke by Percy. Biynffanigl, in the parish of Abergele, wai*

the residence of Marchudd ah Cynon, Prince of North Wales,

and an old mansion, now demolished, was the home of some
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ef the early life of the poetess, Mrs Hemans. Acreage, 9428
of land and 1074 of water; population of the civil parish,

3186 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2711. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value, £384. Patron, the

Bishop of St Asaph. The church, which has been restored,

has two equal aisles and a square tower. In the church-
yard is a gi'anite monument commemorating a terrible rail-

way accident that occuixed in 1868, when the Irish mail

ran into some trucks laden with petroleum ; the oil ignited,

and thirty-three passengers were burned to death, and are

buried in a common grave in the churchyard. Here is also

the grave of seven persons who perished by the burning of

the Ocean Jilonnrch in the bay in 1848. There are Con-
giegational. Baptist, Calvinistic Methodist, and Wesleyan
chapels.

Aberglaslyn, a pass in the southern vicinity of Beddgelert,

8 miles S of Snowdon, on the boundary between the counties

of Carnarvon and Blerioneth. It is traversed by the road

from Beddgelert to Port Madoc, and is one of the grandest

and most romantic passes in Wales. It is a deep gorge, the

cliffs, almost perpendicular on one side, approaching so closely

as to baix'ly leave room for the road and river. Through it

flows the Glaslyn, a mountain toiTent, whirling its clear-

waters over its boulder-stream bed, and forming a fall at the

extremity of the pass, where an ivy-clad stone bridge of one

arch, called Pont Aberglaslyn, stretches from rock to rock.

A rock in the pass is said to have been the favourite haunt
of the poet Rhys Goch O'ryri, who flourished in the time of

Owen Gleudower.

Abergorlecll, a village and a chapelry in Carmarthen-

shire, at the confluence of the Gorlech with the Cothi, 8 miles

N of Llanarthney station on the Central Wales and Carmar-

then Junction branch of the L. & N.W.E. It has a post

ofEce under Nantg.aredig (R.S.O.) ; money order office, Llan-

sawel ; telegraph office, Nantgaredig railway station. The
chapelry is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of St David's

;

net value, £158. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

Abergwessin. See Llanddewi Abekgwessin and
Llankihangel Abergwessin.
Abergwilly or Abergwili, a village and a parish in the

district and county of Carmai'then. The village stands at

the confluence of the Gwili with the Towy, IJ mile NE of

Carmarthen. It has a station on the Central Wales and

Carmai-then .Junction of the L. & N.W.K., and a post

office (K.S.O.) under Carmarthen. Cattle fau-s are held on

4 May and 2 and 27 Oct. The palace of the Bishop of St

David's, an edifice in the Tudor style, is adjacent. Merlin's

Hill, an eminence on the side of a dell, nearly Ij mile above

the village, is said to have been the birthplace and the favourite

haunt of the sorcerer Merlin, and a rocky cavity near its

summit still bears the name of MerUn's Chau'. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St Davids ; net value, £340,

including the proceeds of the curacy of Llanfihangel. Patron,

the Bishop of St David's. The present church is a handsome

edifice in the Eai-ly English style, with a spire. A small

sub-pai-ochial church stands at Llanfihangel-Uwchgwilly, and

is sen'ed by a perpetual curate. A new chm'ch was erected

in 1888 at a cost of £1300, on the site of an old pre- Refor-

mation chapel, and is called Capel-y-gioes, the Church of

the Holy Cross. There arc Congi'cgational, Baptist, and

Calvinistic Methodist chapels. Acreage, 8305
;
population,

1640.

Abergynolwyn, or Abergwynolwyn, a village in Merio-

nethshire, 7 miles NE of Towyn, with a station on the Tal-

y-llyn narrow-gauge railway. It is situated partly in the

parish of Tal-y-Uyn and partly in that of Llanfihangel, and

is chiefly occupied by quan-ymen. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Bangor, united with Llanfihangel-y-Pennant

;

net value, £260. Patron, the Bishop of Bangor. It has a

post and money order office (R.S.O.) ; telegraph office,

Towyn (R.S.O.)

Aberhafesp, a parish in Montgomeryshu-e, at the con-

fluence of the Hafesp with the Severn, near the Cambrian

railway, 3| miles NW of Newtown, which is the post town.

Acreage, 4707
;
population 352. Aberhafesp Hall and the

parsonage command fine views of the Severn. Traces exist

of a Roman road, and there is a medicinal spring. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value, £232.

Patron, the Bishop of St Asaph. The church is Early
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English, but has been rebuilt and restored. There are chapels

for Congregationalists and Baptists.

Aberhonddu. See Brecon.
Aberkenfig, a village in Newcastle p<arish, Glamorgan,

3 miles NNW of Bridgend. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office (R.S.O.), and a station (Kentig Hill) on the

Llywvi and Ogmore branch of the G.W. R. There is a chapel

of case under Newcastle, and also chapels for Roman Catholics,

Wcsleyans, and other denominations.

Aberllunvey, formerly a p.arish, but now a hamlet in

Glasbury parish, Brecon, .at the confluence of the Llunvey

with the Wye, 4J miles SW of Hay, and 1 mile from Three

Cocks railway station. Acreage, 658; population, 152.

The chapel is now in iiiins, but has a graveyai"d attached.

Abermenai, the contraction at the SW end of the Meuai

Strait, between Carnan'on and Anglesey.

Abermule, a village at the influx of the Mule to the

Severn, 4^ miles NE of Newtown, Montgomeryshire. It has

a station on the Cambrian railway, and a post office (R.S.O.)

;

the telegraph office is at the st.ation.

Abemant, a village and a parish in the county of Cm-
marthen. The village stands near the river Cywyn, 5 miles

WNW of Carmarthen. It has a post office under Carmarthen,

which is the telegraph office ; money order office, Talog.

The parish comprises 6458 acres
;
population of the civil

parish, 645; of the ecclesiastical, 2212. The living is a

vicarage, united to the vicarage of Convil, in the diocese of

St David's ; net value, £209. The church is good.

Abemant, a village in Glamorgan, IJ mile NE of Aber-

dare, with a station on the G.W.R., 179 miles from London.

Extensive ironworks and collieries are adjacent.

Aberpergwm, an ecclesiastical parish in Glamorgan,

formed in 1861 from the civil parish of Cadoston, 2 miles

from Glyn Neath railway station. Post town, Neath. Popu-
lation, 1592. The scenery of vale and mountain, with the

vale of the Pergwm rivulet, a waterfall, and the fine grounds

of Aberpergwm House, is very charming. The living is a

vicaiage in the diocese of Llandaif; net value, £115. The
Church of St Catwg is a small stone building in the Early

English style.

Aberporth, a village and a parish in Cai-diganshire.

The village stands on the coast, at the mouth of the Howny
rivulet, 7 miles NE of Cardigan, and is pai'tly in the parish

of Blaenporth. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Cardigan, and is a seaport, a fishing station,

and a watering-place. Acreage, 2253 ;
population, 422.

A gi'eat portion of the surface of the parish is bare hill,

and one of the summits is within view of the coast of

Ireland. Plas, belonging to the Morgan family, is an

ancient cruciform mansion. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St David's; net value, £150. Patron, the Bishop

of St David's. The church is good. There is a Calvinistic

Methodist chapel.

Aberrbiew. See Berriew.
Abersoch, a sm.all fishing village, with a harbom", on St

Tudwall Bay, in the parish of Llanengan, Carnarvonshire,

7 miles SW of PwUhelL It has a post office under Pwllheli,

which is the telegi'aph office. In the neighbourhood ai'e some

lead mines.

Abersychan, a town and an ecclesiastical parish in Tre-

vethin parish, Monmouthshire, at the influx of the Sychan
to the Avon, 2 miles NNW of Poutypool, It has a post and
telegraph office under Pontypool, and two railway stations,

one on the G.W., 163 miles from London, and the other on
the L. & N.W. line. It is a straggling populous place, con-

nected with the works belonging to the Ebbw Vale Steel,

Iron, and Coal Company. Population, 15,296. In the

neighbouring hamlets of Golynos and Varteg are ironworks

and collieries. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

LlandafF; net value, £296. Patron, the Vicar of Trevethiu.

The church, situiited in the adjoinmg hamlet of Talywain,

is a building in the Early English style. There are chapels

for Roman Catholics, Baptists, Wcsleyans, and other de-

nominations. A literary and scientific institution was fomided

in 1864 in connection with the Society of Arts, and here the

local board hold their meetings. Population of the parish,

8843.

Abertaaat, a township in Llanyblodwel parish, Salop, on
the river Tanat, 6^ miles SW of Oswestry,
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Aberthaw, a seaport village in I'enmaric paiisli, Glamor-

gan, at the mouth of the Ddaw or Thaw river, 5j miles SSE
of Cowbridge. Lime, obtained from lias pebbles on the

beach, is shipped. The ruins of Penmark, Castleton, and

East and West Orchard castles are near. The latter were

built by some Flemings, who supplied Heury I. with fruit

from this place.

Aberthin, a hamlet in Llanblethian parish, Glamorgan,

1 mile NE of Cowbridge. It has a Calvinistic Methodist

chapel. Ty-mawr, a 17th century high-gabled house, is in

the vicinity.

Abertillery, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in Aber-

ystruth parish, Monmouth, 5 miles N of Crumlin, and 9 SE
of Tredegar, with a station on the G.W.R., 1G8 miles

from London, and a post oiEce (K.S. 0.) It is a populous

village, dependent on the tinplate works and collieries, and
is governed by a local board of nine members. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of LlandafF; net value, £20U
with residence. The church is a stone building in the Gothic

style, erected in 1854. There are three Baptist, and also

Congregational, Calvinistic Methodist, Primitive Methodist,

and Wesleyan chapels. In the Tilleiy Valley are the col-

lieries of the Tillcry and South Wales Colliery Companies.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 9138.

Aberyscir, a parish in Breconshire, 2| miles W hy N of

Brecon, the post town. Acreage, 1945; population, 158.

The Yscir river falls here into the Usk, and has, on the right

bank, the parish church, surrounded with yew—on the left

bank the Gaer, a rectangular camp and several ramparts,

together with substructions of walls, supposed to he identical

with the British town of Bannium or Gaer Benni, which was
adopted as a station by the Roman general Ostorius Scapula.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St David's ; net

v.ilue, £114. The church belonged anciently to Malvern
Priory.

Aberystruth, a parish in Monmouth, 1 mile from Blaiua

station on the G.W.R., 9 miles WSW of Abergavenny. Post

town, Blama. Acreage, 11,753
;
population of the parish,

25,913 ; of the ecclesiastical district of Aberystruth St

Peter, 8283. The surface is chiefly upland round the higher

reaches of the Ebbw river. Collieries and h-on and tin works,

round Naut-y-glo, the Tillery Valley, and other centres,

employ a great proportion of the inhabitants. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Llandaft"; net value, £300.
The parish church of St Peter, a cruciform structure in the

Norman style, was rebuilt in 1857. There is no village of

Aberystruth, but the parish includes Blaina, Nant-y-glo,

Abertillery, Cwmtillery, &c.

Aberystwyth, a seaport, municipal borough, market-
town, ecclesiastical parish, and watering-place on the coast

of Cardiganshire. The town stands on both banks of the

river Rheidol, 38 miles NE of Cardigan, and 243 from Lon-
don by the L. & N.W.K. and 251 by the G.W.R. The part

of it on the right bank of the Rheidol might more appro-

priately be called Aberrheidol ; the part of it on the left

bank is called Trefechan. The Rheidol is crossed by a fine

three-arched bridge, forms a sort of inner harbour, is united

there by an artificial channel with the Ystwyth, and then

scours the outer harbour to the sea. The town chiefly occu-

pies a gentle eminence, declining all round from the centre,

and commands extensive views of sea and coast and moun-
tains. Some of the older streets are uneven and steep, but
the newer ones are broad and well made ; and the Marine
Terrace forms a fine crescent, upwai'ds of half a mile in

length, with many handsome houses. Constitution Hill, or

Pen Glais, to the north, is about 450 feet high, and com-
mands a fine view of Cardigan Bay, Plinlimmon, Cader Idris,

and the Snowdon range. Two heights, at the end of the

ten-ace, are pleasantly laid out in public walks. The remains
of a castle, consisting of a gateway and fragments of towers

and walls, crown the south-western height, overlooking the

sea. The original castle was built in the time of Henry I. by
Gilbert de Strongbow, and destroyed by Maelgwyn Gwynedd

;

and the present castle was built by Edward I. as a means of

securing his conquest of Wales, .and dismantled by the Parlia-

mentarians after the defeat of Charles I. A private mint was
established at the castle from 1638 to 1642, with the king's

pei-mission, by Mr. Bushel, the owner of the lead and silver

mines m the neighbomhood ; and the corns struck here, maiked

ABINGDON

with the Prince of Wales feathers, are valued by collectors.

At the south end of the Marine Terrace is the Promenade Pier,

about 300 yai-ds long. Between the pier and the castle stands
the University College of Wales, an extensive and handsome
building, partly Gothic and partly modern. The central por-
tion was originally built hy Nash for Sir Robert Price, Bart.
Subsequently it was converted, with the additiou of two wings,
into a hotel, but this proving a failure, it was purchased for

the purpose of a college in 1872. In 1885 the north wing was
burnt down, but was rebuilt and extensive alterations were
made on the rest of the building to adapt it more completely
for its present use. The college has received a ch.arter, and
has an annual grant from Government of £4000. Until 1861
Aberystwyth was m the parish of Llanbadarn-Fawr. The
present parish chm'ch of St Michael and All Angels, erected

in 1890, stands near- the castle gi'ouuds, the old church close

by bemg still left standing ; St Mai'y's, in Gray's Inn Road,
was built in 1866 from designs by Butteiiield ; Holy Trinity

Church was built in 1883. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St David's. Patron, the Bishop of St David's.

There are chapels for Congi-egationalists, Baptists, Calvin-

istic Methodists, Wesleyans, and Roman Catholics. The
town hall, built in 1854, is a handsome edifice with a tetra-

style Ionic portico ; it is used for meetings of the town council

and borough magistrates, and also for the monthly sessions

of the county court. The assembly-rooms, built in 1820,
have Grecian features, concert and reading-rooms, and a free

library. Other public buildings ai'e the infirmary, police sta-

tion, market-house, custom-house, pubhc baths, and public

slaughter-houses, the clock-tower, the gasworks, and the

workhouse. There are a gi-ammar and several other schools.

The town is governed, under a charter granted by Henry
IV., by a mayor', 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors. The ex-
ports include minerals, timber, baik, and corn; and the

imports include all kinds of goods from Liverpool, Bristol,

and other places. The hai'bour was much obstructed by
a bar-, but has been gi'eatly improved by artificial cuttings

of the river, by a pier 260 yai'ds long, and other works. The
number of vessels registered as belonging to the port in 1893
was 98 (16,168 tons). The entries and clearances each average

400 (25,000 tons) per annum. The town has a head post

office, ». station on the Cambrian and Manchester and Milford

railways, three banks, markets on Monday and Saturday, and
a cattle market on the first Monday in every month. Fairs

for horses and cattle are held on 10 May and in September.

The water supply is excellent, being brought from Llyu Llygad
Rheidol, on the summit of Plinlimmon. Two newspapers are

published in the town. The Royal Cai'diganshire Ar-tillery

Militia have their headqmxrters here. There are iron-foundries

and slate works, and some lead and silver lead mines in the

neighbourhood. Aberystwyth has a well-deserved popularity

as a watering-place. The bathing beaches are excellent, and
bathing-machines are plentiful ; hot salt-water baths are at

hand, recreations in variety are abundant, and the walks and
drives in the vicinity are charming. Cornelians, jaspers,

agates, and other precious pebbles are often picked up on the

beach. Plas-Crug, a ruined castellated edifice, in the environs,

on the banks of the Rheidol, is said to have been the residence

of Owen Glendower; it is now part of a farmhouse. The re-

puted gi-ave of the poet Taliesin, who flourished in the sixth

century, is 8 miles distant. Amongst other places of interest

in the immediate neighbourhood are Llanbadarn, a little over

a mile distant, where there is a very fine and ancient chmxh
and picturesque village, once forming an episcopal see

;

Elysian Grove, close by the town ; Devil's Bridge, 12 miles

distant; Plinlimmon, 16 miles; Monk's Cave, 6 miles;

Llyfnant Valley ; Strata Florida Abbey ; Berth, noted for its

sands; and the seats of Gogerddan, Crosswood, Nantcos,

and Hafod. Population of borough and parish, 6725.

Abingdon, a municipal borough and market and union

town in Berks. It stands on a rich flat plain, at the influx

of the Ock to the Thames, at the junction of the Wilts and
Berks Canal with the Thames, and at the terminus of a sub-

branch railway of Ij mile from the Oxford branch of the

G.W.R. , 6 miles by road S of Oxford, and 60j miles by rail-

way W by N of London. It was called originally Schcovesham,

softened into Shovesham. Cissa, king of the West Saxons,

built .an abbey in the seventh century, after which, says

Camden, it began to lay aside its old name and to be called
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" Abbaddmi'' ov " Abbingtou"—that is, Abbot'a town. Synods
were held at it in 742 and 822 ; and the royal coui-ts of

Merciii and Wessex made it long a seat of state assemblies.

Some foundations of its royal palace can still be traced in a

meadow on the E side of the bridge. A manuscript in the

Cottonian Library, called " the old book of Abendon," de-

scribes it as "in ancient times a famous city, goodly to be-

hold, and full of riches." The town was visited by William
the Conqueror, by Henry III., and by Henry VIII. It was
garrisoned for Charles I. ; made the headquaitcrs of his horse,

and the temporary retreat of all his family ; and became the

scene of sharp struggles and great excesses before lie was
conquered. A sharp practice of its Parliamentai*y garrison,

of hanging all Irish prisoners without ti'ial, gave rise to the

proverb " of Abingdon law." A graceful gateway, in the

Perpendicular style, adjoining St Nicholas' Church, and part

of a refectory behind, and containing a beautifully decorated

window, are the chief remains of the mitred Benedictine abbey
of St Mary, which was one of the richest in England. The
original abbey, founded in Baglcy Wood, in the neighbouring

parish of Sunningwell, was totally destroyed in the time of

Alfred by the Danes. The subsequent edifice was founded

at Abingdon by King Edred, and completed in the reign of

King Edgar. The nave was 180 feet long; the choir 65 feet

long; the Lady Chapel, 36 feet long; the transept, 156 feet

long; the western tower, 100 feet high.

The town consists of several wide streets diverging from a

spacious mai"ket-place. It is well lighted, and has an excel-

lent supply of water. It is also well drained, the sewage

being utilized in the cultivation of a farm situated some dis-

tance S of the town, and belonging to the corporation. The
borough received a charter in the year 1555, during the reign

of Queen JIary, under which it was governed by a mayor, 2

bailiffs, and 9 aldermen. It has now a mayor, 4 aldermen,

and 12 councillors, the corporate body acting also as urban
sanitary authority. Population within the municipal limits,

6557. The borough sent one member to Parhament from
1337 until the passing of the Redistribution of Seats Act
of 1885, when the representation was merged in that of the

county. It is the head of a petty sessional division and
county com't district ; but the assizes, formerly held here

in the summer, were removed to Reading by an Order in

Council in 1868.

The chief industry of Abingdon is the manufacture of ready

made clothing, the lai-ge manufactory of Messrs Clarke

affording employment to many hundreds of persons from the

town and the smToundlng villages. Brewing, malting, milling,

and the making of sailcloth and sacking are also carried on.

A weekly market for corn and cattle is held on Monday

;

horse fairs on the first Monday in Lent, May 6, June 20,

September 19, and December 11 ; and on Monday before old

Michaelmas Day there is a fair for hiring servants and plea-

sure. The town is a head post and telegraph office, has two
banking offices, several good hotels, and a weekly newspaper.

It gives the title of Earl to the family of Bertie, and it num-
bers among its natives or celebrities Archbishop St Edmund,
Archbishop Newcome, Sir John Mason, Sir T. Smith, Abbot
the Speaker, Moore who wrote the " Gamester," and W.
Stevens the poet.

Among the principal buildings of the town are the County
Hall, a curious edifice of ashlai" and rough freestone, erected in

1677 from the designs of Inigo Jones; the Grammar School,

erected in Albert Parkinl869; the County Chamber, situated

on the south side of the abbey gateway; and the Corn Ex-
change, which stands at the NW angle of the market-place.

Christ's Hospital, founded in 1553 by Sir John I\Iason, is a

curious cloistered edifice of brick and timber, with turret and

dome ; contains an oak hall with pictures and stained glass

;

shows, at the E end of its cloister, a representation of a famous

octagonal market-cross which was destroyed in 1644, and has

an income of more than £3000 a year. There are also several

other charities and a well endowed grammar school. The
bridge across the river is a picturesque structure with six

pointed arches, erected in 1416 ; was regarded, at the time

of its erection, as a grand boon to all the surrounding country

;

and is the subject of some quaint old verses preserved in

Christ's Hospital. Prince Albert's cross is an elegant erection

of 1864, after designs by Gibbs. It has a quadrangular base,

with medallions ; a central octagonal shaft, with rich entabla-

8

ABINGER

ture; side columns, with carved ciipltals supporting heraldic

lions ; and a surmounting pyramidal pedestal, crowned by a

statue of the Prince. In the centre of the market-place there

is a white marble statue of the Queen, which was erected in

commemoration of Her Majesty's jubilee in 1887.

St Helen's Church occupies the site of an ancient nunnery,

and was restored in 1873. It has a nave, three aisles, and a

south chapel, and forms altogether a spacious rectangle. The
north aisle has rich timber ceilings of the time of Henry VI.,

and the south aisle was built in 1539. A tower, in tlie Early

English style, rises at the NE corner, and is surmounted by a

lofty octagonal spire, in the Perpendicular style, which figm'es

conspicuously for miles. St Nicholas Church was built about

the year 1300, on the site of an earlier edifice; and it has a

good Norman doorway and a tower ; it was thoroughly re-

stored in 1881. The Church of St Michael, erected in 1867
as a chapel of ease to St Helens, is a building of stone, in the

Decorated style. There is also a small iron church in the

xmion gi^ounds. The Roman Catholic chm*ch, dedicated to

St Mary and St Edmund of Canterbury, is an edifice of

stone in the Decorated style. There are also Baptist,

Congi'Cgational, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels,

and a place of meeting of the Salvation Army.
The parish of St Helen comprises 3255 acres, and includes

the farms of Barton and Puniney, the hamlets of Northcom't

and Cholswell, and the townships of Sandford and Shippon.

Population, 6233. The parish of St Nicholas comprises 148
acres

;
population, 532. The living of St Helens is a vicar-

age, that of St Nicholas a rectory, in the diocese of Oxford,

and the two are conjoined. Patron, the Bishop of Oxford.

The vicarages of Drayton, Sandford, and Shippon are separate

benefices. The net yearly value of St Helens is £138 and
residence, and that of St Nicholas £56.

Abingdon Parliamentary Division^ or Northern Berkshire,

was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,
and returns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-
lation, 40,082. The division includes the following parishes

:

Abingdon— Abingdon (St Helen, without the borough),

Abingdon (St Nicholas, without the borough), Appleford,

Appleton and Eaton, Bagley Wood, Besselsleigh, Chandlings,

Cumner, Draycott Jloor, Drayton, Frilford, Fyfield, Garford,

Grandpoint, Hinksey (North), Hinksey (South), Kingston

Bagpuize, Lyford, Marcham, Milton, Radlcy, Seacourt,

Steventon, Sunningwell, Sutton Courtney, Sutton Wick,

Tubney, Wootton, Wytham, Wittenham (Long), Wittenham
(Little) ; Faringdon—Ashbury, Baulking, Bonrton, Buck-
land, Boscot, Charney, Coleshill, Compton Beauchamp, Cox-
well (Great), Coxwell (Little), Eaton Hastings, Faringdon,

Fernhara, Hatford, Hinton, Kingston Lisle, Longcott, Long-
worth, Pusey, ShelUngford, Shrivenham, Stanford, UflSng-

ton, Watchfield, Woolstone; Wantage—Ardington, Chaddle-

worth, Challow (East), Challow (West), Charlton, Childrey,

Denchworth, Fawley, Goosey, Grove, Hanney (Ea.st), Hanney
(West), Harwell, Hendred (East), Hendred (West), Letcomb
Bassett, Letcomb Regis, Lockinge (East), Lockinge (West),

Spaisholt, Wantage ; Wallingford (or Moreton)—Aston Tir-

rold, Aston Upthorpe, Blewbury, Brightwell, Cholsey, Didcot,

Hagbourn (East), Hagbourn (\Vest), Moreton (North) More-
ton (South), Moulsford, Sotwell, Upton ; Walfingford—All
Hallows and Clapcot, St Leonard's, St Mary-the-]\Iore, St

Peter, Castle Precincts ; Wallingford, municipal borough

;

Abingdon, municipal borough (the part in Berks) ; Oxford,

municipal borough (the part in Berks).

Abinger, a village and a parish in Surrey. The village

is 2^ miles SE of Gomshall and Sheire station on tlie S.E.R.,

and 4^ SW of Dorking, under which it has a post and money
oflder office named Abinger Common ; telegraph office. Holm-
bury St Mary. Acreage, 7577

;
population of the ciril parish,

1394 ; of the ecclesiastical, 555. It was for many years the

residence of Hoole, the translator of Ariosto ; and it gives

the title of Baron to the family of Scarlett. The parish is

overhung on the SE by Leith hill, and drained westward by

a tributary of the Wey. Abinger Hall is in the neighbour-

hood, and was long the residence of the Countess of Donegal,

Swift's " Glory of the Granard race." The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Winchester; net value, £4G6. The church

is an ancient edifice, pai'tly in the earliest Norman, partly in

Early English; was restored in 1880, and contains some

beautiful stained glass windows and a good organ. In 1877
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the remains of a Koman villa were discovered close to Abin-
ger Hall, and some coins of Ccnstautine and a quantity of

broken tiles were found.

Abinghall or Abenhall, a parish in Gloucestershire, 2

miles SSW of Longhope station on the G.W.K., and 6 N of

Newnham. Post town, Mitcheldean (R.S.O.) Acreage, 763

;

population of the civil parish, 231; of the ecclesiastical,

238. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; net value, £138. The church is an old Early

English edifice, and is in good condition, having been restored

in 1874 ; it contains a sepulchral brass, dated 1609, and an

hour-glass. Abenhall Lodge is a modern mansion in the

Gothic style, situated on an elevation.

Abington, a parish in Northamptonshire, near the river

Nen, and IJ mile NE of Northampton, which is the post

town and money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1133

;

population, 121. A spot here was the grave of Shake-

speare's favourite granddaughter, and is marked by a mul-
berry tree planted by Gamck. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross yearly value from tithe

rent charge, £263 with residence, in the gift of Lord Wan-
tage. The church is Eai'ly English, and contains tombs of

the Berhards.

Abington, Great, a village and a parish in Cambridge-
shire, 1 mile E of Pampisford station on the G.E.R., and

2J miles NW from Linton. Post town, Cambridge; tele-

graph office, Linton. Acreage, 1588
;
population, 317. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely
;
gross yearly value,

£98. The churcli is an ancient building of flint and rubble

in the Early English style. Abington Hall and Abington
Lodge are country seats in this parish.

Abington, Little, a p.arish in Cambridgeshire, adjoining

the N side of Great Abington, and 1 mile NE from Pampisford

station on the G.E.R. Acreage, 1309
;
population, 268.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely
;
yearly value,

£85 with residence. The church belonged to Pentney Abbey,
was restored in 1885, and contains tombs of the Daltous.

Post town, Cambridge ; telegraph office, Linton.

Abington-in-the-Clay or Abing^on-Pigotts, a parish

in Cambridgeshire, 5 miles NW from lioyston, and i from
Royston station on the G.N.R. Post town, Royston ; money
order and telegraph office, Bassingbourn. Acreage, 1237

;

population, 169. The manor has been held by the family of

Pigott since the Conquest. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Ely ; net value, £312 with residence. The church

is an ancient edifice of clunch and rubble in the Early Eng-
lish and Decorated styles.

Ab-Kettleby, a township and a parish in Leicestershire.

The township lies on an affluent of the river Wreak, at

Broughton Hill, 2^ miles from Grimston station on the M.R.,

2| from Scalford station on the G.N. and L. & N.W. joint

lines, and 3 NW by N of Melton-JIowbray, and has a post

office under Melton-iVIowbray, which is the money order office

;

telegi-aph office, Grimston. Acreage, 870
; population of the

civil parish, 242; of the ecclesiastical, 472. The parish

contains also the township of Holwell. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough
; gross yeaiiy value,

£300 with residence. The church, an old building of stone

in the Norman style, belonged anciently to Laund Priory,

was restored in 1883, and has a tower and spire. There
is a Wesleyan chapel.

Ablington, a tithing in Bibury'parish, Gloucestershire, on
the river Colne, 1 mile N\V of Bibury, and 6J NW of Fairford.

Ablington, a h.amlet in Figheldean parish, Wilts, on the

river Avon, 4^ miles N of Amesbury.

Abney, a hamlet in Bradwell parish, Derby, on a tributary

of the river Derwent, 4 miles NE of Tideswell, and 7 from
Jliller's Dale station on the JI.R. Acreage, 1350; popula-

tion, 53.

Abney-Park, a suburb of London, 3 J miles N of St Paul's.

A mansion on its site was the seat of Sir Thomas Abney
and tlie residence of Dr Watts ; and a cemetery now here

has a chapel in the centre, and contains a monument to Dr
Watts.

Above-Sawthe, a hamlet in the parish of Llangadock,

Carmarthenshire.

Abram, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in Wigan
parish, Ijancashire, on the Wigan Junction railway and Wigan
and Leigh Canal, 3J miles SSE of Wigan, and 1 mile from
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Bickershaw and Abram station on the M.S. & L.R. The
parish comprises the townships of Abram and Hindley Green,
the village of Bickershaw, and the hamlets of Dover and
Bamfurlong. Post town, Wigan. Acreage, 1982

;
popula-

tion, 4309. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Liver-
pool; net value, £200. The church was built in 1838, and
is an edifice of brick, with accommodation for about 420.

Abridge, a h.amlet in Lambourne parish, Essex, on the
river Roding, 5 miles S of Epping. It has a post office under
Romford ; and it forms a curacy with the rectory of Lambourne.
Abson or Abston, a vilLage and a parish in Gloucestershire.

The village is 3 miles SE of Mangotsfield station on the M.R.,
and 7 NW of Bath, which is the post town ; money order
and telegraph office, Kingswood. The parish contains also

the villages of Bridgegate, Holbrook, and Wick ; the last-

named was made a separate ecclesiastical parish in 1880.
Acreage of Abson and Wick, 2521

;
population of Abson,

223 ; of Wick, 752. The living is a chapelry, annexed to

Pucklechurch, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol.

The church at Abson is an ancient stone building in the

Early English style. There is a church at Wick, built in

1850, and Congregational and Wesleyan chapels. Roman
relics are found from time to time at Wick, which is sup-
posed to be the site of a Roman pottery ; a Roman camp is

.adjacent.

Abthorpe, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire.
The village stands on the river Tove, 3 miles WSW of Tow-
cester, and 1 mile SW of Wappenham station on the L. &
N.W.R. Post town, Towcester, which is the money order

and telcgi-aph office. The parish includes the hamlet of

Foscote. Acreage, 1973
;
population, 433. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough
;

yearly value,

about £200. Patron, alternately the Bishop of Peterborough
and the Trustees of Leeson's charity. The church, which
was rebuilt in 1870-71, is a building of stone in the Eiarly

English style. Lace-making and the manufacture of boots

and shoes are the chief employments.

Abury. See Avebuky.
Aby, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, 2 miles S from

Aby station on the G.N.R., and 3 NW of Afford. Post town,
Alford, which is the money order and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 1493

;
population, 315. The h.amlet of Greenfield is

included. The living is a vicarage, united to the rectory of

Belleau, in the diocese of Lincoln. There is a Wesleyan
chapel. A Cistercian nunneiy was founded here about 1150,
but all remains have long since disappeared.

Acaster-Malbis, a township and parish and scattered

village in the Ainsty of York, but for parliamentary purposes
included in the North Riding. The township lies on the river

Ouse, 2 miles E of Copmanthorpe railway station, and 5 S
of York, under which it has a post office ; money order office,

Copmanthorpe. Area of the township, 1874 acres; popu-
lation, 243. It derived its name from the JIalbysse family,

who flourished here for several centuries after the Conquest.

This was formerly a Roman station. There is an excellent

salmon fishery here, the property of Lord Wenlock, who is

lord of the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Y'ork ; net value, £74. Patron, Lord Wenlock. The church
is an interesting specimen of 14th century architecture.

There are an endowed school and a Wesleyan chapel.

Acaster-Selby, a scattered township and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire, though for parliamentary purposes it is in-

cluded in the North Riding, on the river Ouse, 3^ miles E of

Bolton Percy r.ailway station, and 8 S of York. Post town,

Bolton Percy (R.S.O.), which is the money order and tele-

gi'aph office. Acre.ige, 1573
;
population of the civil parish,

100 ; of the ecclesiastical, 493. The property belonged an-

ciently to the abbey of Selby, and now belongs to the Wilner

family, who are lords of the manor. A college for a provost

and two or three fellows was founded on it by Robert Stil-

lington. The church was built in 1850, and the living is a

vicarage, joined to that of Applcton Roebuck, in the diocese

of York ; net value, £397 with residence. Patron, the Aich-

bishop of York. The church is very good.

Accott, a hamlet in Swimbridge parish, Devon, 5 miles E
of Barnstaple.

Accrington, a municipal borough and an important manu-
facturing town in Whalley parish, Lancashire. It was incor-

porated in 1878, and a commission of the peace was granted
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in 1880. The borough includes the townships of Old and

New Accrington, and the greater pai'fc of Baxenden. The
town adjoins the E Lancasliire railway, near the Leeds and

Liverpool Canal, 4 miles by road and 5J by railway E of

Blackbui'U, and is 211 miles from London by the M.R. It is

large and thriving ; has sprung up within the present century;

is a seat of petty sessions and county com'ts
;
publishes three

weekly newspapers; carries on industry in calico print-works,

extensive turkey-red dye-works, several large chemical works,

foundi'ies, breweries, collieries, and quarries. It is well sup-

plied with water from reservoirs ; has a head post and tele-

graph office, four banks, and several good hotels ; a market-

hall, opened in 1869 at a cost of about £22,000 ; a town-

hall, which is a handsome building in the Italian style,

erected in 1857 ; a mechanics' institute, with reading and

news-rooms, librai'y, and laboratory ; and also a free library

for the blind, established in 1878; Conservative and Liberal

clubs, and a dispensary. A cemetery of 20 acres was opened

in 1804, and is under the control of a Burial Board, which

is the town council. New abattou's, which cost £16,000,

were opened in 1891. The borough is divided into the five

ecclesiastical parishes of St James', Christ Church, St John's,

St Peter's, and St John's, Baxenden. The livings are vicar-

ages in the diocese of Manchester, of the respective values

of £620, in the gift of Hulme's trustees, £298 in the gift

of five trustees, and £400 and £118 in the gift of the

Vicar of St James'. St John's, Baxenden, value £335, is in

the gift of the Bishop of Manchester. There are also other

churches, seventeen dissenting chapels, a Eoman Catholic

church, and several schools. The market days are Tuesdays

and Saturdays, and two annual fairs are held in the months

of April and August. There is a large Industrial Co-

operative Society, formed by the inhabitants of this place and

of Church, consisting of nearly 7000 members. Part of the

profits aie devoted to the maintenance of science and improve-

ment classes. The society has besides nine news-rooms,

with two libraries containing over 6000 volumes. Broad Oak

and Spring Hill ai-e the cliief residences in the neighbour-

hood. Tramways belonging to the corporation connect this

place with Church, Clayton, and Baxenden. The manor

belongs to the Duke of Buccleuch, K.T. Population of the

municipal borougli, 38,603 ; area of the borough, 3425 acres.

Accrington Parliamentari/ Division was created under

the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and returns one

member to the House of Commons. Population, 75,712.

It includes the following paiishes:—Accrington—Altham,

Church, Clayton-le-Moors, Huncoat, Oswaldtwistle (part)
;

Blackburn (Lower, part of)— Rishton, Oswaldtwistle (part);

Blackburn (Higher, part of)—Hapten; Accrington, municipal

boruugli.

Ackenthwaite, a hamlet in Haversham parish, Westmore-

land, adjacent to Jlilnthorpe and to the Lancaster and Car-

lisle railway.

Ackhampstead, a hamlet consisting of three farms and

a few cottages in the Wycombe union, Bucks. It is about 3j
miles NW from Great Marlow, to which, for poor law pui-poses,

it was annexed in 1885, and about 3 miles NE from Hamble-

den, to which it is attached ecclesiastically. Post town,

Great Marlow ; money order ofBce, Hambleden.

Acklam or East Acklam, a township, a parish, and a

village in the E. K. Yorkshire. The township is called

Acklam-with-Baithoi-pe, and lies 5 miles ESE of Ivirkham

railway station, and 7 S of Malton. Acreage, 2360
;
popu-

lation of Acklam-with-Barthorpe, 282 ; of Leavening, 339.

The pai-ish is called East Acklam, and contains also the

township of Leavening. There is a post oiiice at Acklam

under York ; money order office. Leavening ; telegraph office,

Jlalton. The surface is on the Wolds, and commands a very

extensive view. The manor belongs to the Crown. Tlie

living is a rectory in the diocese of York ; net value, £287

with residence. Patron, the Arxhbishop of York. The

church was rebuilt in 1868. There are chapels for Wesleyan

and Primitive Methodists. Some ancient entrenchments and

other works, British or Roman, are on the hills.

Acklam, West, a township, a village, and a parish in the

N. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles from Middlesboro', and i mile from

Stockton station on the N.E.B. Post town, Middlesboro',

which is also the money order office. Acreage, 1169; popu-

lation of the civil parish, 155 ; of the ecclesiastical, 170.
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Acklam Hall is the seat of the Hustler family, who are also

lords of the manor and principal landowners. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of York ; net value, £140. The

church is good.

Ackleton, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, 4 milesNE
of Bridgnorth. It has a post office under Wolverhampton

;

money order office, Worfield ; telegraph office, Bridgnorth.

Ackley, a township in Forden parish, Montgomeryshire,

oi miles N of Montgomery.

Acklington, a township and a parish in Northumberland.

The township lies on the N.E.E. and the river Coquet, 12

miles N of Morpeth, and has a station on the railway, and

a head post office. The parish also comprises the townships

of Acklington-Park and Guyzance, and the hamlet of Brains-

haugh. Acreage, 2122; population of the civil parish, 235;

of the ecclesiastical, 474. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Newcastle; net value, £225 with residence.

Patron, the Duke of Northumberland, who is also lord of

the manor and sole landowner. The church is in the Early

English style, and was erected in 1861, after designs by

Deason, at the Duke of Northumberland's expense.

Acklington-Park, a township in Acklington parish, North-

umberland, on tlie river Coquet, adjoining Acklington. Acre-

age, 795
;
population, 76. The Duke of Northumberland is

lord of the manor and sole landowner.

Ackthorpe, a hamlet in South Elkington parish, Lmcoln-

shire, 2 miles W of Louth.

Ackton-with-Loscoe-Grange, a small village and a

township in the pai-ish of Featherstone, W. R. Yorkshire. It

is 3 miles from Pontefr.act, and 2 from Featherstone station on

the L. & Y.K. Pontefract is the post town ; money order

and telegraph office, Pmston. Ai'ea, 968 acres; popula-

tion, 729. Acton Hall, the seat of the Bradley family, is

an ancient mansion. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Ackworth, a large village, a township, and a parish in

the W. E. Yorkshire, 3j miles S of Pontefract. It contains

High and Low Ackworth, Moor Top, and Brackenhill, and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Ponte-

fract, and a station on the Swinton and Knottingley Joint

railway. It is a poUing station for the Osgoldcross division

of the Riding. Acreage, 2643; population of the civil

parish, 2647 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2526. Ackworth Park,

Ackworth House, Ackworth Court, Moor Top House, and

Ehyddings House, and several good villas, are chief residences.

Stone is largely quarried. The living is a rectoi7 in the

diocese of York
;
gross value, £420 with residence. Patron,

the Duchy of Lancaster. The church is in the E:uly Decor-

ated style, and rich in car-ved o.ak and stained windows, and

contains a font dating from 1663. There is also a new

district church at Moor Top. There are chapels for Quakers,

Weslcyans, Primitive Methodists, and Roman Catholics, a

large and famous Qualvers' school and training college for

masters, two endowed schools, two other schools, and chai'i-

ties amounting to £200.

Acle, a small town and a parish in Norfolk. The

town stands near- the river Bare, with a station on the

Y'lU'mouth, Acle, and Norwich hne, 8j miles W from Y'ar-

mouth, and 11 E from Norwich. It has a post, money order,

and telegi-aph office under Norwich, and was formerly a mar-

ket-town, and had a fair on Midsummer day, now abolished.

There ai-e, however, weekly cattle sales on Thursdays. The

parish lies chiefly around the town, but part of it is at some

distance, in the Mai-sbes. Acreage, 3534
;
population, 933.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;
yearly

value, £580. The church, which dates from the 14th cen-

tury, is a building of flint and stone, consisting of chancel,

nave, N and S porches, and a circular- embattled western

tower. An Augustinian priory anciently stood at Acle.

Acman or Akeman Street, an old Roman road from

Aqua; Soils (Bath) to Corinium Castrum (Cirencester), whence

it was continued by the Fosse Way.

Acock's Green, an ecclesiastical parish in Y'ardley parish,

Worcestershire, 4 miles E of Birmingham, of which it is prac-

tically a suburb. It was constituted in 1867, and has a

station on the G.W.E., 125 miles from London, and a post

office under Birmingham. The Church of St Mary's, in the

Gothic style, was erected in 1866 at a cost of nearly £5000,

and the nave, completed in 1882, cost an additional £3000.

The living is a vicarage ia the diocese of Worcester ; net
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value, £200. There ai'e Coiigregational and Wesleyan chapels.

Population, 2874.

Acol or Wood, a ville in Thanet, Kent, 3 miles SW of

Margate, and 1 mile from Birchington station on the L.C.

& D.R. A mission church was erected here in 1S76, and there

is also a Wesleyan chapel. The money order and telegi-aph

ofBce is at Birchington. Acreage, 1434
;
population, 366.

Acomb, a large village, a township, and a parish in the

W. E. Yorkshire, p'or pai'liamentary purposes it is included
in the North Kiding. The township lies 2 miles W of York,
and has a post, money order, and telegraph oiBce under that
city. The parish includes also most of the township of Knap-
ton, and is traversed by the N.E.E. Acreage, 1580

; popu-
lation of civil piuish, 2181 ; of ecclesiastical, 2241. An
eminence called Severus' Hill is traditionally said to have
been the place where the body of the Emperor Severus was
consumed to ashes. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of
York; net value, £165 with residence. The church is old,

but good. There are Wesleyan, Primitive and United Free
Methodist chapels. Brickmaking is carried on. The water-
works supplying York are in the parish. The gi-eat majority
of the inhabitants are artisans employed by the N.E.R. Co.
Acombe, East, a township in the parish of Bywell St Peter,

Northumberland, on the Tyne, 2 miles from Stocksfield station
on the N.E.K. Post town, Stocksfield, which is the money
order and telegraph office.

Acombe, West, a township in St John Lee parish, North-
umberland, on the Tyne, 2 miles NNIV of Hexham station on
the N.E.R. It has a post office under Hexham, and Wesleyan
and Primitive Methodist chapels. Acreage, 2837 of land
and 60 of water; population, 900.

Aconbury, a village and a parish in Herefordshire. The
village stands 2^ miles WSW of Holme-Lacy station on the
G.W.R., and 4J SSE of Hereford, and is an old-fashioned
sequestered place, sun-ounded by woods. The parish com-
prises 1602 acres; population, 124. Its post town is Here-
ford. The governors of Guy's Hospital are lords of the
manor, having purchased the property of the Duke of
Chandos. Aconbury Hill, to the S of the village, 719 feet
high and well wooded, commands an extensive and very fine
prospect. An Augustinian nunnery, founded in the reign of
King John, anciently stood in Aconbury Forest ; its remains
have been converted into a fai-mbouse, called Aconbury Court.
The hving is annexed to the rectory of Little Birch ; net
value, £196. The church is a small ancient Gothic huildiuf,
restored by Scott in 1863.

°

Acrefair, a village in Denbighshire, 2 miles SSW of
Kuabon. It has a post office under Rnabon, and a station
on the G.W.K. It is a minkg and quarrying district, and
there are extensive ironworks.

Acrise, a parish in Kent, 5 miles NNW of Folkestone
station on the S.E.R. Post town, Folkestone; money order
and telegi-aph office, Elham. Population, 195. The living
is a rectoiy in the diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £240.
Acrise Place, a fine brici mausion situated in an extensive
park, is in the vicinity.

Acton, a name signifying " oak-town," and designating a
seat of population which anciently was occupied by oak trees.

Acton, a village and a township in Weaverham parish,
Cheshire, 4i miles WNW of Northwich, lying on the
North-western railway and on the Weaver river, and having
a railway station called Acton Bridge, 173 miles from London.
Post town, We.averham under Northwich. Acreage, 1177

;

population, 634. A bridge on the Weaver here was built of
stones from Vale Royal Abbey. There is a chapel for Wes-
leyan Methodists.

Acton, a village, a township, and a parish in Cheshire.
The township hes on the Shropshire Union Canal, 1 mileWNW of Nantwich, and has a post office under Nantwich,
which is the money order and telegraph office. Population',
247. The parish, called Acton St Mary, comprises the
townships of Acton, Coole Pilate, Bmland, Edieston, Aus-
terson, Baddington, Faddiley, Brindley, Henhull, Hurleston,
and Stoke. Area of the civil parish, 771

; population, 247;
area of the ecclesiastical, 10,645; population, 1996. Dor-
fold H.all, the seat of the lord of the manor, was built in
1616, and contains some good oak panelling. The ni.anor
belonged to the Saxon earl Morcar, and passed, through the
Lovehi, Ardens, and Wilbrahams, to the Tollemaches. The
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living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chester; net value,

£400. Patron, Lord Tollemache. The registers date from
1653. The principal occupation is cheese-making. The
p-aiish church of St Jlary's is a handsome Early English
structure, with chancel, n.ave, and aisles, tower, chapel, and
a peal of six bells; it contains several ancient monuments,
and there is a piscina in the south aisle, and a piscina and
stall in the ch.ancel. During the Civil War the Royal forces

were driven into Acton Church and there captured.

Acton, a metropolitan suburban parish in Middlesex,
about 8J miles W of St Paul's, London. It has stations on
the North London, Great Western, and Metropolitan District

railways, and has a head post office in the Western Metro-
politan postal district. It is governed by a local board of

twelve members, foi-med m 1886. Old Oak Common, tra-

versed by the Great Western railway and by the North and
South-western junction, was anciently a thick oak forest.

Acton Wells, on the common, were in much repute, about
the middle of the 18th century, for their medicind waters.
Benymead Priory was once the seat of the Savilles and the
Evelyns. Su- P. Skippon, Richard Baxter, Sir Matthew
Hale, Bishop Lloyd, Provost Rous, Thicknesse the traveller,

and Kyr-es the author of " Mercm-ius Kusticus," resided in
Acton. The living is a rectory in the diocese of London

;

net yeariy value, £414 with residence. Patron, the Bishop
of London. The church is a modern structure of red brick
in the Decorated style. There are also Baptist, Congre-
gational, and Wesleyan chapels. The parish includes the
ecclesiastical parishes of South Acton and East Acton, and
the ecclesiastical district of Acton Green. Area of the
parish, 2306 acres; population, 24,206. The livuig at
South Acton is a vicarage

; yearly value, £420, in the gift
of the Bishop of London. The church, consecrated in 1872,
is a building of red brick in the Florid Gothic style. There
is also a Catholic chapel. South Acton has a station on
the North London railway. East Acton was formed into an
ecclesiastical parish in 1879. The living is a vicarage

; net
yeariy value, £500, in the gift of the Goldsmiths' Company.
The chnrch, which was built in 1879 at the cost of the Gold-
smiths' Company, is a structure of red brick in the Gothic
style. The living of Acton Green is a vicarage in the gift
of the Bishop of London. The church is a building of red
brick in the Early English style. Acton Green has a station
on the Metropolitan District railway.

Acton, a parish in West Suffolk, near the river Stour,
3 miles E from Long Melford station on the G.E.R., and
3 from Sudbuiy. It has a post office (R.S.O.) ; money order
and telegraph office, Sudbury. Acreage, 2885

; population,
of the civil parish, 619

; of the ecclesiastical, 607. Actoii
Place, which has been rebuilt, contains some old paintings
and other interesting objects. The living is a vicarage in
the diocese of Ely; yearly value, £375 with residence.
Patron, Earl Howe, who is the chief landowner. The church
has been restored, with the exception of the tower. It con-
tains the oldest perfect brass in the kingdom, that of Sir
Robert de Bures, 1302.

Acton, a township in Wrexham parish, Denbigh, 1 mile
NNE of Wrexham. Acreage, 890

; population, 432. Acton
Park is the seat of the Cunhffe family, and occupies the
site of the house in which the notorious' Judge Jeffreys was
bom.

Acton, a hamlet in Langton-Matravers parish, Dorset

3i miles SE of Corfe Castle.

Acton, a township in North Lydbury parish, Salop, 2
miles SSW of Bishop's Castle.

Acton and Bednall, a township in Swinnerton parish,
Staffordshire, 3^ miles SW of Newcastle-under-Lyme. Acre-
age, 2594

;
population, 490.

Acton and Old Felton fonn a township in Felton parish
Northumberiand, near the river Coquet, 2 miles from Felton|
2A from Acklington railway station, and 7J S of Alnwick.'
Acreage, 1528; population, 87. Acklington is the post
town; money order and telegraph office, Felton. Acton
House commands extensive views.

Acton-Beauchamp, a village and a parish in Worcester-
shire, 4 miles SE of Bromyard. It has a post office under
Worcester; money order and telegraph office, Bromyard.
Acreage, 1544; population, 216. The property belonged
anciently to the Beauchamps. The village is somewhat
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scattered, and is bituated ou the borders of Herefordshire.

There is an intermittent mineral spring. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, X25G. The
church, dedicated to St Giles, is a stone edifice in the

Norman style.

Acton-Burnell, a village, a township, and a parish in

Salop. The township lies 4 miles ENH of Dorrington station

on the Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (L. & N. W. and

G. W.) railway, and 8 SSE of Shrewsbury, and it has a
post, money order, and telegraph office under Slirewsbury.

Population, 228. The parish contains also the townships of

Ruckley and Langley, and the hamlet of Acton-Pigott.

Acreage, 1G56; population, 30G. Acton Park is the seat

of the Smythes, in whose family it has remained since the

time of Charles II. It is a fine Grecian mansion of white

stone, with a spacious wooded park, well stocked with deer

;

and on the suppression of the religious houses in France at

the time of the Kevolutlon, it was the refuge of several com-
munities of monks. A ruin on Acton Hill, with very thick

walls and curiously carved pointed windows, is part of a
castle which was built in the 13th century, and belonged to

the family of Burncll. The lords of Edward I.'s Parliament

of 1283, which passed " Statutum dc mercatoribus," sat in

a hall of an older castle (of which a couple of gables still

remain), while the commons sat in an adjacent barn. Tiie

founder of the estate was Sir Robert Burnell, who was made
Bishop of Bath and Wells and Lord Treasurer and Lord
Chancellor by Edwar-d I., to whom he had been tutor. In

the 15th century the property passed to the Lovells, was
forfeited to tlie Crown on the accession of Henry VII., and
was granted by Henry VIII. to the Earl of Surrey. The
Church of St Mary, an ancient and very beautiful building in

the Transitional style, contains some good monuments and
brasses. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield

;

net value, £297.

Acton-Graage, a township and a village in Runcorn
parish, Cheshire, 2^ miles SW of Warrington. Acreage,

96!)
;
population, 463.

Acton-Pigott, a hamlet in Acton-Burnell parish, Salop,

1 mile NE of Acton-Burnell.

Acton-Reynold, a township in Shawbury parish Salop,

near the riven Roden, 2 miles from Hadnall station on the

L. & N.W.R., and 7 NNE of Shrewsbury. The Hall is the

seat of the Corbet family, and is beautifully situated.

Acton-Eound or Eound Acton, a township and a parish

in Salop, 3 miles S by E of Much Wenlock, and 6J WNW
of Bridgnorth. Post town, Bridgnorth ; money order and
telegraph office, Much Wenlock. Acreage, 2245; popula-

tion, 1G2. Lord Acton is lord of the manor and the princi-

pal landowner. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford ; net value, £78. The church is ancient and
cruciform, has a small tower, contains three fine monuments
to the Acton family, and was restored in 1850. The Hall,

which dates from Queen Anne's time, is now a far'uihouse.

The township includes the hamlet of Muckley.

Acton-Scott, a township and a parish in Salop, 1 mile

E of Marsh Brook station on the Shrewsbury and Hereford

.Joint (L. & N.W. and G.W.) railway, and 3J miles SSE of

Chm'ch-Stretton, which is the post town. Acreage, 1934
;

population, 189. Acton-Scott Hall, the seat of the lord of

the manor, is an Elizabethan mansion, said to have been

built in 15G7. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Hereford; net value, £210. The church contains a beauti-

ful oak screen and some ancient monuments. The parish

also contains the township of Alcaston.

Acton-Stone or Stone Acton, a township in Rushbury

parish, Salop, 1^ mile from Rushbury station on the G.W.R.

Acton-Trussell and Bednall, a township and an

ecclesiastical parish in Staftordshire, on the river Penk and

the Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal, 3;} miles SI] of

Stafford, and 3 J NE of Penkridge station on the L. &N.W.R.
There is a post office under Stafford ; money order and tele-

graph office, Penkr'idge. Population, 490. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield; net value, £300. It is

in the gift of the Hulme trustees. The church at Acton

was restored in 1S70. It is an ancient stone building in

the Early Decorated style, and contains many fine staiued

windows. The church at Bednall was rebuilt in 1844, The
Earl of Lichfield is lord of the manor.
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Aoton-TurviUe, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire,

near the Fosse Way and under the Cotswold Hills, 6 miles

E by S of Chipping-Sodbury, and 7 E of Yate station on

the M.R. It has a post office under Chippenham ; telegraph

office, Badminton. Acreage, 1015 ; population, 266. The
manor belongs to the Duke of Beaufort. The living is a

vicar'age in the diocese of Gloucester .and Bristol ; net value,

£117. The church was rebuilt in 1853 iu the Early Eng-
lish style. There is a Baptist chapel.

Adbaston, a township and a parish in Staffordshire. The
township lies near the Shrewsbury Canal, 5 miles W by S of

Eccleshall, and 6 from Newport (Salop) station on the

L. & N.W.R. Post town, Newport (Salop) ; money order

and telegraph office, Eccleshall. At Knighton, which is

included in the township, are 1000 acres bequeathed to the

gr-ammar school at Newport. The parish contains also the

townships of F'lashbrook, Bishops-Offley, .and Tunstall.

Acreage, 4638 (including 28 of water)
;
population, 568.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net

value, £286. Patron, the Bishop of Lichfield. The chmch
is very good, and has been restored.

Adbeer, a hamlet in Trent parish, Somerset, 4 miles NE
by N of Yeovil.

Adbolton, a hamlet, formerly a parish, on the river Trent,

near Grantham Can.al, 3 miles SE of Nottingham. It is now
included in Holme- Pierrepoint parish.

Adcot, a township in Little Ness chapehy, Salop, 2J
miles from Baschurch station on the G.W.R., and 6 J NW of

Shrewsbury.

Adderbury, a village, two townships, and a parish in

Oxfordshire. The village stands near the Oxford Canal and
the river Cherwell, 3 miles NW of Aynho station on the

G.W.R., and 3J S of Banbury, and h.as a post, money order,

and telegi'aph office under B.anbmy. Its church is cruciform,

and chiefly Early English and Decor.ated, with a lofty Decor-

ated spu-e. The chancel was btfilt by William of Wykeham,
and has his arms on the outer wall. The cburch was
thoroughly restored in 1886 at a cost of £3000. The
ancient parsonage and the old tithe-barn are adjacent. A
Norman castle, and afterwards a palace of the Dukes of

Buccleuch, stood at Adderbmy. The former is extinct, but

the latter has been converted into a modern residence. An
impostor, who pretended to be the Saviour, was crucified

here in 1219, by order of an Episcopal synod. Wilmot,

the witty, profligate Earl of Rochester, took from Adderbury

the title of Baron, and lived and died in the mansion uear

Adderbmy Green ; and Pope the poet afterwards made a

visit there to the great Duke of Argyll, and wrote

—

" With no poetic ardour fired,

I press the bed where Wilmot lay."

The townships of Adderbmy are called East and West.

The church, previously described, is in East Adderbury.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford, with the

chapelry of Milton annexed; joint net value, £380, in the

gift of New College, Oxford. Area of East Adderbury,

2022 acres of land and 36 of water
;
population, 846. West

Adderbury has an iu'ea of 1159 acres; population, 331. At
Milton there is a chapel of ease, erected in 1856. Area of

the hamlet, 810 acres; population, 136. There is a Wesleyan

chapel at East Adderbury, and .at West Adderbury a Cou-
gr'cgational chapel and Friends' meeting-house. Adderbury

House, which belonged in succession to the Earl of Rochester

and the families of Ai'g)'ll and Buccleuch, is now the property

of the Larnach family.

Adderley, a township and a parish in Salop. The town-

ship lies on the Duckcr brook, a tributary of the Weaver
river, 4 miles N of Mar-ket-Drayton, and has a station on the

G.W.R., 181 miles from London. The parish includes also

the townships of Shaviugton .and Spoonley. Acreage, 2870
(including 24 of water)

;
population of the civil parish, 361

;

of the ecclesiastical, 468. Adderley Hall is the seat of the

Corbet family, and Shaviugton Hall that of the Heywood-
Lonsdale family. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Lichfield ; net value, £666. The church was rebuilt in 1801

;

it has a chapel and several monuments and brasses. Adderley

has a post and telegraph office.

Adderley- Park, a station on the L. & N.W.R. , between

Stechford and Bir-mingham.
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Adderstone, a township in Lucker pnrisli, Nortliumber-

land, 1 mile W of Lucker railway station, and 3 miles SSE
of Belford. Acreage, 2G93

;
population, 217. Post town,

Kelford, whicli is the money order and telegraph office.

Adderstone Hall, a fine mansion, and Twizell House are in

the neighbomhood. The Duke of Northumberland is lord

of the manor.

Addingham, a parish in Cumberland, on the river Eden,

2 miles from Little Salkeld railway station, and 6J NE of

Penrith. It contains the townships of Hunsonby and Winskill,

Little Salkeld, Glassonby, and Gamblesby. Post town,

Langwathby (R.S.O.) Population, 777. The living is a

vicarage in tlie diocese of Carlisle ; net value, £330. Patron,

tlie Dean and Chapter of Carlisle. The church is good,

and there are chapels for Congregationalists and Wesleyans.

There is an endowed school at Hunsonby. Dr Paley was
vicar from 1792 till 1795. The Roman Maiden way runs

through the parish, and a remarkable Druidical monument,
called Long Meg and her Daughters, with a splendid view

from the Crossfell Mountains to Helvellyn, occurs on an

eminence about a mile ENE of the church. The monument
comprises sixty-nine enormous unhewn stones, most of them
in a circle of about 350 feet in diameter, and a predominant

upright block 14 feet in girth and 12 feet high. Wordsworth

pronounces this " family " of Druid stones unrivalled in

singularity and dignity of appearance, and says

—

" A weiglit of awe not easy to be borne
Fell suddenly upon my spirit—cast
From the dread bosom of the unknown past,

When first I saw that family forlorn."

The Lacy caves, consisting of five large rooms cut out of the

solid rock, are near here.

Addingham, a village, a township, and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on the river Wharfe, G

miles ESE of Skipton, and has a station on the M.E., and

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Leeds. It

formerly carried on a large industry in cotton, worsted, and
woollen factories, but began to suifer great reverses about

1835. The inhabitants are now chiefly occupied in agri-

culture and in silk manufacture. Fairs are held on 22 March
and 23 Oct. Acreage, 3198

;
population, 2225. The pai'ish

also includes the hamlets of High House, Low Mills, and

Small Banks. Area of the parish, 3515 acres
;
population,

225G. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon ; net

value, £190. The church is partly Norman, was restored in

1858, and again in 1875, and stands in a beautiful situation.

There are three dissenting chapels, three schools, a mechanics'

institute and reading room.

Addington, a parish in the county of Buckingham, on a
tributaiy of the Ouse, IJ mile WNW of Winslow station on

the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Winslow, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1303; population, 100.

Addington Manor, the property of Lord Addington, is a tine

modern residence, standing in a park of 300 acres. Adding-
ton House, a residence of Lord Addington, also stands in the

park. Gallows Gap was a place of feud.al capital punishment
by the ancient proprietors, the Monlines. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; value, £200. Patron,

Lord Addington. The church is a building of stone in tlie

Early English style.

Addington, a parish in Kent, 2 miles from Mailing station

on the L.C. & D.R., and 7 WNW of Maidstone. It has a
post office under Maidstone ; money order and telegraph

office. West Mailing. Acreage, 1119; population of the

civil parish, 273 ; of the ecclesiastical, 23C. Two ancient

stone cu'cles occur in the grounds of Addington Park, and
seem to have had connection with other neighbouring Di-uid-

ical monuments, A nailbourne spring in the parish breaks

out at intervals of seven or eight years, and sends off its

waters to the Leybome rivulet. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £230. The church
is ancient and is in good condition. It cont.ains several

brasses, and stands on a finely picturesque wooded eminence.

It was restored in 185G, and an organ was erected by sub-
scription in 1883.

Addington (in Domesd.ay called FA'mtone), a village and
a parish in Surrey. Acreage, 3G05

;
population, G70. Tlie

village stands on the verge of the county, 4 miles ESE of

Croydon railway station, and has a post and telegraph office

ADDLETHORPE

under Croydon. Tradition asserts it to have been anciently

a place of some note. The manor was given by William the

Conqueror to his cook Tezelin, to be held on the tenure of

presenting a mess of pottage to the king at his coronation;

and it passed, with its curious tenure, in 1807, to the
Archbishop of Canterbuiy. The mansion on it was built

about 1780 by Alderman Trecothick, and improved in

1830 by Archbishop Howley; it is still the country seat

of the Archbishops of Canterbury. The higher grounds
of the park, and the hills above them, command fine views.

About twenty-five tumuli, or remains of tumuli, altered by
having been opened, occur on a common above the village.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury ; net

value, £27G. Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury. The
church is ancient, but was restored and a north aisle and
vestry added in 187C. It shows the Norman and Early
English styles in the interior, and contains monuments and
brasses. In the church are the monuments of Howley and
Manners-Sutton, Viscount of Canterbury, G.C.B., Speaker
of the House of Commons from 1817 to 1834, and in the
churchyard of Archbishops Sumner, Langley, and Tait, and
of the latter's wife and son.

Addington, Great, a parish in North.amptonshire, on the

river Nen, near Eingstead station on the L. & N.W.R., 4J
miles SW of Thrapston. It has a post office under Thrap-
ston, which is the telegraph office; money order office,

Woodford. Acreage, 1261; population, 299. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough. The church is

a small but ancient building containing some interesting

tombs and monuments.

Addington, Little, a parish in Northamptonshire, immedi-
ately S of Great Addington, and also near Ringstead railway
station. Post town, thrapston ; telegraph office, Irthling-

boro; money order office, Woodford. Acreage, 1143; popu-
lation, 298. The manor belonged anciently to Sulby monas-
tery. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough

;

net yearly value, £220. The church is a small but ancient
building in the Eariy English style, and there is a Wesleyan
chapel.

Addiscombe. See Croydon.
Addle. See Adel.
Addlestone, a village and a chapelry in Chcrtsey parish,

Sun-cy. The rillage stands 2 miles SSE of Chertsey, and
has a station on the Chertsey branch of the L. & S.W.R.,
21 miles from London. It is noted for a very large oak
tree, called the Crouch Oak, beneath which tradition asserts

Wickliffe to h,ave preached and Queen Elizabeth to have
dined. The Church of St Paul was consecrated in 1838,
and restored in 1844; it will seat 800 people. The living

is a vicai-age in the diocese of Winchester ; net value, £342.
Patron, the Bishop of Winchester. The iron church of St
Augustme was opened in 1891 ; it will seat 200 people. In
the hamlet of New Haw there is also a licensed mission
church. The Princess Mary Vilbge Homes, an institution for

the reception of the female children of prisoners, and other
children in destitute and dangerous circumstances, was erected

in 1871. The Chertsey Union House is in the parish.

There is a Workmen's Reading Room and a village hall, capable
of holding 500 persons, erected in 1887. Addlestone has a
post, money order, and telegr.aph office (S.O.) Population,
5119.

Addlestrop or Adlestrop, a village and a parish in

Gloucestershire, near the river Evenlode, 3 miles E of Stow-
on-the-Wold, with a station on the G.W.R. Post town,
Chipping Norton ; money order and telegraph office, Stow-
on-the-Wold. Acreage, 130G

;
population, 1G4. The manor

belonged to the abbey of Evesham, passed at the dissolution

to Sir Thomas Leigh, and is now the property of Lord Leifh.

Addlestrop House is a large and interesting mansion, partly
of considerable antiquity, amid beautiful grounds laid out by
Adey Repton. The living is a rectory, annexed to the
rectory of Broadwell, in the diocese of Gloucester and
Bristol. The church was built in 1764, and is in good
condition.

Addlethorpe, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, on
the coast, G miles NIC of Burgh station on the G.N.R., and

9.J SE of Alford. Post town. Burgh (R.S.O.) ; money order
and telegraph office, Skegness. Acreage, 2293

;
population

of the civil parish, 224; of the ecclesiastical, 210. The
13
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living is a rectory in tlie diocese of Lincoln
;
p-oss yearly

value, £146 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The church is rich Perpendicular English, and has several

oak stalls and a chancel wooden screen. There is a Wesleyan
chapel.

Adel, a township and a parish in the W. E. Yorkshire.
The township is 2 miles from Horsforth railway station, and
6 NNW of Leeds ; and it is joined to Eccup, forming Adel-
cum-Eccup, and also includes the hamlet of Cookridge and
part of East Breary. Post town, Leeds. Acreage, 4890

;

population of the civil parish, llCl; of the ecclesiastical,

1104. There is a large reservoir in connection with the Leeds
water-works. Remains of a Roman camp and villa are in a
field a mile N of the church. There is a museum at the

churchyard gate containing Roman altars, stone coffins, and
other antiquities. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Kipon
; net value, £751. The church is a very fine Norman

edifice, erected about 1140 A.D. There are two schools, the

Leeds Boys' Reformatory, a cemetery, and some hleach-

works. There is a Wesleyan chapel at Eccup, and a Con-
valescent Hospital at Cookridge, founded by John Jletcalfe

Smith, Esq., in 1868, with accommodation for 100 inmates.

Adeney or Adney, a township in Edgmond parish, Salop,

1 mile SW of Edgmond, and 3 miles from Newport station

on the L. &. N.W.R.
Adforton, a township with Stanway, Paytoe, and Grange,

in the parish of Leintwardine, Herefordshire, 2 miles NW of

\Vigmore, and 6 from Bucknell station on the L. & N.W.R.
Acreage, 1592

;
population, 183. There are a chapel of ease

and a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Adgaxley with Stainton, a township in Urswick parish,

Lancashire, 2 miles from Dalton station on the Furness main
line, and 4 SSW of Ulverstone. Urswick is the post town.
The inhabitants are chiefly employed in the iron mines and
stone quarries.

Adgeton, a hamlet in Brading parish, a mile SW of Brad-
ing, Isle of Wight. It was a frequent scene of Leigh Rich-

mond's labom's.

Adhelm's Head, St. See Alban's Head, St.

Adisham or Adsham, a parish in Kent, on the L.C.&D.R.,
68 miles from London, and G SE of Canterbury. It has a

station on the railway, and its post town is Dover ; money
order and telegraph office, Coingham. Acreage, 2082

;

population, 441. The m.anor was given in 616 to Christ

Church, Canterbury, and is now held by the Ecclesiastical

Commissioners. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Canterbury, and till 1864 was united with the perpetual

curacy of Staple ; net value, .£735. Patron, the Archbishop
of Canterbury. The church is cruciform, and Early English,

with a central tower, and was restored in 1870. There is a
Baptist chapel.

Adlestrop. See Addlestrop.
Adlingfieet, a village, a township, and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire. The township lies near the confluence of

the Ouse and the Trent, 8 miles E of Goole railway station,

and has a post office under Goole. Acreage, 1848 ; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 211; of the ecclesiastical, 373. The
parish includes also the townships of Fockerby and Haldenhy.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York ; net value,

£322 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
church was built about 1260. There are Wesleyan and
Primitive Methodist chapels.

Adlington, a township in Prestbury parish, Che-sbire, 5

miles N of Macclesfield. It has a station on the L. & N.W.R.,

170 miles from London, and a post office under Macclesfield
;

money order office at Prestbury. Valuable mines of coal and
flagstone are in the neighbourhood. Acreage, 3899

;
popu-

lation, 819. Many of the inhabitants are silk-weavers.

Adlington Hall is an old seat, the great hall dating from the

time of Elizabeth, and in 1645 was taken by the Parlia-

mentary forces after a fourteen-day.s' siege. It is now the

residence of the Gubbins-Legh family. There are ch.apels

for Wesleyans and New Connexion Methodists.

Adlington, a town.ship, a village, and a parish in Lanca-

shire, with stations on the L. & Y.R. and L. & N.W.R., and

near the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, 3 miles SE of Chorley,

and with a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Chorley. Cotton manufacture is caiTied on, also calico

printing and bleaching. Acreage of the township, 1064

;
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population of the whole parish, 5975 ; of the township of

Adlington alone, 4190. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Manchester; net value, £300 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Manchester. The present parish

church was built in 1883, and will seat 700 persons. The
old church, erected in 1839, is used as a chapel of ease.

There are Wesleyan, Congregational, and Primitive Methodist
chapels, and two schools. The parish also comprises the

townships of Anderton, Duxbury, and Heath Charnock.

Admaston, a hamlet in Blithfield parish, Staffordshire,

4 miles N of Rugeley. It has a post office under Rugeley
;

money order and telegraph office, Abbots Bromley.

Admaston, a village and a township in Wrockwardine
parish, Salop, IJ mile NW of Wellington, with a post

office under Wellington. The G.W.R. and L. & N.W.R.
have a joint station here. There are two springs, chaly-

beate and sulphur, now inclosed in the grounds of the Spa
Hotel.

Admington, a hamlet in Lower Quinton parish, Glouces-
tershire, 6 miles NE of Chipping-Campden. Acreage, 997;
population, 118. Admington Hall is the seat of the Holland-
Corbet family.

Admiston or Athelhampton, a parish in Dorsetshire,

on the river Piddle, 4 miles NW of Moreton station on the

L. & S.W.R., and 6 NE of Dorchester. Post town, Piddle-

town. Acreage, 477
; population of the civil parish, 71 ; of

the ecclesiastical, with Burleston, 149. This place is said

to have been at one time the principal residence of the kings

of Wessex. The living is a rectory, united to the rectory of

Burleston, in the diocese of Salisbury; value, £171. The
church is I'erpendicular English, and was built in 1860.

Admiston, Berks. See Aldermaston.
Adney. See Adeney.
Adrian's Wall. See Roman Wall, The.
Adstock, a village and a parish in Buckinghamshire,

midway between Buckingham and Winslow, and Ij mile E
from Padbury station on the L. & N.W.R. Post town,

Winslow ; money order and telegi'aph office, Padbui-y. Acre-

age, 1166
;
population, 330. "The market for Buckingham

and Winslow was held here during the plague of 1665. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; net value, £318
with residence. The church is ancient but good. It was
restored in 1876, and the chancel in 1892, when a memorial
stained window was added to the nave. There is also a

Wesleyan chapel.

Adston, a township in Wentnor parish, Salop, 4J miles

W of Church-Stretton.

Adstone, fonnerly a chapelry in Ashby-Canons parish,

but which was made a separate parish for all purposes in

1865, in Northamptonshire, 1^ mile E from Moreton Pinkney
station on the East and West Junction railway, and 6J
WNW from Towcester, which is the post town and money
order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1430 ; population, 138.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough ; net

yearly value, about £90 with residence. Patrons, the Sons
of Clergy Corporation. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Adur or Alder, The, a river of Sussex. It rises in St
Leonai'd's Forest, in the neighbourhood of Horsham, and
runs about 20 miles southw.ard, past Ashurst and Steyning,

to the English Ch.annel at Shoreham. It affords good trout

fishing above Bolney, and is noted for its mullet farther down.

Advent (anciently called St Adwen and St Tathen), a.

parish in Cornwall, on the Camel river, 2 miles S of Carrh^-

ford st.ation, on the L. & S.W.R. There is a post office

at Camelford, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 4091 ;
population, 200. The living is a

rectory, annexed to Lanteglos, in the diocese of Truro ; net

value, £500. Patron, the Prince of Wales. The church

was restored in 1873. An ancient weather-worn granite

cross, about 9 feet high, stands in a field a short w.ay from

the church.

Adwalton or Adderton, a hamlet in Drighlington town-

ship, Drighlhigton and Adwalton parish, W. R. Yorkshire,

5i miles SW of Leeds. It h.is a joint station with Drigh-

lington on the Shipley and Bradford extension of the G.N.R.

The post, money order, and telegraph office is at Drighling-

ton. It was formerly a market-town, and it still has fairs

on 6 Feb., 9 Mar., Easter Thursday, Whit-Thm-sday, 5 Nov.,

and 23 Dec. Adwalton Moor, in the neighbourhood, was
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the scene in 1G43 of tlie defeat of Fairfax by the Earl of

Newcastle.

Adwell, a parish in Oxfordshire, near the Chiltern Hills,

2 miles SSE of Tetsworth, and 3 NE from Aston Eowant
station on the G.W.R. Post town, Tetsworth, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 434 ;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, ti8 ; of the ecclesiastical, with South

Weston, ICl. Adwell House is the chief residence. Adwell

Cop is an ancient entrenchment supposed to have been con-

structed by the Danes when they burnt Oxford in 1010.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford, annexed to

South Weston
;

joint net yearly value, £272. The church,

a building of flint and stone in mixed styles, was restored

very thoroughly in 1805. Adwell House is the seat of the

Reynavdson family.

Adwick-le-Street, a township and a parish in the W. K.

Yorkshire. The township lies on Ermine Street and near

the West Riding and Grimsby railw.ay, 4 miles NW of Don-
caster, and has a railway station. It has a post office under

Doncaster, and a telegraph office at the railway st.ation.

Acreage, 20G7
;
population of the civil parish, 290 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 430. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of York ; net value, £330 with residence. The church is

good, and there is a Weslcyan chapel.

Adwick-upon-Deame, a township, a village, and a parish

in the W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Deanie, 1 mile from

llexborongh station on the M.S. &. L.R., and G^ miles NNE
of Rotherham. Post town, Mexborough under Rotherham.

Acreage, 1142; population, 246. Earl Manvers is lord of

the manor and chief landowner. The lining is a vicarage,

annexed to that of Wath, in the diocese of York
;

joint

yearly value, £330, in the gift of Christ Church, Oxford.

The church is ancient.

Aflf-Puddle, a parish in Dorset, on the river Piddle, 3J
miles N of Moreton station on the S.W.R., .and 8 ENE of

Dorchester. It contains the hamlet of Pallington and the

tithing of Bryants-Puddle. Post town, Dorchester. Acreage,

3630
;
population, 434. The manor anciently belonged to

Cerne Abbey. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the

rectory of Toners-Puddle, in the diocese of Salisbury; value,

19G. The church is ancient but good, and was restored in

1878.

Afon. See Avon.
Afonwen, a railway station in Carnarvonshire, 4 miles E

of Pwllheli, and 4 W of Criccieth, forming a junction of the

L. & N.W. and the Cambrian railways.

Afton, a village 2 miles S of Yarmouth, Isle of Wight.

Afton House adjoins it, on a pleasant slope toward the Yar.

Afton Down rises in the south-eastern neighbourhood, over-

hangs the English Channel, has an altitude of about GOO feet,

and is crowned by tumuli.

Agar-Town, a metropolitan district in St Pancras parish,

Middlesex. It fonnerly consisted of small tenements of the

lowest class, so dreary and dirty that the district was styled

by Charles Dickens " the English Connemara;" but it was
almost swept away in 18GG by the Midland Railway Com-
pany, who acquired the gi'onnd from the Ecclesiastical Com-
missioners for their London tei-minns.

Agbrigg, a village in Warmfield-with-IIeath township,

in the W. R. Yorkshire, 1 mile E of Wakefield. It gives the

niime to a wapentake.

Agbrigg and Morley, a wapentake of three divisions.

Lower, Upper, and Morley, in the W. R. Yorkshire.

Agden, a township in M.alpas parish, Cheshire, 2J miles

SE of Malpas. Acreage, 647
;
population, 73. There is a

Primitive Methodist chapel.

Agden, a township in Bowden and Rostheme parishes,

Cheshire, 3J miles SW of Altrincham, and 3 from Dunham
Massey station on the L. & N.W.R. Acreage, C07

; popu-
lation, 106. Agden Hall is a modern Elizixbethan house,

built on the ruins of the old hall, the former seat of the

Agden family. It is situated on an elevation, commanding
a fine view.

Agglestone, a large isolated block of femiginous sand-
stone, about a mile NW of Studland vill.age, in the parish of

Studland, Dorset. It crowns a hillock nearly a mile from
the shore; measures 37 feet in length, 19 feet in breadth,

and 15 feet in height; and is regarded by some persons as

merely a boulder, by others as a Druidical monument. The
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common people allege it to have been thrown by the Devil

from the Isle of Wight, to demolish Corfe Castle, and call

it the Devil's Nightcap.

Agglethorpe, a joint township with Coverham, in Cover-

ham parish, in the N. R. Yorkshire. See Covkrham.
AgUonby, a village and a township formerly in Warwick

parish, but now included in that of Scotby, Cumberland,

near the river Eden and the Carlisle and Newcastle railway,

3:^ miles E of Carlisle.

Agmondesbam. See Amersham.
Agnes, St, formerly called Breanick, a town and a parish

in Cornwall. The town is a seaport, on a small b.ay of Bristol

Channel, 4 miles N of Chacewater station on the G.W.R. , and

9 NW by W of Truro. It has a post, money order, and

telegraph oftice under ScoiTier (R.S.O.) It is the centre of

a rich mining district. A weekly market is held on Thurs-

day, and an annual fair on 1 M-ay. The harbour is small,

•and can be entered only near high water, and by vessels of

not more than 100 tons burden. Most of the inhabitants

are connected with neighbouring mines. The parish com-
prises 8437 acres of land and 112 of water

;
population of

the civil parish, 4249 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2495. Granite

is the prevailing rock, and copper, tin, and iron ai"e worked.

The scenery of coast and surface is picturesque. St Agnes

Beacon, 621 feet high, immediately NW of the town, shows

remarkable deposits of sand and cl.ays at heights of from

300 to 400 feet, and was a beacon station during the French

war, and a chief station of the Trigonometrical Survey.

Harmony Cot, 2 miles from the town, on the road to Perran

Forth, was the birthplace of the painter Opie. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Truro ; value, £308. The
church was built in 1482, has been restored, and shows in-

teresting featm'cs. Chapels for Congreg.ationalists, Wesleyans,

and Primitive Methodists are in the parish. There are an

Oddfellows' Hall and a Mechanics' Institute. Ruins of an-

cient chapels are at JIawla and St Agnes' Well.

Agnes, St, one of the Scilly Islands, near the southern

extremity of the group, separated on the NE from St Mary's

by St Mary's Sound. It consists of two parts, St Agnes
proper and the Gugh, divided from each other by high water

of spring tides. The former measures about 1 mile by A,

the latter about | of a mile by J. Much of the land is

fertile and well cultivated. Acreage, 447
;
population, 130.

St Agnes proper displays some interesting features, contains

a church, and is crowned by a lighthouse, 72 feet high. The
Gugh has a curious rock pillar, 9 feet long, and several

stone-covered baiTows.

Agricola's Wall. See Roman Wali,, The.

Aighton, one of three hamlets forming a township in the

registration district of Clitheroe, Lancashire. It lies near

the rivers Hodder and Ribble, under Longi'idge Fell, 3

miles from Langho railway station, and 5 WSW of Clith-

eroe. It contains bobbin factories, several almshouses,

and the Roman Catholic college of Stonyhurst. The other

hamlets of the township are Bailey and Chaigley. These

three, together with Bradhurst, Hurst Green, and Stony-

hurst, form a civil parish, whose acreage is 6286 ; and

population, 1370.

Aike, a village and a township in the parishes of Lock-

ington and St John Beverley, E. R. Yorkshire, ne.ar the river

Hull, 2 miles E of Lockington railw.ay station, and 6 N of

Beverley, which is the post town. Acreage, 540
;
popula-

tion, 63.

Aikton, a village and a parish in Cumberland. The
village lies E of the Wampool river, 4 miles from Curthwaite

railway station, and 4 NNE of Wigton. The parish includes

also tlie villages of W.ampool, Wiggonby, Biglands, and Gam-
elsby. Post town, Wigton. Acreage, 6172

;
population,

753. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Carlisle

;

value, £500. Patron, the Earl of Lonsdale. The church is

small .and old.

Ailby, a hamlet in Rigsby parish, Lincoln, 1 mile NW of

Alford.

Ailesbury. See Aylesbury.
Ailesworth, a hamlet in Castor parish, Northampton-

shire, near the river Nen, 5 miles W of Peterborough. Acre-

age, 1571; population, 2SG.

Ailstow, a village in Atherstone-on-Stonr parish, War-
wickshire, 3 miles S of Stratford-on-Avon.
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Ainderby, a station on the Bedale and Leybum branch
of the N.E.R., adjacent to Ainderby Steeple, BJ miles W of

Northallerton, in the N. R. Yorkshii-e.

Ainderby-Myers-with-Holtby, a joint township in

Hornby pai-ish, N. R. Yorlishire, 3J miles NNW of Bedale.

Acreage, 1163; population, 77. Post town Bedale, which
is the money order and telegraph ciEce. There is an
endowed school to provide for the free education of 24
scholars.

Ainderby-Quemhow, a village and a township in Pick-
hill parish, N. R. Yorkshire, 1 mile from Sinderby station

on the N.E.R., and 7 miles NNE of Ripon. Acreage, 632

;

population, 88.

Ainderby-Steeple, a to^Tiship, a village, and a parish in

the N. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on the river Swale,

adjacent to Ainderby railway station, 3 miles W of North-
allerton, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Northallerton. The parish includes also the townships
of Waiiaby, Morton-upou-Swale, and Thrintoft. Acreage,
1158

;
population of civil parish, 224 ; of ecclesiastical, 635.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; value,

jE200. Patron, the Bishop of Ripon. The church is an
excellent specimen of Early English, and has been very

successfully restored.

Ainsdale, a bamlet in Formby chapelry, Lancashire, 3J
miles S of Southport. It has a station on the Livei-pool

and Southport railway. The church, erected in 188G-87 at

a cost of £1CU0, is a cruciform building of brick and terra-

cotta. There are also Wesleyan and Congregational chapels

and a Roman Catholic school here. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office, under Southport.

Ainstable, a village and a parish in Cumberland, between
the Croglin and the Eden rivers, 2 miles from Armathwaite
railway station, and 11 N by E of Penrith. It is divided

into the High and Low quarters, and includes the hamlet of

RuckcrofL It has a post office under Kirkosw.ald (R.S.O.);

Armathwaite is the money order and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 4433

;
population, 430. A Benedictine nunnery was

founded here by William Rufus, and its site, on high ground,
is now marked by a stone pillar. Nunnery, a mansion taking

name from it, stands on lower adjacent gi-ound, amid scenery

which is highly pictui'esque, and has been sung by Words-
worth. The living is a vicai'age in the diocese of Carlisle

;

value, about £320. The church was built from the Plump-
ton Walls, contains a tomb of John de Deutorem, and is in

good condition. Dr John Leake, the founder of the West-
minster Lying-in Hospital, was a native.

Ainsty, a wapentake bounded by the rivei-s Ure, Ouse,
and Wharfe, in Yorkshire. It was originally a forest ; was
annexed, by Henry VI., to the city of York, as the county
of the city; and was made in 1837 a wapentake of the West
Riding. It is dirided into the Eastern and Western di\'isions.

Total .area, 50,151 acres.

Ainsworth, a township, a ^ilhage, and an ecclesiastical

parish formed in 1867 from Middleton parish, Lancashire,

1 mile from Bradley-Fold railway station, and 2i miles E
of Bolton, under which there is a post office ; money order

and telegraph office at Breightmet. Acreage, 1309 ;
popu-

lation, 1821. The Earl of Wilton is lord of the manor and
principal landowner. Cotton manufacture is earned on. The
living is a %'acarage in the diocese of Manchester, in the gift

of the rector of Middleton; value, £265. The church is

good, and there are Unitarian and Methodist chapels.

Ainthorpe, a hamlet in Danby parish, N. R. Yorkshire.

Aintree, a township, which was formed into a pai'ish in

1878 from the ciril pai'ishes of Sefton and Walton on the

Hill, in Lancashire, on the Alt river and the Leeds Canal, 6

miles NNE of Liverpool. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office (R.O.) under Liverpool, and stations on the

Lancashire and Yorkshire and Cheshire Lines Committee
railways. Acreage, 850

;
population of the civil pai'ish,

263 ; of the ecclesiastical parish of Aintree St Peter, 2719.

A church was erected in 1876-77, at a cost of £6000, in

the Gothic style. The li^nng is a vicarage in the diocese of

Liverpool ; net value, £140 with residence, in the gift of the

rector of Sefton. It contains, with a giand stand built in

1830, a race-com-se, Ij mile round, where the Liverpool

races ai-e run in March, July, and November. The Earl nf

Sefton is lord of the manor and principal landowner.
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Air, Point of, a headland in FUntshire, at the W side of

the estuary of the Dee.

Aira or Airey, The, a rivulet ranning 5 miles eastward
to Ulleswater, on the boundary between Westmoreland and
Cmnberland. It rushes along a wooded rocky ravine, and
m.akes a very romantic fall of 80 feet, called Aira Force. A
castellated shooting-box, called Lynlph's Tower, stands at
its mouth on the site of an ancient tower of the same name.
The present structure was built by a Duke of Norfolk,

and the ancient one perhaps took its name from L'Ulph, the
first baron of Greystoke. A pathetic old legend respecting

Lynlph's Tower and Aira Force is embodied in Wordsworth's
poem of the " Somnambuhst: "

—

" List ye wlio pass by Lyulph's Tower
At eve ;—how softly then

Doth Aira Force, that torrent hoarse.
Speak from the woody glen."

Aire, The, a river of Yorkshu-e. It rises in wild moors
near Malham, in the north-west quarter of the West Riding;
nms about a mile undergi-ound to Malham cove ; then goes
ESE, past Skipton and Bingley, to Leeds ; then assumes
a more easterly direction, till below Snaith ; then turns to

the NE and goes to the Ouse, a little below Armin, 3 miles
SW of Howden. Its entire length is about 70 miles. It is

joined at Leeds by the Liverpool Canal, which follows it

thither from Gargrave, at Castleford by the river Calder,

and at Birkin by the Selby Canal.

Aire and Calder Canal. See Leeds and Liverpool
Canal.

Airton, a township in Kirkby-in-Malhamdale parish, W.
R. Yorkshire, on the river Aire, G miles SE of Settle. Acreage,

2558; population, 212. It has a post office under Leeds.

The telegraph office and station is Bell Busk on the M.R.
Aisby, a hamlet in Corringham parish, Lincolnshire, 4i

miles NE of Gainsborough.

Aisby, a hamlet in Haydor paiish, Lincolnshire, 5i miles

NW of Folkingh.am.

Aisholt or Asholt, a parish in Somerset, 8 miles from
Bridgewater station on the Bristol and Exeter section of the

G.W.R. It has a post office under Bridgewater ; money order

and telegraph office. Nether Stowey. Aci-eage, 875; popu-
lation of the civil parish, 82 ; of the ecclesiastical, 127. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; value,

£223. The church is good. It contains two new stained

glass windows, and a new organ was erected in 1893. De-
tached parts of this parish were amalgamated with Spaxton
in 1885.

Aiskew, a village and a township in Bedale parish, N. R.

Yorkshire, f mile ENE of Bedale station on the N.E.R., con-

taining Little Leeming hamlet, and Baptist, Primitive Metho-
dist, and Roman Catholic chapels. Acreage, 2035; popu-
lation, 847.

Aislaby, a village and a township in Eaglescliffij parish,

Durham, on the Tees river, near the Stockton and Darling-

ton railway, 2 miles W by N of Yarm station on the N.E.R.
Acreage, 1836

;
population, 95.

Aislaby, a township in Middleton parish, N. R. York-
shire, near the Whitby railway, 2 miles WNW of Pickering

station on the N.E.R. Acreage, 757; population, 112.
The post town is Pickering, which is also the money order

and telegi-aph office.

Aislaby, a village, a township, and a chapelry in Whitby
parish, N. R. Yorkshire, on the Esk river and the Whitby
railway, 1 mile from Sleights station on the N.E.R., and 3

miles SW of Whitby. Post town, Sleights, under Whitby.
Acreage, 1072

;
population, 340. A building limestone is

quarried here, and was the material of Whitby Abbey and
of several great modern works. The living is a vicai'age in

the diocese of York; value, £110.
Aismunderby with-Bondgate, a township in Ripon

parish, partly within Ripon borough, W. R. Yorkshire. Acre-

age, 1083
;
population, 852.

Aisthorpe or East Thorpe, a parish in Lincolnshire, on
the Wolds, near Ermine Street, 6 miles NE of Saxelby station

on the Great Northern and Great Eastern Joint railway,

and 6^ NNW of Lincoln, which is the post town ; money
order office, Ingham ; telegi-aph, office, Lincoln and Stow
Park (K.S.O.) Acreage, 828

;
population, 108 ; including



AITS

West Thorpe, 147. The living is a rectoiy, united to the

vicarage of West Thorpe, in tlie diocese of Lincoln
;
joint

net yearly value, £273 with residence. The church, which

was rebuilt in 1868, is an edifice of stone in the Early

English style.

Aits or Eyots, The, picturesque islets in the Thames,

in the neighbourhood of Henley and of Richmond. Tliey

occur sometimes singly, sometimes in groups, and, being

generally planted with osiers, are sometimes called the Osier

Islands.

Akebar or Aikbar, a township in Finghall parish, N. R.

Yorkshire, 1 mile from Finghall Lane Station on the N.E.R.,

and 4 miles NW of Bedale. Acreage, 778; population, 32.

Akeld, a township in Kirk Newton parish, Northumberland,

near the river Glen, 2 miles NW of Wooler, with a station

on the N.E.R. The post town is Wooler (R.S.O.) Acreage,

22G8; popnbtion, 173.

Akeley-cum-Stockholt, a parish in Buckinghamshire,

3 miles N of Buckingham railway station. Post town,

Buckingham, 2k miles distant, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1325 ;
population, 380.

The hving is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly

value, £171 with residence. The church, a building of stone

in the E.arly Decorated style, was entirely rebuilt in 1854.

There is also a Wesleyan chapel. Akeley Wood is a country

residence standing in 200 acres of well-wooded grass land.

Akenham, a parish in Suffolk, near Gipping River, 2

miles E of Claydon station on the G.E.R., and 4 N by W
of Ipswich. Post town, Claydon, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1017
;
population, 116. The

living is a rectory, annexed to Claydon, in the diocese of

Norwich ; net value, £460. The church is old but good.

Alan or Camel, The, a river of Cornwall. It rises near

Davidstow ; runs southward past Camelford, Michaelstow,

and Holland, to Bodmin ; then goes west-north-westward

past Wadebridge to the Bristol Channel below Padstow.

Its entire length is about 27 miles, and its lowest reach is

an estuary, which forms Padstow Harbour.

Alaw, The, a stream of Anglesey, running 9 miles south-

westward to Holyhead Bay.

Albans, St, an episcop.al city, market and union town
and municipal borough in Hertfordshire, 21 miles NNW of

London, on the main line of the M.R. from London to Bed-
ford, and at termini of branches of the G.N.R. and L. & N.W.R.
Its site is the summit and the northern declivity of a hill, the

abbey church being placed on the south side of the town, at

the back of the High Street. It is skirted by the rivulet Ver,

a tributary of the Colne, near the vestiges of the ancient

town of Verulam and the line of the Roman Watling Street.

Verulam or Vemlamium, according to the Roman historians,

was founded by the Britons at an earlier period than London.
According to Camden, it is the city or fortress of Cassibelan

or Cassivellannus, wliich was forced by Ciesar. Jlilton calls

St Albans "jugera Cassibelauni." In Nero's reign it ranked
as a municipium or free city, enjoying the pi'ivileges of Roman
citizenship. Boadicea, queen of the Iceni, surprised it in the

leign of Claudius, and put the chief part of the inhabitants to

the sword ; but it soon recovered from this calamity. In

A.D. 293, Alban, a citizen of Veml.am who had embraced the

Christian faith, was beheaded on a hill in the neighbourhood.

In 429 Germanus, bishop of Auxerre, and Lupus, bishop of

Troyes, held a synod here, to confute the Pelagian heresy.

Verulam fell not long after into the hands of the Saxons, but

was retaken by the Britons, and again reverted to the Saxons.

While yet in ruins after these successive contests, Ofl;i, king

of Mercia, founded an abbey here in honour of St Alban,

whose remains had just been discovered on the spot of his

martyrdom. Matthew Paris— who was himself a monk in

the abbey of St Albans—says that Ulsinus, the sixth abbot,

about 950, built a church on each of the three principal roads

leading from the monastery, and that around these the present

town of St Albans gradually arose. Pope Adrian IV. consti-

tuted the abbot of St Albans first abbot in England in order

and dignity, and Pope Honorius in 1218 exempted the abbot

from the jurisdiction of the Bishop of Lincoln, his diocesan.

A sanguinary battle was fought here in 1455, between Henry
VI. and the Duke of York, in which the Lancastrians were
defeated. Money is said by Camden to have been coined here

in the time of the Romans. On the introduction of printing
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into England a press was put up in the abbey of St Albans,

from which issued some of the earliest EngUsh specimens of

the art Giles the physician. Sir John Mandeville the traveller,

Alexander Neckham the poet. Sir John King the lawyer. Chief

Justice Pemberton, and Humphry the nonconformist, were

natives. Bacon the philosopher resided at the neighbouring

seat of Gorhambury, and had the titles of Baron Verulam
and Viscount St Albans. Verulam now gives the title of

Earl to the family of Grimston, and St Albans gives that of

Duke to the family of Beauclerk.

St Alb.ans was incorporated in 1554 by Edward VI. It

sent two members to Parliament till 1852, and was then dis-

franchised. It is governed by a corporation which consists of

a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors, who also act as the

urban sanitary authority. Wells situated in the NE and SW
parts of the city fm*nish an abundant supply of water. Courts

of quarter sessions are held here four times a year for the trial

of prisoners, and petty sessions for the city every Wednesday,

and for the liberty division every Saturday. The chief occu-

pation of the inhabitants is the manufacture of strawplait,

hats, and trimmings ; but there are also a silk mill employ-

ing about 300 persons, three breweries, some maltings, boot

factories, and a brush factory. The principal buildings after

the abbey and churches are the Corn Exchange, erected in

1857, and used also as a public hall ; the Court House, a

building in the Italian style, erected in 1826 ; the Abbey gate-

house, a fine Perpendicular edifice, formerly used as a prison,

but now occupied by the Grammar School ; H.M. Prison, in

Victoria Road, erected in 1866, at a cost of £20,000 ; and
a public library and reading-room, erected by subscription in

1880. The city also possesses a clook-tower, built between

1400 and 1427, in the Early Perpendicular style, similar to

those found in many Continental cities, hot the only one of

the kind in England. It was restored in 1866, and it still

contains the curfew bell. There are several well-endowed

almshouses, an hospital and dispensary erected by subscription

in 1888, a public park and recreation ground, presented by

Sir John Blundell Maple, and numerous charitable trusts and
institutions. A cattle mai'ket is held every Wednesday, and

a general market eveiy Saturday. St Albans is a head post

and telegraph office, has two banking offices, several good
hotels, and publishes two weekly newspapers.

Tlie original abbey, founded by Iving Oifa, became ruinous

about the time of the Conquest. The subsequent abbey was
of vast extent and gi'eat magnificence ; but most of it, except

the church, has fallen. The church, however, with enormous

nave, pinnacled transept, graceful choir, lofty square tower,

and grand, ornate, rich interior, is an imposing object, inferior

to no minster in the kingdom, either as a feature in the land-

scape or for its own attractions. It comprises a nave of

thirteen bays with aisles ; a choir, with aisles ; a transept

without aisles ; a presbytery and ambulatory to the east ; and
a Lady Chapel, of three bays, with vestibule. The nave is 276

feet long, 65 feet broad, and 65 feet high ; the choir is 175
feet long; the transept, 1752 feet; the entire edifice, 548J
feet. Three noble towers, in fine symmetry, formerly rose

above it ; but only the central one, without spire or pinnacles,

now stands ; and this is 32^ feet long, 30J feet broad, and
144 feet high. The church was chiefly built in 1077-93, by

Abbot Paul of Caen, but was extended and altered at sub-

sequent periods by other abbots ; and it exhibits specimens of

every style from the Saxon, through the Norman, to the

Perpendicular of the time of Edward IV. This edifice, remarks

Lady Morgan, " though but a fragment of the once magnifi-

cent, mitred, parliamentary abbey, attests the grandeur of the

whole, and the perfection of ecclesiastical architecture in Eng-
land during the middle .ages. There is still extant, in tlie

interior, specimens of genuine Saxon architecture, a part of

the original building, the rounded arch, the massy tower, and
enormous pillar, whose rude but noble simplicity is forcibly

contrasted with the elaborated elegance of the Gothic style.

Screens of the most minute tabernacle work, pointed arches,

feathery shafts, .and a profusion of richly- sculptured ti-aceiy,

dispKay all the characteristic beanty of that most picturesque

and fanciful epoch of the art. The high altar, the after-part

of the choir, the chapel of Abbot Ramrygc, and that of St

Alban, are the most remarkable. There are also existing be-

neath the fretted roof of this beautiful abbey church monu-
ments and tombs well-suited to revive remote associations
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with gi-eat events, and to awaken a poetic nationality in tlie

most plilegmatic temperament. Of tliese, the tomb of the
Protector, Duke of Gloucester, familiarly called the good Duke
Humphry, stands on the southern side." The church, which
had been for a long time neglected, was repaired in 1832,
under the superintendence of Mr. Cottingham, and in 1870-7«,
when such work as was necessary for securing the builJing
was carried out, by the late Sir Gilbert Scott, R.A. The
repair of the structure was afterwards undertaken at the cost

of the Right Hon. Baron Grimthorpe. A part of the south
wall of the chapter-house, situated on the south side of the
transept, is standing. The Abbey Church is now the cathe-
dral of the diocese. The gatehouse, which formed the original

grand entrance to the abbey court, and is now used by the
Grammar School, stands parallel with the west end of the
church, at the distance of about 150 feet.

St Michael's Church was founded about the middle of the
10th century, underwent careful restoration by Scott in

186G ; .and contains the tomb of Bacon, with a beautiful

sitting statue of him erected by Sir T. Meautys. St Peter's

Church was rebuilt on the site of a Saxon one, where many of

the slain in the two battles of St Albans had been buried

;

and it contains a tomb of Dr. Cotton. St Stephen's Church
was founded by Abbot Ulsinus in the 10th century, and
portions of this building still remain along with work of the

13th, 15th, .and 16th centuries. It contains a very ancient
brass lectern, and some interesting brasses and monuments.
Christ Church, in Verulam Road, is a modern structure, which
was commenced in 1847 for a Catholic chm-ch, but completed
in 1856 for the Church of England. It is a building of Bath
stone in the Lombardic style. The ruins of a nunnery, founded
in 1140, stand at Sopwell in the south-eastern vicinity of tlie

town. Lady Juliana Berners, who wrote treatises on hunting,
hawking, and her.aklry, was one of the superiors of this nun-
nery

; and Henry VIII. is said to have been married to Anne
Boleyn in its chapel. Other places of worship at St Albans
are a Catholic chapel dedicated to St Alban and St Stephen,
two Baptist, a Congregational, and Wesleyan chapels, a Salva-
tion Army barracks, and a meeting-house for the Brethren.

The living of the abbey is a rectory
;
gross yearly value,

£350 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of St Albans.
The living of St Michael's is a vlcarjige

;
gross yearly value,

i£305 with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Verulam.
That of St Peter's is a vicarage

;
yearly value from tithe-rent

charge, £247 with residence, in the gift of the Crown. The
living of St Stephen's is a vicarage

;
yearly value from tithe-

rent charge, £3111 with residence, in the gift of a private

patron. Christ Church is a vicarage ; net yearly value, £180
with residence, in the gift of trustees.

The ai'ea of the city, which includes the abbey palish and
parts of the civil p.arishes of St Peter's, St Mich.ael's, St
Stephen's, and Sandridge, is .about 997 acres; population,

12,898. The entire area of St Michael's parish, which in-

cludes the hamlets of Childwick Green, Gorhambury, and
Westwick Row, is C558 acres, of which IS are water. St
Peter's, which includes the hamlets of Sm.allford .and Slciip,

has an area of 6G5G acres of land and 17 of water. St
Stephen's includes the ecclesiastical parish of Frogmore and
the hamlets of Smug Oak, Windridge, Bricket Wood Com-
mon, Colney Street, and Park Street, and has an area of

7387 acres, of which 37 are water. 'The living of Frogmore
is a vicarage

;
yearly value, £186 with residence. The

chnrcli, one of the early works of the late Sir Gilbert Scott,

R.A., is a building of brick and flint in the Early Norman
style, and was erected in 1842. There is a station on the

L. & N.W.R. for Park Street and Frogmore.
Among the chief country residences in the vicinity of St

Albans are Gorhanibnry, the seat of the Earl of Verulam, a

fine mansion erected on a bill in the centre of the extensi\'e

park bearing that name, which contains a fine library, m.any
valuable paintings, and some extremely interesting historical

relics ; Batch Wood, a spacious mansion of red brick, the seat

of the Right Hon. Lord Grimthorpe, Q.C., LL.D. ; and Oak-
lands, a mansion in the Elizabethan style, which stands in a
park of 333 acres.

Albans, St, Diocese of.—The first bishop of St Albans
was enthroned in 1877. The see comprehends all Essex,

except parts of the ecclesiastical parishes of Bartlow, Bures,

Haverhill, Kedington, Sudbury, with Ballingdon-cum-Brnn-
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don and Great and Little Wratting; all Hertfordshire
except parts of the ecclesiastical parishes of All Saints Cad-
dington, Stndham and Whipsnade, Northwood, Edlesborough
with Northall, and Latimer with Flaunden; and parts of

Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, and of the county of London.
It has a population of 1,006,648. There is a bishop suffragan
at Colchester, and three archdeacons— one at Essex, one at
Colchester, and one at St Albans. The income of the bishop
is £3200 per annum.

Alban's Head, St, a promontory in the p.arish of Worth-
Matravers, 4 miles S of Corfe Castle, Dorset, Its skirt is

pierced with the subteiTanean workings of Winspit quarry.
Its face exhibits, in section, three beds of the Portland
oolite. Its summit has an altitude of 441 feet, is crowned
by an ancient chapel, with Norman doorway, and comm,ands
a brilUant and extensive view. This curious httle editice seems
to have served the double purpose of chantry .and beacon. It is

sometimes called St Adhelm's or Adhelm's Head.
Alberbury, a township and a village in S.alop, and an ex-

tensive parish partly in that county and partly in Mont-
gomeryshire. The township lies near the Severn, 3 miles N
of Westbury station on the Shrewsbury and Welshpool line

(G.W. & L. & N.W.R. ), and 9 W by N of Shrewsbury, and
has a post office mider Shrewsbury ; telegi-aph office. West-
bury railway station. Loton Park, the seat of the Leighton
family, is adjacent. It is a handsome Jacobean mansion
with .an extensive .and well-wooded deer park ; in the grounds
are scanty ruins of Alberbury and Wattleborough castles.

A priory for Benedictine monks was founded at Alberbury
by Fnlke Fitzw,arine about 1225, and was given by Henry
VI. to All Souls' College, Oxford. The site is now occupied
by a farm called White Abbey. The parish of Alberbury
comprises the townships of Alberbury, Eyton, Little Shraw-
.ardine, Benth.all, Rowton, Amaston, and a portion of the
township of Ford, in Shropshire, and Bauseley in Mont-
gomeryshire. Acreage, 7908

;
population, 832. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £280.
Patron, All Souls' College, Oxford. The church, erected on
the site of a Saxon collegi.ate church, is an ancient stone
edifice, and contains monuments, brasses, and memorial
windows to the Leighton and Lyster families, and others.

Glyn, a hamlet, w.as the birthplace of old P.aiT. Rowton
Castle, with a fine park, formerly a seat of the Lyster family,

is now the property of Lord Rowton. On Bauseley Hill are
the rem.ains of a Roman camp. The township of Winnington,
formerly a part of this parish, is now part of the parish of

Great Wollaston.

Albert Bridge, a gi-and tnbnlar viaduct, on tlie line of the
West Cornwall r.ailway, over the estuary of the H.amoaze, be-

tween Devon and Cornwall. It was designed by Bninel, and
opened on 2nd May, 1859, by Prince Albert. The bridge is

2240 feet long by 30 feet bread, and rises 260 feet from the

foundations to the summit, so that line-of-battle ships can
sail under it. It consists of 19 spans—double chains, com-
posed of 15 b.ars; 17 of them are wider than the arches of

Westminster Bridge ; and the two central spans cross the

Tamar with a leap of 900 feet. The latter rest upon the
main central pillar, bnilt into the solid rock, which was
reached through 70 feet of sea and 20 feet of mud and gi'avel,

by means of a coffer-d.am ; on this are four octagonal
columns, 10 feet in diameter and 100 feet high. The great

sp.ans are composed of two bows : the lower, with a cun-e
of 28 feet, carries the roadway ; the upper, a tube of

wrought iron, is att.ached to the lower by supports. Each
span was floated out .and lifted into its place by hydraulic
presses. The main columns, on either side of the river, are
huilt of solid masonry, 11 feet squ.are, which rest on granite
piers, measuring 29 feet by 17 feet. They are 190 feet

from the foundation to the summit. In the construction of

this wonderful strnctm-e, 2700 tons of wrought-iron, 1300
of cast-iron, 17,000 cubic yards of masonry, and 14,000
cubic yards of timber were used. It is 300 feet longer
than the Britimnia Bridge and 60 feet higher than the Fire
Monument, London.

Albion, the ancient Roman name of England, derived
from Lat. albas, " white," in allusion to the white cliffs first

seen on the approach from the Continent,

Albion, a station on the L. & N.W.R., 6 miles WNW of

Birmingham, and 119 from London.
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Alborongh. See Aldborough.
Alboume, a parish in Sussex, 3J miles W of Hassock's

Gate station on tlie L.B. & S.C.R., and 8 SW of CuckBeld.

It has a post oifice nnder Hassocks (R.S.O.); money order

and telegraph office, Hurstpierpoint. Acreage, 1 703
;
popu-

lation, 305. Albourne Place is said to have been built by
Archbishop Juxon, who attended Charles I. on the scaffold

;

and was the residence of the eccentric Sir R. Fagge. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Chichester ; net value,

£235. The church is good, and contains a brass.

Albrighton, a village and a parish in Salop, 5 miles SE of

Shiffnal, with a station on the G.W.R., 149 miles from

Loudon, and with a post office under Wolverhampton. The
Institute Reading-rooms were opened in 1884. The parish

comprises 3472 acres; population, 1147. The manor an-

ciently belonged to Dore Abbey, and belongs now to the

Earl of Slu-ewsbury and Talbot. The Uring is a vicarage in

the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £471. Patrons, alter-

nately the Haberdashers' Company and Christ's Hospital.

The church is Early English, some portions dating from the

end of the 12th centmy ; it consists of chancel, nave, aisles,

west porch, and a Norman western tower containing 6 bells

;

it has a Decorated eastern window with a transom ; in the

chancel is a fine altar tomb. The church was restored in

1853. Albrighton Hall is the seat of the Barker family.

The Wolverhampton waterworks are at Cosford in this

parish.

Albrighton, a parish in S.alop, 4 miles N of Shrewsbury,

and 2 from Leaton station on the G.W.R. With Perrill and
Broad Oak it forms an ecclesiastical parish. It has a post

office under Shrewsbury ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Hadnall. Acreage, 771
;
population, 9G. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield; net value, £58. The
church is a stone edifice in the Early Norman style. Al-
brighton Hall is the seat of the lord of the manor.

Alburgh, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on an affluent

of the river Waveney, 1 mile N from Homersfield station on
the Waveney Valley railway, and 3J miles NNE of Harleston,

with a post office under Harleston, which is the telegi'apli

office; money order office, Denton. Acreage, 1585; popu-
lation, 55G. The living is a rectory m the diocese of Nor-
wich ; net yearly value, £350 with residence. Patron, St

John's College, Cambridge. The church has a large Nor-
man porch.

Albury, a parish in Herts, on the river Ash, 3^ miles E of

Braughing and Standon stations on the G.E.R., and 5^ NW
of Bishop-Stortford. It has a post office under Much Hadham
(S.O.) ; money order and telegi-aph office, Pnckeridge. Area,

3238 acres of land and 10 of water; population, 503. The
living is a vicar.age in the diocese of St Albans

;
yearly value

from tithe rent charge, £250 with residence, in the gift of

the Bishop of St Albans. The church contains a brass of

Sii- R. Verney, and a tomb of Sir Walter De la Lee of Albury
Hall. The parish contains the h.amlets of Albury End,
Church End, Clapgate, Patmore Heath, Upwich, and Graves-

end. Albury Hall, a country seat here, has a fine park of

about 200 acres.

Albury or Aldbury, a parish in Oxfordshire, near the

river Thame, 3 milesNW of Tetsworth, and adjoining Tidding-

ton station on tlie G.W.R. It includes Tiddington township.

It has a post office under Oxford ; money order and tele-

graph office, Great Milton. Acreage, 074
;
population of the

civil parish, 53 ; of the ecclesiastical, 203. The living is a
rectory in the diocese of Oxford, and its yearly value £240.
Patron, the Earl of Abingdon. The chnrch is a modern
building in the Perpendicular style, and was restored in

1892.

Albury, Aldbury, or Alderbury, a village and a parish in

Sun-ey. The village stands on a tributary of the river Wey,
under the North Downs, IJ mile from Chilworth and Albury
station on the S.E.R., .and 5 ESE of Guildford, under which
it has a post, money order, and telegivaph office. Acreage,

4418; population of the ciril parish, 1321; of the ecclesi-

astical, 1270. The parish church at it is an edifice of red

brick, in the Norman style, after the model of a chnrch at

Caen. The author of " Proverbi.il Philosophy" resided at

the village. The adjacent country abounds in charming
walks and rides, and a spot called Newlands Comer com-
mands a most extensive view. Albury estate belongs to the

ALCISTOK

Duke of Northumberland. The grounds of its park possess

interesting artificial features. The m.ansion was modernized
from designs by Pugin. The old parish church, in Early

Norman, with a tower, adjoins the mansion. The cathedral

of the " Catholic Apostolic Church,' ' a cruciform edifice in

the Perpendicular style, built by Mr. Drummond at a cost

of £10,000, st.ands in the park. The living of Albury is a

rectory in the diocese of Winchester; net value, £500.
Patron, the Duke of Northumberland. Brook and Farley

Heath are in this parish. Many Roman coins and antiqui-

ties have been found here.

Albury Hatch. See Aldborouoh Hatch.
Alby or Aldby, with Tliwaite, a parish in Norfolk,

ne.ar the river Bure, 4J miles NNE of Aylsham, and 4 NE
from Gunton station on the G.E.R. Post town, Hanworth
(under Norwich), which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 1437
;

population, 375. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Noi-wich ; net yearly value, £132
with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Orford. The
church is a building of cut flint and stone in the Early

English style. Alby was united for civil purposes with the

parish of Thwaite (All S.aints') in 1884.

Alcester, the vestige of the Roman JElisi Castra, on
Akeman Street, 1^ mile SW of Bicester, Oxford. The
place shows faint traces of a square inclosure divided by
four ways.

Alcester, a town and a parish in Warwickshire, near the

borders of Worcestershire. 'The town stands at the confluence

of the Alne and the Arrow, 7 miles SE of Eedditch, and 8

W by N of Stratford-on-Avon ; it has a station on the

G.W.R. and M.R., 119 miles from London. The Roman
station Alauna is believed to have stood on or near its site,

and the Roman road (Icknield Street) may still be traced in

the vicinity. Roman pavements, substructions, coins, and
urns have been found. The place had great importance in

the times of the Saxons, and was a royal residence at the

period of the Conquest. A Benedictine abbey was founded

in 1140 on an island about J a mile to the N, but it fell

into decay, became a cell of Evesham Abbey, and has long

disappeared. Alcester was made a borougli by Henry I.,

and it continued to be of note in the 16th and 17th cen-

turies, but it is now within the jurisdiction of the county
magistrates. It is a quiet little town, pleasantly situated

amid softly wooded hills. The town-hall, a wooden build-

ing supported on stone pillars, was built in 1041 ; in the

basement (formerly the market-place) the county court and
petty sessions are held. The Corn Exchange, built in 1857,
is used for the corn market, which is held on Tuesdays, and
also for concerts, &c. Cattle sales are held on Wednesdays,
instead of the old fairs; but hiring-fairs are still held at

Michaelmas. Alcester was formerly celebrated for the manu-
facture of needles and fish-hooks, but the bulk of that industry

has been removed to Redditch ; needle drilling, stamping, and
scouring are still largely canied on. The Hertford Memo-
rial Hospital was opened in 1880. There are eight alms-

houses, a branch of the Birmingham Banking Co., and a
local weekly newspaper. The parish church was rebuilt in

1732, and enlarged and restored in 1870. It originally be-

longed to the priory of Alcester, then to the nunnery of

Cokehill, and p.assed at the dissolution of the monasteries to

the Greville f.amily, from whom it was purchased with the

iTianor by the Marquis of Hertford. It contains a good Decor-

ated western tower of three stages, with crocketed pinnacles,

a well-preserved altar-tomb of Sir Fulke Grerille and his wife,

and a splendid monument of the second Marquis of Hertford;

also, a caiTed pulpit and an old oaken chest. Beauchamp
Court, N of the town, now a fai-mhouse, was formerly the resi-

dence of the Beauchamps and Grevilles. There are Wesleyan

and Baptist chapels, and a post, money order, and telegraph

office (R.S.O.) The parish of Alcester comprises 1782 acres;

population of the civil parish, 2406 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2443.

The manor belongs to the Marquis of Hertford, whose seat,

Ragley H.all, is about 2 miles SW of the town. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £220.

Patron, the Marquis of Hertford. Admiral Be-auchamp

Seymour was raised to the peerage in 1882 with the title of

Baron Alcester.

Alciston, a parish and a hundred in Sussex, 2 miles S of

Berwick station on the L.B. & S.C.R., and Cj SE of Lewes.
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The money order office is at Alfriston ; telegi'aph office at

Berwick railway station. Acreage, 2090
;
population, 204.

The manor belonged anciently to the Abbot of Battle. The
village lies at the foot of the Downs. The living is a vicar-

age, united to Selmeston, in the diocese of Chichester. The
church shows features of Norman and of Early English, and
is in tolerable condition. The hundred of Alciston is in the

rape of Pevensey, and comprises the parishes of Alciston,

Alfriston, and Lullington. Some remains of a monastic

house may be traced in the buildings of the Court House

farm. The large barn near the church deserves attention

—

also the Columbarium of the monastery, which stands in the

farmyard.

Alcombe, a hamlet In Dunster parish, Somerset, 1 mile

NW of Dunster.

Alconbury or Alkmundbury, a parish in Huntingdon-

shii-e, on the Alconbury brook, ne.ar Ermine Street, 3 miles

from Abbots Ripton station on the G.N.R., and 5 NW from

Huntingdon, under which it has a post, money order, and

telegi'aph office. Acreage, 3797; population, 654. Alcon-

bury Hill commands a fine view. Alconbury brook rises on

the confines of Northamptonshire, and runs about 3 miles

sonth-e.Tstward to the Ouse at Huntingdon. The hving in-

cludes Alconbury-Weston, and is a viciirage in the diocese of

Ely; net yearly value, £230 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Westminster. The church is an ancient

building of Barnack rag and rubble in the Early English

style. There is also a Wesleyan chapel. Alconbury-Weston

is a parish about 1 mileW of Alconbury, united to Alconbury

ecclesiastically and forming the pai'ish of Alconbury-cum-
Weston. Acreage, 1735

;
population, 337. Here is a Mission

room, built in 1879, and a Baptist chapel. There is one

church for the two pai-ishes, restored in 1877, when the

tower was entirely rebuilt.

Aldborough, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Bnre, 4|
miles N by W of Aylsham station on the G.E.R. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Norwich.

Acreage, 795
;
population, 323. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Norwich
;

gross yearly value, £202. The
church was restored in 1849. There is a Primitive Methodist

chapel. A fair for stock is held here on 21 and 22 June,

or when these days fall on Saturday or Sunday, on the fol-

lowing Monday and Tuesday. New Hall is a country resi-

dence near Aldborough.

Aldborough, a decayed ancient town, a township, and a

pai-ish in the W. R. Yorkshire. The town stands on the river

Ure and on Watling Street, near the Borougbbridge and

Pilmoor railw.ay, 1 mile E by N of Borougbbridge, and it has

a post office under York ; money order office, Borougbbridge.

It was the capital of the Brigantes, the Isurium of the

Romans, and the Ealdburg of the Saxons. It became a

borough in the time of Queen Mary, .and sent two members

to Parliament till disfranchised in 1832. It anciently covered

about CO acres, within defensive walls about 12 feet thick,

but it is now a mere village, irregularly built. Some vestiges

of the walls remain, and many Roman coins, urns, utensils,

and other relics have been found. A Roman citadel is sup-

posed to have stood in its centre ; a Roman bridge crossed

the Ure contiguous to it; and Eom.an works of art, including

sculptures, wall-paintings, biiths, and fine pavements, have

left sufficient remains to show that it must have been a scene

of luxury and power during a considerable period of the

Roman occupation. Many of the relics have been preserved.

The parish church, which adjoins the site of the supposed

citadel, is an edifice of some antiquity, and was partly built

with materials from the ancient town. It was restored in

1865. A statue of Mcrcuiy occurs in the outside of the

vestry wall, and a gravestone, believed to he Saxon, is in the

churchyai-d. Aldborough Hall is nc,ar the site of the east

gate of the ancient town, and Aldborough Manor, the pro-

perty of the Lawson family, who are lords of the manor and

chief landowners, marks the site of the west gate. The

township includes the village. Tlie parish includes also the

townships of Borougbbridge, Roelifie, Minskip, EUenthorpe,

Higher and Lower Dunsforth, Branton Green, and part of

the township of Humberton-with-Milby. Acreage, 2241

;

population of civil parish, 507 ; of ecclesiastical, 881. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon; net value, £370.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of York.
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Aldborough or Aldeburgh, a municipal borough, a parish,

and a bathing-place in SuB'olk. The town stands at the

terminus of a branch of the G.E.R., 7 miles SE of Saxmund-
ham, and 94j NE of London. It occupies a pleasant site in

Slanghden Valley, on the river Aide, between Aldborough
Bay and Aldborough Merc, overlooked by a steep hill, which
commands a fine prospect. The beach adjacent to it con-

sists of fine firm sand, slopes gi-adually to the sea, and is

well suited for bathing. A shoal in the vicinity, 2 miles

long, called Aldborough Knape, causes strong breakers in

easterly winds. The sea has made great encroachments on

the shore within the last two centuries. The town is yearly

gaining favour as a watering-place, and though containing

many old houses, chiefly inhabited by fishermen, has also

handsome new ones and villas for the accommodation of

fashionable visitors. It has also one of the finest golf links

in England. The parish church, on the summit of the

hill, is Perpendicular English, has a tower with an octagonal

turret, contains six brasses and a Tudor pulpit, and presents

a good landmark to mariners. There ai'e Baptist and Congre-

gational chapels, and a public library. The town hall is a

half-timbered edifice, restored in 1853. The Moot Hall was
erected about the commencement of the ICth century. The
town was made a borough by Eliz.abeth, and it sent two
members to Parliament till 1832. The old corporation was
abolished in 1882, and a new charter was granted in 1885.

The borough is now governed by a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12
councillors, who also act as the Urban Sanitary Authority.

The corporation has a revenue of £600 yearly, derived from
hand, and no rate is lericd for borough or sanitary purposes.

There are a post, money order, and telegi'aph office (R.S.O.),

a coastguard station, a lifeboat, and a small harbour for

vessels engaged in fishing and the coasting trade. An
extensive fishing trade is carried on, and there is a large

brewery. Crabbe, the poet, was a n.ative. The title of Vis-

count Aldborough was borne by an ancestor of the Wentworth
family, who are lords of the manor. The parish comprises

1608 acres of land and 210 of foreshore and water; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 2159 ; of the ecclesiastical parish,

2300. The living is a vicai-age in the diocese of Norwich
;

net yearly value, £286 with residence. Aldebm'gh Lodge,

Adair House, North Lodge, and the Great Casino ai'e country

residences.

Aldborough, N. E. and E. E. Y'orkshire. See Ald-
BROUGn.
Aldborough Hatch, a chapehy in Ilford parish. Esses,

2 miles NE of Ilford station on the G.E.R., and 9 miles

ENE of Bishopsgate. The famous Fairlop oak stood near

it, 36 feet in gii'th of bole, and 300 feet in circumference of

head. Hainault Forest, adjacent on the N, was part of the

old great forests of the country. The living is a vicai'age in

the diocese of St Albans; gross yearly value, £100 with

residence. Patron, the Crown. A church was built in 18G3.

The post town is Ilford.

Aldbourue, a large village and a parish in Wiltshire.

The village stands 5 miles from Ogbouru St George station

on the L. & S.W.E., and 7 from Hungerford on the G.W.R.
It has a post, money order, and telegraph office (Aldbourne,

R.S.O.), and was formerly a m.arket-town ; but it sntTered

gi'eat devastation by fire in 1760, and has never recovered

its old prosperity. Aldbourne Chase, adjacent to it on the

W, was a favourite hunting-gi-ound of King John, given

hy Hem'y VIII. to the Duke of Somerset, and the scene of

the defeat of the Parliamentarians under the Earl of Essex,

by the Royal forces under Prince Rupert, but it is now inclosed

.and cultivated. The parish comprises 8490 acres
;
population,

1319. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury;

value, £309. Patron, the Bishop of Salisbury. The church

is ancient, h.as Norman features and brasses, and has been

restored. The church was built chiefly by John of G.annt,

has a noble tower, and a full ring of bells. Part of the par-

sonage is supposed to be a remnant of the ancient royal

hunting-seat. Remains of an .ancient British encampment
occm" near a farmhouse called Pierce's Lodge. There are

chapels for Baptists, Wcsleyans, and Primitive Methodists,

and some good schools.

Aldbrough, a township and a village in the pai-ish of

Stanwick St John, N. R. Yorkshire. The township, on a

tributary of the Tees, is 7 miles N by E of Richmond, and
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3 from Piercebi'idge station on the N.E.R. ; it has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Darlington. Acre-

age, 1807 ;
population, 369. There arc Wesleyan and

Congregational ch.-ipels. A fiiir is held annually in the

second week of August.

Aldbrough or Aldbiirgh, a township, a parish, and a

large village in the K. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on

the coast, 8 miles NNE of Hedon, 12 NE of Hull, and -1

from Burton Constable station on the N.E.R. ; has a post

and money order office under Hull ; and includes the hamlets

of Berwick, Carlton-with-Fosham, Etherdwick, and Tanstern.

The parish includes also the townships of East Newton,

West Newton, and Little Cowden. Acreage, 4904; popula-

tion, 666. The Talbot Clifford-Constable family are lords of

the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York
;

net value, i£450. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church

is ancient, and has a curious stone with a Saxon inscription.

Towrie's charity, founded in 1653 for the benefit of poor

parishioners, has an income of £150, and is applied to the

education of poor children and the maintenance of poor

widows. Tymperon's charity maintains three poor widows.

There ai'e Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, and the

Towrie endowed school ; also extensive brick and tile works.

Aldbury, a p.arish in Herts, under the Chiltcrn Hills, 1

mile E of Tring station on the L. & N.W.R., and 4^ miles

NNW of Berkhampstcad. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Tring. Acreage, 2027

;
population, 894.

The Uving is a rectory m the diocese of St Albans, yearly

value from tithe rent charge, £292 with residence. Patron,

Eaid Brownlow. The church is Early English, with a square

embattled tower, and contains some ancient tombs. On
Aldbmy Hill, there is a granite column, nearly 200 feet

high, erected in 1832 in memory of the third Duke of

Bridgewatex'.

Aldcliffe, a township in Lancaster parish, on the estuary

of the Lune, 2 miles SSW of Lancaster, which is the railway

station and money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 679
land .and 337 water

;
population, 106. AldclifJe Hall is the

scat of the Dawson family, who are lords of the manor and
chief landowners.

Aide, The, a river of Suffolk. It rises near Hasted, runs

south-eastward to the vicinity of Aldborough, and goes thence

southward to the sea at Oxford Haven. Its entire length

is about 30 miles, and its lower reaches, to the extent of

10 miles, are naiTOw winding estuary, past the Lantern

marshes.

Aldeby, a village and a parish in Norfolk. The village

hes on the Waveney river, 3 miles NE of Beccles ; it has a

station on the G.E.R., and a post office under Beccles, which

is the money order and telegraph office. The parish com-
prises 3083 acres

;
population, 605. The manor belonged

anciently to the cathedral of Norwich, and was made the

site of a Benedictine cell. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £290. Patron, the

Dean and Chapter of Norwich. The church is ancient and
good, and has a fine Norman door.

Aldenham, a village and a parish in Herts, near the

Colne river, 3 miles NE of Watford, and 2 W from Radlett

station on the M.R, with a post and money order office

under Elstree (R.S.O.) ; telegraph office, Radlett station.

Ai'ca, 6033 acres of land .and 80 of water
;
population of

the civil parish, 2085 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1260. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans

;
gross yearly

value, £567 with rcsideuce. The church, which is interest-

ing and beautiful, is Early English, of cemented flmt stones,

in \evj good condition. Piatt's almshouses are well endowed,
and his grammar school has an income of £2200. The
parish includes the hamlets of Kemprow and Patchet's

Green, and the rillages of Letchmore Heath and Radlett.

The latter was made an ecclesiastical parish in 1865. The
living is a vicarage ; net yearly v.alue, £210 with residence,

in the gift of the Vicar of Aldenham. The church, a build-

ing of flint and stone, was erected in 1864. The hamlet of

Theobald Street is mcluded in Radlett. One of the chief

landowners is Lord Rcndlesham.
Alder, The. See Adur.
Alderbury, a vilhage, a parish, and a hundred in Wilts.

The village stands on the river Avon, near the Salisbmy
branch of the South-westem railway, 3 miles SE of Salisbury.
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It has a post, money order, .and telegraph office under Salis-

bury. The pai'ish comprises 2242 acres of land and 23 of

water ;
population of civil parish, 678 ; of ecclesiastical parish

of Alderbury St Mary, 877. Alderbury House, in the vicinity

of the village, was built of materials from the ancient belfiy

of Salisbury Cathedral. I\7 Chm'ch, some remains of which
exist on an eminence near the village, was an Angustinian

priory founded by King Stephen. The living of Alderbmy
is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbmy; value, £300.
Patron, the Bishop of Salisbmy. The church is excellent.

There is a Wesleyan cliapel.

Alderford, a p.arish in Norfolk, on the river Wensum,

1 J mile E from Lenwade station on the Eastern and Midland
railway, and 8 miles NW of Norwich, which is the post town

;

money order office. Great Witchingham ; telegraph olfice,

Lenwade. Acreage, 443 ; population, 43. The manor be-

longed anciently to Norwich Cathedral. The living is a
rectory, united with the vicarage of Attlebridge, in the diocese

of Norwich; gross joint yearly value, £191 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Norwich. The church is

an ancient building of ffint in the Early English style.

Alderholt, a tithing and a chapelry in Cranbome parish,

Dorset. The tithing hes on the verge of the county, 4J
miles E of Cranbome, and 5JNof Ringwood railway station,

and has a post olfice under Salisbury ; money order office,

Fordingbridge; telegraph office, Daggens Road (R.S.) Popula-
tion, 696. The chapehy includes the tithing, but is larger,

and was constituted in 1849. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £123. The church was
built by the filarquis of Salisbmy.

Alderley, a village, a township, and a parish m Cheshire.

The village lies on an affiuent of the river Bollin, 6 miles W
by NW of Macclesfield. It has a station (Alderley Edge)
on the L. & N.W.R., about a mile distant, 14t miles from
Manchester, and 175 from London ; also, a post office

under Crewe; money order and telegraph olfice, Chelford.

The parish includes the townships of Nether Alderley, Over
Alderley, and Great Warford. Acreage of Nether Alderley,

2852 ; population of the civil p.arish, 517; of the ecclesias-

tical, 895. Alderley Edge has a height of 650 feet, com-
mands an extensive view, and yields excellent sandstone.

Alderley Park is the seat of Lord Stanley of Alderley. The
pai'k is extensive and finely wooded, containing some mag-
nificent beech trees and a large lake, called Radnor Mere.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chester ; net value,

£750. Patron, Lord Stanley of Alderley. The parish

church is an ancient stone edifice, and was restored in 1865
and 1878 ; it contains a fine monument in Caen stone to the

first Lord Stanley.

Alderley, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire. The
village stands on a hill of the Cotwolds, above the confluence

of two rivulets, 9 miles NE of Chipping Sodbury, and 4 ESE
of Charfield station on the M.R. It has a post office under
Wotton-under-Edge, which is the telegraph office ; money
order office, Hillesley. The parish comprises 818 acres;

population, 78. The hill on which the village stands has

yielded many cuiaons fossils. The parish was formerly the

boundary of Kingswood Forest. The estate of Alderley was
the birthplace of Sir Mathew Hale, and is still in the posses-

sion of the Hale family. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £158. The church is

a handsome building, conspicuously situated on the hill. It

was rebuilt about 1802, with the exception of the western

tower, which dates from 1458, and contains a clock, the gift

of Su: Mathew Hale. In the churchyard is the tomb, in

black and white marble, of this distinguished judge, who was
buried liere in 1676.

Alderley Edge. See Chorley.
Alderley, Over, a village and' a township in Alderley

parish, Cheshire, 4 miles NW of Macclesfield. Acreage,

2204
;
population, 385. Hare Hill is the chief residence.

There is a Blethodist New Connexion chapel.

Aldennaston or Admiston, a village and a parish in

Berks. The village stands at the influx of the Emborne to

the Kennet, 8 miles E of Newbury ; and it has a station 1

J

mile distant on the G.W.R., and a post and money order

office under Reading ; telegraph office at the railway station.

It was formerly a market-town, and it had fairs in May,
July, and October. Brewing and malting are carried on,
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and there is also some trade in coals, timber, and wooden
hoops. The Earl of Essex occupied it in 1644. The parish

comprises 3691 acres of land and 515 of water; population,

655. Much of the surface is heath. The park of Alder-

maston Com't includes 1000 acres, and is one of the wildest

and most diversified in the south of England. The mansion

ou it is a Tudor edifice, built in 1851, and contains many
interesting relics of a remarkable structure which preceded

it, the seat of the Foraters and Congi-eves ; but the old

lodges, with spired tower and roof, are still standing. An
ancient camp occurs near Aldermaston Soak. The living

is an endowed vicarage iu the diocese of Oxford; gross

yearly income, £150. The church is an ancient building

of flint and rubble, with fine Norman doorway and interest-

ing monuments.

Aldermmster, a parish in Worcestershire, on the river

Stour, 5 miles SSE of Stratford-on-Avon. It has a post

office under Stratford-on-Avon, wliich is tbe telegraph office;

money order office, Eatington. Acreage, 3229
;

population,

433. The living is a vicai'age in the diocese of Worcester;

net value, £309, The church is cruciform, with a low tower,

and partly Norman ; it was partially restored in 1873, and

the nave in 1885.

Aldermoor, an eminence commanding a gi'and prospect,

U mile SSW of Ryde, Isle of Wight.

Aldemey, one of the Channel Islands. It lies 10 miles

W of Cape La Hogue in France, 16 NNE of Guernsey, and

57 S by E of Portland Bill, the nearest part of the Enghsh
coast. Its length is 3;^ miles; its breadth, a little more than

1 mile; its circumference about 8 miles. It was the Riduna

of the Romans, and is called Amigny by the French. It is

sun'ounded by rocks, islets, and conflicting currents, so that

the approach to it is often dangerous. Small bays indent

its coast ; and that of Braye, on the NW, affords good

anchorage. Communication is maintained twice a week, by

a small steamer, with Guernsey. The surface is variously

high and low, all destitute of trees ; but contains some

fertile land, in good cultivation. The Alderney cow, asmall,

straight-backed animal, has a world-wide fame for its milk-

ing properties ; but it is supplied to the English market

from Jersey and Guernsey, very rarely from Alderney, and

is of much smaller size in Aldemey than in Jersey, and

smaller in Jersey than in Guernsey. Many Roman coins

and other Roman relics have been found in Alderney. Celtic

monuments were formerly numerous; but only one, a damaged

cromlech, now remains. A castle of the Earl of Esses and a

nunnery stood on the coast, but are now represented by a

modern fort and baiTacks. Vast works, comprising forts,

a capacious harbour, and a breakwater, recommended by the

Duke of Wellington, were once commenced by the British

Government, to check the great French works at Cherbourg,

and maintain command of the English Channel. They were

originally estimated to cost £600,000; but they had actually

cost £1,000,000 at a point in 18G0, and were then computed

to require about £300,000 more. The harbour turned out a

failure, principally from the reason that the engineer failed to

make himself acquainted with the soundings, and he placed

the breakwater in 120 feet of water, although close by there

was a much less depth, with the advantage of a large mass of

rock to abut upon. These vast operations were afterwards

stopped, and a more thorough waste of British money was

never known. The town of St Anne stands within ^ a mile

of the harbour, nearly in the centre of the island, and con-

tains the dwellings of nearly all the inhabitants. It has two

main streets, a government house, a court house, a parish

church, and chapels for Presbyterians, Wesleyans, Primitive

Jlethodists, and Roman Catholics. The parish chm'ch is an

elegant cruciform edifice, iu the semi-Nornmn style, with

central tower, built iu 1850, at a cost of £8000. The island

is governed by a judge nominated by the Crown, six jurats,

a procureur, a greffier, and a sheriff, the jurats being elected

by the ratepayers and holding office for life. These, together

with twelve douzeniers, the representatives of and chosen by

the people, form the states, though the latter have only a

deliberative voice. The Court of Justice has jm'isdiction in

all civil cases when the sum m dispute does not exceed £10,

and also in pohce cases within certain limits, but none in

criminal cases, which are transmitted to the Royal Court of

Guernsey. Population, 1843. Alderney has a post office under
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Guernsey, and it forms a parish in the diocese of Winchester.

The living is a vicarage, of the value of £300, in the patronage

of the Governor of Guernsey. Both English and French are

spoken by the inhabitants, but English more than French.

The strait between the island and France is swept by a tidal

cmTent of 6 miles an hour, and bears the name of the Race

of Alderney. The French fleet escaped through it in 1692,

after the battle of La Hogue ; and Admiral Balchen was lost

in it in 1774. Alderney gave the title of Baron to a son of

George II. See Caskets, The.
Aldersbrooke, a locality in Epping Forest, Esses, near the

river Roding, 1 mile WNW of ILford railway station, and 6

miles NE of St Paul's, London. Here is the city cemetery,

and here was the seat of the antiquary Lethieullier.

Aldersey, a village and a township in Coddington parish,

Cheshire, on an afiiuent of the river Dee, 4 miles SW of Tat-

tenhall station on the L. & N.W.R., and 8 SSE of Chester.

Acreage, 803; population, 114. Aldersey Hall is the seat

of the lord of the manor.

Aldersholt. See Alderiiolt.

Alder&hot, a town, a camp, and a parish in Hants, 34
miles from London, and 3 from Farnham. The town stands

near the Basingstoke Canal, with stations on the L. & S.W.R.

and S.E.R., and a post, money order, and telegraph office,

with a sub-office at Aldershot Green, and also two banking

offices. It suddenly rose from seclusion to importance

by the formation of the neighbouring military camp. The
town was made a Local Government District by the Act 20

and 21 Vict. c. 22, and is under the management of a Board

of 12 members, 9 chosen by the ratepayers and 3 by the

Secretary of State for War. The Aldershot Gas and Water

Co. supplies both town and camp. There are two brick and

tile works. Races are held here in the spring. There are

several churches, and chapels for Wesleyans, Baptists,

Primitive Methodists, and Roman Catholics, and a Soldiers'

Home. The parish church of St Michael contains several

monuments of the Tichbom-ne family, who formerly resided

in the parish. The living is a perpetual curacy of the

annual value of about £300. Holy Trinity Church, in

Victoria Road, was erected in 1878 ; it is a fine building

in the Early English style. There are 800 sittings. The
living is a vicarage ; value, about £400. A vicarage house

was erected in 1884. Under the Local Government Act

Aldershot parish was separated from Farnham union, and

became a contributory union, using the Farnham workhouse

as heretofore. The parish is divided into two wards for

County Council purposes, and comprises an area of 4178
acres; population, 25,595. The camp is situated close to

the town, on Aldershot Heath, which consists of the Bag-

shot sand, and stretches away to the downs of SuiTey. It

was formed iu 1854, covers an area of 7 square miles, and

is divided by the Basingstoke Canal into two parts, con-

taining accommodation for upwards of 20,000 men. The
North and South camps and permanent ban'acks, which were

erected at a great cost, contain the usual accessories to a

military camp, such as chmxhes, libraries, schools, hospitals,

&c. Quarters for the commanding officers are on a rising

ground overlooking it from the SW; the Queen's Pavilion,

built at a cost of £5000, is beyond these quarters. A
large volunteer meeting is held at the camp every year,

which is attended by a considerable number of volunteer

corps. On a hill overlooking the camp is the equestrian

statue of the Duke of Wellington which foimerly stood at

the top of Constitution Hill, near Hyde Park, London.

The average number of troops iu the camp is about 10,000,

though this number is largely exceeded at times. There is

a post, money order, and telegraph office at the camp.

Alderton, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, 2 miles

SE of Beckford station on the M.R., and 10 NNE of Chel-

tenham, with a post office mider Winchcombe (R.S.O.) ; money
order office, Beckford ; telegraph office, Beckford station.

The parish contains the hamlet of Dixton. Acreage, 1579;
population, 472. The marlstone quarries on the surrounding

hills yield numerous fossil fish. At Dixton is a large manor-

house, dating from 1565, and for many generations the

seat of the Higford family ; hard by are remams of a Saxon
camp. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; value, £338. The church is an ancient stone

Gothic edifice, and has been recently restored. During the
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progress of the work a pure Sasou font was discovered in

the fillings of the north wall, and a Saxon wheel cross ; a

piscina was also found in the excavation of the chancel wall,

besides several other interesting relics. An image of the

patron saint St Margaret was likewise found, and has been

placed over the south door. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Alderton, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire, neiu-

^Vatling Street, the Tove river, and the Grand Junction Canal,

3J miles W of Roade station on the L. & N.W.R., and 3j
SE of Towcestcr, which is the post town and the telegraph

office ; money order ofEce, Panlerspury. Acreage, 882
;
popu-

lation, 123. L.ace-making is carried on. The living is a

rectory, annexed to Grafton-Regis, in the diocese of Peter-

borough
;

joint gi'oss yeai'ly value, £262 with residence, in

the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The chm-ch is modern, and

in the Perpendicular English style. The Duke of Grafton is

lord of the manor and chief landowner.

Alderton, a village and a parish in Suifolk, on the coast,

between the Deben river .and HoUesley Bay, 8 miles SSE of

Woodbridge station on the G.E.R., with a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Woodbridge. Acreage of the

pai-ish, 2575 ;
population, 627. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross yearly value, £630 with

residence, in the gift of the Archer family (three turns)

and the Bishop of Norwich (one tmn). The church is a

modern flint edifice, and a previous church is in ruins, and
serves as a landm.ark. There is also a Congregational

chapel. Coprolites are found here in considerable quantities.

Giles Fletcher, the poet, was rector of Alderton, and died

here in 1623.

Alderton, a paiish in Wiltshire, near Akeman Street, 9

miles NNW of Chippenham station on the G.W.R. It has

a post office under Chippenham ; money order and telegraph

office, Badminton. Acreage, 1637
;
population, 136. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol

;

value, about £150. Gore the antiquary, who flourished in

the 17th centmy, was a native of Alderton, and was buried

in the cliurch.

Alderton, a township in Great Ness parish, Salop, near

the river Severn, 8 miles WNW of Shrewsbury. The Eail

of Powis is lord of the manor and sole landowner.

Alderton, a township in Hadnall ecclesiastical pai'ish,

Salop, 6 miles NNE of Shrewsbmy.
Alderwasley, a township-chapehy in Wirksworth parish,

Derbyshire, near the Derwent river, the Cromford Canal, and
the Whatstandwell Bridge railw.ay station, 2i miles ESE of

Wirksworth, the post town. Acreage, 3156; population,

337. The scenery is picturesque. Alderwasley Hall is a
beautiful seat. The chmxh is a handsome stone building in

the Early English style. The hviug is a donative in the

diocese of Southwell; value, £140 with residence. There are

brick, tile, and drain-pipe works, and wire mills, and also

furnaces for smelting lead ore.

Aldfield, a vill.oge and a township in the pai'ish of Ald-

field-cum-Studley, in the W. R. of Yorkshire, and on the

rivulet Skell, 4 miles SW of Eipon station on the N.E.R.
Post town, Ripon. Acreage, 1260; population, 116. The
Marquis of Ripon, K.G., is lord of the manor and sole land-

owner. A sulphuretted spring exists here, in a picturesque

spot, and, but for being so near ll.arrogate, would probablv

be in gi'eat request. A church for the pai'ish was built in

Studley Park, and consecrated in 1878. The Uving (net

value, £176) is consolidated with that of Studley Roger,

Studley Royal-cum-Lindrick, and Fountains, and is in the

gift of Earl de Grey.

Aldford, a vill.ige, a township, and a piirish in Cheshire.

The village stands on an affluent of the Dee, 4 miles SSW of

Wavei'ton station on the L. & N.W.R., .and 5 S by E of

Chester, under which it has a post office ; telegraph office,

Eccleston. A bridge here crosses an " old ford " on the line

of a Roman road into Wales. Remains of a castle are in the

neighbom'hood, erected in the reign of Henry II., and gar-

risoned by Brereton in the civil war. The parish includes

also the townships of Edgerley, Buerton, and Churton-by-
Aldford. Acreage, 1276; population of civil pai'ish, 457;
of ecclesiastical, 713. The manor belongs to the Duke of

Westminster, whose seat, Eaton Hall, is about ^ mile distant.

The livuig is a rectory in the diocese of Chester ; value,

£310. Patron, the Duke of Westminster. The chmch
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was rebuilt in 1866. There is a Primitive Methodist
chapel.

Aldham, a village and a parish in Essex, near Colne river,

1 mile N of Marks Tey station on the G.E.R., and 5 miles

ENE of Coggleshall, with a post and money order office under
Colchester ; telegi'aph office, Mai'ks Tey. Acreage, 1865

;

population, 449, entirely agricultmal. The manor belonged

to the De Veres. The hving is a rectory in the diocese of

St Albans
;
gross yearly value, £303 with residence. The

church is dedicated to St Margaret and St Catherine, and
possesses a perfect 14th century porch, which is much ad-

mu'ed. The parish includes the hamlet of Ford Street.

Morant the historian was rector of Aldham.
Aldham, a parish in Sufiblk, near- the river Bret, 2 J miles

N of Hadleigh station on the G.E.R. Post town, Hadleigh,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage,

1755
;
population, 228. The Uving is a rectoi-y in the dio-

cese of Ely
;
yearly value, £264. The chui'ch is very ancient,

and has a Norman round tower. A priory cell stood at

Priory Farm. Dr. Rowland T.aylor was burned, in 1555, on
Aldham Common, where a monument has been erected as a
memorial.

Aldingboume, a parish in Sussex, 2J miles from Barn-
ham station on the L.B. & S.C.R., .and 4 E of Chichester,

under which it has a post and money order office ; the tele-

graph oflice is Barnham Junction. Acreage, 3098 ;
popu-

lation, 798. It contains the hamlets of Norton-Lidsey and
Westergate. Aldingbourne House w.as a seat of the Howards.
The living is a vic.ai'age in the diocese of Chichester ; value,

£225. Patron, the Bishop of Chichester. There was a
Saxon church, and there aie traces of Saxon work in the

w.alls. The present church w.as built in 1180, and restored

in 1889. The chancel is E:U'ly English. There is a Wes-
leyan chapel at Westergate.

Aldingham, a parish in Lancashire, on Morecambe Bay,

4 miles from Dalton railway station, and 5 S by W of Ulver-
stone. It includes the villages of Gleaston, Leece, and Den-
dron, .and the hamlets of Baycliff, Scales, and Newbiggin with
Roosebeck. The fii'St three now form a separate parochial

district with church at Dendron, formerly a chapelry of

Aldingham. Post town, Ulverstone ; money order office,

Dalton; telegr.aph office, Bai'dsea. Acreage, 4812
;
popula-

tion, 1151. The manor belongs to the Crown. Much land

formerly in the parish has been carried off by the sea.

Gleaston Castle, now a min of three towers, with connecting

walls, was a seat of the Le Flemings, and of the Duke of

Suffolk, the father of Lady Jane Grey. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of C:u'lisle
;

yearly value, £750 with
residence. Patron, the Crown. The church is very good.

The living of Dendi'on is a sepai'ate benefice. There is a
Congregational chapel ,at Gleaston. Aldingham Hall is a
m.ansion in the Tudor style of architecture, and commands
fine views of Morecambe Bay. There ai'e stone quarries in

the parish.

Aldington, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands on the quarry hills .above the Grand Jlilitary Canal,

1 j mile S of Smeeth station on the S.E.R., and 6 miles SE
of Ashford, with a post and money order office under Hythe;
telegi'aph office, Mersham. Acreage of parish, 3445

;
popu-

lation, 658. Aldington Knoll was a Roman beacon ; be-

tween it and the church is the site of a Roman town or

station. The Roman road from Lymne to Pevensey went
through the parish. Court-at-Street, on the line of that

road, about a mile I'j of the village, was the scene of the iin-

postm'c of Elizabeth Bai'ton, the nun of Kent, who made so

great a figiue in the political party of Queen Catherme.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of CanterbuiT ; value,

£720. Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbm'y. The church

is Early English, with a tower in Late Perpendicular, and
formerly had a brass of 1475. There is a J'riends' Christian

Mission Room at Clap Hill. The celebrated Erasmus of

Rotterdam, and Richard Master, who suffered death for aiding

the imposture of Elizabeth Barton, were rectors of Alding-

ton ; as was Thomas Linacre, physician, also rector of

Jlersham.

Aldington, a h.amlet and a parish in Worcestershire,

IJ mile from Littleton and Badsey station on the G.W.R.,
and 2 miles E of Evesham. Acreage, 675

;
population, 173,

There is a Baptist chapel.
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Aldmonbury. See Almondbuky.
Aldon, a township in Stokesay parish, Salop, near the

river Onny, 2 miles from Onibuiy station on the Shrewsbury
and Hereford Joint (L. & N.W. and G.W.) railway, and G^
NW of Ludlow.

Aldon, a hamlet in Addington and Kyarsh pai'ishes, Kent,

6^ miles NW of Maidstone.

Aldretli, a hamlet in Haddenham parish, Cambridge.

Aldridge, a village and a parish in Staffordshire, o|^ miles

NE of Walsall, with a station on the M.R., and a post

office under Walsall. The collieries of the Albridge Colliery

' Company and several other collieries are situated here, and
also brick and tile works. Acreage, 2039

;
population, 2206.

A height called Ban'-Beacon is said to have been a place of

Druidical sacrifices ; and a pool called Druid Mere makes an
occasional overflow, and was formerly popularly imagined to

possess some supernatural quality. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, X378 with residence,

in the gift of St John's College, Cambridge. The chui'ch is

an ancient stone edifice, rebuilt in 1853 ; it contains some
good monuments,

Aldrmgham-ciuii-Thorpe, a village and a parish in

Suffolk. The village stands near the coast and 1 mile S of

Leiston station on the G.E.R., and 2^ miles N of Aldborough.

It was formerly a market-town, and it still has a pleasure

fair on 11 Dec. The parish contains also the hamlet of

Thorpe. It has a post office under Saxmundham ; money
order and telegraph office, Leiston. Acreage, 16U2, with 51
of water; population, 577. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Norwich, and includes the curacy of Thorpe
;
gross

yearly value, £84 with residence. The church is transition

Norman, and has an octagonal font. There is a Baptist

chapel. Aldringham House is a country residence here.

Aldrington or Atherington, a parish in Sussex, on the

coast, near the South Coast railway, 3 miles W of Brighton,

which is the post town ; money order and telegraph office,

Hove. Acreage, 761
;
population of the civil parish, 2238

;

of the ecclesiastical, 2222. A village here, which antiquaries

suppose to have been the Portus Adurni of the Romans,
which some also suppose to have been given by King Alfred

to his younger son, and which came to bear the same name
as the parish, was destroyed at no very late period by en-

croachment of the sea. So much of the parish also was
canned away that not an inhabitant was found in it at the

censuses of 1801-31. The church, after having been in

ruins for 800 years, was rebuilt in 1878 by the Ingram
family, to whom the estate formerly belonged. Parts of the

old church, especially the east wall and tower, are incorpo-

rated in the present building. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Chichester ; net value, £215. The Hove Cemetery,

formed in 1882, is in this parish. There is a canal and
floating basin. The population has largely increased since

last census, and is still increasing.

Aldsworth, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire,

near the river Leach, 7 miles N of Fairford station on the

G.W.K., and lOj NE of Cu-encester, with a post office

under Northleach (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegi-aph office,

Sherborne. Acreage, 3350; population, 372. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; value,

£120. Patron, Christ's Chmxh, Oxford. The church stands

on a hill, and commands an extensive view.

Aldsworth, a tithing in Westbourne parish, Sussex, near-

Stanstead Park, 6^ miles WNW of Chichester.

Aldwark, a township in Bradboume pai'ish, Derbyshire,

4 nules from Cromford station on the L. &, N.W.R. and

M.R., and 4-^ NW of Wirksworth, Acreage, 967
;
popula-

tion, 40. Post town, Wirksworth ; money order and tele-

graph office, Parwich.

Aldwark, a township, a chapehy, and a pleasant village

in AIne parish, N. R. Yorkshu-e, on the river Ouse, 3 miles

SW of Alne station on the N.E.R., and 12 NW of York.

Acreage, 2314 of land and 23 of water; population, 215.

Lord Walshigham is lord of the manor and chief landowner.

The church is a pretty building in the Perpendicular style,

erected about 1846 by Lady Franldand Russell, who endowed

it with £30 per annum. The living is annexed to that of

Alne. Aldwark has a post office under Easingwold ; money
order and telegi-aph office, Great Ouseburn.

Aldwinkle All Saints and Aldwinkle St Peter, for-
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merly separate parishes, but which were amalgamated for

civil and ecclesiastical purposes in 1885, in Northampton-
shire, ai'e situated on the river Nen, near Thorpe station on the

L. & N.W.R., and 2j miles NNE of Thrapston. They have

a post and money order office under Thrapston ; telegi'aph

office, Wadenhoe. Area, 2886 acres; population, 455. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; value,

£547, in the gift of Lord Lilford. The church shows beau-

tiful features of Decorated English, and has a handsome
tower. There is a Baptist chapel. The father of the poet

Dryden was rector of Aldwinkle All Saints, and the poet

was born in the parsonage. Thomas Fuller, the historian,

was a native of Aldwinkle St Peter.

Aldworth or Allder, a village and a parish in Berks, in

a high hilly tract, near Ickuield Street, 3 miles WSW from

Goring station on the G.W.R., 4 E by S from East Ilsley, and
2 E of Compton station on the Didcot, Newbury, and South-

ampton railway, with a post office under Reading; money
order office, Goring ; telegraph office, Compton. Acreage,

1806
;
population, 266. The manor belonged to the family

of De la Beche, one of whom was tutor to the Black Prince
;

and a fai*m called Beach was the site of then* baronial castle.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly

value, £320 with residence. Patron, St John's College,

Cambridge. The church contains eight tombs (one of which
has two figures on it, and each of the others one) of the De
la Beches, and all so interesting that Queen Elizabeth made
a journey on horseback to see them, A yew tree, 27 feet in

girth, is in the churchyard. There is a Primitive Methodist

chapel in the parish.

Aled, The, a stream of North Wales. It rises at Llyn-

Aled, in the SW of Denbighshire, and runs 10 miles northward,

past the seat of Dyffryn-Aled, to a confluence with the Elwy,

2 miles NE of Llanfair-Talhaiarn. The upper part of its

course is through a narrow and beautifully wooded glen, in

which it forms two waterfalls.

Alethorpe, formerly an extra-parochial tract, now a

parish, in Norfolk, 2 miles ENE of Fakenham. Acreage,

243
;
population, \). It consists of one farm only.

Alex's Tor, a peak near Brown Willy, 5^ miles SE of

Camelford, Cornwall.

Alexton or Allexton, a village and a parish in Leicester-

shire, on the river Eye, 3 miles W by N of Uppingham, and

2J NE from Hallaton station on the G.N.R. Post town and
money order office, Uppingham ; telegraph office, East Nor-

ton station. Acreage, 1027
;
population, 64. Alexton Hall,

now a farmhouse, was formerly a seat of Lord Beruers.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net

yearly value, £135 with residence. The chm'ch is an ancient

building of stone, in the Norman and Early English styles.

Alfold, Aldfold, or Awfold, a parish in the counties of

Surrey and Sussex, on the Wey and Arundel Canal, 4 miles

from BajTiards station on the L.B. & S.C.E., and 8 SSE of

Godalming. It has a post and money order office under

Billiiigshorst; telegraph office, Baynards railway station.

Acreage, 3001 ;
population, 558, Several French refugees

from the massacre on St Bartholomew's Day settled here and
erected a glass manufactory. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Winchester ; value, £243. The chmxh is Nor-

man. There is a Baptist chapel.

Alford, a market-town and a parish in Lincolnshire. The
town stands on a rivulet, 10| miles SSE of Louth, and 23j
NNE of Boston, and has a starion on the E Lincolnshire branch

of the G.N.R. It took its name from an "old ford" on tlie

rivulet, and gives the title of Baron to Earl Brownlow. It

comprises three main streets and a mai-ket-place ; is a seat

of petty sessions ; carries on agricultural implement making,

brewing, tanning, rope-making, brick-making, and other

employments ; and has a head post, money order, and tele-

graph office, thi-ee banks, several good inns, a police station,

a handsome corn-exchange, a neat mechanics' institute, with

lectm-e hall and hbrary,a grammar school with about £350
a year from endowmeut, six almshouses, some other charities,

a weekly market on Tuesday, and stock fairs on Whit Tues-

day and 8 Nov. In 1867 three additional fairs were insti-

tuted, one on 31 July for lambs; one on 24 Aug. for sheep;

and one on 17 Sept. for cattle, sheep, and horses. The area

of the parish is 1138 acres; population of the civil parish,

2843; of the ecclesiastical, with Rigsby, 2038. The living
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is a vicarage, united to the curacy of Rigsby, in the diocese

of Lincoln
;
yearly value, £130 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Lincoln. The church is an ancient structure in

the Decorated style, with a massive western tower. It was

restored in 1869. There are also Congi-egational, Free Jletho-

dist, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Alford, a village and a parish in Somerset. The village

stands on the river Brne, near Castle Gary station on the

G.W.R., and 8 miles SE of Glastonbury. It has a post office

under Castle Cary (S.O.), the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage of the parish, 720 ; population of the civil

parish, 95 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Hornblotton, 208. A
chalybeate spring in the neighbourhood of the village, known
as Alford Well, formerly much resorted to, is now neglected.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells,

united with Hornblotton ; net value, £330. The church is

Eai'Iy Perpendicular of the time of Henry VI., with very fine

features of structm*e and carving, and containing mui'al

monuments to the families of Harvey and Thring. A beau-

tiful preaching cross stands in the churchyard.

Alfred's Tower, a monumental edifice in Stourhead Park,

on the confines of Wilts and Somerset, 5 miles NNE of

Wincanton. It stands on Ifingsettle Hill, 800 feet high, 3

miles WNW of Stom'head House, and commands an extensive

view over the circumjacent counties. It is a triangular

structure of red brick, 160 feet high, with tui-rets at the

corners, and surmounted by a colossal statue of Alfred the

Great. It bears an inscription commemorating the achieve-

ments of King Alfred. There is a local tradition that the

king, on issuing from his retreat in the Isle of Athelney,

raised his standard here against the Danish invaders ; hence

the name Kingsettle given to the hill. A huge mound, called

Jack's Castle, occurs a mile S of the tower, and was long

believed to have been formed for beacon fires, but is now
known to have been sepulchral. See Stourton.

Alfreton, a mai-ket-town, a parish, and head of a petty

sessional division and coimty com't district in Derbyshire.

The town stands on the brow of a hill, about a mile from

its station, which is on the Erew.ash line of the Midland
railway, and 14 miles NNE of Derby. It is said, but

without good reason, to have got its name and origin from

a residence of King Alfred. The town is governed by a local

board, and is well paved. The parish church is v-iriously

Early English, Decorated, and Early Perpendicular, was
restored and enlarged in 1869, and contains a handsome
reredos of Derbyshire alabaster. The town has a railway

station, a head post office, two banks, a market-hall, and two
weekly newspapers. The inhabitants are chiefly employed
in the collieries and ironworks in the neighbourhood. A
weekly market is held on Friday, and a horse and cattle

fair on 31 July, a cheese fair on 7 Oct., and statutes for

hiring servants on 24 Nov. The parish contains also the

townships of Somercotes, Swanwick, Riddings, and Ironville.

Area of the pju-ish, 4626 acres; population of the civil

parish, 16,356; of the ecclesiastical, 6091. The manor of

Alfreton belonged successively to the De Alfretons, the Cha-
worths, the Babingtons, and the Zouches, and now belongs

to the Palmer-Morewood family. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £314 with residence.

The ancient parish church belonged to Beanchief Abbey.
There are chapels for Congregationalists, Wesleyans, Roman
Catholics, Primitive and United Free Methodists. Alfreton

Park is a handsome residence, beautifully situated near the

town. The parish is represented on the Derbyshire County
Council by an alderman and 2 councillors.

Alfrick, a township-chapelry in Suckley pai-ish, Worces-
tershu-e, near the river Teme, 7J miles W of Worcester.
Acreage, 1648; population, 375. The living is a chapelry

annexed to the rectory of Suckley. The church is a small
plain stone edifice, and was restored in 1885. Alfrick is

pleasantly situated amid woods and hills. Old Storridge

Hill, in the vicinity, is 732 feet high.

Alfriston, a village and a parish in Sussex. The village

stands on the Cuckmere river, 2j miles S of Berwick station

on the L.B. & S.C.R.-, and 8 SE of Lewes. It has a post
and money order office under Polegate ; telegraph olfice,

Berwick station. Ai-ea of the parish, 2445 acres
;
popula-

tion, 585. The name is a corruption of Alfred's Town, and
points to ancient entrenchments in the neighbourhood formed
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by King Alfred. Alfriston formerly had two fairs. The

Star Inn, a building about 360 years old, contains some

curious sculptm'es. The manor belonged anciently to Michel-

ham Priory. Two fine varieties of apples, one of them called

the Alfriston apple, are grown. Roman coins and Anglo-

Saxon sceattas have been found. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £150. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church, cruciform of 14th century,

is Perpendicular in style, and has stone sedilia, piscina, and

an ancient tomb. There is a Congregationalist chapel, and

in the centre of the village a market cross. Near the church

is a 14th century half-timbered cottage, known as the old

pre-Reformation vicarage, which has been restored, and is

used as the village reading-room.

Algarkirk, a parish in Lincolnshire, near Fosdyke Wash,

6i miles S by W of Boston. It has a station, with Sutter-

ton, on the G.N.R. Post town, Boston; money order and

telegraph office, Sutterton. Acreage, 2740
;
population of

the civil parish, 469 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Fosdyke,

902. Algarku'k Hall is a spacious modern dwelling, pleas-

antly situated in a well-wooded park. The living is a rectory,

united with Fosdyke, in the diocese of Lincoln
;
gross yearly

value, £1728. The chmxh is cruciform, with a low central

tower ; shows successive characters from traces of Norman
to Later English ; has a beautiful reredos ; and contains

sedilia .and an octagonal font. A stone in the churchyai'd

is said to mark the grave of Algar, Earl of Mercia, who fell

in battle against the Danes at Threkingham in 870. Hence

the name Algarkirk.

Alhampton, a tithing in Ditcheat paiish, Somerset, near

the river Brne, 3 miles NNW of Castle Cary.

Alice Holt Forest, a royal forest on the E border of

Hants, near the Alton railway, between Binstead and Farn-

ham. It measures about 2 miles by 2, was formerly

stocked with fallow deer and kept thickly wooded, and

still contains many stately trees. Much rude ancient pottery

found in it is supposed to have been manufactured on the

spot by the aboriginal Britons.

Alkborough or Aukborough, a village and a parish in

Lincolnshire, at the mouth of the river Trent, 8 miles N from

Frodingham station on the M.S. & L.K., and 10^ W of

Barton-npon-Humber, with a post office under Doncaster;

money order office, West Halton ; telegraph office, Burton-

upon-Stather. The parish includes the hamlet of Walcot.

Acreage, 3034, with 682 of foreshore and water
; population

of civil parish, 427 ; of ecclesiastical, with Whitton, 684.

A high gi'ound, with cliiF overhanging the Trent, commands
a brilliant view of the basins of the Trent, the Ouse, and the

Humber, and forms a strong, natural, military post for over-

awing great pai-t of the coast of England. A camp, said to

be Roman, occurs here, of square outline, 300 feet each side,

with vallum and ditch nearly entii'c, and now bears the name
of Countess Close, from a tradition that it was inhabited by

a Countess of Warwick. Alkborough is said by Stukeley to

have been the Roman Aquis. The living is a vicarage,

united with the vicarage of Whitton, in the diocese of Lin-

coln ; net yearly value, £250 with residence, in the gift of

the Bishop of Lincoln and a private patron alternately. The
church is an ancient building of stone in mixed styles. There

ai'e Piimitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels. Walcot Hall

is an ancient mansion with modern additions, surrounded by

very beautiful gi'ounds.

Alkerton, a tithing and a village in Eastington parish,

Gloucestershire, 4 miles W of Stroud. There is a Wesleyan
chapel.

Alkerton or Awkerington, a village and a parish in

Oxfordshire, on the verge of the county, 6 miles WNW of

Banbury railway station. Post town, Banbury ; money order

office, Tysoe ; telegi'aph office, Wroxton. Acreage of parish,

742; population, 119. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Oxford ; net yearly value, £120 with residence, in the gift

of the Earl of Jersey. The chm'ch contains, in its external

courses, some curious figures of acolytes censing, and was
completely restored in 1890. The learned but unfortunate

mathematician, Thomas Lydiat, who lived 1572-1646, was
a native of the parish, and for some time its rector.

Alkham, a parish in Kent, 2 miles from Keanisey station

on the L.C. & D.R., and 4 W of Dover, under which it has a

post office. A nailboume here breaks out occasionally with
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such " store of water as would can-y a vessel of considerable
burden." The living is a vicarage, united with the vicarage
of Capel-le-Ferne, in the diocese of Canterbury ; net value,

£280. Patron, the Aichbishop of Canterbury. The church is

partly Norman, partly Early English, and in very good con-
dition. Part of Poulton and St Redigund's Abbey, contigu-
ous to Alkham, ai'e extra-parochial. Acreage, 3213

;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 51)3 ; of the ecclesiastical, with
Capel-lc-Eerne, 825.

Alkington, a tithing and a parish in Gloucestershire,

1 mile E of the town of Berkeley. Acreage, 4114; popu-
lation, 818.

Alkington, a township in Whitchurch parish, Salop, 2

nules SSW of the town of Whitchurch. Earl Brownlow is

lord of the manor.

Alkmonton, a township and a village fonned in 1849,
with the liberty of Hungry Bentley, into a parish called the

cl)apelry district of Alkmonton, in Derbyshire. The town-
sliip hes 5 miles from Tutbury railw.ay station, and 6 S by
E of Ashborne. Post town, Longford, under Derby ; tele-

graph offices, Tutbury and Ashboi-ne. The area of the town-
ship is 715 acres; population of the civil parish, 60; of the

ecclesiastical, 142. A chapel and an hospital were founded
here in 1474 by Lord Jlountjoy, but are now extinct. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; net value,

£110 with residence, in the gift of the Evans family, who
are lords of the manor and sole landowners. The church,
which was thoroughly restored in 1878, is very good.

Alkriugton, a township and a parish in Lancashire, 1 mile

W of Widdleton Junction railway station, and 4^ miles N by E
of JIancIiester, forming part of the ecclesiastical district of

Tonge-cum-Alkrington. Acreage, 708; population, 446.
The inli.abitants are chiefly employed in the neighbouring
cotton f.actories.

AUaleigh, a hamlet in Cornworthy parish, Devonshire,

4| miles SE of Totnes.

Allcannlngs, a tithing and a parish in Wilts. The tithing

lies ou the Avon Canal, 2 miles S of Wans Dyke, and 4 from
Woodhorough station on the Great Western railway. There
is a post and money order office under Devizes ; telegraph

office, Woodborough. Acreage, 3354 ;
population of the

civil pai-ish, 509 ; of the ecclesiastiaxl, with EtchiUiampton,
788. The manor house is a building of the 14th centmy,
and is now used as a f.armhouse. The living is a rectory,

and was formerly a prebend, in the diocese of Salisbmy

;

net value, £800. Patron, Lord Ashburton. The church was
partly built in the 17th centmy. The chancel was beauti-

fully restored in 1889. St Ann's Hill (now called Tan Hill)

fair for cattle and sheep is held on 6 August.
Allen, The, tlie name of three streams—one of Cornwall,

which runs 6 miles southward to the Fal at Truro ; one of

Dorset, which nins 9 miles eastward to the Stour in the vicinity

of Wimborne-Minster ; and one of Northumberland, which
rises, in two head-streams E and W, on the confines of Durham
and Cumberland, and runs 14 miles northward to the South
Tyne, 3 miles above Haydon-Bridge.

Allen, St, a parish in Cornwall, on the Allen rivulet, H
miles N by W of Truro station ou the G.W.R. Post town,
Truro, which is the telegiaph office ; money order office,

Newlyn East. Acreage, 3506
;
population, 468. Many of

the inhabitants are miners. An old edifice, now a farmhouse,
was the seat of the Bevills. An ancient camp, with triple

ditch, occurs at Gwaniike. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Truro ; net value, £174. Patron, the Bishop of

Truro. The church is good. The township of Zelah is

about 2 miles from St Allen, on the main road to Truro ; it

consists of a straggling village extending a distance of 1^ mile.

There are Wesleyan and Bible Christian chapels here, and a

mission church was erected in 1883.

Allendale, a township and a parish in Northumherland.
The town stands on the AUen rivulet, and on the Allendale

railway, 9 miles SW of Hexham, and 1 mile from Catton
Road station. It h.as a head post office. Letters should have
added to the address E.S.O. (Northumberland). Fairs arc

held on the last Friday in April, 22 August, and first Fri-

day after October 29, for cattle and hirings on the latter

date, and also on the first Friday in May. There is an Agri-

cultural Society which holds a show annually in August.

The parish is cut into seven divisions called grieveships

:
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Allendale town, Catton and Broadside, High Forest, Low
Forest, Keenley, Park, and West Allen. The area of the

parish is 61,807 acres
;

population, 3009. Much of the

sm'face is moorland, bleak, hilly, and mountainous. Lead
mines are worked to a considerable extent. Coal is also

worked ; and some silver and rock crystal are found. Allen-

heads, at the sources of the Allen, 7 miles S of the town of

Allendale, is in the neighbourhood of the lead mines, and
has a post and money order office of its own name under

Alleudale. An ancient camp, supposed to have been a Roman
station, occurs at Old Town. The hving of Allendale is a

rectoiy in the diocese of Newcastle ; net value, £300 with

residence. The church was rebuilt in 1807, and again in

1873. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels,

a meeting-house for the Society of Friends, a cemetery

formed in 1889, under the control of a Bmial Board, and
charities producing about £100 per annum.

Allensmore, a parish in Herefordshire, 2 miles from

Tram-Inn station on the G.W.R. , 4 SW of Hereford. It has

a post office under Tram-Inn (R.S.O.), which is the money
order and telegi'aph office. The pai'ish includes the town-
ships of Allensmore and Hungerstone, with the hamlets of

Winn.all and Cobhall. Acreage, 2021 ;
population, 620.

The livmg is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ; net value,

£266. P.atron, the Bishop of Hereford. The church, an

ancient stone edifice, was restored in 1880 ; it has a Norman
doorway and some good monuments. There is a Wesleyan
Methodist and a Primitive Methodist chapel. Allensmore

Court is a fine old couutry seat, situated in a finely-wooded

park.

AUenton or Alwinton, a village and a parish in North-

umberland. The village lies on the Coquet river, at the

inHux of the rivulet Allen or Alwin, 10 miles NW of Roth-

bm'y railway station, and 19 WSW of Alnwick. The parish

contains also the townships of Farnham, Sharperton, Peels,

Clennel, Bun-adon, Biddlestone,Linbridge, Fairhaugh,Ncther-

ton-North-Side, and Netherton-South-Side, also five town-

ships in the Holystone parochial chapelry. Acreage, 1181
;

population of the civil parish, 60; of the ecclesiastical, 1034.

It is the largest ecclesiastical parish in England. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office of the name of

Alwinton, under Rothbury. Much of the surface is moor
and hill, rising towards the Central Cheviots. The living

is a vicai-age, united to that of Holystone, in the diocese

of Newcastle ; net value, £205 with residence. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is partly Norman, Eai'ly Eng-
lish, and Transitional, possessing a very remai'kable chancel,

raised by a flight of fourteen steps above the n.ave. It was

restored in 1863.

Aller, a hamlet in Hilton parish, Dorset, on an affluent of

the Trent, 8i miles WSW of Blandford.

Aller, a village and a parish in Somerset. The village

stands near the river Parret, and the Durston and Yeovil

branch of the G.W.R., 2 J miles N of Langport ; and has a

post office under Langport, which is the money order and

telegraph office. Acreage, 3605; population of the civil

parish, 444 ; of the ecclesiastical, 429. This is said to be

the place where Guthrum and his Danes were baptized after

their defeat by Alfred at Edington. The parish mcludes

also the tithing of Oath. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £480. Patron,

Emmanuel College, Cambridge. The church was restored in

1861. There is a Congregational chapel. Dr Ralph

Cudworth, the author of the " Intellectu.al System of the

Universe," was a native, and his father was rector. A
detachment of Goring's army was defeated, in 1645, on

Aller Moor.

Allerdale, two wards in Cumberland. The one is called

Allerdale-above-Derwent ; the other, Allerdale-below-Der-

wcut. The former contains Cockermouth and Ravenglass,

and is bounded mainly by Bassenthwaite Water, Derwent-

water, Lancashire, and the Irish Sea ; while the latter con-

tains Maryport and AUerby, and extends conterminously

with the former from the Irish Sea to the E. For magis-

terial pm'poses Derwent Ward has been taken out of the two

Allerdales.and Bootle Ward out of Allerdale-above-Derwent.

Allerford, a tithing in Sclworthy parish, Somerset, 4J
miles W of Minehead. It has a post and money order office

imder Taunton ; telegraph office, Porlock.
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Allerston, a village, a township, and a parish in the

N. R, Yorkshire. The parish lies near the river Derwent, ^
mile from Wilton station on the hranch of the N.E.K., and
6 miles E of Pickering, the post town and telegraph office

;

Thornton-le-Dale, '2} miles distant, is the money order ofSce.

Acreage, 10,043 ;
population, 373. The living is a vicarage,

annexed to that of Ebherston, in the diocese of York; joint

gross yearly value, £293 with residence, in the gift of the

Ai-chbishop of York. The church, which is ancient and in

the Norman style, was thoroughly restored in 1882. Cross-

cliff is a hamlet in this parish.

Allerthorpe, a village, a township, and a parish in the

E. K. Yorkshire, lying near the Pocklington Canal and
the IMarket-Weigliton railway, 1^ mile SW of Pocklington

station on the N.E.R. Acreage, 1580
;
population, 139.

About 500 acres of the area is common land. The Dun-
combe family are lords of the manor and chief landowners.

The parish includes also the township of Waplington. It

has a post office under Y'ork ; money order and telegraph

office, Pocklington
;
population, 59. The living is a chapeliy

annexed to the vicarage of Thoraton, in the diocese of York
;

joint yearly value, £270, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

AUerton, a township in Lancashire, with a railway station,

4^ miles SE of Liverpool. Acreage, 1586
;
population, 914.

Here are Allerton Hall, Allerton Priory, the famous Allerton

oak, and the ancient monument of Calder Stone, supposed to

be Druidical. Allerton Hall was at one time the seat of Mr
Eoscoe, author of the " Life of Lorenzo de Medici."

Allerton, a railway station in the W. R. Yorkshire, on the

Knavesborough railway, 4^ miles ENE of Knaresborough.

See Ai.lekton-Mauleverer.
Allerton-Bywater, a village, a township, and a parish in

the \V. R. Yorkshire, on the Aire navigation, 5 miles NNW
of Pontefract, witli a post office under Normanton ; money
order and telegraph office, Castleford. Acreage, 981 ; popu-
lation of the civil parish, 2305; of the ecclesiastical, 2919.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon
;

gr'oss yearly

value, £220 with residence, in the gift of the Vicar of Kippas.

The church was built in 1865, and is a fine building in the

Early English style. There ai'e also a Wesleyan chapel and
a Church mission-room. The neighbourhood is famous for

its excellent beds of coal. Malting is also carTied on.

Allerton-Chapel or Chapel-Allerton, a parish in

Somerset, 3 miles from Axbridge station on the G.W.E. It

has a post office under Weston-super-Mare ; money order and
telegi-aph office, Wedmore. Acreage, 1437 ; population of

civil parish, 318 ; of the ecclesiastical, 232. It contains

the hamlets of Ashton, Stone-AUerton, and Washbrook.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath .and Wells

;

value, £270. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Wells. The
church was restored in 1860. In this parish stood " the

hundred stone," which mm-ked the hundred of Bempstouc,
and portions of it still exist.

Allerton-Chapel or Chapel-Allerton, a township and
chapelry in Leeds parish, W. R. Y'orkshire. It has a post,

money order, and telegr-aph office of the name of Chapel-
Allerton, under Leeds, and it contains the hamlet of Gledhow.
Acreage, 2811; population, 4377. The property is much
subdivided, and there are many handsome residences. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £300
with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Leeds. The church is

in the Italian style, and contains a number of stained win-
dows. There are a Wesleyan chapel, erected in 1874, in

the Early English style, at a cost of £12,000, Conservative
and Liberal clubs, several quarries of good stone, and some
chai-ities.

Allerton-Mauleverer, a township, a parish, and a small

village in the W. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on an
affluent of the Nidd, 1 mile from Allerton railway station,

and 4i miles ENE of Knavesborough. The parish includes

the townships of Clarcton and Hopperton. Post town,

Knaresborough, which is the money order office. Area of

the parish, 2281 acres; population, 222. The property is

all in one est.ate. It belonged anciently to the family of

Jlauleverer, passed to Lord Gallow.ay, and was sold, since

1785, successively to the Duke of York, Colonel Thornton,
and Lord Stourton. The mansion on it, the seat of Lord
Mowbray and Stourton, is a superb structure, and was called
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for some time Thornville-Royal, then Allerton Hall, and now
Stourton Castle. Clare Hill, on the estate, is a remarkable
eminence. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon

;

value, £60. Patron, Lord Mowbray and Stourton. The
church is an old cruciform building in the Norman style.

The Roman Catholics have a chapel, a scho(]l, and a ceme-
tery. An alien Benedictine priory was founded here in the
time of Henry II., and given by Henry VI. to King's
College, Cambridge.

Allesley, a village and a parish in Warwickshire, 2|^ miles
NW of Coventry, mider which there is a post office ; money
order and telegraph office, Coventry. Acreage of the parish,

4267; population, 910. The Uving is a rectory in the
diocese of Worcester; net value, £565. The church was
originally a chapel belonging to the priory of Coventry ; it

was restored and enlarged in 1863. There is an endowed
school. Allesley Hall, a country seat, is in this parish. At
Eastern Green, a little to the SW, which was formed into
an ecclesiastical parish in 1876, is a handsome church with
a spire, built in 1875. The living is a vicarage in the gift

of the rector of Allesley ; net value, £198.
Allestree, a parish in Derbyshire, ne.ar Derwent river and

the M.R., 2 miles N of Derby, under which it has a post
office ; money order and telegraph office, Quarndon. Acre-
age, 1163; population, 571. The chief residence is Alles-
tree Hall, standing in a park of 100 acres. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £245. The
ancient church of St Edmund, which was rebuilt and en-
larged in 1866-67, contains tombs of the Mundys, and is

very good. There is a Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist
chapel.

AUhallows, a village, a township, and a parish in Cum-
berland, on the river Ellen, 2 miles SE of Brayton railway
station, and 7 SW of Wigton. Post town, Aspatria (R.S.O.)
Acreage of the parish, 1692

;
population, 832. The property

includes the manors of Baggrow, Harby-Brow, Upmanby,
Whitehall, Lees Rigg, and Priestcroft. The Lawson family
are lords of the manor and sole landowners. Coal, lime, and
freestone are worked. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Carlisle; net value, £370. Patron, the Bishop of CarUsle.

The church is good.

Allhallows or Hoo-Allhallows, a parish in the hundred
of Hoo, Kent, on the Thames, 4i miles from Sharnal Street
station on the S.E.R. Post town, Rochester; money order
office. Stoke ; telegraph office, Sharnal Street. Acreage,
2407

;
population, 388. The coastguard station of Yantlet

Creek is on the shore, and Slough Fort, one of the defences
of the Thames, is in the parish. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Rochester; net value, £180. Patrons, the
Dean and Chapter of Rochester. The church is ancient,
partly Saxon and partly Norman work ; and the chancel was
restored in 1891. This is one of the few instances in which
the name of the hundred as distinctive of the various parishes

therein has survived; hence Hoo-St-Werburgh, Hoo-All-
hallows, Hoo-St-Mary's, meaning St Werbui'gh's parish in

the hundred of Hoo, &c.

Allington, a township in Gresford parish, Denbighshire,

3 miles N uf Wrexham. Acreage, 3578
;
population, 940.

AUington. See Bridport.
Allington, a tithing in South Stoneham parish, Hants,

near the river Itcliin, 2 miles from Bishopstoke station on
the L. & S.W.R.

Allington, a parish in Kent, on the river Medway, 2 miles
from Aylesford station on the S.E.R., and li mile from
Maidstone, which is the post town. Acreage, 608; popula-
tion, 157. The manor was granted to William de VVarrene
at the Conquest; passed to the family of Allington, to Sir

Stephen de Penchester, to the Cobhams, the Brents, and the
Wyatts ; was the birthplace of Sir Thomas Wyatt the poet,

and of his son. Sir Thomas, who headed the insurrection

against Queen Mary; was given, at the confiscation of

manors, to Su- John Astley ; and passed in 1720 to the
Earl of Romney. A castle was built on it by Warrene, re-

built by Penchester, extended by the Wyatts, and abandoned
to ruin by .'\stley. A considerable part of the structure still

stands, and presents interesting features. The exterior i» a
long parallelogram, with projecting circular towers, and the

interior is divided by a r.ange of low buildings, with archway,
into two distinct courts. A wide moat, fed from the Med-
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way, nearly encircles the pile, and a farmbouse, of pictur-

esque character, built out of fallen parts of the castle, stands

adjacent. Gentle bills, mostly covered with wood, rise in

the vicinity, and irregular mounds, which probably were

ornamental features in the once-noble park, lie between the

castle and the river. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Canterbury ; value, £154. Patron, the Earl of Eomney.

The chm-ch is Decorated English, in very good condition.

Allington, a tithing and a paiish in Wilts, near the

Kennet and Avon Canal, 4 miles ENE of Devizes. Acreage,

1105
;
population, fl6.

Allington, a tithing in Chippenham parish, Wilts, 2J
miles NW of Chippenham.

Allington, a parish in Wilts, on tlie Roman road from

Old Sarum to Silchester, Sir miles NE of Porton station on

the L. & S.W.R., and 3J ESE of Amesbury. Acreage, 957

;

population, 70. Post town, Salisbury ; money order and

telegraph office, Winterbourne Gunner. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £100. Patron,

the Earl of Craven. The church is very good. There is a

small Methodist chapel.

Allington, East, a parish in Devonshire, 4| miles NW
of Stai-t Bay, and 11 from Kingsbridge Road station on the

G.W.R. Allington has a post office under Mounts ; money

order and telegraph office, Kingsbridge. Acreage, 3702;

population, iG'J. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Exeter ; net value, £380. The church has a screen, con-

tains monuments of the Fortescue family, and is good; it

was restored in 1875. There is a Methodist chapel. Falla-

pit, in the vicinity, is a noble mansion in the Elizabethan

style.

Allington, East and West, two parishes in the county

of Lincoln, separated for ecclesiastical, hut united for civil

purposes, 1 mile N from Sedgebrook station on the G.N.R.,

and 5 miles NW of Grantham. They have a post office, of

the name of Allington, under Grantham; money order office,

Barrowby and Bottesford; telegraph office, Sedgebrook

station. Area, 2066 acres; population, 291. Allington

Hall is an edifice in the Tudor style. The livings are in the

diocese of Lincoln, and that of East Allington is a curacy

annexed to the rectory of Sedgebrook, while that of West

Allington is a rectory of the yearly value of £130 with

residence, in the patronage of the Lord Chancellor. The

church of East Allington is a small plain stracture of stone,

partly in the Early EngUsh and Perpendicular styles ; that

of West Allington is a small edifice of stone in the Norman

Transition style.

Allington or Alvington, East, a hamlet in Chivelstone

parish, Devonshire, 6J miles SE of Kingsbridge.

Allington or Alvington, West, a parish in Devonshii-e.

It lies on the Marlborough creek, 1 mile SW of Kingsbridge.

The terminus of the new Kingsbridge railway is in the village.

It has a post office, of the name of West Alvington, under

Kingsbridge, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 2712; population of the civil parish, 780; of

the ecclesiastical, 888. It contains the hamlets of Wool-

stone, Easton, Sorley, and Bawcombe. Allington Manor

belonged anciently to the Bastards. Garston gardens were

famous for producing, on wall-trees, oranges and lemons

of as line a quality as any in Portugal. The right to a

weekly market was granted to West Allington in 1270, but

\Ytut into disuse. The living is a vicar-age in the diocese

of Exeter; net value, £114. Patrons, the Dean and

Chapter of Salisbury. The chm'ch has a screen, contains

tombs of tlie Bastards, and is very good. The vicarages

of Salcombe and Marlborough and South Milton are now

separate benefices. Bowringsleigh, an ancient mansion be-

longing to the Ubert family, is in the parish, as also the

historic mansion of Combe Royal.

Allithwaite, an ecclesiastical district (St Mary's), being

a |iorti(in of the civil district of Lower Allithwaite in North

Lancashire. The nearest station is at Kent's Bank, on the

Furness line. It has a post office under Grange-over-Sands

(R.S.O.); money order and telegraph office, Kent's Bank.

"The church is a modern building in the Gothic style. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle
j
gross value,

£300 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop. There is an

endowed school. Popidation, 631.

Allonby, a village, a chapelry, and a township in the

28

ALMODINGTON

parish of Bromfield, Cumberland. The village stands on a

wide open bay of its own name, opposite the Robin Rigg light-

vessel, is 3J miles N of Bull Gill railway station, and 5 NNE
of Maryport, under which it has a post, money order, and

telegi'aph office. It carries on a fishing trade, and is a

fashionable summer resort for sea-bathing. It was the birth-

place of the distinguished hydrogr.apher, Huddart, who died

in 1816. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle;

net value, £160. Patron, the Vicar of Bromfield. There

is a church, a Congregational chapel, and Friends' meeting-

house in the village. With the township of West Newton it

forms the civil parish of West Newton and Allonby, com-

prising 1339 acres
;
population, 497.

AUostook, a township in Lower Peover parochial chapelry.

Great Budworth parish, Cheshire, on an affluent of the river

Weaver, 5 miles S by W of Knutsford. Acreage, 3017
;

population, 601. Hulme Hall, formerly a seat of the Gros-

venor family, but now a farmhouse, is in this township.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Allow, The, a stream of Durham, running 6 miles north-

ward to the Tyne, in the vicinity of Swalwell.

Allowenshay, a handet in Iiingston parish, Somerset, 2

miles NNW of Ilchoster.

Allscot, a township in Wrockwardine parish, Salop, on

the river 'lern, 3 miles WNW of Wellington.

Allscote, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, near the

Severn, 2 miles NNE of Bridgnorth.

All-Stretton, a township in Cburch-Stretton parish,

Salop, 1^ mile N of Church-Stretton. It has a post office

under Cburch-Stretton (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph oflice.

Alltgrug, a hamlet in Llangnick parish, Glamorgan,

5J miles NW of Neath.

Alltmawr, a small parish in Breconshire, on the river

Wye, 3 J miles SSE of Builth, which is the post office (R.S.O.)

Acreage, C76
;
population, 28. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St David's; net value, £00.

Alltwen, a hamlet in Cilypebyll parish, Glamorgan, 1

mile S of Pontardawe. It has a post office under Swansea

;

money order and telegraph office, Pontardawe.

Alltygar, a hamlet in Llangathen parish, Carmarthenshire,

3 miles W of Llandeilofawr.

Allweston, a hamlet in Folke parish, Dorsetshue, 2 miles

SE of Sherborne.

Almeley, a village and a parish in Herefordshire, 4J miles

SE of Kington, with a station on the G.W.K. The parish

includes the township of Hopley's Green and Logaston, and

has a post office under Eardisley (R.S.O.), which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 3449
;
popula-

tion, 627. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford

;

net value, £237. Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The

church is ancient, dating from the 14th century, had once

a chantry, and was restored in 1870.

Aimer, a parish in Dorsetshire, on an affluent of the Stour,

3 miles S by W of Spettisbury station on the Somerset and

Dorset railway, and 7 W by S of Wimborne-Minster. It

contains the hamlet of Mapperton. It has a post office

under Blandford ; money order and telegi'aph office, Spettis-

bury. Acreage, 1170
;

population, 133. The Uving is a

rectory ; net value, £240. The church is an ancient building

of stone.

Abner-Combe, a tithing in Sturminster-Marshall parish,

Dorset, on the river Stour, 4 miles W of Wimborne-Minster.

Almes Cliff, a gritstone cr.ag 5 miles SW of Harrogate,

W. R. Yorksliire. It crowns a hill 716 feet high, and com-

mands a brilliant and extensive panoramic view. Numerous

hollows are on its summit, whether formed naturally or

artificially is doubtful; and a fissure of great length, called

the Fairy Parlour, is on its west side. Another crag, called

Little Almes Cliff, 121 feet higher than this, is about 3 miles

to the NW.
Almholme, a hamlet in Bentley-with-Aiksey parish, W.

K. Yorkshire, on the river Don, oj miles NNE of Doncaster.

Almington, a township in Drayton parish, Stafibrdshire,

on the river Tern, 1 mile E of Market-Drayton.

Almington, Warwickshire. See Amington.

Almodington, a tithing in the parishes of Earuley and

Siddleham, Sussex, near Pagham harbour, 4;^ miles SSW of

Chichester. It was formerly a parish, and contains the

ruins of a church.
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Almondbury, a town, a township, and an extensive parish

»nd ward in the borougli of Huddersfield, W. K. Yorkshire.

The town stands near the Colne river, and is 1 mile E of

Fennybridge station on the L. & N.W.R., 2 miles SE of

Huddersfield. It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph

ofBce under Huddersfield, and was anciently called Alban-

bnry. It is supposed by some antiquaries to have been the

Campodunum of the Romans ; and it seems certainly to have

been a seat of the kings of Northumbrian An ancient castle

crowned an eminence here, strongly fortified by double wall

and trenches, and interiorly disposed in outer and inner courts;

and a few traces of this still exist. The township includes

also the hamlets of Lowerhouses, Fennybridge, Castlehillside,

Oaks, Newsome, and Thorpe. Acreage, 2636; population

of the civil parish, 14,855 ; of the ecclesiastical, 615". A
large proportion of the inhabitants are employed in woollen

factories, and in the making of mohair, sealskin, and fancy

vestings. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of W.akefield

;

net value, £260 with residence. The church is in the Perpen-

dicular Enghsh style. There are chapels for Wesleyans and

Free Methodists. A free grammar school was founded in the

time of James I., and has an endowment of £250; there

are other charities amounting to £300.

Almondsbury, a village, a tithing, and a parish in Glou-

cestershire. The village stands at the foot of a ridge of lime-

stone rocks, 2 miles from Patchway station on the G.W.R.,

and 8 N of Bristol. It has a post office (R.S.O.) The
heights above it, and the grounds of Knole Park, a beauti-

ful country seat adjacent on the SW, command a very noble

and extensive view, embracing the estuary of the Severn and

the hills of Monmouth and Wales. Over Court is another

fine seat in the vicinity ; here ai'e remains of a Roman camp.

The parish comprises 7009 acres; population of the civil

parish, 2047 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1543. Some lands be-

longed anciently to the priory of St Augustine in Bristol.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and

Bristol ; value, £325. Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and

Bristol. The church is cruciform and Early English, with

tower and spire at the intersection of the nave and transept

;

it contains some interesting monuments and a good stained-

glass East window, in memory of Dr. Gray, Bishop of Bristol.

AIne, The, a river in Northumberland. It rises a little

west of Alnham, and runs about 16 miles eastward, past

Whittingham, Hulne Abbey, and Alnwick, to the sea at Aln-

mouth. It is a fine fishing stream.

Alue, The, a river of Warwickshire. It rises near Beard-

more, and runs 15 miles southward, past Great AIne and

Alcester, to the Avon at Salford-Priors. It is joined by the

Arrow at Alcester.

AIne, a village, a township, and a parish in the N. R. York-

shire. The township lies on an affluent of the Ouse, and on

the N.E.R., 13 miles NW by N of York ; it has a post and

money order office under Easingwold ; telegraph office at rail-

way station. Acreage, 2262
;
population of civil parish, 439

;

of ecclesiastical, with Aldwark, 1449. The parish includes

also the townships of Youlton, Aldwark, Tollerton, Flawith,

and Tholthorpe. A chief residence is AIne Hall, the seat of

the Swainston-Strangways family. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of York, and includes the curacy of Aldwark

;

value, £400. The church is Norman, and has a carved oaken
pulpit and a Norman font. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

AIne, Great, a parish in Warwickshire, on the river AIne,

2 miles NE of Alcester, with a station on the G.W.R. It

has a post office under Redditch ; money order and telegraph

office, Alcester. Acreage, 1764; population, 358. The
living is a chapelry, annexed to the rectory of Kinwarton, in

the diocese of Worcester. The church is a small plain stone

edifice.

AIne, Little, a hamlet in Aston-Cantlow parish, War-
wickshure, on the river AIne, 2 miles NE of Great AIne.

AInesboume Priory, a township in Nacton parish,

Suffolk, near the river Orwell, 4J miles SE of Ipswich.

A small Augnstinian priory anciently stood here, and was
annexed in the 13th century to the monastery of Wood-
bridge, Acreage, 923

;
population, 52.

AIney, Isle of, an islet in the Severn, in the vicinity of

Gloucester. Edmund Ironsides and Canute concluded a
treaty here in 1016 for the division of the kingdom. A
nunnery was established on Alney Island in the latter part of
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the 7th century. The railway is carried on arches across the

island.

Alnham, a township and a parish in Northumberland.
The township lies near the source of the AIne river, under
the southern spurs of the Cheviots, 9 miles NW of Rothbury,

and 7 W of Whittingham. Post town, Whittingham (R.S.O.),

which is the money order office ; telegraph office, Glanton.

Acreage, 10,346
;
population of the civil parish, 105 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 201. The parish includes also the townships

of Prendwick, Unthank, and Scrainwood. The Duke of

Northumberland is lord of the manor. A considerable area

in the eastern part of the parish is under cultivation, the

land being fertile, but the land in the west is chiefly moor.

A semicircular ancient camp, 300 feet in diameter, with en-

circling double rampart and deep trench, is on a hill about a

mile W of the village. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Newcastle; net value, £210. Patron, the Duke of Nor-
thumberland. The church was built about 1135, and con-

tains seven ancient tombs. The vicarage was built in the

time of Edward III., and restored in 1844, and includes an

embattled peel tower.

Almnouth, a seaport village, a township, and a parish in

Northumberland. The village stands on a small bay at the

mouth of the river AIne, 1 mile E of Alnmouth railway station,

and 5 ESE of Alnwick, It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office (R.S.O.) Its harbour admits vessels of from
60 to 150 tons, and is used for coasting trade. A chapel

anciently stood adjacent on an eminence near the shore, and
a burying-ground in connection with it was in use till about

the year 1815, but has been washed away by the sea. Area
of township, 283 acres of land and 250 of water and fore-

shore
;
population of the civil parish, 693 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 607. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Newcastle; net value, £150. Patron, the Duke of North-
umberland. The church was built in 1870, and there is a

Wesleyan chapel, and a reading-room and library. It is a

coastguard station, and the National Lifeboat Institution

stationed a lifeboat here in 1888.

Alnwick, a town, a castle, a township, and a parish in

Northumberland. The town stands on the river AIne, and
has a station on the N.E.R., 3 miles from Alnmouth Junction.

It is 34 miles by road, and 37J by railway, N by W of

Newcastle-on-Tyne. Acreage, 4777 ;
population of town,

0746. Its name signifies *' the town on AIne." The town
probably dates from the time of the Romans ; or, at least,

grew up as a dependency of a strong baronial mansion, the

original castle, in the time of the Saxons. Tiie barony be-

longed to Gilbert Tysen, who fell at the battle of Hastings.

It was given by the Conqueror to Ivo de Vesci, the ancestor

of theDeVescis; and it passed in 1310 to the family of

Percy, the ancestors of the Dukes of Northumberland. Mal-
colm III. of Scotland besieged the town in 1093, and was
killed before its walls in 1098. David of Scotland captured

it in 1135. William the Lion besieged it in 1174; but was
surprised by Ralph de Glanville, and taken prisoner to

London. King John burnt it in 1215. Gualo, the Pope's

legate, convoked a meeting of the Scottish bishops at it in

1220. Robert Bruce's nobles, Douglas and Randolph, be-

sieged it without success in 1328. Additional fortifications of

both the town and the castle were made in 1411. The Scots

took the town and burnt it in 1448, in revenge for the burn-

ing of Dumfries. The Earl of Warwick laid siege to the castle

in 1463, after the battle of Hexham ; and Sir George Douglas,

with a considerable force, came to its relief, and enabled its

garrison to retire unmolested.

The town stands chiefly on a declivity on the soutli bank
of the AIne. It is well laid out, and has a spacious market-
place in the centre. The streets are wide and well paved.

The houses are chiefly modern, mostly built of freestone,

many of them of considerable elegance. Four gates formerly

pierced the town walls, and one of them, Bondgate, is still

standing, and gives name to a street. Handsome stone

bridges take the highway over the AIne. The town-hall, on

one side of the market-place, is a large edifice, surmounted

by a square tower. Another building, on another side, is a

modem structure, disposed below in meat and fish market,

and containing above an elegant assembly-room and a spacious

reading-room. The corn exchange was opened in 1862.

The parish church is a large [edifice, of the I4th century,
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with a riclily arclicd chancel and carved stalls, and was re-

stored by the foui'th Duke of Northumberland, at a cost of

£6000. St Paul's Church was built in 1846, at a cost of

£20,000. It is a handsome edifice, in the Decorated English
style

; has a memorial window to the third Duke of Northum-
berland, produced at Munich in 185G, and contains an effigy

of the Duke in Caen stone by Carew. The English Presby-
terians, Congregationalists, Wesleyan Methodists, New Con-
nexion Methodists, Baptists, and Roman Catholics have places

of worship ; and there are a mechanics' institute, a dispen-
sary, and infirmary.

Alnwick has a head post and telegraph office, and several

banks. A weekly market is held on Monday, and a lamb
and wool fair is held on the first Monday after July 5, and
fairs for hiring servants on the first Saturday in Marcli, first

Monday in May, and the first Saturday in November. Trade
in corn and cattle is extensive ; brewing is carried on, and
there are tobacco and snuflF manufactories. Two weekly
newspapers are published. Tiie town gives the title of baron
to the Northumberland family. The Friar Martin of Aln-
wick and the Bishop William of Alnwick were natives.

Alnwick Abbey, beautifully situ.ated on tlie north bank of

the Alne, was tlie first house of the Premonstratensian canons
in England. It was founded in 1147 by Eustace Fitz-Joim,

and dedicated to the Virgin ; and at the dissolution of mon-
asteries it had about 13 canons, and was valued at £1110.

It became the seat of successively the Brandlings and the

Doubledays, .and then was sold to tlie Duke of Nortlmmber-
land. A gateway tower of it still stands, and has armorial
shields of the Percys, crosses, and a niche richly canopied
with open Gothic work.

Alnwick Castle, the seat of the Duke of Northumberland,
situated on an eminence on the south side of the Alne, is a
most imposing pile. It retains some vestiges of Norm.an
areliitecture, part of the original castle ; and after having
passed almost to ruin by the shocks of war- and tlie wear
of time, it was reconstructed and embellished in 1750 to

17GC. The Prudlioe tower was built in 1854, and in the

ten years from that date tlie castle underwent extensive

renovations, after designs by Mr. Salvin of London and the

Comniendatore Montiroh of Eome. It consists mainly of

freestone or moorstone, covers or encloses about five acres,

is disposed in three courts, exliibits sixteen towers and
turrets, and is altogether a most noble and magnificent speci-

men of a great baronial seat. The grand staircase forms tlie

approach to the vestibule, tlie frieze of which is filled witli

illustrations of the ballad of Chevy Chase. Satin damask
hangings line the walls of the domestic apartments. The
drawing-rooms have a ceiling of carved wood, gilt and coloured.

The dining-room, CO feet by 24, stands on the site of the

old banqueting-hall. The high-roofed chapel, Early Englisn,

has a stone vault and an apsidal west end, and is furnished

with marbles and mosaics from Eome. In the state apart-

ments are exquisite carvings ; copies, by Nucci, of slaves

from Constautine's Arch and the Greek Canephora, and
coloured friezes by Mantovani ; inlaid wood, pure white

marbles, and can'cd walnut panels contribute to the mag-
nificence of these rooms. A vaulted kitchen has been built

on the SE side. The octagonal Donjon tower contains a

square dungeon, 11 feet by 9|. The grounds connected with

the castle lie along both sides of the Alne, are upwards of 5

miles long, exhibit great wealth and variety of both natural

and artificial beauty, and contain the remains of Alnwick and
Hulne abbeys, a picturesque cross on tlie spot where King
Malcolm of Scotland fell, a monument on the spot wliere

William the Lion was taken prisoner, and the tower of

Brislee, GG feet high, erected in 1762, and commanding a

superb and extensive view. The living is a vicarage in tlie

diocese of Durham ; value, X318 with residence. The chnrch

of St Paul's is a vicarage; value, £339, in the patronage

of the Duke of Northumberland. The parish comprises

16,749 acres; population of the civil parish, 7428; of the

ecclesiastical—St Michael, 3405, and St Paul, 3948.

Alperton, a hamlet in the parish of Harrow-on-the-IIill,

Middlesex, near tlie river Brent and the Paddington Canal,

1 mile S of Sudbury station on the L. & N.W.R., and 8 miles

WNW of St Paul's, London. It has a post office under

Harrow; money order and telegi'aph office, Wembley, There

is a Baptist chapel here,
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Alphage, St. See Canterbuet.
Alphamstone, a parish in Essex, near the river Stonr,

3 miles WNW of Bures station on the G.E.R., and 5J S of

Sudbury. Post town, Bures St ]\Iary (under Colchester), which
is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1709

;

population of the civil parish, 231 ; of the ecclesiastical, 214.

The living is a rectory in tlie diocese of St Albans ; net

value, £348 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

The church is a structure with a very deep chancel built of

flint and stone. The walls of the other parts of the church
are built of rubble and brick, and are very thick. There are

two piscinae, a Lady chapel, a leper window, and three bells,

all having Roman Catholic inscriptions.

Alpheton, a parish in Suff'olk, on an affluent of the river

Stour, 7 miles N of Sudbury, 3 NW from Lavenham station

on the G.E.R., and 2^ from Cockfield, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Post town. Long Melford (R.S.O.)

Acreage, 1222; population, 234. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Ely
;
yearly tithe rent charge, £275 with resi-

dence. The church is a building of flint and stone in the

Decorated style.

Alphington, a village and a parish in Devonshire. The
village is near the river Exe, Ij mile S of Exeter station on
the G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R. It was one of the headquarters

of Fairfax's army, in 1646, at the blockading of Exeter,

The parish comprises 2736 acres
;
population, 1048. It has

a post and money order office under Exeter ; telegraph office,

St Thomas, Exeter. The manor was acquired in the reign

of Richard II. by the family of the Earl of Devon, and the

greater pai't of it continues still in their possession. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter , net value, £650.
The church contains a Norman font with interlaced arches,

scroll ornaments, and grotesque figures over the arches ; has
a red turreted tower in Perpendicular English ; and was
thoroughly restored in 1879. The Exeter Ship Canal passes

through this parish.

Alpington, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 4 J miles SE
from Trowse station on the G.E.R., and SE of Norwich.
Post town, Norwich via Bergli Apton ; money order office,

Brooke ; telegraph office, Trowse Newton. Acreage, 537
;

population, 177. The living is a rectory, annexed to Yel-

verton, in the diocese of Norwich
;
joint gi-oss yearly value,

£288 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

There is no church,

Alpraham, a township in Bunbury parisli, Cheshire, near

the Shropshire Union Canal, 1 mile N of Calverley station

on the L. & N.W.R., and 3^ miles ESE of Tarporley, under
which it has a post office. Acreage, 1624

;
population, 404,

There are chapels for Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists.

Alresford, a village and a parish in Essex, 5 miles SE
of Colchester, under which there is a post office (money
order and telegi*apli office, Wivenhoe), and a station on the

G.E. R. Area, 143G acres of Land and 81 of water and fore-

shore
;
population, 245. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of St Albans ; net value, £252 with residence, in the

gift of Hulme's Trustees, The church is an ancient building

of stone. Alresford Hall, the seat of the Hawkins family, is

a cliief residence,

Alresford or New Alresford, a small town and a parish

in Hants. The town stands along a hill, contiguous to the

Arle river, with a station on the L, &S,W,R., 57 miles

from London, and 7 ENE of Winchester, It lias a post,

money order, and telegraph office. The tract around it

was given by Kynewald, second Christian king of Wessex,
to the church of Winchester, and was thenceforth much
controlled by the bishops. The town seems to have been

soon formed by them, and, falling into decay, was restored

in the time of King John by Bishop Godfrey de Lucy, A
pond was then excavated adjacent to it, along the course of

the Itchcn, 1^- mile in length and about 200 acres in area,

with the view of bringing up n.avigation hither from the sea

;

but failed eventually to serve the purpose, and is now reduced

to about 25 acres. The embankment on the north side, to

the extent of nearly 500 yards, is said to have been origin-

ally a Roman causeway. The town was incorporated at an
early period, and is said to have sent a member to Parlia-

ment in the time of Edward I., but this privilege has long

since been lost. The corporation was abolished in 1886,
It had at one time a considerable cloth manufactui'e and
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many fulling-mills, but it is now merely ft market centre

for country produce. It was burned by the Royalist troops

in 1(J44, and again suffered severely from fire in 1G89 and

in 1736. A weekly market is held on Thursday, and fairs

on Holy Thursday, the last Thursday in .July, the first Thurs-

d.iy in Sept., 17 Oct., and the last Thursday in Nov. Miss

Mitford, the author of " Our Village," was a native. Many
silver coins of the reign of William I. were found in 1833
in a lenden bos in a neighbouring field. The parish com-
prises C92 acres

;
popuLation, 14G4. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Winchester; value, £231. Piitron, the

Bishop of Winchester. The church was built in ICHO, and
has a sqnai'e embattled tower. There are Congregational and
Primitive Methodist chapels, a fire brigade and engine-

house, two branch banks, a savings bank, and a brewery.

Alresford, Old, a parish in Hants, adjoining the W side

of Alresford parish. Post town, New Alresford. Acreage,

3G71
;
population of the civil parish, 4G9 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, 482. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Win-
chester; value, £580. Patron, the Bishop of Winchester.

The church was built in 1753, but has an ancient tower.

There ai'e some almshouses and a home for the orphans of

Primitive Methodists.

Alrewas, a village and a parish in Staffordshire. The
village stands on the Grand Trunk Canal, near the rivers

Trent and Tame, 5 miles NE of Lichfield. It has a station

on the L. & N.W.R., § of a mile distant, and a post office

under Bnrton-upon-Trent. The parish includes also the

townships of Orgreave and Fradley, and the hamlet of Over-

ley. Acreage, G115; population, 1512. The firing is a

vicinage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £250. The
church was founded in 820, and has been partially restored

from time to time ; the pinnacled western tower was restored

in 1887. It has a Norman doorw.ay, and contains an an-
cient font, very .ancient oak carving, and some traces of

mural painting of the 15th century. There are chapels

for Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists. Basket-making is

carried on.

Alsager, a township chapelry in Barthomley parish,

Cheshire, 4^ miles SSE of Sandbach. It has a station on
the North Staffordshire railway, about a mile distant, and
a post office under Stoke-npon-Trent. Acreage, 2241

;
popu-

lation, i;il2. The living, a chapel of ease to B.arthomley,

is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Chester ; net value,

£260. Patron, the Bishop of Chester. The church was
built in 1789. There ai-e chapels for Wesleyans, Primitive

Methodists, and Congregationalists.

Alsop-eu-le-Dale, a village and a ehapehy in Ashbourne
parish, Derbyshire, near the river Dove, G miles N by W of Ash-
bourne railway station. Post town, Parwich under Ashbourne.
Population, 66. It includes the hamlet of Cold Eaton. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; net value,

£32. Patrons, the Freeholders. The church is Early Norman,
and was restored in 1883. Lord Hindlip is the princip.al

landowner, .and his f,imily t,ake their name from Alsop.

Alston, a township in the ecclesiastical district of Long-
ridge, Lancashire, 6J miles from Preston, and 2 from Long-
ridge station. Acreage, 2040

;
population, 1816. A chief

residence is Alston Lodge. Post town, Longridge. New Town
is a h.amlet in this township.

Alston, a town and a parish in Cumberland. The parish
is also designated Alston Moor. The town stands on the
South Tyne river, a little W of Middlefell, not far from the
boundaries with Northumberland, Durham, and Westmore-
land, at tlie terniinns of a branch of the Carlisle and Newcastle
railway, 2G miles by road and 35 by railw.ay ESE of Carlisle.

Its site is a declivity, near the influx of the Nent to the

South Tyne, amid a region of high, moorish uplands, and
its appearance is relieved and beautified by tlie vales of the
streams and by the neighbouring woods. Its houses are
irregular, but consist chiefly of stone. The chief public
buildings are a town-hall, the parish church, several dissent-

ing chapels, grammar and other schools, a mechanics' insti-

tute, a workhouse, and a stone bridge. The chief employ-
ments are connected with the manufacture of clogs and
pattens and an extensive mineral traffic. A weekly market
is held on Saturday, and fairs on the last Saturd.ay of M.arch,

the last Thursday of May, the Frid.iy before 27 Sept., and
the first Thursday of Nov. The town has a post, money
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order, and telegraph office under Carlisle, and a hanking

office. It is a seat of petty sessions.

The parish includes also the chapelries of Garrigill and

Nenthead. Acreage, 36,9G8 ; population, 3384. Much of

the property belonged to the Earls of Derwentwater, and,

after the attainder and execution of the last earl, was given

to Greenwich Hospital. The land is chiefly moor and mountain,

either utterly sterile or grazed by sheep, but the rocks abound

with rich ores, and the hills in some parts are pierced with

spar caves. The lead ore gener.ally contains so much silver

as to yield from 8 to 10 ounces per ton, and that of Yadmoss

mine has yielded 96 ounces per ton. Copper ore and a little

gold have been found in the same mines as the lead. Some
of the caves in the hills make both a beautiful and an opulent

display of minerals, and one, called Tutman's Hole, h.as been

explored to the extent of a mile from the entrance. Traces

of the Roman Maiden Way are seen about a mile W of the

town, and remains of Whitley Castle, consisting of earthworks,

substructions, and a moat, occur on Hall Hill. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Newcastle, and includes the

curacy of Garrigill ; value, £330, in the gift of the Admir-

alty. The living of Nenthead is a separate benefice. The

grammar school in the town has a small endowment, and

there are various charities.

Alstone, a township and a chapeliy in Gloucestershire, be-

longing to the parish of Overbury, in Worcestershire, 2 miles

S of Beckford station on the M.R., and 4J NW of Winch-

combe. Post town, Tewkesbury ; money order office. Beck-

ford ; telegraph office, Beckford railway station. Acreage,

626; population, 62. The living is a curacy, united to the

vicarage of Overbury, in the diocese of Worcester. The
church was restored in 1880.

Alstone, a hamlet, partly in Bradley parish and partly in

Gnosall parish, Staffordshire, 1 mile from Gnosall.

Alstonfield or Alstonefield, a village, a township, and

a p.ai'ish on the NE border of Staffordshire, contiguous to

Derbyshire. The village stands on the river Dove, 7 miles

NNW of Ashbourne station on the North Staffordshire rail-

way, and has a post office under Ashbourne ; telegi-aph office,

Ilartington. The township contains the hamlets of Stans-

hope. Mill Dale, Hope and Narrowdale. Acreage, 2938

;

population of the civil parish, 476 ; of the ecclesiastical, 522.

Tlie parish contains also the townships of Heathilee, Quarn-

ford, Hollingsclougb, Longnor, Fawfieldhead, and Warslow

and Elkstone. The scenery is wild and romantic ; the

neighbouring streams afford good sport to anglers, and

it is recorded th.at Isaak Walton and his friend Cotton

fished here. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Lichfield ; net value, £305. The church is a beautiful

structure, with a pinnacled tower, mainly in the Late Tudor

style, but with remains belonging to earlier styles ; it con-

tains a finely carved oaken pulpit. In the chm'chyard is an

ancient stone font, and a stone coffin. The restoration of

the cbm-ch extended from 1876 to 188G. Quarnford, Longnor,

and Warslow and Elkstone are separate benefices.

AK, The, a small river of Lancashire. It rises ue.ar

Knowsley Park, a little W of Prescot, and runs about 12

miles north-westward to the Irish Sea, in the vicinity of

Formby.

Altbach, a township in Hentland parish, Herefordshire,

4 miles NW of Ross.

Altcar, a parish in Lancashire, on the river Alt, 2 miles

SE of Formby station, and 2 from Altcar and Hillhouse

station on the Southport and Cheshire Lines Extension rail-

way. It includes the hamlet of Little Altcar. Post town,

Formby under Liverpool. Acre.age, 4083
;
population, 599.

The surface includes some marsh. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Liverpool
;
gross value, £240. Patron,

the Earl of Sefton. The church is very good.

Altemon or Altamun, a parisli in Cornw.all. It lies

round tlie head-streams of the rivers Inny and Lynlier, 8

miles WSW of Launceston station on the G.W.H. and L. &
S.W.R. It hiLS a post office under Launceston, which is the

telegr.aph office ; money order office. North Hill. Acreage,

15,017
;
popuKition of the civil parish, 1078; of the ecclesi-

astical, 904. Much of tlie land is veiy poor or barren. The
minerals include granite, hornblende, and stream-tin. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Truro

;
gross value,

£238. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Traro. The
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church is a fine huilding, and has the highest tower in

Cornwall, except that of Probus and Fowey. It was restored

in 1888. St Nnnn, the mother of St David of Wales, is

said to have been hurled here. There are chapels for

Wesleyan Methodists and Bible Christians. Cattle fairs

are held on the first Monday in July and the last Thursday
in October.

Altham, a township in Whalley parish, Lancashire, on the

Calder river, near the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, 1 mile N
of Huncoat railway station, and ."J W of Burnley. It includes

the village of Sykeside, and its post town is Accrington.
Acreage, 1440

;
population, 427. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of llanchester; value, £180. The church
was almost entirely rebuilt in 1859. There are large brick

works, collieries, and stone quanies.

Althome, a village and a parish in Essex, near the river

Crouch, 8 miles SE of Maldon, with a station on the G.E.E.,

and a post office under Maldon ; money order and tele-

gi-aph office, Latchingdon. Area, 2237 .acres of land and
234 of water; population, 313. Part of the land lies lower

than the spring-tide mark, and is protected by embankments
constructed by Dutchmen, whose descendants remain here.

The living is a vicarage, united to the rectory of Creeksea,

in the diocese of St Allsans; value, about £250 with residence.

The church is a structure of flint and stone in the Perpen-
dicular style. It was restored in 1883. There is a Primi-

tive Methodist cliapel. A portion of Bridgemarsh Island is

in this parish.

Althorp, formerly an extra-parochial tract, now a parish in

Northamptonshire, 6 miles NW of Northampton. It gives the

title of Viscount to Earl Spencer, and Althorp park here is the

Earl's seat. " The domain of Althorp," says Dibdin, " has
been possessed by the Spencer family upwards of three cen-

turies
; but the exact period of the erection of the honse

seems to be unknown. There is, however, no question of its

having received its principal improvements during the time

of the first Earl of Sunderland (1036-43), who was the

son of the second Baron Spencer. The lady of this earl

(daughter of Robert Sidney, second Earl of Leicester, and
better known as the Saccharissa of Waller the poet) erected

and covered in the great staircase, which had been formerly an

interior courtyard, in the fashion of the times. From that

period to the present, both the house and park have con-

tinued to receive improvements. The family of the Spencers

became possessed of the park at Althorp about the year

1512. This originated in a license from the king to John
Spencer, afterwards Sir John Spencer. At thiit time the park
is described as containing 300 acres of land, 100 acres of wood,
and 40 acres of water in ' Oldtliorpe

;

' but this seems to have
been only an extension of some property previously acquired

there, for it is certain that Althorp, so called, w.as purchased by
Sir John Spencer as early as the year 1508." The great attrac-

tion of Althorp House was formerly its noble library, which
was one of the finest collections of books in the world. It

was purchased in 1892 by Mrs Rylands, and presented to the

city of Manchester as a memorial of her husband. The col-

lection of pictures is very rich. The queen and son of James
I., when on their journey from Scotland to London in 1603,

rested some days at Althorp ; and a mask, composed by Ben
Jonson, was exhibited for their entertainment. The mansion

underwent extensive alterations in 1877. Area of the parish

808 acres; population, 110. Post town, Northampton;
money order and telegraph office. Great Brington.

Althorpe, a village and a parish in the county of Lincoln,

on the river Trent, 5 miles ESE of Crowle, and with a

station on the M.S. & L.R. The parish includes the town-

ships of Althorpe and Keadby, and the hamlet of DeiTythorpe.

Area, 1352 acres; population of the civil parish, 467;
of the ecclesiastical, including Keadby, 1059. Tlie living

is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln
;
gross yearly value,

£350 with residence. Patron, the Crown. The church is of

the time of Edward IV. There are Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels. Althorpe enjoys advantages of the Trent

navigation. Lansdowne House is a chief residence.

Altofts, a village, a township, and a parish in the W. R.

Yorkshire, on the North Midland railway, at its transit over

the Calder river and the Aire and Calder Canal, about a mile

from Normanton station, and 3^ miles NE of Wakefield. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Normanton,
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and is governed by a Local Board of Health. Acreage,

1837
; population, 3791. The church is a fine huilding in

the Gothic style, erected about 1878, contains a handsome
reredos, a pulpit of Caen stone, &c. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of York ; value, £242, with residence. There
are chapels for Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists.

Alton, a small town and a parish in Hants, on the L. &
S.W.R., 47 miles from London. The river Wey rises close to

the town, which dates from the time of the Saxons; was the

scene of a meeting with the Danes in 1001 ; sent a member to

parliament in the time of Edward I. ; and was taken, in

1G43, by the P.arliamentarian forces of Sir William Waller

from the Royalist force of Colonel Boles. It consists chiefly

of one long steep street, contains some handsome houses,

is a seat of petty sessions, and has two banks. It for-

merly had a considerable manufactory of bombazines, and

afterwards manufactures of silk, druggets, serges, and other

fabrics. It now has extensive breweries of much note, and
a large paper mill. A weekly market is held on Tuesday,

and fairs on the Saturday before 1 M.ay, 11 July, and 29

Sept; The market-house has been enlarged, and other aids

to the market effected. The parish church is a spacious

edifice, variously Saxon, Norman, and Later English, with

square embattled tower and spire, and contains some wall

paintings of the 15th centuiy ; it has been restored and much
improved. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Win-
chester; value, £320. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Winchester. The Church of All Saints is situated at the

west end of the town. The living is a vicarage ; net value,

£300, in the gift of the Bishop of Winchester. There are a

gi'ammar school, mechanics' institute, an extensive museum,
a cottage hospital, assembly rooms, a Constitutional Club,

and workhouse. There are chapels for Congregationalists,

Wesleyan Methodists, Baptists, and Quakers, also a Roman
Catholic church. A popular adage makes the town noted

for its Quakers, and Bernard Barton has embalmed them

in his verse. The Dominican friar William de Alton, of the

time of Edward II., the biographical author John Pitts,

born in 1560, and the botanical writer William Curtis, born

in 1746, were natives. The parish comprises 3925 acres

;

popnlation, 4671. A chief residence is Thedden Grange.

IIops are extensively grown. Alton has two post and money
order offices, and a telegraph office.

Alton, a hamlet in Rock parish, Worcestershire, near

Wyre Forest, 4 miles W of Bewdley.

Alton or Alveton, a village, a township, and a parish in

Staff"ordshire. The village and township is most charmingly

situated on the Churnet river. It has a station on the North

Staifordshire railway, and a post office under Stoke-upon-

Trent. Acreage, 2243 (including 16 of water)
;
population,

1089. The parish includes also the townships of Farley,

Denstone, and Cotton. Acreage, 7534; population, 20C4.

The manor belongs to the E.arl of Shrewsbury and Talbot.

Alton Towers, the seat of the Earl, is a splendid edifice in a

variety of styles, built in 1814 and subsequently enlai'ged,

and contains a magnificent hall, an armoury 120 feet long,

a picture gallery 150 feet long, a chapel by Pngin with

stained windows, and other rooms. The gardens connected

with it are richly ornate, and contain a Choragic temple, a

Chinese conservatory, an imitation Stonehenge, a pagoda 95

feet high, and a Gothic temple commanding an extensive

view. The ruins of a castle of the De Verduns, of the time

of Henry II., stand on a rock by the Churnet, 300 feet high.

The Roman Catholic chapel of St John's, convent, and school,

are situated ne.ar the castle. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lichfield; value, £240. Patron, the Earl of

Shrewsbury and Talbot. The chm-ch was partly rebuilt in

1830, restored in 1862, and again in 1885. There are chapels

for Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists, and a working men's

club and reading room. There is a Roman Catholic college

at Cotton and a Protestant college near Denstone.

Alton-Barnes or Alton-Bemers, a parish in Wilts, on

the Kennet and Avon Canal, near Wans Dyke, 7 miles E of

Devizes station on the G.W.R. Post town, Oare under

Marlborough ; money order and telegi-aph office, Woodborough.

Acreage, COS
;
population of the civil parish, 143 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 147. The living is a rectory In the diocese of

Salisbury; value, £235. Patron, New College, Oxford.

The church is good.
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Alton-Paneras or Alton St Pancras, a pai-ish in Dorset.

It lies ill a fertile and well-wooded valley under the downs,

2j miles NE of Ceme-Abbas, and 9 from Dorchester on the

G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R. Post town, Cerne under Dor-

chester. Acreage, 2280 ;
population, 229. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury ; value, £200. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Salisbm-y. The church has been

rebuilt.

Alton-Priors, a township and chapelry in Overton parish,

Wilts, on the Kennet and Avon Can.al, contiguous to Alton-

Barnes, 7 miles E of Devizes. It includes the tithing of

Stowell, and its post town is Pewsey ; money order and

telegi-aph office, Woodborough railway station, 2 miles distant.

Acreage, 1909
;

population, 178. The manor belonged

anciently to Winchester monastery. The living is a curacy,

annexed to Overton vicarage, in the diocese of Salisbm'y.

The church has a curious brass of 1528.

Alton-Towers. See Alton, StafTordshire.

Altrinchajn (fomierly Altrinyliam'), a market-town, a

township, and the head of a poor law union in Cheshire.

The town is in the parish of Bowdon, at an intersection

of railways, adjacent to the Bridgewatcr Canal, 8 miles

SSW of Manchester. It has three stations, Altrincham and

Bowdon, on the Manchester, South Junction, and Altrincham

railway ; Peel Causeway, on the Cheshire lines ; and Broad-

heath, on the L. & N.W.R. It is a clean and pleasant town,

with good streets and some handsome villas ; is a seat of

petty sessions and county court
;

publishes three weekly

newspapers; carries on iron-founding, cabinet-making, and

timber-sawing ; has much trade from neighbouring market-

gardens and traffic transit, and a head post office and three

banks. The town obtained many privileges from Hamon de

Massey in the reign of Edward I. The chief public build-

ings are the town-hall, erected in 1849, the market-ball,

the literary institution, with library and reading rooms,

Lloyd's Hospital and Dispensary, the general hospital, and

the eye institution. The workhouse is at Knutsford. The
town is governed by a local board. There is a market on

Tuesdays, and three annual fairs for cattle, tSce. There are

two ecclesiastical p<arishes, that of St George's and that of

St John the Evangelist. The livings are vicarages in the

diocese of Chester. Patron of St George's, the Vicar of

Bowdon ; v.alue, £397. Patron of St John's, the Bishop of

Chester ; value, £400. St George's Church is a plain brick

building, erected in 1799, and St John's is a stone edifice

with tower and spire, erected in 1866. St Peter's (Peel

Causeway), All Saints, St EUzabeth's Mission Church, and

St Albans are other churches in the town. There are

chapels for Roman Catholics, Wesleyans, Primitive and New
Connexion Methodists, Baptists, Congi'egationalists, and

Unitarians. A public park, called Stamford Park, of 16

acres, was opened in 1880, the land being the gift of the late

Earl of Stamford and Warrington. The township comprises

662 acres; population, 12,440.

Altrincham Parliamentary Division of Cheshire was

formed under the Redistribntion of Seats Act of 1885, and
returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

63,392. The division includes the following :—Altrincham

—Agden, Altrincham, Ashley, Ashton-upon-Mersey, B.agu-

ley, BoUington, Bowdon, Carrington, Dunham Massey, Hale,

High Legh, Lymm, Millington, Partington, Rostheme, Sale,

Thelwall, Timperley, Warburton ; Stockport (part of)

—

Bramall, Brinnington (the part included in the borough of

Stockport), Cheadle Bulkeley, Cheadle Moseley, Etchells-in-

Northen, Etchells-in-Stockport, Handforth, Norbnry, Nor-

then ; Stockport, municipal borough (the part in Cheshire).

Alum Bay, a semicircular bay about 7 furlongs wide, on

the N side of the western extremity of the Isle of Wight,

near the Needles, and 2f miles WSW of Freshwater Gate.

Cliffs of snowy chalk overhang it on one side ; cliffs of bright

variegated colours, streaked hke a ribbon, overhang it on the

other ; and these combine with green turf above them, and
with the ilne bold headland of Headon Hill on the E to form

a scene of uncommon force and beauty. " The chalk," says

Sir H. Englefield, '* forms an unbroken face, everywhere

nearly perpendicular, and in some parts formidably project-

ing ; and the tenderest stains of ochreons yellow and greenish

moist vegetation vary, without breaking, its sublime uni-

formity. This vast wall extends more than a quarter of a
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mile, and is about 400 feet in height. Its termination is

by a thin edge of bold broken outline, and the wedge-like

Needle Rocks, rising out of the blue waters, continue the

cliff, in idea, beyond its present boundary, and give an awful
impression of the stormy ages which have gradually devoured
its enormous mass. The pearly hue of the chalk is beyond
description by words, and probably out of the power of the

pencil. Deep nigged chasms divide the strata in many places,

and not a vestige of vegetation appears in any part ; all is

wild ruin. The tints of the other cliffs are so bright and so

varied that they have not the appearance of Jinytbing natural.

Deep purplish-red, dusky-blue, bright ochreons yellow, gi-ey

nearly approaching to white, and absolute black succeed each

other as sharply defined as the stripes in silk ; and after rain

the sun, which from about noon till his setting in summer,
illuminates them more and more, gives a brilliancy to some of

these nearly as resplendent as the high lights on real silk."

Copperons stones, lignite, alum, pipe-clay, shells, and fossils

are found on the shore ; and a silicious silvery-looking sand,

long in high request for the glass and porcelain works of

London, Bristol, and Worcester, abounds at the sea-base of

Headon Hill. Landslips sometimes occur of considerable

extent, and one, some years ago, fell with a depth of between
200 and 300 yards, and can-ied off to the sea the tools and
works of the diggers at the sand-pits. A cavern, called

Mother Larges' Kitchen, pierces the ch,alk cliffs at a part

which can be reached by the shore. A strong fort, called

Victoria Fort, mounting 52 guns, has been constructed at

Cary's Sconce where the cliffs decline. There is a good pier

in the bay for the accommodation of visitors, who frequent it

in large numbers in the summer months.

Alum Green, an extra-parochial tract in New Forest

district, Hants, contiguous to Lyndhnrst parish, 9 miles NNW
of Lymington.

Alum Pot, a deep pond J a mile SW of Selside, and 3f
miles NNE of Kendal, Westmoreland. Its circumference is

at least 150 feet ; its depth, from the rim, at least 165 feet,

and from the surface of the water, after a drought, 130 feet.

Alvanley, a village, a township, and a parish in Cheshire,

near Delamere Forest, Ij mile S of Helsby station on the

L. & N.W. and Birkenhead railways, and 3 miles SSW of

Frodsham, with a post office under Warrington ; money
order and telegraph office, Helsby. Acreage, 1513

;
popu-

lation, 328. The manor belonged for many generations to

the Ardeme or Arden family, .and gave them the title of

Baron. The title became extinct in 1857. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Chester; value, £141 with gift

from the Patron, the Earl of Haddington, of ;£105. The
church was built in 1860 near the site of a chapel erected in

the reign of Henry VI.

Alvaston, a township in Nantwich parish, Cheshire, 2
miles NE of Nantwich. Acreage, 621 ;

population, 30.

Alvaston, a township and a parish, formed from the civil

parisli of St Michael, Derbyshire, on the Derwent river, near

the M.R., 3 miles SE of Derby, under which it has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 2164; popula-
tion of the civil parish of Alvaston and Bolton, 3110 ; of the

ecclesiastical parish of Alvaston, 2144. The hving is a

vicarage in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £170 with

residence. Patrons, the Parishioners. The chmxh, which is

in the Early English style, was rebuilt in 1856. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Alvechurch, a village and a parish in Worcestershire.

The village stands adjacent to the Worcester and Birmingham
Canal, 3 miles N of Redditch, with a station on the M.R.,

and a post office (S.O.) It was formerly a borough, and had

a palace of the Bishops of Worcester, the last occupant of

which was Bishop Latimer. Fairs are held on the first

Wednesday in May and the first Wednesday in October.

There are a Baptist chapel, a reading-room and library, a

grammar school, and a Convalescent Home for children. The
parish is divided intothe Yields or hamlets of Rowney-Greon,

Barnt-Green, ForriU, Hopwood, and Lea End. Acreage,

0800
;
population of the civil parish, 1774 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, 1633. The Bishop of Worcester is lord of the manor.

Bordesley P.ark is 1 J mile SE of the village. A tunnel of the

canal, nearly 3 miles long, begins at Hopwood. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £500. Patron,

the Bishop of Worcester. The church, excepting the Per-
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pendicular tower anil part of the N aisle, was rebuilt in 18G1
at a cost of f3200, portions of the old Norman structure

being incorporated and the Norman doorway retained : the

cliancel was restored in the Early English style, has lancet

windows, an alabaster reredos, a beautiful east window, and is

divided from the nave by a fine Gothic arch. The church

contains a beautiful font of Caen stone, and some ancient

monuments and brasses. Dean Hickes, the author of " Tlies-

aunis," was rector of this parish at the Revolution of 1G88,

and was deprived for refusing to take the oath of allegiance

to William III.

Alvecote, a hamlet in Shuttington parish, Warwickshire,

less than a mile S of Shuttington, on the river Anker. Alve-

cote Prioiy, now a picturesque ivy-clad farmhouse, was for-

merly portion of a Benedictine priory, founded in 1159;
there are remains of a chapel adjacent.

Alveley, a village and a parish in Salop. The village

lies on the river Severn, IJ mile from Highley station on

the G.W.R., and 7 miles SSE of Bridgnorth, under which

it has a post office ; telegi'aph office, Highley railway

station. Acreage, 54G2
;

population of the civil parish,

848 ; of the ecclesiastical, 755. The parish includes also

the township of Norley-Regis and the liberty of Romsley.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ; value,

£170. The church is an ancient edifice in various styles,

and was restored in 187!*. It has a pinnacled western tower

and a chantiy, the latter containing remains of frescoes.

There is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Alverdiscott or Alscott, a parish in Devonshire, 4 miles

from Bideford stiition on the L. & S.W.R. Post town, Bide-

ford, the money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 23G4;

population, 209. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Exeter; value, £158. The church is old, and has an

interesting monument and some very good stained glass,

especially in the east window. A small Methodist chapel

stands at Stone-Cross.

Alverstoke, a village, a parish, and a liberty in Hants.

The village stands adjacent to Stoke Bay station on the

L. & S.W.R., opposite Spithead, IJ mile SSW of Gosport.

It is a pleasant place, with charming environs. The parish

includes also the town of Gosport, the villages of Forton,

Hardway, and Elson, the watering-place of Anglesey, the

villas of Alverbank, the Royal Marine Barracks, the Haslar

Barracks, the Royal Naval Hospital, Blockhouse Fort, and Forts

Rowner, Gomer, Brockhurst, Monckton, and Grange. Acre-

age, 3783, of which 1223 are water and foreshore; popu-

lation of civil parish, 25,462 ; of ecclesiastical, with Anglesey

and Newtown, 10,734. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office vmder Gosport. The manor was given by the

noble Saxon lady Alwara to the church of Winchester, .ind it

still belongs to the Bishop of Winchester as superior. Many
excellent mansions, villas, and other residences, with gardens

and teiTaces, adorn the surface and the shores, and a rich

extensive prospect is enjoyed of the Solent and the Isle of

Wight. Stoke Bay is now a noted roadstead, where all the

steam war-ships when newly fitted with their engines test

their speed at the measured mile. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Winchester, and includes the curacy of Angle-

sey; value, £1050. Patron, the Bishop of Winchester.

The vicarages of Trinity-Gosport, St Matthew-Gosport, St

John-Forton, and St Thomas-Elson are separate benefices.

The parochial church is Saxon, built in 1130, repeatedly

restored, and now chiefly modern. Christ Church, in the

Decorated English style, was opened in 1865. Dr. Wilber-

force, afterwards Bishop of Oxford, was once rector here,

and Dr. Trench, afterwards Archbishop of Dublin, was his

curate.

Alverston, an .ancient manor in Brading parish. Isle of

Wight, on the Yar river, 2 miles SW of Brading. Its Saxon

proprietor, Tovi, was allowed to retain possession at the

Conquest. A free chapel was founded on it by the Strange-

ways, but has gone to ruin.

Alverthorpe, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical

pai'isb in the W. R. Yorkshire. The village lies 1^ mile

NW of Wakefield, and has a station on the G.N.R., and

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Wakefield.

The township bears the name of Alverthorpe-with-Thornes
;

lies partly within the borough boundaries of Wakefield, and

contains the hamlets of Flanshaw, Kirkham-Gate, and Sil-
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coates, and part of the hamlets of Newton and Snapethorpe.

Acreage, 3300
;
population of the civil parish, 11,680 ; of

the ecclesiastical, 3586. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Wakefield ; value, £240, with residence. Patron,

the Vicar of Wakefield. The church is large, modern, and

handsome. There are two Methodist ch.apels, a Congrega-

tional chapel, .and the Northern Congregational school, for

the edncation of sons of ministers and laymen.

Alverton, a hamlet in Kilvington and Staunton parishes,

Notts, 7 miles S of Newark.

Alverton, a hamlet in the western vicinity of Penzance,

Cornwall.

Alvescott, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire, with

a station on the G.W.R., 3J miles WNW from Bampton,

and a post office (S.O. Oxon) ; money order office, Filkins

;

telegraph office, Bampton. Acreage, 2081
;
population, 390.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly

value, £225 with residence. The church is an ancient

building of stone, in mixed styles, with plain Perpendicular

tower. There is a Particular B.aptist chapel and some small

charities.

Alvesdiston or Alvediston, a parish in Wiltshire, on an

afiluent of the Avon, under Whitesheet Hill, 4 miles SSE of

Tisbury station on the h. &S.W.R., and 8 E of Shaftesbury.

Post town, Salisbury ; telegi-.aph office, Donhead St Andrew.

Acreage, 2534; population, 195. The living is a vicar.age

in the diocese of Salisbury; value, £130. Patron, the Vicar

of Broad Chalk. The church is good.

Alveston, a village .and a parish in Gloucestershire, on

the Gloucester and Bristol road, li mile S of Thornbury,

with a post office (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph

ofiice, Thornbury. Acreage, 2563
;
population, 759. Ves-

tiges of Roman camps occur in the vicinity. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; value,

£300. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Bristol. The
church is an ancient stone edifice in the Early English style,

and contains .an ancient Norm.an font. A new church has

been erected about a mile distant. There are Congi'egational

and Primitive Methodist chapels. The parish also includes

the hamlets of Earthcott .and (part of) Rudgiv.ay.

Alveston, a village and a parish in Wanvickshire. The
village stands near the Avon, under Welcombe Hills, amid

charming environs, 2i miles ENE of Stratford-on-Avon.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Strat-

ford-on-Avon. The parish contains also the hamlets of

Tiddington and Bridgetown. Acreage, 2886 ;
population,

954. There are several gentlemen's residences in the village.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester ; value,

£190. Patron, the rector of Hampton Lucy. The church

formerly belonged to the abbey of Tewkesbury, and is an

ancient stone edifice with transepts and a pinnacled western

tower. It was restored in 1876, .at a cost of £4000.

Alvingham, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, in

the vale of the river Lud and on the Louth Can.al, 3J miles

NE of Louth station on the G.N.R., with a post office

under Louth. Acreage, 1794; population of the civil parish,

251 ; of the ecclesiastical, 477. A Gilbertine priory stood

here, dedicated to the Virgin and St Adelwold, and was
given at the dissolution to the Clintons. The chapel of this

priory still remains and serves as a church for North Cocker-

ington. The living is a vicarage, united with Cockerington,

in the diocese of Lincoln
;

joint net yearly value, about

£350 with residence, in the gift of tlie Bishop of Lincoln.

The church is an .ancient building of stone in the Norman
style. There are also Free Methodist, Primitive Methodist,

and Wesleyan chapels.

Alvington, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on

the estuary of the Severn, and the Newnham .and Chepstow

ro.ad. It mile N of Woolastone station, and 2^ miles SW of

Lydney station on the G.W.R., with a post and telegi-aph

office under Lydney, which is the money order office. Acre-

age, 1582, of which 8 are water; population, 408. The
living is a perpetual curacy annexed to the rectory of Woola-
stone, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol. The ancient

church was a cell to Llanthony Abbey, and was restored in

1858. Clanna Falls, about a mile distant from the village

is the seat of the lord of the m.anor.

Alvington, a hamlet in Brimpton parish, Somerset, 2

miles W of Yeovil.
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Alvington, Devon. See Ar.i.iNOTON.

Alwalton, a village and a parish in Huntingdonshire, on

the river Nen, 2 miles SW of Overton station on the L. &
N.W.R., and 5 WSW of Peterborough, under which there

is a post office ; money order and telegraph office. New
Flitton. Acreage, fl74 ; population, 28C. It contains the

•mansion of Alwalton Hall, the seat of the Fitzwilliam family.

The manor was given anciently to the monks of Peterhorough,

and transferred by Henry VIII. to the Dean and Chapter of

Peterborough. It now belongs to the Fitzwilliam family,

who exchanged another parish for this in 1868. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Ely
;
gross yearly value, £150

with residence. The church is pai'tly Norman. There is

also a Wesleyan chapel.

Alwen, The, a stream of North Wales. It issues from

Llyn-Alwen, a small lake about 5 miles N of Pentre Voelas,

and runs 14 miles south-eastward, falling into the Dee near

Corwen.

Alwington, a pjirish in Devon, on the river Yeo, 4J miles

SW by W of Bideford station on the L. & S.W.R. It con-

tains the hamlets of Fairy-Cross, Ford, and Woodtown.
Acreage, 2746 ; population, 348. There is a post office at

Fairy-Cross ; money order and telegraph office, Horn's Cross.

The Coffin family have held the manor since the Conquest,

and have a handsome residence on it called Portledge. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; value, i)245.

The church is a very ancient pile, with lofty pinnacled tower,

and contains several monuments. Remains of an ancient

chapel occur at Yeo vale, and there is a small Wesleyan

chapel at Ford.

Alwinton. See Ali.f.nton.

Alwoodley, a township in Harewood parish, W. R. York-

shire, 5^ miles N of Leeds. Acreage, 1510
;

popul.ition,

175. The Leeds Corporation Water-works have a large

reservoir here.

Alyn or Alun, a river in North Wales, which rises in

Denbighshire, and flows N through Flintshire to Hesp Alun,

where it turns southwards, flows underground for about a

mile, emerging near Mold, and falls into the Dee near Holt.

Amaston, a township in Alderbnry parish, Salop, 8 miles

W of Shrewsbury, and 3 N of Westbury station on the

Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (L. & N.W. and G.W.)

Amber, The, a streamlet of Derbyshire, about 4 miles

long, falling into the Derwent, 3J miles N of Belper.

Ambergate, a junction-station on the M.R., near the

mouth of the Amber rivulet, lOJ miles N of Derby, under
which there is a post, money order, and telegraph office. There

are extensive lime works. St Anne's Church was built in

1892, and accommodates 200 persons. The railway, which
diverges north-north-westward to Matlock and Rowsley, tra-

verses one of the most grandly picturesque districts in

England.

Amberhill, a parish in Holland Fen, Lincolnshire, 4
miles from Hnbbert's Bridge station on the G.N.R., and 7

W from Boston, under which it has a post office ; money
order office, Swineshead ; telegiaph office, Hnbbert's Bridge

railway station. Acreage, 543il
;
population, 562. This

parish was formed in 1880 by the union of Algarkirk Fen
allotment, Sutterton Fen allotment, and a detached portion

of the township of Dogdyke, the name of Amberhill having
previously been given to an extra parochial tract of some
30 acres.

Amberley, a townsliip and a chapelry in Marden parish,

Herefordshire, 4 miles ENE of Moreton station on the

Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (L. & N.W. and G.W.) rail-

way. Population, 30. The chapel h.as been restored.

Amberley, a hamlet in Rlinchinhampton parish, and an
ecclesiastical parish in Mmchinhampton and Rodborough
parishes, Gloucestershire. The hamlet stands near Wood-
chester station on the Stonehouse and Nailsworth section of

the M.R., 3 miles S of Stroud, and has a post and money order
office under Stroud; telegraph office, Woodchester. The
ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1840. Population,
1494. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester
and Bristol; value, £330. The church was erected in

1836, and a day school for 270 scholars was built in 1887.
Amberley Court, Moor Court, Highlands, and the Culver
House are the chief residences. Earl Russell takes the title

of Viscount from this place. There is a Wesleyan chapel,

and in the neighbouring hamlet of St Chloe an endowed
school. There are remains of a large Saxon camp in the

neighbourhood.

Amberley, a village and a p.arish in Sussex. The village

stands on the river Arun, under the South Downs, 4J miles

N by E of Arundel, and has a station on the L.B. & S.C.R.,

55 miles from London. There is a post, money order, and
telegi-aph office under Arundel. It is a quaint, old-fashioned,

picturesque place. A palace at it, now used as a farmhouse,

was a residence of the Bishops of Chichester, originating

soon after the Conquest, castellated in 1379, forming a
parallelogram, with square towers at tlie corners and round

towers at the gateway, and seized and dismantled by Waller

in 1643. The parish church is variously Norman and Early

English, and has a fine Norman chancel arch, and a very rich

Early English south door. The Wild Brook marsh adjacent

is flooded in winter, but yields profusion of turf and cran-

berries in the summer. The river Arnn runs through it,

and contains here choice salmon peel, which have long been

noted as Amberley trout The parish includes also the

hamlet of Rackham. Acreage, 1941 ; population, 525. The
living is a vicarage, united with that of Houghton, in the

diocese of Chichester ; value, £420. Patron, the Bishop of

Chichester. There is a Congreg.ation.al chapel.

Ambersham, North and South, two townships and
tithings in Sussex, on the river Rother, 2^ miles ESE of

Midhurst station on the L.B. & S.C.R. They belong to

Steep parish, but lie detached from the rest of it, and prior

to 1844 they were in Hampshire. Acres of North Amber-
sham, 11G9; population, 170; of South Ambersham, 1502;
population, 186.

Amberwood, a small extra-parochial tract in the New
Forest district, Hants, CJ miles SW of Romsey.
Amble, with Hauxley, a parish in Northumberland, on

the coast, with a station on the N.E.R., IJ mile SSE of

Wai-kworth. It comprises the townships of Amble, Hauxley,
Gloster Hill, and part of Togston. The village of Amble is

well-built, and chiefly modern, and is governed by a local

board; it has a post, money order, and telegraph office under
Acklington, Congregational, Wesleyan, and Roman Catholic

chapels, a cemetery, and extensive coal-mines, and a con-
siderable shipping trade in coal and brick is can-ied on.

During the season many boats are engaged in the herring

fishery. Acreage, 1216 of land and 228 of water and fore-

shore
;
population of the civil parish, 2975 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, with Hauxley, 4257. The Church of St Cuthbert,

in the Early Decorated style, was consecrated in 1870.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of Newcastle ; value,

£230 with residence, alternately in the gift of the Crown
and the Bishop of Newcastle.

Amblecoat or Amblecote, a township and an ecclesiastical

parish, m Old Swinford parish, Stafi'ordshire. The former
stands on the southern verge of the county, at the river

Stour ; and is suburban to Stourbridge, being separated from
it only by the river. Post town, Stourbridge. Acreage, CG5

;

population, 2876. The inhabitants are employed chiefly in

glass-works, collieries, and iron-works. There is an extensive

bed of fireclay in the neighbom'hood. Tiie living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Worcester; value, £260. The church stands

on an eminence, was opened in 1842, and is a pleasing

structure of fire-brick in the P'arly English style.

Ambler Thorn, a village in the ecclesiastical parish of

Queensbury, W. R. Yorkshire. It has a post office under
Halifax, which is also the nearest railway station.

Ambleside, a small town, a township, and a parish in

Westmoreland. The town stands on a central spot of the

Lake country, at the mouths of Stockgill Glen and Rothay
Vale, between Wansfell and Loughrigg Hills, 1 mile above
the head of Windermere Lake, and 4J NNW of Windermere
railw.ay station, and is a splendid centre for visitors to the take
district. It presents an irregular appearance, but it has of

late years been much extended and improved; and it con-

tains several hotels with good accommodation, some comfort-
able lodging-houses, and many good shops. It has a post,

money order, and telegi'aph office, a town-hall, a bank, a lib-

rary, a mechanics' institute, and Kelsick Endowed School, and
is a seat of petty sessions. Coaches run from it daily to Win-
dermere and Grasmcre, and in summer to Keswick, Coniston,
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and Patterdale ; and frequent steamers on the lake from
Waterhead to Low-Wood Hotel, Bowness, and Lake-side.

Fairs are held on Whit-Wednesday, and on 13 and 29
Oct. A chnrch, built in 1812, stands within the town, and
is still used ; and a new church, built in 1854, in the De-
corated style, with a memorial window to Wordsworth and a

handsome lofty spire, stands in the vale to the west. There
is also a Wesleyan chapel. The Roman station Dictis was
in the neighbourhood, near the head of Windermere, and can
still be faintly traced. Jlany Roman coins and other Roman
relics have been found there, and some of them have been

preserved at Oxford. Ambleside dates from remote times;

and was called first Amelsate, and afterwards Hamelside.

A peculiar ceremony, which originated in the time of Pope
Gregory IV., and includes a procession of school children

bearing flower-garlands to the church, is observed annually

on the eve of the last Sunday in July. Hence the lines of

Wordsworth

—

" Forth by rustic music led,

The village children, while the sky is red
Witb evening light, advance in long array
Through the still churchyard, each with garland gay.
That, carried sceptre-like, o'ertops the head
Of the proud wearer."

The township of Ambleside is partly in the parish of Winder-
mere, partly in that of Grasmere. The Earl of Lonsdale is lord

of the manor. Acreage, 43G6, with 18 of water
;
population,

2360. Many parts are adorned with fine residences, and with
gardens, lawns, or woods. The chapelry is co-extensive with
the township, and is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle

;

gross value, £12G. There are several charities.

Ambleston, a parish in Pembrokeshire, on an affluent of

the river Cleddau, 5 miles NNW of Clarbeston-road station

on the G.W.R., and 7 NNE of Haverfordwest. It has a post
office under Treffgarne (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph

oflice, Letterstone. Acreage, 4072
;
population, 443. The

Roman st.ation Ad Vicesimum, on the Via Julia Maritima,
occurs about a mile NE of the church, and bears popularly

the name of Castle Flemish. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St David's. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. There
are two Calvinistic Methodist chapels.

Ambresbury. See Amesbury.
Ambresbury Banks, an ancient earthwork in Epping

Forest, very near to tlie town of Epping, supposed by some
to be the place where the Britons under Boadieea made their

last stand against the Romans.
Ambrosdeu, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The

village stands near the river Ray, 2J miles SE by S of Bicester,

which is the nearest railway station. Its name is supposed
to have been derived from Ambrosius Aurelius, the British

Merlin, who encamped here during the siege of Alcester by
the Saxons. Denton was the name of the lord of the manor
at Ambrosden in the IGth century. In the year 1G04, the

manor having been some time previously purchased by
Margaret Whethill, it was left by her to Sir Thomas Mild-
may, of Chelmsford, Essex. In 1G73 Sir William Glynne,
first baronet of that name, purchased the estate, abandoned
the old manor house, and built Ambrosden House on the

rising ground near the church. The estate after this was
bought by the Turners (later the name became Page-Tumer).
Su- Edward Turner, Baronet, was " of Ambrosden House,
Oxfordshire," when created a baronet in 1733. The second
baronet, Su" Edward Turner, erected a larger house on tlie

site of that built by Sir W. Glynne, and laid out Ambrosden
Park, which is situated in the NW portion of the parish.

Ambrosden House was taken down entirely in 1777 by Sir

Gregory Page-Turner. The parish includes also the hamlets
of Blackthorn and Arucott. It has a post office under
Bicester, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 605; population of the civil parish, 168; of the

ecclesiastical, 653. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Oxford
;
yearly value, i:350 with residence. The churcli

(which stands on the site of a smaUer one which dated prob-

ably from early in the 12tb century) was begun in the 13th
and completed in the 15th century. When dedicated it was
named after the Vii-gin Mary. The style of architecture is

Decorated Early English. There is a Wesleyan chapel at

Ai-ncott, and a Congregational chapel at Blackthorn. Bishop
Kennet, the author of " Parochial Antiquities," was for some
time vicar of Ambrosden.
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Amcotts, a township, a village, and a parish in the Isle of

Axholme, Lincolnshire, on the river Trent, 5 miles E by N of

Crowle, and 3 SW of Althorpe station on the M.S. & L.R.

Post town, Doncaster ; money order and telegraph office,

Keadby. The parish comprises 2106 acres; population,

332. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln,

and was formerly annexed to the rectory of Althorpe
;
gross

yearly value, £360 with residence, in the gift of the Crown.
The church, an edifice of stone in the Early English style,

was erected in 1853. A former church, dedicated to St

Thomas k Becket, fell in 1849. There are Primitive Method-
ist and Wesleyan chapels.

Ainerdale, an upland vale in the parish of AmclifFe, W.
R. Yorkshne. The Skufare rivulet runs along its bottom on

a rocky bed, and in dry seasons alternately merges and re-

appears.

Amersham, a market and a union town, and a parish in

Bucks. The town was formerly called Agmondesham. It

stands in a pleasant valley near the Misbourne tributary of

the river Colne, surrounded by wood-crowned hills, 29 miles

from London by the Metropolitan railway, 7 ENE from High
Wycombe, and 8J SSW from Berkhampstead. It consists

chiefly of a long street crossed by a shorter one. The town-
house was erected in 1682 by Sir William Drake, and is a

substantial brick edifice, with ar'ched and pillared basement,

used as a market-place, and a surmounting clock lantern.

The parish church is a Gothic edifice of brick coated with

stucco; has a fine east window, filled with ancient stained glass;

and contains monuments of the Drakes, the Dents, and the

Curwens. The living is a rectory with the chapehy of Coles-

hill annexed, in the diocese of Oxford
;

gi'oss yearly original

value, £1500 with residence. There are also General Bap-
tist, Particular Baptist, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan
chapels. There are a free grammai-school, founded in 1620,
almshouses, and other charities with aggregately about £400,
and a workhouse. A weekly market is held on Tuesday, and
fairs on Whit-Monday and 19 Sept. Manufactures of straw-

plait and wooden chairs are carried on, and there are three

flour mills and a large brewei"}" and malting establishment.

The town has a head post, money order, and telegi'aph

office, and some good hotels. It was a borough from the

time of Edward I., sending two members to parliament,

hut was disfranchised in 1832. The Drakes represented

it for upwards of two centuries, the poet Waller in the reign

of Charles I., and Algernon Sydney in 1679. Several of

its inhabitants were burnt at the stake as martyrs in the

times of Henry I. and of Mary, and John Knox preached in

its church.

The parish includes also the hamlet of Colesliill, 1J mile

S of Amersham. It has a chapel of ease to St Mary Amers-
ham. Area of the parish, 7969 acres; population of the

civil parish, 2G13 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Coleshill, 3129.

ColeshiU has an area of 1850 acres, and a population of 516.

The manor belonged to the Nevilles, to Warwick the King-
maker, and to the Tothills, and passed to the Drakes.

Shardeloes, the manor house, stands about a mile NW of the

town, in a park of 700 acres, and is a fine edifice, designed

by Adams.
Amerton, a hamlet in Stowe parish, StaSbrdshire, 1 mile

W of Stowe, 1^ E of Weston station on the North Stafford-

shire railway, and 5J miles NE of Stafford.

Amesbury, a small town and a pai-ish in Wilts. The
town stands in the valley of the Avon, 4 miles NW of Porton

station on the L. & S.W.R., and 7-| N of Salisbury. It was
formerly called Ambrosbury, Ambresbury, and Amblesberie

;

and it probably derived its name from the ancient British

chief Ambrosius Aurelius. It dates from a high antiquity,

and in the time of King Edgar was the meeting-place of a

synod for settling disputes between the regular and the

secular clergy. A densely-wooded hill in its western vicinity

bears tlie name of Vespasian's camp, and is marked by mili-

tary defences round an ai'ea of 39 acres, which are believed to

have been first formed by the ancient Britons, and afterwards

strengthened and held by the Romans. Stonehenge and
Cursus are only 1^ mile beyond this hill, and several other

ancient monuments are near. A monastery for 300 monks
was founded at the town either by the British Ambrosius or

by a contemporary churchman, and this was succeeded,

about the year 980, by a Benedictine nunnery, founded by
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Qneen Elfiida, on account of the murder of her son-in-law

Edward at Corfe Castle. The nunnery was converted by

Kins Henry II. into a cell to the great convent of Font

Everault in Anjou ; became the retreat of several royal and

noble ladies—particulaily Mary, daughter of Edward I., and

Eleanor, queen of Henry III. ; and rose again to be an inde-

pendent monastery, one of the richest non-mitred abbeys in

England. The ancient abbey is identified with " the holy

House of Almesbnry " of Tennyson's " Guinevere." A noble

mansion now occupies tlie site of the abbey, and bears

its n.ame. This was the seat of the Duke of Queensberry,

built by Webb from designs by Inigo Jones, and subse-

quently improved by the Earl of Burlington ; it was also

the retreat of the poet Gay, where he wrote the " Beggar's

Opera," .and it passed in 1824 to Sir Edmond Antrobus,

Bait., and was afterwards in great measure rebuilt, and

adorned with a Corinthian portico. The p.arish church

belonged originally to the .abbey, was restored in 1853,

and contains rich features of the Early Pointed style.

The town has fallen greatly into decay, but still possesses

interest for the sake of the attractions around it, and it has a

hotel, a Methodist chapel, and a workhouse. A free gr,ammar

school was founded and endowed by John Kose in 1677, and

there are other charities for apprenticing lads of the town, &c.

A weekly market was formerly held on Friday, but has been

discontinued. The immediate environs along the Avon are

wooded and chai'ming, while the country beyond is bleak and

dreary, but celebrated for coursing. Prime pipe-clay is some-

times found in diggings.

The parish contains also the hamlet of Little or West
Amesbury. There is a post, money order, and telegraph

office. Acreage, 5036
;
population, 081. The property be-

longs chiefly to the estate of Amesbury Abbey. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury; value, £300. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Windsor.

Amicombe Hill, a mountain on the NW of Dartmoor,

Devon, 5J miles SSW of Okehampton. It has an altitude

of 2000 feet, and commands an extensive view.

Amington and Stonydelph, a joint township in Tam-
worth parish, Warwickshire, on the river Anker and the

Coventry Canal. Amington is a village, 2 miles E of Tam-
worth, and has a post office under that town, where is the

money order and telegraph office. Stonydelph is a liamlet,

1^ mile S. Acreage of the township, 2318
;
population, 713.

Amington Hall is the chief residence. There is a chapel of

ease to Tamworth parish church.

Amlwch, a market-town, a parish, and a port in Angle-

sey. The town stands on a small bay, 17 miles NW of

Beaumaris, and is at the terminus of the L. & N.W.R. It

was a fishing hamlet of only sis houses in 1766, but it

speedily acquired bulk and importance by the working of the

mines in the Parys Mountain. The neighbourhood contains

very tine coast scenery, and commands some noble views,

the coast of the Isle of Man and the mountains of the

Cambrian range being visible on clear days. The harbour

was cut out of slate rock, is protected by a breakwater, and

has capacity for thirty vessels of 200 tons burden. A fi.xed

light is on the north pier, 26 feet high, visible at the distance

of 8 miles, and a number of rocks or small islets, one of

them serving as a seamark, lie off the entrance. A coast-

guard station has been built on an eminence on the coast,

commanding a sweeping view of the Irish Sea. A small

steamer plies occasionally to Liverpool and Holyhead. The
town has a post office (R.S.O.), a parish church, and a chapel

of ease, sis dissenting chapels, several good schools, two

political clubs, and a scientific and literary institution.

The parish church is a large and handsome edifice, built by

the Parys Mine Company at a cost of £4000. Many of the

inhabitants are miners, ship-carpenters, and sailors. There

are mauufactures of tobacco, and brewing and malting are

carried on. Shipbuilding is also extensively carried on.

Chemical works for the manufacture of sulphuiic acid and

artificial manures were established here 50 years ago, and
are in a vei7 flourishing condition. Markets are held on
.Saturdays. Amlwch was formerly a parliamentary borough

united in the franchise with Beaumaris, Llangefni, and Holy-

head, but in 1885 its representation was merged in that of

the county.

The Parys Mountain, 480 feet high, is situated 2 miles S
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of the town. The Romans are believed to have obtained

copper ore on it, and various vestiges of ancient workings

have been observed, and some very ancient stone utensUs

found. Trials in quest of ore began to be made in 1761, and
resulted in splendid discoveries in 1768. Rich lodes were

found at a depth of only 7 feet from the surface, and two
great mines, called the Parys mine and the Mona mine,

were worked most productively, chiefly in the manner of

quarries, till 1800. The Mona mine then became unprofit-

able, and the Parys fell off greatly; but in 1811, by
means of sinking and improved management, they again

became valuable. The ore is chiefly a sulphate of copper,

and the bed of it in the Mona mine was 300 feet broad, and
in some parts 72 feet thick. A lead ore, yielding from 60

to 1000 pounds of lead and 67 ounces of silver per ton,

occurs occasionally in a stratum of yellow saponaceous clay

above the copper ore. The produce of copper at the richest

period of the workings was worth £300,000 a year. The
deepest shaft sunk is about 200 fathoms.

The parish of Anrlwch includes the borough of Amlwch,
the chapelry of Llanwenllwyfo, and most of the town and
ch.apelry of Llanerchymedd. It also includes Bull Bay, a
fishing hamlet about 1 mile out of the town, which is rapidly

becoming a favourite sea-side resort. A number of commo-
dious liouses were recently built here, and it has a large and
well-appointed hotel. A chapel for the convenience of visi-

tors and the inhabitants was erected in 1803. The Lifeboat

Institution, too, has one of its boats stationed here. Area
of parish, 0271 acres; population of civil parish, 4443;
of ecclesiastical, 3212. The living of Amlwch is a vicarage in

the diocese of Bangor; value, £206. Patron, the Bishop of

Bangor. The vicai-age of Llanerchymedd is separ-ate.

Anunam, The, a streamlet of Carmai-thensbire, rising in

the Black Mountains, and running 10 miles WSW to the

Loughor, in the vicinity of Bettws.

Amney. See Ampney-Down.
Amoril, a village in Batheaston parish, Somerset, 2 miles

NE of Bath.

Amotherby, a township and a village in Appleton-le-

Street parish, N. R. Yorkshire, with a station on the Thirsk

and Malton section of the N.E.R., near the river Rye, under

the Cleveland moors, 4 miles WNW of Malton. Acreage,

1831
;
population, 270. It has a post and money order office

under Malton. The parish church is at All Saints, Appleton.

There is a chapel of ease at St Helens, Amotherby. The
Thellusson-Thellusson family, of Brodsworth H.all, are lords

of the manor. The township comprises the hamlets of News-
ham, Sleights, Swinton and Bronghton.

Amoimderness, a hundred in Lancashire. It extends

from the coast to Yorkshire, and contains Fleetwood, Gar-

stang, Lytham, and parts of Lancaster and Ribchester.

Ainpfield, a district parish forming part of the civil parish

of Hursley, Hants. The village stands 4 miles ENE of

Romsey, and 3 from Chandler's Ford station on the Salisbury

branch of the L. & S.W.R., and has a post office under Romsey;

money order oSice, Hursley ; telegraph office. Chandler's Ford

railway station. The district parish was constituted in

1841, and is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester; net

value, £200. The church is a neat Gothic stracture, erected

at the expense of the late Sir William Heathcote, Bart., and

surrounded by a model burying-gi'ound. Population, 457.

Ampleforth, a village, a township, and a parish in the N.

K. Yorkshire. The village lies near the Thirsk and Malton

railway, 4 miles SW of Helmsley. The parish consists of

the townships of Ampleforth-St Peter, Ampleforth-Birdforth,

and Ampleforth-Oswaldkirk, which were amalgamated in

1887, and it has a station on the N.E.R., and a post and

money order office under York ; telegraph office, Oswaldkirk.

A Roman Catholic college was established at Ampleforth

Lodge, in Ampleforth-Oswaldkirk, in 1802
;
gi*ew from a

small commencement to giTat size and consequence ; received

the addition of a church in 1856, and of new college build-

ings in 1861, and will now accommodate about 120 students.

It is a massive quadrangular pile, in the Pointed style of the

14th and loth centuries, and numbers among its pupils

many members of the English Roman Catholic aristocracy.

Acreage, 2418; population, 764. The Ecclesiastical Com-
missioners are lords of the manor. The living is a discharged

vicarage in the diocese of York
;
gioss value, £240. Patrbn,
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the Archbifabop of York. The chui'ch is good. There are

two Rletbodist chapels, and on the hills above the village

an ancient encampment called Studfold Ring. The sur-

rounding country is exceedingly beautiful,

Ampney-Crucis, a village and a parish in Gloucester-

sbire, on Ampney brook, near Ermine Street, 2J miles E of

Cirencester. The parish contains the hamlet of Alcott-End,
and has a post office under Cirencester, the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 3097
;

population of the

civil parish, 490 ; of the ecclesiastical, 488. Tbe living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net

value, £130. Tbe Church of the Holy Cross (Sanctee Cmcis)
is an ancient structure in the Early English style, with an
embattled western tower, and has been carefully restored. It

contains a white marble monument to Viscount Downe, and
to members of the Pleydell family, to whom the manor once

belonged, and also stained memorial windows. A free school,

founded and endowed in 1722 by Su- Robert Pleydell, has

an income of £80.

Ampney-Down, Down-Ampney, or Down-Amney, a

parish in Gloucestershire, on Ampney brook, the Thames and
Severn Canal, and Ermine Street, 2^ miles NNE of Crick-

lade, and 6 ESE of Cirencester. It has a post office under
Cricklade, which is the money order and telegi-aph office.

Acreage, 2541
;
population, 304. The manor belonged at

Domesday to Ralph du Todini, and passed to the Duchy of

Lancaster, to the Villiers family, to Speaker Hungerford,

to Secretary Craggs, and to the Eliots. A mansion built on
it in the time of Heniy VIII., by Sir Anthony Hungerford,

still stands, but has been much altered by modern addi-

tions. The Earl of St Germans is lord of the manor and
sole landowner. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £227. Patron, Christ

Church College, Oxford. The church is Early English,

built about the year 1260 by the Ivnights Templars, and
was partly rebuilt about 1845, partly repau'ed in 1863.

It consists of chancel, clerestoried nave, aisles, south tran-

sept, south porch, and a massive embattled western tower,

with pinnacles and a spire. In the south transept is a fine

tomb, with effigies of Sir Nicholas de Villiers in mail and
surcoat (1294) and his wife.

Ampney St Mary or Ashbrook, a village and a parish

in Gloucestershire, on Ampney brook, 3^ miles E of Ciren-

cester, the post town. Area of parish, 1371 acres
;
population,

113. The living is a vicarage, united with the rectory of

Ampney St Peter, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol.

The church is a small ivy-clad, quaint-looking, very ancient

edifice, and is now disused.

Ampney St Peter, a village and a parish in Gloucester-

shire, contiguous to Ampney St Mary, 4 miles E of Cu'en-

cester. Ai-ea of parish, 618 acres; population, 189. The
living is a rectory united with the vicai'age of Ampney St

llary, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; net value,

£140. The church is a small edifice, dating from the early

portion of the 12th century, and was enlarged in 1879.

There is a Norman north door, and a small rose window in

the western tower. Half a mile from the village is Ranbuiy

Camp, the remains of an extensive encampment, either of

British or Roman origin.

Amport, a parish in Hants, IJ mile from Weyhill and

4j miles from Andover stations on the L. & S.W.R. It

includes the tithings of Sarson and East Cholderton. It has

a post and money order office under Andover ; telegi-aph

office, Weyhill. Acreage, 3963; population, 603. The

manor belongs to tbe Marquis of Winchester, and has

descended to him from the Norman house of De Port, the

common ancestors of the Paulets and the St Johns. Amport
House, the seat of the Mai-quis, built in 1857, in the Tudor

style, after designs by Mr Burns, stands in a pleasant undu-

lating park much maiked with single trees. The living is a

vicai-age in the diocese of Winchester; net value, £630.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Chichester. The church

is chiefly in the Late Decorated style, with a central tower.

There is a Primitive Methodist chapel. There are also an

endowed elementary school and almshouses.

Ampthill, a market-town, head of a union and a county

court district, and a petty sessional division, in Beds. The

town stands on a pleasant spot, overlooked by hills, with a

station on the Midland main fine, 1 mile N of the town, 2J
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miles SE of the Ampthill or Marstou station on the L.&N.W.R.,
and 7 S by W of Bedford. It is neat and regulai', and has

a head post, money order, and telegraph office, bank, market-

place, parish chm'ch, Baptist, Congregational, Primitive

Jlethodist, and Wesleyan chapels, workhouse, and almshouses

for nine men and sixteen women. The parish church consists

of nave, aisles, and chancel ; is in the Later English style, with

a tower at the west end ; and contains a mural monument
to the memory of Governor Nicholl, who fell in the sea-figlit

ofl' Solebay in 1672. Most of the inhabitants are agricultural,

but some are employed in an extensive brewery, others in a

large iron-work, and many in straw-plaiting and bonnet-

sewing. A weekly market is held on Thursday, and fairs

on 4 May and 30 Nov. for cattle, and a statute fair on

20 Sept,

Ampthill Park adjoins the tow^n on the NW, and is united

to Houghton Park on the NE. It was the seat of the Lords

Upper Ossory and Holland, and is now the property of the

Duke of Bedford. A castle was built on it in the time

of Henry VI. by Sir John Cornwall, afterwards Lord Fan-
hope, and was the residence of Catherine of Arragon during

the process instituted against her by Henry VIII. A cross,

in commemoration of this event, was erected in 1770 by the

Earl of Ossory, then proprietor of the estate, and bears an
inscription from the pen of Horace Walpole. The present

mansion stands on lower ground than the site of the ancient

castle, yet commands an extensive \iew of the vale of Bed-

ford, and is a magnificent edifice, built by Lord Ashburnham,
and containing some valuable paintings and a museum. The
estate was constituted by Henry VIII. a royal domain, under
the name of the Honour of Ampthill. The park is spacious,

well diversified with picturesque scenes, and much studded

with venerable oaks. Houghton Park contains the pear tree

under which Sir Philip Sidney is said to have written part of

his " Ai'cadia," and remains of the house built by " Sidney's

sister, Pembroke's mother." A beautiful alcove of lime trees,

called the Alameda, was planted by Lord Holland for the

recreation of the townspeople. Lord Odo Russell took his

title of Baron from this town. The Duke of Bedford is lord

of the manor and chief landowner.

The parish of Ampthill comprises 1904 acres; population,

2294. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely ; gross

yearly value, £300 with residence. Patron, the Lord
Chancellor.

Ampton, a village and a pai'ish m Suffi^lk, 4^ miles N of

Bury St Edmunds, and f of a mile E by N of Ingham
station on the G.E.R., with a post office under Bmy St

Edmunds, which is the money order office. There is a tele-

graph office at Ingham station. Acreage, 736 ;
population,

136. Amptou Hall, a fine country seat of the Paley family,

is situated in the midst of an extensive park. The Hving is

a rectory in the diocese of Ely; net value, £140. The
church is massively built of flints, with chantry and a short

square tower. There ai'e several brasses and ancient

monuments.

Amroth, a village and a parish in Pembrokeshire. The
pai-ish lies on Carmarthen Bay, 6 miles SE of N;u*berth,

and 3 from Kilgetty station on the Pembroke and Tenby
railway. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Begelley (R.S.O.) Acreage, 2690, of which 209 are

water; population, 731. Coal is worked, and fishing is

carried on. Amroth Castle, delightfully situated on the coast,

was formerly a gi'and feudal residence, and is now a fine

modern mansion. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

St David's ; net value, £160. The church, about a mile from

the village, is Eai'ly English, and has a curiously formed

tower.

Amwell, Great, a village and a parish in Herts. The
village stands near the sources of the New river and the

G.E.R., 1^ mile SE by S of Ware, and has a post and tele-

giaph office, of the name of Amwell, under Ware, which is

the money order office. Its name is supposed to have been

derived from Emma's Well, a fountain which issues from a

hill and forms one of the sources of the New river. The

parish comprises 2469 acres, of which 35 are water
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 1975 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1084.

Woolen's Brook and Hertford End are hamlets of Great

Amwell. Amwell End, in this parish, is a suburb of Ware.

Amwell Place was the seat of the Quaker poet Scott, who
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described the picturesque beauty of the neighbourhood, and

wrote the lines, " I hate the drum's discordant sound."

Amwell Bury, neai' Barrow Hill, has yielded some ancient

relics. H.ayleybnry College belonged to the East India Com-

pany, and is now a tirst-class school similar to Marlborough.

A monument stands on an islet in the New river, erected in

ISOO by Mr Myhie the architect to the memory of the ill-

requited Sir Hugh Myddleton, who impoverished himself by

the formation of that work to which Loudon owes a large

supply of water. Isaak Walton was a frequent visitor at

Amwell, and Hoole, the translator of Tasso, was a resident.

The living is a vicirage in the diocese of St Albans
;
yearly

value, £320 with residence. The church, which is an ancient

building of flint and brick in mixed styles, stands on au

eminence, and dates from the 14th centui'y. The church-

yai-d contains the gi'aves of Reed, the editor of Shakespeare,

and of the poet Warner, the contemporai-y and fnend of

Sh:ikespeare, who wrote " Albion's England."

Amwell, Little, a parish in Hertford, 1 mile W by S of

Ware. Acre.age, 525
;
population of the civil parish, 843

;

of tlie ecclesiastical, 916. The living is a vicarage; net

value, £SG. The chmch was built in 1863.

Ancaster, a village and a pai'ish in Lincolnshire. The

village contains the Grantham and Boston branch of the

G.N.R., on the line of Ermine Street, 8 miles NE of Grant-

ham. It has a st.ation on the railw.ay, with telegi'aph office,

and a post and money order office under Grantham. It gave

the title of Duke, now extinct, to the Berties of Uffington.

The title has been revived, and Lord Aveland is now Earl of

Ancaster. A Roman station, either Causenn^ or Crocolana,

occupied its site, and many Roman coins, bricks, and other

relics have been found. A spot in the ncighbonrhood was

the scene of a victory in 1643 over the Parliamentarians.

The parish contains also the hamlets of Sudbrooke and West
Willougbby. Acreage, 2860

;
population, 600. The chief

residences ai'e Ancaster Hall, the seat of the Lucas Calcraft

family, and West Willonghby Hall, the seat of the Allix

family. A tract which formerly was a common, wild and

barren, is now enclosed and fertile. A fine oolitic building-

stone is extensively quan'ied; has been used for Belvoir

Castle, WoUaton Hall, the Midland R.ailway terminus at St

Pancras, and other great edifices ; and is well exemplified in

the parsonage, which was built in 1842. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln
;
yearly value, £190 with

residence. The church is a building of Ancaster stone in

the Norman, Early English, and Decorated styles. There

are Wesleyan and Wesleyan Reform chapels.

Ancholme, The, a river of Lincoln. It rises in the Wolds
near Market-R.asen, iind runs about 22 miles northward,

past Brigg, to the Humber near Ferriby. The Caistor Canal

joins it at Kelsey, and an artificial cut, called New Ancholme
river, goes in nearly a straight line along its whole course.

It is navigable from the Humber to Brigg.

Anchor-Church, a rocky bank overhanging the river

Trent, 6^ miles SSW of Derby. It has an outline somewhat

resembling that of a Gothic church, and contains a series of

chambers.

Anchor-Head or Weston-Head, a headland in the Bristol

Channel, between Sand Bay and Uphill Bay, adjacent to

Weston-super-Mare, Somerset. Worle Mill on it is a sea-

mark, .and Brean Rock and Weston Ledge .are in front.

Anchor-Stone, a rock in the river Dart, a little S of

Dittisham, Devon. It rises steeply from a depth of fully

10 fathoms, and is visible at low water. It is said to have

been frequented by Sir Walter Kaleigh, from his adjacent

seat of Greenw.ay, for the purpose of smoking.

Ancoats. See Mamchesteh.
Ancroft, a village and a p.xiish in Northumberland. The

village lies in a pleasant vale, 4 miles E of Windmill rail-

way station, and 6J S of Berwick, and has a post office

under Beal (R..S.O.), which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. The parish, which comprises the villages and hamlets

of East and West AUerdean, Cheswick, and Haggerston, lies

along the coast, and is traversed by the N.E.R. Acreage

11,427 of land and 1359 of water and foreshore; population

of the civil parish, 1526 ; of the ecclesiastical, 617. Earl

Grey, K.G., is lord of the manor. The chief residences are

Haggerston Castle and Cheswick House. The castle was
thoroughly restored in 1893. The living is a vicai-age in

ANDOVER

the diocese of Newcastle ; net value, £300 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Durham. The church is

a 12th century edifice. It belonged fonnerly to Holy Island,

was restored in 1870, .and is in good condition. There is

also an English United Presbyterian chapel at AUerdean,

Anderby, a village and a parish in Lincoln. The village

stands within a mile of the coast, 1\ mile E of Mumby Road

station on the G.N.E., .and 5 miles E by S of Afford. A
rivulet flows past it to the sea, and forms a small harbour

;

and a carnal, cut in 1828 at a cost of £37,000, connects it

with Afford. The parish comprises 1437 acres of land

;

population of civil parish, 230 ; of ecclesiastical, 423. Post

town, Alford ; telegiapb office, Mumby Road station , money

order office, Hogsthorp. The living is a rectory, united with

Cumbcrworlh, in the diocese of Lincoln ; v,alue, £600. Patron,

Magdalene College, Cambridge. The church is an ivy-covered

structure of brick. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Anderida, an ancient strong Roman town or gi-eat for-

tress, at the end of Ermine Street, on the coast of Sussex.

It was attiicked and destroyed, in the latter part of the 5th

century, by the Saxons. Its site has been claimed by seven

places in Sussex and one in Kent, but is now fixed by the

best antiquaries at Pevensey. The tract around it was

called Sylva Anderida, signifying the "uninhabited forest;"

and continued to be known by tlie Saxons as Andredswald.

Anderson or Winterboume-Anderstone, a parish in

Dorset, on an affluent of the river Stour, 7 miles S of Bland-

ford, and 5 from B.ailey Gate station on the Somerset and

Dorset railway. Acreage, 597
;
population, 66. Post town,

Blandford ; money order and telegraph office, Bere Regis.

The chief residence is Anderson House. The liviug is a

rectory in the diocese of Salisbury ; value, £90.

Anderton, a township in Great Budworth parish, Che-

shire, on the river Weaver and the Trent and Mersey Canal,

2 miles NW of Northwich. Acreage, 526
;
population, 369.

There are some salt works.

Anderton, a small agricultural township m Adlington

parish, Lancashire, under Rivington Pike, near the Bolton

railway and the Manchester and Leeds Canal, 4 miles SE of

Chorley. Acreage, 1229 ;
population, 454. Part of the

Liverpool Corporation Waterworks are in this township, and

extend for about 7 miles along the base of the Bolton Hills,

forming a chain of lakes of some beauty. There is a Roman
Catholic church (enlarged in 1890) and school, and charities

amounting to .about £170 yearly.

Andover, a municipal borough, market-town, and parish

in Hants, on the river Anton, with two stations on the

L. & S.W.K., 66J miles by rail from London. A canal, 22J
miles long, with a fall of 179 feet and 24 locks, formerly

commenced at the town, and went down the fine of the

Anton river, past Stockbridge and Romsey, to Southampton

Water at Redbridge. The Andover, Romsey, and Southamp-

ton railway was constructed principally by transmutation of

that canal down to Redbridge, and w.as connected there with

the Weymouth and Southampton railw.ay. Andover is also

a station on the M. & S.W. .Junction railway, which runs

to Marlborough, Swindon, and Cheltenham. The vale of the

Anton is for the most part beautifully wooded, and presents a

striking contrast to the bare downs which flank and over-

look it. Bury Hill, about Ij mile W of the town, com-

m.ands a picturesque view of the vale, together with an

extensive prospect toward the borders of Berks and Wilts

;

and is crested with a Large, strong, ancient camp, which pro-

bably was first formed by the aboriginal British, and after-

wards occupied by the Romans and the Saxons. The town

stands on the Roman road from Salisbury to Silchester, and

possibly occupies the site of a Roman station ; and it took its

name from a ford of the Anton, called Andovcra by the

Romans and Andofera by the Saxons. It is probably indi-

cated by the letters A N D 0, on some Celtic gold coins in

the British Museum ; and it was a royal manor, and the

phace of several witenagemots in the times of the Saxons.

Ethelred concluded a peace here in 988 with the Norse king

Olaf Tryggvason ; and many a conflict must have taken place,

at prior periods, among the neighbouring chalk hills.

The town is compactly built, and extends on either side

about a third of a mile from the market-place. The town

hall, with a corn market below, is a handsome stone edifice,

with Grecian front, supported on arches ; and was built in
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1825, at a cost of £7000. The parish church is a spacious

structure, in the Early English style, surmounted by a lofty

tower, with crooked pinnacles; and was built in 1840,

at a cost of £30,000, by the Rev. Dr. Goddard, headmaster

of Winchester College, and afterwards vicar of Andover.

The previous church was an edifice of the time of William

the Conqueror, subsequently altered, and in various styles

;

and a veiy rich Late Norman doorway of it now forms

one of the entrances to the churchyard. The church was long

a cell to the abbey of St Florence in Anjou, and afterwards

was given to the College of Winchester. The other noticeable

buildings are four dissenting chapels, a free grammar school,

two other schools, two sets of almshouses, a workhouse, and

a fine cottuge hospital built in 1876. The town has a large

trade in agricultural produce ; it shares much in the business

of the great Weyhill fair, held in October, 3 miles to the

NW ; it caiTies on malting, and is much frequented during

the sporting season by parties following the hounds over the

extensive neighbouring downs. It has post, money order,

and telegraph offices, two banking offices, and two chief

inns; and it publishes two weekly newspapers. Markets

are held on Fridays, cattle markets on Mondays, a sheep

fair on 17 November, and a wool fair about the end of June.

The town was incorporated under King John ; it sent two

representatives to parliament in the times of Edward I. and

IL, and from the 27th year of Elizabeth till 1867 ; but by

the Reform Act of that year it was reduced to the right of

sending only one ; and again, by the Redistribution of Seats

Act in 1885, its representation was merged in that of the

county. It is governed by a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12

councillors, who also act as the urban sanitary authority, and

is the union town and a seat of petty sessions. It gives the

title of Viscount to the Earl of Suffolk and Berkshire. Area

of the borough, 8662 acres; population, 5852.

The parish contains also the hamlets of Charlton, Knights

Enham, Enham-Kings, Little London, Smannel or Swanhill,

Wildhern, Woodhouse, and part of Hatherden. Acreage,

9456; population, 6048. The living is a vicarage, con-

joined with the curacy of Foxcott, in the diocese of Win-
chester; net value, £434. Patron, Winchester College.

The vicarage of Hatherden is separate, while the rectory of

Enham and vicarage of Smannell are held together separate

from Andover.

Andover rarliamentary Division^ or West Hants, was

formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and

returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

51,225. The division includes the following pai'ishes:

—

Andover—Abbott's Ann, Amport, Appleshaw, Bai'ton Stacey,

Bullington, Chilbolton, Foxcott, Fyfield, Goodworth Clat-

ford, Grately, Hurstbourae Priors, Hurstbourne Tai'rant,

Kimpton, Knight's Enham, Leckford, Linkenholt, Longstock,

Longparish, Monxton, Nether Wallop, Over Wallop, Penton

Grafton or Weyhill, Penton Mewsey, Quarley, St Mary
Bourne, Shipton, South Tidworth, Stockbridge, Tangley,

Thruxton, Upper Clatford, Vernham's Dean, "Wherwell

;

Kingsclere—Ashe, Ashmansworth, Baughurst, Burghclere,

Coombe, Crux Easton, East Woodhay, Ewhurst, Faccombe,

Freefolk Manor, Hannington, Highelere, Itchingswell, Kings-

clere, Laverstoke, Litchfield, Newtown, Overton, Sidmonton,

Steventon, Tadley, Tufton, Whitchmxh, Woodcut, Woolver-

ton ; Winchester (except the pai'ishes belonging to the Aires-

ford Union)— Ashley, Avington, Bishopstoke, Chilcomb

(part of), Compton, Crawley, Easton, East Stratton, Farley

Chamberlayne, Headbourne Worthy, Hunton, Hm'sley, Itchen

Abbas, King's Worthy, Lainston, Little Sombome, Littleton,

Martyr Worthy, Mitcheldever, Morestead, Otterbourne,

Owslebury, St Bartholomevv Hyde (part of), St Faith (part

of), St John (part of), St Peter Cheesehill (part of), Spars-

holt, Stoke Charity, Twyford, Week (part of), Winnal (part

of), Wonston ; Bossington, Houghton, Kingsomborne, Upper
Eldon, Broughton, Frenehmoor, East Tytherley, West Tyther-

ley, East and West Buckholt, Crown Faim ; Andover, muni-

cipal borough.

Andoversford, a village in Dowdeswell parish, Gloucester-

shire, on the river Isborne, under the Cotswolds, 6 miles ESE
of Cheltenham. It has a station on the G.W.R., and a post

office (R.S.O.)

Andreas or Kirk-Andreas, a village and a parish in the

Isle of Man. The village stands 4^ miles NW of Ramsey,
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and has a post office under Douglas. Population, 1239.

The land is very fertile. Many barrows, and a camp, near

Ballacurry, are to be found in the parish. The Hving is a

rectory in the diocese of Sodor and Man ; value, about £600.
Patron, the Crown. The rectoiy is always held in conjunc-

tion with the archdeaconry of the isle. The church was re-

built in 1802, on the site of the preceding one. Eight runic

raonmnents, or fragments of monuments, are to be seen in

the south porch of the church.

Andredswald, a quondam great forest round the ancient

Roman Anderida, over much of Sussex and Kent, and west-

ward to Privet, in Hants. It was 120 miles long and 30

broad. Sigebert, king of Wessex, was slain in it by a swine

herd. Fragments of it remain in Woolmer Forest, Alice Holt,

and the forest of Bere.

Andrew, St, a village and a parish in Glamorgan, 3 miles

W of Penarth, and 6 SW of Cardiff. The parish contains

the village of Dinas-Powis, with a post office under Cardiff.

Acreage, 3186; population, 1149. The liring is a rectory

in the diocese of Llandaff ; value, £460. Patron, the Bishop

of Llandaffi There are chapels of the Wesleyans and Cal-

vinistic Methodists at Dinas-Powis.

Andrew, St, a pai-ish in Guernsey, 2 miles WSW of St

Peter's Port. It contains a village of the same name. There
are some exceedingly pretty houses at St Andrews, including

the residences of Vanxbelets, St Helfene, and others. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester ; net value,

£150. Patron, the Governor. The church is a handsome
Gothic edifice, with an embattled tower and a spire. There
is a small dissenting chapel embosomed in trees.

Andwell, a small village and a parish in Hants, 2j miles

from Hook station on the L. & S.W.R., and 3 E of Basing-

stoke, which is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office. Old Basing. Acreage, 148; population, 43.

Anerley or Annerley, a village on the L.B. & S.C.R., 8

miles from London, and very near the Crystal Palace, and a

mile SSW of Sydenham, Surrey. It is within the jurisdic-

tion of the Central Criminal Court and MetropoUtan Police,

and within the parUamentary borough of Camberwell, as

created under the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, and is

also now included in the County of London as constituted

by the Local Goveniment Act, 1888. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. The area and population are

included with Penge. Holy Trinity is an ecclesiastical

palish, formed 1 Nov., 1873, out of St John's, Penge. The
church was built in 1878, and is a fine red-brick building,

with stone dressings. The living is a vicai-age ; value, £500.

There is a Congi*egational church, with sittings for 1300

Angel-Road, a station on the G.E.R., 7| miles from Lon-

don, on the NE border of Middlesex.

Angersleigh, a parish in Somerset, on the verge of the

county, under Black Down Hills, 4 miles SSW of Taunton

station on the G.W.R. Post town, Wellington, which is the

money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 425
;
population,

27. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells;

value, £125.

Angerton, a parish in Lancashii-e, about 1 mile from

Foxfield station on the Furness railway. The gi'eater part

of the land is moor and waste, the remainder arable and pas-

ture. Moss Houses, W^altham Hill, Mai'sh Field, and Angerton
Hall are places in the parish. Kirkby-in-Fm-ness is the post

town and money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 2195;
population, 28.

Angerton, High and Low, two townships in Hai'tburn

parish, Northumberland, on the Wansbeck river and railway,

with a station, 6^ miles W of Morpeth. Acreage of High
Angerton, 12'J3

;
population, 71; of Low Angerton, 1069;

population, 50. There are tile works in High Angerton.

Angerton Hall is a handsome Elizabethan mansion.

Angle or Nangle, a village and a parish in Pembrokeshire,

The village stands on a nook or " angle " of the south side of

I\Iilford Haven, 9 miles W of Pembroke, It is now a small

port and fishing village, but bears mai'ks of haWng been a

place of some importance in former ages, and contains some
interesting ruins. There is an ancient fortified house, con-

sisting of a square tower, known as the Old Rectory ; it is

roofless, but otherwise in excellent preseiTation. About IJ
mile distant is the East Blockhouse, built in the reign of
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Henry VIII. Angle has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Pembroke. The parish comprises 2319 acres

of land and 605 of water and foreshore
;
population, 502.

The chief residence is Angle Hall. Limestone is quarried.

Angle Bay affords good anchorage. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of St David's ; value, £84. Patron, the

Bishop of St David's. The church is ancient, and has been

rebuilt ; it has a detached chapel for sailors in the grave-

yard. The living was once held by Guraldus Cambrensis,

the historian.

Angle Tarn, a mountain lakelet on the fell on the E side

of Patterdale, a short way N of Hartsop, Westmoreland. It

has an ai'ea of about 5 acres and a curious outline, contains

two rocky islets, and abounds with good trout. A stream

from it descends rapidly westward through Patterdale to

Ullswater,

Angle Tarn, a mountain lakelet in a hollow high up
Bowfell, lOj miles S of Keswick, Cumberland. It contains

fine trout, and sends down a streamlet north-eastward into

Borrowd.ale.

Anglesey or Anglesea, an insulated county of North
Wales. It is separated on the SE, by the Menai Strait, from
Cai'narvonshire, and is surrounded elsewhere by the Irish Sea.

It consists chiefly of the island of Anglesey, but includes also

the island of Holyhead and the islets of Skerries, Priesthohn

(or Puffin), and Llanddwyn, with some others. Its length

Bouth-eastward is 20 miles; its breadth south-westward, 17
miles; its circumference, 76 miles; its area, 175,836 acres.

Its outline is indented by several considerable bays. The
coast is very rocky, and presents some fine scenery in the north
and west ; but in the south is partly desolated with Siind.

The general surface is uninteresting, not much diversified

with hill and dale, and quite devoid of lofty mountains or

deep glens, flat in the S and in the centre, and rising into

only moderate hills in the N. The climate is mild, but foggy.

Geologically Anglesey is important from the presence of ex-
tensive formations of pre-C.ambiian rocks. Mona marble, a

beautiful green rock quan'ied near Holyhead, is a vai'iety of

serpentine. Some coal exists, but of most uncertain charac-

ter—sometimes in allurial boulders of a ton or upwards. The
coal-field stretches for about 9 miles, from near Gaerwen to

Malldraeth Bay, and there is a small patch opposite Carnarvon

;

it is but little worked. Peat fuel is obtained in inexhaustible

plenty. Gritstone, limestone, coloured marble, lead ore, and
copper ore are worked ; and serpentine, soapstone, fuller's

earth, potter's clay, magnesia, calamine, sulphur, alum, silver,

and zinc are found. Much of the land is pastoral and un-
enclosed. The arable soils are chiefly a sandy loam, a stiff

reddish earth, and a blackish vegetable mould; all fairly

fertile, and receiving improvement by means of shell sand
from various parts of the shore. Wood occurs along the banks
of the Men.ai, but is elsewhere scarce. The enclosures are not
quickset hedges, but stone or turf walls ; and they combine
with the bleakness of the surface to render the general aspect

tame and cold. Oats, barley, rye, and potatoes are the chief

crops. The black cattle are of the kind called runts, and are

much esteemed for the flavour and tenderness of their flesh.

The native sheep are the largest breed m North Wales. Not a
few sheep also of the mountain districts are sent hither to fatten.

The following ai'e the agricultural statistics for 1892 :

—

Crops. Acres.

Com Crops 25,010
Green Crops 9,799
Clover, Sainfoin, Grasses, 34,905
Permanent Pasture, . . 80,317
Bare Fallow 69
Orchards 12
Market Gardens, ... 3
Small Fruit 7
Nursery Grounds, ... —
Woods and Plantations,

Live Stock. No.

:—Used solely for

Agriculture, , 4,777
" Unbroken, . . 2,154
'• Mares kept for

Breeding, . . 20t
Cows and Heifers in Milk

or Calf, 16,833
Other Cattle 35,791
Sheep, 74,602

l,Si3 I Pigs, 13,646

The chief streams are the Braint, the Cefni, and the Alaw,
but all are small. Numerous kinds of fish, some of them not
common in other parts, are plentiful along the coast. Shell-
fish also abound. Coarse woollen fabrics, for home use, are
manufactm-ed. The main road to Holyhead runs through
Anglesey, crossing the Menai Strait near Bangor, by a
magnificent suspension bridge, erected by Telford, in 1826,
with a headway for ships of 100 feet. The Cheater and
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Holyhead section of the L. & N.W.R. goes through the

southern part of the county, from the Britannia Bridge to

Holyhead; and the Anglesey Central branch goes from a
junction at Gaerwen northward to Amlwch.

The towns .and chief villages are Beaumaris, Amlwch, Llan-

gefni, Holyhead, Llauerchymedd, Newborough, and AberfFraw.

The ports .arc Beaumaris, Amlwch, and Holyhead. The
county council consists of 56 members, of whom 14 are

aldermen. The administrative county of Anglesey is co-

extensive with the ancient or geogi'aphical county, which is

not divided for parliamentary purposes, and contains no
parliamentai7 borough. The county contains only one muni-
cipal borough—namely, Beaumaris. It has one court of

quarter sessions, is divided into two petty sessional divisions,

and contains 76 civil parishes. The ancient county contains

44 ecclesiastical parishes and districts, and is included en-

tirely in the diocese of Bangor. Anglesey is in the North
Wales cii'cuit and the Western military district. It sends one

member to Parliament. Population of the county, (1801)
33,806, (1821) 46,063, (1841) 50,891, (1861) 54,609,

(1881) 61,416, (1891) 50,098.

Anglesey was called by the ancient natives Ynys Fon, or

Mon, signifying " remote," and by the Eomans Mona. Its

present name was given by the Saxons, and signifies " the

Englishman's island." This is generally believed to have

been the chief seat of the Druids. In A.D. 61 Anglesey was
invaded by the Romans under Suetonius Pauhnus, who cut

down the gi'oves (" s^evis superstitionibus sacri ") and sup-

pressed the order of Druids. Their complete extirpation,

however, was not effected till some years after by Julius

Agricola. From that period Anglesey remained under the

dominion of the Romans till they withdrew from Britain.

A sovereignty was established here in 450 by Caswallon
Llawhir, a British prince, who was sent hither to expel in-

vaders. Aberft'r.aw was the royal residence, and Cadwallader,

the last king of the Britons, is said to heave been a descendant
of this family. In the reign of William Rufus, Hugh, Earl

of Chester, and Hugh, Eaid of Shrewshmy, are said to have

assisted the inhabitants to repel an invasion of GrifRth-ap-

Conen, Prince of Wales, and about the same time the island

was invaded by Magnus, King of Norway. From this period

it became a part of the kingdom of Wales, and was even re-

garded as the seat of government, till the final extinction of

Welsh independence by Edward I. After the subjugation of

the island by that king, he built a castle at Beaumaris to

intimidate the inhabitants, and fortified the town with a wall.

Anglesey was afterwards incorporated with England, and in

the reign of Henry VIII. was constituted a county. The
chief antiquities are eight or nine standing cromlechs, remains

or memorials of about twenty other cromlechs, several car-

neddau (cairns), barrows and camps, the castle of Edward I.

at Beaumaris, a priory and cross at Penmon, and a number
of chmxhes of the 14th and 15th centuries. Anglesey gives

the title of Marquis to the family of P.aget. For Map, see

Carnarvonshire.
Anglesey, a channing watering-place in Alverstoke parish,

Hants, ^ mile from Stokes Bay station on the L. & S.W.R.,

and 2 miles SW of Gosport, opposite Splthead and the Isle

of Wight. It was founded in 1826 by the Marquis of Angle-

sey ; it includes a terrace, a crescent, public gardens, marine

villas, a hotel, reading-rooms, baths, and a church, and com-
mands splendid views and has delightful environs. The chuixh

is an edifice in the Tudor style, built in 1844, and united with

the rectory of Alverstoke. Gosport is the post town ; money
order and telegraph office, Alverstoke.

Anglezark, a township in Rivington parish, Lancashire,

3 miles E of Chorley station on the L. & Y.R. It is situ-

ated on the Moors, which abound in grouse. Acreage, 2793

;

population, 92. There are large stone qu.an-ies and a cotton

mill ; and lead ore, witherite, .and carbonate of barytes are

found. There are several small charities. Post town, Chor-
ley, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Anglia. See East Anglia.
Angmering, a parish in Sussex, on the L.B. & S.C.R.,

63 miles from London, and 4 SE of Arundel. It has a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 4557 ; popula-

tion of the ci\il parish, 1014 ; of the ecclesiastical, 990.

Ham Manor, the seat of the Fletcher family, is the principal

house in the neighbourhood. New Place, now inhabited by
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work-people, was the seat of Sir Edward Palmer in the time
of Henry VIII., and the birthplace of his three sons, who
were all i<nighted. The living is a rectory and a vicauage

—

rectory of East Angmcring, vicarage of West Angmering

—

in the diocese of Chichester ; value, £230. East Angmering
church has disappeared. West Angmering church, excepting
the tower and small part of the ch.ancel, was rebuilt in 1862.
'i'liere are Baptist and Roman Catholic chapels.

Angram, a township in Long Marston parish, in the

W. R. Yorkshire, 4 miles NE of Tadcaster, and 3 from

Copmanthorpe station on the N.E.R. Acreage, 519
;
popu-

lation, 53.

Angram, a village in lUuker chapelry, in the N. R. York-
shire, on the river Swale, near Shunner Fell, 2 miles NW of

Muker.

Angram-Grange, a township in Coxwold parish, in the

N. R. Yorkshire, 4? nilios N of Easingwold, and 2 from Cox-
wold stalion on (lie N.E.R. Acre.ige, 415; popul.ation, 32.

Anick and Anick Grange, formerly two townships in

St .Tulin I.f,. parish, Nnitliunilinland, near the Tyne, 1^ mile

NE of llexliani. They were amalgamated in 1887 with the

townsliip of .S.andhoe.

Anker, The, a stream in the NE of Warwickshire. It

rises near Toolvey, and mns 26 miles north-westw.ard past

Burton Hastings, Nuneaton, Caldecote, Grendon, and Poles-

worth to the Tame at Tamworth. Its course is mainly fol-

lowed by the Coventry Can.al, between Tamworth and Ather-

stone, and the Trent Valley railway, and it crosses Watling

Street near Atlierstone, and is crossed by the railw.ay at

Poleswortli.

Ankerwyke or Anderwyke, an estate in Wraysbury
parish, Bucks, on tlic Thames, 2 miles WNW of Staines. A
Benedictine nunnery w.as founded here, in the time of Henry
II. by Sir Gilbert Montfichet, and was given by Edward I.

to Sir Thomas Smith, provost of Eton. A mansion of the

Harcourt family now occupies the site, and only the hall of

the nunnery rem.ains. A famous old yew tree, 28 feet in

girth, is in the grounds, and tradition s.ays that Henry VIII.

had a meeting beneath it with Anne Boleyn.

Ankton, a hamlet in Felpbam p.arish, Sussex, in the eastern

vicinity of Bognor.

Anlaby, a township in Kirk-Ella and Hessle parishes, E.

, R. Yorkshire, 4 miles W of Hull, and 1 mile from Willerby

and I^rk-Ella station on the Hull and Barnsley railway.

Acreage, 1471
;
population, 749. It has a post office under

Hull, with money order and telegraph departments. Anlaby
House h.'is been successively the scat of the Anlabys, the

I.og.ards, and the V,auses. There is a church, which is a
chapel of ease to Kirk-Ella, Primitive Methodist and Wes-
leyan chapoks, and a public reading-room.

Anmer, a parish in Norfolk, near Peddar way, 3 miles W
l)y N of Hillington station on the Eastern and Midland rail-

way, and 11 NE of King's Lynn. Post town, Lynn ; money
order and telegraph office, Hillington. Acreage, 1448

;
popu-

lation, 168. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Nor-
wich ; net yearly value, £127. The church, an ancient

building of flint and stone in the Perpendicular style, was
restored in 1880. Anmer Hall is an old mansion situated

in a park of some 150 acres.

Anne's Hill, St, a hill about a mile W of Chertsey, in

Surrey. It rises abruptly from the low ground of the

Thames to a height of 240 feet, .and looks, from some
points of view, to be almost conical. An ancient camp was
on it, and gave it the name of Eldebury Hill, but it is now
effaced. A chapel, dedicated to St Anne, was built on it in

1334, and a dwelling-house is said to have been constructed

out of the chapel by Lawrence Tomson, translator of the New
Testament, but only a piled heap of the stones remains. St

Anne's House, once the seat of Charles James Fox and of

Lord Holland, is on the SE side of the hill, and Monk's
Grove is on the NI'', side.

Anne's Hill, St, the highest summit of the Marlborough
Downs, 6 miles V.'SE of Devizes, in Wilts. It has an eleva-

tion of about 1000 feet .above the level of the sea. The
Wans Dyke goes along its summit, and the camp of Rybury,

a primitive military work of the .aboriginal inhabitants, is on

a southerly projection. A fair, known throughout Wilts and
the neighbouring counties as Tan Hill fair, is held on St

Anne's Hill on 6 Aug.
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Annesley, a village and a parish in Notts, on the border
of Sherwood Forest, with a station on the M.K., 6 miles SSW
of Mansfield. The parish contains a portion of Annesley
Woodhouse, and has a post and money order office under
Nottingham. Acreage, 3125; popul.ation, 1374. Annesley
Park was the birthplace of Mary Chaworth, the object of

the early attachment of Lord Byron, celebrated in the poem
of " The Dream." The manor belonged, for some time after

the Conquest, to the Annesleys, now of Bletchingdon, who
built a castle in the park, and a priory in Felley. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; value, £36.
There are two chm'ches in the parish, an old one still in use,

and of considerable interest, which adjoins the H.all, and a
new one, built in 1874, to seat about 350, which stands well

on a hill overlooking the colliery. There are chapels for

B.aptists, Wesleyans, and Methodists (Free Church), at
Annesley Woodhouse. There is a colliery which affords

employment to about 1000 hands.

Annet, one of the Scilly islands. It lies W of St Agnes,
separated by Smith's Sound, was formerly much larger than
now, and is uninhabited. Annet Head, at its north-western

extremity, overlooks veiy whirling tides, among obstructing

rocks, the " dogs " of Scilly.

Annfield Plain, a village in the ecclesiastical parish of

Collierley, Durh.am. It has a station for goods on the N.E.R.,
and a post, moucy order, and telegraph office under Lintz
Green (R.S.O.)

Aunilsford, a sm.all colliery vill.age in the parish of

Killingworth, Northumberland. It has a station on the

N.E.R. Post town, Dudley (R.S.O.), which is the money
order office.

Annscroft, an ecclesiastical parish in Salop, formed from
the civil parishes of St Chad's, Shrewsbury, Condover, and
Jleole Br.aee. It includes the hamlets of Annscroft, Hooka-
gate, Lyth Bank, and Exford's Green, and the township of

Great Lyth. Annscroft is 2 miles SE of Hanwood station,

on the Shrewsbury and Welshpool .Joint (L. & N.W. and
G.W.) railway, and 4 SW of Slii'ewsbury, which is the post

toivn. Population of the parish, 479. The hving is a

rectory in the diocese of Lichfield; value, £161. Patrons,

the Trustees. The church w.as erected in 1869. There is

a Free Methodist chapel, and a Primitive Methodist chapel

at Hook.agate.

Ansford or Almsford, a parish m Somerset, i a mile

from Castle Cary station on the G.W.R. Post town, Castle

Cary, which is the money order .and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 841 ;

population, 300. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Bath .and Wells
;
gross value, £320. The church

was restored in 1861, at a cost of about £1000, and in 1889
.an organ was presented by the rector.

Ansley, a village and a p.ai-ish in W.aiwickshire, on the

river Bom-ne, 2i miles N of Arley station on the M.R., 5 W
of Nuneaton, and 4 from Atherstone, under which the parish

has a post office ; money order office, Hartshill ; telegraph

office, Stockingford r.ailway station. Acreage, 2930
;
popu-

lation, 951. Coal is extensively worked. Ansley Hall,

now in the occupation of the Ansley Hall Co.al and Iron
Comp.any, once fomied part of the possessions of the famous
L.ady Godiva. It stands in an extensive pai-k, which abounds
with both n.atural and artilicial beauties, .and contains a
hermitage. The hermitage was fomied out of an ancient

oratory, .and was the place where Warton wrote his lines,

" Beneath this stony roof reclined." The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Worcester ; value, £190. The church is

partly E;u-ly Norman, has a fine Norman .arch dividing the

chancel from the nave, also a smaller Norman arch over the

north door, now stopped up. The tower of the church is of

hewn stone, and measures 72 feet and upwards in height,

and 18 by 17 feet square at the b.ase, is very regular and
well built, and one of the best towers for so small a village

in the county, if not the whole kingdom. There is a Con-
gregational chapel.

Anslow, a township and an ecclesiastical parish iu Rol-

Icston parish, Staffordshire, near the Gr,and Trunk Canal, 2h
unles S of Tutbury station on the North Staffordshire rail-

w.ay, and 4 NW of Burton-on-Trent. Acreage, 1564 ;
popula-

tion of the township, 402; of the ecclesiijstical parish, which
includes pait of the civil p.ai'ish of Tutbuiy, 564. The
hving is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; value, £243.
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The church is imitation Nomian, built in 1850. There is a

Primitive Methodist chapel.

Anstey, a pai-ish in Herts, on Ermine Street, near the

river Quin, 4J miles NE of Buntingford station on the G.E.R.,

and 7 SSE of Koyston. Post town, Buntingford, which is

the money order office ; telegraph office, Barkway. Acreage,

2150; population, 396. A castle stood here upon a high

round hill, said to have been erected soon after the Conquest

by Eustace, Earl of Boulogne, but was demolished in the

time of Henry III. " because it had been a nest of rebels."

The moat which surrounded it still remains. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; value, £300 with

residence. Patron, Christ College, Cambridge. The church

was bnilt out of the materials of the castle, and is cruciform

and of mixed architecture, from Norman to Perpendicular.

There is also a small Primitive Methodist chapel. Austey
Hall is a chief residence.

Anstey, a township and a parish formed in 1866, from

Thurcaston parish, Leicester, on a branch of the river Soar,

4 miles NW of Leicester, and 1^ N from Glentield station on

the M.R. The parish has a post and telegraph office under

Leicester. Acreage, 784 ;
population, 1759. The manor

belonged to Ulverscroft Abbey, and went to the Greys of

Groby. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peter-

borough ; net value, £200. The church was rebuilt in

1850, but retains an ancient tower. There are Congrega-

tional, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Anstey or Ansty, a village and a parish in Warwick-
shire, on the Oxford Canal, near the river Sow and Shilton

station on the Trent Valley branch of the L. & N.W.R., and
5 miles NE of Coventry, under which the parish has a

post office ; money order and telegraph office, Brinklow.

Aci'eage, 1023
;
population of the civil parish, 127 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 477. The living is a vicarage united with

that of Shilton, in the diocese of Worcester ; net value,

£256. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is an

ancient Perpendicular edifice with an embattled western

tower, which has a spire erected to the memory of Major-

General Adams, who fell at Inkerman. Ansty Hall is the

chief residence.

Anstey, a parish in Wilts, under Whitesheet Hill, 2 miles

S by E of Tisbury station on the L. & S.W.R., and 5 SSE of

Hindon. Post town, Tisbury, under Salisbury, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1382
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 247 ; of the ecclesiastical, 262. A
prcceptory of the Hospitallers was founded here in 1210;
and a bai-n belonging to it still remains. The hving is a
donative in the diocese of Salisbury. The church is the

oldest in the diocese, has an ancient font, and is in good
condition, having been completely restored in 1878. Dr
Richai'd Zouch, judge of the Court of Admiralty in the reign

of Charles L, was a native.

Anstey, a hamlet in Hilton parish, Dorset, 9 miles WSW
of Blandford.

Anstey, East, a paiish in Devon, on the river Yeo, on the

Devon and Somerset branch of the G.W.R., 188 miles from
London. Post town and money order office, Dulverton, under
Tiverton ; telegraph office, Dulverton railway station. Acre-

age, 3303
;

population, 234. The surface is hilly. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; value, £120.
The church is fair, and was restored in 1871, and dedicated

to St Michael. A revel is held in the first week in October.

Anstey-Pastures, formerly extra-parochial, now a parish

in Leicestershire, contiguous to the parishes of Anstey and
Glenfield, 3 miles NW of Leicester. It was included within

the Duchy of Lancaster, and now belongs to the proprietor of

Anstey Hall. Area, 147 acres; population, 28.

Anstey, West, a parish in Devon, on the river Yeo, con-

tiguous to East Anstey. Post town, Dulverton, under Tiv-
erton. Acreage, 3010

;
population, 230. The surface is

hilly. The living is a vicaiage in the diocese of Exeter

;

value, £185. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Exeter.

The church is good.

Anstiebury or Hanstiebury, an ancient circular camp
with a double trench, iu the eastern vicinity of Coldharbour,

4J miles S of Dorking, in Surrey. It comprises 10 acres,

and is nearly covered with trees and brushwood. Flint

arrowheads and many Saxon coins have been fouud in its

neighbourhood.

ANTON

Anstis Cove, a romantic little dell on the coast of Devon,

in the southern vicinity of Babbacombe Bay, 2 miles from

Torquay. Its sides consist of limestone cliffs, variously

rugged, buttressed, and smooth, and partly covered with ivy

or shaded with wood ; and its northern promontory com-
mands a magnificent view of the coast from Teignmouth to

Portland.

Anston-cum-Membris, a township and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on the Chesterfield

Canal, about 1 mile N of Kiveton Park station on the M.S. &
L.R., and 12 ESE of Sheffield, is divided into North and
South Anston ; and has a post office, of the name of South

Anston, under Rotherham. Area, 3852 acres; population

of the civil parish, 1378 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1168. There

are stone quanies, and lime-burning is carried on. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of York ; net value, £240
with residence. Patron, the Archbishop of York. The
church is in good order, having recently been restored. There

are two Methodist chapels.

Answell Tor, a hill on the left side of the river Dart, 1^
mile NW of Ashburton, Devon. It is skirted with a wood of

firs, and commands a fine view to the S.

Ant, The, a stream of Norfolk. It rises near Anting-

ham, and runs about 12 miles SSE, past North Walsham
and Irstead, to the Bure below Horning.

Anthony-in-Meneage, St, a parish in Cornwall, on the

S shore of the estuary of Helford, 5J miles S by W of Fal-

mouth, and 11 from Helston railway station. Post town,

Helston ; money order office, Helford ; telegi'aph office,

Manaccan. Acreage, 1419 of land and 237 of water;
population, 159. Picturesque creeks branch here from
Helford estuary ; Dinas Promontory projects at its mouth,
and commands fine views; and the Great and Little Dinas
entrenchments, originally ancient British camps, command
its entrance, and were held as military posts in the civil war
of Charles I. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Trm-o ; net value, £94 with residence. Patron, the Lord
Chancellor. The church stands on the shore, at the base of

Dinas Promontory, is an old edifice, with a granite tower and
a font ; and was a cell to Tywardreath Priory, founded before

the time of Richard I.

Anthony-in-Roseland, St, a parish in Cornwall, on the

English Channel and the E side of Falmouth Harbour, 3
miles E of Falmouth, and 14 S of Truro station on the

G.W.R. Post town, Grampound Road ; money order and
telegraph office, Porthscatho. Acreage, 753 of land and 102
of water; population, 153. St Anthony's Head projects

into the sea at the mouth of Falmouth Harbour, and is

crowned by a lighthouse, showing a light visible at the dis-

tance of 12 miles. The Old Wall rock, with 26 feet of

water, lies ofi' the headland. A bed of shell, 30 feet above
high-water mark, occurs at Perth. Place House adjoins the

church, and occupies the site of an Augnstinian priory, which
was founded in 1124, by Warlewast, Bishop of Exeter, and
was a cell to Plympton. The living is a donative in the

diocese of Trm-o. The church is a beautiful small structure

in Early English, with a Norman doonvay, has been restored,

and contains a monument, by Westmacott, to Admiral Sir

Richard Spry. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Anthom or Ainthom, a township in Bowness parish,

Cumberland, on Anthom lake and the N side of the Wam-
pool estuary, 8 miles NNW of Wigton. There is a Congre-
gational chapel.

Antingham, a parish in Norfolk, at the source of the Ant
river, 1 mOe SW from Gunton station on the G.E.R., 2J miles

NNW of North Walsham, and 16 N of Norwich. Post town.
North Walsham, under Norwich, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1514 ; population, 238.
There are ecclesiastically two parishes, St Mary and St
Margaret, and both are rectories in the diocese of Norwich.
St Mary is united with the vicarage of Thorpe-Market and
the donative of Bradfield; joint net yearly value, £386.
Patron, Lord Suffield. The church is a structure of flint, in

good condition, and has a brass of Calthorpe. St Margaret
is annexed to the vicarage of North W;Usham, and the church
is in ruins.

Anton, The, a river of Hants. It rises among the chalk
hills in the neighbourhood of Penton-Mewsey ; runs 7 miles

south-eastward, past Andover, to a junction with the Test
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in the vicinity of Wherwell ; and goes thence 17 miles south-

ward, past Stockbridge and Romsey, to the head of South-

ampton Water. See Andover.
Antony or West Antony, a parish in Cornwall. It is

also called Anthony St Jacob. It lies on Lynher Creek and

the Hamoaze, 4 miles west of Devonport station on the

G.W.K., and 6 SE of St Germans, and has a post office, of

the name of Antony, under Devonport. Acreage, 3290 of

laud and 882 of water
;
population of the civil parish, 3681;

of the ecclesiastical parish of East Antony, 1259. Antony
House ia a large square edifice of Pentnan stone, built in

1721 by Gibbs, and contains an interesting collection of old

pictures. Torpoint, in the parisli, is a pleasant place, and,

owing to its proximity to Devonport and Plymouth, is a

favourite residence of officers connected with the dockyards

and the navy at these towns. Antony Passage, at East

Antony, has a ferry to Trematon. Beggars Island, below

the passage, was named after Bamfyeld Moore Carew, com-

monly called King of the Beggars. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Truro; net value, £195. The church was

built in 1420, but has a tower of the previous century, and

it contains monuments of Lady Margery Arundel, Richard

Carew, who wrote the " Survey of Cornwall," and Captain

Graves, R.N., who figured in the time of George II. Tlic

curacy of Jlerifield is united with the vicarage, and the per-

petual curacy of Torpoint is a separate incumbency. There

is a Wcsleyan chapel. The workhouse of St Germans is in

this parish.

Antrobus, a parish and a township in Cheshire. The parish

lies 3 miles NE of Acton Bridge station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 4J NW of Northwich, which is the post and money
order office ; telegraph office, Comberbach. Acreage, 2114

;

population, 425. The ecclesiastical parish includes also the

township of Seven Oaks, and was constituted in 1848

;

population, C02. Tlie living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Chester; value, £195. Patron, the Vicar of Great Bud-
worth. The church was built in 1848, and improved in

1863. There is a Wesley.an chapel.

Auwick, a parish in Lincolnshire, near the Sleaford Canal,

4 J miles ENE of Sleaford, and 2 SE from Ruskington station

on the G.N.R. and G.E.R. Post town, Sleaford; money
order and telegi'aph office, Ruskington. Acreage, 2016

;

population, 261. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the

rectory of Brauncewell, in the diocese of Lincoln. The

church is a building of stone, in the Decorated style. There

is also a Wesleyan ch.apel.

Apesthorpe, or Habblesthorpe, a parish and a small

village in Notts, near the river Trent, 1 mile E of Leverton rail-

w.ay station, and 6j miles E of East Retford. The parish con-

tains the hamlet of Coates. Post town, Lincoln; money
order and telegraph office, Sturton-le-StcepIe. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell, joined to that of

North Leverton; joint net value, £200 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Southwell. There is no church now
in existence, but the churchyaid is still used for bm'ial.

Apethorpe, a parish in Northamptonshire, on an affluent

of tlie river Nen, 5 miles SW of Wansford, under wliicli it

has a post office ; money order and telegraph office. King's

Cliffe. Acreage, 1784; population of the civil parish, 175
;

of the ecclesiastical, with Woodnewton, 524. Apethorpe

Hall is the splendid seat of the Earl of Westmoreland, has a

st.atue of James I., and was the place where that monarch

first met his favourite Villiers. The living is a vicarage,

united to Woodnewton, in the diocese of Peterborough
;
joint

net yearly value, £280 with residence, in the gift of the

Bishop of Peterborough. The chmxh is good, and contains

a splendid monument to Sir W. Mildmay, Chancellor of the

Exchequer in the reigu of Queen Elizabeth, and founder of

Emmanuel College, Cambridge.

Apeton, a hamlet in Gnosall parish, Staffijrdshire, 6i miles

SW of Stafford.

Apley, a pai'ish in Lincolnshire, near Langworth river, 2-^-

miles SW of Wragby station on the G.N.R.,and 10 NE from

J>incoln. Post town, AVragby, which is the money order and

telegraph office. Acreage, 1670 ;
population, 167. The

manor belonged to the Tyrwhittses and descended to the

Drakes, and the old mansion on it is now a farmhouse.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln, annexed

to that of Stainfield. There is no church.
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Apley, a seat on the edge of a wooded sea-cliff, § of a mile

E of Ryde, in the Isle of Wight. It was built in the early

part of last centm-y by the noted smuggler David Boyce, and
occupies one of the most enchanting spots in the island.

Apley Castle, 1 mile NE of Wellington, Salop. The
present house is a modern red brick mansion, standing in

a finely-wooded park of 400 acres. The old castle, of which
slight remains exist, was the seat of the Ch.arlton family

;

it was garrisoned for Charles I., and was besieged and cap-

tured by the Parliamentary army in the Civil War.

Apley Park, a hamlet and a beautiful seat on the river

Severn, in Stockton parish, 3 miles N of Bridgnorth, Salop.

The house is a fine mansion of Grinshill stone, with a lofty

square tower. The grounds ai'C richly picturesque and finely

wooded, extending over 245 acres ; a terrace, over a mile

long, commands a superb panoramic view to the Clents, the

Malverns, Clee, Wenlock Edge, and the Wrekin.

Apperley, a township in Bywell St Peter parish, North-

umberland, near the Tyne, 7 miles ESE of Corbridge.

Stocksfield is the post, money order, and telegraph office,

and railway station.

Apperley, a hamlet in Deerhurst parish, Gloucestershire,

on the river Severn, 4 miles SW of Tewkesbury, under which

it has a post office, and at which is the money order and
telegraph office. It is very flat, and subject to frequent inun-

dation. Apperley Court stands on an eminence ; it contains

a large .and unique collection of fossils and geological speci-

mens. There is a chapel of ease.

Apperley Bridge, a scattered village in Eccleshill parish,

in the W. li. Yorkshire, on the river Aire, the Leeds and
Liverpool Canal, and the Leeds and Bradford railway, 4

miles NE of Bradford. It has a station on the M.Ii., a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Leeds, and a

large school for the education of the sons of Wcsleyan
ministers, and it commands a fine view.

Appersett, a hamlet in Hawes parish, in the N. R. York-
shire, in Wedale, under Cam Fell, at the head of the river

Ure, 4 miles SW of Hawes.

Appleby, a parish in Lincolnshu-e, 7 miles NNW of Brigg.

It includes Raventhorpe hamlet, and has a post and money
order office under Doncaster. It has a station on the M.S.

& L.R., which is also the telegraph office. Acreage, 6693
;

population of the civil parish, 584; of the ecclesiastical,

610. Appleby Hall, an ancient mansion here, is the occa-

sional residence of Lord St Oswald. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Lincoln; gross yearly value, £170, in the

gift of Lord St Oswald. The church is a neat structure,

with a tower. There aie ironworks here, and brickmaking

is also carried on.

Appleby, a village, a township, and a parish on the con-

fines of Leicester and Derby. The village stands 1^ mile

WSW of the Mease river and the Ashby-de-la-Zouch Canal,

and about 2 miles from Measham railway station. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office mider Atherstone.

It is sometimes called Applehy-Magna or Great Appleby,

while a hamlet a little S of it, in the same parish, is called

Appleby-Parva or Little Appleby. The parish comprises

2853 acres; population, 657. Appleby Hall is the seat of

the Moore family, who are lords of the manor. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; value, £800
with residence. The church is a handsome structure with a

spire, and has some good painted glass. There are three

dissenting chapels and an endowed grammar-school—the

latter founded in 1697 by Sir John Moore, lord m.ayor of

London. Endowed income of the grammai'-school, £300
per annum.

Appleby, a municipal borough, market-town, and the chief

town of Westmoreland, stands on the river Eden, and on the

Eden Valley railway, 9i miles ENE of Shap, and 13 SE of

Penrith. It is 268 miles from London by road, and 276 by

the M.R. The town consists of Appleby proper, in the parish

of Appleby St Lawrence, on the left bank of the river, and

Old Appleby or Bongate, in the parish of Appleby St Michael,

on the right bank. It dates from the time of the Romans,

and was long a place of similar importance to York. It gave

name to a sheriffdom under Edward the Confessor ; stood

prominent at the Conquest ; underwent surprise and demoli-

tion by Willham the Lion, king of Scotland ; speedily re-

acquu'ed its former strength, and became the seat of a Court
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of Exchequer; suffered demolition again by the Scots in 1388

;

recovered but pai'tially from the blow, and was desolated in

1598 by the plague; made a heroic resistance, under the

direction of Anne, Countess of Pembroke, to the Parliamen-

tarian army in 1648, but was constrained to yield. It is

supposed to have had a length or breadth of at least 2 miles,

and the name Burrals, belonging to a township now IJ mile

distant from it, is believed to be a coiTuption of borough-

walls. The town was made a borough by Henry II., and it

sent two members to Parliament from the time of Edward I.

till disfranchised in 1832. Pitt, the famous prime minister,

first sat in Parliament for Appleby, for which place he was

returned three times. Appleby is governed by a mayor, 4

aldermen, and 11 councillors, under a new charter, which

was granted on the 20 July, 1S85, extending to the town

all the privileges of the Municipal Acts. By this charter

the town is divided into two wards, Appleby and Bongate.

It is a seat of petty sessions, quarter sessions, and assizes, and
is the headquarters of the county militia. But its ancient

glory is represented mainly by antiquities and historical

associations. The town is supphed with gas and water, and

there is an excellent system of sewerage. It is said to have

the best trout fishing in the north of England, and the

proximity of the Pennine range of mountains attracts a lai-ge

number of visitors in the summer season.

Appleby proper stands on a hill-slope, with the castle at its

head, and the church of St Lawrence at its foot; comprises

one main street and three intersecting small ones ; and is

irregularly built, but contains some good houses. The castle

occupies the site of the Roman station Galacum ; was built

by the Saxons, and rebuilt, in the time of Henry VL, by

Lord Clifford; and contains a portrait of the Countess Anne
of Pembroke, many other family portraits, some valuable

manuscripts, and some interesting old aiTnour. The Church
of St Lawrence is an edifice in Late English, chiefly rebuilt

by the Countess Anne of Pembroke, and contains tombs of

that lady, of her mother, the Countess of Cumberland, and
of other Cliffords. The county-hall, in the Main Street, is

a large, ancient structure. The market-house, built in 1811,
after a design by Smirke. is a handsome Gothic edifice.

Queen Ehzabeth's Grammar-school contained some curious

ancient inscriptions, recording the misfortunes of the town,

found here and put up by one of the masters, the friend of

Camden, but which have been removed. It possesses an
endowed income of over £200, with exhibitions at Queen's

College, Oxford, and has been rebuilt at a cost of about

X4000. Countess Anne's Hospital, founded and endowed by
the Countess Anne of Pembroke, is a quadrangular building

for thirteen aged widows, and has an endowed income of

about £800, and there are several other charities. An ancient

two-arched bridge spans the Eden, and connects the two
sections of the town. The Church of St Michael, about | of

a mile SE of the town, is a neat edifice, and has been restored

at a cost of about £3000. It has tombs of the Hiltons of

Mnrton. A monastery for White Friars, founded in 1281 by

Lord Vessey, stood in Bongate, and was given to an ancestor

of the Earl of Lonsdale. The town has a post, money order,

and telegraph office, two banks, and a weekly newspaper.

A weekly market is held on Saturday, and fairs for horses,

cattle, and sheep on the second Tuesday and Wednesday in

June, and for sheep and cheese on 21 Aug. Thomas de

Viteripont of tlie 13tli century, Thomas de Appleby, bishop

of Carlisle, Roger de Appleby, bishop of Ossory, Dr Bam-
bridge, ai'chbishop of York, and Dr Christopher Potter, dean
of Durham, were natives ; and Bedell, bishop of Kilmore,

Barlow, bishop of Lincoln, Addison, dean of Lichfield, and
Dr Langhorne, the translator of Plutarch, were educated at

the grammar school.

The population of the borough of Appleby is 1776; acre-

age, 1852. The civil parish of Appleby St Michael or Bon-
gate includes the part of the town on the right side of the

Eden, but also extends into the country. Acreage, 15,521

;

population, 1458. The ecclesiastical parish of Appleby St
Michael has a population of 1160. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Carlisle ; value, £324. Patron, the Bishop
of Carlisle. The parish of Appleby St Lawrence has an
area of 6058 acres; population, 1235. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle ; value, £332. Pati'ons,

the Dean and Chapter of Carlisle,
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Appleby Parliamentary Division, or North We&tmore^
land, was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of

1885, and returns one member to the House of Commons.
Population, 31,176. The division includes the following

parishes:—Ambleside—Ambleside, Applethwaite, Grasmere,

Langdales, Rydal and Loughrigg, Troutbeck, Under Millbcck

;

East Ward — Appleby, Ashy, Bongate, Broughs, Brough
Sowerby, Crosby Garrett, Dufton, Hartley, Hillbeck, Kaber,

Kirkby Stephen, Kirkby Thore, Longmartin, Mallerstang,

Milbonrne, Musgrave (Great), Musgrave (Little), Nateby,

Newbiggen, Ormside, Orton, Ravenstonedale, Smardale, Soulby,

Stainmoor, Temple Sowerby, Waitby, Warcop, Wliarton,

Winton; West Ward—Askham, Barapton, Barton, Bolton.

Brougham, CUburn, Clifton, Crosbyravensworth, Kings

Meabum, Lowther, Martindale, Morland, Newby, Patterdale,

Shap, Sleagill, Sockbridge, Strickland (Great), Strickland

(Little), Thrimby, Winder (Low), Yanwath and Eamont
Bridge.

Appledore, a tithing in Burlescombe parish, Devon, near

the G.W.R., the Western Canal, and the Culm river, 7J miles

ENE of Tiverton,

Appledore, a seaport village and a chapelry m Northam
parish, Devon. The village stands on the bay at the months

of the rivers Ton*idge and Taw, 1 mile from Instow station

on the Torrington branch of the L. & S.W.R. There is a

post, money order, and telegraph office. Population, 2449.

It has pleasant environs. Hubba the Dane landed here in

the time of King Alfred, but was taken in the neighbourhood,

and put to death. The chapelry includes the village, and
was constituted in 1844. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Exeter; value, £300. Patron, the Vicar of Nor-

tham. The church is a neat edifice, and there are chapels

for Congregationalists, Baptists, and Wesleyans. There is

a diy dock, patent slip, and a quay. A fair trade is done in

sliipbnilding and importing timber from Norway and Sweden.

Appledore, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands on the Military Canal, on a branch of the river Rother,

on the W border of Romney Marsh, IJ mile W of a station

of its own name on the S.E.R., 04 miles from London. It

formerly had a weekly market, and still has a fair on the

fourth Monday in June. It was once a seaport, on the quondam
estuary of the Rother, and was assailed by the Danes in

the time of King Alfred, and by the French in 1380. The
parish comprises 3007 acres; population of the civil parish,

5115; of the ecclesiastical, with Ebony, 769. Much of the

land is rich meadowy pasture. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Canterbury; value, £260. Patron, the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury. Ebony is a distinct parish and living,

but joined to Appledore. The church has a singular pro-

jection from the N side of the nave, and is a strange mixture

of Norman, Early English, and Decorated. It was restored

in 1890. There is a Wesleyan chapel, and a post, money
order, and telegi'aph office.

Appledram or Apuldram, a parish in Sussex, on the E
side of Chichester Harbonr, 1^ mile from Chichester station

on the L.B. & S.C.R., and 2 miles byroad SW of Chichester,

which is the post town, and money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 937
;

population, 144. A famihouse near the

church was part of a castle which William Rynian was
stopped in building in the time of Edward II., and the rest

of the materials were used in erecting the Campanile or bell

tower that bears his name at Chichester. The living is a

perpetual curacy in the diocese of Chichester ; value, £154.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Chichester. The church

is Early English, was carefully restored in 1877, and is

particularly worthy of notice.

Appleford, a township in Sutton-Courtney parish, Berks,

on the river Thames, 3 miles from Didcot station on the

G.W.R., and 3^ SE of Abingdon, which is the post town;

telegraph office, Cnlham (R.S.) Acreage, 862
;
population,

301. The living is a perpetual curacy annexed to the

vicarage of Sutton-Courtney, in tlie diocese of Oxford. The
church is a structure of stone, in the Early English style.

Applegarth-Forest, a hamlet in Bowes township and
parish, N. R. Yorkshire. It is 12 miles N of Muker, and 1

mile from Bowes station on the N.E.R.

Applesham, a locality near the river Adur and the South
Coast railway, 1 mile NW of Shoreham, Sussex. It is a
resort of sportsmen,
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Appleshaw, a village and a parish in Hants. The village

stands under the Downs, 2 miles from Weyhill station on

the L. & S. W.R., and it has a post office under Andover, and
fairs on 7 and 8 October and 4 November. The parish con-

tains also the hamlet of Tilly-Down, and parts of the hamlets

of Appleshaw-Bottom and Dancey. Acreage, 713
;
popu-

lation, 238. There is a money order and telegraph office at

Weyhill. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Win-
chester; value, i£2 15. The church is good, and there is a

Methodist chapel.

Appleshaw-Bottom, a hamlet in the p.arishes of Apple-
shaw and Weyhill-with-Penton, Hants.

Applethwaite, a township and a parish in Westmore-
land. The township contains Windermere village and rail-

way station, includes part of Windermere Lake, and extends

southward from the mouth of Troutheck Vale to about a

mile from Bowness. Post town, Windermere. Acreage,

9121; population of civil parish, 2252; of ecclesiastical,

192G. An upland tract on the NE side, between Trout-

beck and Kentmere, is Applethwaite Common, on which is a

reservoir with a capacity of 10,000,000 gallons. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle ; value, £200. Patron,

the Bishop of Carlisle.

Applethwaite, a village on the ascent of Skiddaw, 2 miles

N of Keswick, Cumberland. It has a post office under Kes-

wick, and commands a splendid view of Derwentwjiter and
the surrounding mountains. A small property adjacent to

it was given by Sir George Rowland Beaumont to the poet

Wordsworth.

Appleton, a village and a parish in Berkshire. The vil-

lage stands near the Upper Thames, 5 miles NW of Abingdon
station on the G.W.R., and has a post and money order office

under Abingdon, which is the telegraph office. The parish

includes also the township of E.aton. Acreage, 2077 ; popu-
lation, 532. The Fettiplaces had an old seat here, which is

now reduced to a fragment, with remains of a moat. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value,

£330 with residence, in the gift of Magdalen College, Oxford.

The clnircli is a plain stone building in the Early English

style, the chancel being 15th century. The tower contains

a fine peal of ten bells. The nave was restored in 1883.

The church has a Jacobean tomb of Sir J. Fettiplace, and a

brass of a skeleton (1518). There is also a small Wesleyan
chapel. The manor house is supposed to have been built in

the reign of Henry II.

Appleton, a village in Widnes township, Farnworth ec-

clesiastical parish, Lancashire, ne.ar St Helen's railway, the

Sankey Canal, and the river Mersey, 6^ miles NNW of War-
rington. It has a station on the Widnes section of the

L. & N.W.R,, a post and money order office under Widnes,

and Wesleyan, Baptist, and Roman Catholic chapels. Pinion

wire, for watches and clocks, and tools are manufactured here,

and tliere is .also a quarry of red sandstone.

Appleton, a hamlet in Flitcbam parish, Norfolk, 3 miles

NE of Castle-Rising. It is regarded ecclesiastically as a

parish. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich,

annexed to the rectory of Sandringham. Patron, H.R.H.
the Prince of Wales. The church is in ruins.

Appleton or Hull and Appleton, a township in Great

Budworth parish, Cheshire, stretching from J to 4J miles

S and SW of Warrington, which is the post town; money
order and telegi'apb office, Stockton Heath. Acreage, 3422

;

population, 2769. Stockton Heath, with Wilderspool, was
constituted an ecclesiastical p.arish in 1838. The remainder

of tlie township was made a separate ecclesiastical parish in

1887, under the name of Appleton Thorne. Population,

375. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chester;

value, £290. It contains the hamlets of Appleton Thorne,

Appleton Cross, Hill ClifT, Stockton Heath, and Wilderspool.

Appleton Hall is a chief residence. There are Baptist and
Wesleyan chapals.

Appleton, East and West, a township in Catterick parish,

in the N. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles from Catterick Bridge station

on the N.E.R. Catterick is the post, money order, and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 1631
;
population, lOG. The Duke

of Leeds is lord of the manor.

Appleton-Ie-Moors, a village and an ecclesiastical parish

in the N. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles from Stnnington station on the

N.E.R. The parish has a post and money order office under
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Sinnlngton (R.S.O.) ; telegraph office, Kirby Moorside. Acre-

age, 1323
;
population, 242. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of York ; value, £177 with residence. The church

was built in 1865. There is a Wesleyan chapel. Appleton
Hall is a spacious modern mansion.

Appleton-le-Street, a village, a township, and a parish

in the N. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on the Roman
road to Aldborough, near the river Rye, 1 mile W of Amotherby

railway station. Acreage, 1633 ;
population of the civil

parish, 161 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Amotherby, 890.

The parish contains also the townships of Swinton, Bronghton,

Amotherby, and Hildenley, and the hamlet of Easthorpe.

Post town, Malton, which is the money order and telegraph

office. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York ; net

value, £309 with residence. The church has an Early

Norman tower, and contains two recumbent effigies.

Appleton-Nun, a seat in Bolton-Percy parish, in the

W. R. Y'orkshire, at the confluence of the Wharfe and the

Ouse, 5i miles SE of Tadcastcr, and 2 from Appleton-

Roebuck. It w.as the site of a Cistercian nunnery, founded

by Adeliza de St Qninton, in the reign of Stephen. It is a

fine brick m.ansion, situated in a large well-wooded park,

and was formerly the seat of the Fairfax family, but it is

now the property of the Milner family, who are lords of the

manor and chief landowners.

Appleton-Roebuck, a township and a straggling village

in the ecclesiastical parish of Acaster Selby, in the W. R.

Yorkshire. Acreage, 2920 ;
population, 393. The town-

ship is near Appleton-Nun, 2 miles NE of Bolton-Percy rail-

way station, and has a post office under Bolton-Percy

(R.S.O.), a church, built in 1868, and a Wesleyan chapel.

The living is a vicar.age, joined to that of Acaster Selby

;

net value, £290, in the gift of the Archbishop of York.

Appleton-Wiske or Appleton-upon-Wiske, a township

and parochial chapelry in Great Smeaton parish, in the

N. R. Yorkshire. The chapelry lies on the river Wiske,

3 miles NW of Welbury railway station, and 7J NNE of

Northallerton, under which it has a post oftice. Acreage,

1865
;
population, 294. The property is much subdivided.

The living is a vicarage, with Gre.at Smeaton, in tlie diocese

of Ripon
;

joint net value, £419. The church is very

ancient, and was thoroughly repaired in 1875. There are

ch.apels for Congregationalists, Wesleyans, and Primitive

Methodists, and a mechanics' institute.

Appletree, a township in Aston-le-Walls parish, North-

ampton, 7 miles NNE of Banbuiy. Acreage, 549; popula-

tion, 69.

Appletreewick, a village and a township in Bumsall

parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire. The village stands on the

river Wharfe, ne.ar Bardon Fell, 8 J miles NE by E of Skipton,

and has a fair on 27 Oct. Lord-Mayor Craven was a native.

The township includes also Skireholme hamlet. Acreage,

7689 ;
population, 229. Post town, Skipton. There is a

Primitive Methodist chapel.

Appley-Bridge, a station in Lancashire, on the L. & Y.R.,

4^ miles from Wigan, under which it has a post office;

money order office, Parbold.

Apps-Court, a seat near the Thames, 4| miles WSW of

Kingston, in Surrey. It was the residence of '' Conversation
"

Sharp, the author of " Letters."

Appuldurcombe or Applednrwell, a manor in Godshill

parish, 2J miles NW of Ventnor, Isle of Wight. It was
given by Isabella de Fortibus, in the time of Henry III., to

the Benedictine abbey of Montebourg in Normandy ; suffered

seizure, in the time of Henry V., in reprisal of the hostilities

of Fr.ance ; was granted by Henry VI. to the Minoresses

without Aldgate in London ; went from them by lease to the

Frys, and from the latter by marriage to the Leighs and the

Worsleys
;
passed, at the death of Sir Richard, the last of

the "Worsleys, to the noble family of Yarborough ; and was
sold by them to Winn Williams, Esq. A priory stood on it

while it belonged to the Benedictines, and was afterwards

converted into a manor house, and one of the Worsleys en-

tertained here Henry VIII. and his minister Cromwell. The
present mansion was founded in 1710 by Sir Robert Worsley,

and completed by Sir Richard, the histori.an of the island,

and is a square Corinthian edifice of Portland stone, with low

projecting wings. A very rich collection of pictures, statues,

and antiquities was made in it by Sir Richard, and described
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in his magnificent and Tery costly work, the " Jlusenm \Vors-

leianum," but has been removed to tlie other seats of the

Earl of Yarborongh. The park is extensive, picturesque,

and highly diversified, and commands noble views. A granite

obelisk, erected in 1774 in memory of Sir Robert \Vorsley,

crowns the highest point, at an elevation of 685 feet above

the level of the sea.

Apsley End, an ecclesiastical parish, which was formed

in 1S73 from the parishes of Hemel Hempstead, Abbots

Langley. .mJ Kings Langley, Herts. It is Ij mile SE from

Boxmoor station on the L. & N.W.E., and the same distance

S from Hemel Hempstead. It includes most of the hamlets

of Nash Jlills and Two Waters, and has a post and telegraph

office under Hemel Hempstead. Population, 1301. The
church, wliich seats 400, is a building of flint and stone in

the Early Decorated style, was erected in 1871. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans ; value, £284 with

residence, in the gift of Trastees. Abbot's Hill and Nash
Mills House are country seat*.

Apthorpe. See Apethorpe.
Aqualate Mere, a lake on the W border of Staffordshire,

2 miles ENE of Newport, Salop. It is nearly J a mile broad,

and upwards of a mile long
;
possesses considerable beauty,

abounds in several kinds of fish of large size, and is the

resort of various aquatic wild fowls. Aqualate Hall, the seat

of the baronet family of Boughey, is adjacent.

Aran, a small river in Merionethshire, rising in Llyn Ai-an,

a small lake at the base of Cader Idris, and flowing north-

wards to the river Wnion at Dolgelley.

Aran Mawddwy and Aran Eetdlyn, two mountains on

the E border of Merionethshire, 2072 and 2902 feet high

respectively.

Arborfield, a village and a parish in Berkshire, on the river

Loddon, 4 miles W of Wokingham stations on the L. & S.W.R.

and S.E.R. Arborfield Cross, about 1 mile to the SE, has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Reading. Acres
in the parish, 14G0

;
population, 248. The manor formerly

belonged to the Bullocks, one of whom was " Hugh of the

Brazen Band," and the old manor-house, called in *'Our
Village " the " Old House at Aberleigh," was the deathplace,

in 1730, of Edward Standen, who is alluded to in the ballad

of " Molly Mogg of the Rose." The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Oxford
;
gross yearly value, £302. The old parish

church was built in 1256, and its ruins are still to be seen

in the grounds of Arborfield Hall. The present church was
built in 1SG3, and is in the Middle Pointed style. Arborfield

Hall and Arborfield Grange are chief residences.

Arbor-Low-Hill, an eminence in the vicinity of Youlgreave,

Derby. Its summit is crowned by a Druidical circle 160
feet in diameter, with 30 stones, and commands a fine view.

Arbury, a hamlet in Winwick parish, Lancashire, on the

Roman road, near the Liverpool railway, 3 miles N of War-
rington. Newton-le-Willows is the post town.

Arbury a Roman camp on Icknield Street, 5 J miles NNE
of Baldock, Herts.

Arbury or Harborough, a Roman camp near Gogmagog
Hills, 2 miles N of Cambridge.

Arbury-Banks, an ancient eai-thwork on Watling Street,

1 mile W of Chipping-Warden, Northampton.

Arbury-Hall, the seat of the Newdegate family, in Chilvers-

Coton parish, 3 miles SW of Nuneaton, Warwickshire. An
Aagustinian priory was built on its site in the time of Henry II.;

given, in 1538, to Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk; pur-
chased, in the reign of Elizabeth, by Sir Edmund Anderson

;

and transferred, soon afterwards, in exchange for other pro-

perty, to John Newdegate, Esq. The priory was demolished,

and a quadrangular mansion erected in its place, by Sir

Edmund Anderson, and the mansion was transformed into

a handsome Gothic pile, of four fronts in difierent styles, by
Sir Roger Newdegate, who founded the Newdegate prize at

Oxford University, and died in 1806. The interior is splendid,

and possesses, among other attractions, a veiy curious and
interesting picture of the time of Henry VI., brought hither

from Astley Castle.

Arbury Hill, an eminence in Northamptonshire, between
Staverton and Cateshy. It is crowned by some ancient earth-

works, and though it rises but 804 feet above the level of the
sea, it has the local reputation of being " the highest ground
in England."

AEDINGTOM

Archdeacon Newton, a township in Darlington parish,

Durham, 3 miles NW of Darlington. It is chiefly the property

of the Ecclesiastical Commissioners, who ai'e lords of the

manor. Acreage, 1063 ;
population, 52.

Arclid, a township in Sandbach parish, Cheshire, 2 miles

E by N of Sandbach. It contains the Congleton Workhouse.

Acres, 552
;
population, 316.

Ard, a prefix of Celtic names, signifying " high," and con»-

monly applied to a high point or head.

Arddleen, a hamlet in Llandrinio parish, on the eastern

verge of Jlontgomeryshire, with a station on the Cambrian

railway, 6J miles NNE of Welshpool. It has a post office

under Oswestry; money order and telegraph office, Llany-

mynech.

Arddjmwent, a township in Mold parish, Flintshire, in

the vicinity of the town of Mold.

Ardeley or Yardley, a parish in Herts, on the river Beane,

4J miles SW by W of Bnntingford station on the Great

Eastern railway. Post town, Stevenage ; money order and

telegraph office, Walkern. Acreage, 2424
;
population, 464.

The manor was given by Athelstane to the Dean and Chapter of

St PauFs. Ardeley-Bury belonged once to the Cornwalls, then

to the Chaunceys, and passed to the Mnrrays. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans; value, £180
with residence, in the gift of the Dean and Chapter of

St Paul's. The church was repaired in 1859. Ardeley-

Bury is a chief residence. The hamlets of this parish

include Cromer and Woodend, in each of which there is a

small chapel of ease, and at the latter a Congregational chapel,

Parkers Green, Moor Green, Munches Green, and Gardeners

End, with portions of Hare Street and LufFenhall.

Arden, an extensive tract of wooded country in Warwick-
shire, extending northward from the Avon to the vicinity of

Birmingham. This was anciently a forest, and originally

but part of a still greater forest, between the Severn and the

Trent, to which Drayton refers in his " Polyolhion":

—

" That mighty Arden held, even in lier height of pride,

Her one liand touching Trent, the other Severn's side."

It was probably the type of Shakespeare's " Forest of Arden,"

and it gave the title of Baron to Earl Egmont. The name
signifies " the high wood," and much of the tract designated

by it is now caUed the Woodland. See Henley-in-Arden
and Habipton-in-Akden.

Arden-with-Ardenside, a township in Hawnby parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, 7J miles NW of Helmsley. Acreage, 4524;
population, 1)6. The surface is chiefly part of Humbleton
Moor. A Benedictine nunnery was founded here in 1150,
but has disappeared.

Ardens Grafton, a hamlet, partly in Exhall parish and
partly in Temple Grafton parish, Warwickshire, 3 miles SE
of Alcester.

Ardingly, a parish in Sussex, on the L.B. & S.C.R., 36
miles from London, and 3 NE of Cuckfield. It includes the

hamlet of Hapsted, and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph ofiice. Acreage, 3842
; population, 1280. Wakehurst

Place, a short distance NE of the church, was formerly the seat

of the Wakehursts and the Culpeppers. The mansion was
built in 1590 by one of the Culpeppers, and is a picturesque

structure, stained with lichens. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Chichester ; value, £460. The church is very old,

but has been restored, and contains brasses to the families of

Wakehurst and Culpepper. A Congregational chapel was
built in 1886. A reading-room is open during the winter,

and a recreation ground has been presented by the Marchioness

of Downshire and Lord Arthur Hill. The p.arish contains a

great lower middle school, called Ardingly College. The
buildings of the college were completed in 1869, are in the

First Pointed style, and comprise two quadrangles.

Ardington, a parish in Berkshire, on an affluent of the

Thames, near the Wilts and Berks Canal, 2 miles E of Wan-
tage, and 3J SE of Wantage Road station on the G.W.R.
It has a post and telegraph oSice under Wantage. Area of

the parish, 2693 acres; population of the civil parish,

496 ; of the ecclesiastical, 432. Ardington House was the

residence of Clarke the antiquary, and the seat of Robert

Vernon, who collected here the Vernon Gallery of pictures,

which he made over to the nation by deed of gift in 1847.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly

47



ARDLGIGH

value, i:209. Patron, Christ's Chui-ch, Oxford. The

church is a structure of stone in the Early English style.

It was restored and enlai-ged at the cost of Lord Wantage

in 1887.

Ardleigh, a village and a parish in Essex. The parish

is 5 miles NE from Colchester, and has a station on the

main line of the Great Eastern railway, and a post, money

order, and telegraph office under Colchester. Acreage, 50G2

;

population of the civil parish, 1538 ; of the ecclesiastical,

1322. The livmg is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans ;

value, £215, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The church

has been restored at a cost of about £6000. There is a

Wesleyan and a Primitive Jlethodist chapeh The soil is

gravel, and the air exceptionally bracing.

Ardley, a parish in Oxfordshire, on the boundary ditch

between Mercia and Wessex, 3 miles W of Somerton station

on the G.W.R., and 4J NW of Bicester, which is the post

town ; money order and telegraph oifice, Middleton Stoney.

Acreage, 1493
;
population, 135. Foundations exist of a

Norman castle, built in the reign of Stephen, on the site of

Offa's camp. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ox-

ford ; net yearly value, £285 with residence. Patron, the

Duke of Marlborough. The church is an ancient edifice of

stone, chiefly in the Decorated style.

Ardsley, a township, a village, and a parish in the W. K.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the Barnsley branch rail-

way, and on the Dearne and Dove Canal, 2| miles ESE of

Barnsley. It has a station (Stairfoot) on the M.S. & L.R.,

and a post and money order office ; telegraph office, Stairfoot.

The parish includes the hamlets of Stairfoot and Hoyle Mill

Acreage, 1259
;
population, 4494. A cemetery of 4 acres,

with two mortuai'y chapels, was opened in 1885. The

Oaks Collieries, wliere a terrible explosion occurred in Dec.

186C, by which 361 persons lost their Uves, are situated in

this township. There ai'e also extensive glass bottle works,

Ardsley House is the seat of the Micklethwait family, who
are lords of the manor and chief landowners. The fanatical

and ill-used Quaker, James Nayler, who died in 1660, was

a native. Tlie li™g is a vicarage in the diocese of York

;

net value, £170 witli residence. Patron, the Archbishop of

York, pro kac vice. The church is in the Norman style,

and was built in 1841. There is a dissenting chapel at

Ardsley and two at Stairfoot.

Ardsley, East, a village and a parish in the W. E. York-

shire, with a station on the G.N.R., 3J miles NW of Wake-
field. The parish has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Wakefield. Acreage, 1818; population, 3075.

Coal abounds, and there are iron-smelting works and a large

woollen manufactory. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Wakefield
;
gross value, £369 with residence. Patron,

the Countess of Cardigan. The church was entirely rebuilt

and enlarged in 1881 on the site of the old one, and a mission

chm'ch was erected in 1887, and there are Wesleyan and

Free Methodist chapels. Half an acre of laud was given by

the vicar in 1885 and added to the churchyard.

Ardsley, West, or Woodkirk, a parish in the W. R.

Yorkshire, on the Leeds and Wakefield railway, 5 miles NW
of Wakefield. Ardsley is the nearest railway station. It

includes the hamlets of Tingley, Lee Fair, Westerton, and

Beggarington, and has two post offices—one at Tingley and

one at West Ardsley, both under Wakefield. Acreage, 2327
;

population, 3709. Coal and iron are worked, and bricks are

made. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wakefield
;

value, £290 with residence. Patron, the Countess of Car-

digan. Tliere are two Methodist chapels.

Ardwick. See Manchester.
Areley Kings, a parish in Worcestershire, on the river

Severn, \ a mile SW of Stourport. It contains tlie hamlet

of Dnnley. Post town, Stourport. Acreage, 1503
;
popu-

lation, 731. An eminence on which the church is situated

commands an extensive prospect Areley Hall, Areley House,

and Areley Court are chief residences ; the two former be-

long to the Lloyd family, who are lords of the manor. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester; net value,

£325. Patron, the Rector of Martley. The church is of

the Decorated period, with a Norman doorway ; it was re-

built ill 1886, at a cost of £3000. A rude sepulchral monu-

ment, inscribed with a quaint rhyming distich, to the memory

of Sir Harry Coningsby, who died at Areley Kings in 1703,
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forms part of the chm'chyard fence. Layamon, author of

tlie " Brut," an ancient British chronicle in verse, was priest

here at the end of the 12th century. The base of an ancient

font, inscribed with his name, was found during the church's

restoration, and is now in use.

Arenig, a railway station in Merionethshire, on the Bala

and Festiniog branch of the G.W.R., 8 miles NW of Bala.

Arenig-FawT and Arenig-Fach are two mountains in

Merionethshire, 2800 and 2204 feet high respectively. Llyn

Arenig, a small deep lake, lies on the eastern slope of Arenig-

Fawr, about a mile from Arenig station.

Argam or Ergham, a township and a parish in the E. R.

Yorkshue, on the Wolds, 2J miles WSW of Speeton railway

station, and 5 NW of Bridlington, which is the post town

;

money order and telegi-aph office. North Burton. Acreage,

559
;
population, 40. The Uviug is a rectory in the diocese

of York, united to that of Sewerby-cum-Marton ; value, £37
with residence.

Argoed, a village in Bedwellty parish, Monmouthshire, 6

miles S of Tredegar, with a station on the Sirhowy branch

of the L. & N.W.R. It has a Baptist chapel.

Argoed, a township in Mold parish, Flintshire, Ij mile

from the town of Mold.

Ark, The, a stream of the N. R. Yorkshue. It rises on

Stonedale Moor, adjacent to the boundary with Westmore-

land, and mns 11 miles south-eastward, through Arkengarth-

Dale, to the Swale below Eeeth.

Arkendale, a township, a village, and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire, li mile from Copgrove railway station, and

3i NE of Knaresborough. The parish has a post office under

Knaresborough, which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. Acreage, 1604; population of the civil parish, 201

;

of the ecclesiastical, 165. The living is a perpetual curacy

in the diocese of Ripon
;
gross value, £200 with residence.

Patron, the Vicai" of Knai'esborough. The church is modern

and good, and was recently restored at a cost of £1300. There

are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Arkengarth-Dale, a parish in the N. R. Yorkshire, on

the river Arkle, 4 miles NW of Reeth, and 12 W of Rich-

mond railway station. It includes the hamlets of Arkle-

town. Booze, Longthwaite, Eskeleth, Seal-Houses, Whaw,
and High Green, and it has a post and money order office

under Richmond; telegraph office, Reeth. Acreage, 14,566;

population, 761. Lead is obtained in the dale; there are

also smelting-works and saw mills, and coal, slate, barytes,

and witherite ores are found. The mines were worked so

early as the time of King John. Much of the land is moor.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net value,

£153 with residence. The church is good, and there are a

Wesleyan chapel and a literary institute at Longthwaite,

and an endowed Church school.

Arkesden, a village and a parish in Essex, on an affluent

of the river Cam, 3 miles SW of Audley End station on the

G.E.R., and 5 SW of Safii-on-Walden. Post town, Newport,

which is the telegraph office ; money order office, Clavering.

Acreage, 2181
;
population, 341. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St Alban's ; value, £70 with residence.

The church, dedicated to St Mary the Virgin, is a large

building of flint and stone in the Early English and Decor-

ated styles, and has some very ancient monuments. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Arkholme-with-Cawood, a township chapelry in Lanca-

shire. The township is in Melling parish, lies on the river

Lune, 3 miles NNE of Horuby, has a station on tlie Carnforth

and Wennington joint branch of the M.R., and a post and

money order office under Kirkby Lonsdale. Acreage, 3016 ;

population, 301. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Manchester ; net value, £100. Patron, the Vicar of Mel-

ling. There is a Wesleyan chapel. Basket-making is

carried on.

Arkleby, a hamlet in Plumbland parish, 1\ mile SW of

Aspatrin, Cumberland. It has a post office under Aspatria

(R.S.O., Cumberiand).

Arkleside, a hamlet in Carlton-Highdale township. Cover-

ham parish, N. R. Yorkshire, GA miles SW of Middleham.

Arkley, formerly known as Bamet Common, is a hamlet

and chapelry of Barnet parish, Herts, 1 mile W of Bamet.

It stands on high ground commanding pleasant views of the

sun'ounding country, and contains many good villa residences.
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The Episcopal chapel here is .1 building of flint in the Early

English style.

Arksey or Bentley-with-Arksey, a parish in the W. R.

Yorkshire, on the G.N.K. and the river Don, 2 miles N of

Doncaster. It has a station on the railway, and includes the

hamlets of Almholme, Bodies, Doncaster-Bridgend, Scaw-

thorpe, ^Shaftholme, and Stockbridge. It has a post and

money order office of the name of Bentley, under Doncaster,

Acreage, 5133; population, 1880. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of York ; net value, £135 with residence.

The chnrch is ancient, and was restored under the direction

of Sir G. G. Scott, in 1869-70. There are 2 Jlethodist

chapels, 12 almshouses, and other charities. There are

quarries in the neighbourhood, and traces of Rom.an military

works.

Arle, a tithing in the parish, and within the borongh of

Cheltenh.am, Gloucestershire.

Arle, The, a head stream of the Itchen river in Hants.

Arlecdon, a township and a parish in Cumberland, 4f
miles E by N of Parton railway station, and 65 ENE of

Whitehaven. The parish also includes the townships of

Frizington and Whillimore, and has a post office under Carn-

forth, and a station for goods on the Cleator and Workington
Junction railway. Arlecdon and Frizington are governed

by a local boai'd. Ai'ca of township, 36411 acres
;
popu-

lation, 5596. The area of the parish is 5556 acres
;
popu-

lation, 5697. Coal, lime, and ironstone .are worked, and
there is a good chalybeate spring. The living is a vicarage

with Frizington, in the diocese of Carlisle
;
joint gi-oss value,

£230 per annum. P.atron, the Bishop of Carlisle. There are

two churches—St Michael, the parish church, and St Paul,

at Frizington. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Arlescote, a hamlet in Warmington p.arish, Warwick-
shire, near Nadbury camp, 4j miles ESE of Kineton. Arles-

cote manor, ai'onnd the hamlet, was given at the Conquest
to the Eai'l of Jlellent, was in great part transfen-ed by
him to the monks of Preaux, and passed at the dissolution

to the family of Andrews.

Arlesey or Arlsey, a village and a parish in Bedfordshire.

The village stands on the river Hiz, 4 miles S of Biggles-

wade. The G.N.R. passes through the parish, and has two
stations, Arlesey and " Three Counties." There is a post

and telegraph office under Hitchin. It was fonnerly a

market-town. The parish comprises 2344 acres
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 2108; of the ecclesiastical, 2 1C2.

There are extensive cement worlcs, and a large brick and tile

manuLactoiy here, and the making of sti'awplait is also car-

ried on to a consider.able extent. An ancient castle stood at

Etonbury, near the road to Baldock ; and appears, from an
entrenchment which still remains, to have been a place of

considerable strength. The living is a vicarage, united with
Astwick rectory, in the diocese of Ely

;
joint yearly value,

£300. The church is a plain stone building in the Early

English, Decorated, and Perpendicular styles. There are also

Primitive Metliodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Arleston, a hamlet in Wellington parish, Salop,
1 J mile

SE of Wellington.

Arleston and Sinfin, a township in Barrow-upon-Trent
parish, Derbyshire, 3J miles SE of Derby, which is the rail-

way station. Population, 33.

Arley, a parish and a village in Warwickshire, G miles W
by S of Nuneaton, and 9 NNW of Coventry. The pai'ish h.as

a station (more than a mile S of the village), called Arley
and Fillongley, on the M.R. It includes the hamlets of

Ballard's Green and Divet's Green, and a place colled Sloley

Hill. Its post town is Coventiy; money order office,

Fillongley; telegraph office, at the railway station. Acreage,
1946

;
population, 216. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Worcester ; value, £267. The church is ancient,

and w.as restored in 1873. One of the windows in the

chancel has specimens of very fine ancient painted glass
;

there is also in the chancel a perfect recumbent figure of a
priest habited in Eucharistic vestments. There are the
remains of the ambry and the piscina.

Arley, a locality in Great Budworth parish, Cheshire, 4i
miles NNE of Northwich, with a post office under that town";
telegraph office, Marston. Arley Hall, an Elizabethan
mansion with an extensive park, is adjacent, and Arley Mere
is in the park.
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Arley, Upper, a vilkige and a parish in Staffordshire, in

the south-western projection of the county, on the river

Severn, 4 miles NIf\V of Bewdley. The parish has a station

on the Severn Valley branch of the G.W.B., and a post and
telegraph office under Bewdley, which is the money order

office. Population, 647. Millstones are qu.arried. Arley

Castle was built in 1836, a portion of the old Elizabethan

Hall being incoi-porated. It was the residence of the

Lyttleton-Annesley family, and is now that of the Woodward
family. There is an ancient camp. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Lichfield ; value, £305. The church is

ancient and is conspicuously situated ; it was restored in

1884.

Arlingham, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on
the left side of the Severn, within a fold of that river, nearly

opposite Newnham station on the South Wales branch of the

G.W.U., and 8 miles WNW of Stonehouse. The parish has

a post office under Stonehouse ; money order and telegraph

office, Saul. Acreage, 2459, with 737 of water
;
population

of the civil parish, 566 ; of the ecclesiastical, 503. Much
of the land is marshy. Some spots command a fine view of

the Severn and its screens. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £150. The
church is ancient, and was restored in 1868, and there is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Arlington, a parish in Devon, near East Down, 6 miles

NNE of Barnstaple station on the G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R.
It has a post office under Barnstaple; money order office,

Comb Martin; telegraph office, Bratton Fleming. Acreage,

2590
;
population of the civil parish, 238 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, with Loxhore, 430. The manor belongs to the Chi-

chester family, and came into their possession in the time of

Henry VII. ; Ai-lington Court, the family seat, is a very

handsome edifice. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Exeter ; value, £305. The church, with the exception of

the tower, has been rebuilt ; it is in the Gothic style, and
contains many memorials of the Chichesters.

Arlington, a tithing in Bihniy parish, Gloucestershire, 4
miles NNW of Fairford.

Arlington, a parish in Sussex, on the river Cnckmere, 1

mile NE of Berwick station on the L.B. & S.C.R., and 4 SW
by W of Hailsham. It has a post office under Polegate

;

money order office, Upper Dicker ; telegraph office, Berwick
station. Acreage, 6231

;
population of the civil parish,

648 ; of the ecclesiastical, 451. The Roman Anderida Sylva
occupied all the surface, and the Roman camp of Bnrlow
Castle is in the neighbourhood. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Chichester ; value, £208. Patron, the Bishop
of London. The Dicker perpetual curacy is a separate

benefice.

Armathwaite, a village, a castle, and a chapelry in

He^ket-in-the-Forest parish, Cumberland. The village

stands on the river Eden, 4 miles E of Southwaite, and
10 N of Penrith. It has a post and money order office

(R.S.O.), a station, with telegi-aph office, on the M.R., and
it was the site of a small Benedictine nunnery, built .and

endowed by King William Rufus. The castle stands ad-
jacent ; is a plain, modernized, ancient tower ; was the seat

of the satirical poet Skelton, noted for his attack on Wolsey,
" Why come ye not to Court ? " and is now the property of

the Ecroyd family. The suiTounding sceneiy on the Eden
is pictui'esque, and includes a long wooded walk, a grand
projecting crag, a cataract in the stream, and a lake-like

expanse above, with the massive backgi'ound of the Cooms
and Baron Wood. The chapelry is a perpetual curacy iu

the diocese of Carlisle ; value, £90. The church is plain

but picturesque.

Armathwaite Hall, a mansion at the foot of Bassen-
thwaite Water, 6:7 miles ENE of Cockermouth, Cumberland.
The grounds are very beautiful, and a spot adjacent to them,
on the road to Hesket-Newmarket, connnands one of the

richest views of B.assenthwaite Water and its screens.

Armboth Fells, a range of steep high hills, overhanging
the W side of Thirlmere, and confronting Helvellyn, 5 miles

SSE of Keswick, Cumberland. The summit commands a
magnificent view.

Armingford, a hundred in Cambridgeshire. It is bounded
by Herts on the S, by Bedfordshire on the W, and it con-
tains tUii-leen parishes and part of another.
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Arminghall, a parish in Norfolk, near a branch of the

river Yare, 2 miles from Trowse station on the G.E.R. ,
and

2J S by E of Norwich, which is the post town ;
money order

and telegraph office, Trowse Newton. Acreage, 673
;
popu-

lation, 145. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Nor-

wich ; net yearly value, £151. Patrons, the Dean and

Chapter of Norwich. The church is very good, and belonged

anciently to Norwich Priory.

Armitage, a parish and a village in Staffordshire, on the

Trent Valley branch of the L. & N.W.R., and the Grand Tnmk
Canal, 5^ miles NW of Lichfield. The parish has a station

on the railw.ay, and a post office under Kugeley, which is the

telegi-aph office. It includes the hamlet of Hansacre. Acre-

age, 1948; population, 1290. Hawkesyard is a fine man-

sion. Ai-mitage Lodge and The Tower are other principal

resridences. The Grand Trunk Canal, in its course within

the parish, passes through a large tunnel. The Armitage

Sanitaiy Earthenware Works are situated here, and there is

also a large brick and drain-pipe manufactory. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £262.

Patron, the Bishop of Lichfield. The church stands on a

rocky eminence, has a Norman doorway, and an interior

handsome arch; it was rebuilt, with the exception of the

tower, in 1884. There are chapels for Congregationalists

and Wesley.ans.

Annitage-Bridge, an ecclesiastical parish in Aimond-

bnry township in the borough of Huddersfield, in the W. R.

Yorkshh-e. Post town, Huddersfield. It was constituted

in 1848. The church is modern, and was re-decorated in

1884. The living is a vicanige m the (Hocese of Wakefield;

value, £210 with residence. There is an extensive woollen

mill. Population, 3155.

Armley. See Leeds.

Armscott, a hamlet in Tredington parish, Worcestershire,

near the river Stom- and the Roman Fosse way, 3 miles NNW
of Shipston-on-Stom-. The quarries of white lias limestone

are now closed. Armscott is united with Newbold-npon-

Stour and Talton to form an ecclesiastical parish.

Armston, a hamlet in Polebrook parish, Northampton, near

the river Nen, 3J miles SE of Oundle. Acreage, 853

;

population, 19.

Armthorpe, a village and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire,

3 miles NE of Doncaster railway station. The parish has a

post and money order office under Doncaster, which is the

telegraph office. Acreage, 2924; population, 380. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of York ; net value, £400

with residence. The church is old but good, and was

thoroughly restored in 1880. There is a Primitive Metho-

dist chapel.

Amcliffe, a village .and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire.

The village is situated on the Skirfare, a tributary of the river

Wlmrfe, 14 miles NE of Settle railway station, and has a post

office under Skipton. Acreage, 3139. The parish comprises

also the townships of Hawkswick and Litton. Population,

137. Much of the land is hilly and wild, but many spots,

near the streams, are low and pleasant. Manufacturing in-

dustry in textile fabrics once employed many of the inhabit-

ants, but has entirely ceased. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Ripon
;
gross v.alue, £74 with residence. The

church is old, and has been restored.

Amcott, Upper and Lower, or Over .and Nether, form a

hamlet in Ambrosden parish, Oxford, on the river Ray, 3J
miles SE of Bicester. Acreage, 1701; population, 202.

It has a church mission room and a small Wesleyan chapel.

Arncott Wood commands a fine view.

Ame, a parish in Dorset, on the W side of Poole harbour,

4 miles E of Wareh.am station on the L. & S.W.R. Post

town, Wareham. Acreage, 2G68, with 2209 of water and

foreshore ;
population, 123. The living is a perpetual curacy,

annexed to the rectory of Wareham, in the diocese of Salisbury.

Amesby, a parish .and a small town in Leicestershire, 3 J

miles SE of Countesthorpe station on the M.R., and 8 S

by E of Leicester, which is the post town ; money order .and

telegi-aph office, Flechney. Acreage, 1415
;
population, 399.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough ; value,

£100. The church is a fine building of stone, in the Nor-

man, Eariy English, and Decorated styles. A Baptist church

has existed here since 1702. Robert Hall was a native.

Arnold, a village and a hamlet in the township of North

&0
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Skiri.augh in South Skirlaugh parish, in the E. R. Yorkshire,

8 miles E of Beverley. Acreage, 1080. Post and money

order office, Skirlaugh.

Arnold, a village and a parish in Notts. The village stands

near Sherwood Forest, 4 miles N of Nottingham, under

which it has a post, money order, and telegi-aph oflice. Its

inhabitants are employed chiefly in lace and stocking making.

The parish includes also the h.amlets of Red Hill and D.ay-

brook, the latter of which has a station on the G.N.R., and

the seats of Ai-no Vale, Arnot Hill, Red Hill Lodge, and

Sherwood Lodge. Acreage, 4G12
;
population, 7769. The

li^ig is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; value, £180.

The church is Early English, and has a tower. There are

chapels for Congi-egationalists, Baptists, Wesleyans, and

Primitive Methodists, and four pubUc schools, also a reading

room and a free library. R. Bonnington the painter, born

in 1801, w.as a native.

Amside, a village iu Beetham parish, Westmoreland, on

the coast, near the Fmness railw.ay, at the influx of the river

Kent to Morecambe Bay, 4J milesW of Bnrton-in-Kendal. It

h.as a station on the railway, a post, money order, .and

telegi-aph oflice under C.amforth, and a church built in 1806.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle
;
gross value,

.about £80. Patron, the Vicar of Beetham. There is also a

Wesleyan chapel. Arnside Knot is an adj.acent eminence,

commanding an extensive prospect ; .and Ai-nside Tower,

on that eminence, is the i-uined ancient residence of the

Stanleys.

Amwood, a tithing in Hordle parish, Hants, 2 miles NW
of Lymington.

Arrad Foot, a small village in the township of Egton-

cum-Newland, Ulverstone parish, Lancashire. It has a post

office under Ulverstone; money order and telegraph oflice.

Green Odd.

Arram, a h.amlet in Leconfield parish, in the E. R. York-

shire, on the river Hull, 3 miles N of Bevcriey, which is the

post, money order, and telegraph office. It h.as a station on

the Hull and Scarborough branch of the N.E.R. There is

a Wesleyan chapel.

Arram, Ergham, or Earholme, a hamlet in Atwick p.arish,

in the E. R. Yorkshhe, 3 miles NW of Hornsea. The m.anor

house, called AiTam Hall, is the residence of the B.ainton

family, and was built in the reign of James I.

Arrathome, a small township in Hnnton chapelry, in the

N. R. Yorkshire. It is 6 miles NW from Bedale and 2 from

Finghall Lane station on the N.E.R. Ai-ea, 671 acres;

population, 71. The Duke of Leeds is lord of the manor

and principal landowner.

Arreton or Atherton, a village and a parish in the Isle of

Wight. The village stands 2| miles SE of Newport ; consists

of a long straggling street, leading down to the river Main
;

and has a post office under Newport, which is the money order

and telegraph office. The parish contains also the hamlet

of Briddlestord. Acreage, 9192; population of the civil

p.arish, 1903; of the ecclesiastical, 1722. Arreton Down,

adjacent to the NW end of the village, forms p.art of the range

of chalk hills extending from Culver Cliff' to the Needles,

commands an extensive and veiy biilliant view, and is crowned

by two barrows. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Winchester ; value, £280. The church stands in a vale at

the foot of the Down, at the head of the viUage; is an .ancient

structure, in mixed Norman and Early English, with a low

tower of Perpendicular d.ate, and contiiins some fine monu-

ments of the family of Holmes, and a cm-ions br.ass of a knight

of 1430. It was one of the six churches given by Fitz-

Osborne, soon .after the Conquest, to the .abbey of Lire in

Normandy ; it was completely restored in 18SG. There are

chapels for Bible Christians and Wesleyans. Elizabeth

WaUbridge, the "Dairyman's Daughter" of the Rev. Legh

Richmond's well-known narrative, was a native. Her father's

cottage is on the right of the road to Sandown, and her grave

is in the churchyard, marked by a headstone.

Arrington, a village and a parish in Cambridgeshire. The

village stands on Ermine Street, near the bridge on the Cam,

3 miles S of Old North Road station on the L. & N.W.R., and

6 N of Royston, and was anciently called Erminton. It has a

post and telegraph office under Koyston, and is a seat of

petty sessions. The p.arish comprises 1407 acres
;
popula-

tion, 215. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely

;



ARROW

value, £42. Patron, Trinity College, Cambridge. The church

is an ancient bnilding of stone, chiefly in the PerpendicuKor

style, and has a double piscina.

Arrow, a township in Woodcbnrch p.arish, Cheshire, 6

miles SW of Birkenhead. Acreage, 758; population, 1-28.

Arrow, a village and a parish in Warwickshire. The

village lies on the Arrow river, 1 mile SW of Alcester, and 8

W of Stratford-on-Avon, and its post town is Alcester,

under Redditch. Acreage, 2634; population, 397. The

parish includes also the hamlet of Oversley. Acreage, 3935

;

population, 716. The chief feature is the JIarquis of Hert-

ford's magnificent seat of Kagley Park, situated on an emin-

ence overlooking extensive scenery. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £376. Patron,

the Mai'quis of Hertford. The church is ancient, but has

undergone repeated restorations ; it has a Norman doorway,

and in the chancel is a piscina; there is a fine alabaster

reredos, erected to the memory of the late Blarquis of Hert-

ford, and there are several monuments to members of the

Seymour family. See Baglet Pakk.
Arrow, The, a river of Worcestershire and Warwickshire

;

it rises in the Lickey Hills, near Alveehnrch, and nins 11 miles

southward, past Ipsley, Studley, Spernall, and Congleton,

to a confluence with the Alne at Alcester, and thence by

Wixford and Salford Priors to the Avon.

Arrow, The, a river of Radnorshire and Herefordshire,

It rises in the neighbourhood of Glasowin, and runs about

25 miles eastward, past Kington and Pembridge, to the Lug
below Leominster.

Arscott, a township in Pontesbury parish, Salop, 4J miles

SW of Shrewsbury.

Arth, The, a stream of Cardiganshire. It rises S of the

Mynydd-Bach mountains, and runs 8 miles westward to

Cardigan B.ay at Aberarth.

Arthington, a village, a township, and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Wharfe. Area of the townsliip,

2266 acres
;
population, 441. Arthington is an important

junction on the main line of the N.E.R. It is exactly mid-

way between Leeds and Harrogate, being 9 miles from each

place. Passengers change at Arthington for Otley and Ilkley.

It is 5 miles from the former and 10 from the latter place.

Arthington is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net value,

£174 with residence. The chnrch is a very beautiful one,

containing some fine windows to the memory of the late

William Sheepshanks, Esq., who founded the church, and
his family. The reredos, representing the Last Supper, is

very fine. The chnrch has a large and expensive organ.

Several houses have been built since the census in 1891,
and the population is increasing. There are three fine

residences in the parish— viz. Arthington Hall, Creskeld

Hall, and Rawdon Hall. There is a post office in the parish

under Leeds. A Cluniac nunnery, which is still an object

of interest, was founded here in the 12th century by Peter

de Ardington.

Arthingworth, a village and a parish in Northampton-
shire, on an affluent of the river Nen, 1 mile NE of Kel-
marsh station on the L. & N.W.R., and 6 miles S by E of

Market-Hai'borough. Post town, Northampton ; money order

and telegraph office, Kelmarsh. Acreage, 1756
;

popula-

tion, 206. Arthingworth Hall is the seat of the family of

Rokeby. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peter-

borough
; net yearly value, £290. The church is of stone,

and has a fine westera tower. The soil is chiefly clay, and
makes good bricks.

Arthur, Great and Little, two islets of the Scilly Islands.

They lie near St Martin's and are of small extent.

Arthuret, a parish in Cumberland, on the river Esk, 8
miles N of Carlisle. It contains Longtown, with a railway
station and a post, money order, and telegi-aph oflice, and
also the townships of Netherby, Breconhill, and Lyneside.
Acreage, 12,942; population, 2439. Much of the surface
is the low flat land of Solway Moss, stretching toward the
head of the Solway Firth, and this, in 1543, was the scene
of a famous battle in wliich the Scots under Oliver Sinclair

were defeated by the English under Sir Thomas Wharton.
Netherby Hall is the seat of the Graham family, and contains
a large collection of Roman coins, t.ablets, altars, baths, and
other relics found in the vicinity. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Carlisle
;
gross value, about £650. The church
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was renovated in 1869. There is an endowed school. Archy
Armstrong, court-jester to James I. and Charles I., was a

native, and was buried in the churchyard.

Arthur's Chair. See Bkecknockshire.
Arthur's Round Table, an ancient circular plot of ground

on the left side of the river Lowther, IJ mile S of Penrith,

Westmoreland. It measures 87 feet in diameter, has two

opposite approaches, is encompassed by a broad ditch and

a high mound, and is supposed to have been used in the

time of Richard III. and later for tournaments. Sir Walter

Scott calls it

"Red Penrith's Table Round,
For feats of chivalry renowned."

Arthur's Stone, a cromlech on the N slope of Cefn-Bryn,

in the Gower Peninsula, Glamorgan, 1 mile NW of Rey-

noldston, and 9 miles W of Swansea. It comprises a

mass of millstone-grit, 14 feet long, 7 feet 2 inches deep,

and about 25 tons in estimated weight, resting apparently

on nine upright supporters, but in reality resting upon only

four, and all somewhat sunk in a hollow crowded with rough

stones.

Arthur's Stone or Arthur's Table, a cromlech in Moccas

parish, Herefordshire, on an eminence near the village of

Bredwardine. It consists of one chief stone, 18 feet long,

9 feet broad, and 2 feet thick, and was originally supported

by eleven stones, some of which are fallen.

Artington or Artindon, a tithing in St Nicholas-Guild-

ford p.arish, Surrey, on the river Wey, 1^ mile SSW of

Guildford.

Artlebury, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, near

Bridgnorth.

Aran, The, a river of Sussex. It rises in St Leonard's

Forest ; runs westward, past Horsham, to the vicinity of

Loxwood ; receives, by the way, a head-stream from Surrey

;

tnrns to the S, goes to Stopham, and receives there the

Rother ; and proceeds southward, past Arundel, to the Eng-

lish Channel at Little Hampton. Its length of course is

about 33 miles. It abounds with mullets, which are much
famed under the name of Arundel mullets, and it also con-

tains trout of superior quality, but in no great quantity. It

is navigable for some distance from the sea, and it opens the

way for inland navigation, through the Arundel and Ports-

mouth Canal, with Chichester—through the river Rother,

with Petworth and Midhurst—and through the Ai'un and

Wey Canal, with Guildford and the Thames. Canoes of the

ancient British appear to have plied on it, and two, formed

of open trunks, were found in 1834 and 1857 at North Stoke

and South Stoke, one of them 6 feet below the surface of the

soil, at 150 yards from the present edge of the river, and

is preserved in the British Museum. The Arun has been

sung by Collins and by Charlotte Smith.

Arun and Wey Canal, a canal connecting the rivers

Arun and Wey. It leaves the Arun below Stopham, goes

northward past Loxwood and Bramley, and joins the Wey 2

miles S of Guildford. It is 18 miles long, and has 23 locks.

Arundel, a municipal borough, a castle, a parish, and a

rape in Sussex, on the L.B. & S.C.R., 68 miles from London.

The town stands on the right bank of the Arun, on the

irregular ascent of a considerable hill, J a mile N of the

station. It takes its name from the vale of Arun, Arun-dale,

a word probably of ancient British origin, and it is supposed

to have been influenced by the Roman station Ad Decimum
at Bignor, and by the Roman Portus Adurni, which may
have been within the mouth of the river; but it is first men-

tioned in the will of King Alfred, who bequeathed it to his

nephew Adhelm. It consists of one street going steeply up

from the Arun to the castle, and two others going off from

this at right angles. It is a small place of little intrinsic

interest, but it has always derived much consequence, in

many ways, from the castle. Its houses in general are well

built. A neat bridge of three arches spans the river. The
town-hall was erected by Bernard, Dnke of Norfolk, at a cost

of £9000. The parish church is a cruciform edifice of flint

and stone, 190 feet long, with a low central tower surmounted

by a short leaden spire. It occupies the site of a Benedictine

priory founded soon after the Conquest by Roger de Mont-

gomery, and it was built in 1380, and made then collegiate

for a m.aster .and twelve canons, under the name of the Col-

lege of the Holy Trinity. It is cntnely Perpendicular English.
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The Fitzalan Chapel is screened oif from the rest of the

church, as the private property of the Duke of Norfolk. As

the result of a suit instituted to recover it for the use of the

parish, it was declared by Lord Chief Justice Coleridge to be

a distinct building, and this decision was upheld, on appeal,

in 1880. The chapel contains some grand monuments of

the Earls of Arundel, and several brasses ; it was extensively

renewed in 1886 by the Duke of Norfolk. The church was

tlioroughly restored in 1874. A Maison Dieu, a quadrangular

edifice, with chapel and refectory, was built at the foot of

the town about the same time as the church, but only some

fragments of it now exist. There are two dissenting ch.apels.

The Roman Catholic church, dedicated to St Philip Neri, is

beautifully situated on the summit of a hill. It was begun

in 1870, and opened in 1873. The Duke of Norfolk bore

the whole cost of this splendid edifice, amounting to

£60,000. It is a cruciform building of stone, consisting of

chancel, nave, and transepts, with some fine stained-glass

windows and figures of the Virgin and Child, and of Our

Lord and the twelve .apostles: the church will seat 900

persons. The new Convent of Poor Clares or Minoresses,

situated at Cross Bush, is a structure of red brick, in a severe

Domestic Gothic style. There is a club and reading-room

and a fire brigade. Vessels drawing 13 feet of water come up

to the town, but the custom-house is at Little Hampton, 4

miles distant, at the mouth of the river. The chief imports

are co.al and fruit, and chief exports corn, timber, and oak-

bark. The town has a head post ofiice and two banks,

and it publishes a weekly newspaper. A fortnightly market

is held on Monday, and fairs on 14 May, 25 September,

and 17 Dec. Arundel is a borough by prescription, and it

sent two members to Parliament from the time of Edward I.

till 1832; but it was half disfranchised by the Reform Act of

1832, and wholly by the Act of 1808 for increasing the re-

presentation of Scotland. The town is governed by a mayor,

4 aldennen, and 12 councillors, and it is a seat of petty

sessions. The Duke of Norfolk has recently gratuitously

provided the town with an abundant supply of water ; and it

is besides thoroughly well drained. The same nobleman

has made a most pictm-esque road from the bridge at Arundel

to Sw.anbourne Lake in his park.

Arundel Castle is the chief seat of the Duke of Norfolk.

It stands adjacent to the church, at the head of the town,

on the verge of a plateau which slopes precipitously, on two

sides, at least 90 feet, to the low bank of the Arun. Its

position is a strong one in a military view, and was well

fitted in the old times to maintain high command over the

surrounding country. The original pile is said to have been

built, in the Saxon times, by Bevis, a hero of romance ; the

next pile, possessing much militai^ strength, was built, soon

after the Conquest, by Roger de Montgomery, who was related

by blood to the Conqueror and led the centre division of the

victorious army at the b.attle of Hastings ; and the greater

part of the present pile, 250 feet long and 250 feet broad,

was built in 1791 and succeeding years, by Charles, eleventh

Duke of Norfolk. The castle was visited, in 1097, by William

Rufus ; it was besieged in 1102 by Henry I., and taken then

from Robert de Belesme, Robert de Montgomery's heir, who
had rebelled against the Crown ; it was inhabited by Henry

I.'s widow. Queen Alice or Adeliza, and gave hospitable shelter,

under her, in 1139, to the Empress Maud ; it p.assed from

Queen Alice, by marriages, to successively the De Albinis, the

Fitzalans, and the How.ards ; it was declared by Act of par-

liament, in the second year of Henry VI., to confer the title

of Earl of Ar-undel without creation ; and it was besieged

and captured, in 1643, by the Parliamentarian forces under

Sir W. Waller, recaptured by the Royalists, and again cap-

tured in 1644 by Waller. The structure in its present

state covers an area of five acres. The entrance gateway is

magnificent, in the Norman style, macliicolated, and fl.anked

by two imposing towers, was commenced in 1861, and leads

into a quadrangle, with extensive remains of the ancient

castle on the one side and the gr-and Gothic pile of the

modern mansion on the other. A towered gateway, a raised

causeway, a steep flight of steps, .and a spacious courtyard

with four flanking towers lead up to the keep. The towers

have four stages, with dungeons below, and one of them,

called the Bevis Tower, is so clad with ivy as to look like a

tall green pyramid. The keep is proximately circular ; stands
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on an artificial steep mound, raised above a fosse ; measures

from 8 to 10 feet in thickness of wall, and variously 69 feet

.and 67 feet in diameter ; and appears to be of Late Norman
architectm-e, with Caen-stone facings, but is almost all mantled

with ornamental fohage and rich ivy. The Barons' Hall

was recently taken down and rebuilt, so as to complete the

whole structure in the style of .architecture of the 13th

centm-y. The hbrary is 120 feet by 24, with eight tall

walls ; the dining-room, 45 feet by 24, with a window
20 feet by 10 ; the drawing-room, 54 feet by 28 ; the long

g.allery, 195 feet by 12, with groined ceiling; the barons'

hall, 115 feet by 35, with a window of stained glass, repre-

senting the signing of Magna Charta, and eight other win-

dows containing iigures of the barons connected with the

signing. The castle contains a splendid collection of family

portraits and other pictures. The park is 7 miles in circuit,

contains many hundi*eds of deer, and affords rich scenes and

beautiful prospects. The keep and dairy are open to the

public on Mondays and Fridays.

The parish of Arundel is co-extensive with the limits of

the borough. Its area is 19C9 acres, and most of this is

within the ducal park
;
population, 2044. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Chichester ; value, £180.

Arundel and Portsmouth Canal, a canal westward

from the river Arun to Chichester harbour, with a branch to

Chichester, and another, through L.angston harbour, to Port-

sea. It was opened in 1823, and cost £160,000. The main

line leaves the Arun, at the tideway, 2 miles from the sea

;

passes Barnham, Mcrston, and Donnington; is 12 miles long;

and has a fall of 21 feet, with four locks. The branch to

Chichester is Ij mile long. The branch to Portsea was 2J
miles long, but was partly filled up for the railway, and is

now disused.

Aryans, St, a parish in Monmouthshire, near the river

Wye, 2 miles NNW of Chepstow. It contains the hamlets

of Portcasseg and St Lawrence, and it has a post and tele-

graph ofiice under Chepstow. Acreage, 2100; population

of the civil parish, 503 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Penterry,

540. Piercefield is a handsome mansion situated in a fine

park, and commanding beautiful views of the Wye. The
living is a vicarage, consolidated with that of the neighbouring

parish of Penteny, in the diocese of Llandaff'; value, £210.

Patrons, the Bishop of Llandaff and the Duke of Beaufort

alternately. The church is an ancient structure, with an

oct.agonal tower, and has been rebuilt. There are remains

of two ancient chapels.

Aryholme or Airyholme, Howthorpe, and Baxton-
howe, together form a township in Hovingh.am p.arish, N. R.

Yorkshire, 3J miles from Hovingbam station on the N.E.R.,

.and 7J WNW of New Malton. Acreage, 696 ;
population,

39. Post town, York via Hovingbam, which is the money
order and telegraph office.

Asaph, St, a city in Flintshire, a parish in Flintshu-e and
Denbighshire, and a diocese in the counties of Flint, Denbigh,

Merioneth, Montgomery, Carnarvon, Salop, and Cheshire.

The city stands in the parish, on an eminence between the

rivers Elwy and Clwyd, 5 miles N by W of Denbigh, .and 5

J

SSE of Rhyl. It was formerly called Llanelwy, from its

position on the Elwy ; it takes the n.ame of St Asaph from

the second bishop of its see; .and the eminence on which it

stiinds is called Bryn-Paulin, from hixving been the site of

the camp of the Roman general Paulinus on his way to

Mona. It has a station on the V.ale of Clwyd branch of the

L. & N.W.R., and a post office under Rhyl ; and it is the

head of a poor-law union and county court district, and a

place of petty sessions ; but it ranks as a city solely on account

of its being the seat of a bishopric, and is practically a village,

consisting of little more than a single street. A five-arched

bridge spans the Elwy, and another good bridge spans the

Clwyd. The episcopal palace stands a little W of the cathe-

dral, overlooking the Elwy, and is a Large edifice, partly re-

built by Bishop Carey. The deanery stands .about J of a

mile distant. The parish church stands at the foot of the

eminence, and is a small edifice of the time of Henry VIII.,

without a tower; it was restored in 1872. The churchyard

contains sever.al ancient tombs. A cemetery was opened in

1849. The cathedral stiiuds on the summit of the eminence,

and is a cruciform structure, with central, low, square, em-
battled tower. The first church, built iu the Cth century,
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was wooden, and was several times destroyed by 6re. It

was rebuilt by Bishop Aniau about 121*0, part of the nave

and aisles of the existing structure dating from tliis period.

In 1402 it was nearly destroyed by Owen Glyndwr, but was

restored in 1482 by Bishop Redman. Additions and ill-

planned restorations continued to be made till the successful

restoration by Sir Gilbert Scott. It has a very plain and

simple exterior, and measures 182 feet in extreme length

;

the nave with its aisles is 68 feet in \«idth, and the tower

100 feet high. The chancel was restored in the Early

English style by Sir Gilbert Scott, but the east window is

Decorated, and contains good stained glass ; the choir-stalls

are Perpendicular; a reredos and a bishop's throne were

added by Scott. It contains monuments of a bishop of the

14th century. Bishop Luxmoore, Dean Shipley, and Mrs
Hemans. Outside the west door are the tombs of Bishops

Barrow and Short, and the national memorial to Bishop

Morgan and the other translators of the Bible into Welsh.

A fine view of the Vale of Clwyd and of a long reach of sea-

coast is obtained from tlie summit of the tower. There are

chapels for Baptists, Congregationalists, Calvinistic Metho-
dists, and Wesleyans, almshouses, a workhouse, a court-house,

and a library and reading-room. The borough unites with

Flint and six other towns in sending a member to Parlia-

ment. The town gives the title of Viscount to Earl Ashburn-
ham. The environs include Bronwylfa and Rhyllon, which

were abodes of Mrs Hemans, and contain other objects of

interest.

The parish contains the townships of Bodeigan, Bodelwyd-

dan, Brynpolyn, Cilowen, Cyrchynen, Faenol, Gwemglefryd,
Gwerneigron, Peugwem, Rhyllon, and Talar, in Flintshire,

and the townships of Meriadog and Wigfair or Wickwer, in

Denbighshire. Acreage, 11,346; population, 3091. The
living is a vicarage of tour parts, two of which are constituted

into the ecclesiastical parishes of Bodelwyddan and Cefn.

Patron, the Bishop.

The diocese comprehends all Denbighshire, all Flint-

shire, except the ecclesiastical parish of Whitewell, parts of

Dodleston and Lache-cum-Saltney, and the parish of Penley

;

all Montgomeryshire, except the deaneries of Arustley and
Cypeiliog, part of the ecclesiastical p.arish of Corris, the

ecclesiastical parishes of Criggion, Forden, Montgomery,
and Trelystan with Leighton, and parts of Alberbury, Church-
stoke, Hyssington with Snead, Lydham, Mainstone, Middleton

in Chnbury and Great Wollaston ; and parts of Carnarvon-

shire, Cheshire, Merionethshire, and Salop. Population,

270,180. The see was founded about 560, by Kentigern or

St Mungo, the fomider of the see of Glasgow, who was driven

by persecution from the north, and found refuge here under
the protection of Cadwallon ; and he was succeeded by Asa
or As.af, a bishop of good family and of great piety, who died

and was bm-ied here in 596. The most notable of the

bishops after Asaph were Geoffrey of Monmouth, the Welsh
Herodotus ; Anian, the black friar of Schonau ; John Trevor,

the Crusader, who pronounced the deposition of Richard II.

;

Edmund de Birkenhead, and Goldwel], who sat in the council

of Trent; Pecoek, the Wickliffite; Davis, Morgan, and
Parry, translators of the Bible; Owen, who introduced

sermons in Welsh ; Griffith, the author of the " Form of

Adult Baptism ;

" Isaac BaiTow, who educated his nephew
of his own name, the distinguished mathematician ; Beve-
ridge, the author of " Thesaurus Theologicus " and " Private
Thoughts;" Tanner, the historian of Monasteries; Samuel
Horsley, the eminent Oriental scholar and biblical critic ; and
Short, historian of the Church of England. The cathedral

establishment includes the bishop, the dean, four canons, nine
cursal canons, three archdeacons, four vicars choral, and four

bishop's chaplams. The income of the bishop is £4200 ; of

the dean, £700 ; of each of the canons, three of whom are the

archdeacons, £350. The diocese is in the province of Can-
terbury, and is divided into the archdeaconries of St Asaph,
Montgomeiy, and Wrexham.
Aaby, formerly Ashbij or Askbij, a parish in Westmore-

land, on an affluent of the river Eden, adjacent to the Eden
Valley railway, 3 miles from Ormside station, and 5 miles S
of Appleby. It comprises the townships of Great Ashy, Little

Asby, Asby-Coatsforth, and Asby-Winderwath, and the tract

of Grange Hall sometimes deemed extra-parochial; and its post
town is Appleby. Acreage, 8494 ;

population, 424. Great
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Asby belonged to Roger Clifford. Little Asby had formerly

a chapel with a chantry, and belonged to the H(meywoods.
Asby-Coatsforth belonged to the Coatsforths and the Mus-
graves. Asby-Winderwath belonged to the Vanes. Asby-
Overgrange belonged to Byiand Abbey, and Gathorne to St
Leonard's, York. Asby Hall is the seat of Lord Bective.

Great part of the parish is mountainous. Three of the chief

summits, Gathornelingow, Oxenburgh, and Castlefolds, have
altitides of respectively 1538, 1620, and 1700 feet. Asby-
Scar is a ridge of rock extending about 2 miles from N to S,

and 4 miles from E to W. A cavern called Pate Hole,

about J of a mile S of the hamlet of Great Asby, runs 430
yards in one direction and 230 yards in another, and has, at

the end of its first gallery, a pool 20 yards long and a lofty

dome. Some striking seenejy occurs among the mountains.

Freestone and limestone are worked. Copper-ore was for-

merly raised here, but the undertaking was abandoned.

Several tumuli, various in form, exist at Sayle Bottom ; .and

two, which were found to contain human remains, are at

Gathorne Hall. Tlie living is a rectory in the diocese of

Carlisle ; net value, £160. The church was rebuilt in 1866,

at a cost of £3000, and is in the Decorated English style.

There are also chapels for Baptists, Wesleyans, and Congre-

gationalists, an endowed scliool, an almshouse, and other

cliarities.

Ascot, an ecclesiastical parish, which was formed in 1865

out of the civil parishes of Winkfield and Sunninghill, Berks.

It has a station on the. L. & S.W.R., a head post and tele-

graph office, two good hotels, and several fine villa residences

and country seats. There are also extensive nursery gi-ounds,

and the royal kennels, where Her Majesty's buckhounds are

kept. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford; net

yearly value, £93 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop

of Oxford. The church is a building of brick, erected in

1864. The Loudon and Ascot Hospital tor Convalescents

and Incurables, an extensive building situated between Ascot

Heath and Winkfield Row, was built in 1850 at a cost of

£10,000. The race-course is adjacent to the SW extremity

of the Great Park of Windsor ; has a rich sward, a grand

stand with a noble view, and the most complete range of

racing chateaux in the kingdom. It is circular, and only

66 yards short of 2 miles, and goes half of the way on the

descent, the other half chiefly up hill. The races were insti-

tuted by the Duke of Cumberland, uncle of George III.;

they t.ake place early in June, and are generally attended by

members of the royal family, the nobility, and the fashionable

world. Population^ 2414.

Ascote or Astcote, a hamlet in Pattishall parish, North-

ampton, ne.ar Watling Street, 3 miles N of Towcester.

Ascott, a hamlet in Whichford parish, Wai'wickshire, on

the Wolds, 6J miles SE of Shipston-on-Stour. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Ascott, a hamlet in Wing parish, Bucks, 5 J miles NW of

Ivinghoe. Ascott Park, a hunting cottage of the Rothschild

family, with kennels and hunting stables, are here.

Ascott, a hamlet and a township in Great Milton parish,

Oxford, near the Thame, 6 miles N of Wallingford. It forms

part of the ecclesiastical parish of Little Milton. Acreage,

581 ;
population, 20.

Ascott-under-Wychwood, a parish in Oxfordshire, on

the river P^venlode, with a station on the G.W.R., 5 miles S
of Chipping Norton. It has a post office under Oxford ; money
order and telegraph office, Shipton. Acreage, 1839

; popula-

tion, 430. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford

;

value, £80. Patron, the Bishop of Oxford. The church is

an ancient building of stone, in the Norman and later styles.

There is also a Baptist chapel.

Asenby or Azenby, a village and a township in Topcliffe

parish, N. R. Yorkshire, on tlie river Swale, 6 miles E of

Ripon. Acreage, 1178
;
population, 177.

Asfordby or Ashfordby, a parish in Leicestershire, with

a station on the M.R., 3 miles W from Melton Jlowbr.ay.

It has a post office under Melton Mowbray, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1568

;
population, 717.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross

yearly value, £534. The church is a building of stone in

the Early English Perpendicular and Decorated styles. There

are also Primitive Methodist .and Wesleyan chapels. Asfordby

Hall is a chief residence.
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Asgarby, a township in Kesteven parish, Lincolnshire,

3 miles E of Sleaford. Its post town is Heckington. Acre-

age, 726 ;
population, 76. Besides the hamlet of Boughton

are two small hamlets, Wash Dyke, bordering on Heckington,

and Asgarby Fen, beyond the village of Howell. The Mar-
quis of Bristol is lord of the manor, owner of nearly all the

soil, and patron of the benefice. The church (St Andrew) is

a Gothic or Later English fabric, with handsome tower and
spire containing four bells. The building was restored in

1870, when a handsome oak pulpit was presented, and open

benches substituted for the old pews. The rectory has been

Tinited to that of Kirkby-Laythorpe since 1737
;

joint net

yearly value has fallen to £458. The parish chnrch of Kirkby

is very ancient.

Asgarby, a pai'ish in Lincolnshire, on the Wolds, 4 miles

ESE of Horncastle station on the G.N.R. Post town,

Spilsby, which is the telegraph office ; money order office,

Old Bolingbroke. Acreage, 792
;
population, 83. Seventy-

seven acres are an allotment in the West Fen. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln, annexed to the rectory

of Lusby; joint gross yearly value, £160. Patron, the Bishop

of Lincoln. The church is in good repair.

Ash, The, a stream of Herts. It rises near Little Had-
ham, and runs about 8 miles south-westward to the Lea, a

little below Ware.

Ash, a small hamlet and township in Sutton-on-the-Hill

parish, Derbysliire, 8 miles W by S of Derby. Acreage, 703
;

population, 73.

Ash, a hamlet in Parkham parish, Devon, 8 miles W of

Torrington.

Ash, a hamlet in South Tawton p.arish, Devon, 4i miles

ESE of Okehampton. Ash House in the vicinity, now a

ruin, was a seat of the Drakes, and the birthplace, in 1650,

of the mother of the Duke of Marlborough.

Ash, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in Martock

parish, Somerset, 1 mile from Martock station on the G.W.R.,

and 3 miles SW of Ilchester. The district includes the

hamlets of Ash, Witcombe, and Mitton, and was constituted

in 1845. Post town, Martock under Ilrainster. Population,

461. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and

Wells; value, £275 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of

Martock.

Ash, a tithing in Crewkerne parish, near the town of

Crewkeme, Somerset.

Ash, a village and a parish in Surrey. The village stands

near the Basingstoke Canal and the Blackwater river, 2

miles NW of Hog's Back, and 4 NE of Farnham on the

S.E.R,, 35 miles from London. The parish includes also tiie

tithing of Normandy and the hamlet-chapelry of Frimlcy.

There is a post and money order office ; the telegraph office

is at Ash railway station. Acreage, 6324
;
population of the

civil parish, 2544 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1835. The southern

tracts are hilly. Ash Lodge is a chief residence. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester ; value, £338
;
patron,

Winchester College. The church has a plain Norman door-

way, and has been restored. The rectory of Frimley and the

perpetual curacy of York-Town are separate charges. There

are Wesleyan and Congregational chapels.

Ash, an ecclesiastical parish in Whitchmxh parish, Salop.

It includes the townships of Ash-Magna, Ash-Parva, and Old

and New Woodhouses. Ash-Magna is 2 J miles SE of Whit-

church, on the road to Market Drayton ; Ash-Parva, which

has a post office (money order and telegr.aph office, Whit-

church), is adjacent. Population, 544. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield; value, £160. Patron,

the Rector of Whitchurch.

Ash, or Ash-next-Ridley, a parish in Kent, 4 miles

from Fawkham station on the L.C. & D.K., and 7 SSE of

Daitford. It includes the hamlets of Hodsol Street and

West York, and part of Culverstone-Green ; .and has a post

office under Sevenoaks. Acreage, 3074; population, 610.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Rochester ; value,

£619. The church is good, and there is a Baptist chapel.

The telegraph office is at Wrotham.

Ashampstead, a parish in Berks, 5 miles SW of Pang-

bourne station on the G.W.K., and 11 W by N of Reading,

under which it has a post office ; money order and tele-

graph office, Bradfield. Acreage, 2082
;

population, 328.

Part of the land is common. The living is a vicarage in the
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diocese of Oxford
;
yearly value, £55. The church is a small

edifice in the Early English and Perpendicular styles. There

are Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Ashbeacon Hill, a hill 655 feet high, near Milborne Port,

Somerset.

Ash-Bocking or Ashbocken, a parish in Suffolk, 5 miles

NE of Claydon station on the G.E.R., and 8 N of Ipswich.

Post town, Needham-Market; money order and telegraph

office, Coddenham. Acreage, 1413
;
population, 280. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich; gross yearly

value, £326; patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church has

a brass of a Booking of 1585, and is very good.

Ashborne or Ashbourne, a market and union town, a

township and a parish, in Derbyshire. The town stands on the

river Henmore, 1^ mile above its influx to the Dove, at the

terminus of a branch of the North Stafford railway, 7^ miles

NE of the junction with the main hue at Rocester station, and

13^ by road NW of Derby. It was fonnerly called Ashburn,

andanciently Esseburn. It belonged to the Crown at the time

of the Conquest; passed to the duchy of Lancaster; was taken

by the Parliamentarian forces in 1644; retaken by the Royal

forces, and visited by Charles I., in 1645 ; and occupied as

headquarters by the Scottish army of Prince Charles Edward
on then' march to Derby in 1745. Its situation is pleasant,

and its vicinity rich in romantic scenery, so that it attracts

many visitors. Its houses in general are of red brick, roofed

with slate, and its streets are tolerably neat ; it is governed by

a local hoard of 15 members. It has a head post, money
order, and telegi'aph office, three banks, a town-hall, news-

rooms, a small jail, a Queen Elizabeth's grammar-school, three

national schools and a Wesleyan school, two churches, Roman
Cathohc, Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist, and Congi"egational

chapels, a workhouse, a cattle market, several almshouses,

and large general charities, and is a seat of petty sessions

and county courts. The grammar-school was founded in

1585, has estates yielding about £300 a year, and is a sub-

stantial stone building in the Early Tudor style. The house

once inhabited by Dr John Taylor, and visited by his intimate

friend Dr Johnson, stands opposite the gi^ammar-school. The
parish church is a spacious, cruciform. Early English edifice

of 1241; is surmounted by a central square tower, with lofty,

ornamented, octagonal spire ; was restored in the years 1881-

83, and the west end of the nave entirely rebuilt, at a cost of

about £4000, mostly r.aised by subscription; and contains

brasses and tombs of the Cockaynes, the Bradburnes, and

the Boothbys. The finest of the monuments is a statuary

one, in white marble, from the chisel of Banks, to the memory
of Penelope, the only child of Sir Brooke Boothby, who died,

in 1791, in her sixth year, and this is supposed to have sug-

gested to Chantrey his beautiful group of the two children in

Lichfield Cathedral. The town is in high repute as a mart

for cattle, cheese, and other agricultural produce, and it has

a weekly market on Saturday, .and a market for cattle every

alternate Thursday; general fans on 13 Feb., 21 May, 16

Aug., 20 Oct., 29 Nov., or on the preceding d.ay if the

29th be a Sunday, and 15 Dec. for horses, cattle, and wool,

when a statute fair for hu-ing servants is also held ; and fairs

for cheese on the second Tuesday in March and the third

Tuesday in Sept. Stay-making, lace-making, and cotton

manufacture are carried on.

Population of town, 3809. Acreage of parish, 5096

;

population, 4581. The property is much subdivided. Ash-
borne Hall was long the se.at of the Boothbys ; w.as the

quarters of Prince Charles Edward on his march to Derby

;

and is now owned by the Franks family. Ashborne-Green

Hall is a meeting-place of sportsmen. l\Iayfield Cottage, in

the neighbourhood, was for a considerable time the resi-

dence of the poet Moore, and the place where he wrote

gie.at part of his " Lalla Rookh." The Henmore and the

Dove, in their connection with the parish, afford prime

angling for trout and grayling, and were noted for it by

Warton and Cotton. Thoi'p-Cloud HiU, 3 miles from the

town and 300 feet high, commands a fine view of the craggy

flanks of the Dove. The living is a discharged vicarage,

united with the rectory of Mappleton, in the diocese of South-

well; value, £340. Patron, the Bishop of Southwell. Sir

Aston Cockaine, the Elizabethan poet, and Sir Brooke Boothby,

the author of " Tables and Satires" and of other works, were

natives.
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Ashbrittle, a parish in Somerset, on the verge of the

county, and on the river Tone, 4 miles from Burlescombe

station on the G.W.K., and 7 W by S of WeUington, which is

the post town; money order office, Ashbrittle ; telegraph office,

Greenham. Acreage, 2158
;
population of the civil parish,

247 ; of the ecclesiastical, 308. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Bath and Wells; value, £368. The church is

mainly old, partly new. There is a chapel of ease, built in

1860. Greenham, a h,amlet about 2 miles from the pai'ish,

was amalgamated with Stawley by a Local Government Order

in 1881, .and at the same time Great and Little Brimley were

also annexed to it.

Ashbum, The, a stream of Sussex. It rises near Kent's

Hill, and rmis about 8 miles southward to the Channel at

Pevensey. Its mouth, up to Pevensey Bridge, till .about

1 700, was a harbom' for small vessels, but has been rendered

unnavigable by accumulation of sand and shingle.

Ashburnham, a parish in Sussex, 5 miles W of Battle

station on the S.E.E. It gives the titles of I5arou and Earl

to the family of Ashburnham, the descendants of Bertram

de Eshburnham, who was " vice-comes " of Ivent and Sussex

at the landing of William the Conqueror. Post town. Battle

;

money order office, Dallington; telegraph office, Catsfield.

Acreage, 4079
;
population of the civil parish, 629; of the

ecclesiastical, 866. Ashburnham Place, the seat of the Earl

of Ashburnham, is a red brick mansion, mostly modern, and

contains a rich collection of books and manuscripts, several

rare pictures, some tine old plate and ancient armour, and the

shirt worn by Charles I. on the scaffold, his watch, his white

silk drawers, and the sheet thrown over his body .after the

execution. These relics were given on the scafiold to the

King's attendant John Ashbm'nh.am, and bequeathed by one

of his descendants to the parish for ever, and were formerly

preserved in the church. A public path through the old p.ark

commands grand views of the coast to Beachy Head. An
iron furnace in the parish was noted for producing the best

iron in England, and continued to be worked after every

other hon furnace in Sussex was extinct, and the site of it

may still be traced. The living is a vicarage, united with the

rectory of Penhurst, in the diocese of Chichester
;
gross value,

£369. Patron, the Dowager Countess of Ashburnham. The

church was rebuilt by the John Ashburnham already referred

to, and contains monuments of himself and of other members
of the family. The churchyard was closed in Way, 1886,

and to supply the want Penhurst churchyard was enlarged,

and a new road, a mile and a h.alf long, fomied between the

two parishes at the expense of the Earl of Ashbm'nham.

Ashburton, a town and a parish in Devon. The town

stands on the Yeo, about 1^ mile from the Dart, near the

grandest part of Dartmoor, 7 mUes NNW of Totnes station

on the G.W.R., and 227 from London. The town has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. It was anciently called

Asperton and Aisbertone. It belonged to the Crown at

Domesday; was given to the see of Exeter before lolO;

became a stannary town in 1328, on account of tin and

copper mines in its neighbourhood ; belonged to the Crown
again in the time of Charles I.; was taken by Fairfax in

1646 ; and went, after var'ious changes, into the possession

of Lord Clinton. It consists principally of three streets, and

has a neat appearance. The market-house has a lofty base-

ment for mai'ket purposes, and an upper story with public

rooms, and is a fine edifice in the Itahan style, built in 1850.

The parish church is a spacious cruciform structm'e, of Per-

pendicidar date, with modern alterations, surmounted by a

central tower, 90 feet high, was formerly collegiate, and con-

tains some tine monuments. It was restored in 1884. There

are four dissenting chapels, a grammar-school, with £80 of

endowed income, and two exhibitions and two scholarships

at Exeter College, Oxford. A weekly market is held on

Saturday, and fairs on the first Thursd.ay in Slarch and June,

10 Aug., and 11 Nov. Some very extensive beds of umber
are in this parish, and three companies are engaged in pre-

paring it. The Ashburton and Buckfastleigh Cottage Hos-
pital is a building of granite with freestone facings, erected

in 1887 at a cost of about £1500. The town is a borough
by prescription ; sent two members to Parliament in the

times of Edward I. and Henry IV., and from 1640 till 1832
;

and was half disfranchised by the Act of 1832, and entirely

in 1868, John Dunning, solicitor-general in 1767, Dr
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Ireland, dean of Westminster, and William Gifford, the

well-known editor of the Qiiarierli/ Redew, born in 1766,

were natives. A peerage, with the title of Bai'on Ashburton,

was given to Dunning in 1782, and, becoming extinct in

1823, was revived in favour* of Alexander Baring in 1835.

The pai-ish is co-extensive with the borough. Acreage, 6963
;

population of the civil parish, 2762 ; of the ecclesiastical,

2838. The living is a vicarage, in annexation with the

vicarage of Buckland-in-the-Moor, in the diocese of Exeter

;

value. £525. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Exeter.

Ashhurton Parliamentari/ Division, or Mid Devon, was

formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and

retm'us one member to the House of Commons. Population,

53,005. The division includes the following:—Teignbridge

—Abbotskerswell, Ashburton, Bickington, Bishopsteignton,

Bovey Tracey, Broadhempston, Bnckland-in-the-Moor, Chud-

leigh, Coffinswell, Coombinteignhead, Dawlish, Denbury,

Haccombe, Hennock, Highweek, Holne, Ideford, Ilsington,

Ipplepen, Kingskerswell, lungsteignton, Manaton, Ogwell

(iCast), Ogwell (West), St Nicholas, Staverton, Stokeinteign-

head, Teigngrace, Teignmouth (East), Teignmouth (West),

Torbryan, Trusham, Widdicombe-in-the-Moor, Wolborough,

Woodland ; Crockernwell— Bridford, Chagford, Cheritou

Bishop, Drewsteignton, Dunsford, Gidleigh, Hittesleigh, Lust-

leigh, Jloretou, North Bovey, Sonthtawton, Spreyton, Ted-

burn (St Mary), Throwleigh.

Ashbiiry, a village and a parish in Berkshire. The village

stands near the Ridge-way or Icknield Street, at the W end

of Whitehorse Vale, 3 miles SSE of Shrivenham station on

the G.W.R., and 7J S of Farringdon, and it has a post office

mrder Shr-ivenhara, which is the telegraph office ; money
order office, Bishopstone. The parish includes also the

tithings of Idstone and Odstone, and the hamlet of King-

stoue-Winslow. Acreage, 5609
;

population, 706. The

living is a vicarage iu the diocese of Oxford; net yearly

value, £240, in the gift of Magdalen College, Oxford. The
chiuch is par-tly Norman, piirtly Decorated English. There

are Primitive Jlethodist and Baptist chapels. Ashdown
Park is the seat of the Countess of Craven.

Ashbury, anciently Essehury, a parish in Devon, on an

affluent of the river Ton-idge, SmilesSSWof Hatherleigh,

with a station on the Okehampton .and Holsworthy branch

of the L. & S.W.R., 206 miles from London. Post town,

Beaworthy, which is the money order office ; telegi-aph office,

at the railway station. Acreage, 1748
;

population, 69.

The manor, with most of the property, belongs to the owner

of Ashbury Court, a large old residence with tine views over

Dartmoor. The livhig is a rectory, united with North Lew,

in the diocese of Exeter ; value, £500, in the gift of the

Crown. The church is a small edifice, with nave, chancel,

and tower. It was restored in 1872.

Ashbury's, a station on the M.S. & L.R., IJ mile ESE
of Manchester.

Ashby, a township in Bottesford parish, Lincoln, 7 miles

WNW of Brigg (where is the telegraph office), under which

it has a post and money order office. Acreage, 2235 ; popu-

lation, 1634.

Ashby, a hamlet in Litton-Cheney pai-ish, Dorset, 9 miles

W of Dorchester.

Ashby, a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles SW of Buckenham

station on the G.E.R., and 7 SE of Norwich, which is the

post town; money order and telegi'aph office, Loddon.

Acreage, 503
;

population, 176. The living is a rectory,

annexed to the rectory of Carleton, in the diocese of Nor-

wich. The church is an ancient building of flint, in the

Early English style.

Ashby, a parish in Suffolk, near the river Waveney, 2J
miles N of Somerleyton station on the G.E.R., and 6J NW
of Lowestoft, which is the post town ; money order office,

Blundeston; telegraph office, Somerleyton. Acreage, 1105
;

population, 88. The living is a rectory, annexed to that

of Somerleyton, in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value,

£251. The church is mainly Early English, and has a Deco-

rated east window, a square Norman font, and a circular west

tower, with octagonal upper story.

Ashby-by-Partney, Ashby-East, or Ashby-on-the-

Wold, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, on the Steep-

ing river, 2 miles E of Spilsby station on the G.N.R. Post

town, Spilbby, which is the money order and telegraph office.
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Acreage, 1026; population, 99. Tlie living is a rectory in

the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £85. The church

is a plain Gothic building of brick, and was restored in 1801.

There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Ashby, Canons, a parish in Northamptonshire, | mile N
of Moreton Pinkney station on the Eastern and Western
Junction railway, and 8 miles S of Daventry. Post town and
telegraph office, Byfield (R.S.O.); money order office, Slorcton.

Acreage, 1830; population, 38. Here is the seat of the

Dryden family. The church is the west part of the church

of the priory, and contains very good work of the 13th, 14th,

and 15th centuries. No remains of the priory exist above

ground.

Ashby-cmn-Oby, a united parish iu Norfolk, 2 miles SSE
from Potter Heighum station on the G.E.R. and M.R., and 10

NW from Yarmouth, which is the post town ; money order

and telegraph office, Martham and Acle. Acreage, 1394;
population, 90. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Norwich, consolidated with Thurne and Oby; joint gross

yearly value, £483, in the gift of the Bishop of Norwich.

The churches of both Ashby and Oby have disappeared.

Ashby-de-la-Launde, a parish in Lincokshire, 2 miles

W of Digby station on the G.E. and G.N. Joint railway. Post

town, Lincoln; money order office, Ruskington ; telcgi-aph

office, Digby station. Acreage, 2689
;

population, 167.

Ashby Hall is an old mansion with modern alterations and
improvement. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lin-

coln; net yearly value, £200. The chm'ch is an ancient

building of stone in the Early English style, with spire like

that of All Souls, ]\Iai'}'lebone—sharp pointed without finial

;

dedicated to St Hybald, a Saxon hermit mentioned by Bede.

Ashby-de-la-Zouch, a market and union town in Leices-

tershue. It stands in a pleasant situation, on the NW border

of the county, on the rivulet Gilwiskaw, near the Ashby-de-

la-Zouch Canal, 18 miles by road and 20f by railway NW by

W of Leicester. The Leicester and Burton branch of the

BLR. passes through the town, with a branch to Blelbourne

and Derby; and by way of Blarket Bosworth and Nun-
eaton there is also communication with the Trent valley.

It was anciently called Esseby, and it took the afterpart

of its present name from the ancient Norman-French family

of La Zouch. It belonged to that family from the time

of Henry III. till 1461 ; it passed then to the Crown, and
was given to the family of Hastings. The castle of the

La Zouches stood on a rising ground at the S end of the town

;

and a stronger one was built on its site, out of its materials,

in 1480, by Su' William Hastings. Colonel Henry Hastings,

son of the Earl of Huntingdon, and afterwards created Baron
Loughborough, garrisoned it for Charles I., was besieged in

it by Fairfax, and surrendered it to Colonel Needhara. The
Parliament ordered it to be dismantled in 1648. Only por-

tions of the hall, the chapel, and the kitchen are now stand-

ing, but they form an extensive and picturesque mass of ruin
;

and they show Tudor features of architecture which indicate

that some parts were of later erection than the original pile.

The scene of the grand tournament described in "Ivanhoe"
is about a mile to the W, ncai" the village of Smisby.

The town consists chiefly of one principal street, with two
smaller ones running in a parallel direction, and contains some
well-built houses. The town-hall was built in 1857, and is

a noble edifice. A beautiful Queen Eleanor cross was erected

in 1879 in memory of the Countess of Loudoun. St Helen's

church is fine Decorated English; includes two chapels, sepa-

rated by four lofty arches, springing from tinted pillars, and
contains tombs of the Earls of Huntingdon, and of the good
Countess Selina, who figures largely in religious history as

the foundress of a sect which bears her name. The church

was restored and enlarged at a cost of upwards of £12,000
in 1880. Trinity Church, at the west end of the town, is a

handsome structure in the Early English style, with about

600 sittings, built iu 1838 at a cost of £4000. It was
renovated and enlarged in 1885-86. There are chapels for

Baptists, Congregationalists, Wesleyan Blethodists, and Primi-

tive Methodists. The Congregational chapel, founded in

1675, was rebuilt in 1825, at a cost of £2000. The gram-
mar-school is a large edifice, was founded in 1567 by Henry,

lilarl of Huntingdon, has valuable endowments, holds exhibi-

tions in Emmanuel College, Cambridge, and Christ Church,

Oxford, and had for its first master Joseph Hall, afterwards
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Bishop of Exeter, and the author of well-known Christian

writings. The foundation also supports an English school,

which has separate buildings. There are also two other

endowed schools, and cliaiities of the yearly value of about

£200. Ivanhoe Baths, constructed in 1826, have a fine

Doric edifice 200 feet long; are supplied by pipes from

springs 3 miles distant, with mineral water, which has a

good reputation for the treatment of rheumatism. The town

is a summer resort of invahds and visitors, and has some
good hotels, lodging-houses, a head post office, and two banks.

A weekly market is held on Satm'day, and fairs on the

Monday before Shrove-Tnesday, Easter Tuesday, Nov. 10,

with a statute fair on the first Tuesday after Sept. 21.

Trade is carried on in malting, brewing, and in the traffic of

neighbouring brick-fields, smelting works, and collieries. A
coal-field hes around of irregular outline, about 10 miles by 8,

estimated to comprise 40,000 acres of workable area of coal,

having nine seams, with an aggregate thickness of 33 feet.

The town, which is well drained and lighted, is governed by

a Local Board of Health of 8 members, and is a seat of petty

sessions.

The entire area of the parish, which is the largest in the

county, is 6061 acres; population, 7710; the area of the

town, 3951 acres; population, 4535. The hving is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Peterborough; gi"oss yearly value, £450
with residence, in the gift of Lord Donington. The living

of Holy Trinity is a vicarage ; uct yearly value, £203, in the

gift of the Vicar of Ashby-de-la-Zouch. Population of the

ecclesiastical parish of Holy Trinity, 2394.

Ashby-Folville, a lordship and a parish in Leicestershire.

The lordship lies on an affluent of the river Wreak, 2^ miles

NW of John-o'-Gaunt station on the G.N. and L. & N.W. Joint

railways, and 6^ SW of Melton-Mowbray. Acreage, 1796;
population of the civil parish, 115 ; of the ecclesiastical, 316.

The parish includes also the chapeby of Barsby, and its post

town is Melton-Mowbray ; money order office, Twyford ; tele-

graph office, John-o'-Gaunt railway station. The living is a

vicai'age in the diocese of Peterborough; value, £250. The
chmxh is of the 14th century, and unusually large and fine,

and was restored in 1875. The Carington mortuaiy chapel

contains handsome altar tombs with recumbent effigies. The
almshouses here were founded by Lord Carington 200 years

ago, and have an income of £100 per annum.

Ashby, Great. See Ashby-Magna.
Ashby, Little. See Ashby-Parva.
Asbby-Magna, a parish in Leicestershire, 2 miles ESE of

Broughton-Astley station on the M.R., and 4 N by E of

Lutterworth, which is the post town ; money order office,

Gilmorton ; telegraph office, Broughton Astley railway station.

Acreage, 1937
;

population, 279. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Peterborough; net yearly value, £180. The
church is a stone structure, dating from the 14th centmy.

Ashby-Mears. See Mears Asiiby.

Ashby-Parva or Little Ashby, a parish in Leicestershire,

1
J mile NE of Ullesthorpe station on the M.R., and Similes
NNW of Lutterworth, which is the post town and money
order office; telegraph office, Ullesthorpe, Acreage, 1369;
population, 137. The Hving is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Peterborough ; net value, £200. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The church is a small building of stone in the Perpendicular

style. There is also a Congregational chapel.

Ashby-Puerorum, a village and a parish iu Lincolnshire, on
the Wolds, 4|- miles ENE of Horncastle station on the G.N.K.

The parish includes the hamlets of Stainsby and Holbeck, and
its post town and telegraph office is Horncastle; money
order office, Tetford. Acreage, 1631

;
population, 121. An

estate was bequeathed to the Lincoln chorister boys, and this

is alluded to in the distinctive name Pueroium. The fiving

is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value,

£144. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. The
church is a small antique structure, with a massive tower,

and is in very good condition.

Ashby-St. Ledgers,avillage and a parish in Northampton-
shire, near Watling Street and the Oxford and Grand Junction

Canals, 2 milesW of Welton station on the L. & N.W.R., and 4
N of Daventry. There is a post office under Rugby ; money
order and telegraph office, Kilsby. Acreage of the parish,

1935
;
population, 293. The distinctive name St Ledgers is

taken from the patron aaiut of the church. Ashby manor
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house, a substantial old mansion, belonged to the Catesbys,

passed to the Jansons, and is now the property of the Senhouse

family. A small room in one of its offices was the place where

Robert Catesby and his fellow conspu'ators concocted the

Gunpowder Plot. Ashby St Ledgers Lodge is another chief

residence. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peter-

borough
;
gross yearly v.alue, £140. The church is an editice

of nave and aisles, with tower and spire
i
has screen, rood loft,

and three piscinas ; .and contains an altar tomb of William

Catesby and his wife, of date 1493. This Catesby was the

favourite of Richard III., fought for him at the battle of Bos-

worth, and w.as captured tliere and beheaded at Leicester.

Ashby, West, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2 miles N by E of

Horncastle station on the G.N.R. It contains the hamlets

of Farthorpe and Middlcthorpe, and its post town is Horn-
castle, which is the money order and telegraph office. Acre-

age, 2739
;

population, 342. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lincoln
; gross yearly value, £200. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is Later English. There are

six almshouses, endowed by Lady Wray with £30 a year,

and a Wesleyan chapel.

Ashby-with-Fenby, a parish in Lincolnshire, at the foot

of the Wolds, 3 miles SW of Holton-le-Clay station on the

G.N.R., and 6^ S by W of Great Grimsby, which is the post

town ; money order and telegraph office, Waltham. Acre-

age, 1696; population, 227. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln
;
gross yearly value, £200. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is ancient. There arc a Wes-
leyan chapel, and si.'s almshouses with £30 a year.

Ash-Campsey. See Campsey-Ash.
Ashchurch, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, with

a station on the 51. R., at the junction of the IMalvern and
Evesham branches, 2 miles E of Tewkesbury. The parish

includes the hamlets of Pamington, Fiddington, Natton,

Aston-upon-Carrant, and Northway, and its post town is

Tewkesbury. There is a post office at Aston-upon-Carrant,

or Aston Cross, under Tewkesbury, the money order office

;

telegraph office is at Ashchurch railway station. Acreage,

4274
;
population, 703. There is a mineral spring of similar

quahty to the waters of Cheltenham. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £176.
The church is Perpendicular, with a Norman porch and a

pinnacled tower ; it contains an ancient carved oak screen.

There is a Wesleyan chapel at Aston-upou-CaiTant.

Ashcombe, a parish in Devon, 3 miles E of Chudleigh,

and 3 NW of Dawlish station on the G.W.K. It has a

post office under D.awlish ; the money order and telegi'aph

office is at Chudleigh. Acreage, 1968; population, 167.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter
;
gross v.alue,

£290. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is a small

edifice, repaired and partly rebuilt in 1825, and has a square

tower and a stained glass east window.

Ashcombe, a hamlet in Weston-super-JIare parish, Som-
erset, near the Bristol Channel and the G.W.R., 8J miles

NW of Axhridgc.

Ashcombe, an estate in Cranborne Chase, Wilts, 5 miles

SE of Shaftesbury. It belonged formerly to Lord Arundell.

It comprises a romantic circular hollow, engirt with an am-
phitheatre of wooded hills, accessible only by a declivitous

road ; and has, in the centre, an isolated knoll, crowned by
remains of an old mansion.

Ashcott, a parish in Somerset, 5 miles WSW of Glaston-

bury. It has a station on the Somerset and Dorset railway,

and includes the hamlet of Pedwell. It has a post and money
order office ; telegraph office. Street. Acreage, 2382

;
popu-

lation, 656. The manor belonged to Glastonbury Abbey.
The Hving is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells.

The church, dedicated to All Saints, was restored in 1860,
and again in 1889. There is a Wesleyan chapel at Pedwell,

and a Primitive Methodist chapel at Ashcott. There is also

a good reading-room with lending library.

Ashdon, a village and a parish in Essex. The village

stands on an affluent of the river Cam, 3i miles NE of Safl'ron-

Walden, and 2 S of Eartlow station on the G.E.R., and has a
post, money order, and telegraph office under SafTron-Walden.
The hamlet of Bartlow is in the parish. Acreage, 4156

;

population, 790. A place with a fine prospect and four

barrows—the latter supposed to be sepulchral monuments
of Roman chiefs^-contends with Ashingdon in Rochford

ASHENDON

district the repute of being tlie battlefield of Canute's victory

of Assandune, in 1016, over Edmund Ironside. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans; net value, £610.

Patron, Cains College, Cambridge. The church is an ancient

building of rubble and clunch in mixed styles, and there is

also a Baptist chapel.

Ashdown Forest, an ancient forest, now a heathland,

midway between East Grinstead and Uckfield, Sussex. It

lies withiu the manor of filaresfield, extending into five

parishes. It once was fenced, covered with wood, and stocked

with deer ; but was laid open during the civil war in the

time of Ch.arles I., and allowed to be desolated. Most of its

timber was consumed as fuel in the iron furnaces which

formerly abounded in the neighbourhood ; and only a few

trees, scattered and on the lower gi'ounds, now remain. The

general sm-face is bare and wild, cut with ravines and glens,

or rising into heights which command extensive views. The

manor, with the forest, belonged to the honour of Pevensey

;

was given, among other lands, in lieu of Richmond Castle,

to John of Gaunt, and took then the name of L.ancaster Great

Park
;
passed at the Restoration to the Earl of Bristol, and is

now divided among various proprietors.

AshdowB Park, the seat of the Earl of Craven, in Berks,

on a high desolate spot, among bleak downs, near Ridge-way

or Icknield Street, 3 miles SSW of White Horse Vale, and

3J NW of Lambourn. The house was built by Webb, the

nephew of Inigo Jones, is in the same style as Coleshill, and

contains interesting family portraits. Stones called the Grey

Wethers, having some resemblance to a flock of sheep, the

remains of a stratum of Bagshot sand, similar in nature to

the stones of Stonehenge and Avebury, lie on the turf around

the house, and a small circular camp, known as Alfred's

Castle, lies to the E.

Ashe, a tithing in Stourpaine parish, Dorset, on the river

Stour, 3J miles iSnW of Blandford.

Ashe, or Ash, a tithing in Nethcrbury parish, Dorset,

1 mile SW of Beaminster. It is a curacy annexed to

Netherby.

Ashe, or Ash, a h.amlet in Musbury parish, Devon, 2J
miles SW of Axminster. An old mansion here, now a farm-

house, was the birthplace, in IGoO, of John Churchill, the

famous Duke of Marlborough.

Ashe, a parish in Hants, IJ mile from Overton station

on the L. & S.W.R., and 5 miles ENE of Whitchurch. Post

town, Overton under Micheldever station. Acreage, 2127 ;

population, 169. Part of the smface is warren. Ashe Park

and Ashe Warren are chief residences. The parish is a resort

of sportsmen. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Winchester ; value, £308. The Church of the Holy Trinity

was rebuilt in 1878 on the site of the old one, of which it

retains many interesting portions, including the rood-screen

and a 12th century piscina. It is an edifice of flint with

stone dressings, in the Decorated style, with 120 sittings.

Asheldham, a parish in Essex, near the coast, 2 miles

NE from Southminster station on the G.E.R., and 11 ESE
of Maldon. Acreage, 1310; population, 180. The surface

is low and partly mai'shy. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St Albans; gross yearly value, £338. Patron, the

Bishop of St Albans. The church is an ancient building of

stone and flint, in the Decorated style.

Ashen, a parish in Essex, on the verge of the county,

bounded by the river Stour, 2k miles SW of Clai'e, and 1 SE
of Stoke station on the G.E.R. Post town, Clare, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1 500 ; popula-

tion, 215. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans

;

net yearly value, £200. Patron, the Duchy of Lancaster.

The church is a buUding of stone in the Early English style.

The chancel was rebuilt m 1858 and a vestry added.

Ashendon, a parish in Bucks. The parish is near the

Julian way, 9 milesW of Aylesbury, and 4^ SW from Quain-

ton Road station on the L. & N.W.U., and includes the hamlet

of Pollicot. Post town, Thame ; money order and telegraph

office. Brill. Acreage, 2128; population of the civil parish,

199 ; of the ecclesiastical, 336. The living is a vicarage, united

with that of Dorton, in the diocese of Oxford ; gross yearly

value, £180, in the gift of Earl Temple. The church contains

the figure of a crusader, and is an ancient building of stone, in

the Early English, Decorated, and Pei'pendlcular styles. The

font is either Noiinan or Saxon.
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Asheridge, a hamlet in Chesham parish, Buckingham-

shire, 2 miles NW of Chesham. It has a small Ccn-
grec;ational chapel.

Ashey, an extensive ancient manor in the Isle of Wight,

extending from the coast around Ryde southward to the hills

which overhang the Main river. It belonged to the abbess of

Wherwell, near Andover; was demised, in 1538, to Giles

Worsley ; and the northern pai't of it, on which Kyde stands,

was sold to Anthony Dilliugton, and passed afterwards to the

family of Player. Ashey Common, 2 miles S of Ryde, is now
enclosed. Asliey Farm, a little farther S, was the site of a

cell of the nunnery of Wherwell. Ashey Down, still further

S, rises 421 feet above the level of the sea, and comm.ands a

splendid view from Southampton to Chichester. Ashey Sea-

mai-k, on the summit of the down, is a triangular pyramid,

erected in 1735 by the Trinity Board, and guides the naviga-

tion into St Helen's Road at Spithead. The Kyde water-

works, constructed in 1855, are at the foot of the down.

There is a station at Ashey on the Isle of Wight Central

Railway.

Ashfield or Ashfield-with-Thorpe, a parish in Suffolk,

3 miles ESE of Debeuham, and 6 from Framlingham station

on the G.E.R. Post town, Debenhara, which is the money

Older and telegraph office. Acreage, 1580 ;
population, IIM.

I'he living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich. Patron,

Lord Heunikcr. The church is a brick structure of 1853.

Ashfield, Great, a parish in Sufifolk, 2J miles N of

Ehnswell station on the G.E.R., and 7J NW of Stowmarket.

It has a post-ofiice of the name of Ashfield, under Bury St

Edmunds ; money order and telegraph office, Elmswell. Acre-

age, 1548; population, 362. Ashfield Lodge and Ashfield

House are chief residences. Ashfield was the birthplace of

Lord Chancellor Thurlow, and of his brother, the Bishop of

Durham. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely;

gross yearly value, X60. Patron, Lord Thurlow. The church

is a small brick and flint edifice, with a tower. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Ashfield-with-Ruthall, a township in Ditton-Priors

parish, Salop, containing the hamlets of Ashfield and Ruthall,

74 miles SSW of Much-Wenlock.

Ashford, a village and a parish in Derbjshu'e. The vil-

lage stands on the river Wye, in a charming situation, sm'-

rouuded by high hills near Monsal dale, 1 mile from Longstone

railway station, and 2 NW of BakeweU, under which it has

a post and money order office, and it carries on a trade

in marble. Mills for cutting, tm-ning, and polishing marble

were erected in its vicinity in 1748, and are the oldest estab-

lishmeuts of their kind in England. Marbles of many tints,

but chiefly black and grey, are found in the neighbourhood,

about 40 feet beneath the surface, in beds from 3 to 9 inches

thick, and ai'e manufactured at the mills into a gi'cat variety

of ornamental ai'ticles. Ashford Hall is the seat of the Cliftbrd

Smith family, and the manor belongs to the Duke of Devon-

shire. Church Dale, Thornbridge, and the Rookery are man-
sions in the parish. A spot near the church was the site of the

mansion of Edward Plantagenet of Woodstock, Earl of Iveut,

now traceable only by the moat. In this parish the curfew,

aud the pancake bell on Shrove Tuesday, may still be heard.

The acreage is 2554; population, t)61. The Uving is a vicar-

age, annexed to that of Sheldon, in the diocese of Southwell

;

joint gross yearly value, £260 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Bakewell. The church is ancient, and was restored

in 1869-70. There is a chapel for Methodists.

Ashford, a parish in Devon, on the north side of the

estuary of the Taw, 2J miles NW of Barnstaple, and 2 from

Wrafton station on the Ilfracombe branch of the L. & S.W.E.

Post town, Barnstaple ; nearest money order and telegraph

office, Pilton. Acreage, 368; population, 151. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter; value, £92. Patron,

the Lord Chancellor. The chmch was built in 1854, and is

a neat small ediflce, with low square tower and a spire. The
views nearly opposite Westward Ho ai*e among the finest in

Devon.

Ashford, a village and a parish in Middlesex. The village

stands amid a richly-cultivated tract, 2 miles E of Staines,

and has a station on the L. & S.W.R., and a post and tele-

graph office (S.O.) under Staines. The parish includes the

western part of Old Houuslow Heath, once the retreat of

highwaymen and the tenor of travellers. Acreage, 1402

;
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population, 2700. Ashford Lodge, Manor House, and Clock

House are handsome seats. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of London ; value, £125. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The church was rebuilt in 1859. A Welsh charity school,

an edifice in the Tudor style, was founded in 1857, and

is now used as a high-class school for girls. The West
London District School, opened in 1872, has accommodation

for 700 children.

Ashford, a town aud a parish in Kent. The town stands

on the Esshe or Esshet river, the western branch of the Stour,

and has a station on the L.C. & D.E. and S.E.R., 54 miles

from London. It was anciently called EsshetforJ, from its

situation on the river, and it belonged to Hugo de Montfort,

and passed to successively the Asshetfords, the Criols, the

Lcybornes, the Auchers, the Smyths, and the Footes. The
original town is situated on an eminence, on the N bank of

the river, and has a High Street of considerable width, about

half a mile long. A new town, called Alfred or Newtown-
Ashford, was built by the railway company, adjacent to the

station, and includes extensive workshops, constructed at a

cost of upwards of £100,000, and about 200 dwellings and a

school, used as a church. The hvmg is a vicarage in the

diocese of Canterbury ; value, £456. Patrons, the Dean and

Chapter of Rochester. The pai'ish church, in the old town,

is a spacious structure, in fine Perpendicular' English, built

or restored by Sir John Fogge in the time of Edward IV.,

comprises nave, transept, and three chancels, with a lofty

tower, resembling the Bell Harry Tower of Canterbury

Cathcdi'al, and contains a figured font, the tomb of Sir John
Fogge, a brass of the Countess of Athole of 1375, and some

fine monuments of the Smyths of Westenhanger, one of whom
was the Sacchainssa of Waller. An ecclesiastical college was

founded by Sir John Fogge as a pend.ant to the chmch, but

was dissolved in the time of Henry VII. A church, in the

Second Pointed style, was built in the new town in 1867.

There are chapels for five dissenting bodies and Roman
Catholics; police station, the headquarters of Ashford Division

Kent County ConstabvJary ; mechanics' institute, assembly

rooms, and reading-room; four-arched bridge, market-house,

corn-exchange, and a head post office. There is also a neat

cemetery, with two ch.apels. A fine swimming bath was built

in 1867, which has an area of nearly one acre of water. Ash-

ford Cottage Hospital, a red brick building, was erected in

1887 by W^ Pomfret Pomfret, Esq., of Godinton House.

Whitfield Hall, now taken by the Ashford Institute, was

erected to the memory of Mr Henry Whitfield in 1874, and

is used for public meetings. New sewerage works were

completed in 1888 at a cost of £14,000. A great stock

market is held evei7 Tuesday, and fairs on 17 May, 9 Sept.

,

and 12, 13, and 24 Oct. There .are two banks, and two

weekly newspapers are published. Wallis the mathematician.

Glover the antiquary, and Milles the herald, were natives.

The ' headstrong Kentish man ' of Shakespeare, also, is ' John

Cade of Ashford.' The Osborne family, Dnkes of Leeds, are

said to have originated here ; and the Keppels, Earls of Albe-

niai-le, take from the place the title of Baron. Ai'ea of

pm'ish, 2850 acres
;
population, 10,728.

Ashford Parliamentart/ Division^ or Southern Kent,

was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of

1885, and returns one member to the House of Commons.
Popul.ation, C7,820. The division includes the following:

—

Ashford—Appledore (part of),Ashford, Bethersden, Bilsinglon

(part of), Bircholt, Bennington (part of), Boughton Aluph,

Brabourne, Brenzett (part of). Brook, Brooklaud (part of),

Challock, Charing, Chart (Great), Chart (Little), Chilham,

Crundale, Eastwell, Ebony (part of), Egerton, Fairfield, God-

mersham, Hastingleigh, Hmxhill, Hothfield, Ivychureh (part

of), Kennardington (part of), Kennington, Kingsnorth, Mer-

sham, Midley, Molash, Orlestone (part of), Pluckley, Romney,

(New, the part in the county), Romney (Old, part of),

Ruckinge (part of), Sevington, Shadoxhnrst, Sraarden,Smeeth,

Suargate (part of), Stone-in-Oxney, Warehorne (pai't of),

Westwell, Willesborough Wittersham, Woodchm'ch, Wye;
Cranbrook—Benenden, Biddenden, Cranbrook, Frittenden,

Goudhiu-st, Halden, Hawkhurst, Horsmonden, Marden, New-
enden, Rolvenden, Sandhurst, Staplehm'st ; Tenterden, muni-

cipal borough; New Romney, corporate town; Romney
Marsh (such part as is not included in the St Augustine's

division).



ASHFORD-BOWDLER

Ashford-Bowdler, a parish in Salop, on the right bank

of the river Teme, adjacent to Wooferton station on the

Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (L. &. N.W. and G.W.) rail-

way, 2 miles S of Ludlow, which is the post town. Acreage,

5'J6
;

population, 126. Ashford Hall is the chief residence.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford; net

value, £80. The church is an old edifice, figuring pictur-

esquely in a neat small village. It was restored in 1853, and

again in 1871.

Ashfordby. See Asfordbt.
Ashford-Carbonell, a parish in S.alop, on the left bank

of the river Teme, 2 miles N by E from Wooferton station

on the Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (L. & N.W. and G.W.)

railway, and 3 S by E of Ludlow, under which it has a

post office, and at which is the money order and telegraph oflice.

Acreage, 1521
;
population, 260. Ashford House and Asli-

ford Court are the chief residences. The Uving is a perpetual

curacy in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £200. Patron,

the Bishop of Worcester. The church is ancient. There is a

Primitive Methodist chapel.

Ashford-Hill, a locality on the north border of Hants,

3 miles from Kingsclere, with a post office under Reading.

Ashfurlong, a village in Sutton-Coldfield parish, Warwick-

shire, 2 miles Npj of Sntton-Coldtield.

Ash-Hole, a cavern at Berry Head, on the south side of

Tor Bay, Devon. The bones of hyaenas and other animals

have been found in it.

Ashill, a parish in Norfolk, 3^ miles NW of Watton sta-

tion on the G.E.R., and 6 SE of Swaffham. It has a post

and money order office under Watton, which is the telegraph

office. Acreage, 3030
;
population, 600. Part of the land

is common, and some points command a fine view. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; value, £085.

The church is Later English, has a flint tower, and is good.

There are Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels.

AsMII, a village and a p.arisli in Somerset. The village

stands 4 miles NW of Ilminster station on the G.W.R., and

8J SSE of Taunton. It has a post office under Ilminster;

money order and telegraph office. Hatch Beauchamp. The

parish comprises 2740 acres; population of the civil parish,

652; of the ecclesiastical, 414. The Uving is a rectory

in the diocese of Bath and Wells; value, £200. Patron,

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The church is ancient, and

was restored in 1882.

Ashingdon, a parish in Esse.'!, near the river Crouch, 2

miles N of Rochford station on the G.E.R., and 6 N of South-

end. Post town, Rochford, which is the money order and

telegraph office. Acres, 1166
;
population, 97. Ashingdon

disputes with Ashdon being the ancient Assaudune, the scene

of Canute's victory over Edmund Ironside in 1016. An
ancient camp was formerly at Canewdon ; a gi'eat group of

barrows, supposed to be the graves of the Danes, is in the

neighbouring parish of Woodham-Mortimer ; and a church

built by Canute, in commemoration of his victory, is said to

have stood in the neighbouring village of Hockley. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; value, £200.

The church is ancient, and has a fine view.

Ashingdon, N. W. Essex. See Ashdon.
Ashington, a parish in Somerset, on the river Yeo, 4 miles

from Yeovil station on the G.W.R. Post town, Ilchester

under Taunton. Acreage, 529
;
population, 32. The living

is a rectoiy, annexed to Chilton Cantelo, in the diocese of

Bath and Wells ; value, £290. The church is good.

Ashington, with North Wachington, a parish in Sussex,

5 miles NW of Steynmg station on the L.B. & S.C.K. It

contains the chapelry of Buncton, and has a post and money
order office under Pulborough; telegraph office is at Storring-

ton. Acreage, 1012; population of the civU parish, 219;
of the ecclesiastical district, 602. The living is a rectory,

united with the curacy of Buncton, in the diocese of Chi-

chester; gross value, £275. The church is good, and was
almost entirely restored in 1872.

Ashington and Sheepwash, a township and an ecclesi-

astical parish in Bothal parish, Northumberland, on the river

Wansbeck, 4 miles E of Jloi-peth. It has a station on the

Blyth and Tyne section of the N.E.R. ; a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Morpeth, and two banks. Acre-

age, 666
; population of the township, 141 ; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 5331. The church, built m 1887, is in the

ASHLEY

Early English and Norman styles. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Newcastle ; value, £255, in the gift of the

Bishop of Newcastle. There is a school here. In 1893

the first stone was laid of a new village, near the railway

station, which it is intended to create primarily for the work-

men and their families, many hundreds in number, who are

unable to find house room in the colliery village of Ashington.

The site is 130 feet above the sea level, and overlies a bed of

freestone. Sites for streets of cottages, terraces, and busi-

ness premises have been laid out, and a system of sewerage

and water supply has been designed.

Ashleworth, a village and a parish in GloDcestershire, at

a ferry on the north bank of the river Severn, 5 miles N of

Gloucester, under which it h.as a post office, and at which is

the money order office. Acreage, 1766
;
popidation, 450.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol

;

value, £160. Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol.

The church is a fine edifice, chiefly Perpendicular, with some

Early English and Decorated portions, and has an embattled

tower with a spire. It was restored in 1869. It possesses many
features of unusual interest—the north wall is pure Saxon,

and is one of the most complete specimens of this work in

England. It contains also a 14th century rood screen and

loft. The original royal arms, time of Edward VI., are at

the west end. The pulpit is an unusually fine one of carved

oak, date 1635. There is a 14th century preaching cross

in the churchyard in perfect preservation. Adjoining the

church is a most perfect and beautiful tithe barn, and an

Angustinian monastery with a very fine timbered hall, some

interesting frescoes, and an effigy of Henry VI. The manor

formed p.art of the possessions of the Earls of Berkeley, and

was given to the Angustinian monastery at Bristol in the

time of Edward II. Foscombe, the principal residence, is a

fine mansion with a lofty tower, which commands an exten-

sive view. The Old Vicarage is interesting for its .antiquity.

Ashley, a township, a village, and a parish in Cheshire.

The township lies near the river BoUin, 2J miles S of Altrin-

cham. It has a station on the Cheshire Lines railway, and

a post office under Altrincham; money order and telegraph office.

Peel Causew,ay, 2 miles distant. Acreage, 2263 ;
population

of the civil parish, 412 ; of the ecclesiastical, 616. Ashley

Hall, the old manor house, now a farmhouse, is noted as the

meeting-place of the Cheshire gentry in 1715, when the

casting vote against participation in the Rebellion was given

by Mr Assheton, the lord of the manor. Lord Egerton of

Tatton is now lord of the manor. The parish was consti-

tuted in 1881, The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Chester; value, £300. Patron, Lord Egerton of Tatton.

The church was erected in 1880.

Ashley, a tithing in Milton parish, Hants, near the Channel,

4J miles WSW of Lymington.

Ashley, a hamlet in Box parish, Wilts, adjacent to the

G.W.R., 4J miles WSW of Corsham.

Ashley, a p.arish in Hants, 2 miles from Horsebridge

station on the L. & S.W.R., and 9 W of Winchester. Post

town, Stockbridge under Winchester. Acreage, 1834; popu-

lation, 103. There are vestiges of Roman camps, and a

Danish entrenchment. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Winchester ; value, £220. The chmxh is Norman, has

a very small chsincel arch, and was restored in 1858.

Ashley, a parish in Northamptonshire, on the verge of the

county, on the river Welland, with a station on the L.&N.W.R.,

5 miles ENE of Market-Harborough, which is the post

town ; money order office, Medbom'ue ; telegraph office,

Medbourne(R.S.) Acreage, 1230; popidation, 234. The liv-

ing is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough. The church

is an ancient building of stone in the Early English style.

There is also a Congregational chapel.

Ashley, a village and a parish in Staffijrdshire, 4 miles

SW of Whitmore station on the L. & N.W.R., and 5 ENE
of Market-Drayton. It contains the village of Ashley-Heath,

and part of the hamlet of Hook-Gate, and has a post office

under Market-Draybon ; money order and telegraph office,

Whitmore. Acreage, 2821; population, 797. ThereisaRoman

camp on a site 803 feet high. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Lichfield; value, £430. The church is a fine edifice,

in the Decorated style, with an embattled tower. It was

restored iu 1861, and was also enlarged by a chapel which

contains handsome monuments of the Kinnersleys. There
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are chapels for Roman Catholics, Wesleyans, Congregatiou-

alists, and Primitive Methodists.

Ashley, a parish in Wiltshire, near Akeman Street, 3 miles

NE of Tetbury, and 4 from Kemble Junction on the G.W.R.

Post town, Tetbur}'. Acres, 952
;
population, 80. The pro-

perty is all in one estate ; belonged formerly to the Gorges

and the Hungerfords, and belongs now to the Kstcourts.

Part of the old m.ansion is st,anding, and is now used as a

farmhouse. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Glou-

cester and Bristol; value, £210. Patron, the Duchy of

Lancaster. The church is ancient ; the chancel arch and

porch are l^^arly Norman, and the arches and pillars dividing

the nave from the south aisle Early English; there is a

square embattled tower in the Perpendicular style ; it con-

tains a rude font, and a monument to the Gorges family

;

it was restored in 1858.

Ashley-Combe, a summer residence of the Earl of Love-

lace, 2 miles W of Porlock, Somerset. It stands on the

coast, on a high narrow terrace, looking out ou Porlock Bay,

A glen adjacent to it leads up to a grand amphitheatre,

streaked by five brooks on the side of a moorland height.

Ashley-cum-Silverley, a parish in Cambridgeshire, on

the verge of the county, at Ashley Gap, 4 miles ESE of

Newmarket railw,ay station. It has a post office, of the name
of Ashley, under Newmarket; money order and telegr.aph

office, Cheveley. Acreage, 2225
;

population, 456. The

living is a rectory and a vicarage—Ashley rectory, Silverley

vicarage— in the diocese of Ely. Patron, Lord North. The
church was built in 1845.

Ashley, Great and Little, two villages on the W border

of Wilts, near the river Avon, If and 2f miles NW of

Bradford.

Ashley Green, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in

Chesham pai-ish, Bucks, 2J miles NNE of Chesham on the

Metropolitan railway, and 2i from Berkhampstead station on

the L. & N.W.R. It has a post office under Berkhampstead,

which is the telegraph office. Population, 561. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of O-xford ; net yearly value, £250,

The church was erected in 1875, There is a sm.all Baptist

chapel.

Ashleyhay, a township in Wirksworth parish, Derbyshire,

1 mile SE of Wirksworth station on the M.R. Wirksworth

is the post town. Area, 13113 acres
;

population, 173.

Tliere are chapels for Wesley,ans and Primitive Methodists.

Ashley-Heath. See Ashlet, Staffordshire.

Ashley-Hill, a station on the G.W.R., 2J miles N of

Bristol.

Ashley-Lodge, an extra-parochial tract in the New Forest,

Hants, 3 miles ENE of Fordingbridge,

Ashley-Park, the seat of the Sassoon family, on the N
border of Surrey, on the Thames, 4J miles E by S of Chertsey,

The mansion is an edifice of red brick, with Tudor features,

but has been much modernized, and contains a g.allery 100

feet long. Some very large Scotch pines are in the park.

Ashley-Walk, a township in the parishes of Breamore

and Ellingh.am, Hants. Post town, Fordingbridge. Acreage,

83II1)
;
population, 286.

Aslaling, East aud West, two tithings in Funtington

parish, Sussex, near the South Coast railway, 4 miles NW
of Chichester. West Ashling has a post office under Chi-

chester.

Ashmanhaugh, a parish in Norfolk, 10 miles NNE of

Norwich, and 2 N of Wroxh.am station ou the G.E.R, Post

town, Norwicli ; money order .and telegraph office, Wroxlmm.

Acreage, 665
;
population, 133. The living is a vicar.ige in

the diocese of Norwich, consolidated with tlie rectory of the

adjoining parish of Beeston St Lawrence
;

joint value, £243.

The church is ancient.

Ashmansworth, a parish in Hants, 8 miles NNW of

Whitchurch railway station, and 8J SSW of Newbury. Post

town. East Woodhay under Newbmy. Acreage, 1821 ;
popu-

lation, 199. The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to

the rectory of East Woodhay, in the diocese of Winchester

;

value, £371. The church is Early English. A Primitive

Methodist chapel was built in 1888.

Ashmore, a parish in Dorset, contiguous to Wilts, 5

miles SE of Shaftesbury, and 9 from Semley station on

the L. tfe S.W.R. It has a post office under Salisbury ; money

order office, Fontmell Magna; telegraph office, Donhead
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St Andrew. Acreage, 2376; population, 228. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Sahsbury; net value, £180.

There is a Wesleyan chapel. The Church of St Nicholas is

in the E.arly English style, and was built on the site of the

old one in 1874, and cout,ains some inne stained glass windows.

Ashness, a locality on the E side of Derwent Water, 3

miles S of Keswick, Cumberland. It comm.ands a good bird's-

eye view of the lake. Asbuess Bridge is a favom'ite with

artists'.

Ash-next-Sandwich, so called to distinguish it from Ash
near Sevenoaks, a village .and a parish in Kent. The village

stands on a rising-ground, by the side of Wingham brook,

a tributary of the Stour, 3 miles W of Sandwich station

on the S,E,R. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office. The parish comprises 7021 acres; population,

2242. Eichborough Castle, the Roman Rutupia;, is on the

E border, about a mile N of Sandwich. [See Ricii-

ISOKOUGH.] One of the eai'liest settlements of the Saxons

was in the parish, and many rehcs of the earliest Sfixon

times have been found. Hops are grown, and pale ale

is extensively brewed. There ai*e two livings, St Nicholas

and Trinity, and both are vicarages in the diocese of Canter-

bury; value, £307 and £250. Patron, the Ai-chbishop

of Canterbury. St Nicholas Church is cruciform, E.arly

English, and very fine; is surmounted by a spired central

tower, which serves as a landmark ; has undergone some

good recent restorations, and contains an altar-tomb, two

tombs with effigies of crusaders, and sever.il brasses, one to

the daughter of Sir John Oldcastle (Lord Cobham), the

Lollard martyr. A small hon church in connection with the

parish chmch was erected in 1888. The Church of Trinity

stands at Westmarsh, 2 miles distant, and there is a neat

Congreg.ational chapel.

Asholme, a hamlet in Lambley piirish, Northumberland;

it forms a township with Lambley, aud is situated on the East

bank of the South Tyne, 5 miles S of Haltwhistlc, aud 1 from

Lambley station on the N.E.R.

Asholt. See Aisiiolt,

Ashop, The, a stream of Derbyshire. It rises at Ashop-

Head, on the N side of the Peak, and rans iibout 8 miles

east-south-eastw.ard to the Derwent at Ashopton Inn,

Ashome, a hamlet in Newbold-Pacey p.ari5h, Warwick, on

an afllueut of the river Avon, 5 miles S by E of Wai-wick. It

has a Congregational chapel.

Ashover, a village, a township, and a parish in Derby-

shire. The village stands in a deep narrow valley, on the

river Amber, 3 miles WNW of Stretton r.ailway station, and

7 SSW of Chesterfield. It is a place of great antiquity,

and was once a market-town. Fairs for cattle and sheep

are still held on 25 April and 15 Oct., and a st.atute fair

in November. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Chesterfield. Lace-making is carried on. Tam-
bour-working and stocking-weaving were once prominent;

but the former has ceased, and the latter is declining. The
area of the township is 9564 .acres; population, 2353. The
parish includes also the hamlets of Alton, Kelstedge, Upper
Town, Mill Town, and Little Moor. Limestone is quarried, and

lead ore was formerly mined. Stubben Edge is the seat of the

Jackson f.amily. Overton Hah, formerly the seat of Sir

Joseph Banks, the president of the Royal Society, is now the

residence of the Jessop family. Lea Hurst, a fine Gothic

mansion, for many yeai-s the home of Florence Nightingale,

is now the scat of the Cocksey Lee family. Robin Hood's

Mark, a rocking-stone about 26 feet in circuit, is on a slope

of Ashover Common, and the Turning-stone, a remarkably

shaped block 9 feet high, supposed to have been an object

of Druidical veneration, is about 200 yards farther offi The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell; net value,

£290 with residence. The church was built in 1419, and

various alterations and improvements to its interior were

made in 1886; is surmounted by a square embattled tower,

and a handsome spire ; has a heautiful window of stained

glass to the Nodder family, set up in 1845, with several other

memorial windows erected .at various dtifep since then, aud
contains tombs of the Babingtons and two brasses. There

arc an endowed school at LTpper Town under the control of

Charity Trustees, and other charities £40. There .are

Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, and a cemetery,

under the control of a, Burial Board.
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Ashow, a village and a parish in Warwickshire, on the

river Avon, adjacent to Stoneleigh, 2J miles ESE of Kenil-

worth, which is the post town. Acreage, 107S)
;
population,

159. Lord Leigh is lord of the manor and principal land-

owner. The manor was given, in the time of Edward IV.,

to the abbey of Stoneleigh. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Worcester; net value, £300. Patron, Lord

Leii^h. The ancient patrons were the Priors of Kenilworth.

The church, which has Norman work, is ancient, with a

pinnacled tower ; it has a magniBcent service of communion

plate, given in 1638 by Lady Dudley.

Ashperton, a parish in Herefordshire, near the river Frome,

5 miles N\V of Ledbm-y. It has a station on the G.W.R. Post

town. Canon Frome Gate; money order office, Tarrington;

telegraph office, Bosbury. Acreage, 16112; population of the

civil parish, 362 ; of the ecclesiastical district, G08. The

living is a perpetual curacy annexed to the vicarage of Stretton-

Grandison, in the diocese of Hereford. The church is .an

ancient edifice, with an embattled tower added at its re-

storation in 1840. Ashperton parish is part of the parish

of Stretton-Grandison, Ashperton church being described as

a chapelry.

Ashprington, a parish in Devon, at the influ.x of the Hare-

borne river to the Dart, 2| miles SSE of Totnes st.ation

on the G.W.R. Post town, Totnes. Acreage, 2255
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 418 ; of the ecclesiastical, 464. Sliarp-

ham House, the seat of the Durant family, is an elegant edifice,

and commands an extensive view along the Dart. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; value, £537. The

churcli is a ne.at old edifice, of nave, chancel, and aisles, with

square tower. A dilapidated old chapel stands at Painsford.

Ash-Priors, a parish in Somerset, near Bishops-Lydeard

station on the G.W.R., and 6 miles NW of Taunton.

Post town, Bishops-Lydeard under Taunton. Acreage, 041

;

population, 128. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Bath and Wells; value, £70. The church is good, and

was completely restored in 1874.

Ashreigney or Rings-Ash, a parish in Devon, 4 miles

WNW of Eggesford station on the L. & S.W.R., and 4

WSWof Chnmleigh, which is the post town. Acreage, 5723;

population, 639. The p.arish was a rendezvous of Fairfax in

1646, prior to his attack on Torrington. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Exeter; value, £495. The church

is an ancient structure of nave, chancel, and south aisle, with

low square tower; it was restored in 1889. The peal of

bells was overhiiuled in 1891. There is a chapel for Bible

Christians.

Ashridge Park, the seat of Earl Brownlow, on the border

of Bucks and Herts, adjacent to the L. & N.W.R., 3J miles N
of Berkhampstead. A monastery of the order of Bonhommes
was founded here in 1283, by Edmund Plantiigenet, E.arl of

Cornwall, and put into high celebrity by means of an alleged

portion of the blood of Christ, which lie brought to it from

Germ,any. Edward I. kept Christmas and held a pai'liament

in the monastery in 1290. The Princess Elizabeth, after-

wards Queen Elizabeth, received a grant of the place, and

resided in it ; and she was taken prisoner hence to London on

the charge of being a party to Wyatfs conspiracy. The

church was destroyed in Elizabeth's time ; the great hall and

the cloisters stood till 1800, and only the crypt of the monas-

tery now remains. A new m.ansion was built in 1808-14,

after designs by Wyatt, and " is a varied and irregular line

of towers and battlements, arched doorways, mullioned win-

dows, corbels, and machicolations, with a turreted centre, fine

Gothic porch, and beautifully proportioned spire, surmount-

ing the chapel
;

" and it contains fine statues, ancient brasses,

choice paintings, and other objects of interest. The property

was given by Elizabeth to her Lord Keeper of the Great Seal,

Baron Ellesmere, and passed through the Earls and Dukes

of Bridgewater to Earl Brownlow.

Ashtead, a parish in Surrey, with a station on the L. &
S.W. and L.B.&S.C. railways, 16 miles from London, .and

2 SW of Epsom. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. Acres, 2651
;
population, 1351. Ashtead Park, the

seat of the Ralli family, is a splendid mansion, and contains

some good pictures. The park has some venerable old oaks

and elms, and a long avenue of limes, and is well stocked with

deer. Ashtead Common, above the p.ark. commands pic-

turesque views; and contains, among wood, an ancient

ASHTON-INMAKERFIELD

entrenchment. The Roman Stone Street passed through the

p.arish, and has left relics in the m.aterials of the church.

There is a mineral spring similar to that of Epsom. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester. Value, £325.

The church is an ancient structure, with a tower, and em-
bodies Roman bricks and tiles in its walls, but has undergone

numerous alterations. Sir Robert Howard used to entertain

Charles II. in a mansion which occupied the site of the present

Ashtead House. An almshouse for eight poor widows has

£44 from endowment, and other charities £1G. There is an

iron church, with sittings for 150.

Ashton, a township and a vilhage, and an ecclesiastical

parish, in Tarvin parish, Chesliire. The township lies near

Delamere Forest, 1 J mile SW of Mouldsworth station on the

Cheshire Lines railway system, 2J miles N by E of Tarvin,

and 7 NE of Chester, under which it has a post oflice ; money

order and telegraph office, Kelsall. Acreage, 1324
;
popu-

lation, 367. Tlie ecclesiastical parish (population, 589) is

called Ashton Hayes, and w.as constituted in 1849. It in-

cludes also the townships of Horton-cum-Peele and Moulds-

worth. The living is a vicariige in the diocese of Chester

;

value, nominally £160 with residence. Patrons, Trustees.

The church is modem, in the Perpendicular style. There

are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Ashton, a parish in Devon, adjoining the river Teign, 4

miles N of Chudleigh, with a station on the Teign Valley

br.anch of the G.W.R. Post town, Chudleigh under Newton

Abbot. Acreage, 2182
;
population of the civil parish, 209

;

of the ecclesiastical, 194. The Chudleighs were proprietors

for several hundi-ed years; and their mansion, some remains of

which still exist, was garrisoned for King Charles I., and

taken by the Parliamentarians. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Exeter ; v.alue, £270. The church is a small

ancient edifice, with square turreted tower. By a Local Gov-

ernment order in 1884, Middle Bramble and Lower Bramble

were amalgamated with the parish.

Ashton, a township, conjoint with Eye and Moreton, in

Eye parish, Herefordshire, 4 miles NNE of Leominster.

Ashton, a tithing in Bishops-Waltham ptirish, Hants, 1

mile NW of Bishops-Waltham.

Ashton, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire, on

the Grand Junction Canal, near Salcey Forest and the Blis-

worth tunnel, IJmileSSE of Roade station on the L. &N.W.R.,
and 7 S of Northampton, wliicli is the post town ; money

order and telegnaph oSice, Roade. Acreage, 1317; popula-

tion, 255. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peter-

borough. Patron, the Lord Ch.ancelIor. The church is a

building of stone in mixed styles. There is a Wesleyan

chapeh

Ashton, a township in Oundle parish, Northampton, near

the Nen river, 1 mile E of Oundle. Acreage, 1848
;
popu-

lation, 200.

Ashton, a hamlet in Bainton parish, Northampton, 2§
miles W of Helpstone station on the M.R., and 5 E by S of

St.amford.

Ashton Cold. See Cold Ashton.
Ashton Court, the seat of the Smyth f,amily, in Long

Ashton parish, Somerset, on the SE slope of Ashton-Down,

2 miles SW of Bristol. The mansion belonged originally to

the Lyons family, is an old edifice, with a front 143 feet long,

by Inigo Jones, and cont.ains a portrait-gallery 90 feet by 20.

Ashton-GlfFord, a township in Codford-St Peter parish,

Wilts, on the river Wiley, 2J miles SE of Heytesbury.

Ashton-Green, a hamlet in Prescot parish, Lancashire,

2J miles E of St Helens.

Ashton Hall, a scat in the township of Ashton-with-Stod-

day, LancT-shire, beautifully situiited, overlooking the estuary of

the Lune, and Morecambe I5.ay, 2j miles S of Lancaster. It be-

longed to the Lawrences
;
passed, by man-iage, to tlie Dukes

of Hamilton in the reign of James II., and is now the resi-

dence of the Starkie family. The mansion is a large edifice,

with a squ.are embattled tower; the interior contains a fine

karonial hall. The park is finely wooded, and commands

charming views over Morecambe B.ay.

Ashton-in-Makerfield, or Ashton-le-Willows, a village

and a township in Lancashire. The village stands 2^ miles

NW of Newton-le-Willows station on the L. & N.W.R., and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office of the name ('f

Ashton-in-Makeilield, uuder Newtou-le-Willows. The town-
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ship has long been noted for the manufacture of huiges, locks,

bolts, screws, files, and nails, and there are extensive collieries.

It is governed by a local board. Acreage, 6250
;
population,

13,379. The parish includes part of the township of Hay-
dock. Garswood is the seat of Lord Gerard, who is lord of

the manor and principal landowner. There are two livings,

or ecclesiastically two parishes, Holy Trinity and St Thomas,
the former a rectory, the latter a vicarage in the diocese of

Liverpool; net values, £3G7, with residence, and £250 re-

spectively. Patron of Holy Trinity, the Earl of Derby ; of

St Thomas, the Rector of Ashton. Holy Trinity Church is

near the hamlet of Downall-Green, North Ashton, where is

a post and money order office under Wigan, and St Thomas'
Church is in the village of Ashton. There are likewise a

handsome Congi-egatioual chapel built in 18G7, three other

dissenting chapels, a Roman Catholic chapel, an endowed
grammar school, founded in 1588, for which a handsome set

of new buildings was erected in 1872 capable of accommodat-
ing 120 scholars, and several other schools.

Ashton-Kejoies, a parish in Wiltshire, on an affluent of

the Thames, with a station on the Midland and South Wes-
tern junction railway, 88 miles from London, and 4 W of

Cricklade. It includes the chapelry of Leigh, and has a

post office under Cricklade. Acreage, 2810; population of

the civil parish, 925 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1227. Cove
House is the principal residence. The hving is a vicai-age

in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £210.
The church is good, and was thoroughly restored in 1876-77.

There are two dissenting chapels.

Ashton-le-Willows. See Ashton-in-Makerfield.
Ashton, Long, a parish in Somerset, 3 miles from

Bristol station on the G.W. and M.R. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 4239; population,

2361. It contains Bedminster workhouse, and the hamlet of

Providence. Leigh Woods is a picturesque portion of the parish

on the bank of the Avon. The centre of the parish is a fertile

wooded vale, partly disposed in market gardens and orchards,

for sending vegetables and fruit to Bristol. Tlie north rises into

a range of bleak but picturesque hills, which command a mag-
nificent view of the surrounding country. The south goes up
to Barrow Common and Dundry Hill. The chief residence is

AsHTox CouiiT (which see). Many Roman coins have been

found, and there are some remains of Roman camps at Leigh

Woods, The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath
and Wells; value, £350. The church dates from 1390,

has a carved Gothic screen, dividing the chancel from the

nave and aisles, contains figured stained windows and some
liandsome monuments, and is surmounted by a tower, with

the arms of the Lyons family in stone; it was repaired

and restored in 1872. A new church has been built at Leigh

Woods at a cost of £3000. There is a Congregational chapel,

and one for Plymouth Brethren. A village club was built

in 1879. Collinson, the county historian, was vicar.

Ashton-on-Mersey, a village, a township, and a parish

in Cheshire. The township lies on the river Mersey, near

the junction with it of the Bridgewatcr Canal, 1 mile NW of

Sale station on the Manchester, South Junction and Al-

trincham railway, and 6 WSW of Manchester; it is not

wholly within the parish of Ashton-on-Mersey, but extends

into that of Bowdon. Post town, Manchester; the money
order and telegraph office is at Sale. The Eail of Stamford

and Warrington is lord of the manor. Acreage, 1622; popula-

tion, 4234. Brooks' Institute, erected in 1888 by Sir William

Cunliffe Brooks, Bart., contains a reading-room, and a room

for billiards, &c. There is also a large public hall used for

meetings, concerts, &c. The Mersey is crossed here by a stone

bridge. The parish includes also the township of Sale, and the

hamlet of Cross Street. The liraig is a rectory in the diocese

of Chester; net value, £1194. The parish church is ancient,

and was restored in 1887. There is a large chapel-of-ease

erected in 1874. The vicai-age of Sale is a separate benefice.

There are places of worship for Congregationalists, Wesleyans,

Primitive Methodists, Unitarians, and a meeting-house for

the Society of Friends.

Ashton-on-Ribble, an ecclesiastical parish in Lanca-

shire, on the river Ribble, adjacent to the Wyre and

Preston railway, 2 miles W of Preston. It consists of the

townships of Lea, Ashton, Ingol, and Cottam. Post town,

Preston. Population, 4865. The living is a vicarage in the
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diocese of Manchester; gross value, £350, with residence.

The church was built in 1836, and rebuilt in 1873. There

are also a chapel of ease, and Wesleyau and Baptist chapels.

There are brick and tile works here. Tulketh Hall, Ashton
Park, and The Larches are chief residences, and there are

also numerous villas occupied by manufacturers and tradesmen
of Preston.

Ashton Steeple. See Steeple Ashton.
Asliton-under-Hill, a village and a parish in Gloucester-

shire, with a station on the Ashchurch and Evesham branch of

the JI.R., 6 miles SW of Evesham. It has a post office

under Tewkesbury ; the money order office is at Beckford,

and telegi-aph office at the railway station. Acreage, 1664;
population, 361. The village contains good stone houses with

square mullioned windows and lofty gables. The living is a

perpetual curacy, annexed to the vicarage of Beckford, in

the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol. The churcli is ancient,

and has an embattled tower with pinnacles; it was enlarged

in 1868. It is the only church in England dedicated to St

Barbara. Near the church are the remains of an ancient

stone cross, which has a sundial at the top.

Ashton-under-Lyne, a union and market-town, a parish,

and a parliamentai'y and municipal borough, on the SE bor-

der of Lancashire. The town stands on the river Tame, at a

convergence of canals and railways, 6^ miles E by N of

Manchester, Its site is a rising-ground, from 30 to 40 feet

high, on the N bank of the river ; its environs are a low flat

tract, reclaimed from the condition of a marsh, overlying rich

strata of coal and sandstone, and studded with factories,

villages, and mining-shafts; and many parts of both site and

environs, previous to the introduction of the cotton trade in

1769, were bare, wet, and almost worthless. The Assheton

family, now represented by the Earl of Stamford, were lords

of the manor. The distinctive name " Under-Lyne " probably

refers to the vicinity of the remarkable line of hills called the

" Backbone of England."

The parish consists of the four divisions of Ashton-Town,

Audenshaw, Knott-Lanes, and Hartshead ; and includes the

hamlets of Lees, Crossbank, Alt-Edge, Knott-Lanes, Wood-
Park, Hazlehurst and Hurst, Heyrod, Audenshaw, Littlemoss

and Waterhouses, Woodhouses, Mossley, Old Town, The
Demesne, Stanrickhill and Luzley, Ridgehill and Lanes.

Area of the parish, 9486 acres
;

population of the whole

parish, 80,991, of which 73,713 were in Lancashire, the

rest in Cheshire. Ashton Hall, a very ancient building,

partly rebuilt In 1879, is the seat of the Countess of Stam-
ford and Warrington.

The privileges of a borough were enjoyed anciently, but

went into disuse, and were lost. The Act of 1832 gave the

right to send a member to Parliament, and a charter of

1847 created a municipal governing body, consisting of a

mayor, eight aldermen, and twenty-four councillors. The
town is divided into four wai'ds, each represented by two

aldermen and six councillors. The parliamentary borough

was extended in 1867 to include the local board district of

Hurst and the part of Dukinfield on the north bank of the

river Tame. Under the Local Government Act, 1888, Ash-

ton returns two representatives to the Lancashire County

Council.

Ashton has numerous cotton factories; carries on the

cotton trade in all its branches; does business in bleaching,

dyeing, machine-making, hat-making, and silk-weaving; and

has extensive collieries. It has three stations connected with

the L. & Y., the M.S. & L., and the L. & N.W. railways, and

three canals, which lead respectively to Huddersfield and the

German Ocean, to the Peak-forest of Derbyshire, and to Man-
chester, Stockport, and Oldham. The town has a head post

office, several banks, a savings bank and penny bank, and

many good inns, and publishes one evening and two weekly

newspapers.

The town comprises about 16 miles of streets, is well snp-

phed with water, and has undergone gi'eat and costly im-

provements. The modern streets are wide and regular, and

contain many good houses. The town-hall was built in

1840, at a cost of more than £7500, is in the Corinthian

style, and was considerably enlarged in 1878; it contains

police offices, rooms for petty sessions and county courts,

committee rooms, and a public hall 83 feet by 40. Most

of the public business connected with the borough and
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neiflibonvhood is transacted here. The town-hall is also

the headquarters of the fire brigade, which possesses steam

and other fire engines. The Free Library and School for

Science and Art, erected in 1891-92, is a fine building in

the Early English style, with a tower and spire rising

to a height of over 100 feet. It owes its origin to a

munificent bequest by the late George Heginbottom, Esq.,

and comprises a fine entrance hall, class rooms, library,

reading-rooms, chemical laboratory, lecture theatre, &c.

The Corporation Baths, opened in 1870, the site for which

w.as given by Lord Stamford at a nominal rent, consist

of a large swimming bath, fitted with every convenience

for bathers, a gallery for spectators, a small swimming

bath for women, and private and Turkish baths. Every

winter the large bath is converted into a skating rink

and concert hall. The market place, presented to the

town in 1829, was considerably enlarged in 1867, and a

covered market erected with numerous stalls and shops ; it

was again enl.arged in 1881, when a fish and meat market

was added. The chief market day is Saturday ; there is a

cattle and pig fair on the second Thursday in every month

;

and torn' important fairs on 23 March, 29 April, 26

.July, and 21 November. The annual wake is held on the

first Sunday after August 15. The town is the head-

quarters of the 3rd Volunteer Battalion Manchester Regiment.

The drill hall was erected in 1887 at a cost of £5500, and

comprises a hall, 180 by 72 feet, reading-room, mess-rooms,

&c. There is also a Mechanics' Institute, with library of

7000 volumes, and lecture, reading, and committee rooms.

The clubs are, the Union Club, for professional and military

gentlemen, the Chm'ch of England Institute and ConseiTative

Club, .and the Liberal Club. The Warrington Club, established

in 1874, occupies a fine building in the E.irly English style,

with billiard, conversation, whist, and dining rooms, and

possesses a bowling gi'een, croquet and tennis lawns, &c.

A new Theatre Eoy.al and Opera House was erected in 1892.

The Infirmary, erected in 1858-59, is a Large brick building

in the Elizabethan style, and w.^s endowed by Samuel

Oldham, Esq., with £10,000, increased by subsequent en-

dowments until, in 1890, it amounted to about £28,000,

the annu.al income being about £2700. A new Nurses'

Home has been erected and two new w.ards provided. A
Children's Hospital, containing 28 beds, was erected in 1891.

The Workhouse is one of the largest in the county, if not in

the kingdom.

Stamford Park, at Highfield, was opened in 1873 by the

late Earl of Stamford and Warrington, who gave nearly all

the land. It compiises 64 acres of beautifully undulating

land, in the centre of which stands a mansion designed for

the uses of a library, picture g.iUery, and museum. In 1893
two fine sheets of water, of about 15 .acres in extent, were

added to the park for boating, fishing, and skating. The
management and maintenance of this park were transferred

in 1891 to the corporations of Ashton-under-Lyne and
Stiilybridge, in which two boroughs it is situated. A
cemetery, 40 acres in extent, at Dukinfield, is used con-

jointly hj that township with Ashton-under-Lyne and Staly-

bridge. Waterworks were established at Ashton in 1835 by

a company, who sold the works in 1856 to the corporation.

The latter obtained powers from Parliament in 1864 to

largely increase the area of supply in conjunction with the

Stalybiidge coi-poration, and by a later Act obtained in

1870 better provision was made for the supply of water to

the boroughs of Ashton-under-Lyne .and Stalybridge, and the

Dukinfield Board of Health and their respective neighbour-

hoods ; a joint committee has been formed to manage the

undertakings. The district supplied has an area of about

35,000 acres, and the tot.al capacity of the seven reservoirs

is over 780,000,000 gallons.

St Michael's Chtu-ch is a spacious structure in Later
English, built in the reign of Henry V., surmounted by a
tower of more recent date, with a fine pe.al of bells, and
contains tombs of the Asshetons. It was thoroughly restored

in 1840-44, and at various dates since further renovations
and improvements have been carried out, including the
erection of a new tower at a cost of £9000. St Peter's

Church, at the west end of the town, is a beautiful edifice,

with pinnacled square tower, and was built in 1824 at a cost

of about £13,000. Christ Church, in Oldham road, is a
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cruciform building of 1847. Holy Trinity Church, built in

1876, is a building in the Early English style. The district

was formed into an ecclesiastical parish in 1879 from St

Peter's, St Michael's, and Christ Church parishes. The

living of St Mich.ael's is a rectory in the diocese of Manches-

ter ; net value, £330. Patron, the trustees of the late Earl

of Stamford and Warrington. St Peter's, Christ Church,

St James', and Holy Trinity are separate vicarages, the

two former in the patronage of the Rector, the Crown,

and the Bishop alternately, and the two latter in the gift of

trustees. The gross value of St Peter's is £320 ; net value

of St James', £303 ; and of Holy Trinity, £202. There are

two Roman Catholic churches, numerous chapels for Baptists,

Congregatioualists, Methodists, Swedenborgians, and mission

halls and meeting rooms. A new Congregational chapel, with

tower and spire, was erected in 1893 at a cost, including

site, of £23,000. Area of the municipal borough and town,

1340 acres
;
population of the municip.al borough, 40,463

;

.and of the p.arliamentary borough, 47,235.

Ashton- under-Ljme Canals, two canals connecting

Ashton-under-Lyne with the Huddersfield Canal and Man-
chester, and sending off branches to Stockport and Oldham.

They were formed in 1793-1805, and are respectively 6J
and 8 miles long. The one h.as a fall of lG2j feet, with 18

locks; the other a fall of S3 feet, with 8 locks.

Ashton, West, a tithing, a township, and a ch.apelry near

Steeple-Ashton, Wilts, the tithing lies 2J miles SE of

Trowbridge station on the G.W.R. There is a post and

telegraph office ; money order office, Trowbridge. Acreage

of township, 2025
;
population, 302. Rood Ashton House

is a splendid Gothic mansion, surrounded by a magnificent

park of 700 acres. The chapelry is conterminate with the

tithing, and is a perpetual cur.icy in the diocese of Salisbury

;

value, £200. The church is a neat modern edifice, and has

a stone pulpit and a good organ.

Ashton-with-Stodday, a township in Lancaster parish,

L,ancashh:e, on the Lancaster Canal, between the L. & N.W.R.,
and the estuary of the Lune, 3 miles S of Lancaster, which is

theposttown. Acreage, 1949; population, 186. SeeAsiiTON
Hall.

Ashurst, a parish in Kent, on the verge of the county,

at the river Medway, on the L.B. & S.C.R., 32 miles from
London. Post town, Langton-Green under Tunbridge Wells.

Acreage, 900; population, 181. Ashurst Park, the seat of

the Field family, is in the neighbom-hood. Sir George
Stu'lmg, Bart., is lord of the manor. The Uving is a rectory

in the diocese of Canterbury; net value, £105. Patron,

Lord Sackville.

Ashurst, a parish in Susses, on the river Adur, 3J miles

N of Stcyning, and 2 SSW of Partridge-Green station on the

L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Steyning; money order and
telegraph office, Partridge-Green. Acreage, 2335 ; popu-
lation, 327. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chiches-

ter ; net v.alue, £280. P.atron, Magdalen College, Oxford.

The church is sm.all but good, and was restored in 1877.

Ashurst, a hamlet in East Grinstead parish, Sussex.

Ashurst-Beacon, a sea-mark on a hill, 4 miles WHW of

Wigan, Lancashire. It guides the navigation up to Liverpool,

and commands a magnificent view extending over the Irish

Sea, with the Isle of Man, and from themountains of the Lake
district to the mountains of Wales.

Ashwater, a village and a parish in Devon. The village

stands 7 miles SSE of Holsworthy, and has a station on a
section of the L. & S.W.R., 215 miles from London. The
parish includes also the hamlet of Quoditch. It has a post

office under Beaworthy, and there is a telegraph office at the

railway station. Acreage, 8710
;

population, 756. Good
building-stone is quarried. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Exeter; gross value, £700. The church is an old

structure, with lofty pinnacled tower, and contains several

monuments and a very fine ancient font. There are two
ch.apels for Bible Christians.

Ash-Week, a tithing in Bishops-Lydeard parish, near
Ash-Priors, Somerset.

Ashwell, a village and a parish !n Herts. The village

stands at the source of the river Rhee, where rise the thirty

or more springs eventually forming the river Cam. It is 2J
miles KW of a station of its own name on the Hitchin and
Cambridge branch of the G.N.R., and 4J NNE of Baldock.
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That there was a British settlement here is proved by the

existence of an entrenched camp called Arbury Banks.

Afterwards it was a Roman town called Magroviniuni.

British and Roman coins have been found. It bore anciently

the name of Escewell, and was a seat of the Saxon kings, a
borough, and a market-town. It now consists of several

scattered streets, the three principal running parallel, and
iias a post, money order, and telegraph office under Baldock.

(R.S.O.) The pai'ish comprises 4109 acres; population,

1556. The manor was given, before the time of Edward the

Confessor, to Westminster Abbey, and passed at the dissolu-

tion to the see of London. The Roman road, Icknield Street,

passes A a mile S of the village. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of St Albans; value about £350 net, with resi-

dence. Patron, the Bishop of St Albans. The Church of

St Mary tlie Virgin is one of the finest in the county, mostly

of Early English date. It consists of chancel, clerestoried

nave, aisles, north and south porches, and a massive and lofty

tower, surmounted by a finely tapering spire 17G feet in height,

containing a peal of G bells, the oldest bearing date 1G94.

There are vaiious inscriptions on the walls of the tower, one

refeiTJng to the great plague of 1361. The church wag
restored in 1868. It contains that which is said to be the

founder's tomb, without date. The oak pulpit is dated 1G27.

There is a large ambry in the Lady Chapel, a piscina, and the

remains of a reredos.

Ashwell, a parish in Rutland, on the JLR., 3| miles

N of Oakham, under which it has a post, money order, and
telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1835 ;

population, 244. The
manor, known in the Saxon times as Exwell, belonged to Earl

Harold, and passed in the time of Edward III. to the Touchets,

and afterwards to others. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Peterborough ; value, £G05. Patron, Viscount Downe.
The church is a handsome edifice, with a tower, and contains

three interesting altar-tombs. Ashwell Hall is a fine man-
sion, erected in 1879.

Ashwell-Tliorpe, a parish in Norfolk, on an affluent of

the river Yare, witii a station IJ mile E on the G.E.R.

Post town, VVymondham ; telegraph office at the station;

money order office, Wreningham. Acreage, 1007; population,

371). The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of

Wreningham, in the diocese of Norwich; gross yearly value,

£321. Patron, Lord Berners. The church, an ancient build-

ing of flint, contains some old monuments.

Ashwick, a parish in Somerset, on the Fosse way, near

Masbury camp, 1^ mile from Binegar station on the Somer-
set and Dorset Railway. Post town, Bath ; money order office,

Oakhill ; telegi-aph office, Shepton Mallet. Acreage, 1530;
population of the civil parish, 814; of the ecclesiastical, G40.

Ashwick Grove is the seat of the Stracheys. The fiving is

a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells; value, £110.
Patron, the Vicar of Kilraersdon. The church is good and
has been well preserved ; there are two dissenting chapels.

The villages of Nettlcbridge and Gurney Slade are partly

in this parish.

Ashwicken or Ashwyken, a parish in Norfolk, IJ mile

NW of East Winch station on the Lynn and Dereham rail-

way, and 6J miles E by S of King's Lynn. Post town,

East Wiuch-under-Lynn, which is the money order and
telegraph office. Acreage, 133G; population of the civil

parish, 111 ; of the ecclesiastical district, 323. The living is

a rectory, united with the rectory of Leziate, in the diocese of

Norwich ; value, £520. The church is an ancient building

of flint and stone. Ashwicken Hall is the chief residence.

Ashworth, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Middleton parish, Lancashire, on an affluent of the river

Roch, 2i miles from Heywood station on the Lancashire and

Yorkshire railway. Post town, Rochdale. Acreage, 1021;
population, 137. Lord Egerton of Tatton is lord of the

manor and sole landowner. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Manchester; gross value, £170 with residence.

Patron, Lord Egerton. The church is good.

Askam, with Ireleth, an ecclesiastical parish in the

civil parish of Dalton-in-Furness, Lancasliu-e, with a station

on the Furness railway. The correct name of this parish

is Ireleth-cum-Askam. The Church of St Maiy, rebuilt

in 18C5 at the cost of the Duke of Bucclench, is a small

building in the Geometric Gothic style. The living is

a vicarage; net yearly value £180 with residence, in the
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gift of the Vicar of Dalton. There are Wesleyan, Primi-

tive, and Free Methodist chapels. There are extensive

mines of u'on ore iu the parish, and the works of the Furness

Iron and Steel Company are in this ward. The Duke of

Bucclench is lord of the manor. It has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Penrith.

Aske, a township iu Easby parish, N. R. Yorkshire, 2J
miles N of Richmond, which is the post town and money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 17G4; population, 145.

Aske Hall, situated in a beautiful park, is the seat of the Mar-
quis of Zetland, who is lord of the manor and sole landowner,

belonged formerly to the Darcys, and commands a fine pros-

pect up and down the Swale.

Askem or Askerne, a village, a township, and a parish in

the W. R. Yorkshire. The village stands on a rocky eminence,

bordering on the plain of York, adjacent to the Lancashire

and Yorkshire railway, G^ miles N of Doncaster, and has a

station on the railway, and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Doncaster. It was formerly an insignifi-

cant hamlet, but is now a pretty place, with hotels and
lodging-houses, much frequented by invalids and others

seeking benefit from medicinal waters and salubrious air.

A large hydropathic establishment was erected in 1893.

There is a sulphurous spa by the side of a small, plain sheet

of water, called Askern Pool. It possesses celebrity for the

cure of rheumatism and scorbutic diseases. There are four

separate wells with their pump-rooms and baths, including

the charity baths. The British prince Ambrosias is said to

have defeated and killed the Saxon leader Hengist on the

neighbouring plain. The township comprises 858 acres;

population, 593. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

York ; net value, £124 with residence, in the patronage of

the Archbishop. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Askerswell, a parish in Dorset, on the Asker, an affluent

of the river Brid, 2 miles from Powerstock station on the

G.W.R., and 5 from Bridport, under which it has a post

office, and at which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 1724; population of the civil parish, 230; of the

occlesiastical, 1 94. The surface is a pleasant valley surrounded

by hills. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbniy

;

gross value, £140. The church was rebuilt and enlarged in

1858, but has a tower which belonged to a previous edifice.

Askerton, a township in Lanercost parish, Cumberland,

on an affluent of the river Irthing, G miles NNE of Brampton.

Area, 11,302 acres; population, 291. Berethen Castle here

was built by the Dacres, who derived their name from the

exploits of one of their ancestors at the siege of Acre under

Richard Cceur de Lion, and was, at one time, garrisoned for

the Crown against the Scots.

Askett, a hamlet in Mouks-Risborough parish, Bucks, 1

mile NNE of Princes-Risborough. There is a Baptist chapel.

Askham, a parish and a village in Notts, 3 miles ^TOW of

Tuxford railway station, and 5 SE of East Retford. It in-

cludes the hamlet of Rockley, and its post town is Tuxford,

under Newark. Acreage, 1312; population, 219. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell
;
gross value, £184

with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of York.

The church is of mixed styles of architecture, part being

Norman.

Askham, a parish in the West Ward, Westmoreland, com-

prising the townships of Askham and Helton. It lies pleas-

antly on the Lowther river, opposite Lowther Castle, 2^ miles

SW of Clifton railway statiun, and 5 S of Penrith, under

which it has a post offic^. Acreage, 4484; population,

518. The manors of Askham and Helton Fleckett belong

to the Earl of Lonsdale. Askham Hall, the old manor house,

is now the rectory of Lowther. Limestone is quarried. The

li\-ing is a discharged vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle ; value,

£190. Patron, the Eai-1 of Lonsdale. The church is good.

Askham-Bryan or East Askham, a village and a parish

in the ainsty of the city of York, 1^ mile NNW of Copman-

thorpe railway station, and 3^ SW of York. For civil pur-

poses it is in the W. Riding, but for pai'liameutary purposes

is included in the Thii'sk division of the N. Riding. Acre-

age, 1895 ;
population, 2G7. It has a post office under York;

money order office, Copmanthorpe; telegraph office, Holgate.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York
;

gi'oss value,

£170. the church is old but good. There is a Wesleyan

chapel.
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Askham-Richard or West Askham, a pmisli and a

village in the W.R. Yorkshire, contiguous to Askham-Bryan,

3 miles NW of Copnianthorpe railway station, and 6 SW
of Vork by road. There is a post, money order, and tele-

ujraph office under York. Acreage, 981; population, 212. The

living is a discharged vicarage in the diocese of York ; value,

£210 with residence. Patron, Sir Andrew Fairhairn. The

church is an old building, in the Norman style, which was
thoroughly restored in 1879-80. There is also a Wesleyan

chapel and two small charities.

Askrigg, a small town, a township, and a parish, in the

N. R. Yorkshire. The town stands on the left side of the

river lire, 6 miles E of Hawes, with a station on a branch of

the N.E.R., and a post, money order, and telegraph office.

It is a very ancient place, and was once much more prosperous

than now. It resembles a mere village, but has by charter

a weekly market on Thursday, and fairs on 12 May, the

first Thursday of June, 1 and 2 July, and 28 Oct.; also on

the second Thursday in July for the hiring of servants for the

hay-harvest. A moorish, upland country lies around it, and

embosoms some striking scenery, with the fine waterfalls of

Millgill and Whitfell Forces. The township includes also

the hamlets of Newbiggin, Nappa, and Woodhall. Acre-

age, 488G of land and 28 of water; population, 552. Lead

ore occurs, and has been worked, but not very productively.

The parish includes the townships of Askrigg, Low Abbot-

side, and part of that of Bainbridge, at which there are re-

mains of a Roman encampment. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Ripon; net value, £11G. Patron, the Vicar

of Aysgartli. The church is an ancient and interesting edifice,

in good condition. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Metho-

dist chapels, and three almshouses for widows with an en-

dowment of £00 per annum.

Askwith-cum-Snowden, a township in Weston parish,

W. K. Yorkshire, near the river Wharfe, 3 miles NW of Otley.

It inclndes the hamlets of Upper and Lower Snowden. Acre-

age, 3393
;
population. 231. Post town, Otley, which is also

the money order and telegraph office. There is a Wesleyan

chapel.

Aslackby, a township and a parish in Lincolnshire. The
parish lies 2 miles S of Falkingham, and 3 NWfrom Rippin-

gale station on the G.N.R., inclndes the hamlets of Graby and

Millthorpe, and has a fen allotment. Post town, Falkingham,

which is the money order and telegi^aph office. Acreage, 4078

;

population, 415. A commandery of the Knights Templars

was founded here, in the time of Richard L, by John le

Mareschal, A farmhouse, called the Temple, now stands on

the site of its church. A castle also was founded here before

1062, and can still be traced in fosse and mounds. Tlie

living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net value, £320.

The church is a handsome edifice, with an embattled tower.

Aslacoe, East and West, two wapentakes in the parts of

Lindsey, Lincoln. They lie toward the NW of the county,

include BlyT)orough parish and twenty other parishes, and are

traversed hy Ermine Street.

Aslacton, a parish in Norfolk, on an affluent of theriver Yare,

2 miles S of Forncett station, and 2 NW of Tivetshall station

on the G.E.R.,and 6 ENE of New Buckenham. Post town,

Long Stratton; money order office, Tibbenham; telegraph

office, Long Stratton. Acreage, 120G ;
population, 3G7. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £17. The church is good, and there is a Wesleyan

chapel.

Aslacton or Aslockton, a village and a township in Scai'-

rington parish, Notts, on the river Smite, with a station on

the G.N.R., 3 miles E of Bingham. It has a post office undur

Nottingham ; the money order office is at Bingham. Area,

1273 acres; population, 358. A chapel here was a peculiar of

the collegiate churcli of Southwell, but is now a ruin. Arch-
bishop Cranmer was a native. Tliere are a Primitive Metliod-

ist chapel and the Cranmer Mission Rooms. The living is a

joint vicarage with Scarrington.

Aspall, a parish in SutVolk, 1^ mile NNW of Debenham,
and 7 miles from Eye station on the G.E.R. Post town and
money order and telegraph office, Debenham under Stoneham.

Acreage, 843; population, 139. The living is a vicarage in

tlie diocese of Norwich
; gross yearly value, £200. The

ciiurL-h is an ancient Gothic building of rubble.

Aapatria, a small town and township, and a parish in
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Cumberland. The town stands on the right side of the river

Ellen, adjacent to the Carlisle and Maryport railway, 7| miles

NE of Maryport. It has a station on the railway, a post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.), and a weekly

market on Thursday. It has a local board and school

board, two banks, and a flourishing agricultural college,

which was considerably enlarged in 1893. Its site is the

side of a hill, and its appearance that of a long straggling

village. Its name is a corruption of Aspatrick or Guspatrick,

and was derived from one of the Gospatricks, the first lord

of Allerdale, or from the As or St Patrick (predecessor of

St Kentigein. the patron saint of the church), whose name
was still retained in the time of King John in Wath-Patrick-

Wath, a ford on the borders of the neighbouring forest. The
township bears the name of Aspatria and Brayton. In the

churchyard are the stem of a pre-Norman cross and an early

shrine-shaped tomb, imitating the wattle work of buildings

prior to the use of worked stone, and decorated with the

Triquetra, St Patrick's symbol of the Holy Trinity. A silver

brooch ornamented with the same early emblem was found

near Brayton. Acreage, 3550; population, 2714. The
parish includes also the townships of Hayton and Mealo, and
Oughterside and AUerby. The surface is hilly. Coal and

red sandstone are worked. A human skeleton, 7 feet long,

supposed to have been that of some great chief, buried about

the second centui7, together with a broad sword 5 feet long,

and some fine ornaments of a warrior, was found, in 1790,

beneath a barrow on Beacon Hill, an eminence about 200
yards N of the town. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Carlisle ; value, about £400. Patron, the Bishop of

Carlisle. The church was rebuilt in 1848. Hayton was
made a separate chai'ge in 1867, and is a rectory. One of

the Norman arches of the church is rebuilt in the clock

chamber of the tower, and other earlier remains are preserved

in the vestry. There are Congi*egational, Primitive Method-
ist, and Baptist chapels, and small charities.

Aspenden or Aspeden, a parish and a village in Herts, on

the river Rib, 1 mile W of Buntingford station on the G.E.R.

It includes part of tlie post town of Buntingford, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1711
;

population of the civil parish, 658 ; of the ecclesiastical, 408.

Aspenden Hall, the seat of the Lushington family, and its

park is a prominent feature. Aspenden Lodge is also a chief

residence. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St

Albans ; net yearly value, £408. Patron, the Earl of Mex-
borough. The church contains a curious monument to Sir

Robert Clifford, master of the ordnance to Henry VII.,

and other tombs and brasses, and is in good condition.

Aspley, a township in Eccleshall parish, Staffordshire, 3

miles NNW of Eccleshall, and 1 from Standon Bridge station

on the L. & N.W.R.
Aspley, a hamlet in Wootton Waven parish, Warwickshire,

forming with Ullenhall an ecclesiastical parish, 5^ miles NW
of Henley-in-Arden.

Aspley-Guise, formerly a town, now a village and a parish

in Bedfordshire, 1^ mile from Woburn Sands station on the

L. & N.W.R. , and 2 miles N of Woburn. It has a post and
telegraph office under Woburn, and formerly had a market.

Acreage, 1899
;

population, 1230. The manor belonged

anciently to the Guises. Aspley House and The Rookery

are chief residences. Aspley Heath and Aspley Wood give

fine views. The area of Aspley Heath is 600 acres; popu-

lation, 451. Fuller's earth occurs. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Ely; net yearly value, £173. Patron, the

Duke of Bedford. The church is elegant, and there are

Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Asps, a village in Bishops-Tachbrook parish, Warwickshire,

1^ mileSE of Warwick.

AspuII, a township and a village in Lancashire. The
township lies 2 miles NE of Wigan, is governed by a local

board formed in 1876, and has a post and money order office,

of the name of Aspull-Moor, under Wigan. It forms a parish

with Haigh. Acreage, 1905; population, 8952. The in-

habitants are chiefly employed in collieries, malt kilns, and a

cotton mill. There is a church erected in 1871, and Con-
gregational, Methodist, Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist, and
Roman Catholic chapels.

Asselby, a village and a township in Howden parish, E. R.

Yorkshire, near the Hull railway and the river Ouse, 2 miles
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W of Howdeu railway station. Acreage, 980 ;
popula-

tion, 239.

Assendon, Upper, a liberty in Pirton parLsli, Oxford, 4

miles N\V of Henley-on-Thames. It has a post-ofEce under

Henley, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Stonor Park, .an ancient Elizabethan mansion, st.anding in a

park of from two to three hundred acres, and The Warren, are

chief residences here. There are .also a Catholic chapel and
school, and five almshouses.

Assington, a parish in Suffolk, on an affluent of the river

Stour, 3 J miles NE of Bures station on the G.E.R., and 6 SE
of Sudbury, under which it has a post office ; money order

and telegraph office, Boxford. Acreage, 3041
;
population,

591. The manor belonged formerly to the Corbels, and

now to the Gurdon family, wliose seat is Assington Hall.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely ; v.alue, £420.

The church is a building of flint in the Perpendicular style.

Astbury or Newbold Astbury, a village, a township, and

a parish in Cheshire. The village st.ands on an affluent of the

river Dane, ne.ar the Macclesfield Canal, 2^ miles SW of Con-

gleton, and lias a post-offlce under Congleton, which is the

money order and telegrapli office, and f.airs on the last Fri-

day in April and October. The township comprises 2907
acres

;
population, (J08. The parish includes also the

townships of Moreton-cum-AIcumlow and Somerford, the

borough of Congleton, and the ecclesiastical parishes of

Hulme Walfield (including Radnor and Somerford Bootlis),

Buglawtown, Odd Rode, and Smallwood. Co.al, Umcstone,

and building stone are worked. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Chester; net value, £700. Patron, Lord

Crewe. The church is one of the finest in Cheshire, Per-

pendicul.ar generally, and has been enlarged and restored

several times. It has a nave, chancel, N and S aisles,

clerestory, W and S porch, two chapels, and a tower with

a lofty spire at the N\V angle, which was the western

tower of the original church. It contains chancel stalls, a

rood-loft, a fine screen, a handsome E. stained window, and

carved oaken ceilings. There is a peal of 4 bells, and a

good organ. There are some interesting monuments in the

church, and others very ancient and much decayed in the

chm'chyard.

Asterby, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the Wolds, near the

river Bain, G miles N by E of Horncastle station on the G.N.R.

Post town, Horncastle ; money order office, Scamblesby; tele-

graph office, Baumber. Acreage, 1103
;

population, 166.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, £240. The church is an ancient edifice of stone, in

the Early English style. There are also Baptist and Wesleyan

ch.apels.

Asterleigh, a civil pai-ish in Oxfordshire, contiguous to

Kiddington parish, 4j miles NW of Woodstock. It consists

of a single f.arm. Area, 296 acres
;
population, 37.

Asterley, .i township in Pontesbm'y p.arish, Salop, near the

river Rea, 9 miles SW of Shrewsbury, and 2 from Pontesbury

station on the Shrewsbury and Minsterley branch of the

L. & N.W. and G.W. railways. There is a mission church

and a Primitive Methodist ch.apel.

Asterton, a township in Mindtown parish, Salop, on Long
Mynd hills, ,5 miles SW of Churcb-Stretton. For ecclesi-

astical purposes it is in Norbury parish. There is a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel.

Astball, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The vil-

liige stands on the Windi-ush river, and on Akeman Street, at

the SW end of Wychwood forest, 2J miles ESE of Burford,

and 4 N of B.ampton station on the G.W.R. It was known
to the Saxons as Esthale, and belonged to Roger dTvri. The

parish includes .also the hamlets of Asthall-Leigh, Worsham,
Fordwells, Field Assarts, and Stonelands. Post to\vn. Bur-

ford (R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 22.09
;
population, 351. A large kaiTow, believed

to be the sepulchre of some person of note, is on Akeman
Street. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford

;

value, £130. Patron, Eton College. The church is ancient,

and a new one, at Asthall-Leigh, was built in 1861 as a

chapel of ease to the parish church.

Astborpe or Hasthorpe, a hamlet in Willoughby parish,

Lincoln, 4| miles SSE of Alford.

Astley, formerly a chapelry in the parish of St Mai'y,

Shrewsbury, Salop, is 1 mile S of Hadnall station on the
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L. & N.W.R., and 4J miles NNE of Shrewsbury, under which
it has a post office ; Hadnall is the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 1204
;

population, 244. The livmg

is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield; value, £150, in

the gift of Trustees. The church is ancient, and was re-

stored in 1883. Astley House is the chief residence.

Astley, a parish in Warwickshire, on the Sow brook, 3 miles

SW of Stockingfcrd station on the M.R., and 4J SW by W
of Nuneaton, under which it has a post office ; money order

office, Stockingford ; telegraph office, Stockingford railway

st.ition. Acreage, 2629
;
population, 275. The manor be-

longed to the family of Astley, one of whom fell on the field

of Evesham fighting against Henry III., two were taken

prisoners on the field of Bannockburn, and one was dis-

tinguished for military services in the time of Henry VIII.

;

it passed by marriage to the Greys of Ruthin, of whom were

the Duke of Suffolk and his daughter. Lady Jane Grey, who
suflfered on the block for their claim to the crown ; and it now
belongs to the Newdegate family of the neighbouring seat of

Arbury Hall. Astley Castle, the ancient residence of the Greys,

rebuilt in the time of Queen Mary, was allowed to fall into

neglect, and was used as a farmhouse ; but is now a renov.ated

and handsome residence, and contains the writing table and
chair used by the Duke of Suffolk when in hiding after the

failure of Sir Thomas Wyatt's insuiTection. The old parts of

it .are picturesquely clothed with ivy, and a moat around it has

remains of massive masonry along the inner edge, and is over-

shadowed with fine trees. The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Worcester; value, £138. The church is part of an

edifice built in the time of Edward III. by Sir Thomas de

Astley, and was formerly crucifoiTU, and adorned with a tall

spire, which served as a landmru'k in the broad surrounding

woodlands, and was popularly called " the Lanthorn of Ar-
den." It now consists of chancel, nave, S porch, and an

embattled tower with pinnacles; it was restored in 1876.

It contains a monument to the Duke of Suftblk, mentioned

above, and his wife, and a brass of the fifteenth century.

There is a third monument, supposed to be that of Lady Jane

Grey.

Astley, a parish in Worcestershire, on the river Severn, 3

miles SW by S of Stourport, which is the post town. Acreage,

3031
;

popnl.ation, 828. A Benedictine priory, subordinate

to the abbey of St Taurinus in France, was founded here in

the time of Henry I. by Ralph de Todeni ; suffered frequent

seizure by the Crown during the wars with France; passed,

in the time of Richard II. to John Benuchamp, and in that

of Edward IV. to the college of Westbury, and was given by

Henry VII. to Sir R.alph Sadleir, the compiler of the state

papers. A well, known .as the Prior's well, ne.ar the church-

yard, is the only relic. Woodhampton and Oakhampton are

the chief residences. A hermitage was cut out of the solid

rock at Astley Cliff, near Redstone ferry ; it was, in pre-

Reformation days, a place of great resort for devotees, and is

assigned by tradition as a residence of Layamon, the chronicler

and poet; later, it was turned into .an alehouse, and is now
used for f.arm purposes. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Worcester; value, £530. The chm'ch stands on an emi-

nence, and is a fine specimen of Early Norman architecture;

it contains a Norman font, some good alt.ar-tombs to the

Blount family, and a replica by Bacon of his memorial to Mrs
Mason in Bristol Cathedral. In the churchyard is a monmnent
to Miss Frances Ridley Haverg.al, whose father was rector of

this parish.

Astley, a hamlet in the parish of Swillington, W. R. York-
shire, 6J miles SE of Leeds.

Astley or East Leigh, a village, a township, and an eccle-

siastical parish in Leigh parish, Lancashire, near the Bridge-

water Canal and the Manchester and Liverpool section of the

L. & N.W.R., 10 miles Wof Manchester. It has a station on the

r.ailw.ay, and a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Manchester. Acreage, 2685
;

population, 2552. There are

collieries and a large cotton mill. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Manchester ; value, £480 with residence.

Patron, the Vicar of Leigh. The church was erected in 1760,

.and has been three times enlarged. There are Wesleyan and

Unitarian chapels, a free grammar school, founded in 1632,

and some charities.

Astley-Abbots, a village and a parish in Salop, on the

river Severn, IJ mile S of Linley station on the G.W.K.,and
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2J miles N of Bridgnorth, wliicli is the post town. Acreage,

3325
;
population, 609. Stanley Hall is the chief residence.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford
;
net value,

X137. The church is ancient, partly Norman ; the chancel

was rebuilt in H\So, and the nave and steeple in 1857 ; it

contains a Norman font and a richly carved pulpit.

Astley-Bridge with Sharpies forms a township and an

ecclesiastical parish in Lancashire. The township lies near

the Bolton and Blackburn railway, 3 miles N of Bolton. Area,

1780 acres; population, 6239. It is governed by a local board

of 12 members, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Bolton. The parish was constituted in 1844.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Manchester; value,

£290 with residence. Patrons, the Crown and the Bishop

alternately. The church was built in 1848, is in the Early

English style, and has a tower surmounted by a spire.

There are Roman Catholic, Baptist, and Wesleyan chapels, three

banks, and almshouses for 12 widows and spinsters. Cotton

spinning and extensive bleach-works furnish employment to

the inhabitants. Eden's Orphanage, erected in 1879, for

destitute orphan children whose parents resided at the time

of death in the Bolton Poor Law Union, priority being given

to those belonging to the Astley Bridge Local Board's Disti'ict,

has since been added to by the erection of a detached new
school-room in 1885, and by a large gymnasium and detached

infirmary, opened in 1890. The school will accommodate
100 children.

Astmoor, a hamlet in Runcorn parish, Cheshire, 1^ mile

SE of Runcorn.

Aston, a township in Hope parish, Derby, 2 miles ENE of

Castleton. Acreage, 710; population, 86. The nearest

station is Miller's Dale on the Jlidland Railway.

Aston, a township in Hawarden parish, Flintshire, adjacent

to Queen's Ferry station on the L. & N.W.R., near the river

Dee, 1 mile N by \V of Hawarden. The manor, with an
ancient castle, was held by the Whitleys from the time of

Edward IIL

Aston, a village and a parish in Hertfordshire, on the

river Beane, 4 miles SE of Stevenage, and 2J NE of

Knebworth station on the G.N.R. It has a post and
money order office under Stevenage ; the telegraph office

being Knebworth station. Acreage, 2070
;
population, 541.

The manor-house, at Aston Place, is a building of older date

than the time of Henry VIII.—one room at the top of this

house is 113 feet long. Six large barrows, supposed to be

Danish, occur contiguous to the public road, close to Steven-

age. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net

value, £350. The church is .an ancient building of flint and
stone.

Aston, a township in Lydham parish, Montgomeryshire, 3

miles NW of Bishops Castle, on the borders of Shropshire and
Montgomeryshire. Acreage, 1140

;
population, 56.

Aston, a township in Wem parish, Salop, on the river

Eoden, 1 mile E of Wem.
Aston, a township in Mucklestone parish, Staffordshire, 1

mile from Pipe Gate station on the N Staffordshire railway,

and 6| miles NE of Market -Drayton.

Aston, a hamlet in Avening parish, Gloucestershire, 2

miles ESE of Minchinhampton.

Aston, a township in Kingsland parish, Herefordshire, on

the river Lug, 3 miles \VNW of Leominster.

Aston, a township in Claverley parish, Salop, 6J miles E
of Bridgnorth.

Aston, a township in Munslow parish, Salop, near the river

Corve, under Wenlock Edge, 3 miles SW of Harton Road
station on the G.W.R., and 1 mile S of Munslow. It has a

Wesleyan chapel.

Aston, a township and chapelry in Oswestry parish, Salop,

3 miles SE of Oswestry, which is the post town. Aston
Hall, the seat of the lord of the manor, is situated in a park

of 400 acres. The chapel, adjacent to the Hall, was rebuilt

in 1742.

Aston, a township in Wellington parish, Salop, near Wat-
ling Street, nnder the Wrekin, 3 miles SW of Wellington.

The Duke of Cleveland is lord of the manor.
Aston, a hamlet in Stone parish, St.ifibrdshire, on the

river Trent, 2 miles SE of Stone; forming, with Burston
and Stoke, an ecclesiastical parish. It has a post-office

under Stone, which is the money order and telegraph office.

ASTON BANK

Population, 540. The manor belonged anciently to the

Astons, and passed to the Hevinghams and the Simeons.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; value,

£230. The church is modern, with a tower and spire.

There is a small Roman Catholic chapel.

Aston, a hamlet in Iviughoe parish, Bucks, 1 mile NE by

N of Ivinghoe. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Aston, a parish in Warwickshire, lying partly within

the boundaries of the city of Birmingham, of which it is

practically a suburb. It is traversed by the old Roman
Icknield Street, and the Birmingham and Fazeley Canal. It

comprises Deritend, Bordesley, Duddeston-cum-Nechells,

Aston Manor, Witton, -Erdington, Little Bromwich, Saltley

and Washwood, Castle-Bromwich, and Water-Orton. Area,

of the parish, 14,074 acres; population, 249,282. The
parliamentary borough of Aston Manor, which was consti-

tuted by the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, has an

area of 959 acres
;
population, 68,639. Aston Manor has a

post office in Aston Road, and a station on the L. & N.W.R.,

at the junction of the Walsall and Sutton Coldfield branches.

The manor belonged to the Saxon Earls of Mercia; was
given, at the Conquest, to William Fitz-Ausculf ; and passed

to the Pagenels, the Erdingtons, and the Holts. The
manor-house, Aston Hall, stands on a rising ground, at the

end of a fine avenue, in the NE outskirts of the town ; is

a noble edifice in the Tndor style, built in the time of James
I. by Sir Thomas Holt; gave entertainment to Charles I.

prior to the battle of Edge-Hill, and was forced to surrender

afterwards to the Parliamentarian forces; and was for

some years the residence of .Tames Watt, son of the famous
engineer. Most of a beautiful park which surrounded it has

been built on ; but the Hall and surrounding grounds are the

property of the corporation of Birmingham, and form a

museum and public park, opened in 1858 by the Queen and
the Prince Consort. Adjacent to the park are the Aston

Lower Grounds. The parish church stands 300 yards E of the

hall; is an interesting edifice dating from about the 15 th century,

with fine tower and spire ; it has suffered great changes and
mutilations, and has been almost entirely rebuilt. It contains

several altar tombs and brasses, some fine antique oak seats,

a carved churchyard cross of Early English date, and beauti-

ful windows of stained glass. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Worcester; value, £750. Aston Manor is

governed by a Local Board. The town-hall, at the comer of

Albert and Witton Roads, is a building of red brick in the

Queen Anne style; it contains the offices of the Local Board,

and also a free library. New public baths were erected in

1891, a technical school in 1892, and a theatre in 1893. The
Hall Almshouses, founded in 1656, maintain five men and
five women.

Aston, a h.amlet in Slighford parish Staffordshire, H mile

NW of Stafford.

Aston and Aston Heath, two villages in Newhall town-

ship, Wrenbury-cum-Frith parish, Cheshire, 5 miles S of

Nantwich. Aston has a post-office under Nantwich, and a

Wesleyan chapel.

Aston (Yorkshire). See Aston-with-Aughton.
Aston, a parish in the county of Hereford, 2 miles from

the river Teme, and 4 SW by W of Ludlow, which is the post

town. Acreage, 970; population, 31. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Hereford ; value, £75. The small church is

Norman. It was partially restored in 1883. It is dedicated

to St Giles, is interesting to archreologists, and there is

adjacent to it a moated camp.

Aston-Abbots, a small village and a parish in Bucks,

3^ miles NW of Marston Gate station on the London and
North-Western railway, 5J NNE of Aylesbury, and 6

SW of Leighton Buzzard. Post town, Aylesbury; money
order office, Wingx-ave ; telegi'aph office. Wing. Acreage,

2198
;

population, 281. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Oxford; value, £124. Patron, Baroness Wan-
tage. The church is a small structure of stone of the

Decorated period. There are also Congregational .and Primi-

tive Methodist chapels. Sir James Ross, the arctic explorer,

died here in 1862, and is buried in the churchyard.

Aston-Bampton. See Babipton, Oxfordshire.

Aston Bank, a hamlet in Lindridge civil, and Knighton-

on-Teme ecclesiastical parish, Worcestershire, on the borders

of Shropshire, 1 mile SW of Knighton.
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Aston-Elank, Ashton-Blank, or Cold Aston, a parish

in Gloucestershire, near the Fosse Way and the Windrush
river, 4 miles NNE of Northleach, and 2 SW of Bourton-on-

the-Water station on the G.W.K. Post town, Cheltenham
;

Bourton-on-the-Water is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 2360; population, 255. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester .and Bristol
;

gross

value, £114 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The eliurch is an ancient edifice, with .an embattled tower

;

it was restored in 187C.

Aston-Botterell, a village, a township, .and a parish in

Salop, under tlie Clee Hills, near the river Rea, 6J miles NIf\V

of Cleobury-Mortimer, and 9 NE of Ludlow. It contains the

hamlet of Bold, and its post town is Bridgnorth ; the money
order office is at Burwarton, about a mile N. Acreage,

2280; population, 183. The manor belonged anciently to

the Botterells, and now to the Duke of Cleveland. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford; value, £346.
P.atron, Lord Barnard. The church tower contains a canopied

altar-tomb to one of the Botterells. The tower w.as rebuilt

in 1884.

Aston-by-Budworth, a township and a ch.apelry in Great

Budworth p.arish, Cheshire, 3 miles N of Northwich. Acreage,

2967
;
population, 384. Arley Hall is a fine Elizabethan

mansion, situ.ated in an extensive park which contains a

large lake. There is a chapel adjoining the Hall.

Aston-by-Sutton or Aston-Sutton, a village, a township,

and an ecclesiastical parish in Runcorn parish, Cheshire. The
village stands on the Weaver river, Ij mile from Sutton

Weaver station on the L. & N.W.R., .and 3 miles E by N of

Frodsham. Its post town is Preston - Brook. Acreage,

1408 ;
popul.ation, 280. The ecclesiastical pai'ish includes

also the township of Aston-Grange, Sutton-juxta-Frodsham,

.and the hamlet of Frodsham Bridge. Population, 736. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chester ; net value,

£186. The church is ancient, and contains monuments of

the Aston family.

Aston-Cantlow or Aston-Cantelupe, a parish in W.ar-

wickshire, on the river Alne, near the Birmingham and
Striitford Canal, IJ mile E of Great Alne station on the

G.W.R., 4 miles NE of Alcester,and 6 NWof Stratford-on-

Avon. The parish includes the hamlets of Newnham, Shcl-

field, Little Alne, Pathlow, and Wilmcote, the two latter

forming a sep.arate ecclesiastical parisli. It has a post-office

under Birmingham ; the money order office is at Henley
in Arden, 4 miles N, and the telegraph office at Bearlcy

railway st.ation, 2j miles SE. Acreage, 4894 ; population,

946. The manor belonged anciently to the Cantelupes. The
right to a market was obtained by one of them in the time of

Henry III., but has gone into disuse. The living is avicarage

in the diocese of Worcester; value, £83. The church is a

.stone edifice, dating from the thirteenth century, and has

an embattled tower with pinnacles; it contains an ancient

font.

Aston-Clinton, a township, a village, and a p.arish in

Bucks. The township lies near Icknield Street and the Wen-
dover and Aylesbury canals, 3 miles NW of Tring station on

the L. & N.W.R., and 4J SE of Aylesbury. It has a post

and money order office under Tring, which is tlie telegraph

office. Acreage, 3809; population, 1393. The parish includes

also the ecclesiastical parish of St Leonard, Aston-Clinton

House is a seat of the Rothschilds. Tlie living is a rectory

in the diocese of Oxford ; net value, £407. Patron, Jesus'

College, Oxford. The church is a building of stone in tlie

Early English style. There is also a Baptist cli.apel.

Aston, East and West, two tithings in the parisli of

Longparish, Hants, on tlie river Anton, 3 miles SW of Whit-
church.

Aston-Eyre, a town.ship and a cliapelry in Morvillc parisli,

Salop, 4 miles W by N of Bridgnorth. Acreage, 1306
;

population, 74, The chapelry forms a curacy annexed to the

vicarage of Morville. There is a small Norman church, witli

a curious can-ing over the tympanum of the doorw.ay, sup-

posed to illustrate the parable of the good Samaritan. The
property belongs to Lord Acton.

Aston-Flamville, a township and a parish in Leicester-

shire. The township lies near the river So.ar, the Fosse Way,
and Watling Street,

))J
miles ESE of Hinckley station on tlie

L. & N.W. and M.R., and 9 NW of Lutterworth. The parish
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includes also tlie chapelry of Bnrbage and the hamlet of

Sketchley. Post town, Hinckley ; telegraph and money order

office, Burbage. Acreage, 1091
;

population, 100. The
living is a rectory, united with the curacy of Burbage, in the

diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly value, £500. Patron,

Earl Cowper. The church is ancient, and was partly restored

in 1805 and 1873.

Aston-Grange, a township in Runcorn parish, Cheshire,

near the river Weaver, 3 miles E of Frodsham, Acreage,

458; population, 35,

Astou-Ingham, a village and a parish in Herefordshire,

on the verge of the county, 2 miles N by E of Jlitcheldean

Road station on the G.W.R., 3 of Newent station on the

G.W.R., and 5 E of Ross, which is the post town; money
order office, Kilcote, 1 mile S ; telegraph office, Newent, 3

miles NE. Acreage, 2366
;
population, 460. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Hereford
;
gross value, £450. The

church is ancient, partly Norman, of the 12th century. It w.as

restored and nearly rebuilt in 1891 at a cost of over £1700.
Aston-Ivinghoe. See Ivinghoe, Bucks.

Aston-juxta-Mondrum, a township in Acton civil, and
Worleston ecclesitistical parish, Cheshire, 3 miles W of Nant-
wich. Acreage, 1257

;
population, 195.

Aston-le-Walls, a village .and a parish in the county of

Northampton, on the verge of the county, on the Roman road

to Dorchester, near the Oxford Canal, 4 miles NE of Cropredy
st.ation on the G.W.R., and 8 NNE of Banbury. It includes

the hamlet of Appletree, and its post town is Bj'field (R.S.O.),

which is the money order and telegr.aph office. Acreage

1053; population, 117. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Peterborough; gross value, £375. Patron, St John's

College, Oxford. The church is of the 13th century. The
Roman Catholics also have a chapel and a school.

Aston, Little, a hamlet and ecclesi.istic.al parish in Sheu-
stone parish, Staflbrdshire, 5J miles ENE of Walsall, 1 mile

from Blake Street station on the Birmingham and Lichfield

branch of the L. & N.W.R., and 2J miles S of Stonnall. The
ecclesiastical parish includes portions of Stonnall, Shenstone,

and Sutton Coldfield, and is partly in Warwickshire. It

was constituted in 187G. Population, 189. The living is a

vicarage in Lichfield diocese; net value, £120. The church,

erected in 1874, is a stone building in the Gothic style, with

a tower and spire. Little Aston Hall is the chief residence.

Aston-Magna, a parish in Worcestershire, near the Fosse

W.ay, and Blocldey station on the G.W.R., and 3 miles NW
by N of JIoreton-in-Marsh, which is the post town. Popu-
lation, 190. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wor-
cester ; v.alue, £203. 'The church, erected in 1846, is a stone

edifice in the Gothic style.

Aston Manor. See Astox, Warwickshire.

Aston, Middle, a township in Steeple-Aston p.arish, Ox-
ford, near the Cherwell river .and the Oxford Canal, 1| mile

N by W of Heyford station on the G.W.R., and 3 miles S of

Deddington. It consists of three farms and a few cottages.

Acreage, 898; population, 104,

Aston, North, a parish and a village in Oxfordshire, on
the river Cherwell, adjacent to the Oxford Canal, 1 mileW of

Somerton station on the G.W,R., and 2 miles SSE of Ded-
dington, which is the post town and the money order and
telegr.aph office. Acreage, 1288; population, 253. The
living is a viear.age in the diocese of Oxford; v.aluc, £250.
The church, an ancient edifice of stone in mixed styles, was
restored in 1866-67. North Aston H.all is a chief residence.

Aston-on-Carron, Aston-upon-Carrant, or Aston-
Cross, a tithing .and a hamlet in Ashchurch parish, Gloucester-

shire, on the river Carrant, 3 miles ENE of 'Tewkesbury, under
which it has a post-office of the name of Aston-Cross.

Aston-on-Clun, a townsliip .and a vilLage in Hopesay
parish, Salop, on the river Clun, near Broome station on the

Ij. & N.W.R., 1 mile S of Hopes.ay. It has a post office

(R.S.O.) and a Baptist chapel.

Aston-Pigot, a township in Worthin p.arish, S.alop, near

the river Rea. 1 mile NE of Worthin,

Aston-Rogers, a township in Worthin parish, Salop, near

the rivn- Rea. J a mile NE of Aston-Pigot. There is a

Primitive IMc'llmdist chapel,

Aston-Rowant, a parish and a village in Oxfordshire,

under till' Chilloni Hills, near Icknield Street, 3J miles SE of

Tet.sworlh, with a.stationof the s.ame name on the G.W.R. It
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includes the liberties of Chalford and Kingston- Blount, the

latter containing the hamlet of Kingston-Stirt; and its post

town is Tetsworth ; money order office, Chinnor ; telegrapli

office, Lewknor. Acreage, 2024 ;
population, 601. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford; net yearly

value, £120 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Oxford.

The church is Early English, and contains an elegant .ancient

font. There are a chapel of ease at Kingston-Blount, erected

in 1877, and Congregational and Methodist chapels. Aston

House, Kingston House, and Kingston Grove, are chief

residences.

Aston-St Leonard. See Leonard, St, Bucks.

Aston-Sandford, a parish in Bucks, on a branch of the

river Tbanie, fi miles SW of Aylesbury railway station, and

3i from Thame, which is the post town ; money order and

telegraph office, Haddenham. Acreage, 679
;
population, 48.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; value, £120.

The church is Later English, and small, with a gable-roofed

porch. Scott the commentator vpas rector from 1801 till

his death in 1821.

Aston-Somerville, a village and a parish in Gloucester-

shire, on the river Isborne, 5 miles S by E of Evesham, and

2 of Hinton station on the M.R. Post town, Broadway.

Acreage, 1004
;
population, 107. The manor was held, for

upwards of six centuries, by the family of Somerville, of

whom were WUham Somerville the poet, author of * The

Chase,' and Lord Somerville the distinguished agriculturist,

who died in 1819. A s.alt spring occurs, and interesting

fossils have been found. The li\'ing is a rectory in the diocese

of Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £227. The church is

ancient, in the Norman style, and has an embattled tower with

pinnacles ; it contains an ancient efiigy of a knight in armour,

supposed to be one of the Somervilles.

Aston-Steeple, a township and a parish in Oxfordshire.

The township lies on the river Cherwcll, the Oxford Canal, and

the G.W.R., adjacent to Hayford railway station, 6^ miles

NNE of Woodstock, and has a post and telegraph office under

Oxford. The parish includes also the township of Middle

Aston. Acreage, 1076
;
population of the civil parish, 690

;

of the ecclesiastical district, 803. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value, £450 with residence,

in the gift of Brasenose College, Oxford. The church i.s

ancient, but very good. Dr S.amuel Radcliffe, principal of

Brasenose College, was for some time rector, and founded

a free school and almshouses.

Aston- stib-Edge, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire,

tmder Bredon Hill, 2i miles SSW of Honeybourne station on

the G.W.R., and 2J NW of Chipping Campden, which is

the post town. Acreage, 728 ;
population, 141. The Earl

of HaiTowby is lord of the manor and chief landowner. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol

;

value, £260. Patron, the Earl of Harrowby. The church is

a small modern edifice.

Aston-Tlrrold, a p.arish in Berks, 3 miles W of Cholsey

station on the G.W.R., and 4 SW of Wallingford, under

which it has a post and money order office ; telegi'aph office,

Cholsey. Acreage, 1753
;
population, 300. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; value, £200, in the gift

of Magdalen College, Oxford. The church is a very ancient

building of Saxon origin, of flint with stone dressings. There
is also an old Presbyterian chapel.

Aston-upon-Carrant. See Aston-on-Carkon.
Aston-upon-Trent, a parish .and a large village in Derby-

shire, ou the verge of the county, near the Grand Trunk Canal,

and the river Trent, 1 mile from Weston-on-Trent station on

the M.R., and 6 miles SE by S of Derby, under which it has

a post office; nearest money order and telegraph office,

Shardlow and Weston (R.S.) Acreage, 1899 ;
population,

548. There are large gypsum pits here. Aston Hall is the

seat of the Holdens. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Southwell; net value, £960 with residence. The church,

which is ancient, was restored in 1848, 1863, and 1873,
and contains numerous mural tablets to the Shuttleworth and
Holden families, and a beautiful reredos and pulpit, &c.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Aston-Upthorpe, a parish in Berks, 3 miles E of Upton
station on the Didcot and Southampton railway, and 4 SW
of Wallingford, which is the post town and money order and
telegraph office. Acreage, 1322; population, 156. The
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living is a vicarage, united with the vicarage of Upton, in the

diocese of Oxford; value, £300. Patron, the Bishop of

Oxford. The church is ancient. This is said to be the site

of the battle of jEscendum in 871, when Ethelred and Alfred

routed the Danes.

Aston-wlth-Aughton, a township, a village, and a parish

in W. R. Yorkshire. The township lies near the river Rother,

2 miles from Woodhouse Mill station on the M.R., and 5 E of

Rotherham, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office,

of the name of Aston, under Rotherham. Area of the town-

ship 3006 acres; population, 2927. The parish includes

also part of the township of UUey. The manor belonged for-

merly to the D'Arcys, and belongs now to the Verelst family,

who are the principal landowners, and reside at Aston Hall,

a fine mansion standing in a large park. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of York; gross value, £600. Patron,

the Duke of Leeds. The church is ancient, and contains a

monument to Lord D'Arcy and his three wives, and a Nor-

man font. There are Baptist and Blethodist chapels. The
Rev. William Mason, the editor of Gray's poems .and the

author of " Isis " and other poems, was rector. There are

two collieries in this parish.

Astrop, a hamlet in Kings-Sutton and Newbottle parishes,

Northampton, near the river Cherwell, 6 milesW of Brackley.

A nrineral spring here, called St Rumbald's well, was formerly

much frequented for cutaneous diseases. Astrop House is a

fine building of stone, standing in a park of 100 acres, and is

the residence of the Brown family.

Astwell, a hamlet in Wappenham parish, Northampton, on

an affluent of the river Tove, 6 miles NNE of Brackley. It

consists of a few farmhouses. Selina, Countess of Hunting-

don, was born here in 1707.

Astwick, a parish in Beds, on the river Ivcl, 2 J miles ENE
of Arlesey st.ation on the G.N.R., and 4 N by W of Baldock,

which is the post town and the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 665
;
population, 54. The living is a rec-

tory annexed to the vicarage of Arlesey, in the diocese of Ely;

joint net yearly value, £300. Population of the ecclesiastical

district, 2162. The church is a building of stone in the

Decorated style.

Astwick, a decayed hamlet in Evenly parish, Northampton,

3 miles SSW of Brackley. It was formerly a town, but now
consists of two farms and a few cottages.

Astwood, a parish in Bucks, on the verge of the county,

5^ miles ENE of Newport-Pagnell, and 6 SE of Olney station

on the M.R. Post town, Newport-Pagnell ; money order

and telegraph office, Cranfield. Acreage, 1281 ;
population,

187. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford;

net yearly value, £139. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
church is an ancient building of stone, in the Perpendicular

and Decorated styles.

Astwood-Bank, a village in Feckenham parish, Worces-
tershire, 3 miles S of Redditch, and 1 mile Wof Studley and
Astwood-Bank station on the M.R. It has a post-office and
needle factories. The church, erected in 1884 as a chapel of

ease to Feckenham, is a fine edifice in the Early English style.

There arc Baptist and Wesleyan chapels.

Aswarby, a parish in Lincolnshire. It is situated about 5

miles S of Sleaford, and has a station on the G.N.R., in the

neighbouring parish of Scredington. Post town, Folkingham;

money order and telegi'.aph office, Osbournby. The parish com-
prises 1625 acres; population, 142. The manor belonged

formerly to the Harveys, and now is owned by the Which-
cotes, whose seat is Aswarby House. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £297. The
church is a good edifice of lofty nave, .aisle, and chancel,

with fine tower and spire. Bass, the discoverer of Bass's

Striiits, was a native.

Aswardby, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the river Steeping,

4 miles NW of Spilsby railway station. Post town, Spilsby,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 744

;

population, 89. The living is a rectory, with which the rec-

tory of Sansthorpe was consolidated in 1882, in the diocese

of Lincoln
;
joint gross yearly value, £454. The church is

a small building of brick and stone consisting of nave only.

There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Aswardhurn, a wapentake in the Parts of Kesteven,

Lincolnshire. It includes the parish of Asgarbyand nineteen

others,
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Atcham, a village and a parish in Salop. The village

lies at the influx of the Tern to the Severn, on the Shrews-
bury and Wellington road, 1 mile N of Berrington station

on the G.W.K., and 4 SE of Shrewsbury. It has a post

office under Shrewsbury, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. The parish includes also the townships of Ber-

wick, Chilton, Cronkhill. Emstrey, Duncot, and Wbeathill.

Acreage, 2988
;
population, 357. Attingham Hall, the seat

of Lord Berwick, the lord of the manor, is situated in a
park of 600 acres ; it contains a fine gallery of paintings,

chiefly by the early Italian masters. Longner Hall, the seat

of the Burton family, is IJ mile N. The living is a xicarage

in the diocese of Lichfield; net value, =£247. The chuixh is

a very ancient picturesque edifice, with traces of Norman
work ; it has a beautiful screen and some old stained glass.

Ordericus Vitalis, the historian, born in 1074, was a native.

Atch-Lench, a hamlet in Church-Lench parish, Worcester-

shire, 4^ miles N of Evesham. It has a Baptist chapeL

Athan, St, a village and a parish in Glamorgan, on

the coast, 6 miles S by E of Cowbridge, under which it

has a post and money order office ; the telegraph office is

at Llantwit-Major. Acreage, 1531 ;
population, 356. Break-

sea Point is on the coast, and commands a fine view. A
short distance E and W of the village are remains of East

and West Orchard Castles, which were fortified houses, built

by some Flemish horticulturists in the reign of Henry I.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Llandaff*; value,

£400. The church is good, and contains two interesting

Gothic monuments of the Berkrols family. There are chapels

of the Wesleyan and Calvinistic Methodists.

Athelampton. See Adjiiston.

Athelington or AUerton, a parish in Suffolk, 5 miles

SE by E of Eye station on the G.E.R. Post town, Wickham-
Jlarket ; money order and telegraph office, Stradbroke. Acre-
age, 494; population, 106. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Norwich; value, £155. Patron, the Lord Chan-
cellor. The church is small, but in excellent condition.

Athelney, a quondam island in Lyng parish, Somerset,

with a station on the G.W.R., 150 miles from London, and 4^
WNAV of Langport. The quondam island is a rising-ground,

or small hill, of about 100 acres, sun-ounded by marshes, at

the confluence of the rivers Tone and Parret. King Alfred

took refuge here, in 879, after his defeat by the Danes ; made
frequent incursions hence against them till he became able to

take the field for theii* complete overthrow ; and founded here,

in 888, a Benedictine abbey, in expression of gratitude for

his victories. The abbot did not sit in Parhament, yet

enjoyed great privileges, and was regarded as a spiritual lord.

The edifice is extinct, but recent traces of it show it to have

been large. A stone pillar, with an appropriate inscription,

was erected on the spot, in 1801, by Sir John Slade, the then

proprietor. An amulet of enamel and gold, inscribed with

words signifying " Alfred caused me to be made," was found
on Athelney in the seventeenth century, and is now in the

Ashmolean Museum.
Atherfield, a tithing in Shorwell parish, Isle of Wight, on

the S coast, i'i-% miles SSW of Newport. Atherfield rocks here

are subject to landslips, and then, after being washed by the

waves, show very strikingly the juxtaposition of the lowermost

of the greensand deposits with the uppermost of the Wealden.

Atherington, a village and a parish in Devonshire. The
village stands on a hill, adjacent to the river Taw, 1 mile

from Umberleigh station on the L. & S.W.R., and 7 miles

SSE of Banistaple, under which it has a post office

;

money order office. High Bickmgton ; telegraph office, Umber-
leigh railway station. The pai'ish comprises 3337 acres

;

population, 475. The manor belongs to the Bassetts. A
palace of King Athelstan is said to have stood at Umber-
leigh, and an ancient chapel was there, which also is said to

have been built by him. The hving is a rectory in the diocese

of Exeter; value, £416. The church is an ancient edifice,

of nave, chancel, and north aisle, and was thoroughly re-

stored in 1844. It was a cell to Caen Abbey, and contains a

very handsome carved screen, and two recumbent effigies of

the 15th century, brought to it in 1800 from the chapel at

Umberleigh. There are a Baptist chapel in the village, and a

Wesleyan chapel at Langridge.

Atlierstone, a hamlet in White Lackiugton parish, Somer-

set, 1 mile NE of Ilminster.
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Atherstone, a market-town and an ecclesiastical parish in

Wai'wickshire. It stands on Watling Street, adjacent to the

Anker river and the Coventry Canal, 5 miles NW of Nuneaton,

8 SE of Tamworth, and 100 from Loudon, Liverpool, and
Lincoln, a milestone in the town showing the three places.

It has a station on the L. & N.W.R. It was anciently called

Aderestone and Edredestone. The manor was given at the

Conquest to Hugh Lupus, Earl of Chester, who bestowed it on

the monks of Bee in Normandy, who obtained for it the right

of a market and an annual fair. An Augustinian priory was
founded in 1376 by Ralph, Lord Basset of Drayton, and
given at the dissolution to the Cartwrights. Here Henry,

Earl of Richmond, halted on the day before the battle of

Bosworth, and had a conference with Sir William Stanley,

whose secession from Richard III. largely contributed to

Henry's victory and the establishment of the Tudor dynasty.

The place in which Henry passed the night is said to have

been the Three Tuns Inn, which still exists, and the place on
which his troops encamped was a meadow N of the church.

The field of Bosworth lies 8 miles to the NE, within Leicester-

shire. The town of Atherstone consists chiefly of one prin-

cipal street, well built, and nearly a mile long. It forms part

of Watling Street, and in 1868, during some di'ainage opera-

tions, the actual Roman road was discovered, with the large

paving-stones joined by strong cement. Atherstone is well

paved, and there is an abundant supply of water. There is a

town-hall, where petty sessions are held fortnightly, and a

corn exchange ; at the latter the county court is held twice

a month. The Albert Hall was erected in 1874, and is used

for promiscuous rehgious services. The grammar school was
founded, in 1573, by Sir William Devereux and two other

persons, and is endowed with lands which produce an annual

income of over £300. There are chapels for Congregation-

alists, Wesleyans, Unitarians, and Roman Cathofics; a Bene-
dictine mmnery, an endowed school, a school boai'd, a town
cemetery under the management of a Bmial Board, a dis-

pensary, a workhouse, and a local weekly newspaper. The
town is a seat of petty sessions, and has a head post office.

A weekly mai'ket is held on Tuesday, a pleasure fair on

the 18th July, and there is an annual fair for the hulng of

servants. The chief trade is in hats. Drayton, who wrote

the " Polyolbion," and Dr Grew the botanist, were natives.

The township includes the town, and is locally in the parish

of Mancetter, but is separated for all parochial and ecclesias-

tical purposes. Acreage, 044; population, 4091. Ather-

stone Hall, built from the ruins of the priory, stands on a

pleasant bank outside the town, commanding an extensive

view. The park contains some gi-and old oaks. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £320.
Patron, the Vicar of Mancetter. The church is ancient,

in the Perpendicular style, with an octagonal tower; it was
almost entirely rebuilt in 1840.

Atherstone-on-Stour, a village and a pai-ish in Warwick-
shire, on the river Stour, 3 miles S by E of Stratford-on-Avon.

It contains the hamlet of Ailstone, and its post town is Strat-

ford-on-Avon. Acreage, 1089; populatiou, 115. The manor
belonged, in the time of Edwai^d III., to John de Langley.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester; net value,

£140, The church is ancient, in the Decorated style, and
was rebuilt in 1876. Dr Thomas, the editor of Dugdale's
" Antiquities of Warwickshire," was a native.

Atherton, a township and an ecclesiastical pai'ish in the

ancient parish of Leigh, Lancashire, The town stands about

a mile E of the Bolton and Kenyon railway, 2 miles NNE of

Leigh, and 13 WNW of Blanchester. Part of the town bears

the name of Chowbent, and it has a station of the name of

Atherton on the L. & N.W.R., one at Chowbent on the same
line, and a third, known as Atherton Central, on the Lanca-
shire and Yorkshire railway, and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Manchester. The inhabitants are employed
variously in cotton factories, iron works, nail factories, and
coUieries. Acreage, 2426; population, 15,833. The living

is a vicai'age in the diocese of Manchester; value, £215 with

residence. Patron, Lord Lilford. The church was rebuilt in

1810, partly rebuilt in 1879, and completed in 1893. There

are Baptist, Prhnitive and Independent Methodist, Wesleyan,

and Unitarian chapels, Liberal and Conservative clubs, a

village club, public hall, a cemetery enlarged in 1888, and
several schools,
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Atherton, Isle of Wight. See Akreton.
Atlow, a ));uish in Derbysliire, on a brancli of the river

Dove, 4 J miles NE by E of Ashbonie railway station. Post

town and telegraph office, Ashbonie ; Hognaston is the money
order office. Acreage, 1277

;
population, 125. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £125
with residence.

Attenborough, a village, a township, and a parish in

Notts. The village stands at the confluence of the Erwash
and the Trent, adjacent to the Nottingham railway, and 6

miles S\V of Nottingham. The parish comprises the town-

ship of Toton and the hamlet of Chilwell, the latter of which
has a post office under Nottingham; money order and tele-

graph office, Beeston. Population, 1258. The living is a

vicarage, united with the chapelry of Bramcote, in the diocese

of Southwell ; net value, £245 with residence. The church

is large and good. Heni7 Ireton, the son-in-law of Oliver

Cromwell, was a native.

Atterby, a townsliip in Bishop-Norton parish, Lincolnshire,

near Ermine Street, 9 miles NW by W of Markct-Raisen.

Acreage, 1051
;
population of Atterby, 101.

Attercli£fe, one of the pai-liamentary divisions of the

borough of Sheffield, formed under the Redistribution of Seats

Act of 1885. Population, 72,465.

Atterley-with-Walton, a township in Much-Wenlock
palish, Salop, 2 miles SE of Much-Wenlock.

Atterton, a township in Witherley parish, Leicester, 3

miles E by N. of Atherstone. Acreage, 640
; population, 35.

Attery or Atre, The, a stream of Cornwall. It rises on

Wilsey down, near Trenegloss, and runs about 14 miles e.ast-

south-eastwai'd to the river Tamar, in the vicinity of Laun-
ceston.

Attingtbn, formerly an extra-parochial tract, now a parish

in Thame district, Oxford, 3 miles S of Thame. Acreage,

444
;

population, 25. Post, money order, and telegraph

office, Tetsworth.

Attleborough, avillage and an ecclesiastical parish in Nun-
eaton parish, Warwickshire, on the Trent Valley railway and

the river Anker, near the Coventry Canal, 1 mile S of Nun-
eaton, under which it has a post office, and at which is the

telegraph office. Population, 1779. The Earl of Harrowby
is lord of the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Worcester ; net value, £200. Patron, the Vicar of Nun-
eaton. The church was built in 1841, and is in the Early

English style. There ai'e three Baptist chapels. There are

stone-quarries and brick-works, and the inhabitants are em-

ployed in the manufacture of ribbons, cotton thread, and

elastic web, as well as in agriculture.

Attleborough or Attleburgh, a small town, a parish, and

head of a county comt district in Norfolk. The town has a

station on the G.E.R., and is 15 miles SW of Norwich. It

was the capital of East Angha, and had strength enough to

check the incursions of the Danes, and it retained fortifications

of some note till the time of Henry II. It has lost much of

its former importance, but still serves as a county centre. It

has a head post, money order, and telegraph office, and a

banking office. A corn-market hall was built in 1863 at a

cost of £1000. A weekly market is held on Thm'sday, and

there are occasional fairs. A college for a custos and four

fellows was founded in the time of Richard II. by Sir

Robert de l\Iortimer, and given in the time of Henry VIII.

to Robert, Earl of Sussex. The church of the college still

stands ; is a spacious cruciform edifice in Norman and Early

English, with squai-e tower rising from the centre, and con-

tains monuments to distinguished members of the families

of Mortimer, RatclifFe, and Blickley. The parish comprises

5410 acres; population, 2332. Attleborough Hall, Hill

House, and Point House are chief residences. The first

turnpike road in England was made in this parish. The
living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Norwich ; value, £1570.
There .are Baptist, Primitive Methodist, and Wcsleyan chapels,

and a Friends meeting-house.

Attlebridge, a parish and a village in Norfolk, on the river

Weusum. It has a station on the E. & M.R., and is 8 miles

NW of Norwich, which is the post town ; money order and
telegraph office, Lenwade. Acreage, 1303; population, 78.

The living is a vicarage annexed to the rectory of Alderford,

in the diocese of Norwich. The church is a small buUdmg of

flmt, in the Perpendicular style.
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Atwick, a township, a village, and a parish in the E. R
Yorkshire. The village stands on the coast, 2 miles N of

Hornsea railway station, and 13 NE of Beverley, and has a
post office under Hull ; money order .and telegraph office,

Hornsea. The parish includes also the hamlets of Arran
and Sku-lington. Popul.ation, 298. The land is undergoing
encroachment by the sea. The living is a discharged vicar-

.age in the diocese of York ; uet value, £109 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is in the Early

English style, and was rebuilt in 1876. There .are Wesleyan
and Primitive Methodist chapels. The Fenwick and Burton
charities, chiefly for educating and .apprenticing boys, has an
income of £52, and are under the control of the Charity

Commissioners.

Atworth or Atford, was formerly a tithing of Br,adford-

on-Avon, but in 1884 it was amalgamated with Great .and

Little Chalfield and Cottles, to form the civil parish of At-
worth, Wiltshire. It is 4 miles from Bradford, and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Melksham.
Acreage of civil parish, 2756; population, 767. The living

is a vicar<age with South Wraxall, in the diocese of Salis-

bm7; value, £280. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Bristol. The present church was built in 1832, hut the

tower of an ancient one stands by. There aro two dissenting

chapels, and some good stone quairies in the neighbourhood.

Aubin, St, a small town in St Brelade paiish, .Jersey, on

the west side of a b.ay of its own n.ame, 3f miles W of St

Helier. The bay is seraicii'cnlai', has a picturesque appearance,

fills all the space eastw.ard to St Helier, and is defended on

the west side by St Aubin Castle, on the SE by Eliz.abeth

Castle. It forms a good roadstead, but has several shcals. St

Aubin Castle is a tower mounted with 14 guns, and has done

service in the defence of the island. The town is the second

in Jersey, and has a post office under St Helier, a weekly

market on Monday, a pier, inns, a church erected in 1892,

and an almshouse. Several handsome villas ai-e in the

neighbourhood.

Auboum, a township and a parish in Lincolnshii'e.

The township lies on the river Witham, near the Fosse

Road, 2J miles W of Harmston station on the G.N.R., 3 S
of Thorpe station on the M.R., .and 7 SW by S of Lincoln,

and includes the hamlet of Marlborough. The parish in-

cludes also pai't of the township of Haddington. Post town,

Lincoln ; money order and telegi'aph office, B.assingham.

Acreage, 1860; population of the civil p,arish, 201; of the

ecclesiastical, 243. The livmg is a vicarage in the diocese

of Lincoln; net value, £292. The new chm*ch, erected in

1862-63, is a building of stone in the E.arly English style.

The chancel of the old church remains; it contains several

interesting monuments, and is used as a mortuary chapel.

There is also a Wesleyan chapel

Auburn or Awbum, a township in Carnaby parish, E. R.

Yorkshire, on the coast, 2 miles SE of Carn.aby railw<ay station,

and 3^ S by W of Bridlington. Post town, CiU"naby under

Hull. Much of the hand h.as been w.ashed away by the sea,

and both church and village, with the exception of one farm,

have disappeared. Area, 216 acres, of which 75 ai-e in Brid-

lington parish
;
population, 13.

Auckland, Bishop. See BisHOP-AncicLAND.
Auckland, St Andrew, a township, a village, and a parish

in Durham. The township lies on the Bishop-Auckland and

We.ardale railway, ne.ar the confluence of the Gaunless and

the We.ar rivers, 1 mile SE of Bishop-Anckland. Acreage,

1274; population of the civil parish, 3110; of the ecclesi-

.astical, 12,235. The parish includes .also the townships of

Bishop-Auckland, Coundon-Gr.angc, Newton-Cap, .and Pol-

lards-Land, and its post town is Bishop-Auckland, which is

the money order and telcgr.aph office. Coal and Hmestone

are extensively worked. The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Durham ; net value, £542 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Durh.am. The chmxh is a cruciform structure,

with a tower .at the west end ; was made collegiate by Bishop

Beck in 1292, for a de.an and nine prebendaries : contains

bnisses and the effigies of a cnisader ; and h.os been thoroughly

restored. There ai'e Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels,

and four schools.

Auckland. St Helen, a township .and a p.aiish in Durham,

on the river Gaunless and on the Stockton and Darlington

branch of the N.E.R., 3i miles SW of Bishop-Auckland.
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It has a station called We.st Auckland on the railway, and a

post office under Bishop-Auckland; money order and tele-

j^ruph office, West Auckland. Acreage, 1510; population

of the civil parish, 923; of the ecclesiastical, 4006. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Durham; net value,

£400 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Durham. The
church is very ancient, the registers dating from 1593. The
eastern part of nave is doubtless as early as the 11th century.

There is also a very fine old liall—St Helen Hall, the pro-

piTty of the Mnsgrave family. The banqueting room in this

liall has a magnificent carved ceiling. There is a Primitive

IVIethodist chapel. The inhabitants are chiefly employed in

the collieiies.

Auckland, West, a township and a village in Auckland

(St Helen) parish, Durham, on the river Gaunless, with a

station on the N.E.R., 3 miles SW of Bishop-Auckland,

under which it has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office.

Acreage, 3407
;

population, 3651. There are chapels for

Wesleyan and Free Methodists, a large brewery, and cattle

fairs are held twice a year.

Auckley or Awkley, a township and a village in the pai'ish

of Finningley, partly in Notts, and partly in W. R. Yorkshire,

2 miles from Finningley railway station, and 5 ESE of Don-

caster. Acreage, 2087
;

population, 253. It has a post

office under Doncaster, which is the money order and tele-

grapli office. There is a chapel of ease attached to the church

at Finningley, and a Wesleyan chapel.

Audenshaw, one of the four divisions of the parish of

Ashton-under-Lyne, Lancashire. The village stands adjacent

to the Ashton Canal and the Manchester and Sheffield rail-

way, 3 miles SW of Ashton, under which it has a post

office. Hooley Hill and Stockport Road, Ashton, are the

money order and telegiaph offices. Population, 6547. There

are stations at Guide Bridge on the M.S. & L.R. ,and at

Hooley Hill on the L. & N.W.R. St Stephen's is an ecclesi-

astical parish formed in 1844, and has a population of 7859.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Manchester; gross

value, £375 with residence. Patron, alternately the Crown
and the Bishop. The chmch is in the Early English style.

A new vicarage was erected in 1890. There are Methodist

chapels and good schools. The Countess of Stamford and
W:u-rIngton is lady of the manor. Many of the inhabitants

are employed in hat-making, cotton-spinning, calico-printing,

and in engineering works.

Audleby, a hamlet in Caistor parish, Lincolnshire, on the

Wolds, 1 mile N of Caistor.

Audlem, a market-town, a tomiship, and a parish in

Cheshire. The town is 6 miles S of Nantwich, and has a

station on the Crewe and Wellington branch of the G.W.R.,

a post office under Nantwich, and two banks. Acreage, 2348

;

population, 1371. There is a market on Thursdays. The
parish includes also the townships of Buerton, Hankelow, and
Titley (or Titteuley), with parts of Dodcot-cum-Wilkeley and
Newhall. Population, 2410. The living is a vicai'age in the

diocese of Chester; net value, £297. Patrou, Viscount Com-
bermere. The church is ancient, and was restored in 1885.

There are chapels for Baptists, Wesleyans, and Primitive

Jlethodists. The parish is purely agi'icultm-al.

Audley, a town and a parish in Staffordshire. The
town lies 5 miles NW by N of Newcastle-under-Lyme. It

has a station on the North Staffordshire railway, and a post

office under Newcastle-under-Lyme ; telegraph office, Bignall

End, a mile E. It gives the title of Baron (now in abeyance)

to the family of Touchet. Population of the town, 12,631.

The pai'ish includes also the townships of Hahner-End,

Eardley-End, Knowl-End, Bignall-End, and Paik-End, and
the township and ecclesiastical parish of Talk-o'-th'-Hill. Area
of the parish, 8727 acres; population of the civil parish,

12,936 ; of the ecclesiastical, 5353. There is a Local Board.

Heighleigh Castle in Knowl-End township, now a ruin, was

the seat of the Audleys, one of whom fought at Poitiers. Ape-
dale Hall is a fine modern mansion in Halmer-End township.

Coal and ironstone are worked. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lichfield ; value, £386. The chm'ch is an ancient

Decorated edifice, with a massive pinnacled tower, a brass, and

some ancient monuments; it was restored in 1846 and 1856,

and a chancel screen was erected in 1887. There is a chapel

of ease at Alsagers Bank, in the township of Halmer-End, and

Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist, and New Connection Methodist
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chapels at Audley, and other dissenting chapels in the dis-

trict. Vernon's grammar school was founded in 1612 ; new
school buildings were erected in 1876,

Audley-End, a railway station, a post office, a hamlet, and

a noble park near Saffron-Walden, Essex. The station is on

the G.E.R., li mile W by S of Saffron-Walden, and at the

junction of the branch railway thither. The park lies be-

tween the station and the town, on the river Granta, and is

the seat of Lord Braybrooke. A bridge is in it by Adams,
and a camp on Ermine Street. The mimsion is pai-t of a

splendid Tudor pile, built in 1603-16. It occupies the site

of a Benedictine priory of 1136, and was erected by Howard,
Earl of Suffolk, afterwards Lord High Treasurer of England,

and named after his uncle, Audley. The greater portion of

the original building was pulled down under the direction of

Sir John Vanbrugh, but what remains is magnificent, and
contains some valuable paintings and a fine museum. The
hamlet consists of a fai'm and a few cottages.

Aughton, a township and a pai'ish in Lancashire. The
palish lies on a branch of the river Alt, and on the Lanca-
shii'e and Yorkshire railway, at Town-Green station, near the

Liverpool and Leeds Canal, 2^ miles SSW of Ormskirk,

under which it has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office.

Acreage, 4610
;
population, 3456. Sir R, T. Tempest, Bart.,

is lord of the manor and chief landowner. There are several

handsome villa residences. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Liverpool ; net value, £500 witli residence. The
parish church, dedicated to St Michael, dates from the 13th

century. There are also a handsome modem church, which

is a chapel of ease, built iu 1877, and Roman Catholic and
Baptist chapels.

Aughton, a chapeky in Halton pai'ish, Lancashii-e, on the

river Lune, 2 miles N of Caton railway station, and 7 NE
of Lancaster. Post town, Halton, under Lancaster. The
living was a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Manchester,

and is now a chapel of ease in the parish of Halton; gross

value, £226. Patrou, the Rector of Halton. The church

was rebuilt in 1864. There is an elcmeutaiy school here

endowed with £67 yearly.

Aughton, a township, a village, and a pai-ish in the E. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the river Derwent, If mile

NNW of Bubwith railway station, and 7 miles NE of Selby.

Acreage, 1947; population^ 114. The parish includes also

the townships of Laytham and Cottingwith. York is the

post town ; money order and telegi-aph office, Bubwith.

Population, 438. Traces exist of a castle which was the seat

of successively the family of Hai and Aske. Here lived Sir

Robert Aske, who was executed as a leader of the insun-ection

called " the pilgrimage of grace," occasioned by the suppres-

sion of the monasteries in the reign of Hemy VIII. ; and here

lived also the Aske who was one of the judges of Chailcs I.

The living is a dischai-ged vicarage, united with the perpetual

ciu'acy of Cottingwith, in the diocese of York; net value,

£172. The chm'ch was erected in 1893, and there is a Wes-
leyan chapel.

Aughton, a tithing in CoUingbom-ue-Kingston parish,

Wilts, 4| miles NW of Ludgershall.

Aughton, W. R. Yorkshire. See Astox-with-Aughton.
Aukborough. Ste Alkborough.
Ault-Hucknall, or Hault-Hucknall, a scattered village

and a pm-ish in Derbyshii'C, on the verge of the county, ad-

jacent to Haidwick Park, 5 miles ENE of Claycross railway

station, and 6J SE of Chesterfield. Tlie parish contains the

hamlets of Rowthorne, Stainsby, Hardwiek, Hai'dstoft, Ast-

with, and Dol Lea, and its post town is Heath under Chester-

field. Acreage, 4429; population of the civil pai'ish, 1388;
of the ecclesiastical, 1791. The living is a vicai'age in the

diocese of Southwell; net value, £151. Patron, the Duke of

Devonshire. The chm'ch is good, and contains monuments
to the first Countess of Devonshire and to the philosopher

Hobbes.

Aunby. See Holywell-witii-Aunby.
Aunsby, a pai-ish in Lincolnshire, 3 miles SW of Aswarby

and Scredington stations on the G.N.R., and 6^ SSW of

Sleafoi'd, which is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Osbom'uby. Acreage, 1269; population, 129. The
living is a rectory in tiie diocese of Lincoln ; net value, £236.
The church is Early English, and has a fi^m'ed font; it wag
almost wholly rebuilt in 1861,
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Aust, or Aust Clive, a village and a titliiiig in Henbury

paiihli, Gloucestershire. The village stands on the K shore

of the Severn, 6J miles W by S of Thornbury, and 5i NW
of Pilning station on the Bristol and South Wales branch of

the G.W.R. Post offices are at Olveston and Thorabury.

There was a feiTy here on the Severn to Beachley, which

had the name of the Old Passage, in connection with which

stage coaches used to run daily to Bristol and other places

;

it was superseded by the New Passage, 2 miles lower down

tlie river, which was also discontinued on the completion of

the Severn Tunnel. Aust was the ancient Trajectus Angusti,

where the Roman legions used to be fenied over ; and was

also the place where Edward I. passed over to hold a con-

ference with Llewellyn, and also the Rom.an bishops to meet

the British bishops. Acreage, 1522 (and 1221 of w.ater)

;

population, 159. Much of the surface was m.ai-shy. Aust

cliffs are of the Rhaetic formation, and contain a remarkable

bone-bed, in which the remains of the Ceratodus, Labyrin-

thodon, Nemacanthus, and other interesting fossils have

been found ; beneath the bone-bed the strata ai'e of a high

salmon colour, the result of the chemical action of the de-

composition of the bone-bed stratum. This char.acteristic

appears in the rocks on both sides of the estuary, and again

lower down at Penarth, and gypsum is present in large

quantities, also the Cotham marble. The living is a chapelry

annexed to Northwick, in the diocese of Gloucester and

Bristol. It was formerly in the gift of the king, but now
is in the gift of the Vicar of Henbury. The church is

an ancient edifice, with an embattled tower, and contains

an ancient font of the time of Henry VII., a good Norman
arch with carved capitals, also a piscina, and a monument to

Su- Samuel Astry. Wickliffe held the living in 1374, in

connection with his prebendal stall in the Abbey of Westbury.

It is generally supposed that it was at Aust he translated

the Bible. The proof of his residence here is found in the

Record Office, London, where is enrolled an order for the

seizure of his goods at his residence, Aust.

Austell, St, a market-town and a par'ish in Cornwall. The
town stands on the G.W.R. 286 miles from London, IJ mile

NW of a bay of its own name, and 39j miles W by S of Ply-

mouth. Its site is the side of a hill, which descends to a

naiTow vale watered by a rivulet. The original town, or rather

village, stood a short distance to the W, and is still represented

by a few cottages. The present town dates from about the

time of Henry VIII. ; was taken by Char'les I., in 1644, from

the Parliamentai-ian forces ; and has risen to importance in

connection with the chma-clay traffic. It has n.aiTow streets,

and a somewhat gloomy aspect, yet shows interesting features,

and is sku'ted with pleasant residences. Several of the prin-

cipal business establishments and public buildings are supplied

with the electric light. The Constitutional Club, formed in

1889, has about 400 members. There are assembly rooms,

reading rooms, and also a large and spacious Liberal Club,

formed in 1887, with about 400 members. The market-house

and town-hall is a lar-ge gr-anite building. The Devon and

Cornwall bank is a tasteful edifice of granite and marble. The
pai'ish church is a spacious ancient stracture, of nave, ch.ancel,

and aisles, with a remarkably fine tower and many curious

sculptures ; the chancel Early English, the nave and the tower

Perpendicular. The church h.as been thoroughly restored, and

is kept in excellent condition. The east end, south aisle,

and tower are filled with fine stained glass. The reredos

and pulpit are of alabaster. A new vestry was added in 1889.

A communion cup used in the church is very ancient. The
town h.as two post offices, fom* banking offices, seven dissent-

ing chapels, a workhouse, and it is a seat of petty sessions.

A weekly m.arket is held ou Friday ; and fairs on the Thurs-

day before Easter, Whit-Thm'sday, the Friday after 23 July,

19 October, and 30 November. The fishery for pilchai'ds, in

St Austell Bay, is extensive. The chief industry is in porcelain

clay and china-stone, which was formerly shipped exclusively

at Pentewan and Charlestown. A narrow gauge (3 feet)

railway runs to Pentewan from St Austell. In 1893 nuich

of the shipping trade was transferred to Pai' and Fowey, as

a new branch railway was made from Bugh to Gunheatli,

near Hcnsbarrow, passing through the heart of the China
clay district. The name St Austell is of uncertain oi'igin,

but most probably is a coiTuption of St Auxilius.

Jhe parish comprises 12,213 acres
;
population of the civil
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palish, 11,377 ; of the ecclesiastical, 5702. St Austell Bay
is 4 miles wide and 6 long, and forks in the N into the bay of

St Blazey. Hcnsbarrow Hill, about 2^ miles N of the town,

is one of the loftiest heights in Cornwall. The higher quarter

of the parish, together with that of adjacent tracts, is bleak

and desolate ; the Pentew.an and Treverbyn valleys are wooded

and beautiful. The Carelage mine, one of the oldest in the

world, and said to have been worked by the Phoenicians, is

very striking. The quarries in Pentewan vale supply a

famous building-stone, which has been used in the construc-

tion of many churches and mansions. An ancient holy well,

with remains of a small chapel or baptistery, occurs in a

pretty spot, beside a stream, at Menacuddle Hill. Pemice,

1 j mile S of the town, on the road to Pentewan, is the seat

of the Sawle family. Pobuddon and Treverbyn were ancient

residences. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Trm'O ;

gross value, £538. Patron, the Crown. The vicai-ages of

Chaiiestown and Treverbyn are separate charges.

Austerfield, a village and a township in the W. R. York-

shire, adjacent to Notts, and to the Retford and Doncaster

railway, 1 J mile NNE of Bawtry railway station. Post town,

Bawtry. Acreage, 2781
;

population, 341. A Roman camp
occurs here on the line of North Watling Street ; and a great

battle is supposed to have been fought adjacent between the

Britons and the Romans under Ostorius. The living is a

vicai'age joined with Bawtry, in the diocese of Southwell

;

net value, £370, in the gift of Trinity College, Cambridge.

The church is Norman ; there is also a Primitive Methodist

chapel.

Austerson, a township in Acton parish, Cheshire, on the

river Weaver, 2 miles S of Nantwich. Acreage, 950
;
popu-

lation, 54.

Austhorpe. a township in Whitkirk and Garforth parishes

in the W. R. Yorkshire, 1 mile from Crossgates station on the

Selby railway, 4 miles E of Leeds ; it includes the hamlet of

Banowby. Acreage, 858; population, 194. Leeds is the

post town ; money order and telegraph office, Crossgates.

Smeaton, the civil engineer, bom in 1724, was a native ; and

his monument, with a representation on it of his greatest

work, the Eddystone Lighthouse, is in Whitkirk Church.

Austhwaite. See Biricer and Austhwaite.
Austindyke, a hamlet in Moulton parish, Lincoln, 6 J miles

NE of Crowland.

Austonley, a township in Holmebridge parish, W. R. York-

shire, on the river Colne, 2 miles SW of Holmfirth railwav

station, and 6i SSW of Huddcrsfield. Population, 1428.

Many of the inhabitants are employed in manufactories.

There are Wesleyan and Free Methodist chapels.

Austrey, a village and a parish picturesquely situated

under the watershed that sepai'ates Leicestershire from War-
wickshir-e on the E, 4 miles NE of Polesworth station on

the L. & N.W.R., 6f E by N of Tamwoi-th, and 6 N of

Atherstone, under which it has a post office ; telegraph office,

Twycross, 4 miles distant ; money order office, Newton Regis.

Acreage, 2125
;
population, 306. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £209. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church was btrilt in 1244, and is in

the Early Engfish and Decorated styles. It has a tower

with a lofty spire, and contains a handsome cai-ved oak reredos.

There is a Baptist chapel, a manor house, and an ancient

farmhouse of Jacobean date. The ancient name was " Al-

destiie," or village near the Alder-meadows.

Austwick, a township and a parish in the W. R. York-

shire, near Ingleborongh Hill, 2^ miles NE of Clapham rail-

way station, and 4J NW of Settle. It has a post and money

order office under Lancaster. Acreage, 7912
;
population of

the civil parish, 449 ; of the ecclesiastical, 729. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Kipon ; net value, £250 with

residence. Patron, the Vicar of Clapham. The church is

modem. There are a Wesleyan chapel and various charities.

Authorpe, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the Wolds, with

a station on the G.N.R., 4J miles NW of Alford. The post

town is Louth, which is the money order and telegraph ollice.

Acreage, 941 ;
population, 119. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Lincoln; net value, £180. The church, which

was rebuilt in 1848, :md repaired in 1884, is a small building

of brick .and stone. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Avebury, or Abury, a village and a parish in Wiltshire.

The village adjoins a head stream of the river Keunet, Ij mile
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N of Silbury Hill, 4 miles N of Wans Dyke, 6^ W of ftlail-

borougli station on the G.W.R., and 8 SSE of Wootton-Bassett.

Its site is a flat area of 28 acres, once occupied bj a vast

Druidical temple. Dr. Stukeley, who examined the temple in

1720, supposed it to have originally consisted of 650 stones,

and to have included tlieVhole site of the present village, li

is smTounded by a broad ditch, outside of which is a lofty

vallum, intended, it is supposed, to enable spectators to observe

tlie ceremonies over the whole extent of the area. Within the

ditch was a circle, 1400 feet in diameter, formed of 100 up-

right stones, from 15 to 17 feet in height, and about 40 in

circumference, placed at a distance of 27 yai'ds from one

another. Within this were two circles, each consisting of two

double concentric rows. In the centre of the northern circle

were three large stones, two of which are still standing,

whilst in the centre of the southern circle was one large

stone, the remains of which were discovered in 1870. The

grand circle had two entrances, consisting of double rows of

100 upright stones each, placed at equal distances, and ex-

tending a mile in length ; the one terminating in a double

concentric circle of smaller diameter, and the other having a

stone lai-ger than the rest at the extremity. Of this vast

structure few traces now remain, the stones having been

broken down and used in the construction of the houses of

the village, and in repairing the roads. Many baiTows and

tumuli, together with Druidical stones, are in the neighbour-

hood ; and a most remai'kable one is that called Silbuky Hill.

The parish includes the tithings of Beckhampton and West
Kennet. Acreage, 4600

;
population, 674. There is a post,

money order, and telegraph office. The manor was given, in

the time of Henry I., to the Abbey of Boscharville, in Nor-

mandy; passed first to Winchester College, Oxford, next to

the collegiate church of Fotheringhay, in Northamptonshire,

and went, at the dissolution, to Su" William Sharington. The
living is a viciU'age in the diocese of Salisbury ; net value, X277.

The church is an ancient structure of stone and flint, with

some Norman features, some Saxon and probably still earlier

British remains having been revealed and carefully preserved

during recent repans, and has a curious Norman font. There

is a Free Church of England and a Baptist chapel.

Aveland, a wapentake in the pai'ts of Kesteven, Lincoln.

It contains the parish of Aslackby and twenty-two other

pai'ishes.

Aveley, a village and a paiish in Essex. The village

stands adjacent to the Purfleet station of the London, Tilbury,

and Southend railway, neai- the Thames, 7 miles SE of Romford.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Pur-

fleet (S.O.), and was formerly a mai'ket-town. The parish

comprises 2054 acres of land and 127 of water; population,

1020. The living is a vicai'age in the diocese of St Albans;

net value, 4)317. Patron, the Bishop. The church is very

old. There ai'e a Congregational chapel and some almshouses.

Belhus is a fine old mansion standing in a park about 3 miles

in circumference.

Avenbury, a parish in Herefordshire, on the river Frome,

2^ miles SSK of Bromyard. It includes the hamlets of

Munderfield Row and LTpper Hopton, and a detached tract,

situated near Bredenbm'y ; and its post town is Bromyard

under Worcester. Acreage, 2912
;
population of the civil

parish, 306 ; of the ecclesiastical, 332. Birchyfield is the

chief residence. The living is a vicai*age in the diocese of

Hereford ; net value, £105. The church is an ancient edifice,

which was restored in 1881. In the chancel is a slab of

sandstone with the figui'e of a knight in ai'mour, dating from

about 1260.

Avening, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, 4

miles S of Brimscombe station on the G.W.R,, 2J S of Min-

chinhampton, and 7 SSE of Stroud. It lies within the par-

liamentary borough of Stroud, and has a post office under

that town ; money order and telegi'aph office, Minchinhampton.

The parish includes the hamlets of Aston, Forest-Green, Nags

Head, and Windsors-Edge, and pait of the chapelry of Nails-

worth. Acreage, 3724
;
population of the civil parish, 8U4

;

of the ecclesiastical, 1008. The manor belonged anciently to the

Saxon Earl of Gloucester, of which he was deprived by the

Conqueror, who gave it to the nuns of Caen. At the sup-

pression of the foreign monasteries it was held by the kings

till it was given to the nuns of Sion House, and passed by

exchange for lands near Windsor, from Henry VIII. to Lord
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Windsor, from whose family it passed to the Shepheards.

A lai'ge tumulus, known as the Longstone, and supposed to be

the sepulchre of a Danish chief, occurs in a field near Gatcombe
Park, and there are several barrows in which human skeletons

have been found. The livmg is a rectory in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol; value, £273. The Norman part

of the church was built by the direction of the Conqueror,

whose architects, who built the two monasteries at Caen for

him and his queen, doubtless directed the building of the

Norman part of Avenmg Church, which corresponds in many
features with the architecture of the church at Caen. There

is a Baptist chapel. Dr Frampton, a former rector, was

made Bishop of Gloucester in 1681, and became one of the

Non-jm-ors. Another rector, Dr Bull, was appointed Bishop

of St David's in 1705.

Averham, a village and a pai-ish in Notts. Tbe village

lies on the Trent, adjacent to the G.N.R. and BI.R., 2 miles

W by N of Newai'k station. The pai'ish includes also the

township of Staythorpe, and its post town is Newm-k. Acre-

age, 2169
;
population of the civil paiish, 139 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 414. The manor belongs to the Manners-Sutton
family. The living is a rectory, united with that of Kelham,

in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £567. The church

is good. The monument to Sir William Sutton records that

he had sixteen childi'en, one half of whom

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Aveton-Gifford, a village and a parish in Devon. The
village stands on the river Avon, 3^ miles NW of Kingsbridge,

and 7 S of Kingsbridge Road station on the G.W.R. It has

a post, money order, and telegraph office. It was anciently a

market-town. The pai'ish comprises 3948 acres
;
population

of the civil pai'ish, 796 ; of the ecclesiastical, 703. The manor
belonged formerly to the family of Gifford. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £667. The chm'ch

is Eai-ly English and cruciform, with central tower, one of

the finest old churches in South Devon, and has been much
restored and improved. There ai-e chapels for Baptists,

Methodists, and Bible Christians.

Aville, a hamlet in Dunster parish, Somerset.

Aving^on, a parish in Berks, on the Kennet river, the

Kennet and Avon Canal, and the Newbury branch of the

G.W.R., 2 miles W by N from Kintbury station, and 2^ E
of Hungerford, which is the post town ; money order and
telegraph offices, Kintbury and Hungerford. Acreage, 1185;
population, 129. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Oxford ; net value, £230. The chm-ch is an interesting

specimen of Nonnan ai-chitectm-e, with two Early English

windows, and a small Eaidy English spu-e-bell tun-et. The
chancel is separated from the nave by an ai'ch, richly orna-

mented with zigzag moulding and a great vai-iety of grotesque

heads which has so settled as to look almost like two arches,

and springs from emiching piers leaning outwai'ds, Radley

and Bowling Green are hamlets in this pai'ish.

Avington, a pai-ish in Hants, on the river Itchen,

^ mile from Itchen-Abbas station on the L. & S.W.R.,

and 5 miles NE of Winchester. Post town, Alresford,

which is the money order office ; telegraph office, Itchen-

Abbas station. Acreage, 2952
;

population of the civil

parish, 269 ; of the ecclesiastical, 218. The manor belonged

anciently to the Crown; was given, in 061, by King Edgai",

to the monastery of St Swithin at Winchester; passed,

at the dissolution, to the Clerks of Mitcheldever ; and
went, in the reign of Elizabeth, to the family of Bi-uges or

Brydges, who aftei-wards became Dukes of Chandos and
Buckingham. The infiimous Countess of Shrewsbury, who
man'ied into this family, was often visited here by Charles

II. The present house is a modern brick structm'c, on the

site of the ancient mansion, and is the seat of the Shelley

family. The paik lies in a sequestered valley, nearly sm*-

rounded with high downs, is well wooded, and measures

about 3 miles in cncuit. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Winchester; gross value, £250. Patron, the Bishop

of Winchester. The chm-ch stands in the park, and is modern.

Avon, an ancient British word signifying "stream" or
" river," and specially applied to a stream of easy and gentle

coui'se. It is used both as a complete name and as a prefix,



AVON

and it occurs in tlie hydi'ogvapliical nomenclatuie of all the

divisions of the United Kingdom. It is also spelt Aven,

Afon, &c.

Avon, The, or Afon-Llwyd, a river of Monmouthshire.

It rises 1| mile E of Nantyglo, and runs about 16 miles

south-south-eastwai'd, past Pont-y-pool, to the Usk at Caer-

leon. Most of its valley is ti-aversed by branches of the

G.W.K. and L. & N.W.E.

Avon, The, or Afon, a river of Glamorgan. It rises

in the mountainous district inland, and runs about 15 miles

south-westward to Swansea Bay at Aberavon.

Avon, The, a river of Devon. It rises in Dai'tmoor Forest,

6 miles WSW of Ashburton, and runs, in a gi-eat easterly

curve, with prevailing direction to the S, about 20 miles,

past Diptford and Aveton-Gifford to the EngUsh Channel at

Bigbury B.ay.

Avon, The, or East Avon, a river of Wilts and Hants.

It rises 2f miles E of Devizes ; runs about 6J miles south-

eastward, to Upavon ; and goes thence about 41§ miles

southward, past Amesbury, Salisbury, and Fordingbridge, to

the English Channel at Christchurch. It is navigable to

Salisbury. Its chief affluent is the Stour.

Avon, The, or Lower Avon, a river of Gloucestershire,

Wilts, and Somerset. It rises near the som'ces of the Thames,
in the vicinity of Tetbm-y, on the SE border of Gloucester-

shire
;
goes southwai'd into Wilts, past Malmesbury, Chippen-

ham, and IMelksham, to within If mile of Trowbridge ; strikes

westward there 4 miles, past Bradford, to the boundary with

Somerset
;
goes northward 4J miles along or neai' that bound-

ary ; and proceeds then westward and west-north-westward,

past Bath to Keynsham, and along the boundai'y with Glou-

cestershire past Bristol, to the Bristol Channel at Avonmouth.
Its length of course is about 80 miles, and its bed is chiefly

a deep channel, in many places through very rich and pic-

turesque valleys. It is navigable to Bath, and is connected

thence eastward, past Bradford, Senington, Devizes, Totten-

ham Pai'k, Hungerford, and Newbury, to Midgham, by the

Kennet and Avon Canal, with the Thames. Large docks

h<ave been formed in Bristol at the junction of the Frome
with the Avon, and a new channel cut for the liitter river.

Avon, The, or Little Avon, a river of Gloucestershire.

It rises on the Cotswolds, SE of Alderley, .and runs about 15

miles north-westward, past Woottou-under-Edge, to the estu-

ary of the Severn in the vicinity of Berkeley.

Avon, The, or Upper Avon, a river of Northamptonshire,

Leicestershire, Warwickshire, Worcestershire, and Gloucester-

shire. It rises at Avon-Well, near Naseby in Northampton-
shire ; runs 8 miles west-south-westward, along the boundary

with Leicestershire
;
goes south-westward, nearly through the

centre of Warwickshire, past Rugby, Wai'wick, and Stratford-

on-Avon; and proceeds in the same direction, on the boundary

with Gloucestershire, across the S of Worcestershire, and into

theNW comer of Gloucestershire, past Evesham and Pershore,

to a confluence with the Severn at Tewkesbury. Its length

of course is about 100 miles, of which 67 ai-e in Warwickshire.

Its channel, in m.any parts, as at Warwick and Stratford, is

pictm-esque, and in other parts, through long reaches, lies

along rich low country. Its chief tributaries are the Aitow,

the Leame, the Stour, the Sow, and the Swift It is navi-

gable for barges to Stratford, and is connected thence, by a

branch canal, v?ith the Worcester and Birmingham Canal.

Avon, an extra-parochial tract in Wilts, on the river Avon,

adjacent to the G.W.R., Sj miles NE of Chippenham. Acre-

age, 166
;
population, 10.

Avon, a tithing in Sopley parish, Hants, on the river Avon,

4J miles N by W of Christchurch.

Avon, a hamlet in the parish of Stratford- under-the-Castle,

Wilts, 2 miles NW of Salisbury.

Avon, a tithing in Chi-istian-Malford parish, Wilts, 3J
miles NE of Chippenham.

Avon-Dassett nr Dassett Parva, a village and a parish

in Warwicksjiire, 2 miles SW of Feuny-Comptou station

on the G.W.Ii. and East and West .Junction railway,

and 6 E of Kineton. It has a post office under Leamington

;

telegi'aph office, Fenny-Compton. Acre.age, 1436; popula-

tion, 24l. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester;

net value, ^£410. The church was built in 1868, on the site

of the old church, which was pulled down. It contains a
curious altar-tomb, with the effigy of a former incumbent in

AXBBIDaE

deacon's vestments. There are Roman Catholic and Wesleyan
chapels. Bitham House is the chief residence.

Avonmouth, a seaport in the parish of Shirehampton,
Gloucestershire, at the mouth of the river Avon, 6J miles

NW by W of Bristol. There is an excellent dock, 1400 feet

long and 600 feet wide, and two stations, Avonmouth and
Avonmouth Dock, in connection with the G.W.R and the

M.R. There is a church, and a post office under Bristol.

Avonmouth, a hamlet in Thmiestone parish, Devon, on
the river Avon, 4| miles W of Kingsbridge.

Avon, Nether. See Nether-Avon.
Awbridge, a hamlet in Mitchelmersh parish, Hants, 2J

miles NW of Romsey.

Awkerington. See Alkerton.
Awliscombe, a village .and a parish in Devon. The village

stands near the river Otter, 2 miles WNW of Honiton
station on the L. & S.W.R. It has a post office under Honi-
ton, which is the money order and telegraph office, and an
annual fair was formerly held here. The pai'ish comprises

2626 acres; population of the civil parish, 497; of the

ecclesiastical, 498, The manor was given in 1491, by Thomas
Calwodeley, to the corponation of Exeter, but comprised then
only 203^ acreK. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Exeter; net value, £180. Patron, the Duke of Bedford.

The church, an interesting specimen of the Perpendicular

style, consists of nave, chancel, S transept, and N aisles,

has a beautiful carved stone screen, and a tower, and was
restored in 1887. Thomas Charde, the last abbot of Ford,
w.as a native.

Awnby. See Holywell-with-Aunby.
Awre, a tithing and a parish in Gloucestershire. The

tithing lies on the river Severn, 3J miles SE of Newnham, and
has a post office under Newnham, and a station on the G.W.R.

,

about a mile from the village. Blakeney, about 2 miles

SW, is the money order and telegraph office. There is a
branch line of the G.W.K. for goods and minerals from Awre
into the Forest of Dean. The tithings of Blakeney, Bledisloe,

Hagloe, and Etloe, which are included in this parish for

civil purposes, were formed into a separate ecclesiastical parish

in 1877. Ai-ea of Awre, 4313 acres of land and 1869 of

water; population of the civil parish, 1148; of the eccle-

siastical, 239. Part of the land has been washed away by the

Severn. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol; net value, £230. Patron, the Haberdashers'

Company. The church is ancient, in the Eariy English and
Decorated styles, and was restored in 1875. It has an em-
battled tower, and some stained ghiss windows. In the chmxh-
yard is a yew tree said to be over 1000 years old. Oaklands
Park is the chief residence. Sternhold, one of the authors

of the English metrical version of the Psalms, was a native.

SteiTihold and Hopkins both lived in this parish about 1660,
the former at the H.awfield, the latter at the Woodend, by
the river Severn, in a house which has now been washed
away by the encroachments of the river. The Psalms were
first sung in English in Awre church.

Awsworth, a chapelry and a hamlet in Nuttall parish,

Notts, 6 miles NW of Nottingham, with a station on the
G.N.R., and a post and money order office under Nottingham

;

telegraph office at railway station. Population, 1247. Most
of the inhabitants are employed in the colHeries, ironworks,

and brickyards. The living is a perpetu.al cm'acy in the dio-

cese of Southwell ; net value, £200. The chm'ch is modern
(1747), with sittings for 150, all free. There are Primitive

jlethodist and United Methodist Free Church chapels.

Axbridge, a small town and a parish in Somerset. The
town stands near the river Axe, on the G.W.R., 136 miles

from London, at the NW end of the Mendips, 10 miles NW
of Wells. It is an ancient place, and Roman roads went from

it to Portishead and Ilchester. It consists chiefly of a toler-

ably neat street, running in a winding manner from east to

west, and is practically no more than a village. The town-

hall and m.arket-honse stands at the east end, and is a modern

edifice, rebuilt at a cost of about £1800. The parish church

stands on an eminence near the market-house, is a lai'ge, cruci-

form, Perpendicular structm-e, with a handsome tower, and

contains old monuments to the family of Prowse. It was

greatly restored in 1879, and completed in 1887, costing

between £5000 and £6000. The town has two banking-

offices, and is a seat of petty sessions. A cattle mai'ket is
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held on the second Tuesday in every month, and fairs on
3 February, 25 March, and second Tuesday of October.

Axbiidge was formerly a borough by prescription, and sent

members to pailiament during the reigns of the first three

Edwards, but was afterwards excused on the gi'ound of

poverty; it was then governed, under charter from Queen
Elizabeth, by a mayor, a bailiff, and 10 aldermen; but the

corporation was abolished in 1886 by the Unreformed Cor-

porations Act. The late corporation property is now managed
by a town trust, in place of the former mayor and corpora-

tion. There is a sanatorium (called St Michael's Home),
close to the railway, which was built and endowed by the late

Mr. Gibb of TjTitesfield, at a cost of about £120,000. There

is also a workhouse and police station. A tract adjacent to tlie

town was so improved by drainage of the Axe, about the year

1800, at a cost of X70,000, that land which previously was
worth only about 2s. 6d. yearly per acre, is now rented at

£A and £5. The parish comprises 528 acres
;
population,

732. Tliere is a post, money order, and telegraph office.

It is noted for its early market-garden produce. The town

is sheltered from the north-east winds by the Mendip Hills,

the climate in winter is veiy mild, and the country round is

one of the finest gi-azing districts in the county. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells; net value,

£60. Patron, the Bishop of Bath and Wells. There is a

chapel for Wesleyans.

Axe, The, a river of Somerset. It rises on the Mendip
Hills, 2 miles NW of Wells, and runs about 20 north-west-

ward, past Axbridge, to the Bristol Channel at Uphill Bay.

It is a good fronting stream.

Axe, The, a river of Dorset and Devon. It rises near

Cheddington, in Dorset, runs south-westward to Ford, where

it enters Devon, and goes thence south-south-westwai'd, past

Asminster, to the English Channel at Axmouth. Its length

of course is about 21 miles. It is navigable for about 4

miles from its mouth.

Axe-Edge Hill, a hill on the meeting point of Derbyshire,

Stafifordshire, and Cheshire, at the sources of the rivers Dove,

Wye, Goyt, and Dane, about 3 miles SW of Buxton. It has

a savage outline, rises to the height of over 1800 feet, and
commands an extensive view.

Axford, a tithing in Ramsbury pai'ish, Wilts, on the river

Kennet, 3 miles ENE of Marlborough.

Axholme, Isle of, an insulated tract, between the rivers

Trent, Idle, and Don, in the extreme NW of Lincolnshire.

It comprises the parishes of Althorpe, Belton, Crowie, Ep-
worth, Haxey, Luddington, Owston, West Butterwick, and
Wrost. Its length, north-north-eastward, is 17 miles, and its

mean breadth is about 4J miles. The surface is low, flat,

and naturally marshy, but it produces large quantities of corn,

potatoes, rye-grass, and seeds. A forest seems anciently to

have covered it, and remains of trees are found a few feet

below the surface, A castle of the Mowbrays, razed in 1174,

stood at Haxey, then called Axel, and thence arose the name
Axelholm, now altered into Axholme.

Axminster, a town in Devon, and a parish partly also in

Dorset. The town stands on a rising gi'ound, adjacent to the

river Axe, above the influx of the Yarty, on the L. & S.W.R.,

145 miles from London, and 25 E by N of Exeter. It dates

from a period prior to the Roman invasion. It was called by

tiie Anglo-Saxons Brunenburgh, and gave that name to the

battlefield of Athelstan's famous victory, in 937, over the

Danes, the Scotch, and the Irish, and it took the name of

Axminster from a gi'eat chmch or minster for seven priests,

said to have been founded at it by Athelstan, in commemora-
tion of his victory. A pai-ty of the Royal troops were statiuned

in it in 1644, and fought an action in its neighbourhood with

tlie Parliamentarians. The Piince of Orange abode some days

in if, in 168'J, on his way to London. Its streets are irregu-

larly formed, but spacious. Trinity Square was planned and
laid out after a fire on Trinity Sunday, 1834, which destroyed

the entire range of about thirty houses then standing. The
sweeping away of the old street threw open the church and
chuicliyard. which may now be said to be included in the

square. The Jubilee Fountain also stands in the square.

There is also a market-house, erected in 1826 on the site of

an older building, in which a guild-hall formed the upper

storey. The parish church is a large edifice of nave, aisles,

and chancel, with massive central tower ; consists vaiiously of
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ancient parts and modern renovations, and perhaps includes

some portion of Athelstan's minster; possesses a tine Norman
doorway, and displays elsewhere the three styles of Pointed

architecture—Eai'ly English, Decorated, and Perpendicular,

and contains two monumental effigies, a number of armorial

shields, and a painting of the Twelve Apostles ; it was gi'eatly

repaired in 1871. The cemetery is about ^ mile distant, on
the Chard Road. There are chapels for Congregationalists,

Wesleyans, and Roman Catholics. The worldiouse was erected

in 1836, at a cost of £7000, and afterwai'ds enlai'ged at a

further cost of £2500. A cottage hospital was established

in 1887. The town has two banking offices, and three chief

inns, ConseiTative and Liberal Clubs, and is a seat of petty

sessions and of county courts. Markets are held on Satur-

days, and a gi'eat market for the disposal of stock, &c., on

every alternate Thursday. Fairs are held on the Tuesday
after 25 April, the Tuesday after 24 June, and the Wednes-
day after 10 October. A manufacture of famous carpets",

rivalling those from Tm'key, was begun in 1755, but came to

an end in 1835. A new trade has sprung up in the manu-
facture of tooth, nail, and toilet brushes. The environs of

the town ai'e pleasant, the views in the vicinity extensive and
beautiful, and all the approaches good and wide. A tumiel

on the road from Charmouth, opened in 1832, pierces one of

the steepest hills between London and Exeter, and is about 70

yards long, and of sufficient capacity to permit two large

waggons to pass each other.

The p:uish includes the tithings of Abbey, Shapwick, Small-

ridge, Trill, Uphay, West Water, Weycroft, and Wyke or Week,
in Devon, and the tithing of Beerhall in Dorset. Acreage,

6867
;
population of the civil parish, 2809 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 3750. There is a post, money order, and telegi'aph office.

The manor belonged to the Crown till after the Norman con-

quest; was given by King John to Lord Brewer; passed to

Lord Reginald de Mohun, who gave it to the Abbey of Newen-
ham ; went, at the dissolution, to the Duke of Norfolk; and

was sold, in the time of James I., to Lord Petre. The Hving

is a vicaiage, united with the curacies of Kilmington and
Membm-y, in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £608. Dr.

Buckland, the famous geologist, was a native.

Axmouth, a village and a parish in Devon. The village

stands at the mouth of the river Axe, under Hawksdown Hill,

6 miles SSW of Axminster, and 1 mile from Seaton station

on the L. & S.W.R. It has a post office under Axminster;

money order and telegraph office, Seaton. Acreage, 4244
;

population, 615. A coastguard station, with houses for the

chief officer and the men and their families, was erected in

1883. A harbour here gave refuge, in ancient times, to vessels

under stress of weather ; was much improved in the early part

of the 17th century, but is now disused. A range of cHffs

extending hence east-north-eastward to Lyme-Regis has been

remarkably subject to landslips. A great landslip occurred on

the 25th December, 1839, destroying two cottages and 45

acres of fine arable land, and forming a chasm 300 feet or

more broad, 150 feet deep, and ^ of a mile long ; and another,

of much smaller extent, occmTed on the 3rd February, 1840.

The parish comprises 4533 acres of land, and 190 of water.

The manor was given by Rivers, Earl of Devon, to the Abbey
of St. Mary, MountbaiTow, in Normandy

;
passed, at the sup-

pression of alien monasteries, to the Abbey of Sion ; went, at

the final dissolution of monasteries, to Catherine, queen of

Henry VIII. ; was granted, iu 1552, to Walter Erie, Esq.

;

passed from him to Sir W. Yonge; was purchased, m 1691,

by R. Ballet, Esq., and in 1890 by S. Sanders Stephens,

Esq., who now resides at Stedcombe Manor. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £180. Tlie

church consists of nave, chancel, and south aisle, which is

Norman; is Early English and Perpendicular, but has an

Anglo-Norman doorway and some wildly grotesque gai'goyles,

and contains monuments of the Erles and the Halletts.

Axton, a township in Llanasa parish, Flintshire, 6i miles

ENE of Rhuddlan.

Axwell Park, the seat of Sir H. A. Clavering, Bart., on

the north border of Durham, on the rivulet Derwent, a little

above its influx to the Tyne, 2 miles S of Blaydon.

Aycliffe, a village, a township, and a parish in Durham.
The village stands adjacent to the river Skerne, 5 of a mile

W of the York and Berwick railway, 5^ miles N of Darlington.

It has a station on the railway, and a post, money order,
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and telop'aph office under Darlington. It is an ancient place,

which belonged to the see of Lindisfarne, and was the meeting-

place of synods in 782 and 789. The township bears the

name of Great Aycliffe, and comprises 2078 acres; popula-

tion, 697. The ecclesiastical parish includes the townships

of Great Aycliffe, Brafferton, Woodham, and Preston-le-Skeme;

population, 1079. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Durham ; net value, £289 with residence. Patrons, the Dean
and Chapter of Dm'ham. The church is most interesting, and

was restored at a cost of over £3000 in 1882. It is in the

Norman and Early English styles, and consists of nave,

chancel, aisles, and porch, with a western tower 85 feet high.

There are remains of two Saxon crosses in the churehy.ard.

There are chapels for Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists.

Aycliffe (School), a township in Heighington parish, Dur-

liam, 2 miles WNW of AyclifFe. Acreage, 640; popula-

tion, 20.

Aydon, a township in Corbridge parish, Northumberland,

2 miles NE of Corbridge, midway thence to the Roman wall.

Acreage, 1227
;

population, 117. The post town is Cor-

bridge, which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

Aydon-Castle, a township in Corbridge parish, North-

umberland, IJ mile N of Corbridge. Acreage, 415; popu-

lation, 18. A fortified bouse of the Aydon f.amily was built

here, in the time of Edward I., on the side of a ravine, and
is now occupied as a farmhouse. It has the form of the letter

H, with a tower at the end of each of the four wings. The
walls are very thick, and one of the towers is upwards of GO

feet high. It was part of the ancient barony of the Baliols,

from whom it passed to the Aydons. It is now the property

of the Blackett family. Corbridge is the post town.

Ayford, a hamlet in Marshfield pai'ish, Gloucestershire, 2J
miles S of Marshfield.

Aylburton, a tithing in Lydney parish, Gloucestershire,

2 miles S by W of Lydney. It has a post office under Lydney.

.Acreage, 1890
;
population, CS8. It forms a curacy, annexed

to the vicarage of Lydney, and its church was rebuilt in 1857.

Aylesbeare, a village and a parish in Devon. The village

stands on the eastern declivity of the bold range of hills, be-

tween the basins of the Otter and the Exe, 3^ miles S by W
of Wbimple station on the L. & S.W.R,, and 8 E of Exeter,

under which it has a post office ; money order and telegi'aph

office, Woodbury. It is a very sti'aggling place, and was

anciently the inheritance of the Eai-ls of Devon, and then

bore the name of Earlesbear. Acreage, 3423
;
population,

78G. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net

value, £220. The church is an ancient edifice of nave,

chancel, north aisle, and western tower, and contains a memorial

window to Cecilia Yates, and mural tablets to the Markers,

tlie Stokes, and others. A lych-gate was erected in 1872.

There is a Congi'egational chapel.

Aylesbury or Ailesbury, a market and union town and

a parish in Bucks. It is also the county town of Bucks.

The town stands on a rising-ground, and on a small affluent

of the river Tame, in the rich Vale of Aylesbury, at railway

termini, 17 miles SSE of Buckingham, and 38 by road, or

43J by r.ailway, NW of London. One railway goes from it

into junction with the L. & N.W., another with the G.W.,

and another, the Aylesbury and Buckingham, goes north-

north-westward. Tlie Aylesbm'y and Buckingham line has

been taken over by the Jletropolitan, by which line the town

has also direct communication with London to Baker Street.

A canal also, 6 miles long, rising 95 feet, with IG locks,

goes eastward to the Grand Junction Canal at Marsworth.

Aylesbury was a strongly-fortified seat of the ancient Britons,

and was maintained by them in independence till captured,

in 572, by Cuthwolf, brother of Ceadwin, king of the West
Saxons, and it was then called jEglesberg or Elisberie. It

became a royal manor at the Conquest ; was subsequently

given to one of the followers of King John's court ; be-

longed for ages to the Packingtons ;
passed, in the time of

Heniy VIII., to Sir John Baldwin, chief-justice of the

Common Pleas, and w.as an important post of the Parlia-

mentarian forces in 1G44 and 1G45.

The town is iiTegularly built, and consists of a spacious

central, rectangidar market-place, and diverging streets and
thoroughfares. The corn-exchange and m.arket-house were
built in 1865, at a cost of £10,000, and are in the Tudor
style. The county-hall is a large, handsome edifice of red
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brick. The workhouse was built in 1811, and is an edifice

of red brick, in Tudor architecture. The parish church is

a cruciform structure, of successive ages, from Early English

to the latest Perpendiculai* ; is surmounted at the centre by

successively a low embattled tower, a squ.are turret, a short

spire, and a cross 9 feet high ; was restored under the direc-

tion of Sii' G. Gilbert Scott, R.A., the work being completed

in 1869 ; contains beautifully stained windows, and two

canopied decorated tombs ; and is so situ.ated as to command
a fine view, and be seen for many miles round. The church-

yard is extensive, and planted with trees. The prebendal

house, adjoining the churchyard, occupies the site of an

ancient monastei-y, was formerly the residence of the pre-

bendaries of Aylesbury, and became the private property of

Archdeacon Bickersteth when vicar of the parish. The
Church of St John is a chapel of ease to the parish church.

Walton, formerly a hamlet in the parish, now forms part of

the town. It was made an ecclesiastical parish in 184G,

and has a church erected about 1845. There are also Baptist,

Cougi-egational, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

The Roman Catholic church and presbytery of St .Joseph

were erected in 1893. There are also places of meeting for

Christadelphians and " Christians."

The town has a head post and telegi-aph office, three

h.anks, an endowed gi-ammar school, a Literary Institute,

with a reading room and librai"y, a Working Men's Club,

and a Masonic Hall. There is also a county infirmary, erected

at a cost of upwards of £11,000 in 18G2, and which has

since been enlarged. The town publishes three weekly news-

papers, and has a well-attended market every Saturday. Sales

of fat stock ax'e also held on Wednesdays, and fairs on the

third Saturday in Jan., Saturday next before P.alm Sunday,

second Saturday in May, third Saturday in June, fourth

Saturday in Sept., and second Saturday in Oct. There is a

wool fau- on tlie second Wednesday in July, a fair for the

siile of rams on the first Saturday in August, and a fair

for fat cattle on the second Wednesday in December. Lace-

making once flourished, but has gi'eatly declined ; straw-

plait making is still earned on in the neighbourhood, but is

practically a decayed industry. There ai-e large printing

works, a condensed milk factory, and immense numbers of

ducks are reared and fattened for the London market.

Aylesbury is the seat of the assizes for the county, and the

seat of the county quai'ter sessions and county council. It was

a borough, governed by a corporation, under a chai'ter of

Maiy, dated 1554; but, from neglect and disuse of its privi-

leges, it forfeited the charter in the time of Elizabeth. It

is now governed by a Local Board of Health of nine members.

It has a good water supply, is well drained, paved, and

lighted, and possessing, as it now does, exceptional railway

facilities, its rapid development is anticipated. It formerly

sent two members to Parliament, but was disfranchised

in 1885 under the provisions of the Redistribution of Seats

Act. The town gives the titles of Eail and Marquis to the

family of Bruce. The Vale of Aylesbury is a fertile tract,

described by Drayton as " lusty, firm, and fat," affording

pasturage to an extraordinary number of sheep, interest-

ing to geologists for abundance of ammonites and other fossils,

and bounded along the S and the N by chalk hills. Popu-

lation of the town, 8680. The area of the parish is 3288

acres; population of the civil parish, 8922; of the ecclesi-

astical, 6642. The living is a vicai-age
;

gi-oss yearly value,

£300, including 85 acres of glebe, in the gift of the Bishop

of Oxford. The living of Walton is a vicarage
;
gi-oss yearly

value, £290 with residence, in the gift of trustees.

Aylesbury Parliamentary Uliisinn, or Mid Bucks, was
formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and

returns one member to the House of Commons. Popula-

tion, 55,826. The division includes the following :—Wins-

low (part of)— Creslow, Oving, Pitchcott, Quainton, Sliipton

Lee, Whitchurch ; Aylesbury (Three Hundreds of)—Aston

Clinton -with -St Leonards, Aston Sandford, Aylesbury-

with-Walton, Bierton-with-Broughton, Buckland, Cudding-

ton, Dinton, Drayton Beauchamp,Ellesborough, h'leet Marston,

Haddenham, Ilalton, Hampden (Great), Hampden (Little),

Hardwiek, Hartwell, Horsendon, Hulcotl, Illmire, Kimble

(Great), Kimble (Little), Kingsey, Lee, Missende (Great),

Missenden (Little), Monks Risborough, Princes Risborougii,

Quarrendon, Stoke MandeviUe, Stone- with -Bishopstone,
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Towersey, Waddesden, Weedon, Wendover, Westcott, Weston

Turville, Winchendon (Lower), Winehendon (Upper) ; Cbes-

liam—Chenies, Chesham, Chesbam Bois, Cholesbury, Haw-
ridge ; Linslade—Aston Abbotts, Cheddington, Cublington,

Edlesborougb, Grove, Ivingboe, Linslade, Marsworth, Ment-

more, Nettleden, Pitstone, Slapton, Soulbnry, Stewkley, Wing,

Wingrave ; Desborough (Second Division, part of)—Bledlow

witb Bledlow Ridge, Bradenham, Hugbenden, Kadnage,

Saunderton.

Aylesby, a parish in Lincolnsbire, on tbe Wolds, 4 miles

WSW of Great Coates station on tbe M.S. & L.R., and 5 W
of Great Grimsby, wbich is the post town ; money order and

telegraph office, Laceby. Acreage, 2134 ;
population, 120.

Tlie living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln ;
gross value,

£100. Tbe cbm-ch is an edifice of stone in tbe Early English,

Late Decorated, and Perpendicular styles.

Aylesford, a small town, a parish, and a latbe in Kent.

Tbe town stands at the foot of a hUl, on tbe right bank of

tbe Medway, on the S.E.R., 38 miles from London, and 3

NNW of Maidstone. It dates from the times of the Saxons,

and was then called Eglesford. A battle was foogbt at it,

in 45.5, between tbe British king Vortimer and the Saxon

chiefs Hengist and Horsa, and terminated in favour of the

Britons. The alleged grave of Horsa is shown, in a heap of

fiint stones, at Horsted, 2 miles to tbe N, but is claimed also

at Horsham and Horsted in Sussex. Victorious battles

against the Danes also were fought in the vicinity, in 893
by Alfred, and in 1016 by Edmund Ironside. The town

consists of one long street. A six-arched bridge, of con-

siderable antiquity, is adjacent on tbe river. A Carmehte

priory was founded .at it, in 1240, by Richard Lord Grey of

Codnor
;
passed, at tbe dissolution, to Sir Thomas Wyatt of

Allington ; went, in tbe time of Elizabeth, to John Sedley

of Soutbfleet ; was sold, in the time of Charles I., to Sir

Peter Rycaut ; and came eventually to Heneage Finch, who
was created Earl of Aylesford in 1714, and whose representa-

tives still possess it. The existing edifice retains much of

tbe ancient buildings, but includes additions and alterations,

from the 17th century downward, by its successive occupants.

Tbe parish church crowns an abrupt rising-gi'ound at the end

of tbe town ; is principally Norman, 14th centm'y, except

west tower, which is Early Norman up to tbe string course,

and largely increased in 1892 in memory of H. A. Brassey
;

and contains a brass of 142G, monuments of tbe Colepeppers,

the Sedleys, and the Rycauts, and a costly one to Sir John
Banks, who died in 1699. The church was restored in 1878,

and the tower in 1885. There are a neat Wesleyan chapel, a

liter.ary institntion, an almsbouse-hospital, restored in 1841.

An extensive stoneware pottery and a large paper-mill are on

the river a short way to the E. A remai-kable Druidical

monument, called Kit's-Cotty-House, is on tbe hill-side,

above the town, Cosenton, tbe seat of a family of its own
name, from tbe time of King John till that of Henry VIII.,

but now a farmhouse, is on the same hill-side. Sir Charles

Sedley, tbe poet, and Sir Paul Rycaut, the oriental traveller,

were natives of Aylesford.

The parish comprises 4057 acres
;
population of tbe civil

parish, 2947 ; of tbe ecclesiastical, 2979. It has a post,

money order, .and telegraph office. Tbe living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Rochester ; net value, £425 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Rochester.

Aylesham. See Hailsham.
Aylestone, a village included in the enl.arged borough of

Leicester, of which it is one of the wards. The village stands

at tbe junction of the Union Canal witb tlie river Soar,

near the Fosse Way, IJ mile WNW of Wigston station on

tbe L. & N.W.R. and M.R., and 2| miles S by W of Leicester.

Acreage, 901
;
population, 5381. Ecclesiastically it is divided

into tbe old parish of St Andrew, and the new district

of St James, Aylestone Park, both of wbich are in the gift of

the Bishop of Peterborough. The former includes the town-

ship .and cb.apelry of Lubbesthorpe. Tliere are post offices

at Aylestone .and Aylestone Park, and a telegr-aph office at

tbe latter. Aylestone Hall was formerly the seat of the

Manners family, and is an .ancient mansion restored in 1850.

Tbe old church of St Andrew is a substantial sh-ncture of

nibble and granite in the Early English style, with tower

and lofty spire.

Aylmerton, a parish in Norfolk, near tbe coast, 3 miles

A7NH0

WSW of Cromer, wbich is tbe nearest railway station. Post

town, Norwich via Rougbton ; money order office, Gresbam
;

telegraph office, Cromer. Acreage, 1697
;
population of the

civil parish, 298 ; of the ecclesiastical, 899. Beacon Hill com-

mands a fine prospect. Tlie living is a rectory, united witb

that of Runton, in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross value, £382

witb residence. Tbe church is Later English, and was restored

in 1865 and 1876.

Aylsham, a market and union town and a parish in Nor-

folk. The town stands on the river Bure, amid one of tbe

most pleasant tracts in the county, 12 miles N by W of

Norwich. It has a station on the G.E.R., .and another on

tbe E. & M.R., a post and telegi-apb office under Norwich, a

banking office, a police station, and a town ball ; is a seat of

petty sessions and county courts ; and conducts some com-
merce by barges on the Bure. A manufacture of linen, known
as Aylsham web, was caiTied on in the times of Edward II.

and Edward III., and a manufacture of woollen fabrics sprang

up at a later period, but both have disappeared. Tbe chief

employments now ai'e in the corn-trade, the timber-trade,

and country business. Fairs ai'e held yearly on 23 March
and the last Tuesday of Sept. The parish church is Decor-

ated English, said to have been built by John of Gaunt

;

consists of n.ave, chancel, and transept, with a square tower and

spire ; and contains tbe remains of an ancient rood-screen, a

carved font, and numerous brasses. The churchyard contains

tbe gi'ave of Humphrey Repton. the landscape gardener,wbo died

in 1818. There are also Baptist, Primitive Methodist, Re-

formed Wesleyan, and Wesleyan chapels. Tbe interesting

seat of Blickling Hall is in the vicinity, within the contiguous

parish of Blickling.

The parish comprises 4330 acres
;
population, 2533. Tbe

living is a vicar\age in tbe diocese of Norwich ; net value,

£218 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Canterbury.

Aylton, or Aylton Chapel, a parish in Herefordshire, 2

miles SE of Ashperton station on the G.W.R. (which is the

telegi-aph office), and 4 W of Ledbury, tbe post town.

Acreage, 839
;
population, 92. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Hereford ; net value, £244. The church is small

and plain.

Aymestrey, a township and a parish in Herefordshire.

The township lies on Watling Street and the river Lugg, 3

miles NNW of Kingsland station, on the G.W.R., and 7 NW
of Leominster. Tbe village in it is pleas.ant ; the neighbour-

ing banks of tbe Lugg are singularly rich and beautiful, and a

favourite resort of anglers, and tbe adjacent limestone quarries

are famous for tbe Silurian fossils that have been found

therein. There is a post office under Kingsland (R.S.O.),

which is the money order and telegraph office. The parish

includes also the townships of Leinthall-Earles, Upper-Lye,

Lower- Lye, Yatlon, and Covenbope. Acreage, 6441 ;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 623 ; of the ecclesiastical, 485.

Traces of ancient camps are near tbe village. Mortimer's

Cross, in this parish, w.as tbe scene of a s.anguinai*y battle,

the first of tbe Wars of the Roses, and which resulted in

placing Edward IV. on the throne. Yatton Court is the

chief residence. The living is a vicar.age in the diocese of

Hereford ; net value, £244. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

Tbe church is mostly Norm.™, with arches of more modern

date on Norman columns of an exceptional form, each form

consisting of a fl.at between four circular- shafts. There is

also some beiTing-bone masonry in the north wall of the

church. The perpetual curacy of Leintball Earles is a sepa-

rate charge.

Aynho, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire. The
village stands on the Roman Portway, with a station on the

G.W.R., on the Oxford Canal, and the river Cberwell, 6 miles

SE by S of Banbury. It has a post office under Banbury,

witb a telegraph office at the railway station ; money order

office, Souldem. It was once a m.arket-town, and it bad

.anciently an hospital, for tbe accommodation of travellers,

founded by tbe Fitz-Ricbards in tbe time of Henry II., and

eventually given to Magdalen College, Oxford. A spring,

called tbe Town Well, runs from it to the Cberwell, and

traces exist at its E end of the Roman Portway. Tbe parish

comprises 2542 acres
;
popul.ation, 508. Aynbo Park, adjacent

to tbe village, tbe seat of the Cartwright family, is a prominent

feature. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peter-
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borough
;

gi-oss value, £450 with resiJence. The church is

a building of stone in tlie Decorated and Classic styles.

Robert Wild, a poet and satirist, was rector in the time of the

Commonwealth, and ejected from it in 1662. Shakerlcy

Marmion the dramatist, and Sir Ralph Winwood the states-

man, were natives.

Ayott-St Lawrence or Ayott-Magna, a parish in Herts,

near the river JIaran, 2J miles NE from Wheathamstead

station on the G.N.R. Post town, Welwyn; money order

and telegraph office, Codicote. Acreage, 751
;

population,

137. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans

;

gross value, £137 with residence. The church was rebuilt,

in 1778, at the expense of Sir Lionel Lyde, in the Greci.an

style, after a design by Revett. The previous church still

stands as a ruin, and contains some curious monuments.

Ayot House is a fine old country seat, standing in a park of

200 acres.

Ayott-St Peter, or Ayott-Paiva, a parish in Herts,

about IJ mile W from Wehvyn, and with a station on the

G.N.R. It has a post office under Welwyn, which is the

money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1093
;
population,

215. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Alb.ans;

gross value, £207 with residence. The cbmxh, erected in

1875, is in the E.arly Decorated style.

Ayre, Point of, the northern extremity of the Isle of Man.
A lighthouse stands on it, erected in 1818, with lantern

106 feet above high water, visible at the distance of 15 miles.

The Whitestone and Stranakiley sands are adjacent.

Ayron, or Aeron, The, a river of Cardiganshire. It rises

on Mynydd Bach, a range of hills between the river Teifi and
the sea, G miles NW of Tregaron, and m.akes a circuitous

course, of about 17 miles southward, sonth-westward, and
north-westward to Cardig.an Bay at Aberayron.

Aysgarth, a township, a p.ai'ish, .and a village in the N. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the river Yore, at the junc-

tion of Wensleydale and BIshopdale, 7^ miles WSW of Ley-

burn, and has a st.ation on the N.E.R. It has a post and

money order office under Bedale ; telegi'aph office at station.

Acreage, 1214
;
population, 235. At the village of Aysg.irth

a fair is held on 30 October. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

The falls of the Yore, called Aysgai-th Force, are remarkably fine.

The river flows in a narrow ch.annel over a rugged bed of lime-

stone, between picturesquely wooded banks, and makes a series

of cascades which are vai'iously grand or beautiful according to

the fluctuations of its volume. " In floods it is a gi'eat, a

mighty river, bursting with a prodigious effect through mag-
niticent rocks ; but in droughts, only a few gentle rills, the

teai'S of the Niiiads, run over the ledges of limestone." The
parish church, an ancient stnictm'e, restored in 1636 by the

last Abbot of Jervaulx, and again ill 1866, and cont.aining

a splendid carved wooden screen which belonged to Jervaulx

Abbey, occupies a noble and picturesque site above the rapids.

A bridge of a single arch, 71 feet in span, stands immediately

above the falls, and commands a fine view of the church .and

the river. Other beautiful waterfalls are found at West
Burton and in Bishopdale. The living is a discharged vic.ai'.age

in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £176 with (residence.

Patron, Trinity College, Cambridge. The ancient parish is very

extensive, covering an area of 81,012 acres, and contains the

townships of Aysgarth, High and Low Abbotside, Askrigg,

Bainbridge, Bishopdale, Burton-cum-Walden, Newbiggin, Car-

perby-cnm-Thoresby, Thoralby, Thornton, Rust, and Hawes.
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Seven of these townships, with an area of 40 square miles,

are still under the supervision of the vicar of Aysgarth.

The population of these is 1419.

Ayston, a parish in Rutland, 1 mile NNW of Uppingham,

and 2J miles SSW of Manton st.ation on the M.R. Post

town, Uppingham, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 904 ;
population, 94. Ayston Hall is a

chief residence, and the seat of the Fludyer family. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ;
gross

value, £216. The church is an edifice of stone in the Per-

pendicular style.

Aythorpe Eoding, or Aythrope Roding or Roothing,
an ancient parish and village in Essex, situated on the river

Roding, 5| miles W from Dunmow station on the G.E.R. Its

name signifies the " high village upon the Roding. " It has

a post office of the name of Aythrope Roding under Dunmow ;

money order office. White Roding ; telegraph office, Ayton.

Acreage, 1394
;
population, 193. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of St Albans ; gross yearly value, £299. The

church is a small but ancient building of flint in the Early

English style.

Ayton, two townships and a pai'ish in the N. R. Yorkshire.

The townships are distinguished from each other as Great and

Little. Great Ayton lies on the river Leveu, G miles from

Guisbrough, .and has a station on the N.E.R. It includes the

hamlet of L.angbaurgh, and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (R.S.O.) Acreage, 3589 ;
population, 1727.

Little Ayton lies contiguous on the E, also on the river

Leven. Acreage, 1378
;
population, 99. The parish con-

tains likewise the township of Nunthorpe
;
population, 1961,

Freestone is qu.an'ied. The living is a vicariige in the dio-

cese of York ; net value, £156 with residence. The per-

petual curacy of Nunthorpe is a separate charge. There

are chapels for Congregationalists, Wesleyans, Primitive

Methodists, and Quakers. A charity school, with £10 a

year, was founded, under Rose-Topping Hill, in 1704, by

Michael Postgate, and here the celebrated n.avigator, Captain

Cook, received part of his education.

Ajrton, East, a township and chapehy in Seamer parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, near the river Derwent, J mile from Forge

V.alley station on the N.E.R., and 4 SW of Scarborough.

Post town, York ; money order office, Brompton ; telegraph

office, Scarborough. Acreage, 2492 ;
population, 353. Iron-

stone occurs. There are a chapel of ease and a Primitive

Methodist chapel. The Earl of Londesborough is lord of the

manor and principal landowner. The insun'ection of 1548

began here.

Ayton, West, a village and a township in Hutton-Bushell

parish, N. R. Yorkshire, on the Derwent river, 5 miles WSW
of Scai'borough. It has a station called Forge Valley, on a

branch of the N.E.R. Acreage, 2335
;

population, 391.

York is the post town. Remains exist of an ancient castle

which belonged to the Evers or Eures and the CliffiDrds.

There is a Wesleyan ch.apel.

Azerley,or CozenIey,a township in the p.arighes of Kirkby-

Malzeard and Ripon, W. R. Yorkshire, on a head-stre.am of

the river Ure, 4J miles NW of Ripon. It includes the villages

of Galph.ay and Mickley. Acreage, 3994
;
population, 497.

Kirkby-Malzeard is the post, money order, and telegraph

office. The Marquis of Ripon is lord of the manor. Azerley

Chase, the seat of the Cromptons, commands extensive

views. There is a parish council of five members.
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Babbacombe. n parish in Devon, 2 miles from Torquay
station on the G.W.R. The scenery liere is very fine, and
the place has grown from a sequestered little spot into a well-

built and rapidly increasing village. The church is a splendid

edifice, built in 1873. The living is a vicarage
;
gross value,

.£395, in the gift of the vicar of St Mary Church. It has a

post, money order, and telegi'aph office. Population, 1645.

Babcary, a parish in Somerset, near the river Pan-et, 3

miles from Sparkford station on the G.W.R. It includes the

hamlets of Foddington and Stert, and its post town is Somer-
ton, which is tlie money order and telegraph office. Acreage,

2412; population, 33G. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Batli and Wells; net value, £324 -with residence.

'The church is good, and was restored in 1876. There is

a Wt'sleyan chapel.

Babingley, or Baburghley, a parish in Norfolk, on a

rivulet of its own name, near Lynn-Deeps, 1^ mile S of

Wolferton station on the Lynn and Hunstanton branch of

the G.E.R. Its post town is Castle-Rising, under Lynn;
money order and telegraph office, Dersingham. Acreage,

84!); population, 8!'. The first Christian church in East
Anglia was erected here, and several hills in the neighbour-

hood are called Christian Hills. Tiie living is a rectory,

annexed to that of Sandringham, in the diocese of Norwich.

The church has a nave and tower, and a very interesting

ruined chancel.

Babington, a parish in Somerset, 1 mile from Mells station

on the G.W.R., and 5 miles WNW of Frome. Post town,

Bath. Acreage, GOG
;

population, 199. Babington House
is the seat of the Knatchhull family. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £156. Patron.

Lord Hylton. The church is good, and there are three alms-

houses for women.

Bablock-Hjrthe, a fen-y on the river Isis, 4 miles by road,

and 7h by river, WSW of Oxford. Arnold sings it as " cross-

ing the stripling Thames at Bablock-Hythe."

Babraham, anciently Badbnrham, or Bradburnham, a vil-

lage and a pai'ish in Cambridgeshire. The village stands on an

affluent of the river Cam, near the Gogmagog Hills, 2^ miles

ENE of Whittlcsford station on the G.E.R., and G^ SE of

Cambridge. It has a post office under Cambridge ; money
order and telegraph office, Sawston. It was formerly a
market- town. The parish comprises 2387 acres; popula-

tion, 280. The manor belonged to Algar, Earl of Mercia;

passed, about the year 1576, into the possession of Sir

Horatio Palavicini, a Genoese ; and now belongs to the

Adeane fani ily. Sir H. Palavicini collected the Pope's taxes

in England during the reign of Mary ; converted them to

his own use, and became Protestant, on the accession of

Elizabeth ; became a favourite of that queen, one of her

negotiators in Germany, and a commander of one of her

ships against the Spanish Armada ; and died at his seat in

Babraham ; and his widow was maiTied to Sir Oliver Crom-
well, the uncle of the Protector. A curious epitaph on him

is given in " Lord Orford's Anecdotes of Painting." The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely; net value, £126 with

residence. An almshouse and a free school, with income

of £134, were founded in 1723 by Lebinus Bush and Judith

Bennet, and a monument to the latter is in the church.

Babraham Hall is a fine red brick mansion, standing in a

park of about 200 acres.

Babworth, a township and a parish in Notts. The
Chesterfield Canal and the G.N. and M.S. & L. railways

pass through the township, which is about 1 mile from East

Retford. It has a post office under Retford, which is the

nearest railway station. The parish includes also the hamlets

of Great and Little Morton and Morton-Grange, and pait of

the hamlet of Ranby. Acreage, 6344
;
population of the civil

parish, 753 ; of the ecclesiastical, 736. Babworth Hall is

the seat of the Denison family, and stands in very fine grounds,

which were laid out by Repton. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Southwell; gross value, £725 with residence.

The church is a ne.at Gothic structure, with a small steeple,

and was thoroughly restored in 1877. There Is a school,

with an endowment of £9 per annum.

SO

Babylon HilL an eminence on the mutual border of Dorset

and Somerset, about a mile E of Yeovil. It commands a fine

view.

Bache, a township in St Oswald parish, Cheshire, 1^ mile

N of Chester. Acreage, 96 ;
population, 23, Bache Hall

is the chief residence,

Bache, a township in Llangollen parish, Denbighshire, 1

mile from Llangollen.

Bache, a township in Culmington parish, Salop, 1^ mile

W of Culmington.

Bacheldre, a township in Church-Stoke parish, Mont-
gomeryshire, 1^ mile SE of Montgomery.

Bachmill, a hamlet partly in Rlunslow parish and partly

in Diddlesbury parish, Salop, 2 miles S of Munston. There

is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bachwy, or Machwy, The, a stream of Radnorshire. It

rises a little north of Llanbcdr ; fetches a compass round by
the east ; and goes west-south-westward, past Painscastle

and Llanbedr, through some fine scenery, to tlie Wye, near

Erward, 7 miles below Builth. Its length of course is about

10 miles,

BjLckbarrow. a small village in the parishes of Colton and
Car:mel, on the SW border of Westmoreland, on the banks of

the river Leven, adjacent to the Lancaster and Carlisle rail-

way, 8| miles SSW of Kendal. It has a post and money
order office under Ulverston ; Haverthwaite is the telegi'aph

office and railway station. There are extensive iron works,

and two large gunpowder mills.

Backford, a township and a parish in Cheshire. The
township lies on the Dee and Mersey Canal, 1 mile NE of

Moliington station on the Birkenhead railway, and 3^ N of

Chester. It has a post office under Chester ; Great Saughall

is the money order office, and Upton Park (3 miles distant) the

telegraph office. The parish includes also the townships of

Lea, Caughall, Chorlton-by-Backford, and Moliington -Tarrant

or Great Moliington, Acreage, 764; population of the

civil parish, 137; of the ecclesiastical, 523. Backford Hall,

the seat of the Gleggs, is the chief residence. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Chester ; net value, £240. Patron,

the Bishop of Chester. The chm'ch is ancient (the chancel is

of the 14th century, the tower of the 15th), and was restored

in 1879 and 18'JO; it contains some monuments, and a

black letter Bible of 1G17,

Backwell, a parish in Somerset, 1 mile SE of Nailsea

station on the G.W.R., and 7 WSW of Bristol. It in-

cludes the hamlets of Church -Town, Downside, Farley,

Mooreside, and West-Town. It has a post and money order

office at West-Town; telegraph office, Flax Bourton ; railway

station, Nailsea. Acreage, 21)29
;

population of the ciWl

parish, 95G ; of the ecclesiastical, 833. The living is a

rectory and vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net

value, £298 with residence. Patron, the Marquis of Bath.

The church is good, and has a very fine tower. There is a

Wesleyan chapel. A fair is held on 21st September.

Backworth, or Blackworth, a township and colliery vil-

lage in Earsddu parish, Northumberland, on the Morpeth and

Tynemoutii railway, 4^ miles NW of North Shields. It has

a station on the railway, and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Newcastle-on-Tyne. Acreage, 1588

;

population, 2240. The manor belonged anciently to the

priory of Tynemouth, and belongs now to the Duke of

Northumberland. A coal mine here produces the Northum-
berland W^i.]lsend or Earsdon Main coal.

Bacon-Hole, a cave on the coast of Glamorgan, at the E
side of the mouth of Oxwich Bay, 8 miles SW by W of Swan-
sea. Its floor is about 20 feet above the level of the sea, and

its interior has been much altered by blasting. Fossil re-

mains of great interest, and in successive layers, have been

found in it—first, bones of the ox, the red deer, the roebuck,

and the fox, in alluvial earth ; next, bones of the ox, the deer,

and the bear; next, bones of the ox, tlie deer, the bear, the

wolf, the hyena, the rhinoceros, and the mammoth ; next,

bones of the polecat, the badger, and the mammoth—all the

successive layers separated from one another by deposits of

stalagmite.
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Baconsthorpe, a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles ESE of

Holt station on the Eastern and Midland Railway, and 7 SW
from Cromer. It has a post and money order office under

Holt, which is the telegraph office. Acreage, 13(J5; popu-

lation, 295. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich

;

net value, £266 with residence. The church is Later English.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bacton, a village and a parish in Herefordshire, in the

Golden Valley, near the Dore river, 1J mile N\V of Abbeydore,

4 miles NW of Ponti'ilas station on the G.W.R., and 11

SW of Hereford, the post town ; the money order office is at

Ewyas-Harold, and telegi'aph office at Pontrilas. Acreage,

1178; population, 117. The Grange and the Manor House

are the principal residences. Morehampton Park, now a farm,

was formerly a seat of the Hoskyns family, and here Sergeant

Hoskyns is said to have entertained James I. with a morris

dance of twelve centenarians. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Hereford ; net value, £92 with residence. The

church is a small interesting building with Norman work ; it

contains a monument to Blanche Parry, a maid of honour to

Queen Elizabeth. Two special features in connection with

this church are the beautiful silver gilt chalice and paten

of pre-Reformation date, by the same maker as the celebrated

Nettlecombe chahce, and the worked white silk altar cloth

presented to the church by Blanche Parry in Elizabeth's

reign.

Bacton, a parish in Norfolk, on the coast, 4i miles NE of

North Walsham station on the G.E.R., and 19 NNE of Norwich.

It includes the hamlets of Bacton-Green and Bromhohn, and

has a post and money order office under North Walsham,

the telegraph office. Acreage, 1139, with 95 of foreshore;

population of the civil parish, 394; of the ecclesiastical,

434. Kuins of a Clnniac priory, founded in 1113 by Baxton

de Glanville, stand at Bromholm. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross value, £166 with residence.

Patron, the Earl of Kimberley. The church is an ancient

structure, with a square tower, has a good font, and is in

good condition. There ai'e a Baptist chapel and a coast-

guard station.

Bacton, a parish in Suffolk, 1 mile NE from Finningham

station on the G.E.R., and 6 miles N of Stowmarket. It

has a post and money order office (R.S.O.) ; telegi-aph

office, Finningham. Acreage, 2290
;
population of the civil

parish, 646 ; of the ecclesiastical, 639. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £480 with residence.

The church is a fine building of Hint, in the Decorated and

Perpendicular styles.

Bacup, or Bacop, a municipal borough and populous town

in Whalley and Rochdale parishes, Lancashire, is situated

on the river Irwell, mid-way between Burnley and Rochdale,

7 miles from either place, about 5 SW from Todmorden,

nearly 6 NE from Haslingden, 18 N from Manchester, 56

NE from Liverpool, and 204 NW from London. It has a

station on the L. & Y.R., by which direct communication

with the M.R. is secured. The town was incorporated in

1882, and is governed by a mayor, 6 aldermen, .and 18 coun-

cillors. It is a seat of petty sessions and county courts, and

carries on industry in cotton spinning and power-loom weav-

ing, printworks, Turkey-red dye-works, iron foundries, corn

mills, quarries, and coal mining. It has a post, money order,

and telegraph office, two banks, a police station, waterworks,

a market-hall, built at a cost of £6000, a plain parish church

of 1788, rebuilt and enlarged in 1882-83, and two other

churches in the Early English and Gothic styles. The

livings of the three churches are vicarages in the diocese of

Manchester ; the respective net values are £260, £320, .and

£166, with residences. There are numerous dissenting

chapels, a Roman Catholic chapel. Conservative and Liberal

clubs, a mechanics' institute, with public h.all, library, reading

rooms, and a complete chemical laboratory, several public

schools, a technical school, and public batbs. Markets ai-e

held on Saturdays and Wednesdays, and there are also two

annnal pleasure fairs. At Fairweli, a large cemetery, cost-

ing £16,000, has been provided for the town, the manage-

ment of which is vested in the corporation. Two weekly

newspapers are published. The area of the municipal borough

is 6116 acres; population, 23,498. The principle of co-

operation has been largely developed in Bacup and the

surroonding neighbourhood, both in shops and cotton fac-
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tories. In the vicinity ai-e remains of an ancient Roman
or Saxon encampment, called Broad Clough Dykes, con-

sisting of a series of formidable embanlauents more than 1800
feet in length, situated on the edge of a gentle slope, and

commandiug the pass between Bacup and Burnley.

Badbury, a tithing in Chisledon parish, Wilts, 3J miles

SE of Swindon. An ancient camp here, called Badbury or

Siddington Castle, is supposed to be the Mons Bodonicus of

the Romans, and the Baddiebrigg of the Saxons, and was the

scene, in 520, of King Arthur's defeat of Cerdic.

Badbury, a tithing in Dorset. The tithing is in Wim-
borne-filinster parish, 4^ miles NW of Wimborne. An an-

cient camp here, called Badbury Rings, crowns a naked hill;

commands an extensive panoramic view ; is planted with firs

;

consists of three concentric ramparts, each with an outer

ditch, the outermost a mile in circumference ; occurs on the

line of a Roman road to Old Sarum ; seems to have been

originally British, but to h.ave been afterwards occupied by

both the Romans and the Saxons ; and was held by Edward
the Elder after the death of Alfred the Great.

Badbury Hill, a hill crowned by a Roman camp, in Berks,

2 miles SW of Fan'ingdon.

Badby, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire. The
village stands on the ascent of a hill called Badby Down,

near- the source of the river Nen, 2J miles SSW of

Daventry, and 4| W of Weedon station on the L. and

N.W.R. It has a post office under Daventry, the money
order and telegraph office. The parish comprises 1765 acres;

population of the civil parish, 519 ; of the ecclesiastical dis-

trict of Badby with Newnham, 910. An ancient camp, 10

acres in area, with wide deep fosse and very steep ramparts,

occurs on Arbury Hill, and is supposed to be Roman. The
living is a vicarage, united with the parish of Newnham, in

the djocese of Peterborough; joint gross yearly value, £236
with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Peterborough.

The church is a fine old structure of stone in the Perpen-

dicular style.

Baddesley-Clinton, a parish in Warwickshire, near the

Warwick and Birmingham Canal, IJ mile E of Kingswood

station on the G.W.R., and 7 miles NW of Warwick. Post

town, Knowle ; telegraph office, Knowie station, 2^ miles

distant. Acreage, 1366
;
population, 132. Baddesley Hall

is the seat of the FeiTers family, two of whom were dis-

tinguished in the seventeenth century, one being an antiquary

and poet, and the other a dramatist. The manor house dates

from the fifteenth century, and is a picturesque mansion with

an embattled tower; it is surrounded by a wide moat, and is

situated in a well-timbered park. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Worcester ; value, £76. The church is Early

English, and was partially rebuilt in 1517 and 1634, and

restored in 1874. It is a small plain edifice, consisting of

chancel, nave, and a massive embattled tower; it contains some

ancient altar-tombs to members of the Ferrers family. There

are a Roman Catholic chapel and a nunnery in the parish.

Baddesley-Ensor, a village and a parish in Warwickshire,

3 miles WNW of Atherstone, and has a post office under

Atherstone, the telegraph office. Acreage, 1155; popula-

tion, 977. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Worces-

ter; net value, £140 with residence. Patrons, the inhabitants.

The church is modern, the old church having been pulled down
in 1848. There are chapels for Congi-egationalists and

Wesleyans.

Baddesley, North, a parish in Hants, 3 miles from Chand-

ler's Ford station on the L. & S.W.R., 3 J E by S of Romsey,

which is the post town. Acreage, 2582; population of the

civil parish, 359 ; of the ecclesiastical, 219. Baddesley Hall

is a chief residence. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Winchester; net value, £111. The church is good.

Baddesley, South, a tithing-chapelry in Boldre parish,

Hants, 2 miles ENE of Lymington station on the L. & S. W.R.

Post town, Lymington. Population, 604. A preceptory

of Knights Templars, aftenvards of Knights Hospitallers,

stood at South Baddesley, and the chapel was taken down
so late as 1818. The Uving is a perpetual curacy in the

diocese of Winchester
;
gross value, £100. Pylewell Paik

is a fine residence in the neighbourhood.

Baddiley, a village, a township, and a parish in Cheshire,

on the Chester and Ellesmere Canal, 2 miles N of Wreubury

station on the L. & N.W.K., and 4 SW by W of Nautwich,
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wliich is the post town. Acreage, 1777
;
population ot the

township, 246 ; of the parish, 268. The manor formerly

belonged to the Mainwaring family, and their seat, Baddiley

Hall, a very ancient strnctnre of timber and plaster, was

first converted into a farmhouse, and then pulled down.

The waterworks belonging to the Nantwich Local Board ai'e

situated here. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Chester; v.alue, £148. Patron, Lord Tollemache. The church

is ancient. It consisted entirely of oak till 1811, but w.as

then encased with brick. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Baddington, a township in Acton parish, Cheshire, on

the Shropshire Union Canal, 1 mile SSWof Nantwich. Acre-

age, 144G
;
population, 141.

Baddow, Great, a village and a parish in Essex. The
vilLage st,ands near the river Chelmer, 2 miles ESE of Chelms-

ford station on the G.E.R. ; has a post and telegraph office

under Chelmsford ; and is a pleasant'pl.ace, with a consider-

able number of genteel residences. The parish comprises

3898 acres of land and 12 of water; population of the civil

parish, 2019 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1486. There is .an exten-

sive brewery here. The manor belonged to Algar, E.arl of

Jlercia ; was given by William the Conqueror to the Abbey
of Caen in Normandy; passed, in the time of Henry L, to

the Earl of Gloucester ; and went through a series of pro-

prietors, to the family of HoubloB. Baddow Hall is now
the residence of the Greene family. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St Albans
;
gross value, £324 with residence.

The church is a building of brick and rubble in the Early

English style. There is also a Congi'cgational chapel. Richai'd

de Badew, the founder of Clare Hall, Cambridge, was a n.ative.

Baddow, Little, a village and a parish in Essex. The
village stands on a tributary of the Chelmer river, 2 miles S

of the G.E.R., and 4 E by N of Chelmsford, under which

it has a post office; money order and telegi-aph office,

D.anbm'y. The parish includes also the hamlet of Mid-

dlemead. Acreage, 2735 of land and 21 of water
;
popu-

lation, 643. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St

Albans ; net value, £297 with residence. The church, which

is a building of Roman materials and rubble in the Early

English style, contains a costly and splendid monument to

the memory of Sir Henry Jlildmay, Bart., who died in 1639.

There is a Con,gi-eg.ational chapel.

Badger or Bagsore, a village and a parish in Salop, on

the eastern verge of the county, 4 miles SW of Albrighton,

and 6 S by E of ShitTnal, which is the post town ; money
order and telegi-.aph office, Albrighton. Acreage, 924;

population, 15,^. Badger Hall is tjie seat of the lord of the

m.anor, and Badger Dingle, in the grounds connected with it,

is a picturesque dell of red rock, wood, and water. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £220
with residence. The chm'ch w.as rebuilt in 1834, has an

embattled tuwer with pinn.icles, and contains tlu'ee monu-
ments liy Flaxman, Clianti-ey, and Gibson.

Badgington or Bagendon, a village and a parish in

Gloucestershire, on the river Churn and near Ermine Street,

3 miles N by W of Cirencester, which is the post town.

Acreage, 1146
;
population, 182. Remains exist at PeiTot's

Brook, T^ a mile distant, of two entrenchments, which ai'e

supposed to have been thrown up in 556, on occasion of a

b.attle between the Britons and the West Saxons. Bagendon

House and Moorwood House ai'e the chief residences. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net

value, £200. Patron, Jesus' College, Oxford. The church

is Norman, with Perpendicular additions. It has a sivddle-

back tower, a Norman font, and some good memorial tablets.

Badgworth, a vilLage .and a parish in Gloucestershire.

The village stands on a small tiibutai? of the Severn, 2 miles

E of Churchdown station on the M.R. .and G.W., 3 SW of

Leckhampton station on the G.W.R., and 4 SW of Chelten-

ham. The palish includes also the h.amlets of Bentham,

Little Shurdington, the Reddings, and Little Witcomb, and

its post town is Cheltenham; money order and telegraph

office, Churchdown. Acreage, 3901
;

population of the

civil parish, 1096; of the ecclesiastical, 847. Badgworth

Couil; and The Greenway are the chief residences. There is

a mineral spring. The living is a vicarage, united with

the curacy of Benth.am, in the diocese of Gloucester and

Bristol ; net value, £1C0. The chnrch is interesting, partly

Perpendicular and partly Decorated, and has been carefully
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restored. It has a chapel dedicated to St JIargai'et. The
Decorated windows of this chapel ar*e very fine. There is

a square embattled tower and a south porch with an ancient

oak door, and massive oak parish chests in the porch.

Badgworth, a parish in Somerset, 3 miles SW of Axbridge

station on the G.W.R. Post town, Axbridge near Weston-
super-Mare. Acreage, 1772

;
population of the civil parish,

257 ; of the ecclesi.astical, 263. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £480 with residence.

The church is good. An org.an was erected in 1873 and
enlarged in 1888.

Badingham, a pai-lsh in Suffolk, SJ miles N by E of

Framlingham station on the G.E.R. It has a post office

under Framlingham (R.S.O.), the money order and telegi'aph

office. Acreage, 3172; population, 598. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £584 with

residence. The church is a building in the Perpendicular

style, containing some interesting monuments, and there is a

small Primitive Jlethodist chapel.

Badlesmere (usually con-upted into Basmere), a parish

in Kent, 4^ miles S of Faversham station on the L.C. & D.R.

It has a post office under Faversham. Acreage, 781 ;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 134 ; of the ecclesiastical, 232. The
manor belonged, in the times of Edward I. and Edward II.,

to the potent family of De Badlesmere ; was forfeited by the

•attainder and execution of John Earl of Oxford and Baron

Badlesmere ; and passed into the possession of the family of

Sondes, now represented by Lord Sondes. A house of regular

canons was founded in the 13th ye.ar of Edward II. by Bar-

tholomew de B.adlesmere. The living is a rectory, united to

the rectory of Leaveland, in the diocese of Canterbury
;
gi'oss

value, £323 with residence. Patron, Lord Sondes. The
church is a small, plain, Saxon structure in good condition.

Badley, a parish in Suffolk, near the river Gipping, 2

miles WNW of Needham-Mai'ket station on the G.E.R. Post

town, Needham-lMarket, the money order and telegi-aph

office. Acreage, 1078; population, 83. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Noi-wich ; gross value, £40.

Patron, the Earl of Ashburnham. The church is an old

Gothic building of stone.

Badlingham, a Ikamlet in Chippenham parish, Cambridge,

5^ miles NE of Newmarket.

Badminstone, a hamlet in Fawley parish, Hants, 5J
miles SW of Fareham.

Badminton or Great Badminton, a village, a parish,

and a ducal seat in Gloucestershire. The village stands

under the Cotswolds, on the SE verge of the county, 5

miles E by N of Chipping-Sodbury, and 7 E of Yate station

on the BI.R. It has a post office (S.O. Gloucestershire), a

reading-room, and six almshouses. The parish comprises

1794 acres; population of the civil parish, 520; of the ecclesi-

astical, 625. The property all belongs to the Duke of Beau-
fort, and most of it is included in his p.ark. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; value, £1 50.

Patron, the Duke of Beaufort. The ancient church belonged

to the abbey of Pershore, and the present one was built in

1785. It adjoins the mansion, .and is in the Classic style. The
chancel contains monuments by Rystrach of former dukes,

and one of the first Duke, transferred from the Beaufort

Chapel at Windsor Castle ; it has been enlarged and
choir stalls added. TJie font is m.arble. There is a

painting by Ghezzi, and a cartoon by Raphael in the Beau-
fort Tribune, or gallery overlooking the aisle. Field-Marshal

Lord Raglan, who died during the siege of Sebastopol,

was buried here. The park is about 3 miles long, nearly

2 miles wide, and upwards of 9 miles in circuit, and con-

tains some very fine woods and beautiful drives. Two
celebrated o<aks, the Fitzherbert and the Duchess, are among
the largest trees in England, and there are large herds of

red and fallow deer. The mansion was erected in 1682,
by the first Duke of Beaufort, and succeeded Raglan Castle,

in Monmouthshire, as the principal scat of his family. The
edifice is very extensive ; consists ot centre and wings ; is

in the Palladian style, with rusticated basement and two

surmounting cupolas ; and contains m.any family portraits,

downward from John of Gaunt, some rare and cmaous pic-

tures by the Italian masters, and the remarkable satirical

picture by Salvator Rosa which occasioned that artist's ex-

pulsion from Rome,



Sadminton, little

Badminton, Little, a tithing in Hawkesbury parish,

Gloncestershire, 1 mile N of Great Badminton.

Badsey, a village and a parish in Worcestershire. The

village stands on a tributary of the river Avon, 1 mile S

of Littleton and Badsey station on the G.W.R., and 2i miles

ESE of Evesham. Post town, Evesham. Acreiige, 1208
;

population, 574. The parish includes also the hamlet of

Aldington, with an acreage of 675 ;
population 173.

Much of the land is devoted to market gardening. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester; value,

£210. Patron, Christ Church, Oiiford. The church is

ancient, chiefly Early English and Perpendicular, with a

Norman doorway and a massive W tower with grotesque

gargoyles. It was restored in 1885.

Badshot and Bunfold, a tithing in Farnham parish,

Surrey, 2 miles NE of Farnham. It contains the work-

house of Farnham district, and is prominent in hop culture.

Badsworth, a pretty village, a township, and a parish

in the W. R. Yorkshire. The township lies 6 miles S of

Pontefract, and 2 from Hemsworth station on the G.N.R.,

and has a post ofHce under Pontefract ; telegraph office,

Upton station, on the Hull and Barnsley railway. Acreage,

1546
;

population, 206. The p.arish includes also the

townships of Upton and Thorpe-Audlin. Acreage, 3070
;

population, 702. Badsworth Hall is the seat of the

HejTvood-Jones family. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of York ; net value, £459 with residence. Patron,

the Eai-1 of Derby. The oldest part of the church is Transi-

tion and the later part Perpendicular. In the parish are

three Methodist chapels.

Badwell-Ash or Little Ashfield, a parish in Stow dis-

trict, Suffolk, 3J miles N by E of Elmswell station on the

G.E.R., and 8 NNW of Stowmarket. It has a post and

money order office, of the name of Badwell-Ash, under

Buiy St Edmunds; telegraph office, Walsham-le-Willows.

Acreage, 1858; population, 454. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Ely; net value, £110 with residence. The
church is a fine edifice of flint in the Early English, Decorated,

and Perpendicular styles.

Bagbere, a tithing in the parish of Sturmiuster-Newton-

Castle, Dorset, 1 mile N of Sturminster.

Bagborough, East, a tithing in Bishops-Lydeard parish,

Somerset, 7 niilis WNW of Taunton.

Bagborough, West, a parish in Somerset, on the S side

of the Qnantock Hills, 3 miles from Bishops-Lydeard station

on the G.W.K., and 8 NW of Taunton. It has a post office,

of the name of Bagborough, under Bishops-Lydeard, the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2006
;
popula-

tion, 400. Bagborough House is the seat of the Popham
family. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and
Wells ; net value, £430 with residence. The church is

good. It was restored and a chancel aisle added in 1873-74
at a cost of £2000.

Bagbury, a hamlet in Evercreech parish, Somerset, 1 mile

S of Shf-pton-Mallet.

Bagby-with-Islebeck, a township in Kirby-Knowle
parish, N. R. Yorkshire, on .an affluent of tlie river Codbeck,

3 miles SE of Thirsk r.ailway station. It has a post office

under Thirsk, which is the nearest money order and telegi'aph

oflice. Acreage, 1587
; population, 229. There are a chapel

of ease, rebuilt in 1862 by the late Lady Frankland-Russell,

and a Wesleyan chapel. Lady Payne-Frankland is lady of

the :nanor.

Bagdon-Hill, a hill with a Roman camp, 3J miles N of

Devizes, Wilts.

Bag-Enderby. See Enderby-Bag.
Baggeam-Huish, a hamlet in Nettlecombe parish, Somer-

set, 4^ miles S of Watchet.

Baggrave, a liberty in Hungerton parish, Leicestershire,

7^ miles ENE of Leicester. Baggrave Hall, the seat of the

Buraaby family, is a fine country residence.

Baggrow, a station on the Maryport and Carlisle railway,

Cumberland, 3 18 miles from London, and 2 NNE of Aspatria.

Baggy Point, a small headland at the S side of Morte
Bay, Devon, 5 miles NNW of the mouth of the river Taw.
A dangerous reef, called B.aggy Leap, lies about i a mile
distant.

Bagillt, a village, a township, and a chapelry in Holywell
parish, Flintshire. The village stands on the S side of the
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estuary of the Dee, contiguous to the L. & N.W.R., 2 miles NW
of Flint, and 2 SE of Holywell. It h.as a station on the rail-

way, and a post office under Holywell, and is a sub-port to

Chester. The tract around it is rich in minerals, and vields

a great output of coals, and the village itself is the seat or

centre of extensive lead-smelting and desilverizing works.

One of the adjacent hills bears the name of Bryn-Dycliwelwch,

signifying " the hill of retreat," and w.as the place at which

Owen Gwynedd sounded his retreat from the pursuit by

Henry II. Bagillt Hall, in the vicinity, is an old se.at of

the Gritliths. The township bears the name of Bagillt-Fawr,

and includes the hamlets of Bagillt-Bach and Bagillt-Fecban.

The chapelry was constituted in 1844. Population, 3168.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St As.aph ; net

value, £166. Patron, the Vicar of Holywell. The church

is in the Early English style, and was built in 1839. There

are chapels for Congr-egationalists, Baptists, Wesleyans, and

Calvinistic Methodists.

Baginton, a parish in Warwickshire, on the river Sowe,

3 miles S by E of Coventry. Post town, Coventry. Acreage,

1788; population, 217. Baginton Hall was built by Sir W.
Bromley, Speaker of the House of Commons in the time of

Queen Anne, and the manor is now held by his descendant.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value,

£287 with residence. The church is Early English, has a

fine bell-tnrret, and contains monuments to Su- W. Bagot

and his wife of the year 1400.

Baglan, a parish in Glamorgan, on the E side of the

month of Neath river, 1^ mile SE of Briton Ferry, and

3^ S of Neath. It comprises the hiimlets of Lower Baglan

and Upper Baglan. The post town of Lower Baglan is

Briton Ferry ; of Upper Baglan, Port Talbot. Acreage, 4111,

of which 30 are water; population of Lower Baglan, 459;
of Higher Baglan, 165. The scenery possesses much beauty

and some romance, and the higher gi'ounds command very

brilliant views. Baglan House, the property of the Earl of

Jersey, though without attraction as a building, possesses

interest as once the resort of Mason, who wrote here his

"Coventry is dead ! attend the strain,

Daughters of Albion."

Baglan Hall, the property of the Llewellyn family, is another

residence in the parish. Coal and fire-clay have been

worked, but most of the land is in pasture. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Llandaff. The old church is very

picturesquely situated ; it consists of chancel, nave, and a

belfry. The Church of St Catherine, erected by the late

G. Llewellyn, Esq., in 1881 at a cost of £20,000, is a fine

building in the Early English style.

Bagley, a village and a township in Hordley parish, Salop,

2} miles SE of Hordley.

Bagley-Wood, formerly an extra parochial tract, now a

parish, in Berkshire, 3 miles S of Oxford. Acreage, 639
;

population, 4. A spot here, on Chilswell farm, was the site

of the original Abingdon Abbey ; and another spot, on the

top of a hill, commands a splendid view of Oxford. Abing-

don is the post town.

Bagnall, a township and a chapelry in Bucknall parish,

Staffordshire, near the Chumet river and the Uttoseter Canal,

2 miles S of Endon station on the North Staffordshire rail-

way, and 4 N of Bucknall. An ancient market cross

(restored) and a column in the churchyard are witnesses of

the antiquity of this place. There are several collieries. The
living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the rectory of Buck-
n.all, in the diocese of Lichfield. The church is ancient, and

was restored in 1879.

Bagnigge Wells, a locality in St Pancras parish, London,

li mile NW of St Paul's Cathedral. It is named from two
mineral springs, which were once in repute, near Nell Gwynne's
house.

Bagnor, a tithing in Speen parish, Berks, on the river

Kennet, 2 miles NNW of Newbury.

Bagots-Bromley, a lordship in Abbots-Bromley parish,

Staffordshire, 1 mile NW of Abbots-Bromley. Lord Bagot,

whose ancestors had a seat here, erected a monument in 1811
from the remains of the ancient mansion.

Bagshot, a hamlet in Shalboum parish, Berks, on the

verge of the county, 2 miles SSW of Hnngerford.
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t, formerly a tithing of Windleshatn civil pari.sli,

Surrey, was formed into an ecclesiastical parish in 1S74.

The town stands on the borders of Berkshire, with a station

on the L. & S.W.R., 32 miles from London. Acreage, 21SI7-,

population, 1408. There is a post, money order, and tele-

graph office. It was a place of hotels, posting-houses, and

much thorouglifare prior to the railway period, and it bore

the name of Holy Hall in the times of the Stuart kings.

Bagshot Park, to the N of it, has been a royal park from the

time of the Conquest. It was a favourite hunting seat of the

Stuavt kings, and a residence of George IV. when Prince

of Wales, and passed afterwards to the Duke of Gloucester.

It is now in the possession of the Duke of Connaught. An
American garden and a neighbouring large nursery are re-

markable for very fine azaleas and rhododendrons. The living

is a vicarage; net value, £275 with residence, in the gift of

the Lord Chancellor. The Church of St Anne, erected at a

cost of £6000 in 1884, is a building of red brick in the Geo-

metric style. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bagshot heath was once an enclosed royal hunting-gi-ound,

but was disparked during the Civil War in the time Charles

I., and it afterwards lay long waste, and was the scene

of many highway robberies. The palings were restored by

Charles II. and deer brought over from France. It is

now enclosed, and many pai'ts of it are planted with fir trees.

The geologic nature of it is so peculiar as to give the name
of Bagshot sand to the uppermost deposit of the so-called

London basin.

Bagthorpe, a parish in Norfolk, 7^ miles N by W of

Rougham, and 4 SE of Docking station on the G.E.R.

Post town, Great Bircham, under Lynn ; money order and

telegi-aph office, Docking. Acreage, 755 ;
population, i'O.

Bagthorpe Hall is a chief residence. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Norwich; gross value, £108. The church,

which was rebuilt in 1856, is a small building of flint in the

Pointed style.

Bagthorpe, a hamlet in Selston parish, Notts, on the

western verge of the county, 2 miles from Pinxton railway

station, and 11 NNW of Nottingham.

Bagtor, a seat 3^ miles N of Ashburton, in Devon. It

was the birthplace, in 1586, of Ford the dramatist.

Baguley, a township, a village, and an ecclesiastical parish

in Cheshire, 3 miles ENE of Altrincham. Acreage, 1806;
population of the townsliip, 814. It has a station on the

Cheshire Lines railway. Market gardening is largely carried

on. Baguley Hall, now a farmhouse, belonged to Sir W.
Baggiley in the time of Edward II., and passed from him suc-

cessively to the Leghs, Aliens, and Tattons. The great hall

still remains, built of oak and wicker work, and presents fine

examples of oak carving. The ecclesiastical paiish was con-

stituted in 1868, and includes Brooklands, a suburb of Man-
chester, with a station on the Manchester South Junction and

Altrinchan railway. Population, 762. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Chester ; value, £300. The church

was erected in 1867. There are chapels for Baptists, Wes-
leyans, and Cougregationalists in the township of Baguley.

Bagworth, a township and a chapelry in Thornton pai'ish,

Leicester, on the Leicester and Burton railway, 5|- miles NE
of Market-Bosworth. It has a station on the railway, and a

post office under Leicester; money order office, Ellistown;

telegiaph office, the railway station. Acreage, 2156; popu-

lation, 642. A chief feature is Bagworth Park. The living

is annexed to Thornton.

Bahama Bank, a shifting sand across Ramsey Bay, in the

Isle of Man. It extends from NW to SE, and is 10 miles

long, and 1 mile broad. A light-vessel is moored at its SE
end, in 9 fathoms, and shows a light visible at the distance

of 10 miles.

Baildon, a township and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire.

It lies near the river Aire and the Leeds and Liverpool Canal,

2 miles NNE of Shipley, and 5 N of Bradford. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Shipley. Its

inhabitants are employed chiefly in worsted manufactures,

stone quarries, and chemical works. Area of the parish,

2605 acres; population, 5785. Baildon Hill, in the W, is

922 feet high, and has ancient entrenchments and tumuli.

The living is a vicai"age in the diocese of Ripon ; value, £300
with residence. The pai'ish church of St John the Evangelist

is situated on the summit of Church Hill, Baildon, and com-
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niands views of extensive and magnificent scenery in all direc-

tions. It has three small mission rooms about 1 to 1 J mile

distant from the church in a westerly, southerly, and south-

easterly direction. There are Moravian, Primitive Methodist,

Wesleyan, and Baptist chapels, several schools, and also a

Mechanics' Institute, and Conservative and Liberal Clubs. The
parish is governed by a Local Board, consisting of nine

members, who established works for supplying excellent water

and good drainage. There is a branch of the St Andrews
Golf Club.

Bailey, a hamlet, forming with Aighton and Chaigley a

township iu Lancashire, 8 miles N of Blackbm'n, near the

river Ribble, Part of the township was assigned in 1870
to form the ecclesiastical parish of Hurst Green. The church,

erected in 1838, is in the Early English style. The living

of Hm'st Green is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net

value, £161 per annum, with residence, in the gift of the

vicar of Great Mitton. Population, 1370. Blackburn is the

post town.

Bailey, or Bailie, a township in Bewcastle parish, Cum-
berland, on a small tributary of the Esk, 5 miles NE of Long-

town.

Bailey, North and South. See Durham.
Bailiff Bridge, a part of the ecclesiastical parish of Light-

clifle, township of Hipperholme, W. R. Yorkshire. It has a

station on the Lancashire and Yorkshire railway, and a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Brighouse.

Bain, The, a stream of Aysgarth parish, N. R. Y'"orkshire.

It rises in Raydale-side, among high mountains, and runs 8

miles northward to the river Ure at Balnbridge. It expands

into Semmer water 3 miles above Bainbridge, and makes two

fine waterfalls. Semmer water is a lakelet of about 105 acres,

a resort of water-fowl, and abounding with fish, and bonows
picturesqueness from surrounding scenery.

Bainbridge, a village and a township in Aysgarth parish,

N. R. Y"orkshire. The village stands on the river Ure, 1^
mile SW of Askrigg, and has a post office under Bedale

;

money order and telegraph office, Askrigg. Here are a three-

arched bridge, two dissenting chapels, a Friends' meeting

house, an endowed grammar-school, founded in 1001, and

the Aysgai'th Union Woikhouse. There is also a good inn,

dating from the fifteenth century. Here was the Roman station

Bracchium. Traces of the rampart of the Roman camp,

enclosing an area of about 5 acres, may be seen on the In-

Brough in the vicinity. As well as the winter camp on

In-Brough, there are also evident traces of the summer camp
on the high hill called Adlebrough. Some substructions of

buildings occur at the foot of the same hill, and a statue of

the Emperor Commodus was found in the neighbourhood.

An ancient custom of blowing a " forest horn " at ten o'clock

every night from 271h September to Shrovetide, for the

benefit of travellers crossing the fells, is still kept up.

The ancient stocks still stand on the village green. The
township includes also the hamlets of Cubeck, Worton,

Countersett, Marsett, CaiT-End, Raydale, StalIing-Busk,High

and Low Blean. Acreage, 15,306 of land and 128 of water

;

population, 595.

Bainton, a village, a township, and a parish in the E. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the Wolds, 6 miles SW of

Great Driffield, with a station on the Bridlington, Market
Weighton, and Selby line. It has a post office under Drif-

field, the telegraph office. Acreage, 2982
;

population,

365. The parish includes also the township of Neswick,

with an area of 987 acres and a population of 54. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of York

;
gross value, £690

with residence. Patron, St John's College, Oxford. The
church is ancient, but very good. There are also Wesleyan

and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Bainton, or Badington, a parish in Northamptonshire,

near the river Welland, ^ mile from Barnack station on the

G.N.R., and 4 miles E by S of Stamford, which is the post

town ; money order and telegraph office, Bai-nack. The hamlet

of Ashton, fonnerly in Ufford parish, was civilly joined to

Bainton in 1887. Acreage, 1739; population, 263. The
living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the rectory of Ufford,

in the diocese of Peterborough. The church is Early English.

Bainton House is a chief residence.

Bainton, or Beanton, a hamlet in Stoke- Lyne parish,

Osfordj 3 miles N of Bicester.
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Bainton- Beacon, a division of llarthill wapentake, E. K.

Yoikshiie. It contains Bainton, Driffield, and some other

parishes, and it takes its name from a warning signal formerly

used in times of danger in Bainton. Acreage, 09,337;

population, 17,766

Bakewell, a market- town and parish in Derbyshire. The
town stands at the foot of a hill, on the river Wye, adjacent

to the Bustou railway, 11 miles W by S of Chesterfield. Its

name is a corruption of Bath-well, originally Bath-quelle, and
was derived from a mineral well, used for the supply of baths,

and supposed to have been in repute prior to the year 024.

The manor of it was known to the Saxons under the name of

Badecanwylla
;
probably had a Roman station, and certainly

had a castle of Edwai'd the Eider, on Castle Hill, on the road

to Chatsworth ; was given at the Conquest to the family of

Peveril
;
passed to successively the Gernons and the Vernons

;

and belongs now to the Duke of Kutland. The town is clean

and pleasant, has most picturesque environs, and is much
visited by strangers, both for its own sake, and for the sake

of the splendid neighboming scenery. It is a seat of petty

sessions, and has a station on the M.R., a head post office,

three banks, a pai'ish church, four dissenting chapels, an en-

dowed grammar-school, two other schools, an hospital and
other charities, a workhouse, a sis-arched bridge, a public

library and reading-room, a museum, public baths, a cemetery,

and several good inns. The parish chmch stands on an
eminence ; is a spacious cruciform structure, in Norman and
Early English style ; has transepts, and octagonal tower and
spire, erected during 1841-52, when the church was thoroughly

restored ; and contains an ancient font and mteresting tombs
of the Vernons, the FoIIjambes, the JIannerses, and others.

A very ancient cross, 8 feet high, decorated with rude sculp-

ture, but much mutilated, is in the churchyard. The public

baths were rebuilt by the Duke of Rutland, contain good
acconmiodation, and include a large swimming bath, and sepa-

rate shower and warm baths. The water from the mineral

spring is chalybeate and slightly tepid ; and that for the

warm baths may be had of any temperature by artificial

heating. A pleasant promenade is attached, called the Bath
Garden, well laid out in walks and gi-ottoes. The public

museum contains a great variety of British, Roman, and Saxon
relics, obtained from places in the neighbourhood, and a
private museum, connected with a shop, exhibits splendid

specimens of spar ornament and inlaid maible. A number
of the inhabitants are employed in the working of marble

and chert, and others in a cotton mill. The town, which is

governed by a Local Board, is supplied with water from a

reservoir, paved, and lighted with gas. A weekly market is

held on Friday for butter, and on Monday for corn and cattle,

and fairs for horses, cattle, and cheese, on Easter Monday,
Whit Monday, 26 August, the Monday after 10 October, and

the Monday after 11 November. The township of Bake-

well includes the town, together with a circumjacent tract.

Acreage, 3064
; population of the civil parish, 2748 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 3236.

Two objects of great interest in the neighbourhood

ai-e the ducal seats of Chatsworth and Haddon-Hall.
Mines of lead and zinc, and quarries of stones and marble are

worked. Rocking stones and a DruJdical circle occur on

Stan(on manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Southwell ; gross value, £426 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Lichfield.

Bala, a small town— the head of a poor law union—in

Merionethshire. The town is in Llanycil parish ; stands at

the foot of Bala Lake, 12 miles SW by \V of Corwen, and
has a station on the Ruabon and Dolgelly section of the

G.W.R. ; there is a branch line to Festiniog. An artificial

mount called Tomen-y- Bala, supposed to be of Roman origin,

adjoins it; and two anciently fortified hills, called Caer-Gai

and Castell Carn Dochan, the former believed to have been

occupied by the Romans, are in the neighbom*hood. The
town consists chiefly of one wide street, with a few handsome
houses. It has a post office (R.S.O. Merionethshire), a free

gi-ammar- school, a fine Calvinistic Methodist college of 1866,
town hall, workhouse, and two banks. A manufactui'e of

woollen hose and gloves was at one time flourishing, A
weekly market is held on Saturday, and annual fairs for the

Bale of cattle, &c. The town has a local board, is a seat of

petty sessions, and the seat of quarter sessions in April and
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October, The church Is a modern handsome Gothic building.

There are chapels for Baptists, Calvinistic Methodists, and
Congregationahsts. The Rev. Thomas Chai'les, one of the

founders of the British and Foreign Bible Society, lived here

till his death in 1814, and a mai'ble statue has been erected

in front of the Welsh Methodist chapel in his memorj'.

Rhiwaedog Hall, an old castellated mansion, is within 2 miles

uf the town, which has a population of 1622,

Bala-Lake, Llyn-Tegid, or Pimble-Mere, a lake in

Merionethshire. It extends north-eastward to Bala ; is 3J
miles long, over ^ a mile broad, and more than 100 feet

deep ; receives the river Dyfrdwy at its head, and discharges

the Dee from its foot. The circuit of the lake is about 11

miles. Its shores are gravelly ; its borders are wooded, easy

slopes ; its flanks, hills of no great beauty, overlooked by-

interesting mountains. Its waters abound with pike, and
contain perch, roach, eels, charr, and gwyniad. The fishery

belonged anciently to Basingwerk Abbey, and is now the

property of Sir W. W. Wynn, who has a fishing lodge at the

head, called Glan-Llyn.

Balby and Hexthorpe are two villages forming a town-

ship in Doncaster parish, W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Don,

1^ mile SW of Doncaster. Balby has a post and money
order office under Doncaster. Acreage, 1613; population

of the civil parish, 4270 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1888. Tan-
ning, brickmaking, and sand digging are largely carried on.

The corporation of Doncaster are lords of the manor and
principal landowners. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of York
;
gross value, X300 with residence. Patron,

the Archbishop of York. The church was built in 1847.

There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

The Quakers, under George Fox, held their first meetings

here.

Balcombe, a viUage and a parish in Sussex. The village

stands in a pleasant spot, with a station on the L.B. & S.C.R.,

34 miles from London. There is a post and money order

office ; the telegi*aph office is at the station. The parish

comprises 4705 acres, of which 1180 are in Highbeach warren;

population, 077. Balcombe Place (the seat of the Hankey
family) and Forest Farm are elegant mansions. A tunnel of

the railway, 1130^ yards long, goes through a hill within

the pai-ish, and the Ouse viaduct, 100 feet high, and upwards
of a ^ of a mile long, with 37 arches of 30 feet each in

span, is about Ih mile from the station. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Chichester; net value, X329 with

residence. The church is Early English in part, and very

good ; it was restored in 1873. There aie several chalybeate

springs in the neighbourhood.

Balder, a stream of the N. R. Yorkshire, running 10 miles

eastward to the Tees, oh NW of Barn;u-d-Castle.

Baldersby, a township and a village forming with Rainton

a parish in the N. R. Y'orkshire. The township lies on the

river Swale and on the Leeds and Thirsk railway, 5 miles

NE of Ripon. It has a station on the railway, and a sub-post

office. Acreage, 1830
;
population, 285. Viscountess Downe

is lady of the manor and principal landowner. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of York; gross value, £500 with

residence. Patroness, Viscountess Downe. The church is in

the Decorated style, and was erected at the expense of the

late Viscount Downe about 1857. Baldersby Park, about

3 miles from the village, is the seat of the Viscountess

Downe. The ecclesiastical parish of Baldersby comprises the

three villages of Baldersby, Baldersby St James, and Rainton.

Population, 640.

Balderston, a township and an ecclesiastical district in

Blackburn parish, Lancashire, near the river Ribble, 4 miles

NW of Blackburn. Post town, Mellor-Brook under Black-

burn. Acreage, 1808; population, 510. The Hving is a

vicarage in the diocese of Manchester
;

gi'oss value, £300
with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Blackburn. The
church, rebuilt in 1854, is very good.

Balderton, a township in Middle parish, Salop. 1 mile

ENE of Middle. Acreage, 715.

Balderton, a large village and a parish in Notts, 2 miles

SE of Newark, which is the nearest railway station. It has

a post and money order office under Newark Acreage,

3780
;
population, 1404. The Duke of Newcastle is lord of

the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of South-

well ; net value, £267. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
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church is ancient, and has a fine Norman porch. There are

Wesleyan and Primitive Jlethodist chapels.

Baldhu, a chapelry in Kea and Kenwyn parishes, Corn-
wall, 4 miles from Trm-o station on the G.W.R. Post town,

Scorrier. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Tniro
;

gi'oss value, £150 with residence. Patron, Viscount Fal-

mouth. The church is very good. The chapelry yfSLS con-

stituted in 1816. Population, 994.

Baldock, a small town and a parish in Herts. The town
stands in a valley between two hills, on Icknield Street, ad-

jacent to the Hitchin and Cambridge branch of the G.N.R.,

near the som*ce of the river Rhea, 5 miles NE of Hitchin.

It has a station on the railway, a head post and telegraph

office, a bank, and two breweries. Malting and brewing are

the chief occupations, barley being extensively gi*own in the

neighbourhood. A great quantity of straw-plait is made
here and in the adjacent villages, and there is a market for

it on Fridays. Fairs are held yearly on 7 March, the last

Thursday in May, 6 August, 2 October, 11 December. The
name was anciently written Baudoc, and is supposed by some
to have been taken from Baalbec in Syria, and applied by
the Knights Templars. These military monks obtained a
grant of the place, in the reign of Stephen, from Gilbert,

Earl of Pembroke, and they built upon it a church, and ob-

tained for it the rights of a market-town. The present

parish church includes some portions of the Templars' churcli;

is a spacious edifice, in Later English, with a large chancel

and an ancient tower, and contains some monuments of the

Templars, a finely-carved oak screen, a very curious font, and
pai-t of the ancient rood-loft. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value, £210 with residence,

in the gift of the Bishop of St Albans. There are also

Congregational, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels,

and meeting-houses for the Friends and Plymouth Brethren.

There are some well-endowed almshouses and several useful

charities. The principal street of the town is wide, and has

many respectable houses. Area of the parish, 263 acres;

population of the ci\'il parish, 2301 ; of the ecclesiastical,

1918. The Knights Templars selected Baldock as a place of

residence on account of its reputation for extreme salubrity

—

a reputation which it still enjoys.

Baldon-Marsli, a parish in tlie county of Oxford, on the

Roman road from Alcester to Wallingford, 3^ miles NW
from Littlemore station on the G.W.R. , and 6 SE of Oxford,

which is the post town ; money order office, Nuncbam
Com'tney ; telegraph office, Stadhampton. Acreage, 670

;

population, 270. Baldon House belonged formerly to the

Pollards, and passed to the baronet family of Willoughby.

The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Oxford
;

gi-oss value,

£236 with residence. The church is Later English. There

are a school and some small charities.

Baldon-Toot, a parish in Oxfordshire, 2| miles SE
of Littlemore station on the G.W.R., and 5 SE of Oxford,

which is the post town; money order office, Nuneham
Courtney; telegi-aph office, Culham (R.S.) Acreage, 1565;
population, 292. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Oxford; gross value, £35 vrith residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Oxford. The church is a small but ancient

building of stone in the Transition, Norman, and Early English

styles.

Baldwin, a chapelry in Kirk-Braddan parish, 1 mile W of

Douglas, Isle of Man. Post town, Douglas. The living is

a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Sodor and Man.

Baldwinholme, a hamlet in Orton parish, Cumberland,

5h miles SW of Carlisle.

Bale, or Bathley, a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles NE from

Ihursford station on the Eastern and Midland railway, and

5 W from Holt. Dereham is the post town ; money order

office. Holt ; telegraph office, ]\Ielton Constable. Acreage,

1067; population, 239. The living is a rectory, annexed

to that of Gunthorpe, in the diocese of Norwich. The church

is an edifice of flint in the Later English and Decorated styles.

Balham, a hamlet and a chapelry in Streatham pai-isb,

Surrey. The hamlet adjoins the West London and Crystal

Palace railway, 4 miles WNW of the Crystal Palace, and
has a station on the railway.

Balk, a township in Kirkby-Knowle pailsh, N. R. York-
shire, 2^ miles SE of Thirsk, situated on the Thirkleby Beck.

Acreage, 946
;
population, 58,

BALNE

Balkholme, a small village and a township in Howden
parish, E, R. Yorkshire, adjacent to the Hull and Selby rail-

way, 3 miles E by S of Howden. Acreage, 1059
;
popu-

lation, 70. Brough is the post town ; nearest money order

and telegraph office, Howden.
Balking, or Baulking, anciently Bethelkhig, a village

and a parish in Berks. The Uffington Junction statiun on
the G.W.R. is in this parish, from which there is a branch
to Faringdon, which is 4 miles SSE. It was formerly a

market-town, and its post town is Faringdon ; money order

and telegi-aph office, Uffington. Acreage, 1580 ; popula-

tion of the civil parisl], 183 ; of the ecclesiastical, 336.

The living is a vicarage united to Woolstone, in the diocese

of Oxford
;
gross value, £56 with residence. The church is

an ancient building of stone in the Early English style,

Ballasalla, a village in Kirk-Malew parish. Isle of Man,
on the Silver Burn, and on the road to Douglas, 2f miles

NNE of Castletown. It has a post office under Douglas,

and remains of a Cistercian abbey founded in 109S by Mac
Manus, king of Man, enhu-ged and richly endowed by his

successors, and given in 1134 to Furness Abbey.

Ballaugh, or Kirk-Ballaugh, a village and a parish in

the Isle of Man. The village stands on the W coast, 7 miles

W of Ramsey ; is watered by a small stream descending from
Snawfell ; straggles upward from the shore over a space of

nearly 2 miles ; and has a post office under Douglas. The
parish includes Ballamoor, and has marl-pits and several

warrens. Bones and horns of the great Ii-ish elk have been

found in the marl-pits, and a skeleton of one was sent hence

to the Hunterian Museum at the University of Glasgow.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Sodor and Man.
Patron, the Crown. The old church stands on the shoie,

and has been restored ; and a beautifully carved Runic cross

is in the churchyard. A new church, built in the early

part of the nineteenth century, stands fully a mile up the

streamlet,

Ballidon, a small village, a township, and a chapelry in

Derbyshire, neai" the North Stafford railway, 6 miles W by N
of Wirkswortb. Ashborne is the post town ; money order

and telegraph office, Parwich. Acreage, 1947
;
population,

87. The living is a chapelry annexed to the vicarage of

Bradbourne, in the diocese of Southwell. The church is

good, and was tliorouglily restored and enlarged in 1883.

Ballingdon-cum-Briindon, a parish iu Essex, on the

northern verge uf the cuunty, 1 mile SW of Sudbury station

on the G.E.R. It has a post and money order office under

Sudbury, the telegraph office. The whole tract was long a

parish under the name of Brundon, and seems to have been

part of the manor of Brundon, which in the earliest times

belonged to the family of Liniesi. The living is a vicarage,

annexed to the vicarage of All Saints, Sudbury, iu the

diocese of Ely. There is no church.

Ballingham, a village and a parish in Herefordshire, on

the river Wye, 1| mile NE of Fawley station on the G.W.R.,

and 8 miles NNW of Ross, which is the post town; money
order and telegraph office, Hoarwithy. Acreage, 010

;
popu-

lation, 137. A tunnel ou the Great Western railway, 1200
yai'ds long, passes through this parish. The living is

a rectory, united with the chapelry of Boulstone, in the

diocese of Hereford; value, £261. Patron, the Earl of

Chestei-field. The church is a small stone edifice with a
spire, and was restored in 1885.

Ball's Pond, a suburb in Islington parish, London, on the

North London railway, neai- the New river, 2^ miles N of St.

Paul's. It was originally a small hamlet consisting of a few

houses and gardens, and it received its name from the asso-

ciation of the name John Ball, an innkeeper, with a large

pond which formerly existed near his hostelry.

Balne, a township constituting with Pollington an ecclesi-

astical parish in the W. R. Yorkshire, 4J miles SW of Snaith.

It has a station ou the N.E.R. Snaith is the post town, and

there is a telegraph office at Balne station. Acreage, 2839
;

population, 337 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 724. The
church, erected in 1854 by Viscount Downe, was restored

and added to in 1887, The living is a vicarage iu the

diocese of York ; net value, £186 with residence, in the

gift of Viscount Downe. The church of St John's Polling-

ton-cum-Balne was designed by Butterfield, and seats 300.

A new lych gate was built iu 1892 by the vicai',
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Balsall, or Temple-Balsall. a hamlet and au ecclesias-

tical parish in the parish of Hanipton-in-Arden. Warwick-

shire, 3 miles E of Kuowle station on the G.W.R., 3 \V of

Berkswell station on the L. & N.W.R., and 5 NW of Kenil-

worth. There are post offices at Balsall Common under

Coventry, and at Fen P2nd and Chadwick End under Birming-

ham. Acreage, 5095
5
population, 1064. The manor was

given, in the reign of Stephen, to the Knights Templars ; be-

longed afterwards to the Knights Hospitallers; was given by

Qneen Elizabeth to the Earl of Leicester, whose gi-anddanghter.

Lady Katherine Leveson, bequeathed it in 1G70 for the erec-

tion and endowment of an hospital for poor women and boys.

Remains of the ancient hall or refectory of the Templai'S still

exist. The hospital of Lady Katherine Leveson was enlarged

under an Act of Queen Anne, and is now an extensive and
substantial suite of buildings, occupying three sides of a

squai'e, on the border of a large gi"een. It maintains thirty-

five almswomen, and there is also an endowed school for

boys and girls in comiection with the charity. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester ; value, £50. Patrons,

the Governors of Balsall Hospital. There is also £200 a

year stipend for the mastership of the hospital under the

same patronage. The church was built by the Templars,

about the middle of the 12th century ; is 104 feet long, 39

feet wide, and 67 feet high, and has lofty, pointed, finely-

traceried windows, timber roof, and stone stalls, a piscina,

and an ambry. It was restored in 1840.

Balscott, or Balscote, a chapelry in Wroxton parish,

Oxford, on the verge of the county, 4J miles WNW of Ban-

bury railway station. Post town, Wroxton, which is the

money order and telegraph oiEce. The name is a coiTuption

of Beletscot, and was derived from Michael Belet, who
founded Wroxton Priory. The living is a perpetual cur.acy,

annexed to the vicarage of Wroxton, in the diocese of

Oxford. The church is Decorated English. The area is

included in Wroxton.

Balsdean, a hamlet 4 miles NE of Brighton, Sussex. A
building here called the Chapel, now used as a stable, is

ancient and seemingly Decorated English.

Balsham, a village and a parish in Cambridgeshire. The
village stands near Worsted Street, 3 miles NNE from Linton

station on the G.E.R., and 10 SW of Cambridge. It

has a post and money order office under Cambridge; tele-

graph office, Linton. The parish has an acreage of 4550,

and includes part of the Gogmagog Hills
;
population, 894.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; gi-oss value,

£887 with residence. Patrons, the Governors of the Charter-

house, London. The church is a handsome building of flint,

nibble, and brick in the Perpendicidar style. There is also

a Congregational chapel.

Balterley, a township in Barthomley pai'ish, StafTordshire,

2J miles N of Betley Road station on the L. & N.W.R., and

SJ NW by W of Newcastle-under-Lyme. Acreage, 1235
;

population, 273.

Baltonsborough. a parish in Somerset, on the river Brue,

4 miles from West Pennard station on the Somerset and

Dorset railway. It includes the hamlet of Southwood. Acre-

age, 2720; population, 718. Glastonbury is the post town.

The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to Butleigh, in

the diocese of Bath and Wells
;

joint valne, £423. The
church is Later English, and was I'estored in 1875. There are

Wesleyan and Moravian chapels, and two schools.

Baivast or Poolvash Bay, a bay at the SW end of the

Isle of Man. It opens between Scarlet Point and Spanish

Head, and is 4J miles wide at the entrance, and about 2J
long.

Bamber-Bridge, a village in Lancashire. It stands

adjacent to the East Lancashii'e railway, 3 miles SE by S of

Preston, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Preston, and a railway station. Population, 5470.
There are three large cotton factories. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Manchester
;

gross value, £300 with

residence. The chmxh was bnilt in 183ti, and considerably

enlarged in 1886. A new church, for a parish formed from
Bamber-Bridge and Walton-le-dale, was erected in 1893.
There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bambrough or Bamburgh, a village, a township, a
parisl), and a ward in Northumberland. The village stands

on the coast, 2^ miles NE of Lucker railway station, and 4

BAMFORD

E by N of Belford station, and has a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Belford. It was a seat of the kings of

Northumbria ; bore originally the name of Baebbanburg or

Bebbanburg, signifying Queen Bebba's town ; was afterwards

a market-town and a royal burgh, sending two members to

Parliament ;
gave name to an extensive district around it,

called Bambroughshire ; and had churches of St Oswald and
St Aidan, a cell of Augustinian canons, a house of Black-

friars, a college, and an hospital. It now possesses none of

its ancient characters, but has become a retired, pleasant,

favourite summer resort for sea-bathing. The township in-

cludes also a place called Fowberry. Acreage, 1205 of land

and 263 of foreshore
;
population, 364 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 934. The parish contains likewise the townships

of Bamburgh-Castle, Budle, Glororum, Burton, Shorstone

or Shoreston, Bradford, Spindlestone, and Outchester. The
surface is varied, and is rich in geological, antiquarian, and

modern interest. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Newcastle ; net value, £229 with residence. Patrons, the

trustees of Bishop Lord Crewe. The church is Early

English and cruciform, with a western tower, and has au

unusually long chancel, with good modern stall-work, three

sedilia, an ambry, and the effigies of a knight. In the

churchyard are the graves of the heroine Grace Darling

and her father. The wai'd is about 17 miles long and about

8 miles broad, and consists of two di^ions. North and
South.

Bamburgh Castle, a township in Bambrough parish,

Northumberland, on the coast, contiguous to Bambrough
townshij), 5 miles E of Belford. Acreage, 6 ;

population,

53. A famous castle was founded here, about the year 654,
by Ida, first king of Northumbria, consort of Queen Bebba,

and gave rise to the adjacent town. The site of it is a rugged,

triangular, basaltic rock, projecting into the sea, rising 150
feet above the water-mai-k, and accessible onlyfrom the SE side.

The original pile was formed chiefly of wood, yet made a great

figure throughout the troubled times of the Northumbrian kings.

A stronger structure, with Norman tower and Norman keep,

was built principally about 1070, and this acted a part in

most of the contests which shook the country, down to the

reign of Edward IV., but sustained very severe injury in a

siege after the battle of Hexham. It passed, along with the

manor, by grant of the Crown in the time of James I., to

the family of Forster, underwent forfeiture in 171,'), on
account of its owner, Thomas Forster, having joined the

Pretender ; and was purchased by that gentleman's maternal

uncle. Lord Crewe, Bishop of Durham, and bequeathed by
him, under trustees, for charitable uses. The structure, as

it now stands, includes a space of about three acres, and
contains stores, schools, and a public library for the benefit

of the smTounding population, together with numerous
eflecfive appliances for the rescue and relief of ship-

wrecked mariners. The Fame Islands, with accompanying
rocks and shoals, so dangerous to navigation, are in the

offing, and the appliances at Bamburgh Castle are held in

constant readiness, under resident managers and continual

patrols, to afford succour to the endangered or the ship-

wrecked. The great tower commands an extensive view,

and one of the apartments has some interesting portraits

and four large ancient pieces of tapestry.

Batuford, a township and a parish, formed in 1860 from
Hathersage parish, Derbyshire, on a head-stream of the

river Derwent, in the Peak district, 4 J miles ENE of Castle-

ton, and 10 from Chapel-en-Ie-Fritli railway station. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Sheffield.

Acreage, 1770
;
population, 317. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Southwell; net value, £155 with residence.

The church was built in 1859, after designs by Mr Butter-

field ; is in the Decorated English style ; consists of nave,

north aisle, and chancel, with tower and spire 108 feet high
;

and has floor of encaustic tiles. There is a Methodist
chapel and a cotton mill.

Bamford, an ecclesiastical parish in the township of Birtle-

cum-Bamford, and parishes of Middleton and Bury. Lanca-

shire, 3 miles W of Rochdale. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Rochdale, a church, and Congregational,

Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels, and its inhabi-

tants are employed chiefiy in two large woollen and cotton

factories. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Man-
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Chester; net value, £209, in the gift of the Bishop of Man-
chester. Bamford Hall, a fine seat, is adjacent.

Bampton, a small town and a parish in Devonshire.
The town stands in a vale, on the rivulet Batherne, about a
mile above its influx to the Exe, on the G.W.R., 170 miles
from London, and 7 N of Tiverton. It was anciently called

Bahantune, Baunton, Bathampton, and Batbrumpton, and
it disputes with Bampton in Oxfordshire as beinc; the Beam-
dune of the Saxon chroniclers, where, in 614, the Britons

were defeated with great slaughter by Cynegilsus, king of

the West Saxons. It is supposed by some to occupy the

site of a Roman station, and it had a castle, erected in 1336
by a member of the Cogan family, on a knoll at the east end
of Castle Street, now called the Mount, and crowned with
firs. The town consists of stone houses, irregulai'ly scattered

over a space of about ^ a mile, and has picturesque environs.

It was formerly a borough, and sent two members to Parlia-

ment, and was governed by a portreeve and other officers.

A weekly market is held on Saturday; fairs on Whit-Tues-
day and the hist Thursday in Oct. ; and great markets for

cattle, sheep, and Exmoor ponies on the last Wednesday in

Nov. and the Wednesday before Lady Day. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. John de Bampton, a
Carmelite friar, who first read lectures ou " Aristotle " at

Cambridge, and died in 1391, was a native. There is a
reading room and library, and public rooms for entertain-

ments. Combe Head and Wonham House are residences in

the neighbourhood.

The parish includes also the hamlets of Petton and Shil-

lingford. Acreage, 7799; population, 1672. Limestone is

worked. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter;

net value, £176 with residence. The church is Decorated

and Perpendicular English ; consists of nave, aisle, and chan-
cel, with western tower ; and contains a fine carved oak
screen, and monuments of the Bourchiers. A chapel of ease

is at Petton, and a Baptist chapel in the town.

Bampton, an ancient parish, a market-town, and a hun-
dred in Oxfordshire. The town, which is in the Witney
County Court district and union, stands on a small tributary

of the Thames, is 5 miles SW from Witney, 14 W from Ox-
ford, and 79 from London by the G.W.R. It consists chiefly

of three streets with a spacious market-place. A horse fair

is held on 26 and 27 of August. It has a parish church,

a handsome cruciform edifice with a tall spire, which includes

features of almost every period from Early Norman to modern
times, and which was restored in 1870. There are also

places of worship for the Baptists and Wesleyans. Fomierly

a castle, built by Aylmer de Valence, Earl of Pembroke, stood

near the church, and picturesque remains of it still exist in

two farmhouses called Ham Court and Castle Farm. Acre-

age, 4530; population, 1346. It has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Faringdon. Phillips, the author

of *' Cyder" and the " Splendid Shilling," was a native.

The civi] parish of Bampton was divided in 1845 into the

three ecclesiastical parishes of Bampton Proper, Bampton
Aston, and Bampton Lew. The living of Bampton Proper

is a vicarage of the net yearly value of £430 ; that of Bamp-
ton Aston a vicarage of the net yearly value of £484 ; and
that of Bampton Lew a vicarage of the net yearly value of

£108, with residence. They are all in the diocese of Oxford,

and in the patronage of the Dean and Chapter of Exeter.

Bampton, a village and a pai-ish in Westmoreland. The
village stands on the river Lowther, 6 miles NW of Shap
railway station, and has a post and money order office

under Penrith ; telegraph office, Shap. The parish extends

upward to Hawes Water, and includes part of Mardale chap-

elry. Acreage, 10,925; population, 475. A spot not far

from the village was the scene of a skh'mish in the rebellion

of 1745. The living is a discharged vicarage in the diocese

of Carlisle ; net value, £170 with residence. Patron, the

Earl of Lonsdale. The church is good. A grammar school,

founded in 1627, has a small endowment, and there are

other charities. There is also a Wesleyan chapel here. Dr
Mill, the biblical critic, Bishop Gibson, the editor of " Cam-
den," and Judge Wilson, were educated at the gi-ammar
school ; and Bishop Law, the friend of Paley, and Dr Gib-
son, the author of a system of anatomy, were natives.

Bampton-Grange, a hamlet in Bampton parish, West-
moreland, 1 mile SE of Bampton village.

BANBUEY

Bampton, Little, a township in Krrkbarapton parish,

Cumberland, 2 miles W of Kirkbampton. Acreage, 1337.

Banbury, a municipal borough, market and union town,

a parish, and a hundred in Oxfordshire. The town stands

on the Cherwell river and the Oxford and Birmingham Canal,

22^ miles N by W of Oxford, and 77 miles by rail from Lon-
don by the G.W.R. Its name, in the Saxon times, was Baues-
byrig, and its site is supposed to have been a Roman station.

Roman coins and a Roman altar have been found at it, and
a kind of amphitheatre, still existing, is thought to bo Roman.
A castle was built here about the year 1125, by Alexander,

Bishop of Lincoln, and continued to be an episcopal residence

till the reign of Edwai'd VI. During the wars between the

houses of York and Lancaster, the forces of the Yorkists held

possession of the town, and a memorable action, known as

the battle of Banbury, was fought in 1460 about 3 miles

distant, on Danesmoor, near Edgecott. In the wars of the

time of Charles I. the castle was garrisoned for the Parlia-

mentarians and aided by the townspeople, who were almost

all Puritans ; but it was captured by the Royalists after the

battle of Edgehill, and held by them during thirteen weeks,

till relieved by the Earl of Northampton ; and afterwards it

sustained a siege of ten weeks by Colonel Whalley, and sur-

rendered on honourable terms. The only remains of it are

three steps in a cottage.

The town has been much improved, and presents a cheerful

appearance. The town hall, built in 1854, is a handsome
edifice, in the prevailing style of the 15th centm-y, with an
apartment 60 feet by 34, and a conspicuous tower. An addi-

tion to the Town Hall buildings was made in 1893, consisting

of a good council chamber and municipal offices. The parish

church is a large costly structure of classic ai'chitecture,

erected in the place of a very fine Gothic church which was
destroyed under an Act of Parliament of 1700 ; has a tower

over the western entrance 133 feet high; and contains two
monuments of the Pigott family. The cemetery contains two
neat chapels in the Early English style. The Roman Catholic

chapel, built in 1838, and a Wesleyan chapel, built in 1864,

are fine structures. There are churches in Neithrop, South

Banbuiy, and Grimsbury, twelve dissenting chapels and places

of worship, eight public schools, an excellent modern infirmary,

a Roman Catholic nunnery, six almshouses, and numerous
cliaiitable institutions, supported by voluntary contributions.

The Banbury Institute, a fine structure of red brick, presented

to the town in 1884 by Sir Bernhard Samuelson, Bart., con-

tains a good library and reading room. Attached to it is

a magnificent Technical School, opened in 1803. It was
added chiefly at the cost of Sir B. Samuelson. A spire-

cross, with a fountain, was erected in 1859, on or near the

site of an ancient market cross of great note, and described

by Leland. The town has a head post office, stations on the

G.W.R. and L. & N.W.R., several wharves on the canal, five

banks, and two first-class hotels, with numerous commercial

inns and posting houses, and publishes three newspapers.

It has a large corn trade, is famous for cakes, and carries

on malting, brewing, wool- stapling, agi'icnltural implement

making, and the manufacture of plushes and other webbing;

it has also a large woollen tweed factory, and a patent

box factory. A weekly market is held on Thm'sday, and
fairs every alternate Thursday, and the first Thursday after

Old Twelfth Day and three preceding days, the first Thurs-

day after Old Michaelmas Day, the second Thursday before

Christmas, and a horse fair is held on the third Thursday in

September. The police force of the old borough was in-

creased in 1890 to seven for the whole town. The town was
made a borough in the time of Queen Maiy ; is governed by a

mayor, 6 aldermen, and 18 councillors ; is a seat of petty ses-

sions, and a court of record. In 1880, by a Provisional Order

of the Local Government Board, made uuder the powers con-

ferred by the Locil Government Act, 1888, confirmed by Act
of Parliament, and which came into operation on Nov., 1889,

the boundaries of the borough were extended so as to include

within it the whole of the urban sanitary district, comprising

the hamlets of Neithrop and Grimsbury. The board of health

ceased to exist, and the urban sanitary authority is vested in the

Corporation. Banbury formerly gave the title of Earl to the

family of KnoUys. Whateley, the Puritan author of the

"Bride Bush," born in 1583, was a native. The seats of

Broughton Castle, Wroxton Abbey, aod Wykham Park are
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in the neighbourhood. A sulphurous spring exists in a shop

cellar in High Street ; a chalybeate spring is at a short

distance from the town ; and the pi/rites aureus^ or golden

lire-stone, is frequently found in digging wells.

Population of the borongh, 12,768; acreage, 4634. Popu-
lation of the civil parish, 3639 ; acreage, 81. The living is

a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of Neithrop, in the

diocese of Oxford
;
gross yearly value, £287 with residence, in

the gift of the Bishop of Oxford. South Banbury, or Christ

Church, is a separate charge, a vicarage of the net value of

£290 with residence, also iu the patronage of the Bishop of

Oxford.

Banbury ParUamenta-nj Division, or North Oxford^ was
formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, and
returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

43,862. The division includes the following :—Banbury and
Bloxham—Adderbury (East). Adderbury (West), Alkerton,

Barford (St John), Bloxham, Boddicot, Bourton, Broughton,
Clattercote, Claydon, Cropredy, Drayton, Epwell, Hanwell,

Horley, Homton, Milcomb, Milton, MoUington, Neithrop,

Newington (North), Prescot, Shennington, Shutford (East),

Shutford (West), Sibford Ferris, Sibford Gower, Swalclitfe,

Tadmarton, Wardington, Wigginton, Wroxton ; Chadling-

ton—Ascot-under-Wychwood, Bruern, Chadlington, Charl-

bury, Chastleton, Churchill, Cornbury Park, Corowell, En-
stone, Fawler, Fifield, Finstock, Heythrop and, Dunthrop,
Hooknorton, Idbury, Kingham, Langley, Leafield, Lyneham,
Milton, Over Norton, RoUright (Great), Rollright (Little),

Salford, Sarsden, Shipton-under-Wychwood, Shorthampton,
Spelsbury, Swerford, Whichwood ; Wootton (North)—Aston
(Middle), Aston (North), Aston (Steeple), Barford (Great),

Bai'ton (Steeple), Barton (^Vestcott), Deddington, Duns Tew,
Rousham, Sandford, Southnewington, Tew (Great), Tew
(Little), Worton (Nether), Worton (Over) ; Banbury, munici-

pal borough.

Banbury Lane, a very ancient roadway which runs

through the parish of Sulgrave, Northampton.

Banchorium. See Bangor-Iscoed.
Bangor, a city, a municipal borough, and a parish iu

Carnarvonshire, and a diocese in CarnaiTonshire, Anglesey,

Merionethshire, and Montgomeryshire. The city stands adja-

cent to the Chester and Holyhead section of the L. & N.W.R.,
near- the river Cegid, which empties itself into the sea at Port

Penrhyn, in a naiTow fertile vale, near the Slenai Strait at its

opening to the Lavan sands, 8^ miles NNE of Carnarvon,

18 SW of Llandudno, and 60 W of Chester. Bangor is 239
miles from London, and is a junction for three lines of rail-

way, the main line between London and Holyhead, a branch
to Carnan'on, and a branch to Bethesda. Rocks and heights

overlook it, and command magnificent views over coast and
mountain, away to Great Orme's Head and Snowdon. The
environs include Beaumaris Bay, the Menai and Britannia

Bridges, Penrhyn Castle, and the slate quaiTies at Bethesda.

The name is a corruption of Ban Chor, signifying the " high

choir " (some derive the name from Lat, bonus chorus, *' good
choir "), and, in contradistinction to Bangor-Iscoed or Bangor-
Monachorum, was formerly written Bangor-Fawr, signifying

Bangor the Great. A giit stone, 16 inches long, bearing an
inscription in honour of Antoninus Pius, was found in 1806
at Ty Coch, about 2 miles distant, and has suggested the

probability that the Romans had some settlement in the neigh-

bourhood. The scattered remains of a British camp exist on
the top of a hill on the N side of the city, and slight traces

of a strong castle, erected in the reign of William Rufus by
Hugh, Earl of Chester, occur on the summit of a steep rock,

opposite Friar's School. A college was founded in 525 on
the site of the cathedx-al by St Deiuiol or Daniel, and this

most probably gave rise to the city. The place seems never

to have acquired more than the bulk of a village before the

early yeai-s of the 19th century, and then it had only ninety-

three houses ; but in consequence of its situation on the main
road to Holyhead, the construction of the bridges over the

Straits, the opening of the railway, the proximity of the great

slate quarries, and the nish of strangers to enjoy the scenery

of Wales, it has become a considerable and very thriving town,
with crowded influx of tourists and temporary residents.

The old town consists chiefly of one nanow street, between
the station and the harbour, neaily a mile long, in a waving
line, between two ridges of rock. On the hill to the north-
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west of the old or lower town is situated the modern suburb

of Upper Bangor, with many good villas. Garth and Hirael

are two suburbs lying near the harbour, inhabited chiefly by

fishermen. Between Upper Bangor and Garth are the SiHwen
Baths.

The cathedral is small, and wants effect from the low-

nees of Its site, yet contains some good architectural de-

tails. No traces remain of the original foundation of St

Deiniol, the first bishop, to whom the present cathedral is

dedicated. It was destroyed in 1071 by the English; dila-

pidated, about 1247, in the wars between Henry HI. and

the Welsh; burnt down in 1402, during the troubles which

followed the revolt of Owen Glendower; and remained for

more than ninety years in a state of ruin. The present pile,

which was restored by Sir Gilbert Scott between 1866 and

1875, is cruciform, with a central and a western tower. The
choir is Perpendicular Enghsh, and was built in 1496. The
nave and the western tower were built from 1509 to 1532.

The nave is 114 feet long, and has six Perpendicular arches.

All the windows are of the Decorated style. The restoration

of the nave was completed iu 1882. Gryflfydd-ap-Cynau,

Prince of North Wales, and his celebrated successor, Owen
Gwynedd, were buried in this cathedral. Two 14th century

tombs, one of which is probably that of Bishop Anian, occupy

either side of the chob. The episcopal palace stands on a

low secluded spot, a little N of the cathedral, and is an edifice

of the eaily part of the 16th century, much altered, plain,

and commodious. The deanery is adjacent.

There are three churches, St James', in Upper Bangor,

St Mary's, iu the lower town, and St David's, in the west

end, and chapels for Roman Catholics, Baptists, Wesleyans,

Calvinistic Methodists, Congregationalists,and Presbyterians.

The grammar school was founded in 1557 by Dr Jeffrey

Glynn, brother of Bishop Glynn, on the site of a Dominican
priory. The University College of North Wales, situated

near Port Penrhyn, was opened in 1884; the Normal Col-

lege, in Upper Bangor, was built in 1862 for the educa-

tion of teachers for the schools of the British and Foreign

Society. In 1893 the North Wales Church Training College,

for 60 students, was built ; the biulding is a handsome edi-

fice of the Late Tudor Gothic of the collegiate type, and stands

on the summit of the rising gi'ound overlooking the city, near

the railway station. There are also theological colleges of

the Congi'egationalists and Baptists. There is a museum in

the High Street containing curiosities collected by Capt. Jones,

and presented by him to the city; a library and news-room is

attached. Other public buildings are the maiket hall, the

Penrhyn Hall, the masonic hall, the county police station, the

workhouse, the infirmary, and almshouses. The recreation

grounds, presented to the city by Lord Penrhyn, occupy the

steep gorse-covered hiU south of the High Sti-eet ; they are

pleasantly laid out, and command a good view of Penrhyn

Castle and the Menai Straits. An industrial training ship lies

in the Straits between Bangor and Anglesey. The city has

a head post office, three banks, and publishes several weekly

newspapers. Its chief trade consists in the export of slates,

raised in Lord Penrhyn's quan'ies at Bethesda, and brought

on a railway to Port Penrhyn, at the mouth of the Cegid.

Port Penrhyn has a quay upwards of 300 yards long, and is

accessible at certain states of the tide by vessels of from 200 to

300 tons. A manufacture of slates is carried on. Steam
vessels ply to Liverpool, caUing at Beaumaris and Llan-

dudno. From Garth Point there is a ferry across the

Straits. Markets are held on Fridays. The JIayor and the

Town Council are the local authority ; the town is well

drained, and well supplied with water. The municipal

borough was incorporated in 1883 ; it is co-extensive with

the city, and is divided into four wards. It is a seat of

petty sessions and the county court. It forms one of the

Carnarvon gi-oup of parliamentai7 boroughs. Population of

municipal borough, 9892 ; of pailiamentary borough, 9939.

The pai'ish includes also the village of Tynlon. Acreage,

6504 of land with 309 of water; population of the civil parish,

12,261 ; of the ecclesiastical, 8435. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Bangor, held jointly by two vicars ; net

value, £225. Patron, the Bishop of Bangor. Pentir, with

Glasinfryn and St David's, are two sepai'ate ecclesiastical

districts; net value, about £450 with one residence. A new
cemetery is about a mile from the town.
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The diocese comprehends all Anglesey, most of Carnar-
vonshire, and Merionethshire, and part of Montgomery-
shire. Population, 215,966. The see was fomided in 550.

Tlie first bishop was St Deiniol, the founder of the college.

The bishop, in the time of Edward I., was Anian, who bap-
tized the young Prince Edward, and wrote a folio volume,

which is preserved in the cathedral library. A bishop in

the time of George I. was Hoadley, who preached a sermon
which gave rise to a long and famous dispute, known as the

Bangorian controversy. Two other distinguished bishops

were Sherlock and Hening. The cathedral establishment

consists of bishop, dean, chancellor, two archdeacons, four

canons residentiary, two prebendaries, three canons, and two
minor canons. The income of the bishop is £4200 ; of the

dean, £700 ; of each of the canons residentiary, £350. The
other members receive no pay. The archdeaconries ai'e

Bangor and Merioneth.

Bangor, Cardiganshire. See Capel-Bangor.
Bangor-Iscoed, or Bangor-Monachorum, a village in

Flintshire, and a parish partly also in Denbighshire. The
village lies on the river Dee, in an open fertile country, 6^
miles SE of Wrexham. It has a post office, of the name of

Bangor-Is-y-Coed, under Wrexham, and a bridge of fivearches

on the Dee. It was the Koman Banchorium or Bovium, and
the Saxon Bancornaburg, and it anciently had a large monas-
tery, said to have been founded pre^us to the year 180, by

Lucius, son of Coel, the first Christian king of Britain. The
monks increased in number to 2400, of whom 1200 were

massacred in 607 by King Ethelfritli of Korthumbria.

Gildas Nennius, who lived in the 7th century, and wrote a

history of Britain which is still extant, was one of the

abbots. The ruins of many churches and of other extensive

buildings are described by William of Miilmesbury as existing

soon after the Conquest ; but these, and all other traces of the

ancient monastery, have long ago disappeared. The parish

includes also the townships of Eyton, Royton, Pickhill, and
Sesswick. Acreage, 2124; population, 664. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value, £381
with residence. Patron, the Duke of Westminster. The
church, which dates from the 14th century, has been re-

stored, and contains an ancient octagonal font.

Bangor-Teifi, a parish in Cardiganshire, on the river Teifi,

IJ mile NW of Llandyssil station on the G.W.R., and 7

miles E of Llandyssil, which is the post town. Acreage,

1460
;
population, 188. The living is a rectory united with

Henllan, in the diocese of St David's ; net value, £160 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of St David's. The chmch
is good.

Banham, a parish in Norfolk, 2J miles SW of New Bucken-
ham, and 3J E of Eccles Road station on the G.E.R. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Attic-

borough. Acreage, 3994
;
population, 1059. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £930 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is a
beautiful building of flint in the Perpendicular style, and
there are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, a public

school, and charities amounting to £123.

Bankfoot. See Bradford.
Bankland. a hamlet m North Petherton parish, Somerset,

fi^ miles NE of Taunton.

Bank-Newton, a township in Gargrave parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, on the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, 6 miles W by

N of Skipton. Acreage, 2339
;
population, SO.

Bank Quay. See Warrington.
Banks, an ecclesiastical parish formed from North Meols

pai'ish, Lancashire, 5 miles NE of Southport, with a station

on tlie West Lancashire railway. The living is a vicarage

of the v.alue of £240, in the gift of the rector of Nojth
Meols. There are a Primitive Methodist chapel and two
schools. It has a post and money order office under South-

port. Chief industries, fishing and agriculture. The acre-

age is being largely added to by an enclosure from the estuary

of the Kibble. Population, 1326.

Bank Top, a village in the township of Sharpies with

Astley Bridge, in Bolton-le-Moors p.arish, Lancashire, 4|
miles NNW of Bolton.

Bank Top, a colliery village in ShinclitTe parish, Durham.
There is a Jlethodist (New Connexion) chapel. Post and
money order office, ShincUife ; telegi-aph office, Durham.
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Baimagor Crags, picturesque rugged cliffs, amid a grand

landscape on the river Wye, 3 miles N by W of Chepstow,

filonmouthshire.

Bannel, a township in Hawarden parish, Flintshure, 4^
miles E of Mold.

Banner-Cross. See Sheffield.
Bannerdown, a tract containing the meeting-point of

Wilts, Gloucester, and Somerset. The point is IJ mile NW
of the Box Tunnel of the G.W.R., and 4| miles W of Cois-

ham. It was marked, for upwards of a century, by three small

stones, but is now indicated by a cromlech, set up in 1858.

Banningham, a parish in Norfolk, on a tributary of the

river Bure, 2 miles NE of Aylsham Town station on the

Eastern and Midland railway. It has a post office under

Aylsham, the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

938; population, 249. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Norfolk; gross value, £309 with residence. The church

is an ancient building of flint in the Perpendicular style.

Bannium. See Abertscir.
Banstead, a village and a parish in Surrey. The village

stands under the SW side of Banstead Downs, 4 miles E of

Epsom, on the L.B. & S.C.R., 16 miles from London. The
parish comprises 5557 acres

;
population of the civil parish,

4560 ; of the ecclesiastical, 3913. It is within the juris-

diction of the Metropolitan police. The London County

Lunatic Asylum, situated on the Banstead Downs, was
opened in 1877. It is a large structure of white brick, and
will accommodate 2000 patients. Banstead Downs rise to

the height of 576 feet, command extensive views, and are

famous for coursing, for hunting, and for fine sheep pastur-

age. Here, said Pope

—

" To nounslow Heath I point, and Banstead Down,
Thence comes your mutton and these chicks my own."

The living is a vicai'age in the diocese of Winchester ; net

value, £150 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Egmont.

The church is chiefly Perpendicular English ; has a good

tower, sm-mountcd by a tall spire ; stands on high ground,

and serves well, for miles round, as a landmark. Banstead

has a post, money order, and telegi'apb ofiice under Epsom.

Bantham, a hamlet in Thurlestone parish, Devon, on the

river Avon, J a mile above its mouth, and 4J miles W of

Ivingsbridge.

Banwell, a village and a parish in Somerset. The village

stands under Banwell Hill, at the NW extremity of the

Mendip range, 4 miles NNW of Axbridge, with a station

called Sandford and Banwell, on the Cheddar Valley branch

of the G.W.R. A fair is lield at it on 18 January, or on

the following Monday. A monastery was founded here by

some early Saxon king ; had for one of its abbots Asserius

or Asser, the biographer of King Alfred ; was destroyed by

the Danes, and afterwards restored, but seems to have given

place to an Episcopal palace, and ceased to be monastic

long before the dissolution of monasteries. A mineral well

in the vicinity expands into a lakelet, di-ives two mills, and

sends off a rivulet to the Bristol Channel near Woodspring

priory. The parish contains also the hamlets of Knightcot,

East and West Kolston, Towerhead, Westwick and Waywick,

Woolfords-hiU, and Yai-borongh. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. The acreage is 4974; popu-

lation of the ci\il parish, 1684; of the ecclesiastical, 1579.

On Banwell Hill is an obelisk erected by Bishop Law of

Bath and Wells. The manor has belonged, since the time

of Edwai'd the Confessor, to the bishops of Bath and Wells.

A palace was built on it by Bishop Beckington, but went

into neglect. It has been rebuilt and turned into a large

house called the Abbey. The old chapel belonging to it has

been restored. Two remarkable caverns, discovered in

1824, and which now attract many visitors, occur on the

skirts of Banwell Hill ; the one, called the Stalactite Cavern,

presenting many beautiful specimens of translucent stalac-

tites ; the other, called the Bone Cavern, found to have

contained many bones of bears, buffaloes, deer, wolves, foxes,

and other animals, mingled with diluvium. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells
;
gross value,

£563 and residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Bristol. The church is Later English, and has a richly-carved

screen, a finely sculptured stone pulpit, a circular font, and

three brasses. There is a Wesleyan chapel.
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Bapchild. a rillage and a parish in Kent. The village

stands near the KC. & D.K,, 1 mile ESE of Sittiugbourne,

unJer which it has a post office. It probably was the Saxon

Bachancild, where Wihtred, king of Kent, in 694, held his

great council for the repairing of churches. The parish

comprises an area of 1081 acres; population, 347. The

manor belonged to the Crown in the time of King John, and

was then given to Chichester Cathedral. A small oratory

stood by the wayside, as a resting-place for pilgi'ims en route

to Canterbury, but has disappeared. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Canterbury ; net value, .£200 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Chichester. The church

consists of nave, north aisle, two chancels, and a square

tower, is principally Norman, but contains many parts in

various dates of English, and is in good condition.

Bapton, a hamlet in the parish of Fishcrton-de-la-Mare,

Wills, ,SJ miles SE of Heytesbuiy.

Barber and Cockle Shoals, two shoals off Caistor, north

of Yarmouth Harbour, Norfolli. They separate Hemesby
Gat from Cockle Gat, and are both well buoyed.

Barbon, a township in Kirkby-Lonsdale parish, West-

moreland, on the river Lune and the Ingleton branch of the

L. & N.W.R., under Barton Fell, 3 miles NNE of Kirkby-

Lonsdale. It has a station on the railway, and includes the

hamlet of Beckfoot. There is a post, money order, and

telegraph office. Acreage, 4261
;

population, 313. The
living is a vicai'age in the diocese of Carlisle; net value,

£220. Patron, the Vicar of Kirkby-Lonsdale.

Barboume, an ecclesiastical parish partly in South

Claines parish, Worcestershire, and partly a suburb of the

city of Worcester. Population, 3065. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Worcester; value, X350. The church

of St Stephen, erected in 1862, is a handsome edifice built

in tiie Decorated style.

Barbury, a hill at the northern extremity of Marlborough

Downs, 5 miles S of Swindon, Wilts. It is a culminating

height of the county, amid wild lonely downs, and commands
an extensive view. A long and obstinate battle was fought

on it, in 556, between the Saxons under Cynric and the

Britons, which led to the annexation of Wilts to Essex. On
it is a well-preserved British camp called Barbury Castle,

about 2000 feet in diameter, with double ditch and rampart.

Barby, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire. The
village stands near the Oxford Canal, 1^ mile from Kilsby

station on the L. & N.W.R., and 4J miles SE of Rugby

;

it has a post office under Rngby, lulsby being the money
order and telegraph ofBce. The parish is called also Barby-

with-Onley. Acreage, 3469
;
population, 502. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £547
with residence. The church is ancient, the earliest portions

dating from the 12th century. There is also a Congregational

chapel.

Barcheston. a village and a parish in Warwickshire.

The village stands on the verge of the county, at the river

Stour, less than a mile SE of Shipston-on-Stour, and 7 miles

from Moreton-in-the-Marsh station on the G.W.R., and was

a place of some consequence at the Conquest. The parish

includes also the hamlet of Willington, and its post town is

Shipston-on-Stour. Acreage, 1555 ;
population, 161. The

manor was purchased, in the reign of Henry VII., by William

Willington, and passed to the family of Sheldon. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £125 with

residence. The church is Early English, built in 1281, and

contains a good example of a priest's chamber (domus inclusa)

attached to the tower, a monument of 1655 to the Willington

family, two curious brasses, a black-letter copy of Erasmus'

Paraphrase of the Scriptm-es, chained to the bench, and some
old communion plate.

Barcombe, a parish, with a village, in Sussex, situated

on the river Ouse, 4 miles N of Lewes, with two stations,

one on the East Grinstead branch of the L.B. & S.C.R.,

close to the village, called Barcombe station ; the other,

called Barcombe Jlills, on the Uckficld branch, and about

a mile from the village. Acreage of parish, 5032; popu-
lation, 1068. There is a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Lewes. Conyboro' and Barcombe Place and
Sutton Hall are chief residences. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £484 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. There are two churches—St
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JIary's, the old parish chnrcli, which was restored and en-

larged in 1879, ou what has probably been the site of the

palish church for 1000 years; .and St Bartholomew's, a

chapel of ease, built in 1878. There is a reading room with

a good library.

Barden, a township in Hauxwell parish, N. R. Yorkshire,

3^ miles NE of Leyburn station on the N. E.R. It includes

the hamlet of Barden-Dykes. Acreage, 1779
;
population, 76.

Barden, a township in Bolton Abbey parish, W. R. York-

shire, in Wharfedale. It includes the hamlet of Drebley.

The post town and nearest railway station is Bolton Abbey.

Acreage, 7138
;
population, 173. The Duke of Devonshire

is lord of the manor and sole landowner. Most of the surface

is moor and fell, and was anciently a forest. Barden Tower,

built by Henry Clifford, " the Shepherd Lord," after his

restoration to his property and titles, a plain structm-e in the

Tudor style, was in good repair so late as 1774, and is now
a picturesque rnin. A chapel of the same age, attached to

an adjacent farmhouse, is still in use. The Shepherd Lord,

as says the poet Wordsworth,

" Did not in wars delight

;

This Clifford wished for worthier might;
Nor in broad pomp, or courtly state

;

Him his own thoughts did elevate

—

Most happy iu the shy recess

Of Barden's lowly quietness.'*

Bardfield, Great, a small town and a p.arish iu Essex.

It stands on Blackwater river, 7 miles NW of Braintree station

on the G.E.R. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Braintree, a town-hall, pohce station, and a fair

on 22 June, and is a scat of petty sessions. The parish

comprises 3666 acres
;
population of the civil pai-ish, 956 ;

of the ecclesiastical, 931. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St Albans; net value, £145. The chui'ch is an

ancient building of stone in mixed styles. There is a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel, a Friends' meeting-house, and some
small charities.

Bardfield, Little, a village and a parish in Dunmow
union, Essex, on the south bank of the river Blaclcwater,

10 miles E by N from Elsenham station on the G.E.R.

,

and 10 NW from Braintree. Acreage, 1808
;
population

of the civil parish, 268 ; of the ecclesiastical, 293. Post

town, Braintree; money order and telegi-aph office. Great

Bardfield. The li\ing is a donative iu the diocese of St

Albiins ; net value, £78. The church is a small but very

ancient building of flint, consisting of chancel, nave, and south

aisle, with an embattled western tower. There are five en-

dowed almshouses.

Bardfield-Saling. See S.vling, Little.

Bardley, a township in Stottesdon parish, Salop, 3 miles

N of Cleobmy-Mortimer.

Bardney, a lai-ge \illage and a parish in Lincolnshure.

The village stands ou the river Witham, with a station

on the G.N.R. at the junction of the Louth and Lincoln

line, 9J miles E by S from Lincoln .and 129 from Lon-

don. It dates from ancient times, and was called by the

Saxons Bardanig or Bealthanig. The parish includes also

the hamlets of Southrey or Southrow, Snakeholme, and Bard-

ney Dairies. Acreage, 5423
;
population, 1378. There is a

post, money order, and telegi'aph oijiceunder Lincoln. An abbey

was founded about ^ a mile west of the village in 697, by
Ethelred, king of Mercia, who himself afterwards became
abbot of it till his death. It is s.aid to have had 300 monks,

but was destroyed m 870 by the Danes ; lay in ruins upwards
of 200 years ; "w.as rebuilt in the time of William the Con-
queror, for Benedictine monks, by Gilbert de Gaunt, Eaid of

Lincoln ; and passed at the dissolution to Sir Robert Tirwhit.

The later abbots were styled Lords of Lindsey, and were peers

in parliament. Not a vestige of the edifice now exists. A
Large baiTOW occm's in the ucighboui'hood, said to have been

the grave of King Ethelred, and is surmounted by a modern
cross erected to his memory. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lincoln; gi'oss yeai'ly viilue, £221 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Lincoln. The church, which dates pro-

bably from 1420, was restored in 1878. There are two

Wesleyan chapels and one Primitive Methodist.

Bardon, a hamlet in St Decumans parish, Somerset, 2

miles SW of Watchet.
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Bardon, or Bardon Park, is a parish in the mid division

of Leicestershire, 7 miles SE from Ashby de la Zouche, and

10 NW from Leicester. It has a station (Bardon Hill) on the

Leicester and Burton branch of the ILR. There are large

quarries here yielding granite for macadamising. There is

no chm-ch, but services are conducted in the Church of Eng-
land school. Bai'don Hall is a fine mansion. Acreage, 1252

;

population, 69. It has a post office under Leicester ; money
order office, Coalville; telegraph office, Bardon Hill (R.S.)

Bardon Hill here is a peak of the Charnwood Forest range,

has an altitude of 853 feet, and commands a panoramic view

said to include about one-fourth of England. Drayton suigs

of the dryads

" On Sharpley that were seen, and Cadman's ancient rocks.

Against the rising sun to braid tlieir silver locks.

And with the harmless elves on heathy Bardon's heif^ht,

By Cynthia's golden beams to play there night by niglit."

Bardon-Mill, a hamlet and a railway station in North-

nniberland, on the Newcastle and CarUsle railway, adjacent

to the South Tyne river, i miles W of Haydon Bridge. It

has a post and money order office under Carlisle ; telegraph

office, Haltwhistle. There is a Free Methodist chapel here
;

also a brick and tile manufactory.

Bardop, The, a rivulet of Northumberland, falling into

the Keed at Rochester, 6i- miles NW of Otterburn.

Bardsea, a village and an ecclesiastical parish formed from

Urswick parish, Lancashire, on Morecambe Bay, 3 miles S
by E of Ulverstone, and Ij mile from Priory station on the

I'urness railway. There is a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Ulverstone. Population of the parish, 251.

An hospital of the Knights of St John once stood here. The
lining is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle

;
gross value,

£H0. The church is modern Gothic. There is an endowed

school. Bardsea Hall, a handsome residence with a fine

park, is the seat of the Gale family.

Bardsey, a village and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire,

197 miles from London, with a station on the N.E.R. The

parish includes the townships of Bardsey-with- Rigton, Wother-

some,andpartof\Vike. Leeds is thepost town. Acreage, 2748;

population, 286 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 398. Bardsey

Grange was the birthplace of Congreve the poet and dramatist,

and was the occasional residence and the deathplace of Francis

Thorpe, the notorious Baron of the Exchequer. Castle Hill,

immediately behind the vicarage, was the site of a Roman
fort. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon

;
gross

value, £225 with residence. The church is very Early Nor-

man, in the north arcade rude and plain. The south arcade

pillars are possibly Saxon. The tower also, in the opinion

of many, is Saxon, but this may be doubtful. It is one of

the oldest churches in the county.

Bardsey Isle, an ext}a- parochial island in Carnarvonshire.

It lies at the NW extremity of Cardigan Bay, 2J miles S

by W of Braich-y-Pwll headland, 7 SW of Aberdaron, and

15SWot Pwllheli. The sound between it and Braich-y-

Pwll is swept by so strong a current in spring-tides as to

be called Bardsey Race. The island is nearly 2 miles long,

measures f of a mile at the north end, contracts into a

narrow headland on the south, and comprises 430 acres.

Part of it, on the north-east, is a high rugged hill, with

precipitous sea-face, but the rest is chiefly low fertile plain.

Population, 77. A lighthouse, built in 1821, and 108 feet

high, stands on- the southern headland, and shows a fixed

light, visible at the distance of 6 miles. The islanders are

employed variously in farming and fishing. The island is

called Ynys-Enlli by the Welsh, signifying "the island of

the current," in allusion to the tidal stream in the sound

;

but was called Bards-Y, or Bards' Island, by the Saxons,

whence its present name Bardsey, and Insula Sanctorum,

or the island of the saints, by the monks, in allusion to

its early ecclesiastical history. A monastery was founded

on it, prior to 516, by Cadvan, king of North Wales, and

became the retreat and the deathplace of Dubricius, arch-

bishop of Caerleon, and also the asylum of numerous refugees

from the massacre of the monks at Bangor-Is-y-Coed.

The bards allege that 20,000 saints were buried here, and

Fuller, in his "Worthies," remarks that "it would be more

facile to find graves in Bardsey for so many saints, than

saints for so many graves." There is a monument 9 feet

high, erected by Lord Newborough, to their memory. The
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monastery was reconstituted an abbey for canons in the 13th

century, but is now represented by only a fragment of its

church-tower. St Deiuiol, the first bishop of Bangor and

the founder of the original cathedral, was buried here in 584.

Bardsley, a village and an ecclesiastical district in Ashton-

nnder-Lyne parish, Lancashire, 2 miles N by W of Ashton.

It has a post office under Ashton-under-Lyne. The inhabit-

ants are employed chiefly in cotton factories, iron-works,

and coal-mines. Population of the ecclesiastical district,

3304. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Manchester

;

not value, £203 with residence. The church was built in

1844, and enlai-ged with a new chancel and organ chamber

in 1885. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bardwell, a village and a parish in Suffolk. The village

stands on a tributary of the Little Ouse river, 6i miles N of

Thurston station on the G.E.R., and 8J NE of Bury St Ed-
munds, and has a post and money order office under Bury St

Edmunds ; telegraph office, Ixworth. The parish comprises

3183 acres; population, 734. Some barrows occiu- on Bow-
beck Heath. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely

;

net yearly value, £520 with residence. Patron, St John's

College, Oxford. The church has a tower, stained glass windows,

and some good monuments, and was thoroughly renovated

in 1853. 'I'here are Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels,

and several ancient charities, which, under a scheme of the

Charity Commissioners in 1883, are equally divided between

the church, education, and the poor.

Bare, a village and a hamlet in Lancaster civil parish,

with a station at Bare Lane on the L. & N.W.R., 3 miles

NW of Lancaster. It has a post office under Lancaster,

and a chapel of ease served from the parish church of More-

cambe.

Barf, a bold, rugged hill, on the upper part of the west

side of Bassenthwaite water, Cumberland.

Barf- End, a hamlet in Melbecks township, Grinton parish,

near Reeth, N. R. Yorkshire.

Barford, a hamlet in Kingston-Lacy manor, Dorset, 3

miles W of Wimborne.

Barford, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the river

Yare, 5 miles NNW of Wymondham station on the G.E.R.,

and 8 W by S of Norwich. It has a post office under

Wymondham, which is the telegraph office ; money order

office, Barnham-Broom. Acreage, 1083
;

population, 363.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

gross

value, £288 with residence. The church is a building of flint

and rubble in mixed styles, and there are Wesleyan and

Primitive Methodist chapels.

Barford, formerly an extra-parochial tract, now a parish

in Northamptonshire, oi miles N from Kettering, and J mile

from Rusbton station on the M.R. The Glendon Iron Ore

Company have works here. Acreage, 410; population, 12.

The post town is Kettering, which is the money order and

telegraph office.

Barford, a village and a parish in Warwickshire. The
village stands on the river Avon amid pleasant environs, 3

miles S by W of Warwick, contains some fine houses, and

has a postal telegraph office under Warwick. The parish

comprises 1677 acres; population, 719. Barford House,

Barford Hall, and Watchbury House are the chief resi-

dences. There is a handsome stone bridge of 3 arches across

the Avon, The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worces-

ter; gross value, £640 with residence. The church was

rebuilt in 1844, hut includes the square tower of a previous

edifice, which belonged to the Abbey of Evesham. Dugdale

mentions a church about 1200. Oil the tower may still be

seen the marks of the cannon-balls of the Parliamentary

troops in the Civil War. The church was enlarged in 1884,

and contains several monuments of the Mills family. There

are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, and an

endowed school, founded about 1500.

Barford, Great, a parish in Bedfordshire, on the river

Ouse, 1 J mile NW from Blunbam station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 6 miles E by N of Bedford. It has a post and money
order office under St Neot's ; telegraph office, Blunbam.

Acreage, 2868; population, 746. The property is subdivided.

The river Ouse is here crossed by a bridge of about the

beginning of the 16th century, and was till lately navigable.

The living is a vicarage, annexed to Roxton, in the diocese

of Ely
;
gross value, £400 with residence. The church is
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modern, but the tower is Late Perpi'iulioular. There are a

Wesleyan chapel, a public elementary school, and several

useful charities.

Barford, Great, Oxford. See Barford St Michael.
Barford, Little, a parish in Bedfordshire, on the river

Ouse, and on the G.N.R., at the verge of the county, 3^ miles

S of St Neot's station. Post town, St Neot's, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1200; popu-

lation, 166. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Ely;

net yearly value, £260 with residence. The church is old

but good.

Barford, Little, Oxford. See Barford St John.
Barford St John, a chapelry formerly in Adderbury

palish, Uxfoidsliire, on a tributary of the river Cherwell,

2;^ miles WNW of Deddlngton, and 1^ mile from Bloxham
station on the G.W.R. Deddington under Oxford is the post

town ; money order and telegraph office, Bloxham. Acx-eage,

726; population, 102. The living is a perpetual curacy,

joined by Order in Council in 1890 to Barford St Michael,

in the diocese of Oxfoyd. The church is ancient, and has a

Norman door and an Pearly Nonnan font.

Barford St Martin, a parish in Wilts, on the river

Naddar, 3 miles W of Wilton station on the G.W.R. and
L. & S.W.R., and 5^ W by N of Salisbury. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office, under Salisbury. Acreage,

2699
;
population of the civil parish, 514 ; of the ecclesiasti-

cal, 447. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbnry
;

net value, £278 with residence. Patron, All Souls' College,

Oxford. The church is good, and there is a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Barford St Michael or Great Barford, a parish and a

village in Oxfordshire, on tlie river Swere, 5^ miles SW of

Banbury, and 2 S from Bloxham station on the G.W.R.
Post town, Oxford via Deddington, which is the money order

and telegraph ofiice. Acreage, 1134; population, 295.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford
;
gross value,

£192 with residence. The church is Early English, with

fine Norman door. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Barforth, a township in Forcett parish, N. R. Yorkshire,

on the river Tees, 2^ miles from Forcett. The Earl of Hare-

wood is lord of the manor. Acreage, 1738
;
population,

121.

Barfreston or Barston, a parish in Kent, near Shep-

herd's Well station on the L.O. & D.R., and Gi miles N\V
of Dover. Acreage, 497 ;

population, 104. Post town, Dover;

money order and telegi'aph office, Shepherd's Well. The manor
belonged eaily to the see of Canterbury, and passed in 1081

to Hugh de Port, constable of Dover. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Canterbury; gross value, £152 with

residence. Patron, St John's College, Oxford. The church

consists of nave and chancel, separated by a circular arch
;

is one of the most remarkable structures of its class in

England ; and exhibits rich exterior decorations, in corbels,

wreaths, and other sculptures.

Bargoed, a village in Bedwellty parish with a station on

the Rhynmey railway, on the border of Monmouthshire and
Glamorganshire, 18^ miles N of Cardiif. It has a post office

under Cardiff, and is 3 miles from the telegraph office at

New Tredegar. There is a church dedicated to St Gwlady,

to which a new nave was added in 1893. There is also a

Welsh Baptist chapel.

Barham, a parish in Huntingdonshire, on a tributary of

the river Ouse, 7 miles WNW of Huntingdon, and 4^ N
of Graff'ham station on the M.R. Spaldwick is the post

town and money order office; telegi-aph office, Ellington.

Acreage, 742 ;
population, 57. The living is a vicarage,

consolidated in 1868 with that of Spaldwick, in the gift

of the Bishop of Ely.

Barham, a village, a parish, and downs in Kent. The
village stands in a valley, under the downs, about 3J miles

SW of Adisham, on the S.E.R., SE of Canterbury, and
76 from London. There is a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Canterbury. The parish comprises 4698
acres; population, 1014. The subsoil is chiefly chalk. The
manor belonged early to the see of Canterbury, and was held

by Reginald Fitzurse, one of Thomas ii Becket's murderers,

and afterwards by Fitzurse's descendants till the time of

.James I. The principal residences are Broome Park, the seat

of the Oxenden family, and Barham Court, the seat of the
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Dering family. Theliving is a rectory in the diocese of Canter-

bury; gross value, £750 with residence. Patron, the Arch-

bishop of Canterbury. The church is Early Decorated English,

and has a lofty spire and some neat monuments. It was

well restored in 1886. Digges the mathematician had con-

nection with the parish, and Admiral Sir T. Thomson was a

native. The downs extend from SE to NW along the line

of Watling Street, and are about 3 miles long. Numerous
ban'ows are on them, of times from early British to later

Saxon, showing them to have been scenes of many ancient

public events. King John with his army of 60,000 men
encamped on them in 1213, prior to resigning the crown;

Simon de Montford assembled his troops on them in the

time of Henry HI., to oppose the landing of Queen Eleanor;

Queen Henrietta Mai'ia, after her landing at Dover in 1625,

was met on them by the flower of the English nobility;

lastly, several regiments lay posted on them in the time of

Napoleon Bonaparte, to oppose his threatened invasion from

Boulogne. Traces of the camp of these regiments, and also

a small square ancient camp, still exist.

Barham, a village and a pai-ish in Suffialk, on the river

Gipping, 1^ mile NE of Claydon station on the G.E.R., and

5 miles N of Ipswich. Money order and telegraph office,

Claydon, under Ipswich. Acreage, 1802
;
population, 458,

which included 85 in the workhouse. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Nonvich ; value, £290 with residence.

The church is good. Shrubland Park and Barham Hall,

two fine country seats, are in this parish. The workhouse

for Bosmere and Claydon union is here.

Barham Court, a manor on the river Medway, near East

Farleigh railway station, 4J miles SW of Maidstone, Kent.

It belonged to Reginald Fitzurse, the proprietor of Barnham
manor in Bridge distiict in the time of A'Becket; continued

with his descendants, the De Berhams, till the time of James
I.

;
passed to successively the Botilers, the Bouveries, and

Sir Charles Middleton, who was created Lord Barham ; de-

scended to Lord Barham 's grandson, the Earl of Gainsborough;

and is now the property of the Leigh family. The mansion

on it is modern.

Barholme, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the Glen river, 1

J

mile N from Tallington station on the G.N.R., and 3^ miles

^VNW of Market - Deeping. Acreage, 1104; population,

188. Stamford is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Greatford. The benefice is a vicarage, united with the

vicarage of Stowe, in the diocese of Lincoln
;

gi'oss value,

£132 with residence. Patrons, the tnistees of Oakham and
Uppingham schools. The church is small, but ancient and
interesting.

Baripper, a locality 1 mile from Camborne, Corawall,

with a post office under that town.

Barkby, a township and a parish in Leicestershire. The
township lies ou an afliuent of the river Wreak, Ij mile S
by E of Syston station on the M.R., and 4^ miles NE of

Leicester, and it includes the hamlet of Hambleton, The
parish contains also the hamlet of Barkby-Thorpe. It has

a post office under Leicester ; money order and telegraph

office, Syston. Acreage, 2299
;
population of the civil parish,

631 ; of the ecclesiastical, 690. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross value, £127 with resi-

dence. The church is large and was built in 1350. There

are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Barkestone, a pleasant village and a parish in Leicester-

shire, in the Vale of BelvoJr. It is 9 miles from Grantham,

1^ mile from Redmill station on the G.N.R., and 4 miles

from Harby and Stathern station on the G.N. R. and L. &
N.W.R. It has a post office under Nottingham; money
order office, Bottesford ; telegi'aph office, Harby and Bottes-

ford. Acreage, 2087 ;
population, 329. The linng is a

vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough
;

gi'oss value, £100
with residence. Patron, the Duke of Rutland. The church

is a fine building of stone, and there are an endowed school

and several useful charities.

Barkham, a village and a parish in Berks, on a small

affluent of the Loddon, 2J miles SW of Wokingham railway

station. Post town, Wokingham ; money order and telegraph

office, Arborfield. Acreage, 1388
;

population, 284. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford, and was held

in conjunction with Arborfield in the 17th century; net

yearly value, £247 with residence. The church was re-
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built in 18G2. Amongst its learned rectors may be men-
tioned Dr John Gabriel (1768-82) and David Davies (1782-
1819), the author of an important work, "The Agricultural
Labourers Question." The manor house is a pleasantly

situated mansion of red brick.

Barking, a village and a parish in Suffolk. The village

stands 1^ mile SW of Needham-Market, on the road to

Iladleigli. The parish contains also the hamlet of Darmsdeu
and the town of Needham-Miuket, the latter of which has
a railway station and a head post office. Acreage, 3133

;

population of the civil parish, 1730 ; of the ecclesiastical,

417. The living is a rectory, united with the curacy of

Barmsden, in the diocese of Norwich
;

gi-oss yearly value,

£645 with residence, in the gift of the Asliburnham family.

The perpetual curacy of Needham-Market is a separate charge.

Barking or Berking, a town and a parish in Essex.

The town stands on a rich flat tract, on the river Roding, 2
miles N of the Thames, and 7 E of London. Its name is a

corruption of Bm-g-ing, signifying the " fortification in the

meadow," and seems to allude to an ancient entrenchment,

enclosing upwards of 48 acres, and still traceable. The
town rose to unportance in 670, by the fomiding at it of an

extensive abbey for Benedictine nuns, and it was the resi-

dence of William the Conqueror dm-ing the erection of the

Tower of London, and the place where the Earls of Mercia

and Northumberland and many other nobles swore fealty to

him on the restoration of their estates. The abbey was
founded by Erkenwald, Bishop of London ; destroyed in

870 by the Danes ; rebuilt by King Edgar
;
governed after

his death by his queen, and at other tunes by a long series

of royal or noble ladies ; served throughout all its duration

as a prime seminary of the gentiy of England ; and passed

at the dissolution to Edward, Lord Clinton. Nothmg now
remains of it except a gateway at the entrance to the present

churchyard, a squai'e embattled structm*e, with an octagonal

tmi'et at one corner, whose upper part is a room, formerly

called the Chapel of the Holy Rood, having large windows
in Perpendicular English. The parish chm'ch, which stands

near the site of the abbey church, is built of Kentish rag,

and possesses some Norman and Early English features. It

has numerous tine monuments and brasses, some lancet lights

in the chancel, and a cm-ious niche in the NW of the nave.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans ; net

value, £302 with residence, in the gift of All Souls College,

Oxford. A new church, dedicated to St Paul, was erected in

1893. The market-house or toi\m-hall is a timbered edifice

of the time of Queen Elizabeth. The town has a station on

the London, Tilbury, and Southend railway, a head post,

money order, and telegi'aph office, Roman Catholic, Baptist,

Brethren, Congregational, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan

chapels, eight schools, and charities worth about £300 a year.

The weekly market, formerly held on Saturday, is now almost

extinct; and the fair, which used to be held on 23 Oct., has

been abolished. Tlie inhabitants are chiefly market-gardeners,

gas workers at Beckton, artisans whose work is in London,

and labourers at the chemical manure works in the neigh-

bourhood. The creek of the Roding bears the name of

Barldng Creek, and has a convenient wharf and a magazine.

The parish of Barking is under the jm^sdiction of the

Metropolitan police, and is governed by a local board of nine

members formed in 1882. It was sepai'ated from Ilford in

1888 by Act of Parliament, but the sub-district includes

Rippleside, a district consisting of a number of scattered

fanns extending from 1 to 3 miles E. The pai-ish contains

3814 acres of land and 311 of water and foreshore; popu-

lation of the civil paiish, 14,301; of the ecclesiastical,

14,412. Most of the tract between the railway and the

Thames is a fertile meadowy flat, called Barking Level,

disposed in giazing gi'ound for black cattle, and protected

from liigh tides in the Thames by an unmense embankment.

This work, as originally constructed, gave way in 1707,

with the effect of about 5000 acres being inundated; but

it was repaired and strengthened at a cost of about £40,000.

The contiguous reach of the Thames bears the name of Bark-

ing Reach, is 1^ mile long, and has, in the middle, a dangerous

shoal of 5 furlongs, called Barking Shelf, on which the

Grampus of 54 guns was wrecked in 1799. The main out-

fall of the North London Main Drainage Sewer is constructed

on lands in Bai'king pai'ish, covering an ai*ea of 16 to 17
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acres, with immense engine houses, settling tanks, and a

reservoir capable of holding 39,000,000 gallons of sewage,

the whole of which is precipitated by chemical means, the

effluent being discharged into the river, and the sludge can'ied

by steamers out to sea. Eastbury House, about a mile ESE
of the town, is an old brick building, said by some to have

been the residence of Lord Monteagle, and alleged by tradi-

tion to have been the place where the Gunpowder Plot was

revealed to him.

Barking-Side, a village and au ecclesiastical parish in

Great Ilford civil p.ai-ish, Essex. The village is 3 miles N
from Ilford station on the G.E.R., and 4 N from Barking. It

has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office under Ilford.

Population, 3464. The livuig is a ricarage in the diocese of

St Albans ; net yearly value, £170, in the gift of the Vicar

of Great Ilford. The church, erected in 1840, is a building

of brick in the Norman style. There is a village home here

for neglected and destitute children conducted by Dr Bar-

nardo, and there are a Free Methodist chapel and a Gospel

Mission Hall.

Barkisland, a township and a parish foiTned from Hali-

fax parish, W. R. Yorkshire, having a station of the L. & Y.R.

in the township, 6 miles SSW of Halifax. It includes part

of the chapelry of Ripponden, and has a post office under

Halifax. Acreage, 2421 ;
population of the township, 1835 ;

of the ecclesiastical parish, 1272. The inhabitants are

chiefly employed in woollen and cotton factoiies, and there

are also quao'ies. There is a Diiiidical circle, called the

Wolf Fold. The li\ing is a vicarage in the diocese of Wake-
field

;
gross value, £140. Patron, the Vicar of Halifax. The

chm'ch is good. There is a Board of Health here, a Wes-
leyan chapel, and an endowed school with accommodation

for 200 children.

Barksdon-Green, a village in Herts, 2 miles SW of

Buntin^Lcfurd.

Barkston-Ash, a township in Sherbum parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, l^mile Wof Church-Fentou station on the N.E.R.,

and 4 miles S of Tadcaster, which is the post town. Sher-

burn (1^ mile) is the money order and telegi'aph office.

Popnl.ation, 276. There is a chapel of ease and a Wesleyan
chapel here.

Barkston-Ash Parliamentari/ Division (W.R. Yorkshire)

was foiTued under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and
retmiis one member to the House of Commons. Popula-

tion, 48,470. The division includes the following:—Bark-

ston-Ash (Lower)—Barlow, Birkin, Brayton, Bm'U, Bm'ton

Salmon, Byi*am-cum-Poole, Camblesforth, Carlton, Cawood,
Chapel Haddlesey, Drax, Drax (Long), Gateforth, Haddlesey

(\Yest), Hambleton, Hillam, Hirst Conrtnay, Monk Fiystone,

Newland, Ryther-cum-Ossendike, Selby, Sutton, Temple
Hirst, Thorpe Willoughby, Wistow ; Barkstone-Ash (Upper,

p.art of)—Barkston, Biggin, Church-Fenton, Fenton (Little),

Huddleston-cum-Lumby, Lead, Lotherton-cum-Aberford,
Micklefield, Milford (South), Newthorpe, Saxton-cum-Scarth-

ingwell, Sherburn ; Sk}Tack (part of)—Aberford, Addle-

cum-Eccup, Alwoodley, Ansthorpe, Barwick-in-Elmet, Gar-
forth, Parhngton, Preston (Great and Little), Roundhay,

Scaixroft, Seacroft, Shadwell, Sturton Grange, Smllingtou,

Temple Newsam, Thorner, Thorpe Stapleton, Wigton, Wike;
Tadcaster (part of)— Grimston, Kirkby-Wliarf-with-Milford,

Newton-Kyme-with-Tonlston, Stutton-with-Hazlewood, Tad-
caster (West), Towton, Ulleskelf; Wetherby (part of)

—

Bardsey-cum-Rigton, Bramham-cum-Oglethorpe, Clifford-

cum-Boston, Collingham, Cowthorpe, Dunkeswick, East

Keswick, Harewood, Kereby-vrith-Netherby, Kirk Deighton,

Linton, Micklethwaite, North Deighton, Ribston (Little),

Sicklinghall, Spofiforth (including Stockeld), Wetherby,
WotlH^rsnnio, A\',-ardloy.

Barkstone or Barkston-le-Willows, a parish in Liu-

colnshin*, 4 niilrs NNE of Grantham. It has a post office

under Grantham, and a station on the G.N.R. ; telegi'aph

office, Honington (R.S.) Acreage, 2118; population, 476.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, £349 with residence. The church is ancient and inter-

esting, .and the parish possesses two or three useful charities.

Barkway, a small town and a parish in Herts. The
town stands on a rising-gi'ound near the sources of the Quia
river, 4J miles SSE of Royston station on tlie G.N.R. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Royston
,
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was formei'Iy a mai-ket-town ; and prior to the railway times

was a great thoroughfare on the northern road from London.

It consists principally of one street, and most of its houses

are modem. The parish includes also the hamlets of New-
sells and Nuthampstead. Ai'ea of Barkway, 3251 acres

;

of Nuthampstead, 1960 acres
;

population of the cinl

parish, 7(31; of the ecclesiastical, 1174; of Nuthampstead,
207. Tjie manor belonged to the Chesters and the Jenningses.

The living is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory of Reed, in

the diocese of St Albans; net yearly value, £316. The
clim-ch is an ancient structm'e, which was restored m 1862,
and the tower rebuilt. There ai"e a Congregational chapel,

a reading room, and some small charities.

Barkwitb, East, a rillage and a parish in Lincolnshire,

3J miles NE of Wragby on the G.N.R. There is a post otfice

under Lincoln, which is the telegi-aph office; money order

office, Hainton. Acreage, 1325
;
population, 323. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net value, £317 witli

residence. Pati'ons, the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. Tlie

church is good, and there are Wesleyan and Free Jlethodist

chapels.

Barkwith, West, a parish in Lincolnshii-e, 2^ miles NE
of Wragby, and 1 mile SW from East Barkwith railway

station on the G.N.R. Wragby is the post town and money
order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 904

;
population, 132.

The livhig is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net value,

£229 with residence. The church, a building of stone, was
restored in 1870.

Barlaston, a village and a parish in Staffordshire, on the

Grand Trunk Canal, 3 miles NNW of Stone. It has a station

on the North Staffordshhe railway, and a post office un-

der Stoke-on-Trent ; telegi'aph office, Tittensor. Acreage,

2184 ;
population, 782. Barlaston Hall was fomicrly a

seat of the Bagnalls, and is now the seat of the Bi'oughton-

Adderley f.amily. New Hall and Hartwell Hall are other

residences in this parish. The lining is a \'ic.arage in the

diocese of Lichfield
;
gross value, £200. Patron, the Duke

of Sutherland. The chm'ch is modern, but has an ancient

tower.

Barlavington, locally known as Barltnn, a parish in

Sussex, near the river Aiiin, 2i miles S of Petworth station

on the L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Pulborough ; money order

office, Sutton; telegi-aph office, Fittleworth. Acreage, 1146;
population, 175. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Chichester. Bm-ton House, a fine residence, is in the parish.

Barlborough, an extensive village and a parish in Derby-

shu'e, near the Chestei-field Canal, 2 miles E of Eckington

railway station, and 8 NE of Chesterfield. It has a post,

money order, and telegi'aph office under Chestei*field. Popu-
lation, 1900. Barlborough Hall, an edifice in the EUzabethan
style, is the seat of the De Rodes family. There are extensive

colUeries, limekilns, and brick and tile works here. The
Uving is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell

; gross v.alue,

£646 with residence. The church is old, and of mixed archi-

tecture. An almshouse for six widows, founded in 1752,
has £69, and there are other charities.

Barlby, a village, a township, .and a chapeliy in Heming-
brongh parish, E. R. Yorkshire, on the river Ouse, 1 mile N
of the Leeds and Hull railway, and Ij NE of Selby. The
chapelry includes B.arlby-Bank hamlet, and has a post office

under Selby. Acreage, 1304 ; population of the township,

442 ; of the chapelry, 458. The hving is a perpetual curacy

in the diocese of York ; net value, £120. Patron, the Vicar

of Hemingbrough. The chm"ch is good. There is also a
Wesleyan chapel.

Barle or Barley, The, a river of the western border of

Somerset. It rises in Exmoor Forest, and runs about 16
miles south-eastward, past Simons-Bath, Withypoole, Hawk-
ridge, and Dulverton, to a confluence with the Exe, 2J miles

Delow Dulverton.

Barlestone or Barlston, a township, a village, and a
chapelry in Market-Busworth parish, Leicestershire, 2§ miles

NE of Market-Bosworth, and 3 SW of Bagworth station

on the M.R. It has a post office under Hinckley ; money order

and telegiaph office, Market-Bosworth. Acreage, 1067

;

population, 805. The living is annexed to Market-Bosworth.
The chmx'h is a plain Gothic building of stone. There are

Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels, and an endowed
elementary school.
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Baxley, a village and a parish in Herts, on the NE verge
of the county, 3 miles SE of Royston station on the G.N.R.
It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph office under Royston.
Acreage, 2725

;
population, 574. The property is divided

among a few. The Hnng is a rectory in the diocese of St
Albans ; net yearly value, £323 with residence. The church
was rebuilt in 1872, with the exception of the fourth aisle

and the ancient Norman tower. There is a chapel used
chiefly by the Congi-egationaHsts.

Barley-Hall, a hamlet in Wentworth p.arish, W. R. York-
shire, near Wentworth Park, 5i miles NW of Rotherham.
The nearest station is at Turton (2 miles), on the M.S. & L.R.

Barleythorpe, a village in Oakham parish, Rutland, 1
mile NW of Oakham. Adjoining this is Barleythorpe Hall,

a large modern mansion used as a hunting box. The kennels
of the Cottesmere foxhounds are at Barleythorpe.

Barley-with-Wheatley-Booth, a township and a village

in Newchurch-in-Pendle ecclesiastical parish, Lancashire, 3^
miles from Briei-field station on the Lancashhe and York-
shire railway. Acreage, 2625

;
population, 303. There is a

Wesleyan and a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Barling, or Barling Magna, a parish in Essex, on a
creek of the Broomliill river, 4^; miles ESE of Rochford, 5
NE of Southend, and 3 N from Shoeburyness station on the
London, Tilbury, and Southend railway. It has a post office

under Rochford; money order and telegi-aph office, Great
Wakering. Acreage, 1290 of land .and 161 of foreshore and
water; population, 393. The manor w-as given by Edward
the Confessor to St Paul's Cathedral. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of St Albans
;
gioss value, £180, in the

gift of the Dean and Chapter of St Paul's. The chm-ch
is in the Perpendicular style, with chancel and tower.

Barlings, a village and a parish in Lincolnshu-e, 6 miles
ENE of Lincoln, and 2 SE from Langworth station on the
M.S. & L.R. It includes the hamlet of Langworth. Acre.age,

1686
;
population, 419. There is a post office at Langworth,

under Lincoln ; telegraph office, Langworth station ; money
order office, Scotherne. A Premonstratensian abbey was
founded in 1154 at Barling-Grange, and aftei-wai-ds re-

founded at Oxeney, and w-as given at the dissolution to

Cliaries, Duke of SuS'olk. The last abbot of it, Dr Mackerel,
was executed at Tyburn m 1537 for heading the Lincoln
insmi-ection against the Crown. Only a few mutilated pillars

of the edifice now remain. The living is a vicarage in the
diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £85 with residence.

The church is a small building of stone in the Norman and
Early English styles.

Barlow or Barley, a township in Br.ayton parish, W. R.
Yorkshire, on the river Ouse, 3 miles SE of Selby railway
station. It has a post office under Selby. Acreage, 2372

;

population, 236. There is a chapel of ease under the Vicar
of Br.ayton, and a Wesleyan chapel.

Barlow, Great, a village, a township, and a pai-ish

in Derbyshu-e, on a small stream, about 3i miles NW of

Chesterfield station on the M.R. It h.as a post and money
order office of the name of Barlow, under Chesterfield.

Acreage, 3932
;
population, 1107. The property is di-vided

among a few. The Duke of Rutland is lord of the manor
and principal landowner. The living is a perpetual curacy
in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £18-1 with residence.

Patron, the Rector of Staveley. The church is good. Chari-
ties, £25 yearly, for distribution, also one proWding for the
education of ten children.

Barlow, Little, a township in Dronfield pai-ish, Derby-
shire, r,\ luii.s XW uf Chesterfield.

Barlow-Moor, a chapelry in Manchester parish, Lanca-
shire. Population, 2975.

Barmbrough, a township, a village, and a parish in the
W. R. Yorkshire. The -village stands 3 miles from Mex-
borough station on the M.S. & L.R., and 6 W of Doncaster,
and has a post and money order office of the name of Bai-m-
brough under Doncaster. The pai-ish includes also the
hamlet of Harlington. Acreage, 1911

; population, 509.
Bai-nibrough Hall, which belonged to the only son of Sir
Thomas More, is now the seat of the Wilson-Montagu family.
There was a Roman settlement here. The linng is a rectory
in the diocese of York; net value, £395 with residence, in

the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The church is Later English,
in tolerable condition, and has interesting montunents of the
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Cresatres, formerly lords of the manor. There is a legend

that Sir Percival Cresacre, one of this family, was killed by
a wild cat, and that he killed the cat at the same time. A
wooden figure of the knight with the cat under his feet lies

upon the altar tomb. There is a Wesleyan chapel in the

village, and some small charities.

Earmby-on-the-Marsh, a village, a township, and an
ecclesiastical parish in Howden parish, E. R. Yorkshire, at

the confluence of the Derwent and the Ouse, 2^ miles SSW
of Wressel railway station and 4 W of Howden. The Hull
and Barnsley Railway Company, whose line runs through the

village, have a siding for the delivery and transit of goods. It

has a post and money order office under Howden. Acreage,

1474; population of the township, 372; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 385. The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese

of York
;
gross value, £280 vrith residence, in the gift of the

Lord Chancellor. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Metho-
dist chapels, and charities amounting to £150 per annum.

Barmby-on-tlie-Moor or Barmby-Moor, a township,

a village, and a parish in the E. R. Yorkshire, Ij mile W of

Pocklington station on the N.E.R., with a post office of

the name of Barmby-Moor under York. Acreage, 2579;
population of the civil parish, 440 ; of the ecclesiastical,

G17. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York; net

value, £220 with residence. Patron, the Archbishop of

York. The church consists of nave and chancel, has a

fine square tower with modern spire, and was rebuilt in

1851. There are chapels for Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodists, and charities amounting to £57.

Banner, a parish in Norfolk, 4 miles SE from Docking
station on the G.E.R., and 6 S by W of Bumham-Westgate.
Lynn is the post town ; money order office, Syderstone

;

telegi'aph office, Docking. Acreage, 1483
;
population, 64.

Barmer House is the property of the Kerslake family. The
living is a titular vicarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net

yearly value, £160. The church is a small building in the

Early English style. It was re-endowed by the patron, who
also munificently restored the little church in 1885.

Banning, or East Banning, a parish in Kent, on the

river Medway, H miles WSW of Maidstone, and 38 from

London. Railway stations, Barming, on the L.C. &. D.R.,

2 miles distant; East Farleigh, on the S.E.R,, in the parish.

It has a post and money order office of the name of Barming
under Maidstone; telegi-aph office, East Farleigh station.

Acreage, 760; population, 677. Hops and fruit are richly

cultivated, and Kentish rag is quarried. Roman remains have

been found near the church. The living is a rectoiy in the

diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £330 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church, dating from the

Norman period, and containing some remarkable oak stalls,

is picturesquely situated by some line elms, above the river.

It was restored in 1850 and 1872, Mark Noble the anti-

quary was rector, and Christopher Smart the poet was a

resident.

Barming, West, a parish in Kent contiguous to East

Barming, 3 miles WSW of Maidstone. Post town, Barming

under Maidstone. Area, 332 acres
;
population, 27. There

is no church.

Barmoor, a village in Lowick parish, Northumberland,

1 mile W of Lowick, and 8 N of Wooler. Beal (5 miles)

is the post town, also nearest station, on the N.E.R. Bai*-

moor Castle, the seat of the Sitwell family, is an elegant

edifice of 1802, on the site of an ancient seat of the Mus-
champs. Barmoor Wood was the headquarters of the Enghsh

general on the eve of the battle of Flodden,

Barmouth, a market-town and watering-place in Merio-

nethshire. The town is in the parish of Llanaber, and stands

on the N side of the mouth of the river Mawddach, 10 miles

W by S of Dolgelly, 10| S of Harlech, 12 N of Towyn, and

248 from London. It is called by the natives Abermaw, or,

abbrevlatedly, Barmaw, whence, by con*uption, the English

name Barmouth. It consists partly of a fine street along

the strand, but chiefly of successive tiers of houses on the

steep slope of a lofty rock, which is accessible from below

by steps. It has two railway stations on the Cambrian

railway, Barmouth and Barmouth Junction, the latter being

situated across the mouth of the estuary ; northwards the

line goes to Harlech, Portmadoc, and Afonwen, where it

is brought into connection with the L. & N.W-R.
i
east-
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ward it runs to Dolgelly and the G.W. system; and south-
wards to Towjm, Machynlleth and Abeiystwyth. The railway

is carried across the estuary on a wooden bridge, with an iron

di-awbridge at the northem extremity ; it is 800 yards long,

and has a road for foot passengers, forming a magnificent

promenade, and commanding fine views of Cader Idris and
other mountains. There is a head post office. Barmouth is

much frequented as a watering-place, and it possesses excel-

lent bathing facilities, enjoys splendid views, and offers ready
access to charming excursions and recreations. The Pano-
rama Walk, about 2 miles distant, a walk on the breast of a

steep slope 200 feet high, is famous for the magnificent view

it affords of the Mawddach estuary and the adjacent moun-
tains. The parish church at Llanaber is 2 miles from the

town on the Harlech road. St David's, at Barmouth, a
chapel of ease, was erected by pubhc subscription. There are

Congi-egational, Wesleyan, Calvinistic Methodist, Baptist,

and Presbyterian chapels. Barmouth is governed by a
local board. There are assembly rooms for concerts, &c.

The town is well drained, and supplied with excellent water.

Markets are held on Fridays. The harbom' is small, and is

managed by a board. An island, called Ynys-y-Brawd, divides

the entrance of the Maw into two channels, and the large

shoal called Sarn Badi'ig lies about 10 miles off". Popula-

tion, 2045.

Barmpton, a township in Haughton-le-Skerne paiish,

Durham, 3 miles NNE of Darlington station on the N.E.R.
Acreage, 1545; population, 103.

Barmston, a towmship in Washington parish, Dm'ham,
on the river Wear, 5 miles W of Smiderland. Acreage, 920

;

population, 592.

Barmston, a village, a township, and a parish in the E. R.

Yorkshire, on the coast, 5 miles SE of Burton-Agnes railway

station, and 8 S by W of Bridlington. Post town, Lowthorpe,

under Hull. Acreage, 2391
;
population, 213. The manor

belongs to Sir H. S. Boynton, Bart., and the ancient mansion
on it is now a farmhouse. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of York
;
gi'oss value, £900, The chmch is Perpendicular

English, has a Norman porch-door, had once a chantry, and
contains a circular font with cable moulding, and a monument
to Su' Martin de la Mai'e (1494) and others to the Boyntons.

There is a Wesleyan chapel here, and an hospital for four old

labourers, founded in 1726 by Sir Griffith Boynton, Bart.

Bamack, a rillage and a parish in Northamptonshh-e.

The village has a station on the G.N.R., is 1^ mile from Uffing-

ton station on the M,R., and has a post, money order, and
telegi-aph office under Stamford. By a Local Government
Order of 1887 the hamlet of Pilsgate was amalgamated

with Barnack for rating purposes, and the parish includes

the hamlet of Southorpe. Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, 766. Fonnerly there were extensive quanies of rag-

stone here, and the stone was furnished hence for Peter-

borough and Ely cathedrals, and for several other churches,

but it is now thought to be exhausted. The living is a

rectwy in the diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £700 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Peterborough. The church

is in very good condition. The tower is Saxon, the rest of

the architecture illustrates each phase of Gothic, There

is a Wesleyan chapel, and a charity estate yielding annually

£81. Part of Bm-ghley House and Park is situated in this

parish. Walcot Hall, whose construction is attributed to

Inigo Jones, now the residence of the Dearden family, was
formerly a residence of the Earls of Gainsborough.

Barnacle, a hamlet partly in Bulkington parish and partly

in Shilton parish, Warwickshu-e, 1^ mile S by SW of Bulk-

ington. Post town, Coventry; money order and telegraph

office, Bedworth.

Barnacre-with-Bonds, a township in Garstang parish,

Lancashire, 2 miles NE of Garstang railway station. Acre-

age, 4957; population, 1113. The Earl of Bectire is lord

of the manor and chief landowner.

Bamard-Castle, a market-town, a township, and a
parish in Durham. The town stands on the left bank
of the river Tees, on the line of railway from Darlington to

Lancashue, 16 miles W of Darhngton. Its site is the side

of an eminence rising abiiiptly from the bank of the river.

Its principal street is spacious, and nearly a mile long, and

is intersected by smaller streets. The town is governed by a

local board, and is well supplied with water. The envu'ons are



BAKNARDISTON

remarkably pleasant, and present romantic sceneiy, especially

along the Tees and its tributaries. A narrow bridge of two
pointed arcbes, built in 1596, spans the river. The market-

bouse is an octagonal freestone building, open at the sides.

The church is ancient and cmciform, and was restored in

1870. There are four dissenting chapels, a Roman Catholic

chapel, a mechanics' institute, several schools, a dispensary,

a workhouse, an hospital for aged persons, and some minor
charities. The hospital was founded in 1229 by King John
B.aliol of Scotland. A portion of the endowment is applied

to the support of three Bedewomen ; the rest of it, under a

scheme of the Charity Commissioners, together with a bequest

of Benjamin Flounders of Yarm, forms the endowment of

the North Eastern County School. Remains of an ancient

castle, comprising entrance gateway and two towers, stand

on the brinli of a steep rock, about 80 feet above the

Tees, and command a chaiTning prospect. The castle was
founded by Bamai'd Baliol, son of Guy, who accompanied
William the Conqueror to England, and gi-andfather of

John Baliol, King of Scotland, and it took its name of

Barnard from bim, and gave its name of Barnard - Castle

to the town. It ruled an extensive domain in Teesdale and
Marwood, gi'anted by William Rutus, but was transferred

along with that domain by Edward I. to Guy Beauchamp,
Earl of Warwick. It remained for five generations with the

Beaucliamps, then went to the Crown ; was inhabited and
embellished by Richard III., and eventu.ally passed by sale

to an ancestor of the Duke of Cleveland. The area which it

occupied was about 6f acres, but this is now partly sheep

pastm-e, and partly disposed in orchards. The castle figm'es

in Sir Walter Scott's poem of " Rokeby," and it gives the

title of Baron to Lord Baniard. The town has a head

post office, a railway st.ation, three banks, and two chief

inns, and is a seat of petty sessions and the beadquai-ters

of the county militia. Near the town is the Bowes
Museum, a very handsome building, erected 1869-7S, by
Mrs. Bowes (Countess of Montalbo) of Streatlam at a cost

of X100,000. It is French renaissance, with a central

dome and two tun'ets, the two wings projecting in front of

the central block. It contains a valuable collection of pio-

tm-es, cmiosities, &c. The Noith-Eastern County School,

opened in 1886, prorides the advantages of a public scliool

for boys of the middle classes at a moderate cost. A weekly

market is held on Wednesday; a fortnightly one, for cattle,

sheep, and horses, on every alternate Wednesday ; and fairs

on Easter Monday, Whit-Wednesday, and Magdalene Day.

Jlanufactures of carpets, plaids, cloth, and shoe-thread are

earned on. John Baliol and Hutchinson, the historian of

the county, were natives. Bamai'd-Castle comprises 801
acres

;
population, 2045. The parish comprises the town-

ships of Baniard-Castle, Mai-wood, Streatlam and Stainfon,

and Westwick. Population of the civil parish, 4725 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 5070. The li™g is a ncarage in the diocese

of Durham ; gi'oss value, £700. Patron, Trinity College,

Cambridge.

Barnard-Castle Parliamenlary Dirision of Durham
was fomied under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,

and returns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-
lation, 59,459. The division includes the following:

—

Darlington W.ard—(St.anhope Division, part of)—Stanhope
;

D.ariington Ward (Wolsingham Division)— Wolsingham
;

Daihngton Ward (Bamard-Castle Division)—Barnard-Castle,

Cleatlam, Cockfield, Eggleston, Forest and Frith, Gteinford,

Headlam, Hilton, Ingleton, Langleydale and Shotton, Lang-
ton, Lyuesuch and Softley, Marwood, Middleton-in-Teesdale,

Morton Tinmouth, Newbiggin, Raby and Keverston, Stain-

drop, Streatlam and Stainton, Wackei"field, Westwick, Whorl-
ton, Winston and Newsham, Woodland ; Darlington Ward
(Bishop Auckland Division, part of)—Auckland (St Helen),

Auckland (West), Bedbm-n (North), Bedbum (South), Bohim,
Crook and Billy Row, Evenwood and Barony, Hamsterley,

Witton-le-Wear.

Barnaxdiston (corruptedly Bernistoii), a parish in Ris-

bridge union, Suffolk, 5 miles NW of Clare, .and 3 NE by
E from Haverhill station on the G.E.R. Post town, Clare,

winch is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

1123
; population, 181. The bring is a rectoiy in the dio-

cese of Ely
;

gross yearly value, £210 with residence. The
church is an ancient and interesting building of flint in the
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Norman and Early English styles, .and there is a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Barnard-Sand, a shoal 3 miles long, extending parallel

to the coast, off Lowestoft roads, Norfolk. Its breadth is

about 2 fm-longs, and its highest part has only 2 feet of

water.

Bamard's-Green, a village 1 mile ESE of Great Malvern,
Worcestershire. It has a post office under Great Malvern,
which is the telegi'aph office.

Bambow, a hamlet in the parish of Barwick-in-Elmet,
W. R. Yorkshu-e, 6^ miles E of Leeds.

Bamby, a parish in Suffolk, near the river Waveney, 3J
miles from the Carlton-Colville station on the G.E.R., and 4 E
by S of Beccles. It has a post office under Beccles, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1093
;
population,

313. The Bring is a rectory, annexed to the ricarage of

Mutford, in the diocese of Norwich. The church, chiefly of

the 14th century, contains ancient frescoes of the Cnicifixion,

the Last Judgment, and St Christopher, discovered in 1881.
There is a Wesleyan chapel. ' The rillage also possesses an
iron foundry and manufactory of agricultural implements.

Bamby, a township in Lythe parish, N. R. Yorkshire,

consisting of the hamlets of East and West Bamby, on the

coast, 4^ miles WNW of Wliitby. Post town, Lythe. Acre-
age, 2140

;
population, 125. Tliere ai-e two mission rooms

here.

Bamby-Basin and Bamby-Fumace, two hamlets in

Cawthonie parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 4| miles WS^ of

Barnsley.

Bamby-in-the-Willows, a p.irish in Notts, on the river

Witham, 2 miles N of Claypole railway station, and 4 E
by S of Newark. Post towTi, Beckingham under Newark;
telegi'aph office, Coddington. Acreage, 1852

;
population of

the ciril palish, 262 ; of the ecclesiastical, 240. The iiring

is a vicai'age in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £157
with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Manchester. The
church is good, and there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Barnby-Moor (anciently Barnahij-on-the-Moor'), a to-wn-

ship in Blyth parish, Notts, near Sutton station on the G.N.R.,
and 3^ miles NW of East Retford. It includes Bilby, and
has a post office of the name of Barnby-Moor under Retford.

Acreage, 1982
;
population, 247.

Bamby-upon-Don, or Barnby-Dun, a village, a town-
ship, and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire. The township
lies on the river Don, and on the Doncaster and Thome rail-

way, 5 miles NE by N of Doncaster, and it has a station

of the name of Bai-nby-Dun on the M.S. & L.R., and a
post and money order office under Doncaster. The p.arish

includes also the township of Thorpe-in-Balne. Acreage,

2303
;
population of the ciril parish, 516 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 613. The Iiring is a vicai'age in the diocese of

York; gi'oss value, £114 'with residence. The church was
restored in 1868. There are two Methodist chapels, and
some small charities.

Barnes, a parish in Sun-ey, on the L. & S.W.R., 7 miles'

from London, on the river Thames. It contains the rillage

of Barnes and the hamlet of Barnes-Elms or Barn-Elms.
There is a post, money order, and telegi'aph office at Bai'nes

Green. The area is 909 acres of land and 119 of water;

poiralation, 8445. The m.inor was given by King Athelstane

to the canons of St Paul's, London, and was then and after-

wai'ds called Berne. A tract in the N, li mile long, is

engirt by a semicircular sweep of the Thames. Barnes
Common, contiguous to this on the S, comprises about

600 acres, and lies lower than the level of the Thames'
spring tide. Bai-n-Elms House was the residence of Sir*

Francis Walsingham, risited by Queen Elizabeth ; after-

wards the residence of Heydegger, George II.'s master of the

revels, risited by the king ; aftenvards the property of Sir

R. C. Hoare the antiquary. It is now a modem mansion.

A house in the ricinity, the " Queen's Dauy," was the resi-

dence of the celebrated bookseller Jacob Tonson, and the

meeting-place of the Kitcat Club, adorned with portraits of

the members painted by Sir Godfrey Kneller. Tiiis bou.se

has gone to ruin, but the portraits have been preserved.

Cowley the poet. Fielding the novelist, and Handel the

composer, were residents of Barnes ; Bishop Wilson was for

some time rector ; and Sir William Bliyard the surgeon was

a native. The duel between the Duke of Buckingham and
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the Earl of Shrewsbuiy in Januaiy 1GG7-G8, was fought

near Bani-Elms ; and the assassination of the Count and the

Countess D'Antraigues, in 1812, was done in the parish.

A suspension hridge, 750 feet long, takes a thoroughfare

hence across the Thames to Hammersmith ; and a three-

arched iron bridge, eacli arch 100 feet in span, takes across

a loop-line of railway from the Barnes station toward the

Windsor railway near Hounslow. The West Middlesex Water-

works Company have reser^'oirs in this parish covering an

area of about 16 acres. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of London ; net value, £350 ^ith residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of St Paul's. The chm-ch was built in

1189, and is mainly Early English. A recess, with rose

bushes on its S exterior, marks the gi'ave of Edward Rose,

a citizen of London who died in 1653, leaving a bequest of

£20 to the poor of the parish, on condition that his monu-
mental tablet should be kept in repair, and have rose hushes

trained around it. Holy Trinity Church, situated in Cas-

telnau, was erected in 1868; it is a building of stone and
flint, and has about 300 sittings. The living is a vicarage

;

net value, £380 with residence, in the gift of the Rector of

Barnes. There are chapels for Baptists and Wesleyans, and

a mission church. At Elm Bank Banies there is a hand-

some modem church called St Michael and Angels, which

was consecrated in 1893 as a chapel of ease to the pai'ish

church,

Barnes Chine, a small wild ravine on the SW coast of

the Isle of Wight, 1^ mile SE of Brixton. The cHffs which
flank it rise to a considerable height, and a dangerous reef,

known as the Shipledge, is near its mouth.

Baxnesley, a hamlet in Kingston-Lacy manor, Dorset,

2 miles N of Wimhome-Minster.

Bamet, a market and union town, a parish, and the head
of a county court district, Herts. The town is called also Chip-

ping-Baniet and High-Bamet. It is partly in the parish of

Barnet, and partly in the parish of South Mimms, Middlesex,

and it stands on the top of an eminence on the great north

road, 11 miles from London. There is a tenninal station of

the G.N.R. at High-Bamet, and a main line station at New-
Bamet, about 1^ mile E from the town. It consists prin-

cipally of one street upwards of a mile long. The area of the

urban sanitary district is 241 acres
;
population, 5496. Tlie

parish chm'ch of St John tlie Baptist is an edifice erected

about 1420, and thoroughly restored and enlarged in 1875.

It is a building of flint and stone in the Decorated and Per-

pendicular styles, has a square embattled tower, .and contains

monuments of the Ravenscrofts and otliers. Christ Church,

on Barnet Common, was erected in 1845, and is a building

of flint with dressing of stone in the Early English style.

There are Roman Catholic, Baptist, Congregational, and
Wesleyan chapels, a gi-ammar-school, founded in the reign

of Queen Elizabeth in 1573, four sets of almshouses, and
several large and useful charities. The town is governed by
a board of 12 members, under the Local Government Act,

adopted in 1863 ; has a head post ofhce, nine elementary

schools, and publishes a weekly newspaper. A cattle mai'ket

is held every Wednesday, and fairs on 8, 9, and 10 April,

on 4, 5, and 6 September, and on 21 November. The two
former are gi-eat cattle and horse fans, which attract buyers

and sellers from all parts of the countiy. Several fine seats

are in the vicinity, and the couutiy round is studded with

pleasant' villas inhabited by merchants and others from

London. The town is supplied with water drawn from two
artesian wells, which have been sunk in the chalk to a depth

of 500 feet. A mineral spring on Bamet Common was
discovered in 1652. At the twelfth milestone from London
N of the town there stands a stone column commemorative
of the battle of Bamet Field, which was fonght there in 1471
between the army of the House of York, headed by Edward
IV., and that of the House of Lancaster, headed by the Earl

of Warwick.
The parish of Bamet bears also the name of Cliipping-

Bamet, and lies wholly in Herts. The living, which in-

cludes the chapehy of Arkley, is a vicarage in the diocese of

St Albans ; net yearly value, £4-13, in the gift of the Crown.

The living of Christ Church, which is in the paiish of South

Mimms, is a perpetual curacy of the gross yearly value of

£260. Population of the civil parish of Chipping-Baraet,

4563 ; of the ecclesiastical district, 4016.
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Bamet, East, a parish and a \nllage in Herts, on the

G.N.R., near Oakleigh Park station, 1| mile ESE of Bamet,
with a post and money order oflice; telegraph oi^ice, New
Bamet. Acreage, 1C98

;
population of the civil parish,

5128 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1403. There is an ancient chm'ch,

erected by one of the early abbots of St Albans. The living

is a rectoiy in the diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value,

£224 with residence. Patron, the Crown. The parish is

govemed by a local board of 12 members.

Bamet-Friern. See Friern-Barnet.
Barnet, New, is a suburban to^m in the parishes of East

and Chipping Barnet, Herts, and in the ecclesiastical parish of

Lyonsdown, fomied in 1869. It has a station on the G.N.E.,

and a post, money order, and telegraph ofRce. Here are the

works of the Bamet District Gas and Water Company. The
church is an edifice of coloured brick in the Decorated style,

erected in 1864. The living is a perpetual curacy; net

yearly value, £218 with residence, in tlie gift of tmstees.

There is also a chapel of ease in the East Bamet Road, and
Baptist, Presbyterian, and Wesleyan Methodist chapels, and
a Congi-egational Brethren's hall.

Bametby-le-WoId, a parish in Lincolnshu-e, on the

Manchester and Lincolnshire railway, 3^ miles NE of Brigg.

It has a station of the name of Bamethy on the railway,

and a post and telegraph office (R.S.O.) Acreage, 2584

;

population of the civil parish, 926 ; of the ecclesiastical, 821.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln ; net value.

£321 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Lincoln. The
church is Early English, and there are Wesleyan and Primi-

tive Methodist chapels.

Barney, or Bemey, a parish in Norfolk, ^ mile from

Thursford station on the Eastern & Midlands railway, and 6

miles ENE of Fakenham. It has a post office under Dereham

;

money order office, New Walsingham ; telegi'aph office, Melton

Constable. Acreage, 1408
;
population, 284. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £120
with residence. Patron, Lord Hastings. The church is an

old building of flint, with an embattled tower. There is also

a Wesleyan chapel.

Barn-Green, a hamlet in Hambledon parish, Hants, 6j
miles SE of Bishops-Waltham.

Barnham, a parish in Suffolk, on the Little Ouse river,

having a station on the Bmy and Thetford railway, 2^^ miles

S from Thetford, which is the post and money order office

;

telegraph office, Euston. Acreage, 5291 ;
population, 454.

Some tumuli in the N are supposed to mark the scene of a

conflict in 870 between King Edward the Elder and the

Danes. An ivy-clad square tower belonged to the church

of the extinct or incoi-porated parish of Barnham-St-Martin.

The living is a rectory, consolidated with that of Euston and
Fakenham Pan'a, in the diocese of Ely, in the gift of the

Duke of Grafton. The church was restored and enlarged

in 1864.

Barnham, a parish in Sussex, on the L.B. & S.C.R.,

63 miles from London, 4^ SW of Arundel, and 1^ mile W
of Yapton. Bognor js the post town ; money order office,

Yapton; telegraph office, Barnham station. Acreage, 841;
population, 230. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Chichester; gi'oss value, £80. Patron, the Bishop of Chi-

chester. The church is very good.

Bamham-Broom, a parish in Norfolk, on the river

Yare, 2j miles from Kimberley station on the G.E.R., and
5 NNW of Wymondham. It has a post and money order

office; telegi-aph office, Mattishall. Acreage, 1788; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 412; of the ecclesiastical, 591.

The manor belongs to the Earl of Kimberley. The living

is a rectory, united with the rectory of Bixton and the vicar-

age of Kimberley, in the diocese of Norwich ; net value,

£579 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Kimberley. The
church is a neat stracture, with an embattled tower, and has

a fine screen.

Bamhill, a hamlet in Malpas parish, Cheshire, 10 miles

SE of Chester.

Bamingham, a paiish in Suffolk, 2f miles S of the Little

Ouse river, and 7^ S of Harliug Road station on the G.E.R.

It has a ]Kist office under Buiy-St-Edmunds ; money order

oflice, Hopton ; telegi'aph office, Ixworth. Acreage, 1620;
population of the civil parish, 403 ; of the ecclesiastical, 581.

The living is a rectory, united with the rectoiy of Coney-
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Weston, in tin diocese of Ely
;
joint net yearly value, £750

with residence. The church is a flint building, with tower,

and has a brass of 1499. There are Wesleyan Methodist and

Primitive Methodist chapels, and some small charities.

Bamingham, a village, a township, and a parish in the

N. R. Yorkshii-e. The township lies on a tributary of the

Tees, near Arkengarth Forest, 6i miles SE of Barnard-Castle

railway station, and has a post and money order oflice under

Bamai-d-Castle. There is an annual fan- on tlie last Thui'S-

day in September for horses, cattle, &c. The parish includes

also the townsliips of Scai'gill and Hope. Acreage, 3524

;

population of the civil pai'ish, 218 ; of the ecclesiastical, 369.

Much of the sui'face is upland moor. Bamingham Park is

the seat of the Milbanks. The living is a rectoiy in the

diocese of Ripon ; net value, £420 with residence. Pati'on,

the Bishop of Ripon. There are a Wesleyan chapel (endowed),

a reading-room and library, and some chai-ities.

Bamingham, Great. See Barningham-Town.
Bamingham, Little, or Eamingham-Parva, a parish

in Norfolk, miles NNW of Aylsham, and 3 from Corpusty

station on the Eastern & Midlands railw.ay. Norwich is the

post town ; money order and telegi'aph office, Aldborough.

Acreage, 1251 ;
population, 219. A market and a fair were

formerly held here, under charter of Edward I. to Walter

de Berningham, lord of the manor. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Norwich; net value, £1GG, in the gift of

the Earl of Orford. The chm*ch, dedicated to St Andrew,
is an old building of flint. Its chancel was thoroughly re-

stored in 1878-79. There is also a Free Methodist chapel.

Bamingham-Magna. See Bakningham-Town.
Bamingham-Norwood, a parish in Norfolk, 4^ miles

ESE of Holt station on the Eastern & Midlands railway.

Norwich is the post town ; money order and telegraph office,

Aldborough. Acreage, 836 ;
population, 40. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

gi'oss value, X140 with

residence. The church is an ancient structure of flint with

stone dressings, in the Early English style.

Bamingham-Parva. See Bakningha.m, Little.

Bamingham-Town, Bamingham-Winter, Baming-
ham-Magna or Bamingham-Great, a parish in Norfolk,

4 miles SE of Holt station on tlie Eastern & Midlands

railway. Norwich is the post town ; money order and tele-

graph office, Aldborough. Acreage, 871 ;
population, 105.

Bamingham Hall is a iine Tudor mansion situated in an ex-

tensive park. A market and a fair were formerly held in

the parish, under grant of Edward II. to Roger le Curzam.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value,

£86 with residence. The tower of the church is a very

picturesque ruin ; the old chancel is now the church, and

has been well restored. A part of Bessingham was united

with this parish in 1884, under the Divided Parishes Act.

Bamoldby-le-Beck, a parish in the county of Lincoln,

3 miles NW of Holton-le-CIay station on the G.N.R., and 5

SW by S of Great Grimsby. Post town, Waltham under

Grimsby, which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

Acreage, 1305; population, 212. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Lincoln ; net value, £300 with residence, in

the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The cbui"ch is good, and
there are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Bamoldswick, a township and a parish in the W. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies adjacent to the Leeds and
Liverpool Canal, 5 miles N of Colne, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Colne, and a station on the

M.R. The parish is also called Gill-Ku*k, from the situation

of its chmrch on the verge of a deep glen, and includes

likewise the townships of Salterfortli, Co.ates, and Brogden-

with-Admergill. Acreage, 2129
;

popuKation of the civil

parish and urban sanitai-y district, 4131 ; of the ecclesiastical,

4758. Mnch of the surface is hilly. An abbey was founded

here in 1147, but in consequence of local disputes was re-

moved to Ku-kstall. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Ripon ; net v.alue, £280 with residence. The chm-ch is a

building in the Early English and Perpendicular styles.

There are four dissenting chapels. The inhabitants are

chiefly employed in cotton spinning and working the lime-

stone quarries.

Bamscar, a ruined town on Birkby Fell, 3J miles E of

Ravenglass, Cumberland. Traces of streets and houses occur

throughout an area of about 300 yards by 100, and some
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silver coins have been found. But the history of the place

has perplexed antiquaries.

Bamsdale, a hamlet in the township and parish of Camp-
sail, W. R. Yorksbii-e, G| miles N of Doncaster. The nearest

station is Askern (1|^ mile), on the L. & Y.R. Bamsdale
Forest adjacent was the haunt of Robin Hood, and is noted
in old song as the scene of his cm-ious adventure with the
Bishop of Hereford.

" TlieQ Robin he took the bishop by the hand,
And led liim to men*y Barnsdale

;

lie made him to stay and sup with him that night,
And to driult wine, beer, and ale."

Bamshaw. See Goostret-cum-Barnshaw.
Bamside, a hamlet in Hepworth parish, W. R. Yorkshiie,

Gk miles S of Huddersfield.

Bamsley, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, 2 miles

E of Bridgnorth.

Bamsley, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, near

the river Colne and the old Roman road, the Ickneild Way,
4 miles NE of Cirencester, with a post office under Cu-en-

cester, which is the telegi'aph office ; money order office, Bibui'y.

Acreage, 2163
;
population, 227. The manor was given by

Edward III. to the Earl of Kent, from whom it descended

to Joan, the wife of the Black Prince. It was granted again

to the Bourchiers, and passed by man-iage to the Pen'ot

family, and thence to the Mnsgrave family, in whose posses-

sion it remains. Bamsley Park, the present seat, was built

about 1730. It is in the Italian style, and contains some
frescoes and antiques. The park is extensive. Freestone

is quarried. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; net value, £205. The chui'ch is Transition

Norman, and was restored in 1841. All the windows are

filled with stained glass.

Bamsley, a municipal borough, market town, and head of

a poor law union, in the parish of Silkstone, W. R. Yorkshire.

The town stands in a fertile tract on the river Deame, at a

focus of railways and canals, 10 miles SW of Wakefield,

17 from Sheffield, and 174 from London. It was in-

corporated on 5 July, 1869, by Royal Charter. The Cor-

poration act as the urban sanitaiy authority. The streets

are well lighted and well kept, and the borough is supplied

with water under the supeiTision of the town council. There
is a cemetei'y of 13 acres, with two mortuai'y chapels, also

under the management of the town council, who form the

burial board. For ecclesiastical pui-poses the to-wn is divided

into four parishes—St Mary's, St George's, St John's, and
St Peter's, in the diocese of Wakefield. The living of St

Mary's is a rectory, net value, £650 ; of St George's, a vicar-

age, net value, £250, both in the gift of the Bishop; of

St -John's, a vicarage, gross value, £300, in the gift of the

Crown and Bishop alternately; and of St Peter's, a per-

petual curacy, gross value, £150, in the gift of the Rector of

St Mary's. It figui'es in Domesday as a manorial seat, under

the name of Bemesley, and was known afterwards as Bleak

Bamesley or Black Bai'nsley, but is now a busy and flom'ish-

ing scene of manufacturing industry, and the principal centi'e

of the West Yorkshire coal district. It consists chiefly of

naiTow streets, and is straggling and plain, yet has two large

mai'ket-places and some handsome houses, and is built prin-

cipally of stone from quarries in the neighbourhood. Its

chief objects are waterworks, enlarged in 1868 ; a handsome
com-t-house, built in 1879 near the old one ; a large com-
eschange, in the Grecian style ; a public park presented to

the town by the widow of Joseph Locke, Esq., the eminent

engineer, and containing a statue of him by Marochetti,

erected in 1866, with additions presented in 1877 by Miss

M'Creery, sister of Mrs Locke, and F. Wm. Thos. Vernon
Wentworth, Esq. ; a church, rebuilt in 1821, and restored

in 1870 ; two handsome churches, built in 1822 and 1858;
a temponoiy building (not consecrated), erected in 1881 for

the district of St Peter's ; a beautiful Congregational chapel,

built at a cost of £7000 ; a fine and very spacious Wesleyan

chapel ; eight other dissenting chapels ; a Friends' meeting-

house ; a Roman Catholic church ; a free public Ubrary ; a

mechanics' institute ; a Conser\'ativc Club, erected in 1884
;

a temperance hall ; a theatre ; the Beckett Hospital and
Dispensaiy, enlarged in 1887 ; an endowed grammar-school

and lectuie hall, also several public and private schools ; a

workhouse ; and charities amounting to about £700 a year.
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The town lias a head post and telegi'apli office, three banks,

and tln-ee cliief inns, and it is a seat of petty sessions and
county courts, and publislies two newspapers. A weeljly

maiket for com and poultry is held on Wednesday, and one
on Saturday for meat and vegetables ; and fan's on the Wed-
nesday before 28 Feb., 13 May, and 11 Oct., and a statute

fair for huing of sei-v.ants on the first Saturday in Nov.

Wire-drawing was earned on from at least the time of James
I., and Barnsley had long the reputation of producing the best

wire in the kingdom, but this manufacture has now very

gi-eatly declined. The manufacture of Unen cloth, damasks,
diapers, ducks, checks, ticks, and similar fabrics, took the

place of the wire-di-awing, and is very prosperous. The yam
is partly spun in large mills on the spot, and partly brought
from the mills of Leeds, and is woven principally by the

weavers in their own houses. About 2000 hand and power
looms are employed. Bleaching, dyeing, wool-working, glass-

making, and u'on-working also are earned on. There are

also steam com and saw mills. Extensive coal mines like-

wise are in the neighbom'hood. An explosion, with a loss

of 3C6 lives, took place in 180G at the Oaks Collieiy.

Population of the civil parish and municipal borough, 35,427.

Barnsley includes also the hamlets of Old Bamsley, Meas-
borough, Kingston-place, Old Mill, and Pogmoor. Acreage,

2386.

Barnsley Parliamentary Division of W. li. Yorkshire was
formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and
returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

78,844. The division includes the following :—Staincross

(part of)—Ardsley, Bamsley, Baragh, Billingley, Brierley,

Carlton, Cudworth, Darton, Dai-field, Havercroft-with-Cold,

Hiendley, Houghton (Great), Honghton (Little), Kexborough,
Monk Bretton, Notton, Royston, Ryhill, Shafton, South
Hiendley, Wintersett, Wombwell, Woolley; Osgoldcross

(Upper, part of)—Hemsworth.

Bamsley Canal, a canal 15 miles long, in W. R. York-
shire. It goes from Corthora in the vicinity of Bai'nsley, to

the river Calder near Wakefield
;
joins the Dove and Deame

Canal ; crosses the Deame by an aqueduct of 6 arches

;

passes Royston and Siindall, both in the vicinity of the

North Midland railway ; and makes an .aggi*egate descent of

114 feet, with 15 locks. It was opened in 1799.

Barnstaple, a town, a municipal borough, a bay, a p.arish,

and a registration district in Devonshire. The town is a seaport,

and the capital of North Devon. It stands on the right bank of

the river Taw, about C miles from its mouth, on the G.W.R.
and L. & S.W.R., 210 miles from London. There is a ter-

minal station here of the Devon and Somerset branch of the

Great Westem system from Taunton. A loopline has been

made from the terminal station in connection \vith the

L. & S.W.R., which joins the latter at the Junction station.

The G.W.R. has ranning powers over the L. & S.W.R. from
the Junction station to Ilfracombe. Its site is a pleasant

valley, bounded by a semicircular range of hills, to which
the river forms a chord, and its environs abound in charming

spots, and command brilliant \news over land and sea. Two
of the best riews are from the road to Bideford, .and from

Coddon Hill, G23 feet high. The town was knonm to the

ancient Britons as Tunge Abertawe— to the Saxons as Ber-

denestaple, and it is now popularly called Bamm. It fomied
part of a dom.ain of the Saxon kings, was for some time a

residence of Athelstano, and received from him various

liberties .and rights. An ancient castle stood at it, built by

Athelstane, and strengthened after the Conquest, but is now
represented only by a mound. The town fitted out three

ships, in 1588, for the fleet raised to repel the Spanish

Armada, and it took pait with the ParUamentarians in the

time of Charles I., and undenvent some shai-p events in the

wiirs which followed. Three monastic edifices were erected

at it, a Cluniac monasteiy, an Augustinian friary, .and an

hospital to the Holy Trinity, but all are extinct.

The town is well aligned, and one of the most agi'eeable

in the county. A bridge of IG arches, supposed to have

been built in the 13th centuiy, spans the river, and was
widened in 1834. Queen Anne's W.alk, on the qu.ay west of

the bridge, is a colonnade upwards of CO feet long, erected in

the time of Queen Anne, and adorned with a statue of that

monarch, used originally as an exch.ange, and reconstmcted

by the corporation in 1798. The Masonic Hall .adjoins
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Queen Anne's Walk. The North Walk, farther west, is

a promenade by the side of tlie river phanted with trees.

The market-place in High Street was enlarged, and a new
and elegant town-hall erected, in 1856, at a cost of upwards

of ,£8000. The com-mai'ket is at the upper end, and a

music hall is over it. The theatre, in Boutport Sti'eet, built

in 1834, is small but very neat. The North Devon Infir-

miiry, at the foot of Litchdon Street, is a fine massive edifice.

A fish market was erected on the quay about 1873. There

are also a custom-house, a dispensary, a workhouse, five

.suites of almshouses, a free gi'ammar school, a Blue-coat

school, a variety of day schools and benefactions, and a

liter.ai7 and scientific institution ; and the North Devon
Athenoeum, park and sports ground, the gift of Mr Rock,

a native of the town. The parish chm-ch, nearly in the

centre of the town, is a spacious ancient stmctui'e, bear-

ing many evidences of the hand of time, and has a curious

timber spire, covered with lead, warped by the sun, and

leaning to the south. Holy Trinity Church, at the south

end of the to^m, has a tower 133 feet high, and was built

in 1843. St Mary Magdalene Church is a pl.ain stracture

erected in 1846. The Congregational chapel is a veiy fine

building. The Wesleyan chapel was rebuilt in 1869, and is

in the Decorated English style. The Roman Ontbolic chapel

is an erection in veiy chaste style. There are three Baptist

chapels and a chapel for Bible Christians. The Refoinned

Episcopal Chm-ch, erected in 1880, is a building in the E.arly

Pointed style, and will seat 400 persons.

The tovra has a head post office, two railway stations,

three banking offices, and publishes three weekly newspapers.

A weekly market is held on Friday, and a fair on the Wed-
nesday next preceding 20 Sept. in each year. The m.annf.ac-

ture of woollens was formerly extensive, and is still canied

on. Manufactm-es of bobbinet, paper, pottery, leather,

and malt also exist. The chief commerce is in exports of

gi'ain, wool, o<ak-bark, leather, .and earthenware, and in im-

ports of coal, frait, and foreign timber. The town is gov-

emed by a mayor, 6 aldermen, and 18 councillors, and is a

seat of petty sessions. It returned two members to Parlia-

ment from the twenty-third year of King Edwai'd I. (1294—

95), until the passing of the Redistribution of Seats Act of

1885, when the borough was included in the county division.

Its limits as a borough include .all the psirish of Barnstaple

and parts of the parishes of Pilton and Bishops-Tawton.

Area of the parish, 1360 acres ; of the municipal borough,

1837 acres; population of the municipal borough, 13,058;

of the civil parish, 11,441. Bishops Jewel and Gay were

educated at the gi-ammar school, and Dr Parsons, the author

of " Japhet," was a native.

The bay expands north and south at the month of the

Taw; has there a dangerous bar; measures 15 miles across

the entrance, from Morte Point to Hartland Point ; lies much
exposed to westerly winds ; and includes, on the south side,

Clovelly roadstead, with from 4 to 8 fathoms water. The
navigation up from it to Barnstaple is through a naiTow

channel, mth never more than 12 feet of water. Tlie parish,

though not containing all the borough, extends beyond the

town. Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 99G7. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter

;
gi"oss value, X285

mth residence. Patron, the Earl of Whamcliff'e. Holy
Trinity is a perpetual curacy, St Maiy Magdalene a vicarage

;

the former of the gi'oss value of £167 with residence, in the

patronage of the Bishop of Exeter ; the latter of the gi'oss

value of £170, in the patronage of alternately the Crown
and the Bishop of Exeter.

Newport is now a subm'b, and included in the muni-

cipal borough, of Bamstaple. The Chm'cli of St John the

Baptist is a stractm-e of stone in the Gothic style. It was
well restored in 1887, and there are 400 sittings. The liv-

ing is a vicaiage ; net value, £220, in the gift of the Bishop

of Exeter.

Barnstaple Parliamentary Division^ or North-Western
Devonshire, was fonned imder the Redistribution of Seats

Act of 1885, and retums one member to the House of Com-
mons. Population, 61,331. The division includes the

following:— Br.aunton— Arlington, Ashford, Atherington,

Beriyiiiirbor, Bishopst.awton (part of), Bittadon, Br.atton

Fleming, Braunton, Brendon, Challacombe, Combmartin,

Countisburj', Down (East), Down (West), Fremington,
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Georgeham, Goodleigh, Heanlon riuulianlnn, Ill^libray,

Hoi'wood, Ilfracombe, Iiistow, Keiilisbmy, Luiulkfj, Linton,

Loxhore, Maitinhoe, Mai'wood, Morllioc, Newton Tiaccy,

Parracombe, Pilton (pai't of), SheiTvill, Stoke Eiveis, Swim-
bridge, Tawstoke, Trentishoe ; Bideford—Abbotsbam, Alwing-

ton, BuckJand Brewer, Bulkwortby, Clovelly, East Putford,

Haitland, Landcross, Littleham, Monkiield, Newton St

Fetrock, Northam, Parkham, Welcombe, Westlcigb, Wool-

fardiswortby ; Barnstaple, municipal borough ; Bidetord,

municipal borough.

Bamston, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Woodchurch parish, Cheshhe, 2 miles N of Heswall station

on the Birkenhead railway, 4 N of Great Neston, and 6 SW
by S of Bh'kenhead, under which there is a post ofKce

;

money order and telegraph office, Heswall. Acre,age, 1108
;

population of the civil parish, 404 ; of the ecclesiastical p.arish,

which includes the township of Pcnsley, 455. The living is

a \-icarage in the diocese of Chester ; net value, £143 with

residence. Christ Chm'ch was erected in 1870.

Bamston, or Bimston, a parish in Essex, on the river

Chelmer, 2 miles SE of Dunmow station on the G.E.R., and

7i WSW of Braintree. It has a post, money order, and

telegi'aph office at Dunmow. Acreage, 1341)
;
population of

the civil p:uish, 166; of the ecclesiastical, 147. The Uving

is a rectory in the dioccso of St Alhans
;

gi-oss value, £314
with residence. The chmch is Norinan. The parish is very

ancient, and is mentioned in the Domesday Sm'vey.

Bamstone, a hamlet in the parish of Langar-cum-Bai'ns-

ton, Notts, 120 miles from London, and 4 SE of Bingham, with

a station on the G.N. and L. & N.W. Joint railways, and a post

office under Nottingham. The hving is a perpetual curacy

annexed to the rectory of Langar, in the diocese of Southwell.

Bamt-Green, a handet in Alvechmch parish, Worcester-

shire, 2 miles NW of Alvechurch. It has a station on the

M.R.

Barnton, a township and an ecclesi.i5tic.al parish in Great

Budworth parish, Cheshire. The township lies on the river

Weaver and the North Staffordshu-c Canal, 2 miles NW of

Northwich, and h.as a post and telegi-aph office under that

town. Acreage, 760 ;
population, 2297. The ecclesiastical

palish includes the township of Anderton, and was consti-

tuted in 1843. Population, 2666. The living is a vicai'agc

in the diocese of Chester; gi'oss value, £195 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop. The church was erected in 1842. There

are Wesleyan and Free and Prunitive Methodist chapels.

The inhabitants .are chiefly employed at the extensive chemical

works which ai'C close to the village.

Barnwell. See Barnwell-St-Andkew.
Barnwell or St Andrew the Less. See Cambridge.
Barnwell-All-Saints, a parish in Northamptonshire, on

the L. & N.W.K., A a mile S of Barnwell station, and 3

miles SSE of Oundle, which is the post town and money

order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1781 ;
population, 143.

The h\ing is a rectoiy annexed to the rectory of Barnwell-

St-Andrew, in the diocese of Peterborough. Of the chmch
which formerly stood in this parish only the chancel remains,

which is used as a bm'ying place by the Montagu family,

Eiu^ls of Sandwich.

Bamwell-St-Andrew, a vilLage and a p.arish in North-

amptonshire. Therillage stands adjacent to the L. cSbN.W.K.,

2^ miles SSE of Oundle, and has a station of the name of

Barnwell on the railway, and a post office of the name of

Barnwell-St-Andrew, under Oundle, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Its name is alleged to be a con-uption

of " Bairn's Well," and is said to have arisen from an old

superstitious belief that some wells in the neighbom-hood had

a mir.aculous efficacy to cure the diseases of childi'en. The
parish comprises 1681 .acres

;
population, 252. A castle was

erected here, in 1152, by Reginald le Moine, and passed to

the family of Montagu ; and the ruin of it, comprising a

quadi'angular court, with massive chcular towers at the cor-

ners and a grand gateway on the south side, is an interesting

specimen of Early Norman castellated architectiu'e. The living

is a rectory united with the rectory of Bamwell-AU-Saints,

in the diocese of Peterborough
;

gross yearly value, £338
with residence. Patron, the Duke of Buccleuch. The church

is an ancient and interesting edifice of stone, and has a tower

and spire.

Baxnwood, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on
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the old Roman road. Ermine SIrcel, 2 miles ESE of Gloucester,

which is the post town. Acieago, 1411
;
population of the

civil parish, 1462; of the ecclesiastical, 1243. Bamwood
Coiu't and tlie manor house are chief residences. Biimwood

House is an hospital for the ins.ane, intended for patients of the

upper and middle classes. The new County Lunatic Asylum,

situated here, was opened in 1885. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £215 witli

residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Gloucester.

The clim-ch dates p.artly from the 12tli centm-y, and has a good

Nonnan chancel ai"ch and a Perpendicular font. In this

jiarish were born Sh Edmund Sanders, Chief-Justice of the

King's Bench in 1683, and Su- Charles Whcatstnne, of telc-

grapli fame, inventor of the stereoscope, harmonium, &c.

Barog, a township in Llanfuh-Talhaiani parish, Denbigh-

shire, 9 miles WNW of Denbigh.

Baron-Hill, the seat of the Bulkelcy f.amily, in Anglesey,

1 mile N of Bcamn-aris. Tlie mansion comprises part of a

5tructm-e of 1618 by Sh Richard Bulkeley, but consists

chiefly of a fine edifice, built by Lord Bulkeley, after designs

by Mr S Wyatt. It is situated on a well-wooded hill, and

is suiTounded by beautiful gi'ounds and a park. A short

dist.ance from the house, under a mommiental recess, is the

stone coffin of Joan, daughter of King John of England

and wife of Llewellyn the Great, Prince of North Wales,

originally placed in the neighbouring priory of Llanfaes, and

brought liither in 1808 by Lord Bulkeley.

Baron's Park. See ISarron's Park.
Barras, a railway station in Westmoreland, 265 mileb

from London, on the N.E.R., between Bowes and Ivhkby-

Steplien.

Barr, Great, a village and a parish in StcatFordshhe. The
village stands 2 miles E of Great Barr station on the L. &
N.W.R., 3 SE of Walsall, and 6 N of Bhiningham. It has

a post office under BuTningham ; money order and telegraph

office, Hamste.ad. The palish comprises 5262 acres
;
popula-

tion, 1388. Great Barr Hall is a noble modern mansion,

standing amid chaiining grounds, in a beautiful valley, and

smTounded by a well-wooded park of 600 acres. It is the

seat of the Scott family. An mn, neai' the flower garden,

is monumental of Miss Maiy Dolman, the cousin of Shen-

stone. Barr Beacon, 2 miles NE, is 653 feet high, and

commands an extensive view. It is said to have been the

scat of the Aichdmid, and was used by the S.axons and the

Danes as a pl.ace of alann-fires. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Lichfield; net value, £518 with residence.

The chm'ch was entirely rebuilt in 1860, with the exception

of the tower and sphe. There are a Wesleyan chapel and an

endowed school.

Barr, Perry. See Perry-Bark.
Barrasford, a township in Chollerton parish, Northum-

berland, on the North Tyne river, and on the Border Counties

r.ailw,ay, li miles NNW of Hexham. It hsis a station on

the North British Railway, and h.as a post and money order

office, R.S.O. (Northumberland). The right of a weekly

market for it was obtained by Robert de Umfraville from

Edward I., but has long been in abeyance.

Baxraway, or Barway, a hamlet in Soham parish, Cam-
bridge, near the river Ouse, 3t miles S by E of Ely. It is a

chapelry to the vicarage of Soham.

Barricane, a creek on the N coast of Devon, between

Morte Point and Woolacombo Sands, 4^ miles SW of Ilfra-

combe. It is notable for great profusion and vaiiety of ocean

flowers, sea-weeds, and shells.

Barrington, a parish in Cambridgeshhe. on the river Cam,
1 mile N from Foxton station on the G.E.R., and 7 miles

SSW of Cambridge. It has a post office under Cambridge

;

telegi-aph office, Shepreth railway st.ation. Acreage, 2282 :

population, 583. The li\ing is a \icar.age in the diocese of

Ely ; net yearly value, £75 with residence. Patron, Trinity

College, Cambridge. The chiuch is ancient and interesting,

and there is a neat Congregational chapel.

Barrington, a p.arish in Somerset, 3J miles NE of Ilminstcr

station on the G.W.R. Post town, and money order and

telegraph office, Petherton. Acreage, 1192; population of the

civil parish, 447 ; of the ecclesiastical, 408. Barrington

Court is .an exceptionally fine and un.altered specimen of

Early Tudor domestic architecture, built by the Daukneys.

and afterwards held, amongst others, by the Phelipses and
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Strodes. In the time of the latter it was risited by the Duke
of Monmouth. It is now a farmhouse, and some parts of it

in bad repair. The church is cruciform, and of the 13th

and 16th centuries, and has a central oct.agonal tower. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells

;
gross

value, £200. There is a Weslejan chapel.

Barrington, Great, a village and a parish in Gloucester-

shu-e, on the verge of the county, Si miles NW of Bm'ford,

and 7 SW of Shipton station on the G.W.E., with a post,

money order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 2990
;
popula-

tion, 496. The manor belonged prior to the Conquest to

Earl Harold ; it was afterwards part of the possessions

of Llanthony Abbey, and was for 200 years in the hands

of the Bray family, till its pm'chase in 1734 by Lord Chan-

cellor Talbot. The present mansion is a spacious modern

edifice, within a park about 3 miles in circuit. Quanics

of excellent freestone are worked, and supplied the material

for Blenheim House and for the restoration of Westminster

Abbey. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol
;
gross value, £202. The church is a handsome

Perpendicular building, with an emb.attled tower; it was

erected in 1511, and contains monuments to the Bray and

Dynevor families. A Norman arch and other features point

to an older church.

Barrington Hill. See Barkington, Somerset.

Barrington, Little, a parish in Gloucestershire, 3 miles

WNW of Bui-ford, and 7 SW of Shipton station on the

G.W.R. Post town, Bmford (R.S.O. Oson). Acreage,

1113; population 135. Bai-rington Grove, the seat of the

lord of the manor, is a handsome mansion surrounded by

plantations. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol
;

gi'oss value, £100 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The chuixh is veiy ancient

;

it has an embattled tower, and contains monuments to the

Greyhurst and Greenaw.ay families.

Barron's Park, a hamlet in Desford parish, Leicester,

6J miles E of Market-Bosworth.

Barrow, The, a stream of Westmoreland, falling into the

Bmbeck, near Howsehouse.

Barrow, The, a rivulet of Cumberland, falling into Der-

went Water, 2J miles S of Keswick. A cascade of two falls

occms on it, altogether 122 feet, and is approached through

the bcautifid gi'ounds of Barrow House.

Barrow, or Berghdon, a small village and chapeliy in

Rutland, 3 miles NE from Ashwell station on the M.E., and

6 NE from Oakham, with a small chapel, which is served

fi-om Cottesmore. Post town, Oakham
;
post and telegraph

office, Cottesmore. Acreage, 1031
;
population, 105.

Barrow, a parish in Cheshire, on the river Gowy, 2 miles

NW of Tarvin, and 5 ENE of Chester. It includes the

townships of Great Ban-ow and Little Ban'ow. There is

a station at Little B.aiTow on the Cheshii'e Lines railway,

and a post and telegraph office at Great Barrow, under

Chester ; money order office, Tarrin. Acreage, 3033

;

population, 734. The Uving is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Chester ; net value, £300 with residence. Patron, the

Marquis of Cholmondeley. The chmch is an Early English

cdiiice of red sandstone with later additions. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Barrow, a hamlet in Boddington parish, Gloucestershu-e,

3J miles NW of Cheltenham.

Barrow, a township in Holystone parish, Northumberland,

10 miles WNW of Rothbmy. Area, 989 acres of land and

20 of water
;
population, 8.

Barrow, a parish in Salop, 2 miles SW of Broseley,

and 2 E of Much-Wenlock. It includes the townships

of BaiTow and Caughley, and the hamlets of Aiiscott,

Shuiett, The Marsh, and Swinney. Post town, Broseley.

Acreage, 3123 ;
population, 301. Lord Forester is lord of

the manor. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory

of Willey, in the diocese of Hereford. The church is veiy

ancient, being Early Norman, with Saxon chancel arch and

other Saxon remains. It was restored in 1851, when a fresco

was discovered under the plaster of a knight on horseback.

There are an endowed school, and almshouses for six old

men and women.
Barrow, a parish, with a village, in Suffolk, Ik mile

S of Higham railway station on the G.E.R., and 6 W of Buiy-

St-Edmunds. It has a post and telegraph office under
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Bmy-St-Edmunds. Acreage, 2677 ; population, 952. The
living is a rectoi-y in the diocese of Ely; net yeaiiy value,

£475 with residence. Piitron, St John's College, Cambridge.

The church, which is an ancient building of flint and stone,

in the Early English style, has some interesting tombs and
monuments. There are Congi'egational and Primitive Meth-

odist chapels, an endowed infant school, and some small

charities. Francis, the translator of Horace, was rector of

B.arrow.

Barrow, Leicester. See BARROW-urON-SoAR.
Barrow, or Barrow-in-Fumeaa, a seaport town and a

parish, also a municipal, parliamentary, and county borough in

Lancashire, returning one member to Parliament under the

Redistribution of Seats Act, 1886. The town stands on the

Fm-ness railway, opposite Walncy Island, 8 miles SW of

Ulverstone. It was only a village, with a population of

325, in 1847 ; in 1891 it had 51,712 inhabitants, and the

area of the municipal and parliamentaiy borough was 10,987
acres. Barrow owed its rise mainly to the rapid development

of mineral wealth in its \icinity, and to the construction

of a grand artificial harbom', with docks and whan'es. The
docks consist of a series called the " Devonshire," " Buc-

cleuch," " Cavendish," and "Eamsdeu," all communicating,

and comprise 274 acres of water, with a depth of water

inside of 24 feet. The imports are chiefly timber, iron ore,

coal, gi'ain, petroleum, jute, and cattle. The town has a

long range of blast furaaces, extensive foundries and steel

works, large timber yards, shipbuilding yards, wood pulp

works, and jute mills ; di'aws from neighboming mines large

quantities of iron ore, and converts a considerable quantity

of pig-iron into steel by the Bessemer and other processes.

The chief exports ai'e pig-iron, steel rails, and iron ore. The
number of vessels registered as belonging to the port in 1893
was 140 (65,992 tons). The entries and clearances each

average 1700 (450,000 tons) per annum. Steamers leave

daily for Belfast all the year round, and for Douglas, Isle

of Man, dming the summer. The town is built on a

regular plan, chiefly with streets crossing at right angles

;

.and has a head post office, with telegi'aph, built in 1891,

a fine new railway station, three banks, and publishes two
newspapers. Markets are held on Wednesdays and Satur-

days. There is a spacious town-hall and municipal buildings,

including a free public library, reading-room, and museum,
erected in 1886-88 at a cost of about £70,000 a working

men's club and institute and Ubrary, two hospitals, a theatre,

a police office, and a custom house. The town is well lighted, and
has a plentiful supply of good water, both the gas and water

works being the property of the corporation. A handsome
bronze statue to Sir James Ramsden in Duke Street was raised

by public subscription in 1871, and cost £3000 ; a similar one

of the late Lord Frederick Cavendish was unveiled in 1885,

the cost of which was also defrayed by public subscription
;

and there is another of H. W. Schneider, Esq., many times

mayor of Barrow, and origin.al discoverer of the hematite

ore in the district. There .are six clnu'ches, two Baptist,

three Congi'egational, a CathoUc Apostohc, ten Jlethodist,

Presbyterian, and Welsh Presbyterian chapels, and a Romair
Catholic church ; also board schools, a high school for guis,

and a science and art school. In addition to the old parishes

of St George's and St James', four ecclesiastical parishes

were formed in 1877, and named after the foiu" evangehsts.

The lining of St George's is a vicar.ige ; net yearly value,

£637 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of C.aiiisle

:

of St James', also a ricarage; yearly value, £300 with resi-

dence, in the gift of tnistees. The hvings of the other four

chm'ches are likewise vicai'ages ; value of each about £300, in

the gift of the tnistees. 'There ar-e also the three additional

parishes of St Paul's, net value, £200 with residence ; St

Maiy's, Isle of Walney, net value, £160 with residence; and
St Michael's, net value, £120 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Dalton. The ancient Abbey of Furness is within

the borough, and is a veiy fine and well kept ruin.

Barrowby, a parish, with three hamlets, in Lincolnshire,

on the Grantham and Nottingham railw.ay, Ik mile W of

Grantham, under which it has a post and telcgi'aph office.

Acreage, 4440; population, 817. The living is a rectoiy

in the diocese of Lincoln
;

gi-oss value, £1025 with residence.

Patron, the Duke of Devonshu'c. The church is an ancient

and interesting edifice of stoue of the Early English Decor-
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ated period. There are Free Methodist and Wesleyan
chapels.

Barrowby, W. K. Yurkshiie. See AusmourE and Bae-
WK k-in-Elmet.

Bairow-Common. See Ashton, Long.

Barrowden, a village and a parish in Rntlaml. The

parish lies on the river Wolland, J a mile N\V frnui Walterley

station on the L. & N.W.R., and 5 miles E of Uppingham.
It h;is a post office under St^amford ; telegi'aph othce, South

Lufieuham. Acreage, 1813; population, 488. The living

is a rectoiy iu the diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £350
with residence. The church is au ancient Gothic building

of stone. The parish possesses some useful charities.

Barrow, East and West, a shoal, partly diy at low

water, about 12 miles K of Foulness, Essex. It extends

from NE to SW, is 15 miles long and from 1 to 3 nnles

broad, and has from 1 to 4 fathoms water. A navigable

chaimel, called BiUTOW Deeps, with from 5 to 10 fathoms

water, is on the one side, and another, called the Swin Deeps,

more used by ships, is on the other.

Barrowford, a township, a village, and an ecclesiastical

parish in tlie civil p.aiish of WTialley, Lancashire. The town-

ship lies on the East Lancashire railway, 2 miles W of Colne

station, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Nelson. Acreage, 2365; population of the township,

477(j; of the ecclesiastical parish, 4803. The Duke of

Buccleuch is lord of tlie manor. Many of the inhabitants

ai'e employed in cotton manufactories. The living is a

vicai"age in the diocese of Manchester ; net value, £343 with

residence. Patrons, Hulmc's Tnistees. The chmxh is

modern, and there are four dissenting chapels.

Barrow, Great. See Barrow, Cheslui'e.

Barrow Green. See Oxstead.
Barrow-Gumey, a pictmesque village and a pai'ish in

Somersetshne, 1 mile SSE of Flax Bom'ton station on the

G.W.R., and 5 miles WSW of Bristol, vrith a post office under

Flax Bomion. Acreage, 2064
;
population, 338. Banow

Com't, near BaiTow Hill, is a fine Tudor mansion, and

occupies the site of a Benedictine nunneiy founded by the

Fitzhardinges. A paiish room was opened in 1882. The
living is a perpetual cm'acy in the diocese of Bath and

Wells ; net value, £200 with residence. The chm-ch, which

adjoins the Court, and is dedicated to St Mary the Virgin

and St Edwai-d K. & JL, was enlarged by the addition of a

cbancel and vestry, and completely restored at a cost of

£11,000 in 1889. It contains several cmious monuments
and a piece of tessellated pavement of 14th century work.

The large reseiTohs which supply Bristol with water are

situated in this parish.

Barrow - Haven, a railway station with feny, North
Lincolnshue, on the Hirmber, opposite Hull. It has a post

office under Hull. See Babrow-dpon-Humbek.
Barrow-Hill, a \illage in Staveley parish, Derbyshne;

the nearest station is Chesterfield on the M.R. There are

large coal and u'on works belonging to the Staveley Coal and
Iron Company, and fm-nishing employment to upwards of

4000 hands. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Chestei-field. There are reading and news rooms and
library provided for the use of the workmen.

Barrow-Hill, an eminence adjacent to Englishcombe \il-

lage, Somersetshue, 3 miles SW of Bath. It sm-monnts an

elevated ridge, is about 100 feet high, figiu'es conspicuously

in the view from Bath ; and, if ai'tificial, is one of the hugest

barrows in England.

Barrow-Hill, a quondam Roman station on Watling
Street, near Daventiy, North.ainptonshue.

Barrow-Hill, an eminence on Akeman Street, in Wych-
wood Forest, Oxford, 5^ miles NE of Biu-ford.

Earrow-in-Fumess. See Barrow, I.ancashii'e.

Barrow, Little. See Barrow, Chcshhe.

Barrow Minchin, a hamlet in Banow-Gm'uey palish,

Somerset.

Barrow, North, a parish in Somersetshire, 2 miles from
Sparkford station on the G.W.R., and 3 SW of Castle Cary.

Bath is the post town ; money order and telegi'aph office.

Castle Cary. Acreage, 770; population, 100. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells, united with

the vicarage of South B.arrow
;

joint value, £230 with resi-

dence. The chmch is good.
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Barrow, South, a parish in Somersetshu'e, 1 mile from
Sparkford station on the G.W.R., and 4 miles SW of Castle

Caiy. Bath is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Queen Camel. Acreage, 764; population, 115. The
living is united with that of North Ban-ow. It is in the

diocese of Bath and Wells, and in the gift of Viscount Port-

man and the Dean and Chapter of Wells. The church is

good, and was restored in 1882.

Barrow-upon-Humber, a large village and a paiish iu

Glanford-Brigg union, Lincolnshire. Tlie village stands 2^
miles E of Barton, and has a post and telegraph office under

Hull. The parish includes also New Holland ; lies on the

Humber, neaiiy opposite Hull ; has a feiTy there at Barrow-

Haven to Hull, and is traversed along the coast by the

Barton branch of the M.S. & L.E., with a station at New
Holland and a road-side one at Barrow Haven. Acreage,

5050 of land and 181 of w.ater and foreshore; population,

2695. An ancient monastery, founded by Wulpher, king of

Slercia, stood at a place called Al Banve. An extensive

entrenchment, called the Castle, and supposed to have been

an ancient British camp, exists about a mile NW of the

village. The living is a vicai-age in the diocese of Lincoln

;

net value, £121 with residence. Pati'on, the Lord Chan-
cellor. The clim'ch is an ancient building of stone in the

Nonnan and Early English styles. There is a valuable en-

dowment for a Srmday afternoon lectm'eship, and there are

charities worth £14 a year. There ai'c Congregational,

Wesleyan, and Piimitive Methodist chapels. Barrow Hall

is a country residence standing in a pai'k of 150 acres.

Barrow-upon-Soar, a village, a township, a parish, and

the head of a poor law union in Leicestershire, on the river

Soar, and un the il.R., 3 miles SE of Loughborough, with a

station on the railway, and a post, money order, and telegi'aph

office under Loughborough. The village is inhabited prin-

cipally by gentry, farmers, labom'ers, and quarrymen, and

has long been noted for a hard blue limestone which contains

interesting fossils, and of which lai'ge quantities are bm'ued

into lime for cement. The township includes the village,

and comprises 2499 .acres
;
population, 2245. The manor

was knowu to the Saxons as Barwe, and belonged to Hugh
Lupus. The Uving is a vicai',age in the diocese of Peter-

borough ; net yearly value, £325 with residence, iu the gift

of St John's College, Cambridge. The church underwent

thorough restoration in 1870. A veiy fine sculptiu'ed reredos

was erected in 1893. There are chapels for Baptists,

Wesleyans, Piimitive Methodists, and Roman Cathohcs.

The parish possesses an endowed gi'ammar school and several

valuable charities. Bishop Beveiidge, who died in 1708, was

a native.

Barrow-upon-Trent, a township and a parish in Derby-

shue. The township Ues on the river Trent, adjacent to the

Grand Trunk Canal, 2i miles W of Chellaston station, and

6 S of Derby, mider which it h:is a post office. Acreage,

1203
;
population of the civil parish, 332 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, 581. The parish of Ban*ow, with the townships

of Sinfin and Aiieston, is in Shardlow union ; Twyford

and Stenson form a distinct paiish and townslup in

Burton union. The p.arishes are quite distinct, but united

for ecclesiastical pm'poses under one vicar. Twyford

has an ancient chmxh with Norman chancel arch. The
living is a vicarage united with the perpetual cm'.acy of

Twyford, in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £110 with

residence. The chmxh is an ancient building in Eaiiy

English style, and there is a Congregational chape!.

Barrule, North and South, two eminences at the ends

of the mountain ridg'- :iiiii>s the centre of the Isle of Man.

The former is 2 iniks SSW of Ramsey and 1840 feet high,

and the latter is 5 miles SSE of Peel and 1545 feet high.

Barry, a village, an island, and a paiish in Glamorgan-

shire. The village stands on the coast, opposite the

island, 8 miles SSW of Cardiff. Large docks arc situated

here, and aie connected by rail with Caidilf by the Barry

Dock and Railways line, which has a station at Bany
Dock and another at Barry. The dock, opened in 1889.

is 7 miles SW of Cardiff", Ijing between Barry Island and

the mainland of Glamorganshire. It covers upwiuds of 73

acres, and the width at the entrance is 80 feet; this has

a single pair of wrought-iron gates which are opened and

closed by hydrauMc cylinders. The basin is 600 feet in
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length, 500 feet wide, and lias an firea of 7 acres, witli a

depth of water of about 40 feet. There are post offices at

Barrj and Barry Docks under Carditf. The "island" com-

prises about 300 acres, and is now connected with the main-
land by a solid causeway and a good road. In 1888 the

Local Government Board erected an mban sanitaiy district

under the name of Barry and Cadoston, which includes

Barry, Cadoxton-juxta-Barry, Rlerthyr Dovan, part of St

Andrews, and part of Sully, the area of which is 3323 acres,

with a population of 13,278. The parish contains 531'

acres of land aud 163 of water and foreshore; population,

765. The living is a rectory, annexed to the rectory of

Porthkerry, in the diocese of Llandaff. The chm'ch is good.

A new church (St Paul's), Eai-ly Gothic in style, was opened

at East Barry in 1803. There are several dissenting chapels.

Baxsby, a chapelry in Ashby-Folville parish, Leicester-

shire, 6 miles E of Syston station on the M.R., and 10 NE
of Leicester. Houghton is the post town ; money order and

telegraph office, Reai'sby. Acreage, 1147; population, 188.

There is a Wesleyan chapel. Most of the laud in this parish

is devoted to gi-azing, and Stilton cheese is extensively made
here.

Barsham, a parish in Wangford union, Suffolk, near the

river Waveney, 2 miles W by S of Beccles station on the

G.E.R. Post town, Beccles, which is the money order and

telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1723
;
population, 299. The liv-

ing is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;
gioss value, £330

with residence. The chmxh has a remarkable east front

—

lattice work in stone—of 1617-37, and a round west tower,

and contains an octagonal Tudor font, a brass of 1380, and

a moulded brick altar-tomb of 1599. Echard, the ecclesias-

tical historian and early gazetteer wi'iter, who died in 1730,

and Catherine, the mother of Lord Nelson, were natives.

Barsham, East, a parish in Norfolk, 2^ miles N of

Fakenham station on the G.E.R. There is a post office

at Fakenham ; money order and telegi'aph office, New
Walsingham. Acreage, 1194; population of the civil pai-ish,

196; of the ecclesiastical, 456. The li^'ing is a vicai'age,

united with the rectory of Little Snoring, in the diocese of

Norwich; gross value, £630 with residence, in the gift of

Lord Hastings. The chm^ch is old but good. Heni-y VIIL
walked barefooted from East Barsham to Walsingham, in

1510, to make a votive offering of a necklace. The hall

here is a fine specunen of Tudor brickwork, and was erected

in the reign of Henry VIL
Barsham, North, a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles SW of

New Walsingham, Post town, New Walsingham, which is

the money order and telegiaph office. Acreage, 1025
;
popu-

lation, 98. The liiang is a rectoiy in the diocese of Norwich
;

gross value, £303 with residence. Patron, the Eaid of

Orford. The church is small, and consists only of chancel

and nave.

Barsham, West, a pai-ish in Norfolk, 2f miles S of

Walsingham station on the G.E.R., and 3 NNW of Fakenham.
Post town, New Walsingham, which is the money order and
telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1582; population, 104. The
li\*ing is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich

;
gross yearly

value, £157. The chm'ch is a building of stone in the

Gothic style, some portions of which date from Saxon times.

Barstable, a hundi'ed in Essex. It touches the Thames,

12 miles above and below Gravesend, aud extends from 7;V

to 15 miles inland.

Barston, a Wllage and a parish in Warwickshire, 2\
miles S of Hampton-in-Ai'den station on the L. & N.W.R.,

4 E of Solihull, and 7 NW of Kenilworth, with a post

office under Birmingham ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Hampton-in-Arden. Acreage, 1968; population, 345. It

is a chapelry, annexed to the rectoiy of Berkesweli, in the

diocese of Worcester. The church is a small red-brick edifice.

Barston, Kent. See Barfreston.
Bartestree, a chapelry in Dormington parish, Hereford-

shire, on the Worcester and Hereford road, 1 mile SE of

Witliington station on the G.W.R., and 4 miles E of Here-

ford. It has a post and telegraph office under Hereford.

Acreage, 421; population, 245. The living is a perpetual

cm'acy, annexed to the vicarage of Dormington, in the diocese

of Hereford. The churcli was rebuilt in 1888 at a cost of

£2000. There is a Roman Catholic convent and refuge,

founded in 1803, and subsequently considerably enlarged.
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Bartherton. See Batherton.
Bartholomew, St, a tract contiguous to Sudbmy, Suffolk,

formerly extra-parochial, but now included in the town. See

Sudbury.
Barthomley, a village and a township in Cheshke, and

a pai'ish partly in Cheshire and partly in Staffordshire. The
township is 1 mile S by W of Radway-Green station on the

North Staffordshire railway, and 5 miles SE of Crewe, under

which it has a post office ; money order office, Betley ; tele-

graph office, Alsager. Acreage, 1961 ;
population of the civil

parish, 315; of the ecclesiastical, 2500. The parish includes

also the townships of Crewe, Haslington, and Alsager in

Cheshire, and the township of Baltcrley in Staffordshire.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chester; net value,

£620 with residence. Patrons, the trustees of the late Lord

Crewe. The chtu'ch is an ancient edifice, with Norman
porch and richly caiTed roof, the latter put up in 1689. It

contains a monument of 1390 to Sir Robert Fulshm'st, who
fought at the battle of Poitiers; one of 1829 to the first

Lord Crewe ; and one of 1887, by Boehm, to the wife of the

second Lord Houghton. It was the scene of a tragical

onslaught, in 1643, by a troop of Lord Byi'on.

Barthorpe. See Acklam.
Bartington, a village and a township in Great Budworth

parish, Cheshire, 4 miles NW of Northwich, forming part

of the ecclesiastical parish of Little Leigh or Lclgh-juxta-

Bartington. Acreage, 310; population, 83. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Bartimiey, a hill in the vicinity of Land's End, Cornwall.

It has an altitude of 689 feet, and commands a fine view. Its

name signifies " the hill of fires."

Bartley or Bartley Green, a snbdi^nsion or yield of

Northfield parish, Worcestershire, 1 mile from Northfield, and
6 miles SSW of Bu'mingham. It has a post office of the

name of Bartley Green, under Bu*mingham ; money order

office, Northfield; telegi'aph office, Harborne; and it forms

a curacy attached to the rectOry of Northfield.

Bartlow or Great Bartlow, a parish with a'station on
the G.E.R., in Linton union, Cambridgeshire, 2^ miles SE
of Linton, which is the post town and money order and
telegraph office. Acreage, 377

;
population, 123. Four

barrows, popularly called Baiilow Hills, command an ex-

tensive view, and are generally, but eiToneonsly, regarded

as gi'aves of the slain in the battle of 1016 between Edmund
Ironside and Canute. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Ely; net yearly value, £276 with residence. The church

has a round Saxon tower, and is very good. It was restored

in 1879.

Bartlow-End, Steventon-End, or Little Bartlow, a

hamlet in Ashdon parish, Essex, contiguous to Great Bartlow.

to which it is annexed for ecclesiastical purposes, 3 miles SE
of Linton. Area, 864 acres; population, 175.

Barton, a chapehy in Whippingham parish, Isle of Wight,

2 miles NE of Newport. See Osborne House.
Barton, a parish in Cambridgeshire, on the Bourn, or

Bourn Brook, a tributary of the Cam river, 1;^ mile NE from

Lords Bridge station on the L. & N.W.R., and 3^ miles SW
of Cambridge. It has a post office under Cambridge ; money
order office, Grantchester. Acreage, 1834; population, 281.

The li\'ing is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely ; net value,

£142 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

The chm-ch, an ancient edifice of stone in the Early Decorated

style, was restored and repaired in 1886. The rectorial tithes

belong to King's College, Cambridge.

Barton, a village and a township in Famdon parish,

Cheshire, 2 miles W of Broxton station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 8^ S by E of Chester. . Acreage, 530
;

population,

88. There is a Congi'egational chapel.

Barton, a township, forming with the townships of Myers-

cough and Billsborough and the hamlet of Newshara the

parish of St Lawrence Barton, in the rural deaneiy of Preston,

Lancashire. The remaining portion of Barton is included in

the parish of Broughton. The township has a station on the

N.W.R., 5^ miles N of Preston. Theareaof the parish is 2707

acres
;
population of the ci\al parish, 338 ; of the ecclesiastical,

885. Barton Hall and Bai-ton Lodge are within the limits.

Its post town is Preston ; money order and telegraph office,

Broughton. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Man-
chester; net value, £220 with residence.
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Barton, an ecclesiastical paiisli in Weslniorelaud, on

the river Eamont, 3^ miles W by S of Clifton railway

station, and 4 SW of Penrith. It extends along UUswaler
to its head at Patterdale ; includes the townships of High
Barton, Low Winder, Soekbridge and Tirril, Yauwath and
Eamont - Bridge, and the cliapelries of Martindale and
Patterdale- with -Hai-tsop, and contains the post, money
order, and telegi'aph offices of Pooley-Bridge and Patterdale

under Penrith. Population, 812. The gi-eater part of the

township belonged to the Lancasters, and has descended from

them to the Earl of Lonsdale. The sccneiy includes m.any

of the most admii'ed featm'es of the Lake countiy, and
will be noticed in our article on Ullswater, and in

other ai-ticles. Vaiious gems and minerals aie found in the

hills, particulai'ly a variety of spars and petrifactions on

Barton Fell. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

CarUsle; net value, £178 with residence. P.atron, the Earl

of Lonsdale. The chm'ch is a low lai'ge building, with a heavy

tower between the nave and the ch.ancel, and contains the

tomb of one of the Lancasters, .and monumental memorials

of several other families. The chapelries of Jlartindale and
Patterdale are sep.ai'ate benefices. There is a grammar school

here. Dr Langbaine, the historian and antiqu.ary, who died

in 1657, was a native.

Barton, a township, a pai-ish, and a lillage in the N. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies on a tributary of the river

Tees, 4i miles W of Croft railway st.ation, and 5 SW of

Darlington, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office (K.S.O.) The parish includes also the township of

Xewton-iMorrel and part of the township of Stapleton.

Acreage, 2449 ; population, 502. In this parish is a
Ihnestone quairy. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Ripon
;

gi'oss value, £150 with residence. Patrons, the

Vicar of Stanwiek and the Vicar of Gilling alternately.

There is a Wesleyan chapel and an endowed school.

Barton, a hamlet in Piddletown p.arish, Dorsetshii'e, 5:t

miles NE of Dorchester.

Barton, a hamlet in Guyting-Temple parish, Gloucestcr-

shh'e, 4 miles E of Wiuchcomb.
Barton, a tithing in Cuencester paiish and borough, Glou-

cestershu'e, 1 mile NW of Ch'encester.

Barton, a hamlet in Bidford p.arish, Wai'wickshh-e, 6i
miles SW of Stratford-on-Avon.

Barton, Lancashh-e. See BARXON-UPON-IiiwiiLL and
Halsall.

Barton, Notts. See Barton-in-Fabis.
Barton, Sufl'olk. See Barton, Great.
Barton, Bradnor, and Rushock, a township in Kington

parish, Hcrclordshirc, 1 mile N of Kington. On Bradnor
Hill are the remains of an ancient encampment.

Barton and Walton, a station on the M.R., adjacent to

the river Trent, 1 mile E of Barton-undcr-Needwood.

Barton-Bendish, a village and a parish in Norfolk.

The \-illage stands 5 miles N of Stoke Feny station on

the G.E.R., and 7i ENE of Downham, and has a post office

under Stoke Feny, which is the telegi'.aph otiice ; money order

office, Finch.am. It took its distinctive name from a dyke,

called Bendish, which the Saxons erected to raai'k the boundary

of the hundred. Ben-dish is probably from Fen-dysche,

equal to Fen-dyke. The dyke is called the devil's dyke.

The parish includes also the hamlet of Eastmore. Acreage,

4123
;
population, 399. Barton-Bendish Hall, anciently the

seat of the Berney family, stands in this parish. It was re-

stored and some new work added in 1856. The living con-

sists of the rectory of St Mary-with-All-Saints, and the

rectoiy of St Andrew, and is in the diocese of Norwich

;

net value, £250. The Church of St M;uy-with-All-Saints

is pood, and that of St Andi'ew has a tine screen, with hagio-

logical figures, and was repaired in 1859. There area Wes-
leyan chapel and some small chariries.

Barton -Blount, a village and a painsh in Derbyshire,

on a tributary of the river Dove, 4 miles NW of Tutbury
railway station, and 10 W of Derby. Post town, Chmch-
Broughton under Derby. Acreage, 1201 ;

population, 76.

Barton Hall is the seat of the Bradshaw family, who arc

lords of the manor and sole landowners. The piuish is a
resort of sportsmen. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese

of Southwell ; gioss value, £80. The church is small.

Barton-Earls, Northampton. See Earls-Bakton.

BARTON, MIDDLE

Barton, East. See liAnrox, Gi:eat.

Barton-End, a hamlet in Uorsley parish, Gloucestershire,

2 miles S of Nailsworth.

Barton, Great, a parish in Suffolk, 2| miles NE of Bury

St Edmunds. It contains the villages of Great Barton and
East Barton, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Bury St Edmunds. Acreage, 3761 ;
population,

766. Barton Hall, a fine country scat originally built about

the end of the reign of Elizabeth, and which has received

sever.al later additions, stands in this p.arish, in the midst

of extensive pleasure gi'ounds. It h.as a celebrated library

and pictm'e gallery. The living is a vicar.age in the diocese

of Ely; net yearly value, £280 with residence. The church

cont.aius several monuments, and is a handsome edifice of

flint and stone in the Early English and Perpendicular styles.

There are four almshouses and some small ch,arities.

Barton-Hartshorn, a parish of Buckingharashu'c, on the

verge of the county, 4 miles WSW of Buckingham, which is

the post town ; money order and telegraph office, Tinge-

wick. Acreage, 892 ; population, 102. The living is a

vicarage, united with the vicai'age of Chetwode, in the diocese

of 0.\ford ; net value, £77 with residence. The chmxh is a

handsome crucifonn stracture in the Perpendicular style of

aiehitectm'e.

Barton, High, a township in Barton parish, Westmore-

land, on the river Eamont, 4 miles SW of Penrith. It ex-

tends beyond the source of the Eamont in Ullswater, and

includes the h.amlet of Pooley Bridge, which h.as a post,

money order, .and telegr.aph office under Penrith, and it once

h.ad the right of a weekly market. Acreage, 2458
;
popu-

lation, 314.

Barton-Hill, a station on the York and Scarborough

branch of the N.E.R., adj.acent to the river Derwent, at the

bomidaiy between the E. and N. Ridings of Yorkshu'e, 12

miles NE of York.

Barton-in-Fabis, a village and a parish in Notts, on the

river Trent, Ij mile from Attenborough Gate station on the

M.R., and 5i miles SW of Nottingham, with a post office,

of the name of Barton, under Nottingham. Acreage, 1564

;

population of the civil parish, 246 ; of the ecclesiastical, 272.

This is the site of a British camp, and Roman remains are

frequently found. The living is a rectory m the diocese of

Southwell ; net value, £330 with residence. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The chm*ch is a handsome stone building

500 yeai's old, in the Late Decorated style ; upwai'ds of £60U
was spent on restoration in 1887-88.

Barton-in-the-Beans, a township in Leicestershire, chiefly

in Nailstone parish, but partly also in filarket-Bosworth and
Sh.ackerstone parishes, 2 miles N of Mai-ket-Bosworth. Acre-

age, 846 ;
population, 146.

Barton-in-the-Clay, a parish in Beds, on the verge of

the county, 6 miles N of Luton, and 3J E from Harhngton

station on the M.R. It has a post and money order office

under Ampthill ; telegiaph office, Silsoc Acreage, 2319;
population, 924. Tlie living is a rectory in the diocese of

Ely ; net yearly v.alue, £180 with residence, in the gift of the

Crown. The chm'ch is ancient and good. There are Bap-
tist, Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels, an endowed
school with £30 .and a master's house.

Barton-le-Street, a township, a paiish, and a village in

the N. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on the Thu'sk and
Malton branch of the N.E.R., and on the line of a Roman
road, under the Cleveland Moors, 5 miles WNW of Malton,

and it has a station on the railway and a post office under

Miilton. Acreage, 1675; population of the township, 177.

The parish includes also the townships of Butterwick and

Coneysthorpe, each of which has its parochial chapel. Popu-

lation, 421. The living is a rectory in the diocese of York;

net v.alue, £295 with residence. The church was entirely

rebuilt in 1870, but a rich variety of Late Norman sculpture

was iiitrinlui 1(1 Into the new work.

Barton-le-Willows, a township in Crambc pari.sh, in the

N. K. Yorkahiie, on the river Denvent and on the York and

Scarborough branch of the N.E.R., 2 miles from Barton-Hill

station, and 10 SW of Malton. It has a post office under

York. Acreage, 1017 ; population, 207. There is a Wesleyan

chapel here.

Barton, Middle, a township in Barton-Steeple paiish,

Oxford.
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Barton-Mills or Little Barton, a viUape and a parish

in Suffolk, adjacent to the river Lark, 1 mile SSPI of Mildcn-
hall, and 4 SE from Kennet station on the G.E.R., with a
post office under MiJdenhall (S.O.), which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1888 ; population, 407. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely ; net value, £300
with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The
chm'ch is an ancient bnilding of stone, and contains an ancient

font and a carved oak pulpit. There is also a Baptist chapel,

erected in 1844. There are corn mills in this village, worked
by steam and water, and some good villa residences.

Barton-Moss, a station on the Liverpool and Manchester

railway, on the border of Chat Moss, 7f miles W of Man-
chester.

Barton-on-the-Heath, a parish in Warwickshire, on the

verge of the county, near the Fom-shire-stone (which marks
the point of junction of the counties of Warwick, Oxford,

Gloucester, and Worcester), 4 miles E of Moreton-in-the-

Marsh station on the G.W.R., and 6 S of Shipton-on-Stom*.

It has a post office (S.O.) ; telegi-aph office, Moreton-in-thc-

Marsh ; money order office. Long Compton. Acreage, 1177
;

population, 172. The manor belonged from the time of

Henry IIL to the Marshalls, and passed in the time of Eliza-

beth to the Overbmys. Barton House is a fine Elizabethan

mansion, built by Inigo Jones. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Worcester; net value, X235 with residence.

Patron, Trinity College, Oxford. The chm'ch was originally

Norman. It has a good Norman chancel ai-ch and a western

tower with a saddleback roof. It contains an ancient font

and some memorial windows. Dover the lawyer, who insti-

tuted the Cotswold games so famous in the times of James I.

and II., was a resident.

Barton-St-David, a paiish in Somerset, on the river

Brue, 6 miles from Castle Cary station on the G.W.R., and
4 NE of Somerton. It includes the hamlet of Silver Street,

and lias a post office under Somerton ; money order office,

Keinton Mandeville; telegraph office, Butleigh. Acreage,

(89
;

population, 308. The living is a vicarage in tlie

diocese of Bath and Wells
;

gi*oss value, £259, in the gift of

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The chm'ch was restored in

1874. There is a Congregational chapel.

Barton-St-Mary, Lincoln. SeeBAKTON-upoN-HuMBEi:.
Barton-St-Peter. See Barton-upon-Humber.
Barton-Seagrave, a parish in Northamptonshire, 2 miles

SE of Kettering, under which it has a post office, and
at which is the money order, telegraph office, and railway

station. Aj-ea, 183G acres; population, 226. The manor
belonged anciently to the Seagiaves, who had a castle

on it in the time of Edward II., and one of whom was
marshal of England in the time of Edward IV. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly value,

£376 with residence, in the gift of the Duke of Buccleuch.

The chm-ch, which was restored in 1878, is ancient but good,

has a tower, and contains monuments of the Bridges. Bishop

Henchman, born in 1592, and the two Bridges, father and

son, the former of whom was the first gi'ower of sainfoin in

these parts, while the latter made extensive collections for a

history of the county, and died in 1724, were natives,

Barton-Seswells, a township in Barton-Steeple parish,

Oxfurd.

Barton-Stacey, a tithing and a parish in Hants. The
tithing lies on a headstream of the Anton river, and on the

line of the Roman road to Winchester, 2 miles from Long-

parish station on the L. & S.W.R., and 5J SE of Andover.

The parish includes also the townships of Bransbury, Dray-

ton, and Newton-Stacey. It has a post office under Michel-

dever; money order office, Sutton Scotney; telegi'aph office,

Fullerton. Acreage, 5026
;

population, 575. A strong

ancient entrenclmient occurs at Bransbmy. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Winchester; gross value, £360
with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Win-
chester. The church is Early English and cmcifonn, and

has a fine Perpendicular tower. There are a Wcsleyan

chapel and some small charities.

Barton-Steeple, a township and a parish in Oxfordshire.

The township lies on the river Dome, a tributary of the

Evenlode, 2;^ miles W of Heyford station on the G.W.R.,

and 4;V SSW of Deddington. The parish includes also the

townships of Middle-Bai'ton and Seswells Barton ; and its
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post town is Oxford, which is the money order office; tele-

graph office, Middle-Barton. Acreage, 3046; population of

the civil parish, 814 ; of the ecclesiastical, 798. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford; gi'oss yearly value,

£114 with residence. Patrons, the Duke of Marlborough and
the Hall family. The chmch is an ancient edifice of stone,

chiefly in the Decorated and Perpendicular styles. There
are Wesley.an and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Barton-Turf, a parish in Norfolk, 4 miles NE frum
Wroxham station on the G.E.K., and 11 NE of Norwich,
which is also the post town ; money order office, Neateshead,

Acreage, 1613
;
population, 386. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Nonvich ; net value, £170 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Nonvich. The church, a fine building

of flint and stone, has a lofty tower. The river Ant opens

out into a wide " bruad" on the borders of this parish.

Barton-under-Needwood, a village, a township, and
an ecclesiastical parish in Tatenhill civil parish, Staffijrdshire.

The village stands on the Grand Trunk Canal and the river

Trent, 1 mile W of Barton and Walton station on the M.R.,

and Sg- SW of Bm'ton-upon-Trent« It has a post office

under Bmton-upon-Trent. Several fine villas are in the

neighbourhood, including Barton Hall and Fulbrook House.

The township comprises 3775 acres; population, 1765.

A cottage hospital, with six beds, was established in 1879.

The Bai-ton Gas Company have then- works here. The
ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1881; population,

1753, The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield;

net value, £419 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Lichfield. The church is Later English, and was built in

the time of Henry VIII. by Dr John Taylor, Master of the

Rolls and Ai'chdeacon of Derby and Buckingham, a native

of the village. It has an embattled tower with pinnacles,

some stained windows and memorial tablets ; it was restored

in 1864. St James' Mission Chapel was erected in 1880
by Lady Hardy in memory of her son, who died in the Zulu

War. There lU'e Wesleyan Methodist and Primitive Method-
ist chapels.

Barton-upon-Humber, a small town in Lincolnshne.

The town stands on a rising-ground, about f of a mile from

the Humber, at the tenninus of a branch of the M.S. & L.K.,

3| milfs westward from New Holland, and 7 WSW of Hull.

It occupies the site of a Roman station, and was a place of con-

siderable commerce in the time of the Conqueror, but suffered

much when Edward I. made Hull a free borough. It consists

principally of spacious but hregularly built streets, and con-

tains some good modern houses. St Peter's Chm'ch is a large

edifice of nave, aisles, and chancel, chiefly in the Decorated

style, with a tower partly Saxon, partly Eai'ly Norman;
it was renovated in 1869 at a cost of about £1400. St

l\lai-y's Church is a stinictm'e mainly of the 13th centmy.

The chancel of this chui'ch was restored and refitted in 1883
at a cost of £700. The body of the church was restored in

1892 at a cost of £1800. St Peter's andStMaiy's parishes

are united in one living—a vicarage ; net yeai'ly value, £290,
in the gift of the Bishop of Lincoln. There are also Roman
Catholic, CoHgi'egational, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan

Methodist chapels. A good trade exists in com and.

tloui- ; manufactures are carried on in ropes, sacking, bricks,

tiles, potteiy, and malt. The town is a coastguard station,

a seat of petty sessions, a poUing place for the North Lind-

sey division of the county, and a head post, money order,

and telegraph office
;
population, 5226. The two parishes are

St Peter and St Mary, but by a Local Goveniment Order

which came into force in 1887 these were united under the

title of Barton-upon-Humbcr. The town is governed by a

local board of 21 members, under the Local Government Act

of 1858; it is well supplied with gas and water. Ai'ca,

6325 acres of land and 858 of water and foreshore. Re-

mains of ramparts and other works, raised for defence in the

Saxon times, occm" at Castle Dykes.

Barton-upon-Irwell, a township, and part of the civil

palish of Eccles, Lanc;ishire, on the route of the Manchester
Ship Canal, and adjacent to Patricroft station on the

L. & N.W.R. Barton is 5 miles W of Manchester, under

which it has a post and money order office; and it finds

employment for many of its inhabitants in a silk mill and
three spinning mills at Patricroft. The Slilp Canal is here

crossed by the Bridgewater Canal, caiiied by an atjueduct of
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two spans, one of which is :i inovahlr lalsson or trough.

There is also ;i series of locks on the Ship Canal, with a

change of level of 15 feet. The living is a perpetual cni'aey

in the diocese of Manchester ; net value, £130 with residence.

Besides the p.arish church there are a Roman Catholic and
two Methodist chapels. The township includes the hamlets

of Lostock and Croft. Acreage, 10,621 ; population of the

township, 35,826 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 3247.

Barton-Westcott, a parish in Woodstock union, Oxford-

shire, on the river Dome, 2j miles W of Heyford station

on the G.W.R., and U SSW of Dcddington. Post town,

Oxford ; money order office, Middle-Barton ; telegraph office,

Steeple-Aston. Acreage, 910
; population of the civil parish,

215; of the ecclesiastical, 231. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Oxford. The church has some Norman
featm'es, and was restored in 1856.

Barugh, a hamlet in Orton parish, Westmoreland, near

Orton and the Lune.

Barugh, a township and scattered vill.age in Darton
parish, W. K. Yorkshire, 2 miles NAV of Bamsley, and 1

mile from Darton station on the Lancashire and Yorkshire

railway. The township includes the hamlets of Gawber and
Higham. The manufactiu'c of linen is can-icd on here. It

has a post office at Banigh Green under Bamsley. Acreage,

1437; population, 2752.

Banighs-Ambo, a township and a chapeliy in Kukby-
Misperton piirish, N. K. Yorkshire, 4 miles SW of Pickering

station on the N.E.R., consisting of the hamlets of Great

and Little Bai-ugh. Acreage, 1461 ;
population, 220. Picker-

ing is the post town. There is a church at Great Banigh,

served by the clergy of Kii'kby-Misperton, and a Wesleyan
chapel at Little Banigh. A well-preserved Roman camp is

at Gre.at Barugh.

Barway. See Barkaway.
Barwell, a township and a p.arish in Leicestershue. The

township lies 2 miles NNE of Hinckley railway station, and
G^ NE of Nuneaton, and has a post and telegi'aph office

under Hinckley. The parish includes also the hamlet of

Potters-Marston and the chapelry of Stapleton. Area,

2387 acres
; population of the civil parish, 2022 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 2262. The living is a rectoiy, united with the

perpetual curacies of Marston and Stapleton, in the diocese of

Peterborough ; net value, £600 with residence. The church is

an ancient building of stone, in the Early English style.

There are Wesleyan .and Primitive Methodist chapels. The
chief industries are boot and shoe making, framework knitting,

and farming.

Barwick, a p.arish in Somerset, on the verge of the county,

2 miles S of Yeovil station on the G.W. and L. & S.W.R.
It includes the hamlet of Stoford, and its post town is Yeovil.

Acreage, 785 ; population, 464. Bai-wick House is a seat

in the neighbourhood. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Bath and Wells
;

gross v.alue, £220. The chui'ch is

Early English, and was restored in 1885-86. There are

some exquisite camngs on the pulpit, desk, and pews, and
several monuments to members of the Newman and Messiter

families.

Barwick, a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles E from Docking
station on the G.E.R., 4 WSW of Bui'nhiim, and 9 WNW
of Fakenham. Post town, Lynn ; money order and telegraph

office. Docking. Acreage, 1302 ;
population, 63. The living

is a vicarage, united with the rectoiy of Stanhoe, in the

diocese of Norwich. The site and part of the found.ations

alone remain of the ancient church. The site is kept care-

fully enclosed, and the outline of the former building can be

traced by the inequalities in the ground.

Barwick-Hall, a h.amlet in Roothing-Abbots parish,

Essex, 8i miles SW of Dunmow.
Barwick-in-Elmet, a township and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshu-e. The township lies 3 miles N of Garforth

railway station, and 7 ENE of Leeds, and foims a p.arish

with the hamlets of BaiTowby, Banibow, Kiddal, Potterton,

Scholes, and part of Winmoor; and has a post and money
order office under Leeds ; Aberford is the telegraph office.

Acreage, 6957; population of the civil parish, 2403; of

the ecclesiastical, 1285. A mon.isteiy, which existed in

730. but was probably much older, stood somewhere in the

palish. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Ripon ; net

value, £800 with residence. Patron, the Duchy of Lan-
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caster. The church is good, and there are charities. A
large mound called Hall-Tower Hill, with extensive eai'th-

works, enclosing .about 8 .acres, is said to have been the

stronghold of Edwin, King of Northumbria ; but it is of

British origin, though prob.ably utilised by the Saxons later

on against the Danes, and then connected with several miles

of earthworks extending to the east.

Barwise, a hamlet in Hoffe and Row township, Appleby-

St Lawrence parish, Westmorel.and.

Baschurch, a village, a township, and a parish in Salop.

The village lies near the river PciTy, 8 miles NW of Shi-ews-

bury, and has a station on the G.W.R., and a post office

under Shrewsbury. The parish includes also the townships of

Bhch, Boreatton, Eyton, Fcnnemere, Merehouse, Newtown,

Prescott, Stanwardinc-in-the-Wood, Stanwardine-in-the-

Fields, Walford, Weston-LuUingfield, and Yeaton. Acreage,

8491; population of the civil p.arish, 1439; of the ecclesi-

astical, 1443. On Berth Hill there are remains of .ancient

fortifications, and a deep pool or mere. Boreatton H.all is

the seat of the lord of the manor. Walford Manor and Wal-

ford Hall are other principal residences. Stanwardine Hall,

dating from 1560, is now a farmlionse. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £335 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Lichfield. The church is

ancient, partly Nonnan ; it contains an ancient font and

some monuments, and an old Bible chained to the wall.

The vicarage of Weston-Lullingfield is a separate benefice.

There is a Wesleyan chapel .at Newtown, and chapels for

Primitive Methodists at W.alford Heath and Weston Common.
Hawies' charity, with an income of about £400, supports

schools at Newtown and Weston.

Bascote, a hamlet in Long Itchingdon parish, Warwick-

shire, 2 miles NNW of Southam.

Basford, a township in Wybnnbmy palish, Cheshne, 2i
miles SSE of Crewe. Acreage, 671; population, 54.

Basford, a township and a parish in Nottinghamshire.

For municipal requirements it is included in the county

borough of Nottingham ; for poor-rate it is in the union of

Basford. Ecclesiastically two districts h.ave been separated

from the old parish. New Basford (population, 5408) and

Canington (population, 5622), leaving Old Basford, White-

moor, Cinder Hill, and Dob Park to the parish church with

the chapel of ease of Christ Church, Cinder Hill (population,

11,329). The township of Old Basford stands on the river

Lcen, Ij mile NNW of Nottingham, with st.ations on the

M.R. and G.N.R. The parish is a scat of the cotton hose

•and lace manufactmes ; has, besides, cotton and com mills,

bleaching and dyeing works, and the extensive gasworks be-

longing to the corporation of Nottingham. There are sub-

offices of Nottingham post office at Old and New Basford and

Canington. The ai'ea of the civil parish is 2894 acres

;

population, 22,781. The workhouse of Basford Union, con-

sisting of 44 parishes, stands on the confines of Basford and

Bidwell parishes. The living is a %icarage in the diocese of

Southwell ; net value, £534 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Southwell. The chm'ch, dedicated to St Leodegvius,

w,as enlarged in 1861. The chapel of ease. Cinder Hill, was

bviilt in 1856. The other chm-cbes are St John's, Canington,

and St Augustine's, New Basford. St Jude's, Mapperley,

ministers to St Ann's, Nottingham, but includes a population

in Basford of 302. There are twelve dissenting chapels.

Basford, a township in Cheddleton palish, Staffordshire,

3 miles S of Leek. B.asford H.all and Churaet Grange arc

the chief residences. Charles Cotton, the comic poet, born

in 1630, was a native.

Basford, New and Old. See Baskokd, Notts.

Bashall-Eaves, a township in Great Mitton paiisli, W. R.

Yorkshue, on the westeni verge of the county, 2i miles

WNW of Clitheroe station on the Lancashire and Yorkshire

railway. Post town, Whalley ; money order and telegraph

office, CUtheroe. Acreage, 3806; population, 233. There

is a Wesleyan chapel. Coulthurst, the seat of Lady Holker,

is in the neighbourhood.

Basilden or Basildon, a parish in Berks, on the river

Thames, and on the G.W.R., 2.^ miles SSE of Goring station,

and 7J miles WNW of Reading. Post office at Lower

Basildon under Reading. Acres, 3096 of land and 43 of

water; population, 675. Basilden Park was the seat of the

Viscounts Fane from 1718 till 1766, after which it passed
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into the possession of Sir F. Sylies' family till 1838, when
it. was puicliased by tlie late James Morrison. It contains

400 acres, and is enclosed within a stone and brick wall.

The house contains a fine collection of works of art. The
railway crosses the Thames a short distance above the chm'ch.

The parish iiad two churches at Domesday, and afterwards

the right of a weekly mai-ket. The existing chmch is a

biulding of flint and stone, and is supposed to have been

built in the reign of Edward II. It was restored in 1875.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford
;
gi-oss value,

£163 with residence. There is a Congi-egational chapel at

Upper Basildon. Roman tessellated pavements have been

discovered in the parish.

Basildon, a township and a chapehy in Laindon parish,

Essex, 2A miles NNW of I'itsea station on the London, Til-

bury, & Southend railway, and 4 SE of Billericay, with a

post office under Brentwood; money order and telegraph office,

Billcrioay. Acreage, 1615
;
population, 179. The living is

annexed to Laindon rectory in the diocese of St Albans.

Basing or Old Basing, a village and a parish in the

county of Hants. The village stands adjacent to the

Basingstoke Canal and the S.W.K., 2 miles NW of Basing-

stoke. It has a post, money order, and tclegiaph office.

Acreage, 5635 ;
population of the civil parish, 1352

;

of the ecclesiastical, 1399. Ethelred I. was defeated here

in 871 by the Danes. A very early castle, adjacent to the

village, was held by the family of De Port from the Con-

quest till the tmie of Kieh.ard II., passed then by man-iage

to the Poynings, and went in the time of Henry VI.

to the Paulets. Sir Wilham Paulet, created Marquis of

Winchester by Edward VI., rebuilt the castle in a style of

great magnificence, and gave sumptuous entertainment in it

to Queen Elizabeth. John, the i:fth marquis, ganisoned

it in defence of Charles I., and maintained it against a siege

by successive Parliamentaiian leaders during two years ; but

it was eventually taken by stoiin under Cromwell's own
leading, with results which made the place a rain, and gave

the victors about £200,000 worth of plunder. Only an ivy-

clad g.atew.ay, and a few walls and mounds of the castle now
remain, and even a subsequent but smaller mansion built

near it has passed away. Many balls, skeletons, and other

relics of the conflict have been found, and a neighbouiing

field bears the name of Slaughter-close. Many ancient en-

trenchments aie in the vicinity, and one, called Winklesbuiy

Circle, about 1100 feet in diameter, with a fhnt-fonned

vallum, was used by Cromwell as a sm'veying post prepara-

tory to his attack. The living is a ^acarage, united with the

vicarage of Up-Nately, in the diocese of Winchester; net

value, £393 with residence. Patron, Magdalen College,

Oxford. The chui'ch is Late Perpendicular, was repaired

in 1874 at a cost of £2800, and contains tombs of the

Paulets, including the six Dukes of Bolton, descendants of

the fifth Marquis of Winchester. There is a Methodist

chapel.

Basingfield. See Bassingfield.

Basingstoke, a municipal borough and a market and

union town in North Hants. The town stands on a head-

stream of the river Loddon, 15i miles SSW of Reading, and

ah SW by W of London. It is on the main line of the

L. '& S.W.R. to Southampton and Portsmouth, and also

to Salisbm-y, Exeter, and Plymouth, and there is a branch

line to the G.W.R. main line at Reading. The town dates

from the Saxon times, and at that early period may have

been inferior to Old Basing, but at the time of the Con-

quest it had obtained the superiority, and was a royal pos-

session and a market-town at Domesday. In 1261 Walter

de Merton, a native of Basingstoke, and founder of Morton

College, Oxford, founded an hospital at Basingstoke for the

maintenance of indigent and impotent priests, which was on

the north side of the river, but it has entirely disappeared, and

nothing now remains of the building. The town consists of

several streets, and contains neat well-built houses. The town-

hall is a handsome edifice of 1832, and cost £10,000. A hand-

some clock tower was erected in 1887, in commemoration of

the Queen's jubilee, at the sole expense of Col. John May,

the cost of which was £1200. The corn exchange was

built in 1865, at a cost of upwards of £3000. The parish

church is Late Perpendicular, large, and handsome ; consists

of nave, chancel, and side aisles, with a square tower ; was
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built chiefly in the reign of Henry VIII., by Bishop Fox ; was

repaued and new seated in 1841 ; and contains a parochial

library. A pietm'esque rum, known as the Holy Ghost

Chapel, founded in the time of Henry VIII. by the first

Lord Sandys, stands adjacent to the railway station ; shows

characters of very Late Perpendicular, with debased and
It.alian details ; and is believed to occupy the site of some

previous religious edifice or edifices, dating back to the times

of the Saxons. A biuying-gi'ound around it, now disposed

as a new cemetery, contains two funeral chapels in Decorated

Gothic, each with tower and spue about 70 feet high, founded

in 1857, and contains also some ancient monuments. The
town has several dissenting chapels, a grammar school with

endowed income of £158, a Blue-coat school with £170,
other charities with £500, three banks, a post, money order,

and telegraph office. There is a dilll hiill, a masonic hall,

and mechanics' institute, with a library containing over

3000 volumes. A cottage hospital was built in 1878. St

Thomas' Home, built in 1874, is an institution for friendless

and fallen women. The workhouse is at Basing. There

are permanent " BaiTacks " for the Salvation Army. Hack-
wood House, the property of Lord Bolton, is a chief residence.

A mai'ket is held on Wednesday. The manufacture of di'ug-

gets and shalloons was once extensive, but m.alting and the

corn trade and the manufactui'e of ready-made clothing are

now the chief employments. There are also some large ii-on

foundiies for the nianuf.actm'e of agricultmval and other im-

plements. A staff of the Royal Engineers Postal Telegraph

Department is stationed at Basingstoke. The town sent

members to P.arfi.ament in the times of Edward I. and II.

;

was chai'tered by James I. and Charles I. ; and is now
governed by a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors.

Walter de Jlerton, mentioned above ; John de Basingstoke, a

celebrated Greek schol.ar of the 13th centmy ; Sir James
Lancaster, the eminent navig.ator in the time of Elizabeth

;

Richai'd White, the author of a History of Britain in the

time of James 1. ; and the brothers Joseph and Thomas
Wai'ton, the former head-master of Winchester, the latter

the well-known poet, were natives of Basingstoke ; and
Thomas Waa-ton, the father of these Wartons, and Sir George

Wheler the Eastern traveller, were vicars. Population of

tlie municipal borough, 8213. The parish is politically con-

terminate with the town, and comprises 4194 acres; popu-

lation, 7960. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Winchester, and till 1864 was united with Basing and LTp-

Nately; gross value, £377. Patron, Magdalen College,

Oxford.

Basingstoke Parliamentary Division^ or North Hants,

was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,

and retm-ns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-
lation, 70,497. The division includes the following :—Odiham
— Aldershott, Bramshill, Cove, Crondall, Dogmersfield, Elve-

tham, Eversley, Farnborough, Greywell, Hartley Wiutney,

Hawley and Minlcy, Hecklield, Long Sutton, Mattingley,

Odiham, Rotherwick, South Wai'nborough, Winchfield, Yately;

Basingstoke—Andwell, Basing, Basingstoke Town, Bradley,

Bramley, Cliddesden, Churxh Oakley, Deane, Dummer, East-

rop, Ellesfield or lUsfield, Faileigh Wallop, Hartley Westpall,

Hen-iard, Mapledm'well, Mortimer (West End), Nately Scm'es,

Newnham, North Waltham, Nutley, Pamber, Popham, Preston

Candover, Sherbonie (St John), Shei-field-upon-Loddon,

Silchester, Stratfieldsaye (part of), Stratfield Turgiss, Tun-
worth, Up-Nately, Upton Gray, West Sherborne (otherwise

Monk Sherborne), Weston Corbett, Weston Patrick, Winslade

and Kempshott, Woodmancott, Woottou (St Lawi'ence),

Worting; Basingstoke, municipal borough.

Basingstoke Canal, a canal from Basingstoke in Hants
to the Wey and Arandel Canal in SmTey. It goes eastward,

past Odiham and across the river Blackwater, to the border

of SmTey in the vicinity of Ash ; then goes 3| miles north-

ward to the Chobham Hills, near Farnborough ; then proceeds

east-north-eastward, in the route of the S.W.R. , to the Wey
and Arundel Canal about 3 miles from the latter's junction

with the Thames. It« length is 37 miles, and it makes a

total descent of 195 feet with 29 locks, and passes near

Odiham through a tunnel of f of a mile. It was completed

in 170R, at a cost of £180,000, and it is navigable by vessels

of nearly 50 tons burden.

Basingthorpe. See Bassingthorpe.
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Basingwerk, a mined Cisterci:in abbey in Holywell parish,

Flint, on the coast of the estuary of the Dee, 1 mile NE of

Holywell. An abbey existed here from very early times, and

the date of the original foundation is unknown, but the Cis-

tercian rule was introduced in 1131 by Eanulph, Earl of

Chester, and the present abbey dates from about the end of

the 12th century. The ruin comprises chiefly the south

transept of the church, with portions of the refectoiy and

out-buildings. It stands on a gentle eminence, with very

pleasing view, but is marred both by the neglected state of its

own interior, and by the neighbourhood of smelting-works.

The abbey was dissolved in 1635, temporarily revived during

the reign of Queen Mary, and was used as a place of inter-

ment by Roman Catholics down to the reign of Charles I.

Baslow, a village and a parish in Derbyshire. The village

stands on the river Derwent, in the \'icinity of Chatsworth, 3

miles from Hassop station on the II. R. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Chesterfield, and several

good hotels, and it forms a pleasant centre to tomists for

visiting Chatsworth and some of the most picturesque parts

of the Peak district. The parish includes the hamlet of

Bubnell, and is govenied by a local board. Acreage, .5635
;

population, 8G4. The Duke of Devonshire and the Duke of

Rutland are the principal landowners. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Southivell
;

gi'oss value, £326. Patron,

tile Duke of Devonshire. The church stands in the village,

and is neat and commodious. The churchyard contains some

interesting slabs and a stone coffin. There are two dissenting

chapels, and considerable charities, and also small gasworks

and a large hydropathic establishment.

Bason-Bridge, a st.ation on the Somerset and Dorset

joint railway, in the valley of the Bnxe, Somersetshh'e.

Bassaleg, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in Mon-
mouthshire. The village stands in the vale of the Ebbw, at

the junction of the G.W. and Brecon and Merthyi* railways,

adjacent to Tredegar Park, 3 miles WNW of Newport, under

which it has a post office. There are four railway stations

in the parish, two at Bassaleg, and at Rhiwderyn and Tydu.

A priory of Black mouks, a cell to the Abbey of Glastonbuiy,

was founded here about 1110 by Robert de Haya, but fell

into decay before the general dissolution. The parish in-

cludes the hamlets of Dyfiryn, Graig, and Rogerstone. Popu-
lation, 3851. Tredegar Pai'k is the seat of Lord Tredegar,

the lord of the manor. There are remains of an ancient

castle at Rogerstone. Traces of a Roman camp occur on

the eastern side of the village, and of a British one about

a mile farther. There are wue works at Rogerstone,

and nail works at Tydu. The li\ing is a vicarage in the

diocese of Llandaff"; net value, £250 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Llandaff. The church is an ancient structure,

with an embattled tower. There are chapels for Wesleyans,

Congi'egationahsts, and Baptists at Bassaleg, for Baptists at

Tydu, and for Congi-egationalists at Rhiwderyn. There are

also endowed schools at Bassaleg, Tydu, and Rhiwdeiyn.

Bassenthwaite, a \'illage, a parish, and a lake in Cumber-
land. The village stands on the NE side of the lake, opposite

to and about 3 miles from Bassenthwaite Lake railw.ay sta-

tion, 7 miles NNW of Keswick, under wliich it has a post and
money order office ; telegi-aph office, Bassenthwaite Lake rail-

way station. The parish is di^'ided into two constablewicks.

High-side and Low-side. Acreage, G915; population, 541.

The surface is highly diversified and pictm'esque, ranging

from the summit of Skiddaw to the meadows on the lake.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carhsle ; net value,

£190 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Carlisle. The parish church was restored in 1874, and a

handsome chapel of ease built in 1878. There are small

charities. The lake is in the basin of the Derwent river

;

commences 3 miles NW of the foot of Denvent Water;
extends 4 miles north-north-westward, with a mean breadth

of ^ of a mile ; and has a surface elevation of 226 feet above

the level of the sea. Its bosom is not gemmed with any
island ; its head is flat and open, but looks away to the

mountains round Dei-went Water; its W side is flanked by a
range of wooded fells, mostly rising from the w.ater's edge

;

its foot is screened by vale and slope, going np .at 3 miles

distance to Binsey Hill; and its E side is fl.anked by the

grand skirts and sbouldei-s of Skiddaw, crowned at 6i miles'

distance by that mountain's summit. Pike and perch abound
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in the lake, and salmon pass through it to the Upper
Derwent.

Bassetlaw, a wapentake in the N of Notts. It includes

eighty-six parishes, and is cut into the divisions of Hatfield,

North Clay, and South Clay.

Basaetlaw Parliamentary Diviaon, Notts,v,-aiy foimed under

the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and returns one

member to the House of Commons. Population, 51,572.

The division includes the following :— Retford—Askham,
Aukley, Babworth, Baraby, Beckingham, Bevercotes, Blyth,

Bole, Bothamsall, Bonghton, Burton (West), Clarborough,

Clayworth, Cottani, Darlton, Drayton (East), Drayton

(West), Dunham, Eaton, p]gmanton, Elksley, Everton,

Einningley, Gamston, Gringley-on-the-Hill, Grove, Hab-
blesthorpe, H.ayton, Headon-cum-Upton, Houghton, Kirton,

Laneham, Laxton, Leverton (North), Leverton (South),

Littleborough, Lound, Markham (East), Markham (West),

Mattersey, Misson (part of), Misterton, Ompton, Ordsall,

Perlethorpe, Raguall, Rampton, Ranskill, Retford (West).

RuiTord, Sanndby, Scaftworth, Scrooby, Stockwith (West)

Stokeham, Stirrton, Sutton, Torworth, Treswell, Tuxford,

Walesby, Walkeringham, Wheatley(North),WheatIey (South),

Wiseton ; Worksop—Budby, Carburton, Carlton in Lindrick,

Cuckney, Edwinstone, Harworth, Hodsock, Holbeck, Lang-

with, Norton, OUerton, Styrrnp, Wallingwells, Welbeck,

Wellow, Woodhouse Hall, Worksop ; Mansfield (part of)

—

Clipstone, Soulkholme, Warsop ; Southwell (part of)—Bils-

thorpe, Eakring ; E.ast Retford, municipal borough.

Bassett House and The Knoll, an extra-parochial

tract in Leicestershire, 7^ miles SE of the town of Leicester.

Bassett Street, a hamlet in South Stoneham parish,

Hants, 3 miles N of Southampton.

Bassett-Wootton. See Wootton-Bassett.
Bassildon. See Basildon.

Bassingbourne, a village and a parish in Cambridgeshire.

The village stands 3 miles NNW of Royston station on the

G.N.R., has a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Royston, and was formerly a market-town. The parish in-

cludes also the hamlet of Kneesworth. Acreage, 3381

;

population of the civil parish, 1828; of the ecclesiastical,

1374. The liring is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely
;

gi-oss

yearly value, £299 with residence, in the gift of the Dean
and Chapter of Westminster. The church is of the 14th

and the tower of the 13th centniy. There is also a Con-

gi-egational chapel.

Bassingfield, a hamlet in the parishes of Holme-Pierre-

pont and Gamston, Notts, 4 miles SE of Nottingham, which

is the post town. It is 123 miles from London and 3 from

Radchffe-on-Trent station on the G.N.R.

Bassingham, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire. The
parish lies on the river Witham, 4 miles S of Swinderby

station on the M.R., and 8J NE of Newark, under which

it has a post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage.

3057 ; population, G48. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £000 with residence, in

the gift of Corpus Christi College, Oxford. The church,

which is an ancient building of stone in the Norman, Eai'ly

English, and Decorated styles, was restored in 1861. There

is also a Wesleyan chapel. The village possesses two com
mills, a brewery, and a malthouse-

Bassingham, Norfolk. See Bessingham.
Bassingthorpe-cum-Westby, a parish in Lincolnshire,

on the G.N.I!., 2 miles SSE of Great Ponton st£ition, and 3

NNW of Corby. It includes the hamlet of Westhy, and its

post town is Grantham ; monev order and telegi-aph office.

Corby. Acreage, 1811 ;
population, 138. The living i.s a

vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £113
with residence ; and it is in the gift of the Earl of Dysart.

The church is an ancient fabric of stone in the Eai'ly Nor-

man style.

Bassington, a township in Eglingh.am parish, Northum-
berland, on the river Alne, 3 miles NW of Alnwick station

on the N.E.R. Alnwick is the post town. Acreage, 237
;

population, 8.

Bastead, a hamlet in Wrotham parish, Kent. 11 miles

WNW of Maidstone.

Baston, a village and a large p.arish in Lincolnshire, ^h
miles NNW of Market-Deeping, and 2i NW from Thurlby

station on the G.N.R., with a post and money order office
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under Market-Deeping, which is tlie telegi-aph office. Acre-
age, 2514

5
population, G5(J. The living is a vicai'age in

the diocese of Lincoln ; net value, £206 with residence, in

the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The church is an ancient

building of stone. There is a Wesleyan chapel and a few
small charities.

Bastwick, a hamlet in Repps paiish, Norfolk, on the

North river, 5j miles NE of Acle. It was formerly a parish,

and has a ruined church, and it occasions Repps to he called

Repps-cum-Bastwick.

Baswich or Berkswich, a township and a parish in

Staffordshu'e. The township is united to two other tracts,

under the name of Baswich, Milford, and Walton. It lies

on the Stafford and Worcester Canal, 2 miles SE of Stafford,

and it contains the post office of Milford under Stafford,

and a sub-office at Walton, and has a station at Milford on

the Trent Valley branch of the L. & N.W.R. The parish

contains also tlie townsliip of Brockton and that of Acton-
Trussell and Bednall. Acreage, 2036

;
population of the

civil parish, C25 ; of the ecclesiastical, 837. The living is

a \icarage, united with the curacy of Walton, in the diocese

ef Lichfield; net value, i!171 with residence. The church

is a plain red-brick building, situated on the east bank of the

river Penk. The vicarage of Acton-Trussell-with-Bednall is

a separate benefice,

Batchacre, a hamlet Jn Adbaston parish, Staffordsliire, 6^
miles SW of Eccleshall.

Batchcott and Moor, a township in Richard's Castle

parish, Salop, on the verge of the county, 2^ miles SSW of

Ludlow. Jloor Park ia the chief residence.

Batchworth or Batchworth-Heatli, a hamlet in Rick-

mansworth parish, Herts, on the verge of the county, 2 miles

SSE of Rickmansworth. It has a post office of the name of

Batchworth-Heath.

Batcombe, a parish in Dorsetslm-e, 2 miles ESE of Ever-

shot station on the G.W.R., and 3J NWof Ceme-Abbas. It

includes Newland tithing. Dorchester is the post town

;

money order and telegraph office, Evershot. Acreage, 1120
;

population, 123. The living is a rectory, annexed to the

rectoiy of Frome-Vauchurch, in the diocese of Salisbuiy ; net

value, £260 with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Sand-
wich. The church is old and small.

Batcombe, a parish in Somersetshire, 3 miles E of Ever-

creech on the Somerset and Dorset railway, and 3 N of Bruton
on the G.W.R. It has a post and money order office under
Bath; telegraph office, Evercreech. Acreage, 3238; popu-
lation, 588. The living is a rectory, united with the rectory

of Upton-Noble, in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net

value, X703. The church was restored in 1844, and a new
tenor bell was Ining in 1887. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bate's Island, a small island in Earsdon parish, North-
umberland, nearly opposite Hartley, 4^ miles SSE of Blyth.

There are a small harbour, made by Lord Delaval, for

sheltering fishennen in storms, and remains of a chapel and
a hermitage.

Bath is a city in Somersetshire, a parliamentary and
municipal and county borough, and, in conjunction with

Wells, a bishop's see, a market and union town, and a watering-

place, with stations on the Great Western main line, the

ilidland, and the Somerset and Dorset extension railway

from Bath to Evercreech, 106 miles from London. The
Avon is navigable to it from the sea, the Kennet and Avon
Canal goes from it into the navigation of the Thames, and the

railways give it communication with all parts of the kingdom.

History.—The city owes its origin and its name to famous
thermal springs. An old tradition says that the springs

were discovered and the city founded by Bladud, son of Lud,

king of Britain, about the year 863 B.C., and a statue of

Bladud, with an inscription embodying the tradition, was
erected in the Pump-room so late as 1609. But the first

appreciators of the springs, and the real founders of the city,

were most probably the Romans. These made the place one

of their most important stations, called it Aquee Solis or

Calidce, sun-ounded it with walls, nearly on the lines of the

streets now called Lower Boroughwalls, Westgate Buildings,

Sawclose, and Upper Boroughwalls, built at it a temple to

the goddess MineiTa and a manufactoiy of weapons for the

legions, and constnicted around its springs a magnificent

suite of baths, with sudatories, tessellated floors, and oma-
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mental columns. The substmctions of the station walls have
frequently been laid open, fragments of the temple were

found during excavations in 1869, and the remains of the

baths, in remarkable preservation, at a depth of from 11 to

20 feet below the present surface, were discovered at the

rasing of the old abbey-house in 1755. The Romans dedi-

cated the springs to Apollo Medicus, erected a statue in

honom" of him early in the third centurj', and probably

maintained the baths in high fame till the end of then- times.

After their expulsion the place remained several years in

comparative tranquillity, but during the protracted wars be-

tween the Southern Britons and the Saxons it was the scene

of many obstinate contests. Prince Arthur defended it for a

time against successive armies, but at length was overcome in

its neighbourhood, and compelled to abandon it. The Saxons
made it their own, and called it Hat-Bathum, or " hot baths,"

and Acemannes-cester, or " the sick man's city." Cluistianity

was introduced in the sixth century, and led to the erection

of religious houses by the Saxon kings. A nunnery, on the

site of the temple of MineiTa, was founded in 676 by King
Osric, destroyed by the Danes, rebuilt about 775 by King
Offa, and changed into a Benedictine abbey in 973 by
King Edgar. That monarch was crowned by Archbishop

Dunstan in the church ; and a number of the kings, from

Athelstane downward, occasionally resided here, and struck

coins. The partisans of Robert, Duke of Normandy, fighting

against William Rnfus, assaulted the city, and bunied it to

the ground. John de Villula, Bishop of Wells, bought it

from Henry L, re-erected the abbey church, and made it the

seat of his diocese. The troubles in the tune of King Stephen

broke heavily upon it, and the whole city is said to have then

been destroyed by fire. It passed back in 1193 to the

Crown, and was then made a free borough, and began to rise

in wealth and importance. The abbey became very rich, and
the monks did good service by introducing woollen manufac-

ture. Leland, who visited Bath in the reign of Henry VIII.

,

says that it then had four gates, and that the walls which

sun-ounded it contained many Roman antiquities, which he

supposed to have been collected and set up by Norman archi-

tects. Queen Elizabeth \'isited it in 1591, and gi'anted then

a charter to the burgesses, with powers for the improvement

of the town. In the early stages of the dissensions under

Charles I. the city was fortified for the King at an expense

of £7000, but on the retreat of the Marquis of Hertford into

Wales it was seized by the Parliamentarian forces under Sir

William Waller. The Royalist army returned to the adjacent

Lansdown hill, erected breastworks there, and drew the

Parliamentarians into a battle, which ended in theu- defeat.

The city was now recovered by the Royalists, and it remained

in their possession two years, till June, 1645 ; but was then,

through treachery, sun'endered to the Parliamentarians.

Charles II., under advice of his physician, and attended by a

numerous court, visited the place in 16C3, and is thouglit to

have then given rise, by his example, to the drinking of the

water. In the reign of James II. the inhabitants closed

their gates against the Didce of Monmouth, putting a stop

to his career, and obliging him to fall back on his fate at

Sedgemoor.

The city as yet was comparatively insignificant, its build-

ings covered little more than fifty acres of gi-ound, and the

accommodations and attractions for visitors to its medicinal

waters were few and mean. Some organization was given to

it as a watering-place in consequence of two ^-isits of Queen

Anne before and after her accession to the throne, and a

gi"eat and permanent one was effected by Be.au Nash, the
" King of Bath," who appeared here about 1703, and died in

1761. The first pump-room was erected in 1706, and an

officer appointed in charge of it. Amusements were multi-

plied and regulated, the roads leading to the city were re-

pau'ed, the streets were better paved, cleansed, and lighted,

pleasure-grounds and gardens were laid out, and spacious

streets and places, with large, ornate houses, were constructed.

An architect of the name of Wood even formed the gi-and

design of rebuilding the entire city on a uniform plan ; and,

though defeated in this, was so encouraged by the proprietors

of the soil as to make magnificent additions. He first planned

several steets, then in 1729 began Queen Square, in 1740 the

North Parade, and in 1764 the Circus, and in 1769 his son

designed the Royal Crescent. Bath now was the summer
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rendezvous of persons of all classes, and even the occasional

resort of members of the Royal family. Fielding and Smol-

lett linked it with the stories of their heroes ; Lord Chester-

field was often at it ; the great Chatham took to it for the

healing of the gout; and Anstey, in his famous sarcastic

" New Bath Guide," satirised its follies.

Structure*—Bath is strikingly beautiful. Its site, in the

hollow and up the sides of a sort of amphitheatre, is gi-andly

conducive to picturesque efTect. Its building material, the

white oolite, so well known as Bath stone, and found in gi-eat

abundance in neighbouring quarries, gives 6ne scope for archi-

tectural details. Its street an-angement, compact in the old

parts at the centre, outspread at the suburbs, and presenting

a mixture of garden and grove, crescent and ten*ace, up the

ascents of the encircling hills, tier above tier, to a command-
ing height over the valley, is unique and charming. Good

views of the city are obtained from Camden and Lansdown
Crescents, wliicli can be reached by an easy walk from the

railway station, and the best is obtained from Beechencliff, a

steep eminence of upwards of 360 feet above the Avon, over-

hanging the railway, and accessible by a walk of ten minutes

from the station up HoUoway, the Roman Fosse Way, and

taking the path to the left. Camden Crescent, on the ele-

vated acclivity of Beacon Hill, is an elliptical range of

unifoiTU design, with Corinthian columns and central portico.

Lansdown Crescent, Somerset Place, Cavendish Crescent,

Cavendish Place, and St James' Square, are situated in the

northern portion of the city, and form a splendid group.

The Royal Crescent and Marlborough Buildings, a little

lower, also command noble views ; and the former is a fine

semicircle of thirty houses, all uniform, with Ionic columns

and surmounting cornice. The Circus, still lower, has fronts

with Boric, Ionic, and Corinthian columns, double and in

successive order, crowned by a Decorated battlement. Queen

Square, farther down, but still on high ground, measures 31G

feet by 30G, and has fom* facades, all uniform and ornamen-

tal, each after a ditferent design. The North and South

parades, east of the Abbey Chm*ch, are elegant ranges of

buildings, with ten'aces nearly 1800 feet long and 62 feet

broad. Pulteney Bridge, leading eastward from High Street

to Bathwick, is a fine structure of tliree arches, crowned on

each side with houses, and Pulteney Street, on a line with it,

built about 1770 by the Hon. William Pulteney, is in some

respects the finest street in the city. Green Park Buildings

and Norfolk Crescent, in the SW, also are elegant. Milsom
Street contains the finest shops. The main streets are

lighted with electricity.

Public Buildings.—The Great Western Railway station

stands on the right bank of the Avon, and is a roomy
edifice in the Tudor style. An elegant viaduct takes the

railway diagonally across Pulteney Road, and a stone bridge

and an ingeniously constructed skew one take it twice across

the Avon, above and below the station. Nine other bridges,

two of them stone, two iron, three suspension, and two pedes-

trian, bestride the Avon. The Midland station is near the

Avon, at the west end of the city, close to Green Park, and
is a commodious stimcture. The Guild Hall, in High Street,

was built in 1768-75, has a tetrastyle composite portico, in-

cludes court-rooms, public offices, and a spacious banqueting-

room, and contains portraits of Frederick Prince of Wales
and his consnrt, George III. and Queen Charlotte, the Earl of

Chatham, and Earl Camden. New municipal buildings

were commenced in 1893, which, when completed, will be a
great ornament to the city. The market, in High Street,

was erected in 1868, at a cost of about £5000. The market
days are Wednesday and Satm-day. Beckford's tower, on
the summit of Lansdown hill, was built by William Beckford,

the author of " Vathek," who died in 1844, is 130 feet

high, and commands an extensive ^iew. A walled garden
was originally around it, and this is now a public ceme-
tery with Byzantine gateway. Lansdown Tower, 2^ miles

beyond Beckford's Tower, is on the battlefield of Lansdown,
and was erected in 1720 by Lord Lansdown, the poet, to the

memoi7 of his grandfather, Sir Bevil Granville, who fell in

the battle. A handsome drinking-fountain, contiguous to

the Abbey and the markets, facing the High Street, with
sculptural representation of Rebecca at the Well, was con-

structed in 1861. The Jubilee Hall in Broad Street, erected

in 1888, is the local headquarters of the Young Men's
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Christian Association. St James' Memorial Hall was erected

in 1888, and is used for meetings in connection with St

James' Chmxh. The Pavilion Music Hall was built in 1886.

The Harrington Club was established in 1874, to promote
social intercourse and recreation. The Hahnemann F'ree

Dispensary was established in 1888. Other buildings will be

noticed in the subsequent paragraphs.

Baths.—The baths are situated near the centre of the

city. The pump-room was rebuilt in 1797 ; bears on its

front a Greek motto, signifying *' Water the best of elements ;

"

and is a handsome erection. 85 feet long, 48 feet broad, and
34 feet high, adorned with Corinthian portico and colonnade,

and lighted by a double range of windows. At the west end is

an orchestra gallery, and at the east end a handsome marble

statue of Beau Nash. The King's or principal bath adjoins the

pump-room ; measures 6G feet by 41 ; is open to the sky,

except a colonnade on one side ; contains about 3G4 tons of

water ; and is filled daily, to a height of 4 feet 7 inches, with

water rising directly from the spring in its centre, and bear-

ing a temperature throughout the bath from 114*" to 100".

The old Queen's Bath, constnicted, in 1597, was removed
diuing the excavations in 1885-86. The new Queen's Baths

in Stall Street and York Street were completed in 1888 ;

the frontage towards both streets is in the Italian style, with

Ionic pilasters supporting a deep coraice and attic. The
entrance is that of the old baths, and now leads to a spacious

central hall, with an open timber roof, and luxuriously fitted ;

the fiooring is laid with mosaic, and reproduces the pattern

of a Roman tessellated pavement found in 1886 in Bride-

well Lane. Upwards of £40,000 have been expended by

the Corporation in perfecting the various appliances, which
now include every modem and continental improvement.

All the baths belong to the borough, and are under the

management of the town council. The waters contain carbonic

acid, sulphate and muriate of soda, sulphate and carbonate

of lime, and minute quantities of silica and oxide of iron.

They act as a stimulant, and are regarded as beneficial against

gout, rheumatism, paralysis, biliary obsti-uctions, and cutane-

ous disorders, but may be injurious where there are inflam-

matory symptoms. Some most interesting remains of Roman
baths have from time to time been discovered ; of these the

most important are the Great Bath, discovered in 1880-81,

the Circular Bath, west of it, in 1884-86, and the great

Roman well, beneath the King's Bath, in 1878. The enclosed

hall containing the great bath is 111 feet long by 68 feet

wide, and the bath itself, including the continuous steps

surrounding it on all sides, is 81 by 38 feet.

Ecclesiastical Affairs.—The Abbey Chmxh was cleared

and remodelled in 1834, at a cost of nearly £11,000, and
again was much renovated in 1869. It is one of the latest

specimens of Perpendicular English. It was built on the

site, and pai'tly with the materials, of the previous pile

;

was commenced in 1499, stopped in 1539, and completed in

1616; yet is of unifoi-m character. It is ci-ucifonn. has a

central tower 1G2 feet high, and measures 210 feet in

length, 72 in breadth, 78 in height, and 126 along the

transepts. Its west front has a splendid window of seven

lights, ffanked by Decorated turrets ; its tower is well com-
posed, and has octagonal, panelled, sm-mounting turrets at

the comers ; and its interior is remarkably light and elegant,

in unifonn Perpendicular, but much crowded with tasteless

monuments. Traces of either an old Nomian apse or a Roman
temple can be observed on the outside of the east end. The
most interesting of the monuments are— in the nave, those of

Bishop Montague, Beau Nash, the Hon. William Bingham,

James Quin, Hermon Katencamp, Colonel Champion, John
Malthus, and Sarah Fielding ; in the south transept, that of

Lady Waller ; in the north transept, those of Fletcher Partis,

Sir R. H. Bickerton, Dr. Sibthorp, James Tamesz Grieve,

and Mary Frampton; and in the chancel, those of Lady
Miller, Mrs. Frazer, Colonel Walsh, and the artist Hoare.

In 1885 an oak screen was erected at the south-west comer
of Prior Biyde's chapel. The living is a rectoiy ; gross value.

£400 with residence. St James' Church is a neat stmcture.

rebuilt in 1768, and has a new tower in the Italian style,

surmounted by an elegant lantern ; it was restored in 1888.

The living is a vicarage ; net value, £245 with residence.

St Michael's Church was preceded, on the same site, by three

other churches, and is an elegant edifice, with a pierced spire
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182 feet high. Tlie living is a reetoiy
;
gross value, £99

with residence. St S.wum-'s Church was huilt in 1832;

is an elegant edifice, in the Decorated English style, with

gi-aduated and pinnacled buttresses, and has a tower of three

stages, emb.attled, and 120 feet high. The living is arectory

;

net value, £311. Trinity Church was huilt in 1822 ; is in

florid Gothic, and has a beautiful memorial window to Willi.am

West Jones, Esq., put up in 1859. The living is a rectory ;

value, £196. St Mai-k's or Lyncombe Chm-ch was built

in 1832 ; is in the Perpendicular style, and has a tower

;

it was restored in 1883. Tlie liring is a ^-iearage ; net value.

£350. Widcombe Church Is the oldest in the city ; has been

partially restored, and has an ivy-clad tower. The living

is a vicarage ; net value, £450. St Matthew's Chm'ch was

built in 1847 ; is a large edifice, in the Decorated English

style, and has a fine tower 155 feet high. St Mary Magda-

len's Chapel was renovated from a state of ruin about 1820,

and preserves the chariicter of ancient Early English, with

embattled tower. The incumbency is in the gift of the Lord

Chancellor
;

gi-oss value, £100. Christ Church was built in

1798 ; is in the L.ater English style, and has a handsome

altar-piece. The gi-oss value of the living is £700 per annum.

Queen SquareChapel was built in 1735,andisextenially Doric,

intei-nally Ionic. Margaret Chapel, in Brock Street, is a

commodious stnicture in the Early English style. All

Saints' Chapel, near Lansdown Crescent, was erected in 1794,

and is a good specimen of the Decorated style. St Stephen's

Church was built in 1845, and is in the Decorated style, with

a tower of three stages. The living is a vicarage ; net value,

£2G0. St John Baptist's Church was opened in 18G4, and

completed in 1868, and has a tower and spiie 200 feet high
;

it was enlarged in 1871. Several of the dissenting places of

worship are veiy handsome stractm'es. Tlie Argjdl Congi-e-

gational Chapel is in the Roman stylo, and was enlarged in

1862 ; the Percy Congregational Chapel is in the Byzantine

style, and was built in 1854 ; the New King Street Wesleyan

chapel. Decorated Gothic, 1847 ; the Moravian chapel, Ro-

man, 1845 ; the New Jerusalem chm-ch, Roman-Ionic, 1844
;

the South Parade Roman Catholic church, florid Gothic,

1861 ; adjoining this church is a priory and schools erected

in 1883. The Roman Catholic church of Our Lady Help of

Christians, in Julian Road, was erected in 1879-81 ; it is an

edifice of Bath stone in the Decorated style, with sittings

for 600. The Abbey Cemetery was opened in 1844, the

Lansdown Cemetery in 1848, the Bathwick in 1856, the

Lower Bristol Road and the Upper Bristol Road in 1862,

the Roman Catholic in 1859.

ScJwols and Institutions.—The free grammar school was

founded and endowed with lands by Edward VI., and it num-

bers amongst its pupils Prynne, the two Lysonses, Sir S.

Smith, .and other distinguished men. The Bluecoat School,

for GO boys and GO girls, is a new edifice in Upper Borough

Walls. There is a school of art in the Paragon. The

Lansdown Proprietary College, on the ascent of Lansdown

Hill, was changed inthe latter part of 18G3 into a college

for the daughters of militai-y officers ; was built in 1858 ; is

in the Gothic style of the geometric period; contains one

school of 3500 square feet, lighted by traceried windows,

and another school of 2100 feet, .and has a lofty central

tower. The Wesleyan College, on the same ascent higher np,

was erected in 1850, is in the Tudor style, and has a tower

90 feet high. Grosvenor College, in Grosvenor Place, was

established in 1837, for the sons'of noblemen and gentlemen.

The B.ath Proprietary College occupies the building at the

end of Pulteney Street, formerly the Sydney Hotel. The

Somersetshire College is in the Circus. Prior Park, St Peter,

and St Paul are Roman Catholic colleges adjoining the mag-

nificent mansion built by Ralph Allen in 1743 ; the build-

ings are all in the Classic style.

The Royal, Literary, and Scientific Institution, a little east

of the Abbey, occupies the site of the old assembly rooms,

retains their portico, and has a large library and a rich

museum, the last antiquarian and scientific, and free to the

public. The Athenffium, in Orange Grove, was origin.ally

a mechanics' institute. The B.ath and West of England

Society for the encouragement of .agriculture, the arts, manu-

factm'es, and commerce, was established in 1777. The Com-

mercial and Literary Institution occupies a part of tlie post

office building. The city is said to contain a gi-eater number of
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booksellers and cuxulating libraries in proportion to its popu-

lation than any other town in the kingdom. It may be re-

garded also as the cradle of English geology ; and it boasts

a remarkable number of eminent literary men as natives or

as residents. Among the natives have been Gildas the his-

torian, John Hales the professor of Greek, B. Robins the

mathematician, R. L. Edgeworth, Teny the comedian, and

Hone the author of the " Eveiy-day Book ;
" and among the

residents have been physicians, chemists, naturalists, his-

torians, divines, artists, and popular writers too numerous

to be named. The house No. 13 New King Street was the

residence of Herschel at the time of his making the obser-

vations which led to the discovei-y of the planet Uranus.

The Bath and County Club, in Queen Square, was established

in 1857, and consists of about 300 members.

Charities.—The Bath General Hospital was founded in

1742, for the use of the diseased poor from all parts of the

kingdom who may be benefited by the Bath waters ; it com-

prises a suite of new buildings erected in ISGl at a cost of

£18,000, together with an older adjoining suite, and contains

accommodation for 86 male and 48 female patients, and

is supported partly by endowment and partly by subscription.

The patients witliin it are accommodated with baths upon

the premises supplied from the springs. The United Hospital

was founded in 182G by the amalgamation of the city infir-

m,ai7 and the casualty hospital ; is a spacious building with

sick wards, lecture-room, anatomical museum, and library,

near the Cross Bath ; and, besides receiving in-patients,

gives relief to vast numbers of out-patients. St John's

Hospital was founded in 1180 by Bishop Fitz-Jocelyne

;

escaped the dissolution under Hemy VIII. ; was given by

Queen Elizabeth to the mayor and commonalty of the city
;

rebuilt in 1728 by Wood ; and has an income returned at

£214, but valued at £8828. St Catherine's Hospital, or the

BimbeiTies, was founded in the reign of Edward VI. Bel-

lott's Hospital, for poor persons using the waters, has an in-

come of £76 ; and St Mary Magdalene's Hospital for idiots,

founded before 1332, has £118. Pai-tis College, on New-

bridge Hill, for 30 reduced gentlewomen, was founded by

Mrsr Partis, and completed in 1827 ; and is a cap.acions range

of building, fonning three sides of a quadrangle. There are

.also .an eye infirmary, a penitentiary, several dispensaries,

lying-in-hospitals, almshouses, and other benevolent institu-

tions, either liberally supported or well endowed.

Amusements.—Bath was at one time the gayest place in

England, and it continues to possess the means of splendid

and numerous amusements. The Assembly Rooms, in the

vicinity of the Ciixus, were erected in 1791, at a cost of

£20,000, and contain a lofty vaulted octagon reception-room,

.and a ball-room 105 feet long, 43 feet wide, and 42 feet

high. The theatre, in Beaufort Square, is an elegant edifice

of 1863, on the site of a previous one built in 1805 and

bm-nt in 1862, reputed one of the best out of London. The

racecourse, on Lansdown, is an oval 1^ mile round, and the

gi-and stand on it was improved in 1859. The Victoria Park,

immediately west of the Royal Crescent and the Cncus, is

an ornate enclosure of .about 22 acres ; was thrown open to

the public in 1830, at a cost of £4000 raised by subscription
;

contains horticultural and botanic g.ardens ; and has at tlie

entrance an obelisk in honour of the Queen, and higher up

a colossal bust of Jupiter by the self-taught artist Osbome.

The Sydney Gardens, at the end of Pulteney Street, comprise

IG acres, were laid out in 1795, and used to be called the

" Vauxhall " of Bath. The Bath Horticultural Society holds

its meetings in these gardens. The walks and drives around

the city may be endlessly varied, and abound with interesting

objects, charming close views, and brilliant prospects.

Trade.—Bath is a favom-ite residence of annuitants, and

a fashionable resort of wealthy sti'angers. Hence arises its

principal tr.ade. Rents ai-e moderate ; coal is abundant ; the

markets are well supplied ; .all the wants of taste and society

.are readily ministered to ; .and in a full season, from Christmas

till the end of M.ay, about 20,000 persons in addition to the

permanent population .are present. A manuf.acture of coai'se

woollen cloth, called Bath-coating, was at one time can-ied

on, but has long been extinct. Weekly markets are held on

Wednesday and S.aturd.ay, and fairs on 14 February and

10 July. The city has a telegi-.aph station, a head post office,

five banks, a savings' bank, and many fine hotels, and it
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publishea sis weekly newspapers. The savings' bank, origin-

ally founded in 1815, now occupies a handsome edifice in the

Italian style.

The Borough.—The city foraierly consisted of the parish

of St Peter and St Paul, the parish of St James, the parish

of St Michael, and the part of the parish of Walcot south of

Cbarlcombe, but it now comprises the parish of Bathwick,

the parish of Lyncombe and Widcombe, and all the rest

of the parish of Walcot except Soper's Farn. The total

area is 3382 acres. The city, which bas its own police

force, is divided into 7 wai'ds ; is governed by a mayor, 14

sldennen, and 42 councillors ; is the seat of a county court,

and the headquai'ters of militia ; and has sent two members

to Parliament since the time of Edward I.
;

population

of the parliamentai'y borough, 54,551 ; and of the municipal

borough, 51,844.

Bath and Wells, a diocese comprehending all Somerset

except the ancient parishes of Abbots Leigh and Bedminster,

in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol, and parts of the eccle-

siastical parishes of Maiden Bradley and Stourton, in the

diocese of Salisbury. The see sprang from a college at Wells,

founded in 704 by King Ina; was constituted there, in 905,

by Edward the Elder ; was removed to Bath in the time of

WiUiam Rufus, by John de Villula ; was for some time desig-

nated of Bath only, and altogether administered there ; but

in the lotli centuiy, after long contention, was reconstituted

of both Bath and Wells, with cathedral at each. It num-
bers among its bishops Lord Chancellor Bumell, Lord

Treasurer De la March, Viceroy Drokensford, Lord Keeper

Beckington, Lord Chancellor Stillington, Cardinals de Castello

and Wolsey, Heniy VIII.'s confidant Clerk, President Boui'ne,

Montague, Laud, Ken, and Bai'on Auckland. The bishop's

palace is at Wells. The dignitaries and officials are a dean,

four canons, three arcbdeacons, a sub-dean, a chancellor of

the diocese, a chancellor of the church, a treasurer, forty-four

prebendaries, and three minor canons. The income of the

bishop is £5000; of the dean, £1000; and of the four

resident canons, £600 each. The diocese is diWded into the

archdeaconries of Wells, Bath, and Taunton. Population of

the diocese, 429,608.

Bathampton, a parish in Somerset, on the river Avon
and the G.W.R., 105 miles from London, and IJ mile NE
of Bath. It has a station on the railway, and a post office

under Bath ; money order and telegraph office, Batheaston.

Acreage, 933
;
population, 402. A series of suburban villas

extends onwards to Bath. The li^^ng is a vicarage in the

diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £84 with residence,

in the gift of the Dean and Chapter of Bristol. The church

is Perpendicular English ; has a fine west door ; contains

effigies of a knight and his lady of the time of Edward III.
;

and was repaired and enlarged in 1882.

Bathampton, Great and Little, two tithings in Steeple-

Lan-furd parish, Wilts, 5| miles NW of Wilton.

Bathealton, a parish in Somerset, 4 miles from Milver-

ton station on the G.W.R., and 6 from Wellington. Acre-

age, 946
;
population, 123. There is a post office under

Wiveliscombe (R.S.O.), which is the money order and tele-

gi'aph office. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Bath
and Wells ; net value, £215. The church was rebuilt about

50 years ago, and is very good. Some remains of an old

British camp are on a hill in the parish. Sharp's charity

is distributed to needy inhabitants each year Jn the church

porch on Candlemas Day. Bathealton Court is the chief

residence.

Batheaston, a parish in Somerset. It lies on the river

Avon, near the Fosse Way, 1 mile N by E of Bathampton
station on the G.W.R., and 2^ miles NE of Bath. Acreage,

1890
;
population of the ci^nl parish, 1725 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 1837. It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph

office, and a bridge across the Avon to Bathampton. The
manor belonged to the Saxon kings, and the cimrch was
early appi'opriated to Bath Abbe}'. Solsbury Hill, 600 feet

high, has traces of a circular camp supposed to have been

used by the Saxons in their siege of Bath. The living is a

vicarage, united with the chapelry of St Catherine, in the

diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £250 with residence.

Patron, Christ Church College, Oxford. The church is Per-

pendicular English; the north aisle was built in 1833, and

the nave rebuilt and a south aisle added in 1868. It con-
8*
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tains a tablet to the memory of the Rev. J. Conybeare, the

Anglo-Saxon scholar, who was several years vicar. There
are a church at St Catherines, and Wesleyan and Congre-
gational chapels. The Bath Waterworks have reseiToirs in

this parish.

Bathenn, The, a stream of Devonshire, 8 miles long,

falling into the Kxe a little below Bampton,

Batherton or Bartherton, a township in Wybunbm-y
jtarish, Cheshire, 2 miles S of Nantwich. Acreage, 428;
pupulatiun, 29.

Bathford, a village and a parish in Somerset. The village

stands adjacent to the river Avon and to the G.W.R., 1 mile

E by N of Bathampton station on the G.W.R., and 3^ miles

ENE of Bath, and it hae a post office under Bath ; money
order and telegi'apb office, Batheaston. The parish includes

also the hamlets of Shockerwick and Warley. Acreage,

1819; population, 886. An old ford on the Avon at

the "village gave rise to the name Bathford, and an elegant

viaduct, of one flat arch, takes across the railway a little

below. Hampton Cliffs, in the \icinity, are pictm-esque, and

command remarkably fine views. Some interesting Roman
remains have been found in the parish. Bathford House is

a chief residence. The living is a ricarage in the diocese of

Bath and Wells
;
gi'oss value, £275 with residence. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Bristol. The church is very good.

The tower was rebuilt in 1879, with a figm*e of St Swithin

on it in the act of benediction. There is a Baprist chapel,

and a paper mill and quarries of Bath stone.

Bathley, a township in North Muskham parish, Notts,

3^ miles NW by N of Newark. Acreage, 1246
;
population,

161. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bathley, Norfolk. See Bale.
Bathrumpton. See Bampton, Devon.

Bathurst, a manor in Warbleton parish, Sussex, 5 miles

NNE of Hailsham, It belonged to the family of Bathui'St,

who were expelled from it in the wars between the houses

of York and Lancaster, and it retains vestiges of then* castle,

which was demolished at the time of their expulsion.

Bathwick, a parish within the limits of the city of Bath,

Somerset. Acreage, 594; population, 4714.

Batley, a municipal town, a township, and a borough

partly comprised within the parliamentary borough of Dews-
bury, and a paiish in the W. R. of Yorkshire. The town
adjoins the L. & N.W.R., Leeds and Manchester section, and
has a station here. The G.N.R. also has a station here on

their line from Bradford to Leeds, Ossett, and Wakefield. It

is a manufacturing town, and has a post, money order, and
telegraph office, banks, town-hall, a market-house, erected in

1878, a cottage hospital, enlarged in 1883, a working man's

club, and Liberal and Conservative clubs. The township in-

cludes also the hamlets of Brownhill, Carlinghow, Clark-

Green, Havercroft, Chapel-Fold, Healey, Staincliffe, ^\Tiite

Lee, Kilpin-Hill, Purlwell, Upper Batley, and part of Batley-

Carr. Acreage of township and municipal borough, 2039

;

population, 28,719. The parish includes also the town-

ships of Morley, Gildersome, and Churwell. The Earl of

Wilton is lord of the manor and chief landowner. The manu-
factm'e of cloths, carpets, and other fabrics from "shoddy,"

or the reduced substance of old woollen rags, is here carried on

to a great extent, and there are a large number of factories.

There are also machine works, iron foundries, collieries, and

quarries of building stone. The Corporation Waterworks com-
prise the Yateholme, Riding Wood, Ramsden, and StaincUfFe

reseiTou's, harag an aggi'egate capacity of 235,000,000 gal-

lons. Public baths were opened in 1893. The liWng is a

vicarage in the diocese of Wakefield ; net value, £375.

Patrons, alternately the Countess of Cardigan and the Earl of

Wilton. The chm-cli is Later English. The vicarage of

St Thomas is a separate charge, constituted in 1868. The
vicarages of Morley and Gildersome, and the perpetual curacies

of Staincliffe, Moriey (St Paul's), Carlinghow (St John's),

Brownhill (St Saviour's), and Bruntcliffe (St Andrews), are

also separate. There are a handsome Congregational cliapel

of 1856, an elegant Wesleyan chapel of 1861, four other

dissenting chapels, a Roman Catholic church of 1870, an en-

dowed gi'ammar school, a higher gi'ade school for girls, opened

in 1893 at Field Hill, an excellent technical school, a work-

house, and considerable charities. There is a chamber of

commerce which meets monthly.
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Batley-Carr, an ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1842
out of that of Dewsbuiy, W. R. Yorkshire. It stands | of

a mile N of Dewsbuiy, with a station on the G.N.R., and a

post, money order, and telegraph office (T.S.O.) under Dews-
hury. Population, 4191. The hving is a vicarage in the

diocese of Wakefield
; gross value, £320. Patron, the Vicar

of Dewsbury. The church is good. There is a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Batsford, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, near

the Fosse Way, 2 miles NW of Moreton-in-the-Marsh, which

is the post town. Acreage, 972; population, 112; of the

ecclesiastical district, 1558. Batsford Park is the seat of the

Mitford family, who are lords of the manor. The mansion is

situated on an elevation, amid a well-wooded park of 130
acres. The living is a rectory, with the chapeh-y of More-
ton-iu-the-Marsh annexed, in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; net value, £433 with residence. The church

was rebuilt in 1862, and contains a monument in black and
white marble to the Hon. Miss Mitford.

Batson, a hamlet in Malborough parish, Devon, 4^ miles

SSW of Kingsbridge.

Battersby, a hamlet in Ingleby-Greenhow parish, N. E.

Yorkshire, under the Moors, 5 miles E by S of Stokesley.

It has a station at the junction of the Ayton branch of the

N.E.R.

Batteraea, a parish and parliamentary borough in Sur-

rey, situated on the river Thames, opposite Chelsea. The
manor, known to the Saxons as Petersey, signifying Peter's

Island, belonged to the abbey of St Peter at Westminster

;

was granted, in 1627, to the family of St John ; and passed

in 1763 to the Spencers. The old mansion on it was the

residence of the famous Viscount BoHngbroke, but has been

entii'ely demolished. It is, however, commemorated in the

neighbom'ing localities of Bolingbroke TeiTace and BoHng-
broke Garden. Battersea Fields, within the manor, along

the Thames, were long notable as a marshy tract, producing

a gi'eat variety of indigenous plants, and were the scene, in

1829, of the duel between the Duke of Wellington and Lord
Winchelsea, but are now converted into a fine public park,

and partly covered with streets and buildings. The park

comprises 185 acres ; lies almost all below the level of high

water; was purchased at a cost of £246,517, and laid out,

in 1852-58, at a further cost of £66,373 ; and is disposed

in walks, drives, ornamental plantations, and a fine sheet of

water. It contains the Albert Palace, which was taken over

by the London County Council in 1893. A special feature

of Battersea Park is the sub-tropical garden, which is superior

to that of any other park or garden in London. A suspension

bridge, across the Thames, at the upper end of the park,

measm-es 347 feet between the towers and 705 between the

abutments ; is remarkably light and elegant ; and was erected,

in 1857, after designs by Mr T. Page, at a cost of £85,319.
The railway to Victoxia station is carried across in the vici-

nity on a substantial, tasteful, segment-arched bridge, con-

structed by Mr Fowler, and opened in 1860. A fine town-

hall and a polytechnic institution were erected in 1894.

There are numerous handsome places of worship for all

denominations. Population of the parliamentary borough,

98,235 ; and of the civil parish, 150,558.

Battisford, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 3 miles W
by S of Needham Market station on the G.E.R., and 3^ S
from Stowmarket. Post town, Needham Market, which is

the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1581

;

population, 399. An hospital of knights of St John of

Jerusalem was erected here in the reign of Henry IL, and
given at the dissolution to Sir Richard Gresham. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value,

£249. The chm-ch is a Gothic building of stone, with a

brick tower.

Battle, a parish in Brecknockshu*e, on the river Yscu,

3 miles NW of Brecon, which is the post town. Acreage,

1600 ;
population, 126. The smiace is diversified, and

commands fine views. The manor belonged to the prioiy

of Brecon. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St

David; net value, £124. The church is a low building,

situated on an eminence. It was restored in 1880.

Battle, an ancient parish and market and union town in

Sussex. The town was called by the Saxons Epiton, sig-

nifying " heath land," and took its present name from the
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gi-eat battle of the Conquest in 1066, commonly called the

battle of Hastings. It stands in a fine valley, three-fom'ths

encu'cled by wooded hills, 7 miles NW of Hastmgs, and it

has a station on the S.E.R., 55 miles from London, a head
post office, two banks, and two chief inns. The principal

street runs up a rising gi-ouud, and is confronted at a brief

distance by Battle Abbey, standing on the site of King
Harold's camp, and on tlie spot where his standard was taken.

This edifice was founded by the Conqueror in commemora-
tion of his victory ; it contained his sword, his coronation-

robe, and the roll-call of the knights who followed bun from
Normandy, and it was very richly endowed, and gave its

.abbots a seat in Parliament. It passed at the dissolution

to Sir Anthony Browne, continued with his descendants, the

Lords Montacute, till the time of the fouith lord, and was
then sold to Sir Thomas Webster in 1891, and is now in

possession of the Duchess of Cleveland. The buildings were

converted into a mansion by Sir Anthony Browne; and
though still retaining a number of the original apartments,

are so gi'eatly changed as to present outwardly vai'y little of

their ancient character. The grand gateway still stands,

and is cliiefly Late Decorated English, of very beautiful work-

manship, and a long range to the right of it was used till

1794 as the town-hall, but has been allowed to go to niin.

A spot about ^ a mile distant, on the road to Hastings, com-
mands the best view of the abbey, and at the same time

afibrds a good comprehensive notion of the battlefield of the

Conquest. The petty sessions court-house and county police

station is a handsome edifice of 1861. The parish chm-ch

is partly Nonnan, contains some good brasses and monu-
ments, and was restored in 1869. The living is a vicarage;

net value, £301 with residence, in the gift of the Duchess of

Cleveland. The chapel of ease of the Ascension is a stnic-

tm'e of brick, erected in 1876. A Roman Catholic church was
erected in 1886, and a Congi'cgational chapel in 1882. The
area is 8221 acres of land and 32 of water; population of

the civil parish, 3153; of the ecclesiastical, 2707. There

is a workhouse built at a cost of £5000. Extensive powder
mills are situated to the SW, and the walk to them, and
the walks generally through the environs, are charming.

A market is held on the second Tuesday in each month,
and fairs are held on 6 Sept. and 22 Nov. The parish

contains also the hamlet of Netherfield. The Chm'ch of

St John the Baptist is a stone building in the Early English

style. The living is a vicarage; value, £188, in the gift of

the Bishop of Chichester,

Battle-Barrow, a village in Bongate township, West-
moreland, 1 mile NE of Appleby.

Battle-Bridge, a village in Rettendon parish, Essex, 6j
milfs K III' Bilit-ricay. It has a post office mider Chelmsford.

Battle-Bridge, a chapelry in IsUngton parish, London,

near the Regent's Canal and St Pancras railway station. It

was constituted in 1839.

Battlebum, a hamlet in Kirkbm-n parish, E. R. York-
shire, 3 miles SW of Great Driffield.

Battlefield, a village and a parish in Salop. The village

is 2 miles S by E of Hadnall station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 3 NNE of Shrewsbuiy, which is the post town. Acre-

age, 1025
;
population, 97. Here was fought the battle of

Shrewsbury in 1403, in which Harry Hotspur was slain and
Douglas captured. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Lichfield; gross value, £240. The church was erected

by Henry IV. to commemorate his victory over Hotspm-, is

chiefly Perpendictdar English, with a fine embattled tower,

and was restored in 1861 at a cost of £4000.

Battle Hall. See Nash, Kent.

Battlesbury, an ancient British camp, 2 miles E of War-
minster, Wilts. It crowns an abrupt eminence, almost

inaccessible on two sides, has ramparts rising 60 feet, occu-

pies fully 23 acres, and commands a very extensive view.

Battlesden, a village and a parish in Beds, on Watling

Street, 3 miles SSE of Wobm-n, and 4J W of HarHngton
station on the M.R. Post town, Woburn, v\iiich is the

money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1149
;
population

of the civil parish, 8L: of the ecclesiastical, 238. The manor
belonged in the time of Edward III. to the Firmbands,

passed in the time of Elizabeth to the Duncombes, and was
purchased in 1706 by the Bathursts, to whom it gives the

title of Baron. The living is a rectory, united with the
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rectory of Pottesgrove, in the diocese of Ely; joint net yearly

value, £385 with residence, in the gift of the Duke of Bed-

ford, K.G. The chm-ch is a small rectangular structure,

chiefly in the Perpendicular style.

Battramsley, a tithing in Boldre parish, Hants, in the

New Forest, Gk miles NE of Ringwood.

BattriXf a hamlet in Bowland Forest township, Slaid-

hurn parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 11 miles SW of Settle station

on the M.R.

Battyeford, an ecclesiastical parish with a village in

the W. R. Yorkshire, 4 miles \VS\V of Dewsbnry, and 1 mile

from MirBeld station on the L. & Y.R. and the L. & N.W.R.
It was constituted in 1841, and has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Mirtield. Population, 3843. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wakefield

;
gi'oss value,

£235. Patron, the Vicar of Mirfield. The chm'ch is good,

and in the chancel are some fine mural decorations in oil

colours in memory of one of the founders, Benjamin Wilson

of Bank House. There are two Primitive Methodist chapels.

Baucott or Baughcott, a hamlet in Tugford parish,

Salop, 6^ miles SE of Church Stretton.

Baudoc. See Bai.dock.

Baughurst, a village and a parish in Hants. The vil-

lage stands near the Roman Port way to Silchester, 5 miles

S of Aldermaston station on the G.W.R., and 7 NNW of

Basingstoke, under which it has a post and money order

ofl&ce ; telegi'aph oflSce, Ejngsclere. The parish includes

also the tithings of Ham and Inhurst. Acreage, 1798;

population, 502. The li\ing is a rectory in the diocese of

Winchester; net value, £232 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Winchester. The church is an erection of stone,

with a lofty spire, and was repaired in 1885. There are

two dissenting chapels.

Bauldoxfee, a tithing in Eling parish, Hants, 3 milesW
of Southampton.

Baulking. See Balking.
Baumber or Bamburgh, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the

Wolds, 4 miles NW by N of Horncastle station on the

G.N.R. It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office

under Horncastle. Acreage, 3361
;
population of the ci\il

parish, 366 ; of the ecclesiastical, 492. Stourton Hall, a

mansion of Ancaster stone standing in a park of 300 acres,

is the seat of the Liveseys. The living is a perpetual

curacy, consolidated with the vicarage of Great Sturton.

The church is good, and there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Baunton, a "village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on the

Chum river and the Fosse Way, 1^ mile N of Cirencester,

which is the post town. Acreage, 1367
;
population, 133.

The manor belonged to the Abbey Cirencestei% and was
acquired by their steward, one George, at the dissolution of

the monasteries. It remained for a long time in the George

family, one of whom represented Cirencester in the Long
Parliament. The lining is a vicarage in the diocese of Glou-

cester and Bristol, consoUdated with the rectory of Stratton
;

joint net value, £230 with residence. The chui'ch is Early

English, and consists only of nave and chancel, and on the

south wall there is a veiy ancient fresco of St Christopher;

it was restored in 1877, and is said to be dedicated to St

Mary Magdalen.

Baunton. See Bampton, Devon.

Bausley or Bauseley, a township in Alberbuiy parish,

Montgomeryshire, 2 miles SW of Alberbury. Acreage, 1653
;

population, 306. On Bauseley Hill are the remains of an

ancient encampment.

Bavant-Fifield. See Fifield-Bavant.
Baverstock, a parish in Wilts, on the river Nadder, 2

miles from Dinton station on the L. & S.W.R., and 5 W of

Wilton. Post town, Salisbuiy; money order and telegraph

oiBce, Dinton. It includes the hamlet of Hm'dcott. Acreage,

836; population of the civil parish, 64; of the ecclesiastical,

131. The lining is a rectoiy in the diocese of Salisbury; net

value, £220 with residence. The church is good, and was
restored in 1845, and again in 1892.

Bavington, Great, a township in Kirkwhelpington
parish, Northumberland, 4 miles E of Watling Street, and
lOi N of Corbridge, which is the post town. Acreage, 1576

;

population, 36. Bavington Hall, in the township of Little

Bavington, is the seat of the Shafto family. There is an
Enghsh Presbyterian church, with residence for the minister.
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Bavington, Little, a township and a village in Thock-
riugton parish, Northumberland, 1^ mile S of Great Baving-
ton, and 9 miles N of Corbridge. Acreage, 1815; popu-
lation, 47. Post town, Capeaton. Limestone, freestone, and
whinstone are quarried.

Bawburgh, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the

river Yare, 5^ miles W of Norwich railway station, with a

post office under Norwich, the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 1421
;
population, 408. Tlie living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Norwich; net yearly value, £167
with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Nor-
wich. The church, which is an ancient building of stone

chiefly in the Perpendicular style, has a round tower, an old

font, and a brass of 1531. There is a Primitive Methodist

chapel. St Walstan was a native, and the Saint's Well in

this parish formerly enjoyed a high reputation for the cure

of scrofulous diseases.

Bawcombe, a hamlet in West Alvington pai-ish, Devon-
shire, ^ miles SE of Modbuiy.

Bawder. See Balder.
Bawdeswell, a village and a parish in Norfolk. The

pai-isli lies a little N of the Wensum river, 3 miles E by S
of Foulsham station on the G.E.R., and 4 W by S of Reep-
ham, and has a post and money order office under Dere-

ham ; telegi'aph office, Foulsham. Acreage, 1206
;
popula-

tion, 410. Bawdeswell Hall is a chief residence. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross yearly value,

£251. The church is a small edifice, rebuilt in 1845, and
there are Wesleyan and Piimitive Methodist chapels, and
an endowed school.

Bawdrip, a parish in Somerset, 3 miles NE of Bridge-

water station on the G.W.R. It has a post office imder Bridge-

water; telegi'aph office, Cossington railway station. Acreage,

1898
;
population, 340. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Bath and Wells; gi'oss value, £350 with residence. The
church is ancient and cruciform. There are Congregational

and Wesleyan chapels.

Bawdsey, a tillage and a parish in Suffolk. The village

stands near the mouth of the Deben river, on the sea coast,

10 miles SSE of Woodbridge, and 9 SE from Melton station

on the G.E.R. It has a post office under Woodbridge ; money
order office, Alderton ; telegraph office, Melton. It was once

a market town. The parish comprises 1630 acres of land,

and 271 of water; population, 461. Bawdsey Haven, in

the mouth of the Deben, gives shelter to small craft, and
there is a ferry across the river (4 miles) to Felixstowe.

Bawdsey Manor, a fine new mansion, is on the coast.

Bawdsey Sand is a shoal, about 5 miles distant, 4 miles long

and f of a mile broad, with 10 feet and upwards of water.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net value,

£126 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
church is a small, neat, recent stmcture, and was preceded

by a fine early Saxon edifice, the reduced tower of which,

now 60 feet high, still stands. There are a Wesleyan

chapel and a reading room.

Bawsey, a parish in Norfolk, ^ mile from Gayton Road
station on the G.E.R., and 3 miles ENE of King's Lynn.
Post town, Lynn, which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. Aci'eage, 1030 ; population, 56. The chmxh is in

i-uins.

Bawtry, a small market-town and a township, forming

with Austerfield an ecclesiastical parish, in the W. R.

Yorkshire. The town stands on the verge of tlie county,

on the gi'eat North road, on the river Idle, and on the

G.N.R., 8 miles SE of Doncaster. Part of it is low, and

used to be subject to inundation ; but part is high, and
contains a market-place. It has a station on the railway,

a head post office, a bank, a hotel, a good supply of water,

two clmrches, and two dissenting chapels, and is lighted

with gas. The Church of St Nicholas is partly Nonnan,
consists of Roche abbey limestone, was built in the 12th

centmy, and has a tower, added in 1712. A weekly market

is held on Thursday, and fairs on Holy Thursday and 22
November. The Church of St Mary Magdalen and Bawtry

Hospital, founded by the Morton family about 1316, was
restored for divine sen-ice in 1839. A fannhouse, a mile

distant, occupies the site, and was formed of the materials of

a palace of the Archbishops of York, inhabited by Cardinal

Wolsey and Aichbishop Sandis. Bawtry Hall is a seat of
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Lord Houghton, who is lord of the manor. Acreage of the

town, 259
;
population of the township, 947 ; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 1288. The liring is a vicarage in the diocese

of Southwell ; net value, £370 with residence. Patron,

Trinity College, Cambridge. There are two almshouses and

a Mutual Improvement Society.

Baxby. See Thobnton-on-the-Hill.
Baxenden, a large straggling village in the borough of

Accrington, L.ancashire, on the L. & Y.R., IJ mile W of

Haslingden. It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph

office under Accrington, a railway station, two cotton mills,

dye-works, a coUiery, and a small print work. The li\dng

is a vicarage in the diocese of Manchester; net value, £300
with residence, in the gift of the Bishop. There is a Wes-

leyan chapel. The Duke of Buccleuch is lord of the manor.

It was formed into an ecclesiastical parish in 1878
;
popu-

lation, 1(;32.

Baxterley, a parish in Warwickshire, oj miles ENE of

Kingsbury station on the M.R., and 3i W by S of Ather-

stone, wliich is the post town. Acreage, 901
;
population,

350. Coal is largely worked. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £112 with residence.

Patrons, the Lord Chancellor and Trustees alternately. The

church is a stone edifice in the Early English style, and has

an embattled tower.

Baxtou-Moor, a hamlet in Whitwell parish, Derbyshire,

10 miles ENE of Chesterfield station on the M.R.

Bayard Leap, formerly an extra-parochial tract in Lincoln-

shire, now a parish, 5i miles NWof Sleaford. It consists of

a single farm and a few cottages only. Population, 28.

Baycliff, a hamlet in Hill-Deverill parish, Wilts, 5 miles

W by S of Heytesbury.

Bayden or Baidan, a chapelry in Llangynwyd parish,

Glamorgan, 5i miles NW by N of Bridgend, which is the

post town. The living is a curacy, annexed to the vicarage

of Llangynwd, in the diocese of LlandafT.

Baydon, a parish in Wiltshire, on the verge of the

county. Si miles WSW of Lambourne, and 9 from Huu-
gerford station on the G.W.R. It has a post office (R.S.O.);

money order office, Aldbom'ue ; telegi'aph office, Lamboui-ne.

Acreage, 2485
;
population, 263. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £165, in the gift of

the Coutts family. The churdi was repaired in 1860. There

ai-e Wesleyan and Baptist chapels.

Bajrfield, a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles W of Holt station

on the E. & M.R., and 7 E by N of Walsinghara station on

the G.E.R. Dereham is the post town; money order and

telegraph office, Cley. The parish is united with Glandford

for the support of the poor. The living is a rectoiy in the

diocese of Norwich; net value, £116. The chm'ch is in

niius. Bayfield H.all, the residence of the Jodrell family,

a pleasantly situated country seat, is in the parish.

Bayford, a \'illage and a parish in Hertfordshire, on the

river Lea, 3 miles SSW of Hertford, which is the nearest

railway station. It has a post office under Hertford ; money
order and telegraph office. Little Berkhampstead. Acreage,

1853; population, 349. The manor belonged, before the Con-

quest, to Earl Tosti the Dane, and passed afterwards to the

Knightons, the Fanshaws, and the Bakers. Bayfordbury, the

present seat of the Bakers, contains the portraits of the Kit-

Cat Club, brought hither from Barnes-Elms. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans, and till 1867 was

annexed to Essendon ; net value, £180 with residence. The
church, a craciform building in the Early English style, was

built in 1870, at the sole cost of WilUam Robert Baker, Esq.,

of Bayfordbury. In the churchyard is buried William Yarrell,

author of the " History of British Bu'ds."

Bayford, a hamlet in Stoke-Trister parish, Somersetshire,

1 mile E of Wincanton.

Bayford, a farmhouse, originally a castle, near Sitting-

bourne, Kent. The castle is said to have been erected by

King Alfred as a counter-fortress to Castle-Rough, about a

mile distant, and it became the seat of successively the Not-

tinghams, the Cheneys, and the Lovelaces. The moat and

a. piece of wall still exist.

Baybam, a hamlet in Frant parish, Sussex, on the verge

of the county, on the river Tun, 4 miles ESE of Tunbridge-

Wells. A Premonstratensian abbey was removed hither

in 1200 from Otteham or Otham, and laj'gely endowed by
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Robert de Thurnham and Ela de Sacki-ille ; was given at

the dissolution to Cardinal Wolsey
;
passed afterwards to

the Montagues ; and was pm'chased in 1714 by the ancestor

of the Marqnis Camden. The marquis has now a villa here,

amid beautiful gi'ounds, and takes from the place the title of

Viscount. The ruins of the abbey, comprising the chru'cb

and some contiguous buildings iu a state of tolerable pre-

scrv.ation, stand in the grounds, and show interesting features

of Decorated Early English and some Decorated additions.

Bay Horse, a station on the L. & N.W.R., 6| miles from

Lancaster, under which it has a post office.

Baylham, a \'ill.age and a parish in Suffljik, on the river

Gipping and the G.E.R., 2J miles NNW of Claydon station,

and 7 NW by W of Ipswich, under which there is a post

office ; money order and telegraph office, Claydon. Acre-

age, 1357; population, 288. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Norwich
;

gi'oss yearly value, £268 with residence.

The church, a Gothic stractm-e of stone and flint, was restored

in 1870.

Bajfnards, a station in Sun-ey on the L.B. & S.C.R., 46

miles from London, and 6^ NW of Horsham, under which

it has a post office.

Bay-Ness, a hamlet in Fylingdales parish, N. R. York-
shire, 9 miles S of Whitby.

Bajmton, a tithing in Edington parish, Wilts.

Eayons-Manor, the seat of the D'Eyncourts in Tealby

ptirish, Lincolnshire, 4J miles E of Market-Rasen.

Bayston-Hill, an ecclesiastical parish in the parishes of

Con(l()\'er and St .Tnlian (Shrewsbury), Salop, 1^ mile N of

Condover station on the Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint

(L. & N.W. and G.W.) railw.ay, and 2i miles S of Shrews-

bury. It was constituted in 1844, and it has a post and
money order office under Shrewsbury ; telegi'aph office, Meole

Brace. Population, 482. Lythwood Hall, 1 mile SW, is

the chief residence. The lining is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lichfield; gi'oss value, £154 with residence.

Patron, the Vicar of St Julian. There are chapels for Con-
gi'egationalists and Primitive Methodists, and an endowed
school for boys and girls.

Baysirater, a suburb of London, and a chapeli-y in Pad-
dington parish, Middlesex. The subm'b adjoins Hyde Park,

Kensington Gardens, and the G.W.R., 3i miles W of St

Paul's. It was called originally Baynard's Water, and it took

the first pai't of its name from Baynard, an associate of

William the Conqueror, who held it of Westminster Abbey

—

and the second pai't from copious springs which long supplied

the greater part of the metropolis with water. The same
Bayuiird gave his name to Baynard Castle, now extinct, and

to the ward of Castle-Baynard. The subm'b is now a fashion-

.able, richly-built part of London , and contains some fine streets,

terraces, crescents, and squares. The extensive tea-gardens

belonging to the famous herbalist. Sir John Hill, satirized

by Garrick, were here. St George's burial-gi'ound, fronting

Hyde Park, contains the gi'aves of Lawi'ence Sterne, Sir

Thomas Picton, and Mrs Radcliflfe. The cluapelry bears the

name of St Matthews Bayswater, and was constituted in

1858. Population of the chapelry, 6180. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of London.

Baythome-End, a locality on the N verge of Essex, on

the river Stour, adjacent to B.aythorne Park, and in Birdbrook

parish, 4 miles SE of Haverhill. It has a post office under

Halstead, which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

Bayton, a village and a parish in Worcestershii'e, on the

verge of the county, 3 miles S of Cleobury Mortimer, and 7

W by S of Bewdley, under which there is a post office

;

money order and telegraph office, Cleobmy Mortimer. Acre-

age, 2257
;

population, 421. Shakenhurst Hall, a mile

distant, is a plain red brick mansion situated in an extensive

park. Coal is obtained. The living is a ricarage, annexed

to the vicarage of Mamble, in the diocese of Hereford
;
joint

net value, £220 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The church, dedicated to St Bartholomew, was originally

Norman, and has an embattled tower.

Bayvil, a parish in Pembrokeshire, on the river Nevern,

3A miles ENE of Newport, and 6A SW of Cardigan. Post

town, Velindre. Acreage, 1351
;
population, 83. The living

is a rectory, united with the vicarage of Nevei-n, in the dio-

cese of St Davids
;

gi-oss value, £103. Patron, the Lord

Cbancellor.
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Ba3rworth, a hamlet in Sunningwell parish, Berks, 3
miles N of Abingdon. Here was formerly a church in which
many private marriages were celebrated before the MaiTiage
Act was passed.

Beachampton, a village and a parish in Buckingham-
shire, on the river Ouse, 2^ miles SW of Stony-Stratford, and

4^ SW by W of Wolverton station on the L. & N.W.K.
Post town, Stony-Sfratford, which is the money order

and telegraph oiHce. Acreage, 1528; population, 181.

The manor belonged to the Bennets, one of whom was made
a baronet in 1627, and figured as a great friend to Univer-

sity College, Oxford. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Oxford
; gross yearly value, i;269 with residence. Patron,

Cains College, Cambridge. The chmch, a plain structme

dating from the 1-lth century, was restored in 187*1, and
contains a monument of Sir Simon Bennet.

Beachamwell. See Beecuamwkll.
Beachborough, a seat of the Brockinaii family, on the

SE coast of Kent, 2;^ miles NNE of Hythe. A hill adjacent

to the mansion commands very extensive views, insomuch
that a bonfire on it can be seen from the coast of France,

and is crowned by a simimer-house, which overlooks the

views, and is accessible to strangers.

Beachfield, a township in Worthen parish, Salop, 1 mile

W of Worthen.

Beachingstoke. See Beechingstoke.
Beachley, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in Tyden-

ham parish, Gloucestershire, at the influx of the river Wye to

the Severn, 4 miles SE of Chepstow, under which there is a post

o65ce. Population of the parish, 112. Beachley Lodge is a fine

seat. Here is the Aust ferry across the Severn, wliich was
considered an important military pass in all times of war,

and here was the termination of Ofta's Dyke, which can

still be traced. The liWng is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol
;
gi*oss value, £75. Patron, the Bishop

of Gloucester and Bristol. The chm-ch was erected in 1833.

The remains of an ancient chapel, said to have been built in

47, are visible below high-water mark in the sea near the

mouth of the Wye.

Beachy Head, a promontory on the coast of Sussex, at

the end of the South Downs, 2^ miles SSE of Eastbom'ne.

Its smnmit has an altitude of 575 feet above sea-level, and
commands a view from Hastings to the Isle of Wight, and
across the channel to France. Its front and sea-skirts are

precipitous, and pierced with caverns, the resort of multitudes

of sea-fowl. Shipwrecks here and in the vicinity used to be

frequent and dreadful, but have been less niunerous since

the erection of the Belle Toute Lighthouse in 1831. This

stands on a projecting skirt of the promontory, and shows
a revolving fight, at the height of 285 feet above the sea,

flashing every 2 minutes, and visible at the distance of 22
miles. On the 30 June, 16110, the combined EngUsh and
Dutch fleets of fifty-six sail, under Lord Torrington, were

defeated within sight of Beachy Head, by the French fleet

of eighty-two sail, under the Count de Jourville. A winding

carriage road, called the " Duke's Drive," haWng been con-

structed at the expense of the Duke of Devonshire, gives

access to it. A coastguard station is posted on the Head.

Beacon, a locality 1 mile from Camborne, Cornwall, with

a jinst office under that place.

Beacon-Hill, any eminence, with conspicuous summit,
formerly used for a beacon-fire or a signal-post, and still

retaining its ancient name. Eminences called Beacon-Hill

occur in Cornwall, Devon, Somerset, Wilts, Hants, Notts,

Oxford, Cumberland, and other counties, and nearly all of

them command extensive views.

Beaconsfield, a small town and a parish in Bucks. The
town stands on a high plateau, 3 miles NE of Woobm-n-Green
station on the G.W.R., and 5| S by W of Amersham. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office, and is a seat of

petty sessions. It is governed by a local board of nine mem-
bers, foi-med in 1850 under the Public Health Act of 1848.

It consists of fom- streets, commonly called ends, which meet

at the centi"e in a spacious market-place. The church, which

is in the Perpendicular style, is built of flint and squared stones;

comprises nave, chancel, and side aisles, with a western tower
;

belonged to an Angustinian monastery founded at Bumham
in 1165 by Richard, Earl of Cornwall; and contains the

remains of Edmund Biu-ke, whose seat, afterwards destroyed
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by fire, was in the parish; and a marble monument to

the poet Waller, who owned the manor, is in the church-
yard. The church was restored in 1869, and the south porch
erected in 1886. There are also Congregational and Primi-
tive Methodist chapels. A weekly market was formerly held

here. This is now extinct, but fairs are held on 13 Feb. and
10 May. The parish includes also part of Coleshill hamlet.

Acreage, 4504 ;
population, 1773. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Oxford; net value, £300 with residence.

Patron, Magdalen College, Oxford. Beaconsfield gave the

title of Viscountess (1868) to Mary Anne, wife of the Right

Hon. Benjamin Disraeli, and of Earl (1876) to that illustrious

statesman himself, who was also Viscount Hughenden. By
his death. It* April, 1881, both titles became extinct. Hall

Barn, the ancient seat of the Wallers, now belonging to the

Lawson family, Witton Park, the seat of the Dupre family,

and Butler's Court, of the Grenfell family, are in the neigh-

bourhood.

Beaconsthorpe. See Baconsthorpe.
Beacon-Walks. See Exmouth.
Beadlam, a township in Helmsley parish, in the N. R.

Yorkshire, 2^ miles E of Helmsley, which is the post town.

Acreage, 1450; population, 160. There is a chapel of ease.

The Earl of Feversham is lord of the manor and principal

landowner.

Beadnell, a village, a township, and a parish in North-
umberland. The village stands on the coast, 4 miles ENE
of Chathill railway station, and 6J SE of Bambrough, and
has a post office under Chathill, and a small harbour. Acre-

age, 703
;
population of the civil parish, 312 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 526. The parish also includes the townships of Swin-

hoe and Tughall. The hving is a vicarage in the diocese of

Newcastle; net value, c£145 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Bambrough. The church is a handsome Gothic

edifice.

Beadonwell, a hamlet in Erith parish, Kent, 4^ miles E
of Woolwich.

Beaford, anciently called Beauford, a parish in Devon-
shire, on the river Tomdge, 6 miles SE of Torrington, and
6 WSW of Umberieigh station on the L. & S.W.R. It has

a post and money order office (R.S.O.); telegraph office,

Torrington. Acreage, 3295 ;
population, 404. The hving

is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter; net value. £224 with

residence. The chmch is an old-fashioned edifice with a

low tower. It was restored and reseated in 1879. There

;u'e Baptist and Bible Christian chapels.

Beaghall or Beal, a township in Kellington parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, situated on the south bank of the Aire, 6 miles E
of Pontefract, and 2i from Whitley Bridge station on the

L. & Y.R. Post town, Nonnanton. Acreage, 1876 ; popu-

lation, 398. It includes Kellingley hamlet. Earl Cathcart

is lord of the manor and principal landowner. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Beaksboume or Bekesboume, a paiish in Kent, on

the L.C. & D.K., 65 miles from London, and 2| SE of Can-

terbury. It is a member of the Cinque port liberty of Hast-

ings, and has a station on the railway and a post office

under Canterbuiy ; money order and telegi-aph office. Bridge.

Acreage, 1113; poimlation, 370. The li\'ing is a Wcarage

in the diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £145 with residence.

Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbuiy. The chmch is Nor-

man and Early English. It was restored in 1881-89.

There is an old palace, formerly belonging to Archbishop

Cranmer, and occupied by him, though little of the original

house remains.

Beal, a hamlet in Kyloe parish, Northumberland, on the

N.E.R., opposite Holy Island, 8^ miles SE of Berwick. It

includes Lowlin, and has a station on the railway and a post

office (R.S.O.) It was the residence of the famous Irish

female saint, Begogh.

Beal, Yorkshire. See Beaghall.
Bealby. Sec Bielby.

Beale or Beult, The, a river of Kent. It rises near

Ticehurst, on the border of Sussex, and runs 15 miles north-

ward to the Medway, in the vicinity of Yalding.

Bealings, a station on the G.E.R., 3 miles WSW of

Woodbridge.

Bealings, Great, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on a

branch of the Deben river, and on the G E.R., near Bealings
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station, 2J miles W by S of Woodbridge, with a post office

under Woodbridge, whicli is the money order otfice ; tele-

graph office. Little Healings. Acreage, 1036
;

population,

337. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net

yeai-ly value, £200 with residence. Patron, Lord Henniker.

The church is a building of flint and stone in the Decorated

style.

Healings, Little, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on a

branch of the Deben river, and on the G.E.R., at Be.^lings

station, 3 miles WSW of Woodbridge, under which it has a

post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 798

;

population, 225. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Norwich; gross yearly value, £140 with residence. The

chnrch is a Gothic structure of flint and brick, with an

emb.attled tower. Healings Grove is a country seat, very

pleasantly situated, and suiTounded by fine gi-ounds.

Bealthaaig. See Bardnet.
Beamdune. See Hampton, Devon.

Beamhurst, a hamlet in Checkley parish, Staffordshire,

3 miles NW of Uttoxeter.

Beamiaster (pronounced Bemminster), a small town and

a parish in Dorsetshire. The town stands on the river Brit,

near the confluence of its headstreams, among high environ-

ing hills, 6 miles from Crewkerne station on the L. & S.W.R.,

and 6 NNE of Bridport on the Great Western railway.

It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph office. It is a place

of considerable antiquity, but it was burnt to the ground by

the troops of Prince Maurice in 1644, and again much de-

stroyed by fire in 1684 and in 1781, and it now presents a

modern and neat appearance. It has two banks, a hotel, a

working men's institute and reading room, a church, a chapel

of ease, a Congregational chapel, a Wesleyan chapel, a gram-

mar school, and almshouses with £173, and other charities.

The chmxh is Perpendicular in style and large, contains tombs

of the Strodes of Pamham, and has been well restored. It

has a tower nearly 100 feet high, with curious sculptm-e on

the western side, which was restored in 1862, and again in

1878. A weekly m.irket is held on Thmsday, and a fan-

on 19 Sept. The market-house and other buildings were

bought from the Ecclesiastical Commissioners by a local com-

mittee and pulled down in 1886, leaving the market-place

clear. A good trade exists in double Dorset or Blueiinny

cheese. The Rev. T. Hood, father of Lords Hood and Brid-

port, was master of the free school, and Hishop Spratt the

poet, and Russell who defended Warton's History, were natives.

The parish includes also the tithing of Langdon. Acreage,

5190 ;
population, 1915. Parnham House, formerly the

seat of the Strodes, now the seat of the Oglander family,

is an old Tudor edifice, and contains a fine hall, with gallery

of portraits. The Uring is a vicarage in the diocese of SaUs-

bm-y ; net value, £228 with residence. Patron, the bishop.

Beamish, an ecclesiastical parish fonned out of part of

the township of Beamish, taken from Tanfield parish, and

part of the township of Kyo, taken out of Cotheriey parish,

both in Durham. It is bounded on the S by the Stanley

Burn, and on the N by the Houghall Burn. It is cut by

the Stanhope and Tyne railway, and is about 7 miles SW of

Gateshead. Population, 6346. The li\-ing is a vicai-age in

the diocese of Durh.am ;
gi-oss value, £316 with residence,

alternately in the gift of the Crown and the Hishop of Dm--

ham. There are two Wesleyan chapels, one Primitive Metho-

dist, one new Connexion, a Salvation Army Bar-racks, and a

Roman Catholic chapel. Beamish Hall, the seat of the Eden

family, is one of the finest mansions in the county.

Beamsley, a township in the W. R. Yorkshii-e, on the

river Wharfe, 6 miles E by N of Skipton, which is the post

town ; money order and telegi-aph office and railway st.ation,

Bolton Abbey. Acreage, 2118
;
population, 179. It is for

civil purposes in Bolton Abbey parish ; ecclesiastically, half

in Bolton Abbey and half in Addingham. There is an

hospital, founded in the reign of EHzabeth by Margaret,

Countess of Cumberland, for 13 poor widows, the income of

which is £357.

Beanacre, a tithing in Melksham parish, Wilts.

Beane, The, a river of Herts. It rises in the vicinity of

Rushden, and runs about 13 miles southward, past Yardley,

Aston, Great Watton, and Stapleford, to the Lea at Hert-

ford.

Beanfield Lawns, formerly an extra-parocliial tvact, now
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a parish, in Northamptonshire, 6J miles N from Kettering,

and 4 N from Rushton station "on the M.R. It has only

two houses. Post town, Leicester ; money order and tele-

graph office, Rockingham. Acreage, 381; population, 15.

Beanley, a townsliip in Eghngham parish, Northumber-

land, on the river Breamish, 7 miles NW of Alnwick, which

is the post town. Acreage, 2323
;
population, 103. The

nearest station is Hedgeley on the N.E.R. The Earls of

Dunbar anciently held it on the tenure of maintaining a

road into Scotland. The remains of a British camp are

still to be seen here, and a cross stands on Hedgeley Moor,

at a short distance from the rillage, erected to the memory

of Sir Ralph Percy, who fell in 1464 in a battle with the

Yorkists. The Duke of Northiunberland is lord of the manor

and sole landowner.

Beanton. See Bainton, Oxford.

Beaxd, a hamlet in New Mills parish, Derbyshu-e, in the

High Peak division of the county, near the river Etherow

and the Peak railway, 5 miles NW of Chapel-le-Frith. The

nearest station is Glossop (2 miles) on the M.S. & L. rail-

way. The inhabitants are chiefly employed in iron found-

ries and quan-ies, also in candlewick mills and chemical works.

Beardon, a village 6 miles N of Launceston, Cornwall.

Beard's Hill, a hamlet in St Peter's parish, Kent, 2

miles NE of Ramsgate.

Bear-Forest. See Beke-Forest.

Bear-Green, a locality 4J miles S of Dorking, Sun-ey,

with a post office under Dorking.

Bearl, a township in Bywell-St Andrew parish, North-

mnberland, 2 mUes N from Stocksfield station, and 5 E of

Corbridge. Acreage, 424
;
population, 52.

Bearley, a village and a parish in Warwickshire, 4 miles

NNW of Stratford-on-Avon, with a station on the Strat-

ford-on-Avon and Alcester branch of the G.W.R. Post town,

Stratford-on-Avon. Acreage, 998; population, 188. The

living is a ^^carage in the diocese of Worcester ; net value,

£73 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Wootton Waven.

The church was restored in 1875; it is small, and contains

a font of the 15th century, and some monuments to the

Rich and .Jord.an families. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Beam-Kock or Beam-Back, a rugged islet below Worle

Hill, in the vicinity of Weston-super-Mare, Somerset. An
exciting and productive sprat fishery is carried on at it from

the Middle of October till Christmas.

Bear Park Colliery, in the county of and 3 mUes from

Durham. See Broom.
Bearsted or Bersted, a parish in Kent, on a tributary

of the Medway river, and on the L.C. & D.R., 45 miles

from London. It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph

office. Acreage, 673 ;
population of the civil parish, 646 ;

of the ecclesiastical, 665. Some lands here were held by the

Bertie family before the reign of Henry II. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury; net value, £162

with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Rochester.

The chm-ch is Perpendicular English, and has a tower with

three stone figm-es— a lion, an ox, and an eagle—on the

battlements. A Witenagemote -ivas held here in 696 under

Bertwald, " high bishop of Britain," with Gebmund of Ro-

chester. Among the " Dooms " then enacted were several

affecting the church.

Bearstone, a township in Woore ecclesiastical parish,

Mucklestone civil parish, Salop, 2 miles S of Woore, and

6 NE of Market-Drayton.

Bearswood-Green, a hamlet in Hatfield pai-ish, W. R.

Yorkshire, 2 miles SW of Thorne.

Bearwardcote, a township in Etwall parish, Derbyshire,

3 miles from Willington station on the M.R., and 4 SW of

Derby. Population, 29.

Bearwood, an ecclesiastical parish in Berks, 2J miles W
of Wokingham railway station. It was constituted an ecclesi-

astical district in 1846, and a palish in 1866. Post town,

Wokingham. Population, 860. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Oxford; net yearly value, £168 -with resi-

dence. The church, a handsome building of stone in the

Decorated style, was erected and endowed in 1845 by the

Walter family.

Beathwaite-Green, ahamlet in Levens township, Hevers-

hani parish, Westmoreland, near the river Kent, 3 miles N
of Milnthorpe. There is a neat chm-ch here,
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Beats, Great, formerly extra-parochial, now a parish in

Lincolnshire, 2i miles S from Dogdyke station on the G.N.R.

Area, 64 acres
;
population, 4.

Beats, Little, formerly extra-parochial, now a parish in

Lincolnshire, 4 miles SE from Dogdyke station on the G.N.R.

Area, 72 acres, the property of the Ecclesiastical Commis-
sioners

;
population, 5.

Beauchamp-Court, a farmhouse near the river Ai-row,

1 mile N of Alcester, Warwickshire. It was once the seat

of the Grevillcs and the Beauchamps, Earls of Warwick, and
was the birthplace of Fulke Greville, Lord Brooke.

Beauehamp Hatch. See Hatch-Beauciiamp.
Beauchamp Roding, a parish and village in Essex, situated

on the river Koding, about 5 miles NE from Ongar station

on the G.E.II. Tost town and telegraph office, Ongar;
money order office, Wliite Roding. Acreage, 1262; popula-

tion, 254. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans

;

gross yearly value, X241 with residence. The church, which
is dedicated to St. Botolph, is a building of rubble in the

Early English style, standing on a bold eminence overlooking

an extensive pastoral landscape. " It was restored in 1870.

Birdsgreen is an adjacent hamlet. The manor formerly be-

longed to the Beauchamps.

Beauchief- Abbey, a parish in Derbyshire, with a

station on the M.R. Post town, Abbeydale, under Sheffield.

Acreage, 748
;
population, 99. A Premonsti"atensian abbey

was founded here in 1172 by Robert Fitz-Ranulph, one of

the murderers of Thomas Si Becket. The living is a donative

in the gift of Col. E. S. Pegge-Bm-nell, and is in the diocese

of Southwell. The chm'ch is a small building, erected about

1660. and has a tower which belonged to the abbey.

Beaudesert, a parish in Wiu-wickshire, in the eastern

vicinity of Henley-in-Ai-den, 4 miles N by W of Bearley sta-

tion on the Stratford-on-Avon and Alcester section of the

G.W.R., and 8 N by W of Stratford-on-Avon. Post town,

Henley-in-Arden, under Birmingham. Acreage, 1318
;
popu-

lation, 141. A small village of the same name as the parish

was formerly a market-town. A strong castle was erected

here by Thurstane de Montfort soon after the Conquest, but

was completely destroyed in the Wars of the Roses. From
Beaudesert Hill there is an extensive view. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £269 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is

chiefly Norman, with insertions of later date ; the chancel has

a fine Norman arch, with zigzag mouldings and scalloped

capitals; the east window is also of Norman date, and displays

zigzag mouldings. There ai-e some ancient monuments to

former rectors. Richard Jago, born in 1715, the author of

" Edge-Hill " and other poems, was a native.

Beaudesert Park, a seat of the Marquis of Anglesey in

Cannock chase, Staffordshire, 4 miles NW of Lichfield. The
marquis takes from it the title of Baron. The mansion is a

stately old Tudor edifice ; and the park is large and noble.

Castle-Hill Camp, within the grounds, was the site of an

ancient royal hunting-seat, and commands a very extensive

view.

Beaufort, a small town in Llang.attock parish, Brecknock-

shire, and an ecclesiastical parish in Aberystrnth and Bed-

welty parishes, Monmouthshire, and Llangattock and Llangy-

nidr parishes, Brecknockshire. The town stands near the

source of the Ebbw-Fawr river, 2J miles ENE of Tredegar,

and has a station on the L. & N.W.R., and a head post

office (R.S.O.) It comprises a straggling street about a

mile long, on the main road between Merthyr and Abergav-

enny. There are collieries and firebrick works, and fine

patches of the Welsh iron ore and limestone quarries. The
ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1843. Population,

6007. The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of

Llandaff; net value, £276 with residence. Patron, alter-

nately the Crown and the Bishop of Llandaff. The church,

erected in 1842, consists only of nave and an embattled

tower, but there are three new mission churches of very

pretty design with chancels and turrets, built 1890-93.

Tliere are Congregational, Jlethodist, Wesleyan, Presbyterian,

and Baptist chapels.

Beaulieu or Bewley, a village and a parish in Hants.

The village stands at the head of a creek, 7J miles SE
of Lyndhurst Road station on the L. & S.W.R., and 7 NE
of Lymingtou. It is a quaint old-fashioned place, and was
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formerly of more note than now. It has a post office under
Southampton, and has fairs on 15 April and 4 September.
Area of the parish, 8521 acres of land and 1397 of foreshore

and water
;
population, 864. The creek at the village goes

4i miles south-south-eastward to the Solent, is navigable

hither, and receives at the head a streamlet of 5 miles,

coming from the vicinity of Lyndhurst, and called variously

the Be.aulieu and the Exe. Palace House, an ancient resi-

dence, is the seat of Lord Montagu. A Cistercian abbey
was founded here, in the neighbourhood of the village, in

1204, by King John; had the privilege of sanctuary, and
gave shelter to Margaret of Anjou and to Perkin Warbeck.
The gate house, the refectory, the cloister walls, the dormitory,

and the ruins of the sacristy, fratry, and chapter-house still

remain. The refectory is now the parish church, measures
125 feet by 30J, and shows the characters of late Early

Enghsh. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Win-
chester; gross value, £365 with residence. Patron, Lord
Montagu. There are three church mission chapels.

Beaumanor, a park, a manor, and a liberty m the civil

parish of Barrow-upon-Soar, but which is included for ecclesi-

astical purposes in the parish of Woodhonse St Mary, Leices-

tershire, 3 miles W of Mount-Sorrel, and 3 S of Loughborough
station on the M.R. Beaumanor Park is a fine country seat.

The mansion, a splendid building in the Tudor style, was
erected in 1847 on the site of the old house, after a design

by Railton.

Beaumaris, a market-town, a municipal borough, and a
parish, and the county town of Anglesey, The town stands

on the west side of Beaumaris Bay, at the NE end of the

Menai Strait, 6^ miles by road N by E of Bangor, 4^ NE
of Menai Bridge station on the L. & N.W.R, and 249 from
London ; it is also connected with Bangor by a ferry from
Garth Point, the distance across the Strait being | of a
mile, and the landing-place 2 miles below Beaumaris, the

total distance from Bangor being 4 miles. The name is

supposed to be derived from the French beau marais, beautiful

marsh. Beaumaris first acquired consequence, if not exist-

ence, from the castle built by Edward I. in 1293 to secure

his conquests. Edward I. smTounded the town with walls,

and made it a corporation. It is well-built, and comprises

two long streets, Watergate and Castle Street, together with

a third leading to the west. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office (R.S.O), a county hall, in which the assizes

and quarter sessions are held, a county police station, a com-
modious town-hall, with assembly rooms, a custom house, a
literary institute, a club, a market-house, and a free grammar
school. The town-hall is used for the meetings of the cor-

poration and for petty sessions. The church was built at

the end of the 13th century, with the exception of the chancel,

which is of the 16th century. It contains some good monn-
meuts of the Bulkeley family, an altar-tomb of the 16th

century, and a monumental stone to Sir Henry, the father

of Sir Philip Sidney. There are chapels for Baptists, Con-
gregationalists, Calvinistic Methodists, Wesleyans, and Pres-

byterians. The grammar school was founded in 1609 by

D. Hughes. The castle of Edward I., in a state of ruin, is

adjacent to the upper end of the town, and has a picturesque

appear-ince in spite of the lowness of the site. It was garri-

soned in 1643 for Charles I., and made a considerable de-

fence, but sun-endered in 1646 to General Mytton. The
outer w.all has ten low round towers ; and there is a narrow

wall, running towai'ds the sea, called the Gunner's Walk, and
forming an advance work. The main structure is nearly

quadrangnlai", with a large round tower at each corner ; and
the banqueting-hall, the state-rooms, and a small chapel, with

finely groined roof, can still be traced. A bai'dio meeting

was held in 1832 in the ruined banqueting-hall and chapel,

attended by the Princess Victoria and her mother the

Duchess of Kent. The surrounding grounds h.ave been con-

verted into a pleasant promenade.

The town is much and increasingly frequented as a

watering-place, and it offers many attractions to visitors—

•

fine batliing-ground, charming walks, pleasant recreations,

and most m.ignificcnt views. There is a feiTy to Bangor,

and steamers ply to the Menai Bridge, Llandudno, Liverpool,

and Carnarvon. A weekly market is held on Saturday.

The number of vessels registered as belonging to the port in

1893 was 110 (6505 tons), viz., Ill (6261 tons) saihng,
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and 8 (244 tonb) yteamers. The entries in 1802, chiefly

coastwise, were 6118 (1,275,977 tons). The cliief im-

ports are timber, coal, and provisions, and the chief exports

copper-ores, slate, and marble. The town was made a

borough by Edward I. ; it is governed by a mayor, 4 alder-

men, and 12 councillors ; is the seat of the assizes for Angle-

sey, and of quarter sessions ; and is the headquarters of the

Koyal Anglesey Engineer Militia. The Kedistributiou of

Seats Act, 1885, abolished the separate representation of the

Beaumaris group of boroughs. Its borough bound.iries in-

clude Beaumaris parish, Llanfaes, and part of Llaniestyn.

Area of the municipal borough, 3136 .acres; population,

2202 ; area of the civil parish, 511 acres of laud and 88 of

foreshore and water
;
population, 1837 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 21126. The living is annexed to the rectory of

Llandegfan in the diocese of Bangor. Baron Hill, the seat

of the Bulkeley family, is situated on an eminence overlooking

the town.

Beatunaris Bay, the cxpanskin of sea at the NE end of

the Mcnai Strait, North Wales. It extends 12 miles north-

eastward from Bangor to Great Orme's Head ; measm-es 7|

miles across the entrance east-north-eastward, from Trwyn-

Dhu-Point to Groat Orme's Head ; expands in the NE into

the estuary of the Conway river; and is mainly occupied in

the upper part, opposite and around Beaumaris, by the

Lavan Sands. A safe capacious harbom- on it, called Friai-'s

Road, adjoins Beaumaris ; has anchorage in from 4 to 6

fathoms, and is entered round PufSn Island by two channels

marked with buoys.

Beaumont, a village and a parish in Cumberland, on the

river Eden, the Roman Wall, and the Carlisle and Silloth

r.ailway, about 1 mile from Burgh station, 5 miles NW of

Carlisle. Post town, Bm-gh-by-Sands (R.S.O.) Acreage,

1551 ;
population, 252. The living is a rectory, annexed

to that of Kirk-Andiews-upon-Eden, in the diocese of Car-

lisle; joint net value, £179 with residence. Patron, the

Earl of Lonsdale. The church is small and plain.

Beaumont, a village in the parish of St Peter, Jersey, 2

miles NE of St Aubin. It has a post and money order

office under Jersey.

Beaumont-Chase, formerly an extra-parochial tract, now

a parish in Rutlandshire, Ij mile from Uppingham. It

commands some tine views. In 1885 a detached part of

Uppingham, known as Preston Leys and Preston Leys

Plantation, was united with this parish. Acreage, 463

;

population, 16.

Beaumont-cum-Moze, a parish in Essex, near the head

of an inlet of the North Sea, between the Naze and Harwich,

2 miles N from Thorpe station on the G.E.R., and 10 E
of Colchester, under which it has a post office of the name

of Beaumont; money order and telegraph office, Thorpe-

le-Soken. Acreage, 3058, of which 221 are foreshore and

w,ater
;
population, 402. Beaumont Hall is a chief residence.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net

value, £464 with residence. The church is good, and there

is a Wesleyan chapel.

Beaumont-Leys, formerly an extra-parochial tract, but

now a parish in Leicestershu-e, 2 mUes N of Leicester. Acre-

age, 1662; population, 127. Post town, Leicester; money

order office, Anstey ; telegraph office, Groby.

Beaupre House, the ancient seat of the Bassett family, in

Glamorgan, on the river Thaw, 2^ miles SE of Cowbridge.

It occupies the site of an early" Welsh fortress, enlarged

by the Normans, and is itself a curious mixture of Gothic

and Greek architecture, designed by a native artist of the

name of Twrch.

Beausale, a township in Hatton parish, Warwickshire, 4

miles NW of Warwick. Acreage, 1699
;
population, 215.

Beauworth or Beaworth, a parish in Hants, 4 miles S

of Ahesford station on the L. & S.W.R., and 6i ESE of

Winchester. Post town, Alresford ; money order and tele-

graph office, Cheriton. Area, 1508 acres
;

population,

136. A leaden box containing about 700 coins of William

the Conqueror and William Rufus was found here in

1833. This parish is a resort of sportsmen. The living

is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the rectory of Kilmeston,

in the diocese of Winchester
;
joint net yearly value, £240,

in the gift of the Crown. The church is a small structure

erected in 1838.
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Beaworthy or Beworthy, a parish in Devonshire. It

has a station under the name of Halwill and Beaworthy,

also at Ashbury, on the L. & S.W.R., 296 miles from London,

9 from Okehampton and Holsworthy, and 6 SW of Hather-

leigh. Post town, Beaworthy, which is the money order ofSce

;

telegraph office, at the railway station. Acreage, 3823

;

population, 268. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Exeter; gioss value, £110. The chm'ch is a neat small

edifice, with a low square tower, and was restored in 1871.

There is a chapel for Bible Christians.

Beazley-End, a small village, 4J miles N of Braintree, in

Essex.

Bebington or Bebbington, two townships and a parish

in Cheshire. The townships are styled Higher and Lower;

they lie on the river Mersey, 2| and 3J miles S by E of

Birkenhead, and have a station of the name of Bebington

on the Birkenhead railway, and post offices under Birken-

head, and are practically suburbs of Birkenhead. New Ferry,

a hamlet in Lower Bebington township, and Rock Ferry,

partly in the township of Higher Bebington and partly in

that of Tranmere, contain numerous villa residences. Acre-

age of Higher Bebington, 944
;
population, 4372. Acreage

of Lower Bebington, 1054; population, 5216. Population

of the ecclesiastical parish of Higher Bebington, 2500 ; of

Lower Bebington, 2519. The parish includes also the town-

ships of Tranmere, Storeton, and Poulton-cum-Spital. Ex-

cellent building stone of the New Red Sandstone is obtained

from Storeton quan-ies. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Chester ; net value, £329 with residence. The parish

church of St Andrew is very ancient, partly Norman with

Saxon remains, and partly Decorated. It was eulai-ged in

1841, and a lych-gate was erected in 1893. The vicarage of

Christchurch, Higher Bebington, is a separate benefice;

value, £180 with residence. The church was built in 1859.

New Ferry, Rock Ferry, and the three vicarages of Tranmere

are separate benefices. There is a chapel for Primitive

Methodists at Lower Bebington and for Congregationalists at

Rock Ferry. See New Ferry, Rock Ferky, and Tran-
mere.

Bebside, a township in Hornton parish, Northumberland,

with a station on the Blyth and Tjne section of the N.E.R.,

2 miles W of Blyth, and a post and money order office

(R.S.O.); telegraph office, Bedlington. Acreage, 535
;
popu-

lation, 78. There is a large colliery and three dissenting

chapels.

Beccanlen. See Beck let, Sussex.

Beocles, an ancient market-town, municipal borough, and

parish in SufTolk. The town stands on the river Waveney

and on the G.E.R., amid pleasant environs, 8^ miles W of

Lowestoft. It belonged anciently to Bury Abbey, and suf-

fered severely in 1586 from fire. It is now well-built, and

comprises several streets, which diverge fronr a spacious

market-place, with a considerable number of separate private

residences. It is governed by a mayor, four aldermen, and

twelve councillors, and it possesses an estate of about 958

acres, the revenue of which until recently precluded the

necessity for borough rates. It has also several valuable

charities and some almshouses. The town is well paved,

sewered, and lighted, and is supplied with water by the

Beccles Water Company. The chief mdustries are malting,

printing, tiinning, coach-building, the manufacture of agri-

cultural implements, bricks, tiles, earthenware, and tobacco

pipes. There is a lai'ge town-hall, held in trust by the mayor,

used for religious, social, and political purposes, a town library,

a council chamber, com hall, and hospital. The old jail was

converted in 1879 into a court-house, where the petty sessions

and county courts are held, and a police station with a lock-

up. The parish church is Later English ; consists of nave,

chancel, and aisles, altogether 148 feet long and 61^ wide,

was renovated in 1859, and has a tower, 92 feet high, built

about 1515, detached a short distance from the SE corner,

and commanding a fine view of the surrounding country.

Another chm-ch or a chapel, connected with an hospital for

lepers, founded in the time of Edward IIL, stood at Endgate.

A cemetery, formed in 1854, comprises 5 acres beautifully

laid out, and contains two chapels. The town has Baptist,

Roman Catholic, Congregationahst, Wesleyan, and Primitive

Methodist chapels. It has a head post office, a station on

the G.E.R., two banking ofiices, two endowed schools, and
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regular communication by steamers with London by way of

Lowestoft. The Waveney is navigable hence to the sea, mak-

ing Beccles a subporl to Yarmoutli. Messrs Clowes & Sons,

Limited, the eminent printers of London, have a branch here,

and publish a weekly newspaper. The town is a polling

place for the Northern division of the county. The parish

is conterminate with the borough. Acreage, 2017
;
popula-

tion, 666!>. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

net value, X230 with residence, in the gift of Simeon Trustees.

Becconsall. See Hesketh-with-Becconsall.

Beccott, a hamlet in Arhngton parish, Devon.

Bechan, a name for the river Vyrnwy, a river of North

Wales, for pai'ts of its course before its junction with the

Einion.

Bechton. See Betchton.
Beck, a name of Saxon origin signifying " a brook," also

a name of Scandinavian origin signifying " a beacon-stone
"

or " beacon-tower."

Beckbury, a village .and a parish in Salop, on a tributary

of the Severn, i miles SW of Albrighton station on the

G.W.E., and 5 S by E of Shifu,al, under which tliere is a

post and money order office; telegraph office, Albrighton.

Acreage, 1346
;
population, 319. Caynton House and Beck-

bury Hall are the chief residences. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Hereford
;
gross value, £281. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is ancient, and was restored

in 1884-87. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Beckenham, a large parish and suburb of London in Kent,

situated at the head of the Ravensbourne river, 10 miles from

London, and 2 from Bromley. The L.C. & D. and the

J\Iid-Kent railways have joint use of Beckenham junction

station, and the Mid-Kent has a station at New Beckenham.

Kent House station belongs to the L.C. & D.R. There is a post,

money order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 3881 ;
popula-

tion, 20,707. The parish is governed by a local board

consisting of 15 members. The Church of St George was

entiiely rebuilt in 1887, replacing a structure of old date in

the Perpendicular style. The new church occupies the same

site, is an edifice in the Decorated style of Kentish ragstone,

and has sittings for over 1000 persons. Edwai'd King,

author of " Munimenta Antiqua," is buried in the churchyard,

the entrance to which is by a very picturesque lych gate.

The living is a rectoiy ; value, £623. St James's, erected

in 1870, is a large building of red brick in the Gothic style.

St Paul's is an ecclesiastical parish formed in 1872 ; the

church is a stone building in the Early English style. The

living is a vicarage
;

gi"oss value, £785 with residence. Holy

Trinity is a parish formed in 1878 ; the church is a building

of Kentish ragstone in the Early English style. Christchurch

is a parish formed in 1878 ; the church is a building of

Suftblfc brick in the Gothic style. St Barnabas is a parish

formed in 1879 ; the church is only partly built, the nave

being still of h*on. There are two other district churches,

and chapels for Wesleyans, Baptists, Congregatioualists, three

almshouses, a cottage hospital, a large public liall, a free-

masons' lodge, several mission rooms, and a small naval

asylum. There are several fine residences in the neighbour-

hood, including Beckenham Park, Langley Park, and Eden
Park.

Beckering-Holton. See Holton-Beckering.
Beckeimet, a township in the parishes of St Bridget-

Beckermet and St John-Beckermet, Cumberland, on the river

Ehen, with a station on the Whitehaven, Cleator, and Egre-

mont railway, 3 miles S of Egremont. It has a post and

money order office under Carnforth ; telegraph office, Calder-

Bridge. A property in the neighbourhood, called Wotobank,
was the scene of the tragical subject of ^Irs Cowley's
'• Edwina." The lady of a proprietor was killed on the

grounds by a wolf, and found in a mangled state on a hank,

when her husband exclaimed in horror, '' Wo to this hank !

"

" Wo to thee, bank ! the attendants echoed round.
And pitying shepherds caught the grief-traiiglit sound;
Thus to this Iionr, througli every changing age.

Through every year's still ever-varying stage,
The name remains."

Beckennet, St Bridget, a parish in Cumberland, on the

coast and on the Whitehaven, Cleator, and Egremont rail-

way, extending from Beckermet township south-eastward to

the vicinity of Calder-Bridge. Post town, Beckermet under
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Carnforth. Acreage, 5063
;
population, 655. Freestone is

quarried. The church is old and lonely, and now used

merely for marriages and burials, and a new church at

Calder-Bridge is attended by the inhabitants.

Beckermet, St John, a parish in Cumberland, on the

coast and on the Whitehaven, Cleator, and Egremont railway,

extending from Beckermet township north-westward to Ehen-
sidc—the river Ehen dividing Lowside Quarter, St Bees,

from St .John's. Post town, Beckermet under Carnforth.

Acreage, 2946
;
population, 682. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Carlisle ; net value, £1 68 with residence.

The present church is modern. Old stones found on re-

building in 1879 gave proof of a very ancient structure on

the site.

Becketsbury, an ancient Roman camp on Wesfridge,

Gloucestershire, 1 mile N of Wotton-under-Edge. It occu-

pies about 4 acres, has a double trench, and is planted with

beech.

Beckett, a tithing in Shriveniiam parish, Berks, in the

vicinity of the G.W.R., 5 miles SW of Faringdon. It was
formerly called Becote ; belonged once to the Pearls of

Evreux, then to the priory of Norion in Normandy ; was

seized, and made an occasional residence by King John, and
passed afterwards to a family who took from it the uame of

De Beckote. It now belongs to Viscount Barrington. The
present mansion on it superseded a large ancient manor-
house, is a tine edifice in the Tudor style, and contains some
interesting paintings and the chess-pieces of Charles I. The
grounds, extending over 150 acres, are very picturesque and
beautiful.

Beckfoot, a hamlet in Bingley township and parish, W. R.

Yorkshire.

Beckfoot, a village in Holme Cultram parish, Cum-
berland.

Beckford, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire. The
village stands on the river Carrant, 6 miles NE of Tewkes-

bury, and 7 SW of Evesham, and has a station on the Ash-
church and Evesham branch of the M.R., and a post office

under Tewkesbury, with telegi'aph office at the railway station.

The parish includes also the hamlets of Bangrove, Didcote,

and Grafton. Acreage, 2778
;
population of the civil parish,

433 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Ashton-under-Hill, 794.

Beckford Hall, an Elizabethan mansion, restored in 1863,

was formerly the seat of the Wakeman family. The manor
was given, in the time of Henry I., to the abbey of St

Martin in Normandy ; and passed after the suppression first

to Eton College, next to Fotheringhay, next to Sir Richard

Lee. The living is a vicarage, with the chapelry of Ashton-

under-Hill annexed, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol;

gross value, £500 with residence. The church is Norman,

and has a lofty central Perpendicular tower crowned with

pinnacles.

Beckham, East, a parish in Norfolk, 4 miles WSW of

Cromer, and 2:^ S from Sherringham station on the E. & M.R.

Post town, Dereham ; telegraph office. Holt. Acreage, 7U0;

population, 68. The living is a sinecure in the diocese of

Norwich, and the church, after being a long time in ruins,

was pulled down in 1800, and its materials used to build

a new church at West Beckham.

Beckham, West, a parish in Norfolk, 5 miles WSW of

Cromer, and 4 E from Holt station on the M. and G.N.

.Joint railways. Post, money order, and telegraph office, Holt

(R.S.O.) Acreage, 766; population, 260; of the ecclesi-

astical parish of East and West Beckham, 330. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross value (East

and West), £171. Patrons, the Dciin and Chapter of Nor-

wich. The old dilapidated chmxh was pulled down in

1890, and a new one built on a more convenient site, re-

using all the stonework in the old church of West Beckham
and in the ruins at East Beckham, the new church serving

both East and West Beckham, which were united for ecclesi-

astical purposes by Order in Council in 1888. Erpingham

Union Workhouse, erected in 1851, stands in this parish.

Beckhouse, a hamlet in Embleton township, Cumber-

land, about i a mile from Embleton station on the Cocker-

mouth, Keswick, and Penrith railway.

Becklngham, a village and a p.arish in Luicolnshire, on

the river Witham, 3J miles N of Claypole station on the

G.N.R., and 5 E of Newark. The parish includes the hamlet

121



BECEINGHAiyi

of Sutton, and has a post office under Newark, which is the

telegraph office ; money order office, Brant Broughton. Acre-
age, 1964 ; population of the civil parish, 282 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, with Stragglethorpe and Fenton, 431. The living is

a rectory, united with the perpetual curacies of Stragglethorpe

and Fenton, in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value,

£430 with residence. The church, which is a stone huilding

chiefly of the Perpendicular period, was restored in 1857-6S,
and again in 1888. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Beckingham, a large village and a parish in Notts, near

the river Trent, 2k miles W by N of Gainsborough, under
which the parish has a post office, and a station on the

G.N.R. Acreage, 2634; population, 402. The Duke of

Newcastle is lord of the manor. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £217 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is good, and it

was thoroughly restored in 1802. The vicarage house was
erected in 1874 by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners. There
are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, and small

charities. Dr William Howell the historian was a native.

Beckington, a village and a parish in Somerset. The
village stands near the river Frome, 3 miles NE of Frome
station on the G.W.R. There is a post, money order, and
telegraph office. It was formerly a place of some importance,

carrying on woollen manufactures, but suffered greatly from

the decline of the clothing trade. The parish includes also

the hamlet of Rudge. Acreage, 2091); population, of the

civil parish, 855 ; of the ecclesiastical (with Standerwick),

868. The Hving is a rectory, united with the rectory of

Standerwick, in the diocese of Bath and Wells; gross value,

£683 with residence. The church was restored in 1861
and 1873, and contains monuments of the Seymours and
the poet, Daniel. Tliere are a Baptist chapel and some
small charities. Thomas Beckington, Bishop of Bath and
Wells, who figured in the legislation against the Wickliffites,

was a native, and Huish, one of the editors of the Polyglott

Bible, was rector. Standerwick Court is in the neighbourhood.

Beckjay, a township in Clungunford parish, Salop, 9 miles

WNW^ of Ludlow.

Beckley, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The
village stands on the line of the Roman road from Alcester

to Wallingford, on an eminence overhanging the south side

of Ottmoor, 3 miles SE of Islip station on the L. & N.W.R.,
and 5 NE of Oxford, under which it has a post office

;

money order and telegraph office, Headington. It was the

burial-place of the British saint Donanverdh,and the hereditary

property of King Alfred. The parish includes also the hamlets

of Studley and Horton-cum-Studley, and by the Divided

Parishes Act of 1882 Stowood, fonnerly a distinct parish,

was made a hamlet of Beckley. Area, 3620 acres; popu-
lation of the civil parish, 346; of the ecclesiastical, 395.

A Benedictine priory was founded at Studley in the time of

Henry II. by Bertrand de St Walery, passed at the dissolu-

tion to the Crokes, and was converted into a dwelling-house

in 1587. The hving is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford;
net yearly value, £148 with residence. The church is an
interesting structure of the 14th century, and has remains of

very curious frescoes, a font with ancient stone desk, and
tombs of the Crokes.

Beckley, a parish in Sussex. It adjoins the river Rother,

on the border of the county, 6 miles NW of Rye station on

the S.E.R. It was known to the Saxons as Beccanlen, and
has a post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 6620

;

population, 1141. There were formerly extensive ironworks,

and one part of the parish is still called Beckley Furnace.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chichester ; net value,

£600 with residence. Patrons, University College, Oxford.

The church is very good, and was restored in 1885. There

is a Wesleyan chapel.

Beck, Little, a hamlet in the parish of Eskdaleside-cum-

Ugglebarnby, N. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles SW of Whitby.

Beck-Bow, a watch or hamlet in Mildenhall parish, Suf-

folk, 3 miles NW of Mildenhall. It lias a church erected

in 1876, a W^esleyan chapel, and a home for girls maintained

by the Church of England Waifs and Strays Society.

Beckside, a hamlet in Holker Upper township, Cartmel

parish, Lancashire, ^ mile from Kirkby station on the Furness

railway.

Beckton, a station on the G.E.R., Essex 9 miles E of
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London. The Gas Light and Coke Company of London
have extensive works here covering an area of 40 acres.

Beckurmonds. See Beggakmonds.
Beckwithshaw, a village and an ecclesiastical parish,

constituted in 1887, in the W. R. Yorkshire, comprising part

of the parish of Pannal, the whole of Haverah Park, and part

of St Maiy's, Low Harrogate. It has a post office under

Harrogate, which is the money order, telegraph office, and
railway station. Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 310.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Ripon;

gross value, £206 with residence. The church, erected in

1886, is a building in the Early English style.

Becky, The, a streamlet of Devon, rising on the east side

of Dartmoor Forest, and running 4 miles north-eastward to

the river Wrey, 4^ miles SE of Moreton-Hampstead. A fall

occurs in it, about 3 miles from its source, about 80 feet in

descent, down a granite precipice. This makes a grand

appearance after heavy rains, and has accompaniments which
always look romantic, even when the water shrinks into mere

tricklings among the rocks. The valley of the stream is the

Houndtor Combe, overhung by the Houndtor Mountain, capped

with rocks resembling the colonnade of a ruined temple, and
it both contains very striking scenery within itself and looks

out on some most interesting views.

Becontree, a hundred in Essex. It is bounded on the

W by the river Roding and on the S by the Thames, measures

8 miles by 5^, and contains nine parishes.

Becote. See Beckett.
Bedale, a market-town, a township, and a parish in the

N. R. Yorkshire. Tlie town stands on a small tributary

of the Swale, adjacent to the Northallerton and Leyhurn
railway, near the Leeming Roman way, 8 miles SW by W
of Northallerton. It consists chiefly of one street, and has

a head post office, a railway station, two banks, two chief

inns, petty sessions, court-house, and assembly rooms, a

reading room and free libraiy, a parish chm'ch, a Wesleyan

chapel, two endowed schools, almshouses, a workhouse, and
several charities. The chm-ch is Early English and large;

has a square embattled tower, so strong as to have been used

for defence in the Border forays; it contains monuments
to the Earl of Arundel and others, and was renovated in 1855.

A weekly market is held on Tuesday, and fairs on Easter

Tuesday, Whit Tuesday, 6 July, 11 Oct., and on Monday
week before Christmas. The circumjacent country is highly

cultivated, and has a character for producing excellent riding-

horses. Bedale Hall, an elegant mansion, and Bedale Grange,

another chief residence, are adjacent. A castle was built by

Brian Fitzallan, Earl of Arundel, on a spot now within the

grounds of Bedale Hall, but has disappeared.

The township includes the town, and comprises 1682 acres;

population, 1090. The parish contains also the townships

of Firby, Crakehall, Aiskew, Langthorne, East Brompton,

and Rands-Grange in the district of Bedale, and the town-

ships of Burrill-cum-Cowling and Hutton-Hang in the district

of Leyburn. Population of the ecclesiastical parish with

Burrill, 2204. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon

;

gross value, £2200 with residence. Patron, Su: H. Monson
de la Poer Beresford-Peirse, Bai't.

Bedanford. See Bedford.
Bedburn, The, a stream of Durham. It rises on Eggle-

stone Cunniiun, and runs 10 miles north-eastwai'd to the

Wear below H.,ppyland Park.

Bedburn, North, a township in Witton-le-Wear parish,

Durham, f'.trming the ecclesiastical parish of Fir Tree, near

the Weardale railway and the river Wear, 5^ miles NW of

Bishop-Auckland, and 1^ mile from Beechburn station on

the main line of the N.K.R. It comprises the villages of

Iloughton-le-Wear, Firtree, High and Low Bitchburn, Thistle

Flat, and Hargil Hill. Acreage, 2837
;
population, 2478. Tiie

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Durham ;
gross value,

£310 per annum, alternately in the gift of the Bishop of

Durham and the Crown. There are three dissenting chapels

in the township, also extensive collieries, and bricks of a

superior kind are manufactured here. There is a workman's

hall, with library and recreation rooms.

Bedburn, South, a township in Hamsterley pai'ish,

Dmham, on the Bedburn ri\Tilet, 3^ miles from the Weardale

railway, and 7j W of Bishop-Auckland. Acreage, 10,046
;

population, 300. There aie the remains of a Roman encamp-
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ment here. Hoppyland Park, Dryderdale Hall, Pillniore Hall,

and Schull Hall are the principal yeats in the neighbourhood.

Beddgelert or Bethgelert, a village in Carnarvonshire,

and a parish partly also in Jlerionethshire. The village

stands at the confluence of the Colwyn and the Glaslyn rivers,

near Aberglaslyn Pass, 6 miles S of the summit of Snowdon,

7 N of Portmadoc on the Cambrian and Festiniog railways,

4 from Snowdon station on the North Wales Narrow Gauge
railway, and 13 SE of Carnarvon. It nestles in a deep

romantic vale, engirt by lofty mountains, amidst the grandest

scenery in Wales ; presents very strong attractions to tourists,

artists, and anglers ; was anciently noted as a resting-place

of pilgrims ; and has a post and telegraph otiBce under

Carnarvon. The church was restored in 1882 ; it has

two fine arches in the Early English style, and the east

window has three long lancet Hghts also in the Early English

style filled with stained glass. It is supposed to occupy the

site of an ancient priory. The priory is thought by some
to have been older than Owen Gwynedd, who began to reign

in 1137, by others to have been founded by Llewelyn the

Great. A romantic tradition asserts that Llewelyn founded

it to commemorate the preservation of his infant son in its

cradle from an intniding wolf, the animal being killed there

by a watchful hound, and the hound itself killed immediately

after through mistake by the master, and this tradition is the

subject of the late Hon. W. R. Spencer's ballad of " Prince

Llewelyn and his Greyhound Geleii," but it probably was
borrowed from some one of similar old stories current in Eng-
land, in Ireland, in France, in Persia, and in other countries.

The parish comprises 26,060 acres; population, 1217. Moel
Hebog, a mountain overhanging the village on the W, has a

recess which was a hiding-place of Owen Glendower, and
yielded up from a bog in 1784 a very curious brass Roman
sliield. Some pretty cascades occur on the Colwyn, a few

hundred yards from the \allage, and the pass to the S, noticed

in the article Aberglaslyn, teems with interest. The prin-

cipal scene of Southey's poem of "Madoc" is laid in the

parish. The li\dng is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor;

gi'oss value, £187 with residence. There are two dissenting

chapels.

Beddingham, a parish in Sussex, on the river Ouse and
on the L.B. & S.C.R., near- Glynde station, 2J miles SE of

Lewes, under which it has a post office ; money order office,

West Firle ; telegraph office, Glynde railway station. Acreage,

2888 ;
population, 464. The manor is mentioned in the

will of King Alfred, and had a monastery in the beginning of

the 9th century. The living is a vicarage, united with the

vicarage of West Fule, in the diocese of Chichester; value,

£196. Patrons, the Bishop and the Dean and Chapter of

Chichester alternately. The church was restored in 1858,
and again in 1884. A reading-room and institute was
erected near Glynde in 1884.

Beddington, a village and a parish in SuiTey. The village

stands on the river Wandle, about ^ mile from Waddon station

on the L.B. & S.C.R., and 2^ miles W of Croydon. The
paiish includes also the hamlet of Wallington and the manor
of Bandon. There is a post, money order, and telegraph

office. Acreage, 3128 ; population of the civil parish, 2607
;

of the ecclesiastical, 3217. The manor belonged to the

Carews from 1360 till 1860. Beddington House, now the

Female Orphan Ayslum, is chiefly a brick edifice of 1709,
but includes a gi-eat hall, with vei-y rich open roof, visited

by Queen Elizabeth, and contained interesting portraits, a
cm'ious trophy of arms, and an elaborately formed door-lock.

An orangery here, destroyed in 1739, sprang from pips im-
ported by Sir Francis Carew, the brother-in-iaw of Sir Walter
Raleigh, the first pips planted in England. At Woodcote,
in the southern part of the parish, many Roman remains have
been found. The living is a rectoiT in the diocese of Rochester;

net value, £895 with residence. The church shows Norman
traces ; was founded before the Conquest, and rebuilt of flint

in the time of Richard I. ; was renovated and extended, at

a cost of £3000, in 1850 ; and was ag.^in repaired in 1869.

The district chapelry of Holy Trinity, Waldon, and Walling-

ton is a separate chai'ge, formed in 1867.

Bedewind. See Bedwin, Great.
Bedfield, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 4 miles NW

of Framlingham station on the G.E.R., with a post office

under Framlingham (R.S.O.), which ia the telegraph office

;
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money order office, Worlingworth. Acreage, 1270
;
popnlsr-

tion, 357. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

net yearly value, £253, with 18 acres of glebe and residence,

in the gift of the Earl of Stradbroke. The church is an ancient

edifice of flint in the Perpendicular style.

Bedfont, East, a village and a parish in Middlesex. The
village stands 1 mile NW of Feltham station on the L.&S.W.R.,

and 3 miles ENE of Staines, and has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Feltham. The parish includes

also the hamlet of Hatton. Acreage, 1926; population,

1815. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of London;

net value, £262 with residence, in the gift of the Lord

Chancellor. The church is very ancient, has a Saxon porch,

and was restored in 1886. It is probably the oldest church

in Middlesex ; there are two wall paintings—one of the

Crucifixion, the other of the Last Judgment, dating from

the 12th century.

Bedfont, West, a hamlet in Stanwell parish, Middlesex,

on King's river, IJ mile W by N of East Bedfont.

Bedford, a municipal and parliamentary borough in the

northern division of Bedfordshire, and the capital of the

county. It stands on the river Ouse, in a pleasant fertile

valley, 47i miles NNW of London. The Ouse is navigable

hence to the sea, but the traffic has ceased, though regattas

are still held. The M.R. has a large station here, and a

branch of the L. & N.W.R. from Oxford to Cambridge to

join the G.E.R. passes through the town. This line also

communicates with the G.N.R. at Sandy. The town is thus

well served by railways, there being no less than six outlets

by the different lines.

Bedford was known to the Saxons as Bedanford or Bedi-

canford, signifying *' the lodging or fortress at the ford."

Cuthwulf defeated the Britons near it in 571. The Danes
attacked it in 911 and 921, and burned it in 1010. A
epistle was built at it near the river soon after the Conquest,

figured in the wars of the Barons, was taken in 1138 by
King Stephen, again in 1216 by Fulk de Brent, and de-

stroyed in 1224 by Henry III. Nothing of the castle re-

mains except a portion of the entrenchments, and the site

of its keep is occupied by a bowling-green. Hugh de Belle-

mont, son of the Earl of Leicester, was made Earl of Bed-
ford by King Stephen, but fell from his allegiance and was
degraded. Iiigeham de Coucy was raised to the earldom by
Edward III. John Plantagenet, third son of Henry IV.,

was made Duke of Bedford by Henry V., but died without

issue. The Russell family were raised to the Dukedom in

1694, and have their chief seat at Woburn Abbey. Three
men who have shed gi'eat lustre upon Bedford were Sir W.
Harpui', some time Lord Mayor of London, who died in 1574 ;

S. Palmer the nonconformist, and John Bunyan, the author

of the " Pilgi'im's Progress." The first and the second were

natives, and the third was born at Elstow, IJ mile to the S,

and achieved at Bedford the chief experiences of his remark-
able life.

The town consists of a principal street, above a mile long,

several intersecting streets, and some subm'bs ; has under-

gone great recent improvement and considerable increase

;

contains many old substantial houses, and some handsome
new ones ; and presents altogether a pleasing appearance.

The bridge across the Ouse, connecting High Street and
Mary Street, occupies the site of one which stood nearly 600
years, has five arches, and was built in 1813 at a cost of

£15,000. There is also a second bridge of three arches in

wrought-iron and stone, carrying a roadway 40 feet wide,

the foundations of which were laid in 1883, and which was
opened in 1884, and an iron foot bridge opened in 1888.
The Shue Hall, originally erected in 1753, was rebuilt

1879-82, at a cost of £20,000. It contains rooms for the

sessions and the assizes, and the meetings of the county
council are held here. The Corn Exchange, a commodious
building of white brick and Bath stone, was completed in

1874. It is used for social and political purposes, as well

as for a com market. The old one is now used as a covered

market for fruit and flowers. The county jail, on the

site of the prison in which it is believed Bunyan wrote his " Pil-

grim's Progifss," was rebuilt in 1840 at a cost of £23,000 ; is

of three storeys, and has 176 cells for males and 8 for females,

houses for the chief warders being attached. Tlie Bedford
Intii'mary stands in spacious gi'ounds on the Ampthill Road;
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is a brick edifice with stone front dating from 1803, and
has accommodation for about 100 in-patients. The Bedford

Rooms, a fine building in Harpur Street, wliich became the

property of the Bedford Literary and Scientific Institute in

1884, contains a fine library, and affords accommodation
to the Comity Archaeological, Natural History, and Agricul-

tural Societies. There are also three good club-houses occu-

pied by the Bedford Town and County, Consei-vative, and
Liberal Clubs. The cemetery, Foster's Hill, opened in 1855,

contains two mortuary chapels, and covers an area of 36

acres, and at the foot of the Cemetery Hill an ornamental

park and recreation gi-oimd has been laid out, having an area

of 61 acres. The latter was opened in 1888 by the Mai-quis

of Tavistock, and is a great acquisition to the town ; it has

recently become the property of the Corporation by Act of

Parliament. There is also a handsome promenade along

the north margin of the Ouse, which extends as far as Newn-
ham. Remains of an interesting edifice of the 14th century,

with window-tracery and other decorations, stand at the

foot of a yard leading out at High Street, and now form part

of the George Inn. The river Ouse is a most charming

feature in the town, and affords abundant amusement in

boating, fishing, and swimming. The embankment, witli

the long promenades on both sides of the river, is well

planted with flowers and shrubs. A meadow, called King's

Jlead, belonging in old times to the town, lies about 2 miles

distant, on the right bank of the Ouse, and contains a sul-

phuretted saline spring. It is now, however, in private

hands. The town is well supplied with water, dj-awn through

a horizontal shaft in the oolite Hmestone, at the northern

boundary of the borough, and has a thorough system of

drainage on modern principles.

The town, as defined by its borough boundaries, comprises

2223 acres ; and it is di\'ided into two wards and five parishes.

The wards are Eastern and Western ; and the parishes are

St Cuthbert, St Peter, St Paul, St Mary, and St John, with

the ecclesiastical parishes of the Holy Trinity and St Leonard,

and the ecclesiastical district of St Martin. St Cuthbert

parish is wholly in the Eastern ward, while each of the

other parishes is partly in both wards. All the livings

are in the diocese of Ely. St Cuthbert is a rectory ; net

yearly value, ^350 with residence, in the gift of the Lord

Chancellor. St Peter is also a rectoiy; gi-oss yearly value,

£549 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

St PauVs is a vicarage; gi'oss yearly value, £350 with resi-

dence, in the gift of the Bishop of Ely. St Mary's is a

rectory
;
gross yearly value, £436 with residence, in the gift

of the Bishop of London (two tm^ns) and of Balliol College,

Oxford (one tm-n). St John's is a rectory ; net yearly value,

£370 with residence, in the gift of a private patron. Holy
Trinity is a vicarage

;
gross value, £409 with residence, in

the gift of the Vicar of St Paul's. St Leonard's is a \'icarage

;

gross value, £150 with residence, in the gift of the Rector of

St Mary's, Bedford. St Cuthbert's Church was rebuilt in

1847, is in the Norman style, and w'as enlarged in 1865,

and again in 1877. St Peter's is Norman and Early Enghsh,
and has been several times repahed and enlarged. St Paul's

is Early and Decorated English, and has a handsome tower

and octagonal spire. Trinity Chui^ch was built in 1840, and

made a separate charge in 1860. St Mary's is Later English

with a Noiman tower. St John's is Later English, and was
thoroughly restored in 1869-70. StMartin'sChm-ch,amoderu

edifice of brick and Bath stone, was opened in 1889. Popula-

tion of the ecclesiastical parishes of Holy Trinity, 9390 ; of St

Cuthbert, 3324; of St John, 672; of St Leonards, 2320 ; of St

Mary, 2549 ; of St Paul, 5061 ; and of St Peter Martin, 4608.

The Bunyan Chapel was rebuilt in 1849, on the site of the
" Old Jleeting " in which John Bunyan preached from 1671

fill 1688, and has a tablet to him on its side and his chair

in the vestry. In 1876 the Duke of Bedford gave two

massive bronze doors, having ten panels, by Boehm, repre-

senting in relief scenes from tlie " Pilgiim's Progress," to this

chapel. The town has also eighteen dissenting chapels and

places of worship used by the Baptists, Brethren, Catholics,

Congregationalists, Catholic Apostohc Church, Christadel-

phians, Huutingdonians, Mora^nans, Primitive Methodists,

Salvation Army, Theistic church, and Wesleyan Methodists,

The Roman Catholic church is a lofty edifice of stone in the

Early and Decorated style. Among the public monuments of the
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town the most noteworthy is a fine bronze statue of John
Bunyan, designed by Sir J. E. Boehm, and presented to the

town by the Duke of Bedford in 1874, and placed in St

Peter's Green. A monastery seems to have been founded on

the bank of the Ouse to the W of the town, pretty early in

the Saxon times; and a chapel, probably connected with it,

was the bm*ial-place of King Offa, and was swept away in an
inundation. Caldwell Priory, near this, was founded in the

time of King John for brethren of the order of the Holy
Cross, and some vestiges of it remain. A Franciscan friary,

an hospital of St Leonard, and an hospital or priory of St

John the Baptist, stood in the S part of the town, and the

last was endowed in the time of Edward 11.

The charities and the educational advantages of Bedford

are remarkably rich and numerous. A bequest by Sir William

Harpur, in the time of Edward VL, of some property in Bed-
ford and of 13 acres of laud within the jjarish of St Ajidrew-

Holborn in London, has increased enormously in value, and
is disbursed under a scheme of the Endowed Schools Com-
missioners, approved in 1873, in supporting a grammar-school

organised in four departments— viz. Preparatory, Junior,

Classical, and Civil and Rlilitary—a high school for girls, a

modern school for boys and girls, and elementary schools for

boys, girls, and infants. All the Bedford schools are under

the Harpur Trust, and it further affords support to forty-six

almshouses for aged couples, a sum of money distributed

yearly to decayed housekeepers, and other charities. The
grammai'-school furnishes the highest education to free boarders

and scholars ; the other schools are conducted with signal

efficiency ; and all are accessible to the children of all classes

of the townspeople. The school buildings were considerably

enlarged in 1861, and they form a handsome range in the

Tudor style. A new building, to furnish accommodation

for 1000 boys, was opened in 1891 at a cost of about

£25,000, in front of which is a cricket field of 11 acres.

The old grammar-school was purchased by the corporation

for municipal pm'poses. The educational advantages of Bed-

ford have attracted large numbers of retired officers, and

widows of clergymen and professional men to the town.

Other charities exist of considerable value, and include

schools and almshouses. Scientific, artistic, philanthropic,

and religious societies are numerous.

Bedford is the marketing centre of a great agricultural

district, and it possesses also several breweries, maltings, and
coach factories, and numerous workers in the making of

shoes, straw-plait, and pillow lace, but its chief industry is

the manufacture of agricultural implements. The Britannia

Ironworks here occupy an area of some 20 acres, are ad-

mirably built, and thoroughly fm'uished throughout with

modern machinery. All kinds of agricultural machinery are

produced, both for the home and foreign trade. There are

also other factories for the making of lifting and travelling

machinery, and brick and tile making machines. Weekly
markets are held every Saturday; and fairs on the 21 and

22 April and 12 and 13 October principally for cattle, but

also as pleasure fairs, and on the first Tuesday in July for

wool. All are well attended. The town has a head post,

money order, and telegraph office, and several banking-offices

;

it publishes four newspapers ; and it is the political capital

of the county, the seat of assizes and sessions, the head-

quarters of the militia, and the head of an excise collection.

It is a borough by prescription ; was chartered by Henry 11.

;

is governed by a mayor, 6 aldennen, and 18 councillors.

From the 23rd of Edward I. until 1885 Bedford sent two
members to Parliament, but in the latter year the Redistribu-

tion of Seats Act reduced the number to one. Population of

the municipal and parliamentary borough, 28,023; of the

civil parish of St Cuthbert, 3324; of St John, 672; of

St lilary, 4878 ; of St Paul, 14,451 ; and of St Peter, 4698.

Bedford, a township and a parish in the union of Leigh,

Lancashire. The township lies on the Tyldesley and Kenyon
branch railway, 1 mile ENE of Leigh, and has a station on

the railway. It adjoins Leigh, and for all purposes is a part

of that town. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. Acreage, 2826 ;
population of the civil parish, 9455;

of the ecclesiastical, 9010. There are cotton and silk mills,

two iron foundries, collieries, and brickfields. The living is

a vicarage called Bedford-Leigh in the diocese of Manchester

;

net value, £300 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Leigh.
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The climxh was built in 1840, ami there are Methodist anil

Roman Catholic chapels, and small charities.

Bedford Level, an extensive marshy flat in Norfolk,

Suffolk, Huntingdon, Northampton, Lincoln, and Cambridge.

It includes about 63,000 acres in Norfolk, 30,000 in Suffolk,

50,000 in Huntingdon, Peterborough feu in Northampton,
the parts of Holland in Lincoln, and nearly all the Isle of

Ely in Cambridge, and comprises altogether about 450,000
acres. It was anciently covered with forest ; was disforested

by the Romans, and intersected by a Roman road ; was after-

wards brought into a state of high cultivation ; was laid waste,

in the 13th century, by repeated inundations of the sea

;

and settled into a mixture of morass and lake, in some places

20 feet deep, and in some parts navigated by boats. Repeated

attempts were made to drain it, especially in the reign of

Henry VI. and in the early part of the reign of Charles I.,

but without success. Another and better attempt was begun
in 1649 by the fourth Earl of Bedford, whose energetic

measures were carried out under the direction of the famous
Dutch engineer, Cornelius Vemiuyden. A company was
then formed to effect and maintain drainage, was incorporated

in 1664, and by their labours great cuts, called the Old and
New Bedford rivers, Bevil's River, Sam's Cut, Peakirk,South-

eau, Sixteen-Feet Counter, South Holland Drain, and North
Level Drain were formed ; numerous small cuts also were
made ; old embankments were strengthened and improved,

new embankments were thrown up, and extensive tracts of

pasture and corn-land were reclaimed.

The corporation thus established has since been kept up, and
consists of a governor, 6 bailiffs, 20 conservators, and a

commonalty. It is empowered to impose and levy taxes for

the preseiTation of its land, and for upholding the ways,

passages, rivers, cuts, banks, &c. throughout the Level, which
are also the property of the corporation. The governor and
bailiffs must each possess at least 400 acres of the land

gi'anted to the corporation to qualify them for holding these

offices. The qualiflcation requisite for the conservators is

290 acres, and such of the commonalty as possess 100 acres

are allowed to vote in the election of the officers of the cor-

poration.

At various times during the last two centuries extensive

works have been earned on to effect a better drainage of

this large Hat region by the construction of artificial rivers.

The principal of these was completed under Acts passed in

1827 and 1829 for improving the outfall of the river Nene;
for the drainage of the lands discharging their waters in

Wisbeach river ; for improving the navigation of the Wisbeacli

river from the upper end of Kinderley's Cut to the sea ; and
for embanking the salt marshes lying between Kinderley's

Cut and the sea. Under these Acts a new channel was cut

for the discharge of the waters of the Nene into the sea, re-

claiming several thousand acres of marsh land, and affording

a safe passage between Wisbeach and the sea for small vessels

at all states of the tide. Further important works were
subsequently carried out, and so effectively has the work
been done that some places formerly marsh have now In dry

seasons barely sufficient water. Formerly an immense number
of windmills were employed for raising and carrying off the

water, but these are now to a great extent superseded by
steam engines. In the North Level the drainage is effected

without either windmills or steam engines. Abundant crops

of grain, flax, coleseed, and various other kinds of produce
are now raised in the Bedford Level.

Bedford Paxk, an ecclesiastical parish in Middlesex,

formed in 1879 from the parishes of Chlswick, All Saints,

South Acton, and St George—Old Brentford. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. It is included in the local

board districts of Chlswick and Acton. The church is an
edifice of brick in the Queen Anne style, and was erected In

1880 at a cost of £7000. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of London ; net yearly value, £200 with residence,

in the gift of the Bishop of London.

Bedford Rivers, New and Old, two of the finest drains

of the Bedford Level. They go 21 miles north-eastward,

from Earlth in Hunts to Salter's Lode near Downham In

Norfolk, and run nearly parallel to each other, about a mile

asunder. The New river was cut about 1650, and Is 100
feet wide, while the Old river, which was cut earlier, is 70
feet wide.

BEDFORDSHIRE

Bedfordshire or Beds, an inland county, bounded on
the NW by Northampton, on the NE by Huntingdon, on the

E by Cambridge, on the SE and S by Herts, and on the S\V
and W by Bucks. Its greatest length is 36J miles ; its

greatest breadth, 22J miles ; its circuit, about 145 miles

;

and its area, according to the returns furnished by the Ordnance
Survey Department, 298,494 acres. The general aspect is

diversified and pleasing. The surface in the centre, called the

Vale of Bedford, is prevailingly flat and luxuriant ; In the SW
hilly, a portion of the Chilterns, commanding extensive views

;

on the flanks of the Vale of Bedford and In the N, hillocky and
rolhng; and in other parts, a mixture of .swells and flats.

The chief rivers are the Ouse, the Ivel, the Iliz, the Ousel,

and the Lea. The prevailing rocks In the S, up to Houghton-

Regis and Barton-in-the-CIay, are chalk ; those of a belt

about 7 miles broad, east-north-eastward from Eaton-Bray

and Leighton-Buzzard, are upper greensand and gault; those

of a belt of similar but more irregular breadth immediately

N of this, are lower greensand ; those of the tracts farther

N and NE, including most of the Vale of Bedford, are middle

oolite, variously coral rag, calcareous grit, and Oxford clay;

and tliose of a small tract along the Ouse N of Bedford, and
of another small tract continuous with this In the extreme

NW, are lower oolite, variously forest marble, Bradford clay,

and fuller's earth. Chalk, under the name of clunch, is

burnt for lime ; freestone is found at Tottenhoe ; a little

ironstone is found ; fuller's earth, of economical value, was
formerly raised in Aspley-Gulse ; and a few grains of gold

were once obtained at PuUoxhill. Mineral springs occur at

Bedford, Bletsoe, Bromham, Clapham, Cranfield, Milton-

Ernest, Odell, and Turvey. The climate is mild and genial.

The soil Is very various and mixed, and occasions diversity

of husbandry. A very thin soil lies on most of the chalk

hills ; a mixed sand prevails from Woburn to the vicinity of

Biggleswade ; a rich gi'avelly loam lies along much of the

Ouse and the Ivel; and a clayey soil, often very fertile, pre-

vails throughout the Vale of Bedford and the N.

Agricultural Statistics for 1892.

Agriculture,. 9,332
" Unbroken, . . 2,942
" Mares kept for

Breeding. . . 287
Cows and Heiters in Milk

or Cnlf, 12,854
Other Cattle, .... 24,652
sheep, 130,861
Pigs, 27,321

The chief crops raised are wheat, barley, oats, beans, hay, and

fruit. Large quantities of vegetables, butter, and cheese are

sent to market. Round Biggleswade much of the land is

devoted to pickle fanning, and immense quantities of onions,

cucumbers, cabbages, &c. are raised fur pickling. Hus-
bandry employs a larger proportion of the population than

in almost any other tr.act of equal extent In England.

Manufactures are confined chiefly to pillow- lace, straw-

plait, straw bonnets and hats, bricks and tiles, pottery,

and agricultural implements. There are some valuable cop-

rolite diggings In the country, chiefly at Ampthill, Sandy,

Shillingtou, and Sutton. The G.N.R. traverses the eastern

district, northward from Hitcbin through Biggleswade and

Sandy, and it has a branch from Hatfield by way of Luton

to Dunstable. The M.R.'smain line from London enters the

county by Luton, proceeding northward through Ampthill,

Bedford, and Sharnbrook to Leicester. The L. & N.W.R.
impinges on the county at Leighton-Buzzard, and sends off

there a branch eastward to Luton, where It joins the G.N.R.

It has another branch from Bletchford to Bedford, thence

continuing to Cambridge.

Bedfordshire Is divided Into nine hundreds—viz. Stodden,

Willey, and Barford in the N ; Biggleswade and Clifton in

the E; Wixhamtree in the centre; Redbournstoke in the W;
and Mansbead and Flltt in the S. There are six registration

districts in the county—Bedford, Bigglesw.ade, Ampthill,

Woburn, Leighton-Buzzard, and Luton. The county town is

Bedford, and the municipal boroughs are Bedford, Dunstable,

and Luton. The market-towns are Ampthill, Bedford, Biggles-

wade, Dunstable, Leighton-Buzzard, Luton, Potton, Shef-
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ford, Toddington, and Woburn. Fairs for cattle are also

held at Elstow and Silsoe. Among the chief seats are Ampt-
hill Park, Aspley House, Bromham Hall, Bushmead Priory,

Chicksands Priory, Colworth, Hasells, Hinwick House, Hough-
ton Hall, Howhnry Hall, Ickwellbury, Luton Hoo, Melchbourne
Park, Milton-Bvvant Manor, Morhanger Park, Oakley House,

Odell Castle, Old Warden Park, Sandy Lodge, Southill Park,

Stockwood, Stratton Park, Sutton Park, Tempsford Hall,

Turvey Abbey, Woburn Abbey, and Wrest Park.

The boundaries of the ancient or geographical county and
those of the administrative county of Bedford are identical.

The county is divided for parliamentary purposes into two
divisions, and also includes the parliamentary borough of

Bedford. The administrative county includes three muni-
cipal boroughs, has one court of quarter sessions, and is

divided into seven petty sessional divisions. The boroughs

of Bedford, Dunstable, and Luton have separate commissions

of the peace, Bedford ha\'ing in addition a separate court of

quarter sessions. The county contains 133 enture civil parishes

and parts of 2 others, and 125 ecclesiastical parishes or dis-

ti'icts and parts of 6 others, most of which are in the diocese

of Ely.

The magistracy of the county consists of the lord-lieutenant,

about 20 deputy-lieutenants, and 100 magistrates. It is in

the Eastern military district, and in the Norfolk judicial circuit.

The assizes and quarter sessions are held at Bedford. The
police force includes 97 men, exclusive of those of the boroughs.

The only prison is the county jail at Bedford. By the Local

Government Act of 1888 the county of Bedford became, for

the purposes of that Act, an administrative county, gov-

erned by a county council consisting of chainnan, alder-

men, and councillors. The council consists at present of

17 aldermen and 51 councillors, the town of Bedford return-

ing 6 members, Dunstable 2, and Luton 7, the other divisions

of the county returning 36 members, or a total of 68. The
county offices are at Bedford. Fomierly Bedfordshire re-

turned two members to Parliament for the undivided county,

but by the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, it is now
divided into two divisions, with one member for each. No. 1,

the Northern or Biggleswade division (population, 64,457),
comprises the sessional divisions of Bedford, Biggleswade,

and Sharnbrook, and the parishes of Ampthill, Clophill,

Cranfield, Hawnes, Houghton Conquest, Lidlington, Marston
Moretaine. JIaulden, and Millbrook in Ampthill sessional

division, and the municipal borough of Bedford. No. 2, the

Southern or Luton division (population, 68,224), comprises

the sessional divisions of Leighton-Buzzard, Luton, and
Woburn, and so much of the sessional division of Ampthill

as is not comprised in division No, 1, and the municipal

boroughs of Dunstable and Luton. The population of the

county was (1801) 63,393, (1821) 84,052, (1841) 107,936,

(1861) 135,287, (1881) 149,473, (1891) 160,704.

The territory now forming Bedfordshire was inhabited in

the primitive times by the tribe called Cassii. It became
part of the Roman Britannia Superior ; afterwards part of

the Britannia Prima; afterwards, in 310, part of the Flavia

Caesariensis. It belonged in the time of the Heptarchy to

the Idngdom of Mercia, and became subject in 827 to the

Saxons. It first took the name of Bedford in the reign

of Alfred the Great. Icknield Street crosses its southern

extremity eastward over the chalk hills. Watling Street

crosses its south-western extremity north-westward through

Dunstable and near Battlesdon. A Roman road, coming in

from Baldock, traverses the eastern extremity to Potton.

British, Roman, Saxon, and Danish remains occur near Dun-
stable, near Sandy, near Hexton, at the Maiden Bower, at

Tottenhoe, Arlsey, Biggleswade, Bradford, and other places.

Earthworks, ruins, or other vestiges of ancient castles may
be seen at Bedford, Risinghoe, Cainhoe, Bletsoe, Ridgmont,
Meppershall, Puddington, and Thm'leigh. An old cross

stands at Leighton-Buzzard ; a famous priory stood at Dun-
stable ; fourteen other monastic houses stood in other places;

and some of the old existing churches, particulai'ly those of

Luton, Elstow, Eaton-Bray, Felmersham, and Puddington,

exhibit interesting features of ancient arcliitecture.

Bedford Street. See Brighton.
Bedgreave, a hamlet iu Wales parish, W. R. Yorkshire,

2 miles SSE of Rotherham.

Bedgwyn. See Bedwin, Great.
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Bedhampton, a village and a parish in Hants, The vil-

lage stands on Langston Harbour, 1 mile W of Havant station

on the L. & S.W.R. and L.B. & S.C.R., and it has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. It commands a charming
sea-view, and is noted for its fine springs. The parish com-
prises 2422 acres of land and 1398 of foreshore and water

;

population, 700. The manor once belonged to a Dowager-
Countess of Kent, who took a nun's vow in grief for the

death of her husband, afterwards married Sir Eustace Da-
brieschescourt, founded a chantry in penance for her mar-
riage, and died here in 1411. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Winchester; net value, £300 with residence.

The church is a small, old, substantial edifice, with pointed

steeple. It was restored in 1869, an organ was erected iu

1873, and in 1878 the north aisle was added.

Bedhurst, a tithing in Compton-Abbas parish, Dorset,

8 miles NNW of Dorchester.

Bedicanford. See Bedford.
Bedingfield, a parish in Suffiilk, 4 miles SSE of Eye

station on the G.E.R., and 4 N by E of Debenham. It has

a post office under Eye, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 1805; population, 299. The Hving

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value,

£231 with residence. The patronage is under trustees. The
church is a fine erection of stone and flint in the Gothic

style. There is a town estate of 23 acres, and a few small

charities.

Bedingham. a parish in Norfolk, 4 miles NW of Bungay
station on the G. E.R. It has a post office under Bungay,
which is the telegraph office; money order office, Hempnall.

Acreage, 1366
;
population, 288. The hving is a vicarage

in tlie diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £150. Tlie

church is a large ancient building with a round tower having

an octagonal top, and containing five bells.

Bedlington, a township, a parish, and a village in North-
umberland. The township lies on the river Blyth, and on

the Morpeth and Tynemouth railway, 5 miles SE of Morpeth.

It includes an irregularly built village, chiefly of one spacious

street about a mile long, commanding a fine seaward view
;

has a station on the railway, and a poat, money order, and
telegi'aph office, and is a seat of petty sessions. Acreage,

8470, of which 671 are foreshore and water; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 16,996 ; of the ecclesiastical, 9043.

The monks of Durham at the Conquest, when fleeing to

Lindisfarne with the remains of St Cuthbert, rested a night

here. The parish includes also the townships of North Blyth,

Cambois, Choppington with Sheep-wash, Netherton, East
and West Sleakburn, and Bedlington ; and prior to October,

1844, it foi-med part of the county of Durham. The manor
belonged anciently to the Crown, and passed to the Bishops

of Durham. The Ecclesiastical Commissioners are lords of

the manor. The inhabitants are employed chiefly in the

coal trade. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of New-
castle

;
gi'oss value, £548 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Dm^ham. The vicarages of Cambois
and Choppington are separate charges. There are Presby-

terian, Baptist, Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels,

also a Roman Catholic church. Salvation Army barracks, and a
mechanics' institute, with hbrary and reading-rooms, and
pubhc schools.

Bedllnog, a village in Gellis;aer parish, Glamorgan, 3 miles

SW of Troedyrhiw, and 6 SW of Merthyr Tydfil, with a
station on the G.W. and Rhymney Joint railway. It has a
post office under Trehams (R.S.O.); telegraph office, Troed-
yrhiw. There are Congregational, Baptist, and Calvinistic

ilethodist chapels, and a mission church.

Bedminster, a parish in Somersetshire, forming part of

the city of Bristol, and included in the parliamentary divi-

sion of Bristol South. It includes the tithings of Bishport

and Totterdown. Acreage, 4167
;
population, 54,194. Coal

is extensively worked, and veins of Stroutian occur iu the

vale of the Avon. The living is a vicarage iu the diocese

of Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £289 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. The perpetual

curacy of St Luke, and the vicarages of St Paul, St Peter,

Holy Trinity, and Ashton Gate, ai'e separate benefices

—

the first in the patronage of trustees, the others in that

of the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. Value of St

Luke, £420 gi'oss; of St Paul, £500 net; of St Peter,
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£300 gross; of Holy Tnnity, £200 gi-oss; of Ashton Gate,

£190 net.

Bedmont, a hamlet 1 mile N of Abbot's Langlej, Herts.

It has a post office under King's Langlej (R.S.U.) ; money
order and telegraph office, Abbot's Laugley.

Bednall. See Acton-Trussell.
Beds. See Bedfordshire.
Bedstone, a parish in Salop, about 1^ mile equidistant

from Hopton-Heath and Bucknell stations on the L. &
N.W.R., and G miles NE by E of Knighton. Post town,

Bucknell (R. S. 0.) ; money order and telegraph office,

Leintwardine, 4 miles S. Acreage, 831 ;
population, 162.

Bedstone Court and Bedstone House are the chief resi-

dences. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford;

gi'oss value, £317 with residence. The church is Norman,

and has a piscina and some stained windows ; it was restored

in 1879. Bedstone Court is the seat of the Ripley family,

who are lords of the manor. The parish of Bedstone was

part of the inhentance of Isabel de Say, Lady of Clare, which

she brought to her husband, William Fitz Allan, in King

Stephen's time. The first incumbent was Walter de Bede-

stone in 1283.

Bedwardine-St-John and Bedwardine-St-Micbael.
See Worcester.
Bedwas, a village and a pansh in Monmouthshire, with a

small portion in Glamorganshire. The village is 2 miles

NNE of Caerphilly, and has a station on the Brecon and

Merthyi" railway, and a post office under Cardiff; telegraph

office, Caerphilly. The parish also contains the hamlet of

Maes-y-Cwmmer. Acreage, 4195 (including 29 of water);

population, 1991. There are collieries and chemical works,

and a woollen and flannel manufactory at Maes-y-Cwmmer.
Fairs are held on 3 April and October. Maes-y-Cwmmer
has a post office and a station on the railway. The living is

a rectory, imited with the chapelry of Ruddry, in the diocese

of Llandatf
; gi-oss value, £219 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Llandaff. The church is Decorated English, and

contains an ancient font. There are Baptist and Wesleyan

chapels at Bedwas, and Baptist, Congregational, and Cal-

vinistic Methodist chapels at Maes-y-Cwmmer.
Bedwell Park, a tine country seat situated in EssenJon

parish, 3 miles ESE of Hatfield, Herts.

Bedwellty, a village, a large parish, and head of a union

in Monmouthshire. The village stands between the Rhymney
and the Sirhowy rivers, 8 miles S of Tredegar, with two

stations (Bedwellty Pits and Hollybush) on the Sirhowy

branch of the L. &. N.W. and Rhymney railway. The post

office is at the adjoining \illage of Blackwood. The parish

extends many miles along the Rhynmey and Sirhowy rivers,

and contains the populous ironwork towns of Rhymney,

Tredegar, Ebbw Vale, and Sirhowy. Acreage, 1G,244 (in-

cluding 188 of water); population of the civil parish,

38,953 ; of the ecclesiastical, 4728. Very extensive coal

and iron works are caiTied on, and have caused an enormous

increase of population. An old document, written when there

was but one place of worship in the parish, records that one

sermon in the month was allowed by the bishop on application

of the inhabitants. The living is a \'icarage in the diocese of

Llandaff; net value, £300 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Llandaff. The church is Early English, and has a square

tower; it was restored in 1858 and again in 1882. The
chapelries of Tredegar and Rhymney are separate benefices.

The parish includes also the following places :—Argoed, Bar-

goed, Blackwood, Briery Hill, George Town, New town, Pen-

gam, Pontygof, Rock, and Victoria. There are numerous
chapels for dissenters,

Bedwin, or Bedwyn, Great, a small old town and a

parish in the hundred of Kinwardstone, Wiltshire. The
town stands on the Kennet and Avon Canal, near Wans
Dyke, 5 miles SW of Hungerford, and has a station on the

G.W.R., 06 miles from London. It is supposed to have been

the Leucomagns of the Romans; and it was the Bedgwyn or

Bedewind of the Saxons. It was the residence of Cissa, the

Saxon viceroy of Wilts and Berks ; and the scene, in 675, of a

desperate battle between the forces of Wessex and those of

Mercia, It enjoyed the privileges of a city under the Saxons,

and retained them after the Conquest. It was a borough by

prescription, and sent two members to parliament from the

time of Edward I, till disfranchised bv the Act of 1832.

BEECHAMWELL

It has an ancient church and a dissenting chapel. The

church is cruciform, mixedly Norman and English, and built

of flint; was restored in 1854; has a fine central tower:

shows curious sculpturings on its round pillars, and rich

Norman decorations on its obtusely-pointed arches ; and con-

tains interesting monuments of the Stokes and the Seymours.

Dr. Willis, a physician of the 17th century, who founded

a philosophical society at Oxford, the germ of the Royal

Society of London, was a native. The town has a post office

under Hungerford, and fairs on 26 and 27 July. Acreage,

9933; population of the civil parish, 1627; of the ecclesi-

astical, 723. The parish includes also the tithings of

Crofton and Wolfhall, East and West Grafton, Martin,

Wexcombe, and Wilton. The manor belonged once to

the De Clare family; was granted by Henry VIII. to his

brother-in-law, Sir E. Seymour ; and passed by maniage to

Thomas, Lord Bruce, second Eail of Ailesbury, in 1678, in

whose family it still remains. Castle Hill, about a mile S of

the town, takes its name from an ancient entrenchment in

which large quantities of Roman bricks and tiles have

been found. Chisbury, on Wans Dyke, Ij mile N by E of

the town, is a very fine Saxon camp of 15 acres, with ram-

part 45 feet high, and incloses an ancient chapel in Deco-

rated English, now used as a barn. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Salisbuiy; gross value, £210. Patron, the

Marquis of Ailesbury. The vicarages of East Grafton and

Savernake Forest are separate benefices. There is a Wes-
leyan chapel at Wilton, and a Primitive Methodist chapel

at Wexcombe.
Bedwin, or Bedwyn, Little, a parish in Wilts, on the

Kennet and Avon Canal, near Wans Dyke, 1^ mile NE of

Bedwin station on the G.W.R., and 3J SW by S of Hunger-

ford. It includes the hamlet of Chisbury, and has a post

office under Hungerford ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Great Bedwyn. Acreage, 4343 ;
population of the civil

parish, 487; of the ecclesiastical, 313. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £260.

Patron, the filarquis of Ailesbury. The church is ancient,

partly Norman, and built of flint; consists of nave, aisles,

and chancel, with a tower; and contains the tomb of a

Hungerford.

Bedwortb, a town and a parish in Warwickshire. The
town stands adjacent to the Coventry Canal, on the high

road between Coventry and Nuneaton, 5 miles NE of Coven-

try, and 3 S of Nuneaton, and has a station on the L. &
N.W.R., and a post office under Nuneaton. There are exten-

sive coal and ironstone mines belonging to the Chamberlain

Charity and leased to the Bedworth Coal and Iron Company.

A manufacture of ribbons, tapes, and hats is carried on.

The town has a branch establishment of the Leicestershire

Banking Company ; a fair is held on Whit-Wednesday. The
parish comprises 2165 acres; population, 5485. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £475
with residence. Patron, the Earl of Aylesford, who is lord

of the manor. The church, with the exception of the tower,

was rebuilt in 1890. It is a handsome edifice in the Decor-

ated style, with seats for 900 all free. There are Roman
Catholic, Congregational, Baptist, Wesleyan, Primitive

Methodist, and Calvinist chapels ; and almshouses for forty

aged men and women. The last-named occupy three sides

of a cloistered quadrangle, in Later Gothic, built in 1840, at

a cost of £8500, and form part of the Chamberlain Charity,

which was founded in 1715 by the Rev. N. Chamberlain,

rector of the parish.

Bedwyn. See Bedwin.
Beeby, a parish in Leicestershire, on an afiluent of the

river Wreak, 3 miles NE of Thurnby and Scraptoft station

on the G.N.R., and 6J NE of Leicester, which is the post

town ; money order and telegraph office, Syston. Acreage,

1435; population, 106. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Peterborough; net yearly value, £245 with resi-

dence. The church is a stone building in the Early Engfish

style, and was partly restored in 1867. The chaucel was

restored and the south porch in 1893.

Beech, a township in the parishes of Stone and Swinner-

ton, Staffordshire, 4^ miles NW of Stone.

Beechamwell, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 4J miles

S of Narborough railway station on the G.E.R,, and 5 SW
of Swafl'ham, under which there is a post and money order
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office, and at which is the telegrapli office. Acreage, 3996
;

population of the civil parish, 363 ; of the ecclesiastical,

with Shingbam, 409. Beechamwell Hall is a chief residence.

The living is a rectory, with that of Beechamwell St John,

Beechamwell All Saints, and Shingham annexed
;

gross

yearly value, £348 with two residences. Beechamwell church

is a small building of flint, with an ancient round western

tower. Shingham Church has a fine Norman porch of a very

early date.

Beechburn, a station on the main line of the N.E.R.,

f of a mile N of Crook, in Durham. Brancepeth Park and

Slandon Hill, S45 feet high, are in its neighbourhood.

Beech-Hill, a tithing and ecclesiastical parish formed in

1808 out of Stratfieldsaye parish, Berks, G miles S by W of

Reading, under which there is a post office ; money order

and telegraph office, Stratfield Mortimer. Acreage, 950;

population, 292. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Oxford; net yearly value, £113 witli residence. The church

is a modern building of brick and flint in the Gothic style.

There is also a Baptist chapel.

Beechingstoke, a parish in Wilts, on the river Avon, 2

miles S of the Keunet and Avon Canal, and 1 mile from

Woodborough station on the G.W.R. Fewsey is the post

town ; money order and telegraph office, Woodborough. Acre-

age, 891; population, 161. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Salisbury; net value, £251.

Beading. See Bekding, Upper.
Heeding, Lower, is an extensive parish in Susses, in

St Leonard's Forest, 4 J miles from Horsham station on the

L.B. & S.C.R. It has a post, money oi-der, and telegraph

office. Acreage, 10,153; population of the civil parish,

1284; of the ecclesiastical, 799. There are several good

residences. Crabtree Hall was erected in 1875 as a village

hall and a workmen's club, and contains a good library. The
lands of Bewbush and Holmbush belong to Colgate, a dis-

trict of Lower Beeding. Holmbush Beacon Tower, lOG feet

high, is visible for many miles round. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £108 with

residence. The church was built in 1839, and enlarged in

1864. There is a chapel of ease dedicated to St John the

Baptist, beautifully situated in St Leonard's Forest.

Beeding, Upper, a parish in Sussex, on the river Adur,

near Bramber station on the L.B. & S.C.R, and 1^ mile E of

Steyning. The area is 3975 acres of land, and 21 of fore-

shore and water; population, 60G. It has a post and money
order office; telegraph office, Bramber. A small Benedictine

priory was founded here about 1075 ; belonged to the alien

monastery of Salmur, and passed to Magdalen College, Oxford.

'J'he living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester. Patron,

Jlagdalen College, Oxford. The church is good.

Beedon or Beedon Hill, a village and a parish in Berks,

3 miles NW from Hampstead Norris station on the G.W.R.

The parish includes the titliing of Stanmore, and has a post

office of the name of Beedon Hill, under Newbury ; money
order and telegraph office, East Ilsley. Acreage, 2012

;

population, 272. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Oxford
;
gross yearly value, £190 with residence, in the

gift of Lord Wantage. The church, a building of flint and

rubble erected iu 1220, was restored in 1882. Some inter-

esting antiquities of the Romano-British period were dis-

covered in this parish in 1888.

Beeford, a village, a township, and a parish in E. R.

Yorkshii-e, 6 miles SSE of Lowthorpe station on the N.E.R.,

and 9 ESE of Great Driffield, with a post and money

order office ; telegi'aph office, Lowthorpe. Area, 3754

acres; population of the civil parish, 728; of the eccles-

iastical, 931. The parish includes also the townships of

Dunnington and Lissett. The living is a rectory, united with

the perpetual curacy of Lissett, in the diocese of York ; net

value, £579 with residence. Patron, the Archbishop of

York. The church is Perpendicular English, with a fine

tower, and has a brass of 1472. There are Congregational

and Methodist chapels.

Eee-Hill, an isolated eminence on the southern border of

Rutland, in the vicinity of Lyddington. It has a roundish

outline, stands detached from hills to the N of it, and com-

mands a tinf view.

Beelah, The. See Belleau, The.

Beeleigh, a hamlet in the parish of St Peter-in-Maldon,
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Essex, 1 mile W of Maldon. A Premonstratensian abbey
was founded here in 1180 by Robert de Mantell, and given

at the dissolution to Sir John Gate. Bourchier, Earl of

Essex, and his wife were buried in the church, and this,

measuring 3G feet by 18, and having groined arches, still

stands. The remains of the abbey have been converted into

a dwelling-house, the property of the lord of the manor.

Beeley, a township and a parish in Derbyshire, on the

river Derwent, adjacent to Chatsworth Park, 1 mile N of

Rowsley station on the M.R., and 4j miles E by S of Bake-
well, which is the post town. Acreage, 3237

;
population,

390. The Duke of Devonshire is the lord of the manor and
principal landowner. Millstone grit is quarried on Beeley

Moor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell

;

gross value, £1G0 with residence. Patron, the Duke of

Devonshire. The church (dedicated to St Anne) was restored

in 1883, and so effectively as to have elicited high com-
mendation from Mr Butterfield, the eminent church architect,

who congratulated the vicar on what he was pleased to call

a "very effective restoration:" it may, in fact, be now con-

sidered a model village church. Two memorial windows were

erected in 1892 and 1893 iu the chancel—one to the memory
of the seventh Duke of Devonshire, the other to that of his

son, the late Lord Edward Cavendish, M.P. for West Derby-
shire. The windows are much admired.

Beelsby, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, 6 miles

E of Caistor, and 5^ W of Waltham station on the G.N.R.

Great Grimsby is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Waltham. Acreage, 2248; population, 190. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, about £200 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of

Manchester. The church was restored in 1890. It contains

some good arches of the 13th century.

Beenham or Beenham Vallence, a parish in Berks,

adjacent to the Kennet and Avon Canal, 1^ mile N of

Aldermaston station on the G.W.R., and 8^ miles WSW of

Reading. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office,

of the name of Beenham, under Reading. Acreage, 1817;
population, 517. Beenham House and Beenham Lodge are

chief residences. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Oxford
;

gi-oss value, £23G with residence. The church, a

building of flint and stone in the Early English style, was

chiefly rebuilt in 1859. There is a Primitive Methodist

chapel. Stackhouse, the author of the " History of the

Bible," was vicar here.

Been-Hill. See Sutton, Surrey.

Beer, a village and a tithing in Seaton parish, Devonshire.

The village stands on the coast, in a romantic cove, 1^ mile

SW of Axmouth, and 1 from Seaton and Beer station on the

L. & S.W.R. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. It carries on fishing and lace-making, and was noted

in former days for smuggling. It was the birthplace of the

notorious Jack Rattenbury, sometimes called the Rob Roy of

the West of England, and it produced the wedding-dress of

Queen Victoria in 1839. The cove around it is a fine subject

for the pencil. Beer Head, projecting on the west, is crowned

by two natural towers, and Beer quarry, about 1 mile inland,

is a labyrinth of excavations, about 5- of a mile long, and

about 300 feet below the surface of the gi'onnd. The church

of St Michael was erected in 1877-78 by the Hon. Mark
Rolle, at a cost of about £8000 ; it is a building of freestone

in the Decorated style, and possesses a good organ. The

east window, a fine work of art, was added in 1889 by the

same gentleman. There are Congregational and Plymouth

Brethren chapels.

Beer-Alston, a small ancient town, formerly a borough,

in Beer-Ferris parish, Devonshire. It stands on an eminence

overlooking the rivers Tamar and Tavy, about 5 miles from

Tavistock station on the G.W.R. It has a post and money
order office ; telegraph office is at Calstock. Beer- Alston

has also a chapel of ease and chapels for dissenters, and

it long had a weekly market. It was given by William

the Conqueror to a branch of the Alen^on family, whence it

took the name of Beer-Alen(,:on, cormpted into Beer-Alston,

and it passed to successively the Ferrers, the Champernouns,

the Blounts, the Maynards, and the Edgcumbes. It was a

borough by prescription, and it sent two members to Parlia-

ment from the time of Elizabeth till disfranchised by the Act

of 1832.



BEER-CROCOMBE

Beer-Crocombe, a parish in Somersetshire, about ^ a

mile from Hatch Beaucbamp station on the G.W.R. Acre-

age, 778; population, 139. Taunton is the post town; money
order and telegi*aph office, Hatch Beaucbamp. Tbe living

is a rectory in tbe diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value,

i-'HIO. Tbe church is good.

Beer-Hackett, a parish in Dorsetshh-e, near Yetminster

ytatiun on tbe G.W.R., 5 miles SE by S of Yeovil. It in-

cludes tbe hamlet of Knighton, and its post town is Yet-

minster, under Sherborne, which is the money order and

telegraph office. Acreage, 918 ;
population, 85. Tbe livinf^

is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbmy; gi'oss value, £180.

The church is a stone building in tbe Perpendicular style,

rebuilt in 1882.

Beer-Regis. See Bere-Kegis.
Beer-Town. See Beke-Fekrers.
Bees, St, a village, a township, a sub-district, and a

parish in Cmnberland. The village stands on the coast,

adjacent to tbe Whitehaven and Furness railway, 4 miles S

of Wbitehaven. Its site is a narrow vale, watered by a

streamlet, near tbe shore. It has a station on the railway, a

post, money order, and telegraph office, and two hotels. It

sprang from a rehgious house, founded about the year G50 by

St Bega, an Irish female Culdee. Her institution was destroyed

by tbe Danes, and a Benedictine abbey was erected on tbe site

of it, in the time of Henry I., by William des Mescliines.

The abbey property was given at the dissolution to Sir

Thomas Chalouer, passed to the Wybergs and tbe Lowtbers,

and now belongs to the Earl of Lonsdale. Tbe churcb,

retaining much of its original masonry in combination with

reconstructions at various periods till 1810, still stands.

It is a cmciform pile of red freestone, mixedly Norman and

Eai'ly and Late English, with a central tower and some fine

carvings. Tbe nave and transept, with a short chancel, are

used as the parish church, and the choir was fitted up as a

lecture hall for the clerical college established in 1817 for

students not going to Oxford or Cambridge. A new lectm'e

room was built in 1863. A gi'ammar school, near the cluu'ch,

was founded in 1587 by Archbishop Grindal. Tbe poet

Wordsworth, pointing to tbe origin of tbe village, and alluding

doubtless more to the present than to the prior character of

its church, says—
" When Bega's voice, that instrument of love.

Was g:lorifie(l, and took its place above
The silent stars, among the angelic quire,

Her chantry blazed with sacrilegious fire,

And perished utterly ; bat her good deeds
Had sown the spot that witnessed them with seeds
Which lay in earth expectant, till a breeze
With quickening impulse answered their mute pleas,

And lo ! a statelier pile—the Abbey of St Bees !

"

The township includes the village, and comprises 1811

acres of land and 252 of foreshore and water. The sub-

district includes also the townships of Preston-Quarter,

Sandwith, Rottington, and Lowside-Quarter, and the chapelry

of Hensingham. The parish includes likewise tbe town,

township, or sub-district of Whitebaven, tbe townships of

Ennerdale, Kinniside, Wed-dicar, and Wasdale Head, and the

chapelries of Nether Wasdale and Eskdale. Population of the

civil parish, 1041 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2096. The sm-faceis

very diversified, and contains much of the admired scenery of

the Lake country. Gill-Foot and Linethwaite mansions are

in tbe vicinity, and a number of other fine residences are

in other parts. St Bees' Head, a large bold promontory,

overhangs the Irish Sea, 2^ miles NW of the village, forms

the most westerly gi'onnd of Cumberland, and is surmounted
by a lighthouse, showing a fixed light 333 feet high,

visible at the distance of 30 miles. Coal, lime, and free-

stone are extensively worked, and lead and iron ores are

found. Several vestiges of ancient work occur along the

coast, appearing to be remains of fortifications raised by the

Romans against incursions of the Irish and tbe Scots. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle; value, £103.
Patron, the Eaid of Lonsdale. There are within the parish dis-

senting chapels of ten denominations. See Whitehaven.
Beesands, a fishing village in Stokenham parish, 2^ miles

from Stokenham village, Devonshire.

Beesby. See Hawerby.
Beesby-in-the-Marsh, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3 miles

NNE of Alford station ou the G.N.R. It has a post office
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under Alford, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 1200
;
population, 127. Tbe living is a rectory in

the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £316 with residence.

The church, originally an ancient building dating from the

12th century, and said to have been rebuilt in 1841, was in

such a dilapidated state that it was restored in 1880. The
south wall of tbe nave was rebuilt on a fresh foundation,

new windows were put in throughout, and tbe whole of the

interior restored. There is a Primitive Metbodist cliapel.

Beeson, a hamlet in Stokenham parisb, Devonshire.

Beestborpe, a hamlet in Caunton parish Notts, ''^ miles

NW of Newark. Population, 178. Beestborpe Hall here

is a mansion of the time of Elizabeth.

Beeston, a hamlet in tbe parish of Sandy, Beds, 2.^ miles

NNW of Biggleswade. A Wesleyan chapel was erected there

in 18G5.

Beeston, a township in Bunbury parisb, Cbeshire, 2 miles

S of Tarporley, 2 WNW of Bunbury, and lOj SE by E of

Chester. It has a station (Beeston Castle and Tarporley) on

the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Tarporley. Acreage, 19C5 ;

population, 302. Beeston Castle, f mile from the station,

crowns an isolated sandstone rock, 366 feet high, and com-
mands a charming view of Chester, the estuaries of the Dee
and Mersey on the N, and the mountains of Denbigbshire

on the W. The castle was built as a fortress in 1228 by
Ranulph de Blnndeville, sixth Eai'l of Cbester, was dismantled

in 1645 by order of Pai-liament, and is now an extensive and
picturesque ruin.

Beeston, a parish in Notts, on the M.R., adjacent to the

river Trent, 3^ miles SW of Nottmgham. It contains the

hamlet of Beeston-Ryelands, and has a station on the railway

and a post, money order, and telegraph office under Notting-
ham. Acreage, 1601

;
population, 6948. There is a large

silk mill and considerable manufacture of lace and hosiery,

and malting is earned on ; there is also an ia'on foundry and
large cycle works. The Nottingham Canal and the river

Trent go tbrough tbis parish. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Southwell; net value, £317 with residence. Pa-
tron, the Duke of Devonshire. The chm-ch is a handsome
structure of 1844 (architect, Sir Gilbert Scott), conjoined to

the old 15tb centm-y chancel. A handsome vicarage was
built in 1861. There are a Baptist chapel, two Methodist
chapels, and an institute for both men and women.

Beeston, a village and a township in Leeds parish, W. R.

Yorkshue, on the G.N.R., withm the borough of Leeds, 2J
miles SSW of the town of Leeds, with a station on tbe

railway, and a post, money order, and telegraph office under
Leeds. Acreage, 1568; population, 2962. Tbere are ex-
tensive iron and coal mines here which have been worked
from the time of Charles IL, and also woollen and iron manu-
factures. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon

;

value, £290 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Leeds.

The cburch has been lately rebuilt on the ancient site, and
there are two Methodist chapels, a large temperance hall,

and several charities.

Beeston or Beeston-next-Mileham, a village and a
parish in Norfolk, 2 miles N of Fransham station on the

G.E.R., and 0^ NE of Swaifham. Tbe parish is united for civil

purposes with Little Bittering, and it has a post office under
SwafFliam ; money order and telegi"aph office, Litcham. Acre-
age, 2502 ; population of the civil parish, 460 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 419. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Nor-
wich

;
gi'oss yearly value, £550 with an ancient moated

rectory. The church is very good, and has a conspicuous

tower and spire. It was built in the reign of Edward III.

There is also a Wesleyan Reform cbapel.

Beeston Hill, an ecclesiastical district in Leeds parish,

W. R. Yorkshire. See Leeds.
Beeston-Regis, a parish in Norfolk, on the coast, 3 miles

WNW of Cromer station on tbe G.E.R. Post town, Cromer;
money order and telegi'aph office, Lower Sheringham. Acre-
age, 835, with 81 of foreshore and water; population, 183.
Beeston Hall is the chief residence. Some remains exist of
a small Augustinian prioiy founded in the 13th centmy by
Lady Margery de Cressy. The livmg i.s a rectory in tbe
diocese of Norwich

;
gross income, £123 with residence.

Patron, the Duchy of Lancaster. The church is Decorated
English, with square embattled tower, and has some good
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Beeston-St-Andrew, a village and a parish in Norfolk,

2J miles from Salhouse station on tlie G.E.R., and oj NE
from Norwich, which is the post town ; money order and

telegraph office. Old Catton. Acreage, Go5
;
population, 56.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £yO. The church is in rains, only the foundations

being left,

Beeston-St-Lawrence, a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles NE
of Wrosham station on the G.E.E., and 10| NE of Norwich,

which is the post town ; money order office, Neatishead
;

telegraph office, Wroxham. Acreage, 52S
;
population of the

civil parish, 47 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Ashmanhaugh,

180. Beeston Hall, the property of the Preston family, is

in this parish. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Nor-

wich ; value, £245 with residence. The church is good, has

a round tower, and contains some handsome monuments of

the Prestons. The west end represents the original building,

which contains indications of Saxon date.

Beetha or Belo, The, a stream of Westmoreland. It

issues from Lily Farm, 5 miles E of Kendal, and runs 14 miles

south-westward, past Bridgend, End-Moor, and Beetham, to

the river Kent, j of a mile W of Milnthorpe. It makes a

fall at Beetha Jlill.

Beetham, a township and a parish in Westmoreland.

The township lies on the river Beetha, li mile S of Miln-

thorpe. Acreage, 5170 ;
population of the civil parish,

1196 ; of the ecclesiastical, 631. The parish extends down
both sides of the river Kent to Morecamhe Bay; includes

the townships of Fai'leton, Haverbrack, Witherslack, and

Methop-with-Ulpha ; is traversed by the Lancaster and Car-

lisle and the Furness railways ; and contains the village of

Arnside, with a station on the latter railway, and a post

office under Milnthorpe. The surface is diversified, hilly,

and picturesque. Slate and limestone occur, and paper-

making is can-ied on. Beetham Hall, fonnerly the seat of

the Betham family, now the property of the Earl of Derby,

was a fine castellated mansion, but is in ruins. Cappleside

House also was a great mansion, with 117 feet of frontage,

but is likewise in ruins. The towers of Arnside and Hel-

slack, supposed to have been erected to guard the bay of

Morecamhe, make a conspicuous figure, but are also in

ruins. The living is a dischai'ged vicarage in the diocese of

Carlisle; gross value, £219 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Carlisle. The church is a neat edifice, and con-

tains monuments of the Betham and Wilson families, and a

manuscript history of the parish, written by the vicar Button.

The perpetual curacy of Witherslack is a separate benefice.

A grammar school, founded by Dean Barwick, has an endowed

income of about £40 per annum, and there are some large

charities.

Beetley, a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles WSW of North

Elmham station on the G.E.R., and 4 N by W of E,ast

Dereham, under which it has a post office ; money order and

telegraph office, Gressenball. Acreage, 2121 ;
population of

the civil parish, 3G6 ; of the ecclesiastical, with East Bilney,

508. The living is a rectory, annexed to the rectory of East

Bilney, in the diocese of Norwich. The church is a small

building of flint in the Early English style. There is also a

Primitive Methodist chapel.

Befcote, a hamlet in Gnosall parish, StafTordshire, 2 miles

SW of GnosalL

Begbroke, a village and a parish in Oxfordshhe, 1;^ mile

SW of Kidlington station on the G.W.R., and 2k miles SE
by S of Woodstock. Post town, Kidlington, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 577
;
population,

79. A small portion of it once belonged to the abbey of

Godstow. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford

;

value, £191 with residence, in the gift of trustees three

turns and Brasenose College one. The church has some Nor-

man details, and is very good.

Begelly, a village and a parish in Pembrokeshire. The

village is 5 miles S by E of Narberth, and has a station under

the name of Kilgetty and Begelly on the Pembroke and Tenby

railway, and a post office (R.S.O.) ; money order office. Step-

aside; telegi-aph office, Saundersfoot. The parish includes

also the chapelry of East WiUiamston. Acreage, 2523 ;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 439 ; of the ecclesiastical, 838.

Coal and culm are mined. The living is a rectory, united

with the chapelry of East WiUiamston, in the diocese of St
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David's; net value, £190 with residence. The church is

Early English and good, and there is a Calvinistic Methodist

ch.ipel at Begelly, and Wesleyan and Baptist chapels at East

WiUiamston.

Beggarmonds, a hamlet in Buckden township, Hubber-

holme parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 11 miles NNE of Settle.

Beggar's Bridge, a handscjjne one-arched bridge on the

river Esk, IJ mile W of Egdon,^. R. Yorkshire. The erec-

tion of it is ascribed to a romantic love incident, and the scene

around it is often visited by pleasure parties.

Beggar's Island. See Antony.
Beggary, The, a streamlet of Beds, running 4J mUes

eastward, past a place of its own name, to the river Onse, 2

miles S of St Neots.

Beggeridge, a hamlet in Wellow parish, Somerset.

Beguildy. See Llanfihangel-y-Beguildy.
Beigham, a hamlet in Frant parish, Kent, 2j miles W

of Laniberburst. A small Premonstratensian monastery was

founded here in 1200, and given at the dissolution to Car-

dinal Wolsey in aid of his colleges.

Beighton, a village and a parish in Derbyshire. The
parish lies on the river Rother, and on the M.S. & L.R., 4

miles N of Eckington ; and comprises, besides the charmingly

situated village of its own name, the hamlets of Birley,

Hackenthorpe, Sothal, and Waterthorpe. It has a station

on the railway and a post office under Rotherham.

Acreage, 3136; population, 2852. Medicinal waters which

have been long in repute are at Birley, and scythes, sickles,

and reaping hooks are manufactured at Hackenthorpe. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; net value,

£213. Patron, Earl Manvers. The church was partly

restored, partly rebuilt, in 1869. A very handsome room,

built by the Earl of Manvers, which serves as a Sunday

school and a parish room, was opened in 1893. There are

Wesleyan and Methodist chapels, and a new Primitive Method-

ist chapel was built in 1890.

Beighton, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles SW
of Acle, and 4 NNE of Buckenham stations on the G.E.R.

The p.arish has a post office under Norwich ; money order and

telegraph office, Acle. Acreage, 1029; population, 266.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £239, with residence. The church is Decorated Eng-

lish, and was restored in 1847, and again in 1890, when a

handsome tower was added. There is a Primitive Methodist

chapel.

Beighton, Sufl'olk. See Beyton.
Beilqr. See Bielby.

Bein. See Ben.

Bein-y-Phot, a mountain summit in the Isle of Man,

1750 feet high, 2 miles S of Suae FeU, and 7^ SSW of

Ramsey.

Bekeshourne. See Beaksdourne.
Belan-Point, a headland in Carnarvonshu-e, at the SW

entrance of the Menai Strait, near the ferey to Anglesey, 3J
miles SW of Carnarvon. Belan Fort here Is the bathing

station of Lord Newborongh.

Belaugh, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the river

Bure, 1 mile W of Wroxham station on the G.E.R., and 8J

miles NNE of Norwich, which is the post town; money order

and telegraph office, Wroxham. Acreage, 878
;
population,

159. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net

yearly value, £134 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Norwich. The church has a brass of 1471, an ancient cu--

cular font, an interesting screen, and a square pinnacled

tower, and is very good.

Beibroughton, a village and a parish in Worcestershire.

The village lies 3 miles S of Hagley station on the G.W.R.,

and 5 S by E of Stom-bridge, and has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Stourbridge. The parish includes

also the manors of Brorahill and Brian's Bell, and the hamlets

of Fairfield, Bell End, and Hartle. Acreage, 4749 ;
popu-

lation, 1902. An extensive manufacture of scythes, hay-

knives, and many kinds of edge-tools is carried on. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester
;

gi'oss value,

£952 with residence. Patron, St .Tohn's College, Oxford.

The church is ancient, in the Norman style, and has an em-

battled western tower. Fair-field has a chapel of ease and a

post and money order office. There is a Wesleyan Primitive

Methodist chapel.
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Belbury Ring, an ancient camp 2i miles SW of Steeple-

Langford, Wilts, occupying 17 acres, fortitied by double and

triple ramparts, and inclosing a still older work.

Belby, a township in Howden parish, E. R. Yorkshire,

near the Selby and Hull railway, 1 mile E by N of Howden.
Post town, Brough ; money order and telegraph ofBce, Howden.
Acreage, 582

;
population, 33.

Belchamp-Nortliwood, formerly an extra-parochial tract,

now a parish, in Essex, contiguous to Belchamp-Walter.

Belchamp-Otton, a parish in Essex, on a small affluent

of the river Stour, 4 miles SE from Clare station on the

G.E.R., and 6 W by N of Sudbury. Post town, Clare,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage,

1737 ;
population, 293. The liring is a rectory in the dio-

cese of St Albans ; net value, £300 with residence. The
church is good, and there is a Methodist chapel.

Belchamp-St-Paul, a parish in Essex, on the river Stour,

6 miles WNW of Sudbury, and 3 SE from Clare station on

the G.E.R. It has a post office under Clare (R.S.O.), which

is the money order and telegr.aph office. Acreage, 2554

;

population, 602. The living is a vicar.age in the diocese of

St Albans ; net value, £224, with residence, formerly in the

gift of the Dean and Chapter of St Paul's, but since 1870
in the gift of the Dean and Canons of Windsor. The church

is very good.

Belchamp-Walter, a parish in Essex, on a small affluent

of the river Stour, 4 miles W of Sudbury station on the

G.E.R. It has a post office under Sudbury, which is the

money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 2194
;
population,

514. Belchamp Hall is the seat of the Raymonds, and con-

tains an interesting collection of pictures. The living is a

vicarage, annexed to the vicarage of Bulmer, in the diocese of

St Albans. The chtu'ch is a neat high edifice, and contains

tombs of the Raymonds. It dates from the Perpendicular

period, and the tower contains a very fine peal of 8 bells.

Belchford or Belshfoi^^ village .and a parish in Lin-

colnshire, on the Wolds^^^Bles NNE of Horncastle station

on the G.N.R. The pan^nias a post and money order office

under Horncastle, which is the telegi'aph office. Acreage, 2542;

population, 403. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Lincoln
;
gross yearly value, £425 with resideuce. Patron,

the Lord Chancellor. The chm'ch is a building of stone in

the Early English style, and there are Piimitive Methodist

and Wesleyan chapels.

Belford, a township, a parish, a union town, and head

of a county court district in Northumberland. The town
stands on a gentle eminence, about a mile W of a station of

its own name on the N.E.R., 14J miles SSE of Berwick.

It is neatly built ; contains a church, two dissenting chapels,

and a workliouse ; has a post, money order, and tele-

gi'aph office, a market-place, and two chief inns ; and is a

seat of petty sessions. The chm'ch is in the Early English

style, and has a lofty tower. Fairs are held on 2 July for

lambs and 25 Sept. for ewes. The township includes the

town, and comprises 28G1 acres
;

population, 854. The
pai'ish includes also the townships of Ross, Elwick, Easington,

Easington-Grange, Middleton, and Detchant. Population,

1390. Belford Hall is the seat of the Atkinson-Clark family,

who are lords of the manor and chief landowners. Traces of

an ancient ch.apel are on a rising-ground near the town, and
remains of a very strong Danish camp, encompassed by a

deep ditch, are not far distant. The hving is a ^'ica^age in

the diocese of Newcastle; value, £111.

Belgrave, a large village, a township, and a parish in

Leicester, now incorporated in the borough of Leicester.

The township lies on the river Soar and the M.R., li mile

NNE of Leicester, and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Leicester. It gives the title of Viscount

to the Marquis of Westminster. The parish includes also

the chapelry of Birstall. Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, including Birstall, 10,628. The liring is a vicarage,

united with the perpetual curacy of Birstall, in the diocese

of Peterborough
;
joint net yearly value, £235 with residence,

in the gift of the Bishop of Peterborough. The church is

Later English, but has a Norman door, and on the north

side of the chancel are the remains of a Siixon window. A
second church, dedicated to St Michael and All Angels, was
opened in 1887 for a separate ecclesiastical district. There

are Wesleyan and Pi'imitive Methodist chapels, and there is
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also a Nonconformist Union church. Many of the inhabit-

ants are engaged in the hosiery and shoe trades.

Belgravia, the southern 'n'ing of the West End of Lon-
don. It is boimded on the N by Knightsbridge, on the E
by Grosvenor Square, on the SE by Ebury Street, and ou
the W by Sloane Street. It stands on ground, originally

marshy, belonging to the Marquis of Westminster, and was
bnilt chiefly in 1826-52. It includes Belgrave and Eaton
Squares; has generally large, regular, elegant houses; .and

is highly fashionable.

Belidden, an amphitheatre on the coast of Cornwall,

about 1^ mile NNE of the Lizard. It consists of a recess

in cliffs, banked above by sloping tm'f, and is thought by
some antiquaries to have been used by the ancient Britons

as a temple.

Bellan, a township in Ruabon pai'ish, Denbighshire, 6J
miles E of Llangollen.

Bellasis, a hamlet in Stannington parish, Northumber-
berland, near the river Blyth, 4J miles S of Morpeth.

Bellasize, a township in Eastrington parish in the E. R.

Yorkshhe, 5J miles E of Howden ; railway station, Staddle-

thorpe on the N.E.R. It includes the hamlets of Greenoak,

Bennethand, and part of Newland. Acreage, 1452
;
popu-

lation, 126. Brough is the post town. There is a Wesleyan
chapel.

Bellbank, a township in Bewcastle and Stapleton parishes,

Cumberland, 9^ miles NNE of Brampton. There are coal

and iron works in the neighbourhood. Acreage, 1446;
population, 77.

Bell-Busk, a hamlet in Cold-Coniston township and
parish in the W. R. Yorkshire, adjacent to the M.R., 6|
miles WNW of Skipton. It has a station on the railway,

and a post and money order office under Leeds. There are

also extensive silk mills, a Wesleyan chapel, and a national

school.

Bellchalwell, a parish in Dorsetshire, 3 mUes from Shil-

lingstone railway station on the Somerset and Dorset railway.

Post town, Blandford; money order office, Okeford Fitzpaine;

telegraph office, Shilfingstone. Population of the ecclesiastical

p.ai'ish, with Ibberton, 298. The living is a rectory, united

with that of Ibberton, in the diocese of SaKsbury ; net value,

about £320. The church has a Noi-man porch and a square

tower, and is very good; it was reseated in 1872. The
chancel was restored in 1893. The handsome new open
roof is a copy of the old one, of which one tiiiss with its

mouldings was discovered out of its place within the roof

over the nave. The church, like that at Ibberton, is built

at one end of the parish on a hill.

Belleau, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire. The
village stands 1 mile W from Aby station on the G.N.R.,
and 4J miles NW by N of Alford. The parish includes also

the township and chapelry of Claythorpe ; and its post town
is Alford, which is the money order office ; telegraph office,

Aby railway station. Acreage, 704; population of the civil

parish, 74 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Claythorpe and Aby, 470.

The name Belleau is derived from some fine springs of water

arising from chalk rocks. Ruins exist of a large mansion,

formerly a scat of the Lords Willoughby de Eresby, and
aftei-wards of the Earls of Lindsay. The lands were given

in the time of Cromwell to Sir Henry Vane. The hving is a
rectory, united with Aby and Claythorpe, in the diocese of

Lincoln
;

joint gross yearly value, £320 with residence.

Patron, the Earl of Ancaster. The church is an ancient

edifice, with a small tower ; contains a fine effigy of a crusader,

and was very thoroughly restored in 1862.

Belleau or Beelah, The, a stream of Westmoreland.

It rises on Stanemoor, near the boundary with Yorkshire,

and runs 8 miles westward to the Eden in the vicinity of

Rlusgrave.

Bell End, a hamlet in Belbronghton parish, Worcester-
shire, 1 mile NE of Belbronghton. Bell Hall is the chief

residence. The ruins of an ancient chapel are situated here.

Bell Isle or Curwen's Isle, .an island in Windermere,
Westmoreland, near the centre of the lake, opposite Bowness.

It measures about 1^ mile in circuit, and upwards of 30
acres in area ; is all disposed in landscape garden ; and has

a mansion upon it—a circular four-storey edifice, with hexa-

style portico, built in 1776. A baronial fortalice once stood

on the site of the mansion, belonged in the time of Charles I.
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to the family of Phillipson, and was garrisoned and de-

fended at that time for the Crown.
Bellerby, a township, a parish, and a village in the N. R.

Yorksliire, IJ mile N of Leybm'n railway station, with a
post office under Leyburn (K.S.O.) Acreage, 30G3

;
popu-

lation, 314. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Papon
;

gi-oss value, £[>G. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Belle Toute. See Beachy Head.
Bell-H0U3ea, a hamlet in Ecclesfield parish in the W. R.

Yorkshire, 5^ miles W of Rotherham.

Belliense, a village in St Martin parish, Guernsey.

Bellingdon, a hamlet in Chesham parish, Bucks, which,

commencing at the edge of the town of Chesham, extends a

distance of about 2 miles NNW.
Bellingliani, an extensive paiish and a small market and

union town, head of a county comt district and petty ses-

sional di\'ision, in Northumberland. The town stands on

the left bank of the North Tyne, at the mouth of Hareshaw
Burn, adjacent to the Border Counties railway, 16 miles

NNW of Hexham. It has a station on the railway, a post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.), a town-hall, a

church, Presbyterian, Free Methodists, and Roman Catholic

chapels, and three public schools; is of small extent, but of

local importance. Markets are held on Saturdays ; and
fairs on the Wednesday before Good Friday, chiefly for the

hiring of shepherds, and on certain Saturdays of May, July,

August, September, October, and November. There is also

an agricultural society, which has an annual show here in

September. The church is of the 13th centwy, was restored

in 1865 and renovated in 1885, and has a finely groined

stone roof. A waterfall of 30 feet, on the Hareshaw Burn,

is in the neighbourhood. The parish includes also the town-
ships of Charlton-East Quarter, Charlton-West Quarter,

Tarretbm-n, Nook, and Leemailing. Acres, l'J,483 of land,

and 241 of water
;
population, 1268. The manor belonged,

in the time of Richard II. and Henry IV"., to the De Bell-

inghams
;

passed to the Earls of Derwentwater, went to

Greenwich Hospital, and was sold to the Duke of North-

umberland. The royalties are leased to Lord Armstrong
for working ore. Hesleyside, the seat of the Charlton

family since the time of Edward IV., stands on a rising

gi'ound on the right bank of the Tyne, If mile above the

town. The present mansion was built about the middle

of last century, and occupies the sites of a previous one of

elaborate character, destroyed by fire. Much of the parish

is moor and sheep-walk, and many parts of it have caims,

tumuli, and Druidical stones. Game is plentiful, and coal,

ironstone, and limestone are worked. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Newcastle; net value, £1G3 with residence.

Patrons, the Lords of the Admiralty.

Bellister, a township in Haltwhistle parish, Northum-
berland, which includes the small village of Park and the

hamlet of Wydon, on the South Tyne, near the Newcastle

and Carlisle and the Alston railways, 2 miles S of Halt-

whistle, which is the post town. Acreage, 1071 ;
popula-

tion, 137. Bellister Castle, a border tower, now a ruin, was
the seat of the Blenkinsops, and is now used as a farm-

house. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bellows Cross, a Iiamlet in Chettle parish, Dorset, 2

miles W of Cranborne.

Bells-Yew-Green, a locality 4 miles from Tunbridge

Wells, Kent, with a post and money order office under tliat

place; telegraph office, Frant (R.S.)

Bellurian Cove, a cove on the SW coast of Cornwall,

5^ miles NNW of the Lizard. The rock of it is a conglo-

merate containing fragments of grey^vacke limestone, and
appears to have been sminounted by hornblende slate.

MuUion Island, about a mile in circuit, and of very cm-ious

outline, lies in the offing, and presents a striking appearance

as seen in the descent to the cove.

Belmisthorpe, a liamlet in Ryhall parish, Rutlandshire,

on the river Wash, 2J miles NN*E of Stamford. It once

belonged to the celebrated Lady Godwin, and the manor now
belongs to the Marquess of Exeter.

Behnont, a villagein Sharpies township, and an ecclesiasti-

cal parish, Lancashire, 3 miles from Bromley Cross station on

the Lancashire and Yorkshire railway. It has a post and
money order office under Bolton; telegraph office, Eagley.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 818. There are dye-
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ing and bleach works. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Manchester ; value, £130. The church is good.

Belmont, an ecclesiastical parish in the county of Dur-

liam, on the Durham and Sunderland railway, 2 miles ENE
of Durham. It was constituted in 1852, and contains the

Durham subm'bs of Belmont, Kepier Grange, Old Grange,

New Durham, Gilesgate-Moor or Gilligate, and the villages

of Broomside and Carville. Post town, Durham. Population,

2504. Coal is worked. Belmont Hall, Ravensflat, and the

Grange are chief residences. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Dm-ham
;
gross value, £300 with residence. Pa-

tron, alternately the Crown and the Bishop of Dm'ham.

The chm-ch was built in 1867, and is in the Early Decorated

English style. There is a Wesleyan chapel at Broomside.

Belmont, an estate in Clehonger parish, Herefordshire,

on the river Wye, 2^ miles WSW of Hereford. The mansion

is situated in a well-wooded park, and commands a fine view

of the river Wye. It was built in 1790 of Bath stone in the

Gothic style. On the brow of the hill between the mansion

and the road is the Roman Catholic pro-cathedral of St

Michael and All Angels, erected in 1856 from designs by

Pugin, by F. R. Wegg-Prosser, Esq., the owner of Behnont

and lord of the manor. It is in the Decorated style, and

consists of choii' with chapels, clerestoried nave, aisles, north

porch, transepts, and a central tower. Both exterior and
interior are adorned with a profusion of carvings, and the

tracery of the windows and mouldings is very elaborate;

the east and west windows contain fine stained glass. A
Benedictine monastery is connected with the church by a

long cloister.

Belo, The. See Beetha, The.
Belper, a market and union town, a chapelry, and a

parisli in Derbyshire. The town stands in a pleasant situa-

tion on the river Derwent and on the Midland Railway,

7J miles N of Derby. It has a post office with money order

and telegraph departments, a railway station, two banks,

and two hotels, and is a seat of petty sessions and a

polling-place. It was an inconsiderable village till 1777,

but has risen to importance by means of its manufactures.

It comprises several regular streets, and contains some in-

teresting buildings. A handsome bridge of three arches

spans the river. The town is well lighted, and governed

by a local board. An old chapel, dedicated to St John the

Baptist, built about 1250, in the Early English style, was
partly restored in 1866, and is used for divine service on

week days. The head church, erected in 1824, at a cost of

£12,600, is a fine edifice in the Decorated style, with a high

tower, surmounted by pinnacles. Chiist Chru'ch, in Bridge

Street, was erected in 1849. A cemetery, with entrance

offices and two chapels in the Late Decorated style, was
opened in 1859. There are Congi'egational, Baptist, Wesleyan
ftlethudist. Primitive, Methodist, United Free Methodist,

Friends, and Unitarian chapels. There are also almshouses

and a workhouse, the latter in the Tudor style, and erected

at a cost of £7580. The town has a public hall, erected in

1882, with subscription library, reading-room, &c. A weekly

market is held on Satm'day, and fau*s on 28 January, 5 May,

and 31 Octobei*. Cotton works, belonging to the Messrs.

Strutt, employ upwards of 1000 persons. Hosiery work and

nail-making also are carried on, and an extensive pottery

and coal works are in the neighbom*hood. Bridge-Hill

House and Green Hall are fine mansions. The town gives

the title of Baron, created in 1856, to the elder branch of the

family of Strutt. It is divided into two districts for ecclesi-

astical purposes, viz. St Peter's and Christ Chm'ch, Bridge-

hill. Both are vicai"ages in the diocese of Southwell ; value of

the former, £280 ; of the latter, £350. The parish com-
prises an area of 3183 acres

;
population of the ciril parish,

10,420 ; of the ecclesiastical, 6941.

Belph, a hamlet in Whitwell parish, Derbyshire, 11 miles

NE uf Chesterfield.

Belsar Hills, eminences in Cambridgeshire, in the vicinity

of the river Ouse, 8 miles E of St Ives. They were occupied

by William the Conqueror's camp, when he menaced the Isle

of Ely, and they took their name from his general Belasis.

Belsay, a township and a village in Bolam parish, North-

umberland, on the river Blyth, 9:V miles SW of Morpeth,

with a post, money order, and telegi'aph office under New-
castle-upon-Tyne. Acreage, 2542

;
population, 260. In
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the park of Belsay Hall, the seat of the Jliddleton family,

are the remains of Belsay Castle, a pieturesque building of

stone, possessing one of the best examples of a peel tower in

the country. The railway station is at Angertou on the

North British railway.

Belsford, a hamlet in Harbertou, parish, Devon, 1 mile

SW of Totnes.

Belshford. fee Belchfokd.
Eelstead, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 2 miles N

from Bcntley station on the G.E.R., and 3j SW of

Ipswich, which is the post town ; money order and telegi'aph

ollice, Copdock. Acreage, 1032; population, 254. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

gi-oss value, £230 with

residence. The chnrch is a small rubble building in the

Perpendicular style, aaid there is a small Congregational

chapel.

Belstone, a parish in Devonshu'e, on the headstrcams of

the Taw and Okement rivers, 2 miles SE of Okehampton

railway station on the L. & S.W.R., and 20 W by N of

Exeter. It includes the hamlet of Prestacott. It has a

post office under Okehampton, which is the telegraph office

;

money order office, Sticklepath. Acreage, 1790; population,

181. The surface lies within Dartmoor, and partakes of

its striking scenery. Belstone Cleave, on the com'se of the

Okement river, shows wild massings of rock, with impetuous

cm-rent of the stream. The glen of St Michael of Hatstock

has the influx of the Black Avon from the uplands of Yes

Tor, and conta,ins Chapel Ford, named from an extinct

ancient chapel of St Michael. Belstone Tor, .about IJ mile

above the ford, has on its W side a Druidic cucle of 17 stones,

the highest not more than 2J feet above ground. Some of

the inhabitants are employed in woollen manufactm'c. The

living is a rectory iu the diocese of Exeter ;
gi'oss value,

i.'185 with residence. The church is a small edifice of nave

and chancel, with a very low tower; has Norman work

and a fine old cai-ved screen ; is traditionally said to have

been built by Baldwin de Brioniis, .and was repaired in 1855,

and again in 1881. There is a Congi-egational chapel.

Beiswains, a hamlet iu Herts, 2 miles SSE of Hemel-

Hempstead.

Belthorpe. See Bishop-Wii.ton.

Beltinge, a hamlet in Heme parish, Kent, 6^ miles NNE
of Canterbury.

Beltingham, with Henshaw, is an ecclesiastical parish

in Northumberland, on the South Tyne, adjacent to the

Newcastle and Carlisle railway, near B.ardon Mill station,

4 miles W of Haydon Bridge. Post town, Bardon Mill

under Carlisle. Population of the parish, with Henshaw,

918. A market was formerly held here ; and there are three

very old and large yews in the churchyard. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Newcastle ; value, £170 with

residence. Patron, the Vicar of Haltwhistle. Beltingham

Church (St Cuthbert's) is in the Perpendicular style, and w,as

built in the pie-Keformation times. It was well restored in

1884. Henshaw Chnrch (All Hallows—Bishop Ridley Me-
morial) was built in 1889, and is in the Early English style.

Beltoft, a hamlet in Belton parish, Lincolnshire, 2 miles

NE of Epworth.

Belton, a small town and a parish in Leicestershire, 4

miles NW from Swannington station on the M.R., 4 N from

Whitwich station on the L. & N.W.R., .and 7 WNW of

Loughborough. The parish statistics include the liberty

of Grace-Dieu. It has a post office under Loughborough;

money order and telegraph office, Shepshed. Acreage, 2346;

population, 571. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Peterborough; gi'oss yearly value, £198 with residence.

The church is a fine old edifice, with tower and spire, and

contains a monument of Roesia de Verdun, the founder of

Grace-Dieu nunnery. There are General Baptist and Wes-

Icyan Methodist chapels. A large horse faur is held liere

on the second Monday after Trinity Sunday.

Belton, a vilLage and a paiish in Lincolnshire, on the

river With.am, adjacent to the G.N.K., 2 miles NNE of Grant-

ham. There is a post office under Granth.am, which is the

money order and telegr.aph office. Acreage, 1745 ;
population,

193. The property belongs all to Earl Brownlow, and gives

him the title of Baron. Belton House, the Earl's seat, stands

in a park of 5 miles in circuit, and is an edifice in the shape

of the letter H, erected in 1689 after designs by Wren, and
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considerably modernized by Wyatt. It contains an interest-

ing .and v.aluable collection of pictures. The li\ing is a rectory

in the diocese of Lincoln; net value, £355 with residence.

Patron, Earl Brownlow. The chnrch is an ancient building

of stone partly Norman and partly of the Perpendicular period,

and contains monuments of the Custs and the Brownlows,

and a rich eight-sided font. An ornament.al cross is in the

village, and an ornamental tower on a height in the park.

There is a bede-house for six poor women.

Belton, a parish in Lincolnshire, in the Isle of Axholme,

IJ mile N of Epworth, and 3J miles S from Crowle station

on the M.S. & L.R. It includes the hamlets of Beltoft,

Braken, Can-house, Grey Green, Mosswood, Sandtoft, Temple
Belwood, Westgate, and Woodhonse, and h<as a post and
money order office under Doncaster ; telegi'aph office, Ep-
worth. Acreage, 8307; population, 1421. The living is a

perpetual curacy in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, £172 with residence. The chm'ch is a large building

of stone in the Gothic style, with an embattled western

tower. There are also Wesleyan, New Connection, and
Primitive Methodist chapels. Temple Belwood, au ancient

country seat, is in this paiish. A fair is held on 25 Sept.

Belton, a parish iu Rutland, on the river Eye, 4 miles

WNW of Uppingham, and 1^ mile from East Norton station

on the G.N. & L.N.W. Junction railway. It contains a vil-

lage of its own name, and has a post office under Uppingham,
which is the money order office ; telegraph office. East

Norton. Acreage, 1024; population, 372. The living is a
vicarage, annexed to the rectory of Wardley, in the diocese

of Peterborough
;
gross joint yearly value, £263 with resi-

dence, in the gift of the Bishop of Peterborough. The
chm'ch is very old, and has a square embattled tower. There

is a Baptist chapel. Poor's lauds yield about £50 a year,

and there are other charities.

Belton, a village and a parish in Suflblk, on the G.E.R.

and river Waveney, 4^ miles SW by W of Yarmouth. The
parish has a station on the railway, and includes the hamlet of

Browston. Post town, Yarmouth ; telegraph office, Gorleston.

Acreage, 2057
;
population, 752. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £300 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Norwich. The church is old but good,

and has a round tower, which was rebuilt in 1849. The
niiiin building was restored in 1881. There is also a small

Prunitive Methodist chapel and a public institute and read-

ing room.

Belvedere (or Lessness Heath) and Abbey Wood, an
ecclesiastical parish in Kent, with a station on the North

Kent section of the S.E.R., 12 miles from London, and 1

mile from Erith. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. Population, 4789. All Saints Church is a cut flint

building in the Early English style. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Canterbury; gross value, £400 with

residence. There ai*e Congregational, Methodist, and Baptist

ch,apels. The Pubhc Hall is a brick building erected ia

1871. The Royal Alfred Aged Merchant Seamen's Institu-

tion is in the neighbourhood.

Belvidere, Berks. See Virginia Water.
Belvoir, formerly an extr.a- parochial tract, now a parish

and the head of a petty sessional division in Leicestershh*e,

on the verge of the county, near the Grantham Canal, 7

miles W by S of Grantham, and 2 S of Redmile station on

the G.N. and L. & N.W. Junction. Post town, Grantham

;

money order and telegraph office, Knipton. Ai'ea, 715
acres; population, 144. Belvou' Castle is the seat of the

Duke of Rutland, and one of the most magnificent struc-

tures in the kingdom. The original building was a fortress

erected soon after the Conquest by Robert de Todeni,

st.andard-bearer to William, and was several tunes burned

down or otherwise destroyed. The present pile is a

modern, castellated, hollow quadi'angle, restored by Wyatt,

measuring 262 feet .along the east front, and contain-

ing a noble .apartment called the Regent's Gallery, 127

feet long, filled with the choicest productions of art. It

stands on an isolated and perhaps artificial hill, and com-

mands a view of 30 miles over a pictm'esque extensive vale,

called the Vale of Belvoir. The Prince Regent, afterwards

George IV., visited it in 1814, and Crabbe the poet lived in

it as ch.aplain. A gieat fire destroyed part of it in 181fi,

including a famous pictm'e gallery, with damage estunated
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at £120,000. A priory of black monks stood near it,

founded about 1076 by Kobert de Todeni, and was given

at the dissolution to Thomas, Earl of Rutland, and Robert

Turwhit.

Bembridge, a village and a cliapelry in Brading parish,

Isle of Wight. The village stands on the E side of Brading

Harbour-, 2J miles ENE of Brading. It has a post, money

order, and telegr-aph office under Brading (R.S.O.) Popu-

lation, 1024. It is a coastguard station. The Bembridge

and Brading railway has a st.ation here, and the village is much

resorted to as a watering-place. The Brading Haibour

Company have carried ont extensive alterations. In 1882

they erected the Royal Spitliead Hotel, established exten-

sive oyster breeding beds, and placed many acres of reclaimed

iand under cultivarion. There is a golf club and also a

yacht club, which holds regattas fortnightly in the season.

The chapelry was constituted in 1827. The tract of 2k miles

by 1^ between Brading Harbour and the Channel bears the

name of Isle of Bembridge, and the termination of it on the

ISIE is called Bembridge Point. A ridge of hill across its

neck, cilled Bembridge Down, has an altitude of 355 feet,

commands a very gorgeous view, was the scene of a rebuff of

the French in 1546, and is crowned by a granite obelisk 70

feet high, erected in 1849 to the memory of the late Lord Yar-

borough. The rocks present a 6ne study to the geologist, and

lignite, fuller's earth, and red ochre are found. The Bembridge

Ledge and other ledges run off from the E coast into shoals, and

the Nab and Warner lightships are situated to the ENE.

An knportant masked battery, known as the Steyne battery,

has been erected at Bembridge, and is armed with he.avy

guns. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester;

gross value, £98 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Brad-

ing. The chmch was built in 1845, is in the Eariy English

style, and has been much enriched with stained glass windows,

marble steps, and good brass work.

Bemersley, a township in Norton-in-the-Moors parish,

Staffordshire, 2 miles NE of Burslem.

Bemerton, a chapelry in Fngglestone-St-Peter parish,

Wiltshire, about 1 mile from the stations of the G.W.K. and

L. & S.W.R. at SaUsbury. It has a post office; money

order office, Fisherton ; telegraph office, Salisbury. Popu-

lation, 1060. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Sahs-

bury. The old church of St Andrew is said to have been

built by the Abbess of Wilton in 1408, but contains windows

of an earlier date. It was restored by George Herbert the

poet in 1632, and by Mr Wyatt in 1866. It is close to the

rectoiy. The present chapel or chm'ch of St John was built

in 1861 by Sidney, Lord Herbert, as a memorial to his

illustrious namesake ; is in the Transition style from First

to Second Pointed ; and consists of nave, aisles, chancel, and

porch, with north-eastern square tower, but presents a very

irregular outline. George Herbert, who died in 1635 ; John

Norris the poet and metaphysician, who died in 1711 ; and

Archdeacon Cox the traveller and historian, who died in

1828, were rectors.

Bemminster. See Beajiinstek.

Bempton, a village, a township, and a parish in the

E. K. Yorkshire, on the coast, and on the Hull and Scar-

borough railway, Sj miles N of Bridlington. There is a

station on the railway, and a post and money order office

(R.S.O.); telegraph office, Flamborough. Acreage, 1977;

population of the civil parish, which includes Newsholm, 310.

Near the village are the remains of what was fonneriy thought

to have been an ancient British village, consisting of about

sixty pit dwellings. Some authorities now believe that they

are the remains of flint mines. The living is a \icarage in

the diocese of York
;
gross value, £111 with residence. The

church has a nave of four hays with round pillars, and a

chancel rebuilt in 1829. The tower was thoroughly repaired

within and without in 1892. There are Primitive Jlethodist

and Wesleyan chapels.

Ben, a prefix in Celtic names, signifying "a hill" or

" mountain." It is sometimes written Bein, Bhein, or Pen,

hut m the last case is significant more of a projection or of

a headland th.an of a summit.

Benacre or Binacre, a village and a parish in Suffolk,

on the coast, 6J miles S by W from Lowestoft station on

the G.E.R., and 6J N from Southwold. Post town, Wang-

ford ; money order and telegraph office, Wrentham. Acreage,
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2560; population of the civil parish, 204; of the ecclesi-

astical, which includes Covehithe and Easton Bavents, 384.

Benacre Hall is a fine country seat situated in a park of 230

acres. A lake of about 100 acres, called Benacre Broad,

abounding in pike and other fish, lies about ^ a mile from

the sea. A stone vessel, containing about 900 Roman silver

coins, some of them of the Emperor Vespasian, was found

at the making of a new turnpike road in 1786. The living

is a rectory, united with the rectory of Easton-Bavents and

the vicarage of Covehithe, formerly called North Hales, in

the diocese of Norwich
;
joint net yearly value, £200 with

residence. The church, dedicated to St llichael, was rebuilt

in 1769. It is in good preservation, and consists of chancel,

nave, and a south aisle. Easton-Bavents, now a parish con-

sisting of a few cottages only, with a population of 18, is

said to have been formerly a large market-town, and to have

lost its prosperity through the encroachments of the sea.

Benboule, a village 3j miles NE of Wadebridge, Cornwall.

Bendall, a village in the S of Derbyshire, 3 miles ENE
of Burton-upon-Trent.

Bendish. See Barton-Bendish.
Bendon, a quondam mansion, now a farmhouse, f of a

mile W of Axmouth, Devonshire. It shows well the archi-

tectural features of the 16th century, .and was long a seat of

the Erie family, including Lord Chief Justice Erie and Sir

Walter Erie.

Benefield, a parish in Northamptonshire, adjacent to

Rockingham Forest, 3 miles W of Oundle station on the

L. et N.W.R. It consists of two divisions, called Upper End

and Lower End, and embraces an extra-par-ochial tract in

Rockingham Forest, and it has a post office under Oundle,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 4748

;

population, 433. Nine holes, called the Swallows, occasion-

.ally suck up and absorb land floods. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £470 with resi-

dence. The church, which is a building of stone in the

Early English and Decorated styles, was restored in 1846-47

at a cost of £13,000.

Benenden, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

st.ands 3 miles SE of Cranbrook, and 8 S of Staplehurst

station on the S.E.R., and has a post office under Staplehmst.

It is a place of gi-eat antiquity, contains several good old

houses, and presents a pleasant appearance. It once was

noted for cloth manufacture, and it has a fair on 15 May.

The parish comprises 6693 acres ;
population, 1696. Ponds

and springs abound. A beacon stood near the \illage during

the civil wars, forming part of a hue of communication be-

tween Tenterden and London. The St George's Club was

erected in 1881 by Viscount Cranbrook, and contains reading

rooms and library. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Canterbury; net value, £207 with residence. Patron, Vis-

count Cranbrook. The church was restored in 1862 at a

cost of £6000. There are a school-church, a Baptist chapel,

and some charities. Hemsted Park, the seat of Viscount

Cranbrook, is in the vicinity.

Benfieldside, a township and an ecclesiastical district

formed in 1847 from Lanchester parish, Durham, and com-

prising the two small towns of Blackliill and Shotley Bridge.

The township lies on the river Derwent and on a branch of

the N.E.R., 4 miles N of Cold Rowley, and has a railway

station. It is a watering-place, with coal mines in the

neighbourhood, and its post town is Medomsley. Acreage,

1619
;
population, 6269 ; of the ecclesiastical district, 2683.

The church is at Shotley Bridge.

Benfleet, a station on the London, Tilbury, and Southend

railway, on the south coast of Essex, 6 miles W of Southend,

and 30 from London.

Benfleet, North, a parish in Essex, 2A miles NE of Pit-

sea station on the London, Tilbury, and Southend railw.ay,

2J S of Wickford station on the G.E.R. It has a post office

under Bowers Gifford (S.O.); money order and telegr-aph

office, Wickford. Acreage, 1601 ;
population, 169. The

liring is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net yearly

value, £420 with residence. Patron, Emmanuel College,

Cambridge. The chm-ch is a small but ancient building

of stone and flint in the Eaiiy English style.

Benfleet, South, a parish in Essex, on the coast, in-

cluding part of Canvey Island, and on the London, Tilbury,

and Southend railway, at Benfleet station, 4 miles SSW of
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Rayleigh. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

(S.O.) Acreage, 1947 land and 42 of foreshore and water;

population, 675. A strong castle was built here by the famous

Danish pirate Hastings, and taken and destroyed by Alfred

the Great. The waters on the coast were celebrated for

oysters. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans

;

net value, X128 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and

Chapter of Westminster. The chui"ch is a fine structure with

a nave of the I'-'Ui and chancel and porch of the 16th centmy.

The tower contains some Norman work,

Bengal, a hamlet, 1 mile W of Towcester, Northampton-
shire.

Bengeo, a village and a parish in the county of Hertford,

on the river Rib, 2 miles W from Ware, and 1 mile N of

Hertford, and partly within Hertford bor(jugh, with a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Hertford. Acreage,

3031 of land and 23 of water
;
population of the civil parish,

2586; of the ecclesiastical (Christ Church), 1309, (Holy

Trinity), 14G6. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St

Albans ; net value, £360 with residence. The churches are

St Leonards, an ancient building of Early Norman date, lately

restored and now used for occasional services ; the Holy

Trinity, erected in 1865; and St Michaels at Waterford.

There is also a ch.apel of ease at Tonwell, and a Calvinistic

chapel at Port Vale. The Hertford County Keformatory

stands in this parish, which includes the hamlets of Water-

ford, Tonwell, and Chapmore End.

Bengeworth, a parish and a suburb of Evesham, in Worces-

tershire, on the river Avon, with a station on the M.R., and a

post and money order office. Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, 1372. A castle here belonged to the Beauchamps, and

was destroyed in 1156 by the Abbot of Evesham. Slight traces

of the moat still remain. Bengeworth is connected with

Evesham by a handsome bridge of thi'ee arches, erected in

1856 at a cost of £13,000. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Worcester; net value, £174 with residence, of

which the Vicar is patron. The living was formerly a

rectory before the demolition of the abbey. The chm'ch was
erected in 1872, and in taking down the old church a part

was found to be Saxon. The font is Saxon. It is a cruci-

form edifice in the Decorated style, and has a lofty tower and
spire. A school endowed by John Deacle, a native of Benge-

worth and an alderman of London, was erected in 1729, and

has an income of £300. The Evesham Sanatorium for

infectious diseases is situated here, and there is a fever

hospital in the parish.

Benglog, Falls of, a series of broken falls on the stream

at the outlet of Llyn Ogwcn, Carnai-vonshire, at the top of

the Pass of Nant Ffrancou, 4i miles SSE of Bethesda, and 10

SSE of Bangor. They occur in a rocky chasm, have an

aggregate descent of about 100 feet, and ai'e overhmig by
massive mountains.

Benhadlaf, Isaf and Uchaf, two townships in the parish

of Llanrhaiadr-yn-JIochnant, on the mutual border of the

counties of Denbigh and Montgomery, 10 miles SW of Chirk.

Benhadlan, a township in Llanarmon parish, Denbigh-
shire, 6i miles SSW of Llangollen.

Benhall, a parish in Suffolk, which consists of two small

detached villages, Benhall Green and Benhall Street, adjacent

to the Aide river, li mile SW of Saxmundham. It has a

post office of the name of Benhall Green, under Saxmund-
ham, which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acre-

age, 2166; population, 688. The manor belonged to suc-

cessively the Uffords, the De la Poles, and the Dukes.

Benhall Lodge is a pleasant country seat standing in a
beautifiUly wooded park of 150 acres. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £129 with

residence. The cbiu'ch is a building of flint in the Nonnan
style, and has a brass of 1648.

Benham Harsh, a tithing in Speen parish, Berks, IJ
mile W of Newbury. Benham Park here is the fine country

residence of Sh* Richard Vincent Sutton, surrounded by some
200 acres of ground.

Beniarth, a township in Bettws-yn-Rhos parish, Den-
bighshire, 3 miles SSW of Abergele.

Benington, a parish and a village in Lincolnshu-e. The
parish lies on the Wash, 4 miles SSE of Sibsey station

on the G.N.R., and 5 ENE of Boston. It had an allot-

ment in the East Fen, which is now part of the parish of
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Old Leake. It has a post office under Boston ; money order

and telegraph office, Leake. Acreage, 2470 of land and
1977 of foreshore and water

;
population, 488. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln
;

gi'oss yearly value,

£660 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

The chui'ch has a Perpendicular clerestoried nave, a fine

tower, and a sculptured octagonal font. There are a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel, an endowed school with £100 a year,

four bede houses, and some other charities.

Benjie Tor, a summit in Dartmoor Forest, Devon, over-

hanging the river Dart, 5 miles WNW of Ashbm-ton. It

has a rugged rocky character, and commands a wild, striking

view over Dartmoor .and away to the Isle of Portland.

Bennetland, a hamlet in Bellasize township, Eastrington

parish, in the E. R. Yorkshire, 6 miles E by N of Howden.

Bennett's End, a township in Cainham parish, Salop,

3 miles ESE of Ludlow.

Bennett's Houses, a hamlet in Hawarden township and
parish, Flintshire.

Benningborough, a township in Newton-npon-Ouse
parish, in the N. R. Yorkshire, on the river Ouse, 1§ mile

WSW of Shipton railway station, and 7 miles NW of York.

Acres, 1092 ;
population, 61. Benningborough Hall here

is a fine mansion, standing in a park of 200 acres, the seat

of the Hon. Lewis Payan Dawnay, who is lord of the manor
and chief landowner.

Benningholme and Grange, a township in South Skir-

l.augh parish, in the E. R. Yorkshu-e, 9 mUes E by S of

Beverley. Acreage, 1606
;
population, 88.

Bennington, a village and a parish in the county of

Hertford. The village stands near the river Beane, and
near a briinch Roman way, 6 miles ESE of Stevenage, and
6 from Stevenage station on the G.N.R. It has a post

and money order office under Steveuiige ; telegraph office,

Walkern. It was fonnerly a market-town, and has still a
pleasure fair on 10 July. The parish comprises 3060 acres

;

population of the civil parish, 627 ; of the ecclesiastical,

617. The manor belonged to the Benstedes, the Caesars,

and the Earl of Essex, and belongs now to the Proctors.

An ancient palace of the kings of Mercia stood here, and
either that or a castle which succeeded it is now indicated

by an entrenched eminence. Bennington Park, to the east,

is a fine seat. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St
Albans ; net value, £362 with residence. Patron, trustees.

The church contains some ancient monmnents, and is good.
There is a Primitive Methodist chapel, and there are a few
small charities.

Bennington Grange, formerly an extra-parochial tract,

now a parish, in the county of Lincoln, adjacent on the
south to the parish of Long Bennington. Ai-ea, 281 acres

;

population, 9.

Bennington, Long, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire.

The village stands on the river With.am, 4^ miles S of

Cl.Typole station on the G.N.R., and 8 NW by N of Grant-
liam ; consists mainly of one long street, and has a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office under Grantham. The
parish, inclusive of Bennington Grange, comprises 4333
acres

;
population of the civil parish, 804 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, with Foston, 1146. Freestone and lime are worked.

A Cistercian priory, with local endowment, was founded
here before 1175 by Ralph de Filgerus

;
given to the Abbey

of Savigney in Noimandy ; transferred by Richard II. to

the Carthusians of St Ann, near Coventry ; conveyed by
Henry V. to the Priory of Mountgi'ace, and given at the

dissolution to the dean and chapter of Westminster. Re-
mains of a moat which sun'ounded its farmhouse are in

Bennington Grange. The benefice, known as Long Benning-
ton and Foston, is in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, £342 with residence. Patron, the Duchy of Lancaster.

The chm'ch is a building of stone in the Early English and
Perpendicular styles, and there are Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels, and charities worth about £25 a year.

Benniworth, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, on
the Wolds, 5i nfiles ENE of Wragby, and 1 mile SE from
South Willingliam station on tlie G.N.R. There is a post

office imdcr Lincoln ; money order and telegraph office,

Hainton. Acreage, 3024; population, 357. The Uving is

a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £212
with residence. The church has a Norman porch, and is
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g;ood. It was thoroughly restored in 1875. There is a

United Free Methodist chapel.

Ben-Ehydding, a hydropathic establishment, with a

railway station, in Ilkley parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire, on

the slope of Eombald's Moor, adjacent to the Otley and Ilkley

railway, 5 miles W of Otley. It was erected in 1844, at a

cost of nearly £30,000, and is an imposing pile, amid exten-

sive and pleasant grounds. It has a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Leeds.

Benridge, a township in Mitford parish, Northumberland,

2 miles WNW of Morpeth, which is the railway station. Its

area is 1092 acres; population, 69. It is the property of

the Earl of Carlisle, who is lord of the manor.

Benridge, a hamlet in Ponteland parish, Northumberland,
6i miles SSW of Morpeth.

Bensham, an ecclesiastical parish and subm-b of Gates-

head parish, Durham, 1^ mile SSW of Gateshead. The

parish was constituted in 1865, and has a railway station.

Population, 9642. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Dui'h.am ; value, X300. Patron, the Bishop of Duiham.

The chmch was built in 1848. There are two mission rooms.

Bensington or Benson, a village and a parish iu Oxford-

shire. The village stands on the river Thames, 1§ mile

NNE of Wallingford station on the G.W.R. ; it is a con-

siderable place, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

ofEce of the name of Benson, under Wallingford. It occupies

the site of a town of the ancient Britons, which was t.-iken

from them in 572 by the West Saxons ; held by the latter

till 777, and surrendered then to the Mercians. The parish

includes the hamlets of Filield, Roke, Roke Marsh, Little-

worth, Crowmarsh-Battle, and Preston-Crowmarsh. Acre-

age, 2922
;

population of the civil parish, 1121 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 1113. A manor-house, part of which is very

ancient, with a window-head of the 13th century, is in the

hamlet of Fifield. A Maison Dieu was founded there in

the time of Henry VI. by William de la Pole, Duke of

Suffolk, and given to the University of Oxford. Crowmarsh-
Battle was bestowed upon Battle Abbey by William the Con-

queror. The parish of Bensington was formerly of very great

extent; Henley, 11 miles distant, having been one of its

chapelries as Late as the reign of Edward I. It continued

to be a royal manor until the manorial rights were sold by

Charles I. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford

;

net yearly v.alue, £215 with residence, in the gift of Christ

Church, Oxford. The chm-ch is chiefly ancient, variously

late pointed Norman and Decorated ; has a Georgian tower,

contains an Early English font, and is very good. There

are a Free Church, erected in 1879, Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels, and some small charities.

Benson. See Bensington.
Benson Knot, a hill 2 miles ENE of Kendal, Westmore-

land. It rises abiTiptly ; is not easily climbed ; has an alti-

tude of 1098 feet above the level of the sea, and commands
an extensive and magnificent view.

Bentfieldend, a hamlet in Stansted-Mountfitchet parish,

Essex, near the G.E.R., 3J miles NE of Bishop-Stortford.

The population is included in Stansted.

Benthall, a parish in Salop, on the right bank of the

Severn, near Iron Bridge station on the G.W.R. , 1 mile N
of Broseley, and 2^ miles E of Much-Wenlock. Post town,

Broseley (R.S.O.)
' Acreage, 843

;
population, 377. Lord

Forester is the lord of the manor and sole landowner.

Benthall Hall, the ancient seat of the Benthall family, built

in 1535, adjoins the church, and during the Commonwealth

was held as a point of great strategic importance. There

are several potteries, and also a manufactory of tobacco pipes.

The liring is a \'icarage in the diocese of Hereford ; net value,

£87. Patron, the Vicar of Much-Wenlock. The chmrh,

erected in 1667, consists of chancel, nave, and tower, and
contains monuments to the Benth.all and Browne families.

Bentham, a hamlet in Badgworth parish, Gloucestershire,

IJ mile SE of Badgworth.

Bentham, a market-town and a parish in the W.R. York-

shire, comprising the townships of Bentham, High Bentham,

and Mewith. The town lies on the river Wenning, and on

the M.R., 12 miles WNW of Settle, and has a station on the

railway, a post, money order, and telegraph ofEce under

Lancaster, a church, a gi-ammar-school, a weekly market on

Wednesdays, and a cattle market every other Monday, and fairs
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on 5 Feb., 22 .June, and 25 Oct. Acreage of parish, 7711

;

population, 2273. Large portions of the surface are upland.

Many of the inhabitants are employed in linen manufactories,

and some in potteries. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Ripon ; net value, £480 with residence. The parish

church is at Low Bentham, and is ancient ; it was thoroughly

restored in 1878. There is also a church at High Bentham,

a Roman Catholic chapel, Wesleyan Methodist chapel, and

Friends' meeting-house, a public h.all, a reading-room and

library, three schools at High and Low Bentham endowed

from grammar-school funds, six almshouses, and other

charities.

Bentley, a \'illage, a parish, and a liberty in Hants. The

village stands 6 miles NE of Alton, and has a station on the

L. & S.W.R., 42 miles from London. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Farnham. The parish

comprises 2299 acres
;

population, 727. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Winchester ; net value, £650 with

residence. Patron, the Archdeacon of Surrey. There is a

handsome church containing Norman, Early English, and

Perpendicular work. It is approached by an avenue of

ancient yew trees. There are several gentlemen's residences

and considerable endowed charities, a Bible Christian chapel,

and a parish institute.

Bentley, a township in Wolverhampton parish, Stafford-

shire, 1 mile N of Darlaston, and 2 miles W by N of Walsall.

It has a station on the M.R. Post town, Walsall Acreage,

1448; population, 355. The inhabitants are employed

largely in collieries and ironworks. There is a quarry of

columnar basalt stone. The Earl of Lichfield is lord of

the manor. Bentley Hall belonged to Colonel Lane, who
sheltered Charles II. after the battle of Worcester.

Bentley, a township in Woi-field parish, Salop, 1 mile

NE of Bridgnorth.

Bentley, a parish in Suffolk, at the junction of the G.E.R.

with the Hadleigh branch, 6 miles SW of Ipswich. It has

a station on the railway, and a post and money order office

under Ipswich ; telegi-aph office, Copdock. Acreage, 2876
;

population, 414. The Tollemaches had a seat here before

the Conquest. The living is a vicai'age in the diocese of

Norwich; net value. £161 with residence. The chm-ch is a

building of stone in the Perpendicular style.

Bentley, a h.amlet in Shustoke parish, Warwickshire,

3 miles SW of Atherstone, which is the post town. Popul.a-

tion, 235. It includes Bentley Park, and forms a chapelry

annexed to the vicarage of Shustoke. The church was built

in 1837, and has an embattled tower.

Bentley, a small village in Rowley parish in the E. R.

Yorkshu-e, 2 miles SSW of Beverley, which is also the railway

station. A handsome church, with site, was presented to

the village by Mr C. E. S. Cooke.

Bentley, in the W. R. Yorkshire. See Akksey.
Bentley Fenny or Fenny Bentley, a village and a parish

in Derbyshire, in Dovedale, 2J miles N of Ashborne railway

station. The parish has a post office under Ashborne, which

is the telegraph office ; money order office, Tissington. Acre-

age, 1038; population, 236. The manor belongs to the

Challiner family. Sir W. Fitzherbert, Bart., is the chief

landowner. The living is a rectory in the diocese of South-

well ; value, £260. Patron, the Bishop of Southwell. The

church was repaired in 1850, and contains curious old monu-

ments of the Beresfords, as well as a beautiful 15th century

rood screen of old carved oak in perfect order, erected by

the sons of Thomas Beresford (who fought at Agincourt,

and whose tomb and memorial window are in the church)

as a thankoffering after the Wars of the Roses.

Bentley, Great, a village and a parish in Essex. The

village stands near the Tendring Hundred branch of the

G.E.R., 8 miles SE by E of Colchester, and has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Colchester, and a

railway station of the same name. The parish comprises

3235 acres
;
population, 1008. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of St Albans; gross yearly value, £300 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of St Albans. The church

is a building of red sandstone, and has a very fine Norman

arch over the S door. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bentley, Hungry, a liberty in Alkmonton parish, Derby-

shire, 6 miles S of Ashborne. Acreage, 1086
;
population,

77. Post town, Derby.
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Bentley, Little, a parish in Essex, 2| miles NNE of

Bentley Green station on the G.E.R., and 7^ E of Colchester,

under which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph

office, Great Bentley. Acreage, 2004 ; population, 296.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans
;
gross

valne, £596. Patron, Emmanuel College, Cambridge. The

church is an ancient building of brick and stone in the

Decorated style, and there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bentley-Pauncefoot, or Lower and Upper Bentley,

a township in Tiudebigge parish, Worcestert-hin'. ;> niiks

SW of Redditch, and 4 SSE of Bromsgrove, which i.s the

post town. Acreage, 1688; population, 230. There is a

small church at Lower Bentley, a chapel of ease to the

parish church of Tardebigge. Bentley Manor, the seat of

the lord of the manor, was the residence of Sir Thomas
Cooke, Bart., the founder of Worcester College, Oxford.

Bentley Priory, formerly the seat of the Duke of Aber-

corn, in the parish of Harrow-on-the-Hill, Middlesex, 3 miles

WNW of Edgeware. It occupies the site of a small priory,

and contains some antiques and fine paintings. The sur-

rounding grounds are very beautiful, and cover an extent of

250 acres. Queen Adelaide, after a residence of some

months, died here in 1849.

Benton Castle, an ancient fortress on Milford Haven,

Pembrokeshire, on a beautiful small promontory, 3 miles

NNE of Pembroke. The ruins are very picturesque.

Benton, Little, a township and small village in Long

Benton parish, Northumberland, adjacent to the N.E.R., ^ a

mile S of Long Benton, which is the nearest station.

Benton. Long, a township, a parisli, and a village in

the county of Northumberland. The township lies on the

N.E.R., and on the Blyth and Tyne railway, near the Roman
Wall, 3 miles NNE of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and has stations

on the railways, and a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Newcastle-upon-Tyne. The village consists of

one long street, and stands on rock, dry, healthy, and pleasant.

The parish includes also the townships of Long Benton, Little

Benton, Killingworth, Weetslade, and Walker, and the

ecclesiastical parishes of Walker, Killingworth, and North

Gosforth. Acreage, 8981 ;
population of the civil parish,

22,162 ; of the ecclesiastical, 3489. The manor belongs to the

Jemingham family. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Newcastle; gross value, £325 with residence. Patron,

Balliol College, Oxford. The parish church dated originally

from the 12th century ; was rebuilt in 1791 ; chancel rebuilt,

1855; church restored, 1873-75; new south porch added,

1885 ; new choir vestries, 1888
;
peal of tabular bells, 1891.

The perpetual cmacy of Killingworth is a separate bene-

fice
;
gross value, £318 with residence. There are several

dissenting chapels, and a reading-room and library. The
population of the ecclesiastical parish is composed of coal

miners, freestone quarrymen, shipyard labourers, fanners

and agricultural labourers, besides a suburban population,

chiefly in the district of Forest Hall, of business men engaged

in Newcastle.

Bent's Green, a hamlet in Ecclesall-Bierlow township

in the W. R. Yorkshire. 2 mUes SW of Sheffield.

Ben-Twitchen, a hamlet in North Molton parish, Devon.

Bentworth, a village and a parish in Hants. The village

stands 4^ miles WNW of Alton railway station on the

L. & S.W.R., and has a post office under Alton, which is the

money order and telegraph office. The parish comprises

3763 acres; population, 604. The manor was inherited

from his father by George Withers the poet, and was sold

by him at the outbreak of the Civil War to raise a troop of

horse. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester;

net value, £544. There is a dissenting chapel. The church

is an ancient flint stnicture in the Early English style.

Benty Grange, a village 5^ miles SW of Bakewell,

Derbyshire.

Benwell, a township, a paiish, and a village in North-

tnnberland. The township lies on the river Tyne, the Roman
Wall, and the Newcastle and Carlisle railway, 2 miles W of

Newcastle-upon-Tyne, under wliich it has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. Area of parish, 1302 acres; popu-
lation of civil palish, 10,354; ecclesiastical, 27,039. Here

aie the oldest collieries in England, one of which at the be-

ginning of the 18th centm7 took fire from a candle and burned

for nearly thirty years, Benwell is believed to have been the
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Condercum of the Romans, and urns, coins, insciiptions, and
other Roman remains have been found. Benwell Tower be-

longed at one time to Tynemouth Priory, and afterwards to

the Shaftoes, and is now the bishop's residence. Benwell

Higli Cross, to the E, was named from a cross that formerly

stood there. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of New-
castle ; net value, £350 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Newcastle. The church is in the Perpendicular style, with

a tower, built at a cost of £1600. There are Roman Catholic

and two dissenting chapels and schools.

Benwick, formerly a hamlet in Doddington parish, Cam-
bridgeshire, now an ecclesiastical parish in the Isle of Ely.

5 miles from Wimblington station on the G.E.R., and 8 SW
from March, under which it has a post office ; money order

and telegraph office, Doddington. Population, 794. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; net yearly value,

£276 with residence. The church, a building in the Early

English style, was erected in 1851. There are Baptist and

Wesleyan chapels.

Beobridge, a township in Claverley parish, Salop, 4^
miles SE of Bridgnorth.

Beoley, a parish in Worcestershire, on the verge of the

county, 2^ miles NE of Redditch, which is the post town.

Acreage, 4718; population, 643. An ancient castle, of

which very slight traces remain, belonged successively to

the noble families of Mortimer, Sheldon, Beauchamp, and

Holland. Beoley Hall is the chief residence. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £65
with residence. The church is ancient, but fully restored,

and has an embattled tower with pinnacles; the Sheldon

chapel, restored in 1891, contains a stone altar presented

by a pope to Ralph Sheldon, a fine east window, and many
ancient monuments to the Sheldon family. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Bepton, a parish in Sussex, 1 mile from Cocking station

on the L.B. & S.C.R., and 5| miles ESE of Petersfield. Post

town, Midhmst, which is the money order and telegi^aph

office. Acreage, 1910
;
population of the civil parish, 263

;

of the ecclesiastical, 235. The chm'ch is an ancient building

of flint in the Early English style, and was restored in 1878.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chichester ; net

value, £60 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Egmont.

The palish lies under the north side of the South Downs,

which rise to a height of more than 400 feet above the sea

level. The view from the Downs is extensive and beautiful.

On the hill sides are some of the largest yew trees in Eng-
land, forming a weird gi-ove. Every variety of English orchis

is found in this parish. The rainfall is the greatest of any

place of which returns have been made in the South of Eng-
land. The parish was probably much more populous in the

middle ages ; a very fine church once stood on the site of

the present modest structure. Fragments of the older build-

ing are preserved in the new. Many flint weapons and

ancient coins of great interest have been discovered. The
account book of Thos. Nepiker, rector of Bepton, makes one

of the most valuable papers in the Sussex Archasological

Society's series.

Berden, Berdon, or Beardon, a village and a parish in

Esses. The nearest stations are Newport and Stanstead, each

6 miles distant. The parish has a post office under Bishop-

Stortford ; money order office, Clavering; telegi'aph office,

Quendon. Acreage, 1800 ;
population, 336. A small Augus-

tinian priory was founded here in the reign of Henry III
,

was given at the dissolution to Henry Pai'ker, and passed

to the hospitals of Christ Chmxh, Bridewell, and St Thomas.

The living is a ^dcarage in the diocese of St Albans
;

gi-oss

yearly value, £180 with residence, including an allowance of

£30 from Queen Anne's Bounty. Patron, Chnst's Hospital.

The church is an ancient building of flint in the Decorated

style. The Rev. Joseph Medc, author of the " Clavis Apoca-

lyptica," was a native.

Berdenestaple. See Barnstaple.

Bere-Alston. See Bkek-Alston,

Berechurch, a pai-ish within Colchester borough, Essex,

near the Roman river, 2j miles S by W of Colchester railway

station. Post town, Colchester. Population of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 167. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of St Albans. The church was restored in 1872. Bere-

church Hall is a fine modern mansion, erected in 1882.
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Bere Ferrers (Beerferris), a parish in Devonshire, be-
tween the rivers Tamar and Tavy upwards from their con-

fluence, 7 miles N by W of Plymouth, and 8 from Tavistock,

It has a station on the L. & S.W.R., and contains the town of

Beer-Alston, formerly a parliamentary horougli returning two
members, and the village of Beer-Town. It has a post office

under Beer-Alston (R.S.O.), and a telegi-aph station. The area

is 6176 acres of land, and 035 of foresliore and water
;
popu-

lation, 1011. The greater part belongs to the Earl of Mount-
Edgcumbe ; the manor of Ley, now belonging to Sir F.

Drake, was long held by a family of its own name, one of

whom was created Earl of Marlborough. JIuch of the sur-

face is picturesque, and many spots command fine prospects.

Very lai'ge quantities of fruit are produced here, especially

black cherries and strawberries. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Exeter; net value, £500 with residence. Pa-
tron, the Earl of Mouut-Edgcumbe. The church is Deco-
rated and Perpendicular Engllsli, and very picturesque ; con-

sists of nave, aisle, chancel, and transepts, and contains

Crusader monuments of Ferrers and Champernoun, and one

to Major Bayley, who fell at the storming of Sebastopol.

There is a chapel of ease at Beer-Alston, and there are

Congi'egational, Wesleyan, United Free Methodist, and Bible

Christian chapels. Stothart, the artist and antiquary, was
killed at Bere-Ferrers church while sketching the E window.

Bereford. See Bakfoiid, Beds.

Bere Forest, an ancient royal hunting-ground in Hants,

on the SE border of the county, 4^ miles NNW of Havant.

It was divided into two walks, east and west, and it con-

tained about 16,000 acres. All has been enclosed, great

part has been cleared and cultivated, and only 1417 acres

are now under wood. The sm'face is comparatively level,

yet presents some fine scenery. See Waterlooville.
Bere-Hacket. See Beeu-Hacket.
Bere-Regis, a small ancient town and a parish in Dorset.

The town stands on the Bere rivulet, adjacent to a vast

tract of baiTen heath, If mile N of the river Piddle, 6^
miles W from Wareliam station on the L. & S.W.R., and 8

SSW of Blandford-Foruin. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Wareham. It dates from the time

of the Romans, was a residence of Queen Elfrida and of

King John, and suffered severely from fire in 1634, in

1788, and in 1817. It was once a market-town, but is now
an agiicultural village. It was constituted a free borough by

Edward I., but never sent representatives to Parliament. The
parish church is a large ancient edifice with a square tower;

contains a round Norman font and numerous monuments of the

Turbervilles and others ; and was entirely restored and re-

paired in 1875. There are Congregational and Methodist

chapels, a free school with £30, and some small charities.

King John's palace stood in a field east of the chm'ch. The
manor house of the Turbervilles afterwards occupied the same
site. Cardinal Morton, who figured prominently in the time of

Henry VII., and Bishop Turberville of Exeter, were natives.

The parish includes the tithing of Shitterton. The
hamlet of Milborne-Stileham was separated from Bere for

ecclesiastical purposes in 1890. Acreage, 8313; popula-

tion, 1144. Half of the manor belonged to the Turber-

villes from the time of the Conquest, and the other half

was given by Henry III. to Simon de Montfort, Earl of

Leicester, given again to the King's brother Edmund, and
given by Heniy VIII. to the Turbervilles. Woodbury Hill,

^ a mile east of the town, was the site of a Roman camp

;

has still a circulai* entrenchment of 10 acres, formed by three

ramparts and ditches; commands a very extensive view;

and is the scene of an annual fair, formerly very famous, on

21 and 22 Sept. The surrounding tract has many barrows.

The neighbouring downs are a resort of sportsmen. The
living is a vicarage, united with the vicarage of Winterborne-

Kingston, in the diocese of Salisbury ; net combined value,

£17U. Patron, Balliol College, Oxford.

Bergh-Apton. See Burgh-Apton.
Berghill, a township in Whittington parish, Salop, 4^

miles E of Oswestry.

Bergh-Mattishall. See Burgh-Mattishall.
Bergholt, East, a small town and a parish in Suffolk,

on the river Stour, midway between the Manningtree and

Bentley stations on the G.E.R., 9 miles SW of Ipswich,

with a post, money order, and telegraph office (S.O.) Acre-
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age, 3140; population, 1316. Ackworth House is a fine

country seat, standing in a good position, and commanding
extensive views. West Lodge is also a fine seat, and East:

Bergholt Lodge is beautifully situated amid fine woods. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £382 with residence. Patron, Ennuanuel College,

Cambridge. The church is a building of flint in the Perpen-

dicular style, and there are Congregational and Primitive

Methodist chapels, a Benedictine nunnery and chapel, a
cemetery imder the control of a Burial Boai'd, and numerous
charities. John Constable the painter, born in 1776, was a

native. There is a stained window in the chui^ch erected to

his memory.

Bergliolt, "West, a village and a parish in Essex, on the

river Colne, near the G.E.R., 3 miles NW of Colchester.

There is a post, telegraph, and money order office. Acre-

age, 2287
;

population, 1042. A circular entrenchment
here is thought to have been the site of the residence of the

British King Cunobeline. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St Albans; net value, £419 with residence. The
church is old ; iu architectm'e it is rather nondescript, and is

built chiefly of rubble.

Beriden, The, a stream of Norfolk. It rises near New
Buckenham, and runs about 12 miles northward to the Yare,

in the vicinity of Norwich.

Berkeley, a small town and a parish in Gloucestershire.

The town stands on a pleasant eminence in the Vale of

Berkeley, on the Little Avon river, about 2 miles from the

Severn, 7^ NNE of Thornbury, 15 SSW of Gloucester,

and 114 from London. It has a station ^ mile from the

town on the Midland branch railway, and is about 2^ miles

from the Berkeley Road station on the M.R. It was a place

of importance in the times of the Saxons, and figured in

Domesday as a royal domain and a free borough. The
hundred connected with it, which is one of the largest in the

kingdom, was given by William the Conqueror to his follower,

Roger de Berkeley ; was forfeited by that gentleman's grand-

son for his adherence to King Stephen; and given by Henry
II. to Robert Fitz-Hardinge, governor of Bristol, who assumed

the title of Bai'on de Berkeley. The town consists principally

of four streets; contains a town hall with reading-room and

library, a market-house, a chm*ch, a Congregational and a
Wesleyan chapel, a large public school, known as Fitz-

Hardinge's school, a cottage hospital, and a police station ; has

a head post office ; and is a seat of petty sessions and a polling

place. The church, which was restored in 1866 by Sir Gilbert

Scott, is mainly Early English, with some remains of the

earlier Norman edifice. It is a spacious structure, consisting

of chancel, nave, aisles, north and south porch, and a detached

embattled tower 90 feet high (re-erected iu 1760). Attached

to the chancel is a fine mortuary chapel, erected by the

sixth Lord Berkeley in 1450, containing several monu-
ments to the Berkeley family. In the church is an altar-

tomb with alabaster effigies of Thomas, third Lord Berkeley,

and his wife. There is a beautifully carved stone rood-screen,

and the stained e;ist window is in memory of Dr Jenner, who
is buried in the chancel. There is a district church at Purton,

erected in 1874, an iron church at Breadstone, and mission

churches at Newport and Wick. A cemetery at the north

end of the town was opened in 1866, and is under the man-
agement of a burial board. A market is held on the first

Wednesday of every month except May and Dec, and fairs

on 14 May and second Monday in Dec. Trade is carried on

in coal, timber, and cheese, and is facilitated by the vicinity

of the Severn and the Gloucester and Berkeley Canal. Dr
Jenner, who introduced the practice of vaccination, was a

native. The parish contains also the tithings of Hamfallow,

Hinton, Breadstone, Alkiugton, and Ham, and the chapehy

of Stone. Area, 57 acres; population of the civil parish,

890 ; of the ecclesiastical, 5045. Great portion of the

surface is rich dairy land,

Berkeley Castle, close to the SE side of the town, was
founded soon after the Conquest by Roger de Berkeley ; was
enlarged and fortified by Robert Fitz-Hardinge, whose son

]\iaurice married the daughter of Roger, and, with the

exception of one period of 60 years, it has remained in

the hands of the Fitz-Hardinge family to the present day.

It was the scene of the murder of Edward II., and it sus-

tained a siege of nine days in 1645 from the Parliamentarian
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forces, but was obliged to surrender. It was, however, restored

to Lord Berkeley on condition that it was rendered incapable

of defence. A small apartment, called Kinj; Kdward's room,

now lit with windows, but then lit only from arrow-slits,

is shown as the place where Edward 11. was murdered.

It is one of the few old baronial castles still inhabited.

The outline of the castle is irregular. The entrance is under

a massive arch adorned with rich Norman carvings. The
most ancient pai"t of the castle is the Keep, which is almost

circular in form, with round projecting tm'rets. Separated

from it by a com'tyard are the later buildings, surrounding

an inner court about 140 yards in circumference. The Hall,

erected in the time of Edward III., in the centre of the SE
side of the quadrangle, is a noble apartment, 61 feet long,

32 wide, and 32^ high. The Chapel, probably of the same

date as the Hall, adjoins it. The state rooms are in the SW
side, and contain numerous fainily portraits, paintings by

Lely, Vandyck, da Vinci, Holbein, and others, many trinkets

and articles belonging to Queen Elizabeth, and the cabin

furniture of Sir Francis Drake. The historical portion of

the castle is open to the public on Tuesdays and Fridays.

The fourteenth Lord Berkeley was created Earl of Berkeley

in 1679, but the title became extinct in 1810. The present

title, Barou Fitz-Hardlnge, is a creation of 1861. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net

value, £322 with residence. Patron, Lord Fitz-Hardinge. The
vicarage of Stone is a separate charge.

Berkeley Road, a station on the JI.R., 2j miles E of

Berkeley, and 22^ NNE of Bristol.

Berkeley, Vale of, a rich strip of dairy land in Gloucester-

shire. It extends from the southern vicinity of Gloucester along

the course of the Gloucester and Berkeley Canal to its junction

with the Severn, and thence past Berkeley down the left side

of the Severn to Aust. Its length is 25 miles, and its mean
breadth about 4. The soil of the upper pait is clayey, that

of the lower part is deep rich loam, and nearly all is disposed

iu grass for the produce of the dairy. Large quantities of

butter and cheese are made.

Berkhampstead, Great, or Berkhampstead-St-Peter,
a market-town, a parish, and the head of a union in Herts.

The town stands in a deep rich valley on the Bulbourne

river, and on the Grand Junction Canal, adjacent to the

L. & N.W.R., 28 miles NW of London. It perhaps occupies

the site of the Roman station Durobrivae, and it was a resi-

dence of the kings of Mercia. William the Conqueror made
oath at it to maintain the ancient laws of the kingdom.

Robert, Earl of Mortaigne, got it from the Conqueror, and

erected at it a strong castle on the site of the Mercian palace.

Henry I. took it from the earl in punishment of rebellion,

and made it the centre of a royal domain. Henry II. kept

his court at it. King John gave it for a time to Jeffrey

Fitz-Piers, Earl of Essex, but resumed it at the earl's death,

and made it again Crown property. Richard, king of the

Romans, got it fi'om Henry III., and died at it. The castle

now belongs to the Prince of Wales as Duke of Cornwall,

and gives him the title of Baron. The *' honour " connected

with it includes numerous manors iu Herts, Bucks, and

Northampton.

The chief street of the town is about a mile in length,

several other streets leaving it at right angles. The houses

are chiefly of brick, and not regularly aligned, but many are

handsome. The railway passes on an embankment over-

looking the town and the valley, and a commimlcation comes

from it over the canal. The remains of the castle are at the

N end of Castle Street, and consist of detached portions of

massive walls, with a double moat on the NW side, and a

triple one on the other side. The town enjoys a constant

supply of water, obtained from an artesian boring 220 feet

deep in the soft chalk below it. The chief public buildings

ai-e: the Town Hall, an edifice of brick erected in 1860, con-

taining magistrates' rooms, a spacious assembly room, a

market and stores, public baths in the High Street, a grammar
school, a high school for girls, a workhouse and ahnshouse.

The parish church is a spacious, ancient, cruciform structure

of mixed styles, with a central square embattled tower, has

a number of side chapels, and contains tombs of the Tor-

ringtons, the Comwallises, the Incents, the Waterhouses, and

others, and some brasses. The li\'ing is a rectory in the

diocese of St Albans, and the net yearly value is £350 with
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residence, in the gift of Earl Brownlow. There is also a chapel

of ease at Potter's End, and Baptist, Congregational, Primitive

Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels, with places of worship for

Brethren and Society of Friends. The Grammar School was
founded by Dean Incent, in the time of Henry VIIL; was
restored in 1841, has an endowed income of about X1500 a

year, received some important additions in 1888-89, and has

now accommodation for about 200 boys. It is under the

control of a body of 13 governors. The High School fur

Girls was founded in 1888, and is endowed from surplus

funds of the grammar school A free school, founded in

1727 by Thomas Bourne, was in 1879 incorporated with the

National School under a scheme approved by Her Majesty in

Council. There were anciently three monastic hospitals.

The town has a post, money order, and telegraph office, a

railway station, a banking office, and publishes a weekly

newspaper. A new model police station was opened in 1893.

A weekly market is held on Wednesday. Straw- plaiting

and the manufacture of wooden utensils ai*e carried on.

There is also a moderate trade in malt, coals, timber, and

brushes. There are large rose and nursery gardens iu the

neighbourhood, and also a large chemical manufactory.

Berkhampstead sent two members to Parliament in the tune

of Edward III., and got a new charter from James I., con-

ferring privileges none of which are now enjoyed. It is a

seat of petty sessions. Extel the Puritan and Cowper the

poet were natives. Berkhampstead House is a mansion in

the Elizabethan style, built out of the ruins of the castle.

Other residences are Ashlyns Halls and Haresfoot. Area of

parish, 4345 acres of land and 10 of water; population, 5034.

Berkhampstead, Little, a parish and a small village in

the county of Hertford, 5 miles ESE of Hatfield railway

station, and 4 SW of Hertford, tinder which there is a post,

money order, and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1587 ;
popula-

tion, 430. Berkhampstead House is the chief residence. The
observatory tower commands a fine view. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of St Albans; gross value, £227 with

residence, in the gift of the Marquess of Salisbury. The

church was restored in 1803. Bishop Ken was a native.

Epping Green and Howe Green are adjacent hamlets.

Berkhampstead-St-Mary or Northchurch, a parish in

Herts, on the L. & N.W.R. and the Grand Junction Canal,

about 1 mile NW of Berkhampstead. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 3888 of land and 20

of water
;
population, 2351. An ancient structure, now used

as a farmhouse, was originally part of a small priory. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net yearly

value, £365 with residence, in the gift of H.R.H. the Prince

of Wales. The church is Decorated English, and cruciform.

There is a chapel of ease at Broadway, a beautiful edifice

built in 1854. There are also a Mission church, a small Baptist

chapel, and several parochial charities.

Berking. See Barking, Essex.

Berkley, a parish in Somersetshire, 2 miles ENE of

Frome station on the G.W.R. It includes part of the tithing

of Old Ford. Post town, Frome ; money order and telegraph

office, Beckington. Acreage, 1081; population of the civil

parish, 346 ; of the ecclesiastical, 336. Berkley House is

in the neighbourhood. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Bath and Wells ; net value, £280 with residence. The
church is good.

Berks or Berkshire (written Barkshire by Leland, and

so pronounced in the locafity), an inland county within the

basin of the Thames. It is botmded on the N by Gloucester,

Oxford, and Bucks, from all of which it is separated by the

Thames, on the SE by Surrey, on the SW by Herts, and

on the W by Wilts. Its outline is irregular, and has been

compared by some to that of a lute, by others to that of a

slipper or a sandal. Its boundary, in a tortuous line along

the N, from its most westerly extremity to its most easterly

one, is the Thames. Its greatest length is about 48 miles,

its greatest breadth about 29 miles, its mean breadth about

14 miles, its circuit about 165 miles, its area 462,224 acres.

Its surface presents few abrupt or bold elevations. A series

of Downs, a continuation of those in the N of W^ilts, goes

eastward across it« broadest part, and attains at White

Horse Hill an altitude of 893 feet above the level of the sea.

Most of the other tracts are distinguished by soft, gentle,

luxuriant beauty. The chief streams are the Thames, the
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Kennet, the Lodden, the Lambourn, and the Ock. A small

tract on the SPj border, round Finchampstead and Snnning-

hill, consists of Bracklesham and Bap;shot beds. A large

tract across all the S, from the western border in the southern

vicinity of Hungerford, past Newbury and Wokingham, to

the eastern boundary at Old Windsor, consists of London

clay and plastic clay. A broad tract all across, from the

western border at Hungerford and the neighbourhood of

Ashbury to the Thames, from the vicinity of Reading to

Jloulsford, consists of chalk. A considerable belt N of this,

and all across, consists of upper greensand and gault. A
narrow belt, farther N, consists of lower greensand. Two
belts still farther N, the second lying all along the Isis or

Thames to a point below the vicinity of Kennington, consist

of oolite, the former of the upper series, the latter of the

middle. The minerals and the fossils do not possess much
interest, and mineral waters are scarce. Peat exists in con-

siderable quantity on the low grounds of the Kennet, and in

small quantity on some high lands of the Thames, and is

extensively bmnied for its ashes, which form a valuable

manure for clover.

The soils are exceedingly various, ranging from strong

fat loam to a mixture of sharp sand and peat. The vale of

the White Horse is the most fertile tract, and the vale of the

Kennet vies with it, and perhaps is better cultivated. The
state of agriculture and the condition of the farmer are

middle rate. Wheat, oats, barley, turnips, and beans are

the chief crops grown ; but buckwheat, vetches, pease, pota-

toes, rape, carrots, hops, flax, and artificial grasses also are

cultivated. JIuch land on the Thames and around Fariug-

don is devoted to the dairy. The sheep walks were fomierly

depastured by a native breed called the Notts, but these are

now almost superseded by other breeds. The cattle are

mostly of the long horn or common comitry breed. Tlic

draught horses are good and strong, but not tall. Hogs and

poultry are numerous in the dairy districts, and from the

proximity of London yield much profit to the farmer. The
native breed of hogs is highly esteemed, and a mixed breed

at Sunninghill Park is pre-eminently good.

Agkicultural Statistics for 1892.

Crops.

Corn Crops, ....
Green Crops, . . -

Clover, Sainfoin, Grasse
Permanent Pasture, .

Bare Fallow, . . .

Orchards,
Market Gardens, . .

Small Fruit, ....
Nursery Grounds, . .

Woods and Plantations-

Acres,

n 1,031

. 49,3o3

;. 39,234

158,633
, 8,712
, 2,458

6J1
302

35,829

No.Live Stock.

Horses—Used solely for

Agriculture, . 12,8.30
" Unbroken, . . 3,4U1
" Mares kept for

Breeding,. . 642
Cows and Heifers in Milk

or Calf 21,642
Other Cattle, .... 27,409
Sheep, 244,986
Pigs, 27,667

Woodlands prevail much in the E, and get prominence there

from Windsor Forest. Oak and beech are the chief trees in the

woods. The beech trees are largely tm'ned to account for the

manufacture of chairs and numerous turned articles. Osiers

are grown in watery places for baskets, and alders for rake

handles and other uses. Fine trout and other tish abound in

most of the streams, the trout of the Kennet being especially

esteemed by anglers.

Manufactmes are of small note. Woollen cloth, sacking,

and sail-cloth were formerly made in large quantity, but have

ceased to be of any consequence. The clothing trade, which

formerly sustained numerous market towns, since dwindled

tn mere villages, has been revived at Abingdon. Paper

is made in the vale of the Kennet. Much malt is manu-
factured for the London market, and the Kennet and Wind-

sor ales are in repute. At Reading there are the world-

famed biscuit works of Messrs Huntly & Palmer, the Reading

ironworks, and the celebrated seed grounds of Messrs Sutton.

The Thames is na^^gable along all the N boundary, and the

Kennet by means of cuts for 30 miles, from Reading to

Hungerford ; the Berks and Wilts Canal goes across all the

N, from the vicinity of Abingdon up the vale of the White

Horse; and the Kennet and Avon Canal completes the navi-

gation of the Kennet from Newbury to Hungerford. The

(ireat Western railway enters by Slough (Bucks), with a

branch through Eton to Windsor, thence to Maidenhead,

sends off a branch thence into Bucks towards High Wycombe,

passes on to Twyford, seuds off a branch thence across the
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Thames to Henley, passes on to Reading, is joined there by
a line coming up from the London and South Western and
South Eastern, which join at Wokingham, passes up the

Thames to Didcot, sends off thence a branch to Oxford,

with sub-branch to Abingdon, and another branch south-

ward to Newbury, and goes away westward to Wilts in the

\'icinity of Shrivenham. A line goes southward from Read-

ing to Basingstoke, another line goes westward from Reading

to Hungerford, and branches go from the Great Western

to Wallingford and Faringdon.

The administrative county contains 187 entire civil parishes,

and parts of 7 others. The ancient county contains 190
entire ecclesiastical parishes or districts, and parts of 10
others. The assizes and sessions are held at Reading.

The comity was formerly in the diocese of Salisbury, but

was separated in 183(>, and is now in the diocese of

Oxford. It constitutes an archdeaconry, which is sub-

divided into the rural deaneries of Abingdon, Bradfield,

Maidenhead, Newbury, Reading, Sonning, Vale of White
Horse, Wallingford, and Wantage. The county town is

Reading, and the market-towns are Reading, Abingdon,
Faringdon, Newbury, Wantage, Wokmgham, Maidenhead,

East Hsley, Lambom^l, Hmigcrford, Stratficld Mortimer,

Wallingford, and Windsor. The chief seats are Windsor
Castle, Wytham Abbey, Ashdown Park, Coleshill House,

Billingbear Park, Sandleford Priory, Beckett Park, Basildon

Park, Beenham House, Bear Place, Stanlake, Warfield

House, Lockynge Park, Aldermaston, Barton Court, Benham
House, Bear Wood, Bill Hill, BiuBeld, Bisham Abbey,

Besselsleigh, Buckhold, Buscot, Castle Priory, Charlton

House, Gulham Court, Cumberland Lodge, Donnington
Castle, Englefield House, Easthampstcad Park, Erlegh

Whiteknights, Hall Place, Holme Park, Hmigerford Park,

Kingston Lisle, Maidenhead Court, Midgham, Old Windsor,

Padworth, Pusey House, Shaw House, Silwood, Sunninghill

Park, Swallowfield Park, Temple House, Titness Park, Wasing
Place, WinkSeld Place, and Woolley Park.

Berks is in the home military district, and in the Oxford
judicial circuit. There were formerly jails at Abingdon
and Reading, but the former was sold on the transference

of the assizes to Reading. The prison at Reading was
erected in 1833, is a castellated building of red brick, and

has accommodation for 224 prisoners. Under the Local

Goveniment Act of 1888 Berkshire became an administra-

tive county, governed by a County Council consisting of a

chairman, 17 aldermen, and 50 councillors. The place of

meeting is the Assize Courts, Reading. The administrative

county includes the county borough of Reading, which

contains three entire civil pai'ishes, and the six municipal

boroughs of Abingdon, Maidenhead, Newbury, Wallingford,

New Windsor, and Wokingham, and has one comt of quarter

sessions and 12 petty sessional di\'isions. The boroughs

of Abingdon, Maidenhead, Newbury, New Windsor, Read-

ing, and Wallingford have separate commissions of the

peace ; Abingdon, Newbury, New Wmdsor, and Reading

having in addition separate courts of quarter sessions. For-

merly three members were returned to Parliament for the

undivided county, but by the Redistribution of Seats Act,

1885, it was divided into the northern, southeni, and eastern

divisions, with one member for each. In addition, one

member is returned by the borough of Reading, and the

county contains parts of the parliamentary boroughs of New
Windsor and Oxford. The poor-law unions of the county

are Abingdon, Bradfield, Cookham, Easthampstcad, Faring-

don, Hungerford, Newbury, Reading, Wallingford, Wantage,
Windsor, and Wokingham. The chief hospital of the county

is the Royal Berkshire Hospital at Reading, opened in 1839,

and gi'eatly enlarged in 1882. The County Lmiatic Asylum
stands on the Wallingford road, three-quarters of a mile from

Moulsford station, and in the parish of Cholsey. It is a tine

building of red brick, was opened in 1870, and its grounds

cover an area of 80 acres. The Broadmoor Criminal Limatic

Asylum stands oil an elevated site near Wokingham, and

has accommodation for 563 inmates. The population of tlie

county was (1801) 110,480,(1821) 132,639,(1841) 161,769,

(1861) 176,256, (1881) 218,363, (1891) 238,709. The
population of the administrative county is 176,109.

The territory now fonning Berks was inhabited in the

ancient British times by two tribes, whom the Roman in-
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vadei-s called Bibroci and Attrebatii. It became part of the

Roman Britannia Prima. It next formed part of the Saxon

kingdom of Wessex, and was then called Berrocscire. It

was the scene of frequent conflicts with the Danes, and it

afterwards figured in the straggle between the Empress

Matilda and Stephen, in the quarrels between King John and

his nobles, and in the war between Charles I. and his P,arlia-

ment. British, Roman, and Saxon remains, chiefly barrows

and camps, occnr at Little Coxwell, Sinodun, Letconibe,

Uflingham, the \Vhite Horse Hill, Ashbnry, Aslidown, Speen,

Binfield, Castleacre, Hardwell, and Wantage. Icknield

Street traverses the county south-westward from Streatley to

the south-western vicinity of Newbury, and sends off branches

along the hills. An ancient road went from Speen to Sil-

chester; another, called the Devil's Causeway, went by Old

Windsor to Staines, and some others have left traces.

Ruined castles occur at Faringdon, Donnington, and Walling-

ford, and ancient mansions at Alderaiaston, Appleton, Ock-

holt, Cumnor, and Wytham. Abbeys stood at Abingdon,

Bisham, Bradfield, Faringdon, and Reading; priories at

Bisham, Cholsey, Harley, Faringdon, Beading, Sandleford,

and Wallingtord
;

preceptories at Bisham and Brimpton

;

and colleges at Shottesbrook, Wallingford, and Windsor.

Interesting ancient churches, Norman or otherwise, occur at

Avington, Bucklebury, Cumnor, Englefield, Shottesbrook,

Uflington, and Welford. Berkshh'e gives the title of Earl to

the Earl of Sufl'olk.

Berkshire. See Berks.
Berkshire Island, a wooded island in Windermere,

Westmoreland, on the W side, near Ferry Point.

Berkswell or Berkeswell, a vill.age and a parish in

Warwickshire, 2 miles SW of Meriden, and G W of Coventry.

There is a station a mile S of the village on the L. & N.W. R.,

and a post and money order office under Coventry ; telegraph

office, RIeriden. Acreage, 6169 ;
population of the civil parish,

1374 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Barston, 1719. Berks-

well Hall, the ancient seat of the Wilmot family, is situated

in a park of about 260 acres. Nailcote Hall and Mercote

Hall are other principal residences. The ancient well which

gives its name to the rillage, was restored in 1851. There

are almshouses for 12 old men and women. The living is a

rectory, united with the chapelry of Barston, in the diocese

of Worcester; gross value, £969 witli residence. The
church is Norman, and has a crypt and .an embattled western

tower; it contains several monuments to the Eardley-Wilmot
f.amily.

Berkswich. See Baswich, Staffbrdsliire.

Berling. See Birling, Northumberland.

Bermersley. See Bemerslet.
Bermondsey, a parish and a parliamentary division of

Southwark, Surrey. The parish lies on the right bank of

the Thames, below London Bridge, between Southwark proper

and Rotherhithe, and is in the postal district of London S.E.,

and traversed by the Greenwich railw.ay. Area of the civil

parish, 627 acres; population, 84,682. A large portion of

tiie surface is covered with compact town suburban to London.
A quondam island or " eye," belonging to a Saxon chief Beor-
mund, seems to have given rise to the name Bermondsey, origi-

nally Beoi-mnndseye, then Bermundseye. A Cluniac abbey was
founded here in 1082 by Aylwin Child of London, endowed
with the surrounding manor by William Rufus, made the prison

and the death-place of the widowed queen of Edward IV., given

at the dissolution to Sir Robert Southwell, and sold the same
year to Sir Thomas Pope. A magnificent mansion speedily

superseded the abbey church, and was afterwards inhabited

by Thomas Ratcliffe, Earl of Sussex, who died here in 1683.
A gate of the abbey and some other remains were standing
within the nineteenth century, but the only memorial of it now
is the name of Abbey Street. Two ancient hospitals, dedi-
cated to St Savion: and St Thomas, stood adjacent. A
chalybeate well, some distance SE of the abbey's site, came
into repute about 1770, and though now built over is com-
memorated in the name of the Spa Road. Numerous water-
courses or mill-streams, rising and falling with the tidal

current of the Thames, eariy attracted manufacturers re-
quiring their aid, but gave rise to noxious effluvia, and
were converted into sewers under the .sanitary regulations
consequent on the ravages of Asiatic cholera. The district

was long one of the filthiest connected with London, but has
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of late years been greatly improved. The chief employments

are leather-working, tanning, and hat-making, but other em-
ployments are uumerotis. For list of civil and ecclesiastical

parishes, with populations, livings, &c., see London,
The living is a rectory in the diocese of Rochester

;
gross

value, £419 with residence. The church is a plain struc-

tm'e of 1680, on the site of one which stood at the Conquest,

and it has among its communion plate a richly chased silver

salver, supposed to be of the time of Edward II., and to have

belonged to the Cluniac Abbey. There are numerous other

places of worship for all dissenting denominations. Ber-

mondsey was constituted a division of the Parliamentary

borough of Southwark in 1885, and raturns one member to

the House of Commons. For administrative purposes it is in

the county of London. Population of the Parliamentary

division, 82,849.

Berne, a quarter in Whitechurch-Canonicorum parish,

Dorset, 4i miles WNW of Bridport.

Berne, Surrey. See Barnes.
Berners Boding, a parish in Essex, situated on the river

Roding, about 7 miles NE from Ongar station on the G.E.R.
Post town, Brentwood; money order and telegraph office,

Ongar. Acreage, 1262; population, 89. The living is a

donative vicarage in the diocese of St. Albans
;
gross yearly

value, £70. The church is a small building of rubble in the

Perpendictdar style. This village is said to have been the

birthplace of Dame Juliana Berners, Prioress of Sopewell

Nunneiy, who is celebrated for her treatises on the sports of

hawking, hunting, and fishing.

Bemicia, the northern part of the ancient Saxon king-

dom of Northumbria. It extended from the Tyne to the

Forth, took its name from tlie river Brennich, which is the

part of the Till above Wooler, and was a kingdom by itself,

separate from Deira or the southern part of Northumbria,
from the time of Ida in 547 to that of Eanred in 841.

Bemiston. See Barnardiston.
Bernwood, an ancient forest around Brill, on the borders

of Bucks and Oxford.

Berrick-Prior, a liberty in Newlngton parish, Oxford, 4
miles NNE of Wallingford.

Berrick-Salome, a village and a parish in the county of

Oxford, adjacent to the Chiltern Hills, 4 miles NE by N of

Wallingford station on the G.W.R. Post town, Wallingford

;

money order and telegraph office, Bensington. Acreage, 603 ;

population, 86. The living is a chapelry, annexed to the

vicarage of Chalgrove, in the diocese of Oxford
;
joint net

yearly value, £230 with residence, in the gift of the Dean
and Chapter of Christ Church, Oxford. The church, an
ancient edifice of stone, in mixed styles, was thoroughly re-

stored in 1890.

Berrier, Murrah, and Mosedale, a township in Grey-
stuke parish, Cumberland, 8 miles W of Penrith, and 2 from
Penmddock station on the Cockermouth, Keswick, and
Peiu-ith railw.iy. Acreage, 2562

;
population, 108.

Berriew or Aher-Ehiw, a village and a parish in Jlont-

gomeryshu-e. The parish lies on the canal, at the influx

of the river Rhiw to the Severn, 2 miles W by S of Forden
station on the Cambrian railway, and 4 NW of llontgomery.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.)
Acreage, 12,131; population of the civil parish, 1760; of

the ecclesiastical, 1747. V.aynor Park, which formerly be-

longed to the Devereux family, is a chief residence. Some
fine scenery occurs on the Severn, and just above the village

the Rhiw forms a waterfall. There are some ancient British

remains. About a mile from the village is an erect stone,

called Maen Beuno, which marks the spot, according to

tradition, where St Beuno first preached the Gospel in these

parts. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph
;

net value, £263 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of St

Asaph. The church is dedicated to St Beuno, and is small

but good.

Berrington, a hamlet in Kyloe p.irish, Northumberland,

5J miles S of Berwick-upon-Tweed. Beal (R.S.O.) is the

post town.

Berrington, ahamlet in the parish of Chipping- Campden,
Gloucestershire, near Chipping-Campden.

Berrington, a village and a parish in Salop. The village

stands near the river Severn, and has a station on the Severn
Valley branch of the G.W.K., 6 miles SE of Shrewsbury, under
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which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph office,

Crosshouses. The parish also includes the village of Cross-

houses and the townships of Betton, Brompton, Cantlop, and
Eaton Mascott. Acreage, 4374; population of the civil

parish, 908; of the ecclesiastical, 904. The li\iug is a

rectory in the diocese of Lichfield
;

gross value, £444 with

residence. Patron, Lord Berwick. The church is ancient,

and has a tower with eight pinnacles. It contains a Saxon
font, a remarkable wooden effigy, and has a fine stained

window. It was restored in 1877. At Crosshouses there is

a Congregational chapel, and at Eaton Mascott a Wesleyan
chapel. The Atcham Union workhouse is situated at Cross-

houses.

Berrin^on, a hamlet in Tenbury parish, Worcestershire,

on the river Teme, 2 miles WNW of Tenbury.

Berrington and Eye, a station on the Shrewsbury and
Hereford railway (L. & N.W. and G.W.R.), 3^ miles N of

Leominster, Herefordshire. Berrington Hall adjacent is the

seat of Lord Rodney. It is a handsome modern stone man-
sion, situated in a well-wooded park of 400 acres. It was
formerly a seat of the Cornwall family.

Berrocscire or Bearruscire, names given by Saxon
chroniclers to the district covered by Berkshire. The real

meaning of these titles is unknown, though some ingenious

guesses have been made by antiquaries.

Berrow, a parish in Somersetshire, on a bay of its own
name, on the Bristol Channel, 2 miles from Burnham station

on the Somerset and Dorset Joint railway, and 9^ WSW of

Asbridge. It has a post office under Burnham, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2221
;
popu-

lation, 413. A great extent of sand, called Berrow Flat, is

alternately covered and abandoned by tlie tide, and this

forms most of Berrow Bay, which is simply an open nan'ow

belt extending 8 miles northward from the mouths of the

Farret and the Brae. The Hving is a vicarage in the diocese

of Bath and Wells; net value, £233 with residence. Patron,

the Archdeacon of Wells. The church is an interesting one

of the 13th century. It has been well restored, and the

chancel much improved by being paved with encaustic tiles,

and by the addition of a beautifully carved reredos. The
altar is of oak, of much historical interest, being formerly in

Wells Cathedral. The pulpit and desk are also of oak, and
are fine specimens of Jacobean work. There is a Wesleyan

chapel.

Berrow, a village and a parish in Worcestershire, 6J miles

SW of Upton station on the M.R., 7 SE of Ledbury, and
7 W of Tewkesbury. There is a post office under Ledbury

;

money order office, Welland ; telegraph office, Eastnor, both

being about 5 miles distant. Acreage, 2207
;

population,

310. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester;

net value, £248 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and
Chapter of Worcester. The church, which was restored in

1858, is Early English, with a Norman doorway and an

embattled tower.

Berrow Hill, in Martley parish, Worcestershire, IJ mile

S of Martley, is a bold, conical hill, commanding the finest and

most extensive view in the county. On the summit are the

remains of an ancient entrenchment, two lines of circumval-

lation, nearly 400 yards long, following the contour of the

hill.

Berry Brow, a village 2 miles SSE of Huddersfield, in

the W. R. Yorkshire. It has a station on the L. & Y.R.,

a post office under Huddersfield, and two Methodist chapels.

Berry Edge, a village on the NW border of Durham,

^ a mile E of Leadgate, and 6^ WSW of Swalwell. See

CfJNSETT.

Berry Green, a hamlet 2 miles W of Bishop-Stortford,

H«-ts.

Berry Head, a headland at the south side of the entrance

of Tor Bay, Devon, C miles NE of Dartmouth. It is square

shaped, and consists of hard, smooth, flesh-colonred lime-

stone. Its summit is crowned with traces of a Roman camp,

and ruins of two large military statioi\s constructed at the

close of the 18th century, and its north front is much
quarried, and falls abruptly into deep water, with moorage

for vessels, like a quay. See Ash-Hole.
Berry Hill, a suburb of the town of Coleford, Gloucester-

shire, in the Forest of Dean, fomiing with Joyford, Hiilers-

land, and Lane Ends an ecclesiastical parish. The living is
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a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; net

value, £141. Patron, the Crown. The church was enlarged

in 1885.

Berrjrnarbor, a village and a parish in Devonshire. The
village stands on an eminence on the coast, 3^ miles E of

Ilfracombe station on the L. & S.W.R., and has a post and
telegraph office under Ilfracombe, which is the money order

office. It contains a richly sculptured mansion of the time

of Edward IV. The parish comprises 4980 acres; popula-

tion, 652. Bowden farmhouse was the birthplace of Bishop

Jewel. A small circular camp occurs about ^ a mile from

the shore. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter

;

net value, £480 with residence. The church has a Normau
arch, an Early English chancel, a Perpendicular nave, a Deco-

rated, high, massive tower, was restored in 1862, and again

in 1887. There is a Congregational chapel.

Berry-Pomeroy, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The village stands If mile E by N of Totnes station on the

G.W.R. The parish includes also Bridgetown, a suburb of

Totnes, on the river Dart. Post town, Totnes. Acreage, 4483;
population, 1073. Beny-Pomeroy Castle, on a rock, sur-

rounded with wooded heights, in the neighbourhood of the

village, was built by Ralph de Pomeroy, a follower of the

Conqueror ; inhabited by his descendants till 1549; conveyed

then to Protector Somerset ; enlarged soon after, with mag-
nificent additions, at a cost of upwards of £20,000 ; in-

habited, for the last time, by Sir Edward Seymour in the

time of James II. ; and traditionally said to have been

destroyed by lightning. The ivy-mantled walls of it, the

great gateway, a round tower, a Tudor front of Protector

Somerset's addition, and part of a Jacobean court of the time

of Charles I., ai'e still standing, shattered and unroofed, and

form, with the accompaniments of the dell and the woods,

a very romantic object The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Exeter; net value, £280 with residence. Patron,

the Duke of Somerset. The church is an ancient structure

of nave, chancel, and aisles, and contains a handsome screen

and tombs of the Seymours. John Prince, author of the
" Worthies of Devon," was vicar for forty-two years, and lies

interred in the church. In 1879 the interior was thoroughly

restored at a cost of about £3000.

Bersham, a township and a chapelry in Wrexham parish,

Denbighshire. The township lies on the river Clwydog,

near Watt's Dyke, 2 miles W of Wrexham, under which it

lias a post and money order office, and at which is the tele-

graph office. Acreage, 1985; population, 5198. There is a

paper-mill, and coal works are in the vicinity. The chapelry

of Berse-Drelincourt is a perpetual cm^acy in the diocese of

St Albans ; net value, £80 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of St Albans. There is a church at Bersham dedi-

cated to St Mary, and Calvinistic Methodist and Wesleyan

Methodist chapels.

Bersted. See Bearsted.
Bersted, North, a tithing in South Bersted parish,

Sussex.

Bersted, South, a village and a parish in Sussex. The
village stands ^ mile N of Bognor station on the L.B. &
S.C.K., and 1 from the coast, and has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Bognor. The civil parish extends

to the shore, and includes Bognor and the tithings of North

Bersted and Shripney. Acres, 2738 of land and 226 of

foreshore and water; population of the civil parish, 4953;
of the ecclesiastical, 1782. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Chichester; net value, £220 with residence.

Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury. The church was
consecrated in 1406 ; consists of chancel, nave, and aisles

;

has a tower with lai'ge buttresses and an obtuse shingled

spire. The remains of Sir R. Hotham, the founder of Bog-

nor, are buried in the chui'chyai'd, which is now closed by

order in Comicil. A cemetery of 5 acres was formed in

1885. The perpetual curacy of Bognor is a separate benefice.

Bert, The. See Brit, The.

Berwick, a hamlet in Llanelly parish, Carmarthenshire,

in the vicinity of Llanelly.

Berwick, a village 4\ miles SE of Bridport, in Dorset.

Berwick, a village and a parish in Susses. The village

stands near the river Cuckmere, 1 mile S of a station of its

own name on the L.B. & S.C.R., 58 miles from London, and

7 SE of Lewes. The parish comprises 1104 acres; popula-
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tion, 172. It has a post office at railway station under Pole-

gate (R.S.O.); money order and telegraph office, Upper
Dicken. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chiches-

ter; net value, £225 with residence. The church is good.

Berwick-Bassett, a parish in Wiltshire, 6 miles S by E
of Wootton-Bassett station on the G.W.R., and 7 NW of

Marlborough. It h.as a post office under Swindon ; money

order office, Broad Hinton ; telegraph office, Avebury. Acre-

age, 1391
;
population, 1G6. The living is a vicarage, united

in 18G6 with Winterbonrne-Monkton, in the diocese of Salis-

bury ; value, £328. Patron, the Bishop of Salisbury,

Berwick-Hall. See Barwick-Halt..
Berwick-Hill, a township in Ponteland parish, Northum-

berland, Gj miles S by W of Morpeth. Acreage, IGGa;

population, 87.

Berwick-in-the-Brakes. See Barwick, Norfolk.

Berwick-Maviston, a township in Atcliam parish, Salop,

on the river Severn, 3J miles ESE of Shrewsbury. It was

formerly a lordship belonging to the Malvoisins, and gives

the title of Baron to the Noel-Hill family.

Berwick-Prior. See Berrick-Priok.
Berwick-St-James, a parish in Wiltshire, on an affluent

of the river Wiley, 2J miles NNW of Wislifurd station on the

G.W.K., and 5J WSW of Amesbury. It h.as a post office

under Salisbury ; money order and telegraph office, Strew-

ton. Acreage, 2497; population, 191. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury ; net value, £G1. Patron,

Lord Ashburton. The church is Early English, has a Norman
doorway, and is very good.

Berwick-St-Jolm, a parish in Wilts, at the somce of the

Ebele river, under White Sheet Hill, near Cranborne Chase,

6 miles S of Tisbury station on the L. & S.W.R., and Sj E
by S of Shaftesbury. The parish comprises 4569 acres

;

population of civil parish, 428 ; of ecclesi-astical, 387. It

has a post office under Salisbury ; money order and tele-

gi'aph office, Donhead St Andrew. Winklebury Camp, on
a lofty ridge in the SW, is an entrenchment of 12^ acres,

engh't by a single ditch and by a rampart 39 feet high, and
commands a very extensive view. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Salisbury ; net value, £384 with residence.

Patron, New College, Oxford. The church is a cruciform

structure of the time of Henry VII., has a low, square, cen-

tral, ornamented tower; was restored in 18G1-C2, and con-

tains two ancient effigies of crusaders, and monuments of the

Grove family and others. There are Wesleyan and Baptist

chapels.

Berwick - St - Leonard, a parish in Wilts, 1 mile E
of Hindon, and 3 miles NNW of Tisbury station on the

L. & S.W.R. Post town, Hindon, under Salisbury, which is

the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1144
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 61; of the ecclesiastical, with

Sedghill, 237. Remains of the old manor-house, the seat

of the Howes from 1629 to 1735, where the Prince of Orange
slept in 1GG8 on his way to London, are now part of a suite

of fai-m buildings. The living is a rectory, united with the

perpetual curacy of Sedghill, in the diocese of Salisbury

;

net value, £210. Both churches have been restored.

Berwick-Salome. See Berrick-Salome.
Berwick-Shrewsbury, a township and chapelry in St

Mary's parish, Salop, on the river Severn, 2 miles NW of

Shrewsbury, under which there is a post office, and at which
is the money order and telegraph office. The chapelry in-

cludes the hamlets of Alkmond Park, Newton, and Rose-

Hill. Berwick Hall, the seat of the lord of the manor, is a
modern mansion in the Italian style, situated in a park of

about 100 acres. In the park are almshouses for sixteen

aged persons. The living is a chaplaincy annexed to the

almshouses, in the diocese of Lichfield; gross value, £G7.
The church, situated in the park of Berwick Hall, was en-

larged in 1893.

Berwick-upon-Tweed, a seaport, market-town, munici-

pal borough, and parish in Northumberland. Constituted a
county of itself under 6 & 7 William IV. c. 103, Berwick-

upon-Tweed in 1882 was transferred from the diocese of Dur-

ham, to which it had belonged since 1310, to the newly
formed diocese of Newcastle-on-Tyne. It formerly returned

two members to Parliament, but under the Redistribution of

Seats Act, 1885, was disfranchised, and for the purposes of

parliamentary elections became part of the coimty of North-

BERWICK-UPON-TWEED

umberland. The town stands on the left bank of the Tweed,

adjacent to the junction of the N.E. and the North British

railways, 64 miles by road and 67J by railway N by W of

Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Its site is a gentle declivity sloping

to the river about ^ a mile from the sea. A tract of about

8 square miles around it, and including it, was formerly a

peculiar jurisdiction, neither in England nor in Scotland, but

by a recent Act was incorporated with Northumberland. This

is called the Liberties of Berwick, and forms the parish of

Berwick-on-Tweed. The environs are diversified and beauti-

ful, present picturesque views, especially along the Tweed

and on the coast, and comprise charming walks and drives.

The town dates from ancient times, but comes obscurely

into record, and probably was founded by the Saxon kings

of Northumbria. It was taken in 880 by Gregory of Scot-

land; given in 1020 by the Cospatricks to Malcolm IV.;

and figured in the early part of the next century as a place

of mark, the capital of Lothian, and one of the first four

royal boroughs of Scotland. It was taken from the Scots in

1174 by Henry II. ; restored to them by Richard I.; ravaged

by King John; taken in 1272 by Edward I., who crowned

Baliol at it in 1292 ; taken again in 1295 by Edward, and

m.ade his capital of Scotland ; retaken in 1297 by the Scots

under WaUace, while its castle remained with the English

;

made the scene in 1305 of the exposure of half of the body

of the executed Wallace ; the place in 1310 of the winter

residence of Edward II. and his queen ; the place in 1314 of

the mustering of the English army before the battle of Ban-

nockburn; taken again in 1318 by the Scots under Bruce;

retaken in 1333 by the English after the battle of Halidon

Hill; surprised and recaptured in 1353 by the Scots; re-

captured next year by the English ; surprised again in 1377

by seven Scotsmen, and held eight days against 7000 archers

and 3000 cavaliy ; recovered by the Percys and used by them
in 140G against the Crown ; taken promptly from them
through the astounding effect of cannon shot, the first ever

fired in England ; attempted in 1422 by the Scots ; ceded

to them in 1461 by Margaret of Anjou after the battle of

Towton; re-ceded in 1482 to the English; and declared in

1551 a neutral territory, independent of both England and
Scotland. It was visited in 1G03 by James I. on his way
to England, in 1633 and 1039 by Charles I., and taken in

1G48 by Cromwell.

Many fortifications at difierent periods were raised round
the town, and the latest walls, together with small portions

of more ancient works, are still standing. The original walls

comprehended a circuit of nearly 2J miles, and included the

present suburb of Castlegate ; a tower belonging to them,

used as a watch-tower, with commanding outlook on the

surrounding country, and called the Bell Tower, still exists.

The present walls comprehend a circuit of about 1^ mile

;

were built in the time of Elizabeth ; and consist of a broad

rampart formed of earth, faced with masonry, and defended

on the land sides by five bastions, but they were dismantled

in 1822, and are now disposed in a pleasant promenade.

The castle or citadel stood contiguous on the W, on high

ground sloping precipitously to the Tweed ; it dates from

the same remote times as the town, long possessed much
military strength, went into disrepair in the time of Eliza-

beth, contributed much building material for the town in

the time of Cromwell, and has now all disappeared except

the dilapidated exterior western wall. The Countess of

Buchan was shut up in it, in a wicker cage, four years by
Edward I. for putting the crown on the head of Robert

Bruce at his coronation.

The town presents a mixed appearance of the ancient and
the modern. Two chief lines of street intersect it, the one

from N to S, the other from E to W, and divide it into four

nearly equal parts. The town-hall, at the foot of High Street,

was built about 1755 by Dodds, and has a tetrastyle Doric

portico and a tower surmounted by a spire 150 feet high.

The offices and buildings of the Urban Sanitary Authority

was formerly the gaol, on the E side of Wallace Green, which
was built in 1849 at a cost of £8000. The corn exchange

was built in 1858 at a cost of about £5000. The barracks

were built in 1719, and enclose a quadrangle of 217 feet

by 121. The railway station occupies the site of the

castle, is a castellated structure 190 feet long, and has all

its ofiices on the east side. The railway viaduct over the
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Tweed is 2160 feet long; has twenty-eight semicircular

arches, each 60 feet in span ; is 134 feet high from founda-
tion to roadway

; and commands a superb view. The carriage

bridge was built in 1603-34; is 1164 feet long, but only 17
feet wide ; has 15 arches, gradually diminishing in span.

The docks, opened in 1876, cost £90,000. The harbour-

pier was constructed in 1810 at a cost of £50,000 ; runs

nearly § a mile into the sea; and is crowned at the end by

two fixed lights. The parish church was completed in the

time of Cromwell, the plans having been made in the time

of James I. by an Italian architect, on the site of a previous

edifice in which David Bruce was married to the sister of

Edward III. ; it was restored and enlarged in 1855, is a

stately building of Italian architecture without a tower, and
has a good organ. St Mary's Church was built in 1858.

There are also a Roman Catholic chapel, and dissenting chapels

for Presbyterians, Baptists, Primitive Methodists, and Wes-
leyans ; a grammar school, founded iu 1632 and reconsti-

tuted in 1880, with endowed income of £150 ; a school for

the sons of freemen supported by the corporation, and several

other schools ; a dispensary and infirmary ; a workhouse,

altered and enlarged ; assembly rooms, in which concerts,

&c., are held ; and a public subscription library. A nunnery
was founded by David I., a friary in 1270, and a priory at

some other period, but all have disappeared.

The town has a head post office, a telegraph station, sevenal

banks, and it publishes five weekly newspapers. A weekly

market is held on Saturday, fairs for cattle and horses on the

tirst Saturdiiy in JIarch, May, and Nov., also a fair on the

last Friday of ^lay. Iron working, tlie trades connected with

a seaport, and various kinds of manufacture on a small scale,

are carried on. The adjacent fisheries were once worth

£15,000 a year, but have much decreased in value. There

are a custom house .and a coa.stguard station. The harbour is

rocky, and suffers much from a shifting bar, but has good
anchorage within. The number of vessels registered as be-

longing to the port in 1893 was 12 (573 tons). The entries

and clearances each average 290 (31,000 tons) per annum.
The chief imports are timber, iron, bones, phosphates, hemp,
and tallow ; and the chief exports, corn, coal, salmon, and
provisions. The town held various charters amid its shifting

fortunes, hut became permanently incorporated by charter of

James VI. (Jiimes I. of England), and now as a borough

includes two parishes—namely, Berwick-on-Tweed on the

north side, and Tweedmouth on the south side of the river.

BeiTvick-on-Tweed iias still a separate juiisdiction, with

quarter sessions and a recorder. Spittal, which is situated

(ai the south side of the mouth of the Tweed, is being greatly

improved, has a cement sea wall and promenade, and is be-

coming a popular watering-place. It has a spa well contain-

ing iron, &c., is part of the municipal borough, and is in

the parish of Tweedmouth. Berwick-on-Tweed is governed

ity a mayor, 6 aldermen, and 18 councillors, who also act

as the Urban Sanitary Authority, and in whom the water-

works are vested. The town is divided into four municipal

wards, viz. ;—North, Middle, Tweedmouth, and Spittal.

Area of municipal borough, 6507 acres; population, 13,377.

The parish comprises 5367 acres of land and 461 of foreshore

and water
;
population, 8532. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Newcastle ; net value, £500 with residence. Patron,

tlie Bishop of Newcastle. St Mary's is a separate benefice, a

vicarage of the gross value of £340 with residence, in the

patronage of the Dean and Chapter of Durham. Population

of the ecclesiastical parish of Holy Trinity, 6216 ; of St

Mary, 231C.

Berwick-upon-Tweed rarliameiiiary Division of North-

nmberlund was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act

of 1885, and returns one member to the House of Commons.
Population, 52, 138. The division includes the following:

—

Kamburgh Ward—Adderstone, Bamburgh, Bamburgh Castle,

Beadnell, Belford, Bradford, Budle, Burton, Chathill, Det-

chant, Easington, Easington Grange, Elford, Ellingham,

Elwick, Fleeth.am, Glororum, Hoppen, Lucker, Middleton,

Mousen, Newliam, Newstead, Outchester, Preston, Ratch-

wood, Ross, Shoston, Spindleston, Sunderland (North),

Swinhoe, Tugball, Warenford, Warenton, Fame Islands,

iSIonk's House ; Cuquetdale Ward (part of East Division)

—

Acton and Old Felton, Alnmouth, Alnwick, Bassington,

Birling, Boulmer and Seatou House, Brotherwick, Broxfield,
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Brunton, Buston (High), Buston (Low), Charlton (North),
Charlton (South), Craster, Ditchburn, Dunstan, Doxford,
Elyhaugh, Embleton, Falloden, Felton, Greens and Glantlees,

Hazon and Hartlow, Howick, Lesbury, Littlehonghton, Long-
houghton, Newton-on-the-Moor, Newton-by-the-Sea, Ren-
nington. Rock, Shilbottle, Shipley, Stamford, Sturton Grange,
Swarland, Walkmill, Whittle, Woodhouse ; Coquetdale Ward
(North Division)—Abberwick, Alnham, Beanley, Bewick
(New), Bewick (Old), Bolton, Brandon, Branton, Broompark,
Callaley and Yetlington, Crawley, Ediingham, Eglingham

;

Fawdon, Clinch, and Hartside; Glanton, Harehope, Hedgeley,
Ingram Linhope and Greenshaw Hill, Learchild, Lemming-
ton, Lorbottle, Prendwick, Reaveley, Ryle (Great), Ryle
(Little), Shawdon, Screnwood, Titlington, Unthank, Wooper-
ton, Whittingham ; Glendale Ward—Akeld, Branxton, Car-
ham (part of), Chatton, Chillingham, Coldsmouth and Thomp-
son's Walls, Coupland, Crookhouse, Doddington, Earle, Ewart,
Ford, Grey's Forest, Hebbm-n, Heathpool, Howtell, Humble-
ton, Ilderton, Kilham, Kirknewton, Lauton, Lilburn (East),

Lilburn (West), Lowick, Middleton Hall, Middleton (North),
Middleton (South), MUfield, Nesbit, Newtown, Paston, Rod-
dam, Roseden, Selby's Forest, Westnewton, Wooler, Yeaver-
ing ; Norham and Islandshire—Ancroft, Carham (p.art ofJ,

Cornhill, Duddo, Felkington, Grindon, Holy Island, Horu-
cliffe, Kyloe, Loauend, Longridge, Norham, Norham Mains,
Ross, Shoreswood, Thornton, Tweedmouth, part of (Ord),
Twizel ; Berwick-upon-Tweed, municipal borough.

Berwyn, a station on the Ruabon, Corwen, and Dolgelley

branch of the G.W.R., 2^ miles W of Llangollen, Denbigh-
shire. There is a post office under Llangollen, which is the

money order and telegraph office.

Berwyn Mountains, a range of mountains in Merioneth-
shire and Montgomeryshire. It begins near Berwyn railway

' station, and extends 20 miles south-westward to the sources

of the rivers Dee and Dyfi. A summit at its north-eastern
extremity, Moel Ferna, has an altitude of 2070 feet .above

the level of the sea ; another, 4 miles SW of this, Cader-
Fronwen, has an altitude of 2503 feet; and another, about
a mile SW, Moel Sych (the summit of Cader-Berwyn or

Ferwyn), has an altitude of 2716 feet.

Berwyn River, a streamlet of Cardiganshire. It issues

from Llyn-Berwyn, the " Verwin's rushie lin" of Drayton, and
runs about 6 miles west-north-westward along a romantic
mountain vale to the Teifi a little below Tregaron.

Bescaby, formerly an extra-parochial tract, now a parish

in Melton-JIowbray union, Leicester, 7 miles NE of Melton-
Mowbray. Area, 1227 acres, about 300 of which form a
portion of Croxton Park; population, 31.

Bescax Lane, a station on the Lancashire and Yorkshire
railway, 4 miles ESE of Southport, Lancashire.

Bescot Junction, a station on the Birmingham, Walsall,

and Wolverhampton branch of the L. & N.W.R., 1^ mile S of

Walsall. Bescot Hall, in the vicinity, is an old moated edifice

on the site of an ancient seat of the Hillarys and the Mount-
forts, and commands a fine view.

Besford, a township in Shawbury parish, Salop, near the

river Roden, 3J miles SE of Wem.
Besford, a village and a parish in W^orcestershire, near the

river Avon, 2 miles NE of Defl'ord station on the JLR., and
3 WSW of Pershore, which is the post town and money
order office; telegraph office, DefTord station. Acreage, 1383

;

population, 178. The manor was anciently held by the Bes-
ford family, which became extinct in the reign of Henry IV.;

thence it passed successively to the Harewell and Sebright
families, and is now the property of Earl Beauchamp. Besford

Court, originally built in the time of Henry VIII., is an inter-

esting manor house, retaining much of the ancient structure.

It has an ancient ch.apel, a large tithe-barn, and a fine avenue
of old yew trees. The living is a vicarage, united with Def-
ford under the name of DeSbrd-cnm-Besford, in the gift of

the Dean and Chapter of Westminster. The church is a
small ancient half-timbered structure, partly Early English
and partly Later. It was carefully restored in 1880. It

has an ancient rood-screen and a triptych.

Beskaby. See Bescaby.
Beskerthorpe. See Biscathokpe.
Besock. See Lado(:k.

Bessecar, a hamlet in Cantley parish, W. R. Yorkshire

2 miles SE of Doncaster.
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Bessel's-Green, a hamlet in Orpington parisli, Kent,

2 miles from Seveuoaks. There is a (Jnitai'ian chape],

Besaelsleigh, a parish in Berks, 4 miles NNW of Abing-
don station on the G.W.R. Abington is the post town and
telegraph office ; money order olSce, ftlarcham. Acreage, 906

;

population, 101. The manor belonged anciently to the Leighs;

passed by marriage to the Besils or Bessels; passed again by
man-iage to the Fettiplaces; was purchased by William Lent-
hall, Esq., Speaker of the Long Parliament ; and belongs now
to his descendants. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Oxford ; net yearly value, £170 with residence. The
church is a small building of stone in the Late Norman style.

Besses-o'-th'-Bam, part of the Whitefield district of

Pilkington township, Prestwich-cum-Oldham p.arish, Lanca-
shire, 2 miles from Molyneux Brow station on the Lancashire

and Yorkshire railway. It has a post and money order office

under Manchester; telegi'aph oiBce, Whitefield.

Bessie's Cove, a romantic rocky recess on the S coast of

Cornwall, a little E of Cudden Point, 7 miles ESE of Pen-
zance. A precipice flanks it pierced with caves.

Bessingby, a village, a township, and a parish in the

E. R. Yorkshire, on the N.E.R., IJ mile SW of Bridlington

station. The post town is Bridlington. Acreage, 1270
;

population, 171. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of York; net value, £68. A beautiful new church was
erected in 1893.

Bessingham or Bassingham, a parisli in Norfolk, 6

miles SW of Cromer, and G NW from Gunton station on the

G.E. R. Post town, Norwich ; money order and telegraph

office, Aldborough. Acreage, 495; population, 125. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich

; gi'oss value,

£193. The church, a building of stone in the Perpendicular

style, has a round tower, and was restored in 1869. The
moat -yard near it is a fosse-girt tumulus of about ^ an acre.

It was probably a Roman encampment, some Roman pottery

having been found there in 1870. In 1884 a detached

portion of this parish was added to Barningham Winter

under the Divided Parishes Act.

Besthorpe, a pari.sh in Norfolk, on the Roman Road and
the G.E.R., 1 mile E of Attleborough, under which it has

a post office, and at which there is a money order and tele-

graph office, and a railway station. Acreage, 2191
;
popu-

lation, 487. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Nor-
wich ; net yearly value, £173. The church, a cruciform

edifice of flint in the Decorated style, was restored in 1883.

Besthorpe Hall is an ancient country mansion of red brick,

originally erected in 1690, but which has been much altered

and modernised.

Besthorpe, a township-chapelry and a village in South

Scarle parish, Notts, on an affluent of the river Trent, 2^
miles N by \V of CoUiugham railway station and 7 N by E of

Ncwark-upon-Trent, with a post office under Newark ; money
order and telegraph office, Collingham. Acreage, 1302

:

population, 178. The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed

to the vicarage of South Scarle, in the diocese of Southwell.

There is a Methodist chapel.

Bestwood Park, a parish in Nottingham, once a part of

Sherwood Forest. It has a station on the G.N.R., and a

post and money order office, named Bestwood Colliery, under
Nottingham ; telegraph office, Bulwell. Acreage, 3729

;

population of the civil parish, 736 ; of the ecclesiastical, 714.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell ; net value,

£224, in the gift of the Duke of St Albans, who has a resi-

dence (Bestwood Lodge) in the parish. There are extensive

coal and iron works.

Beswick, a township included in the city of Manchester.

Beswick, a township-chapelry and a village in Kilnwick-
on-tlie-Wolds parish, E. R. Yorkshire, 1| mile NW of Lock-
ington station on the N.E.R., and Ci miles N by W of

Beverley. It includes the hamlet of VVilfholme, and has a

post office under Beverley. Acreage, 2029
;
population, 211.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York. It is held

with Watton, and the gross income of the two parishes is

£227. The church is good, and there is a Primitive Method-
ist chapel.

Betchcott, a township in Smethcott parish, Salop, A mile

SW of Smethcott.

Betchton, a township in Sandbach parish, Cheshire, 2

miles E of Sandbach. It includes the hamlet of Hassal
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Green. Acre.ige, 2665
;

popul.itinn, 813. There is a chapel

of ease at Hassal Green to Christ Church, Wheelock, and
Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels. There are exten-
sive salt and chemical works.

Betchworth, a village and a parish in Surrey. The vil-

lage stands on the river Mole, 2i miles W by S of Reigate,

and 27 from London. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office, and a station on the S.E.K. The parish in-

cludes also the village of Brockham. Acreage, 3743

;

population of the civil parish, 1868 ; of the ecclesiastical,

838. Betchworth Park, with the manor of West Betchworth,
belonged to Lord Maltravers, who w.as made Earl Marshal
by Richard II.

;
passed by marriage in 1437 to Sir Thomas

Brown ; and went by purchase in 1690 to Abraham Tucker,
author of " The Light of Nature," who lived and died here.

It contains a noble avenue of chestnuts and limes nearly 1000
feet long, contains also some shapeless ruins of Betchworth
Castle, which was fortified and embattled by Sir Thomas
Brown. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Rochester

;

gi-oss value, £156 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and
Canons of Windsor. The church was renovated and much
altered in 1850 ; retains some interesting ancient parts, Nor-
man and Perpendicular ; and has on the chancel floor a fine

brass of W. Wordsworth, vicar, 1533. A splendid pulpit of

marble and glass mosaic was erected in 1885.

Bethania, a village 2^ miles from Festiniog, in Merioneth-

shh'e, and less than a mile from Blaenau Festiniog station on
the Festiniog railway. It has a post and money order office

under Blaenau Festiniog, which is the telegraph office. It is

chiefly inhabited by the men employed in the neighbouring

slate quarries. It has a small church, and Calvinistic, Con-
gi'egational, and Baptist chapels.

Bethel, a village in Trefdracth parish, Anglesey, Si miles

W of Llangefni, and i a mile from Bodorgan station on
the L. & N.W.R. It has a post office under the name of

Bodorgan (R.S.O.) There is a Calvinistic Methodist chapel.

Bethel, a village in Llanddeiniolen parish, Carnarvonshire,

25 miles S of Port Dinorwic station on the L. & N.W.R.
It has a post office under Carnarvon ; money order and tele-

gr.iph office, Port Dinorwic.

Bethelking. See Balking.
Bethersden, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands 2J miles S of Pluckley station on the S.E.R., and 6
WSW of Ashford. It has a post and money order office

under Ashford; telegraph office, Pluckley railway station.

The parish comprises 6376 acres
; population, 1030. A mai'ble

here, now little worked, and consisting almost wholly of minute
fresh-water shells, was formerly in great request for monu-
mental sculptures and the decoration of cathedrals. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury ; net value,

£192 with residence. Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury.

The church is of Tudor date, and in good condition. It was
restored in 1873. There are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels.

Bethesda, a small town in Llanllechid parish, Carnarvon-
shire, 5 miles SE of Bangor, with a station on the Bangor
and Bethesda branch of the L. & N.W.R. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Bangor. Bethesda
owes its existence to the great slate quarries of Lord Penrhyn,
which are situated here. The town is governed by a Local

Board of Health, and is well supplied with water; it is chiefly

inhabited by quaiTymen. Area of the urban sanitary district,

899 acres; population, 6799. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Bangor ; value, £300. The church was erected and
endowed by Lord Penrh}Ti at a cost of £1 1,000, and is a hand-
some edifice. There are Baptist, Congregational, W^esleyan,

and Calvinistic Methodist chapels. An hospital was erected

in 1843 by Lord Penrhyn. There are two banks.

Bethgelert. See Beddgeleet.
Bethnal Green, a parish of London, 2 miles NE by E of

St Paul's. It was at one time a hamlet in the parish of Step-

ney, but was constituted a separate parish in 1743. Area,

755 acres
;
population, 129,132. It has a soil all of gravel,

and as it is more than 20 feet above the level of the Thames,
it ought to be one of the healthiest parts of London. Part of

it is densely edificed, part consists of airy streets. Fonnerly
many of the inhabitants were journeymen silk weavers, who
worked in their own houses for the master weavers in Spital-

fields, but this industry has greatly declined. These weavers

were Huguenots who took refuge here with their silk ti'ade
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after the revocation of the Edict of Nantes. Spitalfields

comprises, strictly speaking, not only the parish now so

called, hut all Bethnal Green. The church called Spital-

fields is properly Christ Church, Middlesex. The Columbia

Buildings are a fine gr'oup of industrial dwellings, with a

massive tower, erected in 1864-G9,by the Baroness Burdett-

Coutts. There is a branch of the South Kensington

Museum in Bethnal Green, which is much frequented. The

best part of Victoria Park is also in the parish. Bon-

ner's-Fields, in the E, one of the assembling-places of the

Chartists in 1848, took their n.ame from an old mansion

removed in 1851, said to have been the pal.ace of Bishop

Bonner. Pepys, in his Diary, 26tii June, 1663, records going

to Sir W. Rider's house at Bethnal Green, and says that the

house " was built by the Blind Beggar so much talked of and

sung in ballads." and this " begg.ar " is said to have been the

son of Simon de Montfort, Earl of Leicester, in the time of

Henry III. Sir T. Gresham resided in Bethnal-Green, and

Ainsworth the lexicographer kept a school in it. Among
others who lived in Bethnal Green was Pickersgill the artist,

who was born there ; Cruden, who wrote his " Concordance"

there, and Dollend of telescopic and microscopic fame. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of London ; value, £400

per annum. The proper name of the parish is St Matthew

Bethnal Green.

Bethnal Green Parliamentary Divisions of London.—
Under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885 ISethnal Green

was constituted into a parliamentary borough, and returns

two members to the House of Commons, one for the north-

east and one for the south-west division. Population of

the north-east division, 02,397, and of the south-west, 06,735.

Betley, a village and a parish in Staffordshire. The vil-

lage stands on the verge of the county, 1 mile N of Betley

Road station on the L. & N.W.R., 2J miles NW of Audley

station on the North Staffordshire railway, 3i NW of Made-

ley, and 7j NW by W of Newcastle-under-Lyme. It has a

post and money order office under Crewe ; telegraph office,

Madeley. It was was once a market-town, and consists of

one wide street, and is a pleasant, healthy place The parish

comprises 1463 acres, including 38 of water ;
population, 827.

Betley Mere, a fine lake near the village, belongs to the Earl of

Wilton. Betley Hall, a fine old residence, the seat of the

lord of the manor, and Betley Coiu't are the chief residences.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value,

£135 witli residence. The church is Perpendicular, but the

chancel was rebuilt in IGIO, and the western tower in 1713

;

the nave, which was restored in 1872, has four plain pointed

arches of wood on each side, resting on pillars formed ont

of single trunks of trees; the chnreh contains several mural

monuments. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Betshanger. See Betteshanger.
Betsome, a h.amlet in Sonthfleet parish, Kent, 3J miles

SW of Gravesend.

Betterton, a tithing in East Loekinge parish, Berks, near

the Berks and Wilts Canal, 2J miles SE by E of Wantage.

Betteshanger or Betshanger, a parish in Kent, 3i

miles SSW of Sandwich station on the S.E.R., and 5 W o"f

Deal. Post town, Dover ; money order and telegraph office,

Eastry. Acreage, 3'.i5; population of the civil parish, 71;

of the ecclesiastical, with Ham, 133. Betteshanger Park be-

longed formerly to the Boys family, and belongs now to Lord

Northbourne. The living, with Ham, is a rectory in the diocese

of Canterbury; net value, £114 with residence. Patron,

Lord Northbourne. The church is Norman, and has been

restored.

Bettiscombe, a parish in Dorsetshire, 6 miles W of Bea-

minster, and 5 from Chard Road railway station on the

L. & S.W.R. The area is 650 acres
;
population, 59. Post

town, Chamiouth (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph office,

Broadwinsor. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Salis-

bury; gross value, £159 with residence. The church was

rebuilt in 1862, and is in the Early Perpendicular style.

Bettisfield, a township and ecclesiastical par-ish in Hanmer
parish, Flintshire, in the detached portion of the county lying

between Shropshire and Denbighshire, with a station on the

Cambrian railway, 3 miles SE of Hanmer, and 4J NE of

EUesmere. It has a post office under Whitchurch ; money

order and telegraph office, Hanmer. Acreage, 2308
;
popu-

lation, 395. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

146

BETTWS

St Asaph ; net value, £222 with residence. Patron, Sir

Wyndham Hanmer, Bart., whose family seat is Bettisfield

Park, and .amongst whose ancestors were Sir Thomas Hanmer,

Speaker in Queen Anne's reign and editor of Shakespeare,

and Sir John Hanmer, Constable of Caniarvon Castle in the

time of Edward I.

Betton or Betton-Strange, a townsliip and an ecclesi-

astical parish in St Chad parish, Salop, 2J miles N of Ben-

nington station on the G.W.R., and 3 SSE of Shrewsbury,

which is the post town. The township is a conjoint one,

bearing the name of Betton and Alkmore. Population of

the ecclesiastical parish, 64. Betton-Strange House is the

seat of the Scott family. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lichfield
;
gross value, £30. The church is small,

and consists of chancel, nave, and tower.

Betton, a township in Benington parish, Salop, 1 mile

W of Berrington.

Betton, a township in Market-Drayton parish, Salop, 2

miles NE of Market-Drayton.

Bettws, an ancient British topographical name, signifying

a house of prayer or a chapel.

Bettws, a parish in IMonmouthshire, 2 miles NW of

Newport, which is the post town. Acreage, 1133
;
popu-

lation, 107. Lord Tredegar is lord of the manor. The
living is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory of Henllys, in

the diocese of Llandaff. Patron, the Bishop of Llandafl'.

The church is small, but ancient, and was repaired in 1858.

Bettws, a village and a parish in Glamorganshu'e, on the

river Garw, 1 mile SW of Llangeinor station on the Llynfi

and Ogmore branch of the G.W.R., and 6 miles N of Bridg-

end, under which there is a post office ; money order and

telegraph office, Aberkenfig. Acreage of parish, 5023

;

population, 1529. Coal is worked. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Llandaff; net value, £84 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Llandaff. The church was restored

and enl.arged in 1893. A church at Pontycymmer and

another at Pontyrhyl are under Bettws. There is a Baptist

chapel. Dr Price, the Nonconformist divine, was a native.

Bettws, a parish in Carmarthenshire, adjacent to Amman-
ford station on the Llanelly and Gwauncaequrwen section of

the G.W.R., and 8 miles S of Llandilofawr. Post town, Am-
manford (R.S.O.) Acreage, 6511; population of the civil

parish, 2417 ; of the ecclesiastical, 831. The surface is

hilly, and includes the Bettws Mountains, which are an offset

of the Black Mountams. The Uving is a vicarage in the

diocese of St David's
;

gross value, £243 with residence.

P.atron, the Bishop of St David's.

Bettws, a township in LLanfor parish, Merionethshire,

UinileNE of Bala.

Bettws or Bettws-Cedewain, a village and a parish in

Montgomeryshire. The village is in Ucheldre township, and

stands on the river Bechan, 2^ miles above its influx to the

Severn, 4 NW of Abermnle station on the Cambrian rail-

way, and 6^ N by E of Newtown. The parish includes the

townships of Ucheldre, Dolforwyn, Garthgellin, and Llani-

theon, and it has a post office under Newtown, which is

the telcgi-aph office ; money order office, Tregynon, 2 miles

NW distant. Acreage, 5428
;
population of the civil parish,

579 ; of the ecclesiastical, 4G4. The surface is undulating

.and well-wooded. A ruined .ancient castle in Dolforwyn town-

ship is conjectured to have been built by the British in the

time of the Romans; the name signifies "the maiden's meadow,"

and is said to have been the habitation of " Sabrina fair,"

whose fate is immortalized by Drayton and Milton. Some
curiously wrought brazen and earthen vessels have been

found near the castle. A vast hill camp, called Pen-y-

Gaer, is in the neighbourhood of the village. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph; net value, £148 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church be-

longed to a Cistercian nunnery founded in the 13th century

—Strata Marcella Abbey, near Welshpool—has a tower, com-

pleted in 1531 by John Meredyth, and contains a monument

to him. There are Baptist and Calvinistic Methodist chapels.

Bettws or Bettws-y-Crwyn, a parish in Salop, near

the rivers Teme and Clun, and on Offa's Dyke, adjacent to

Radnorshire, 8 miles NW of Knighton, and 7 W by S of

Clun. It contains the townships of Bettws, Rhugantine,

Trebrodier and Cefncalanog, and its post town is Clun

(R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegraph office;
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for part of the parish Knighton is the post town. Acreage,

9083
;
population, 469, The surface is upland, and includes

a range called the Bettws Hills, The Earl of Powis is lord

of the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford; net value, £154 with residence. Patioii, the

Earl of Powis. The church, which was restored in 1800, is

ancient ; the chancel has a roof of old timber, and a caiTcd

oak screen. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel at Rhu-
gantine, and one for Baptists at Trebrodier.

Bettws-Abergele or Bettws-yn-Rhos, a hamlet and a

parish in Denbighshire. The hamlet stands 4^ miles SW
of Abergele station on the L. tt N.W.R., and 9 W of

St Asaph, and has a post and money order office of the

name of Bettws-Abergele, under Abergele (R.S.O.) ; tele-

graph office, Llanfair Talhaiai'n, 3 miles S. The parish

includes eight small townships. Acreage, 6588
;
population

of the civil parish, 739; of the ecclesiastical, 530. The
surface lies high; is to a great extent uncultivated, and
commands from some points good views of the coast and
the sea. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph;

net value, X250 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

LlandafF. The church is good. The parish has been divided

for ecclesiastical purposes, and the district of Trovarth (St

John's Chmxh) formed. There are several dissenting chapels.

Bettws-Bleddrws, a parish in Cardiganshire, near Derry

Ormond station on the Manchester and Milford railway, 3

miles NNE of Lampeter. The post office is at Derry Oi'mond,

in the postal district of Aberystwith. Acreage, 1680
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 204; of the ecclesiastical, 238.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St David's ; net

value, £100 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of St David's.

The church has a tower and spire. It was restored from its

foundation in 1887.

Bettws-Cedewain. See Bettws, Montgomeryshire.

Bettws-Clyro or Capel-Bettws, a chapelry in Clyro

parish, Radnorshire, ou a tributary of the river Wye, 4
miles N of Hay. It has a post office of the name of Clyro

under Hay (R.S.O.) Population, with Clyro, 698. The
chapelry is annexed to the vicarage of Clyro, in the diocese

of St Davids.

Bettws-Disserth, a parish in Radnorshire, on the river

Edw, 5 miles W by S of Llandrindod station on the L. &
N.W.R., and 7 ENE of Builth. Post town, Llandrindod

(R.S.O.) Acreage, 1936; population of the civil parish,

92; of the ecclesiastical, with Llansaintffread in Elvel, 363.

The living was formerly annexed to the rectory of Dissertli,

but was sepai'ated from it in 1887 and joined to Llansaint-

ffread in Elvel. The ancient church has been replaced by

a modern building of red brick.

Bettws-Evan, a hamlet and a parish in Cardiganshire.

The hamlet stands on elevated ground, midway between

Cardigan Bay and the river Teifi, 5 miles N by W of New-
castle-in-Emlyn. Post town, Llandyssil, Rhydlewis (R.S.O.)

Acreage of painsh, 2536; population of the civil parish,

351 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Brongwn, 605. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St David's; net value, £98
with residence. The cbmxh is good.

Bettws-Garmon, a hamlet and a parish in Carnarvon-
shire. The hamlet stands on an eminence, adjacent to the

rivulet Gwyrfai, amid grand sceneiy of crag, lake, and moun-
tain, 5 miles SE of Carnarvon, and has a station on the

North Wales narrow gauge railway from Dinas to Rhyd-ddu.
The parish comprises 2723 acres; population of the civil

parish, 124; of the ecclesiastical, with Waenfawr, 13G6. It

has a post office under Carnarvon ; money order office, Waen-
fawr

; telegraph office, Caerthraw. The surface is largely

mountainous, and lies immediately W of Snowdon. Green
pastures below the hamlet contrast finely with hold crags

and rugged heights above. A spring on the hill side, called

St Garmon's Well, about a mile W of the hamlet, has con-

siderable medicinal repute. The living is a vicarage, with
Waenfawr, in the diocese of Bangor; net value, £238.
Patron, the Bishop of Bangor. The church is small, and
very ancient.

Bettws-Gwerfil-Goch, a hamlet and a parish in Merio-
nethshire. The hamlet stands near the river Alwen, 3 miles

W of Gwyddelwern station on the L. & N.W.R., and G NW
of Corwen, under which it has a post office, and at whicli is

the money order and telegraph office. The parish comprises
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2279 acres; population, 252. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St Asaph; gross value, £108 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of St Asaph, The church is Early

English.

Bettws-Jeuvan. See Bettws-Evan.
Bettws-Leiki or Bettws-Lleuce, a parish in Cardigan-

sliire, on the river Ayron, 5 miles WSW of Tregaron. Post

town, Tregaron (R.S.O.) Acreage, 2373 ; population, 262.

The living is a vicarage, annexed to Gartheli, in the diocese

of St David's; gi-oss value, £175. Patron, the Vicar of

Llanddewi-Brefi.

Bettws-Newydd, a parish in Monmouthshire, near the

river Usk, 2 miles E of Nantyderry station on the G.W.R.,

and 4 N by W of Usk. It has a post office under Newport

;

money order and telegraph office, Usk. Acreage, 1129;
population, 102. The Duke of Beaufort is lord of the manor.

The living is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory of Trostrey,

in the diocese of Llandaff; net value, £125. The church,

which is an ancient Gothic building, has been restored, and

contains a beautiful rood-loft of black oak. There are some
magnificent yew trees in the churchyard.

Bettws-y-Coed, a village and a parish in CamaiTon-
shire. The village is 4 miles S of Llanrwst, and has a
station on the Bettws-y-Coed and Festiniog branch of the

L. & N.W.R., 238 miles from London. It has a head post

office (R.S.O.) The village is situated on the south bank of

the river Llugwy, near the confluence of that river with the

Conway, and from the beauty of its surroundings is a favourite

resort of artists and tourists. It stands on the Holyhead
Road, and is about a mile long. High, thickly-wooded hills

rise at the back of the village. A picturesque ivy-clad bridge

of five arches, called Pont-y-Pair, crosses the Llugwy in

front of the village ; and ^ a mile to the S is the Waterloo

Bridge over the Conway, a handsome iron bridge with a single

span, erected in the year of the Battle of Waterloo. There

are several good waterfalls in the neighbourhood. The Swal-

low Falls (Rhaiadr-y-Weunol), about 2J miles NW of the

village, close to the Capel Curig Road, are fonned by the

waters of the Llugwy, and present a very striking appearance;

other falls are those at the Fairy Glen, at the junction of the

Lledr and the Conway, and the Conway Falls, near the junc-

tion of the Conway and the Machno, and the Machno Falls.

The rivers in the neighbourhood abound with salmon and
trout, and are the resort of anglers and artists. The
parish comprises 3633 acres; population, 740. The li^^ng

is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor
;

gi'oss value, £107.
Patron, the Bishop of Bangor. The old church, which is

situated beyond the railway station, is now disused, except

for weddings and interments ; it contains a monument of

Gruffydd, nephew of the great Llewelyn. There is a handsome
modern church in the Gothic style, on the south side of

the road in the village, built in 1873 at a cost of £7000.
There are Calvinistic Methodist and Congregational chapels.

Bettws-y-Crwyn. See Bettws, Salop.

Bettws-yn-Rhos. See Bettws-Abergele.
Beulah, a village in Llangammarch parish, Breconshire,

on the Cammarch river, 3 miles N of Llangammarch Wells

station ou the L. & N.W.R., and 5 NE of Llanwrtyd. It

has a post office under Garth (R.S.O.), which is the money
order office ; telegraph office, Llangammarch Wells.

Beult, The. See Beale, The.
Bevercoates, a parish in Notts, 2^ miles NW of Tusford,

on the G.N.R., which is the nearest station. Post town,

Tusford, under Newark. Acreage, 734; population, 40,

The living is a vicarage, annexed to the vicarage of Mark-
ham Clinton, in the diocese of Southwell. The old church

is in ruins, but a new one was erected by the Duke of New-
castle in 1833.

Bevere, an island in the Severn, 2^ miles N of Worcester.

It is supposed to have been a resort of beavers, was a retreat

of the inhabitants of Worcester in 1041, when they fled to

escape the wrath of Harthacnut, and again during the plague

of 1637, and is now a good and favourite bathing-place. It

contains a mansion, and commands a fine view of the Abber-

ley and the Malvern hills.

Beverley is a municipal borough, market and union

town, and the capital of the E. R. Yorkshire. The town

has a railway junction, the line from Hull branching here

into two, one to York and the other to Scarborough. It lies
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at the E foot of the Wolds, about a mile W of Hull river,

Md 8 miles NNW of Hull. The country to the E is flat,

bnt the parts adjaceut are fertile aud well wooded. All was
anciently swampy, then covered with forest, then cleared for

fuel and for cultivation. Lakes frequented by beavers, in

the swampy epoch, are supposed by many to have given rise

to the name Beverley in the form of Bever Lac. The town,
however, may possibly have been the Petnaria of Ptolemy,
with Roman origin, dating from the 2nd century, and it was
known to the Saxons as Beoforlic and Beverlega. John,

Archbishop of York, commonly called St John of Beverley,

founded a monastery at it in 700, and died and was buried

here in 721. The Danes destroyed the monastery in 8G7.
King Athelstane, after his great victory of Bninanburgh in

938, found the church of the monasteiy partly restored, richly

endowed and extended it as a collegiate church or minster,

and gave it the right of sanctuaiy for a mile round the town,

marked by four stone crosses, set up at the principal ap-

proaches. William the Conqueror, in 1069, encamped in

the neighbourhood, and issued strict orders to his army to

respect the property of the church. The principal part of

the town, together with the chmxh, was destroyed by fire in

1186. Edward L, dm'ing his wars against Scotland, in

1299-1316, frequently visited Beverley, and carried tlie

standard of St John at the head of his army. Henry IV.

visited the town in 1399, Edward IV. marched through it

in 1471, and Charles I. alternately took post in it and was
dislodged in 1639 and 1642. The town early acquired a

right of prize and toll over the shipping of the Humber, and
in later times it struggled hard against the transfer of that

right to the rising port of Hull. Many a legend exists re-

specting alleged miracles in the old times in the minster, and
a monkish pretence runs tlu'ough old liistory that the stand-

ard of St John, together with the standards of St Peter of

York and St Wilfred of Ripon, had much to do with the

victories of the English arms. An old ballad, speaking of

the battle of the Standard in 1138, and putting a speech

into the mouth of the Scottish king, says

—

"The holy cross,

That shines as bright as day,
Around it hung the sacred banners
Of many a blessed saint;

St Peter and John of Beverley,
And St Wilfred there they paint.

' Oh had I but yon holy rood,
That there so bright doth show,

I would not care for yon English liost,

Nor the worst that they could do.'
"

The town consists of several streets, and is well built; it

has an ample supply of excellent water. The principal street

is nearly a mile long, and terminates in an ancient gateway,

called the North Bar. The guild-hall is a handsome edifice,

erected in 1832, and contains rooms for the corporation and
for county and revision courts. The market cross, erected in

1714 by Sir Charles Hotham, Bart., and Sir Michael Warton,
Knight, is a handsome structure. There are also a corn-

exchange, butter-market, and swimming baths, erected in

1886, assembly-rooms, recreation grounds, and a temperance

hall. Remains of three of the ancient sanctuary crosses still

exist. There were anciently a monastery of blackfriars, a

monastery of greyfriars, and an establishment of Knights-
Hospitallers; two gateways of the first may still be seen

on the NE of the minster, and within them a considerable

portion of the ancient buildings. There is a gi-ammar school

(endowed), national and other schools, a church institute, a
dispensary, four hospitals for 6, 12, and 17 poor widows,

and for 6 poor persons ; a workhouse aud almshouses. Tlie

charities amount annually to about X4000. The parish

churches of St Martin and St Nicholas are extinct, and
there are now the parish churches of the Minster (for St

John's and St Martin's parislies), and St Mary's (for St

Mary's and St Nicholas' parishes), three chapels of ease,

seven dissenting chapels, and a Roman Catholic chapel.

St John's Church, or the Minster, is supposed to have

been completed in the early part of the reign of Henry
III., and has undergone a complete restoration (1867-85) in

accordance with the designs of the late Sir G. G. Scott. It

consists of nave, choir, presbytery, transepts, central lantern,

aud two western towers, and is altogether 332 feet long. It

shows a mixture of styles, yet is considered equal in purity
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of composition, correctness of detail, and elegance of execu-

tion, to any of the great English cathedrals. Mr Rickman

says :
—" The north porch of Beverley minster is, as a

panelled front, perhaps unequalled. The door has a double

canopy, the inner an ogee and the outer a triangle, with

beautiful crockets and tracery, and is flanked by fine but-

tresses breaking into niches, and the space above the canopy

to the cornice is panelled ; the battlement is composed of

rich niches, and the buttresses crowned by a group of four

pinnacles." Of Perpendicular fronts the same author says

—

" By far the finest is that of Beverley minster. What the

west front of York is to the Decorated style, this is to the

Perpendicular, with this addition, that in this front nothing

but one style is seen ; all is harmonious. Like York minster,

it consists of a very large west window to the nave, and two

towers for the end of the aisles. This window is of nine

lights, and the tower windows of three lights. The windows
in the tower correspond in range nearly with those of the

aisles and clerestory windows of the nave; the upper windows
of the tower are belfry windows. Each tower has four large

and eight small pinnacles, and a very beautiful battlement.

The whole front is panelled, and the buttresses, which have a

very bold projection, are ornamented with various tiers of

niche-work of excellent composition and most delicate exe-

cution. The doors are uncommonly rich, and have the

hanging feathered ornament ; the canopy of the great centre

door runs up above the sill of the window, and stands free

in the centre light with a very fine effect. The gable lias a

real tympanum, which is filled with fine tracery. The east

front is fine, but mixed with Early English." The chief

monuments are the Percy shrine, erected about 1340 to the

memory of Eleanor, wife of the first Lord Percy, the finest

monument existing in the Decorated style; a magnificent

altar-tomb of Henry Percy, fourth Earl of Northumberland

;

a splendid altar-tomb, a prebendary of the family of Scrope,

called the " Maiden Tomb," and a monument to Major-

General Bowes, who fell at the assault of one of the forts

of Salamanca. St Mary's Church is cruciform, with a

central tower, was originally Norman and Early English, but

now exhibits Early Decorated and Perpendicular additions,

has a very fine seven-light west window, between two beauti-

ful octagonal pierced turrets, and contains an octagonal font

of 1530, and some interesting monuments. The restoration

of the edifice was carried out under the direction of Sir

G. G. Scott during the period 1803-76.

Beverley has a head post ofiice, a telegraph station, four

banks, and publishes four weekly newspapers, A weekly

market is held on Saturday, a fortnightly cattle market
on Wednesday, fairs for horses, cattle, and sheep four

times a year, and on Nov. G a statute fair for the hiring

of servants, also great cattle fairs in April, lilay, Sept.,

and December, and races on the Hurn pastures in June.

Waggons, carts, carriages, agricultural implements, artificial

manures, whiting, and leather are manufactured in large

establishments. There are also windmills, steam, corn, and
saw mills, large breweries and malthouses, and it is an im-

portant centre for the corn trade. A canal navigable for

vessels of SO tons connects the town with the river Hull.

Beverley is the headquarters of the East Yorkshire regiment

and the East York militia. The town sent two members to

Parliament once in the time of Edward L, received a charter

from Elizabeth, and continued to send two members to Par-

liament from her time until 1870, when it was disfranchised;

it is now included in the Holderness parliamentary division

of the East Kiding. It is governed by a mayor, six aldermen,

and eighteen councillors. The nmnicipal borough consists

of the parishes of St Martin, St Mary, and St Nicholas.

Acreage, 2404; population, 12,539, Beverley gives the

title of Earl to the Percys, and it numbers among its

distinguished natives Alured, the ancient biographer ; eight

archbishops of York; Alcock aud Fisher, Bishops of Roches-

ter; Green, Bishop of Lincoln; Julia Pardee, author of the
" City of the Sultan ;" and Mary Woolstonecroft or Godwin.

The parish of St Martin's comprises 875 acres
;
population,

5509; of St Mary's, 579 acres; population, 4345; of St

Nicholas, 950 acres
;

population, 2685. Population of the

ecclesiastical parish of St JIary with St Nicholas, 7256.

St John's, the mother-parish, includes the townships of

Thearue, Weel, Molescroft, Storkhill and Sandholme, Wood-
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mansey-with-Beverlcy Tarks, Tickton-witli-Hull-Biklse and
Eske. St Mary's is a vicarage, St Nicholas a rectory, and St

Martin's and St John's vicarages, iu the diocese of York.

St Mary and St Nicholas form one living, of the net value of

£ii6 with residence, in the gift of the Archbishop of York.

St John and St iMartin, with Tickton ch.ipelry, form also one

living, of the value of £450 with residence, in the gift of the

Simeon Trustees. A new Wesleyan chapel was erected in

1892 at a cost of £4000. The East Kiding P.auper Lunatic

Asylum, about a mile from Beverley, was erected in 1871 at

a cost of about £43,000. It covers nearly 2 acres, and has

a farm of about 120 acres attached.

Beverley and Barnston Cut, a gieat drain along the

low flat country uf the E. K. Yorkshire, from the Hull river,

in the vicinity of Hull, north-north-westward to the vicinity

of Beverley, and thence northward and north-eastward to

the sea at Barnston. Its length, irrespective of branches, is

24 miles.

Beverley Parks. See Woodman.sey.
Beversbrook, a tithing in Calne and Hilhnarton parishes,

Wilts, 2 miles NE of Calne.

Beverstone, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire.

The village stands IJ mile WNW of Tetbury on the G.W.K.,
and 4J miles from Nailsworth station on the M.R. Post

town, Tetbnry. The parish comprises 2150 acres; popula-

tion, 168. A castle erected here in the time of Edward III.

by Thomas, Lord Berkeley, was repeatedly besieged and
finally taken and burned in the Parliamentary wars, and is

now in ruins. The castle was square with four towers, one

at each corner, and was surrounded by a moat. The gateway
and the west side of the castle remain, and the SW tower con-

tains two chapels. The castle is now used as a fannhouse.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol;

net value, £365 with residence. Patron, the Crown. The
church is a small ancient edifice consisting of nave, chancel,

south porch, and western tower, and h.as a stone pulpit.

Bevil's River, a cut in the fens of the Isle of Ely, Cam-
bridge. It commences at the boundary, 6 miles SE of

Peterborough, and goes 4f miles north-westward to the

Twenty-Foot river.

Bevington. See Liverpool.
Bewaldeth and Snittlegartli, a township in Torpenhow

parish, Cumberland, near the foot of Bassenthwaite Water,

6 miles ENE of Cockermouth, and 3 from Bassenthwaite

station on the Cockermouth, Keswick, and Penrith railway.

Population, 74.

Bewbush. See Beeding, Lower.
Bewcastle, a township and a parish in Cumberland. The

township lies in an upland tract between the nvers Line,

Kirkbeck, .and Irthing, miles from Gilsland station on the

N.E.R., and 10 NE of Brampton. Here was a Roman station

garrisoned by part of the second Roman legion, to protect

the workmen employed in building the Roman Wall. Here

also was a Sa.xon castle, built by Bueth, a powerful Saxon,

and called from him Bew Castle. The Nonnan lord to whom
it was gi-anted was Herbert de Vallibus. The structure was
square, each front about 87 feet long ; was occupied by a border

garrison iu the time of Elizabeth, and demolished by the Parlia-

mentarian forces in 1641 ; and the ruin of it, in one part about

40 feet high, is still standing. Many Roman coins and in-

scriptions have been found. The right of fair and market
was acquired in the time of Edw.ard I., but has long been
in disuse. The parish includes also the townships of Nixons,

Bailey, and Bellbank, and has a post office under Cailisle

;

money order and telegraph office, Brampton. Acreage,

28,663; population, 800. The manor was given in the

time of Charles I. to Sir Richard Graham, and it remains
now with his descendant Sir K. J. Graham of Netherby.

Large portion of the surface is wild and waste. Coal, lime-

stone, and lead are found. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Carlisle; net value, £181 with residence. Pa-
trons, the Dean and Chapter of Carlisle. The church is

small and good, on a rising-ground within the fosse which
surrounds the station. An ancient obelisk, a single block

14 feet high, with sculptures and inscriptions which were
but lately deciphered, stands in the chm-cliyard. There is

an English Presbyterian chapel.

Bewdley, a market-town, municipal borough, and parish

in Worcestershuc. The town stands on rising-ground on the
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right bank of the Severn, 3 miles WSW of Kidderminster. It

has a station on the G.W.R. (137 miles from London); the

Severn Valley and Tenbury and Bewdley branches form a junc-
tion, .and there is a loop line to Kidderminster. It was origin-

ally an extra-parochial liberty, but was united in the time of

Henry VI. to the parish of Ribbesford. By an order in Council
of 18!)2 the two places again became separate ecclesiastical

parishes, held together by one incumbent. It lay anciently

within the marches of Wales, but was annexed in the time
of Henry VIII. to the county of Worcester. It belonged to

the Mortimers, but became afterwards a royal domain. A
piilace was erected at Ticknell, immediately above the town,

by Henry VII. for his son Arthur, who was man-ied here by
proxy, and the palace was occupied by Charles I., suffered

much in the Civil War, and was subsequently demolished.

The surrounding scenery is rem.arkably fine, and has been
supposed by some to have given rise to the name Bewdley
as a corruption of the French Beaulieu. An isolated mound
of red sandstone, called the Devil's Spittle-ful or Spadefnl,

the subject of a curious legend, is in a hollow 1^ mile from the

town. The town has wide well-paved streets, and in general

is well built. Wribbenhall, on the other bank of the Severn,

is a suburb with some good streets, and is reached by a hand-
some stone bridge erected in 1797-1801 by Telford. The
railway station is situated at Wribbenhall. The town-hall is a
handsome stone edifice of 1808, and has a commodious market-
pKace attiiched. The Bewdley Institute contains a library

and reading-rooms. The gi'ammar school was founded by
the chiirter of James I., and has a small endowment. The
Church of St Anne, Bewdley, erected in 1748, is a spacious

structure with an embattled tower. There are chapels for

Baptists, Wesleyans, Unitarians, and a meeting-house for

the Society of Friends. There are several charities for the

use of the poor, the principal being the Hibbotts and Geld-
ings, and the coal, blanket, and clothing fund charities. There
are also several almshouses. The town has a head post

office, a bank, and a police station. A weekly market is

held on Saturday. Large employment formerly arose from
the carrying trade on the Severn. Manufactures are carried

on in horn combs, &c. There are also a large tannery and
a brass foundry. John Tombes, the opponent of Baxter, and
Richard Willis, an artisan's son who rose to he Bishop of

Winchester, were natives.

The borough was constituted by Edward IV., and recon-

stituted by James I. The charter was surrendered to Charles

II., and a fresh one granted by James II. ; but in Queen
Anne's reign the charter of James II. was annulled, and that

of James I. confirmed. It now, as a municip.al borough, in-

cludes most of the parish of Ribbesford. It is governed by

a niiiyor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors. It formerly returned

members to Parliament, but was disfranchised by the Redis-

tribution of Seats Act of 1885. It has a separate com-

mission of the peace. Ai'ca of the municipal borough and

civil parish, 2105 acres; popuLatiou, 2876 ; of the ecclesias-

tical parish of St Anne, 974, and of Holy Trinity, 651. The
living of St Anne, Bewdley, is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford ; net value, £350 with residence.

Bewdley Parliamentary Division of Worcestershire was

formed under the Redistx'ihution of Seats Act of 1885, and

returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

52,012. The division includes the following:—Malvern

(except the parish of Little Malvern)— Leigh, Madresfield,

Malvern (Great), Mathon, Newland, Powick (part. Woods-

field) ; Hundred House—Abberley, Bayton, Cliftou-on-Teme,

Hillhampton, Mamble, Miu'tley, Peusax, Kochford, Rock,

Sapey Pitchard, Shelsley Beauchamp, Shelsley Kings, Shelsley

Walsh, Shrawley, Stanford, Stockton, Witley (Great), Witley

(Little); Stourport (except the parishes of Lower Mitton,

with Stoui-port and Upper Mitton)—Areley Kings, Astley,

Hartlebury, Ribbesford (extra municipal, part of the borough

of Bewdley) ; Tenbury—Bockleton, Eastham, Edvin Loacli,

Hanley Child, Hanley William, Knighton-upon-Teme, Kyre

(Magn.a), Kyrc (Parva), Lindridge, Orleton, Tenbury ; Wor-

cester— Acton Beauchamp, Alfrick, Bransford, Bredicot,

Broadwas, Broughton Hackett, Churchill, Claines (part of),

Cotheridge, Crowle, Doddenham, Grimley, Hallow, Hindlip,

Holt, Huddington, Kempsey, Keuswick, Knightwick, Lulsley,

Martin Hussingtrce, Norton-juxta-Kempsey, Ombcrsley,

Powick (except Woodsfield), St John (county part), St Martin
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(county part), St Peter (county part), Spetchley, Stoulton,

Suckley, Tibberton, Upton Snodsbury, Warndon, White
Ladies Aston, Whittington, Wichenford ; Bewdley, municipal

borough ; Worcester, municipal borough.

Bewerley, a township in Ripon parish, W. R. Yorkshire,

on the river Nidd, 1 mile from Pateley-Bridge station on the

N.E.R., and 11 miles NW of Ripley. Post town, Pateley-

Bridge. It includes the village of Bridge House Gate and
the ecclesiastical parish of Greenhow-Hill. Acreage, 5771

j

population, 1013. The inhabitants are chiefly employed in

lead mines. Bewerley Hall is the seat of the Yorkes.

Bewholme. See Nunkeeling.
Bewick, a hamlet in Aldbrongh township and parish, E.

R. Yorkshire, 7 miles SSE of Hornsea.

Bewick, New and Old, two townships in Eglingham

parish, Northumberland, on the river Till, 7^ and 6| miles

SE of Wooler. Acreage, 1140 and 5519
;
population of New

Bewick, 74, and of Old, 165. Two ancient British camps,

and the Cateran's or Robber's Hole, are here. Alnwick is

the post town. The nearest station is Wooperton on the

N.E.R.

Bewley. See Beaulieu.
Beworthy. See Beaworthy.
Bewsy, a village in the township of Burton Wood, parish

of Warrington, Lancashke, which is the nearest station

;

there is a post and money order office under Warrington,

which is the telegi^aph office.

Bexhill or BexhiU-on-Sea, a parish, town, and rapidly

increasing watering-place in Sussex. The town stands on a

rising-ground on the L.B. & S.C.R., 67 miles from London
and 5 WSW of Hastings, under which it has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. It has a station on the railway

between Eastbom*ne and Hastings, and contains many good

houses, has some chalybeate springs, enjoys a very salubrious

air, is surroimded by charming environs with fine extensive

views, has fine sands, and has for some thne been coming into

favour as a watering-place. It has a good supply of ex-

cellent water. The parish includes also the liberty of Sluice,

and extends some distance on the shore. It is governed by

a local board. The area is 8015 acres, of which 663 are

foreshore and water
;
population, 5206. The sea is receding

from the coast, and has left to view a submarine forest. Lignite

is found. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chichester

;

net value, £310. Patron, the Bishop of Chichester. The
church has a Norman nave and an Early English chancel, and
is good. It was restored in 1870, and again in 1890. The
Church of St Baraabas was opened in 1891. It was built at

the expense of the Rev. Prebendary Charles Leopold Stanley

Clarke, rector of Bexliill. Little Common is a part of the

parish lying 2 miles west. The Church of St Mark is a

stone building erected in 1842 and enlarged in 1885, in the

Early English style. The living is a rectory; value, £280,
in the gift of the Bishop of Chichester. There are Wesleyan

and Methodist chapels, and two coastguard stations. The
Metropolitan Convalescent Home was opened in 1880. The
Egerton Pai'k and public grounds, 15 acres in extent, contain

a lake, cricket gi^ound, swimming pond, and tennis lawns,

and form a handsome and valuable attraction to the town.

Bexington, a hamlet in Abbotsbnry parish, Dorsetshire,

IJ mile W by S of Abbotsbnry. It was anciently a distinct

parish, and the ruin of its church still stands near the shore.

Bexley, a village and a parish in the union and county

court district of Dartford, Kent. The village stands on the

Cray river and on the S.E.R., 13 miles from London, and

6 W of Dartford, and once gave the title of Baron to the

Vansittarts. It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph

office. The c\\\l parish includes Bexley-Heath and tliree

hamlets. Acreage, 5328; population of the civil parish,

10,605; of the ecclesiastical, 3188. The manor belonged

in the Saxon times to the see of Canterbury ; was alienated

by Henry VIII.
; granted by James I. to Sir John Spiel-

man; sold by Spielman to Camden the antiquary; and
bequeathed by Camden to University College, Oxford, for

maintaining a professorship of history. The living is a vic-

arage in the diocese of Canterbnry; net value, £120. The
church is chiefly Early English, with later windows. It was
carefully restored in 1882-83. The vicarage of Bexley-

Heath and the vicarage of Lamorbey are separate benefices.

There are Baptist, Methodist, and Congi-egational chapels.
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Bexley-Heath, a village and an ecclesiastical and civil

parish formed out of the old parish of Bexley, Kent The vil-

lage stands ll mile NW of Bexley railway station, is modem,
large, and increasing, and has a post office under Woolwich,

a police station, a cemetery, a cottage hospital, a large public

hall, three dissenting chapels, Constitutional, Liberal, Radical,

and Social clubs. Population of the ecclesiastical parish,

6385. Christ Chm-ch is a building of Kentish ragstoue in

the Gothic style. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Canterbury; net value, £300 with residence.

Bexton, a village and a township in Knutsford civil pai'ish

and Toft ecclesiastical parish, Cheshire, 1 mile SW of Knuts-

ford. Acreage, 635; population, 115.

Bexwell, a parish in Norfolk, 1^ mile E of Downham-
Market station on the G.E.R. Post town, Downbam, which

is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1180;

population, 63. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Norwich ; net yearly value, £260 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Norwich. The church is an ancient and in-

teresting building of ragstone in the Norman and Early

English style.

Beynhurst, a hundred in Berks. It extends 7 miles

along the Thames below Henley, and contains the parishes

of Bisham, Hurley, Remenham, Shottesbrook, and White

Waltham.

Bejrbon or Beighton, a parish in Suffolk, 2 miles SSE
of Thurston station on the G.E.R. , and 5 ESE of Bury-St-

Edmunds, under which it has a post and money order office

;

telegraph office, Rougham. Acreage, 644
;
population, 338.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; gi-oss value,

£210 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
church was thoroughly repaired in 1892. Beyton House

and Poplar House are country seats in this parish,

Beyvortli, a subm-b of Petworth, in Sussex.

Bibracte. See Bray.
Bibridge, a hamlet in Kirkharle township and parish,

Northumberland, 10 miles SE of Otterburn. Scots Gap, on

the North British railway, is the nearest station.

Bibury, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire. The
village stands on the river Coin, near Icknield Street, 5^
miles S of Northleach, and 7 NE of Cirencester station ou

the G.W.R., and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Fairford (S.O.) The parish includes also the tithings

of Ablington and Arlington, and the chapelry of Winson.

Acreage, 5198; population of the civil parish, 695; of the

ecclesiastical with Winson, 829. Bibury Court was built by

Sir Thomas Sackville in 1623, and passed by marriage to

the Warneford, and subsequently to the Cresswell family. It

is now the property of Lord Sherborne. It is an interesting

house built by Inigo Jones in his first style. A very inter-

esting old manor-house, built in 1590, is at Ablington, and

is still in the possession of the descendants of the original

builder. The living is a vicarage, with the chapelry of

Winson annexed, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol

;

gross value, £773 with residence. Patron, Lord Sherborne.

The church belonged to the Abbey of Osney, and shows features

of Norman, Early English, and Perpendicular work. It has

a fine embattled tower, a spacious chancel and nave, and a

good canned roof. The church has been carefully restored,

and is in very good condition. There are four almshouses.

Bicester (popularly Bister), a mai-ket town and head of a

poor law union and county court district, in Osfordshne. The

town stands in a rather fiat situation on Akeman Street,

near the ancient AJcester, 12 miles NNE of Oxford, and 54J
from London, and has a station on the L. & N.W.R. It was

called by the Saxons Burenceaster or Bernaceaster, and is

styled Berencestre in the Domesday Survey, was probably

built in the time of Birinus, Bishop of Dorchester, from the

ruins of Alcester, and was a frontier garrison of the West
Saxons against the Mercians. An Augustinian priory, dedi-

cated to St Edburg, was founded at it in 1182 by Gilbert de

Basset, baron of Hedingdon, and given at the dissolution to

Charles, Duke of Suffolk. Both parties in the civil war of

the time of Chai-les I. inflicted damage on it, and the Royal-

ists in 1643 were defeated in a skirmish here. The hospice

of the priory, now a dwelling-house, still exists ; a spring

called St Edburg's Well, formerly held in high repute for

medicinal virtue, is in the neighbourhood ; and a path called

Edbuig Balk, a corruption of St Edburg's Walk, leads from
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the priory to the well. Numerous ancient coins and other

relics have been found. The town is neat, contains many
recently rebuilt houses, and has of late years been much ex-

tended by new streets .ind buildings. The parish church,

dedicated to St Edbui'g, is spacious, was erected in 1182,

and has a seemingly Sason arch, Early Englisli and Decorated

nave, and Perpendicular tower. It has a number of inter-

esting brasses and tombs, and some fine memorial windows,

one erected in 1S85 being in memory of General Gordon, who
fell at Khartoum in that year. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Oxford; gross yearly value, £320 with resi-

dence. There are also a Congregational chapel erected in

1729, and a Wesleyaii Methodist chapel erected in 18-11. St

Edburg's Hall, opened in 1882, has large reading and refresh-

ment rooms on the gi-ound floor, and an assembly room on the

upper floor, with accommodation for 500 persons. The ceme-

tery, which communicates with the churchyard, was opened in

1861, has a Nonconformist mortuary chapel, and is controlled

by a bui'ial boai'd of eight members. The town is governed

by a local boai'd of twelve members, under the Local Govern-

ment Act of 1858. Formerly the town was divided into the

two districts and townships of Market End and King's

End, but in 1862 the King's End district was dissolved,

and the Market End district enlarged and renamed the

Bicester district. The townships stiU elect their own church-

wardens, guai'dians, and overseers, but only form one ecclesi-

astical parish. A handsome county courthouse was erected

in 1861. The town has a head post, money order, and tele-

giaph office, is a seat of petty sessions, .and publishes two
weekly newspapers. Its chief business arises from its weekly

market, which is held on Friday, its cattle markets held on

the first and third Monday in each month, and the fairs held

on the Friday in Piaster week, the first Friday in June and

July, 5 August, the Friday before and the Friday after 11

Oct., and the Frid.ay after 11 Dec. The town has an excel-

lent water supply. The area of the parish of Market End
is 2283 acres, and of King's End, 1457 acres ; together, 3740
acres. Population of King's End, 322, and of Market

End, 3021. Wketchwick is a hamlet in the township

of Market End, and is under the government of the Bicester

Local Board.

The chief seats are the Priory, a modern building erected

on the site of the convent mill, and Bignell House, a mansion

standing in its own grounds about a mile and a half from

the town. The kennels of the Bicester Hunt are at Stratton

Audley, 3 miles NE of Bicester.

Bickenliall, a parish in Somersetshire, near the Chard

Canal, 1 mile from Hatch Beauchamp station on the G.W.R.,

and 6 miles SE of Taunton, which is the post town ; money
order and telegraph office, Hatch Beauchamp. Acreage, 1143;

population, 216. The living is a rectory, united to the rectory

of Staple-P'itzpaine, in the diocese of Bath and Wells. The
church is good.

Bickenhill, a village and a parish in Warwickshire. The
village is 2 miles NW of Hampton-in-Arden station, which

is a junction of the L. & N.W.R. and M.R., and 8 SE of

Bumingham, under which it has a post office ; money
order and telegi'aph office, Hampton-in-Arden. The parish

comprises Church, Middle Bickenhill, Marston Green,

and Lyndon quarters. Acreage, 2925
;
population of the

civil parish, 516 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1613. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £243 with

residence. Patron, the Earl of Aylesford. The church is

Norman, and is a fine building of red sandstone, with an

embattled tower and lofty spire. There are several stained

windows. Marston Green has a proprietary chapel belonging

to the Wingfield Digby family, a station on the L. & N.W.R,,

and a post office. Lyndon End, or Olton, is now included

in Solihull parish for civil pui-poses only, but remains ecclesi-

astically in the parish of Bickenhill.

Bicker, a parish in Lincolnshire, 4 miles SW of Swines-

head station on the G.N., IJ mile NE from Donington Road
station on the G.N. and G.E. Joint railway, and 8 WSW
of Boston. It includes the hamlets of Frist and Gauntlet,

and part of the tract of Coping-Syke, and has a post office

under Boston ; money order and telegraph office, Donington.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 661. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln. Patrons, the Dean and
Chapter of Lincoln. The church was once cruciform, has a
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transition Norman nave, and a central tower. It was restored

in 1876. The south aisle, clerestory, and porch, long dilapi-

dated, were restored iu 1893. Most interesting discoveries

of ancient carving were m.ade in the old foundations.

There are also Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels,

and several charities.

Bickershaw is a colliery village in Abram township,

Wigan parish, Lancashire. It has a station called Bicker-

shaw and Abram on the M.S. & L.E.,a post and money order

office under Wigan ; telegraph office, Hindley Green.

BickerstaSe, a township in Lancashire. It lies .ia the

Ormskirk and St Helen's railway, 1 mile from Skelmersdale

station, 3J miles SE of Ormskirk, under which it has a post

ofiice ; money order and telegraph office, Skelmersdale. Acre-

age, 6444; population, 2178. The township gives the title

of Baron to the Earl of Derby. Many of the inhabitants are

employed in an extensive colliery. The living is a perpetual

curacy in the diocese of Liverpool
;
gross value, £300. Patron,

the Earl of Derby. The church is good.

Bickerstone. See Bixton.

Bickerton, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Blalpas parish, Cheshire. The township fies 2^ miles W of

Cholmondeley, 2 SE of Broxton station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 4 NE of Malpas, under which it has a post office ; money
order .and telegi-aph office, Broxton. Acreage of the town-

ship, 1694
;
population, 335. Bickerton Hill commands a

fine view, and has yielded some Roman coins. The ecclesi-

astical parish is more extensive than the township, as it

includes the townships of Broxton, Bulkeley, Duckington,

Egerton, and Larktou. Population, 1274. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Chester ; net value, £286 with

residence. The chm*ch is small and plain. There is also a

mission room at Bulkeley, opened in 1893.

Bickerton, a township in Rothbury parish, Northumber-
land, adjacent to the river Coquet, 4^ miles WSW of Roth-

bury. Acreage, 502; population, 9.

Bickerton, a smrUl village .and a township in Bilton

parish, W. R. Yorkshu-e, 3J miles NE by E of Wetherby
station on the N.E.R. Acreage, 1073

;
population, 139.

There is a small Wesleyan ch.apel, and a post office under

Wetherby, which is the telegraph office ; money order office,

Lockwith.

Bickford, a village in Penkridge township and parish,

StaSordshire, 25 miles W of Penkridge.

Bickington, a parish in Devonshire, on the Lemon rivulet,

3J miles NE of Ashhurton, and 3 from Newton Abbot station

on the G.W.R. It has a post office under Newton-Abbot;

money order and telegraph office, Ashburton. Acreage, 1403

;

population, 230. The sm*face .abounds with Large limestone

rocks. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter;

gi'oss value, £222. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Exeter.

The church is an old edifice, with square tower, and was
thoroughly restored in 1884. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bickington-Abbots. See Abbots Bickington.
Bickington, High, a p.arish in Devonshire. The parish

lies on the river Taw, 2 miles NW of the Portsmouth Arms
station on the L. & S.W.R., and 7i E of Torrington. Acre-

age, 4053; population of the civil parish, 583; of the

ecclesiastical, 591. It has a post and money order office

under Chulmleigh ; telegraph office, Umberleigh railway sta-

tion. A weekly market was held for some time prior to

1725. The parish is a resort of sportsmen. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £520 with resi-

dence. The church is an ancient edifice of nave, chancel,

north aisle, and south transept. There are chapels for Bap-

tists and Bible Christian chapels.

Bickleigh, a parish in Devonshire, on the river Exe, with

a station on the Exe branch of the G.W.R., called Cade-

leigh and Bickleigh. It has a post office under Tiverton

;

money order and telegraph office, Silverton. Acreage,

1827 ; population, 259. The manor belonged anciently to

the Bickleighs, and passed to the Courteneys, and then to

the Carews. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter

;

gross value, £373 with residence. The church is a neat

structure of nave, south aisle, chancel, and western tower,

and contains some handsome monuments of the Carews.

Bamfylde Moore Carew, born in 1690, the son of a rector of

the parish, and popularly known as " King of the Beggars,**

was a native.

161



BIGELEIGH

Bickleigh, a parish in Duvoiibhire, on the rivor Plyin, near

Eobough Down, H miles NNE of Plymouth. It liay a station

on the G.W.K.,2'12 miles from London, and a post office; money
order office, Plymouth ; telegraph office, Bickleigh railway sta-

tion. Acreage, 2370
;
population, 302. Very beautiful and

romantic scenery lies along the Cat Water. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £216 with ret-i-

dence. The church, excepting the tower, was rebuilt in 1838,

and it contains the tomb of Sir Nicholas Slanning, whose

death forms the catastrophe of Mrs Bray's novel of " Fitz

of Fitzford." There are some almshouses erected in 1873.

Bickley, a township in Malpas parish, Cheshire, near

Chohnondeley Castle, 3 miles E of Malpas. Acreage, 2473
;

population, Sill. Post towu, Malpas ; money order and tele-

graph office, Cholmondeley. About a quarter of an acre of

the sm-face, covered with trees, sank suddenly on 18 June,

1657, into u deep subterranean flood, long since dried up,

leaving a chasm called the Barrel Fall. Two metal tablets,

inscribed with a decree of the Emperor Trajan, were found

in 1812, and conveyed to the British Musemn.
Bickley, an ecclesiastical parish, with a station on the L.C.

& D.R., 12 miles from London, in Bromley parish, Kent, 1^-

mile E of Bromley. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. Population, 929. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Canterbury; net value, £500 with residence. The
church was built in 1865. There are many fine villas.

Bickmarsh, a hamlet in Welford parish, Warwickshire,

on Icknield Street, 6 miles SSE of Alcester.

Bicknacre, a hamlet in Woodham-Ferris and Danbury
parishes, Essex, 6^ miles SE of Chelmsford, under which

it has .1 post office. A priory of black canons was founded

here, in the time of Henry III., by Maurice Jeffrey, and a

portion of it with arches still stands.

BicknoUer, a parish in Somersetshire, 2^ miles from

Williton station on the G.W.E., and 4f miles SE of Watcbet.

It has a post and money order office under Taunton. A
detached part of Stogumber, known as Halsway, was amalga-

mated with this parish in 1883. Acreage, 1912
;
population of

the civil parish, 312 ; of the ecclesiastical, 270. The surface

includes part of the Quantock Hills, and contains points

which command extensive views. Two Roman camps, called

Trendle's and Turk's castles, and a beacon, are near the church,

and veiy many Koman coins and other relics have been found.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells

;

value, £216. Patron, the Vicar of Stogumber. The church

is good, and was restored in 1871, the tower in 1879, and a

new cage for hells erected in 1890. The church tower has

unusually large angle buttresses ornamented with winged

gargoyles. The porch has a parvise or priest's chamber over

it. There is a handsome carved screen with five openings.

The rood staircase is in good preservation. The tower, 65

feet high, has a yew tree growing on the top, now about 5

feet high. The oldest inhabitant always remembers its being

there.

Blcknor (anciently Bykenore), a parish in Kent, 3f miles

SSW of Sittingbourne station on the L.C. & D.R., and 7

ENE of Maidstone. Acreage, 633
;
population of the civil

parish, 53 ; of the ecclesiastical, 203. Post town, Sitting-

bourne 5 money order office, Bredgar ; telegraph office, Hol-

lingbourne. The living is a vicarage, with Huckinge, in the

diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £210 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is small, and

very Early Norman. It was thoroughly restored in 1860-61.

Bicknor, English, a village and a parish in Gloucester-

shire, on the verge of the county, at the river Wye, about

1 mile NE of Symonds Yat station on the Ross and Mon-
mouth branch of the G.W.R., and 3 miles N of Coleford,

under which there is a post office ; money order and telegraph

office, Lydbrook, 2 miles W. Acreage of parish, 2209
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 623; of the ecclesiastical, 431.

Bicknor Court stands on a cliff overhanging the Wye, and
commands a fine view. The Crown is lord of the manor.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and
Bristol; net value, £210 with residence. The church is

ancient, partly Norman, has a low embattled tower, and con-

tains two ancient stone effigies. There is an almshouse for

6 aged persons.

Bicknor, Welsh, a parish in Herefordshire, within a loop

of the river Wye, about ^ a mile N of Lydbrook junction
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station on the G.W.R. and Sevrrn and Wye and Severn Bridge

railway, 2 miles N of English Bicknor, and 5 S of Ross,

which is the post town ; money order and telegraph office,

Lydbrook. Acreage, 889
;
population, 135. The hving is

a rectoiy in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £192 with

residence. The church was rebuilt in 1859 on the founda-

tions of the old church. The interior contains excellent

carving in Caen stone and alabaster, and some stained

windows. An ancient effigy in the aisle is said to be monu-
mental of Lady Montheemer, who was daughter-in-law of

the first Earl of Salisbury, sister-in-law of the second, and

mother of the third. A Roman Catholic chapel is attached

to the mansion at Com'tfield.

Bickton, a tithing in Fordingbridge parish, Hants, 5j
miles N of Ringwood.

Bickton Heath, a hamlet in the ecclesiastical paiish of

Oxon and Shelton, Salop, 3 miles W of Shrewsbury. It

has a post office under Shrewsbury, which is the money order

and telegraph office. The Salop and Montgomeryshire Lunatic

Asylum is situated here.

Bicton, a parish in Devonshiie, on the river Otter, near

the coast, 4 miles WSW of Sidmouth station on the L. &
S.W.R. It includes the hamlet of Yettlngton, and its post

town is Budleigh-Salterton, under Exeter; money order

and telegi-aph office. East Budleigh. Acreage, 13U5; popu-

lation, 121. The property belongs to the Clinton family.

The manor was given by William the Conqueror to W.
Porto ; went through vaiuous families to Sir Robert Dennys,

and passed by marriage to Sir Henry RoUe, the ancestor of

Lord Rolle. Bicton House, the family seat, is an elegant

mansion, iu one of the finest parks in England. The
gardens were noted by the late Mr. Loudon as among the

best he had ever seen ; an arboretum iu tlie park is one

of the choicest and largest in the kingdom ; and there is a

noble avenue of auracarias. The jail for the county was pro-

vided in terms of the tenuie of the estate, and stood in the

parish till 1518. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Exeter ; net value, £204 with residence. The church is a

handsome edifice, erected in 1851. The previous chiurch was

a curious old structure, and part of it is now a mausoleum,

connected by a cloister with the ancient tower.

Bicton, a parish in Salop, on the river Severn, 4 miles

NW by W of Shrewsbury. It was constituted an ecclesi-

astical parish in 1853, and a civil parish in 1885, from the

parishes of St Alkmond, St Chad, and St Julian, Shrews-

bury, which is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Montford Bridge, 1 mile W. Acreage, 5311
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 1976 ; of the ecclesiastical, 559.

The Isle and Onslow Hall are the chief residences ; at the

Isle are the remains of an ancient castle and chapel. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value,

£160 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of St Chad. The
church was erected in 1886.

Bicton and Weston, a township in Clun parish, Salop,

l^mileNW by N of Clun.

Bidacott, a hamlet in Chittlehampton paiish, Devonshire,

^ a mile from Chittlehampton.

Bidborough, a parish in Kent, 2^ miles NW by N of

Tunbridge station on the S.E.R. It has a post office under

Timbridge-Wells ; money order and telegraph office. South-

borough. Acreage, 2106
;
population of civil paiish, 359 ; of

ecclesiastical, 267. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Canterbury; net value, £276. The church has a Norman
porch, and is in good condition. It was restored in 1877.

Bidcombe, Brimsdon, or Cold-Kitchen Hill, an emi-

nence of much beauty, with a solitary peak, on the west

border of Wilts, 4^ miles SW of Warminster. It has many
tumuli, entrenchments, and other memorials of the ancient

inhabitants ; is the subject of a poem in imitation of Den-
ham's " Cooper's Hill," and commands a magnificent view

over Wilts and Dorset, and away to the Welsh mountains.

Biddenden, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands 4 miles S of Headcorn station on the S.E.R., and 5J
NE of Cranbrook ; it has a fan" on 8 November. The parish

has an area comprising 7191 acres; population, 1362. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Cran-

brook. The manor belonged in the time of Edward III. to Sir

Walter Manney, and passed to the Hendens. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Canterbury
;
gross value, £160 with
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residence. Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury. The church

has features from Early English to Late Perpendicular, and

was restored in 1857. A curious cbaiity furnishes a dis-

tribution of stamped cakes to all comers on Easter Sunday,

as well as other charities. A Baptist chapel was erected in

187i>.

Biddenham, a small village and a parish in Bedfordshire,

on the river Ouse, 2 miles W of Bedford, under which it has

a post office, and at which is the money order, telegraph

office, and railway station. Acreage of parish, 1586; popu-

lation, 352. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely;

gross yearly value, about £150 with residence. The church is

a building of stone in the Norman and Perpendicular styles.

Biddescote. See Bitterscote.

Biddesham. See Bidihsh^vm.

Biddeston or Bidston, a parish—formerly two parishes,

St Peter and St Nicholas—in Wilts, 2j miles N by W of

Corsham railway station, and 4 W of Chippenham. The two

parishes were amalgamated in 1884. It has a post office under

Chippenham ; money order and telegraph office, Yatton

Keynell. The area is 1951 acres; population of the civil

parish, 493; of the ecclesiastical, with Slaughterford, 613.

The rectory of St Peter's and vicarage of St Nicholas are

united with the vicarage of Slaughterford, in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol; net value, ,£130 with residence.

Patron, Winchester College. The Church of St Peter was

Perpendicular English, but has been taken down. The
Church of St Nicholas is partly Norman, and has a pic-

turesque bell-turret. There are Baptist and Primitive Metho-

dist chapels. Edmund Smith, the translator of Longinus.

and author of the tragedy of '* Phaedra and Hippolytus,'' died

in the parish, and his tomb was in St Nicholas Church.

Biddick, North, a hamlet in Falfield parish, Durham, on

the north bank of the river Wear, 2 miles from Washington

station on the N.E.K., and 4^ SSE of Gateshead.

Biddick, South, a township in Burnmoor parish, Durham,
on the south bank of the river Wear, 6 miles WSW of Sun-

derland, and 2 from Penshaw station on the N.E.R. Acre-

age, 352 ;
population, 58.

Biddisham, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Axe,

4 miles W by S of Asbridge station on the G.W.R. Post

town, Axbridge, under Weston-super-RIare ; money order

and telegraph office, East Brent. Acreage, 572
;
population,

119. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and

Wells; net value, £106 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of London. The church was partially restored in 1863, and

completed in 1878.

Biddlesden or Bittlesden, a village and a parish in the

county of Bucks. The village stands on the verge of the

county, 4^ miles NE of Brackley station on the L. & N.W.R.

It was formerly a market-town, but is now a small secluded

place. The parish comprises 3201 acres, and its post town

is Brackley, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Population of the civil parish, 155; of the ecclesiastical,

124. Biddlesden House is a fine stone mansion standing in

a well-wooded deer park of 180 acres. The manor was held

some time by William the Conqueror, passed to Robert de

JIappersball, and then to Emald de Bosco ; was given by

the latter to the Cistercian monks of Gerndon for founding

an abbey on it, and went at the dissolution to Thomas,
Lord Wriothesley. Considerable remains of the abbey

stood about the year 1700, but have all disappeared. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford; gross yearly

value, £73. The church is a modern edifice adjoining

Biddlesden House.

Biddlesford, a hamlet in Aireton parish, Isle of Wight,

2 miles SE of Newport.

Biddlestone, a township in Alwinton paiish, Northum-
berland, in the l>abin of the Coquet river, under the Silverton

and Harden Hills, 7 miles NW of Kothbury station on the

North British railway. Acreage, 4860
;
population, 156.

The manor belonged anciently to the Vissards, but was
given by Edward I. to Sir W. de Selby, and still belongs to

his descendants. James I., when on his way to London in

1603, was entertained here, and knighted five of the Selbys.

There is a Roman Catholic chapel.

Biddulph, a parish in Staffordshire, 3 miles SE of Con-
gleton, with stations at Gillow-Heath and Black Bull, on the

North Stafibrdshire railway. It consists of the four ham-
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lets and manors of Ovor-Bidduli.h or Overton, Nether-

Biddulph, Rliddle-Biddulph, and Knypersley. The post,

money order, and telegraph office is at Bradley Green.

Acreage, 5671
;
population of the civil parish 5290; of the

ecclesiastical, 4316. Biddulph Hall, a picturesque Tudor
edifice, was anciently the seat of the Biddulph family, but is

now mainly a ruin, and partly a farmhouse. Biddulph

Grange, tlie scat of the lord of Knypersley manor, is a

modern mansion in the Italian style. The land is chiefly

moorish and hilly, and a peak of it, called Mow Cop, 1091

feet high, commands fine prospects, even to the Mersey.

Coal, ironstone, and limestone are extensively worked, and

several kinds of manufactm'e are carried on. Remains of

a Druidical temple, known as the Bride Stones, and of

three curious artificial caves, are on the N border. The
hving is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value,

£226. The parish church is a substantial edifice, with an

embattled tower, and contains an ancient altar-tomb and

some brasses. Knypersley Church is a structure of 1849,

in the Early English style. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bradley Green, a village 1 mile S of Biddulph Chmch, has

chapels for Wesleyans and Primitive Methodists.

Biddulph Moor, an ecclesiastical parish formed in 1864
out of the parishes of Biddulph and Horton, Staffordshire.

Population, 1196, The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Lichfield; net value, £223 with residence. Christ Church,

an edifice in the Norman style, was built in 1863. There

are chapels for W^esleyans and Primitive Methodists. See

BiDDDLFH.
Bideford, a town, a municipal borough, and a parish in

Devonshire. The town stands on the river Tonidge, 5 miles

.ibove its mflus to the sea, and on the L. &. S.W.R., 220
from London. It was formerly a separate port, but is now
included in that of Barnstaple. Its site is chiefly a hill-

side on the left bank of the river, amid pleasant environs,

and commands delightful views of the river's vale. The
place was given soon after the Conquest to Richard de Gran-
ville, a Norman knight ; remained with his descendants till

1750, and was then sold by one of the heirs of William

Granville, third Earl of Bath, to J. Cleveland, Esq., of Tap-
ley. It gave the title of Baron in the time of Queen Anne
to Lord Lansdown. Forts were erected at it on both sides

of the river by the Parliamentarians, in the Civil War; but

they were taken for the king by Colonel Digby in 1643, and
one of them, called Chudleigh Fort, a small battlemented struc-

ture, is still standing. The plague raged here in 1646 and

1680, and three aged female inhabitants were put to death on

a cliarge of witchcraft in 1682. The French privateers in the

time of Queen Anne captured so many valuable vessels engaged

in the town's commerce in theii- crossing the bay off the river's

mouth, that they called it the Golden Bay. The streets are

wide and airy, some new good houses have taken the place of

old mean ones, and there are noble mansions and a series of

villas in the outskirts. A bridge of 24 arches and 677 feet

long, erected in the early part of the 14th century, forms the

approach on the NE ; it was widened in 1863-65, at a cost

of about £5000, and is a favourite promenade. The town-hall

is an ornamental edifice of 1850, and serves for courts,

town business, and concerts. The parish chuiTh was re-

built in 1865 ; it superseded an Early English stnicture, and
is large and handsome. It contains a fine old Norman font,

a monument to Sir Thomas Granville (15th century), and a

handsome brass was erected in 1891 to commemorate the

three-hundredth anniversary of the heroic death of Sir Richard

Granville in the Revenge. There are also several quaint old

monuments and tombstones in the church and churchyard.

A new church, dedicated to St Peter, w;is erected east of the

river m 1888. The Congregational chapel was rebuilt in

1859, and is a very fine editice. A handsome new Wesleyan

chapel, with Sunday schools attached, was erected in 1892.

The Bridge Hall, erected in 1882, is a fine stone building in

the Renaissance style, containing a free Hbrary, reading-room,

a school of science and art, and the Bridge Hall chambers.

The Public Rooms were erected in 1871, and contain a

music hall with orchestra. The market, erected in 1883-84,

is a fine building of red brick and terra-cotta. The infir-

mary and dispensary was erected in 1888. There are

chapels for Baptists and Bible Christians, a Roman Catholic

Church, a Ladies' College, a free grammar school, two
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political clubs, almshouses, and a workhouse. The charities

amount yearly to £3b; the Bridge Trust produces £563
annually for keeping the bridge in repair. The quay adjoins

the bridge, is upwards of 1250 feet long, admits ves-sels of

500 tons at high water, was considerably widened in 1891,

and laid out with trees and paths as a promenade. The

number of vessels registered as belonging to the port in

18;i3 w.a5 80 (4242 tons). The town has a head post

and telegraph office, a railway station, three banking offices,

three chief iuns, two weekly markets, and publishes two

weekly newspapers, and is a seat of sessions and a polling-

place. There is now no shipbuilding here, but the pros-

perity of the town has greatly increased since 1883 by the

rapid development of the cuff and collar manufacture.

There is also a large iron foundry, two small potteries,

some tanneries, and a number of malting establishments.

Population of the municipal borough, 7831 The port for-

merly had a large foreign commerce, but is now engaged

chiefly in the coasting trade. The chief exports are oak-

bark, corn, earthenware, and tiles; and the chief imports

timber, coal, artificial manures, and lime. The town sent

members to Parliament in the times of Edward I. and II.,

but not since; was incorporated by Queen Elizabeth, and

is now governed by a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors.

Sir R. Granville, the naval hero, Dr. John Shebbeare, author

of the " Adventures of a Guinea," and Abraham and Ben-

jamin Donne, the mathematicians, were natives; Strange,

the philanthropist, died here of the plague in 1646, and

Hervey, the author of " Jleditations," was for some time

curate, and wrote here part of his works.

The parish is conterminate with the borough. Acre-

age, 33U8
;
population, 7831. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Exeter; value, £618.

Bidfield, a tithing in Bisley parish, Gloucestershire, 4

miles N of Bisley.

Bidford, a village and a parish in Warwickshire. The

village stands on the river Avon, 4 miles SSE of Alcester,

and 7 VVSW of Stratford-on-Avon. It has a station on the

East and West Junction and Stratford-on-Avon, Towcester,

and Midland Junction railway, which is connected at Broom
Junction (also within the parish) with the M.R., and a

post and money order office under Stratford-on-Avon ; tele-

graph office. Broom Junction railway station. It was once

a market-town, and it consists chiefly of one long street.

There is a bridge of eight arches over the Avon. One of

the houses in it is the old Falcon Inn (now partly occupied

by the Bidford Institute), traditionally said to have been a

haunt of Shakspcare for drinking ale and playing at shovel-

board. An absurd story is cm'rent that the poet and some

of his companions engaged here in a drinking contest with a

party of the natives ; that he and his companions lay down

after it under a crab-tree in the neighbourhood, and slept

there from Saturday evening till Monday morning, and that,

on being urged on awakening to go back and renew the

contest, he exclaimed, " No, I have had enough ; I have

drinked with

"'Piping Pebworth, dancing Marston,
Haunted Hillbro', hungry Grafton,

Dudging Exball, papish Wicksford,
Be^'garly Broom, and drunken Bidford.'

"

The parish includes also the hamlets of Barton, Broom, and

Marlcliff. Acreage, 333!)
;
population, 1461. The manor

was held by William the Conqueror; was given by the

Empress Maud to the monks of Bardsley, and passed to

the Clarkes, the Danets, and the Skipwiths. Bidford Grange

House was a picturesque old edifice, with unequal gables.

The scenery, over much of the surface, is richly beautiful,

and has fine spots on " the smooth-flowing Avon." The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester; gross

value, £250 with residence. The church is of Norman date,

but was almost entu-ely rebuilt in 1835 ; the chancel, which

contains a piscina, is Early English, and was restored in

1886. There is a Wesleyan Chapel.

Bidston. See Bidheston.
Bidston-cum-Ford, a township and a parish in Cheshire.

The township lies 1 mile S\V of Birkenhead Docks station

on the Wirral railway, and 3 miles NW of Birkenhead. It

comprises 1713 acres; population, 254. The parish in-

cludes also part of the township of Claughton-cum-Grange,
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and used to include those of Moreton-cum-Lingham, Sang-
hall'Massey, and the Carre, now formed into a separate

parish. Its post town is Birkenhead. Population, 2393.
Bidstone Hill commands a fine view of the surrounding country,

the Mersey, and the Irish Sea. A lighthouse 50 feet high

stands on the hill, showing a fixed light elevated 300 feet

above high-water, visible at the distance of 25 miles. The
Liverpool Observatory, belonging to the Mersey Docks and
Harbour Board, is also situated here. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Chester; net value, £190 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Chester. The church, dedicated to St

Oswald, was rebuilt, with the exception of the tower, in 1856,

and enlarged in 1882. It has a fine mosaic reredos, and a
good peal of bells. There is also a mission church, situated

in Claughton village, and dedicated to St Bede. Claughton
and Moreton are separate benefices.

Bielby or Bealby, a village and a township in Hayton
parish, E. R. Yorkshire, on the Pocklington Canal, 3j miles

S by W of Pocklington station on the N.E.R. Acreage,

1738
;
population, 195. It forms a curacy united to the

vicarage of Hayton. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Bierley, an ecclesiastical parish in the civil parish of

Bradford, W. E. Yorkshu-e
;
population, 3313. Post town,

Bradford. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Eipon; gross value, £300 with residence. The church is

good.

Bierley, East. See Bierley, North.
Bierley Lane. See Bierley, North.
Bierley, North, a township in Bradford parish, W. R.

Y^orkshire, on the Lancashhe and Yorkshire railway, 2 miles

SE of Bradford, which is the nearest station. It includes

the villages of Wibsey and Low Moor, and the hamlets of

Bierley-Lane, Carr-Lane, Hilltop, Odsall-Moor, Woodhouse-

Hill, Folly-Hall, Buttershaw, and Slack. East Bierley is a

ward in this township. Acreage, 3342
;
population, 16,249.

There are numerous good residences, three churches, and

several dissenting chapels.

Bierton, with Broughton and Burcott, a parish in Bucks,

on the Aylesbury branch of the L. & N.W.R., near the Ayles-

bury Canal, Ij mile NE of Aylesbury. It has a post office,

of the name of Bierton, under Aylesbury, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2477
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 740 ; of the ecclesiastical with

Quarrendon, 1034. The living is a vicarage, united with

the vicarage of Quan*endon, in the diocese of Oxford

;

joint net yearly value, £309 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. The church is a structure

of the 12th century, with tower and spire ; was restored in

1885 by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners; and contains a

piscina and a curious monument of 1616 to Samuel Pope

and his thirteen children. There are also Baptist and Wes-

leyan Methodist chapels and some small charities.

Bieston, a township in Wrexham parish, Denbighshire,

near Wrexham. Acreage, 531
;

population, 90.

Biga, The, a streamlet of Montgomeryshire. It rises on

the NE side of Plinlimmon, and runs 5 miles eastward to

the Clewydog at Aber-Biga.

Bigbnry, a village, a parish, and a bay in Devonshire.

The vilLage stands on the right side of the river Avon, li
mile from the bay, 3i miles S of Modbury, and 9 S of Ivy-

bridge station on the G.W.R. The parish also includes the

h.imlet of St Ann's Chapel. It has a post office under Kings-

bridge ; money order and telegraph office, Aveton Giflford.

Acreage, 2885; population of the civil parish, 365; of the

ecclesiastical, 355. The living is a rectory m the diocese

of Exeter ; net value, £340 with residence. The church is

Perpendicular English, with tower and spire, and is good.

It was restored in 1872. There is a Baptist chapel. The

bay extends from Bolt-Tail to Stoke-Point; measures 7^
miles across the entrance, and 3J thence to the head; receives

the rivers Avon and Erme; is beset with rocks, and very

d.angerons in navigation ; has several coves in its coast ; and

presents a variety of picturesque views.

Bigby, a village, township, and parish, in the union of

Caistor, in Lincolnshire, 2i miles SSE of Barnetby station -

on the M.S. & L.R., and 4 E of Glamford-Brigg. The parish

includes the h.amlets of Kettleby and Kettleby-Thorp.

Post town, Brigg, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 3500
;
population, 265. The living is a
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rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £493,
with residence. The church is Early English, and was

handsomely restored in 1878. It contains some splendid

and interesting monuments of the Tyrwhitt family, formerly

of "Ketel-bye," and of the Skypwith family. The ancient font

(restored to the church in 1878) is peculiar, having nine

sides, one, blanic, apparently having stood ag.ainst the wall or

a pillar ; it is coeval with the church. There w.as an older

church, as mentioned in Domesday. Bigby, originally Beche
or Beke-bi, is undoubtedly so called from the beech tree

which flourishes in the chalk districts here and elsewhere.

It is one of four parishes out of which the ecclesiastical

parish or district of Brigg (Parish of St John the Evange-
list) w.as formed in 1872. Roman coins and fragments of

a Roman pavement liave been found in a field in the pai'ish.

Blggen, New. See Newbiggin.
Bigger, a small village in Walney chapelry, Dalton-in-

Furness parish, Lancashire.

Bigges Quarter or Carlisles Quarter, a township in

Long Horsley parish, Northumberland, ti miles N\V by N of

Morpeth. Acreage, 2925
;
population, 231.

Biggin, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in Derby-
shire. The township is in Harlington Nether Quarter

parish, .and lies near the Cromford and High Park railway,

7^ miles S\V of Bakewell. Post town, Ashbourne, which
is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 643

;

population of townsliip, 112; of the ecclesiastical parish,

325. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell

;

gross value, £164 with residence. Patron, the Duke of

Devonshire. The church is modern. There are Primitive

Methodist and Wesleyau chapels.

Biggin, a township in Kirk-Fenton parish, W. R. York-
shire, near the N.E.E., 6^ miles WNW of Selby. Acreage,

718; population, 118. There is a Wesleyan chapel. Teasel,

for the use of fullers, was first cultivated here.

Biggin, a hamlet in Oundle parish, Northampton, 1 mile

WNW of Oundle. It has an ancient country seat standing

in a small park.

Biggin, Warwick. See Newton and Biggin.

Biggin, Low and New, hamlets in Kirkby-Lonsdale

parish, Westmoreland, 2 miles N\V of Kirkby-Lonsdale. Post
town, Carlisle; population of Newbiggin, 116.

Biggleswade, a parliamentary division, a market town,

and a parish in Bedfordshire. The town stands in a
fertile valley on the right bank of the river Ivel, adjacent

to the G.N.R., having a station of the same name, lOJ miles

ESE of Bedford, and 41 NNW of London. It was anciently

called Bykleswade. It suffered destruction of 150 houses

by fire in 1785, and it now contains many neat modern
houses. The town-ball, erected in 1814, was enlarged .and

improved in 1888 at a cost of £900. The parish church is

Eai'ly English with Late chancel, was originally collegiate,

and contains some very interesting brasses. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Ely; net yearly value, £260 with

residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Ely. There is also a

chm'ch dedicated to St John the B.aptist, erected in 1883,
and Baptist, Calvinistic, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan
chapels. The Brethren have also a place of worship here.

The cemetery, which covers an area of 2 acres, has two
mortuary chapels, and is under the control of a Burial Board
of 9 members. The workhouse, erected at a cost of £4850,
has accommodation for 320 inmates. The town has a fair

water supply derived from springs in the neighbourhood.
The country round is celebrated for its fertility, and is largely

devoted to the growth of potatoes, cucumbers, onions, known
as " Biggleswade violets," and other vegetables used for

pickling purposes. A weekly market is held on Wednesd.ay
for corn. There are fairs on 14 Feb., Saturday in Easter
week, Whit Monday, 27 Sept., and 8 Nov. for horses and live

stock. It is a seat of petty sessions and a polling place,

and has a head post, money order, and telegraph office.

Some Roman relics, several armour-clad human skeletons, and
about 300 gold coins of Henry VI. have been found in the

neighbourhood. The environs are pleasant, and contain some
handsome villas and mansions. The parish includes also the

hamlets of Holme and Stratton. Acreage, 4647
; population,

4943. At Stratton Park, .about a mile SE of the town,
the Cottonian Library was preserved, after being removed
from Connington, in the time of the Civil War.

BILBROOK

Blggltswade Pariiamentari/ Division of Bedfordshire
was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,
and returns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-
lation, 64,457. The division includes the following ;—Sham-
brook— Bletsoe, Bolnhurst, Carlton, Chellington, Colmworth,
Gohvorth Farm, Dean, Farndish, Felmersham, Harrold, Keysoe,

Knotting, Melchbourne, Milton Ernest, Odell, Pavenham,
Pertenh.all, Puddington, Riseley, Shai'nbrook, Shelton, Soul-

drop, Staughton (Little), Thurleigh, Tilbrook, Wimmington,
Yieldcn ; Bedford—Barford (Great), Barford (Little), Bid-

denham, Bromham, Cardington, Clapham, Cople, Eastcotts,

Eaton Socon, Elstow, Goldington, Kempston, Oakley, Rav-
ensden, Renhold, Roxton,Stagsden,Stevinton,Turvey,Wilden,

Willington, Wilshampstead, Wootton ; Biggleswade—Arlesey,

Astwick, Biggleswade, Blunham, Campton, Chicksands,

Clifton, Cockayne Hatley, Dunton, Edworth, Everton, Eye-

worth, Henlow, Holwell, Langford, Meppershall, Mugger-
hanger, Northill, Potton, Rowney, Sandy, Shefford, Shefford

Hardwicke, Southill, Stondon (Upper), Stotfold, Sutton,

Tempsford, Warden, Wrestlingworth ; Ampthill (part of)—
Cranfield, Marston Moretaine, Lidlington, Millbrook, Ampthill,

Houghton Conquest, Haynes, Maulden, Clophill; Bedford,

municipal borough.

Bighton, a p.arish in Hants. 2 miles NE of Alresford

st.ation on the L. & S.W.R., and 7i SW of Alton. It has

a post office under Alresford, which is the money order and
telegraph office. Acreage, 2004

;
population, 195. Remains

of a Roman viUa have been found at Bighton-Woodshot in

the NW. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Win-
chester

;
gross value, £324 with residence. The church is

Norman, small, and good.

Biglands and Gamblesby, a township in Aigton parish,

Cumberland, on the river Wampool, 3 miles N of Wigton
railway station. Population of Gamblesby, 223. There is

a mineral spring.

Bignall-End, a township in Audley parish, Stafibrdshire,

1 mile E of Audley, and 4 miles NW of Newcastle-under-
Lyme, under which it has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. It contains some extensive coal mines.

Bignor, a parish in Sussex, 3 miles from Amberley station

on the L.B. & S.C.R., .and 4i S by E of Petworth. It in-

cludes the detached hamlet of Buddington, surrounded by
the piirish of Easebonrne. Post town, Pulborough ; money
order and telegraph office, Sutton. Acreage, 1167

; popula-
tion, 127. Bignor Park is a fine seat in the neighbourhood,

contains some interesting antiquities and works of art, and com-
mands striking views of the Weald and the South Downs. It

was long annexed to Arundel Castle, and once the property of

Nicholas Turner, Esq.. and, in the latter connection, was the

residence of Mrs Charlotte Smith, author of the " Old Manor
House," and Mrs Dorset, author of the " Peacock at Home."
Three very fine tessellated pavements, believed to have be-

longed to three apartments of a Roman \'ina, were discovered

in 1811 in Oldbmy Hill, and the villa is thought to have
stood at the " Ad decimum " or station of the tenth milestone

on the Roman road from Chichester. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Chichester
;
gross value, £167, Patron,

Lord Leconfield. The church is Early English, and has long

lancet windows and chancel. It was thoroughly restored in

1878.

Bigrigg, a village situated 2 miles from Egremont, Cum-
berland, and 1 mile from Woodend station on the West Cum-
berland and Egremont Joint railway. It has a post office

under Carnforth ; money order and telegi-aph office, Cleator.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bigsweir, a station on the Wye Valley branch of the

G.W^R. , 1 mile NE of Llandogo, and 6 miles S of Monmouth.
Bikinacre. See Bicknacre.
Bilbank. See Bellbank.
Bilborough, a small village and a parish in Notts, on the

Nottingham Canal, ih miles W of Basford railway station,

and 4 NW of Nottingham, which is the post town ; money
order and telegraph office, Basford. Acreage of parish, 1098

;

popnl.ation of the ci\'il parish, 210; of the ecclesiastical, with
Strelley, 414. Coal was formerly worked. The living is a
rectory in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £250 with
residence. The church is small and old.

Bilbrook, a hamlet in Old Cleeve palish, Somerset, 3^
miles ESE of Dunster.
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Bilbrough, a village and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire

for constabulary, and in the N. R. for electoral purposes, 3

miles WSW of Copmanthorpe railway station, and 4 NE
of Tadcaster. There is a post office under York ; money order

office, Copmanthorpe ; telegraph office, Tadcaster. Acreage,

1447; population, 172. The living is a rectory, and is a

peculiar, without the cure of souls; gross value, £205. The
church contains a handsome altar-font of Thomas, Lord Fair-

fax, the celebrated Parliamentarian geueral. Charities, <£25

per annum. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bilbury Ring. See Bp:leury Ring.

Bilby, a hamlet, fonning a township with Barnby Moor,

in Nottinghamshire, 4^ miles WNW of East Retford. Ai'ea

of the township, 1982 acres; population, 247.

Bildestone, a village and a parish in Suffolk. The village

stands G miles NNW of Hadleigh station on the Great Eastern

railway, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

(S.O.) It was formerly a market-town, but its importance

has dechned. The parish comprises 1171 acres; population

of the civil parish, 736 ; of the ecclesiastical, 744. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; gross yearly value, £397
with residence. The church is Perpendicular, of the 16th

century, and stands apart from the village. The chancel was
restored in 1883, and further improvements were effected in

1886. There is also a Baptist chapel, erected in 1844. A
spired clock tower was built in the centre of the village in

1864.

Bileigh, See Bkeleigh.
Bilham, a township in Hooton-Pagnell and Brodsworth

parishes, W. R. Yorkshire, 6| miles WNW of Doncaster.

It includes Bilham Row hamlet, and yields coal, lime, and
fine sand for foundries. Acreage, 536

;
population, 60.

Bilham House here commands an extensive and brilliant view,

Bilham-Row. See Bimiam.
Billericay, a small market-town, a chapelry, and head of

a union in Essex. It is a separate ecclesiastical parish, but

for civil purposes is included in the parish of Great Burstead.

The town stands on an eminence, near the site of a Roman
station, 6 miles E from Brentwood, and 9 SSW of Chelms-

ford, and it has a station of the same name on the G.E.R.

It commands a fine view of the sun'ounding country, away
to Kent and the Nore, and it is of ancient origin, and has

been nmch improved. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Brentwood, a banking office, a chm'ch,

Baptist and Congregational chapels, an endowed school, a

public reading-room, and a workhouse, and is a seat of petty

sessions and a polling place. The church is a brick building,

partly as old as the time of Edward IV., and has a tower of

previous date, which was thoroughly restored in 1880. A
weekly market is held on Tuesday, and brewing, brick-making,

and country business are carried on. Population of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 1394. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of St Albans
;
gross yearly value, £320, in the gift of the

Bishop of St Albans.

Billesdon, a small town and parish in Leicestershire. The
town lies 3^ miles NE of theViaDevana, 4^from Tilton station

on the G.N. and L. & N.W. Joint railway, and 8^ E by S
of Leicester. The parish includes the chapelries of Goadby
and Rolleston, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Leicester. Area, 2150 acres; population of the

civil parish, 764 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Goadby and
Rolleston, 904. Formerly a market-town, Billesdon held

three fairs annually, but the market has become extinct, and
only one fair, chiefly for cattle, is held—on the first Mon-
day in October. An ancient market-cross still stands in the

old market-place. The soil is stiff, heavy clay, formerly

used in the making of earthenware, and now used for making
bricks and tiles. A Roman camp of 18 acres, with ditch

and rampart, occurs at Billesdon-Coplow; was the site of

a Roman temple, and commands a fine view. The living is

a vicarage, including the perpetual curacies of Goadby and
Rolleston, in the diocese of Peterborough

;
gross joint yearly

value, £279 with residence. The church is an ancient build-

ing of stone in the Early English style, has a western tower

surmounted by a lofty spire, and was restored in 1865. It

is dedicated to St John the Baptist. There are Baptist and
Wesleyan chapels, almshouses, and a workhouse, with accom-

modation for 100 inmates. Villiers, first Duke of Bucking-

ham, is said to have received his early education here. The
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Coplow, a fine country seat, stands on a height about a mile

N I'f the village, and is smTounded by beautiful woods and

Billesley, a parish in Warwickshire, 2 miles SW of Wilm-
cote station on the G.W.R., and 3^ WNW of Stratford-on-

Avon, which is the post town. Acreage, 822; population,

16. Billesley Hall was a large Elizabethan mansion, but

only a portion now remains. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Worcester; gross value, £232. The church is

small.

Billing, Great, a parish in Northamptonshire, near the

river Nen, Ij mile N of Billing Road station on the L. &
N.W.R., and 4 miles ENE of Northampton, under which
it has a post office ; money order and telegi-aph office,

Little Houghton. Acreage, 1387 ; population, 348, The
manor belonged formerly to the O'Briens, Earls of Thomond,
and belongs now to the Elweses. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross yearly value, £450 with

residence, in the gift of Brasenose College, Oxford. The
church is a building of stone in the Early English and Deco-
rated styles, and there are Roman Catholic and Wesleyan
chapels, and some small charities. Sir J. Wake, the diplo-

matist of James I., was a rector. Billing Hall, a well situated

country seat, celebrated for its trees, is in this parish.

Billing, Little, a parish in the county of Northampton,
on the river Nen, adjacent to Billing Road station on the

L. & N.W.R., 3 miles E by N of Northampton, which is the

post town, and money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

871
;
population, 57. The manor belonged to the Longue-

villes, and is now occupied as a farmhouse. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly

value, £252 with residence. Patron, Earl Brownlow. The
church, a small building of stone in the Early English and
Perpendicular styles, has a curious old Anglo-Saxon font.

Billlngbear Park, a fine country seat situated in a beau-

tiful park, the property of Lord Braybrooke, 3| miles NE of

Wokingham, Berks, in the parish of Waltham-St-Lawrence.

Billingborough, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire,

3 miles E of Folkingham, with a station on the G.N. R., and
a post, money order, and telegraph office under Folking-

ham. Acreage, 2374; population, 1123. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £165,
including 140 acres of glebe with residence, in the gift of the

Crown. The church is Decorated English, and has a fine

tower and spire. There are Primitive Methodist and Wes-
leyan chapels, a public hall, a reading-room and library, and
two breweries and a malting.

Billinge-Chapel-End, a township and village formed

with Winstanley and part of Billinge-Higher-End into an
ecclesiastical parish in 1882, from the civil parish of Wigan,

Lancashire. It lies about 2^ miles from OiTell station on

the L. &, Y.R., and 5 from Wigan, under which it has a post

and money order office ; telegraph office, Orrell. Acreage,

1161; population of the township, 1983; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 3042. Area of the m-ban sanitary district of

Billinge, 4591 ;
population, 3906. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Liverpool ; net value, £500 with residence,

in the gift of the rector of Wigan. There is a church and
Primitive Jlethodist and Roman Catholic chapels. Mining

and agriculture are the chief industries, Billinge Hill, 633
feet high, has a beacon on the top, built in 1783, and com-
mands a fine view of the surrounding country. Billinge

district is governed by a local boai'd.

Billinge-Higher-End, a township and village in the par-

ish of Wigan, Lancashire, 1 mile from Orrell railway station,

and 4 miles from Wigan, which is the post town ; money order

and telegi-aph office, Billinge-Chapel-End and Orrell respec-

tively. Acreage, 1571
;
population, 1445. There is a Wesleyan

chapel, and quarries of excellent stone here. Bispham Hall

is a fine old residence here.

Billingford, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the

river Wensum, 1^ mile ESE of Elmham station on the G.E.R.,

and 3^ miles SSW of Foulsham, with a post office under

Dereham ; money order and telegraph office, Elmham. Acre-

age, 1041
;
population, 315. The manor belongs to the Earl

of Leicester. An hospital for poor travellers was founded at

Beckhall here, in the time of Henry III., by William Beck.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £241, with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Leicester.
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The cburch is a building of flint in the Early Eni;lish style,

and there is a small Primitive Methodist chapel.

Billingford (anciently Pitrleston or Pri/lestoion'), a vil-

lage and a parish in Norfolk, on the river Waveney, 1 mile

E of Scole, and 3 miles SE of Diss station on the G.E.K.,

with a post office under Scole, which is the money order

and telegraph oftice. Acrcageof the civil parish, 1815
;
popu-

lation, 183 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Thorpe Parva, 2'23.

The manor belonged to Sir S. Burley, the Black Prince's

favourite, executed in 1388. The living is a rectory, united

with the rectory of Little Thorpe, in the diocese of Norwich
;

joint net yearly value, w£200 with residence. The church,

a very ancient building of flint in the Early English style,

was restored in 1881.

Billingham, an ancient village, township, and parish in

Durham. The township lies on the river Tees, and on the

Cliu'ence and Hartlepool railway, 3 miles NNE of Stockton-

on-Tees, and has a station on the N.E.R., and a post othce

under Stockton-on-Tees ; money order and telegraph office,

Norton. Acre.age, 3155
;

population of the ecclesiastical

parish of Billingham, including Cowpen-Bewley, 827 ; of

Haverton Hill parish, which includes the ironworks at Port

Clarence and the fann of Saltholme, in the township of

Cowpen-Bewley, 2675. The Hartlepool railway passes

through the parish of Billingham in an easterly direction,

and the Clarence line in a south-easterly direction to the

river Tees for Port Clarence and Middlesborough. The
parish includes also the township of Cowpen-Bewley, and
the hamlet of Bellasis. Billingham parish is mother of the

two daughter parishes of Wolviston and Haverton Hill, the

former an ancient chapehy, the latter created a parish in

1860. The land is owned about equally between the Dean
and Chapter of Durham .and the Ecclesiastical Commissioners,

with the exception of the large farm of Saltholme, in the

township of Cowpen-Bewley, which belongs to the University

of Durham. Billingham Hall is a chief residence. A great

battle was fought in the parish in 900 by Eardulph, King
of Northumbria. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Durham ; net value, £289 with residence. Patrons, the Dean
and Chapter of Durham. The church is Late Saxon and
Transitional Norman, has a tower 70 feet high, and contains

a chancel-screen and three brasses. There is a small Wes-
leyan chapel.

Billiugham River, a stream of Durham, rising near

Great Stainton, and running 11 miles eastward, past Thorpe
and Billingham, to the Tees, 2^ miles below Stockton.

Billingbay, a village, a township, and a parish in Lincoln.

The parish lies on Billingbay Skirth, 3^ miles AVSW of

Tattershall station on the G.N.R., and ilj NE of Sleaford.

It includes part of the township of Dogdyke, and the hamlet

of Walcot, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Lincoln. Acreage, 3671 ;
population of the civil

parish, 1315; of the ecclesiastical, including Dogdyke and
Walcot, 2027. BiUinghay Skirth is a cut, 6 miles long, from

the Sleaford Canal to the river Witham. The living is a
vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of Walcot and
Dogdyke, in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £330
with residence. Patron, Earl Fitzwilliam. The church,

dedicated to St Michael, is of oolite stone in the Early

English and Perpendicular style. It consists of chancel,

nave, and side aisles, south porch, and tower surmounted
by a spire. There are Baptist, Wesleyan, and Primitive

Methodist chapels. Walcot is a township and parochial

chapelry, 2 miles to the NW. It has a church, erected in

1852, and a small Wesleyan chapel. Dogdyke will be found
under a separate head.

Blllingley, a village and a township in Darfield parish, in

the W. R. Yorkshire, on the North Midland railway, near
Darfield station, Oj miles ESE of Bamsley. Post town,
Darfield. Acreage, 862

;
population, 195. There is a

Methodist chapel.

BillingshuTst, a village and a parish in Sussex. The vil-

lage stands on the Rom^n Stane Street, near the Mid-Susse.x
railway and the Ai-un and Wye Canal, 7 miles SW of Hor-
sham, and has a station on the L.B. & S.C.R., 45 miles from
London, and a head post office. It probably got its name
from being a settlement of the great Saxon tribe of Billing.

The parish is divided into East and West Billingshurst.

Acreage, 6862; population, 1658. Gratwicke House is a
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seat in the neighbourhood, and Somers Place is a fine man-
sion in the Tudor style. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Chichester ; net value, £100 with residence. The
south side of the church is very Early Norman, the rest

chiefly Perpendicular English. There are two dissenting

chapels, and some small charities. Adversane and Five

Oaks are adjacent hamlets.

Billingside, a township absorbed in Medomsley parish,

Durham, 1887.

Billingsley, a township and a parish in Salop, on a small

affluent of the Severn, 3^ miles WSW of Hampton-Loade
station on the G.W.R., and 6i S of Bridgnorth, with a

post office under Bridgnorth, which is the money order office
;

telegraph office, Highley railway station. Ai'ea of the town-

ship, 1302 acres; population, 121; of the ecclesiastical

parish, with Sidbm'y, 194. Coal is worked. Lord Bam.ard
is lord of the manor. The living is a rectory, with that of

Sidbury annexed, in the diocese of Hereford
;
gross value,

£167 with residence. The church, rebuilt in 1875, is a

small stone edifice in the Early English style. Dr Thomas
Hyde, who co-operated in Walton's Polyglott, was a native.

Billington, a parish in Beds, on the river Ouse, 2 miles

SE of Leighton-Buzzard, and Ih mile W from Stanbridge

Ford station on the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Leighton-

Buzz.ard, which is the money order and telegi*aph office.

Acreage, 1209
;
population, 350. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Ely ; net value, £278 with residence. Patrons,

the inhabitants. The church is a small building chiefly in

the L.ate Decorated style, and there are Wesleyan and Primi-

tive Methodist chapels. The country seat of Billington

Manor stands in this parish.

Billington, a hamlet in Bradley parish, Staffijrdshire, 2

miles SW of Stafford. BilUngton Bury here is an ancient

British camp, and commands a fine view.

Billington, a township which forms the ecclesiastical

parish of Langho, in Blackburn parish, Lancashire, on the

Blackburn and Chtheroe railway, 5J miles NNE of Black-

burn. It has a station, of the name of Langho, on the rail-

way, and a post and money order office under Blackburn,

which is the telegraph office. Acreage, 3139
;
population

of ecclesiastical parish of Langho, 1458. The inhabitants are

chiefly cotton- weavers. The li\'ing is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Manchester; value, £274 with residence. Patron,

the Vicai" of Blackbuni. There are two churches, one built

in 1880, now the parish church, and an ancient church, for-

merly the parish church, now a chapel of ease. There are

Baptist and Roman Catholic chapels.

Billockby, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Bure, 2 miles

NE of Acle station on the G.E.R. Post town, Yarmouth;
money order office, Filhy ; telegraph office, Acle. Acreage,

396
;
population, 71. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Norwich
;
gross value, £120. The church is mostly in

ruins, but the chancel has been restored, and divine services

are held there.

Billquay, a viUage in Heworth parish, Durham, on the

river Tyne, 3 miles E of Gateshead. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Newcastle-on-Tyne ; the

railway station is at Pelaw Junction on the N.E.R. It has

chemical and cement works, and shipbuilding yards. There

are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Billsborough. See Bilsbokrow.
Billy-Row. See Crook and Billy-Row.
Bilney, East, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles

WSW of North Elmham station on the G.E.R., and 5 NNW
of East Dereham, with a post office under Dereham ; money
order and telegraph oftice, Gressenhall. Acreage of the civil

parish, 557; population, 142; of the ecclesiastical, with

Beetley, 608. The living is a rectory, united with the

rectoi*y of Beetley, in the diocese of Norwich
;

joint net yearly

value, £533. The church is a small building of flint in the

Early English style. Bilney the martyr, burned at Norwich

in 1531, was a native. His ashes were buried in the church-

yard, and bis cottage still stands in the village. East Bilney

Hall is a modern mansion.

Bilney, West, a parish in Norfolk, on the G.E.R., 1

mile E of East Winch station, and 7 miles ESE of Kings-

Lynn. Post town, Lynn ; money order and telegraph office.

East Winch. Acreage, 2387 ; population, 223. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich
;

gi-oss yearly value,
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£57. The church is an ancient building of flint and stone

in the Perpendicular style. It consists only of square tower

and nave. The chancel was destroyed nearly 200 years ago.

West Bilney Hall is a fine country seat standing in a well-

wooded park, and surrounded by extensive plantations and

drives.

Bilsborrow, or Bilsborough, a township in Garstang

parish, Lancashire, 4^ miles SE of Garstang, and 3 from

Brock station on the L. & N.W.R. It has a post office under

Preston. Acreage, 852
;
population, 176. There is a small

Wesleyan chapel, an endowed school, and a large paper-mill.

Bilsby, a village and a pari.sh in Lincolnshire, 1^ mile

NE from Alford station on the G.N.R. The parish includes

the hamlets of Asserby and Tlmrlby, and has a post office under

Alford, which is the money order and telegi*aph office. Acre-

age, 2901
;
population, 450. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £118 with residence.

The church is an ancient edifice of stone, and there is also

a Wesleyan chapel.

Bilsdale, a mountain vale in the N. R. Yorkshire. The

dale begins about 5 miles SE by S of Stokesley, and extends

11 southward to Rivauls, and 3^ NW of Helmsley. Its

head is overhung by Whinston and Botton-Head Mountains,

2300 and 1485 feet high, and its sides are flanked by other

heights, and cut by lateral vales. The view at its head is

very magnificent, and the scenery in some other parts of it

is grand.

Bilsdale-Kirkham, a township and a parish in the N. R.

Yorkshire, 12 miles from Helmsley station on the N.E.R.

Post town, Ingleby Greenhow, Middlesborough ; money order

and telegraph office, Stokesley. The parish includes the ham-
lets of Chopgate, Crossett, and UiTa, and the township of

]Midcable and the Constablewick of Raisdale. Acreage,

14,290; population, 596. Rlidcable is a wide tract of

sparsely populated moorland, with no church or village,

stretching little less than 13 miles between Helmsley and

Bilsdale-Kirkham. The latter has a handsome rural church

dedicated to St Hilda. The term Midcahle is supposed to

be derived from a former wayside (non-existent) chapel (jnedia

capella), belonging to and served by the monks of Rievaulx,

near to Helmsley. The living of Bilsdale is a vicarage in

the diocese of York; net value, £181 with residence, in the

gift of the Earl of Faversham, who is lord of the manor and

chief landowner. Ironstone and jet abound in the hills.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bilsdale-west-Side, a township in Hawnby parish, N. R.

Yorkshire, on the W side of Bilsdale vale, 6 miles NW by N
of Helmsley station on the N.E.R. The Earl of Feversham

is lord of the manor. Acreage, 2920; population, 145.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bilsford, a hamlet in Buckland-Brewers parish, Devon-

shire, G^ miles W of Torrington.

Bilsham, a tithing in Yapton parish, Sussex, 3 miles SW
of Arundel.

Bilsington, a parish in Kent, on the Military Canal, and

partly in Romney Marsh, 3 miles ENE of Ham Street station

on the S.E.R., and 6 SSE of Ashford, under which it has a

post office ; money order and telegraph office, Ham Street.

Acreage, 2844; population, 367. The manor of Bilsington-

Inferior was given to the Earls of Arundel, in the time

of Edward III., on the tenure of serving the king as butler

at Whitsunday, and belongs now to the Hallidays. A priory

of Augustinian canons was founded on Bilsington-Snperior

about 1253, by John Mansell, provost of Beverley, and the

manor connected with it was held by a tenure similar to

that of Bilsington-Inferior. Remains of the priory still stand,

partly appropriated into a farmhouse, on high ground, com-

manding a good view over the marsh. The living is a vicar-

age, consolidated with the rectory of Bonnington, in the dio-

cese of Canterbury; net value, £182. The church is good,

and was well restored in 1883.

Bilsthorpe, a small village and a parish in Notts, in

Sherwood Forest, 5J miles NW of Southwell, and 2 from

Farnsfield station on the M.R, Post town, Southwell. Acre-

age of parish, 1580
;
population, 203. The manor was given

by William the Conqueror to G. de Gaunt, and passed to the

Foljambes, the Bronghtons, and others. The old manor-

house stood near the church, and is said to have given shelter

for a short time to Charles I. The living is a rectory in
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the diocese of Southwell
;
gross value, £395 with residence.

The church is small, and contains several interesting monu-
ments. The lower part of the font is Norman.

Bilston, a market-town and a township in Wolverhampton
parish, Staffordshire. In Domesday Book it is called Billes-

tnne, and at different periods has borne the names of " Byls-

tune," " Bylston," " Bilson," and " Bilston." The town is

witliin Wolverhampton borough, 2^ miles SE of Wolver-

hampton town, 2^NWof Wednesbnry, and 139 from London,

It has two stations on the G.W.R., one at Pipes Meadow in

the centre of the town, and the other at Coseley Street, on

the West Midland branch, to the west of the town. The
L. & N.W.R. has a station at Ettingshall Road, about a mile

SW. Area of the town and township, 1867 acres; popula-

tion, 23,453. The place was at one time a royal manor of

little note. It continued till a modern period to possess

only a few private houses, and it bm*st into importance and

rapidly increased as a centre of the hardware trade. The
town occupies an elevated position, and extends for over a

mile. Cholera attacked 3568 of the inhabitants, and carried

off 742 in 1832, and 723 in 1849, and so roused attention

to sanitary measures as to occasion much improvement. The
town-hall is a good building in the Italian style, erected in

1872; it contains the offices of the local board, and also a

large free library and reading-room. The cemetery is situated

about a mile from the town, was opened in 1855 at a cost of

about £5000. It comprises upwards of 9 acres, and has

one mortuary chapel of blue brick, stone facings, and a small

spire, and is under the control of the local board. There are

a temperance hall and a police station. Baths and wash-

houses were built in 1853 at a cost of £2700. A new market-

hall was opened in 1892 and is lighted with electric light.

Bilston contains three ecclesiastical parishes in the diocese of

Lichfield : St Leonard, of remote antiquity, but its legal con-

stitution of disputed date, St Mary the Virgin, and St Luke.

Populations respectively, 7862, 3891, and 4054. The living

of St Leonard is a vicarage ; net value, £750. St Leonard's

Church, at the north-western extremity of the town, originally

very ancient, was rebuilt in 1827 and restored in 1883 ; is

a large Grecian edifice with low tower, and contains a splendid

altar-piece. The living of St Mary the Virgin is a vicarage;

gross value, £250 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Lichfield. St Mary's Church, in Oxford Street, was built

in 1830, and is in the Perpendicular style, with a fine tower.

The living of St Luke is a vicarage ; net value, £300 with

residence. St Luke's Church, in Market Street, was built in

1852, is in the Early English style, with a tower and spire.

There is also a Mission church in Wolverhampton Street,

belonging to St Leonard's parish, and a church at Bradley,

a suburb of Bilston and a separate ecclesiastical parish.

There are chapels for Roman Catholics, Baptists, Congre-

gationalists, Wesleyans, New Connexion Methodists, and

Primitive Methodists. The town is governed by the Bilston

Township Commissioners. It has a head post office, market-

hall, two banks, and two weekly newspapers, and is a

seat of petty sessions. Markets are held on Mondays and
Saturdays. Great trade is carried on in coal, iron, and stone

from the neighbourhood ; metal-casting in all its branches,

and the manufacture of japanned and fancy goods in vast

variety are highly prominent; and brass-working, bell-making,

malting, and ropemaking also ai-e caiTied on. The hardware

articles produced are too numerous to be mentioned, but in-

clude trays, waiters, iron buckets, hurdles, safes, keys, buckles,

locks, bridle-bits, screws, chains, boilers, and weighing-

machines.

Bilston, Suffolk. See Bildkstone.
Bilstone, a township in Norton-juxta-Twycross parish,

Leicester, adjacent to the Ashby-de-la-Zouch Canal, 4 miles

N.W of Market-Bosworth. Acreage, 713; population, 91.

Bilton, a village and a parish in Warwickshire. The
village stands 2 miles SW of Rugby, under which it has a post

office, and at which is the money order and telegraph office.

The parish comprises 2306 acres
;
population of the civil

parish, 1894 ; of the ecclesiastical, 803. Bilton Hall, built

in 1623, was purchased by Addison in 1711 prior to his

marriage with the Countess of Warwick, and contains portraits

by Vandyke, Kneller, and other painters. The manor house

contains a fine Madonna by Penigino. Bilton Grange, for-

merly the seat of the Hume family, is now a private school.



BILTON

The liTing is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net value,

£321. The church is a good Decorated structure, with

graceful octagonal spire. It was restored and enlarged

in 1872; contains some good stained windows, sedilia,

and a piscina ; the finely carved oaken organ-case formerly

belonged to St John's College, Cambridge. The vicarage

of New Bilton is a separate charge, constituted in 18G7.

There ai'e a Wesleyan chapel, and a reading and news room.

See Bilton, Nkw.
Bilton, a hamlet in Lesbury parish, Northumberland,

with a station on the N.E.R., at the junction of the branch

to Alnwick, and 18 miles N of Morpeth.

Bilton, a township, a village, and a parish in W. R. York-

shire. The township lies on the York and High Harrogate

railway, 5 miles ENE of Wetherby station, and has a post

office under York ; money order office, Tockwith ; telegi^aph

office, Wetherby. Acreage, 1923; population of the civil

parish, 237 ; of the ecclesiastical, 376. The parish includes

also the township of Bickerton. A Cistercian nunnery was

founded here, at Symingthwaite, about 1160, by Bertram

de Haget. The living is a discharged vicarage in the diocese

of York ; net value, £261 with residence. Patron, the De.an

and Chapter of Ripon. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bilton, a township, a parish, and a small village in tlie

E. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles N of Swine railway station, .and 4

NE of Hull, which is the post town. The parish also com-

prises the townships of Ganstead and Wyton. Area of town-

ship, 1205 acres; population of the civil parish, 101; of

the ecclesiastical, 259. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of York; net value, £283 with residence. The church is

excellent.

Bilton, New, a parish and practically a submb of the

town of Rugby, Warwickshire, but not in anyway included

in it. It has a post office under Rugby, which is the money
order and telegi'aph office. Population, 1091. It was

assigned a separate ecclesiastical district in the pari.sh of

Bilton. In 1868, when the church was consecrated, it be-

came under the 15th section of Act 6 & 7 Vic. a parish for

ecclesiastical purposes, known by the name of The New Parish

of New Bilton. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Worcester; net value, £189 with residence. The church

was built and endowed by the rector of Bilton, assisted by

the Ecclesiastical Commissioners and subscribers, and was

enlarged in 1881. The Rugby Portland Cement Comp.any

have works here, and brick-making is also earned on.

Bilton-with-Harrogate, a township and ecclesiastical

parish formed in 1857 from the district parish of Bilton-

with-Harrogate, in the W. R. Yorkshire. The township

lies on the N.E.R., 2 miles W of Knaresborough. 'The

nearest stations are at Han'ogate and Starbeck. Post town

,

HaiTogate. Acreage, 4201
;

population of the township,

14,076; of the ecclesiastical parish, 1047. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Ripon
;

gi-oss value, £250. HaiTO-

gate town will be noticed in the article Haerogate.
Bimpton. See Bkimpton.
Binacre. See Benacre.
Binbrook, a large village and a parish in Lincolnsl]ire.

The village stands on the river Ancholme, at the foot of the

Wolds, 7 miles W from Ludborough station on tlie G.N.R.,

and has a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Market-Rasen. It was formerly a market-town and a place

of some note, but has considerably decayed. The parish

consists of two quondam parishes, Binbrook St Gabriel and

Binbrook St Mary, united by Act of Parliament. Acreage,

5391
;
population, 1084. There are extensive rabbit wan-ens.

The living is a consohdated rectory and vicarage—St Mary
a rectory, St Gabriel a vicarage—in the diocese of Lincoln

;

net yearly value, £300. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
church of St Mary and St Gabriel is a building of stone in

the Early English style, and was erected at a cost of £5000
in 1869. There are Wesleyan, Primitive, and Free Metho-

dist chapels, a temperance hall, a reading-room, and a police

station.

Binohester, a township in St Andrew-Auckland and
Byers Green parishes, Durham, on the river Wear, adjacent

to the Weardale railway, 1 mile N by E of Bishop-Auck-

land station on the N.E.R. Post town, Bishop-Auck-

land. Acreage, 596
; population of Binchester, 53 ; of Byers

Green 2346 ; and of the ecclesiastical parish of Byers Green,

BINFIELD

3505. The manor has belonged to the Wren family since

the time of James I., and theur mansion on it, a venerable

building with wings, appears to have been built about the

beginning of that king's reign. A spot on the brow of an

eminence, commanding an extensive view, and now enclosed

and cultivated, was the Roman station Binovium or Vino-

vium, and has yielded a great variety of Roman relics. The

extent of the station was probably about 30 acres. The

Roman Watling Street passed either through it or close on

its western side.

Bincombe, a parish in Dorsetshire, under the Downs,

IJ mile from Upwey station on the G.W.R. Post town,

Dorchester ; money order and telegi'aph office, Upwey. Acre-

age, 982
;

population, 202. Good stone is quarried, and

there is a mineral spring. Numerous barrows are on the

Downs. The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of

Broadway, in the diocese of Sahsbury
;
gross value of the

living of Bincombe, £17G. The rectory house is at Broad-

way. Patron, Cains College, Cambridge. The church is

old but good, and has a tower.

Binderton, a chapelry in Sussex, IJ mile from Singleton

station on the L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Chichester ;
money

order and telegraph office, Singleton. The area is 1337

acres; population, 110. Binderton House is a seat in the

neighbourhood. The living is annexed to the vicarage of

Westdean, in the diocese of Chichester.

Bindon, a hamlet in Wool parish, and a liberty in Cerne,

Wareham, and Wimbome divisions, Dorsetshire. The hamlet

lies on the river Frome, J a mile E of Wool station on the

L. & S.W.R., and 6 miles W by S of Wareham. A Cister-

cian abbey was founded here in 1172 by Robert de Newburgh;

was given at the dissolution to Thomas, Lord Poynings ; de-

scended to the Eai-1 of Suffolk ; and was sold to the family

of Weld. The remains of it, in foundation walls of the

church, have been cleared out, and include part of the tomb

of one of the abbots ; and some features of the grounds con-

nected with it, in canals, fish ponds, and shady walks amid

thick woods, have been restored to their original state. The
materials of the buildings were carried off for the construc-

tion of Lulworth Castle, the seat of Lords Suffolk and the

Welds. Bindon Hill, in the vicinity, towards the coast, has

sand cliffs, succeeded by precipices. The area .and population

are included in Wool.

Binegar, a paiish in Somersetshire, at the eastern end of

the Mendip HUls, with a station on the Somerset and Dorset

Joint railway, 132 miles from London, and 5 NW of Wells.

Post town, Bath ; money order and telegraph office, Oakhill

railway station. Acreage, 1197; population of the civil

parish, 321 ; of the ecclesiastical, 316. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £267 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The

church was rebuilt in 1859. A horse fair, is held on the

Wednesday in Whitsun Week. Gurney Slade is a hamlet

and a small village i a mile to the east.

Bines-Green, a locality 3J miles N of Steyning, Sussex.

Binfield, a small village and a parish in Berks. The vil-

lage stands in Windsor Forest, 2J miles N of Bracknell

stiition on the L. & S.W.R., and 3^ NE of Wokingham, and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Brack-

nell. The parish comprises 3489 acres; population, 1740.

The Manor House, Binfield Park, Forest Lodge, Pope's Wood
(now Ai-thnrstone), The Grove, and Binfield Court are chief

residences, and there are several other fine villas and mansions

in this parish. Binfield was the early home of Pope, who
speaks of his father's house here as

—

" My paternal cell,

A little house, with trees a-row.

And, like its master, very low."

Here Pope wrote great pai-t of iiis early poems, and in a

clump of beech trees, not far distant from the house, and

still called Pope's Wood, stood a tree, now destroyed, bearing

the inscription by Lord Lyttleton, " Here Pope sung." The

Roman road, called the Devil's Highway,passed near the village,

and an entrenchment there bears the name of Cssar's camp.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; commuted

value, £805 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor.

The church is a building of stone in the Perpendicular style.

It is dilEcult to say when it was bnilt ; it was mentioned
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in the Taxatio of Pope Nicholas IV. in 1291. Novman re-

mains were found during restoration. It has a picturesque

square tower, was restored and enlarged in 1848, and further

enlarged in 1869. St Mark's chapel-of-ease, a building of

red brick, was erected in 1867, and is in the Early English

style. There is also an undenominational chapel, built in

187.'), and a working men's club, erected in 1885.

Binfield Heath, a hamlet in Binfield hundred, Oxford-

shire, 2J miles N of Sonning, and Sj SSW of Henley-on-

Tiiames.

Bingfield, a township, formed with St Oswald-in-Lee in

1879 into a district chapelry, in Northumberland, on Watling

Street and on the river En'ingburn, 6J miles N by W of

Corbridge, wliich is the post town (R.S.O.), money order, and

I elegraph office. Acreage, 2082
;
population, 70. The living

is a curacy annexed to that of St Oswald-in-Lee.

Bingham, a small town and a parish in Notts. The town

stands near the Fosse Way, on the Nottingham and Grantham

railway, in the Vale of Belvoir, 10 miles E of Nottingham.

It consists chiefly of two streets parallel to each other, and

is well built. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

<.ffice under Nottingham, two railway stations, two chief inns,

a church, two dissenting chapels, and a workhouse, and is a

se.at of petty sessions and a polling place for the Newark
division of the county. The church is E.arly and Decorated

English, large and cruciform ; has a square tower, highly

sculptured, and a lofty spire ; contains among others a monu-
ment to White, the first editor of the " Ephemeris

;

" and

was anciently connected with a small college or guild. A
statute fair is held on Candlemas Thursday and the last Thurs-

day in Oct. Acreage of parish, 3070
;

population, 1487.

The Earl of Carnarvon is lord of the manor. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Southwell; net value, <£631 with

residence. Patron, the Earl of Carnarvon. Archbishop

Abbot and Bishops Hanmer and Wren were for some time

rectors, and Archbishop Cranmer, the astronomer White,

Colonel Hutchinson, and Lord Howe were natives of the

parish or of its vicinity. The manufacture of cotton hosiery

is carried on. The Butter Cross in the market-place w\as

erected by subscription in 18C1. A cemetery has been laid

out by the rural sanitary authority.

Bingham-Melcombe, the seat of the Bingham family in

Dorset, on an affluent of the Piddle river, 9 miles NE of

Dorchester. It was the birthplace of Sir Pilchard Bingham,

who fought at the siege of St Quintin and has a monnment
in Westminster Abbey.

Bingham Town, a suburb of Gosport, in Hants. It is

new, and contains some genteel residences.

Bingley, a town and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire. The

town stands on an eminence, amid wooded environs, with

picturesque views, adjacent to the river Aire, the North

Midland railway, .and the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, 6 miles

NW of Bradford. It is named among the places given by

William the Conqueror to his followers, and it had an ancient

castle which has disappeared. It now consists chiefly of

one long street of stone houses, and it has undergone much
recent improvement in connection with m.anufactures. It is

governed by a local board for the outer districts, and improve-

ment commissioners for the town, the latter appointed under

a special Act. It has a town hall, a post, money order, and

telegraph office (in buildings erected in 1893), two banks, a

railway station, two chief inns, a parish church, a church for

the parish of Holy Trinity, Congregation.al, Baptist, Wes-

leyan, Primitive Methodist, Roman Catholic, and Christian

Brethren chapels, a free grammar school, a technical school,

and a public free library, opened in 1892 ; and is a seat of petty

sessions. The church is a plain structure of the time of

Henry VIIL, and was completely restored in 1871. The
grammar school dates from lfi29, was recently rebuilt, and

has an endowment of about £800 a year. A weekly market

was formerly lield on Tuesdays, and cattle fairs are now
held on the first Tuesday of April, and the second Tuesday

of Oct. Industry is carried on in an extensive manufacture

of worsted yarn, dress goods, and in iroufounding, tanning,

and malting. The parish consists of the townships of Morton

East and West, the hamlets of Eldwick, Harden, Mickle-

thwaite, and the township of Bingley. Area of the parish,

10,330 acres; population of the civil parish, 19,284; of the

ecclesiastical parish of All Saints, 6542 ; of Holy Trinity,
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5()63. Eiddlesden Hall was anciently the seat of the Maudes.
A large treasure in Roman coins was found in Morton. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon

;
gross value,

£560 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Ripon. The
ecclesiastical parish of Holy Trinity was constituted in 1869.
The living is a vicar.age ; net v.alue, £168 with residence, in

the gift of the Bishop of Ripon. There are Conservative and
Liberal clubs, a cemetery of 10 acres under the control of a
Burial Board, a public park of 18 acres, called the Prince of

Wales Park, situated on the hill overlooking the town, from
which fine views are obtained ; also the fine seats of St Ives,

Milner Field, and Longwood Hall.

Binham or Binham Abbey, a village and a parish in

Norfolk. The village stands 4 miles NE of Walsingham
station on the G.E.R., and 5 SE of Wells, and has a post

and money order office under Wighton (R.S.O.); telegraph

office, Walsingham. It is pleasaiit and picturesque, much
visited in summer by parties at the watering-places, and
retains the shaft of .an ancient market cross. A Bene-
dictine abbey was founded here in 1104 by Peter de Valoines,

the church of which still stands, and is used as the parish

church. The nave has two pure Early Nonnan arcades, and the

west front is very fine Early English. The parish comprises

2293 acres; population, 466. The liinng is a vicarage in

the diocese of Norwich; gi'oss yearly value, £126. There

is a Primitive Methodist chapel, erected in 1868, and some
small charities. Binham received a charter for a market .and

fair from Henry I., and the latter is still held on 2G July.

Binham, a hamlet in Old Cleeve paiish, Somerset, 2 miles

W of Watchet.

Binhamy. See Stratton, Cornwall.

Binley, a tithing in St Mary-Bourne parish, Hants, GJ
miles NNE of Andover.

Binley, a village and a parish in Wanvickshire, on the

river Sow, 2 miles NW of Brandon station on the L. & N.W.R.,
and 2^ E of Coventry. The parish includes the liberty of

Earnsford, and has a post office under Coventry, which is

the telegraph office ; money order office, Stoke Green. Acre-

age, 1688; population of the civil parish, 180; of the

ecclesiastical (which includes the liberty of Combe Fields,

formerly extra-parochial), 317. The manor belongs to the

Earl of Ci-.aven, who is patron of the living, which is a

donative in the diocese of Worcester. The church was built

in 1772 by the first E.arl of Craven, and now contains his

tomb. It is a Grecian structure with a medallioned roof.

Wagstafi'e, the nonjuring bishop, was a native.

Binnel Bay, a wide curve at the western end of the Un-
dercliffe, on the S coast of the Isle of Wight, 3J miles WSW
of Ventnor.

Binnington, a hamlet in Willerby parish, E. E. Yorkshire,

on the Hartford river, 1^ mile from Ganton station on the

N.E.R., and 8 miles SW by S of Scarborough.

Binovium. See Binchestek.
Binscomb, a tithing in God.alming parish, Surrey, 1 mile

N of Godalming.

Binsey, a small village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The
village stands on the right biink of the Isis, 1^ mile NNW
of Oxford. It was originally called Thorney or Thornbury,

from a profusion of thorns around it, and it afterw.ards took

the name of Binsey, signifying the Island of Prayer, from

its being a retreat of nuns and a great resort of pilgrims.

A rude church was constructed adjacent to it about the year

730 by St Frideswide, and this, together with a reputed

holy well, drew crowds of pilgrims for ages, insomuch that

24 inns stood in the neighbourhood for their accommodation.

Post town, Oxford, which is the money order and telegraph

office
;
population of the ecclesiastical parish, 73. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value, £71.

Patron, Christ Church College, Oxford. The church is an

ancient stone building in mixed styles, without a tower.

Binsoe, a village in West Tanfield parish, N. E. York-

shire, ?,\ miles SE of Masham.

Binstead, a small village and a parish in the Isle of

Wight. The village stands on the coast of the Solent, amid
charming environs, 1 mile W by N of Ryde. Tlie parish

comprises 1206 acres of land and 236 of foreshore and

water; population, 961. It has a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Ryde. The manor belonged at the

Conquest to William Fitz-Stur, and passed to the Bishops
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of Winchester. Several picturesque villas stand near the

village and on the coast. Remains of a Cistercian abbey,

called Quarr Abbej, founded in 1132 by Baldwin de Redvers,

afterwai'ds Earl of Devon, stand at a farmstead 5 fur-

longs west of the village, and, though fragmentary and

mutilated, show some interesting features. A silicious

limestone, containing many fossils, and well suited for build-

ing, has been extensively quarried since at least the time

of Willi.am Rufus. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Winchester; gi'oss value, X83. Patrou, the Bishop of

Winchester. The church is in the Eai'ly English style, and

embodies some sculptm-ed stones of a previous Norman edifice.

It was enlarged in 187C. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Binstead or Binsted, a parish in Hants. The parish lies

2 miles SSW of Bentley st.ation on the L. & S.W.R., and

4 NE by E of Alton ; contains the hamlets of Issington,

Week, Westcote, and Wheatley ; and has a post office under

Alton ; money order and telegraph office, Bentley. Acreage,

6920; population of the civil parish, 1331; of the ecclesi-

astical with Kingsley, 1341. The living is a vicarage,

united with the vicarage of Kingsley, in the diocese of

Winchester; gross united value, £370 with residence. Pa-

trons, the Dean and Chapter of Winchester. The church

is ancient, has a low embattled tower and a spire, and con-

tains several monuments. There are Primitive Methodist

and Wesleyan chapels.

Binsted, a parish in Sussex, 2 miles W by S of Arundel
station on the L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Arundel ; money
order and telegraph office, Walberton. Acreage, 1105

;
popu-

lation, 103. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chi-

chester; net value, £110 with residence. The church was
restored in 18G9.

Binton, a village and a parish in Warwickshire, near the

river Avon, 1 mile NW of Binton station on the East and
West Junction railway, and 4 miles W by S of Stratford-on-

Avon, which is the post town. The parish includes the

hamlet of Red Hill. Acreage, 1300
;

populiition, 235. Lime-
stone abounds, and was formerly quarried for paving-stones

and lime. It is now being largely used for the manufacture

of cement. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Wor-
cester; net value, £106 with residence. Patron, the Marquis
of Hertford, who is lord of the manor. The church is ancient,

and was rebuilt in 1875. There is a Congregational chapel.

Bintree or Bintry, a parish in Norfolk, 1 mile from Foul-

sham station, on the G.E.R.,3nd 5A miles WNW of Reepham.
It has a post office under Dereham ; money order and tele-

graph office, Foulsham. Acreage, 1478
;
population of the

civil parish, 378 ; of the ecclesiastical with Themelthorpe,

463. The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of

Themelthorpe, in the diocese of Norwich
;

joint net yearly

value, £358 with residence. Patron, Lord Hastings. The
church is an ancient edifice of flint m the Perpendicular

style with a western tower. There is also a Primitive Method-
ist chapel. Bintry manor within this parish belongs to

Christ's College, Cambridge.

Blnweston, a township in Worthen parish, Salop, 2 miles

WSW of Worthen.

Birbeck, a stream of Westmoreland, running from Shap
Fells to the river Lune.

Birbeck-Fells, a hamlet in Orton township and parish,

Westmoreland, on the Birbeck stream, and 3 miles from
Shap station on the L. & N.W.R. Jlost of the country

here is wild moor .and mountain.

Birbury. See Birdingbury.
Birch, a township in Baschurch parish, Salop, 2 miles

NW of Baschurch.

Birch, a parish in Essex, 3J miles SE of Marks-Tey sta-

tion on the G.E.R., and 5 SW of Colchester. It comprises
two ancient parishes. Great Birch and Little Birch, now
united, and has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office

under Colchester. Acreage, 3413 of land and 11 of water;
population of the civil parish, 869 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish of Great and Little Birch, 799. Birch Hall is a fine

counti-y seat standing in beantiful grounds. There are remains
of a small castle. The livuig is a rectory in the diocese of

St Albans; gross value, £598 with residence, in the gift of

the Bishop of St Albans (two appointments) and the Round
family (one appointment) alternately. The church of Great
Birch is good, that of Little Birch is in ruins.

11*

BIBCHANGEB

Birch, Great and Little, Essex. See Birch.
Birch, Little, a village and a parish in Herefordshire,

4| miles SW of Holme Lacy station on the Hereford, Ross,

and Gloucester branch of the G.W.R., and UJ S of Hereford,

which is the post town ; money order office, Much Birch
;

telegraph office, Tram-Inn. Acreage, 1019
;
population, 248.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford ; net value,

£172 (with the donative vicarage of Aconbury annexed).

The church was rebuilt iu 1869. There are also Primitive

Jlethodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Birch, Much, a village and a parish in Herefordshire, 3i
miles SE of Tram-Inn station on the Newport, Aberg.avenny,

and Hereford branch of the G.W.R., and 6k S of Hereford,

with a post and money order office under Tram-Inn (R.S.O.);

telegraph office, Hoarwithy. Acreage, 1303 ;
population,

470. Birch House is the chief residence. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Hereford; gross value, £76 with
residence. The church is modern.

Birch, or Birch-St-Mary, an ecclesiastical parish formed
from Bury and Jliddleton p.ari.shes, Lancashire, near the

L. & Y.R., 2 miles WNW of Middleton. It was constituted

in 1842, includes the township of Hopwood, and has a
post and money order office under Heywood ; telegraph office,

Hopwood. Population, 4882. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Manchester
;
gross value,'£200 with residence.

Patron, the Rector of Middleton. The church is a Gothic
structure, built in 1828 at a cost of £4000. There is a
working-men s club, founded 1890.

Birchall. See Bircholt.
Bircham. See Birciiam, Great.
Bircham-Cliffe or Birchencliffe, a hamlet and ecclesias-

tical parish formed in 1877 out of the Lindley, Longwood,
and Elland parishes, i a mile from Lindley, and 2 miles from
Huddersfield station "on the L. & N.W.R. and L. & Y.R.,
in the W. R. Yorkshire. Post town, Lindley, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Population of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 1766. The Church of St Philip the Apostle,

in the Gothic style, was erected in 1877. The living is a
vicar.age in the diocese of Wakefield

;
gross value, £98, in

the gift of the Vicar of Lindley.

Bircham, Great, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 3J
miles S of Docking station on the G.E.R., and 10 W by N of

Fakenham, with a post office of the name of Bircham,
under King's Lynn ; money order and telegraph office, Dock-
ing. Acreage, 3780

;
population, 392. The property belongs

to the Marquis of Cholmondeley. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £552 with resi-

dence. The church is a stone edifice in the Perpendicular
style, and there is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bircham, Newton, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 1

mile N of Great Bircham, 3 miles S of Docking station on the
G.E.R., and 11 W by N of Fakenham. Post town, Bircham,
under King's Lynn ; money order .and telegraph office. Dock-
ing. Acreage, 11C8; population of the civil parish, 8r> ; of

the ecclesiastical, with Bircham-Tofts, 244. The living is a
rectory, united with the rectory of Bircham-Tofts, iu the

diocese of Norwich; joint net yearly v.alue, £231 with
residence, in the gift of the Marquis of Cholmondeley, who
is lord of the manor and sole landholder. The church
is a small building in the Perpendicular style, with an
ancient font.

Bircham-Tofts, a village and a piirish in Norfolk, 4
miles S by E of Docking station on the G.E.R., and 10 W
by N of F.akenham. Post town, King's Lynn ; money order
and telegraph office, Docking. Acreage, 1508; population,

159. The living is a rectory annexed to Bircham-Newton.
Birch and Lyth, a township in Ellesmere parish, Salop,

1 mile SE by E of Ellesmere. Earl Brownlow is lord of the

manor. The Lyth is a fine mansion situated in an extensive

p.ark.

Birchanger, a parish iu Essex, on the G.E.R., 2J miles

NH of Bisliops-Stortford, under which it has a post and
money order office ; telegraph office, Stansted Mountfitchet.
Acreage, 1060; population, 469. An hospital was founded
here by Richard de Newport in the time of King John. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net value,

£214 with residence, in the gift of New College, Oxford.

The church is a small building of tiiut, in the Norman and
Early English styles.
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Bircher, a township and a village in Yarpole parisli,

Herefordshire, 4^ miles NNW of Leominster.

Birches, a township in Great Budworth civil parish,

and Lostock Gralam ecclesiastical parish, Cheshire, 3 miles

ESE of Northwich. It consists of one farm.

Birches, a locality on the river Severn, in Salop, between
Coalbrook Dale and Buildwas. A Landslip here in 1773
changed the conrse of the river for several hundred yards.

Birchetts-Green, a hamlet in Bisham and Hurley parishes,

Berks, 4 miles WNW of Maidenhead. Hall Place here is a

fine country seat standing in a beautiful deer park of ICO
acres, which contains some splendid avenues of limes.

The population is included in the parishes of Bisham and
Hurley.

Birchfield or Birchfield End, a suburb of Birmingham
constituted in 1865 an ecclesiastical parish from the civil

parish of Handsworth. It is 1 mile from Perry B.arr station

on the L. & N.W.R., and has a post and money order office

(Birchfield Road) under Birmingham, which is the telegi'aph

office. Population, 7429. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £330. Patron, the Bishop

of Lichfield. The church was erected in 1866.

Birchills, a railw.ay station on the South StafTordshire

branch of the L. & N.W.R., near Walsall.

Birchington, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands S^ miles W by S of M.argate, and has a station on the

L.C. & IJ.R., 71 miles from London. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. It occupies a gentle declivity,

with extensive prospects by sea and land, and is about a
mile long. The parish is within the Cinque-Ports liberty of

Dover, and comprises 1C79 acres of land and 448 of fore-

shore and water
;
population of the civil parish, 1822 ; of

the ecclesiastical, with Acol, 2050. The manor belonged

from the beginning of the 15th century to the family of

Quex, and passed by marriage in the time of Henry VII.

to the Crispes. One of its owners, a distinguished Puritan,

in 1657 was carried off from it to the Continent by the

Royalist captain, Golding, and long kept prisoner at Ostend
and Bruges. WilUam III. frequently rested at the manor
house on his excursions to Holland. The present mansion
is modern, and bears the name of Great Quex. The living is

a vicarage, annexed to the chapelry of Acol, in the diocese

of Canterbury; net value, £232 with residence. Patron,

the Archbishop of Canterbury. The church consists of nave,

chancel, and aisles, with tower and spire, and on the north

side of it is a chapel of the manor, containing some fine

monuments and ancient brasses. There are Baptist and
Wesleyan chapels.

Bircholt or Birchall, a parish and a franchise in Kent.

The parish is in East Ashford district, and lies 24 miles N
of Smeeth station on the S.C.R., and 4i E I)y S of" Ashford.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Canterbury
;
gross

v.alue, £49, in the gift of Lord Brabourne. There is a
mission room, but no church nor rectory. Acreage, 300

;

population, 36.

Birchover, a township and small village in the parish of

Stanton-in-Peak, Derbyshire, 1 mile N of Winster, and 2i
miles from Darley Dale station on the M.R. Post town,

Winster. Area of township, 762 acres
;

population, 76.

There is a cave near here containing a carved crucifix,

formerly used as a hermitage, and a subterranean passage 90
feet long under Row Tor ; and also a rocking stone of about

40 tons near the village.

Birch Vale, a village in H.ayfield parish, Derbyshire, 175
miles from London, with a station on the Sheffield and Mid-
land Joint railway. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Stockport. There are large calico-printing

works and quarries and coal pits ; also a Methodist chapel.

Birchwood, a colliery district in Riddings parish, Derby-
shire, 1 mile from Pye Hill station on the G.N.R. There is

a United Methodist chapel.

Birdall. See Raisthorpe and Bibdall.
Birdbrook, a parish in Essex, having a station on the

Colne Valley railway, 4 miles SE of Haverhill. It h.as

a post office under Halstead ; money order office, Haverhill

;

telegraph office, Birdbrook station. Acreage, 2072
;
popu-

lation, 531. A Roman camp occurs near Watson Bridge,

and a number of Roman urns, coins, and otiier relics have

been found near the old Roman road. The living is a rectory
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in the diocese of St Albans; tithe rent charge commuted
at £620 with residence, in the gift of Clare College, Cam-
bridge. The church is an admirable specimen of Early
English architecture, and has been faithfully and completely

restored ; it contains among other monuments a tablet to the

memory of one Martha Blewitt, who was the wife of succes-

sively nine husbands, and died in 1G81, and of Robert
Hogan, the husband of seven wives, the last of whom he

married in 1739. Baythorne-end, Chadwell (St Cead's

Well), and Bailey Hill are hamlets in this parish.

Birdforth, a hamlet, township, and chapelry, in the N. R.

Yorkshire. The chapeh-y is in Husthwaite parish, and lies

3 miles ENE of Sessay railway station, and 6 NNW of Easing-
wold, which is the post town. Area of the township, 628
acres

;
population, 50. The property chiefly belongs to

Viscount Downe, who is lord of the manor. The living is

annexed to Husthwaite, in the diocese of York; joint net

value, £280, in the gift of the Archbishop of York. The
church is very ancient.

Birdham, a parish in Sussex, on Chichester harbour, and
on the Arandel and Portsmouth Canal, 4 miles SW of Chi-

chester station on the L.B. & S.C.R. It has a post office

under Chichester, which is the telegi'aph office ; money order

office, West Wittering. Acreage, 1810 of land and 182 of

foreshore and water
;
population, 453. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £300 with

residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Chichester.

The church dates from the close of the 14th century, and was
restored in 1883.

Birdingbury or Birbury, a village and a parish in

Warwickshire, on the river Leam, 6 mUes NE of Southam,
and 7 SW by W of Rugby, with a station on the Rugby
and Leamington branch of the L. & N.W.R. Post town,

Rugby; money order office, Leamington Hastings; tele-

graph office, Stockton. Acreage, 1063
;

population, 173.

The manor belonged formerly to the Wheelers; it is now the

property of the Biddulph family. The Leam is crossed

here by a bridge of one arch, erected in 1873. The Warwick
and Napton Canal runs about 2 miles S of the village.

Birdingbury is the chief residence. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £90 with residence.

The church was enlarged in 1876, and has an apsidal chancel

and an octagonal tower ; it contains a good oak screen and
several stained windows.

Birdlip, a hamlet divided between Cowley, Brimpsfield,

and Witcombe parishes, Gloucestershire, near Witcombe Park,

6i miles SE by E of Gloucester, and 6 SW of Cheltenham.

It has a post and telegraph office under Gloucester ; money
order office, Painswick. There is a Biiptist chapel. Birdlip

Hill, in the vicinity, is crossed by Ermine-street, and com-
mands a noble view.

Birdsall, a township, a village, and a pai-ish in the E. R.

Yorkshire, If mile SW of North Grimston railway station, and
5J miles S by E of New Malton. Post and money order office,

York; telegraph office, Malton. Acreage, 4031
;
population,

366. Birdsall Hall, a seat of Lord Middleton, is the chief

residence. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Yoi'k

;

net value, £62. Patron, Lord Middleton. The church is a

handsome edifice, built in 1825 by Lord Middleton. Henry
Burton, the famous Puritan divine, who died in 1648, was
a native. Traces of a Danish encampment have been found.

Bird's-Green, a hamlet in the parishes of Roothing-

Beauchamp and Willingale-Doe, Essex, 1\ mile S of Roothing-

Beauchamp, and 9J miles SSW of Dunmow.
Birdwell, a hamlet in Worsbrough township, Darfield

parish, W. R. Yorkshire, with a st.ation on the M.S. & L.R.,

4 miles SSE of Bamsley, under which it has a post, money
order, and telegraph office.

Birkby, a township in Cross-Canonby parish, Cumberland,

on the coast and on the Carlisle railw.ay, 1 mile.NE of Mary-

port, and f from Dearh.am Bridge station.

Birkby, a township .and a parish in the N. R. Yorkshire.

The township lies on the N.E.R., 2 miles SSE of Cowton
station, and 7 NNW of Northallerton, which is the post

town. Acreage, 1203
;
population of the civil parish, 08

;

of the ecclesiastical, 138. The parish includes also the

township of Little Smeaton. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of York ; net value, £187 with residence. The church

is small and plain,
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Birkby, a village in the township of Huddersfield, W. R.

Yoiksliire. It is 1 J mile from Huddersfield railway station,

and has a post and money order office (T.S.O.) under Hud-
dersfield, which is the telegi-aph office. There are Baptist,

Wesleyan, and Methodist chapels, and the Huddersfield

Borout^h Fever Hospital is near the village.

Birkdale, a township and a suburb of Southport, in North

Jleols parish, Lancashire, on the coast, and on the Southport

railway, IJ mile S of Southport. The township is divided

into the two ecclesiastical parishes of St Peter and St

James. Acreage, 2215; population, 12,387; of the ecclesi-

astical parishes, 14,014. The township has a station on the

L. & Y.R., consists of several streets with good residences

and boai-ding-houses, and has greatly increased in population

in recent years. It is governed by a local board, and possesses

a town-hall and a court house (erected in 181H) for petty

sessional business. The livings are vicarages in the diocese

of Liverpool, St Peter's with a residence, and are both in

the gift of trustees. The income is derived from pew rents,

and is therefore variable. There are Roman CathoUc and
Wesleyan chapels.

Birkdale, a hamlet in Mnker township, in the vicinity of

Muker, N. R. Yorkshire.

Birkenhead, a market-town, seaport, township, and
municipal and parliamentary borough in the county of

Chester. It is situated in the lower division of the hundred
of Wirral, on the western bank of the Mersey, directly oppo-
site to Liverpool, about 3 miles from the sea. The name of

the town is supposed to have been derived from a small

stream, Birken or Birket, which joins the Mersey not far

from the present ferry. The origin of the town is somewhat
ancient, as it took its rise in connection with a Benedictine

priory which was founded about the year 1170, in the i-eign

of Henry II., by Hamon de Massey, Baron of Dunham ]\Ias-

sey. Its priors sat in the parliaments of the Earls of Chester

as nobles of the Palatinate, and in 1282 Edward I. gave

them the right to maintain a ferry, which is still known as

Monk's Ferry. A fine crypt and some interesting ruins of

the prioi7 still remain. The greater part of tlie priory estate

was bestowed by Henry VIII. on Ralph Worsley, and passed

successively to the Powells, the Clevelands, and the Prices.

It is only quite recently, however, that Birkenhead has risen

to its present important position. Even so late as 1801
Bu-kenhead had only 110 inhabitants, and twenty years later

only 236. The first move towards a town was the purchase

from the Corporation of Liverpool, in 1824, by IMr. Laird,

the father of the celebrated shipbuilder of Alabama notoriety,

of several acres of land on the shore of the Wallasey Pool, an
inlet from the Jlersey. The pool and the land around it

were excellently suited for docks, but it was not till 1844
that the docks were commenced, and they have been con-

structed upon a gi-eat scale. The water area of the docks is

168 acres, and the lineal quay space about 10 miles. In

1857 the docks of Birkenhead were amalgamated with those

of Liverpool under the public trust known as The Mersey
Docks and Harbour Board ; and although the Birkenhead
docks have not hitherto realized the expectations that were
entertained in regard to them, it is believed that these ex-
pectations may be realized at no distant time. At the present
time the docks of Liverpool are crowded, and the docks at

Birkenhead cannot fail to increase in importance with the
growing development of trade. In 1862 a landing-stage was
constructed at Woodside FeiTy at immense expense—800
feet long and 80 feet wide, resting on pontoons in a similar

way to the stage on the Livei-pool side, rising and falling with
the tide. It is connected with the piers by two iron bridges.

The town of Birkenhead is well planned, the principal

streets crossing each other at right angles, and about 20
yards wide; but the streets are chiefly lined with cottage pro-
perty, with unsightly gaps occurring at short intervals, giving

an air of overgi-owth and too sudden expansion, and showing
that the dreams of its founders have not yet been fulfilled.

It is celebrated for its public park, 190| acres in extent,

laid oat at a cost of £140,000. It was designed by Sir

Joseph Paxton, and the arrangement of lakes and ornamental
grounds is much admired. In Tranmere also there is another
park—the Mersey Park—29 acres in extent, which was
opened in 1885 at a cost of £33,000. An area of about 47
acres of the summit of Bidston Hill was in 18113 acquired
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as a park, at a cost of £12,100. The principal buildings

in the town are the Market House, built at a cost of £30,000
exclusive of the site, the Post Office, the Free Library, the

Borough Hospital, and the School of Art (the two latter

having been the gifts of the late Mr. Laird, M.P.), the Albert
Industrial Schools (the gift of another eminent citizen, the

late Sir William Jackson), the Public Baths, the Children's

Hospital, the Town Hall in Hamilton Square (a stately edi-

fice, such as would do no discredit to the largest of our cities),

St Aidan's College (a theological school connected with the

Chm-ch of England), the ObseiTatoiy on Bidston Hill, and the

Young Men's Christian Association Rooms—a commodious and
handsome structure built a few years ago by public subscrip-

tion, and an institution which is the centre of much Christian

activity. Birkenhead is well provided with churches. Besides

the Established churches there are upwards of thirty non-
estabhshed churches, and a great number of mission halls.

Indeed, there are few places where so much evangelistic work
is being done as in Birkenhead, in proportion to its population.

The greatest impetus of late years to the development of Bir-

kenhead was given by its connection with Liverpool by means
of the railway tunnel under the Mersey—the part of it under
the river being 1230 yards long. It was opened by the Prince

of Wales on 20 January, 1886, but since then it has under-
gone considerable extension on both sides of the river. The
tunnel railway runs from the Centr.al Station, Liverpool, and
on tbe Cheshire side it is connected with the Birkenhead and
Chester line at Rock Ferry, and has also branch lines to New
Brighton, Hoylake, and West Kirby, which are largely used.

The opening of this tunnel railway has led to a very gi-eat ex-
tension of traffic, and cannot fail to benefit the whole district,

when its connection with the trunk lines is more fully effected.

For the present it is true the railway has done serious damage
to the ferry, which has all along been a source of large revenue

to the corporation, and it has also acted unfavourably upon
the trade of the town, inasmuch as the access to Liverpool is

so much more direct, but there can be no doubt that all this

will rectify itself in due time. Even already the ferry has
begun to recover much of its old prosperity, and when the

railway connection with North Wales is completed there can
be no doubt that the tunnel railway will largely contribute to

the increasing prosperity of the whole neighbourhood.

To a great extent Birkenhead is a residential suburb of

Liverpool, the districts of Claughton and Oston being almost
entirely occupied by those in business in Liverpool, but still

it has important industries of its own. In particular it has
long been celebrated for its shipbuilding yards. The works
of the Messrs. Laird, to whom the town has been indebted

for so much of its progress, give employment to great numbers
of men, and have produced some of the largest steamships

and battleships on the sea. There are also the engineering

works of Messrs. Cochran & Co., and several others. Besides,

there are flour mUls, oilcake mills, waggon works, and an ex-

tensive trade in coal, guano, and grain—the grain warehouses
of Seacombe being well worthy of notice. Of late years the

well-known Sunhght Soap Works of the Messrs. Lever, in the

outskirts of Birkenhead, have formed a considerable addi-

tion to the industries of the place.

Until 1893 Birkenhead was the largest town in England,
except Preston, without a School Board ; but in consequence

of the growing educational requirements of the town, a School

Board became a necessity, and was introduced in that yeai*.

There can be little doubt that it will prove to be an important
factor in promoting the future prosperity of the town.

The parliamentary borough of Birkenhead includes the

townships of Birkenhead, Claughton, Oxton, Tranmere, and
part of Higher Bebington, and sends one member to parlia-

ment. Population of parliamentary and municipal borough,

99,857.

Birkenshaw, a railway station, two hamlets, and an ec-

clesiastical parish in Birstall parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire.

The station is on the G.N.R., 4J miles SE of Bradford.

The hamlets are Birkenshaw and Bukenshaw-Bottoms, which
stand near the railway station, within Gomersal township,
the former having a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Leeds. The ecclesiastical parish bears the name of

Birkenshaw-cum-Hunsworth. Population of the ecclesias-

tical parish, including Hunsworth, 3870. The inhabitants

are chiefly employed in collieries and worsted mills. The
163



BIBEER

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wal<efield ; net value,

JE27G with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Birstall. Tlie

church was built in 1830, and restored and enlarged in

1892 at a cost of £3400. There are Weslejau aud Method-
ist Free Church chapels.

Birker and Austhwaite, a township in Millom pai-ish,

Cumberland, 6i miles ENE of Eavenglass. Acreage, 8140
of land and 103 of water

;
population, 90.

Birk Fell, a hill on the E side of UUsw.ater, Westmore-
land, immediately N of Place Fell.

Birkln, a township and a p.arish in the W. E. Yorkshire.

The township lies on the river Aire, 3 miles from Whitley

Bridge station on the L. & Y.R., and 7h SW of Selby. It

has a post office under Normanton, which is the telegi-aph

office; money order office. Ferrybridge. Acreage, 2173;
population of the township, 158; of the ecclesiastical parish,

487. The parish comprises the township of Beal. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of York; net v.alue, £301
with residence, in the gift of Simeon's Trustees. The church

dates from 1130, and is quite a gem.

Birk-Eigg, a hill in Furness, Lancashire, IJ mile W of

Morecambe Bay, and 3 E of Dalton. It commands a very

extensive and magnificent p.anoramic view.

Birkwith, a hamlet in IIorton-in-Ribblesdale parish, W.
E. Yorkshire, 7i miles N of Settle.

Birkwood, a hamlet in Crofton parish, W. R. Yorkshire,
3A miles SE of Wakefield.

Birley, a parish in Herefordshire, on an affluent of the

river Lugg, adjacent to Watling Street, near Ford station

on the Shrewsbury and Hereford (L. & N.W. and G.W.
Joint) railway, 4 ENE of Weobley, and ^j SW of Leominster,

which is the post town ; money order and telegraph office,

Weobley. Acreage, ISO.'i
;
population, 172. The living is

a vicarage, annexed to the vicarage of King's-Pyon, in the

diocese of Hereford. The church is ancient, and was restored

in 1874. It consists of a chancel, with chapel, nave, .and

tower.

Birley-Carr, a hamlet in Ecclesfield township and parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, 4J miles N of Sheffield.

Birling or Berling, a township in Warkworth parish,

Northumberland, on the river Coquet and on the coast, (j^

miles SE of Alnwick. Acreage, 849
;
popuhation, 104. The

Duke of Northumberland is lord of the manor and chief

landowner.

Birling or Bs^rling, a parish in Kent, adjacent to the

river Medwiiy, 2f miles WSW of Snodland station on the

S.E.R., and NVV of Maidstone, under which it has a post

office; money order and telegraph office, Snodland (S.O.)

Acreage, 1918; population, 1384. The manor belonged

formerly to the Mainmots, the Says, and the Nevilles ; it is

now the property of the Earl of Abergavenny. Comfort,

now a farmhouse, and Birling Place, represented only by a

fragment, were seats of the Nevilles. A range of ch.alk

heights, called Birling Hills, occupies the W. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury
;

gi'oss value, £340
with residence. Patron, the Marquis of Abergavenny. The
church is Perpendicuhar English, in good condition, and con-

tains the remains, but no monuments, of some of the Nevilles.

Birling Gap, a depression and an artificial cut in the bold

high coast of Sussex, 1^ mile W of Be.achy He.ad. The cut

was made to afford means of escape to shipwrecked m.ariners,

and was for some time defended by an arch and portcullis,

vestiges of which still exist.

Birlingham, a village .and a parish in Worcestershne, on

the river Avon, IJ mile E of Defford station, and the same
distance W of Eckington station on the M.E., and 2J miles

SSW of Pershore, under which there is a post office, and at

which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

1272 ;
population, 309. Birlingham House, the Court House,

and the Manor House are the chief residences. The living

is annexed to the rectory of NaSbrd, in the diocese of Wor-
cester

;
gross joint value, £180 with residence. The church

is mainly modern, but has a Perpendicular tower. The
Norman chancel-.arch has been re-erected in the chmxhyard.

There are 8 almshouses.

Birmingham, a municipal and parliamentary borough, a

county borough under the Local Government Act, and a

city, in .'J2" M' N lat., .and 1" 18' W Ion., distant from

London 109 miles by road and 112 by railway, and .situated
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on the Roman Icknield Street. When incorporated in 1838,
and down to 1891, Birmingham was wholly in the county of

Warwick. In 1891, by special Act of Parliament, it was
extended to include parts of Worcestershire and Staftcird-

shire, making the municipal and parliamentary boundaries

co-extensive. The area of the city is 12,705 acres, of which

a considerable portion is hand not yet built upon. The popu-
lation of the original borough at the census of 1891 was
427,000; by the subsequent extension it is raised to 478,113.

The number of inhabited houses is now 95,470. The poor-

law divisions are—Birminghiim parish, with its own ijoard

of guardians ; Edgbaston parish, included in the union of

Kingsnorton; and part of Aston parish, included in the

Aston union. The town is built upon the New Eed Sand-
stone formation, and has chiefly a gravelly soil, with occa-

sional patches of marl and clay. The configuration of the

ground is remarkiibly undulated : the lowest parts are 290
feet above sea-level, and the highest reach .an altitude of

61G feet. The town is consequently one of the highest and
also one of the healthiest in England—being placed upon
the ridge which constitutes the backbone of the Midlands.

To this elevated situation it owes its immunity from epidemics,

as it stauds high above the cholera line. The mean death-

rate for the last decennial period is about twenty in the

1000. The appearance of the town is remarkably pictur-

esque as viewed from a distance, and this impression is con-

firmed on inspection—the streets being usually curved to

meet the necessities of the site, and the buildings, especially

those in the centre of the city, being handsome and greatly

diversified in style. New Street, Colmore Eow, and Cor-

poration Street, the principal thoroughfares, are among the

finest in the kingdom.

History.—The first mention of the pl.ace occurs in Domes-
day Book as Bermingeham, but in various records there have

been reckoned about 100 ways of spelling it. The most
reasonable conclusion of the origin of the name is that it is

derived from Beorm, the designation of perhaps the first

possessor, "ing" signifying the family or tribe, and "ham"
the home or dwelling-place. Thus Birmingham would st.and

for " the home of the Beorms." That there was a com-
munity here previous to the Conquest is shown by the

Domesday entry, and further by the fact that in 1309 the

then lord, William de Berminghiim, gave proof that in Saxon
diiys his ancestors had a market and levied tolls. The town,

however, made no gi-eat figure on the larger stage of national

aflaii's until comparatively modern d.ays. The most notable

incidents are these:—In 1265 William Bermingham led a

body of his people to the support of Simon de Montfort at

the battle of Evesham, and was killed there, his estates being

forfeited for treason. They were restored to his son, and
were held by the family until 1527, when Edward Berming-
ham was falsely accused of highway robbery by John Dudley,

duke of Northumberland, the then owner of Dudley Castle,

and superior lord of Birmingham, who obtained a grfint of

Edward's lands. On the fall of Dudley the manor of Birming-

ham passed to the crown, and was gi-anted in 1555 to Tliom.as

MaiTow of Berkswell, from whose family it went in 174G to

Thomas Archer, afterwards Earl of Plymouth, and ultimately

to the family of Musgriive, who still hold the manorial rights,

excepting those of fairs and markets, which early in the

present century were bought by the town commissioners, and
now belong to the corporation. In the civil wars between
Ch.irles I. and the Parliament the town was strongly Parlia-

mentarian. Its smiths and cutlers refused to supply sword
blades to the Eoyalists, but made as many as 15,000 swords

for the Commonwealth troopers. Clarendon speaks of the

place as being " so generally wicked that it had risen upon
small parties of the king's, and killed or taken them prisoners,

and sent them to Coventry, declaring a more peremptory
malice to his Majesty than any other pl.ace." Just before the

battle of Edgehill (23 October, 1642), Charles lodged for

two nights at Aston Hall, close to Birmingham. The towns-
men seized part of his baggage, with much phate and money,

and sent it to the Parliamentary garrison at Warwick ; .and

so soon as the king had moved onwards they attacked Aston
Hall, and compelled the owner. Sir Thomas Holte (who had
a Eoyalist gan-ison), to surrender—Sir Thomas being also

imprisoned and heavily fined for his loyalty. In April,

1G43, the Eoyalists had then: turn. Prince Rupert, passing
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throHgh BirmlnKlmm on his way to Lichfield, cannonaded

the town, sacked it, and levied upon it a 6ne of £20,000,

equivalent to at least £100,000 at the present value of

money. There is, however, no record that the fine was

paid. The Royalists, however, did not escape without

serious loss, some of their men being killed and injured

—

among tlie former being the Earl of Denbigh, one of Prince

Rupert's officers. From this period until the Revolution of

1688 Birmingham was quiet; but on the flight of James II.

the townspeople attacked the Roman Catholics, and destroyed

a chapel and convent, for the building of which James had

provided part of the materials. With the exception of some-

what serious bread riots in 1754, and again in 1766, there

was no remarkable occurrence until 1701, when the famous

Church-and-King riots broke out. This outbreak of popular

fury was the result of a long and bitter conflict between

Churchmen and Nonconformists, the latter guided chiefly by

the Unitarians, who, under the leadership of Dr Priestley

(then minister of the New Meeting), had striven with vigour

to shake off the religious and political disabilities affecting

them. The polemical warfare, which was carried on for

several year's, ai'oused strong partisanship on both sides, and
this was brought to a head by the outbreak of the French

Revolution, which excited a keen interest among the Liberal

section of the population. On the 14th of July, 1701, a

dinner was to be held at the Royal Hotel to celebrate the

destruction of the Bastille. Inflammatory placards denounc-
ing those who proposed to attend the dinner appeared upon
the walls, and threats were freely used against them ; but

they persevered, and the dinner took place without disturb-

ance. Scarcely, however, had the company separated when
an organized attack was m.-ide upon the Unitarians. For
that night and for the three following days the town was at

the mercy of a drunken and ruffianly mob, composed of the

lowest elements of the population, but secretly inspired and
directed by persons of higher stiition. The watchword of

the rioters was ^' Church and King," and the only chance of

escape for suspected or obnoxious persons was to chalk this

formula upon their doors. The first attack was aimed at

the two Unitarian chapels, both of which were burned. Then
Dr Priestley's house of Fairhill, in the suburb of Spar-kbrook,

was sacked and burnt—the whole of his library, philoso-

phical instruments, and manuscripts (embodying the labour

of years) perishing in the fire. The houses of Hntton the

historian, of Baskerville the famous printer, and of many
other leading Unitarians shared the same fate. At last a

strong body of troops came to the help of the magistrates,

and the riot was put dowTi, but not until property to the

value of £10,000 had been destroyed, or until many of the

rioters themselves had perished—some of them dying drunk
in the cellars of the burning houses. Some of the ruffians

were captured and tried at the next assizes at Warwick
;

fotu- of them were hanged, and the rest sentenced to im-

prisonment. The loss of the sufferers was partly made good

at the cost of the hundi'ed. One result of the outbreak was
that it drove Dr Priestley not only from Birmingham, but
from EngLand, and induced him to emigrate to the United

States. Tardy honour was done to his memory seventy

years later by the erection of a statue of him in front of the

Town Hall. As if ashamed of these excesses, Birmingham
afterwards distinguished itself by the vivacity and consistency

of its Liberafism. From 1817 to 1829 various movements
were conducted for the purpose of promoting religious and
political freedom, and in the last-named year the PoUtical

Union was formed, under the leadership of Jlr Thomas
Attwood, to assist in cari7ing the first Reform Bill. Meet-
ings 100,000 strong were held on NewhaU Hill; there was
talk of marching upon London, proposals were made to refuse

payment of taxes, and many violent counsels were offered.

The Reform Bill passed; the great towns received parHa-
mentary representation, and the country agreed that the

triumph of reform was largely due to the influence of Bir-

mingham. On two occasions only in later years has the

peace of the town been distmbed, though intense political

activity has been the rule of the place. The Chartist agita-

tion gave rise to one of these occuirences, several houses in

the Bull Ring having been burned by Chartist rioters on the
15th of July, 183!). Again in 1867 (16th June), owing to

tbe fury excited against the Roman CathoUcs by an ultra-
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Protestant lecturer named Murphy, one or two streets, in-

habited chiefly by Irish, were sacked, but the disturbance

was quickly put down.

Government and Parliamentary Reprcaentalion.— Bir-

mingham had no regular municipal government until 1769,
when an Act of Parliament was obtained appointing a body
of commissioners for the purpose of lighting, cleansing, and
improving the town ; and this body (which filled vacancies

in its number by self-election) continued in existence until

1851. Upon the passing of the Municipal Corporations Act
in 1835, an appUcation was made for a charter of incorpora-

tion as amunicip.al borough. In 1838 a charter was granted,

the governing body being constituted of sixteen aldermen

and forty-eight councillors, now raised to eighteen aldermen
and fifty-eight councillors. The street commissioners still

continued to exercise jurisdiction in the parish of Birming-

ham, and several other bodies of the same self-elected kind

had control of other parts of the district included in the

borough. In 1851 an Act of Parliament was p.assed abolish-

ing all these governing bodies, and transferring their powers
to the Town Council, whose authority was further extended

by another private Act passed in 1862. A third Act, passed

in 1882, and consolidating all previous Acts and private

Acts and orders, and conferring extensive new powers upon
the corporation, is the Act under which the local government
of Birmingham is now conducted. A fourth Act, passed in

1890, as above stated, extended the boundaries and enlarged

the number of the governing body. At the time the charter

of incorporation was granted, the town also received a grant

of a sep.arate commission of the peace, and a grant of quarter

sessions for the trial of prisoners. In 1839 a police force

was instituted, but in consequence of the Chartist riots this

was at first placed xmder the control of a government com-
missioner, and it was not until 1842 that it passed into the

hands of the corporation. The present strength of the police

force is 750 men. In 1875 the corporation, by purchase,

authorized by special Acts of Parliament, acquired the pro-

perty of the gas and water companies which had previously

supplied the town. The cost of the gas-works was about

£1,500,000, and of the water-works about £1,300,000.
Large sums have since been expended in improving both
undert:ikings. The water supply is derived from streams in

the neighbourhood of the town, from deep wells sunk in the

sandstone, and from storage reseiTou's, one of which (90
acres in extent) is capable of holding 600,000,000 gallons.

In 1892 the corporation obtained an Act of Parliament to

provide for an entii'ely new water supply from the rivers

Elan and Claerwen, the head waters of the river Wye, in

Radnorshire. This new supply, expected to become avaihable

in about ten years, is calculated to serve for at least fifty

yeai-s, and its ultimate cost is estimated at over £6,000,000.
The gas-works yield a revenue of £25,000 a year to the

corporation, after pajing the cost of interest on the purchase

money and providing a sinking fund for the extinction of the

capital outlay. The income of the corporation (exclusive of

the sum paid by the gas-works, the yield of the market tolls,

and some other minor receipts) is derived chiefly from rates

levied on the town, the corporation having no landed pro-

perty yielding income. The rates levied for municip.al

purposes amount to about 4s. 4d. in the pound, on an
assessment of rateable property of £2,200,000. In addition

to these a school-boai'd rate of nearly lid. in the pound is

levied, and also a poor rate, which varies in amount in the

several parishes in the city. In the parish of Bimiingham,
which has the highest poor rate, the total local rates would
amount to about 7s. in the pound ; in the other two parishes

the total would be about 6s. 4d. The tot.al expenditure of

the corporation for nmnicipal purposes averages about

£350,000. The debt of the city, including the cost of the

gas and water works, is £7,000,000. This amount includes

the debt inciured on account of an improvement scheme
undertaken in 1876 under the provisions of the Artisans'

Dwellings Act, and by which a sjinitary and street improve-

ment of great magnitude and value has been efi'ectcd. The
amount borrowed for this scheme is over £1,500,000, which
is covered by property of equivalent value acquired by the

coi"poration.

Until the Reform Act of 1832 the parliamentaiy repre-

sentation of Binniugham was included in that of the county
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of Warwick. By tliat Act two members were assigned to

the town ; and by the Reform Act of 1867 the number was

increased to three, which was fm-tber increased to seven by

the Pedistribution Act of 1885. The town was then divided

into seven electoral districts—viz. , Central, Bordesley, Edgbas-

ton, East, North, Sontb, and West Divisions.

Education.—Elementary education is provided by board

schools and schools connected with religious bodies, chiefly

the Chnrch of England and the Roman Catholic. The

School Board (fifteen members) was first elected in 1870, and

has already proidded fifty-fom- schools, capable of receiving

on an average 1000 children each. The denominational

schools number fifty-seven, with accommodation for 30,000

childi-en. The School Board has special science and drawing

instructors, and much attention is given to teaching cookery

and household economy to girls. The School Boar-d has

also a lai-ge system of specially advanced schools, and of

evening classes for those who have left the day schools. A
d.ay training college for pupil teachers is also conducted by

the School Board, most of the instruction being given in the

classes of Mason College. Secondary education is provided

by the gi-eat series of schools on the foundation of King

Edward VI. The endowments of the trnst consist of the

rents of lands foi-merly belonging to the Gild of the Holy

Cross, a semi-religions and semi-charitable foundation dating

from the middle of the fom-teenth centmy. These lands

were confiscated by Henry VIII. at the suppression of the

monasteries; but, on petition of the inhabitants, were in

part regranted by Edward VI. (in 1552) for the provision of

a grammai'-school. The property was then valued at

i:3i 2s. lOd. (about £-100 yearly, according to the present

value of money). The rentals now yield about i:33,000 a

year, and by fees received from a section of the scholars this

is raised to £47,000 a year, with a prospect of considerable

increase. The grammar-school was originally managed by a

self-elected body of governors ; but by a new scheme adopted

in 1878, the governors were fixed at twenty-five in number,

of whom eight are chosen by the Town Council, one by the

school teachers, and one each by the Universities of Oxford,

Cambridge, and London, the rest being co-optative. The

instiTiction was formerly free, the scholars being admitted by

the governors' nomination. All scholars are now admitted

only by competitive examination, and only a certain propor-

tion (one-third) are received free, the remainder paying fees.

The free scholarships are open (by competition) to scholars

in the elementary schools of the town. There were formerly

several elementary schools in connection with the founda-

tion ; these are now abolished, and the group of schools is

at present constituted as follows:—(1) a high school for

boys
; (2) a high school for gii'ls—these are in the centre of

the town
; (3) seven grammar (or middle) schools in various

parts of the town, three of them for hoys and four for girls,

providing, iu the total, for over 2500 pupils. There are

numerous scholarships in connection with the foundation,

tenable at Oxford, Cambridge, and London ; and there are

others tenable at Mason College, Birmingham. Mason

Science College, which provides for higher education (on the

plan of the Owens College, Manchester, and similar institu-

tions), was opened in 1880. It is situated in Edmund Sh-eet,

near the Town HaU. It was founded by the late Sir Josi.ah

Mason, who reaUzed great wealth by penmaking and electro-

plating, and who built the college at a cost of £60,000, and

endowed it with properties valued at over £100,000. It is

governed by eleven trustees, five of whom are chosen by the

Town Council, and the others, originally appointed by the

founder, are co-optative—the whole being appointed for life.

The scheme of the college includes advanced instraction in

all branches of science, languages, and Hterature. In these

departments there are twelve professors—of chemistiy .and

metallurgy, physics, physiology, biology, botany, geology

and mining, mathematics, engineering, Latin and Greek,

English language and literature, German, and French ; and

there are also numerous demonstrators and assistants. The

college possesses a valuable library of 23,000 volumes ; biolo-

gical and geological museums ; fonr lecture theatres ; and

admirably appointed laboratories and class-rooms, modelled

upon the best German examples. The building, singularly

fine in character, is of brick and stone; the architect was

Mr J. A. Cossins, Birmingham. The original scheme of the
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College has now been completed by the addition of a Medical

Faculty, the medical instruction previously given at Queen's

College having, in 1892, been transferred to Mason College

under the authority of an order in Chancery. The medical

department, at a cost of about £20,000 for site and build-

ings, has its own theatres, museums, and class-rooms separ-

ately from the Arts and Science department, but is under the

same general administration. The total income of the con-

joint college is about £12,000 a year, the expenditure i.s

somewhat higher. Queen's College (Paradise Street), founded

in 1828 and incoi-porated in 1867, had formerly an almost

university character, under royal charter, and was empowered

to grant degrees in engineering ; but, by the removal of the

Medical F.aculty, and the gradual decay of others, has become

solely a theological college of the Chnrch of England. The
number of students is about 20. The Birmingham and

Midland Institute was founded in 1854, under authority of

an Act of Parliament. The foundation stone of the original

building, which cost £15,000 (architect, Mr E. M. Bany),

was laid by the late Prince Consort, 22 November, 1854.

The building has been since largely extended, at a cost of

£30,000 (architects, Messrs Martin and Chamberiain, Bir-

mingham), and includes one of the finest lecture halls in

England. The institute is divided into two departments

—

one general, including weekly lectures, reading-rooms, &c.

:

the other evening classes in languages, literature, music, &c.,

for artisan and other students. There are also morning

classes for ladies, and subsidiary classes are held at some of

the board schools. There ar-e about 2000 annual subscribers,

by whose contributions and the class fees the institution is

maintained. The science classes formerly conducted by the

Institute have now been transferred to the Technical School

established and maintained by the corporation, under the Tech-

nical Instruction Act of 1890. This school is governed by

a committee of the coi-poration, including experts not mem-
bers of the City Council. The School of Art, formerly

conducted by a committee of subscribers, is also transferred

to the corporation. It consists of a central school, for which

a site worth £15,000 was given by a local landowner, two

sums of £11,000 and £10,000 being given by other donors

for the erection of the building. The sum of £16,000 has

been since expended by the corporation on an extension of

the school. Besides the central school there is a second

school for the instruction of jewellers, silversmiths, &c., and

there are thirteen other branch schools of art in various parts

of the city. The total number of students is nearly 4000,

and in addition the School of Art committee, by means of

inspecting teachers, supervises the drawing teaching in all

Board schools. There are several colleges for special pur-

poses in or near the town. The Congi'egationalists (Inde-

pendents) had one for the training of ministers at Spring

Hill, Moseley, but this was transfeiTed four years ago to

Oxford, where it is now located as Mansfield College ; the

Wesleyans have one for the same purpose at Handsworth
;

there is a training college for schoolmasters (for the dioceses

of Worcester, Lichfield, and Hereford) at Saltley ; and the

Roman Catholics have an extensive school in connection

with the Oratory at Edgbaston, established by the late

Cardinal Newman, and a college at Oscott for theological

students only.

Closely associated with the educational institutions are the

public and other libraries of the town. The chief of these

is the Free Reference Library belonging to the corporation,

and supported by the libraiy rate. This was destroyed by

fire, 11th January, 1879, together with the whole of its

contents, including the famous Shakespeare libr.ary. It is

now, however, restored on a much larger scale. The archi-

tects were Messrs Martin and Chamberlain, and the cost of

the new library was about £50,000. The restored collection

of books at present amounts to about 120,000 volumes, and

the new Shakespeare library is making great progi'ess ; the

committee were aided in the general work of restoration by

numerous valuable gifts of books, and by a subscription of

£15,000 raised by the townspeople. The principal room of

the new reference library measures 100 feet by 64. In the

same building is a lending library, containing 60,000 volumes,

and a free news-room of the same size as the reference

library. There are also eight branch lending Ubraries and

news-rooms in various parts of the town. The next largest
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library (subscribers only) is called the Birmingham Library,

in Union Street. It was established in 17S0 by I)r Priestley,

and now contains over 60,000 volumes. The Mason College

(already mentioned) has a tine library of scientitic books; and

the Medic.ll Institute, Edmund Street, established as a meet-

ing-place for members of the meJic.iI profession, has also a

large collection of professional works. The Art Gallery,

established by the coi"poration, was opened by the Prince of

Wales in December, 1885. It occupies a fine suite of rooms

erected as part of the council-house, and contains large col-

lections of valuable pictures and works of industrial art,

including special collections of the works of David Cox, of

the pottery of Josiah Wedgwood, and of arms of all kinds.

Other means of art instruction and recreation are afTorded

by the classes and exhibitions of the Royal Society of Artists,

which receives students in painting, &c., provides for art

lectures by a staff of professors, and holds two exhibitions

annually—one of water colours in the spring, and one of oil

pictures in the autumn. There ai'e other societies of an

educational character, such as the Ar'chfcological Society, a

branch of the Institute ; and the Natural History Society,

the Philosophical Society, and the Athletic Institute (opened

18112), besides many minor associations of a scientific or

literary ch.aracter, and numerous musical societies.

Rtligion.—Bimiingham is an archdeaconry and a rural

deanei"y, in the diocese of Worcester. In the city there are

seventy-one churches and licensed rooms belonging to the

Church of England. The principal church is St Martin's,

the parish church, and until 1715 the only one. The original

building was erected about the middle of the loth ceutmy,

but owing to its dilapidated state this was wholly removed

in 1878, and a new church (14th century Gothic) built at a

cost of £30,000 (architect, Mr J. A. Chatwin, Bhming-
ham). The next important church is St Philip's (Italian),

built in 1715 by Ai'cher, a pupil of Wren. Another church

of note is St Alban's, built in 1880 (architect, Mr Pearson).

The rest of the churches of Birmingham are not remarkable

for ardiitectural qualities ; nor can the Nonconformist

edifices make any particular boast, though of late years more

attention has been paid by them to the artistic enrichment

df their places of worship. Birmingham is very strong in

its Nonconformist character. As far back as the Common-
wealth it was marked in this respect, and in 1662 it gave

refuge to several of the ministers ejected from neighbouring

places under the Act of Uniformity. These ministers con-

ducted their services at the Old Meeting, where a Presby-

terian congregation was gathered, but the Old Meeting

afterwards passed into the hands of the Unitarians. The
chapel itself was removed in 1882, to make way for the

enlargement of the Central Railway Station ; but a new one,

to perpetuate its name, is erected in Bristol Street, a singu-

larly noble Gothic building (architect, Mr J. A. Cossins).

Another Unitarian chapel of note was the New Meeting, in

Moor Street, of which Dr Priestley was the minister ; in 1862

this place was sold to the Roman Catholics, and the Uni-

tarian congregation migrated to a new Gothic building in

Broad Street. They have several other chapels in Birming-

ham. The Society of Finends have one meeting-house, and

also conduct extensive Sunday schools in Severn Street, with

about 3000 scholars (almost all of them adults) in the

various classes. The Friends' Meeting was first opened in

1690. The Independents (or Congregationalists) have nine

chapels in the city ; the chief of them is that in Carr's Lane,

for many years under the pastorate of the Rev J. Angell

.lames, and now under that of his immediate successor. Dr.

R. W. Dale. The Wesleyans, planted in Birmingham in

1745 by John Wesley himself, h.ive seventeen chapels, and

the other branches of the Methodist denomination bring up
their total to nearly fifty. The first Baptist cliapel was

built in 1738 ; there are now fourteen places of worship of

this denomination. The Presbyterians have three churches,

the .lews have a synagogue, and there are several places of

worship which must be classed as miscellaneous. The Roman
Catholics make Birmingham the centre of a diocese, and have

a bishop here. They have altogether ten churches and

chapels, and several conventual establishments. Their prin-

cipal church is the Cathedral of St Chad, in Bath .Street,

which, with the bishop's house opposite to it, was built from

the designs of the late Mr A. Welby Pugin, and was one of
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the earliest examples of his revival of Gothic art. An en-

deavour was made recently to olitain the creation of a

bishopric of Birmingham in connection with the Church of

England, and a private bill for this purpose was introduced

into Parliament, but the funds subscribed proving inadequate

the bill was withdrawn, and the bishopric project, though

not abandoned, remains in abeyance.

Charities.— The medical charities consist of twelve hospi-

tals and a sanatorium. The principal of these is the General

Hospital (Summer Lane), begun in 1765 and opened in

1771), which afibrds relief to about 3000 in-patients and
ne.arly 30,000 out-patients annually, and expends about

£13,000 a year. This hospital is now (1893) about to be

rebuilt on a new site, at a cost of £100,000 ; it is to contain

over 300 beds. In connection with this hospital the triennial

musical festivals were commenced in 1768, when Handel's
" Messiah " was performed in St Philip's Church. The second

festival took place in 1771, and then came an interval until

1784, when the regular succession of triennial music meetings

began. Until 1834 the festivals were held in St Philip's

Church for sacred music, and in the theatre for secular per-

formances. In 1834 they were wholly transferred to the

Town-hall, where they have since been conducted. These
meetings have been marked by the first production of many
works of the highest importance ; Mendelssohn's " Elijah,"

for example, was produced here in 1846, and Gounod's
" Redemption" in 1882. The fine organ in the Town-hall,

built by Messrs Hill of London, formerly the property of the

General Hospital Committee, is now transferred to the cor-

poration as the town organ. The Queen's Hospital (wholly

free) was opened in 1840. It receives about 1200 in-

parients and about 15,000 out-patients annually. The
Jaffray Suburban Hospital, which was founded by Sir John
Jaffray, Bart., was opened by the Prince of Wales in 1885.

The other hospitals are the Children's (free), the Eye Hospi-

tal, the Ear and Throat Infirmary, the Orthopaedic, the

Hospital for Women's Diseases, the Skin and Lock Hospital,

the Homoeopathic Hospital, a dental hospital, a lying-in

charity, a city hospital for cases of infectious disease, and a

large infirmary belonging to the parish of Bhmingham.
There is also a general dispensary, the officers of which visit

patients at their own homes. The Sanatorium is at Black-

well, on the slopes of the Lickey Hills. There are also

training institutions for nurses, and several minor charities,

connected in various ways with the work of the hospitals.

All these charities are miiinly supported by subscriptions

and donations. An important portion of their income is

derived from the Sunday hospital collection and the Saturday

hospital collection. The former, begun in 1850, is a col-

lection made on one Sunday in October in the churches and
chapels. The produce of one year is given to the General

Hospital, of the next to the Queen's Hospital, and that of

the third is divided (in proportion to the work done by them)

amongst the other medical ch.arities. This collection has

yielded about £160,000 since its commencement. The
Satm'day hospital collection is made in the manuf.actories

and workshops, usually in March, and is conducted by a
committee on which workmen are largely represented. Its

produce is divided among all the medical charities, according

to the amount of their work. The total yield since its

establishment in 1873 has been about £106,000. The
Saturday Hospital Committee maintains a sanatorium of its

own at Llandudno. Other charities, not medical, include a

deaf and dumb school for boys and girls, and an institution

for the blind, both at Edgbaston ; a great series of alms-

houses for aged women, directed by the trustees of Lench's

Trust ; similar almshouses for ladies, the Evans' Homes, at

Selly, near Birmingham ; and the William Dudley Trust,

consisting of a capital sum of £100,000 bequeathed by Mr
William Dudley, formerly a jeweller in Birmingham, the

produce of which gives annuities to decayed tradesmen, loans

to young men st,arting in business, and annual donations to

some one or more of the public charities. The great chari-

t,able institution of the town is Sir Josiah Mason's charity at

Erdington. This consists of almshouses for thirty women,

a ser\'ants' home for girls who have been trained in the

Orphanage, and an Orphanage for .SOO girls, 150 boys, and

50 infants. The Orphanage building was completed in 1869

at a cost of £60,000, defrayed entirely by Sir Josiah Mason,
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in addition to which he endowed the charity with estates

valued at £200,000.

Manufactures.—Birmingham is essentially a metal-work-

ing town. Other manufactures have been tried— the first

cotton-spinning mill, for example, was erected here by John

Wyatt and Lewis Paul in 1730—but they have never taken

root, and the place has now settled down steadily to metal

working. Leland and Camden described its ii-on-work in

the Itith century; in the 17th century travellers found

Birmingham steel-work dispersed over the Continent ; in the

18th century Burke spoke of the town as "the toy-shop of

Europe.'' But since Burke's time the industries of Bir-

mingham have developed enormously, nntil there is no con-

ceivable use of metal, from the most precious kinds downwards,

which is not represented in the thousands of factories and

workshops scattered throughout the town. The earliest

manufactures were smiths' work of all descriptions, including

cutlery (a trade which has now migrated almost wholly to

Sheffield). Then came the making of arms— in the first

instance swords, and next, towards the close of the 17th

century, gunmaking, both military .and sporting, was intro-

duced, and Birmingham became the home of the gun tr.ade.

This busiuess gi'ew so rapidly that between 1804 and 1815

the vast number of 1,743,382 fire-arms (guns, carbines, and

pistols) were supplied to the government. Again, between

the end of 1854 and the beginning of 1857, the Birmingham

gunmakers produced over 1,000,000 stand of arms for the

British and other governments. These were the flourishing

days of the military arms trade, and two large factories,

each c.Tpable of turning out 2000 stand of arms weekly, and

furnished with automatic gunmaking machinery, were set up

to meet the demand. Owing, however, to the development

of the Government factory at Enfield, to the establishment

of factories by foreign governments, and to the competition

of the United States and Belgium, the military arms trade

in Birmingham had practically died out. The government,

however, have purchased one of these factories, and are

using it for making and repairing arms, and the other (the

Small Arras Co., Small Heath) is now occupied in making

the new milit.ary rifle. Burmingham still keeps the sporting

gun trade and the manufacture of cheap fire-arms for Africa.

The extent of this trade may be infeiTed from the fact that

nearly 600,000 gun and pistol banels are proved yearly at

the proof-house—all guns being required to pass this test

before they can be legally sold. Brass and copper working

is another trade of gi'e.at extent, giving employment to 10,000

or 12,000 persons. The trade is divided into several

branches—the chief of them being cabinet brass-founding,

including all kinds of house-fittings, chandelier making,

bedstead making, ecclesiastical brass-work, wire-drawing,

tubemaking, ships' sheathing, plumbers' and naval brass-

founding, ornamental work in cast, wrought, and pierced

brass-founding, known by its French name of cuivre poll.

Iron-working of various descriptions also gives employment

to a large number of persons in the production of gi'ates, gas

and other stoves, engines of various kinds, bedsteads, which

are made by the million and constitute a great export trade,

tin goods, enamelled iron goods (known as hollow ware),

&c. A very Large cycle-making trade has been developed

within the last few years. Cut nails are made by machinery

in enormous quantities ;
machine-made screws for carpen-

ters' use are largely produced—Birmingliam having a practical

monopoly of this trade
;
pins are also made by autom.atic

machinery ; and steel pens (first produced by Gillott & Mason

in 1830) are now made at the extraordinary rate of about

20,000,000 weekly, and as low in price as lid. per gross.

.Jewellery is one of the staple trades of the town ; the pro-

ductions vary from the highest class of art-work in gold and

gems down to the very cheapest stamped gilt jewellery. The

trade employs about 10,000 persons. Closely connected with

this branch is the electro-plated trade, due to the patents of

Messrs Elkington, taken out from 1838 to 1842, and now
constituting one of the largest branches of industry in the

production of works of tine and ornamental ai't and of

domestic use. Button-making of all kinds—cloth, silk,

wood, metal, and pearl— is still an important triide, though

German competition has interfered seriously with it. Papier-

mach^ making, in tr.ays, furniture, work-boxes, panels for

decoration, &c., is extensively practised in Bii'mingham ; and
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the town is also noted for the excellence of its manufacture of

the best kinds of table glass (the common pressed kinds are

not made here), and for its ecclesiastical stained-glass work.

Some of the other trades which may be reckoned amongst

leading branches of industry are coining, die-sinking, wire

and other rope making, nickel and copper refining, whip-

making, saddlery and harness-making, rule-making, weighing

machine and scale making, edge tools (excluding ordinary

table cutlery), sewing-machine making. Indeed it is impos-

sible to mention any form of metal-working, or any com-

bination of metal with other materials, that is not practtsod

in Birmingham.

Railways^ Canals^ ^'C.—Birmingham is the centre of a

great railway and canal system—the London and North-

Western, the Midland, and the Great Western connecting the

town with all parts of the country. The two first-named unite

in the Central Station in New Street—a vast building origin-

ally covered with a single-span roof. It was enlarged in

1883-84 at a cost of more than £250,000, now covers an area

of 11 acres, and is believed to be the lai-gest passenger station

in the United Ivingdom, or perhaps in any other coimtry. It

is approached by long tunnels, north and south, through

which more than 600 trains pass in the course of the day of

twenty-four hours. The Great Western Railway has its own
station in Snow Hill, and all three companies have separate

stations for goods traffic. The canal system, begun so far

back as 1767, was greatly extended by Telford and others

down to 1820, and now gives facilities for the carriage of

heavy goods, coal, &c., to and from all the principal districts

of the kingdom. (See articles under the names of the respec-

tive canals.) The tramway lines, extending throughout the

city, are made by the corporation, and leased to private com-
panies for terms of twenty-one years. One of them is worked

on the cable system ; on another electricity is used as the

motive power ; the rest are mainly worked by steam.

Public Buildings.—In addition to Mason College, the

Midland Institute, and the Free Libraries, already mentioned,

the chief public buildings are :—The Town-hall, built in 1834,

classic design, of the Corinthian order. The material is

gray Anglesey marble, left unpolished. The chief exterior

feature is a range of columns going round the building,

resting on an arcaded plinth, and supporting a boldly-

designed pediment. The extreme (exterior) length is 166 feet;

breadth, 104; height, 83. The principal room (capable of

seating 3000 persons) is 140 feet long and 66 feet in breadth

and height ; architects, Messrs Hansom & Welsh (5Ir Han-
som was the inventor of the " Hansom " cab). The Council

House (near the Town-liall) provides accommodation for

the municipal offices ; the council chamber is a very noble

room, and there are extensive suites of reception rooms for

use in municipal entertainments. The principal front (to

Colmore Kow) is 2116 feet long; the height to the central

pediment, 90 feet; and the total height to the top of the

dome, 162 feet. The other fronts are (Congreve Street)

122 feet and (Eden Place) 153 feet. The architect was Mr
Yeoville Thomason, Birmingham. The building is now
completed by the erection, on the Edmund Street front,

of offices for the corporation gas department, with a lofty

clock-tower at the Congreve Street angle. Above these

offices provision is made for a free art gallery, .already men-
tioned, 300 feet in length and upwards of 60 feet wide.

The General Post Office, built in 18110, is a very extensive

building. It stands on an " island," with streets all round

;

the New Street front is of Horsley Castle stone, with a bold

arcade on the p'ound storey. The Market Hall, High Street,

opened in 1835, cost nearly £70,000 ; dimensions— length,

365 feet ; breadth, 108 feet ; height, 00 feet. It contains

600 stabs for vendors of fi-uit, flowers, vegetables, meat,

fish, &c. The Exchange has a frontage of 03 feet to New
Street, and of 180 feet to Stephenson Place; the ground

floor is let in shops, and the upper floors for offices. The
great room used for the Exchange is 80 feet long by 70 wide

and 23 high. The building also contams a large assembly-

room, rtsed for concerts, &c., a restam'ant, and the offices

and meeting-room of the Chamber of Commerce. The design

is Gothic, the principal fabric being a central tower 100 feet

high. The Exchange was opened in Januai-y, 1865 ; archi-

tect, Mr E. Holmes. The Great Western Arcade, con-

structed in 1876 (ai-chitect, Mr W. H. Ward), is 400 feet
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long and 40 feet high, rising in the centivil dome to 75 feet.

It contains fortj-two shops on the ground floor and the same

number in the galleries. Another arcade, of almost equal

extent (called the North-Western) continues the Great

Western into Corporation Street, the two forming a covered

range unequalled by any other buildings of the kind. The

Law Courts (police, sessions, and assizes) are now concen-

trated in the superb Victoria Courts, Corporation Street,

the foundation stone of which was laid by the Queen in

1887, the buildings being opened in ISl'l by the Prince and

Princess of Wales. The cost was over £100,000 (architects,

Messrs Webb & Bell). The Gaol, erected by the town

council, but now trausfen'ed to the government, is at Winson

Green ; it is capable of receiving 500 prisoners on the

separate system. The Lunatic Asylum is also at Winson

Green ; another asylum for chronic cases has been erected

at Rubery on the Lickey Hills. The workhouse, at Birming-

ham Heath, is capable of containing nearly 2000 inmates
;

separate schools, aiTanged as cottage homes (about thirty

children in each), are provided at Marston Green for the

pauper children.

Paris, ij-c.—Jleans of open-air recreation are afforded by

numerous parks and gardens belonging to the corporation.

These are—Aston Park, 49 acres, in the centre of which

stands Aston Hall, built by Sir Thomas Holte in the reign

of James I. The park and liall were acquired by the cor-

poration in 1858, and were opened by the Queen on the 16th

of June in that year. Nine other parks and gardens, chiefly

donations, are placed in various p.arts of the town, with an

aggregate area of 221 acres ; and the corporation is also tlie

owner of a large tract of recreation ground on the Lickey

Hills in Worcestershire, about 9 miles distant. Sutton Chase

(about 2000 acres) belonging to the town of Sutton Cold-

field, about 8 miles distant, is largely used by the Birming-

ham people, there being cheap and speedy railway communi-
cation with it. The Borough Cemetery .at Witton, 105

acres, is also open to visitors. Numerous plots of ground, at

street corners and other open spaces, are arranged as public

gai'dens, and trees are planted along many of the streets

and roads, seats and drinking fountains being placed at inter-

vals. The corporation has four sets of baths, each having

large swimming-baths. At Edgbaston there is a subscrip-

tion Botanic Garden of 16 acres. In the city there are four

theatres, the Royal, the Prince of Wales, the Grand, and the

Queen's. There are also three Large music-halls and several

smaller ones. Musical societies are numerous, some of them
having 200 to 300 members, all trained vocalists or instru-

mental performers, from whom the baud and chorus of the

triennial festivals .are largely derived. Cheap concerts of a

high order .are given each Saturday in the Town-hall.

The daily newspapers are, The Daily 'Post (Liberal-Unionist)

and The Daily Gazette (ConseiTative), both of which are

morning papers ; and there are also two evening papers. There
are two weekly papers, Weeily Post (Saturday), Liberal,

and Herald (Thursday), neutriil. Three ' satirical ' papers

are also published weekly. Tliere are two monthly maga-
zines, one in connection with Mason College, and one with

the Institute ; and one quarterly, issued by the Central

Literary Association. There are six princip.al clubs, two
Liber.al, two Consei-vative, and two non-political ; besides

numerous minor clubs, both social and political. There are

many masonic lodges in the town. The public statnes are

numerous; they commemorate Nelson (Westmacott), Peel

(Hollins), Priestley (Williamson), Thomas Attwood (Thomas),
James Watt (Munro), George Dawson (Woolner, and a second
of the s.ame subject by Williamson), Joseph Stnrge (Thomas),
Sir Rowland Hill (Hollins), the late Prince Consort (Foley),

and her Majesty the Queen (Woolner). The town .also pos-

sesses Foley's original models of the statues of Goldsmith
and Burke, cast by Messrs Elkington for erection at Dublin.
At the rear of the Town-hall there is a handsome memorial
fountain, with portrait medallion, erected to commemorate
the municipal services of Mr Joseph Cliamberlain ; and in

the hall is a fine bust of Mendelssohn by Hollins, placed
there in commemoration of the production of the ' Elijah

'

in 1846. The government offices and buildings in Birming-
Imni are the County Court, the Probate Registry for War-
wickshire, the Inland Revenue Office, the small-arms proof-

house of the war department, the assay office for gold and
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silver plate, the post office, the gaol, and barracks for cavalry.

There is also a volunteer ritie corps (the 1st Warwickshire),

1800 strong, which has its special armoury and drill-hall.

Cattle and dog shows are held annually, the former in Bing-

ley Hall, which covers an area of
1
J .acre, and the latter in

Curzon Hall, the main exhibition room of which is 103 feet

by lU feet.

Birmingham Canal Navigations, the title of a group of

canals serving the Birmingham district. The capital of the

Company of Proprietors of the Birmingham Can.al Naviga-

tions is upwards of £3.600,000, including loans and deben-

ture stock, imd the dividends on the shares are guaranteed

by the London and North-Western Railway Company at

4 per cent., under an arrangement made in 1846. The

length of waterway under the management of this company

is over 158 miles, .and it includes the following canals:—

•

Birmingham and Wolverhampton Canal, Wyrley and Essing-

ton Canal, Cannock Extension Canal, Churchbridge Branch

Canal, Bentley Canal, Walsall Branch Canal, Walsall Canal,

Rushall Canal, Tame Valley Canal, Birmingham and Fazeley

Canal, Titford Canal, Netherton Tunnel Branch Canal,

Dudley Canal, and the Two Lock Line. The system has

197 locks, .and 6 tunnels of an aggregate length of 10,968

yards, and has reservoirs at Rotton Park, Titford, Lodge

Farm, Sneyd, and Cannock Chase, with an aggregate storage

capacity of 182,392,000 cubic feet.

The Sirmingkam and Wartoick Junction Canal Navi-

gation forms the connecting link between the Birmingham

Can.al Navigations, at Salford Bridge, and the Warwick and

Birmingham Canal .at Bordcsley. It has only six locks and

one reservoir at Saltley.

Bimston. See Barnston, Essex.

Birstall, a village and the head of a civil parish compris-

ing 12 ecclesiastical parishes in the W. R. Yorkshire. It

has a station on the L. & N.W.R., and a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Leeds. Area of urban sanitary

district, 1233 acres ;
population, 6528 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish of Birstall St Peter, 4286. Many of the inhabitants are

employed in numerous factories or in handicrafts connected

with them, and not a few are miners of coal and ironstone.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wakefield
; gross

value, £400 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Wake-
field. The church was rebuilt in 1866. The tower is

supposed to date from the 11th century. There are several

dissenting chapels. Dr Priestley, Unitarian writer and

natural philosopher, was a n.ative.

Birstall or Burstall, a village, a township, and a parish

in Leicestershire, on the river Soar, 3 miles SVV from Syston

station on the M.R., and 3J N by E of Leicester, under

which there is a post ofiice ; money order and telegraph office,

Belgrave. Acreage, 1169
;
population, 566. Birst.all House

is a country seat standing in a park of 80 acres. The living

is a perpetuJil cui'acy, annexed to the vicar.age of Belgrave in

the diocese of Peterborough
;

joint net yearly value, £235, in

the gift of the Bishop of Peterborough. The church was for

the most part rebuilt in 1869. There is a Wcsleyan chapel

built in 1869.

Birstall-Drub, a hamlet in Gomersal township and parish,

W. R. Yorksliire.

Birstwith, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in the

W. R. Yorkshu-e. The township lies on the river Nidd, and

on the Nidd Valley railway, 3 miles WSW of Ripley. It

has a station on the railway and a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Leeds. Acreage, 1802 ; population of

the township, 474; of the ecclesiastical parish, 458. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon; net value,

£200 with residence. The church w.as built in 1857. There

arc two Methodist chapels. Coal was formerly worked.

There are two gentlemen's seats in the parish— Swarcliff,

the property of the Greenwoods; and Birstwith Hall, a

smaller place also belonging to the same family.

Birt or Brit, The, a river of Dorset. It rises a little N
of Beaminster, and runs 9 miles southward to the channel at

Bridport Harbour.

Birthorpe, a small township maintaining its own poor

in Sempcringh.am piirish, Lincolnshire, 2i miles E by S of

Falkingham. Acreage, 532 ;
population, 63.

Birthwaite, a village in Windermere parish, Westmore-

land, now absorbed in the village of Windermere.
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Birtle-cum-Bamford, a towusliip in Middleton parish,

Lancashire. The township comprises the ecclesiastical parishes

of Birtle and Bamford, and lies 2:V niiles NE of Bury station

on the L. & Y.R. Acres, 1447 fpopulation, 1852. Tliere

is a post and telegraph office at Bamford under Rochdale,

which is the money order office. The inhabitants are em-
ployed chiefly in cotton and woollen factories, coal mines,

and stone quarries. The living of Bu'tle is a vicarage in the

diocese of Manchester 5 value, £150. Patron, the Rector of

Jliddleton. The church was huilt in 1845-46. The living

of Bamford is a vicarage ; value, £209, in the gift of the

Bishop of Manchester. The chm'ch was consecrated in

1886. There are five dissenting chapels in the township.

Birtles, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in Aider-

ley parish, Cheshire, 4 miles W by N of Macclesfield. Post,

money order, and telegraph office, at Chelford under Crewe.

Acreage of the township, 690
;
population, 60 ; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 445. The ecclesiastical parish was consti-

tuted in 1890, and includes the township of Over Alderley.

Birtles Hall is the seat of the Hibbert family. A Roman
m-n and some other Roman relics have been found. The
living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Chester ; net

value, £193. The church was erected in 1840, and was

formerly the domestic chapel of Birtles Hall.

Birtley, a township, a village, and an ecclesiastical parish

in Chester-le-Street parish, Durham. The township lies on

the Team Valley railway, 6 miles S by E of Gateshead, and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Chestcr-

le-Street, and a station on the N.E.R. Acreage, 1429
;

population, 4175 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 4612. The
Ecclesiastical Commissioners are lords of the manor. Coal

is worked, and there is a brine spring. The p.arish was

constituted in 1850, and includes the hamlet of Birtley

North Side, Brown's Buildings, Leybourne Hold, and Porto-

hello. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Durham

;

value, £300 with residence. Patron, the Rector of Chester-

le-Strect. The church was built in 1848. There are Wes-

leyan. Primitive Methodist, and Roman Catholic chapels, and

a literary institute.

Birtley, a village and a parish in Northumberl.and, on the

North Tyne river and on the North British railway, near

Wark station, 5 miles SE of Bellingham. The parish in-

cludes the township of Broomhope with Buteland, and it

has a post office under Wark (B.S.O.), which is the money
ojder and telegraph office. Acreage, 6980 ;

population of

the civil parish, 387 ; of the ecclesiastical, 474. Co.al and

other useful minerals occur. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Newcastle ; net value, £200. Patron, the Duke
of Northumberland, who is also lord of the manor and chief

landowner. The church is ancient, and was enlarged by the

addition of a tower and spire in 1883, and restored in 1884.

There is a literary institute.

Birtsmorton, a village and a parish in Worcestershire,

near the Jhalvern Hills, 6 miles SE of Malvern Wells station

on the M.R., 6 SW of Upton-on-Severn, and 8 WNW of

Tewkesbury, under which there is a post office of the name
of Birts Street; money order office, Welland; telegraph

office, Malvern Wells. Acreage, 1291
;

population, 244.

The manor was long held by the ancient Cornish family of

Nanfan, having been given by Henry VI. to John Nanfan,

who was his esquire. The manor-house is a timbered moated

mansion of the 16th century ; the dinmg-hall is wainscoted

with carved oak, and has a carved chimney-pieco of the 17th

century with the arms of the Nanfan family. It is now

a farmhouse, and was the birthplace of the Right Hon. W.
Huskisson. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Wor-

cester ;
gross value, £375 with residence. Sir John Oldcastle

(Lord Cobham) was patron of it in the reign of Henry V.

The church is a cruciform Gothic edifice with an embattled

western tower. It was restored in 1877. It contains an

interesting altar-tomb to Sir John Nanfan, and monuments to

Admiral Caldwell (1718) and Catherine, Countess of Bella-

mont. There is some old stained glass in the windows, and

the nave has open oak benches of the 15th century. There

is a Wesleyan chapel, built in 1844.

Bisbrook, a village .and a parish in Rutland, Ij mile E
of Uppingham, and 2 miles NW of Seaton st.ation on the

L. & N.W. and G.N.R. Post town, Uppingham, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1144
;
popu-
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lation, 195. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peter-

borough
;
gross yearly value, £210 with residence. Patron,

the Duke of Rutland. The church, a stone building in the

Pei-pendicular style, was erected in 1871.

Biscathorpe or Beskerthorpe, a parish in Lincolnshire,

on the river Bain, 8 miles WSW of Louth, and 3 N of Don-
ington-upon-Bain station on the G.N.R. Post town, Lincoln

;

money order office, Donington ; telegraph office. South WUl-
ingham. Acreage, 861

;
population, 68. The living is a

disch.arged rectoi7 annexed to that of Gayton-le-Wold
;

joint

net yearly value, £276 with residence, in the gift of the

Lord Chancellor. Biscathorpe is noted for its fiock of long-

woolled Lancashire rams.

Biscott, a separate ecclesiastical district in Luton parish,

Beds, 3 miles NW of Luton. It was formed in 1866 from
the hamlets of Limbury-cum- Biscott and Seagrave. Popu-
lation of the ecclesiastical district, 1004. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Ely; net yearly value, £122 with

residence.

Biscovey, a chapelry in St Blazey and Tywardreath
parishes, Cornwall, on the coast, 2 miles S of Par station on
the G.W.R., and 6 SSW of Lostwithiel. It has a post office

under Par station, which is the money order and telegraph

office. It is included in the ecclesiastical parish of Par.

Bisham (anciently Bistkham and Bustleham-Montacute),

a village and a parish in Berks, on the river Thames, 1 mile

S from Marlow station on the G.W.R., 2 miles W by N of

Cookham railway stiition, and 4 NW of Maidenhead. The
parish has a post office, of the name of Bisham, under
Marlow, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Area, 2427 acres of land and 51 of water; population

of the civil parish, 751 ; of the ecclesiastical, 628. Bis-

ham Abbey is a celebrated country seat. A pointed door-

way and a hall are pai't of an ancient monastic edifice,

and the greater part of the mansion is of the ancient style

of the Tudor architecture. The hall was tastefully restored

in 1859, and has at one end a dark oak gallery, at the other

a beautiful ancient three light lancet window. The scenery

of the grounds of the mansion is very fine, and has engaged

the pencil of some eminent artists. A preceptory of Knights

Templars was founded here. In the reign of Stephen the

abbey was refounded as an Augustinian priory in 1338 by

Jlontacute, Earl of Salisbury ; was changed into a Benedictine

abbey a short time before the dissolution by Henry VIII. ; was
afterwards given by that king to his repudiated wife, Anne
of Cleves ; was conveyed by her to Sir Philip Hoby in ex-

change for his house in Kent ; and was for three year's the

residence, under its owner's guardhonship, of the Princess

Elizabeth, afterwards Queen Elizabeth. The barn of the

priory, the old moat round the garden, and the spring which

supplied the Princess Elizabeth's bath, still remain. Temple
House is a laige brick mansion situated on the banks of the

Thames, and surrounded by a beautiful park and grounds.

There was an extensive copper mill at Temple, but it is now
a paper factory, which gives employment to many of the in-

habitants. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford
;

gross yearly value, £159 with residence. The church tower

is of Norman architecture, but the rest of the church was
destructively modernized -about 1810, and restored in better

taste in 1849 and 1856. A north aisle was added in 1876.

The vicarage of Stubbings is a separate charge.

Bishampton, a village and a parish in Worcestershire,

in the vale of Evesham, 3^ miles N by W of Fladbury sta-

tion on the G.W.R., and 4^ NE of Pershore, under which
there is a post office; money order office, Fladbury ; telegraph

office, Fladbury railway station. Acreage, 1910; popula-

tion, 377. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wor-
cester; net value, £197 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Worcester. The church was rebuilt in 1871, with the

exception of the western tower, which is of Pei'peudicular

date ; it retains a Norman doorway and windows, and a Nor-

man font. There is a Baptist ch.apel.

Bish-Mills, a hamlet in Bishops-Nympton parish, Devon.

Bishop and Clerks, a group of rocks 2 milesW of Ram-
sey Island, and 4 SW of St David's Head, in Pembroke-

shire. A lighthouse stands on one of them, built in 1839,

with a revolving light, 144 feet above high-water level. The

Ninn-od steamer was wrecked on these rocks in February,

1860, when all on board perished.
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Bishop-Auckland, a market town, a township, and a

cbapelry in Durham. The town stands on an eminence

about 1-10 feet high, between the rivers Wear and Gaunless,

near their point of confluence, and adjacent to the Wear-
dale railway, lOj miles NNW of Darlington. It took

its name from the vicinity of the Bishop of Durham's palace,

conjoined with ancient abundance of oak woods, and was
fonnerly a borough by prescription. It has pleasant envi-

rons, is well built and neat, and h.as a head post, money
order, and telegraph office, a station on the N.E.K., three

banks, a spacious town-hall, three churches, a grammar-

school, two other endowed schools, an orphanage, a work-
house, almshouses, a fever hospital, a theatre, temperance

hall, masonic hall, and a mechanics' institute, also the Light-

foot Institute, erected by Bishop Lightfoot. It is a seat of

petty sessions, and publishes one weekly newspaper. The
town-hall stands in the centime of the town, adjoining the

church. It wasbuilt in 1862ataco5t of about£8600 ; has a
gi-oined principal entrance, surmounted by a neat stone bal-

cony ; is crowned by angle-roofs with iron pallisading, and
with a spire 100 feet high, and contains a large hall,

and ofBces for the Board of Health. The Church of St

Anne is modern, and is attached to the vicarage of Auck-
land-St-Andrew. The Church of St Peter, bnilt in 1875
at a cost of £7000, is a fine stone building in the Gothic style.

The living is a vicarage ; net value, £265, alteruatelym thegif t

of the Bishop of Durham and the Crown. There are Baptist,

Roman Catholic, Congregational, Presbyterian, Methodist,
and Wesleyan chapels, and a Friends' meeting-honse. The
giammar school was founded by James I., and has £45 from
endowment ; and one of the other endowed schools was
founded by Bishop Barrington in 1810, and provides free

education and part clothes for thirty boys. The Episcopal

palace stands on the NE side of the town, in a fine park of

800 acres, on the river Gaunless, with charming views. It was
built by Bishop Cosins on the site of a previous one by

Bishop Beck ; underwent restoration and extension, with fine

entrance Gothic gateway and screen, by Bishop Barrington,

after designs by Wyatt, and contains several valuable old

paintings by the Italian masters. In ancient times the

prelates had castles at Durham, Stockton, Craike, and
Norham. Of all these stately palaces Auckland is the only

remaining residence. Attached to the castle is the Bishop's

Chapel, the whole of the floor of which is of chequered marble.

It is divided into a nave and side aisles by two ranges of clus-

tered marble pillar's 16 feet high, also contains a vault con-

taining the remains of various bishops— the last being Bishop
Lightfoot. Newton-Cap Bridge, in the vicinity, over the

river Wear, was built in 13S0, and has two .arches, the one
circular and 101 feet in span, the other pointed and ttl

feet in span. A weekly ra.-U'ket is held in the town on Thurs-
day, and fairs in ILirch, and on the Thursday before 11
October; also statute or hirmg fairs for sen'ants in May
and November. Area of the urban sanitary district, 6!t2

acres; population, 10,527. Area of Bishop-Auckland and
Pollards Lands, 2587 acres; population, 11,765. Coal and
iron are worked extensively, and aflbrd employment to a
large number of the inhabitants.

Bishop-Auckland ParUamentary Division of D2irham
was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,
and returns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-
lation, 61,833. The division includes the following:—
Darlington Ward—(Bishop-Auckland Division, part of)

—

Auckland (Bishop), Auckland (St Andrew), Binchester, Byers
Green. Chilton, Goundou, Coundon Grange, Eldon, Escomb,
Helmington Row, Hunwick and Helmington, Meirington,

Middlestone, Middridge, Middridge Gmnge, Ncwfield, Newton
Cap, Old Park, Pollards Lands, Sbildon, Thickley (East),

Westerton, Whitworte, Windlestone.

Bishop-Bridge, a small village and hamlet p.artly in the

parishes of Glentham, Kingerly, and West Raisen, Lincolnshire,

on the river Ancholme, ii miles WNW of Market-Raisen. It

has a small Wesleyan chapel.

Bishop-Burton or Louth-Burton, a village, a township,

and a parish in the E. R. Yorkshire, on the Wolds, 3 miles

W of Beverley railway station, with a post, money order, and
telegraph ofiice of the name of Bishop-Burton (S.O.) Acre-
age, 4263

;
population, 466. A residence of the Arch-

hishops of York was formerly here. Bishop-Burton Hall
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is the seat of the Watts. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of York ; net value, £250. The church commands
a line view, and is good. There are Baptist and Wesleyan

chapels, an endowed school with £20, and almshouses with

£162 per annum. In the village is a small mere, near

which are several barrows.

Bishopdale, a township in Aysgarth parish, in the N. R.

Yorkshire, 1 mile from Aysgarth station on the N.E.R., and

4J miles SE of Askrigg. Post, money order, and tele-

graph office, Bedale. Acreage, 4735
;
population, 1)1 It is

situated in an upland dale, traversed by a rivulet of 8 miles,

a tribut.ary to the Ure. The dale is picturesque, and the

rivulet makes a fine fall, called Foss Gill.

Bishopdown. See Bishopsdown.
Bishophill. See York.
Bishopley. See Newlandside.
Bishop-Middleham, a township and a parish in Durham.

The township lies on the river Skern, 2 miles SE of Ferry

Hill railway station, and 8i SSE of Durham, and has a post

and money order office under Ferry Hill, which is the tele-

graph oSice. Acreage, 2086; population of the civil parish,

445 ; of the ecclesiastical, 603. The parish contains also

the townships of Mainsforth and Thrislington. The manor

was once a seat of the Bishops of Durham. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Durham
;
gross v.alne, £300 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is

good.

Bishop-Monkton, a township, a village, and a parish in

the W. R. Yorkshu-e, adjacent to the N.E.R., 2 miles NE of

Wormald-Green station, and 4 SSE of Ripon, with a post

office under Leeds ; money order and telegraph office. Burton

Leonard. Acreage, 2186; population of the civil parish,

425; of the ecclesiastical, 444. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Ripon
;

gross value, £300 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Ripon. The church is

good. There is a Wesleyan chapel, a mechanics' institute,

and also a paper-mill.

Bishop-Norton, a township and a parish in Lincolnshire.

The township lies on the river Ancholme, near Ermine Street,

6 miles SSE of Kirton-Lindsey station on the M.S. & L.R.,

and 9 WNW of Market-Raisen. It has a post office under

Kirton-Lindsey (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph office;

money order office, Glentham. Acreage, 2440
;
population

of the civil parish, 321 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Atterby,

422. The parish includes also the township of Atterby.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln, with that

of Atterby annexed; joint gross yearly value. £355, in the

gift of the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. The church is

good. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Jlethodist ch.apels.

Norton Place, a fine country seat, st.ands in a well-wooded

park of 150 acres, about 1^ mile SW of the village.

Bishop-Rock, an insulated rock of the Scilly Isles, west-

ward of the main group, and 7 miles distant from Hugh
Town. It is nearly covered at high water. A cast-iron

lighthouse was nearly completed on it in 1860, but was then

swept away by a gale, and a granite lighthouse was then

planned, took two years to be founded, and was successfully

completed.

Bishopsbourne, a parish in Kent, with a station on the

Elham Valley railway, 4 miles SE by S of Canterbury, under

which it has a post and telegi*aph office ; money order office,

Bridge. Acreage, 2024; population, 316. The m.anor belonged

once to the Archbishops of Canterbury, and afterwards to

the Colepeppers and the Auchers. Bourne Park is a seat

in the neighbourhood. Some Saxon banows on the higher

ground were opened in 1814. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Canterbury
;
gross v.alue, £600 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury. The church

is Perpendicular English, was restored in 1843, and again in

1872; has a modern east window of five lights to the

memory of Richard Hooker. Hooker was rector from 15115

till his death in 1600, and the parsonage, though greatly

modernized, retains parts which probably were in it in his time.

Bishops-Burton. See Bishop-Burton.
Bishops-Cannings, a village and a parish in Wilts. The

villagi' stands on the Kent and Avon Canal, Ik mile S of

Wans Dyke, and 3 miles NE of Devizes station on t'he G.W.R.,

and has a post office under Devizes, which is the money order

and telegraph office. The parish includes the tithings of
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Bourton, Easton, and Coate. Acreage, 8873
;

population,

S!t4. The principal estate belonged to the see of Salisbury

from time immemorial, together with the lordship of the

whole manor. It has now passed tiirough the Ecclesiastical

Commissioners to the Commissioners of Woods. The living

is a vicar.age in the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £211.
Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Salisbury. The chm-ch

is Early English, with Anglo-Norman interior, is supposed

to have been built about the same time as Salisbury Cathe-

dral, was entirely restored in 1883-84, and contains an organ

which cost £410, the gift of William Baley, a native who
went round the world with Captain Cook. The Devizes

Waterworks, situated in this parish, were erected in 1879.

Bishops-Castle, a small market-town, a municipal borough,

and a parish in S.alop. The town stands on a declivity,

3 miles W of the river Onny, 4 E of Offa's Dyke, 8^ SE
of Montgomery, 9J WSW of Church-Stretton, and 161 from

London. It has a station forming the terminus of the

Bishops-Castle railway, which is connected at Craven Arms
with the L. & N.W. and G.W.R. systems. Bishops-Castle

is an ancient town, deriving its name from the castle which

was founded here in the early part of the 12th century

by the Bishop of Hereford for the protection of the marches.

The site of the castle, which has long since been destroyed,

is now occupied by the Castle Inn, but a few traces of

the walls of the keep remain. It is a quiet .and picturesque

little town, irregularly built on the summit and slopes of a

liill, and has a head post office, two banks, a town-hall, a

market-house, a police station, and a reading-room. The
workhouse for Clun Union is situated here. The church

is situated at the bottom of the hill, and occupies the site

of one burnt in the Civil Wars ; it was, with the exception

of its old square tower, rebuilt in 1861. There are Con-
gregation.-il, Primitive Jlethodist, and Wesleyan ch.apels. A
weekly market is held on Friday, and stock fairs are held

on the second Friday in every month, except 26 March and
May, in which latter month a hiring fair is held on the Fri-

day following the first d.ay. The town sent two members to

parliament till disfranchised by the Act of 1832. A charter

was granted by Queen Elizabeth and confirmed by James I.

The town was incorporated in 1885, and is now governed by

a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors. It is the head of

a county court district and a seat of petty sessions. Area

of tlie municip.al borough, 1867 acres; population, 1686.

Area of civil parish, 5872 acres; population, 1793. The
parish extends beyond the borough liberties, and includes

the townships of Broughton, Colebatch, Woodbatch, and
Lea-with-Oakeley. The manor belongs to the Earl of Powis,

who holds a court-leet once a year. Bishops-lMoat, on a high

hill, a mile W of the town, is an ancient entrenchment of

nearly an acre. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford ; net value, £293 with residence. Patron, the E.arl

of Powis.

Eishops-Caiindle. See Caundle-Bishop.
Bishops-Cheriton. See Cheriton-Bisiiops.

Bishops-Cleeve, > a township and a parish in Glouces-

tershire. Tlie township Ues li mile E of Cleeve station

on the M.R., and 3i miles N by'E of Cheltenham. It has a

post and money order office under Cheltenham, which is the

telegraph office. Acreage, 1297; population of civil parish,

646 ; of ecclesiastical, 1794. The parish includes also the

hamlets of Gotherington, Woodmancote, Stoke-Orchard, and

Southam and Brockhampton. Cleeve Hill, the highest point

of the Cotswold range, has a crescent-shaped ancient British

camp, a race-course, and exhibits brilliant scenery of cliff

and wood. There are mineral springs. The Grange, Cleve-

lands, and Southam House are the chief residences. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol

;

net value, £600 with residence. The church is chiefly Nor-

man, is cruciform and large, and contains some ancient monu-

ments. The rectory was at one time the residence of the

Bishops of Worcester. There is a chapel of ease at Stoke-

Orchard, Congregational chapels at Stoke-Orchard and

Gotherington, and chapels for the Countess of Huntingdon's

connexion at Bishops-Cleeve and Wood]nancote. The highest

point of Cleeve Hill is 1083 feet. On the top is a valuable

connnon of 1111 acres, waste land of the manors of Cleeve

and Southam, over which the owners in Cleeve, Southam,

and Woodmancote have commonable rights ; it is now regu-
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lated by Act of Parliament, and there is a Board of Con-

servators.

Bishops-Clist, a locality in Clist-St-Mary parish, Devon-

shire, 2^ miles NNE of Topsham, with a post office under

Exeter. It was anciently the site of the scat of the Bishops

of Exeter, and of an hospital founded by Bishop Stapleton.

Bishops-Court, the seat of the Bishop of Sodor and

Man, in Kirkmichael parish. Isle of Man, 8^ miles WSW of

Ramsey. It is a Gothic edifice, restored by Bishops Wilson

and Murray, and stands amidst extensive, ornate, picturesque

grounds.

Bishopsdown, a hamlet in Caundle-Bishop parish, Dor-

setsliire, 4^ miles SSE of Sherborne.

Bishops-Fonthill or Fonthill - Bishop, a parish in

Wilts, 2 miles ENE of Hindoo, and 3 N of Tisbury station

on the L. & S.W.R. It has a post office under Salisbury;

money order and telegi'aph office, Hindon. Acreage, 1797
;

population, 165. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Salisbury; gross value, £200. Patron, the Bishop of Oxford.

The church is Early English, and was restored in 1879.

Bishops-Frome, a township and a parish in the county

of Hereford. The township lies on the river Frome,

4J miles S of Bromyard, and 5| N of Ashperton sta-

tion on the G.W.R., and has a post and money order office

under Worcester ; telegraph office, Bromyard. The parish

includes also the townships of Halmonds-Frome, Leadon,

Walton, and Stanford-Fiegis. Acreage, 3983 ;
popul.ation,

718. The living is a vicai-age in the diocese of Hereford
;

net value, £406 with residence. The church was restored

in 1863 ; it is partly Norman and Early English, and con-

tains many ancient monuments. A chapel of case and a

Congregational chapel are situated at Frome Hill, and a

Wesleyan chapel at Bishops-Frome.

Bishopsgate, a hamlet on the N border of Surrey, adja-

cent to the Great Park of Windsor, near Virginia Water. It

lies amid charming sceneiy, and was the place where the

poet Shelley wrote his '' Alaster."

Bishops-Hampton. See Hampton-Lucy.
Bishops-Hatfield. See Hatfield-Bisiiofs.

Bishops-Hull, a parish in Somersetshire, li mile W of

Taunton on the G.W.R., under which it h,as a post office,

and at which is the money order and telegraph office. Area

of the civil parish of Bishops-Hull Within, 109 acres ; popu-

lation, 694. Area of the civil parish of Bishops-Hull

Without, 1441 acres; population, 1097. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; value, £300,

There is a Congi'egational chapel. Id 1885 all the part of

Bishops-Hull parish outside the Taunton municipal borough,

and all the pai-t of Wilton outside such boundary, were united

and constituted a separate paiish and called Bishops-Hull

Without. There are several handsome residences in the

neighbourhood.

Bishopside, High and Low, a township in Pateley-

Bridge parish, \V. 1!. Yorkshire, on the river Nidd, 11 miles

WS\V of Ripon, and ^ mile from Pateley-Bridge station on

the N.E.R. It includes the town of Pateley-Bridge, and

the villages of Fell-Beck and Wilsil. Acreage, 6006
;
popu-

lation, 2212.

Bishops-ltchington, a parish in Warwickshire, on the

river Itchin, 1^ mile SSE of Harbury station on the G.W.R.,

and 3 miles SW of Southam. It has a post office under

Leamington Spa; money order office, Harbury; telegraph

office, Harbury railway station. Acreage, 3052
;
population,

772. There are lime and cement works. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Worcester
;
gross value, £270 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The church

was rebuilt in 1873. There are Congregational and Primi-

tive Methodist chapels.

Bishops-Lavington. See Lavington, West.
Bishops-Lydeard, a village and a parish in Somerset-

shiie. The village stands near the Quantock Hills, 6 miles

NNW of Taunton, and has a station on the G.W.R. It has

a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) The
])arish includes the tithings of Lydeard-Punchardon, Town,

Church, East Bagborough, Quantock Hill, East Coombe,

Cames-Ash, Ash-Week, and Free, and the hamlet of Kenley-

Bottom. Acreage, 4832
;

population of the civil parish,

1105 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1093. The living is a vicai'age

in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; value, £263. Patrong,
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the Pean and Chapter of Wells. The church has a very

beautiful tower in Perpendicular English, of the time of

Henry VII., and was repaired in 1860. There are two

sculptured crosses in the churchy.arJ, a Congregational

chapel, a petty sessions court-house, ten almshouses with

£230 a year, and some other charities. Sandhill Park is a

fine seat in the vicinity.

Bishops-Nympton, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The village st.ands 3J miles SE of Sonth-JIolton, with a

station called Bishops-Nympton and Molland on the G.W.R.,

188 miles from London, and has a post office under South

Molton, which is the money order and telegraph office, and

fairs on the third Monday of April, and on the Wednesd.iy

before 25 Oct. The parish includes also the hamlets of

Bish-llill, Ash-Mill, and Newton. Acreage, 9623
;
popula-

tion, 9H9. An old house, called the Parsonage, is believed

to h.ave been a residence of the Bishop of Exeter. Limestone

abounds. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter
;

gross commuted value, £379 ; net value, about £260. Patron,

the Bishop of Exeter. The church is a fine ancient edifice,

of nave, chancel, and south aisle, with a pinnacled tower

about 100 feet high, was restored in 1883, and contains a

rich monument so eifaced that no one knows to whom it was

erected. A beautiful stained window was placed in the

south aisle in 1892 by Mr Andrew Keates, of Llangollen, in

memory of his fatlier, Rlr "William Keates. There are Wes-
leyan Methodist and Bible Christian chapels.

Bishops-Offlow or Bishops-Offley, a township in Ad-
baston parish, Staffordshire, 3^ miles W of Eccleshall. It

includes Outlands hamlet.

Bishopsoil, a civil parish in the E. R. Yorkshire, formed

in 1882, with detached portions of Asselby, Barmby-on-thc-

Marsh, Bellasize, Blacktoft, Cotness, Gilherdyke, Metham,
Laxton, Yokefleet, and Knedlington. Acreage, 1992

;
popu-

lation, 153.

Bishops-Sparkford, a tithing in St Faith parish, within

the city of Winchester, H.ants.

Bishops-Stortford, formerly a borough, now a market

and union town and parish, standing on the river Stort, on

the Essex border of the county of Herts, with a station on

the G.E.R., and is 14 miles ENE of Hertford, and 32J NNE
of London. A castle was built here by William the Con-

queror, and given to the Bishops of London, but was resumed

and destroyed by King John. Bishop Bonner used the ruin

as a jail, and burnt a martyr on Goose Green. The town

stands partly on the side of a hill, consists principally of four

streets, in the form of a cross, and contains many respectable

buildings. It is governed by a local board of 15 members,

has its own water-works at Maze Green, contains a head post,

money order, and telegraph office, and is the head of a petty

sessional division and county court district. The corn ex-

change was built in 1828, has a handsome Ionic front, and

contains a Large public hall. The parish church of St Mich.ael

is L.ater English, spacious and elegant, and has a lofty tower

and spire. It was thoroughly restored, and a north aisle was

added to the chancel in 1869, and further improvements were

made in 1884 and 1888. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value, £282 with residence,

in the gift of the precentor of St Paul's Cathedral. Holy

Trinity Church was built in 1859, and is in the Early Eng-
lish style. The living is a vicarage ; net yearly value, £210
with residence, in the gift of the Vicar of Bishops-Stortford.

There are also a Congi-egational chapel built in 1860, a

Wesley.an chapel built in 1867, a Baptist chapel, a Salvation

Anny hall, and a place of meeting for the Society of Friends.

The town is very well provided with schools, the more im-

portant being the Grammar School, or as it is now called the

High School, founded in 1557, allowed to decline in 1768,
and revived in 1850 ; the Nonconformist Grammar School,

opened by a limited company in 1868; and the Noncon-
formist High School for girls, opened in 1871. There is

also a Diocesan Training College for the training of 62 school-

mistresses, erected in 1851 at a cost of over £14,000.

It was enlarged and a chapel added in 1878, and again

enlarged in 1890. The town contains Consen-ative and
working-men's clubs. Sir Henry Chauncey, the .author of the
'• History and Antiquities of Hertfordshire," was educated

at the Grammar School of Bishops-Stortford. The work-

house, a building of brick and stone, erected at a cost of about
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£12,000, has accommodation for 450 persons. The church

estates produce about £130 a year for church ptu-poses, and

there are almshouses for five women, and several fuel,

bread, and money charities. The chief occupations of the

town are malting, brewing, brick-making, lime burning, and

the business arising out of the weekly market for horses,

cattle, and provisions, which is held every Thursday. Two
weekly newspapers are published. The river Stort has been

made navigable from Bishops-Stortford to the Lea at Roydon.

The parish comprises 3272 acres of land and 13 of water;

population of the civil parish, 6595 ; of the ecclesiastical,

HolyTrinity—Newton, 2415; and St Michael, 2040. Hock-

erill vicarage is a separate benefice. See HocKEiiiLL.

Bishops-Stltton, a parish and a hundred in Hants. The
parish lies on the river Arle, 1 J mile SE of Alresford station

on the L. & S.W.R., and 8J miles SW of Alton, and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Alresford.

Acreage, 3740
;

population, 445. The manor was early

acquired by the Bishops of Winchester, and had a palace of

theirs, which is now traceable in nothing but the alleged site

of their kennel. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Winchester; gross value, £150. The church is partly Nor-

man, partly Early Decorated, and contains a good brass of

the 15th century.

Bishops-Sutton is an ecclesiastical parish, formed in

1876, out of the parish of Chew Magna, in Somersetshire.

It is 4 miles from Pensford and 3 from Chitton stations on

the G.W.R., and 10 from Bristol. Post town, Pensford;

telegraph office, Bristol. Population, 727. The living is a

vicarage annexed to Stowey; gross value, £180. Patron,

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The church, erected in 1848,

is a stone building in the Early English style. There is

a small colliery and a Wesleyan chapel.

Bishops-Tachbrook or Tachbrook, a village and a

parish in Warwickshire, on an affluent of the river Avon, near

the Fosse Way, 2^ miles SW of Leamington, .and 3^ SE of

Wanvick. The parish includes the hamlets of Tachbrook-

Mallory and the Asps. It has a post office under Leamington

Spa, which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage,

3755 ;
population, 584. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Worcester; net value, £227 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Worcester. The church shows Norman traces, and

contains some fine monuments of the Wagstaffe family ; the

ch.ancel was rebuilt in 1855.

Bishops-Tawton, a village and parish in Devonshire.

The village stands on the river Taw, 2 miles S by E of

Barnstaple station on the G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R., and has

a post office under Barnstaple, which is the telegi'aph office
;

money order office, Newport. The parish includes Newport,

a suburb of Barnstaple. Acreage, 3881 ;
population of the

civil p.ai'ish, 781 ; of the ecclesiastical, 770. It was the

seat of the see of Devonshire, from the division of the see of

Sherborne in 905 till the removal of the bishops to Crediton,

and it possesses some remains of the Episcopal palace. The
manor belonged to the Bishops of Devonshue, but was con-

veyed in 1550 to the Russell family, and belongs now to the

Duke of Bedford. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Exeter ; value, £440. Patron, the Bishop of Exeter. The

church is an ancient edifice of nave, aisle, and chancel, with

low square tower, was restored in 1866, and cont.ains monu-

ments of the Bouchiers, E.arls of Bath. The perpetual curacy

of Newport is a separate benefice.

Bishopsteignton, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The village stands on the river Teign, 2 miles W by S of

Teignmouth station on the G.W.R., under which it has a

post, money order, and telegraph office. The parish includes

also the hamlets of Coombe and Luton. Acreage, 4440 of

land .and 227 of foreshore and water
;
population, of the civil

parish, 1095 ; of the ecclesiastical, 892. The manor of

Bishopsteignton belongs to the Comyns family, that of Luton

to Lord Cliffijrd. A mansion and a sanctuary were built

in the p.arish by Bishop Grandison, and remains of the former

exist in a barn at Eadaway. The living is a vicarage,

united till 1860 with Luton church, in the diocese of Exeter

;

value £182. The parish church is a ne.at Gothic edifice of

n.ave, chancel, and aisles, with a tower and spire erected in

1815, and the church of Luton is a Gothic structure of nave

and chancel. There is a Wesleyan and a Baptist chapel

at Radaw.ay.
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Bishopstoke, a village and a parish in Hants. The \nllage

stands on the river Itchin, about a mile E of Eastleigh and
Bishopstoke station on the L. & S.W.R.,72 miles from London,

and 6^ NNE of Southampton, under vrhich it has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. It is large and well built,

includes the hamlets of Horton Heath, Pyle Hill, and part

of Crowd Hill, There is a reading-room, erected in 1875.

The parish comprises 3431 acres
;

population of tbe civil

parish, 16G2 ; of the ecclesiastical, 941. The manor was
held in the time of Edward VI. by Bishop Bale. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester; net value,

£320 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Winchester. The
church, which was built in 1825, was unsuited by its arrange-

ments, and the great number of faculty pews, to the present

requirements of the parish. A much larger and very beau-

tiful church, in which all seats are free and unappropriated,

was built and consecrated in 1891. This has been formally

constituted the parish church. The old church is still stand-

ing. A considerable number of houses for artisans have been

built,

Bishopston, an ecclesiastical parish formed in 18C2 out

of the parishes of Stapleton, Hortield, and St Andrew Mont-
pelier, Gloucestershire, in the parliamentary borough of Bristol,

2 miles N of Bristol, under which it has a post, money order,

and telegraph office (T.S.O.) Population, 6083, The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net

value, £300 with residence. Patron, the Bishop. The
church is a plain building.

Bishopston, a village and a parish in Glamorgan, 2^
miles SW of Mumbles Road station on the L. & N.W.R., and

G SW by W of Swansea, under which there is a post office

;

money order office. Park Mill ; telegi-aph office, West Cross.

The parish includes the village of Murton. Acreage, 2595
;

population of the civil parish, 628 ; of the ecclesiastical, 594.

The manor belonged to the Bishops of Llandaflf. Interesting

features of limestone rock and an underground river occur in a

wooded glen running down to the sea. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of St David's; gross value, £278 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Llandaff. The church has

an embattled tower, and is ancient. E. Davies, author of

" Celtic Researches," was rector.

Bishopstone, a hamlet in Stone parish, Bucks, 2 miles

S of Stone village. It has a chapel of ease to the parish

ciiurch and a Wesleyan chapel, erected in 1877,

Bishopstone, a tithing in Montacute parish, Somerset-

shire, 3^ miles "WNW of Yeovil.

Bishopstone, a parish in Herefordshire, near the river

Wye, 2 miles W of Credenhill station on the Swansea, Brecon,

and Hereford branch of the M.R., and 7 WNW of Hereford,

under which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph

office, Staunton-on-Wye, Acreage, 1016
;
population of the

civil parish, 219; of the ecclesiastical, 197. Berrington Court,

an old moated mansion, once the seat of the Berrington family,

is now a farmhouse. A fine tessellated pavement and other

Roman remains have been found. There are almshouses for

six aged persons. The hving is a rectory in the diocese of

Hereford; net value, £205 with residence. The church is

Early English and cruciform, was restored in 1854, and con-

tained several ancient monuments. The east window is

stained, and tbe organ once belonged to Eton chapel.

Bishopstone, a parish and a hundred in Sussex. The
parish lies 9 miles SSE of Lewes, and lias a station on the

L.B. & S.C.R., 57 miles from London. It has a post office

under Lewes ; money order office, Newhaven ; telegraph office

at the railway station. Acreage, 1801; population, 301.

The living is a -^ncarage in the diocese of Chichester; net

value, £158 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of London.

The church is Norman and Early English, has a tower of

four stages, was restored in 1885, and possesses high in-

terest to artists and antiquaries. It has a south porch, which

is Saxon and supposed to date from 917. The Rev. J.

Hurdis, author of the "Village Curate," was a native, and
his monument is in the church.

Bishopstone, a parish in Wilts, on the verge of the county,

2| miles S of Shrivenham station on the G.W.R., and G E
of Swindon. It has a post and money order office under

Shrivenham (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph office. Acreage,

3519; population, 503. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £235 with
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residence. Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol.

Parts of the church date back to the 12th century. It

was restored in 1882-83, and again after a fire on Good
Friday, 1891, which destroyed 8 bells and the old clock, &c.

A Methodist chapel was built in 1886.

Bishopstone, a village and a parish in Wilts. The village

stands on the river Ebele, 3^ miles SSW of Wilton station

on the G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R., and 4J SW of Salisbury.

The parish includes also the hamlets of Throope, Croncheston,

Faulston,Flamston, Netton, and Pitts. It has a post office

under Salisbury ; money order office. Broad Chalk ; telegraph

office, Wilton. Acreage, 4649
;
population, 625. The living

is a rectory and a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury; net

value, £597 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Pembroke.

The church is cruciform ; shows features of many styles

and periods, but is mainly of the time of Edward III.

;

belonged to the bishops of Winchester ; and contains two
stone coffins, which are supposed to hold the remains of

Bishop-Stortford. See Bishops-Stortfokd.
Eishopstrow, a parish in Wilts, If mile SE of Warmin-

ster station on the G.W.R. Post town, Warminster, which

is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 499

;

population of the civil parish, 270 ; of the ecclesiastical, 254.

Bishopstrow House is a seat in the neighbom-hood. Many
Roman coins have been found. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Salisbmy; value, £151 with residence. The
church is good, and has been restored. There are two large

camps and barrows in the neighbourhood,

Bishops-Waltham, a small town and a parish in Hants.

The town stands at the source of the river Hamble, and has

a station on the L. & S.W.R., 81 miles from London, 3-^

NNE of Botley, and 9^ SE of Winchester. It figured at

Domesday as a considerable village, was mentioned by Leland

as a "praty tounlet," and is now a neatly-built mai'ket-

town. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

(S.O.), a bank, a church, a chape], and the ruins of

an episcopal palace. A reading-room with hbrary was
established in 1873. The church is ancient and large,

built of brick, stone, and flint— the chancel possibly erected

by William of Wykeham ; the rest is chiefly in Perpen-

dicular English, of the 17th centuiy. It was restored in

1808, and an organ was added in 1873. The palace was
originally built by Bishop Henry de Blois, brother of King

Stephen ; underwent much alteration by subsequent bishops,

pai'ticularly by William of Wykeham, who died in it ; was a

parallelogram of two courts, with square towers at the angles

;

and suffered demolition in the Civil War. Henry II, held a

great council in it in 1182; Richard Coeur de Lion was
grandly entertained in it after his coronation at Winchester

;

and Bishop Poynet made it over to the Marquis of Winches-

ter in the time of Edward VI. The chief parts of it now
standing are a ruined tower of early date aud the front of

the great hall, 65 feet long, possibly the work of Wykeham.
A large pond lies in front of it, receiving brooks from the

neighbourhood, aud discharging the Hamble river. A park

of 1000 acres lay around it devoted to the chase, but is now
under cultivation. Waltham Chase lay to the SE, well

stocked with deer till the beginning of the 17th century;

infested then by a notorious gang of deer-stealers known as

the Waltham Blacks; and now a rough common of about

2000 acres. The manor belonged to the Bishops of Win-
chester from the earliest times, and though alienated by

Bishop Poynet along with the palace, came back to them at

the Restoration. Fairs are now extinct. The Royal Albert

Infirmary stands on a neighbouring hill, was founded in

1864, and has over the entrance a fine teiTa-cotta statue

of the late Prince Consort. The parish includes the tithings

of Ashton, Cm'dridge, and West Hoe, and the hamlets of

Dean and Dundridge. Acreage, 7429
;
population of the civil

parish, 2842; of the ecclesiastical, 2176. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Winchester; value, £900. Patron,

the Bishop of Winchester. The perpetual curacy of Curdridge

is a separate charge. There are Congregational aud Methodist

chapels and numerous charities.

Bishops-Wickham. See Wickham-Bishops.
Bishopswood, an ecclesiastical parish in Brewood civil

parish, Staffordshire, 3 miles W of Brewood, 5 W of Four

Ashes station on the L. & N.W.R., aud 10 NW of Wolver-
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hampton. It includes the hamlet of Kiddemore Green. Post

town, Stafford, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Population, 410. There was a small Benedictine nunnery

here from the time of Richard I., and a residence in this

parish preseiTes the name of Blackladics Abbey. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £280
with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Brewood. The church

was erected in 1848, is cruciform, and has a small embattled

tower with spire.

Bishopswood, an ecclesiastical p.^rish formed out of the

parishes of Walford, Herefordshire, and Ruardean, Glouces-

tershire, on the river Wye, 1 mile NE of Kerne Bridge station

on the G.W.K., and 3 miles SSW of Ross, under which it

has a post office ; money order office, Walford ; telegi-aph

office, Kerne Bridge railway station. Population, 386. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford
;
gross value,

£28. The church is a small modern edifice.

Bishopsworth, a village in Bedminster parish, Somerset-

shire, 3 miles SW of Bristol on the G.W.R. In 1852 it was

constituted a separate ecclesiastical parish. It has a post

office under Bristol ; money order and telegraph office. East

Street, Bedminster. Population, 2198. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol
;

gi'oss

value, £300 with residence. Patron, the Bishop. The
church was built in 1842, near the site of an old church

dedicated to St Peter and St Paul, which is thought to h.ave

been erected by the Bishop of Coutances, after whom the

village is called Bishopsworth, from two Saxon words mean-
ing Bishop's Land (^werde). The church was restored in

1884. There are Congregational and Methodist chapels.

Bishops-Wycks. See Wycks-Bisiiops.
Bishop-Thornton, a township and a parish formed from

Ripon parish, W. K. Yorkshire, 3 miles NW of Ripley railway

station, and 5J SW by S of Ripon. Post town, Ripley,

Yorkshire. Acreage, 3135
;
population of the township, 474

;

of the ecclesiastical parish, 530. The parish also includes

Shaw Blill and the township of WarsiU. Tlie living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £303 with

residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter. There are .also

Wesleyan and Roman Catholic chapels.

Bishopthorpe, a village, a township, .and a parish in the

Vf. R. Yorkshire. The vill.age stands on the left bank of the

river Ouse, 2^ miles E by N of Copmanthorpe railw.ay station,

and 3 S by W of York, and has a post and telegraph office

under York, which is the money order office. The parish

comprises 720 acres
;
population of the civil parish, 426

;

of the ecclesiastical, inclnding part of the township of Jlid-

dlethorpe, 488. The manor belongs to the see of York, and
Bishopthorpe Palace on it is the seat of the archbishops.

The palace was erected in the reign of John by Archbishop

Walter de Grey ; was altered or enlarged by Archbishops

Sharpe, Dawes, Gilbert, and others ; and, as it now stands,

was cliiefly the work of Archbishop Di*ummond, who died in

1766. The g.ateway and the front are in the Pointed style,

after designs by Atkinson, the former surmounted by a

crocketed turret, the latter adorned with a fine entrance-

canopy; the chief apartments are elegant, and have good
paintings, engi'avings, and other works of art; and the chapel,

which adjoins the dining-room, was beautifully restored and
decorated by Archbishop Maclagan in 1892. The windows
are all filled with stained glass, designed by Kempe. The
grounds include only about acres, but are tastefully laid

out. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York
;
gross

value, £240 with residence. Patron, the Archbishop of York.

The church was rebuilt in 1768, and again in 1842 ; has
three painted windows, the mullions of one of which belonged

formerly to Cawood Castle ; and contains the tomb of Arch-
bishop Drummond.

Blshopton, a village, a township, and a parish in Durham.
The township lies 2 miles SSW of Stillington railway station,

and 5J WNW of Stockton-upon-Tces. It has a post office

under Ferry Hill ; money order office, Carlton Iron Works

;

telegraph office, Stockton. The parish includes also the

townships of Little Stainton and East and West Newbiggin.

Acreage, 2178
;
population of the civil parish, 357; of the

ecclesiastical, 460. There are vestiges of an entrenchment,

supposed to have surrounded the mansion of Roger de Con-
yers, who, in the time of King Stephen, resisted and overcame

William CumyD, an insurrectionary and devastating pretender
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to the see of Durham. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Durham ; net value, £240 with residence. The church is

in good order.

Bishopton, a village and a township in Ripon parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles WNW of Ripon station on the

N.E.R. Post town, Ripon. Acreage, 38G
;
population, 89.

There are flour and saw mills.

Bishopton, a hamlet and a chapelry in Old Stratford

parish, Warwickshire. The hamlet lies adjacent to the Strat-

ford and Avon Canal, 1^ mile NW of Stratford-on-Avon.

The chapelry is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Wor-
cester; net value, £20 with residence. Patron, the Vicar

of Stratford. The church is a small modern edifice.

Bishop-Wearmouth. See Sunderland.
Bishop-Wilton, a village, a township, and a parish in

the E. R. Yorkshire. The village st.ands on a brook in the

Wolds, 3 miles NE of Fangfoss railw.ay station, and 5 N of

Pocklington, and has a post and money order office under

York ; telegraph office, Pockhngton. The township includes

the village, and is united to Belthorpe under the name of

Bishop-Wilton-with-Belthorpe. The parish includes also the

townships of Bolton and Youlthorpe-with-Gowthorpe. Acre-

age, 4573
;
population of the civil parish, with Bellthorpe,

422 ; of the ecclesiastical, 636. Sir Tatton Sykes, Bart., is

lord of the manor and chief landowner. The scenery is

picturesque. Remains exist of a moated palace built in the

time of Edward IV. by Bishop Neville. An ancient Beacon,

called the Wilton Beacon, crowns an eminence about a mile

NE of the village. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

York ; net value, £282 with residence. Patrons, the Dean
and Chapter of York. The church consists of nave, aisles,

north chapel and chancel, with west tower and octagonal

spire, and was repaired in 1859. There are Wesleyan Slethod-

ist and Primitive I\Iethodist chapels, and several charities.

There is a foundry and chalk quarry, and bricks are made
in the neighbourhood.

Bishton, a hamlet in Tidenham parish, Gloucestershire,

li mile NE of Chepstow.

Bishton, a township in Colwich parish, Staffordshire, 2

miles NW of Rugeley.

Bishton, a parish in Monmouthshire, IJ mile E of Llan-

wern station on the South Wales section of the G.W.R., and

5^ E by S of Newport, which is the post town ; money order

office, JIagor; telegraph office, Maindee. Acreage, 1392;
population, 166. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the

rectory of Llanwern, in the diocese of Llandaff; joint gross

value, £250 with residence. The church is small, and was
restored in 1887. There is a Presbyterian Hall, which is

used occasionally for religious services.

Bisley, a decayed small town and a parish in Gloucester-

shire. The town stands 3^ miles E by N of Brimscombe

station on the G.W.R., 2J E by N of Chalford, 4 E of Stroud,

and 102 from Loudon. It h.as a post and money order office

under Stroud ; telegraph office, Chalford. This town for-

merly was famous for its sheep fairs, and a considerable

manufacture of woollens was long carried on in the parish.

There is a court-house, used for the meeting of the local

Board of Health, and containing also a library and reading-

room. A weekly market used to be held on Thursday. The
parish includes also the hamlets of Bidfield, Bussage, Chalford,

Oakridge, Eastcombe, Elcomb, France Lynch, Througham,

and Tunley. Acreage, 7399; population of the civil parish,

5171 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1687. The manor belonged

anciently to the Mortimers, and was held by Edw.ard, Duke
of York, afterwards Edward IV. The old manor-house, Over

Court, belonged to Queen Elizabeth before her accession to the

throne. A common of 1200 acres is said to have been given

by Roger Mortimer, Earl of Slarch, to the poor of the parish,

which has now been enclosed. Roman remains have been

found in various places, and ruins of a Roman villa at Lilly-

horn. The stone called " Bisley rag," which has been largely

used in the construction of the churches in the county, was

obtained in this parish. The living is a vicarage, united

with the chapelry of France-Lynch, in the diocese of Glou-

cester and Bristol ; net value, £122 with residence. Patron,

the Lord Chancellor. The church belongs to the Decorated

and Perpendicular Periods, was restored in 18G1, and con-

tains an ancient font and a monument (Tf a crusader, sup-

posed to be one of the Nottingham family. A stone cross,
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believed to be of the 13th century, octagonal and finely

panelled, is in the churchyard. The vicarages of Bussage,

Chalford, and Oakridge are separate benefices. There is a

Baptist chapel at Eastcombe, a Wesleyan chapel at Oakridge,

and Congregational, Baptist, Wesleyan and Primitive Metho-
dist chapels at Chalford.

Bisley, a parish in Surrey, near the Basingstoke Canal,

with a station on the L. & S.W.R., 3^ miles NW of Woking,
which is the post town. The parish comprises 922 acres

;

population, 732. A boys' refuge farm-school, connected

with a farm of 88 acres, was built in 1869 at a cost of

about £6000. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Winchester; net value, £146 with residence. The church

is ancient, and was restored in 1873. Tlie peculiar wood
l»ell-cot contains tlie second oldest bell in Sun-ey. The
eamp of the National Rifle Association here was opened on

12 July, 1890, by the Prince and Princess of Wales. From
the year 18G0 the annual gatherings of the Association had

been held at Wimbledon, but on the adoption of the army
service rifle it was necessary to obtain ranges of an increased

extent, and Bisley was eventually chosen as being the most
fcnitable position available. The Guards' camp at Pirbright

and the great military centre at Aldershot are within easy

distance of the new ground. The pre-existing ledges, trees,

and bushes have been as far possible preserved, so that the

c^mp lies in a kind of leafy seclusion, contrasting agi*eeably

with the glaring whiteness and bare appearance which dis-

tinguished the Wimbledon site. The annual meetings are

usually held during the last two weeks of July. The principal

prizes fired for are the Queen's, the Prince of Wales's, the

Chancellor's Plate, the Ashburton Challenge Shield, the Elcho

Challenge Shield, and the National Challenge Trophy. Bisley

Common is part of the Bagshot Heath District.

Bisphatn, a township in Croston parish, Lancashire, near

the river Douglas, 2 miles E of Rufford railway station, and
6 NE of Ormskirk. Acreage, 926

;
population, 259, A free

grammar school, founded in 1092, has an annual income

of £102.

Bispham, a township, a village, and a parish in Lanca-

shire. The township bears the name of Bispham-with-Nor-
breck, lies on the coast and on the Blackpool railway, 1^ mile

from the railway station, and 3 miles N of Blackpool, and
has a post and money order office of Bispham under Preston

;

telegraph office, Cleveleys. Acreage, 1644; population of

the civil parish, 4G7 ; of the ecclesiastical, 4SG. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Manchester; net value, £192
with residence. The church was rebuilt in 1880 -83. There

is one chapel, used alternately by Wesleyaus and Congrega-

tionalists. and an endowed school.

Hiss, The, a stream of Wilts. It rises near Edington,

and runs 7 miles north-north-w^estward, through Trowbridge,

to the Avon, If mile below Bradford.

Bister. See Bicester.

Bistem and Crow, a tithing in Ringwood parish, Hants,

1 mile SE of Ringwood, which is the post town. It forms

a curacy, annexed to the vicarage of Ringwood.

Bistre, a township and a chapeliy in Mold parish, Flint-

shire. The township lies 1 mile N of Llong station on the

L. & N.W.R., and 2 miles E of Mold. Buckley is a name
given to a mountain over which are scattered a large number
of houses, the major part of which is in the parish or chapelry

of Bistre. The post and telegraph office is situated in the

parish of Bistre, called nevertheless Buckley post office. The
chapelry consists of the township of Bistre and the greater

part of the township of Argoed. Population of the ecclesi-

astical district, 3659. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of St Asaph; net value, £160 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of ]\Iold. The church was built in 1841.

Bitchbum, High and Low, two villages in the Nortl;

Bedburn township, Witton-le-Wear parish, Durham.

Bitchfield, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, on the

G.N.R., and 3 miles NW of Corby railway station, with a

post office under Grantham ; money order and telegrapli

office, Corby. Acreage, 1357
;
population, 161. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £125
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Lincoln. The clmrch,

an edifice uf stone in the Gothic style, was restored in 1873.

Bitchfield, a township in Stamfordham parish, Noi-thnm-

berland, near the river Blytb, 9 miles SW of Morpeth.
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Sir A. E. Middleton, Bart., is lord of the manor and sole

landowner. Post town, Newcastle. Area, 739 acres; popu-
lation, 19.

Bittadon, a parish in Devonshire, 5^ miles SSE of Ilfra-

combe, and 5^ N by W of Barnstaple station on the G.W.R.
Post town, BaiTistaple ; money order and telegi-aph office,

Ilfracombe. Acreage, 1050
;
population, 46. The living is

a rectoi7 in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £80 with

residence. The church is small but good, and contains some
fine monuments of the Chichester and Acland families, and
was restored in 1883-87.

Bittering Magna, the name of a parish which formerly

existed between Beetley and Gressenhall, Norfolk, but which
has been wholly merged into tliese parishes. Its name sur-

vives in a locality in Gressenhall, which is still called Bitter-

ing Street.

Bittering Parva or Little Bittering, a village and a

parish in Norfolk, 3 miles N by E of Wendhng station on

the G.E.R., and 5 NW of East Dereham, which is the post

town ; money order and telegraph office, Gressenhall. Popu-
lation of the ecclesiastical parish, 50. Tlie living is a rectoiy

in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £60.

Bitterley, a township and a parish in Salop. The town-
ship lies under the Clee Hills, 4 miles NE of Ludlow, which

is the post town, and the money order and telegi'aph office.

The parish includes also the townships of Cleeton, Ledwich,

Middleton, and Snitton, with part of Henley. Acreage, 6879
;

population of the civil parish, lull ; of the ecclesiastical, with

Middleton, 673. The Clee Hills here exhibit grand scenery,

command noble views, and contain abundance of coal and

ironstone. Bitterley Court and Henley Hall are the chief

residences. The living is a rectory, united with the perpetual

curacy of Middleton, in the diocese of Hereford ; net value,

£51C. The church contains a carved oak pulpit, a carved

oak screen, a Norman font, and several monuments, and was
restored in 1S80. A stone cross, with graduated pedestal

and hexagonal shaft, crowned by tabernacled niches, is in the

churchyard. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel. Cleeton

is a separate benefice.

Bitteme, a village, a tithing, and a chapelry in South

Stoneham parish, Hants. The village stands on the left side

of the Itchin river, near Bitterne-Road station on the L. &
S.W.R., 76 miles from London, and 2 NNE of Southampton.

It is 80 feet above the sea, and the soil is gravel and sand.

Under the Redistribution of Seats Act in 1885 it was m-
cluded in the parliamentary borough of Southampton, under

which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office. The
tract around it was long held by the Bishops of Winchester,

and had a residence of theirs. There is a parish-room and a

workman's hall erected in 1882. Population of the chapelry,

2253. Remains of the Roman station Clausentum, including

walls of flint and small stones with Roman grouting, are in the

village. This station was connected by roads with Win-
chester, Porchester, and the ferry to the Isle of Wight, and
probably was intended to defend the approach to them, and it

became the headquarters of Tetricus, one of the British

usurpers after Gallienus. Numerous coins and medals, chiefly

of Claudius and Constantine, and numerous inscriptions,

chiefly relating to Tetricus, have been found, and many of

the inscriptions may be seen on the spot. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Winchester; net value, £240.
Patron, the Bishop of Winchester. The church, which stands

on an eminence at the village, is a handsome structure in the

Decorated style, with a lofty spire, and was enlarged in

1885. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bitteswell, a village and a parish in Leicestershire, near

Watling Street, 1 mile NNW of Lutterworth, and 2 miles

ESE of Ullesthorpe station on the M.R., with a post office

under Luttenvorth, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 1820; population, 330. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough; gi'oss value, £293
with residence. Patrons, the Haberdashers' Company and

Christ's Hospital, London, alternately. The church is an

old building dating from the middle of the 14th century in

the Decorated and Perpendicular styles. It was restored in

1881-82. The village has some valuable chai'ities, which

include six almshouses and an endowed school. Bitteswell

Hall, Bitteswell Lodge, the manor house, and Bitteswell

House are the country seats in this parish.
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Bittiscombe, a liamkt in Upton parish, Somersetshire,

4J miles ENE of Dulverton,

Bittleston. See Biddlesdon.

Bitton, a village, a township, and a parish in Gloucester-

shire. The village stands near the confluence of the Boyd

and the Avon, adjacent to the Julian Way, 6 miles SE of

Bristol. Area of the township, 3665 acres; population of

the civil parish, 3023; of the ecclesiastical, 1212. It has

^ station on the Midland railway and a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Bristol. The parish of Bitton

includes also Hanham chapeliy and Oldland hamlet, with

Kingswood village and the villages of Beach, Willsbridge,

Upton Cheyney, Swineford, and Longwell's Green. Coal and

iron ore are worked. Traces of many Roman antiquities

have been found. The manor of Bitton was granted in 1137

to Robert Fitzhardinge, and passed to his son, Robert de

Berkeley, whose arms have been traced on tiles found in the

churchyard ; it passed to a family who assumed the name

of De Bitton, and thence by marriage to the Barre family,

whose name is preserved in Barre's Court, the manor house,

now a farmhouse ; subsequently the manor came into the

hands of the Newton family, to whom there are monuments

in the church. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol; gross value, £294 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. The church

is a handsome building, partly Norman, partly Perpendicular,

and has a fine Perpendicular tower, with a staircase turret

;

in the chancel are three sedilia. An effigy of Robert de

Bitton, who died in 1227, was discovered in the churchyard,

and has been placed in the church. The vicarages of Hanham,
Oldland, and Kingswood are separate benefices. There are

Wesleyan and Free Methodist chapels.

Bix, a parish in Oxfordshire, under the Chiltern Hills, 2f
miles N\V of Henley-on-Thames station on the G.W.R.
It has a post otfice under Henley-on-Thames, which is the

telegi-aph office ; money order office, Xettlebed. Acreage,

3078; population of the civil parish, 387; of the ecclesias-

tical, 364. The area comprises two quondam parishes, Bix-

brand in the N and Bisgibwen in the S. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value, £340
with residence. Patron, the Earl of Macclesfield. The
church, a building of flint, was erected in 1875.

Blxley, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles SE by

S of Norwich, which is the post town; money order and
telegraph office, Trowse. Acreage, 667; population, 133.

Bixley Hall is a handsome edifice built about the middle of

last century by Sir Edward Ward. Bixley Lodge is also a

pretty country seat. The living is a rectory, united with

the rectory of Eai-ls-Framingham, in the diocese of Norwich
;

gi'oss joint yearly value, £380 with residence. The church

dates from 1272, but has been in gi*eat part rebuilt ; contains

a handsome screen and monuments of the Wards, the last of

whom was a Countess of Rosebery, and formerly had a shrine

g( St Wandregesilus, to which pilgrimages were made.

Bixton or Bickerstone, a quondam parish, a rectory,

now incorporated with Barnham-Broom, in Norfolk.

Blaby, a union town, a township, and a parish in Leices-

tershire, on a branch of the river Soar and on the Union Canal,

4j miles S of Leicester, with a station on the L. & N.W.R.,
and a post and money order office under Leicester ; tele-

graph office, South Wigston. Area, 1332 acres; popula-
tion, 164G. Shoemaking and framework knitting are the

chief industries. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Peterborough; net yearly value, £400, derived chiefly from
327 acres of glebe with residence, in the gift of the Bishop
of Peterborough. The church is a stone building in the
Early Gothic style, and is believed to date from the 13th
century. There is also a Baptist chapel. Blaby Hall is

a fine country house in the Elizabethan style, standing in

the midst of extensive pleasure grounds.

Blackaton, a hill 5J miles WNW of St Germains, in

Cornwall.

Blackawton, a village and a parish in Devonshire. The
village stands 6 miles W of Dartmouth, and CA- from Kings-
wear station on the G.W.R. It has a post office (R.S.O.)
under Totness; money order and telegraph office, Dart-
mouth. Acreage of parish, 7447 of land and 36 of foreshore
and water ; population of the civil parish, 1015 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, o88. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of
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Exeter; gross value, £'.i6 with residence. The church is

Perpendicular English, and contains a carved oak pulpit and
screen, and several neat monuments, and was well restored

in 1887— the chancel in 18l>2-;i3. The hamlet of Street

was formed out of the civil parish of Blackawton into

an ecclesiastical parish in 1881. There is a Wesleyan

chapel.

Black-Bank, a station in Cambridgeshire on the G.E.R.,

5 miles NW byN of Ely.

Blackberry. See Blackbury.
Black-Birches, a township in Hadnall parish, Salop, 1^

mile NW of Hadnall.

Blackborough, a parish in Devonshire, on the W side of

Black Down, and 5 miles ENE of CuUompton station on the

G.W.R. It has a post office under CuUompton, which is the

telegraph office ; money order oflice, Kentisbere. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £108. The
church is modern ; consists of nave and chancel, with tower

and octagonal spire, and stands conspicuously on an emin-

ence, with charming views of a wide expanse of country

bounded by ranges of hills—Exmoor and Dartmoor in the

distance.

Blackboum, a hundred in Sufl'olk. It lies between Nor-
folk on the N, Hartismere hundred on the E, and Lackford

hundred on the W, and contains Great Ashfield parish, thirty-

two other parishes, and part of another.

Blackbonrne, a hundred in the lathe of Scray, Kent.

It contains AppIi;dore parish and four other parishes.

Black Bourton, a parish in Oxfordshire, 2 miles NW from
Bampton, and 6 SW of Witney station on the G.W.R. It

has a post office under Faringdon ; money order and telegraph

office, Bampton. Acreage, 2352; population, 226. The
li\ing is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford ; gross yearlv

value, £350 with residence. Patron, Christ Church, Oxford.

The church is Early English, and contains a stone pulpit

and monuments of the Hungerfords and Sir A. Hopton.

There is also a Primitive Methodist chapel. Maria Edge-
worth was a native.

Blackbrook, a hamlet in Parr township. Lancashire, 3

miles NE of St Helens. There is a Roman Catholic chapel

and a convent in the neighbourhood.

Black Brook, a stream of Leicestershire, running 9 miles

north-eastward to the Soar opposite Barrow.

Black Bull, a station with telegraph on the North Stafford-

shire railway, 6 miles N of Stoke-upon-Trent.

Blackburn is a municipal, parliamentary, and county

borough, situated midway between Preston and Burnley

—

about 11 miles from each town—and, as a centre of popula-

tion and commercial activity, occupies the first position in

North-east Lancashire. It is a very old town, but only

within modern times, and mainly through prosperity in the

cotton trade, have its laurels been won and its status made
consequential. From a stream called Blake-water or Blake-

burn, which flows out of the heights of Oswaldtwistle, runs

through a portion of Blackbm-n, and afterwards debouches

into the river Darwen, the town evidently derived its name.
In Saxon times Blackburn was held by King Edward the

Confessor. The earliest reference to it, which confirms the

fact of this possession, is contained in the Domesday Survey.
" King Edward held Blacheburne," says the Norman record,

and then it defines the area thereof as " two hides and two
carucates of land." Anciently, the land here, as well as

that of adjoining districts, chiefly eastward, constituted what
was known as Blackbumshire. One of the " hundreds" into

which the county of Lancaster is divided, and which includes

the land of the "shire" mentioned, goes by the name of

Blackburn. The population of the entire hundred of Black-

burn is 502,499. By the Blackburn Corporation Act of

1892, which came into operation in 1893, the area included

within the borough of Blackburn (comprising the civil parishes

of Blackburn and Little Haiwood, and parts of those of

Livesey, Lower Danven, and Witton) was constituted one
township or civil parish, desiLuated Blackbum. At the time

of the census of 1891 this area contained 24,471 inhabited

houses, and 120,064 population, but the above figures relate

to the parishes as existing previously to the alteration.

A range of high land passes through the parish, the trend

of it being from Whalley to Billinge Hill. The town of

Blackburn is located partly in a hollow and partly on tbs
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Bides of high, semi-envh-oning land. Owing to the great

quantity of smoke which exhales from the chimneys of mills,

workshops, &c., the aspect of the town is sombre and heavy;

otherwise, through the vale-like, hill-flanked configuration

of its position, the scene would be quite picturesque. A
considerable quantity of the land around Blackburn was, up

to a comparatively recent period, in a bleak, poor condition

:

much of it is now within the sphere of cultivation and

practical productiveness. In, vai^ious parts of the pai'ish

slate of a grey colour is got; at the southeni side coal is

found ; and formerly—many years ago— there was an alum

mine in working order in the suburb of Pleasington, on the

western side. In 1617, when King James I. visited Roghton

Tower (a fine old structure between Blackburn and Preston),

he was taken to view the alum works in Pleasington. The
diary of a local gentleman, who was at the Tower when
James was there, contains this quaint record of the event:—
"Aug 16. About 4 o'clock the King went downe to the

Allome mynes, and was there an houer, and viewed them
preciselie." In 1642, during the Civil War, James, Earl of

Derby, at the head of an anny of 6000 Royalists, unsuccess-

fully attacked Blackburn; the "greatest execution" being

done, as an old chronicler oddly describes it, by a hall which

entered a house near the church and " burst out the bottom

of a frying-pan." The Earl of Derby, in 1643, entered and

for a short time occupied the town with a body of Royalist

troops. In 1892 the rateable value of the borough, for county

purposes, was £168,574. Blackburn was made a parlia-

mentai'y borough in 1S32, under the Reform Act of that year,

and it is represented by two members. By a charter dated

28th August, 1851, Blackburn became a corporate borough.

Its corporation is at present composed of a mayor, 14 alder-

men, and 42 councillors. Extensive drainage and other

sanitaiy works, as well as many miscellaneous public im-

provements, have been cai-ried out by this body. Blackburn

Poor Law Union consists of 24 townships. On the south-

east side of the borough there is the Union workhouse, a

building opened in 1864, at a cost of nearly £30,000, and
possessing accommodation for 700 inmates. New offices for

the Union were opened in 1881'. The County Court (for

recovery of debts, &c.) is held every Monday, in a building

specially erected in 1861-02, and including registrar's offices,

at a cost of £3000. The jm'isdiction of the court applies to

or is co-extensive with the townships forming the Poor Law
Union. A Court of Quarter Sessions was established here In

188G. Under the Local Government Act of 1888 Black-

burn became a county borough. The textile manufacture of

the place was commenced about 1650. For the weaving of

a check cloth composed of linen and cotton—dyed in the

warp or the woof portions so as to alternate the colours

—

Blackburn was first noted. The check cloth was supplanted

by one of a grey description. Then calico weaving came to

the fore. In 1764 James Hargreaves, a Blackburn carpen-

ter, invented the spinning jenny, which greatly accelerated

the manufacture of cotton goods here. In 1826 power looms

were introduced, and their appearance gi-eatly exasperated

the operatives, who sought revenge by the smashing of ma-
chinery, &c. From 1851 to 1861 there was much prosperity

in the local cotton trade ; the prosperity went on at a high

rate, almost without interruption, mill and house property

underwent a great development, and there was an increase

in the population of the borough equal to about 37 per cent,

during that particular decade. In what was known as the
" cotton famine" Blackburn was very severely hit. At the

worst period of the trouble—in December, 1862—more than

half of the population were living on the subscriptions of

the charitable and the relief administered by the Poor Law
Guardians. In 1878 there was much commotion in and
about the town ; the local cotton operatives struck against a

proposed reduction of wages, rioting followed, and in the

course of it a suburban residence was burnt down, and the

military had to be called out to restore order. There are

in Blackburn 110 mills and sheds set apait for cotton

weaving; they contain 64,000 looms, and the operatives

employed in connection therewith number between 25,000
and 26,000. The spinning department embraces numer-
ous establishments, which at the end of 1802 contained

1,335,414 spindles, and employed about 10,000 opera-

tives. Since 1870 the spinning trade has been somewhat
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on the decline. Blackburn is noted for its inventors and
mechanics—a class who have principally manifested their

ability and enterprise in the improvement and constniction

of power looms. The chief mechanical trade is that of
loom-making—a trade which includes or combines the making
of winding, warping, and sizing machines. Railway accom-
modation is good and extensive. The first hne made was
from Blackburn to Preston ; it was opened in 1816. A
great development has since taken place. The Lancashire
and Yorkshn-e, the London and North- Western, the Midland,
and the Great Northern companies all put in an appearance
here. A veiy spacious new central station was completed in

1888. A steam tramway runs through the principal streets.

A similar tramway, opened m 1881, connects Blackbm'u
with Over Darwen, and there are also lines to Church, &c.
The Leeds and Liverpool Canal—an important inland water-
way—goes near the town. The public buildings are numer-
ous and excellent. In the centre of the borough there is

the Town Hall, a structure in the Italian style of archi-

tecture, which was opened in 1856, and which cost, with
its fittings, about £50,000. Within this building ai-e the
council chamber, a fine assembly-room, court-rooms, offices

for the various corporate depaiiments, the police, &c. The
magistrates forming the borough bench sit daily in one of

the courts. The county magistrates meet every Wednesday,
in a court-room separately located from this building. Not
far from, and on one side of, the Town Hall, stands the

Market House— a commodious structure opened in 1848 at

a cost of about £8000. Between the Slarket House and the
Town Hall there is the Market Square, the formation of

which, along with the purchase of contiguous property for

extension purposes, cost about £20,000. A first-rate market
for farm produce, &c., is held every Wednesday and Satur-

day, and there is a great market on alternate Wednesdays,
from the first Wednesday before 2nd Februaiy to Michael-

mas. Fairs for horses, cattle, Yorkshire cloths, &c., are

annually held on May 11 and 12, and on October 17.

Horse fairs are likewise held on the second Monday in June
and the first Wednesday after October 16 in each year. The
Exchange is situated at the north-western angle of the

Market Square : the whole of the design has not yet been

earned out, but the building, so far as it has been con-

structed, is a fine one. In the immediate neighbourhood of

the Town Hall there are, in one edifice, the Free Library

and the Museum—originally opened in 1862 in the Town
Hall, and removed in 1874 to the building now occupied

by them, which was specially erected for their requirements,

and opened in the year laiit named. Here also, in addition

to books, curiosities, &c., is the nidus of an art gallei*y. In

the same street as the Free Library and Museum, and

directly opposite, are the School Board's new offices, opened

in 1891. There are in Blackburn 47 elementary schools

—

45 under voluntary management and 2 under the Board

—

and in addition a day industrial school, with accommodation
for 200 truant children. In the latter half of 1892 the

total number of children on the rolls was 21,135, or one in

five of the whole population, and the average attendance

was 18,377. The expenditure of the School Board for the

year ended 29 September, 1892, including interest on and
repayment of loans on capital charges, for erection of school

buildings, new offices, &c., was equivalent to a rate of 2'18d.

in the £ on the rateable value of the borough. There is a
School of Art and Science at Sudell Cross, and in another

part of the borough— Blakey Moor—a Technical School is

in course of erection. The foundation stone of this school

was laid by the Prince of Wales in 1888 ; the cost of the site

was upwards of £5000, and the construction of the edifice

will, it is estimated, involve an expenditure of £25,000.

Public baths erected by the corporation, at a cost of £3500,
were opened in 1868. The Infirmary, a noble-looking pile

of masonry, in the Italian style, occupies a commanding
eminence on the south side of the town. It was founded by
a donation from Mr William Pilkingtou during his mayor-

alty in 1856-57, and many subscriptions, &c., were added to

his initial gift. The building was opened during the " cotton

famine." The total cost of it, including recent additions and

internal fittings, has been about £35,000 ; the endowment

fund is £60,000 ; and the annual income and cost of manage-

ment amount to something like £6500 each. There are thxee-



BLACKBURN

theatres and numerous clubs— political, social, and literary

—

in the town. The Orange Hall was opened in 1890. Jour-

nalism is represented by two evening dailies and two weekly

papers. Corporation Park is on the northern side of the

borough, on a fine slope of Rividge Hill. It is about 50

acres in extent. The land was purchased in 1855 by the

Corporation for £3237. The same body afterwards laid

out the groimds—making beautiful walks, drives, fountains,

lakes, &c.—at a cost of about £20,000, and in 1857 the

pai'k was opened. From the top of it there is a fine view of

the town and the surrounding districts. Many new build-

ings—niansion-hke residences, villas, terraces, &c.— have been

erected in the neighbourhood of the pai-k, and this side is the

most attractive or fashionable residential part. Blackburn

Gas Lighting Company was founded in 181 i'; in 1877 the whole

of its buildings, plant, &c., were purchased by the Corpora-

tion. The works of the old water company, established in

1848, became by purchase the property of the Corporation

in 1875. The gathering ground for water is about five

miles south-east, and the supply is good. The out town-

ships of Lower Darwen, Livesey, Witton, and Little Har-

wood are provided with water by the Corporation from tlie

same soni-ce. The local charities are numerous, and almost

all of them are of modern foundation. The nucleus of the

Lancashire Independent College, at 'Whalley Range, near

Manchester, was formed in Blackburn. An institution

designated the Independent Academy was established here

in 1816, by the Congregationahsts, with the object of educat-

ing young men for the ministry of their denomination, and

the work of it was continued until 1843, when its professors

and students were transfeiTed to the College at Whalley

Range. A free grammar school was founded and endowed
in 1514 by Thomas, Earl of Derby, in connection with his

chantry in Blackburn Parish Church. This was superseded

by a gi'ammar school which Queen Elizabeth founded and
endowed in 1567~a school which, with the exception of

requiring a small gift by each pupil to the master at Shrove-

tide every year, had to be " free to all the world." The
first Sir Robert Peel, who was born at Peel Fold, near

Blackburn, was educated at this old establishment. Robert

Bolton, a notable Puritan divine, and one of the most erudite

men of his generation, was likewise a scholar here ; as also

was Anderton, who subsequently went to Chi-ist's College,

Cambridge, and was termed, on account of his eloquence,

"The golden-mouthed Anderton." The present grammar
school building is quite a modern one; it was completed,

along with the headmasters house, in 1885, the total cost

being about £7000. In the borough of Blackburn there are

now 67 places of worship— viz., 21 Episcopalian, 10 Con-
gregational, 3 United Presbyterian, 2 Baptist, 9 Wesleyan
Methodists, 5 United Methodist Free Chrnxb, 6 Primitive

Methodist, 5 Roman Catholic, 1 Society of Friends, 1 Sweden-
borgian, 1 Wesleyan Free Chm-ch, 1 Catholic Apostolic, 1

Salvationist, and 1 Undenominational. The original parish

church was, it is conjectured, built about the year 596. In

the reign of Stephen (1135-54) it was supplanted by a new
one. This second structure was replaced by a third in or

about the year 1350. And the third was superseded by the

present bnilding, which was erected in 1820-26, at a cost of

£26,000. In 1875 the parish church was entirely renovated

and reseated. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Manchester. According to the most reliable records, there

have been from 1070 (earliest available date) up to now 34
rectors and vicars of Blackburn ; the present vicar being the

Rev F. A. R. Cramer-Roberts, D.D., who was instituted in

1887, and simultaneously made coadjutor-bishop of the

diocese of Manchester. There is a cemetery, open to all

denominations, about a mile on the north-eastern side. The
cost of purchasing the land and laying out the same was
about £18,000j and the ground was opened for burial pur-
poses in 1857. AH the banking, postal, telegraphic, and
telephonic faciUties reckoned essential to a large modem
business centre exist at Blackburn.

Blackburn, a village in Kimberworth township, W. R.

Yorkshire, 3 miles W of Rotherham, The population is

largely employed at Wincobank in the manufacture of loco-

motive engines.

Blackburn Eiver, a stream of Cumberland, falling into

the South Tyne, 2 miles above Alston.

BLACK FORCE

Blackburton, Oxfuidshire. See Black Bourtox.
Black-Burton, Yorksliire. See Bukton-in-Lonsdale.
Blackbury, a hamlet in Colyton-Rawleigh parish, Devon-

shire, 4;^ miles WSW of Colyton. A Roman camp is in its

neighbourhood.

Black-Callerton, a township in Ncwburn parish, North-
umberland, 6 miles NW of Xewcastle. Acreage, 1384

;

population, 187.

Black-Carts and Ryehill form a township in the parish

of Simonbnrn, Xorthumberland, near the Roman Wall, 8?^

miles NW of Hexham, and 3 from Chollerford station on the

North British railway. Humshaugh is the post, money order,

and telegraph office. Acreage, 29
;
population, 22.

Black Combe, a mountain in the S of Cumberland, be-

tween Duddon Sands and the sea, 6^ miles SSE of Raven-
glass. It consists chiefly of clay slate, rises to an altitude

of 1919 feet, and commands a panoramic view of Yorkshire,

Scotland, Ireland, the Isle of Man. and Wales.

" This height a ministering angel might select

;

For from the summit of Black Combe (dread name.
Derived from clouds and stonus!) the amplest range
Of unobstructed prospect may be seen
That British ground commands."

Black Country, The, a tract of mines and ironworks in

the S of Staffordshire, and on the N verge of Warwickshire,

It extends chiefly from Wolverhampton to Birmingham south-

eastward, 13 miles, and from Dudley to Walsall north-east-

ward, 7 miles. "The name is eminently descriptive, for

blackness ever^Tvhere prevails. The ground is black, the

atmosphere is black, and the underground is honeycombed

by mining galleries stretching in utter blackness for many a

league. The scene is marvellous, and to one who beholds it

for the first time by night terrific."

Blackden, a township in Sandbach parish, Cheshire, 2i
miles NE of Holmes Chapel station on the L. & N.W.R., and

G^ SSE of Knutsford. Acreage, 749
;
population, 148.

Blackdown or Blakedown, a hamlet in Kidderminster-

Foreign, in the neighbourhood of Kiddenninster, Worcester-

shire.

Blackdown, a village in Broadwinsor parish, Dorsetshire,

5j miles AVNW of Beaminster.

Black Down, the highest summit of the Mendip HiUs,

in Somersetshire, 3 miles NE of Axbridge. It has an alti-

tude of 1100 feet above the level of the sea, and commands
a very extensive and brilliant view.

Black Down, an upland ridge on the mutual border of

Somersetshire and Devonshire, around the sources of the

Axe, the Otter, and the Culme rivers. It is chalky and
bleak, and its highest point has an altitude of 1160 feet

above the level of the sea, and is crowned by a column, erected

by the inhabitants in honour of the Duke of Wellington.

Black Down, a hill-ridge in the NW of Dorsetshu-e, a

continuation eastward of the Somerset and Devon Black

Down. It rises to the altitude of S17 feet above the level

of the sea ; is crowned by a monument to Admiral Sir Thomas
Hardy ; and has a number of large marl pits, which have

sometimes been regarded as Druidical.

Black Down, a high ridge on the E border of Hants, be-

tween Liphook and Petersfield. It commands a picturesque

view of the neighbouring parts of Susses towards Midhurst

and Petworth.

Black Down, a barren eminence in the Isle of Wight, Si-

miles NW of Ventnor.

Blackenhall. See Blakexhall.
Blacker, a small village in Worsbrough township and

parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles S of Barnsley. It is 1

mile from Dovecliffe station on the JI.S. & L.R., and has a

post and money order office under Barnsley.

Blacker, a village in Darton township and parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, 3^ miles NAV of Barnsley. The nearest station

is Darton (1 mile) on the L. & Y.R. There is a small Wes-
leyan chapel.

Black Force, a cascade on Fell Head, Westmoreland,

within the basin of the Lune, 6 miles SSW of Orton. It

occurs at the head of a wild chasm approached from Borrow

Bridge, and consists in the fall of a streamlet from such a

giddy height as to be all reduced to spray before reaching

the bottom.
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Blackford, a h-^mlet iu Stoke-St-^Milborough parish, Salop,

8 miles NE of Ludlow.

Blackford, a cbapelry in "Wedmore parish, Somersetshire,

between the rivers Axe and Brue, 6 miles from Cheddar

station on the G.W.R., and 4J S of Asbridge. It has a post

office under Weston-super-Mare ; money order and telegraph

office, Wedmore. Population, 456. The chapehy was con-

stituted in 1844. In the parish is a noted mineral spring.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells

;

value, £300. Patron, the Vicar of Wedmore. The church

is modern.

Blackford, a parish in Somersetshire, 4J miles WSW of

Wincanton, and 3 from Sparkford station on the G.W.R.

Post town, Wincanton. Acreage, 724; population, 118.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells
;

gross value, £152 with residence. The church is Early

English, with a fine Norman entrance-arch, and was restored

in 1880. There is a Wesleyan chapel. A beautiful spring

rises liere called the "Nun's Well."

Blackford, a manor in Selworthy parish, Somersetshire,

3^ miles W of Minehead.

Blackford Bridge. See Bury.
Blackfordby, a parish, formed in 1876 from portions of

the parislies of Ashby-de-la-Zouch, Seal, and Hai-tshorne,

and which includes the villages of Blackfordby and Boundary,

and the township of Boothorpe, Leicestershire. It is '2^

miles NW from Ashby-de-la-Zouch station on the M.K.

I'ost town, 15urton-on-Trent ; money order and telegraph

office, Woodville. Area, 1302 acres
;
population of the civil

parish, 1040; of the ecclesiastical, 1359. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross yearly value,

£193, in the gift of Lord Donington. The church, erected

in 1858 on the site of the old building, is a structure of grey

sandstone in the Early English style. There are Wesleyan

and Congregational chapels. Boundary is a straggling village

about f of a mile to the NE. Boothorpe is a township ^ of

a mile SW of the village of Blackfordby.

Blackfriars, an extra-parochial spot in St Alphage

parish, Canterbury city, Kent.

Blackfriars, a parish within Leicester borough, Leices-

tershire.

Blackgang Chine, a grand chasm on the S coast of the

Isle of Wight, down the seaward face of St Catherine's Hill,

5^ miles W of Ventnor. The crest of the hill above it is

769 feet high, and the precipices on its flanks are in some

parts 400 feet deep. It commences in two large, separate,

convergent fissures ; it then goes down in a deep, declivitous,

crumbling gorge ; and it terminates by flinging a tiny stream-

let over a precipice of 40 feet upon the beach. The shore

below it is strewn with massive fragments of fallen rock;

the whole chasm is so black, naked, shattered, and profound

as to strike the mind with awe; and it flings back from the

vibrations of even a light gale a reverberating sound like

"thunder. The approach to it is enclosed, and leads through

a toy-shop, and there are a hotel and good lodging-houses iu

the neighbourhood. The Clarendon, West Indiaman, was

'wrecked opposite the Chine in October, 1836, when all on

board except three seamen perished.

Black-Hambleton, the highest point of the Hambleton
Hills which bound the great central or York plain on the

«ast, 9 miles NAV of Helmsley. It has an altitude of 1300

feet, and connnands a magnificent view.

Black-Head, a headland on the SE coast of Coniwall,

dividing I\Ievagissey Bay from St Austell Bay. It is 153

feet high.

Black-Head, a promontoiy on the S coast of Cornwall,

*) miles NE of the Lizard. It is bare and sombre, but pos-

sesses interest for beautiful serpentine.

Blackheath, a hamlet and hundred in Kent. The latter

extends into the parishes of Charlton, Greenwich, Kidbrooke,

'Lewisham, and Lee, is within the parliamentary boroughs of

Greenwich, Lewisham, and Woolwich, and the County of

London as constituted by the Local Government Act, 1888,

and is included iu the Lewisham and Greenwich District

Board of Works. The North Kent railway has a station

at Blackheath, and passes under the east end of the heath

by a tunnel about a mile long. The heath, 267 acres, lies

S of Greenwich Park, 6 miles from London by road. It is

dry and healthy, and commands veiy fine views. Many
180

BLACKHOW-TOPPING

barrows, seemingly of the British-Roman period, have been

opened on it along the line of Watling Street; and a cavern,

called the Point, about 150 feet long, with four irregular

chambers, supposed to have been artificially formed as a

retreat during the struggles between the Saxons and the

Danes, occurs on the ascent above Greenwich Park. The
vicinity of the tract to London occasioned it to be the scene

of some memorable transactions, and its freedom from damp
and smoke has long made it a favourite retreat of London
citizens. The Danes encamped here in 1011. Wat Tyler,

at the head of 100,000 followers, encamped herein 1381.

Henry IV. met the Emperor Pala?ologus here in 1400.

Henry V. was welcomed here with great pomp by the Lon-
don magistrates and chief citizens in 1415 on his return

from Agincourt. The Emperor Sigismund was received here

by Henry in 1416, and conducted hence in state to Lambeth.

Jack Cade raised his banner here on one of the old barrows

in 1450. Henry VI. encamped here in 1452 to oppose the

Duke of York. Edward IV. was received here by the Lon-
don citizens in 1474 on his coming from France. Lord

Audley with his Cornish troops took post here in 1497, and
was beaten by the Earl of Oxford. Cardinal Campejo, the

papal legate, was met here in 1519 by the Duke of Norfolk.

And Henry VIII. met here Aune of Cleves in 1539, and

conducted her hence to Greenwich Palace. Two other famous
scenes here are depicted by Shakespeare and Sir Walter Scott.

Montague House, the residence of Queen Caroline, stood here,

but has been demolished. Brunswick House, the " Babiole"

of Lord Chesterfield, afterwards occupied by the Duchess of

Brunswick, and Lord Lyttleton's villa, the residence of

General Wolfe, are adjacent to Greenwich Park. Two houses,

called the Bastile and the Minced-Pie-House, built by Sir

John Vanbrugh, are on Maze Hill. Morden College, founded

in 1695 by Sir John Morden for decayed merchants, a brick

quadrangle amid considerable grounds, and now supporting

upwards of 70 inmates, is on the S side. The ecclesiastical

districts are : the parishe-s of All Saints and St John, the per-

petual curacies of the Church of the Ascension, and St

Michael's, Blacklieath Park ; there is also the p.-oprietary

chapel of St Gennan ; net value of All Saints, £400, of

St John, £600. Patron of All Saints, the Vicar of Lewis-

ham. There are Congregational and Wesleyan chapels, a

mission hall erected in 1883, and a Roman Catholic church

whidh is dedicated to Our Lady Help. The Blackheath and

Charlton Cottage Hospital was established in 1880. There

is a working men's club, a large proprietary school for

boys and a High School for girls, and a natural history

society. Population of All Saints parish, 2255; and of

St John, 5067.

Blackheath, a small town and ecclesiastical parish in the

civil parishes of Rowley Regis, Staffordshire, and Halesowen,

Worcestershire. The town stands ^ a mile from Rowley

Regis station on the G.W.R., 3 miles SE of Dudley, under

which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 8965. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester; gross value, £220
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The
church, situated in the civil parish of Halesowen, is a large,

modern, red brick building. There are Primitive Methodist

and New Connexion Methodist chapels.

Black Heath, a wild open tract in the centre of Wilts,

immediately S of the Ridge-way, and in the northern part of

Salisbury Plain, SE of Market-Lavington.

Black Heddon, a township in Stamfordham parish, North-

umberland, 6 miles from Angerton railway station, on an

affluent of the river Blyth, 11 miles SW of Morpeth. Post

town, Newcastle. Acreage, 1668; population, 56.

Blackhill and Shotley Bridge almost form one town, and

are in the parish of Benfieldside, Durham, with a post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) and a station on

the N.E.R. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Dur-

ham
;
gross value, £300 with residence. Patrons, the Crown

and the Bishop of Durham alternately. The church, built

in 1885, is in the Early English style. There are two

Methodist, a Baptist, and Roman Catholic chapels.

Blackhow-Topping, an eminence among the eastern

moors of the E. R. Yorksiiire, near the Pickering and Whitby

railway, 9 miles NE by N of Pickering. Here are numerous

tumuli and other ancient works.
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Blackland, a pai-ish in Wilts, near the Koman road, Ij

mile SE of Calne station on the G.W.R., and 7 miles ESE
of Chippenham. Post town, Calne under Chippenham, which

is the money order and telegraph office. Population, with

Calstone Wellington, 344. Blackland House was formerly

the seat of the Jlaundrells, afterwards the property of the

Tanner family, and now belongs to the Brown family. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbury, annexed to

Calstone Wellington ; value, £300. The church was repaired

in 185f).

Black-Lane, a station on the L. & Y.R., 2 miles W by

S of Bury, Lancashire.

Blackley, a township and an ecclesiastical district in

Manchester parish, Lancashire. The village stands on the

river Irk, near the Manchester and Leeds railw.ay, 3 miles N
of Manciiester, under which it has a post, money order, and

telegraph office. Population of the ecclesiastical parish of

St Peter, 6180, and of St Andrew 1143. Many of the in-

habitants are employed in cotton manufactures and in exten-

sive dyeworks. There ai*e two churches—viz. St Peter's and

St Andrew's, the latter being at Higher Blackley. The

livings are rectories
;
gross value of St Peter's, £550 with

residence, in the gift of the Dean and Canons of Manchester;

of St Andrews, £300 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop

of Manchester. St Peter's Church, with accommodation for

1000 persons, was rebuilt in 1844 and enlarged in 1879, and

is in the Early English style, with a fine tower, in which

there is a peal of 13 tubular bells, and a beautifully illumin-

ated four-dial clock. It existed as far back as 1545, con-

sequently is in possession of some curious records and antique

oak fm-niture. St Andrew's Church was built in 1866.

There are four Methodist, and Roman Catholic and Unitarian

chapels, a Church institute, and a reformatory. There are

Conservative and Liberal clubs, the Blackley Co-operative

Reading Room and Library, a fire brigade, a home for peni-

tents, a convalescent hospital for children, and also some
valuable charities connected with St Peter's Chm'ch.

Blacklow Hill, a small wooded eminence, near Guy's

ClitF, 1^ mile N of Warwick. A stone cross on it commemo-
rates that Piers Gaveston, Earl of Cornwall, the minion of

Edward II., was beheaded here in 1312. The hill commands
a delightful and diversified view.

Blackmanstone, a parish in Kent, 5 miles ESE of Ham
Street station on the S.E.R. Post town, Folkestone; money
order and telegraph office, Djmchiu*ch. Acreage, 300

; popu-
lation of the civil parish, 11 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Dym-
church and Eastbridge, 629. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Canterbury ; value, £44. Patron, the Ai'chbishop.

Blackmill, a village in Glamorgan, 5J miles WNW of

Llantrissant. It has a station on the Llynvi and Ogmore
branch of the G.W.R. , and a post and money order office

under Bridgend ; telegraph office, Ogmore Vale.

Blackmoor. See Seleorse.
Blackmoor, Herefordshire. See Blakemere.
Blaokmoor-Foot, a hamlet in Hnddersfield parish, in the

W. R. Yorkshire. There is a reservoir covering 100 acres

for supplying Hnddersfield.

Blackmoor Vale, the valley of the Cale river, on the

mutual border of Somersetshire and Dorsetshire, soutii-south-

eastward from Wincanton toward Sturminster. It is flanked
by hill ranges, often 4 miles asunder, and has a rich, ten-
acious, marshy soil, notable as pasture land, and for the
vigorous growth of oaks. It was originally called White
Hart Forest, from an incident in a hunt by Henry III.

Blackmore, a tithing in Melksham parish, Wilts, 2 miles
from Melksham.

Blackmore, a parish in Essex, 3J miles ESE of Chip-
ping-Ongar station on the G.E.R., and 4 NW by W of In-
gatestone, under which it has a post, money order, and tele-

gi-aph office. Acreage, 2588
;
population, 599. An Augus-

tinian priory was fomided on the site of the manor house by
the De Sampfords, m the time of Henry II.

;
passed, under

Cardinal Wolsey, to his colleges at ©xford and Ipswich, and
afterwards to Waltham Abbey, and was given at the dissolu-
tion to Robert Smith. The living is a vicarage in the diocese
of St Alb.ins

;
gross yearly value, £126. Tl]e church belonged

to the priory, and is ancient, small, and good. There is also
a Baptist chapel.

Black Mountains, a wild, high mountain ridge on the
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E border of Brecknockshire, extending IG miles southward

from the valley of the Wye near Hay to the valley of the

Usk below Crickhowel. Its highest point is Pen-Cader-
I'awr, 2545 feet high, 5 miles SE of Talgarth.

Black Notley. See Notley, Black.
Black Park, a township in Whitchurch parish, Salop, 2

miles NE of Whitchurch. This township contains two small

lakes, Blackmere and Ossmere.

Blackpill, a hamlet in Oystermouth parish, Glamorgan,

on the W side of Swansea Bay, 2 miles N of Mumbles. It

has a station on the Swansea and Mumbles railway, and a

post office under Swansea ; money order and telegraph office.

West Cross.

Blackpits, a village 3 miles from Rochdale, in Lanca-

shire. It has several lar^^e mills.

Blackpool, a small village on the coast of Devonshire, 3

miles SSW of Dartmouth.

Blackpool, a municipal borough, a town, and a fashionable

watering-place on the west coast of Lancashire. It is 227
miles from London, and within convenient distance of Liver-

pool, JIanchester, Preston, and Lancaster, and has three

stations on branches of the L. & Y.R. and L. & N.W.R. Its

situation is good and very healthy. It stands on a ridge of

low clay clilfs; overlooks a fine bathing beach of hard sands;

commands charming views along the coast and across the

sea to Wales and the Lake district, and consists of well-built

houses ranged in an irregular terrace about 2 miles long.

The town is lighted with gas and electricity by the town
council, and has a capital water supply. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office, a police station, and
banking establishments. Markets are held daily during
the season, and on Saturdays in the winter. Tlie borough
was incorporated in 187G, and its area extended in 1879.

The Church of St John's was built in 1878 on the site of

the old church. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of jManchester; net value, £380 with residence. Patron,

Trustees. Christ Chmxh was erected in 1866, and is Early
English m style. The living is a vicarage

;
gross value,

£500 with residence, in the gift of five trustees. Holy
Trinity Church, at South Shore, was erected m 1836, and is

in the Norman style. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Manchester ; net value, £260 with residence. The Roman
Catholic church is a handsome Gothic edifice, and nearly

all Christian denominations have chapels. Other buildings

of importance are a drill hall, a floral hall, three theatres,

free libi-ary and reading-rooms, and the court-house. The
free library was opened in 1880. A tower, 500 feet

high, on the model of the Eiff'el Tower at Paris, was
erected in 1893, at an estunated cost of about £40,000.
Visitors are to be raised by hydi-aulic lifts to enjoy the

extensive view. There is a handsome promeu.ade about

3 miles long, and three excellent piers, which .ire lighted

by electricity. There is an electric tramway on the pro-
menade. The Victoria Pier was opened in 1893, and
at the point there is a large pavilion for concerts and
dancing capable of seating 2000 people. The Winter Gar-
dens, the Royal Palace Gardens, Bellevue Gardens, the

aquarium, a menagerie, and " Uncle Tom's Cabin," are

favourite resorts of visitors. At Claremont Park, with an
area of 60 acres, and at Raikes' Gardens, there are orna-
mental grounds, conservatories, refreshment rooms, and
buildings for public entertainment. Three newspapers are

issued weekly. There are two large hydropathic establish-

ments and numerous hotels and boarding-houses. The area

of the borough is 3610 acres; population, 23,846. At the
west end of the town a public house now occupies the site

of a mansion, the seat of Sir Thomas Tyldesley, and the
retreat of the Pretender in 1715 while the measures were in

progress for the rebellion.

Blackpool Parliamentarii Division of Lancashire was
formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and
returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

72,955. The division includes the following:—Amounder-
ness—Alston, Barton, Broughton, Elston, Fnlwood, Goos-
nargh-with-Newsham, Grimsargh-with-Brockholes, Haigli-

ton, Hothersall ; Lea, Ashton, Ingol and Cottam ; Ribble-

ton ; Whittingham, Woodplumpton ; Kirkham— Bispham-
with-Norbreck, Bryning-with-Kellamergh, Carleton, Clifton-

with-Salwick, Eccleston (Little) with Larbreck, Elswick,
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Freckleton , Greenalgh-with-Thistleton, Hardhoiii-with-New-
ton, Kiikbam, Layton-with-Warbreck, Lytham, Marion,

Medlar-with-Wesham, Newton-witb-Scales, Poulton, Kibby-

witb-Wrea, Sinpiletoa (Great and Little) ; Treales, Roseacre

and Wharles ; Warton, "Weeton-witb-Preese, Westby-witb-
Plumpton; Lcyland (New Division, part of)— Farington,

Hoole (Little), Hoole (Much), Howick, Hutton, Longton,

Penwortham ; Preston, municipal borougb.

Black Prince's Chantry. See Cantekeury.
Blackrake, a hamlet in Carlton-Higbdale township, Cover-

ham parish, in the N. R. Yorkshire, 7 miles SW of Middleham.

Blackrock, a reef in the mouth of the Mersey, 3 miles

NNW of Liverpool. A lighthouse stands on it, a round

white tower, built in 1830, at a cost of £30,000, with a re-

Toh-ing minute light 88 feet high, showing also a fixed light

at a lower elevation when there is 12 feet water in the channel.

Blackrock, a village in Llanelly parish, Brecknockshire,

2 miles from Brynmawr. It has a post office under Aber-

gavenny ;
money order and telegraph office, Brynmawr.

Blackrod, a village, a township, and a parish in Lanca-

shire. The village stands on the Leeds and Liverpool Canal,

on elevated ground near the river Douglas and the Bolton

and Preston railway, 4^ miles SSE of Chorley, and has two

stations on the L. & Y.R., and a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Chorley. Its site is supposed to

have been occupied by the Roman station Coccium, on
Watling Street, and many Roman relics have been found.

The township comprises 238S acres
;
population, 4021. The

inhabitants are chiefly engaged iu bleacbworks and collieries,

A fire in a colliery here was extinguished by directing the

river Douglas into it. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of JLauchester ; net value, £380 with residence. Patron,

the Vicar of Bolton. The church is good, and there is a

Wesleyan chapel. A free grammar school, founded in 15G8,

and now incorporated with one at Rivington, has an endow-
ment producing an income of £2G0, besides an exhibition of

£G5 per annum at Pembroke College, Cambridge, and there

are charities amounting to £200 per annum.

Black Sail, a foot-pass from Wastdale-Head, up Mose-
Jale, to the hi-ad of EnnerdaJe, in Cumberland.

Blackslade, a hamlet in the parish of Widdecombe-in-the

Moor, Devonshire.

Blacksnape, a hamlet on the old Roman road, in the

township of Over Darwen, Blackburn parish, Lancashire.

Blacksole. See Wrotham.
Blackstakes, a roadstead in the river Medway, above

Sheerness, in Kent.

Blackstone, a hamlet m Kidderminster-Foreign, Worces-

tershire, on the river Severn, 2 miles below Bewdley. A
picturesque range of cliffis, called the Blackstone Rocks, here

flanks the Severn.

Blackstone-Edge, a range of higli hills along the mutual

border of Lancashire and Yorkshire, 6 miles ENE of Rochdale.

Blacktail, a shoal, with a beacon, on the coast of Essex,

extending off' from the mouth of the Thames, past Shoebury-

ness to the Maplin-sand.

Blackthorn, a township in Ambrosden parish, Oxfordshire,

on Akeman Street, 3 miles SE by E of Bicester, which is the

post town, money order and telegraph ofKce. Acreage, 2031

;

population, 283. It has a mission-room connected with the

church at Ambrosden, and a small Congregational chapel.

Blacktoft, a village, a township, and a parish in the E. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the left bank of the river

Ouse, about a mile above the junction with the Trent, where

the estuary of the Humber commences. It is 3j miles S by

E of Staddlethorpe railway station, and 8 ESE of Howdcn,

and it includes the hamlet of Sladdlethorpe, and has a post

and telegraph office under Howden ; money order office, New-
port. The parish consists of the townships of Blacktoft

and Scalby, and the extra-parochial ehapelry of Cheapsides.

Acreage, 1T61 ;
population of the civil parish, 578; of the

ecclesiastical, 525. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of York; net value, £255 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Durham. The church, dedicated to

the Holy Trinity, is a neat structm'e, with apse, small chancel,

and 3 sweet-toned bells. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Black-Tor, a rocky hill in Dartmoor Forest, Devonshire,

tlj miles ESE of Tavistock. It has a picturesque appearence,

and overhangs an ancient British town.
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Black Torrington. See Tohiungton, Black.
Blackwater, The, a river of Esses. It rises 3 miles

ESE of Saffron-Walden, and runs past Braintree, Coggles-

hall, Witliam, and Maldon, to the North Sea at Mersea Island.

It makes great folds in its course, yet goes prevailingly

south-eastward to Braintree, east by southward thence to

Coggleshall, southward thence to JIaldon, and east by north-

ward thence to the sea. Its length is about 40 miles, and

its last reach, below Maldon, to the length of 10 miles, is

estuary of the mean width of 1§ mile. It bears the name of

the Pant for some distance below its source, and it receives

the Chelmer at Maldon.

Blackwater, The, a river of Dorset and Hants. It

rises near Cranbome in Dorset, and nins 15 miles south-

south-eastward to the Stour, a little above Christchurch, in

Hants.

Blackwater, The, a river of Surrey, Hants, and Berks.

It rises near Farnham, traces the boundary first between

Surrey and Hants, then between Hants and Berks, and goes

altogether about 18 miles northward and west-north-west-

ward to the Loddon near Swallowfield.

Blackwater, a village on the SW border of Hants, on the

Blackwater river, 2 miles NW of Christchurch.

Blackwater, a village in Yateley parish, on the NE bor-

der of Hants, on the Blackwater river, adjacent to the

Reading branch of the S.E.R. It has a station on the rail-

way, 54 miles from London, a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (S.O.), and a Baptist chapel. Sandhurst and

Wellington colleges are iu the vicinity.

Blackwater, a hamlet in the Isle of Wight, 2 miles S by

E of Newport. It has a post office under Newport, which is

the money order and telegraph office.

Blackweir, a suburb of Cardiff, Glamorgan, 1 mile N of

Cardiff.

Blackwell, a parish, including the hamlets of Hillcote

and Newton, in Derbyshire. The parish lies on the verge of

the county, and has a station (Westhouses and Blackwell) on

the M.R., 137 miles from London. It has a post .and money
order office under Alfreton; telegraph office, Tibshelf and

Newton (R.S.) Acreage, 1730; population, 3140. There

are extensive collieries, and the district is noted for its cheese.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell
;
gross

value, £260 with residence. Patron, the Duke of Devonshire.

The church was rebuilt in 1827-28 and enlarged in 1879.

There ai'e Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels. An
institute and reading-room was erected by the Blackwell

Colliery Company in 1878. The same company also support

a colliery hospital.

Blackwell, a township in Bakewell parish, Derbyshire,

annexed to the ehapelry of Taddington and Priestcliffe. The
station is Miller's Dale on the M.R. Acreage, 108B ; popu-
lation, 42. The manor belonged to Wm. Peverel iu the reign

of Henry I., and is now the property of the Duke of

Devonshire.

Blackwell, a village and a township in Darlington parish,

Durham, on the river Tees, 1^ mile SW by S of Darlington.

Post town, Darlington, with money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 1571
;
population, 391. Blackwell Hall is the seat

of the Allan family, and was the death-place of George Allan

the antiquary. There are a Free Methodist chapel and work-
men's club and reading-room.

Blackwell, a hamlet in Tredington parish, Worcestershire,

2^ miles NW by N of Shipston-upou-Stour.

Blackwell, a station on theM.R.,2 miles NE of Broms-
grove, Worcestershire.

Blackwell, High and Low, two hamlets in St Cuthbert

parish, Cumberland. Carlisle is the nearest railway station.

The manor was given in the time of Edward III., by the

heiress of Sir John de Wigton, to Sir Robert Parvinge.

Blackwood, a village iu Bedwellty parish, Monmouth-
shire, on the river Sirhowy, 8 miles SW of Tredegar, and
15 NW of Newport, under which it has a post, money order,

and telegraph office. It has a station on the Sirhowy

branch of the L. & N.W.R., an iron foundry and two col-

lieries, and a large public hall. There is a small church,

a chapel of ease to Bedwellty parish church, and Baptist,

Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Blackwood and Crowborough, a township in Horton

parish, Staffordshire, 4 miles W of Leok.
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Blackworth. See Backwoktii.
Blacon-cum-Crabhall, a township in the parish of Holj

Trinity Chester, Cheshire. Blacon is 1^ mile W of Chester,

and has a station on the Cheshire lines and M.S. & L. Joint

railway. Crabhall is 2 miles NW of Chester, Acreage,

1077; population, 261.

Blaco-Hill, a hill 44 miles SE of Bawtry, in Notts. It

lias vestiges of a Danish camp.

Blades. See Blaides.

Bladon, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The vil-

lage stands adjacent to the S end of Blenheim Park, IJ mile

KNE of Handborough station on the G.W.R., and 2 miles S

of Woodstock. It has a post office under Woodstock, which

is the money order office; telegraph office, Handborough

(R.S.) Acreage, 851
;
population of the civil parish, 432;

of the ecclesiastical, with Woodstock, 2170. The manor
belongs to the Duke of Jlarlborough. The living is a rectory,

united with the perpetual curacy of New and Old Woodstock,

in the diocese of Oxford
;

joint net yearly value, i!31'0 with

residence. Patron, the Duke of Jlarlborough. The church,

which was built in 1804, was restored and almost rebuilt in

1891. There are Primitive Bletbodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Blaen, a prefix of Welsh names, signifying " the upper

part," '"the end,'" " the extremity," " the point."

Blaenau Festiniog, a small town in Festiniog parish,

^[erionethshire, 4 miles N of Festiniog, and 12^ SW of

Bettws-y-Coed. It owes its existence to the extensive slate

quarries in the neighbourhood, and has three stations on the

L. & N.W.K., the G.W.E., and the Festiniog narrow-gauge

railway to Portmadoc ; a head post office, a market-hall,

and two banks. The church is good, and there are Baptist,

Congi'egational, Wesleyan. and Calvinistic Methodist chapels.

Blaenayon, a town and an ecclesiastical parish in ]\Ion-

mouthshire. The town stands on the Avon-Llwyd river, on

tlie Newport, Pontypool, and Blaenavon branch of the

G.W.R., and has also a station on the Blaenavon branch

of the L. & N.W.R., 6 miles NNW of Pontypool. It has a

post office (R.S.O.) The Blaenavon Company, who own
most of the land, have very extensive iron, steel, and coal

works here, and also brick factories. There are two breweries

and a gas and water company. The town is governed by a

local board. There is a town-hall, erected in 1869, and an
hospital for accidents, erected and supported by the Blaen-

avon Company. A new club, public hall, and other offices,

used as a workmen's institute, was erected in 1893. Iilarkets

are held on Saturdays, and fairs on 16 April and 17 Sep-

tember. The ecclesiastical parish of Blaenavon-cnm-Capel

Newydd, constituted in 1860, includes the village and com-
prises parts of the parishes of Llanover, Llanfoist, Llan-

wenarth, and Trevethin. Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, 11,377. The living is a perpetual curacy in the

diocese of LlandafF, and since 1864= has included Capel

Newydd; gross value, £300 with residence. The cnrchh

was built in 1804, and restored in 1883. There are Roman
Catholic, Baptist, Congi'cgational, Wesleyan, Primitive and
Calvinistic Jlethodist, and Bible Christian chapels. The
urban sanitary district of Blaenavon comprises parts of

Llanfoist, Llanover, Llanwenarth, Abeiystruth, and Treve-
thin, with Pontvpool, the area being 4606 acres

;
population,

11,452.

Blaengwrach, a township in Glyncorrwg parish, Glamor-
gan, in the Vale of Neath, adjacent to Gl}m-Neath station

on the G.W.K., 9 miles NE of Neath. Post town, Glyn-
Neath, nnder Neath. Acreage, 2871; population, 20G.
Many of the inhabitants are employed in copper and iron

mines. The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the

perpetual curacy of Glyncorrwg, in the diocese of Llandaff.

The church is small, and was restored in 1853.

Blaenhonddan, a township in Cadoxton parish, Glamor-
gan, in the A'ale of Neath, 2J miles NE of Neath. Acreage,

3739; population, 2709. The inhabitants are chiefly em-
ployed in copper mines.

Blaenllecha, a portion of the hamlet of Femdale, Gla-
morgan, in Llanwvonno parish, on the eastern side of Rhondda
Fach river. It has a post office under Pontypridd; tele-

graph office, Ferndale.

Blaenllynfi, a quondam boroucjh town in Cathedine
parish, Breconshire, near Llyn-Safaddan, 7j miles NW of

Crickhowelh Remains stand here, low broken walls and a
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deep fosse, of a castle which is thought to have been the re-

sidence of Prince Hwpan early in tiie 10th century, and was
afterwards the seat of the Norman lord of Welsh Talgarth.

Blaenpenal or Blaenpennal, a township and an ecclesi-

astical parish in Llanddewi-Brefi pai'ish, Cardiganshire, ou
the river Aeron, 4 miles NW of Tregaron, under which it has
a post office. Acreage, 4231; population, 472. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St David's; net value, X16U,
The church is good.

Blaenporth, a parish in Cardiganshu-e, G miles NWof Car-
digan. It includes part of the village of Aberporth, which
has a post office under Cardigan. Acreage, 3532

;
popula-

tion, 689. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St
David's

;
gross value, £139.

Blagdon, a tithing in Cranborne parish, Dorsetshire, 3J
miles N of Cranborne.

Blagdon, a hamlet in Stannington parish, Northumber-
land, neai- the river Blyth and the N.E.R., 7 miles S of

Jlorpeth, 1^ mile from Plessey railway station. Post town,

money order and telegraph office, Cramlington (R.S.O.) It

was held in the time of Henry III. by John de Plessis;

passed in 1567 to the Fenwicks, and afterwards to the

Whites, and now contains Blagdon Hall, the seat of the

Ridley family.

Blagdon, a hamlet in Paington parish, Devonshire, 5
miles E by N of Totnes.

Blagdon, a tithing in Pitminster parish, Somersetshire,

3J miles S of Taunton. It has a post office under Taunton,

which is the telegi'aph office; money order office, TniU.

Blagdon, a parish in Somersetshire. The parish lies

under the Jlendip Hills, 6 miles NE by E of Axbridge
station on the G.W.R., and has a post, money order, and
telegraph office (R.S.O.), and a fair on the last Friday of

Aug. Acreage, 3133
;
population of the civil parish, 901

;

of the ecclesiastical, 939. There is a public village hall,

used on Sundays as a Baptist chapel. Some ruins at Reg-
hillbury are said to be remains of an ancient palace. Lapis

calaminaris is found. In the village is an ornamental sheet

of water. The living is a vicai-age in the diocese of Bath and
Wells; gross value, £419 with residence. The chm-ch is

modern, and there is a Methodist chapel. Dr John Lang-
horne was rector.

Blagdon Hill. See Black Do"\\'X, Dorsetshire.

Blagrave, a tithing in Lambonrn parish, Berks, in the

vicinity of Lamboum.
Blaides or Blades, a hamlet in Melbecks township,

Grinton parish, N. R. Yorkshhe, 4J miles W of Reeth.

Blaina, a village in the parish of Aberystruth, Jlonmouth-
shire, 2 miles SSE of Nantyglo. It has a station on the

G.W.R. , and a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.)

There are extensive iron and tin-plate works and furnaces.

The parish church, an edifice in the Norman style, was re-

built in 1857. There are Congregational, Baptist, Wes-
leyan, Primitive and Calvinistic Jlethodist, and Presbyterian

chapels.

Blaisdon, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, 2

miles SE of Longhope station on the G.W.R., and 4 N of

Newnham, under which there is a post office ; money order

office, Westbuiy-on-Severn; telegi-aph office, Huntley. Acre-

age, 950
;
population of the civil parish, 210 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 203. Blaisdon Hall is the chief residence.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and
Bristol; gi'oss value, £219 with residence. The church was
rebuilt in 1869, with the exception of the tower.

Blaise-Castle, the seat of the Harford family, in Henbury
parish, Gloucestershire, stands in a picturesque limestone

ravine, 4 miles NNW of Bristol. The house is modem, and
contains a fine collection of pictures. The grounds are

beautiful, and have a lofty tower which commands a bril-

liant view across the Severn into Wales. There is a Roman
encampment in the grounds. Ten cottages, built here in

1810 from a design by Nash, for the aged servants of the

family, ai-e remarkable for beauty of design and situation.

Blakedown, a place in Hagley parish, Worcestershire,

witii a station (Churchill and Blakedown) on the G.W.R.,

3 miles NE of Kidderminster, under which there is a post

and money order office; telegi'aph office, Belbroughton.

Blake-Fell, a wild, bleak moor on the road between

Ennerdale Lake and Lowes Water, in Cumberland.
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Blakehall, a station on the G.E.R., 1| mile S of Ongar, in

Ksses.

Blakeley. See Bi.ackley.

Blakemere or Blackmoor, a parish in Herefordshire,

about 2 miles from the river Wye, and 5 SW of Moor-

hamptou station on the Swansea, Brecon, and Hereford

branch of the M.R., and 10 "W by N of Hereford. Post

town, Madley (R.S.O.); money order office, Plouglifield

;

telegi-aph office, Staunton-on-Wye. Acreage, 1121; popula-

tion, 165. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the vicarage

of Preston-on-Wye, in the diocese of Hereford
;

joint value,

i;230. Patron, the Dean and Chapter of Hereford. The

church was originally Norman, and was rebuilt in 1877
;

it retains a Norman arch, and has stained windows.

Blakemore-Vale. See Blackmoor Vale.

Blakenall Heath, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish

in the Foreign of Walsall, Staffordshire. The hamlet is 1

mile E of BJoxwich, and has a post and money order office

under Walsall ; telegraph office, Bloswich. The pai'ish in-

cludes also Goscote, Little Bloxwich, Leamore, Harden, Coal

Pool, and part of Bloxwicb. Population, 6255. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield
;
gross value, £200 with

residence. The church was built in 1870. There are Con-

gregational, Wesleyan, and Primitive Jlethodist chapels.

Blakeney, an ecclesiastical pai-ish in Awre civil parish,

Gloucestershire, on the W side of the Severn, l| mile

W of Awre station on the G.W.R., and 3^ miles S by W
of Newnham. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

uffice under Newnham, and fairs on 12 May and 12 Nov.

It includes the tithings of Bledlsloe, Etloe, and Hagloe.

Population, 909. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol; net value, £213. Pati'ous, the

Haberdashers' Company. The church is modern. There

are Congi-egational and Baptist chapels.

Blakeney, a small seaport and a pai-ish in Norfolk. The
seaport stands on a natural harbour of its own name, 5^
miles NNW of Holt station on the Eastern and Midland

railway, and 7^ E of Wells station on the G.E.R., and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Holt (R.S.O.)

It was anciently called Snitterley, and it got the right to a

market in the time of Henry III. A Carmelite monastery

was founded at it about 12i'5, and given at the disso-

lution to William Rede ; and some remains of the edifice,

including several fine ai'ches, are still standing. John
de Baconsthorpe, who was styled *' the resolute and
subtle doctor," held a place in the monastery, and rose to be

head of the English Carmelites. The parish chm^ch, on an

eminence a little S of the town, is a curious flint structure,

in Early and in Later English ; has a lofty embattled tower,

which serves as a mark to mai'iners in taking the harbour;

and contains a fine ancient font, three sediha, and remains

of a screen and stalls. It was restored at a cost of over

£G000 in 1883-87. There ai-e Primitive Methodist and
Wesleyan chapels. The harbour has a dangerous shifting

bar, yet seiTes well both for commerce and for shelter. The
chief export is corn ; the chief imports are coal, timber and
duals, oilcake, and manure. The pai'ish comprises 1432
acres of land, with 1048 of foreshore and water

; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 807; of the ecclesiastical, 974, The
living is a rectory, united with the rectory of Glandford and
the rectory of Cockthorpe and Little Langbam, in the diocese

of Norwich
;
gross value, £500 with residence. Patron,

Lord Calthorpe.

Blakenhall, a village and a township in Wyfaunhury

parish, Cheshire, 5^ miles S by E of Crewe, 1 mile from
betley Road station, on the L. & N.W.R. Acreage, 1644

;

population, 186.

Blakenhall Heath, Staffordshire. See Blakexall
Heath.
Blakenham, Great, a parish in Suffolk, on the river

Gipping, h a mile NNW of Claydon station on the G.E.R.

,

and 3^- SSE of Needham-Market. It has a post office under
Ip:5wich ; money order and telegraph office, Claydon. Acre-

age, 875
;
population, 276, The manor belonged to the

Abbey of Bee in Normandy, and passed in the time of

Henry VI. to Eton College. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Norwich; net value, £135 with residence. The
church, an aucient building of fliut and rubble, was restored

in 1876. There is a Baptist chapel.
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Blakenham, Little, a parish in Suffolk, 1^ mile WSW
of Claydon station on the G.E.R., and 4| miles S by E of

Needham-Market. Post town, Ipswich ; money order and

telegraph office, Claydon. Acreage, 1070
;

population of

civil parish, 159; of the ecclesiastical, 221. The hving is

a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

gross value, £252
with residence. The church, a building of flint and stone,

in the Early English and Decorated styles, was restored in

1868.

Blakesall, a hamlet in Wolverley parish, Worcestershire,

3 miles N of Kidderminster. Blakeshall House is the chief

residence.

Blakesley, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire,

The village stands 4^ miles W by N of Towcester station

on the L. & N.W.R., and 6 S of Weedon ; and has a post

and money order office under Towcester, which is the tele-

graph office. The parish includes also the hamlet of Wood-
end, and part of the hamlet of Foxley. Acreage, 2391

;

population, 453. Blakesley Hall belonged anciently to the

Knights of St John, and is a chief residence. The living i»

a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £280
with residence, in the gift of Hereford College, Oxford.

The church, which contains a brass of 1416, is an ancient

building of stone in the Early English style. There are

Baptist and Wesleyan chapels, and some valuable charities.

Blake Street, a railway station on the Bnmingham,
Sutton Coldfield, and Lichfield branch of the L. & N.W.R.,

3 miles N of Sutton Coldfield, and 6j S of Lichfield.

Blakestone. See Blaxtox.
Blakewell, a hamlet in Iilarwood parish, Devonshire.

Blanchland, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical

parish in Northumberland. The village stands in a deep,

narrow green vale, flanked by heathy hills, on the N side of

the Derwent river, 7 miles from Rowley station on the N.E.R.

Riding Mill, 10 miles distant, is, however, the station most

used. It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office under

Riding Mill (R.S.O.) The township, united with Newbiggen,

together form Shotley High Quai'ter. The ecclesiastical

parish consists of the S portion of Newbiggen, and the pai't

of Hexhamshire S of Devil's Water. Area, 7411 acres of

land and 39 of water; population of the township, 276;
of the ecclesiastical parish, 288. A Premonstratensian con-

vent was founded here in 1165 by Walter de Bolbeck; raised

to the rank of a mitred abbey in the time of Edward I.

;

given at the dissolution to John Bellow and John Broxholnu

passed by purchase to Bishop Crewe, and was bequeathed

by him, along with other estates, for charitable purposes.

Some of the scenes of Besant's historical novel '• Dorothv
Forster " are laid here. Much of the surface is moor and
morass. The living is a titular vicarage in the diocese of

Newcastle
;
gross value, £319 with residence. The chm-ch

has been properly restored ; the conventual buildings have

been tm-ned to secular uses, such original parts of them as

remain are merged in the modern superstructures.

Bland, a hamlet in the township and parish of Sedbergh,

W. R. Yorkshire.

Blandford-Forum, a municipal borough, a town, and a
paiish in Dorsetshire. The town stands on the river Stour,

and on the Somerset and Dorset Joint railway, 121 miles

from London, 10 miles N\V by W of Wimborne-Minster. It

dates from remote times ; but was damaged by arms in the

Civil War, and by fire in 1579, 1677, 1684, 1713, and 1731,

—suffering in the last of these years a demolition of all its

houses except forty ; and it now presents as modem and
sprightly an appearance as any town in the county. It com-
prises two main streets, meeting in a spacious mai'ket-

place ; and consists chiefly of red brick houses, with higii

roofs and ornamented fronts. The town-hall is a handsome
edifice of Portland stone, with Doric columns and entabla-

ture. The corn-exchange was built in 1855 and restored in.

1892, and is a commodious structure. The chief bridge

across the Stour is a substantial structure of six arches.

There is a literary institution and Young Women's Christian

Association. A cottage hospital was opened in 1889. There

are Constitutional and Liberal Clubs. The parish church,

built after the fire of 1731, is a handsome Grecian edifice,

with a tower, and was thoroughly restored in 1879. A
pump under a portico, adjacent to the church, was erected in

1700 as a memorial of the fire. There are two high-roofed.
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mansions—one, Dale House, in Salisbury Street, and the Old

House in the Flocks—the only existing ones which date

prior to 1731. A farmhouse, in the outskirts beyond East

Street, includes remains of Damorey Court, the seat in tl}e

time of Edward II. of Roger D'Amorie, constable of Corfe

Castle. Bryanston Park, the seat of Viscount Povtman,

terminates one of the streets. The town has a post, money
order, and telegraph office of the name of Blandford, a

railway station, two banks, three hotels, two dissenting

chapels, live endowed schools, almshouses, and some large

charities. A weekly market is held on Saturday, and fairs on

7 March, 9 September, and 8 November. The manufacture

of very tine point lace was formerly carried on. The town

is a borough by prescription, but sent members to Parlia-

ment only under Edward I. and Edward III. ; it was incor-

porated by James I., and is now govenied by a mayor, four

aldermen, and twelve councillors ; and it is a seat of petty

sessions and a polling-pliice. By the Local Government Act
of 1889 the area of the municipal borough was extended

to coiTespond with the urban sanitary district, and now
includes part of Blandford-Fonim, part of Blandford St

Maiy, and part of Bryanston. Area of the municipal

borough, 145 acres
;

population, 3974 ; of the civil parish,

497 acres; population, 3985; of the ecclesiastical parish,

4014. The living is a rectory and a vicarage in the

diocese of Salisbury; net value, £168 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Winchester. Archbishop

Wake, Archbishop Lindsay, Bishop Lisle, Dean Ryves,

Creech, Pitt, Bastard the poet, Sagittary the physician,

E. Wake the founder of the Corporation of the Sons of

the Clergy, and John A. James, the author of the "Anxious
Inquirer," were natives. This town gives the title of Mai-quess

to the eldest son of the Duke of Marlborough. The neigh-

bourhood is very rich in Roman and British remains.

Blandford Park, called also Cornhury Park, the pro-

perty of Lord Churchill, in Oxfordshii-e, adjacent to the

G.W.R., 1 mile S from Charlbury station, and 6 miles

WNW of Woodstock. It belonged to the first Lord Claren-

don. The Earl of Leicester, the favourite of Queen Elizabeth,

died at it in 1588.

Blandford-St-Mary, a parish in Dorsetshire, on the river

Stour, T a mile S of Blandford-Forum. Post town, Bland-
ford, which is the money order .and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 1895; population of civil parish, 375 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 359. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Salis-

bmy; net v.alue, £"218 with residence. Patron, Worcester

College, Oxford. The church contains a monument erected

by Governor Pitt, gi'andfather of the great Earl of Chatham,
to the memory of his father, some time rector of the pai'ish,

Dr Brown Willis the antiquary was a native.

Blankney, a parish in Lincolnshire, 1 mile S of Blank-

ney station on the Spalding and Doncaster joint extension

of the G.N.R. and G.E.R., 9 miles N of Sleaford and 10
from Lincoln. It includes the hamlet of Linwood, and has

a post office under Lincoln ; money order and telegraph office

,

Metheringbam. Acreage, 6781 ;
population, 627. Blankney

Hall is a fine mansion of stone. The saloon is hung with
magnificent tapestry of great value. It is now the seat of the

Chaplin family, and in connection with it there is a famous
stud of thoroughbred horses. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £540 with residence.

The church, a Gothic bnildmg of stone, was restored in

1880.

Blaskenwell, a tithing in Corfe-Castle parish, Dorset, in

the vicinity of Corfe-Castle.

Blaston St Michael and St Giles, two ecclesiastical

parishes in Leicestershire, which conjointly form a village and
township, li mile NE of Hallaton station on the G.N.R.,
and 5 miles SW of Uppingham, which is the post town

;

money order and telegraph office, Hallaton. Acreage, 1287
;

population of the township, 100 ; of the ecclesiastical parishes

of St Giles, 70, and Blaston St Michael, with Hallaton, 785.
The living of St Michael is a donative annexed to Hallaton
i-ectory

;
joint gi'oss yearly value, £720 with residence. The

living of St Giles is a donative rectory; gi-oss value, £229
with residence. Both livings are in the diocese of Peter-

borough. The churches of both parishes are small Gothic
buildings of stone. The Manor House and Blaston Hall are

chief residences.
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Blatchington or Bletchington, East, a parish in Sus-
sex, on the coast, 1 mile NNW of Seaford station on the
L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Seaford under Lewes, which is

the money order aud telegraph office. Acreage, 735
; popu-

lation, 434. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chichester;
net value, £160 with residence. Patron, the Bishop o£

Chichester. The church is good, and was restored in 1860.
A convalescent home, for men only, was erected in 1890 fon

the county of Surrey.

Blatchington or Bletchington, West, a parish in Sus-
sex, near the South Coast r.ailw.ay, 2^ milesNW of Brighton,
which is the post, money order, and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 873 ;

population, 95. The living is a rectory, annexed
to the vicarage of Brighton, in the diocese of Chichester.

The Chm-ch of St Peter lay in ruins for more than a century,

but has recently been beautifully restored.

Blatchinworth forms with Calderbrook a township in

the p.arish of Rochdale, Lancashire. The township bears
the name of Blatchinworth-with- Calderbrook, is 3 miles NE
of Rochdale, and contains seven hamlets and Littleborongh
village—the last with a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Manchester, and a station on the L. & Y.R,
Area, 4781 acres; population, 8384. It has romantic
scenery, numerous good residences, a church, several dis-

senting chapels, an endowed school, cotton and wooUea
mills, collieries, and rich quarries.

Blatherwick or Blatherwycke, a parish in North-
amptonshire, on an affluent of the river Nen, 3 miles SW oJ

King's CliSe station on tlie L. & N.W.R., and 6 NW by N of

Oundle. It comprises the ancient parishes of Holy Trinity
and St Mary JIagdalene, united in 1448, and has a. post office

under Wansford ; money order office, King's Cliffe ; telegi-aph

office, BiUwick. Acreage, 2011
;
population, 142. Blatherwick

Hall is a chief residence. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £330 with residence.

The church has a brass of Sir H. Stafi'ord of 1548, and is an
ancient building of stone, the nave and the tower being Early
Norman, and the chancel Early English. There is also a
private chapel.

Blawith, a township and an ecclesiastical division in the
civil parish of Ulverston, by Conistoa Lake, 4 miles from
Torver station on the Coniston branch of the Furness rail-

way, 5 from Greenodd station on the Windermere branch of

the Fm-ness railway, and 7^ N of the town of Ulverston,

under which it has a post and money order office ; telegraph

office, Greenodd. Acreage, 2995
;
population of the town-

ship, 153; of the ecclesiastical district, 180. The Duke of

Buccleuch is lord of the manor. Much of the surface is

upland moor. The living is a vicoi-age in the diocese of

Carlisle: gross value, £180 with residence. Patron, the

Duke of Buccleuch. The church, which is dedicated to St
John the Baptist, is an edifice of slatestone and red sand-
stone in the Gothic style, and was built in 1862.

Blaxhall, a village and a parish in Sufl'olk, on the river

Aide, 2 miles NE of Wickham-Market Junction station on
the G.E.R., and 5 SSW of Saxmundham, with a post

office under Wickham-Market ; money order and telegraph

office, Tunstall. Acreage, 2018
;
population, 5G7. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net valne,

£456 with residence. The church, a building of brick in the

Early English style, w.as restored in 1863. The manor
belongs to the Earl of Guilford.

Blazton or Blakestone, a township aud a village in Fin-
ningley parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 5 miles NE of Bawtry,
which is the post town. Acreage, 1850 ;

population, 168.
There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Blaydon, a manufacturing village in the pjirish of Win-
laton, Durham, on the river Tyne, and on the Newcastle and
Carlisle railway, 4 miles W of Newcastle-on-Tyne. There
is a suspension bridge over the Tyne. It has a large manu-
facture of articles in fire-clay, also glass-bottle, chemical, and
engineering works, and good transit communication, by river

and by railway, with neighbouring ironworks and collieries,

and is a considerable, well-built place, with regular streets

running N and S. It has a post, money order, and tele-

gi-aph office called Blaydon-on-Tyne (R.S.O.), a railway

station, two chief inns, a mechanics' institute, a handsome
chm-ch, and three Methodist chapels. The urban sanitary

district includes Wmlaton, Chopwell, and Stella. Acreage,
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9349 ; population, 13,371. Axwell Park, tlie fine seat of
the Claverinfjs, is in tlie vicinity.

Blazey, St, a small town and a parish in Cornwall. The
town stands under an amphitheatre of wooded heights,

with a station on the G.W.E., 270 miles from London,
and 4 ENE of St Austell. It took its name from Blaise,

Bishop of Sebasto, in Armenia, who is said to have landed
at Par in tlie third century, and to have suffered martyr-
dom in 316. It has a post, money order, and telegraph
oiBce under Par station (R.S.O.), and is a centre of traffic

for the neighbouring mines. The town hall was erected in

1881, and will accommodate about 500 persons. There is

a Working Jlcn's Institute, established in 1882. The parish

includes also Par harbour. Acreage, 1791
;
population of

the civil parish, 2705 ; of the ecclesiastical, 171G. Much
scenery within the parish and in the neighbourhood is pic-

turesque and romantic. Prideaux, an ancient edifice with
granite stairs, is on a height above the town ; and Prideaux
Wan-en, the remains of an ancient earthwork, is on an
adjacent height. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Exeter; value, £120 with residence. The church has an
effigy of St Blaise, and is good; it was restored in 1883.
There are Wesleyan Methodist, Primitive Methodist, and
United Free Jlethodist chapels. The vicarage of Biscovey
or Par is a separate benefice. R. Allen, who brought oolite

stone into use, was a native.

Bleaberry-Fell, a mountain ridge on the E side of the
upper p.art of Derwent Water, in Cumberland.
Bleabery-Tam, a lakelet between High Stile and Eed

Pike, on the left bank of Buttermere Tale, in Cumberland.
Bleadon, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Axe,

1 mile from Bleadon .and Uphill station on the G.W.R.,
139 miles from London, and 4J SE of Weston-super-
M.ire. It includes the hamlets of Oldmixon and Shiplet,

and has a post office under Weston-super-Mare, which is the
money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2962

;
popu-

lation, 563. Piemains of au ancient British camp are
on Bleadon Hill, and bones, coins, and armour have
been found. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath
and Wells ; net value, £450 with residence. Patron, the
Bishop of London. The church was repaired in 1859. M.
Casaubon was for some time rector.

Blean, a parish and an ancient forest in Kent. The
pai-ish is called also St Cosmus and St Damian-in-the-Blean,

•2i miles NW by N of Canterbury, on the Whitstable branch
of the S.E.E., and has a post office under Canterbuiy, which
is the money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 2334

;

population, 662. Much of the land in the north is under
coppice. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Canter-
bm*y ; net value, £2 17 -with residence. The church is small.

The forest belonged anciently to the Crown, extended from
the vicinity of Heme to that of Chatham, was given away
piecemeal, both before and after the Conquest, till nearly

all was alienated, and gradually lost the character of a forest,

till it became known simply as the Blean. Wild boars

abounded in portions of it so late as the Reformation, and
the yellow pine marten is still occasionally found.

Bleangate, a hundred in the lathe of St Augustine,

Kent.

Blean, High and Low, two hamlets in Bainbridge town-
ship, N. E. Yorkshire, 1 mile SW of Askiigg.

Bleasby, a hamlet in Legsby parish, Lincolnshire, 4J
miles N of Wragby. It was formerly a parish.

Bleasby, a parish, with a village and a railway station, in

Notts, on the river Trent and on the JI.E., 4 miles SE of

Southwell. It includes the hamlets of Gibsmere, Kotown,
and Goverton, and its post town is Southwell. Acreage,

1538
;
population of civil parish, 282 ; of the ecclesiastical,

with Halloughton, 347. Bleasby Hall is the seat of the

Kelhams. The living is a vicarage, united with the vicai'age

of Halloughton, in tlie diocese of Southwell
;

gross value,

£300 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
«hnrch is ancient and very good. There is also a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Eleasdale or Admarsh, a township and chapelry in Lan-
caster parish, Lancashire, among the hills, 5 miles ENE of

<3arstang railway station. It has a post office under Gar-
stang (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph office ; money order

office, Caldervale. Acreage, 7298
;
population of the town-
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ship, 402 ; of the ecclesiastical district, 293. Jlost of the
area was formerly forest, belonging to the Crown. Eleasdale
Fell is 1709 feet high. The living of Admarsh-in-Bleasdale
is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Manchester ; value,

£170 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Lancaster. The
church was built in 1837. There are au endowed school

and the North Lancashire Reformatory School.

Blea Tarn, a lakelet at the head of Watendlath, in Cum-
berland, 6J miles S by E of Keswick.
Blea Tarn, a h.amlet and a lakelet in Warcop parish,

Westmoreland. The hamlet lies on the E side of Patterdale,

6 miles NNE of Ambleside. The manor was given, in the
time of Henry II., by John Tailbois to Byland Abbey in

Yorkshire, and a cell to that abbey was built on it. The
lakelet lies high, and sends a streamlet, jointly with that
from Angle Tarn, to the head of Ullswater.

Blea Tarn, a lakelet in Little Langdale, Westmoreland,
in a deep, rocky hollow, at a high elevation, 5j miles W of

Ambleside. Wordsworth made its b.isin the home of the

Solitary in his " Excursion," and described it as

" Beneath our feet a little lowly vale,

—

A lowly vale, and yet uplifted high
Among the moimtains ; even as if the spot
Had been, from eldest time, by wish of theirs.
So placed to be shut out from all the world."

Blea Water, a lakelet in Bampton parish, Westmore-
land, on high ground on the W side of JIardale, 6|- miles

SW of Bampton.

Blechingdon. See Bletchixgton.
Blechingley. See Bletchingley.
Blechynden, a coastguard station on Southampton

Water, Hants, adjacent to the S.W.R., 2 miles WSW of

Southampton, of which it is a suburb.

Bleddfa or Blethvaugh, a village and a parish in Rad-
norshire, on the river Lugg and in Radnor Forest. 3 miles

SWS of Llangunllo station on the L. & N.W.R. and 7 SW
of Knighton. It has a post office under Llangunllo (R.S.O.);

money order and telegi-aph office, Knighton. The parish in-

cludes the hamlet of Monanghfy. Acreage, 4139
;
popula-

tion, 124. The surface is to a considerable extent hilly.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St David's ; net

value, £151 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of St

D.avid s The church is good.

Bledington, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on

the verge of the county, adjacent to Chipping Norton junc-

tion on the G.W.R., and 4 miles SE of Stow-on-the-Wold.

It has a post office under Chipping Norton ; money order

office, Kingham ; telegraph office. Chipping Norton junction

railway station. Acreage, 1539
;
population, 354. The living

is a vicai"age in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net value

£150 with residence. Patron, Christ Church, Oxford. The
church is ancient, chiefly Early English and Decorated; it

contains interesting old stained glass, an aumbry, and a

Norman font ; it consists of chancel, nave with clerestory,

and aisles, south porch, and an embattled western tower.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bledisloe, a tithing in Blakeney ecclesiastical and Awre
civil parish, Gloucestershire, 2 miles .SE of Newnhani.

Bledlow, a village and a parish in Bucks. The village

stands in a romantic ravine, called the Glyde, on the verge

of the county, 2 miles SW of Princes Risborough, and has a

station on the G.W.E. , and a post office under Princes

Eishorough (R.S.O.), which is the money order and tele-

graph office. The parish includes also the ecclesiastical

parish of Bledlow-Eidge. Acreage, 4169
;
population, 978.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford; net value,

£180. Patron, Lord Carrington. The church is Early

English, was restored in 1876, and stands on the brink of

the ravine at the village. The church at Bledlow-Ridge is a

building of flint and stone in the Early English style, and

was erected in 1868. The living is a vicarage; net yearly

value, £130. Pitch Green and Routs Green ai-e adjacent

hamlets.

Blelham Tarn, a lakelet in the extreme N of L.ancashire,

near Windermere Lake, 3^ miles SSW of Ambleside. The

medicinal leech abounded in it, but has been extermin.ated.

Blencarn, a township in Kirkland p.ainsh, Cumberland,

8J miles SE of Ivirkoswald. This township is 2 miles from
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Newbiggin station on tlie il.R., and has a mineral spring

and a Wesleyan Methodist chapel.

Blencog'O, a township in Bromfield parish, Cnmberland,

'J miles fruni Leegate station on tlie Carlisle and llaryport

railway. Acreage, 1778
;
population, 180. Boucher, who

supplemented Johnson's Dictionary, was a native.

Blencow, Great, a township in Dacre pai-ish, Cumber-
land, 4J miles WNW of Penrith. It has a station on the

Cockermouth railway, and a post office under Penrith, both

of the name of Blencow ; money order and telegraph office,

Greystoke. There is a free gi'ammar school founded in 1576

by Thomas Burbank.

Blencow, Little, a township in Greystoke parish, Cum-
berland, 4i miles WNW of Penrith. It has a post office of

the name of Blencow under Penrith ; money order and tele-

Ep-aph office, Greystoke. Population, including Greystoke,

Johnby, Motherby, and Gill, 571. There is a small Wes-
leyan chapel.

Blendon, a hamlet in Besley parish, Kent, oj miles E of

Dartford.

Blendworth, a parish in Hants, on the border of Bere

Forest, 3 miles NW of Rowlands Castle railway station on

the L. & S.W.R., and 7 SSW of Petersfield. Horadean is

the post town. Acreage, 2334; population, 291. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester ; net value,

£186 with residence. The church is a handsome edifice, in

the Decorated style, with lofty tower and spire.

Bleng, The, a stream of Cumberland. It rises on Hay
Cock, 2^ miles NW of Wastwater, and runs G miles south-

westward to the vicinity of Gosforth, then goes 2^ miles

eastward to the Irt.

Blenheim Park, formerly extra-parochial, now a parish,

the seat of the Duke of Blailborough, in Oxfordshire, on the

river Glyme and on Akeman Street, immediately W of Wood-
stock, and It mile N from Handborough station on the

G.W.R. Post town, Woodstock, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 2137 of land and 132

of water; population, 151. The Duke of Marlborough is

lord of the manor and sole landowner. This was a royal

demesne, containing the ancient palace of Woodstock, was

gives to the great Duke of Jfarlborough, along with the

parliamentary grant of £500,000 for decorating the grounds

and building a mansion, and took its present name from his

victory of Blenheim on the Danube on 2 Aug., 1704. The
park is entered from Woodstock by a triumphal arch ; it has

much diversity of surface, and was laid out by " Capability

Brown;" it abounds with fine old trees, and displays groups

-of wood so an-anged as to represent the battle of Blenheim
;

and it contains a lake of 260 acres, spanned by a fine

tbree-ai'ched bridge—a column 134 feet high, surmounted

by a colossal statue of the gi-eat duke—a curious old house,

called High Lodge, once inhabited by the profligate Earl of

Rochester as ranger of the park—a spring, called Rosa-

mund's Well, traditionally said to have supplied the bath of

the " Fair Rosamund " during her residence in the " Bower
'*

—and traces of Akeman Street, together with spots in which

remains of Roman buildings have been found. The gardens

possess great wealth of plants, and contain two temples dedi-

cated respectively to Diana and Hygeia; the Cascade, artificially

constructed, but looking entu'ely natural ; the Fountain, mo-
delled after that of the Piazza Navona at Rome; and some
fine specimens of statuary and ai'chitecture, modelled after the

antique. The palace was founded in 1705, but not com-
pleted till after the great duke's death. It was designed by
Vanbrugh, and is esteemed his masterpiece, audit cost about

£300,000. It consists of a centre and two wings con-

nected by colonnades, fonns three sides of a square, enclosing

a court, measures 348 feet along the front, and is in the

Grecian style, faulty and very heavy, yet shows such skilful

combination of porticoes, colonnades, and towers as to look

highly imposing. The chief apartments are the hall, 07
feet high, with ceilings allegorically representing the battle

of Blenheim; the great dining-room, at one time thick with
pictm*es by Rubens and Vandyke ; the saloon, with walls

and ceiling decorated by La Guerre; the library, 183 feet

long, with marble statue of Queen Anne by Rysbrach ; and
the chapel, with mai-ble monument of the great Duke and
his Duchess by Rysbrach, and with a Lombard pulpit in

Derbyshire spar. The collection of paintings and of objects
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of vortu was one of the largest and choicest in Britain, inso-

much that Waaggen said—" If nothing were to be seen in

England but Blenheim, with its park and treasures of art,

there would be no reason to repent the journey to this

country." This valuable collection of gems and paintings, as

well as the library, have now all been dispersed. The Ansidei

JIadonna, by Raphael, was acquired for the National Gallery

at a cost of £70,000.

Blenkinsopp, a township in Haltwhistle parish, Nor-
thumberland, about 2 miles from Haltwhistle station on

the Newcastle and Carlisle railway. It has a post office at

Greenhead. Acreage, 2487
;
population, 694. The castle

is the ruin of a strong square tower, erected in 1339, the

ancient seat of the Blenkinsopps, noted for their Border

feuds, and Blenkinsopp Hall is now the property of the

Joicey family, who are the chief landowners. A Roman
altar was found in 1720, and an inscription to Ceres in 1810.

Coal is worked.

Blennerhasset and Kirkland, a township in Torpen-

how parish, Cumberland, on the river Ellen, J mile from Bag-
grnw station on the Carlisle and JIaryport railway, and 4

miles WNW of Ireby. It has a post office under Aspatria

(R.S.O.); money order and telegraph office, Mealsgate. Acre-

age, 1263 ;
population, 503. There is a Congregational chapel.

Bletchingiey or Blechingley, a village and a parish in

SuiTey. The village stands on an eminence, adjacent to one

of the sources of the Medway river, near the Roman vicinal

way, 3 miles E of Redbill junction station on the L.B.

& S.C.R., and 5 E by N of Reigate, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Redbill. It claims to have

been a place of ancient importance, is said to have once

possessed seven churches, contains some picturesque old

houses, aud sent members to Parhament from the time of

Edward I. till disfranchised by the Act of 1832. It for-

merly had a weekly market. The parish includes also the

hamlet of Ham Farm. Acreage, 5621
;
population of civil

parish, 1882; of the ecclesiastical, 1746. The manor be-

longed at one time to the Clares, and passed to the Mor-
daunts, the Howards, and others. A castle on it, belonging

to Gilbert de Clare, Eari of Gloucester, was destroyed in

1263 by the royal forces, but was afterwards restored, and
the foundations of it may still be seen in the grounds of

Castle Hill. Earl Godwin is said to have retreated to

Bletchingiey after the overwhelming of his fine Kentish

manors by the sea, and to have lived there in great state; but

he does not appear to have had any property there. Traces

of a Roman villa under White Hill were discovered in 1813,

and very many Roman coins have been found. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Rochester; net value, £716 with

residence, in the gift of Emmanuel College, Cambridge.

The church is Early English with traces of Norman ; con-

sists of nave, south aisle, and double chancel, with a tower;

had once a wooden spire, 160 feet high; and contains some
splendid monuments. It was well restored in 1870. There

are Wesleyan and Congregational chapels, and some alms-

houses. Archbishop Herring and Bishop Thomas were rectors.

Bletchington, Sussex See Blatchington,
Bletchington or Bletchingdon, a parish in Oxfordshire.

The parish lies near Akeman Street, the Oxford Canal, the

river Cherwell, and is 6 miles SW by W of Bicester. It has

a station about 1^ mile W of the village on the G.W.R., and

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Oxford.

Acreage, 2654 ; population, 649. Bletchington Park is the

seat of Viscount Valentia; was partly rebuilt near the end of

last century ; and occupies the site of a house which was
held for the king, and suiTcndered to the Parliament, in the

Civil War, A striped marble is found here, which has been

used in ornamental architectui'e. The church is a building

of stone, chietly in the Perpendicular style. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Oxford; net value, £279 with

residence. Patron, Queen's College, Oxford. Dr Fair-

clough was a native. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel,

and there are some endowed almshouses, and a farmhouse

with medallion of Cromwell, at which he is said to have

slept on the night before the battle of Bletchington,

Bletchley, a township and a parish in Bucks. The town-

ship lies adjacent to Watling Street, and on tlie L. & N.W.R.,
at the junction of the branches to Bedford, Oxford, and Ban-

bury, 14 miles by railway E of Buckingham, and it has a
187
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station on the railway, and a head post, money order, and

telegraph office of the name of Bletchley Station. Tlie

parish includes also the hamlet of Water-Eaton. Acreage,

1308
;
population of the civil parish, 450 ; of the eccle-

siastical, including Water-Eaton, 697. The original head-

manor was Water-Eaton, and was given by William the

Conqueror to Geoffry, Bishop of Constance, in Normandy.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford;

gross yearly value, £630 with residence. The church

is a handsome Gothic structure, with a tower, and was

restored in 1807-68. It contains the tomb of Lord Grey

de Wilton, who died in 1442, and a curious tablet to Dr
Sparke, who was rector in 1616. There is a Wesleyan

chapel at Water-Eaton.

Bletchley, a township in Moreton-Say parish, Salop, 3^
miles \\ t>f JIarket-Drayton.

Bletlierston, a paiish iu Pembrokeshire, 2^ miles NW of

Clynderwen station on the G.W.R., and 5 NW of Narberth,

which is the post town. Acreage, 2398
;
population, 230.

The hving is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the vicarage

of Llawhaden, in the diocese of St David's.

Blethvaugh. See Bleddfa.
Bletsoe, a parish in the county of Bedford, on the river

Ouse, and on the M.R., 1^ mile SSE of Sharnbrook railway

station, and NNW of Bedford, under which it has a post

office ; money order and telegraph office, Milton Ernest.

Acreage, 2250; population, 337. An old castle, now a

farmhouse, was the seat of the ancestors of Lord St John
of Bletsoe. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely

;

net yearly value, £279 with residence. Patron, Lord
St John. The chmxh, which is an ancient cruciform building

chiefly in the Decorated style, contains tombs of the St John
family and of Frances, Countess of Bolingbroke. The
manor belongs to Lord St John, and from this he takes

the title of Baron of Bletsoe.

Blewbury, a village and a parish in Berks. The village

stands near the Eidge Way and Icknield Street, 1^ mile

from Upton station on the G.W.R., and 4 NK by N of East

Ilsley, with a money order post office under Didcot (K.S.O.);

telegraph office, Chilton. Acreage of parish, 4246 ; popu-
lation, 028. The ancient manor-house was engirt by a moat
and earthen rampart. Blewbury Hill has barrows and an
ancient camp. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Oxford, and till 1866 was united with Upton and Aston-

Upthorpe ;
net yearly value, £256 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Oxford. The church is an ancient building

of stone, flint, and rubble in mixed styles, and contains some
very interesting tombs, monuments, and brasses. There are

a Wesleyan chapel, an endowed school, and some valuable

charities. The pai'ish is famous for its cherry orchards, large

quantities of this fruit being gi-own for the London mai'kets.

Bleyne, a hamlet in Llannon parish, Carmarthenshire, 5^
miles XNE uf LlaneUy.

Blickling, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the river

Bure, 1^ mile NW of Aylsham station on the G.E.R., and 2

W of Aylsham town station on the G.N. &. M.R. Post town
Aylsham, which is the money order and telegi-aph office.

Acreage, 2126
;
population of the civil parish, 325 ; of the

ecclesiastical, with Erpingham, 708. The manor belonged

anciently to King Harold ; was given by the Conqueror to

the Bishops of Norwich, and passed to the Dagworths, the

Krpinghams, the Fastolfs, the Boleyns, the Cleres, and the

Hobarts. The mansion on it, in the time of Henry VIIL, was

the birthplace of Anne Boleyn, whence she maiTied the king

;

and the present mansion, Blickling Hall, a seat of the

Marchioness of Lothian, was built in 1624 by Sir Henry
Ilobart, and is a fine specimen of Tudor ai'chitecture. The
library measures 127 feet by 21, and contains upwards of

12,0U0 volumes; and the various rooms ai-e enriched with

luuiierous family portraits and other interesting pictures,

and with wooden figures of Queen Anne Boleyn and Queen
i'^lizabeth. The grounds comprise about 600 acres, and con-

tain statues from Oxnead Hall, a pyramid on a base of 45
feet square over the remains of John, Earl of Buckingham-
shire, and a tine lake, in form of a crescent, about a mile

long. Charles IL and his queen visited the hall in 1071,

and an old distich says:

—

" Blickling two monarchs and two queens has seen
;

One king fetched thence, another brought, a queen."
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The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of Erping-

ham, in the diocese of Norwich; net value, £294 with resi-

dence. The church, which is an ancient building of stone

in the Perpendicular style, has a sculptured octagonal font;

contains monuments and brasses of the old proprietors of

the manor and of others ; and was restored in 1878.

Blidworth, an agricultural village and parish in Notts,

5 miles SE from Mansfield, and a station on the M.R.
Some ancient forest visitations were held here, as it stands

nearly in the centre of old Sherwood. It has a post and
money order office under Mansfield, which is the telegraph

office. A large block of conglomerate is known as the

Druid's stone, and may have been an accommodated altar.

Area of the parish, 5473 acres
;

population, 1079. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell; gross

value, £200. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. There are

three chapels. Roman remains have been discovered, and
traditions of Robin Hood and his followers abound. The
views from Blidworth Hill are magnificent.

Blindbotliel, a township in Brigham pai'ish, Cumberland.

2 miles W of Cockermouth railway station. Acreage, 1261;
population, 75.

Blindcrake, Isell, and Redmain, a township in Isell

parish, Cumberland, 4 miles from Cockermouth station.

Acreage, 4251; population, 292.

Blindley-Heath, a chapeh-y in Godstone parish, Sui-rey,

H mile from Godstone station on the S.E.R., and 5f N by

W of East Grinstead. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Redhill. Population, 1051. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Rochester ; value, £170
Patron, the Vicar of Godstone.

Blind Tarn, a mountain lakelet in Fumess, Lancashire,

on the S side of Dow crag, under Walney scar, 3 miles W of

Coniston.

Blisland, a parish in Cornwall, on the border of the

moors, 4 miles NNE of Bodmin, and 5^ N of Bodmin Road

station on the G.W.R. and L. &, S.W.R. It has a post office

under Bodmin; telegraph office, St Breward ; money order

office, St Tudy (R.S.O.) Acreage, 6445; population, 510.

Granite, schist, stream-tin, and other minerals are found.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Truro
;

gi'oss value,

£495 with residence. The church has a fine brass of 1410,

and is good. There is a Wesleyan chapel. A fair is held on

the Monday after Sept. 11.

Blisworth, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire,

The village stands on the Grand Junction Canal, 1 mile SSW
of the L. & N.W.R.. at the junction of the line to North-

ampton and Peterborough, and 4 SSW of Northampton; and
it has a station of its own name at the railway junction^

and a post, money order, and telegi'apb office (R.S.O.)

The parish comprises 1964 acres
;
population, 930. The

Blisworth tunnel on the canal, SSE of the village, is ij mile

long. The Blisworth cutting on the railway goes through

hai'd blue limestone ; is 2 miles long, with a mean deptb of

50 feet ; and though not the lai-gest work of its kind on the

line, was the most difficult. Building-stone is quarried, and

some kon ore is found. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Peterborough; net value, £100 with residence. The
church is ancient, and of mixed architectural character, has

a brass of 1503, and was restored in 1856, and frn'tlwr im-

proved in 1889. There are two handsome stained glass

windows iu the chancel. There is also a Baptist cbapel.

Blithbury, a hamlet in Mavesyn-Ridware pai'ish, Stafford-

shu-e, on the river Blithe, 3 miles NE of Rugeley. There was

a small Benedictine monastery here.

Blitlie or Blythe, The, a river of Staffordshire. It rises

3 miles E of Lane-End, and runs about 22 miles SSE past

Leigh, Chartley, Blithbury, and Kings-Bromley to the Trent,

7 miles above Burton.

Blitlie or Blythe, The, Suffolk. See Blytiie, The.
Blithe-Bridge or Blythe-Bridge, a hamlet in Kingston

parish, Staffordshh-e, on the river Blithe, 4^ miles SW of

Uttoxeter.

Blithe Marsh. See Blyth Marsh.
Blithfield, a township and a parish in Staffordshire. The

township lies on the river Blithe, 2 miles W by S of Abbots-

Bromley, 3^ N of Rugeley, and 4 ENE of Colwich station

on the L. & N.W.R. and North Staffordshire railway. Id

includes the hamlet of Admaston, at which there is a post
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office nnder Rngelev ; money order and telegi-aph office,

Abbots Bromley, the parish includes also the liberty of

Sewton. Acreage, 3219, population, 202. Blithfield Hall

is the seat of Lord Bagot, who is lord of the manor ; it stands

in an extensive park, and forms a large quadrangle with

a tower and pinnacles, and contains some interesting portraits.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield ; net valne,

.£320 with residence. Patron, Lord Bagot. The church is

ancient, and was restored in 1851 ; it contains an ancient

stone font and carved oak benches and chancel screen,

piscina and sedilia, some windows containing 14th century

glass, six bells, and monuments and brasses to the Bagot

ifamily. In the churchyai'd there is a cross, the base of

which is probably older than the church. There is a school

partly supported by an endowment.

Blockhouse Fort, a regular fortification, commanding

the entrance to Port.smouth harbom". It has bastions and

moat, is bombproof and casemated, and is armed with guns

of the largest calibre, pkaced level with the water.

Blockley, a village and a parish in Worcestershire. The
village stands in a south-eastern projection of the county,

on the Fosse Way and the river Evenlode, 3J miles NW of

Moreton-in-the-Marsh, .and has a station on the G.W.R.,

and a post, money order, and telegraph office (S.O.)

It is an ancient place, .ind had once a monastery, founded

before 855, and a palace of the Bishops of Worcester. The
parish includes also the hamlet and ecclesiastical parish

of Aston-Magna, the hamlets of Dome, Ditchford, Driiycott,

Northwick, and Paxford. Acreage, 789G
;

population of

the civil pai-isb, 2127; of the ecclesiastical, 1931. There

is an electric lighting and manufacturing company. Traces

of the Fosse Way exist, and many Roman coins and other

Roman relics have been found. Northwick Park is an ancient

seat, formerly of the Childes, and afterwards of the Rushont
family. Addison was a frequent visitor here. The living is

a vicai-age in the diocese of Worcester; gi-oss value, £602
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The church

is partly Norman, has a modern tower, and contains ancient

monuments and brasses to the Rushout family and others.

There are Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels. The
vicarage of Aston-Magna is a separate benefice.

Blodwell, a township in Llanyblodwell parish, S.alop, 5J
miles SSW of Oswestry. Blodwell Hall is the deserted sea^

of the Tanats, descendants of Einion, a prince of Powys.

Blofield, a village and a parish, and head of a union in

Norfolk. The village stands near the Norwich and Yar-
mouth section of the G.E.R. and the river Yare, 1 mile NE of

Brundall railway station, and 7 E of Norwich, has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Norwich, and is a

seat of petty sessions. The parish comprises 2321 acres;

population, 1151. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Norwich; net value, £til4 with residence. Patrons,

Gonville and Caius College, Cambridge. The church is a

building of flint and stone in 15th century Gothic style.

There are also Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels, and
some useful charities.

Blo-Norton or Norton-Belleau, a parish in Norfolk, at

the verge of the county on the river Wavenev, 6^ miles S by
E of Harling Road station on the G.E.R.,and 9^ ESE of

Thetford, which is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Garboldisham. Acreage, 1142; population, 2G2. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value,

.£150 with residence. The church is a building of flint and
stone in the Early English style. There is also a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Bloomfield, a village in Tipton parish, Staffordshire.

There is a goods station on the L. & N.W. R., and a Wes-
leyan chapel.

Bloomsbury or St George Bloomsbtiry, a parish in

Middlesex, about IJ mile WNW of St Paul's, London. It

was originally part of St Giles-in-the-Fields parish, and
was separately constituted in 1729. It includes Blooms-
bnry Square, Russell Square, Woburn Square, and part of

Torrington Square, together with intermediate and adjacent

streets. Part of it shows the architecture of the time of

Queen Anne, and much consists of houses which were
fashionable residences till about 1828. It contains the

British Museum, and the buildings or offices of several

metropolitan institutions. A sitting statue of Fox, 9 feet
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high, by Westmacott, is in Bloomsbury Square, and a statue

of the Duke of Bedford, also by Westmacott, is in Russell
Square. St George's Church, adjacent to New Oxford Street,

was built in 1731, at a cost of £9790, is in a mixed style of
Doric and Corinthian, and has a steeple, modelled after

Pliny's account of the tomb of JIausolus, crowned by a statue
of George II. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lon-
don

;
gross value, £500 with residence. Patron, the Lord

Chancellor. Christ Church, in Woburn Square, is a sepa-
rate benefice, with income of £400. S. Jenyns and T. Hook
were n.atives, and Richard Baxter, Sir H. Sloane, Dr Rad-
clifFe, Akenside, Romilly, Lawi'ence, Lord Mansfield, and
Lord Chancellor Loughborough were residents. See also

LOSDOS.
Blore and Hales, a township in Staffordshire, in the

Drayton-in-Hales or Tyi-ley quarter of JIarket-Dr.ayton parish,

3 miles E of Market-Drayton. An action was fought on
Blore Heath, in 1459, between the Lancastrians and the

Yorkists, and is commemorated on the spot by a cross.

Blore, a township and a parish in Staffordshire. The
township bears the name of Blore-with-Swinscoe, and lies

on the river Dove, 4 miles NW of Ashborne, which is the

post town. Acreage of the parish, 1886
;
population, 178

;

of the ecclesiastical parish (which is called Blore Ray and
includes Calton-in-Blore), 262. Blore Hall, formerly the

seat of the Basset family, is now a farmhouse. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £125 with
residence. The church d.ates from Norman times, as the
pillars of its old doorw,ay (now blocked up) clearly show.
Its oldest windows are Early English. It was partly pulled

down and restored in Tudor times. Since then its outward
structure has undergone no change. Inside is a 15th century
brass and other monuments to the Basset fiimily, also an
ancient screen, and a bit of old stained glass, pronounced to

be the most betiutiful in the diocese. The old oak in the
church is all cloven, not sawn. The church was repaired in

1846, .and again in 1877. In the parish of Blore and
Swinscoe there are no less than eight or nine " Lows," or

prehistoric burial mounds. There is a Primitive Jlethodist

chapel in the hamlet of Swinscoe.

Blorenge, a mountain at the head of the Avon Llwyd
v.alley, Monmouthshire, 2J miles SW of Abergavenny. It

consists of old red sandstone, capped by carboniferous lime-
stone and millstone grit, has an altitude of 1908 feet, and
figures grandly in the scenery of north-western Monmouth-
shire.

Blowick, a beautiful small bay in Ullswater, Westmore-
land, at the foot of Place Fell, about a mile N of Patterdale

Inn.

Blowick, a suburb of Southport, Lancashire, with a station

on the L. & Y.R.,and a post and money order office (T.S.O.)
under Southport, which is the telegraph office.

Blowty, a township in Llangadfau parish, Montgomery-
shire, tjj miles WNW of Llanfair.

Bloxham, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The
village stands 3 miles SW of Banbury, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Banbury, and a station on
the Banbury and Cheltenham Direct railway. Acreage of par-

ish, 3142
;
population, 1340. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Oxford ; net value, £165 with residence. Patron,

Eton College. The church is a fine edifice of mixed styles,

from Norman to Late English, has a very beautiful Decorated
spire, 195 feet high, was restored in 1866 .at great cost, and
contains monuments of the Griffiths and the Thorneycrofts.

There are a Wesleyan chapel built in 1868, a Baptist chapel,

a very large middle class school in the collegiate stvle, and
charities £280.

Bloxholme or Bloxham, a parish in Lincolnshire, 5 miles

N of Sleaford, .and 2 SW of Digby st.ation on the G.N.R. and
G.E.R. Post town, Don-ington under Lincoln; money order

and telegi-aph office, Rus Kington. Acreage, 1415
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 114; of the ecclesiastical, including

Digby, 458. The living is a rectory, united with the vicar-

age of Digby, in the diocese of Lincoln; joint gross yeai"lv

value, £450 with residence. The church is a building of

stone in the Early English and Perpendicular styles. Blox-

ham Hall is a chief residence.

Bloxwich, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in Staf-

fordshire. The village stands on the Wyrley and Essingtoa
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Canal, 2^ miles NXW of \Vals;ill, and has a station on the

L. tilo N.W.R., and a post office under Walsall. The principal

manufactures are awl-blades, bridle-bits, stirrups, saddlers'

needles, locks, &c. There are also flour and saw mills, col-

lieries, and iron works. There is a public room used for

lectures, &;c., and there are a free library and a cemetery,

a church working men's club, and two banks. The ecclesi-

astical parish was constituted iu 184*2. Population, 6721'.

The livinc^ is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net

value, £275 with residence. Patrons, the inhabitants. The
church was rebuilt in 1791, and enlarged in 1833 and 1877.

There ai'e also two mission churches, and Roman Catholic,

AVesleyan, and Primitive and United Methodist chapels. The
gi'ound in the centre of the village, which was formerly a

common, has now been transformed into a public park. The
ecclesiastical parish of Blakenall Heath includes the

hamlets of Blakenall Heath, Harden, Goscote, Little Blos-

wich, and portion of Bloxwich.

Bloxworth, a parish in Dorsetshire, 3 miles E of Bere-

Kegis, and 5 NW of "Wareham station on the L. & S.W.E.
It has a post office under Wareham ; money order and tele-

graph office, Bere-Eegis. Acreage, 2827; population, 260.

Of the surface of the parish, 1100 acres are heath, on which
is a Biitish or Danish camp called Woolbarrow. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £263
with residence. The church is very good ; the chancel was
restored in 1870, and the nave reseated and refitted in 1889.

Blubberhouses, a village and a township in Fewstou
parish, W. K. Yorkshire, 7 miles N by W of Otley, under

which there is a post office. Acreage of township, 3767 •

population, 82. Lord Walsingham is lord of the manor.

The Brandrith Crags, a range of immense rocks, one of which,

about 2-i tons in weight, is a rocking stone, are in the

neighbourhood. There is a chapel of ease, built in 1851.

Blue Anchor, a hamlet in Old Cleeve parish, Somerset-

shire, on Bridgewater Bay, 2 miles W of "Watchet, with a

fetation on the G.W.E., 180 miles from London. It occupies

a rising ground, with a brilliant prospect, and is a small

watering-place.

Blue Gill, a profound ravine on High Street mountain,

\yestraoreland, adjacent to the ascent of the highest summit
from Troutbeck, 7|- miles NNE of Windermere.

Blue John Mine, a chambered cave in the Mam Tor,

Derbyshire, about a mile \\T!^^W of Castleton. It is entered by

steeply descending stairs, and consists of a series of chambers,

of which the most noteworthy is one 60 feet wide and 150
feet high, called Lord JIulgrave's Dning-room, and further

in, another chamber, called the Crystallized Cavern, the most
beautiful of them all ; beyond this a profound gulf, over-

looked by a rail-guarded ledge, makes a magnificent display

of stalactites and crystals, and yields a vast quantity of

beautiful spar, much used for making oruaments. It is

visited under the direction of guides.

Blundeston, a parish in Suffolk, near the coast, 2^ miles

ENE of Somerleyton station on the G.E.R., and 3.^ NVV by

N of Lowestoft, under which it has a post and money order

office; telegraph office, Somerleyton. Acreage, 1583;
population of the civil parish, 741 ; of the ecclesiastical, in-

cluding Fliston, 838. The living is a rectory, united with

the rectory of Flixton, in the diocese of Norwich ; net yeaily

value, £S\8 with residence. The church is an ancient build-

ing of stone in the Early English style. There is aWesleyan

chapel.

Blunham, a village and a parish in Beds. The village

stands on the river Ivel, near the Cambridge and Bedford

line of the L. & N.W.R., on which it has a station, and 7

miles E of Bedford. It was once a market-town. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Sandy. Acreage

of parish, 1205 ;
population of the civil parish, 599; of tlie

ecclesiastical, 637. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Ely; net yearly value, £500 with residence. Patron, Earl

Cowper. The church is Norman, and good. There ai"e two

Baptist chapels. Blunham House, belonging to the Payue
family, is a chief residence.

Blunsdon-St-Andrew, a parish in Wilts, 3 miles SE of

Cricklade station on the M.R. and S.W.R. Post town,

Swindon; money order and telegi'aph office, Stratton St

Margaret. Acreage, 3784
;
population, 902. The tithing

of Blunsdon-St-Leonard (or ftroad Blunsdon) was united with
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Blunsdon-St-Andrew in 1884, and together form one civii

parish, under the name of Blunsdon-St-Andrev,', but are still

separate ecclesiastically. Population of St Andrew, 109 ; of

St Leonard, 793. The church of St Leonard is a hand-
some stone building in the Early English style; it was
restored in 1872. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £283 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. The church
of St Andrew is a small stone building in the Early English
style. The living is a rectory; net value, £177. There are

also Methodist, Baptist, and Wesleyan chapels. Blunsdon
Abbey is a seat in the neighbourhood.

Bluntisham-with-Earith, a village and a parish com -

prising the townships of Bluntisham and Earith in Hunting-
donshire. The village lies on the river Ouse, 4^ miles NE
from St Ives, and has a station at Earith Bridge on the
G.E.R., and a post, money order, and telegi-aph office under
St Ives, The parish comprises 3454 acres

;
population of

the civil parish, 1065; of the ecclesiastical, 1044. The
manor was given in 1015 to Ely Abbey, and now belongs tt>

the Dean and Chapter of Ely. The living is a rectory iu

the diocese of Ely
;
gross yearly value, £934 with residence,

in the gift of Christ Church, Oxford. The chturch is Early
English, terminates in the east in a half hexagon, and has
a screen, a piscina, and an octagonal font. There is a Baptist

chapel.

Blurton, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical parish

in Trentham parish, Staffiirdshire, adjacent to the Grand
Trunk Canal, 2 miles E of Trentham. Post town, Stoke-on-

Trent ; money order office, Dresden ; telegraph office. Long-
ton. A portion of the township, with part of Stone parish,

forms the ecclesiastical pai-ish of St Bartholomew Blurton,

the population of which is 438. The living is a vicarage iu

the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £350 with residence.

Patron, the Duke of Sutherland. The church is ancient,

and was restored in 1867. There is also a mission chapeL

Blyborough, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3^ miles S of

Kirton-in-Lindsey station on the M.S. & L,R., and 9 ENE
of Gainsborough. It has a post office under Kirton-in-

Lindsey (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph office ; money order

office, Willoughton. Acrnge, 2446
;
population, 213. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly

value, £360 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The church was rebuilt in 1877, and is a building of stone

in the Eai'ly English style. Blyborongh Hall is a chief

residence,

Blyford (formerly Bhjthford), a village and a parish in

Suffolk, on the river BIythe, 3 miles E by S of Halesworth

station on the G.E.R. Post town, Halesworth, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage of pai-ish, 874;
population, 163; of the ecclesiastical parish, 166. The
living is a donative rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net

value, £55. The church, which is an ancient building of

flmt, has two Norman doors and a Perpendiculai' English

tower, but is mainly Early English and Decorated English.

Blymhill, a village and a parish in Staffordshire, near

Watling Street, 6 miles NW by W of Brewood, 6 SE of

Newport station on the L. & N.W.R., and 6 ENE of Shifnal

station on the G.W.R., with a post office under Shifnal;

money order and telegraph office, Weston -under-Lizard.
The parish includes the hamlets of Brineton and Brockhurst»

Acreage, 3024
;
population, 532. The living is a rectoiy

in the diocese of Lichfield; gross value, £474 with residence.

Patron, Earl of Bradford. The chm-ch, which is dedicated

to St Mary, is ancient, and was repaired iu 1859 ; it con-

tains memorials to the Dickenson family.

Blyth, a village and a township in Notts. The village, on

a gentle ascent on the Ryton rivulet, 2i miles W by S of Ran-
skiU railway station and 7 NNE of Worksop, has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Rotherham. It was
formerly a market-town, and it still has fairs on Holy Thurs-

day and 20 Oct. Area of the township, 1347 acres; popula-

tion, 566 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 1728. The parish

also includes the lordship of Hodsock, and the townships of

Barnby-Moor-with-Bilby, Ranskill, and Torworth, and part

of Styrrup-with-Oldcoates. Blyth Hall, in Blyth township,

belonged formerly to the Jlellishes, and is "now the seat of

the Walkers. Seriby Hall, 2 miles N of Blyth village, is the

seat of Viscount Galway. The country around these seats,
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withont the parks as well as -within, is so rich and ornate

as to look like a garden. An hospital for a warden, three

chaplains, and a number of leprous persons, was founded at

Bljth-Spittal, to the S of Blyth village, by William de

Cressy, Lord of Hodesac, but has all disappeared. A Bene-

dictine priory was founded at BIyth village in 1088 by

Roger de Builly, and given at the dissolution to Richard

Andrews and William Ramsden, and a part of it, called the

conventual nave, still stands connected with the nave of the

parish church. The living is a vicarage, with Eanskill and

Barnby Moor, in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £18-1:

with residence. Patron, Trinity College, Cambridge. The

chui'ch is a noble edifice in successive characters from Nor-

man to Later English, has a very fine tower, and contains

an e&gy with armorial bearings of the Mellishes. It was

restored in 1885 at a cost of over £3000. There are also

a Wesleyan chapel, almshouses, and other charities.

Blyti-Bridge, a station on the North Staffordshire rail-

way, 3h miles \\SW of Cheadle.

Bljrthburgh, an ancient but decayed town and a parish

in Suffolk. The town stands on the river Blythe, 4^ miles

ESE of Halesworth, and it has a station on the Halesworth

and Southwold railway. It has a post office under Hales-

worth, which is the money order and telegraph office. It

was formerly a market-town of some note, but it suffered

severely from a tire and other events in the 17th centui-y,

and went into decay. A priory of Black Canons stood here
;

was given by Henry I. to St Osyth's Abbey in Essex ; and

passed at the dissolution to Sir Arthur Hoptou ; and some

trifling remains of its buildings still exist. The parish includes

also the hamlets of Hinton and Bulcamp. Acreage, 4325
;

population, 746. A battle between Anna, King of East Anglia,

and Penda, King of Jlercia, in which the former was slain, was
fought at Bulcamp in 654. The living is a vicarage, united

with Walberswick, in tlie diocese of Norwich
;

joint net

yearly valne, £140 with residence. The church is a tine

building of stone in the Perpendicular style, and has painted

windows, a font, and remains of ancient monuments. There

are a Primitive Methodist chapel and the Blything workhouse.

Blythe, The, a river of Warwiekslme. It rises near

Chadwick-End, and runs about 12 miles northward, past

Packington and Coleshill, to the Tame, li mile below Coles-

hill.

Blythe, The, Northumberland. See Blytii, The.
Blythe or Blithe, The, a river of Suffolk. It rises

near Wilby, and runs about 15 miles eastward, past Heven-

ingham, Walpole, Halesworth, and Blythburgh to the North

Sea at Southwold. It is navigable to Halesworth.

Blythe, Blyth, or Blithe, The, Staffordshii-e. See

Blithe.
Blythford. See Blyfoed.
Blyth Hall, the seat of the Dugdales, in Wai-wickshire,

OQ the river Blithe, 1 mile NE of Coleshill. Su- William

Dugdale (1605-86), the antiquai'y, historian, and author of

the " Antiquities of Warwickshire," was bom and died here.

Blyth Marsh or Blithe Marsh, a hamlet in Forsbrook

palish, Staffordshire, on the river Blyth, 3^ miles WSW of

Stoke Creadle. It is adjacent to Blyth-Bridge station on

the North Staffordshire railway, and has a post otffce of the

name of Blyth-Bridge under Stoke-upon-Trent ; telegraph

office at the railway station. Blyth House is a chief residence.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Blyth, North, a fishing village in Cambois township,

Bedlington parish, Northumberland, on the river Blyth, at

its mouth, opposite South Blyth.

Blyth, South, a seaport town, forming with the lordship

of Newsham and suburbs of Waterloo, Cowpcn Quay, and
Crofton, an ecclesiastical parish in Northumberland. The
town stands on the S side of the river Blyth, at its mouth,
and on the Blyth and Tyne railway, 288 miles from London.

It was formerly a disagreeable place, of poor appeai'ance,

with narrow, irregular streets ; but it has been much im-
proved, and it now contains many good houses. It has a

post, money order, and telegi-aph office, a railway station, two
banks, three churches (one Roman Catholic), two Presbyterian

chapels, a Congregational Free church, a Wesleyan chapel,

three other Methodist chapels, a Christians' mceting-honse,

erected in 1882, and a Mechanics' Institute. A weekly
market is held on Satuiday ; a large trade is carried on in
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coals, brought from neighbouring collieries and shipped here ;.

and there is much manufacturing industry in connection

with shipping. The harbour has undergone great improve-

ment in recent years at considerable cost, including docks^

a quay of 1400 feet, and a breakwater of about 3000 yards,

and is very safe, and can be entered by vessels in all weathers.

The depth of water over the bar at full tides was formerly

16 feet, and this has been increased. Two fixed lights, put
up in 1788, are 445 feet apai't, and 26 and 48 feet high.

The National Lifeboat Institution has a station here. Ai-ea

of the township, including Newsham, 1226 acres, with 188
of tidal water and foreshore; population, including Newsham,
3728 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 4553. The manor belongs

to the Ridley family. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Newcastle-on-Tyne ; net value, £200. Patron, Sir M. W.
Ridley, Bart. The Thomas Knight Memorial Hospital, opened

in 1887, has an endowment of £6000.
Blyth, The, a river of Northumberland. It rises 2 miles

E of Thockrington, and runs about 24 miles eastward, past

Bradford, Whalton, Kirkley, Staunington, and Bedlington, to

the North Sea at South Blyth.

Blyton, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire. The
village stands near the M.S. & L.R., 4J miles NE of Gains-

borough, and has a station on the railway, and a post office

under Gainsborough, which is the telegraph office ; money
order office, Morton. The parish includes also the hamlet of

Wharton. Acreage, 4705
;
population, 747. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln; net value, £312 with

residence. The church, an ancient building of stone in the

Early English style, was restored in 1S80. There ai'e

Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Boaidley. See Hetton-with-Boardley.
Boarhunt, a parish in Hants, on the N slope of Ports-

down Hill, 2 miles NE of Fai'eham station on the L. &
S.W.R. Post town Fareham, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 2635
;

population of the

civil parish, 333 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Southwick,.

927, North Boarhunt, 2 miles from the church inland, is

where the greater part of the population live, and carry on

the business of strawbeny growing, &c. Portsdown Hill

has an altitude of 447 feet, commands brilliant views, and
is crowned by an obelisk to the memory of Lord Nelson.

The living is a peculiar donative, with Southwick, in the

diocese of Winchester. The church is Transition Norman,
or possibly Saxon, but has been restored. Fort Nelson is

an extensive fort, and will hold very large and heavy gunsf
it forms one of the hill defences of Portsmouth harbour.

There is a small Wesleyan chapel.

Boarshurst. See Saddleworth.
Boarstall or Borstall, a village and a parish in the county

of Bucks, in Beniwood Forest, on the verge of the county,

7 miles NW of Thame station on the G.W.R. Post town,.

Brill, which is the money order and telegi'aph office. The parish

comprises 3078 acres; population, 188. The manor was ob-

tained from Edward the Confessor by the huntsman Nigel, for

service done in the forest, and is now the property of the

Aubrey family. Boarstall Tower, the old manor-house, played

a conspicuous part in the Civil War, and is now a picturesque

ruin. The living is annexed to the perpetual curacy of Brill,

in the diocese of Oxford; joint net yearly value, £187 with

residence. The church was rebuilt in 1818, and contains

monuments of the Aubreys.

Boat, Upper, a village in the Vale of Taff, Eglw7silan

parish, Glamorgan, 3 miles S of Pontypridd. It has au uon
foundry. There is a Calvinistic Methodist chapel.

Bobbersmill, a locality 1^ mile from Old Basford, Notts,

and 2 miles from Nottingham, which is the railway station,

with a post office under Nottingham ; money order and tele-

graph office. New Basford.

Bobbing, a pai-ish in Kent, IJ mile W by N of Milton,

and 2 miles NVV of Sittingboui'ne station on the L.C. &
D.R. Post town, Sittiugbourne. Acreage, 1068 ;

popula-

tion, 435. The manor belonged to the Savages, and after-

wards to the Chffords. Bobbing Court, the seat of the-

Savages, is now a ruin. Bobbing Street, about a mile NE of

the church, is on a branch of Watling Street. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury; net value, £106.

The church is ancient and good, has a tower and spire, and

contains a piscina and monuments of the Savages and the
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Tnftons. Titus Gates was vicar. On Klycol Hill are the

Sittiupbonme Water-works. The Sittingboui-ne and Milton

.Joint Hospital for infectious diseases was erected on Klycol

Hill at a cost of £.5000.

Bobbington, a parish in Staffordshire and S.alop, 3^

miles W of the river Stour, 5J NW of Kingswinford,

and 8 WNW of Stourbridge. It includes the hamlet of

Halfpenny Green, and has a post office under Stour-

bridge ; money order ofBce, Claverley, 2J miles distant

;

•telegraph office, Kinver, 6 miles distant. Acreage, 2680;

population of the civil parish, 367; of the ecclesiastical, 336.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ;
net

value, £98 with residence. The church is ancient, and was

restored in 1878. New schools were built in 1892, and the

endowment of a fomier school was merged into the general

fund. Leaton Hall, the seat of the lord of the manor, is

the chief residence.

Bobbingwortli or Boringer, a parish in Essex, 2i miles

NW of Ongar station on the G.E.R., and 6J SE of Hariow.

3t has a post office under Ongar, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1642; population, 313. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans
;
gross value,

£381. The church is a small building of brick in the

Decorated style. Blake Hall is a chief residence.

Bob's Nose or Hope Nose, a headland at the N side of

the entrance of Tor Bay, Devon, 4 miles N of BeiTy Head.

The Orestone, Loadstone, Thatcher, and Shag rocks, with

from 5 to 10 fathoms water round them, are near it.

Bockenfield, a township in Felton parish, Northumber-

!and. The railway station is at Acklington, SJ miles.

Acreage. 246(1 ;
population, 85. There is a sandstone quarry.

Bockhampton, a tithing in Lambourn parish, Berks, 1

mile E of the town of Lambourn.

Bockhampton, Higher and Lower, two villages in

Stinsf.jrd parisli, Dorset, 2 miles E of Dorchester. They

have a post oflice of the name of Bockhampton, under Dor-

chester, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Bocking, a village and a parish in Essex. The village

stands on tlie left bank of Blackwater river, and on a branch

of the G.E.R., adjacent to Braintrce; forms a suburb of that

town, consists chiefly of one long street, and is a seat of

petty sessions. A trade in baizes, called '-bockings," was

at one time prominent ; and a manufactme of crape and

matting is now carried on. The parish includes also High

Garrett, and Bocking-Church Street, 2 miles distant from

Braintree, with post, money order, and telegraph office

under that town. Acreage, 4613 of land with 26 of water;

population, 3526. Tlje living is a rectory in the diocese of

St Albans; gross value £1204, with residence. Patron,

the Archbishop of Canterbury. The church is a large build-

ing of flint and stone in the Perpendicular style; had

anciently three altars and five chantries, and contains some

monuments and two brasses. There are two Congregational

chapels and a Friends' Meeting House in Bocking, and a

Unitarian chapel at High Garrett.

Bockleton, a parish in Worcestershire and Herefordshire,

5 miles S of Tenbury, and 8 E by N of Leominster. It in-

cludes the hamlet of Hampton Charles. Post town, Tenbury,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage,

2765 ;
population of the civil parish, 238 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 319. Bockleton Court is the seat of the lord of the

manor. Bricks and drain-pipes are manufactured at Hampton

Charles. The hving is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford

;

gross value, £134 with residence. The church, which has

been restored, is partly Norman, partly of the Decorated

period; it has two Norman doorways, and a 16th century

altar tomb. There is a mortuary chapel which belongs to

the lord of the manor.

Boconnoc, a parish in Cornwall, on affluents of the river Ler-

lin, 4 miles from Lostwithiel station on the G.W. R. Post town,

Lostwithiel, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 2065
;
population of the civil parish, 314 ;

of the

ecclesiastical with Broadoak, 599. The manor belonged to

the Courten.ays, the Carmenowes, and the Mohuns, and w,as

purchased by Governor Pitt, the grandfather of the great Earl

of Chatham. The old mansion on it was the headquarters of

Prince Maurice, and for a short time the residence of Charles

1., who narrowly escaped being shot by an assassin on the

grounds. The present mansion was built by Governor Pitt,
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and improved by Lord Camelford. It was the birthplace of the

Earl of Chatham, is now the residence of the Foi-tescue family,

and contains a bust of Lord Chatham, some fine paintings by

Kneller, Lely, and Reynolds, and two ebony chairs made out

of Queen Elizabeth's cradle. Tlie grounds are tlie finest in

Cornwall, and contain an obelisk, 123 feet high, to the

memory of Sir Richard Lyttleton. Lead mines were formerly

worked, but were not productive. The living is a rectory,

united with the rectory of Broadoak, in the diocese of Truro;

net value, £209, with residence, in the gift of the Fortescue

family. The church contains some good memorial windows,

and was restored in 1873. There is a Wesleyan chapel and

one for Bible Christians.

Bod or Bode, a prefix to Welsh or ancient British names,

signifying an abode or dwelling.

Boddington, a parish in Gloucestershire, on the river

Chelt, 4 miles NW by W of Cheltenham. It includes the

hamlets of Barrow and Withey Bridge, and portion of that of

Hayden. Post-town, Cheltenham. Acreage, 1982; popu-

lation, 294. Boddington manor-house is a curious old mansion,

formerly moated, and was besieged during the Civil War. The

living is a chapelry, annexed to the vicarage of Staverton, in

the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol. The church is ancient,

and has a low western tower with a sun-dial ; it was restored

in 1876.

Boddington. Upper and Lower, are villages and parishes

in Northamptonshire. Upper Boddington is 2h miles E of

Byfield station on the E. & W. Junction railway, 3J from

Fenny Compton station on the G.W.R., and 10 N of Ban-

bury. Acreage, 1792; population, 275. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly value,

£320, with residence, in the gift of Emmanuel College, Cam-

bridge. The church is a building of stone in the Early English

style. There is a Wesleyan chapel. The Oxford Canal Com-

pany have a reservoir, which is situated partly in this parish and

partly in the parish of Byfield. Lower Boddington is 1 mile

to the south. There is a church mission-room and a small

Wesleyan chapel. Acreage, 1352; population, 212. Post

town for both villages, Byfield (R.S.O.), which is the money

order and telegraph office.

Bodedem, a village and a parish in the county of Anglesey.

The village stands 3 miles ENE of Valley station on the

L. & N.W.R., and 6i E by S of Holyhead; and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Valley (R.S.O.)

It takes its name from I'^dern or Edeyrn, a bard of the 7th

century, who resided at it. The parish comprises 4283

acres; population, 993. Presaddfed is an old mansion,

once the residence of Sir John Bulkeley. A well-preserved

cromlech is near this mansion. There is a woollen manufac-

tory. The living is a \-icarage in the diocese of Bangor
;
gross

value, £320 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Bangor.

The church is ancient, but has been rebuilt. There are Con-

giegational. Baptist, Calvinistic Methodist, and Wesleyan

chapels.

Bodelwyddan, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in

the civil parish of St Asaph, Flintshire, on the verge of the

county, 2J miles SW of Rhuddlan station on the L. & N.W.R.,

3 NW of St Asaph, and SJ SW of Rhyl, with a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office under Rhuddlan (R.S.O.)

The manor belonged at one time to the family of Humphries,

and was purchased from them in the time of Charles II.

by Speaker Sir William Williams. The present mansion,

Bodelwyddan Park, the seat of the Williams family, is a

beautiful castellated edifice amid tasteful grounds. The liv-

ing is a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value,

£700 with residence. The church was built in 1856-60,

by the Dowager Lady Willoughby de Broke as a memorial of

her husband; stands on a conspicuous site; is a richly

ornate structure in the Decorated style ; comprises a nave

of 66 feet, a chancel of 42j feet, an octagonal vestry, and a

tower and spire 202 feet high, and is said to have cost

£60,000. The interior is elaborately adorned with rich carv-

ing, marbles, and stained glass, and contains an exquisitely

carved oak pulpit, and a font of white Can-ara marble.

Bodenham, a village and a parish in Herefordshire. The

village stands near the river Lugg, 1 mile E of Dinmore sta-

tion on the Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (L. & N.W. &
G.W.) railway, and 6J SSE of Leominster, under which it

has a post, money order, and telegraph office ; and was
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once a market-town. Tliere are remains of a large cross

with a well in the village. The parish includes also the town-

ships of Bowlev, Bryan-JIaund, Whitchm'ch-Maund, and the

Jloor. Acreage, 5295 ;
population of the civil parish, 883

;

of the ecclesiastical, S7S. Broadtield Court, Bodcnham

JIanor, and Vennwood are the chief residences. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £440
with residence. The church is a fine cruciform Early English

and Decorated edifice, with a square tower. It was beauti-

fully restored in 1891. There is a school chapel at Slaand

Common, and a Wesleyan chapel at the Moor.

Bodenham, a village in Nunton parish, Wilts, 3 miles

6SE of Salisbury, under which it has a post-office ; money
order ofiice, East Hamhani ; telegraph ofiice, Alderbui7.

Bodewryd, a township and a chapelry in Anglesey, 3

miles SW of Amlwch, and 12i NE of Holyhead. Post-town,

Khosgoch, Anglesey. Acreage of the township, 464 ;
popu-

lation, 30; of the chapelry, including Rhosbeirio, 60. The
living is a vicar.age with Kirosbeirio in the diocese of Bangor;

ret value, £220 with residence. Patrons, Lord Stanley of

Alderley two turns, and Bishop of Bangor one turn. The
church has monuments of the Wynnes, and is small.

Bodfach, a township in Llanfyllin parish, Montgomery-
shire, on the river Cain, less than a mile NW of Llanfyllin.

Bodfach House is situated amid fine grounds, with a charm-
ing view.

Bodfaen. See Bodveas.
Bodfar, Bodfary. or Eodvari, a village in Flintshire,

and a parish partly in that county and partly in Denbighshire.

The village stands near the confluence of the rivers Clwyd
and Wheeler, 4 miles NE of Denbigh ; it has a station on

the L. & N.W.R. and a post-oftice under Trefnant (E.S.O.).

which is the money order and telegraph office, and is a good
fishing-station. It lies on the Roman road from Chester to

Caerhun, and has yielded numerous Roman coins, urns, and
other relics. An ancient camp, supposed to be British, and
called Moel-y-gaer, is on a neighbouring hill. The parish in-

cludes also the township of Aberwheeler. Acreage, 14D4;
population of the civil parish, 427 ; of the ecclesiastical, 818.

The scenery of vale and hill is fine. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value, £222 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Lland.afi'. The church stands on a rising

ground, and has a good tower and a carved oak pulpit.

There are Baptist, Wesley.an, and Calvinistic Methodist

chapels.

Bodferin or Bodvem, a parish in CarnaiTonshire, on the

coast, 4J miles N by W of Aberdaron, and 14 W by N of

Pwllheli. Post office, Llangwnadle, to which parish it is

joined for ecclesiastical purposes. Acreage, 531 ; population,

45. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bangor ; tithe

apportionment, £45. Patron, the Bishop of St Asaph. The
church has disappeared, but there are ruins of an ancient

chapel.

Bodffordd, a village in Hen Eglwys parish, Anglesey, IJ
mile SW of Llangwyllog station on the L. & X.W.R.', and

2J miles W by N of Llangefni, under which it has a post

office, and at which is the telegi-aph office ; raonev order

office. Llangwyllog. There are Congregational and Calvin-

istic Methodist chapels.

Bodham, a parish in Norfolk, 3 miles E of Holt station

on the Joint G.N. and 5I.R., and 6 W of Cromer. It has
a post office under Holt (R.S.O.), which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1720 ; population of

the civil parish, 260; of the ecclesiastical, 258. The liring

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross yearly value,

£283 with residence. The church is a building of stone
in the Later Engfish style, and there is a Free Jlethodist
vhapel

Bodiam or Bodiham, a village and a parish in Sussex.
The \illage stands on the river Eother, 3} miles ESE of

Hurst Green, and 5 from Etchingham station on the S.E.R.
It has a post office under Hawkhurst; money order and tele-

S^-aph office, Sandhurst (Kent). A fair is held annu.ally

on 6 June. The parish comprises 1604 acres; population,

310. The manor belonged to Sir Edward Dalryngmdge, who
fought at Crecy and Poitiers, and passed to the Lewknors
and others. A grand strong castle on it was built by
Dalryngmdge, and is now a pictm-esque ruin, ne.irly square,
with round towers at the angles, square towers in the middle
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of the sides, a great machicolatod gateway, .and remains of

ancient defences and approach. The living is a vicarage,

endowed with the rectorial tithes, in the diocese of Chichester
;

gross value, £427 with residence. The church is Early and
Decorated English.

Bodicote, a township and an ecclesiastical p.arish in the
ciril parish of Adderbuiy, Oxford, near the O.\ford Canal
and the Cherwell river, 2 miles S of B.anbnry, and 3 from
Bloxham station on the G.W.R., with a post, money order
and telegi-aph office under Banbury. Acreage of township,

1200, of which 11 are water; population, 716. Bodicote

House, Bodicott Grange, and Red House are the chief

residences. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford

;

net value, £270 with residence. Patron, New College,

Oxford. The chmxh is an ancient building of stone, and
there are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels. Rhubarb and hen-
bane for medicine are cultivated.

Bodington. See Boddixgton, Northampton.

Bodinnock, a hamlet in Lanteglos-by-Fowey parish,

Cornwall, 5^ miles SSE of Lostwitbiel.

Bodies, a hamlet in Bentley-with-Arksey parish, in the
\\'. 1!. Yurksbire, 2 miles N of Doncaster.

Bodle Street Green is an ecclesiastical parish in Sussex,

formed in 1855 ont of the civil parishes of Warbleton,

Hurstmonceaux, Wartling, and Dallington, 6 miles from

Hailsham station on the L.B. & S.C.R. It has a post office

under Hailsham (S.O.) ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Hurstmonceaux. Population, 684. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £188 with residence.

The church is a building of flint in the Gothic style.

Bodlyman, a township in Bettws-Abergele parish, Den-
bighshire, o miles SW of Abergele.

Bodlyn Lake, a lake 6 miles NNE of Barmouth, in

Merionethshire. Some cairns, standing-stones, and other

antiquities are near it.

Bodmin, a municipal borough and a market and union
town, the capital of Cornwall. It has a station on the

L. & S.W.R., 272 miles from London. There is also a
branch of the G.W.R. from Bodmin Road to Bodmin.
The town stands in a hollow between two hills near the

centre of the county. .\ hermitage of St Guron stood

here before the 6th century, and gave place about 518 to

a monastic cell founded by St Petroc. This is thought by
some, but erroneously, to h.ave become the first seat of the

bishopric of Cornwall ; it was occupied by old British or Bene-
dictine monks till 926, and gave place then to a Benedictine

priory, founded by King Athelstan. This was destroyed by

Danish pirates in 981, yet continued to he a centre of monks
till about 1120, and was then succeeded by an Angustinian

monastery, founded by one Algar ; and this passed at the

dissolution to Thomas Stemhold, one of the translators of

the Psalms. A Grey friaiy, founded by John of London,

a merchant, and augmented by Edmund, Earl of Cornwall,

was given at the dissolution to William Abbot, and p.assed

.about twenty ycai's after to the corporation. Part of the

refectory was afterwards used as the town hall. A lazar-

house was founded at an e;U'ly period in the north-western

vicinity ; refounded and incorporated by Queen Elizabeth, and
endowed with property yielding £140 a year, which came

to be transferred to the infirmary at Truro ; and some re-

mains of the building, including several pointed arches, were

not long ago standing. No fewer than thirteen churches or

free chapels were at one time in the town and its environs,

and one of these, an ivy-clad structure, called the Chapel of

St Thomas, still adjoins the chancel of the parish church,

while a tower which belonged to another, called the Chapel

of the Holy Cross, stands on a hill about i a mile to the N.

The town was so populous in 1351 as to lose 1500 persons

in that year by pestilence ; and it was one of the places which

had authority to stamp tin, but it lost that privilege in 1347.

It owed its consequence mainly to the nmnber and influence

of its ecclesiastics : and it sank suddenly at the Reforma-

tion into much decay ; but it revived during the last century,

was then made the seat of the assizes for the county, and

has since enjoyed some prosperity as a provincial metropohs.

Perkia Wai-beck commenced his rebellion here, preparatory

to his attack on Exeter ; the Cornish and Devonshire men
;>lso oommenced their insurrection here in the time of Ed-
w.aid VI. ; and Fairfax took the town.
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Bodmin consists chiefly of one long street, running E and

W, and a good view of it is got from Beacon-hill to the S.

The county-hall contains two handsome court-houses, grand

jury-room, indictment-room, and other ofKces. The mayor-

alty-house, with judges' lodging, was built in 1838. The

county jail was rebuilt in 1859, at a cost of £40,000, and has

capacity for 155 male and 42 female prisoners. The county

lunatic asylmu, as also the jail, stands in the outskirts of the

town. The market-house was opened in 1840, and is com-

modious. Handsome public rooms were erected in 1892.

The basement is used as a drill hall. The pai-ish church is

the largest in Cornwall, and measures 161 feet by 63. It

was, save the tower and part of the chancel, rebuilt in the

Perpendicular style in 1472 ; has a square tower, formerly

.sun-ounded by a lofty spire, which fell by lightning in 1699

;

and contains a Norman font, some curiously cai'ved old oak

seats, and a large sculptured monument of Thomas V\'vy.an,

a prior who died in 1633. The church was restored at in-

tervals from 1867 to 1886. There are chapels for Wesley.ans,

Bible Christians, and Lady Huntingdon's Conne.-iion. The

town has a head post office, a bank, a literary institution,

and two chief inns. The links of the Eoyal Cornw.all Golf

Club are situated on the racecourse, about 2 miles from the

town. Markets are held on Wednesday and Saturd.ay, and

fairs on 25 January, the Saturday before Palm Sunday, the

Tuesday before Whit-Sunday, 6 July, and 6 Dec. Scarlet's

Well is a fine spring or well about a mile west from the

town, remarkable for its purity aud abundance. The town

was incorporated by Edward III., and it sent two members

to parliament from the time of Edward I. till 1867, but was

reduced by the Act of that year to the right of sending

only one. Under the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, it

was disfranchised as a parliamentary borough, and merged

in the south-eastern division of the county. It is governed

by a mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors, and is the seat

of all the assizes and quarter sessions for the county and of

county courts. Bodmin has given the title of Viscouut to

the Roberts or Eobartes family. Barons P.oherts of Truro

and Earls of Eadnor, all which titles became extinct in 1764,

but in 1765 the new peerage of Earl Piadnor, and in 1869

that of Lord Robartes, were created. Ar'ea of municip.il

borough, 2797 acres; population, 5151. The civil parish

comprises 3417 acres
;
population, 328 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish (St Petroc), 6479.

Bodmin Priory, on the site of the ancient monastery, passed

from Thomas Sternhold to successively the Pescodes, the

Eashleighs, the Pcnningtons, and the Gilberts. A trigo-

nometrical station, 1 mile E of the town, is 645 feet high.

A monument to the late General Gilbert, 144 feet high, is on

the Beacon to the S. The living is a vicarage, with Nanstal-

lon, in the diocese of Truro ; net value, £250 with residence.

Bodmin Parliamentary Division of Cornwall was formed

under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and returns

one member to the House of Commons. Popul.ation, 52,288.

The division includes the following:—West Hundred

—

Boconnoc, Broadoak, Cardinham, Cleer (St), Duloe, Keyne

(St), Lanreath, Lansallos, Lanteglos-hy-Fowey, Liskeard

P.arish, Looe (East), Looe (West), Martin's (St), jlenheniot,

Moi-val, Keot (St), Pelynt, Pinnock (St), Talland, Veep (St),

Warleggan, Winnow (St); East South— Antony, Botus

Fleming, German's (St), John's (St), Landrake and St Emey,
Landulph, Maker, Rame, Saltash, Sheviouk, St Stephen's-

by-Saltash ; Powder Tywardreath (part of)—Fowey, Lan-

hydrock, Lanlivery, Lostwithiel, Luxulian, Stimpson's (St),

Tywardreath ; Trigg (part of)—Bodmin parish, Holland,

Lanivet; Liskeard, municipal borough; Bodmin, municipal

borough.

Bodmin-Koad, a station on the Cornwall railway, 26j
miles NE of Truro, and 27 W of Plymouth.

Bodney, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Wissey, 6 miles

W by S of Watton station on the G.E.E., and 7 S by E of

Swaffhani. Post town, Hilborongh (R.S.O.); money order

and telegraph office, Mundford. Acreage, 2621
;
population

of the civil parish, 82 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Great Cress-

ingham, 561. Bodney H.all was a retreat of French nuns

after the first French revolution. The living is a rectory,

annexed to the rectory of Great Cressingham, in the diocese

of Norwich; joint net yearly value, £361. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is an ancient building of flint
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and pebbles in the Early Engli.sh style, and there is a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel.

Bodnod, a township in Eglwys-fach parish, Denbighshire,

1 mile N of Tal-y-cafn station on the L. & N.W.R., and 4
S of Conway.

Bodorgan, a village in Llangadwaladr parish, Anglesey,

12 miles SE by E of Holyhead. It has a station on the

L. & N.W.E., and a post, money order, and telegraph office

(R.S.O.) Bodorgan Hall, the seat of the Meyrick family,

2J miles SSW of the station, is the chief residence.

Bodowen, an ancient seat of the Owens, near Bodorgan

House, 3 miles S of Bodorgan railw.ay station, in Anglesey.

Bodrhyddan, the ancient seat of the Conway family, IJ
mile E of Ehuddlan in Fhutshire. It contains a good col-

lection of ancient armour.

Bodvean, Boduan, or Bodfaen, a parish in Carnarvon-

shire, 2i miles SE of Ncvin, and 4 WNW of Pwllheli,

under which it has a post office ; money order and telegi-aph

office, Nevin. Acreage, 2755; population, 314. Bodvean

Hall is a seat of Lord Newborough. Bodvel H.all, which is

in the neighbom-hood, was the birthplace of Mrs Thrale, the

friend of Dr. Johnson. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Bangor; gross value, £137 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Bangor. The church is modern, and has monu-
ments of the Wynnes. There is a Calvinistic Jlethodist chapel.

Bodvern. See Bodferis.

Bodwrog, a piirish in the county of Anglesey, 3j miles

W by N of Llangefni, which is the post, money order, and

telegraph office. Acreage, 1835
;

population, 355. The

living is a vicarage, annexed to the vicarage of Llandrygarn,

in the diocese of Bangor. The church is good. There are

Jlethodist, Baptist, and Congi'cgational chapels.

Bodyham. See Bodiam.
Bodylltyn, a township in Euabon parish, Denbighshire,

5 J miles N of Chirk.

Bodyscallen, an .ancient seat of the Wynnes, now the

property of the Mostyns, in the north-eastern extremity of

Carnarvonshire, near the Conway river, 2i miles NNE of

Conw.ay, and 2i S of Llandudno.

Bognor, a small town, township, and chapelry in South

Bersted parish, Sussex. The town stands on the coast, and

has a station on the L.B. & S.C.R., 63 miles from London,

and 6^ SE by E of Chichester. It has a governing body

under a local Act ; a post, money order, and telegi'aph

office ; and a pier, constructed chiefly of iron on the

screw principle, 1000 feet long with a head 40 feet

across, opened in 1865. A promenade, paved with bricks

and nearly a mile in length, was completed in 1870 at a cost

of about £8000, and in 1886 further extensive sea defences

and additions to the esplanade were completed at the west

end, costing about £6500. The Victoria Drive, of more

than a mile in length, communicating with the sea and con-

necting Bognor with South Bersted, is planted with trees,

forming an extremely pleasant boulevard. The Church of

St John the Baptist is a building of flint with red brick

facings, erected in 1882. The old church, with the ex-

ception of the tower, was pulled down in 1893. The liv-

ing is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester; net value,

£87 with residence, in the gift of the Archbishop of Can-

terbury. The priory, with the adjoining Roman Catholic

church, was built in 1881, and contains some fine sculptures.

The town was changed from an obscure hamlet to a fashion-

able watering-place, between 1786 and 1799, by Sir Richard

Hoth.am, at a cost of £60,000, and took for a time the

name of Hothamston. It was frequented by Queen Char-

lotte and her children in the time of George III., and it

then possessed a sort of exclusive character, but it afterwards

became dependent on general public patronage. It com-

prises rows of brick houses, two squares open on one side to

the sea, a crescent, a teirace, and several detached mansions;

it possesses good lodging-houses, several hotels, and excellent

bathing conveniences ; and it has Congregational and Wes-

leyan chapels, a reading-room, a circulating library, several

excellent private schools, and a people's institute. The

assembly-rooms at West Bognor were built in 1886; they

will hold 800 people. There are several convalescent

homes. A two-days' pleasure fair is held on 5 and 6 July.

The surrounding country is il.at, and the Bognor rocks,

famed by geologists, and at one time forming a line
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of low cliffs along the coast, are now visible onlr at low

water. Area of the urban sanitary district, which includes

part of South Bersted, 623 acres
;
population of the town-

ship, 4104 ; of the chapelry, 3171.

Bogthom, a hamlet in Keighley parish, W. K. Yorkshire.

Keighley railway station is distant 1 mile.

Bokerley-Ditoh, an ancient British earthwork in the S

of Wilts, extending from Cranbonme chase across Grims-

Ditch to Tippet. It is thought to have been a territorial

bound.ary of the BelgK. Many relics have been found, and

ni.any barrows still occur around it.

Bolam, a township and a chapelry in Gainford parish,

l^m-ham, 5^ miles S of Bishop Auckland, and from Dar-

lington. It has a post and money order office under Heigh-

ington (R.S.O.); telegraph office, Gainford. Acreage, 1013
;

population of the township, 134 ; of the chapelry, 169. The
latter was constituted in 1867. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Durham ; net value, £129, in the gift

of Trinity College, C.'\mbridge. There is also a Wesleyan

chapel. Lord Barnard is lord of the manor.

Bolam, a township .and a pai'ish in Northumberland. The
township lies between the rivers Blyth and Wansbeck, near

the Devil's causeway, a branch of Watlmg Street, on the

Morpeth and Hexham railway, near Angerton station, and
8 miles WSW of Morpeth. Acreage of township, 1119;
population, 08 ;

population of cidl and ecclesiastical parish,

585. The parish includes also the townships of Bolam
Vicarage, Trewick, Gallow Hill, Shortflatt, Haniham, Brad-

ford, and Belsay, the last of which has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Xewcastle-on-Tj-ne. Bolam
Manor belonged anciently to the De Bolams, passed to the

Horsleys, and went from them to Lord Decies, who is lord

of the manor. Haraham 5Ianor belonged in the time of

Charles II. to Colonel Philip Babbington, governor of Ber-

wick. Belsay Hall is the seat of the Middletons, and the

ruins of the interesting ancient castle are still to be seen in

the park suiTonnding it. A stone coffin was fonnd in a tumu-
lus on Bolam Jloor. Coal and limestone occur. The living

is a vicai-age in the diocese of Newcastle; net value, £215.
Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is ancient, in good

condition, and contains the effigy of a Knight Templdr, sup-

posed to be Sir Walter de Bolam, and a tomb of the

Middletons.

Bolam Vicarage, a township in Bolam parish, Northirm-

berland. Acreage, 139
;
population, 13.

Bolas Magna or Great Bolas, a villace and a p.arish in

Salop. The village lies on the river Teni,"2i miles NNE of

Cmdgington station on the G.W.E., and CJ WXW of New-
port, and has a post office of the name of Great Bolas, under
Wellington ; money order office. High Ercall ; telegraph office,

Crudgington railway st.ation. The parish includes also the

township of Meeson. Acreage, 1897
; population, 269. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value,

£245 with residence. The church is a red brick Perpen-
dicular edifice, except the chancel, which is of stone and much
older, with a lofty tower, and is remarkable for a romance in

real life, the marriage of a late Earl of Exeter under an
assumed name to Sarah Hoggins, a village maiden.

Bolas Parva or Little Bolas, a township in Hodnet
parish, Salop, 7^ miles NW of Newport,

Bolbury. S'ee Bolteuey.
Bold, a township in the chapelry of Famworth and the

parish of Prescot, Lancashire, with a station called Fam-
worth and Bold on the L. & N.W.R. It includes the hamlets
of Maypole and Bold-Heath. Acreage, 4483; population,

947. Wanington is the post town. The family of Bold,

now represented by that of Bold-Hoghton, were seated here

from the Conquest till 1761; and they give name to Bold
Street in Liverpool. The ancient mansion is now a farm-
house, and the modern one is Bold Hall. Bishop Barnes,
who died in 1588, was a native.

Bold or Bould, a hamlet in Aston-Botterell parish, Salop,

6i miles N\V of Cleobury-Mortimer.

Boldmere, an ecclesiastical parish in Sutton-Coldfield
parish, Warwickshire, near Sutton-Coldfield. It was con-
stituted in 1858, and its post town is Erdington, under
Birmingham. Population, 2592. The living is a vicarjige

in the diocese of Worcester; gross value, £110 with resi-

dence. The church was erected in 1857.
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Boldon, two villages and townships forming a parish in

Durham. The villages .are West and East Boldon, about a
mile from each other, and 4J miles NW of Sunderland.
There is a post and money order office at both places (E.S.O.);

telegiaph office. West Boldon. Acreage of parish, 4215;
population of the civil parish, 4890 ; of tlie ecclesiastical,

1926. There is a station on the N.E.R. for goods only at

West Boldon, and a passenger station at East Boldon, called

Cleadon Lane. The manor belonged from time immemo-
ri.al to the See of Durham, and gave n.ame to the "Boldon
Buke," an .ancient survey of the diocese, of which four

copies only still exist. The Ecclesiastical Commissioners
ai'e now lords of the manor. There is an extensive col-

liery. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Durham

;

net value, £480 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Durham. The parish church is Early English, and has
sever.al memorial windows. There are two chapels and some
small chaiities.

Boldre, a village and parish in Hants. The village stands

on the Lymington river, 2^ miles N of Lymington station

on the L. & S.W.R. It h.as a post office under Lymington;
money order .and telegi'aph office, Beaulieu. The parish in-

cludes also the tithings of Battramsley, Pilley, and War-
bonie. Acreage, 12,022 of land and 1233 of foreshore and
water

;
population of the civil p.arish, 2251 ; of the ecclesias-

tical (St John), 1141; East Boldi-e (St Paul), 606. Fully

one-half of the surface, comprising 180 acres in Wilberley

Walk, 655 in Rhinefield Walk, 1580 in Whitley Ridge
W.alk, and 3680 in Lady Cross Walk, is in the New Forest.

Boldi'ewood House is now used as a keeper's cottage. Many
parts contain fine scenery, and some spots command extensive

brilliant views. The living is a disch.arged vicarage in the

diocese of Winchester
;
gi-oss value, £301 with residence. The

church stands on a hillock, embowered .among trees, about a
mile from the village, is Early English, much altered by re-

storations, has a singuloi'ly-placed tower, contains a well-

preserved piscina, a monumental bust of Kemp, who repre-

sented Lymington in the time of Charles I., and the remains
and monument of the Rev. Wm. Gilpin, author of " Forest

Scenery," and was the m.arriage-place of Southey to his

second wife, Caroline Bowles. East Boldre, a vicarage and
a separate benefice, was constituted in 1839, and is in the
patron.age of the Bishop of Winchester, with net income of

£93 with residence. The chapelries of Sway and B.addes-

ley also are separate benefices. There is a Baptist chapel,

Gilpin was vicar during thirty years, and died in 1804.

Boldron, a village and a township in St.artforth parish,

N. E. Yorkshire, 2 miles from Baiiiard Castle, which is the

railway station and post and telegraph office, with a church

mission room and Primitive Methodist chapel Acreage of

township, 1238; population, 136.

Bole, a parish in the county of Nottingham, on the river

Trent, and 2 miles SW of Gainsborough, under which it has

a post office ; money order and telegr.aph office, Sturton-le-

Street, which is the station on the M.S. & L.E. Acreage, 1218:
population of the civil parish, 177 ; of the ecclesiastical,

including Saundby, 303. Lord Middleton is lord of the

manor. The living is a vicarage held with the rectory of

Saundby, in the diocese of Southwell ; net v.alue, £336 T\nth

residence. Patrons, the Bishops of M.anchester .and Lincoln

alternately. The church is old. There is a Wesleyan chapel

Bolebrook, an ancient seat of the Sackvilles, in Hart-

field pai-ish, Sussex, 4j miles E of East Grinstead. It was-

built of brick in the 15th century, but is now a small ruin.

It passed for a time to Lord G. Germaiue, and gave him the

title of Baron.

Bolehall and Glascote, a township in Tamworth parish,

Warwickshire. Bolehall is a hamlet adjoining Tamworth,
.and Glascote is a village about 2 miles SSE. The town-

ship includes the village of Kettlebrook. Acreage, 1281

;

population, 2888. See Glascote.

Eoley Hill. See Rochester.
Bolingbroke, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire.

The village stands 3J miles W by S of Spilsby station

on the G.N.R., and 7^ SE of Homcastle, and has a post

and money order office under Spilsby ; telegi'aph office, East

Kirkby. It gives the title of Viscount to the family of

St John. Acreage of the parish, 1031
;
population of civil

parish, 397; of ecclesiastical, including Hareby, 444. A
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castle was built here by William do Eomara, Earl of Lin-

coln, was enlarged in tbe time of Queen Elizabeth, and was

the focus of several stmggles in the civil wars of Cl)arles I.,

but was dismantled bj the Parliamentarians, and only a few

fragments of it remain. Hemry IV. was born in this castle,

and hence was called Heniy of Bolingbroke. The living is a

arectory, united with the rectory of Hareby, in the diocese of

Lincoln
;

joint net yearly value, .£330 with residence. The

church, an ancient building in the E.-u-ly English style, was

beautifully restored in 1889 at a cost of £3000. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Bolingbroke, New, an ecclesiastical parish and village,

fomic'd in 1858 from the civil parishes of Canington,

Kevesby, and West Fen, in Lincolnsliu-e. The village is 8

miles NE from Dogdyke station on the G.N.R., .and U N
from Boston, under which it has a post and money order office

;

telegraph office, Mareham-le-Fen. Population of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 454. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Lincoln ; net yeaily v.ilue, £270 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Lincoln. The church, a building of brick with

stone facings, was erected in 1853. There is a Wesleyau

chapel. A pleasure fair is held on 10 and 11 July.

BoUait, a farm in St Buryan piirish, Cornwall, 4^ miles

SW of Penzance. Tradition alleges it to have been the

battlefield of Athelst.an's final victory over the Britons in

y36. Two standing stones are on it, cahed the Pipers, 12

and 16 feet high, about a furlong apart, and may possibly be

memorials of the fight. A stone circle, called the Merry

llaidens, also is ne.ar.

BoUin-Fee, a township in Wilmslow parish, Cheshire,

on the BoUin rivt-r. ^ a mile NW of Wilmslow, and 6 miles

SW of Stockport. Acreage, 2747
;
population, 3137. The

inhabitants are chiefly employed in the silk and cotton

manufactui'e. There is a New Connesion Methodist chapel.

BoUin, The, a river of Cheshire. It rises near Maccles-

field, and runs .about 20 miles north-westward, past Wilms-

low, Morley, and Hale, to the Mersey, about a mile below

Warburton.

BoUingtOJl, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical

parish in Cheshire. The township lies on the Bridgewater

.Can.al, near the river Bollin, 3 miles SW of Altrincham,

under which it has a post office ; money order and telegi'aph

office, Bowdon. Aca-eage, 647
;
population of the township,

223; of the ecclesiastical p.arish, 395. The ecclesiastical

parish was constituted in 1869, and includes the townships

of Agden and Mollington. Thfe living is a vicar.age in the

diocese of Chester; gross value, £270 with residence.

Patron, the Vicar of Eostheme. The chui'ch was built in

1854.

Bollington, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Prestbury parish, Cheshire. The township lies near the

river Bollin and the Macclesfield Canal, 3 miles N by E of

Macclesfield, under which it has a post, money order, and
telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1291; population, 5335. The
inh.abitants are employed chiefly in quarries, collieries,

and silk and cotton factories. The ecclesiastical parish was
constituted in 1842. The living is a perpetual curacy in the

diocese of Chester ; value, £300 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Prestbury. The church was built in 1834, at a cost

of £4000, and is in the Early English style. There are

Koman Cathohc, Congregational, Wesleyan, Primitive and
New Connexion Methodist chapels.

Bollam, a hamlet in Clarborough parish, Notts, 1 mile N
of East Retford, which is the post, money order, and tele-

graph office, and railway station. It forms part of the muni-
cipal borough of East Retford.

Bolney, a hamlet in Harpsden parish, Oxford, 2 miles S
of Henley. It is said to have been formerly a parish.

Bolney Court, on the b.anks of the Thames, is a chief resi-

dence.

Bolney, a village and a parish in Sussex. The village

stands 3^ miles SW by W of Cuckfield, and 6 W of Hay-
wards-Heath station on the L.B. & S.C.R. The parish

.comprises 3557 acres; population, 829. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Haywards-Heath.
The northern portion is covered with wood, .and lies within

•St Leonard's Forest. Bolney Common is famed for cheny
trees, and commands noble views. Bolney Place, Cohvoo'd

House, Wykehurst, and Bolney Lodge .are chief residences.
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The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester; net

v.alue, £290 with residence. Patron, the Bishop. The

church has been restored and enlarged. There is a small

mission chapel at Colwood, and a Baptist chapel.

Bolnhurst, a parish in the county of Bedford, 7 miles W
of St Neots station on the G.N.R., .and 6j NNE of Bedford.

It has a post office under St Neots ; money order and tele-

graph office, Great Staughton. Acreage, 2334
;
population

of the civil parish, 233 ; of the ecclesiastical, 223. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely ;
gross value, £182

with residence. The cbm-ch is a bnilding of stone in the

Early Decorated and Perpendicular styles. It was restored

in 1884. The dedication of the chnrch (St Dunstan) is the

only dedication of the kind in the diocese. There is a good

rood screen and a wall-painting of St Christopher, and monu-

ments to the Franklin and HaiTey families. There are some

small charities.

Bolsover, a small town, a township, and a parish in

Derbyshire, with a station on a branch of the M.R. The
town occupies the summit of a steep hill, 6 miles E of

Chesterfield, 8 from Mansfield, and 4 from Langwith. It

is rapidly growing, and bids fair to become soon a very

populous place by the development of the coal industry.

The East to West railway runs close to the town, which

commands a splendid view, and retains traces of fortifi-

cations which once sniTounded it. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Chesterfield, formerly had

a m.arket, and once carried on a famous manufacture

of steel buckles and spurs, subsequently engaging in the

making of tobacco-pipes and fire-bricks. The parish in-

cludes also the hamlets of Whaley Thorns, Whaley, Ox-
croft, Stanfree, Shuttlewood, Woodhouse, .and the to^vnship

o,f Glapwell. Acreage, 4955; population of the civil parish,

3662; of the ecclesiastical, 3748. The manor belonged at

the Conquest to Peveril of the Peak, passed to the Earl of

Morton, .afterwards King John, went in the time of Henry

III. to the Earl of Chester, and afterwards to Lord Aber-

gavenny; was resumed, in 1243, by the Crown, passed to

Roger Lovetot, the Pipards, the Sturys, the Earl of Rich-

mond, and the Duke of Norfolk; reverted again to the

Crown; went in the time of Edward VI. to Sir John Byron,

and afterwards to Lord Talbot and Sir Charles Cavendish

;

descended from the last to the Dukes of Newcastle, and
passed from them by marriage to the Dukes of Portland.

A Norman keep was built on it by the Peverils, and was of

military importance in the troubles of the time of King John.

A palatial castle superseded this under Sir Charles Cavendish,

the founder of the ducal house of Newcastle ; w,as besieged

and partly demolished in 1644 during the Civil War ; under-

went partial reconstruction after the Restoration, was un-

roofed about the middle of last century, and is now a
picturesque ruin. The Eai^I of Newcastle three times enter-

tained Charles I. and his Court here, and on one of these

occasions, which was assisted by the genius of Ben Jonson,

spent about £15,000. The riding-house is still in good
order, and the Tudor restoration of the Norman keep was
till lately used as the parsonage. A yellow magnesian lime-

stone is quarried in the parish. The living is a vicar.age in

the diocese of Southwell; gi-oss value, £120 with residence.

Patron, the Duke of Portland. The chm-ch is Norman, with

later additions in different styles, and contains splendid

monuments of the Dukes of Newcastle and Portland, and a

number of other monuments. It w.as thoroughly restored

in 1877. There are Congregational, Primitive Methodist,

and Wesleyan chapels, and charities of over £100 yearly.

Bolsterstone, a village and ecclesiastical parish in the

W. K. Yorkshire, on the river Don, 2 miles SW of Deepcar rail-

way station, and 8 NW by N of Sheffield, under which there

is a post office ; money order and telegraph office, Deepcar.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish (including Deepcar

and Stocksbridge), 4660. There are collieries, coke-works,

and extensive brick and tile works at Stockbridge, Deepcar,

and Bracken Moor. Bolsterstone Hill is 978 feet high. The
living is a vicai'age united with Deepcar and Stocksbridge, in

the diocese of York; net value, £225 with residence. Patron,

the lord of the manor. The parish church at Bolsterstone

was rebuilt on the site of a former church, and reopened in

1879. There are also churches at Deepcar and Stocksbridge.

There are reading-rooms.
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Bolstone. See Boulstone.

Boltbury, a hamlet in Jlalborouf^h parisb, Devonshire, on

the coast, between Bolt-tail and Sawmill Cove. Boltbury

Down here falls precipitously to the sea ; and a chasm at

the highest part of its sea-cliff bears the name of Ealph's

Hole, and was long the retreat of a noted smuggler.

Boltby, a township in Feliskirk parish, N. R. Yorkshire,

5 miles KE of Thirsk, which is the railway station. It has a

post office under Thirsk, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 4570
;
population, 250, There is a

chapel of ease, and a Wesleyan chapel.

Bolt-Head and Bolt-Tail, two headlands on the coast of

Devon ; the former at the W side of the mouth of Salcombe

haven, the latter 4^ miles NW by W of this, and 3 SS£ of

the mouth of the river Avon. Bolt-Head is 430 feet high,

wild, desolate, and torn with fissures and caverns. Bolt-Tail

is pierced at the shore by Ramillias Cove, which is named

from the wrecking of the Ramillias frigate at it in 1760.

See BoLTEURT.
Bolton, an agricultural parish in Cumberland with an

area of 8456 acres and a population of 936. There are two

small villages in the parish, 2| miles apart, called respectively

Bolton Gate and Bolton Low Houses. At the former there

is a post office, and at Mealsgate, 2 miles off, a money order

and telegraph office. There is a small coalpit on the western

boundary of the parish, unconnected with the railway, which is

worked for local supply. The railway station at Mealsgate,

on the Maryport and Carlisle line, is about 2 miles distant

from both villages. The river Ellen forms the southern

boundary of the parish, which is divided into two townships,

Bolton High and Bolton Low. The Uving is a rectory in the

diocese of Carlisle; net value, £304 with residence. Patron,

the Earl of Lonsdale. The church is ancient, in excellent

condition and tmique. There is a Wesleyan chapel at Bolton

Low Houses, and a mission and reading-room in connection

with the parish church. George Moore the philanthropist

was boni in this parish.

Bolton, a township in Edlingham parish, Northumberland,

on the river Aln, about bh miles from Alnwick. The rail-

way station is at Glanton, 1^ mile distant. Post town,

Alnwick ; money order and telegraph office, Glanton.

Acreage, 2060
;
population, 119. The Earl of Surrey mus-

tered his forces here before the battle of Flodden. An hos-

pital for lepers was founded here about 1225, by Robert

de Roos, and became the property of the Collingwoods.

Some remains of antiquity have been found. The church

is a chapel of ease, under EdJingham.

Bolton, a township and a chapelry in Morland parish,

Westmoreland, on the river Eden, and on the Eden Valley

railway, near Kirkby-Thore railway station, and 4 miles

NNW of Appleby. The chapelry includes Bewley-Castle, at

line time a residence of the Bishops of Carlisle, and has a

post office under Penrith ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Ivirkby-Thore. Acreage of township, 2791; population,

345. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle

;

net value, £228 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Mor-
land. The church is good and very ancient, being Late

Norman, and there is a Methodist chapel.

Bolton, a township in Bishop-Wilton parish, E. R. York-
shire, 3 miles NW of Pocklington, and 1^ mile from Fang-
foss station on a branch of the N.E.R. Acreage, 940

;
popu-

lation, 118. There is a Wesleyan chapeL Bolton Hall is

the seat of the Bardwell family, who ai'e lords of the manor.

Bolton, a township in Calverley parish, W. R. Yorkshire,

Ij mile N of Bradford, with which it was incorporated in

1873, and of which it now forms a ward called the Bolton
ward. Population of ward, 8425; of ecclesiastical parish,

3161, There is a fine church built in the Early English style,

with a tower containing 8 bells. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Ripon
;
gross value, £350. There is also a

Wesleyan chapel. The inhabitants are chiefly employed in

the woollen factories and stone quarries.

Bolton or Bolton-le-Moors, as it was formerly called, a
large manufacturing town in South Lancashire, is now a
county borough, and is represented in Parliament by two
members. The parish of Bolton is veiy extensive and con-
t^ns the following townships :—Anglezarke, Breightmet,
Tong-with-Haulgh, Edgworth, Entwisle, Longworth, Quarl-
ton, Kivington Lostock, Darcy Lever, Sharpies, and the

BOLTON

chapelries of Blacki-od, Bradshaw, Harwood, Little Lever,

and Turton. The townships of Great and Little Bolton ^

which were formerly under separate jurisdiction, were
amalgamated on the incorporation of the borough in 1833.
It stands on the rivulet Croal, one of the tributaries of the
river Irwell, and is 11 miles NW of JIanchester. There i»

canal communication between here and Manchester and Bury,
The L. & Y., L. & N.W., and M.R. companies have hnes or

running powers in every direction, north, south, east, and
west. The principal industries of the town are fine cotton

spinning and fancy manufacturing, bleaching, engineering,

and machine making, many of the establishments being not

only very extensive, but also of world-wide renown.

The town now contains seventeen churches— the parish

church (St Peter's), rebuilt by the late Peter Ormrod, Esq.,

at a cost of over £60,000, and consecrated in 1871 ; ,AU
Saints' Church, originally known as the Chapel-in-the-

Fields (1726, rebuilt 1871), St George's (1796), Holy Trinity

(1827), Emmanuel (1838), Christ Church (1844), St Ste-

phen's and All Martyrs' (1845), St John's (1849), St Paul's

(1SG3), St Mark's (1871), St James' (1871), St Luke'a

(1874), St Matthew's (1876), St Bartholomew's (1879)s
All Souls' (1881), St George the Martyr's (1880), and the

Church of the Saviour (1885)—and there are several others

just outside the present boimdaries of the borough. There
are also 15 Wesleyan Methodist chapels, 6 Congregational

chapels, 5 Roman Catholic, 1 Presbyterian (St Andrew's), tJ

Baptist, 2 Independent, 2 Unitarian, 1 New Jerusalem, and
several Primitive Methodist chapels, Friends' Meeting
House, Catholic Apostohc Church, and mission halls of lesa

pretentious character.

The Grammar School, was first endowed byWilliam Haigh in

1524. A new school was built and endowed by Robert Lever,

1641. This buildingwas pulled down, and a new school erected

in 1883 at a cost of £2500. Ainsworth, the noted lexico-

grapher, was a scholar, and probably a tutor in the school,

and the noted Dr Lempriere was the master at the latter

end of the 18th century. The Church of Englaud Educa-
tional Institution was built and opened in 1855, and there

are now IS Board schools and 26 denominational schools,

with a total on then* registers of 24,174. The Mechanics'

Institute has recently been converted into a technical

school by the Corporation, and great results are anticipated

of its usefulness. There is a lai'ge Public Free Library in the

Town Hall Square (converted out of the Exchange, which
was erected in 1825), and four branch lending libraries and
reading-rooms— the total number of volumes being over

78,000 in all the departments.

The Town Hall (of classic design), built at a total cost of

£166,418, erected on the old Market Square, was opened

by the Prince of Wales in 1873. The Market Hall (one of

the finest in the kingdom) was built and opened in 1855 ;

the cost, together with the approaches, being at Itast

£80,000. A new Infirmary, at a cost of £40,000, was opened

in 1883, and contains 100 beds. The Chadwick Orphanage,

the Eden Orphanage, Blair's Hospital, savings bank, post

office, county court, Bradford estate offices, Conservative

club, and several banks, all add to the prospective view of

the town. There is also a very commodious and cumfortable

theatre, which is largely patronised.

In the year 1860 a public park, which had been purchased

and laid out at a total cost of £89,000, was opened by the

Earl of Bradford ; the Heywood Recreation Grounds was
opened at the same time, and in 1869 the Darbyshire Recrea-

tion Ground was opened, given by the donors whose names
they bear. The last bequest was made in 1888, of Mere
Hall and adjoining estate, by J. P. Thomasson, Esq. ; this

also has been laid out by the Corporation as a park, swim-
ming baths, bowling gi'een, and gymnasiums, and the build-

ing converted into an art museum and public library. In

the public park a natural history museum has been erected

out of the bequest of the late Dr Chadwick, whose name it

also bears, at a cost of over £5000.
The total area of the borough is 2357 acres. The follow-

ing census figm'es show the progress of the town during the

last century:—(1801) 17.416; (1821) 31,295; (1841)
49,747; (1861) 70,395; (1881) 105,414; (18ltl) 115,002.

The government of the town was originally vested in the

lords of the manor and their court-leets, but in the year
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1792 the first Act of Parliament was obtained for tlie im-

provement and management of the two increasing townsliips

of Great and Little Bolton, and trustees appointed to carry

out the provisions of the Act. These bodies were superseded

when the town was made a municipal borough by the

Boroughs Incorporation Act in 1838, and the two townships

are now merged into one, and governed by a council or cor-

poration of C4 members, 16 being aldermen and 48

councillors.

The town is very well supplied with good water collected

from the moorland on the northern limits of the parish.

The water-works were originally a private company, but

were bought up by the corporation, and greatly extended, at

a total cost of nearly £800,000, so that now the supply is

sufficient not only for their own use, but all the surrounding

district over an area of 56,620 acres, and supplies at least

234,000 iiihabitants with a sufficiency, and plenty to spare

for compensation. The total storage capacity is at least

961,500,000 gallons, and the works are well provided with

filtering beds on the newest principle. The profits of the

sale of the water are utilised for the reducing of the rates of

the borougli.

The sewage works have also been constructed with the

latest improvements, and the general refuse is destroyed or

converted into saleable manure. These works are about to

be greatly extended by additional "destructors" in another

part of the town.

The gas works, which were also originally a private concern,

have been taken over by the town, and " mains '' laid to pro-

vide lighting power over 32,000 acres of the outlying town-

ships at a total cost of about £400,000, and powers have also

been obtained to provide electric lightmg to the borough.

For local traffic about 12 miles of tram lines have been

laid for some years, and have proved a great boon to the

residents of the outlying townships.

There are two well laid out cemeteries for the use of the

town—the Tong Cemetery on the south-east, and the Heaton

Cemetery on tbe west, with mortuary chapels for the various

denominations.

The workhouse, which is called Fishpool, is built outside

the borough, and is a very large and handsome group of

buildings, capable of accommodating at least 1200 per-

sons, was erected in 1861 for the Union of Bolton, which

comprises 26 townships and urban and rural districts. The
Bolton Poor Law Union comprises an area of 46,413 acres,

and embraces a population of 226,803 persons, and the con-

trol of the poor is vested in 45 guardians of the poor, elected

from the various townships. There are tlii'ee weekly and

two daily newspapers published in the town, one of them,

the Ecening News, beiug the first halfpenny paper published

in the country. Tlie town has both a borougli and sessional

court of magistrates, as well as a petty sessions held quarterly

by a recorder. The market days are ilonday and Saturday,

and cattle fairs are held on 4 and 5 Jan., 30 and 31 July,

and 13 and 14 Oct. There is also a noted pleasure fail*

held on 1 and 2 Jan. each year-. There are some extensive

coal mines in the district, which gi-eatly facilitate the industries

of the town and neighbourhood ; this, together with the

inventive genius and enterprise of many of its inhabitants,

have made it, if not one of the brightest abodes, yet it may
truly be called one of the great hives of industry. Co-

operation here is most successful, as there are over 40

branches connected with extensive central stores, with a

quarterly turnover of at least £122,400, and a net profit of

£17,500.
The town is mentioned in Domesday Book, and was given

by William the Conqueror to Roger de Poictou as a reward

for his services, but was conBscated for his opposition, and

given to Roger de Merechay, who sold it to Ranulf de Blunde-

ville. Earl of Chester, in 1228. It then passed to William,

Earl Ferrers, who obtained a charter for " free wanen
and a market and fair" for the town in the year 1251.

This family lost the manorial rights through some implica-

tion with the Jlontfort rebellion. The Pilkiugtons were the

next possessors, but lost it for supporting the cause of

Richard III., when it was given to the Stanleys in 1485,

and the Derby family held the same until the time of the

Civil War, wlien it was three times besieged, and the seventh

Earl of Derby was beheaded here in 1651 for his opposition
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to the Cromwelli.™ party. Since then the manorial rights

have been divided between several families, but are now
extinct. The parish of Bolton is very ancient, and the site

of the present parish church has most probably been covered

by three previous ecclesiastical structures, a Saxon, then

Early Norman, and then a mediieval Norman edifice ; and

as early as the middle of the 13th century Bolton held

one of the prebendary stalls in Lichfield Cathedral, in which

diocese all South Lancashire was comprised. As early as

the latter part of the 12th century Bolton was one of the

scats of the woollen trade, and a great stimulus was given to

it by the settlement of a large number of Flemish weavers

about the year 1337. But this branch of industry was super-

seded by the introduction of cotton spinning in the neigh-

bom'hood early in the 16th century, and about the year 1638
Bolton became the principal market for fustians, and later

on for muslins, toilets, and quilts. About the year 1769

Richard Arkwright, then a barber in the town, patented the

" water-frame '' for spinning, and six ye.ars later Samuel
Crompton, in the parish of Bolton, invented the " spinning

mule," which have revolutionized the cotton industry. From
that time forward the town has rapidly increased in extent

of population and prosperity, as the cotton trade steadily

rose to the positiou of tlie greatest of British manufacturing

industries.

Bolton Abbey, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

the W. R. Yorkshire, comprising the townships of Barden,

Halton-East, Hazlewood with Storiths, and Beamsley. There

is a station on the Ilkley and Skipton branch of the M.R.,

and a post, money order, and telegraph office under Skipton.

Area of the township, 2071 acres; population, 169 ; of the

ecclesiastical parish, 764. The manor belongs to the Duke
of Devonshire, and came to him from the Burlingtons. The
scenery is picturesque, and includes soft reaches of valley,

undulating slopes, precipitous chffs, hanging-woods, and the

wild chasm of the Strid, overhung by the mountains of Simon's

Seat and Barden Fell. An Augustinian priory was founded

at Enibsay, in 1121, by W^illiam de Meschines, and removed

33 years afterwards to the banks of the Wharfe by his

lady, to commemorate the loss of their heir at the Strid.

The story of its refonnding is sung by Wordsworth in his

"Force of Prayer" and "White Doe of Rylstone," and by

Rogers in the ''Boy of Egremond." The priory was sold

at the dissolution to Henry Clifford, Earl of Cumberland,

and passed from his family in 1635 to the Bm'lingtons.

Jluch of the original building, together with additions in De-

corated and Perpendicular English, is standing in a state of

ruin ; but the nave, which was repaired in 1853, still serves

as the parish church. The choir contains monuments of Lady
JIargaret Neville, Lord Clifford, and Prior Wood. Bolton Hall,

a modern mansion built on both sides of the old gate-honse of

the priory, is an occasional seat of the Duke of Devonshire.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon ; net value,

£152 with residence. Patron, the Duke of Devonshire.

There is a school with an endowed income of £135. Two
memorials, consisting of a handsome cross in the churchyard

and near the entrance to the woods an elegant fountain, were

erected in memory of Lord Frederick Cavendish, who was

ass.assinated in the Phoenix Park, Dublin in 1882, while

Chief Seeretan- for Ireland. See Strid, The.

Bolton-Brow, a hamlet in Skircoat township, W. R. York-

shire, 1 mile S of Halifax, which is the railway station. It

has a post and money order office (T.S.O.) under Sowerby

Bridge, which is the telegraph office.

Bolton-by-Bowland or Bolton-by-BolIand, a parish in

the W. R. Yorkshire, 3^ milesW from Gisburn railw.ay station,

4i N from Chatburn railway station, and 6 N of Clitheroe.

ir includes the hamlets of Holden and Forest-Becks, and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office, under Clitheroe.

Acreage, 61142
;
population, 571. Bolton Hall was formerly

the abode of the Pudsays, and it was here that Sir Ralph

Pudsay, in 1463, gave shelter to Henry VI. after the battle

of Hexham. It is now the property and seat of the Wright

family. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon
;

gross value, £346 with residence. The church, which is

Perpendicular Gothic, with remains of earlier work, has a

very handsome tower, which was p.artly rebuilt iu 1850, and

cont.iins, among other objects of interest, the remarkable

tomb of its founder, Sir Ralph Pudsay, and his three wives



BOLTON-CASTLE

and twenty-five cbildren. The chuvcli was restored in 1886.

There is a Congregational chapel at Holden, and a Weslejan

chapel at Bolton. There is a court-house, in which are held

the sessions for the Bolton-by-Bowland petty sessional divi-

sion of the county, and a coffee-house, in which accommoda-

tion is found for the reading club and its library.

Bolton-Castle or Castle-Bolton, a township and a vil-

lage in N. K. Yorkshire, now joined with Redmire to form a

chapelry called Bolton-cum-Redniire, in the parish of Ley-

bm-n, which is the post-town (K.S.O) ; telegraph office. Ays-

garth railway station. Acreageof the township, 4956; popuLa-

tion, Irti' ; of the ecclesiastical parish, including Redmire,

392. Bolton Hall is the seat of Lord Bolton, and gives him

his peerage title. Bolton Castle is the ruined se.at of Richard

le Scrope, built by him in the reign of Richard II., at a cost

of £12,000; forms a hollow quadrangle, with towers at the

comers; was the prison of JIary Queen of Scots for some

time before her removal to Tutbury, and sustained a siege by

the Parhamentarians toward the end of the Civil War-. The

Jiving is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon; gross value,

£170. Patron, the Rector of Wensley. The church is

ancient. There ai-e a lead mine and freestone quarries, and

an endowed elementary school.

Bolton, High. See Bolton, Cumberland.

Bolton-in-Copeland, a hamlet in Gosforth parish, Cum-
berland, niiks X of Ravenglass.

Bolton-le-Moors. See Bolton, Lancashire.

Bolton-le-Sands, a township, a village, and a parish in

Lancashire. Tlie township lies on the Lancaster and Kendal

Canal, and on the Lancaster and Carlisle railway, contiguous

to the sands of Morecambe Bay, 4 miles N by E of Lancas-

ter, and it has a station on the railway, and a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Carnforth. Acreage, 1580;

population of township, 734 ; of ecclesiastical parish, 1387.

The parish contains the townships of Bolton, Xether Kellet,

and Slyne-with-Hest. The living is a discharged vicarage

in the diocese of l\Ianchester; net value, £235 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Bishop of Manchester. The church,

with the exception of the tower, built about 1500, is modern

and very good. There is a good Roman Catholic church with

beautiful reredos. An endowed school has £40, and other

charities amount to nearly £100.

Bolton, Low. See Bolton, Cumberland.

Bolton-Percy.atownship and a parish in the Ainsty, York-

shii-e. The township lies on the river Wharfe, and on the

N.E.R., 3J miles ESE of Tadcaster, and it has a station on the

railway, and a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.)

Acreage, 2341 ;
population of the township, 242; of the eccle-

siastical parish, 449. The parish contains also the townships

of Hornington, Pallathorpe, Colton and Steeton, with the

hamlet of Streethouses. The manor belonged to the Percys

of Topcliffe, and afterwards to the Be.anmonts. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of York; net value, £918 with

residence. Patron, the Archbishop of York. The church

is Perpendicular English, was erected in 1423, consists of

nave, aisles, chancel, and north chapel, with a handsome
tower, and contains some very tine old oak seats, sedilia, and
a well-preserved piscina within the sanctuary, and a monu-
ment to Lord Fairfax, the father of the famous Parliamen-

tarian general. The east window is filled with beautiful old

stained glass, and there are several modern memorial windows,

one erected in 18G0 to Sir W. M. ililner, Bart. There is a

Wesleyan chapel and charities.

Bolton-Friory. See Bolton Abbey.
Bolton-upon-Deame, a township and a parish in W. R.

Yorkshire, on the river Dearne, with a station on the Swinton
and Knottingley branch of the SI.R. and N.E.R., and a post

and money order office under Rotherham ; telegraph office at

the railway station. Acreage of township, 2323; popula-

tion, 1205. The parish includes also the hamlet of Gold-
thorpe. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York;
net value, £190 with residence. The church is good, and
there are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Bolton-upon-Swale, a township and a parish in N. R.

Yorkshire, on the river Swale, IJ mile from Catterick Bridge

railway station, and 5^ miles ESE of Richmond. Post town,

Catterick. Area of the township, 854 acres; population,

84 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 923. The parish includes

the townships of Scorton, EUerton, Kiplin, Uckerby, and
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Whitwell. The living is a perpetual cm-.acy in the diocese of

Kipon; gross value, £124 with residence. P.atron, the Bishop

of Ripon. The church is ancient Gothic, and contains a monu-
ment of Henry Jenkins, a native of EUerton in the neighbour-

hood, who died in 1670 at the age of 169. There is a
grammar school at Scorton with an endowment of £250, and
other small charities.

Boltsburn. See Rookhope.
Bolventor, a chapelry in Alternon and St Xeot parishes,

Cornwall, 10 miles from Bodmin station on the G.W.R.
Launceston is the post town ; money order office. North
Hill; telegraph office, Bodmin. Population, 327. It was
constituted in 1849. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Truro ; net value, £96 with residence. The church is

very good.

Bomby, a hamlet in B.ampton parish, Westmoreland, on

the river Lowther, Sj miles NW of Shap, -which is the rail-

way station.

Bomere Heath, a village, 5 miles N of Shrewsbury,

partly in the parishes of St Alkmonds, Shrewsbury, Fitz and
Preston Gubbals, Salop, and annexed to the ecclesiastical

parish of Leaton. It is close to Leaton station on the G. W.R.,

and has a post office under Slirewsbury ; money order and
telegraph office, Hadnall. There are Congregational and
Wesleyan chapels.

Bonbusk, a hamlet in Cuckney township, Xorton-Cuckney

parish, Notts, 6J miles SW of Worksop.

Bonby or Eondeby, a village and a parish in Lincoln-

shire, on the river Aneholme, 3 miles N\V of Elsham station

on the M.S. & L.R., and 6 N of Brigg, with a post office under

Hull; money order office, Worlaby; telegraph office, Elsham
(R.S.) Acreage ot parish, 2467

;
population, 341. An alien

priory was founded here in the time of King John, and given

to the Chartreux House at Beanval in Notts in the time of

Henry IV. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln

;

net value, £186 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Yar-

borough. The church is an ancient building of brick in the

Early English style. There are Primitive Methodist and
Wesleyan chapels.

Boncath, a railway station with telegi-aph in Pembroke-

shire, 5 miles S of Cardigan, ou the Whitland and Cardigan

branch of the G.W.R. There is a post and money order

office (R.S.O.); telegraph office, Llechryd.

Bonchurch, a village and a parish in the SE of the Isle

of Wight. The village stands on the coast, at the eastern

part of the Uudercliff, and adjoins Ventnor. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Ventnor (T.S.O.),

and an excellent hotel. It is charmingly situated among
picturesque scenery, and includes a number of fine, scattered,

private residences. The parish contains part of Nettlecombe

tithing. Acreage, 561 of land and 61 of foreshore
;
popu-

lation, 668. The name Bonchurch is a corruption of Boni-

face-Church, the chmxh being dedicated to St Boniface or

Winfrid, born at Crediton, near Exeter. A legend exists to

the effect that on a certain occasion St Boniface lost his way
in a fog on St Boniface Downs (now so-called), and made a

vow that if he reached the bottom safely he would give an

acre of land to the rector of Bonchurch (Ventnor did not

exist in those days). Whether this is true or not, an acre of

land in Ventnor, at the foot of the Downs, belongs to the

living of Bonchurch, but how it became the glebe thereof

does not appe.ai'. Quite possibly the story was made to fit

the fact. St Boniface Down rises behind the villiige to an

altitude of 783 feet above the level of the sea, and commands
a gi-and prospect. Parts of the acclivities and of the coast

are highly romantic. The Pulpit Rock, which is 400 feet

above the sea, is a very striking featm'e with a rude cross

on the summit. The liWng is a rectory in the diocese of

Winchester ; net value, £143 with residence, in the gift of

the Church Patronage Society. The church was built in 1848,

and is a plain edifice in the Norman style. The prerious

church, now disused, still stands. The Rev. William Adams,

author of the " Shadow of the Cross," and John Sterling,

whose life was written by Achdeacon Hare and Thomas Car-

lyle, lie interred in the churchy.ard.

Bondeby. See Bonby.
Bondgate. See Aisjicndeeby.

Bondington, a hamlet in the parish of Dunster, Somerset-

shire.
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Bondleigh or Hundley, a parish in Devonshire, on tlie

river Taw, 2 miles NXW of North Tawton station on the

L. & S.W.R. Post town, North Tawton, North Devon,
which is the money order and telegrapli office. Acreage, lGo2;

population, 141. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Exeter
;
gross value, £200 with residence. The church is

ancient, partly Norman, with a lofty square tower. It was
restored in 1889.

Bonehill, a liberty in Fazeley parish, Staffordshire, adja-

cent to the Coventry Canal, 1^ mile SW of Tamworth.

Bongate. See Appleby, Westmoreland.

Boniface, St. See Bonchurch.
Boningale or Bonningliall, a township and a parish in

Salop, on the verge of the county, 1^ mile S by W of

Albrighton station on the G.W.R., and 5 SE of Shifnal.

Post town, Albrighton, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage of township, 1015; population, 165.

Whiston Hall is the chief residence. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Lichfield; value, £200. The church is

ancient, and was restored in 18G1.

Bonne-Nuit-Bay, a bay on the N side of Jersey, 2 miles

E by S of liondnez Point, and 4| SW of the Dirouilles. It

has a horseshoe form, of about ^ of a mile in diameter, and
the cliffs above it command a fine view.

Eonninghall. See Boningale.
Bonnington, a parish in East Kent, on the Military Canal,

partly in Ptomney Marsh, 2 miles SSW of Smeeth station on

the S.E.R., and 6| SE by S of Ashford. Hythe is the post

town; money orderoffice, Aldington; telegraph office, Mersham.
Acreage, 1113

;
population of the civil parish, 163; of the

ecclesiastical, including Bilsington, 530. The hving is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Canterbury, consolidated since 1878
with the vicarage of Bilsington ; net value, X210 with resi-

dence. The church, dedicated to St Rumwold, is small, in

the Early English style ; it was partially restored in 1886,
and the churchyard was enlarged in 1890.

Bonnington, the old seat of the Boys family, in Kent,

near Goodnestone, 7^ miles KSE of Canterbury. Two dis-

tinguished members of the family were Sir John Boys, of

military celebrity, and Lieutenant Governor Boys of Green-
wich Hospital, notable for escape in the Luxemburg.

Bonnington-Sutton. See Sutton-Bonningtox.
Bonsall, a village and a parish in Derbyshire. The village

stands near the river Derwent and the Cromford Canal. It

has an ancient market cross, and a post and money order

office under Derby; telegraph office and railway station,

Cromford, Ih mile distant. The parish includes the hamlets

of Upper Town and Slaley. Area, 24-47 acres
;
population,

132it. The scenery is picturesque, and the rocks include

much limestone and some valuable ores. The inhabitants

are employed chiefly in stocking-making, in merino and
paper mills, various paint and colour works, and in limestone

quarries. Traces exist of the Roman road to JIanchester.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell ; net

value, £169 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of South-
well. The church is ancient, has a tower and tine spire, and
was beautifully restored in 1863. There are Baptist and
Primitive Methodist chapels. An endowed school, founded
in 1717, has now accommodation for 110 boys.

Bont, a Welsh word used in topographical nomenclature,

and signifying " a bridge." It is the same as Pont.

Bont, a village in Llanwrtyd parish, Breconshire, 1 mile

from Llanwrtyd Wells station on the Cambrian railway.

Bontddu or Caerdeon, an ecclesiastical parish in Llan-

aber parish, Merionethshire, on the road from Barmouth to

Dolgelly, from each of which it is distant 5 miles. It was
constituted in 1887, and has a post office under Dolgelly,

which is the telegraph office. Population, 488. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor; net value, £244.
There is a beautiful wooded glen, through which a stream
flows between perpendicular rocks, and forms a waterfall.

Several gentlemen's seats are in the neighbourhood.

Bonthorpe, a hamlet in Willoughby parish, Lincolnshire,

3J miles S of Alford.

Bont-Newydd, a railway station on the G.W.R., in Dol-

gelly pari-sh, Merionethshire, 3 miles NE of Dolgelly.

Bont-Newydd, a village in Llanwnda parish, Carnarvon-
shire, 2 miles S of Carnarvon. It has a post office under
Carnarvon, which is the money order and telegraph office.
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It has a woollen manufactory, and Congregational and Wes-
leyan chapels.

Bonville-Court, a ruin of an old fortified manor-house,

1 mile W of Saundersfoot, Pembrokeshire. It is supposed

to have been built by Nicholas de Bonville in the time o£

Edward IL A tower and a stair-tunet are all that remain,

Bonvilston, a village and a parish in Glamorgan, 1^ mile

SW of Peterston station on the G.W.R., and 4 miles E of

Cowbridge, with a post office under Cardiff. Acreage of

parish, 1280
;

population, 219. Bonvilston House is the

chief residence. The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese

of Llandaff
;
gross value, £88. The church is good.

Bonwen. See Rhuggatt and Bdnwen.
Bonwick, a small township in Skipsea pai'ish, E. R,

Yorkshire, near the coast, nearly 5 miles NNW of Hornsea,

which is the railway station and telegraph office. Seaton is

the post town. Acreage, 775
;
population, 16.

Boode, a hamlet in Braunton parish, Devonshire.

Boohay, a hamlet in Brisham parish, Devonshire, 4^
miles NE of Dartmouth.

Bookham, Great, a village and a parish in Surrey. The
village stands 2^ miles from Leatherhead, and has a station

on the L. & S.W.R., 21 miles from London. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Leatherhead. The
parish comprises 3294 acres; population of the civil parish,

1172; of the ecclesiastical, 1085. Bookham Grove, East-
wick House, and Polesden are fine residences in the neigh-

bourhood. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester;

net value, £527 with residence. The church contains some
handsome Norman pillars and arches, and some fine monu-
ments to the Howards, Spiers or Moores, also a brass tablet

with a quaint inscription to Sheriff Slyfield of the time of

Queen Elizabeth. Slyfield Place is now a faiTihouse, and
contains some fine panelled rooms with handsome ceilings o£

Italian workmanship.

Bookham, Little, a parish and village in Surrey, S
miles SW of Leatherhead, and about ^ a mile from Bookham
station on the L. & S.W.R. Post town, Great Bookham,
under Leatherhead. Acreage of the parish, 929

;
population

of the civil parish, 234; of the ecclesiastical, 176. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester ; net value,

about £175 with residence. The church is Norman.
Booley, a township in Stanton-upon-Hine-Heath parish,

Salop, 4^ miles SE of Wera.

Boon-Wood, a hamlet in Gosforth parish, Cumberland,

5^ miles N of Ravenglass, and 3 from Irton Road railway

station.

Boosbeck, a mining village in Skelton-m-Cleveland parish,

in the N. R. Yorkshire. It has a station on the N.E.R., and
a post and money order office under Skelton (R.S.O.); tele-

graph office at the railway station. There is an kon church
annexed to Skelton.

Booseley, Upper and Nether, two villages on the north-

eastern border of Staffordshire, 2 miles SW of Longnor.

Boot, a station on the Ravenglass and Eskdale railway,

Cumberland, 8 miles from Ravenglass. It has a post office

under Carnforth ; money order office, Eskdale; telegraph

office, Ravenglass; and a small church.

Booth, a hamlet in Knedlington township, in the E. R>

Yorkshire, near the ferry over the river Ouse, 1^ mile SW
of Howden.

Boothby, a hamlet in Welton-in-the-Marsh parish, Lin-

colnshire, 5j miles ENE of Spilsb^'. Boothby Hall is a
chief residence.

Boothby or Boothby-Graffoe, a parish and wapentake

in Lincolnshire, on the Cliff, 1^ mile N of Navenby station

ou the G.N.R., and 7^ S of Lincoln, which is the post town;

money order and telegraph office, Navenby. Acreage of par-

ish, 2086 ;
population, 188. There are remains of Somerton.

Castle, built in 1281 by Bishop Bee, and used as the prison

of King John of France after the battle of Poitiers. A por-

tion of the remains, with some modern additions, form a com-
modious dwelling-house. Boothby Hall is also a chief resi-

dence. The li\'ing is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln

;

net value, £350 with residence. The church was rebuilt

in 1842. The wapentake contains Boothby parish, twenty-

five other parishes, and part of another.

Boothby-Pagnell, a parish in Lincolnshii'e, adjacent to

the G.N.R., 2J miles ESE of Great Ponton station, and 5
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SE of Grantham. It has a post office of the name of Boothby,

under Grantham, which is the money order office; telegi-aph

office, Great Ponton station. Acreaj^e, 1817; population,

129. Boothby Hall is a chief residence. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Lincoln
;
gross yearly value, £365

with residence. The church is a building of stone in the

Norman and Decorated styles.

Boothen, a township in Stoke-upon-Trent parish, Stafford-

shire, ^ a niile NE, and within the municipal borough of

Stoke-upon-Trent. The manor belongs to the Duchy of Lan-
caster. There is a mission church.

Booths, Higher, a township in the ecclesiastical parish

of Goodshaw, Lancashire, 2 miles from Whalley station on

the L. & y.I!., and 6 SSW of Burnley. Acreage, 4412;
population, G7G5. The inhabitants are chiefly employed in

cotton factories and in collieries.

Booths, Lower, a township in Haslingden union, Lanca-
shire, 1 mile ENE of Baxenden railway station, and 4 miles

SSW of Burnley. Acreage, 1521; population, 6994. The
inhabitants are chiefly employed in cotton factories, collieries,

and quarries.

Booth's Town, a hamlet in Worsley township, Lancashire,

7 miles WSW of Manchester, under which it has a post,

money order, and telegi'aph office.

Bootle, a town and a parish in Cumberland. The
town stands at the junction of two streams not far from the

Whitehaven and Furness railway, about IJ mile from the

shore, and 6^ miles S by E of Raveuglass, and it has a

station on the railway, and a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Carnforth. It consists chiefly of a single street

;

yet possesses interest for tourists in some charming environs,

and is a polling-place. A market was formerly held, and
there are fairs on 27 April and 24 Sept. The parish com-
prises 6777 acres of land and 1159 of water and foreshore;

population, 783. Part of the surface is Bootle Fell, and
part is the northern skirt and ascent of the Black Combe
Mountain. Remains of a Roman camp are on Esk-Meals
Common; and the east window of the chapel of a Benedictine

nunnery, founded by a daughter of Henry de Boyvill, fourth

lord of Millom, is still standing at Seaton. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Carlisle ; tithe commuted at £440.
Patron, the Earl of Lonsdale. The church is partly ancient,

of Early English date, with Saxon vestiges ; underwent repair

in 1837 ; was reseated in oak and thoroughly restored in

1891; has a pinnacled tower 90 feet high, built in 1862 ; and
contains an octagonal font of red sandstone, and a brass

of Sir Hugh Askew, who was knighted at the battle of Pinkie.

There is a Congregational chapel and a workhouse.

Bootle, a municipal borough, comprising the township

of Bootle-cuni-Liuacre, in Walton-on-the-Hill parish, Lan-
cashire, forming part of the Bootle parliamentary division

of SW Lancashire. The borough lies on the Mersey, the

Liverpool and Southport railway, and Liverpool and Leeds
Canal, 3J miles N by W of Liverpool ; was a much frequented

watering-place, but is now occupied on all its river front by

Liverpool docks. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Liverpool, and four railway stations, and also

three large railway goods stations. The trade of the town is

almost exclusively connected with shipping—timber, cotton,

and provisions being the chief imports; and there are besides

some large warehouses, jute works, tanneries, and corn mills.

The Liverpool Overhead Railway, which runs the entire length

of the docks from Bootle to Liverpool, has two stations within

the borough. The immense docks recently constructed here

are estimated to have cost more than £4,000,000. New police

buildings were erected in 1891, and opened by the mayor.
Area of municipal borough, 1595 acres; population, 49,217.
The Bootle chapelries are all in the diocese of Liverpool

—

Christchurch, gross value, £334 with residence, and St
Leonards, gross value, £350, both vicarages; St John, gross

value, £450 with residence; St Matthew, and St Mary, gross
value, £1000, these three being perpetual curacies. The
Baptists, WesUyans, Primitive Methodists, English and Welsh
Presbyterians, and Congi-egationalists have chapels, and
there is also a Roman Catholic church. There are two
hospitals (one for infectious diseases). Other public build-

ings are tlie town-hall, school board offices, free library and
museum, public salt-water baths, police court and fire station,

also the headquarters of the Reform and Conservative Clubs.
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There are tramways in the borough connected with the
Liverpool system, two recreation grounds, and a park, the
site of which was presented by the late Earl of Derby, to
whose memory a marble drinking fountain was erected by
the inhabitants. The progi-ess of this borough has been
very rapid during recent years.

Bootle Parliamentarij Division was formed under the
Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and returns one mem-
ber to the House of Commons. Population, 97,652. The
division includes the following:—The municipal boroughs
of Liverpool and Bootle, and the parishes of Childwall,
Fazakerley, Walton-on-the Hill, and Wavertree, and so
much of the parishes of West Derby and Toxteth Park as
is not included in the municipal borough of Liverpool.

Booton, a parish in Norfolk, 1 mile SE of Reepham sta-

tion on the G.E.R., and 6 miles SW of Aylsham. It has a
post office under Norwich ; money order and telegraph office,

Keepham. Acreage, 1079
;

population, 251. Booton Hall
and The Grove are chief residences. The living is a rectory
in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £265. The
church is an edifice of flint and stone in the Geometrical
style.

Booze, a hamlet in Arkengarth-Dale parish, in the N. E.
Yorkshire, 3J miles NW of Reeth.

Boraston, a township in Burford parish, Salop, at the
verge of the county, on the river Teme, and the Kington
Canal, 1 mile W of Teubury, which is the post town. Acre-
age, 1455; population, 255. There is a chapel-of-ease to
Burford parish church.

Bordean, a tithing in East Meon parish, Hants, 3i miles
W of Petersfield.

Borden, a parish in Kent, IJ mile W of Sittingbom-ne
station on the L.C. & D.R. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Sittingbourne. Acreage, 2145

;
popu-

lation, 1361. Many Roman coins, and foundations of two
Roman buildings, were discovered at Sutton-Barn here in

1846. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury;
net value, £210 with residence. The church has a Norman
west door and a Norman tower, and includes some Roman
bricks in its walls. It was well restored in 1865. An en-
dowed middle-class school has been established. The charities

are large. There are Wesleyan and Methodist chapels. Dr
Plot, the author of the county histories of Oxford and
Stafford, was born at Sutton-Barn, and a mural monument
to him is in the church.

Bordesley. See Birmingham.
Bordesley Park, a seat in Tardebigge parish, Worcester-

shire, near the Worcester and Birmingham Canal, 5 miles E
by S of Bromsgrove. A Cistercian abbey was founded here
in 1138 by the Empress Maud, and given at the dissolution

to Lord Windsor. Scarcely any traces of the abbey remain.

Bordley, a small township in Rilstone parish, in the W. R.
Yorkshire, 7 miles from Bell Busk station on the M.E.
Acreage, 2893; population, 44.

Bordwood Forest, an ancient forest in the eastern pai-t

of the Isle of Wight, on the S side of Main river,
1 J mile W

of Sandown. It was given by Henry V. to Philippa, Duchess
of York, and was long a noble hunting-ground, well stocked
with deer and other game. The last " Lady" of the island,

Isabella de Fortibus, had a hunting-seat in it on a knoll,

which still retains the name of Queen's Bower. The best

timber in the island was obtained from it, but now scarcely

one large tree of it exists.

Boreatton, a township in Baschurch parish, Salop, on the
river Perry, 9 miles NW of Shrewsbury. Boreatton Hall
and Boreatton Park are chief residences.

Boredale, a glen 2^ miles long, in Westmoreland, descend-
ing northward to the lower end of Martindale, and separated
by Place Fell and Birk Fell from UUswater.

Boreham, a village and a parish in Essex. The village

stands on the river Chelmer, near the G.E.R., 3J miles NE
of Chelmsford, which is the nearest railway station. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Chelms-
ford, and was once a market-town. The parish comprises
3781 acres of land and 20 of water; population, 944.

Boreham House is the seat of the Tyrell family. New Hall
belonged to Waltham Abbey, and passed to the Shardelowes,
the Butlers, the Boleyns, Henry VIII., the Ratcliflies, the

Villierses, Cromwell, Monk, the Cavendishes, and Ohnius
201
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Lord Walthain. A mansion on it was built bj the Butlers

in the time of Henry VII. ; inhabited by the Princess

j\Iarj, the Duke of Buckingham, Cromwell, and Monk ; and
demolished, all except the great hall, by Lord Waltham.
The hall is now a chapel, 96 feet by 50, retaining the arms
of Henry VIII. and Elizabeth; and a convent is connected

with it. first occupied by nuns who fled from Lihge at the

first French revolution, and used as a seminary for Roman
Catholic ladies. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

St Alban's ; net yearly value, £290 with residence, in the

gift of the Bishop of St Alban's. The church has a square

Norman tower; contains tombs of the Ratcliffes, Earls of

Susses, and is good. The churchyard contains a mausoleum
of the Walthams, after the model of the Temple of the

"Winds. There are a Congregational chapel, an endowed
school, and some small charities.

Boreham, a hamlet 1 niile SE of Warminster station on

the G.W.K., in Wilts. A church was erected here in 1865.

An earthwork in the vicinity, called the Berries, is a vestige

of a Roman station on the road from Old Sarum to Bath,

and has yielded Roman pottery and many coins.

Boreham-Street or Boreham-Manor, a hamlet in

Wartling parish, Susses, on the river Ashburn, 4^ miles E
of Hailsham. It has a post ofHce, of the name of Boreham-
•Street, under Hailsham (S.O.), which is the telegraph office;

money order office, Hurstnionceaus.

Boresford, a township in Brampton-Bryan parish, Here-
fordshire, 2 miles E by S of Knighton.

Boresile, a locality 2 miles from Tenterden, in Kent.

Boringdon, the ancient seat of the Parkers, Eai'ls of

Jlorley, in Devon, on the Catwater, 5^ miles N of Plymouth.
The mansion was built about the middle of the 14th century,

but is now reduced to a fragment, used as a farmhouse.

The grounds contain a Roman camp, and command most
brilliant views. The Earls of Morley take from Boringdon
the titles of Viscount and Baron.

Boringer. See Bobbingwokth.
Borley, a parish in the county of Esses, on the verf^e of

the county, at the river Stour, 3 miles KW of Sudbury
station, and Ij mile from Long Jlelford station on the

G.E.E. It has a post and money order office, of the name
of Borley Green, under Sudbury, which is the telegraph office.

Acreage, 795
;

population, 195. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of St Alban's ; net value, £160 with residence.

The church is a small building of the loth or 14th century.

Borley or Boreley, a hamlet in Ombersley pansb, Wor-
cestershire, (^n the river Severn, 5^ miles ^\'iSIW of Droitwich.

Boroughbridge, a market-town, township, and parish in

the W. R. Yorkshire. The town stands on the Ure, has a
station on a branch of the N.E.R., and is G^ miles ESE of

Eipon. It was formerly called Newborough, in contradistinc-

tion to the neighbouring small town of Aldborougli, and it

takes the latter part of its present name from a bridge built

here over the Ure soon after the Conquest, and now super-

seded by a modern bridge. A battle was fought in its vicinity

in 1322 between the forces of Edward II. and those of the

Earl of Lancaster. Three rude monumental pillars, called

the DeviPs Arrows, somewhat like obelisks, and respectively

18, 22, and 31 feet high, stand about ^ a mile to the west,

and have been the subject of much discussion among anti-

quaries. A neat, fluted, Doric column, seemingly of the 14th

century, stood in the market-place; and a quondam mansion

of the Tancreds is now an inn. The town has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under York, a railway station, and
two banks. A weekly market is held on Tuesday, and various

fairs during the year for horses, cattle, and sheep. The
town was made a borough in the time of Mary, sending two
members to Parliament, but was disfranchised by the Act of

1832. Acreage of township, 95 ;
population, 924. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon; net value, £273
with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Aldborougb. The
church is a substantial modern building with a tower ; and
there is a Wesleyan chapel, a cemetery, and a temperance hall.

Boroughbridge, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in

Somersetshire, formed out of the following seven civil parishes

in 1837, viz., Stoke St Gregory, Bridgewater, Lyng, Middle-
soy, North Petherton, Othery, and Weston- Zoyland, on the

junction of the rivers Parret and Tone, 2 miles from Athelney
railway station, and 8 from Martock station on the G.W.R.
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It has a post office under Bridgewater; money order and
telegraph office. North Cm-ry. Population, 4G7. The church
was built in 1838. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Bath and Wells; value, £306 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The church is good, and
was restored in 1887. There is a Baptist chapel.

Borough-Fen, formerly an estra-parochial tract in Nor-
thamptonstiire, now a parish for civil purposes, but annesed
to Newborough for ecclesiastical purposes, 2^ miles NE of

Peakirk station on the G.N.R., and 5 N by E of Peter-
borough, which is the post, money order, and telegraph

office. Population of the ecclesiastical parish, including

Newborough, li08.

Borough-Green, a hamlet in Ightham and Wrotham
parishes, Kent, G miles ENE of Sevenoaks, with a station

called Wrotham and Borough-Green on the L.C. & D.R., 30
from London. It has a Baptist chapel, and a post office

under Newmarket, which is the telegraph office ; money order

office, Stetchworth.

Borough - Green, Cambridgeshire. See Bdreough-
Green.
Borough Hill, an eminence in the vicinity of Daventry,

Northampton. It was the scene of the Danish victory over

the Saxons in 1000, and the place of Charles I.'s encamp-
ment before the Battle of Naseby, and it has vestiges of a

large ancient camp, and commands a fine view.

Borough Island, an islet in Bigbury Bay, at the mouth
of the river Avon, in Devonshire.

Borough-Road, a sub-district extending northward from
the Borough Road to Mint Street, in Soutbwark, Surrey.

Borough-Street, a hamlet 2J miles SE of Epsom, in

Surrey, on the Roman road to Chichester.

Borras-Hovah, a township in Wrexham parish, Denbigh-
shire, near the river Dee, 3 miles NE of Wrexham. Acreage,

461; population, 60.

Borras-RifiFre, a township in Gresford parish, Denbigh-
shire, 5 miles X of Wrexham. Acreage, 341 ;

population,25.

Borrow, The, a stream of Westmoreland. It rises on
Harrop Pike, and runs 8 miles south-eastward to the Lune,

1^ mile below Orton railway station. It takes its name
from a Roman camp at Castle-Dykes, which commanded a
wild pass through the Shap Fell.

Borrowash, a village in Ockbrook parish, Derbyshu-e, on
the M.R., near the Derby Canal and the Derwent river, 4^
miles ESE of Derby, and 128 from London. It has a sta-

tion on the railway, a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Derby, and Wesleyan and Primitive Jlethodist chapels.

Elvaston Castle, the seat of the Earl of Harrington, is near it.

Borrowbridge, High and Low, two localities on the

Borrow river in Westmoreland, the former on the road from
Shap to Kendal, the latter on that from Orton to Kirkby-
Lousdale. Both have inns, and Low Borrowbridge has also

a village, amid romantic scenery, adjacent to a deep cutting

on the Lancaster and Carlisle railway, and is a noted resort

of anglers for trout- fishing.

Borrowby, a township in Leake parish in the North
Riding of Yorkshire, 5 miles N of Thirsk, the nearest railway

station. It has a post office, with money order, savings

bank, and telegraph departments, under Thirsk. Acreage,

1272
;
population, 392. There are Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels.

Borrowby, a township in Ugthorp parish, in the N. K.

Yorkshire, 10 miles NW by W of Whitby. Post town,

Staithes (2^ miles), which is the nearest railway station.

Acreage, 682
;
population, 77. The Marquis of Normanby

is lord of the manor.

Borrowdale, the glen of the Boitow river, also the village

at Low Borrow-Bridge, in Westmoreland.

Borrowdale, a pai-ish, late a chapelry, in the ancient

parish of Crosthwaite, Cumberland. It lies 2|- miles S by

W of Keswick railway station, and 14 NW of Windermere,

and contains the hamlets of Rosthwaite, Grange, Watendlath,

Stonethwaite, Seatoller, Longthwaite, Thornythwaite, and

Seathwaite. Area, 16,666 acres; population, 606. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle; value, £124.

Patron, the Vicar of Crosthwaite. The church stands near

Rosthwaite, and was rebuilt in 1824. Another church, of

later erection, stands at Grange, and is served by the incum-

bent of Bon'owdale at a salary of £28 per annum. There
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is ft \Vcslevan chapel at Grange. The vale commences in

three heads, Stonethwaite, Seatliwaite, and Borrowdale-Haws,

coming down from the mountain passes out of Langdale,

Wastdale, and Buttermere; is overhung at the convergence

of these by the massive mountain range of Glaramara, and

descends thence, between lofty flanljs, northward to the head

of Derwent Water. The low gi'ounds or bottoms of it have

much diversity of width and contour, but comprise about

2000 acres of good laud, chiefly disposed in pasture. " The

mountains and hills around it have many outlines of base,

form, and summit, but generally are so bold in character, so

cloven with ravines, and so strikingly grouped together as to

form a series of imposing pictures. The depressions among
them vary from gorge to glen, and from rocky mountain defile

to green cultivated valley ; and the lower parts, both bottom

^nd slope, show much diversity of breadth .and colour, rock

and wood, wild nature and ornate culture." Two main rivu-

lets from the Longstrath and Seathwaite valleys form the

upper Derwent, which enters Dcrwent-water Lake near the

Lodne Hotel. Castle Crag, a lofty, wooded, and almost

isolated eminence adjoining the stream near the foot, com-
mands a glorious view of all the vale ; was the site of succes-

sively a Roman camp, a Saxon fortalice, and a monastic

castle, to command the pass toward the mountains ; and has

yielded Roman I'elics, which are preserved in Keswick Museum.
The Bowder Stone, at the foot of a precipice, opposite Castle

Crag, is a mass of fallen rock, 62 feet long, 36 feet high,

and 84 feet in circumference, with outline resembling that

of a ship upon its keel. Slate quarrying is the great industry.

Borrowdale was an appanage of Furness Abbey. Grange

was the granary of the monks, and the deposit of a small

salt spring, which enters the lake near here, was also stored

there. The Black Lead Mine Jlountain, on a flank of the

Seathwaite head-vale, rises to the height of about 2000
feet, and is famous for a plumbago mine and a group of yew
trees. The yew trees, of which two only now remain, are

very old, amid a sheet of copsewood. Wordsworth, after

noting a famous yew in Lorton, says

—

" Worthier still of note
Are those fraternal four of Borrowdale,
Joined in one solemn and capacious grove.
Huge trunks! beneath whose sable roof
Of boughs, as if for festal purpose, deck'd
With unrejoicing berries, ghostly shapes
May meet at noontide—Fear and trembling Hope,
Silence and Foresight, Death the skeleton.
And Time the shadow—there to celebrate,
As in a natural temple, scatter'd o'er

With altars undisturbed of mossy stone,
United worship ; or in mute repose
To lie and listen to the mountain flood

ilnrmuring from Glaramara's inmost caves.'*

Borstal!. See Boarstall.
Borth, a village and a small watering-place in Cyfoeth-

y-Brenin parish, Cardiganshire, 7 miles NNE of Aberystwith.
It has a station ou the Cambrian railway, and a post, money
order, and telegraph ofBce (R.S.O.) It was formerly a fishing

village. Sandy beaches, called Berth Sands, extend 4 miles

from its vicinity northward to the estuary of the Dovey, and
are overlooked by cliflTs commanding splendid sea-views.

Borthin, a hamlet in Llandyssil parish, Cardiganshire, S
miles E of Newcastle-Emlyn.

Berwick, a township in Warton parish, Lancashire, with
a station on the Carnforth and Wennington branch of the
M.E., 3 miles NXE of Carnforth, under which it has a
post office. Acreage, 84 6; population, 28L Borwick Hall,
the seat of the Standishes, gave lodging to Charles II. on
his way to Worcester.

Bosbuiy, a village and a parish in Herefordshire. The
•village stands on the river Leadon, under the Malvern Hills,

4^ miles N by W of Ledbnry, under whicli it has a post
office, and at which is the telegraph office. The parish
includes the townships of Bosbury, Upleadon, and Catley.
Acreage, 4825

; population, SIC. Old Court, now used as
a farmhouse, was once a seat of the Bishops of Hereford.
There are many ancient timber houses in the village. Bos-
bnry House and Temple Court are the chief residences.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford
;
gross

value, £318. Patron, the Bishop of Hereford. The church
is Transition Norman and Perpendicular, with a massive
detached tower ; it contains a fine oak screen, and nionu-
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nients to the Harford and Brydgcs families, and was restored

iii 1871. There are a Wesleyan chapel and an endowed
grammar school.

Boscastle, a village in Cornwall. The village is in the

parishes of Minster and Forrabury, stands i a mile from the

coast, and 3 miles from Camelford sttition on the North
Cornwall branch of the L. & S.W.R. It occupies a romantic

site on the sides of hills, overhanging two deep vales, and has a
post, money order, and telegraph office (E.S.O.), a ruined

ancient chapel, and a Methodist chapel. It was once a mar-
ket-town, and still has fairs on S Aug. and 22 Xov. Its

name is a corruption of Bottreaux-Castle, and was taken from

a baronial mansion, the seat of the Norman family of De
Bottreaux, which stood on what is now a green mound. The
manor went in the time of Henry VI., by marriage, to Lord

Hungerford ; descended to the Earls of Huntingdon
;
passed

to the Marquis of Hastings, who takes from it the title of

Baron Bottreaux. Boscastle Port, at the nearest part of the

coast, is the harbour of the vilKage ; lies in the debouch of a

narrow, high-flanked vale, has a small pier and breakwater,

and carries on an export coasting trade in corn, slates, and
manganese. The scenery around the village is strikingly

picturesque, and that on the coast very grand. The church

is a stone building in the Early English style. There are Wes-
leyan, Bible Christian, and Methodist chapels.

Boscawen, a manor in St Buryan parish, Cornwall. It

h.as belonged since the time of King John to the Boscawens,

who became Viscounts Falmouth in 1720, and gives them
the title of Baron. A famous Druidical circle of sixteen

stones occurs on the farm of Boscawen-Un.

Boscobel, formerly extra-parochial, now a parish in Salop,

on the verge of the county, in Brewood Forest, 3 miles N of

Albrighton station on the G.W.R., and 6 E by N of Shiffnal.

Acreage, 581; population, 21. Boscobel House, then a se.it

of the Giffords, was the hiding-place of Charles II. on 3 Sept.,

1651, after the Bfittle of '\Vorcester. The edifice was of

timber, and is much altered, but still retains some of its

original features, together with reminiscences of the king's

retreat, and is shown to strangers. An oak tree near it is

said to be either the original or a scion of the oak in which
the king sat concealed while bis pursuers passed round and
under it.

Boscombe, a parish in Wilts, 8 miles from Salisbury, and
2 NE of Porton station on the main line of the L. &. S.W.R.,
and 4 miles SE of Amesbury. It has a post office uuder Salis-

bury; money order and telegraph ofBce, Winterbourne Gunner.
Acreage, 1688; population, 113. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Salisbury; net value, i;i70 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Salisbury. The cbm-ch is Early Nor-
man, but is in a most dilapidated condition. There are alms-
houses with endowed income of £24. Eichard Hooker was
rector from 1591 till 1595, and wrote here the first four

books of his " Laws of Ecclesiastical Polity."

Boscombe, a suburb of Bournemouth, in Hampshire. It

has a station on the L. & S.W.R., 104 miles from Loudon,
and is rapidly gi'owing into an important seaside resort.

It has a post, money order, and telegi-aph ofiice (T.S.O.)
under Bournemouth. It is separated from Bournemouth by
the Boscombe Chine Gardens, which are a great attraction,

and form one of the approaches to the beach and pier. Bos-
combe Pier was opened in 1889 ; it has a good landing-

stage, and forms a very pleasant promenade. There are two
churches, and Wesleyan, Congregational, and Baptist chapels.

Boscombe Chine, a narrow water-worn ravine on the

coast of Dorsetshire, 2 miles E of Bournemouth.
Bosden. See H^vndforth.
Bosham, a village and a parish in the SW of Sussex.

The village stands on Chichester Hai'bour, and has a station

on the L.B. & S.C.R., 72 miles from London. It has a post
office with money order, savings bank, and telegi'aph depart-

ments, under Chichester. It was known to the Saxons
as Bosenham, and it possessed importance for ages as a
landing-place, but is now inhabited chiefly by fishermen.

A monastic establishment was founded at it in the 7th cen-

tury by a Scot named Dicul, and a collegiate church in 1129
by Bishop Warlwast. It belonged early to the see of Can-
terbury : was obtained through guile by Earl Godwin ; had

a seat of Harold, whence he sailed on his fatal visit to Duke
William in Normandy; was given at the Conquest to the
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-Anchors; and passed. fir>t to lilshop Warlwast, and then to

the Dean and Chapter of Chichester. The parish includes

the tithiugs of Broadbridge, Creed, Old Fislibourne, Gosport,

and Walton, and is in the district of Westboui'ne. Acreage,

3167 of land and 746 of foreshore and water
;
population,

1258. The present manor house has an ancient moat, and

probably occupies the site of the seat of Harold. The living;

is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester; value, £300.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Chichester. The church

possesses much interest for artists and antiquaries ; is partly

Saxon or Norman, and partly Early English; contains a

Norman font and a monnment to a daughter of Canute

;

and was restored in 1862. A colossal head, supposed by

some to be for Woden or Jupiter, was found in the church-

yard, and is preseiTed in the palace garden at Chichester.

There is a Congregational chapel. Herbert de Boshani,

secretary to Thomas a Becket, and afterwards a cardinal,

was a native.

Bosheston, a parish in Pembrokeshire, on the coast, 5^
miles S by W of Pembroke, under which it has a post office,

and at which is the money order and telegiaph office. Acreage,

1664; population, 190. Limestone cliffs on the coast are

pierced with caverns, and show very striking forms. The
largest cavern, called Bosheston Mere, nins inland more than

^ of a mile; terminates in a narrow vertical aperture; is

lashed by the waves in a storm with tumultuous noise;

and sometimes ejects from its terminal aperture a column
of foam 40 feet high, resembling the Iceland geysers. St

Govan's chapel is a curious building on the coast, situated

half-way down a ravine, and approached by some rude steps.

The interior is about 18 feet by 12, contains a stone altar

with piscina and aumbry, and has three windows. It is

erroneously supposed to have been the retreat of Sir Gawain,
a nephew of King Arthur, and a knight of the legendary

Round Table; but it was probably built sometime in the 14th

century, and dedicated to St Cofen or Govein, the daughter

of Tewdrig, Prince of South Wales. Near the chapel is a

holy well, which was formerly thought to possess miraculous

healing virtues. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St

David's; net value, £147 with residence. Patron, the Earl

of Cawdor. The church is an Early English edifice consist-

ing of tower, nave, transepts, and chancel. There are three

bells, and the tower, nave, and transepts are crossed with

plain barrel vaulting. The east window, a triple lancet, is

filled with good stained glass, representing the Crucifixion

and other scenes in the Saviour's life. In the churchyard

there still exists au ancient cross erected on three steps, all

made of the local limestone. On the intersection of the arms
of the cross is to be seen a mask of the Saviour's face.

Boskednan, a locality 4 miles NNW of Penzance, in Corn-

wall. It commands an extensive view of wild country and of

the ocean, and has a Druidical circle, 66 feet in diameter, with

eight stones erect and three prostrate.

Boskenna, a locality in St. Buryan parish, Coniwall, 5

miles SW of Penzance. It lias a cromlech ; is near the Bos-

cawen Druidical circle, and is thought to have been the seat

of an archdruid.

Bosley, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical pai'ish,

in Prestbury parish, Cheshire, adjacent to the Macclesfield

canal, 5 miles S byW of Macclesfield, The village has a sta-

tion on the North Staffordshire railway, and a post-office under

Congleton, which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

Acreage of township, 3197; population, 364. There is a

large reservoir connected with the Macclesfield Canal. The
living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Chester; groins

value, £90 with residence. Pati'on, the Vicar of Prestbury.

The chmxh, originally Norman, was rebuilt, with the ex-

ceptiun of the tower, in 1777.

Bosmere, a lake and a hundred in Suffolk, The lake lies

1 mile SE of Needham Market, is an expansion of the river

Gipping. covers about 30 acres, and abounds with fish. Bos-

mere Hall is adjacent. The hundi^ed bears the name of Bos-
mere and Claydon, and is mainly identical with the union,

hut of less ixtent.

Bossall, a tovniship, a small village, and a parish in N.R.
Yorkshire. The township lies on the river Derwent, 3 miles

S of Baaton-Hill station on the N.E.R., and 10 NE of York,

which is the post town; money order and telegraph office,

Stamford Bridge. Area of the township, including Butter-

BOSTON

Crambe, 2691 acres, of which 50 are water; population,

169. The pai'ish of Bossall extends beyond the York and
Scai'borough railway, and includes the townships of Harton^

Bossall, and Butter-Crambe. Area, 4694 acres; population

of the civil and ecclesiastical parishes, 292. The living is a

vicarage, united with the pei^petual curacy of Butter-Crambe,

in the diocese of York ; net value, £496 with residence. Pa-
ti'ons, the Dean and Chapter of Durham. The church is a

handsome cruciform edifice, with a central tower. Bossall

Hall, a handsome old building, is the seat of the lord of the

manor.

Bossenden, a wood 3J miles WNW of Canterbury, in Kent.

Here John Nichols Tom of Truro, whom crowds from the neigh-

bouring villages followed as a superhuman deliverer, under the

name of " Sir William Cowtenay, the knight of Malta, " was
shot, with eight of his followers.

Bossiney, a village m Tintagel parish, Cornwall, in a bleak

tract, 4^ miles NNW of Camelford. It was once a market-

town, and it sent two members to parliament from the time

of Henry III. till disfranchised by the act of 1832. It con-

sists of small cottages, and stands round a large barrow, oa

which the writ of election used to be read. Sir Francis Drake,

Sir Francis Cottington, and other distinguished men repre-

sented it in parliament. A singular cove, small and murky,

called Bossiney Hole, is under the cliffs on the adjacent

coast.

Bossingham, a hamlet in Upper Hai-dres parish, Kent, 5^
miles S of Canterbury.

Bossington, a tithing in Somerset, on the E side of Por-

lock Bay. Bossington hamlet, about a mile inland, is strik-

ingly picturesque. Bossington beacon, flanking the bay, is a

ridge 801 feet high, commands brilliant views, and has beeu

adorned with paths and tasteful woods by its proprietor, Sir

Thomas D. Acland,Bart. In 1884 the village of Bossington

was added to the parish of Selworthy.

Bossington, a parish in Hants, on the river Anton, and

on the Roman road from Winchester to Sarum, 1 mile from

Horsebridge station on the L. & S.W.R. and Sh miles SSW
of Stockbridge, which is the post town. Acreage, 1593

;

population, 100. The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed

to the rectory of Broughton, in the diocese of Winchester.

The church is a handsome edifice, of stone and flint, in the

Eai'Iy English style.

Bostock, a village and a township in Davenham parish,

Cheshire, on the Chester and Nantwich Canal, 2^ miles NW
of Middlewich. Acreage, 1165; population, 213. Bostock

Hall, erected in 1775, is the chief residence.

Boston, a municipal and parliamentary borough, market-

town, and parish, and the head of a miion and county court

district, situated in the south-eastern part of Lincolnshire.

The town stands on the river Witham, 5 miles from the Wash,
32 SE by E of Lincoln, and 116 byroad and 107j by rail fron^

London. It is a first-class station on the East Lincolnshire

branch of the G.N.R. and junction of the lines to Grantham,

Lincoln, and Slcaford. The Romans are supposed to have had
a feiTy a short distance below it, and a fort at the mouth of

the Witham. A monastery was built at it in 6 54 by the Saxon,

St Botolph, and destroyed by the Danes in 870 ; and this iy

believed to have given rise to the name Boston, written first

Botolph's-town, afterwards Bostonstow. The monastery was
rebuilt soon after 870 ; four priories, Augustinian, Dominican,

Franciscan, and Cannelite, together with three colleges or

hospitals, also were built ; a castle of Raimlph, Eaid of Rich-

mond, likewise was erected; and thougli these dated from

only the 13th and following centuries, they indicate a large

amount of early prosperity. A tax levied in 1204 produced

£780 from Boston and £836 from London. The town suf-

fered gi'eatly from a fire in the time of Edward I., and from an

inundation iu 1285 ; it was made a stapli* port for tin, lead,

wool, leather, and other commodities in the time of Edward
III. ; and it sent sixteen ships to the siege of Calais. It

afterwards suffered much decline from the silting up of its

harbour ; and it continued till recently to suffer embarrass-

ment from the same cause, but since the passing of the Witham
Outfall Improvement Act of 1880, a new channel has been

cut to the Wash, the old channel has been closed by an embank-
ment, and the navigable capacity of the pert has been increased

till it can now admit vessels of upwards of 2000 tons instead

of 300. A portion of its inhabitants were Ieadex"S iu the
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great Puritan emigration, about 1630, to America; and tliey

gave its name to wliat is now the capital of New England.

The town is cut into two parts, east and west, by the

Witbam, and is well built. A long street, called Bargate,

and a spacious market-place, are on the E side of the river;

and another long street, called High Street, nearly parallel

vnth the river, is on the W side. An elegant iron bridi];e of

ene arch of 8G feet, after a design by Rennie, spans the river

;

and was erected in 1804-7 at a cost of £22,000. There is

a pleasant promenade on the banks of the river, tastefully

laid out in walks and planted with trees, adjoining which are

the people's park, public gardens, and recreation gi-ounds.

Water-works were formed in 1850, and g:is-works were estab-

lished in 1826. There are a guild-hall, a sessions-house and

assembly-rooms, a corn exchange, a theatre, an hospital, and

a freemason's ball—the last, in the Egyptian style, built in

1860. The ancient monasteries and castle have disappeared

;

but Hussey-tower, built by William Lord Hussey, who was

beheaded at Lincohi in the time of Hemy VIII., is near Skir-

beck Koad. The parish church is Decorated English, with

grand interior ; and had it been cruciform, would have rivalled

most of the lesser cathedrals. It measures 282^ feet by i)9,

has a south porch and a south-west chapel, contains an altar-

piece after Rubens, an ancient font, and monuments of the

Tilneys; and was extensively restored in 1850-51, under the

direction of the late Sir G. Gilbert Scott, R.A- Its tower, the

celebrated " Boston Stump," is 262|feet high; was built after

the model of the north-west steeple of Antwerp Cathedral ; is a

master-piece of skill, and terminates in an octagonal lantern,

which formerly was lighted up at night to guide seamen to

the port. A white marble statue of Jfr. Herbert Ingram,

founder of the " Illustrated London News," is in the church-

yard. A chapel attached to the church was restored in 1857,

under the superintendence of Sir G. G. Scott, as a memorial

to the Rev. John Cotton, who was vicar from 1612 to 1633,

when he proceeded with many of his parishioners to America,

and became pastor of Boston, Massachussets—the town being

named after that which they had left at home. The expense

of the restoration of part of his old church was home by

Americans. The chapel of ease in High Street was built in

1822, and the chapel of ease (St James's) in George Street

in 1861. There is a Roman Catholic church, erected in

1826, and there are also chapels for General and Particular

Baptists, two Congregational chapels, a spacious Wesleyau

chapel with sittings for 2000 people, Primitive Jlethodist,

Methodist New Connexion, Free Methodist, and Unitarian

chapels, and a place of meeting for the Plymouth Brethren.

There is an endowed Grammar School, two other endowed

schools, and several elementary schools.

The port of Boston extends on the S to Sutton Corner, the

western limit of the port of Wisbeach, and on the N to Trus-

thorpe Drain, the southern limit of the port of Grimsby. An
extensive dock was completed on the river in 1884, which is

capable of receiving vessels of 2000 tons burden, is con-

nected with the G.N.R. by a swing bridge, aud has a water

area of about 7 acres. The number of vessels registered as

belonging to the port in 1893 was 57 (3611 tons). The
entries and clearances each average 580 (110,000 tons) per

annum. The chief exports of the port are coal, corn and

other agricultural produce ; and the chief imports are timber,

hemp, tar, grain, and linseed. Regular steamers leave the

dock twice weekly for Hamburg, and by means of the Witbam
and the various canals communicating with the Trent, the

town has inland navigation to almost ever}' part of the king-

dom. It is also the centre of considerable trade in fish, some
39 steam trawlers and numerous smacks being employed

in taking fish of various kinds. Among the industries of

the town may be enumerated, agricultural implement making,

brewing, malting, seed crushincr, rope making, iron and brass

founding, the manufacture of whiting, mustard, and cigars.

Weekly markets ai*e held" on Wednesday and Saturday, and
fairs on 4 May for sheep and 5 May for cattle ; Aug. 5 for

fat cattle ; Sept. 15 for foals, cattle, and general merchan-
dise; Nov. 18, 19, and 20 fur horses; and Dec, 11 for

cattle. The town is a head post, money order, and telegraph

office, has four banks and a savings bank, several good

hotels, and publishes two weekly newspapers. Petty ses-

isions are held twice a week, and quarter sessions at the

regular periods. The town, which was first incorporated by
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charter in 154G, is now governed by a mayor, six aldermen,
and eighteen councillors. It formerly returned two members
to parhament, but by the redistribution of Seats Act of 1885
the number was reduced to one. The municipal and parlia-

mentary borough are not co-extensive. The municipal bor-

ough comprises Boston with Boston West, which also con-

stitutes the parish of Boston, but in the parliamentary

borough are included, Boston Skirbeck with SkirbeckQuarter,

and a portion of the parish of Fishtoft. Population of the

parliamentary borough (Holland division), 18,711; acreage,

7266. Ai-ea of the civil parish, 2732 acres, and of the muni-
cipal borough, 2765; population of the municipal borough,

14,503 ; of the ciWl parish, 14,570 ; of the ecclesiastical,

14,834. The municipal borough is divided into two wards,

called Bargate and West, Skirbeck parish, which nearly sur-

rounds the town of Boston, has an area of 2650 acres
; popu-

lation, 3023. The living of Boston is a vicarage united with

the perpetual ctu"acy of St James ; net yearly value, i£338

with residence. The chapel of ease, in High Street, is a sepa-

rate charge, and is endowed by the Corporation with £100
per annum. The living of Skirbeck parish, is a rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £240 with residence.

The church is an ancient building of stone in the Early Enghsh
style. It was restored in 1874. There is also a chapel of

ease, erected in 1885. Holy Trinity is an ecclesiastical parish,

formed in 1874 from Skirbeck parish. The church is a

building of stone in the Decorated style, and the living is a

vicarage ; net yearly value, £280 with residence. Shuff Fen
and Hall Hills, formerly extra parochial tracts, ai'e now
parishes in the union of Boston.

Boston-Deeps, the NW side of the Wash, leading np
to the mouth of the AVitham river, in Lincoln. It is divided

on the landward side, from the shore by Wainfleet and
Fiskney flats; and on the other side from Lynn-Deeps, by

the Long Sand, Dog's Heud, Roger, and Lynn-Knock shoals.

The part of it called the South Channel gives the best sea-

way, and has in some parts 4 fathoms of water, but is en-

cumbered by a shifting bar.

Boston-Spa forms with Clifford a township in Wetherby

union, and is an ecclesiastical parish, W. R. Yorkshhe. It ia

situated in a vale on the S side of the river Wharfe, 1 mile

SW of Thorpe-Arch railway station, and 3^ miles NW of

Tadcaster, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office.

A saline spring here was brought into notice in 1744, and
draws numerous invalids and other visitors to the village as

a watering-place. A pump-room, hot and cold baths, and
other kindred apphances are in operation, aud a number of

handsome residences are in the neighbourhood. Area of

township, 1619 acres; population, 2330; of the ecclesias-

tical parish, 1427, The church is Early English, and was

rebuilt in 1874-85 at a considerable cost. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of York
;

gross value, £270 with

residence. Patron, Christ Church, Oxford. There are

Wesleyau, Primitive Methodist, and Congregational chapels.

The Wharfedale College for Boys is at Boston Spa, and a

Roman Catholic Deaf and Dmnb Asylum is in the vicinity.

Boswiddy, a hamlet in St Erth parish, Cornwall, SJ
miles NE of IMarazion.

Bosworth, tlie western Parliamentary division of Leices-

tershire, was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act

of 1885, and returns one member to the House of Com-
mons. Population, 37,146. The division includes the fol-

lowing:—Ashby-de-la-Zouch—Asbby-de-la-Zoucb, Apple-

by, Blacltfordby, Coleorton, Donisthorpe, Heather, Hug-
glescote and Donnington, Normanton-le-heath, Packington,

Ravenstone, Seals, Snareston, Staunton Harrold, Swanning-

ton, Swepstone, Worthington and Newbold; Market Bos-

^vorth—Aston Flamville, Atterton, Bagworth, Barleston,

Barton, Barwell, Bilston, Bosworth (Market) and Coton,

Burbage and Sketchley, Cadeby, Carlton, Congerstone, Dad-

lington, Desford, Drayton, Earl Shilton, Elmesthorpe, Gop-

sall, Higham-on-the-Hill, Hinckley Borough, Ibstock, Kirk-

by Mallory, Knoll and Basset House, Nailstone, Newbold

Verdon, Norton-juxta-Twycross, Odston, Orton-on-the-Hill,

Osbaston, Peckleton, Potters Marston, RatclifFe Culey, Sap-

cote, Shackerstone, Sharaford, Sheepy Magna, Sheepy Parva,

Shenton, Sibson, Stanton-under-Bardon, Stapleton, Stoke

Golding, Stoney Stanton, Sutton Cheney, Thornton, Thurles-

ton, Twycross, Upton, Wytherlev.
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Bosworth Field. .Scc' JIaukkt Bos-n-or.Tn.

Bosworth Husbands. See Huseaxds Boswoktii.
Bosworth Market. See Market Bosworth.
Botallack, a tin and copper mine in the western penin-

sula of Cornwall, 2 miles N of St Just, and G KNE of

Land's End. It is paitly worked on the face of high clifls,

descends to a depth of 425 feet, runs out in one level 540
feet under the sea, goes twice as far in other levels into the

land, and is altogether as wonderful a work as the great

pvi'amid of Egypt. The scenery above it is remarkably grand,

and the cliffs consist of hornblende and clay slate, and con-

tain a gi'eat variety of curious minerals.

Botany-Bay, a hamlet in Enfield parish, Jliddlesex, Si-

miles }\K of Barnct, with a post ofiice under Chorley.

Botcherby, a township and small village in St Cnthbert

parish, Carlisle Union, Cumberland, 1 mile E of Carlisle,

with a post office under Carlisle, which is the money order

and telegraph office.

Botchergate, a township in St Cuthbert parish, Cumber-
land, within the city of Carlisle. It has a post and money
order office (T.S.O.) under Carlisle, which is the telegraph

office.

Botcheston, a hamlet in Ratby parish, Leicester, G

miles E by N of llarket Bosworth.

Botesdale (Botoljih's Dale) is a hamlet in the parish of

Kedgrave, and also a township consisting of Botesdale,

with portions of the parishes of Rickinghall Superior and
Rickinghall Inferior adjoining, in Suffolk. The hamlet stands

4J miies Wof Mellis station on the G.E.R., and 6 SW of

Diss, in Norfolk. It consists chiefly of one long street, has

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Diss, and

a bank. Acreage of township, 1269; population, 455. A
gr.ammar-school was founded in 1576 by Sir N. Bacon, but

under a scheme sanctioned in 1881 the funds are now applied

in the form of exhibitions to enable boys from elementary

schools to obtain a higher grade of education. The former

school is now used as a church. The living is a chapelry

annexed to the rectory of Kedgrave, in the diocese of Norwich.

Botesd.ale Lodge is a fine modem building of brick, standing

in the midst of extensive grounds.

Botbal, a village, a township, and a parish in Northumber-
land. Tlie village is pleasantly situated on the "Wansbeck river,

near the N.E.R., 3 miles E of Morpeth. It has a post office

under Morpeth, which is the telegraph office; money order

office, Ashington. Area of Bothal Demesne township, 3174
acres of land and 33 of water; population, 5426 ; of the

ecclesiastical parish, 2316. The parish includes the town-

ships of Oldmoor, Pegswood, Sheepwash, Bothal Demesne,

and Morpeth. The m.anor belonged in the time of Henry
II. to the Bertr.aras, passed by marriage first to the Ogles,

then to the Cavendishes, and belongs now to the Duke of

Portland. Remains of a castle of the Bertrams, and of an

ancient chapel of the Virgin, still exist. Coal is worked in

the neighbom'hood. The living of Bothal, with Hebburn,

is a rectory in the diocese of Newcastle-on-Tyne ;
gross value,

£1218. Patron, the Duke of Portland. The church, which
is a fine one, contains tombs of the Ogles.

Bothamsall, a village and a parish in Notts, in the vale

of Idle, near the Clumber and Thoresby Parks, 5 miles from

C]iecl«r House station on the M.S. & L.R. Post town,

Ollerton, under Newark. Acreage of parish, 2481
;
popula-

tion of civil parish, 272 ; of ecclesiastical, 264. The Duke
of Newcastle is lord of the m.anor and sole landowner. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell

;
gross value,

£50. Patron, the Duke of Newcastle. The church is good.

Bothel and Threapland, a township in Torpenhow

parish, Cumberland, near the river Ellen, 4J miles W of

Ireby. Acreage, 3380; population, 386. There is .an en-

dowed school here, and a post office at Bethel, under As-
patrla (R.S.O.) Limestone .abounds, and is worked.

Botheuhampton, a parish in Dorsetshire, adjacent to

the river Urit, and 1 mile from Bridport station on the

G.W.Ii. Post town, Bridport, which is the money order and

telegraph ofBce. Acreage, 837; population of the civil

parish, 490 ; of the ecclesiastical, 493. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £97 with

residence. Tlie church is good.

Botley, a hamlet in North Hinksey parish, Berks, 2 miles

W of Oxford, under which it hi» a post office.
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Botley, a hamlet in Chesham parish, Bucks, li mile E of

Chesbam. There is a Baptist chapel.

Botley, a village and a parish in Hants, The village

stands on the river Hamble, and has a station on the
L. & S.W.R., 79 miles from London, and 4 SW of

Bishops-Waltham. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (S.O.) A considerable trade is done in flour

and timber; a fortnightly market is held on Monday. The
pai-ish comprises 2095 acres of land and 40 of foreshore and
water; population of the civil parish, 1114; of the ecclesi-

astical, 819. Botley Grange and Botley Hill are chief resi-

dences. A farm here was held by the political writer William
Cobbett. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester ;

net value, £265 with residence. The cliurch was built iu

1835, enlarged in 1859, and again in 1892. There is a
Congregational chapel.

Botleys and Lyne, a cbapeli7 in Chertsey parish, Surrey,

near the Chertsey branch of the S.W.R., 2 miles SW of

Chertsey, which is the post, money order, .and telegraph

office. Population, 586. Botleys Park is a chief residence,

and has richly wooded grounds. The chapelry was consti-

tuted in 1849. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Winchester
;
gross value, £300 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Winchester. The church is good.

Botolph or Buttolphs, a parish in Sussex, on the river

Adur, IJ mile SSE of Steyning, and 1 S by E of Bramber
station on the L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Steyning, under

Brighton. Acreage, 920
;
population, 70. The living is a

vicarage, annexed to the rectory of Bramber, in the diocese

of Chichester. The church has remains of Saxon architec-

ture.

Botolph-Bridge or Bottle-Bridge, formerly a parish in

Huntingdonshire, near the river Nen and the G.N.R., 2

miles SW of Peterborough. It now forms part of the parish

of Overton-Longueville.

Botolph-Claydon, a hamlet in East Claydon parish,

Bucks, 3^ miles south-west of Winslow. It has a post office

under Winslow, which is the nroney order and telegraph

office.

Botolph, St. See London, Cajibkidge, Colchester,
and Lincoln.

Botolph's Dale. See Botesdale.
Botolph's Town. See Boston.
Botrual, a township in Llanfalr-Talhaiarn parish, Den-

bighshire, 4^ miles S of Abergele.

Botsworth. See Bottesford, Leicester.

Bottesford, a township and a parish in Lincolnshire.

Tlie township lies 4 miles E of the river Trent, 3 S of Frod-
ingham station on the M.S. & L.R., and 7 W of Brigg.

The parish contains also the townships of Ashby, Yaddle-

thorpe. Holme, and part of East Butterwick, and its post

town is Ashby-undcr-Brigg ; money order office, Ashby

;

telegraph office, Scunthorpe. Area, 5406 acres; popu-

lation of the civil parish, 298 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2094.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln
;
gross yearly

value, £280 with residence. In the gift of the Dean and
Chapter of Lincoln. The parish church Is a building of

stone, chiefly of the Early English period. Ashby, East

Burrlngham, and East Butterwick are noticed under sepa-

rate headings.

Bottesford or Botsworth, a village, a township, and a
parish iu Leicestershire, The village stands in the vale of

Bclvoir, about a mile N of the Nottingham and Grantham
can.al, on which there is a wharf, and 7 miles WNW of

Grantham. It has a station on the G.N.R., and a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Nottingham. The
parish includes also the hamlets of Easthorpe and Norman-
ton. Acreage, 4978

;
population, 1286. The manor was

giveu at the Conquest to K. de Todeni, and belongs now to

the Duke of Rutland. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Peterborough; gross value, £800 with residence. Patron,

the Duke of Rutland. The church is large, cruciform, and
very good, with a tower at the west end, and contains monu-
ments to Lords Roos and to many of the Earls of Rutland.

There are also Particular Baptist, Congi'egational, Primitive

I^Iethodlst, and Wesleyan chapels, an endowed school, some
almshouses, and several useful charities.

Botteslow, a township in Fenton parish, Staffordshire, IJ
mile NW of Great Fenton.
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Bottisham, a larso village and a parish in Cambridge-

shire. The village stands on an affluent of the river Cam,
with a station on the G.E.K., Gj miles ENE of Camhridge,

under which it has a post, money order, and telegraph

ofBce, and is a seat of petty sessions. The parish includes

also the hamlets of Lode, or Bottisham Lode, Fen, and Long-

meadow. Acreage, Si'OT; population, 1501. Bottish.am

Hall is the seat of the Jenyns family. Traces exist at

Anglesey of an Augustinian priory founded in the time of

Henry I. The living is a vicar.age in the diocese of Ely ; net

v.ilue, il300 with residence. Patron, Trinity College, Cam-
bridge. The church is a beautiful building of flint and stone,

and one of the finest specimens of pure Decorated in the county.

The hamlets of Bottisham Lode, Longme.adow, and Fen were

formed in 18G3 into the ecclesiastical parish of St James.

The church is a building of stone, erected in 1853. The
living is a vicarage ; net yearly value, X153, in the gift of

Trinity College, Cambridge. There ar-o B.aptist and Congre-

gational chapels.

Bottle-Bridge. See Botoi.ph-Bridge.

Bottom Boat, a hamlet in the township of Stanley-cum-

Wrenthorpe, Waketield parish, W. R. Yorlishire, 1 mile from

Stanley station on the G.N.R. There is a Primitive iiletho-

dist cbapel.

Botton. See Wkat-with-Botton.
Bottor-Eock, a fissured trap hill adjacent to Hennock

village, and 3 miles W by N of Chudleigh, in Devonshire.

It towers conspicuously over a large tract of country, and

commands a magnificent view.

Bottreaux. See Boscastle.

Bottwnog, a parish in the Llejii Peninsula, Carnarvon-

shire, 7 miles SSW of Nevin, and ii WSW of Pwllheli, under

which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph office,

Sarn. Acreage, 487; population, 162. The living is a

rectory .annexed to that of Jleyllteyrne. The church, dedi-

cated to St Beuno, was built in 1885, .and contains a fine

stained glass window. There are Baptist and Calvinistic

Methodist chapels, and an intcnuediate school.

Botus-Fleming, a parish in Cornwall, 1 mile from the

Tamar, and 3 miles N\V of Saltash station on the G.W.E.
There is a post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage,

1149
;
population, 203. The manor belonged to the Fle-

mings of Stoke-Fleming. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Truro ; net value, £7-2 with residence. The clui-eh

is good, and was restored in 1873. There is a Wesleyan
chapel.

Botwell, a hamlet in Hayes parish, Jliddlesex, 4i miles

SE of Uxbridge. There is a station here called Hayes, on

the G.W.R., for Hayes and Harlington.

Boughrood, a village and a parish in Radnorshire, on

the S\V border of the county and the river Wye, with a station

on the Cambrian railway, 4 miles N\V of Talgarth, and 7

WSW of Hay. Post town, Llyswen (R.S.O.) ; money order

and telegi'aph office, Glasbury. Acreage of parish, 1722
;

population, 227. Boughrood Castle, on the site of an ancient

baronial fort.alice, of which slight vestiges remain, is a square

modern mansion, and a chief residence. The scenery is

wooded, romantic, and picturesque. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St D,avid's; net value, £166 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Bishop of St David's. The church

is modern.

Boughton, a hamlet in Diddington and Southoe parishes,

Huntingdonshire, 3J miles N of St Neot's.

Boughton, a h.amlet in Asgarby parish, Lincolnshire, 2

miles E of Sleaford.

Boughton, a hamlet in St John-Bedwardine parish,

Worcestershire, 2 miles SW of Worcester.

Boughton, a hamlet in Weekley parish, Xorthamptonshire,

3J miles XE of Kettering. Boughton House here belonged

formerly to the Jlontagues, and is now one of the seats of

the Duke of Buccleuch. It is a huge quadrangulai' building,

surrounded by splendid avenues of elms and limes, and it

contains many valuable paintings, tapestries, and articles of

furniture.

Boughton, a pjirish in Northamptonshire, on an affluent

of the river Nen, and on the Northampton and Jliuket-

Harborough branch of the L. & N.W.R., IJ mile SE of

Brampton station, and 3 miles N of North.ampton. A large

fau: is held here ou 24, 26, and 26 June, and it has a fost

BOUGHTON-UNDER-BLEAN

and money order ollico under Northampton ; telegraph office,

JlouUon. Acreage, 1466
;

popul.ation, 2ti3. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross value, i230

with residence. The church, with the exception of the tower,

is modern, and there are a AVesleyan chapel and a chai'ity

of 48 acres. Boughton Hall is a chief residence.

Boughton, a village and a parish in Norfolk,
1 J mile N

of Stoke-Ferry, and 7 E by S of Downham stations on the

G.E.R. Post town, Stoke-Ferry, which is also the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage of parish. 1353

;
popu-

lation, 211. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Nor-

wich ; net value, £270 with residence. The church, rebuilt

in 1872 with the exception of the tower, is a building of

stone in the Early English and Decorated styles. There is

a Wesleyan chapel.

Boughton, a village and a pai-ish in Notts. 2 miles NE of

Ollerton, and 6 SW of Tuxford railway station. Post town,

Ollerton, near Newark. Acreage of pai'ish, 1374
;
popula-

tion, 286. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of South-

well
;
gross value, £296 with residence. Patrou, the Lord

Chancellor. There are two dissenting chapels.

Boughton, Kent. See Boughtox-uxder-Blean.
Boughton-Aluph, a parish in Kent, adjacent to the river

Stour, li mile WNW of Wye station on the S.E.R., and 4

miles NNE of Ashford. It contains Boughton-Lees, which

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Ashford.

Acreage, 2425 : population, 571. The manor belonged in

the time of King John to Alulph de Boughton. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury, and is now joined

to the rectory of Eastwell ; value, £480 with residence. The
church is ancient and cruciform, with a central tower, and
contains a piscina and monuments of the Jloyles. It was
thoroughly restored in 1893. A remarkable 15th century

fresco of the Holy Trinity was discovered, and also a piscina,

in the south transept.

Boughton-Blean. See Boughtox-under-Blean.
Boughton, Great, a village and a township in St Oswald

parisli, Cheshire, and partly within Chester city, 1 mile E of

Chester, under which it has a post and money order office

(T.S.O.) Acreage of township, 723
;

population, 739.

Tarvin Union Workhouse is in this township. Boughton
Hall has been in the possession of the Currie family for

generations, and is a good 17th century mansion.

Boughton Hill. See Boughton-i"xder-Bleas.
Boughton-Kettering. See Bougiitox, Weekley, North-

ampton.

Boughton-Lees. See Boughtox-Aluph.
Boughton-Malherbe, a parish in Kent, on the verge of

the Weald, 2 miles from Lenham station on the L.C. & D.R.,

and 10 ESE of Maidstone. Post town, Lenh.am, under

Miiidstone. Acreage, 2710; population. 431. The manor
belonged in the time of Henry HI. to the Malherbe family,

passed to the Wottons, of whom was Sir Henry Wotton*

whose life was written by Isaac Walton, passed again to Sir

Horace Mann, the correspondent of Walpole, and belongs now
to the Wykeh.am-Cornwallis family. The manor-house bears

the name of Boughton Place, was built by Sir Edward WottoQ

in the time of Henry VIII., and visited by Queen Elizabeth,

and ,is now a farmhouse, retaining some of the ancient

rooms. The materials of it are said to have been Colbridgc

Castle, the baroniiil fortalice of the Peyferers, some traces of

which still exist near the church. Chilstou Park is a seat

in the neighbourhood. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Canterbury ; value, £238 with residence. The church

is Decorated English, in good condition.

Boughton-Monchelsea, a parish in Kent, near the

Weald, 4 miles S by E of Maidstone station on the L.C. &
D.R. and S.E.K. It has a post office; money order o65ceT

Jliiidstone; telegr-aph office, Linton. The parish com-
prises 2383 acres; population of the civil parish, 1116;
of the ecclesiastical, 1117. The manor belonged an-

ciently to the Monchelseas of Swanscombe. Kentish rag

is extensively worked. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Canterbury ; net value, £306 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Rochester. The church is very good

;

it w-as enlarged and restored in 1874.

Boughton Place, .^le IUiightox-M-vlherbe.

Boughton-under-Blean, a village and a parish in Kent.

The village stands ou the edg'.- of Bleau Forest, 2 miles from
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Selling station on the L.C. & D.R., and has a post, money
order, and telep;raph office of the name of Boughton, under

Faversham. The parish comprises 2H5 acres; population

of the civil parish, 1739 ; of the ecclesiastical, 174S. Nash
Court, then held by the Hawkinses, who were Roman Catho-

lics, was demolished by a mob in 1715, and rebuilt in 17G'>.

Boughton Hill, adjacent to the village, commands an exten-

sive and brilliant view. The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Canterbury ; net value, £280 with residence. Patron,

the Archbishop of Canterbury. The church comprises nave,

two aisles, a south transept, three chancels, and a tower.

There are Wesleyan and Primitive Slethodist chapels. The
charities exceed £100 a year.

Boulby, a hamlet in Easington parish, N. R. Yorkshire,

9 miles K of Guisborough, and 1 mile from Easington station

on the X.E.R. Extensive alum-works have been in opera-

tion here since 1615. An old edifice, now a farmhouse, was
the seat of the Converses.

Bouldon, a township in Holdgateand Diddlebury parishes,

Salop, on the Pye Brook, 7^ miles NNE of Ludlow. It was
transferred in 1881 to Diddlebury parish for civil purposes,

but remains in that of Holdgate ecclesiastically. There is a
small church.

Bouley Bay, a bay on the NE side of Jersey, immedi-
ately W of Rozel Tower, and 3| miles SSW of the Dirouilles.

It has a half-moon outline, and measures 1^ mile across the

entrance.

Boulge, a parish iu Suffolk, 3 miles NXW of Woodbridge
station on the G.E.R. Post town, Woodbridge; money order

and telegraph office. Melton. Acreage, 545; population of

the civil parish, 48 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Debach,

188. The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of

Debach, in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross value, £23B with

residence. The church is a small editice of flint in the Early

English style. Boulge Hall is a chief residence.

Boulmer and Seaton-House, part of the township and
parish of Long Houghton, Northumberland, on the coast, 5^
miles E of Alnwick. The coast is diversified with Boulmer
Point and Boulmer Bay, and the inhabitants are chiefly

fishermen. There is a mission chapel.

Eoulsdon and Killcott, a tithing in Newent parish,

Gloucestershire, 2 miles S\V of Newent.

Boulston, a parish in Pembrokeshire, on the river Cleddau,

3 miles SE by S of Haverfordwest, which is the post town.

Acreage, 1569 of land, and 199 of water and foreshore
;

population, 111. The living is a donative in the diocese of

St David's. The church contains monuments of the Wogans.
Boulstone or Bolstone, a village and a parish in Here-

.fordshire, adjacent to the river Wye, 2 miles S bv U' of

Holme-Lacy station on the G.W.R., 7 SSE of Hereford, and
9 NW of Ross, which is the post town ; money order office,

Hoai^withy ; telegraph office, Holme-Lacy railway station.

Acreage of the civil parish, 674; population, 51; of the

ecclesiastical, including Ballingham, 188. The manor be-

longs to the Earl of Chesterfield. The living is a rectory,

a,nnesed to the vicarage of Ballingham, in the diocese of

Hereford; gross value, £261. Patron, the Earl of Chester-

field. The church was rebuilt in 1877.

Boulsworth, a mountain on the mutual border of Lanca-
shire and Yorkshire, part of the backbone of England, 5^
miles ENE of Burnley. Its altitude is 1700 feet.

Boultham, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, on the

river Witham, 2 miles SSW of Lincoln, the post, money order,

a.nd telegraph office. The M.R. runs through the parish.

Acreage of the parish, 1330; population, 527. Boultham
Hall is a chief residence. The living is a rectory, with the

Ticarage of Bracebridge annexed, in the diocese of Lincoln

;

joint gross yearly income, £370 with residence at Bracebridge.

The church, an edifice of stone in the Early English and
Perpendicular styles, was restored in 1887. In the church-

yard there is a memorial of the men of the 47th regiment

who fell in the Crimea, consisting of a block of granite from
the fortifications of Sebastopol over 2 tons in weight. Boul-

tham Hall is a large mansion standing in a park of 70 acres.

Boulton, a township which, united with that of Alvaston,

was constituted in 1884 a civil parish in Derbyshire, on the

Derby Canal, 3 miles SE of Derby, which is the post town
and nearest railway station. Area of the ciWl parish, 2154
acres

;
population, 3116 ; of the ecclesiastical parish of Boul-

208

BOURNE-END

ton, 972. The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of

Southwell; gross value, £171 with residence. The church
is partly Nonnan, and was restored in 1871 and in 1887.
The Primitive Methodist New Connexion have a chapel.

Boundary, The, a parish in Derbyshire, 2j miles NW of

Ashby-de-la-Zouch. Acreage, 4; population, 94.

Bounds-Green, a locality in Middlesex, adjacent to the
New river and to the G.N.R., 1 mile from New Soutbgate
station. It is chiefly in the parish of Tottenham, but is in-

cluded in the district of Wood Green, formed in 1888.

Bourg, Le, a village iu St Clement parish, Jersey.

Bouridge. See Boveridge.
Bourn, a village and a parish in Cambridgeshire, very

pleasantly situated on an affluent of the river Cam, 2
miles SSE of Caxton, and 1^ mile NE from Old North
Road station on the L. & N.W.R., with a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Cambridge. Acreage of parish,

4175
;
population, 785. Bourn Hall, formerly the seat of the

De-la-Warr family, is an Elizabethan mansion surrounded
by a park of about 20 acres. The manor belonged to Jlorcar

the Sason, and passed to the De-la-Warrs, and a castle on
it was destroyed in the Civil Wars of the time of Heniy III.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely ; net value,

£163 with residence. Patron, Christ College, Cambridge.
The church is a spacious building of stone in the Transition,

Early English, and Later styles.

Bourne, a union and market-town and parish in Lincoln-

shire. The town stands on a flat tract, adjacent to the fens,

with a station on the Bourne and Essendine branch of the

G.N.R. , 10 miles E of Stamford. The town has a head post

and telegraph office, two banks and a savings bank, and some
good hotels. A large spring, known as the '* Well Head," is

the source of a rivulet called the Bom-ne Eau, which is

crossed by an old Saxon bridge. Hereward the Wake had a

camp here, the remains of which are still visible. A strong

castle was built in the Sason times, made long and vigorous

resistance to William the Conqueror, and was given by Wil-
liam Rufus to Walter Fitzgilbert, but has disappeared. An
Augustinian abbey was founded in 1138 by Baldwin Fitz-

gilbert, but is known now only by its site. The town suffered

severely by fire in 1605 and 1637, and now consists chiefly

of four streets diverging from the market-place. The Bull

Inn is an edifice said to have been built by William, Lord
Burleigh. The Red Hall, a brick structure long held by the

Digby family, has been converted into a railway station. A
new branch railway was opened in 1893 connecting Bourne
with Sasby, forming a connection with the M.R. and G.N.R.,

and reducing the distance between the Midlands and Spalding,

Lynn Harbour and Docks, Melton Constable, Tnkenham,
Sherringbam, Cromer, Norwich, and Yarmouth. The town-
hall, in the market-place, built at a cost of £3600, in-

cludes court-rooms. The petty sessions are held here every

alternate Thursday, a county court meeting monthly, and
the quarter sessions for Kesteven are held alternately here

and at Sleaford. A public hall and corn exchange was erected

in 1870 at a cost of £2000. The parish church is chiefly

Norman, consists of nave, side aisles, a short south transept,

and a lofty chancel, had formerly two large west end towers,

and was renovated in 1852, again in 1883, and beautifully

restored in 1892. There are also Baptist, Congregational,

and Wesleyan chapels, an endowed grammar school, alms-

houses for six men and six women, other charities, and a
workhouse erected at a cost of £9000, with accommodation
for 300 inmates. A weekly market is held on Thursday,

and fairs on 7 March, G May, 30 Sept., and 29 Oct. Wool-
stapling and malting are earned on. The great Lord Bur-
leigh was a native. The parish includes also the hamlets

of Dyke and Cawthorpe. Acreage, 10,103; population,

4191. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln;

net value, £290 with residence, in the gift of tnistees.

The town possesses charities worth about £700 a year.

Bourne, a hamlet in Piddletown parish, Dorsetshire, 5J
miles NE of Dorchester. Sail-elotli is manufactm*ed.

Bourne, Surrey. See Wrecklesham.
Bourne, Hants. See Boukne-St-Mary.
Bourne, East. See Eastbourne.
Bourne-End, a village in Bovington parish, Herts, 2

miles ESE of Bcrkhampstead. It has a church, a Congi'e-

gational chapel, a post office, and an industrial school.
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Bournemouth, a manicipal borougli and a much freqaented

watering-place in the parishes of Christchurch and Holden-

hurst, Hants. It has two stations, East and West Bourne-

month, on the L. & S.W.R., 107 miles from London. The

town Las increased rapidly, and contains many beautiful

mansions and villas; it is much recommended by medical

men for invalids on account of its mild and genial atmosphere,

and for its extensive pine woods, for which this district

is justly celebrated. The medicinal properties thrown off by

the pine trees are invaluable to those suffering from pulmonary

disorders. The water supply is obtained from the neigh-

bourhood of Longham, Dorset, and is of the purest quality.

The pier, opened in 1880, is of iron, with pitch-pine floor,

and contains handsome and sheltered seats, with central

bandstand ; there is a landing-stage for steamers and boats

;

the total cost was £23,000. The harbour of Poole is

entered from the Great Bay, west of the Isle of Wight,

and is subdivided into the Christchurch, Hengistbury, and

Poole Bays, Bournemouth being situated at the centre of the

latter bay. The Chiu-ch of St Peter was originally a mere

seaside village church, but it has been so much enlarged and

improved from time to time that very little of the original

building remains, and it now stands a very fine structure in

the Modem Gothic style. It contains some elaborate speci-

mens of carving, also many mural paintings, and some beauti-

ful frescoes designed by Mr. Bodley. The living is a vicarage

with an endowment of £150 with residence. The Church

of the Holy Trinity is a red brick building in the Lombardo-

Gothic style, erected in 1869 ; it was enlarged in 1877, and
contains a very fine pulpit of alabaster and coloured marble.

The living is a vicai'age endowed with £150. The Church

of St Clement is a stone edifice in the 14th century style,

erected in 1872. The living is a vicarage; gross value,

£283 with residence. The Chm-ch of St Michael is a stone

building in the Early English style, erected in 1870. The
living is a vicar.age endowed with £150 yearly and residence.

St Stephen s Chm'ch is a very fine structure, erected in 1885
;

the w-alls are of brick, faced outwards with Swanage stone,

and internally with Bath ashlar work. His Royal Highness

Prince Oscar of Sweden w.as married in this church on 17

March, 1888. The living is a vicarage endowed with £150
and residence. The Chmxh of St Augustine, built partly of

stone and red brick, was opened in 1892. There are two
chapels of ease, viz.—St Swithin's and St Ambrose. The
Catholic Oratory of the Sacred Heart is a stone edifice in the

Gothic style, erected in 1875. There are Congregational,

Baptist, and Wesleyan chapels, a meeting-house for the Society

of Friends, and a Unitarian chapel, which was erected in 1891.

The Royal Victoria Hospital was erected as a memorial of the

jubilee of Her M.ajesty's reign ; it is a stone building contain-

ing 36 beds. The National Sanatorium for Consumption
and Diseases of the Chest is a splendid stone building,

lighted throughout with electric light, and contfiins 62 beds;

this institution was opened in 1855, and cost about £15,000.

The Firs Home for patients in advanced consumption is an

admirable institution, and most comfortable in every way.

There are several convalescent homes. The Hotel Mont
Dor^ is situated on an eminence near the centre of the town.

Adjoining the hotel is a large bath, containing Turkish and
other baths, and a very beautiful winter garden has been

added. There are about eight other first-class hotels, a con-
siderable number of very fine boarding-houses, two clubs,

a public library, a Young Men's Christian Association Insti-

tute, and one for young women, three public h.al]s, a theatre,

a school of art, a coastguard station, and four banks,

while four newspapers are published weekly. The Public

Winter Gardens have been re-aiTanged. There is a large

pavilion, where a band plays twice daily. The post office,

erected in 1880 at a cost of nearly £3000, is a building of

Bath stone in the Classic style. Bournemouth was created

a municipal borough in 1890. Acreage, 2415 ; population,

37,781. There is a park, covering 129 acres, in immediate
proximity to the town.

Bourne, River, a stream of Dorset and Hants. It rises

2 miles SW of Kingston, and runs 4 miles south-eastward

to Poole Bay at Bournemouth.

Bourne, River, a stream of Warwickshire. It rises 2
miles SW ol .\therstone, and runs 10 miles west-sonth-
westward to the Blythe, in the vicinity of Coleshill.
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Bourne, River, a stream of Hants and Wilts. It rises

near Easton, in Wilts, goes 10 miles southward, past CoUing-
burn, and through the border of Wilts, to Park House, then
proceeds 10 miles south-westward, past Boscombe, Porton,

and the Winterboumes, to the Avon below Salisbury.

Boume-St-Mary, a tithing and a parish in Hants. The
tithing lies 1 mile from Hurstbourne station on the L. &
S.W.R., and 3 miles NW of Whitchurch, and has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Andover. The
parish includes also the tithings of Binley, Egbury, Stoke,

Swampfon, and Week. Acreage, 7746
;
population of the

civil parish, 1032 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Hurst-
bourne-Priors, 1407. The living is a perpetual curacy,

annexed to the vicarage of Hurstbonme-Priors, in the diocese

of Winchester ; value, about £255. The church is dedicated

to St Peter, and has one of the four grandest fonts in the

diocese. There are Methodist and Wesleyan chapels, and an
almshouse.

Bourne, West. See Westeouene.
Bourn Heath, a hamlet in Bromsgrove parish, Worcester-

shire, and Catshill ecclesiastical parish, 3 miles NNW of

Bromsgrove. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bourn Moor or Bummoor, a village, a township, and a
parish in Durham, with a post office under Fence Houses,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage

of township, 612; population, 1362; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 1634. The parish comprises the townships of Bourn
Moor, South Biddick, and Lambton, and part of Harraton, 1

mile NE of Fence Houses station on the N.E.R. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Durham
;
gross value, £405

with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Durham, who is

lord of the manor and chief landowner. There are four

dissenting chapels. There is a coUiery, also coke ovens and
brick factories.

Bourns, The, a tract in the valley of the Avon, S of

Amesbury, in Wilts.

Boumville, a suburb of Birmingham, in King's Norton
parish, Worcestershire, with a station on the M.R., IJ mile

NE of King's Norton.

Bourton, a township and a parish in Berks, on the Wilts

and Berks Canal, .about 1 mile SW of Shrivenham station on
the G.W.R., and 7 miles SW of Faringdon. Post town,

Shrivenham (R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegi-aph

office. Acreage of township, 1200
;
population, 260. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford
;
gross value,

£90, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The church, built

in 1861, is an edifice of stone in the Decorated style. There
is a Baptist chapel and there are six almshouses. Bourton
House is a chief residence.

Bourton, a hamlet in Buckingham parish, Bucks, within

Buckingham borough, 1 mile E of the town.

Bourton, a parish in Dorsetshu-e, on the verge of the

county, 3 miles SW of Mere, 4 NNW of Gillingham station

on the L. & S.W.R., and 4 from Wincanton. It has a
post, money order, and telegraph office under Bath. Acre-
age, 922

;
population of the civil parish, 782 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 761. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Salis-

bury ; net value, £277 with residence. The church is good

;

it was rebuilt in 1878-79. There are Baptist and Wesleyan
chapels ; also a large iron foundry, engine and boiler works,

and two brickyards.

Bourton, a township, with Callaughton, in Much-Wenlock
parish, Salop, 3 miles SSW of Wenlock. It has a post

office under Much-Wenlock, which is the money order and
telegraph office. The living is a perpetual curacy in the

diocese of Hereford
;
gross value, £62. There is a small

church.

Bourton, a tithing in Bishops-Canning parish, Wilts, 3J
miles NE of Devizes.

Bourton, a railway station in Somersetshire, on tie

G.W.R., at Flaxbourton, 5J miles WSW of Bristol.

Bourton, Warwickshire. See Bourton-upon-Duns-
MOOR.

Bourton, Black. See Blackbourtos.
Bourton, Flax. See Fl.\xbourton.

Bourton, Great and Little, a parish in Oxfordshire, 3

miles N of Banbury. It has a post office under Banbury,

which is the money order office ; telegraph office, Cropredy

(R.S.), which is the station on the G.W.R. Acreage, 1669
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of land and 12 of water; population, 440. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Oxford; net yearly value, £204, in

the gift of the Bishop of Oxford. The church, an edifice of

stone in the Eai-ly English and Decorated styles, was built in

1863, on the site of a church formerly connected with a

friary, hut latterly turned into cottages and a schoolhouse.

There are Congregational and VVesleyan chapels.

Bourtonhold, a district in the parish and borough of

Buckingham.

Bourton-on-the-Hill, a village .and a parish in Gloucester-

shire. The village stands on the side of a hill, commanding
a deUghtful prospect, 2 miles \V of Moreton station on the

G.W.R., and 4J N by W of Stow-on-the-Wold, and has a

post office under Moreton-in-the-Marsb, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage of parish, 2975

;
popu-

lation, 506. Bourton House is the chief residence. Sir

Thomas Overbury, who was poisoned in the Tower, was a

native. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; net value, £500 with residence. The church is

a large massive building of the Perpendicular period, with an

embattled western tower, and a piscina in the chancel.

There are four almshouses.

Bowrton-on-the-Water, a village and a parish in Glou-

cestershire. The village stands on the river Windrush, and
on the Fosse Way, 4 miles SSW of Stow-on-the-Wold, and
has a station on the G.W.R., and a post office (E.S.O.)

The parish comprises 2470 .acres
;

population of the civil

parish, 1127; of the ecclesiastical, including Clapton and
Lower Slaughter, 1492. Near the village is a large Roman
encampment, in which swords, coins, pottery, and other Ro-
man relics have been found. There .are fiour-mills, and
malting is carried on. A cottage hospital was erected in

1870. The living is a rectoiy, united with the chapelries of

Clapton and Lower SLaughter, in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; net value, £313 with residence. Patron, Wad-
ham College, Oxford. The church was originally Decor.ated,

but was p.artially rebuilt in 1784, when a tower with dome
and pinnacles was added ; it was restored in 1875. There

are Baptist .and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Bonrton-upon-Dunsmoor, a village and a parish in

Warwickshire, on Dunsmoor He.ath, near the river Leam, 1

mile SSE of Birdingbury st.ation on the L. & N.W.R., .and

5J miles SW by W of Rugby. The parish includes the hamlet

of Dr.aycott, and has a post office, of the name of Bourton,

under Rugby ; money order and telegi-.aph office, JIarton,

Acreage, 2144; popukation, 311. Bourton Hall is a Doric

mansion standing in a fine park. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Worcester; gross value, £310 with residence.

The church is ancient ; it has a tower with spire, and con-

tains a stone font of the 13th century, and a pulpit of 1607.

At Draycott there is a Baptist chapel.

Bousted Hill, a hamlet in the pari.sh of Burgh-by-

Sands, in Cumberland, 2^ miles from Burgh station on the

North British railway.

Bout, a village in Eskdale, Cumberland, with a station on

the Ravenglass and Eskdale line, 7 miles ENE of Ravenglass.

It has three inns, and is in the vicinity of waterfalls and
other attractions on the way up Eskdale to the mountain

passes into W.astdale-IIe.ad, Langdale, and Duddon Vale.

Bouthwaite, a hamlet in Fountains-Earth township,

Ramagill parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire, in the vicinity of

Ripon. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Boveney, a township in Burnham parish, Bucks, on the

river Thames, near the G.W.R., 2 miles W of Eton. Post

town, Windsor; money order and telegraph office, Burnham.
Acreage, 1133; population, 402. The living is a perpetual

curacy, annexed to the vicarage of Burnham, in the diocese

of Oxford.

Boveridge or Eouridge, a tithing in Cranbome parish,

Dorsetshire, IJ mile NE by N of Cranborne. It is a curacy

with Cranborn|f. Boveridge House is a seat in the neigh-

bourhood. \
Boverton, a hamlet in Llantwit-Major parish, Glamorgan,

on the Julian W.ay, IJ mile SE of Llantwit-Major. It

has a post office under Cowbridge ; money order and tele-

graph office, Llantwit-Major. It disputes with other places

tile claim of being the Roman Bovium, and it has traces of a

baronial fortalice which belonged first to the lords of Gla-

morgan, then to the family of Seys. The castle and the
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manor reverted to the Crown in the time of Richard III.,

but were granted by Henry VII. to Jasper, Duke of Bedford.

The manor now belongs to Lord Wimborne.

Bovey Brook or Wrey Eiver, a stream of Devonshire.

It rises in Dartmoor Forest, G miles SW of filoreton-Hamp-

stead, and runs about 18 miles, first north-eastward to the

vicinity of Moreton, next south-eastward to the Teign, 4
miles SW of Chudleigh. It traverses much romantic scenery,

and is notable for fronting.

Bovey-Heathfield. See Bovet, South.
Bovey, North, a parish in Devonshu-e, on the Bovey

Brook, on the E border of Dartmoor, near the Moreton-
Hampstead station on the G.W.R., IJ mile SW of Moreton-

Hampstead. It has a post office under Newton-Abbot;
money order and telegraph office, Moreton-Hampstead. Acre-

age, 5589
;
population of the civil p.arish, 417 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 426. The ancient lords of the manor had the power
of inflicting capital punishment. Most of the surface is

thickly strewn with fragments of rock. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £200 with resi-

dence. The church is very old, but good. There is a Wes-
leyan chapel.

Bovey, South, or Bovey-Tracey, a village and a parish

in Devonshire. The village stiinds on the Bovey Brook, and on

the G.W.R., 215 miles from London, and 5^ NW of Newton,
and has a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) It

was formerly a market-town, and still has fairs on Easter Mon-
day, Holy Thursday, and the first Thursday of July and Nov.

Part of an ancient cross stands in an open space in it, and
an ancient wayside monument is built into one of its houses.

The parish comprises 75G7 acres; population of the civil

parish, 2422 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2324. The manor be-

longed anciently to the Traceys, one of whom. Sir William

Tracey, was the leader in the assassination of Thomas h. Becket,

and belongs now to the Bentinck family. Cromwell made
a night attack on a part of Lord Wentworth's brig.ade here in

1646, and captured 400 troopers .and 7 standards. A reach

of valley adjacent to the village bears the name of Bovey-
Heathfield ; has a low flat bottom, seeming to have been

once a lake, and contains deposits of porcelain clay and

beds of lignite, called Bovey coal. The cl.ay is worked in an

interesting pottery close to the village, and the lignite is used

as fuel at the pottery, in lime-kilns. A gi'eat ridge of hills

flanks the v.alley, and culminates picturesquely in the Bottor

Rock. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter

;

gross v.alue, £342 with residence. Patron, the Crown. The
church is Perpendicular English, with a square tower, and

was renovated in 1857 and 1887. In 1889 a good organ

was placed in the church. A chapel of ease stands adjacent

to the pottery. There are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels.

The Devon House of Mercy was erected in 1807 ; it includes

a lofty chapel.

Bovey-Tracey. See Bovet, South.
Bovlngdon, a parish in Herts, on the verge of the

county, near the N.W.R. and the Grand .Junction Canal, 2

miles SW of Boxmoor railway station, 3J SSE of Berkhamp-
stead. It has a post and money order office under Hemel-
Hempstead ; telegi'aph office, Boxmoor. Acreage, 3958

;

population, 1056. The living is a vicarage, united with

Bourne-End, in the diocese of St Albans ; net value, £250
with residence. Patron, Trustees. The church is a building

of flint .and stone in the Gothic style, originally erected about

1340, and rebuilt in 1856. It contains some .ancient tombs

and monuments. There are Baptist .and Congregational

chapels. Bourne-End and Box-Lane are adjacent hamlets.

There is a school chapel at Bourne-End.

Bovisand, a small b.ay in Devonshire, on the E side of

Plymouth Sound, opposite the Breakwater, 3 miles SSE of

Plymouth. Here is a coastguard station, a gr.anite b.attery,

and a great water reservoir for ships.

Bow or Nymet-Tracey, a village and a p.arish in Devon-
shire. The village stands on the slope of a hill, and on the

L. & S.W.R., 188 miles from London, and 7i W by N of

Crediton, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

of Bow (R.S.O. , North Devon), and a railw.ay station. It

was formerly a market-town. The parish is called also

Nymet-Tracey. Acreage, 2867 ;
population of the civil

parish, 724 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Broad Nymet,

790. The manor belonged anciently to the Traceys. Colla-
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ton Honse and Gratton House are 6ne modern mansions.

The living is a rectoiy, united with the rectory of Broad-

Njmet, in the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £422 with resi-

dence. The cliiu'ch stands about a mile from the village,

and has a low square tower; it was restored in 1889.

There is a Congregational chapel. In 1884 a detached part

of the parish, known as Appledore, was amalgamated with

Clannaborough.

Bow, a parish in Jliddlesex. The parish, which is also

called Stratford-le-Bow, lies on the river Lea and on the

North London and G.E.R., 4 miles ENE of St Paul's. The

name Bow alludes to a bow-shaped, three-arched bridge

across the Lea built by Matilda, the queen of Henry L,

and not taken down till 1834; and the name Stratford

alludes to a ford in the Lea, on the line of the Roman road

or " stratum " to Leyton. A new bridge in lieu of the ancient

one, with one oblique arch of 70 feet, was erected in 1839

at a cost of £11,000. Bow was once famous for cream and

cakes ; it also carried on an extensive manufacture of porce-

lain, and it had a notable annual fair which became so great

a nuisance that it was suppressed by Parliament. It now
has dyehonses, large breweries, and the East London Water-

works, and takes a character from the proximity of the

India Docks. The parish was formerly a chapelry to Step-

ney, and became parochial in 1717. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of London ; net value, £350 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of London. The church was built in the

time of Henry II., presents a curious mixture of Norman and
Early Englisli, and has a low tower and an eight-sided corner

turret. The original parish has been divided into several

ecclesiastical districts, viz. :—St Paul's, Old Ford ; St Ste-

phen's, North Bow ; St JIark's, Victoria Pai'k ; and Christ

Chmxh, Bow.

Bow and Arrow Castle, a nide pentagonal tower on

the coast of Doi-setshire, on a sea-girt crag 300 feet high, 1^
mile NNE of Portland-Bill. It is said to have been built by
William Rufus, and it was taken in 1142 by the Earl of

Gloucester for the Empress Matilda. A bridge connects it

with the mainland, and gives additional character to a charm-

ing local view.

Bowbank, a hamlet in Lunedale township, Laith Kirk

parish, N. R. Yorkshire, 10 miles WNW of Barnard Castle,

and 2 from Mickleton station on the N.E.R. Post town,

Darlington ; money order and telegraph office, Middleton-in-

Teesdale.

Bow-Beech, a locality 4 miles from Eden-Bridge, on the

W border of Kent, with a post office under Edeu-Bridge,

which is the money order and telegraph office.

Bow-BrickhiU. See Brickhill, Bow.
Bowbridge, a hamlet in Low Abbotside township, in the

parish of Askrigg, N. R. Yorkshire, 1 mile W of Askrigg

station on the N.E.R. Post town, Bedale ; money order and
telegraph office. Low Abbotside.

Bowbridge, a hamlet in Stroud pai-ish, Gloucestershire,

on the Thames and Severn Canal, 1 mile from Strond.

Bow Brook, an affluent of the river Cale, tracing part of

the boundary between Dorset and Somerset.

Bowcombe, a hamlet in Carisbrooke parish. Isle of

Wight, 2J miles SW of Newport. Bowcombe vale around it

formerly displayed much beauty, but has sufl'ered by destruc-

tion of its wood. Bowcombe Down, on the W, shows traces of

a Roman road, commands a rich and extensive view, and was
ascended in 1G18 for the sake of its prospect by Charles I.

when Prince of Wales.

Bowden, Devon. See Bekrtxarbor.
Bowden, Great, or Bowden-Magna, a village and a

parish in Leicestershire. The village stands on the Union
canal and the river Welland, 1 mile NE of Market-Har-
borough joint station on the M.R. and L. & N.W.R., and has

a post, money order, and telegi-aph office of the name of

Great Bowden under Market-Harborough. The parish in-

cludes also the town and chapehy of JIarket-Haiborough.

Acreage, 3178; population, 2259. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Peterborough
;

gi'oss value, £185, in the

gift of the Bishop of Peterborough. The church is a large

and ancient building of stone in the Late Decorated style.

The vicarage of Market-Harborough is a separate benefice.

There is a Congregational chapel. The Market-Harborough
gasworks and workhouse are in this parish.
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Bowden-Hill, a cbapehy in L.aycock pai-ish, Wiltshire, 3

J

miles SSE of Chippenkam. It was constituted in 1863.

Population, 270. 'The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol
;
gi'oss value, £77 with residence.

Bowden, Little, or Bowden-Parva, a parish in Leices-

tershire, i mile S of Market-Harborough, which is the

post town and money order and tclegi-aph office. Acreage,

1949
;
population, 151G. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Peterborough ; net value, £300 with residence. The
church is an edifice of stone in the Eaiiy English and

Decorated styles. There is a Wesleyan chapel. 'The parish

was wholly transferred to Leicestershire in 1888, but the

Northamptonshire magistrates still meet here in petty sessions

every month.

Bowden-Magna. See Bowden, Great.
Bowden-Parva. See Bowden, Little.

Bowderdale, a glen, 2 miles long, descending to the

middle of the W side of Wast Water in Cumberland.

Bowdon, a village, a township, and a parish in Cheshire.

Close by is the Roman road from Kinderton, near the river

BoUin, 4 mile SW of Altrincham. The Altrincham and
Bowdon station on the Manchester South Junction and
Altrincham railway, and Peel Causeway on the Cheshire

lines, serve for this township, which has a post office under

Altrincham. It enjoys fine air and charming environs, and
is a favourite residence of the citizens of Manchester. The
township includes the village, and comprises 850 acres

;

population of the township, 2792 ; of ecclesiastical parish,

5G70. The old pai'ish has been divided, and now consists

of Bowdon and part of Hale. It is governed by a local

board. The manor belonged to the priory of Birkenhead,

and was given by Henry VIII. to the See of Chester.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chester ; net value,

£766 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Chester. The
church stands on elevated ground, was restored in 1320,
1520, and 1860, is now a fine cruciform edifice in the Late

Perpendicular style, consisting of nave, aisles, transepts,

choir with two chantries, called the S or Dunham chapel and
the N or Carrington chapel, and an embattled western tower.

It contains sever.al monuments to the Booth family and
others, and some fine memorial windows. A ch.apel of ease

(St Peter's) was opened in Hale in 1892 at a cost of about

£7000. There are Wesleyan and Congregational chapels.

The Wesleyan chapel is a splendid stnicture. See also Al-
TRINCHA5I, DCNHAM MaSSEY, &C.

Bowent River or College Bum, a stream of Northum-
berland. It rises among the Centr.al Cheviots, adjacent to

the boundary with Scotland, and runs 7 miles northward to

the river Glen, in the vicinity of Kirk-Newton. It is rich in

front and pebbles.

Bower-Ashton, a hamlet in Long Ashton parish, Somer-
setshire, 2^ miles SW of Bristol, under which it has a post

office.

Bower-Chalk, a parish in Wilts, near Cranborne Chase,

5 mOes S of Dinton station on the L. & S.W.R., and 7J
SW of Wilton. Acreage, 3260

;
population of the civil

parish, 461 ; of the ecclesiastical, 455. It h-is a post office

under Salisbury ; money order office. Broad Chalk ; telegi'aph

office, Dinton. The Uving is a vicarage in the diocese of

Salisbury; net value, £128 with residence, in the gift of

King's College, Cambridge.

Bower, East and West, two hamlets in Bridgewater
p.arish, Soraersetshh-e.

Bower-Hinton, with Hurst, a hamlet in Mai-tock parish,

Somersetshire, 2 miles NE of South Petherton.

Eowerman's Nose, an isolated rock, 3| miles SW of

Moreton-HampsteaJ, in Devonshii-e. It rises fully 30 feet

high, and looks like a coloss.al statue of a man.
Bowers-Gifford, a parish in Essex, on the London, Til-

bury and Southend railway, 1^ mile E of Pitsea station, and
7 miles SE of Billericay. It has a post office (S.O.);
money order office, South Benfieet ; telegriiph office, Pitsea
station. Acreage, 2472 of land and 21 of water

;
population,

183. Much of the land is mai'shy. The living is a rectory
in the diocese of St Albans ; net value, £476 with residence.

Tlie chm-ch is an edifice of stone in the Perpendicular style.

Bowes, a village, a township, and a p.arish in the N. R.
Yorkshire. The village stands on the river Greta, and on
the Roman road to Brough, adjacent to the South Diuhani
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and Lancashii-e Union railway, 4 miles SW of Barnard

Castle, has a station on the railway, and a post and money
order office under Darlington ; telegraph office at Bowes rail-

way station. It consists chiefly of one long street, and for-

merly was a market-town. The Roman station of Lav.atrffi

occupied its site, and many Roman inscriptions have been

found here, one of them nan'ating the reparation of a bath

for the first Thracian cohort. The township includes .also

the hamlets of Bowes-Cross, Gallow-Hill, Low-Field, Jlell-

waters, Sleightholme, Stoney-Kekl, Spital, Applegarth Forest,

and part of Tan Hill. Acreage, 16,90G, of which the greater

part is moor and common land; population of township,

652 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, which contains the township

of Gilmonby, 737. The manori.al rights are held by tnistees

on behalf of the freeholders. A quadrangular tower, 75 feet

by 60, and about 53 feet high, p.art of a castle built by Allan

Niger, first NoiTnan Earl of Richmond, stands on the crown

of a hill, defended by a deep ditch, .and is supposed to htive

been constiTicted of miiterials taken from the Roman station.

A Roman aqueduct, foi-med for bringing water nearly 2 miles

to the Roman baths at the station, and .also a very lai-ge

stone sarcophagus, Roman altar, Saxon font on the shaft of a

Roman altar, .and other ancient memorials have been dis-

covered. A natural bridge in limestone rock, 16 feet in sp.an,

crosses the Greta, beai'S the n.ame of God's Bridge, and is

occasionally used as a can-iage road. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £154 with residence.

The church is an ancient building, partly Norm.an, and the

churchyard contains the gr.ave and monument of the two

lovers commemorated in Mallet's pathetic ballad of " Edwin
and Emma." It has been restored, and four handsome
stained glass windows put in. A cheap boarding-school at

Bowes, now extinct, is said to have been the Dotheboys

Hall in Dickens' " Nicholas Nickleby." A gi'amm.ar school,

founded in 1693, has an endowed income of about £300
and a scholarship of the value of £00 a year, tenable at Pem-
broke College, Cambridge. There is a Wesleyan ch.apel, .also

a recreation ground, reading room, and library. In the church-

yard is buried the Right Hon. Thomas Emerson Headlam,

M.P., Q.C., judge advocate- general and chancellor of the

dioceses of Durham and Ripon.

Bowes Cross, a hamlet in Bowes parish, Ij mile E of

Bowes \'illage, N. R. Yorkshire.

Bow Fell, one of the finest mountains in the L.ake

district, on the mutual border of Cumberland and Westmore-

land, at the head of BoiTowdale, Eskdale, and Langdale, 8

miles WNW of Ambleside. It has an altitude of 2960 feet

above the level of the sea, and figures gi'andly in the back-

ground views from Windeiinere and Esthw.aite Water.

Bow Hill, a hill 5 miles NNW of Chichester, in Sussex.

It has a height of 702 feet, and comm.ands a fine view.

Bowland-Bridge, a locality .at the boundary between

Westmoreland and Lancashire, on the Winster river, Oj
miles WSW of Kend.al.

Bowland Forest, .an ancient forest on the borders of

Lancashire and W. R. Yorkshire. It contained wild deer so

late as 1812, but is now enclosed and cultivated. The
family of Parker, of Brownsholme Hall, have long held the

office of hereditary forester.

Bowland-Forest, High, a township in Slaidburn .and

Dale Head parishes, W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Hodder,

10 miles NW of Clitheroe. It includes the hamlets of Dun-
sop .and Battrix. Acreage, 19,750

;
population, 229. There

is a Roman Catholic chapel.

Bowland-Forest, Low, a township in Wliitewell eccle-

siastical parish, W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Hodder, 8

miles WNW of Clitheroe. Acreage, 5497
;
population, 242.

Bowland, Little, a township in Whalley parish, Lanca-

shire, under Bleasdale, 7 miles NW of Clitheroe. Acreage,

3152
;
population, 98. It is united with Leagram for eccle-

siastical purposes.

Bowld or Bould, a hamlet in Idbury parish, Oxfordshire,

5i miles NNW of Burford.

Bowlees Bum, a stream ot Durham, running 5 miles

southward to the Tees, 2i above Middleton-in-Teesdale.

Bowley, a township in Bodenham parish, Herefordshire,

4^ miles SE of Leominster.

Bowling (anciently Boiling), a townshipwithin the'nmni-

cipal and parliamentary borough of Bradford, W. R. York-
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shire. It has a station on the Leeds and Halifax railway.

There is a post and money order office at Bowling Old Lane
(T.S.O.), under Bradfoi'd. The Bowling Ironworks are ad-

jacent. Bowling Hall, the ancient seat of the BoUings and
Tempests, stands on high gi'ound, commands extensive views,

and was the headquarters of the Earl of Newcastle in 1643
on occasion of his victoiy over Fairfax on Adwalton Moor.
The inhabitants are employed in the ironworks, in the cloth

trade, in stone quarries, and in coiil and iron mines. Bow-
ling contains the ecclesiastical parishes of St Bartholomew,
population, 4827 ; St John, 5278 ; and St Stephen, 17,050.

The livings of St John, St Stephen, and St Bartholomew are

vicarages in the diocese of Ripoii ; net value of St John,
£250 with residence; of St Stephen, £310 with residence;

and of St Bartholomew, £200 with residence, the latter

being in the gift of the Bishop of Ripon. The church of St

.lohn is a fair specimen of lancet Gothic style of architecture,

comprising nave, transepts, aisles, and chancel, with spire

130 feet in height, which, from its lofty position, forms a

landmark over a considerable distance. The chief peculiarity

about the structure is that it was the first church in Eogl.and

in which iron was used in combination with stone, the con-

struction being entirely of iron and stone, and it has stood

the test of half a centiu-y without a flaw. St Stephen's was
built in 1861, and is in the Early Decorated style, with tower

and spire. St Bartholomew chiu*ch was built in 1872. A
Congregational chiipel, in the Romanesque style, was built

in 1865, and there are other dissenting chapels.

Bowling-Bank, a locality 6 miles from Wrexham, in

Denbighshire, with a post office under Wrexham; money
order .and telegraph office, Bangor Isycoed.

Bowling-Green, an extra-parochial tract in Guildford

borough, SuiTey. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (T.S.O.) under Falmouth.

Bowling-Green House, a seat on the N side of Putney
Heath, about a mile S of Putney, in Surrey. It was for

some years the residence of William Pitt, and the place in

which he died.

Bowmont Water, a stream of Northumberland. It

rises among the Che™ts within Scotland, and nins about

14 miles chiefly among the Cheviots, and .about one-half in

Northumberland, to a confluence with the College Biim in

the vicinity of Kirk-Newton, .and there tonus the glen. It

is rich in landscape and in fine trout.

Bowness, a small peninsula adjacent to Bassenthwaite

village, on the E side of Bassenthwaite Water, in Cumber-
land.

Bowness, a hamlet .and a crag near the middle of the N
side of Ennerdale W.ater, in Cumberland.

Bowness, a village, a township, and a parish in Cumber-
land. The village stands on the Solwiiy Firth, adjacent to

the Port-Cai'lisle terminus of the Carlisle and Silloth rail-

way, 11^ miles WNW of Carlisle, and has a post, money
order, and telegi'aph office under Burgh-by-Sands (R.S.O.),

and a station on the Calcdoni.an (Solway) railway. Its site

was occupied by the Roman station Tunnocelum at the

western termination of Seveinis' wall. M.any of the

houses are believed to liiive been built of materials of

the wall and the station. Some vestiges of the wall can

still be traced, and a Rom.an road went hence to Mary-

port. There is a fine vi.aduct, more than a mile long,

crossing the Solway ne.ar here in connection with the

Solw.ay Junction railw.ay. This place is a favourite summer
resort on account of its good bathing. The inhabitants are

chiefly engaged in the salmon fisher}'. The township includes

Port-Carlisle. Acreage, 11,177
;

population, 1322. The
parish contains also Easton, Fingland, Cardurnock, Dinim-

burgh, and Glasson. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of

CaiTisle; net value, £311 with residence. Patron, the Earl

of Lonsdale. The chm'ch is an ancient building dating back

to .about the 11th century, and has been recently restored.

There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Bowness, a small town in Undermillbeck township,

Windermere p.ai-ish, Westmoreland, on a small bay of

Windemiere lake, opposite Belle Isle, li mile SSW of Win-

demiere village and railway station. It has a post, money
order, and telegi-aph office (T.S.O.) under Windemiere.

Acreage of urban sanitary district, 969
;
population, 2061.

There are four good hotels, a handsome gi'aramar school, built
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in 1836 ; a working men's institute, erected in 1875 ; and the

parish church of Windermere, a long, low, ancient edifice with

a square tower, which was restored at a cost of over £7000 in

1870, when a new chancel was built and the tower raised to

hold a peal of eight bells. The church contains a beautiful old

window of stained glass, considered to be one of the finest

in the kingdom. There are also places of worship for Wes-
lejans, Congregationalists, and Christian Brethren. Bow-
ness has been much improved and extended in recent years,

and contains many new neat houses, and is a grand centre

of tomists visiting the Lakes. There is a good quay and a

small pier ; steamers ply from it daily ; there is a feny here

across the lake, and some trade is carried on in the exporting

of slate. Coaches run to Coniston and Ullswater. The
town has gas, electric, and water supply.

Bowood, a tithing in Netherbury par'ish, Dorset, 2 miles

SW of Beaminster.

Bowood, a hamlet in Harpford parish, Devonshire.

Bowood, an extra-parochial liberty in Wilts, in Pewisham
Forest, 2 miles SW of Calne, which is the post town and
money order and telegraph office. Bowood House here, the

seat of the JIaiquis of Linsdowne, is an edifice in the Italian

style, with Doric portico, partly designed by Adams, and
contains a rich collection of pictures. The grounds show
much beauty, both natural .and artificial, and have splendid

gardens, a tine lake, and a mausoleum.

Bowscale, a township in Greystoke parish, Cumberland,
on the river Caldew, under Souter Fell, 9 miles NE of Kes-
wick. Acreage, 1262

;
population, 23. Part of the surface

is mountainous, and bears the name of Bowscale Fell. An
elevated lakelet here, called Bowscale Tarn, is fabled to con-
tain two immortal fish, and Wordsworth, in his " Feast of

Brougham Castle," represents these as waiting on the
" shepherd " Lord Chfford.

" Both the undying fish that swim
In Bowscale tarn did wait on him;
The pair were servants of his eye
In their immortality."

Bowsden, a village .and a township in Lowick parish,

Northumberland, 7J miles S of Berwick. Coal and lime

abound here. There is a post oflBce under Beal (R.S.O.),

which is the money order office; telegi*aph office, Lowick.

Bow-Street, a village in Tir-y-llynach township, Cardi-

ganshire, 4 miles NE of Aberystwyth. It has a station on
the Aberystwyth branch of the Cambrian railw.ay, and a post

office (R.S.O.) ; telegraph office, Aberystwyth.

Eowthorpe, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Yare, 3J
milesW of Norwich, which is the post town, and money order,

and telegraph office. Acreage, 644
;
population of the civil

parish, 68 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Earlham, 302.

The living is a donative, annexed to the vicarage of Earlham,
in the diocese of Norwich. The church was desecrated in

the 17th century.

Bowthorpe, Yorkshire. See Menthokpe.
Bowthwaite. See Bouthwaite.
Bow-Tor, a hill in Dartmoor, Devonshire, Gj miles S of

Okehampton.

Box, a hamlet in Minchinhampton parish, Gloucestersbhe,

J a mile W of Minchinhampton.

Box, a village and a parish in Wilts. The village stands
on the Box river and G.W.R., 102 miles from London, and
5 NW by W of Bath, and has a station on the railway, and
a post, money order, and telegraph office tmder Chippenham.
It contains numerous old houses, and is supposed to occupy
the site of Roman baths. Numerous relics have been found
in the vicinity, including a Roman pavement and other re-

mains. About a mile from the village there is a veiy cmious
little chapel or shrine, which used to be the resting-place for

pilgrims on their way to Glastonbury, with a gi'eat deal of

loth century work about it. In the centre of the parish

there is a handsome fountain. The parish includes also the
hamlets of Wadswick, Box-Quarries, Ashley, Kingsdown,
WashwcU, and Middle-Hill, and the manor of Hazelbury.
Acreage, 4647 ; population of the civil parish, 2360 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 2236. The surface is a picturesque assemblage
of hill and dale. Box Hill has three curious quarries of bath-
stone, one of them subterranean. Box Tunnel, in the course

of the railway, is 3195 yards long, and in some parts 300
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feet below the surface, and was formed at a cost of £600,000.
The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and
Bristol

;
gross value, £408. The church is variously Early

Enghsh, Decorated, and Perpendicular, with central tower
and spire. There are Free Jlethodist and Wesleyan chapels,

and a cemetery occupying about an acre, with a pretty mor-
tuary chapel. There aie extensive stone quan-ies, and some
brewing and malting are done.

Boxford, a village and a parish in Berks. The village

stands on the river Lambourn, 4^ miles NW of Newbury sta-

tion on the G.W.R., and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Newbury. The parish includes Westbrook
tithing. Acreage, 2807 of land and 12 of water; popula-
tion, 649. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford

;

gross value, £690 with residence. The church, a building
of stone with a low western tower, was built about 1670.
There are also Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Boxford, a village and a parish in Suffolk. The village

stands on an affluent of the river Stour, 6 miles ESE of Sndbnry
station on the G.E.R., and has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Colchester. The parish includes the
township of Hadleigh near Boxford. Acreage, 1802

;
popu-

lation of civil p:u-ish, 873 ; of ecclesiastical, 850. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely

;
gross value, £550

with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The church
is a building of flint in the Perpendicular style. There is a
Congregational chapel at Edwardstone, close to Boxford.
Malting, milling, brick-making, and brewing are carried on.

Boxgrove, a village and a parish in Sussex. The village

stands 3 miles NNE of Dr.ayton station on the L.B. &
S.G.R., and SJ NE by E of Chichester. The parish in-

cludes also the hamlets of Crocker-Hill and East Hamp-
nett, the tithings of Halnaker and Strellington, and part of

the hamlet of Seabeaeh. Post town, Chichester, which is

the money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 3677
; popu-

lation, 699. The manor was given by Henry I. to Robert de
Hay, p.assed to the Poynings, the Delawarrs, and the Mor-
leys, and belongs now to the Duke of Richmond. Halnaker
House, built by Sir Thomas West, Lord Delawarr, in the
time of Henry VIIL, is now a mass of ruin. Goodwood,
the seat of the Duke of Richmond, is a great feature. [See
Goodwood.] A priory was founded at Boxgrove by Robert
de Hay, made a cell to the Benedictine Abbey of Lessay, in

Normandy, and allowed to retain its endowments at the
suppression of alien monasteries. The living is a vicarage in
the diocese of Chichester ; net value, £408 with residence.

Patron, the Duke of Richmond. The church consists of the
chancel, aisles, transepts, and central tower of the ancient
priory, is all rich Early Enghsh, except the tower, which is

Norman, and contains tombs of the Poynings, the Delawarrs,
and the Morleys ; also three others, probably of Henry I.'s

queen Adeliza and her two daughters. There is an hospital,

founded in 1741 by the Countess of Derby, with a yearly

income of £108, and several other good charities. There is

also a village club.

Box Hill, a hill covered with box-trees in Surrey. It

has two stations, one on the L.B. & S.C.R. and the other on
the S.E.R., 24 miles from London and 2 from Dorking. The
hill adjoins the S.E.R. station, rises over the Mole river, has
an altitude of 445 feet above the river's level, and commands
a noble view from the South Downs of Sussex to the N of

London. Its N side is very steep ; its W side, to the extent

of about 230 acres, is covered with box; its ascent from the

main road is provided with seats, and its summit is crowned
with a cottage.

Box Hill, Wilts. See Box.
Box-Lane. See Boxmook.
Boxley, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands at the foot of a baiTen range of chalk hills, 2 miles
NE by N of Maidstone station on the L.C. & D.R. and
S.E.R., has a post office under Maidstone, which is the
money order and telegi-aph office, and was once a market-
tomi. The p.arish includes part of Penenden Heath, and
comprises 5787 acres

;
population of the civil p.arish, 1562

;

of the ecclesiastical, 1428. The manor w.as given by Richard
I. to Boxley Abbey, passed at the dissolution to Sir Thomas
Wyatt, and belongs now to the Earl of Romney. The abbey
was founded in 1146 by William d'Ypres, Earl of Kent,

stood Ij mile WSW of the village, was Cistercian, mitred,
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and well endowed, had an image of St Rumbald and an

automaton crucifix which attracted crowds of pilgrhns and

were publicly burnt at the Reformation, and is now all

effaced except the foundations. A deep thick vein of

fuller's-earth occurs at Grove, and was worked so early as

1630. Fulling-mills stood on the neighbouring rivulets, and

have been succeeded by paper-mills. A Koraan uni and

several other Roman relics have been found in the neigh-

bourhood of Grove. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Canterbury
;
gross value, £534 with residence. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Rochester. The chui-ch is Decor-

ated English, and contains the remains of the poet Sandys,

and tombs of the Wyatts and others. It was restored in

1876.

Boxmoor, an ecclesi^istical district in Hemel- Hempstead

parish, Herts, on the Grand Junction Canal and the L. &
N.W.R., 2^ miles NW by N of Kings- Langley. It has a

station on the railway, and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Hemel-Hempstead. Population, 4210.

The scenery in the neighbourhood of the railway station is

Tei7 rich and beautiful, and the moor, whence the name is

taken, is extensive, and cannot be built upon. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans
;
gross ye-irly value,

£280 with residence. The church is a building of stone in

the Early English style, and has been enlarged since its

erection in 1874. There is also a Baptist chapel. A public

hall was erected in 1889-00 at a cost of £1300.

Box-Quaxries. See Box, Wilts.

Box Eiver, a stream of the NW of Wilts. It rises on

the border of Gloucester, N of Marshfield, runs 4i miles

eastward, past AVest Keynton, and across Akeman Street to

Castle- Combe, then goes 6 miles southward, past Slaughter-

ford and Ewridge to Box village, then goes 3 miles south-

westward, somewhat parallel with the Western railway to

the river Avon at Bathford.

Boxted, a parish in Essex, on the river Stour, 2 miles

ESE of Nayland, and 4 N of Colchester station on the G.E.R.

It has a post and money order office under Colchester ; tele-

gi-aph office, Nayland. Acreage, 3166 of land and 11 of

water; population, 769. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of St Albans ; net value, £177 with residence, in the

gift of the Bishop of St Albans. The church has a curious

monument of Sir Richard Blackmore, and is very good.

There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Boxted, a parish in SuiTolk, on the river Stour, 8 miles

NNW of Sudbury, and 3 N of Glensford station on the

G.E.R. Post town, Bmy St Edmunds ; money order office,

Hartest ; telegraph office, Glensford. Acreage, 1582
;
popu-

lation, 249. Boxted Hall is an ancient moated mansion

standing in a park of about 90 acres. The living is a rec-

tory, annexed to the benefice of Hai'test, in the diocese of

Ely
;
joint net yearly value, £333, in the gift of the Crown.

The church, a structure of flint, has some interesting monu-

ments. Fenstead End is a hamlet of this parish.

Box Ttumel. See Box, Wilts.

Boxwell-with-Leighterton, a parish in Gloucestershire,

on the Cotswolds, 4J miles ESE of Wotton-under-Edge,

and 6J E of Chaifield station on the M.R. Post town,

Wotton-under-Edge ; money order and telegraph office, Did-

marton. Acreage, 2313
;
population, 266. Boxwell Court

formerly belonged to the Abbots of Gloucester, and has been

for generations the property of the Huntley family. It was

built in the 15th century, and restored in 1796. There is

a wood of box-trees .ibout 40 acres in extent. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; net

value, £234 with residence. The church is Early English,

with an extinguisher bell-tunet, and has a curious Early

English font. About Ij mile SE of Boxwell is the hamlet

of Leightcrton, whose church is ancient, and was restored in

1877 ; it contains an ancient font. There is also a Con-

gr'egational chapel.

Boxworth, a parish in Cambridgeshire, 4 miles SW of

Swavescy station on the G.E.R., and 6 SSE of St Ives, Hunts.

It has a post and money order office; telegi-aph office, Swavesey.

Acreage, 2602
;
population, 274. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Ely
;
gross value, £610 with residence. The

church has a monument of Sanderson, the blind professor of

mathematics, and is an ancient building of ffint in the

Decorated style.
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Boyatt, a tithing in Otterbourne parish, Hants, 4i miles

S of Winchester.

Boycott, a hamlet in Stowe parish, Bucks, 3 miles NW
of Buckingham.

Boycott, a township in Pontesbury parish, Salop, 1 mile

NW of Pontesbury.

Boyd, The, a river of Gloucestershire, rising near the Cots-

wolds, and flowing about 10 miles SW past Wick and

Doynton to the Avon at Bilton, in a deep and romantic

valley.

Boylstone, a parish in Derbyshire, on an affluent of the

river Dove, 4 miles from Sudbury railway station, and 7 S

of Ashborne. Post town, Sudbury, under Derby. Acreage,

1361
;
population, 218. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Southwell ; gross value, £277 with residence. The
church is very good. There are also Wesleyan and Primitive

l\Iethodist chapels.

B03^e-Hill, an ecclesiastical district formed in 1858 in

Bray parish, Berks, in the southern vicinity and borough of

IMaidenhead. It includes part of the town of llaidenhead,

the village of Boyne-Hill, and the hamlets of Cos Green and
Tittle Row. Post town, Maidenhead, which is the money
order and telegraph office and railway station. Population,

2889. The liviug is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford
;

gross value, £378 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Oxford. The church, dedicated to All Saints, was built in

1857, and is in the ornate Gothic style. Another church,

dedicated to St Paul, was erected in 1889 in High Town
Road, and there is a Primitive Methodist chapel at Cox Green.

Boynton, a village, a township, and a parish in E. R.

Yorkshire, on the Gypsey stream, 3 miles WNW of Brid-

lington station on the N.E.R., with a post office under Brid-

lington-Quay, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage of parish, 2617
;
population, 128. Boynton Hall is

the seat of the Strickland family, and a pavilion above it

commands most beautiful views. The living is a vicarage,

held with Carnaby and Fraisthorpe, in the diocese of York
;

net value, £199 with residence. The chm'ch has been rebuilt

since the Reformation, but has an old tower.

Boythorpe, a hamlet in Foxholes parish, E. R. Yorkshire

oh miles from Weaverthorpe station on the N.E.R.

Boyton, a parish chiefly in Cornwall and partly in Devon,

on the river Taraar, 5 miles from Launceston station on the

L. & S.W.R., and 17 NNW of Tavistock. It has a post office

under Launceston, which is the money order office; tele-

graph office. Tower Hill railway station. Acreage, 4206;
population of civil parish, 342 ; of ecclesiastical, 402. Brad-

ridge, the old seat of the Hoblyns, and Beardon, also an old

seat, are now farmhouses. Manganese mines were worked,

but have long been discontinued. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Truro ; net value, £150 with residence. The
church is good, and has been restored. There are also

Methodist Free Church and Bible Christian chapels.

Boyton, a parish in Suffolk, on the river Aide, near

HoUesley Bay, 4 miles WSW of Orford, and 7 SE of Melton

station on the G.E.R. It has a post and money order office

under Woodbridge ; telegraph office, Melton. Acreage, 1530
;

population, 223. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Norwich ; net value, £268 with residence. The church, a

Gothic building of stone, was rebuilt in 1869-70, with the

exception of the tower. There are a reading-room, a recrea-

tion ground, and endowed almshouses for 12 men and 12

Bojfton, a parish in Wilts, on the river Willy, adjacent to

the G.W.K., A a mile NW of Codford station, and 2i SE of

Heytesbury. Post town, Bath ; money order and telegraph

office, Codford-St-Mary. The area is 3944 acres; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 291 ; of the ecclesiastical, 293. It

includes Gorton township. The manor belonged in the

time of Henry II. to the Giffords, and passed to the Lamberts.

The mansion on it was built in 1618 by Thomas Lambert,

and was afterwar'ds occupied by Bourke Lambert, who col-

lected here upwards of 30,000 species of plants. A chasm

in the neighbourhood of the gi'ounds, called Chapel Hole, is

popularly heUeved to have swallowed up a church. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbury ; net value,

£302 with residence. P.atron, Magdalen College, Oxford.

The church dates from the latter part of the 12th century,

was restored in 1860 at a cost of upwards of £2000, and
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contains grand monuments of the Gift'ords and several

memorial windows.

Boyton, Norfolk. See Bkightox.

Bozair, a hamlet in Stockbiiry parish, Kent, 7'i miles SE
of Rochester.

Bozeat, a parish in Northamptonshire, on the verge of

the county, 4 miles SE by E of Castle-Ashby station on the

L. & N.W.K., and 6j S of Wellingborough, under which it

has a post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage,

2S05; population of the civil parish, 1273; of the ecclesi-

astical, including Strixton, 1334. The living is a vicarage,

united with the rectory of Strixton, in the diocese of Peter-

borough ; net value, £VJl with residence. Patron, Earl

Spencer. The church is good, and there are also Baptist,

Wesleyau, and Wesleyan Reform chapels.

Braboume, two villages and a parish in Kent, The
villages are East Brabourne and Br.abourne-Lees. East Bra-

bonrne stands 3 miles NNE of Smeeth station on the S.E.R
,

and 6 E of Ashford, under which it has a post office, and
was once a market-town. Brabourne-Lees is a mile to the

west, and also has a post and money order office under Ash-
ford ; telegi'aph office, Smeeth. The parish comprises 3528
acres; population of tlie civil parish, 765; of the ecclesias-

tical, including Monks-Horton, 889. The manor belonged

to Aymer de Valence, and passed to the Scotts and the

Honeywoods. JIuch of the land is cold wet clay. Large

barracks .at one time stood near Brabom-ne-Lees. The living

is a vicar.age, united with the rectory of Monks-Horton, in

the diocese of Canterbury; net value, £194 with residence.

Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury. The cliui'ch is Early

English, contains monuments of the Scotts, and is in good
condition. A yew stood in the churchyard in Evelyn's time,

69 feet in girtli. There are two Baptist chapels.

Brabourne-Lees. See Bkaboukne.
Braceborough, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the river

Glen, and on the Bourne and Essendine branch of the G.N.R.,

with a station 1 mile N of the village, 3 miles NE of Essen-
dine, and 3J SW of Bourne. It includes Shillingthorpe

hamlet, and has a post office under Stamford ; money order

office, Greatford ; telegraph office, Essendine (R.S.) Acre-
age, 1767

;
population, 174. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln ; net value, £147 with residence. Patron,

the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. The church is a building

of stone in the Early Decorated style. Braceborough Spa,
which has a useful mineral spring, is 1 mile to the NE.

Bracebridge, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire, on
the river Witham, 2 miles S of Lincoln railway station. There
is a post, mouey order, .and telegraph office under Lincoln.

Acreage of the civil parish, 1527
;
population, 2494; of the

ecclesiastical, with Boultliam, 3021. The h^ing is a vicarage,

annexed to Bonltham, in the diocese of Lincoln
;
joint gross

yearly value, £370 with residence. The chm'ch is an ancient

Norman building of stone in mixed styles. It was restored

and enlarged in 1874-75. There are also Wesleyan and
Methodist Free Church chapels. The county lunatic asylum
is in the ueighbom'hood. Brick and tile making are carried on.

Braceby, a parish in Lincolnshire, 4i miles WNW of

Folkingham, and 7 E from Grantham station on the G.N.R.
Post town, Folkingham, which is the telegraph office; money
order office, Ropsley. Acreage, 951 ;

population, 96. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln, consolidated

with the rectory of Sapperton
;
joint net yearly value, £176

with residence. The church is an ancient building of stone
in the Early English style.

Brace-Meole or Meole-Brace, a parish in Salop, li mile

S of Shrewsbury. It is partly witliiu Slirewsbmy borough,

includes the townships of Kingsland, Newton and Edgbold,
Nobold, and Pulley ; and contains the Shrewsbury general
cemetery. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Shrewsbury. Acreage, 2938; population of the civil

parish, 1608; of the ecclesiastical, 1804. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Hereford

;
gross value, £360 with

residence. The church, rebuilt in 1869, is a handsome
structure with a massive embattled tower. There are also

almshouses. The new buildmgs of Shrewsbury school are at

Kingsland.

Bracewell, a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire, adjacent to

the Liverpool and Leeds Canal, 3 miles from Thornton rail-

way station, and 9 WSW of Skipton, under which it has a
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post office ; money order and telegraph office, Barnoldswick.

Acreage, 2025 ; population, 130. Aji old house here was a

retreat of Henry VI. after tlie battle of Hexham. Limestone

is worked. The living is a discharged vicarage in the diocese

of Ripon
;
gross value, £150 with residence. The church is

very good, and contains several monuments to the Tempests

and others.

Brackbridge, a hamlet in Mcon-Stoke parish, Hants.

Bracken, a hamlet and a township in Kilnwick parish,

in the E. R. Yorkshire, 6 miles SW by S of Great Driffield.

Acreage of township, 677 ;
population, 25.

Brackenborough, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2 miles N of

Louth, which is the post, money order, and telegraph office.

Acreage, 736; population, 66. There is no church. It is

said to have been a Roman settlement.

Brackenfield forms with Woolley a township and a

parish, in the Chesterfield union, Derbyshire, 2 miles SW of

Stretton railway station, and 4 NW of Alfreton, which is the

post town ; telegr.aph office, Higham. Acreage of township,

1651; population, 346. The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Southwell ; net value, £80. The church was built in

1857. The Alfreton Water-works Company have thi-ee large

reservoirs in this district.

Brackenhill, a hamlet in Ackworth parish, in the W. R.

Yorkshire, 4^ miles N of Sheffield, situated near stone quarries,

and inhabited mostly by the men employed in them.

Brackenhill, Cumberland. See IJreconhii.l.

Brackeuholm-with-Woodhall, a township in Heming-
brough parish, in the K. R. Yorkshire, on the river Derwent,

2k miles from Hemingbrough station on the N.E.R. Post

town, Howden. Acreage, 1332
;
population, 92.

Brackenthwaite, a township in Brigham parish, Cum-
lierland, between Grisedale-Pike and Lowes Water, 6 miles

S of Cockermouth railway station. Acreage, 4382
;
popu-

lation, 118.

Bracklesham Bay, a small bay on the coast of Sussex,

3 miles NW of Selsey-Bill, and 6i SSW of Chichester.

Very rare fossil shells are found here in masses of clay on

the sands.

Brackley, a municipal borough, a market-town, and head

of a union, county court district, and petty sessional division,

in Northamptonshire. The town stands on a descent at the

confluence of two head streams of the river Ouse, adjacent

to the Banbury and Bletchley branch of the L. & N.W.R.,
on which it has a station, 9| miles ESPl of Banbury. It

was a place of note in the times of the Saxons ; was nearly

destroyed by the Danes ; rose .again to importance, and was
walled and h.ad a castle. Toui'naments were held in its

vicinity, at Bayard's Green, in 1249 and subsequent yeai's,

and the barons met at it in 1215 to treat with King John,
and again in 1264 with Henry III. The town consists mainly
of a single street nearly a mile long, and contains some good
houses, chiefly built of stone. The town-hall, an edifice rest-

ing on arches, was erected in 1706 by the Duke of Bridgewater

at a cost of £2000. St John's Hospital, of which the re-

stored chapel marks the site, was founded in the time of

Henry I. by Robert le Bossu, Earl of Leicester, for a master
and six fellows

; passed to Magdalen College, Oxford, and
was a retreat of the members of that college during the

plague in Oxford in the reign of Henry VIII. It has now
been restored, and is used by the college school and the in-

habitants. The chapel of it still shows interesting archi-

tectural features, and once had tombs of several noblemen,

and the hall contained 105 blazoned shields of prelates and
distinguished laymen. It was restored and reopened for

public worship in 1870. Another hospital, dedicated to St

Leonard, stood in the town, but has disappeared. St Peter's

Church is chiefly Early English, with a tower .and .an Early
Decorated font. The chancel of it was restored in 1886.
St James' Church gave place to a cemetery-chapel in connec-
tion with its burying-gi'ound (now closed), but is again used
for divine worship. The parishes of St Peter and .St James
were united for civil purposes in 1884. The living is a
consolidated vicar.age in the diocese of Peterborough ; net

yearly value, £210 with residence, in the gift of the Earl of

EUesmerc. There are Congregational and Wesleyan chapels,

a grammar school in connection with Magdalen College,

Oxford, six almshouses, and several charities. The town is

a head post and telegraph office, has two banks, a pohce

215



BRACKNELL

station with a magistrates' room, some good inns, a cottage

hospital, and a workhouse, with accommodation for 200 in-

mates. A weekly market is held on Wednesday, and every

alternate Wednesday in the month for cattle. A fair for cattle

is held on 11 Dec, and a pleasure fair the day following.

A great wool trade flourished in the reign of Edward III.,

and for some time before and after, hut the chief trade now is

in agriculture and brewing. The town is a fashionable resort

for sportsmen during the fox-hunting season. It claims to

have been incorporated by Henry III.; it sent two members to

Parliament from the time of Edward VI. till disfranchised

by the Act of 1832. The old charter lapsed in 1886, and

by a new one granted the same year the government of the

town was vested in a council of 16—mayor, aldermen, and

12 councillors. The town is well lighted and drained.

There is also an efficient public water supply and an irriga-

tion farm. The sanitary improvements have cost upwards

of £25,000. The town gives the title of Viscount to the

Earl of Ellesmere. Samuel Clarke, the famous orientalist,

a contributor to Walton's " Polyglot," was a native. Acre-

age, 3489
;
population of the municipal borough and civil

parish, 2591; of the ecclesiastical, 2614. Halse is a hamlet

in the parish of St Peter. The manor house, a splendid

mansion of stone in the Early and Late Tudor styles, is a

seat of the Ellesmeres. The Lodge, Brackley Hill, East

Hill, Mai'ket House, and Brackley House are chief residences.

Bracknell, a village and a chapehry in Berks. The village

stands adjacent to the L. & S.W.K., 3 miles W of Ascot

racecourse, and 4 E of Wokingham. It has a station on the

railway, and a head post, money order, aud telegraph office.

It consists chiefly of one fine, long, open street, and there

are several large mansions and pai'ks in its neighbourhood.

The chapelry includes the village, is in the parishes of War-
field and Winkfield, and was constituted in 1851. Popula-

tion of the chapelry, 2220. The living is a perpetual curacy

in the diocese of Oxford ; net value, X187 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Oxford. The church is a gi'accful

structui'e of 1851, in the Early English style. It was en-

larged in 1860. There is a chapel of ease at Chavey-Down,

and there ai*e also Baptist, Congregational, Primitive Metho-

dist, and Wesleyau chapels. The Victoria Hall, a building

used for public purposes, was built in 1887.

Bracon-Ash, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles

NW of Flordon station on the G.E.R., and 6 SW of Nor-

wich, under which there is a post ofiice ; money order office,

Mulbarton; telegraph ofBce, Wymondham. Acreage of parish,

989
;
population, 300. Mergate is an ancient mansion, in the

grounds of which are some very fine oaks. Bracon-Ash Hall,

situated in the ancient park, is the seat of the Berney family,

who are lords of the manor and patrons of the living, which

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich; gross value, £188
with residence. The church is remarkable, and, with one

exception, unique in the diocese, the Decorated style chancel

windows having internal columns on each side, and a circular

moulded arch above their foHated capitals.

Bracondale, a hamlet in Trowse parish, Norfolk, within

the county of the city of Norwich.

Bracton. See Bkatton-Clovelly.
Bradbourne, a township, a parish, and a ^'illage in Derby-

shire. The to^mship lies on an affluent of the river Dove,

5 miles NNE of Ashbourne railway station. There is a post

office under Ashbourne ; money order and telegraph oflSce, Par-

wich. Acreage of the township, 1445; population, 141;

population of the ecclesiastical pai'ish, including Ballidon,

283. The parish coutams also the townships of Ballidon,

Aldwaik, and Lea-Hall. Bradbourne Hall is a chief residence.

Limestone is abundant. Roman coins have been found. The

living is a vicarage, united with that of Ballidon, in the

diocese of Southwell ; net value, £113 with residence. Patron,

the Duke of Devonshire. The church has a Norman tower,

and is pood. There are some small charities.

Bradbury and The Isle, a township in Sedgefield parish,

Durham. Bradbury is situated on the Skerne and the N.E. U.,

10 miles N of Darlington. It has a station on the railway,

and commands fine views. Post town, money order, and

telegi-aph office, Ferry Hill. Acreage, 2110
;
population, 223.

Bradby. See Bretby.
Braddan. See Kirk-Braddan.
BraddeUf a village and a parish, Northamptonshire, on the
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river Tove, IJ mile NE of Wappenham station, Northampton
and Banbury Junction railway, 4 miles W of Towcester,

and 7 SW by W of Blisworth. Post town, Towcester, which
is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage of parish,

1035
;
population, 117. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Peterborough; gross value, £210 with residence. The
church, which was rebuilt in 1859, is a building of atone in

the Early English and Decorated styles. Bishop Van Mildert,

the last of the prince-bishops of Durham, was for some time

rector.

Braddons, a range of heights sheltering the north side of

Torquay, in Devonshire. It is crested, toward the town,

with a series of beautiful villas.

Bradel. See Bradle.
Braden, an ancient forest around Bradenstoke in Wilts.

Bradenford. See Bradford, Wilts.

Bradenbam, a parish in Bucks, on the Chilterns, 2 miles N
by W of West Wycombe station on the G.W.R, It has a post

office under High Wycombe, which is the money order office

;

telegraph ofiice. West Wycombe. Acreage, 1101 ; population,

152. Bradenhara House belonged formerly to Lord Windsor,
and was visited by Queen Elizabeth in 1566 ; was the death-

place, in 1848, of DTsraeh, the author of " Curiosities of

Literature;" and is now the seat of the Graves family.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford; gross value,

£232 with residence. The church is a building of flint and
stone, in the Late Decorated style.

Bradenham, East, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on
the river Wissey, 3J miles S of Wendling station on the G.E.R.,

and 5 SW of East Dereham. Post town, Thetford; money order

office, West Bradenham ; telegraph office, Shipdham. Acreage
of parish, 2384; population, 314. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Norwich; net value, £211 with residence.

The church is of flint in mixed styles. There is a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Bradenham, West, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on
the river Wissey, 3^ miles S by W of Wendling station on

the G.E.R., and 5i SW by W of East Dereham. There is

a post and money order office under Walton (S.O.) ; telegraph

office, Shipdham. Acreage of parish, 1702
;
population, 279.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Nonvich ; net value,

£194 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Nonvich. The
church, an ancient building of flint in the Perpendicular and
Early English styles, was restored in 1857. Bradenham
Hall is a chief residence.

Bradenstoke-cum-CIack is an ecclesiastical parish

fornxd in IST. 1 mit of the parishes of Christian Malford and
Lyni'iiain, in Wilts. It is about a mile from Dauntsey
station on the G.W.R.. and has a post, money order, and
telegraph office mider Chippenham. Population, 422. The
living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Salisbury ; net

value, £130 with residence. The church is a small but

beautiful building in the Gothic style. Sir Gabriel Goldney,

Bart., the patron of the living, has provided a reading-room

for the use of the parishioners. There is an old Baptist

chapel built in 1779, also one belonging to the Primitive

Jlethodist Connexion. An Augustinian abbey was founded

here in 1142 by Walter D'Evereux
;
given at the dissolution

to Richard Pexel, it has had various owners, and is now the

property of Sir Gabriel Goldney, Bart. The remains have

been adapted for use as a farmhouse. In a field adjoining the

abbey, in a commanding position, are the traces of an old

Roman encampment.

Bradenhope. See Bradnop.
Bradeston or Braydeston, a village and a parish in

Norfolk—the latter amalgamated with Brundall for civil pur-

poses— on the G.E.R. and the river Yare. The village stands

^ mile NE of Brundall railway station, which is itself in the

parish of Bradeston. Post town, Blofield, which is the money
order and telegi-aph office. The liAdng is a rectory, annexed

to the rectoiy of Strumpshaw, in the diocese of Norwich.

The church is a plain building, but some portions ai'e of great

antiquity.

Bradfield, a village, a parish, and the head of a union in

Berks. The village stands on an affluent of the river Thames,
3 miles NW byW of Theale station on the G.W.R., and 7^ W
of Reading, under which it has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office. The parish comprises 4346 acres of land and

13 of water J
population, 1458. Bradfield Hall, Buckhold,
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and Biadfield Cottage ai'e chief residences. The sui'face

contains rich iield scenes, and commands tine views. The
living is a rectory, united with Buckhold, in the diocese of

O.xford ; net value, X737 with residence. The church w.as

restored and enlarged in 1848. There aie a chapel of ease

and a Primitive Jlethodist chapel. St Andrew's College, which

ranks as a public school, is a handsome ediiice of 1850,

and was endowed in 1859 and chartered in 1862 as a

foundation-schoo] for 16 founder's boys and 153 com-

moners. In 1862 it was incorporated by royal charter, and

by alteration of the statutes the number of commoners
was raised to 300. An abbey was founded here before

the close of the 7th century by King Ina. Bishop Lloyd

was sometime rector.

Bradfield, a village and a parish in Essex, on the estuary

of the Stom-, and on the Manningtree and Harwich branch

of the G.E.R., 3 miles E by S of Manningtree. There is a

station on the railway, and a post office under Manningtree

;

money order and telegraph office, Mistley. Acreage of parish,

2152, with 563 of foreshore and water
;
population of the civil

parish, 736 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Mistley, 2375.

Bradtield Lodge, Jacques Hall, and Stour Lodge are chief

residences. The Uving is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory

of Mistley, in the diocese of St Albans
;

joint net value,

£708 with residence. The church, a structure of brick, was
restored in 1840. There are also Primitive Methodist and
Wesleyan chapels.

Bradfield, a parish in Norfolk, IJ mile SE of Gunton
station on the G.E.E., 7 miles S of Cromer, and 3 W of

Mundesley-on-Sea. Post town, North Walsham, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 759
;
popu-

lation, 197. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Nor-
wich ; tithes commuted at £215, 10s. with residence.

Patron, Lord Sutfield. The church, an ancient building

of flint in the Norman style, was repau-ed in 1864. There
is also a Congregational chapel.

Bradfield, avillage, a township, and an ecclesiastical parish,

in the civil parish of Ecclesfield, W. K. Yorkshire. The village

stands on an eminence above an aiHuent of the river Don, 3

miles W by S of Oughty-Bridge railway station, and 7 NW
by W of Sheffield, under which it hiis a post office; money
order and telegraph office, Oughty-Bridge. The township

includes the hamlets of Bolsterstoue, Brightholmlee, Brad-
field, Bradtield Dale, Dungworth, Fairest-Green, Gate, Holds-
worth, Lower Bradfield, BIidhope,Moorwood,Onesacre, Small-
field, Stannington, StoiTS, Ughill, Wigtwizzle, and Worr-al.

Acreage of township, 38,425; population, 12,292; of ecclesias-

tical parish, 1549. The Duke of Norfolk is lord of the manor.
Bradfielddale Dyke reservoir is famonsfor the terrible inunda-

tion caused by its bursting in 1864, when the whole valley

was swept as far as Sheffield, neai'ly 300 people drowned, and
much property destroyed; since then additional reservoirs

have been constructed. Much of the surface is moor, hill,

and mountain, where there is fine gi'ouse shooting ; and one
summit, called Bradfield Point, has an altitude of 1790 feet

above the level of the sea. Traces of a British camp exist,

and Roman remains have been found. The ecclesiastical

parish comprises only part of the township, and is a rectory

in the diocese of York
;
gross value, £210 with residence.

The church is in the Perpendicular style, and was thoroughly
restored in 1870 ; contains a beautiful reredos and a number
of stained-glass windows. There are two dissenting chapels.

Bradfield, a hamlet in Uffculme parish, Devonshire, 3J
miles NE of Collumpton. The manor has belonged to the

family of Walrond since the time of King John. The man-
sion dates from the reign of Elizabeth, but has been restored.

Bradfield-Combust or Bumt-Bradfield, a parish in

Suffolk, IJ mile S of Whelnetham station on the G.E.R.,and

54 miles SSE of Bury-St Edmunds, which is the post town

;

money order and telegraph office, Cockfield. Acreage, 823
;

popnlation, 130. Bradtield Hall is a chief residence. An
edifice belonging to Bury Abbey stood in the parish, and
was burned in 1327, giring rise to the adjunct "Combust,"
The Uving is a rectoiy in the diocese of Ely ; net value,

£151. The church, 3 building of tiint and stone in the

Decorated style, was restored in 1869. There is also a
Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bradfield-St-Clare, a parish in Suffolk, 1 mile SE of

Whelnetham station on the G.E.R., and 6i miles SE by S of
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Bury-St-Edmunds, which is the post town ; money order

and telegraph oflSce, Cockfield. Acreage, 1427; population,

216. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; gross

value, £213 with residence. The church, a building of stone

in the Early English style, was restored in 1874. There is

an old moated mansion here, now used as a farmhouse, which
was formerly a retreat of tlie monks of Bury.

Bradfield-St-George, a parish in Suffolk, 1 mile NE of

Whelnetham station on the G.E.R., and 4J miles SE of

Bury-St-Edmunds, under which it has post office ; money order

office, Felsham ; telegr.aph office, Rougham. Acreage, 1968;
population of civil parish, 388 ; of ecclesiastical, including

Rushbrook, 521. The living is a rectory, united with the

rectory of Rushbrook, in the diocese of Ely ; net value, £410
with residence, in the gift of the Marquess of Bristol. The
church, a building of flint and stone in the Perpendicular

style, has a tower, seen over a wide extent of country. West
Lodge is a chief residence.

Bradford, a parish in Devonshire, on the river Torridge,

7 miles NE of Holsworthy, and 2J from Dunsland Cross

station on the L. & S.W.R. Post and money order office,

Brandis Corner; telegraph office, Dunsland Cross railway

station. Acreage, 4133; population of civil pai'ish, 482 ; of

ecclesiastical, 334. Dunsland has a fine old baronial man-
sion ; it belonged at the Conquest to Walter de Cadiho, and
passed to the Arscotts and the Bickfords. Hengiscott has

traces of a fortified camp, supposed to have been formed by

the famous Hengist. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Exeter; net value, £263 with residence. The church

has a tower and some monuments; it was restored in 1889.

There are Wesleyan and Bible Christian ch.apels in Jliddlecott

hamlet— a part of Black Torrington included in the civil

parish.

Bradford, a township in Manchester parish, Lancashire,

adjacent to the M.S. & L.R., 2 miles E of Manchester, under

which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office.

The township was incorporated with Manchester in 1890,
and is now included in the city. The parish of Christ Chm'ch,

Biadford, Manchester, includes nearly the whole of Bradford,

part of Beswick, and part of Openshaw, and has a popu-
lation of 25,975. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Manchester
;
gross value, £300 with residence, in the patron-

age of the Bishop. The church was built in 1862, at a cost

of £3500 ; it is in the Early English style, and cruciform.

There are Wesleyan and Free Jlethodist chapels and a police

st,ation. See Manchester.
Bradford, a township in Bolam parish, Northumberland,

on the river Blyth, 10 miles WSW of Jlorpeth, and 4 from
Angerton station on the North British railway. Acreage.

1093; population, 32.

Bradford, a township in Bambrough parish, Northumber-

land, 1 mile from Lucker station on the N.E.R., 3J miles

ESE of BeLford. Post-town, Belford, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 561

;
population, 64,

Earl Grey is lord of the manor and sole landowner.

Bradford, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Tone,

3 miles NE of Welhngton station on the G.W.R., and 4
WSW of Taunton, under which it has a post and money
order office ; telegraph office, Norton - Fitzwarren. The
parish comprises 1814 acres; population, 444. The living

is a vicaj'age in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value,

£117 with residence. The church has been restored. There
is a Congr-egational chapel.

Bradford, or Bradford-on-Avon, a town and a parish

iu Wilts. The town stands on the river Avon, on the Ken-
net and Avon Canal, and on the G.W.R., 97 miles from

London, and 3j NW by N of Trowbridge. It was known
to the Saxons as Bradenford, and it is now usually called

Bradford-on-Avon. A battle was fought at it in 652 be-

tween Benwalf and Cuthred, and St Dunstan in 954 w-as

elected here to the See of Worcester. Its site is partly hollow,

partly slopes and acclivities, encompassed by hills. 'The older

portion is on the N side of the river, and rises m a series of

terraces to a crowning point with an extensive view. Two
bridges span the river—tlic upper one a very ancient struc-

ture with nine arches ; the lower, a more modern structure

with four. An ancient square ediBce with a pyramidal roof,

supposed variously to have been a chapel, an almonry, and an
ecclesiastical toll-bouse, and now used as a storage for
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gunpowder for volunteers, stands on one of the piers of

the upper bridge. Water-works, the property of the Town
Improvement Commissioners, were erected in 1883 at a cost of

£12,000. The parish church is Nonnan and Early English;

consists of nave, north aisle, chancel, and chapel, with west-

ern tower and small spire ; and contains many curious tombs
and a fine altar-piece. Christ Church was built in 1840, is

in the Perpendicular style, and has a tower and lofty spire.

There are Congregational, Baptist, Wesleyan Methodist,

Primitive llethodist, and Lady Huntingdon's Connexion

chapels ; a free school with £53 a year ; another school, in a

very handsome edifice of 1850 ; and two almsliouses and

other charities, with jomtly £168 a year. The town has a

head post, money order, and telegi'aph office, of the name of

Bradford-on-Avon, and a railway station. There is a hand-

some town-hall and market-house in the centre of the

town. The market day is Saturday, and there is likewise a

fair on Trinity Monday. An important woollen manu-
facture is still successfully carried on. The town never

was incorporated but it sent members to Parliament in the

time of Edward I. and it thence is called a borough. Acre-

age of the urban sanitary district, 1962 ;
population, 4943.

Tlie parish includes also the chapeli-ies of Holt and
Limpley-Stoke, and the tithings of Trowle, Winsley, South

Wrasall, and Leigh and Woolley, and it is sometimes called

Bradford-on-Avon and Great Bradford. Acreage of the

ci^il parish, 1750; population, 7687; of the ecclesiastical

p;u'ish of Christchm'ch, 1766, and Holy Trinity, 3522.

Much of the surface consists of fine chalk hills. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbmy; net value, £228
with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Salisbui7.

Christ Church is a separate benefice, a vicarage of the net value

of £300 with residence, in the patronage of the Vicai- of Bradford.

The perpetual curacies of Holt, Atworth with South Wraxall,

and Winsley with Limpley-Stoke also are sepai'ate benefices.

There are many good residences in and about Bradford, also

some large and ancient mansions, one being Kingston House,

tlie residence of the notorious Duchess of Kingston. There

are also the remains of many ancient edifices, such as the

Saxon Cliapel, Prioiy, Chantry House, and Toiy Hermitage.

Of these, the most interesting ai'e the Saxon Chapel and
Hermitage, both being well presen-ed and kept in good con-

dition. The Saxon Chapel has been completely restored.

Bradford, a town, township, county borough, municipal

and parliamentary borough, parish, and district in W. R.

Yorkshire, in the wapentake of Morley and liberty of the hou-

om" of Pontefract, and a naral deanery in the archdeaconry of

Craven and diocese of Ripon. Prior to 1882 the municipal

borough comprised the townships of Bradford, Bowling,

Horton, Manningham, and Bolton. The boundaries of the

borough were extended in May, 1882, so as to include the

townships of Heaton and Allerton and the hamlets of

Thornbury and Tyersal, containing 3555 acres and a popu-

lation of about 13,000. The total area of the borough as so

enlarged is 10,791 acres. The population at the beginning

of the century was 13,000, and at the census of 1891,

216,361. In addition to the townships comprised within

the borough, the parish of Bradford includes the several

townships of Clayton, North Bierley, Eccleshill, Haworth,

Shipley, Thornton, and Wilsden, giving a parochial popula-

tion of 278,372. It is computed that within a radius of 8

miles from the Bradford town hall there is a population of

over one million persons. The Bradford Poor Law Union
comprises the townships of Bradford, Bolton, Bowling,

Horton, and Manningham. Population, 202,975. The
Poor Law Union is not conterminous with the borough of

Bradford, as it excludes the townships of Allerton and
Heaton, and the hamlets of Thornbury and Tyersal, which

form part of the North Bierley Union. The latter authority

comprises 16 townships, having an area of 33,292 acres,

and a population of 138,906 persons.

Bradford was created a parliamentary borough, with the

privilege of returning two members to Parliament, by the

Refomi Act of 1832. Under the Redistribution of Seats

Act, 1885, three parliamentaiy divisions were made—viz.,

East, West, and Central, each returning one member. The
number of parliamentaiy voters for the borough is 35,505.

In addition to the borough magistracy, there is a stipendiary

magistrate, also a borough quarter sessions and recorder.
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Bradford forms part of No. 11 Circuit for county court busi-

ness. Sittings are held on certain days appointed by the

judge. There is also an oflicial receiver in bankruptcy.

The situation of the town was at one time beautiful, being

at the confluence of three dales, and surrounded by hills.

The town suffers from having no river passing nearer to it

than about 3 miles—viz., the Aire at Shipley, but copious

streams form a junction near the town, and pass through it

to join the river Aire. From being a comparatively insigni-

ficant place, Bradford has risen to be the metropolis of the

worsted industry of England. While this position has

doubtless, in great measure, been achieved by the enterprise

and perseverance of its inhabitants, the mineral wealth of

the district—an abundant supply of coal, iron, and stone

—

has also contributed gi'eatly to its prosperity. Of late years

the securing of an abundant supply of water to the town
from the moorlands, 30 miles distant, and eminently suitable

for manufacturing purposes, has also been of gi'eat com-
mercial and domestic value. In making this provision the

corporation have expended over two millions of money.

In respect to antiquity Bradford has little to boast of. It

was a manor with six berewicks dm^ing the Norman period,

and was held by Ilbert de Lacy. In his line it continued

until it passed by marri;\ge mto the hands of the Earls of

Lancaster. The manor afterwards passed to the Crown,

and in 1669 got into the possession of the Marsden family,

who disposed of it to the Rawsons, of which family Henry
Edmund Butler, the present lord of the manor, is descended.

In 1866 the corporation acquired the market rights of the

manor at an annual rental of £5000, and that body has

since expended neai-Iy £200,000 in the erection of a covered

retail market, wholesale market, public abattoirs, &c. The
men of Bradford took part with the Parliament during the

Civil Wars, and the town twice sustained a siege by the

Royalist troops—viz., in December, 1642, and June, 1643,

and so disastrous were the consequences that it took fully

100 years before the town recovered its position. During the

inteiTal the cloth trade, which was the staple industry of the

period, left the place, and the manufacture of worsted began

to give employment to many of the inhabitants, and also to

others in the surrounding villages.

The town received a charter of incorporation in 1847. The
Bradford Corporation is composed of 45 councillors and 16

aldermen. The borough is divided into fifteen wards, as

follows :—Exchange, East, North, South, West, Bradford

I\Ioor, East Bowling, West Bowling, Great Horton, Little

Horton, Lister Hills, Manningham, Bolton, Heaton, and

Allerton. The number of burgesses on the borough roll is

42,515.

At the period of incorporation, Bradford was little better

than an overgrown village, with steep and narrow streets,

and almost destitute of drainage. Since that period the

central portion of the town has been almost rebuilt. The
buildings are almost entirely of local stone, and few towns

contain more handsome structures, especially in regard to

commercial edifices, banks, warehouses, &c. The death-rate

averages about 20'0 per 1000 of the population. The
Bradford Waterworks are all upon the principle of gravita-

tion. The supply is from high and low level services, which

range in elevation from 600 feet to 1475 feet above sea

level. The district of supply comprises the borough and 32

surrounding places, having an aggregate population of

365,000, and ranging from 200 feet to 1200 feet above sea

level. There are 73 miles of paved roads, and 57 miles of

macadamised roads in the borough. The public free libraries,

news-rooms, art galleiw, and museum, are under corporate

management. In addition to the central department, there

are eight branch libraries and news-rooms. The town

possesses five public parks, the property of the corporation,

situated in different portions of the borough, namely, Peel

Park, Otley Road (56 acres); Lister Park, Manningham

(54 acres); Horton Park (40 acres); BowHng Park (53

acres) ; and Bradford Moor Park (15 acres). There are also

several public baths, hot and cold ; two corporation ceme-

teries at Scholemoor and Bowling, and a private cemetery

at Undercliffe. The burial-grounds throughout the borough

are closed for interments, except under special conditions.

The supply of gas is also in the hands of the corporation.

The history of the worsted industry, of which Bradford
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has long been the metropolis, received a stimulus by the

erection ot the Bradford Piece Hall in the year 1773. The

manufacture of worsted goods was, of couise, all done by

hand labour, and it was not until the beginning of the 19 th

century that the first steam factories were erected. In

1826 steam power looms were introduced, resulting in a

serious riot, in which several persons lost their lives. It is

computed that the borough now comprises within its bound-

aries 450 factories, giving employment to many thousands

of workpeople. In addition to the worsted industry, Brad-

ford also possesses the largest silk and velvet manufactory

in Europe. Within the past half century, the town has also

become the provincial centre of the English and Colonial

wool trade. The iron, machine, and engineering trades are

also important industries in the town. The Bradford Cham-
ber of Commerce was formed in 1852. It consists of

bankers, merchants, spinners, manufacturers, and others

interested in trade jind commerce. There is also a Bradford

centre of the Worsted Committee for the counties of York,

Lancaster, and Chester, for the protection from fraud of the

worsted industry. The Bradford Exchange was erected in

1867. Consulates exist in Bradford for Austro-Huiigary,

Belgium, Chili, France, the German Empire, Italy, the

Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and Norway, the

United States, and Uruguay.

Bradford is a head post office. There is also a large

branch oifice in Tyrrel Street, connected with the he.ad office

by pneumatic tubes. There are 3i town sub-offices and 21

country sub-offices, at all of which, with about four excep-

tions, both money order, savings bank, and telegraph business

is conducted. The town is connected with the Leeds and
Liverpool Canal and the Aire and Calder navigation ; it is

in direct communication with the railway system of England
and Scotland, and it is second to none in postal and tele-

graphic communication. A system of tramways, chiefly by

steam traction, permeates the borough.

The ecclesiastical history of Bradford dates from about

the middle of the 15th century, when St Peter's (parish)

Church was completed, probably upon the site of an older

edifice. It comprises nave, with north and south aisles,

chancel, and substantial tower, completed .about half a

century later than the main body of the church. It is the

only venerable structure in Bradford. During the Civil

Wars, the sacred edifice was subject to a cannonade from the

Royalist guns, and marks of cannon balls are still visible on

the tower. The interior was re-arranged in 1705 ; and the

church, re-roofed in 1724, had galleries added towards the

close of the 18th century, was re-fronted in 1833, and in

1870 thoroughly renovated. The registers date from 1596.

Number of sittings 1600, which are mostly appropriated.

The living is in the gift of Simeon's Trustees, and is valued

at ill 200 per annum. Christ Church, the second Estab-

lished Church erected in Bradford, was built in 1815, and
rebuilt upon its present site, in 1878. Sittings, 700, half

free ; value of living, £225 and vicarage. Patron, Vicar of

Bradford. There are also the following Episcopalian places

of worship within the borough, viz. :—All Saints', Bierley,

Holy Trinity, St Andrew's, St Augustine's, St Bamabas', St
Bartholomew's, St Chrysostom's, St James's (Horton), St

James's (Bolton), St John's (Bradford), St John's (Bowling),

St John's (Great Horton), St Jude's, St Luke's (Bowling),

St Luke's (Manningham), St Jlaik's, St Mary's, St Mary
Magdalene's, St Matthew's, St Michael's, St Paul's, St
Peter's (AUerton), St Philip's, St Stephen's, St Thomas's.
There are also in Bradford chapels and preaching rooms
attached to other reUgious denominations as follows, viz. :

—

Independents or Congregational, 19 ; Baptists, 14 ; Wes-
leyan Methodists, 29 ; Unitarians, 2 ; Society of Friends, 2

;

Presbyterians, 5 ; Roman Cathohcs, 8 ; Primitive Method-
ists, 15 ; Wesleyan Reformers, 4 ; Methodist New Con-
nexion, 3 ; and United Methodist Free Church, 8. The
United College (Congregational) is at Ileaton.

Bradford early followed the lead of its niember, the late

Eight Hon. W. E. Forster, M.P., in electing a School Board.
The Board has 33 elementary schools, with 80 departments,
having a total accommodation for 27,911 scholars. There
are also 35 other elementary schools in the borough, with
75 departments, having accommodation for 20,882 scholars.

The amount of precept received from the rates was, for
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1892, £39,000 ; and the amount in the £ of School Board

rate, 8'8d. The Bradford grammar school for boys

is one of the most important scholastic agencies in the

town. It was incorporated and re-founded under the charter

of Charles II. in 1662, and was re-organized by the Endowed
School Commissioners in 1871. It possesses a considerable

endowment and an invested fund for scholarships, but its

chief source of income is derived from fees. 'The pupils

usually number about 600. The girls' grammar school is of

recent creation, and derives an endowment of £260 per annum
from the first-named foundation, and the interest of a sum
of £10,000 for scholarships. The Bradford Technical College

was inaugm'ated in 1878, for the purpose of giving technical

instruction in chemistry, mechanics, and the arts to the

youth of both sexes. The Bradford Mech.anics' Institute,

established in 1832, and the Bradford Church Institute,

established in 1858, are both educational agencies of influence.

The charities of the town are numerous, comprising the

General Infirmary, Eye and Ear- Hospital, Bhnd Institution,

Fever Hospital (corporate property), Children's Hospital,

and Children's "Nest;" Nutter Orphanage (for boys).

Girls' Orphanage ; and convalescent homes at Ilkley and
Rawdon ; Tradesmen's Benevolent Institution, Spinsters'

Endowment Fund, Charity Organization Society, and Dis-

ch,arged Prisoners' Aid Society.

Three daily newspapers are published in Bradford, and
several weekly issues. The Bradford Obsen-er, established

in 1834, is the only morning daily newspaper. The town
possesses several public buildings utilised for concerts, public

meetings, &c., the largest being St George's Hall, which

seats nearly 4000 persons. Hotels are numerous, and
several are of high-class character. There are also numerous
clubs in the town. The masonic body is strongly represented,

and there are many friendly societies. There are two theatres,

Bradford Canal. See Leeds and Liverpool Canal.
Bradford-Abbas, a village and a parish in Dorsetshire.

The village stands on the river Yeo, 1^ mile ESE of Yeovil

Junction station on the L. & S.W.R", and 3J SW by W
of Sherborne, under which it h.is a post office ; money order

and telegi^aph otfice, Nether-Compton. The parish comprises

1216 acres; population of the civil parish, 523; of the

ecclesiastical, including Clifton-Maybivnk, 603. The living

is a rectory, united with the rectory of Clifton-Maybank, in

the diocese of Salisbm'y; net value, £287 with residence.

Patron, Winchester College. The church is good.

Bradford-Down, a range of liill in Dorsetshire, immedi-
ately W of Dorchester. The smnmit of it, 3 miles from the

town, commands an extensive view.

Bradford-on-Avon. See Bradford, Wilts.

Bradford-Peverell, a village and a parish in Dorset-

shire. The village stands on the river Frome, under Brad-
ford-Down, near the Roman road to Ilchester, 3 miles NW
by W of Dorchester station on the L. & S.W.R. and G.W.R.
It has a post office under Dorchester ; money order and tele-

gi'aph oflice, Chai-minster. Acreage of parish, 2254 ; popu-
lation, 368. The parish includes also the hamlet of Muckle-
ford. Roman antiquities have been found. The living is a
rectoiy in the diocese of Salisbuiy; net value, £113 with

residence. Patron, Winchester College. The church is mo-
dern Gothic, and contains specimens of 13tli century glass.

Bradford, West, a township in Waddington parish, in

the W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Ribble, 2 miles N of

Clitheroe station on the L. & Y.R. Post town, Waddington,
under Clitheroe, which is the money order and telegi-aph

otfice. Acreage, 1955
;
population, 314. There is a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel. Eaves Hall is a chief residence.

Bradgate, a hamlet in Kimberworth parish, in the W. R.

Yorkshire, 1 mile W of Rotherham.

Bradgate-Park, formerly an extr.a-parochial tract, is now
included in the p.ai'ishes of Newtown-Linford, Anstey, and
Ulverscroft, Leicester. It is 6 miles from Leicester.

Bradbolme, 1 mile from Thome, in the W. R. Yorkshire.

Bradiford, a village in Piltou parish, Devonshue, with a

post otfice under Barnstaple.

Brading (anciently Brerding or Brerdynge), a town and
a pmish in the Isle of Wight. The town stands on the Isle

of Wight rmlw.iy, at the head of Brading Harbour, 3i miles

S by E of Ryde, and has a railway station and a post, money
order, and telegraph office. It is a very ancient place, and

219



BEADLE

consists chiefly of one long street. It remained a corporate

town, governed by bailiffs and juiats, and holding its conrt

leets until 1886, when, all unreformed bodies becoming
extinct by Sir Charles Dilke's Act, a Town Trust of nine

members was formed by the Charity Commissioners to ad-

minister the annual income. The corporation had a common
seal with tlie words, " The Kynge's Towne of Bradmg."
The town-hall was rebuilt in 1875-76, and is an elegant

structure of stone and brick ; it contains a free library, not

supported by the rates. A massive iron ring, fastened to the

ground in an open space called the Bull Ring, is a relic of

a barbarous sport. The parish church is said to stand on

the very spot where Wilfrid, archbishop of York, coming
with Ceadwalla when he conquered the Jutes, baptized the

inhabitants of the island. The present building is to a

considerable extent Transition Nonnan, but has Early

English, Decorated, and Perpendicular features. It was re-

stored 1864-74. The earliest monument is an incised slab

to the jncmory of John Cherowin, who died in 1441,

and there are several altar tombs of the Oglanders. The
li^^ng is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester; net value,

i£220 with residence. Patron, Trinity College, Cambridge.

The vicarage of Bembridge is a sepai'ate benefice
;

gi'oss

value, £98 with residence. The churchyar-d has the grave of

Legh Richmond's " Little Jane," and the tombstone of Mrs.

Beny, with the inscription beginning, " Forgive, blest shade,

the tributary tear," set to music by Dr. Calcott. There are

Bible Christian and Congi'egational chapels. The population

of the present ecclesiasticfd parish is 1560, but the old civil

parish, which comprises Bembridge, Sandown, aud Lake,

and stretches into the town of Shanklin, has a population of

8994, and an area of 9240 acres. Nunwell, NW of tjie

town, amid richly wooded grounds, is the seat of the Oglander

family, descendants of Richard Okelandre, who came from
Normandy about the time of the Norman Conquest. Brad-
ing Down, S and W of Nunwell, commands a wide pano-

ramic view of the Channel, the Solent, and the coast of Ifants

and Sussex. Several attempts had been made to reclaim

the extensive area of Brading harbour, which, though like an

extensive lake at high water, was like a muddy swamp when the

tide was out, but a few years since the Brading Hai'bom" Com-
pany were successful in reclaiming about 800 acres, which

are now under p:u-tial cultivation. Legh Richmond was
for some time curate of Brading, and wrote here his " Young
Cottager," *' Dairyman's Daughter," and " Negro Servant."

In 1880 an interesting discovery was made by Mr. F. G.

Hilton-Price, F.S.A., F.G.S., of the foundations of a Roman
villa, which on excavation proved to be one of the most
important and interesting remains in the kingdom ; the

whole of this has been covered in and carefully protected.

Bradle, a tithing in Church-Knowle parish, Dorsetshire,

1 mile W of Corfe-Castle.

Bradley, a tithing iii Cumnor parish, Berks, 4J miles

NNW of Abingdon.

Bradley, a hamlet in Frodsham lordship and parish,

Cheshire, 1 mile ESE of Frodsham.

Bradley, a township in Malpas parish, Cheshire, 2 miles

SE of Malpas. Acreage, 890; population, 133. There is a

Congregational chapel.

Bradley, a parish and pictui'esque village in Dej'byshire,

3 miles E by S of Ashbourne railway station. There is a

post office under Ashbom'ne ; money order and telegraph

office, Osmaston. Acreage, 2422; population, 217. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell; net value,

£227 with residence. Patron, the Dean and Chapter of

Lichfield. The church is ancient, and contains various monu-

ments of the Knivetous.

Bradley, a parish in Hants, 6 miles WNW of Alton sta-

tion on the L. & S.W.R., and 7J S of Basingstoke. Post

town, Alrcsford ; money order and tclegrapli office, Preston

Caudover. Area, 974 acres
;
population, 69. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Winchester; net value, £114
with residence. The church is good, and was almost rebuilt

in 1876. There ai'e some small charities.

Bradley, a hamlet iu Holt chapelry, Leicestershire, 2j
miles NW of Rockingham. A small Augustinian priory was

founded here in the time of King John hy Robert de Bundy,

and given at the dissolution to Thomas Novell.

Bradley, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2^ miles SW of Great
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Grimsby railway station. Post town, Grimsby, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1554; popula-

tion, 85. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln

;

net value, £183. The church is a small but ancient building

of stone, and there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bradley, an ecclesiastical parish constituted in 1865 from

the parishes of Wolverhampton .and Sedgeley, in Stafford-

shire, .adjacent to Bilston. It has a station under the name
of Bradley and Moxley on the G.W.R., and a post, money
order, and telegraph office (T.S.O.) under Bilston. Popula-

tion, 5146. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lich-

field ; net v.alue, £382. Patrons, trustees. The church was

completed in 1868 at a cost of £6000, and is in the Early

English style. There are Wesleyan aud Free Methodist

chapels.

Bradley, a hamlet in Burslem parish, St,alfordshire, adja-

cent to Bm'slem.

Bradley or Bradeley, a parish in Staffordshire, 2J miles

SSE of Haughton station on the L. & N.W.R., and 5 SW of

Stafford. It includes the hamlets of Billington, Woolaston,

Shredicote, Littywood, Reule, Longnor, Allymoor Green, and
part of Apetoir and Alstone. It has a post office under

Stafford, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 4948 (including 30 of w.ater)
;
population of the

civil parish, 429 ; of the ecclesiastical, 474. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £165 with

residence. Patron, Lord Stafford. The church is Early

English and Decorated, and has an emb.attled tower with

pinnacles. There are also a Primitive Methodist chapel and

an endowed grammar school.

Bradley, Worcestershire. See Stock and Bradley.
Bradley, a hamlet forming a ward in the borough of

Huddersfield, in the W. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles NE of Hudders-

field, under which it has a post and telegraph office ; money
order office, Sheepridge. It has a station on the L. & N.W.R.,

a church, and large cotton mills.

Bradley, a hamlet in Wotton-under-Edge parish, Glouces-

tcrshhe, adjacent to Wotton-under-Edge.

Bradley aud Moxley, a railway station in Staffordshire,

on the L. & N.W.R., IJ mile SE of Bilston.

Bradley-Field. See Underisarrow.
Bradley-Fold, a station on the L. & Y.E., Lancashire,

2^ miles E by N of Bolton.

Bradley, Great, a parish in Suffolk, on the verge of the

county, Gi miles N of Haverhill station on the G.E.E., and 8 S
of Newm.arket, under which it has a post office ; money order

and telegi-aph office, Little Thurlow. Acreage, 2340
;
popu-

lation, 317. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely;

net value, £490. The chm-ch is a structure of stone and
Hint in the Perpendicular style. It was built in 1120, and
altered in the Tudor period.

Bradley-Green, a village in Biddulph parish, Stafford-

shire, 1 mile from Gillow Heath station on the North Stafford-

shire railway, and 6 miles N of Burslem. It has a post

office under Congleton ; telegraph office. Black Bull railway

station. The local board of Biddulph parish have their offices

here. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Bradley-Haverstoe, a wapentake in the parts of Lindsey,

Lincolnshire. It contains Bradley parish and thirty-three

other p.arishes.

Bradley-in-the-Moors, a parish in Staffordshke, 1 mile

WSW of Alton station on the North Staffordshire railway,

and 3 miles ESE of Cheadle. Post town, Alton (Stafford-

shire). Acreage, 677
;
population, 65. The Earl of Shrews-

bury and Talbot is lord of the manor. The living is a
[lerpetual cur.acy in the diocese of Lichfield ; net viilue, £64.

Patron, the Earl of Shi'ewsbury and Talbot. The chmxh,
rebuilt in 1750, is small.

Bradley, Little, a parish in Risbridge district, Suffolk,

on the verge of the county, Gk miles N of Haverhill station

on the G.E.R. Post town, Newm.arket; money order and
telegraph office. Little Thmiow. Acreage, 972

;
population,

75. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely ; tithe com-
muted at £250. The church, a small but ancient structure

of flint with a round tower, has a brass of John Daye the

printer, who died in 1584, and four other brasses. It is

filled with painted windows—one in memory of John Daye,

given by the Stationers' Company in 1880, of which com-
pany he was master in 1580.
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Bradley, Lower and Upper. See BkadleysBotii.
Bradley, Maiden. See Maiden-Bradley.
Bradley-Mills, a hamlet in Dalton township, Kiikhcaton

parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire, about 1 mile NE of Hudders-

tield. The nearest station is at Deighton (1 mile) on the

L. & N. W. K. The manufacture of woollen goods Is car-

ried on.

Bradley, North, a tithing and a parish in Wilts. The
tithing lies on an affluent of the river Avon, 2 miles S of

Trowbridge station on the G.W.R., and has a post office

under Trowbridge, which is the money order office ; telegriiph

office, West Ashton. The parish includes also the tithing of

Southwick. Area of the parish, 1768 acres
;
population of

the civil parish, 809 ; of the ecclesiastical, 15G0, The
living is a vicarage, with Southwick, in the diocese of

Salisbm-y; net value, £1G0. Patron, Winchester College.

The church was built in the 14th century, in the Transi-

tion period. Additions were made about 80 years later,

including a N chapel erected by Archbishop Staftord for his

mother's tomb (died l-llG). The church was restored in

1SG3. Eoad-Hill vicarage is a separate charge. There is

a Baptist chapel. An asylum for poor, founded by Arch-

deacon D.aubeny, .and a school have endowments; another

asylum by the same founder is unendowed.

Bradleys-Both, or Lower and Upper Bradley, a

township joined to Cononley to form an ecclesiastical parisli,

in the W. K. Yorkshire, on the Leeds and Liverpool Canal,

and on the M.R., 2 miles from Cononley station. It h.as a

post office under Keighley. Area of township, 1951 acres
;

population, 542. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel, and
a cemetery formed in 1887.

Bradley, West, a parish in Somerset, on the Somerset
and Dorset railway, neiir West Pennard station, 5 miles E
by S of Glastonbury, which is the post town and money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1410
;
population of civil

parish, 237 ; of the ecclesiastical, including part of the civil

parish of East Pennard, 29G. The living is a vicarage, with

the district of Lottisham annexed, in the diocese of Bath
and Wells; net value, £154 with residence, in the gift of

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. There is a IJible Christian

chapel, and a Wesley.an one in the part of East Penn.ard men-
tioned above. The church is a stone building in the Per-

pendicular style, and was restored in 1874. St Maiy's Church
at Lottisham is a stone structure in the Decorated style,

erected in 1878.

Bradmere Pool, a pond in the NE of Dartmoor, Devon-
shu'e, 5 miles NW of Morcton-IIampstead. It occupies about 3
acres, is said to be unfathomable, continues full to the lip in

the greatest droughts, and is thought by some to have been

artificial and Druldical. An elliptical mound contiguous to

it is also thought to have been Di-uidical ; and a cromlecli

called the Spinster's Rock, with three supporting stones 7 feet

high .and an incumbent stone 15 feet long and 10 feet broad,

is about 100 yards distant.

Bradmore, a parish In Notts, 2J miles from Plumtrce
station on the M.K,. and 7 S of Nottingham, wliich is the

post town ; money order and telegraph office, Ruddington.

Acreage, 1253
;
population, 244. Many of the inhabitants

are stocking-makers. The living is a vicarage, annexed to

that of Bunny, in the diocese of Southwell
;

joint net yearly

value, £300 with residence. The church was long ago burnt
down and has not been rebuilt. Divine service is held at

Bunny. There is also a small Wesleyan chapel.

Bradney, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, 3J miles

NE of Bridgnorth.

Bradninch, a small town and a parish in Devonshire.
The town has a station under the name of Hele and Bradninch
on the G.W.R., 181 miles from London, and a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Collumpton. Anciently
called Braines, it gives the title of B.aron under that name
to the Duke of Cornw.all. It dates from the Sa.xon times,

is thought by some to be older than Exeter, was the head-
quai-ters of King Charles and his army on two occasions

in 1G44, and likewise of Fairfax's army in October, 1G45.
Bradninch was almost entirely destroyed by fire in 1GG5,
and it is now a poor place, consisting principally of one
street. It sent members to Parliament from the time of

Edward II. till that of Henry TIL, and was long a market-
town. The town-hall was built in the time of Henry VI.,
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and repaired In 1858. The parish church is Later Perpen-
dicular- English , was thoroughly restored and renovated in 1 88 1

,

and contains a fine screen of 1528, and an old painting of the

crucifixion. The tower was struck by lightning in 1887,
but h.TS since been repaired. There are Baptist and Wes-
ley.an chapels, and charities. The parish includes also the

hamlet of Hele. Acreage, 4399
;
population, 1708. The

manor belongs to the Duchy of Cornwall. Bradninch House
is an interesting old mansion, formerly the seat of the Saint-

hill family. The living is a vicarage In the diocese of Exeter;

net value, £190 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and
Canons of Windsor.

Bradnop (or Bradenhope) and Cawdry, a township in

Leek pai'ish, Staffordshire, 3 miles SE by E of Leek, forming

part of the ecclesiastical parish of Onecote. Acreage, 35G8;

population, 450. There Is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bradnor. See Barton, Bradnor, and Rushock.
Bradock. See Broadoak, Cornwall.

Bradon Forest, an ancient forest, once occupying the

greater part of the N of Wilts. It was known to the Saxons
as Braedene or Briadun, overrun by Ethelwold in 905, and
held in the time of Henry IV. by Edmund of York. Bradou
Pond in It, 4 miles E of JIalmesbury, measures } of a mile

by ^, and Is the largest sheet of water in the county.

Bradpole, a parish in Dorsetshire, 1 mile NE of Bridport

station on the G.W.R. Post town, Bridport, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1007 ;
popula-

tion, 1G41. The living is a vicarage, united with the chapelry

of St Andrew, In the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £189
with residence. P.atTon, the Lord Chancellor. The parish

church is In the Early English style, and consists of nave,

north aisle, chancel, vestiy, and tower, with spire. St An-
drew's Chapel Is in the Early Decorated style. The Bridport

workhouse is in Bradpole. There is a village reading-room
and library.

Bradshaw, a township, a village, and a parish in Lanca-
shire. The township lies on the L. & Y.R., adjacent to the

Oaks station, 2^ miles NE of Bolton, under which it has a

post office ; money order and telegraph office, Bromley Cross.

Acreage, 115G
;
population of township, 647 ; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 2698. Bradshaw Hall was the seat of

John Bradshaw, who presided at the trial of Charles I.,

and is now the seat of the Hardcastle family. The Brad-
sh.aw Isherwoods, of Marple, Cheshire, still own nearly all

the land in the township, and Mr Isherwood is lord of the

manor. There are bleaching, calico printing, dyeing, and
finishing works. The living is a vicarage in the the diocese

of Manchester
;
gross value, £350 with residence. Patron,

the Vicar of Bolton. The church, built in Early English
style, is dedicated to St Maxentius.

Bradshaw, an ecclesiastical parish in W. R. Ytrkshire,

about 3 miles NW of Halifax, under which it has a post

oftice; money order and telegi-aph office, lUingworth, and 2

miles from Ovenden railway station. Population, 1622.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wakefield ; net

value, £185 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Halifax.

The church was built In 1837. There are coalpits and a

worsted mill.

Bradsole or St Radigund, a ruined Premonstratensian

abbey in Polton p.arish, Kent, on high gi'ound, commanding
a good view, 3 miles NW of Dover. It was founded in 1191
by Jefi'rey, Earl of Perth, and given at the dissolution to the

Archbishop of Canterbury. The principal gateway nearly

all i-emains, much covered with ivy, and the chapel and some
other p.arts are now used as a farmhouse.

Bradstone, a parish in Devonshire, on the river Tamar,
3 miles from Lifton station on the G.W.R., and 8 NW by N
of Tavistock, which is the post town ; money order office,

Lifton ; telegraph office, Launceston. Acreage, 1284
;
popu-

lation, 100. The manor-house, an old Tudor edifice, is now
tenanted by a fanner. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Exeter
;
gross value, £264 with residence. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The chiu-ch is Perpendicular English, con-
sists of nave, aisle, and chancel, with a tower, and has been
recently restored.

Bradwall or Bradwell, a township in Sandbach parish,

Cheshire, 2 miles NNW of Sandb.ach. Acreage, 2117; popu-
lation, 758. The Sandbach reformatory for boys is situated

iu this township. There is a Wesleyan chapel.
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Bradwell, a paiisli in Bucks, 1 mile S of Wolverton station

on the L. & N.W.E., and 4 miles from Newport Pagnell.

It has a post office under Stony-Stratford ; money order and

telegi-aph office, Stantonbury. Acreage, 917
;
population,

2Si^'.^. The living is a vicai-age iu the diocese of Oxford;

net value, £G0 with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chan-

cellor. The church is an ancient building of stone, in the

Early English and Decorated styles. There is also a small

Wesleyan chapel. New Bradwell, which forms part of this

parish for civil purposes, is ecclesiastically a sep.arate vicar-

age annexed to Stantonbuiy. The church, a building of

stone in the Geometric style, was erected in 1859. There

are also Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels. There is a

station here on the Newport Pagnell railway.

Bradwell, a township and a parish in Derbyshire, under

the Peak, 1 mile from Brough st.ation on the JI.R., and 2

miles SE of Castleton. There is a post and money order office

under Sheffield ; telegi-aph office, Hope. Acreage of township,

2174; population, 837. Host of the inhabitants were originally

employed in the lead mines of the district, but since the

mines have ceased working, agricidtm*e and quarrying have

formed the township's principal employment. There are

stone works in the rocks of Bradwell Dale. Near the village

is Bagshaw Cavem, which contains numerous chambers,

with some remarkable stalactites. Traces of a Roman camp

occm" at Brough Castle, and Roman tiles, coins, and other

reUcs have been found there. The parish includes the

townships of Abney, Great and Little Hucklow, Grindlow,

and Wardlow, and the lordship of Hazlebadge. Popul.a-

tion, 1343. The township has a small church in the Per-

pendicular style, built in 1 86 8, and Wesleyan, Primitive Metho-

dist, and Unitarian chapels. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Southwell; net value, £220 with residence,

in the gift of the Dean and Chapter of Lichfield.

Bradwell, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 3 miles SW
by S of Great Yarmouth, under which there is a post oflGce

;

money order and telegraph office, Gorleston. Acreage of

parish, 2340
;
population, 542. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Nonvich ; net value, £420 with residence.

The chm-ch, which is a building of flint in the Later Decor-

ated style, has a curious ancient font, and is good. Hobland

Hall is a chief residence.

Bradwell, Bradwell - near - the - Sea, or Bradwell-

juxta-Mare, a village and a parish in Esses. The village

stands near the point of the peninsula between the Blackwater

estuary and the sea, 7 miles NE from Southminster station

on the G.E.R., and 5i by water or 15 by road from Maldon.

It has a post and money order office under Southminster

;

telegraph office, Tillingham. It occupies the site of the

Roman Othona and the Saxon Ithancestre. The parish com-

prises 5012 acres of land and 5620 of water and foreshore;

population, 914. There is a little trade in corn and coal,

and a coastguard station. The living is a rectoiy in the dio-

cese of St Albans; net yearly v.alne, £800 with residence.

The church has some interesting brasses and monuments.

There is also a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bradwell, Oxford. See Broadwell.
Bradwell-Abbey, formerly an extra-pai-ochial tract, now

a parish in Bucks, contiguous to Bradwell palish, 3i miles

SE by E of Stony- Stratford, and 2 S of Wolverton station

on the L. & N.W.R. It has a post office under Stony-Strat-

ford; money order and telegraph office, Stantonbury. Acreage,

447
;
population of the civil parish, IG ; of the ecclesiastical,

455. A small black priory was founded here in the time of

Stephen by a Baron of Wolverton, and given at the dissolu-

tion to Arthur Longfield, and is now a farmhouse.

Bradwell-next-Coggeshall, a parish in Essex, on the

river Blackwater, 2 miles W of Coggeshall, and 4 E by S of

Braintrce station on the G.E.R. Post town, Brainti-ee

;

money order and telegi-aph office, Coggeshall. Acreage,

1205; population, 213. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value, £220. The church

is small and very ancient (1086), containing some interesting

monuments. Blackw,ater, Chap Dog Green, and Perry Green

are adjacent hamlets.

Bradwell-next-the-Sea. See Bradwell, Essex.

Bradworthy, a village and a parish in Devonshire. The

village stands near the Bude Canal, 7 miles NNW of Hols-

worthy station on the L. & S.W.E., and it has a post and
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money order office under Holsworthy ; telegi'aph office,

Kilkhampton. The parish includes also the hamlets of

AUardisworthy, Denworthy, Kimsworthy, and Youlston.

Acreage, 9792 ; population of the ciril parish, 861 ; of the

ecclesiastical, including Pancras Week, 1161. A consider-

able portion of the sm'face is moor and common. There are

Wesleyan and Bible Cluistian chapels. Many traces of

Roman settlements have been obsen-ed. The living is a

vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of Pancras-Week,

in the diocese of Exeter
;
gross value, £268 with residence.

Patron, the Crown. The church has an oaken roof and a

lofty tower.

Brafferton, a township in AyclifFe parish, Durham, on

the river Skeme, 1 mile from Aycliffe station on the N.E.R.,

and 4^ miles N of Darlington, which is the post town.

Acreage, 2428
;

population, 157. There is a Methodist

chapel.

Brafferton, a township and a parish in N. R. Yorkshire.

The village stands on the river Swale, adjacent to the

Boroughbridge and Pilmoor railway, 3^ mUes NE of Borough-

bridge. It has a station on the railway, and is contiguous to

Helperby village, which has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Y'ork. Area of the township, 1847 acres ;

population, 255 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 875. The

parish includes also the townships of Helperby, Thom-
ton-Bridge, and Fawdington, and the hamlet of Pilmoor.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Y'ork
;
gross value,

£288 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The

church is good, and there are several charities.

Braffords, a hamlet in Swanland township and North

Fen-iby parish, E. R. Yorkshire, 7 miles W of Hull, and 3

from Brough railway station.

Brafield, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire.

The parish is called also Brafield-on-the-Green, and lies 1^
mile S by E of Billing Road station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 5 miles E by S of Northampton, which is the post town;

money order and telegraph oflice. Little Houghton. Acreage,

1282; population of the civil parish, 496; of the ecclesi-

astical, including Little Houghton, 1000. The living is a

vicarage, annexed to the vicarage of Little Houghton, in the

diocese of Peterborough ; joint net yearly value, £330. The
church, which is a building of stone in the Decorated style,

was restored in 1858. There are Baptist and Wesleyan Re-

form chapels.

Braich-y-PwU, a headland at the south-westeni extre-

mity of Cam-arvonshii-e, 2J miles N of Bardsey Island. It

commands a fine view.

Braidley, a hamlet in Carlton-Highdale township, N. E.

Y'orkshu-e, 8 miles from Aysgai'th railway station. Bedale

is the post town.

Brailes, two hamlets and a parish in Wai-wickshire. The
hamlets ai^e Upper and Lower Brailes; they lie 3 and 4 miles

ESE of Shipston-on-Stour station on the Shipston branch of

the G.W.R., and about 6 NW of Hook Norton station on

its Banbmy and Cheltenham branch. They have a post

office, of the name of Brailes, under Shipston-on-Stour, which

is the telegraph office. One of the hamlets was fonnerly a

mark£t-town. The parish includes also the hamlets of Chelms-

cote and Winderton. Acreage, 5625
;
population, 1060. The

manor belonged before the Conquest to Edmn, Earl of &Iercia,

and was given by the Conqueror to Henry de Newburgh, and

passed to the Beauchamps, and in the time of Edward VI. to

the Sheldon family, in whose possession it remains. Brailes

House is the seat of the lord of the manor. Some parts of

the surface are hilly and have fine views. The living is a

vicarage, with Winderton, in the diocese of Worcester ; net

value, £340 with residence. The church is a very fine

ancient building, chiefly Decoriited and Perpendicular, with

slight traces of Noiinan and Early English. It was fonnerly

known as " the Cathedral of the Feldon " (that is, that

portion of the country which was cleai'ed of timber, as dis-

tinguished from Ai'den, the wooded portion). It consists of

chancel, nave with aisles and clerestory, south porch, and a

lofty western tower, 120 feet high with embattled parapet.

The chmxh is 165 feet in length, and contains an oct.agon.al

font, an alt.ar tomb, memorial stones and stained windows.

It was carefully restored in 1879. Winderton church is a

very beautiful building. There are Roman Catholic, Wes-
leyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels, and a meeting-house
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for the Society of Friends. Tliere is also an endowed gi-ammar

school, established in the reign of Henry VIII.

Brailsford, a \'illage and a parish in Derbyshire. The
parish lies on an affluent of the river Dove, 6 miles W of

DutEeld railway station, and on the old London Road, 7

NW of Derby, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Derby. Acreage, 4366 ;
population of the

civil pai'ish, 639; of the ecclesiastical, 612. This was

fonnerly a Roman settlement. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Southwell
;

gi'oss value, £553 with residence.

Patron, Earl Fen*ers. The church is good, and there ai-e

two Metliodist chapels.

Braines. See Bkadninch, Devonshire.

Braint, The, a river of Anglesey, rising in the NE of the

island, and flowing SW to the Menai Strait, nearly opposite

Carnarvon.

Braintfield, Herts. See Bkamfield.
Braintree, a small town and pansh, and head of a union

and county couil district, in Essex. The town stands on

the river Blackwater, on the Roman road to Colchester, and

on the Maldon, Witham, and Braintree railway, 6J miles

north-north-westward from the Witham Junction of the

G.E.R., and 12 NNE of Chelmsford. It was once a seat

of the Bishops of London ; was constituted a market-town

in the time of King John, and owing to its being on the

route of pilgrims to Bury-St-Edmunds and Walsingbam, it

attained some importance ; it fell fast into decay after the

Reformation, and revived under the influence of trade. The
manor was known at the Conquest as Great Rayne or Branche-

treu, or Branktre, and belonged, till the time of Edward
VI., to the Bishops of London. Tlie town is straggling,

occupies a rising ground, and connects on the N with Bock-
ing, the two parishes forming one continuous town. The
streets for the most part are naiTow, and some of the houses

are old and timbered, but now considerably renovated and
modernized. The parish chm*ch (St Michael's) stands on

high ground, thought to have been the site of an ancient

camp, is Early English and later styles, with a tall spire, was
enlarged prior to tlie Reformation with the proceeds of three

plays acted in it. There is a brass to Dr Collins, physician

to the Czar of Russia, 1670. The site of the former church,

and some vestiges of a palace of the Bishops of London, are

half a mile distant. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of St Albans ; net value, X238 with residence. The town
is governed by a local board of nine members. It is well

dramed, and has a good supply of water drawn from two
artesian wells. It has a station on the railway, a head post,

money order, and telegi-aph office, two banks, some corn

mills, maltings and breweries, and two good hotels. A com-
modious police station with court-house and every convenience

was erected in 1893. In addition to the parish church it has

two Baptist chapels, and Congregational, Primitive Methodist,

and Wesleyan chapels. There is a cemeteiy of over 5 acres,

a vestry hall, com exchange, a public hall erected in 1887, a

mechanics' institute, and a cottage hospital. A considerable

woollen trade sprang up in the time of Elizabeth, but decayed

gradually, and its place is taken now by the manufactuie

of silk and crape, and of bmshes and cocoa-nut fibre matting.

A weekly market is held on Wednesday for com and cattle,

and fairs are held on 8 and 9 May, and 2, 3, and 4 Oct., the

latter being for cattle and hops. There is a weekly newspaper
published in the town. Dawes the archbishop, and Tusser
the agricultural poet, were born in the neighbourhood. The
parish comprises 2218 acres of land and 6 of water

;
popula-

tion, 5303.

Braiseworth or Breisworth, a parish in Suffi)lk, 2 miles

SSW of Eye station on the G.E.R., and 3J SE of Mellis.

Post town. Eye, which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. Acreage, 730; population, 119. The living is a
rectory in the diocese of Norwich; gross value, £185 with
residence. The church, a building of flint in the Norman
style, was erected in 1857.

Braishfield or Brashfield, a chapeh-y in the parishes of

Mitchelmersh, Romsey, and Hursley, Hants, on the Anton
river, 3^ miles N of Romsey station on the L. & S.W.R. It

was constituted in 1855, and it has a post office under
Romsey, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Population, 518. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Winchester
;
gross value, £250 with residence. Patron, the

bramcots

Bishop of Winchester. The church is a red brick building in

the Gothic style.

Braisty-Wood, a hamlet in Hartwith-witli-Winsley town-
ship, W. K. Yorkshire, 4j miles W of Ripley.

Bralthwaite, a village 3 miles NW of Keswick. Cumber-
land, on the Cockermouth and Penrith railway. It forms

with Thornthwaite an ecclesiastical parish, and with Middle-

sceugh a civil parish. It has a railway station, and a post,

money order, and telegi^aph office under Keswick The sur-

face commands splendid prospects.

Braithwaite, a hamlet in Keighley parish, W. R. York-
sliire, 2 miles from Keighley railway station.

Braithwaite, a hamlet in Kirk-Bramwitb parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, 4^ miles of Thorne.

Braithwell, a township and a parish in the W. R. York-
sliire. The township stands 3^ miles SSE of Conisbrougli

railway station, and 4 W of Tick Hill, and has a post

office under Rotherham ; money order and telegraph office,

i\laltby. It includes the hamlet of Micklebring. Acreage,

1948; population of the township, 357 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish, including Bramley, 781. The parish contains also

the township of Bramley. Roman coins and urns have been

found. The living is a rectory, united with Bramley, in the

diocese of York; gi'oss value, £330 with residence. Patron,

the Lord Chancellor. The church is Early English. There

is a Wesleyan chapel.

Brakes, a township in Leintwardine parish, Herefordshire,

4^ miles W of Ludlow.

Bramall. See Bramhai.l.
Bramber, a village and a parish in Sussex. The village

stands on the river Adur, and on the Roman road from

Dover to Winchester, and has a station on the L,B. & S.C.R.,

54 miles from London. It consists now of only a few cot-

tages, but it was long a place of importance and a market-

town. It was known to the Saxons as Brymmburgh, signify-

ing " a fortified hill," and it was a borough by prescription,

and sent two members to parliament till disfranchised by the

act of 1832. One of its representatives for a time was the

famous Wilberforce. The parish includes the village, and is

in the district of Steyning. Post town, Brighton ; money
order office. Upper Beetling ; telegi'aph office, Bramber. Acre-

age, 851 ;
population of the civil parish, 169 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, including Buttolphs, 239. The manor belonged be-

fore the Conquest to the Saxon kings ; was given by the

Conqueror to William de Braose
;

passed to the Howards,

and belongs now to the Duke of Norfolk. A Roman castel-

lum seems to have been here, and remains of a Roman
bridge have been obser\'ed. A Saxon royal fort succeeded

the castellum; a Nomian keep was added to tlie fort, and a gi-eat

baronial castle arose out of these, a moated, u-regular paral-

lelogram, 560 feet by 280, and was held by the Parliamen-

tarian troops during the Civil War, and went soon aftem-ards

into decay. Little of it now remains except a fragment of a

lofty barbican tower, and a mound representing the keep.

The tower has a Norman window, and the mound commands
an extensive and very striking view. The living is a rectory,

united with the vicarage of Buttolphs, in the diocese of

Chichester; joint net value, £149. Patron, Magdalen Col-

lege, Oxford. The chui'ch stands close to the castle, shows

some Nomian features, and once was cracifonn, with a central

tower. It was restored in 1870. There is a small ornitho-

logical museum in the village.

Bramble Chine, a small ravine on the NW coast of the

Isle of Wight, at Colwell Bay, 2 miles SW of Yarmouth.

A thick bed of oyster shells, in a fossil state, is here, the

shells in the same position as in life, but entirely decom-

posed.

Brambletye House, a rain 2^ miles SE of East Grin-

stead, in Sussex. It possesses little intrinsic interest, but

has some notoriety through Horace Smith's romance. The
house was built in the time of James I, by Sir Henry Comp-
ton, and belonged in 1683 to Sir James Rickards, who fled

from it under a charge of treason.

Bramcote, a village and a parish in Nottinghamshu-e. The
village stands near the verge of the county and the Not-

tingham Canal and the Erewash river, 1^ mile from Stanton

Gate station on the M.R., and 5 miles WSW of Nottingham,

under whicli it has a post office ; money order and telegiaph

office, Stapleford. Area of the parish, 1064 acres ;
popula-
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tion of the civil parish, 7G2; of the ecclesiastical, including

Attenborough, 2020. Bramcote Hall and Bramcote Hills

are chief residences. The Hemlock stone, 50 feet high, and

estimated to weigh between 200 and 300 tons, stands on

Brambcote Hill. Much of the sni-face is hill and moor.

The majority of the inhabitants are engaged in the collieries

and in agiiculture. The living is annexed to tlie vicarage of

Attenborough, in the diocese of Southwell. The chui'ch was

built in 1861, is in the Decorated English style, and con-

sists of nave, aisle, chancel, and vestry, with a tower and

spire 130 feet high. The tower of the old church still

stands in the old churchyard which is closed; it contains

monuments of the Handleys. There are a Wesleyau chapel

and several small charities.

Bramcott, a hamlet in Bulkington and Wolvey parishes,

Warwickshire, in the vicinity of the Ashby-de-la-Zouch

Canal, 4 miles SE of Nuneaton.

Bramdean, a parish in Hants, 3^ miles from Ropley

station on the L. & S.W.K., and 8i E by S of Winchester.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Aires-

ford. Acreage, 1237
;

population, 227. The parish is a

resort of sportsmen. A Roman pavement was found here,

and is covered. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Winchester ; net value, £190 with residence. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is Norman, with an Early

English chancel, and has been restored. A small chapel of

ease was erected in 1883.

Bramerton, a villsige and a parish in Norfolk, near the

river Yare, 3h miles SE from Trowse station on the G.E.R.,

and 5 SE of Norwich, under which there is a post ofhce;

money order and telegi-aph office, Trowse. Acreage of the

parish, 731 ;
population, 253. Bramerton Hall, Bramerton

Grange, and Hill House are chief residences. The li\'ing is a

rectory in the diocese of Nonvich
;
gross yearly value, £235

with residence. The church is an ancient building of flint

and stone in the Early English style, restored in 1800.

Bram£eld, a village and a parish in SuiTolk, near the

river Blythe, 2 miles S of Halesworth, and 3 N of Darsham
station on the G.E.R. There is a post office under Hales-

wortli, which is the telegraph office. Acreage of the

parish, 2601; population, 535. Bramfield Hall and BramfieUl

House are chief residences. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Norwich ; net value, £140 with residence. Patron,

the Lord Chancellor. The church is Early Decorated Eng-

lish, without aisles, and has a rich screen, with rood-loft.

A round tower stands detached. There are Congi'egational

and Primitive Methodist chapels. An ancient oak whicli

fell in 1843 is mentioned in tlie ballad relating to Hugh
Bigod's flight in 1174—

" When the Bally had ridden to Bramfield oak.

Sir Hugh was at llksale bower;
When the Baily had ridden to Halesworth Cross,

He was singing in Bungay Tower."

Bramfield, Braintfield, or Brantfield, a village and a

parisli in Hertfordsliire, near the river Beane, 3i miles NW
of Hertford railway station. Post town, Hertford, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage of parish,

1609
;
population, 213. Bramfield House, formerly called

Green Hall, is a chief residence. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of St Albans
;
gross value, £303. The churcji

is a building of stuccoed brick in the Early English style.

Thomas k Becket was rector, and a pond in the parish is

still called after his name.

Bramford, a village and a parish in Suflblk, on the river

Gipping, .and on the G.E.R., 2J miles NW of Ipswich, with

a station on the railway, and a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Ipswich. Acreage of p,arish, 3280
;

population of the civil parish, 1408 ; of the ecclesiastical,

including Burstall, 1393. There are several ch.ilk pits, and

extensive manure and cement works. The living is a vicarage,

united with the perpetu.al cur.acy of Burstall, in the diocese

of Nonvich
;
joint gross yearly value, £300 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Canterbury. The clmrch

is a building of flint and stone in the Perpendicular and

Decorated styles. Tliere is an almshouse for five widows, and

there are also some small charities.

Bramford-Speke. See Bkampford-Speke.
Bramhall or Bramall, a township in the parish of St
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Thomas, Stockport, Cheshire, 2J miles S of Stockport. It

has a station on the Stockport and Macclesfield branch of

the L. & N.W.R., and a post office under Stockport; fele-

gi'aph office, Cheadle Hulme. Acreage, 2885
;
population,

3365. Bramhall Hall is one of the finest specimens of the

old timber and plaster mansions in the country. It was
formerly the seat of the Davenport family, who owned tlie

manor from the time of Edward III. It is now the pro-

perty of the Nevill family, who have carried out a thorough

restoration of the building in most excellent taste. There
is a mission church in connection with St Thomas*
Church, Stockport. There are .also Baptist and Wesleyan
chapels.

Bramham, a rillage, a townsliip, and a parish in the W. R.

Yorkshii-e. The village hears the name of Bramham-with-
Oglethorpe, lies 2^ miles SW of Newton-KjTne railway station,

and 4 W of Tadcaster, .and has a post, money order, and
telegraph ofSce, of the n.ame of Bramham, under Boston Spa.

Acreage of township, 4108; population, 1034. The parish

contains part of tlie township of Clifford-with- Boston.

Bramliam Park, now the property of the Fox family,

belonged formerly to the Lords Bingley ; was built in the time

of Queen Anne ; consists of centre and wings, in the Grseco-

Italiau style ; contained till recently a portrait of Queen

Anne, given by her in aclcnowledgment of her being enter-

tained ; and was visited by George IV. Tlie proprietor of it

has abandoned it as a residence, but maintains the gi-ounds

around it in good order, and resides in a handsome neighbour-

ing mansion. A pack of fox-hounds is kept. Bramham
Moor has large remains of Watling Street, and is a resort of

sportsmen. Excellent limestone is qu.anied. Sir Thomas
Rokeby in 1408, on the part of Henry IV., fought and de-

feated the Earl of Northumberland at Bramham. The liring

is a vicar.age in the diocese of York ; net value, £246 with

residence. Patron, Christ Church, Oxford. The chiu'ch as

restored consists of nave, aisles, and chancel, with tower and

sliort sphe, and has a fine pointed doorway. The vicarages

of Boston Spa and Clifford are separate benefices. Bramh.am

College, a fine building amid ornate grounds, is an educa-

tional institution for young gentlemeu. There are two

Methodist chapels, an endowed school, and charities.

Bramhope, a village and a township in Otley parish, W.
R. Yorkshire, on the N.E.R., 2 miles S of Aithington, and

1 mile from Pool railway station There is a post and

money order office under Leeds ; telegraph office, Aithington.

Acreage of township, 1398 ;
population, 389. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £94. The old

chm'ch is no longer used for divine service, which is held in

the new church erected in 1881. There are a Working Men's

Club and Reading Room, a cemeteiy under the control of a

burial board, and a Wesleyan chapel. Bramliope Hall, the

Manor House, and Deigneley Hall are the chief residences.

Bramley, a parish in Hants. It lies 4J miles N by E of

Basingstoke, and 4 from Mortimer station on the G.W.R.,

and has a post and money order office mider Basingstoke ;

telegr.aph ofKce, Sherfield-on-Loddon. Acreage, 2297; popu-

lation, 424. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Win-

chester; gi'oss value, £114 with residence. Patron, Queen's

College, Oxford. The church is ancient, has a brass of 1508

and a monument to Dr Shaw the Orient.al traveller, and is in

good condition. It was restored in 1885. In 1874 an old

fresco painting of the murder of Thomas 6, Becket was dis-

covered beneath some plaster.

Bramley, a parish in Smi-ey, with a station on the L.B.

& S.C.R., 44 miles from London, and 3 S by E of Guildford,

under which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office.

Acreage, 4544
;
population of the civil parish, 1912 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 1468. The manor-house is an old edifice, « ith

picturesque g.ables, now occupied as a farm. The Consti-

tutional Hali was built in 1888, .and will hold 350 persons.

Tliere is also a good reading-room and libr.ary. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester
;
gross value, £100

with residence. Pati'on, the Lord Chancellor. The church

is partly Nomian, and has a good Early English chancel.

It was enlarged in 1877, and again in 1888.

Bramley, a manufacturing village, a township, head of a

union, and an ecclesiastical parish in the W. R. Yorkshire.

The village stands adjacent to tlie Leeds, Bradford, and Halifax

railway, near the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, 4 miles NW
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by \V of Leeds, and it has a station on tlae railway, and a
post, money order, and telegrapli office under Leeds. Area
of township, 2605 acres

;
population, 14,787 ; of ecclesiastical

palish, 8885. Cloth manufacture is carried on, and excellent
stone is quarried. There are also tanning, cunying, shoe-
making, and iron-founding industries. The living is a per-
petual curacy in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £330 with
residence. Patron, the Vicar of Leeds. The chm-ch of St
Peter was rebuilt in 1863 at a cost of £5000. There are
eight dissenting chapels, a church mission chapel, and several
charities. There are also a Conservative Club, erected in
1889, a recreation ground, a branch of the Leeds public
hbrary, and a workhouse.

Bramley, a tillage and township in Braithwell parish,
W. K. Yorkshire, and also a chapelry annexed to the
rectory of Braithwell, with a post office under Eotherham
(5 mdes)

; money order and telegraph office, Jlaltby. Acre-
age of township, 1408

; population, 454. There is a Wes-
leyan chapel. The Duke of Leeds is lord of the manor.
Bramley-Head, a hamlet in Thruscross township, Fews-

ton parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 9 miles W of Kipley.
Brampford-Speke, a \TlIage and a parish in Devonshire.

Ihe village stands on the river Ese, with a station on the
O.W.R., 186 miles from London, and 4 N of Exeter, under
which it has a post and money order office ; telegraph office,
Ihorverton. Acreage of parish, 11G3; population of civil
parish, 350

;
of the ecclesiastical, 443. The manor belonged

anciently to the family of Espek or Speke. It is now the
property of the Earl of Iddesleigh. The li«ng is a vicaragem the diocese of Exeter; gi-oss value, £339 with residence.
Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is very ancient;
consists of nave, north aisle, chancel, and south chapel, with
western square tower

; and has been completely restored.
Brampton, a market-town, a township, and a parish in

Eskdale ward, Cumberland. The town stands in a deep
narrow vale, near the confluence of tlie rivers Irthing and
Gelt, 1^ mile N of Milton railway station, 2 miles S of the
Roman wall, and 9 ENE of Cariisle. It is thought by
Camden to occupy the site of the Roman station Bremen-
turacum

;
rose early to some importance as a seat of popu-

lation and a centre of strength ; sustained much damage
during the wars iu the time of Edward II. ; was occupiedm 1/15 by the troops of the Pretender, and in 1745 by
those of Prince Charles Edward. It is long and inegularly
built, and has few modern houses. The town-hall is an

°lT°''i,
"'"""''

''"''"S on piazzas, and was erected in
1»17.^ Ihe parish church was rebuilt in 1878 by public
subscription, and contains a peal of bells. The chm-ch is
remarkable as containing eight windows designed by Burne
Jones, and executed by Morris. There are Presbyterian Con-
gregational, Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels The
town has a post, money order, and telegi-aph office under
tarhsle and a workhouse, and is a seat of petty sessions.A weekly market is held on Wednesday, .and fairs on '^O
April Trinity Wednesday, the second Wednesday of Sept.
and 23 Oct. Extensive brewing is carried on, and the
neighbouring coal works, which are the property of the
Jiarl of Carhsle, give employment to a large number of
persons. A mineral railway goes to Tindal Fell The
township extends into the country. Acreage, 6466

;
popu-

,,''''" °l,'l'^ township, 2790; of the ecclesiastical paiLh,

1 XT
P*" ™ntains also the townships of Easby

and Naworth. The manor belongs to the Earl of Carlisle
Naworth Castle is the Earl of Carlisle's scat, and was for-
merly that of the Dacre family. Freestone is quan-ied. A
famous Roman inscription, noticed by Camden, is still visible
on a rock overhanging the Gelt. An ancient camp occurs
on Castle Hill, with very extensive views. The living is a
vicarage m the diocese of Cai-lisle; net value, £349 with
residence. Patron, the Earl of Cariisle.
Brampton, a township, a village, and a parish in Derby-

shire, 3i miles W by N of Chesterfield railway station. The
township includes the hamlets of Wadshelf, Pratt Hall and
Cutthorpe, where there is a post and money order office:
telegraph office. New Brampton. Acreage, 8156

; popula-
tion the civil parish, 6895 ; of the ecclesiastical, St Peterand St Paul, 10< 4. The Duke of Devonshire is lord of the
manor. The inhabitants are mostly engaged in agiiculture
and stone quarrying. The living of St Peter and St Paul
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IS a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; net value £266 with
residence. Patron, the Bishop of Southwell. The parish
church, which was restored in 1868, retains some traces of
the original building, of mixed Norman and Early English
styles. There is a mission room (C. E.) at Wadshelf, and
Wesleyan chapels at Hollins, Wadshelf, Pratt Hall, and
Cutthorpe. The charities amount to about £230.
Brampton, a village and a parish in Huntingdonshire, on

1 1 „"^?;',"?f '
^ ™"'' "^ "f Buckden station on the M.R., andU WSW of Huntingdon, under which there is a post, money

order, and telegraph office. Acreage of parish, 3557 • popula-
tion, 1075. Brampton Park belonged to Sir John Baruard
who sat in the Parliament which restored Charies II. Samuel
Pepys, secretary to the Admh-alty under Charies II. and
James II., frequently visited his uncle, wlio resided in
Brampton. There are many allusions to these visits in his
diary. It became the seat of the Sparrow family eariy in
the present century. The mansion was mostly rebuilt in
1820, and contains some fine family paintin<'S. It is now
the property of the Duke of Manchester. Tlfe manor house,
another important residence, was rebuilt in 1877. The living
IS a vicarage in the diocese of Ely ; net value, £190 with resi-
dence. Patron, the Bishop of Ely. The church is Later
English, in very good condition, and has a monument to Sir
John Barnard. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel,
erected in 1889, a united chapel for Baptists and Con^-e-
gatiouahsts, and a Roman Catholic College.

"

Brampton, a township in Torksey parish, Llncolnshue
on the nver Trent, 7 miles S by E of Gainsborough. Acre-
age, 962

; population, 94.

Brampton, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the river
Bure,l^ mile from Buxton Ltim.as station on the G.E R 2
miles SE of Aylsham, and 11 N of Norwich, under which
there is a post office

; money order and telegraph office,
Buxton Lamas. Acreage of parish, 627; population, 182.
Ihe living IS a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value
£113 with residence. The chm-ch (St Peter's) has a round
tower, surmounted by an octagonal lantern, and is an ancient
building of stone in the Early English style. There is also a
Pnmitive Methodist chapel.

Brampton, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on the
G.E R., 4^ miles NE by N of Halesworth. There is a station
on the railway, and a post office under Wangford (R.S.O )which IS the money order and telegraph office. Acreao-e of
pansh,2074; population, 308. Brampton Hall is a chief resi-
dence. The Imng is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich •

gross value, £330 with residence. The church is a bnUdine
of timt m the Pei-pendicular style.

Brampton, a large manor and hamlet in Long Marton
parish Westmoreland, 2 miles N of Appleby railway station.
Lord Hothfield is lord of the manor and sole landowner It
has a post office under Appleby, which is the money order
and telegraph office. A steep conical hill near the town
called the Mote, is much visited by tourists for the sake of
the splendid view of the snn-ounding counti-y to be obtained
from it.

Brampton, a station on the Northampton and Market-
Harborough branch of the L. & N.W.R., 4J miles N of
Northampton.

Brampton or Brampton-Ash, a parish in Northampton-
shu-e, 4 miles E by S of Market-Hai-borough, which is the
railway station and post and telegraph office ; money order
office, Wilbarston. Acreage, 2289

; population, 140. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough

;
gross value

£334. Patron, Eari Spencer. The chm-ch has two brasses'
and is a bmlding of stone in tlie Early English and Perpen-
dicular styles. Bishop Cumberiand was some time rector.
Brampton-Abbots, a village and a parish in Hereford-

shire, on the river Wye, U mile N of Ross, under which there
IS a post office, and at which is the money order and tele-
gi-aph office. Acreage of the civil parish, 1520

; population
221

;
of the ecclesiastical, 214. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Hereford
; gross value, £256 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Hereford. The chm-ch is a fine old
Norman edifice, restored in 1867.
Brampton-Ash. See Brampton, Northampton.
Brampton-Bierlow, a township and ecclesiastical parish

foi-med from the Wath-upon-Deame parish, W. R. Yorkshire
The township stands adjacent to the Dove and Deame Canal,
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1^ mile WNW of Wath station on the M.S. & L.R., 1 J from

Darfield railway station, and 6 miles N of Rotherham.

Acreage, 3238 ;
population of the township, 4597 ; of the

ecclesiastical parish, 4388. There are several collieries and

quarries in the township. Earl Fitzwilliam is lord of the

manor and chief landowner. The parish includes also the

village of West Melton and the hamlets of Brampton Street,

Lee Brook, Gorton Wood, Hooher, and Newhill. Post town,

Rotherham. The hving is a vicarage in the diocese of York
;

gross value, £165 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of

Wath. The church is very good. There are Congregational

and Wesleyan chapels and ch.arities.

Brampton-Bryan or Brampton-Brian, a \'illage and a

township in Herefordshire, and a parish partly also in Rad-
norshire. The village stands on the river Teme, 1^ mile

ESE of the Bucknell station on the L. & N.W.R., 2J miles

W by S of Leintwardine, and 10 W by S of Ludlow, and has

a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) It has
a fair on 21st June for sheep, and on 22nd June for horses

and cattle. It dates from remote times, and had a castle

built by the Norman Bryan de Brampton, held long by
the Barleys, and besieged .and destroyed by the Royalists in

the Civil War. Some ruins of the walls remain. The town-
ship includes the village. Acreage, 3001; population, 307;
of ecclesiastical parish, 4G4. The parish contains also the

townships of Boresford and Pedwardine and the lordship of

Stanage. Brampton Hall is a seat of the Harley family ; the

park is nearly G miles in circumference. Coxwall Knoll

has vestiges of a camp which was occupied by Caract.acus

prior to his defeat here by Ostorius Scapula. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Hereford ; net v.alne, £282 with

residence. The church was destroyed in the Civil War, and
was rebuilt by Sir Robert Harley, is a plain edifice, and it

contains the tomb of Lord Treasurer Harley, the first Earl of

Oxford, and the founder of the Harleian Library.

Brampton-Ghapel, a pai'ish in Northamptonshire, on an
affluent of the river Nen, and on the Northampton and
Market-Harborough branch of the L. & N.W.R., adjacent to

Brampton station, 4^ miles N by W of Northampton, under
which it has a post and telegraph office ; money order office,

Northampton. Acreage, 1275 ; population, 217. The parish

is ecclesiastically attached to Brampton Church.

Brampton-Churcil, a parish in Northamptonshire, on an

atfluent of the river Nen, a short distance W by S of Brampton
station on the L. & N.W.R., and 5 miles NNW of Northamp-
ton. Acreage, IIGO; population of the ciril parish, 180;
of the ecclesiastical, 397. The living is a rectoiy in the diocese

of Peterborough, with Brampton Chapel annexed; joint gross

yearly value, £G00 with residence. Patron, Corpus Christi

College, Oxford. The church is Decorated Enghsh, and in

good condition.

Brampton-eu-le-Morthen, a township in Ulley parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, near the North Midland Railway, 5 miles

SE of Rotherham, which is the post office ; money order and
telegraph office, Aston. Acreage, 1122

;
population, 106.

Brampton, Little, a township in Hopesay parish, Salop,

5^ miles SE of Bishop's Castle.

Brampton, Little, Herefordshire. See Rodd, Nash, and
Little Brampton.
Brampton-Magna. See Brampton-Church.
Brampton, New. See New Brampton.
Bramshall, a village and a parish in StafTordshire, 2

miles W of Uttoxeter. The parish includes the hamlet of

Dagdale, and its post town is Uttoxeter. Acreage, 1328
;

population, 146. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Lichfield ; net value, £84 with residence. Patron, Lord
Willoughby de Broke. The church was rebuilt in 1835.

Bramshall, Little, a hamlet in Uttoxeter parish, Staf-

fordshire, contiguous to Bramshall parish.

Bramshaw, a paiish in Hants and Wilts, 7 miles from

Totton station on the L. & S.W.R., and 6i NNW of Lynd-
hurst. It includes the hamlets of Fritham, Brook, and
Fm'zley, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Lyudhurst. Hants portion of the parish is in the

New Forest. Acreage, 3502 in Hants, and 1579 in Wilts

;

population, in Hants, 450 ; in Wilts, 273 ; of ecclesiastical

parish, 723. Waiens is a chief residence. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of SaUsbuiy; net value, £142
with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Sahsbury.
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The church is a neat modernised structui'e, built soon after the

Conquest, and has a square, brick, ivy-clad tower. The ancient

oak roof is a unique specimen. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bramsbill, Great and Little, two tithings in Eversley

parish, Hants, 3J miles N by E of Winchfield. Bramsbill

House was built by the eleventh Lord Zouch as a residence

for Prince Henry, son of James I., is now the seat of Sir

William Cope, and exhibits interesting features, both exter-

nal and internal, of the age in which it was erected. The
gi'ounds around it are extensive and picturesque. Abbot,

Archbishop of Canterbury, accidentally killed a man while

shooting in the park. The Duke of WeUington often

came hither on visits from Strathfieldsaye.

Bramshott, a village and a parish in Hants. The village

stands near the verge of the county, 1 mile NW of Liphook

station on the L. & S.W.R., and 4 miles W of Haslemere,

and has a post office under Liphook (S.O.), which is the

money order and telegraph office. The parish includes

the hamlet of Liphook. Acreage, 6526 ;
population,

1G94. Many hundreds of Roman coins were found in 1741

in the bed of Woolmer pond, li mile W of Liphook. The
liring is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester; net value,

£323 with residence. Patron. Queen's College, Oxford.

The church is crucifonn and Early English, has a central

tower, partly Norman. It was very much restored and im-

proved in 1872. There is a Roman Catholic chapel.

Bramwith, Kirk, a township and a parish on the river

Don, W. R. Yorkshire, on the Stainforth and Keadby Canal,

7 miles NE by N of Doncaster. The township has a station

for goods of the name of Bramwith on the railway, the station

for passengers being Banily Don (2 miles) on the M.S.& L.R.

It includes the hamlets of Braithwaite and Hawkhonse-

Green, and the hamlet of Kirkhouse-Green, and its post

town is Doncaster. Acreage, 1335
;
population, 149. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of York
;
gross value, £507.

Patron, the Duchy of Lancaster. The church is ancient and

good, with a fine Norman archway. There is a Wesleyan

chapel at Braithwaite.

Bramwith, Sand, a hamlet in Stainforth township and

parish, W. R. Yorkshire, contiguous to Kirk-Bramwith

parish. Post town, Doncaster.

Bran, The, a stream in Carmarthenshire. It rises on the

mountains at the boundary with Breconshire, and runs about

11 miles SSE past Talgarth to the Towy below Llandovery.

Brancaster, a village and a parish in Norfolk. The
village stands near a small bay of its own name, 5 miles

WNW from Bumham-Market and 7 E by N of Huns-
tanton railway stations, both on the G.E.R., and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under King's

Lynn. It represents the Roman Branodnnum, one of the

stations under the Count of the Saxon Shore, and it has

furnished coins, urns, knives, and other Roman relics.

It possesses a quay for vessels, and is a coastguard

station. The parish comprises 3522 acres of land, and 804
of foreshore and water; population, 782, The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £571 with

residence. The church is a building of flint in the Perpen-

dicular style, with a fine west tower and handsome font cover.

Brancaster Staith is a fishing village in this parish. There

are Primitive Methodist chapels in both viflages. The Royal

West Norfolk Golf Club has its headquarters at Brancaster.

Brancepeth, a village, a township, and a parish in Dur-

ham. The township lies on the river Wear and on the

Durham and Bishop-Auckland railway, 4 miles SW of Dur-

ham, and has a station on the railway, and a post (R.S.O.)

and telegi'aph office under Brandon Colliery, which is the

money order office. Acreage of township, 3750
;
population,

407; of the ecclesiastical parish, 511. The parish contains

also the townships of Brandon and Byshottles, and Stockley.

Brancepeth Castle was erected in the reign of Stephen

by the family of Bulmer, passed to the NevUls and the Rus-

sells, and belongs now in right of his wife to Viscount Boyne.

It was rebuilt in 1821, but retains much of its prior appear-

ance, and is a massive and splendid edifice. A suit of rich

armour, said to have been taken from David Brace of Scot-

land at Nevill's Cross, is in the entrance hall, and a fine col-

lection of antiquities and paintings is in the rooms. The

grounds and the adjacent countiy are picturesque. Coal beds

and sulphur springs occur, and there are several large col-
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lieries in the parish. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Durham; net value, £516. Patron, Viscount Boyne. The

church is ancient and craciforni, has an Early EngHsh tower

and Later English chancel and clerestory, and contains ancient

stall-work and chancel-screen, an ancient carved chest, and

a fine canopied font.

Branchester. See Brancastkr.
Branchetren. See Braintkee.

Brandesburton or Brandsburton, a large village, a

township, and a parish in the E. R. Yorkshire. The village

stands 6 miles W of Hornsea railway station and 8 NE of

Beverley, and has a post and money order office under Hull

;

telegraph office, Leven. It is a seat of petty sessions, and

formerly had a fair on 15 Slay. Area of township, 4970
acres; population, 698; of the ecclesiastical parish, G83.

The parish includes also the township of Moor-Town and

the hamlet of Burshill. The manor was bequeathed in

1601 by Lady Dacres for building and endowing Em-
manuel Hospital, Westminster. Brandesburton Moor is a

meet for the Hulderness hounds. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of York; net value, £861 with residence.

Patron, St John's College, Cambridge. The church is

ancient, and has two brasses of 1364. There are Wesleyan
and Primitive Methodist chapels and small charities. Ante-
diluvian remains have been found.

Brandeston, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on the

river Deben, 3j miles SW of Framlingham station on the

G.E.R., and 5 NW by N of Wickham-Market, under which

there is a post office ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Framlingham. Acreage of parish, 1246; population, 413.

Brandeston Hall is a chief residence. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £80 with residence.

The church is a building of flint in the Perpendicular style.

There is also a Congregational chapel.

Brandestone or Brandistone, a parish in Norfolk, 3

miles SE of Reepham, 2 S of Cawston station on theG.E.R.,

and 10 NW by N of Norwich, which is the post town

;

money order and telegraph office, Cawston. Acreage, 77G
;

population, 153. Brandestone Hall is a chief residence.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net value,

£200 with residence, in the gift of Lord de Ramsey. The
chnrch is a small structm-e of flint in the Perpendicular style.

Brandestone, Northampton. See Braunston.
Brandon, a hamlet on Hough-on-the-Hill parish, Lin-

colnshire, 7^ miles N of Grantham.

Brandon, a township in Eglingham parish, Northumber-
land, on the river Breamish, IJ mile from Hedgeley station

on the N.E.R. Alnwick is the post town ; money order and
telegraph office, Glanton. Area, 1087 acres

;
population, 90.

Brandon, a small market-town and a parish partly in

Norfolk, but chiefly in Suffi)lk. The town stands on the

Little Ouse river, adjacent to the G.E.R., 6 miles by road,

and 7^ by railway, NW by W of Thetford. It has a head

post, money order, and telegi-aph office, a railway station,

a bank, several good inns, and eight almshouses. The
church stands about a quarter of a mile distant, is an ancient

quadrangular edifice of ffint and stone, and has a porch,

a fine tower, and two cupolas. The living is a rectoiy in

the diocese of Ely, with the rectoi7 of Wangford annexed

;

joint net yearly value, £462 with residence. There are also

Baptist, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels, and an
endowed grammar school. A weekly market is held on Thurs-
day, and a fan.- on 7 Jnly. A good grain trade is earned on,

and a manufactory of gun flints formed the sole somxe for the

supply oftheseto government priorto the useof percussion-caps.

Gun and tinder-box ffints are still made for export, and flints

for building purposes are manufactm'ed. There is also some
trade in coal, malt, timber, and fur and sldn dressing, a steam
saw mill, and some whiting works. The town gave name to

the Dukes of Suffijlk, and the title of Baron to the Earls of

Macclesfield, and it gives the title of Duke to the Dukes of

Hamilton. Lord Mayor Eyre of London, who built Leaden-
hall market, was a native. The parish comprises 6783
acres, 23 being in Norfolk

;
population of the civil parish,

2334 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Wangford, 2384.

Brandon Park, Brandon House, Brandun Hall, and North
Court Lodge are chief residences. There are extensive war-

rens in the neighbourhood, one of which is said to send

40,000 rabbits annually to London.

BKANSCOMBE

Brandon and Bretford, a township in Wolston parish,

Warwickshire, situated on the river Avon, 5 miles ESE of

Coventiy. It has a station on the L. & N.W.R. Acreage,

1988; population, 387. There are silk mills. Here were
anciently a castle, bnilt soon after the Conquest, a small

convent of black nuns, founded by Geoffrey de Clinton, and
given to Kenilworth Priory, and a chapel or hospital of St

Edmond, founded by the TuiTilles, lords of Wolston. The
castle was destroyed in the Barons' war in the reign of

Henry VII., but was subsequently rebuilt. Some traces of

the castle still exist. Brandon House is the seat of the

Beech family.

Brandon and Byshottlea, a township in the ancient or

civil parish of Braucepeth, Durham, comprising the colliery

villages of Brandon, Littlebum, Browney, Sleetburn, and
Waterhouses; there are several smaller hamlets and Old
Brandon. There are stations of the N.E.R. at Brandon
and Waterhouses, and post and money order offices at

Brandon, Langley Moor, Sleetburn, and Waterhouses, with

telegraph office at Langley Moor. Acreage, G683
;
popula-

tion of township, 14,239, which is divided into three wards

under the authority of a local board, which has assumed the

duty of school attendance in preference to a school board.

The east and centre wards together form the ecclesiastical

parish of Brandon, with three fine churches, and a population

of 11,349; value of the living, £350 with residence. The
west ward forms the parish of Waterhouses, with a popu-
lation of 2890; value, £200 with residence. There are

several dissenting chapels, and a Roman CathoUc school

chapel. There are also three literary institutes, two mission

halls, and several reading-rooms. Viscount Boyne of Brance-

peth is lord of the manor. Brandon Hill has an altitude of

880 feet, and commands a \'iew not only of the whole country,

but also of portions of Yorkshire, Westmoreland, and North-
umberland.

Brandon Camp, a Roman camp in Herefordshire, 1| mile

SW of Leintwardine. It is on Watling Street, and is sup-

posed to mark the position of the Roman station of Bravinum.

The camp is square, with a ditch and rampart.

Brandon Hill. See Bristol.

Brandon, Little, or Brandon-Parva, a parish in Nor-
folk, on the river Yare, 2 miles NNE of Hardingham starion

on the G.E.R., and 5 NW by N of Wymondham, which is

the post town ; money order office, Bamham Broom ; tele-

gi-aph office, Mattishall. Acreage, 1005; population, 170
The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Norwich

;
gross

value, £240 with residence. The chm-ch, a building of flint

in the Perpendicular style, was restored in 1861 and again

in 1867. An organ was erected in 18G9.

Brandsburton. See Brandesburton.
Brandsby or Bransby-with-Stearsby, a parish in N. R.

Yorkshire, 4^ miles from Gilling railway station, and 5 ENE
of Easingwold. It has a post office, of the name of Brandsby,

under Easingwold, which is the telegraph office ; money
order office, Stillington. Acreage, 3077

;
population, 296.

Brandsby Hall is a seat in the neighbourhood. The living

is a rectoiy in the diocese of York; gross value, £446 with

residence. The chmxh is good; there is also a Roman CathoUc
chapel.

Brandwood-Higher-End and Brandwood-Lower-End,
two hamlets in Sputland township, Lancashire, 4j miles N
of Rochdale.

Brandy-Street, a hamlet in Selworthy parish Somerset,

3^ miles W of Minehead.

Branksea. See Brownsea.
Brankston. See Bkanxton.
Branockstown. See Braunton.
Branodunum. See Brancastkr.
Bransbiiry, a tithing in Barton-Stacy parish, Hants, 4^

miles SE of Andover.

Bransby, a hamlet united with Stm"ton, the two hamlets

forming a township in Stow paiish, Lincolnshii'e, 9 miles

NW of Lincoln, and 2 SE from Stow Park station on the

G.E.R. and G.N.R. Joint line from Spalding to Doncaster.

There are a Mission chnrch, Plymouth Brethren, Primitive

Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels, and a Friends meeting-

house.

Branscombe, a village and a parish in Devonshu-e. The
\-illage stands on the coast, 6 miles E of Sidmonth, and 4 W
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from Seaton station on the L. &. S.W.K. It has a post

office under Axminster ; money order and telegraph office,

Beer, 2 miles distant. It is a straggling but very pleasant

place, and carries on a manufacture of pillow-lace. The
parish comprises 3429 acres; population, 742. The manor

belonged before the Conquest to the Dean and Chapter of

Exeter. Edge or Egge, in a valley N of the village, was

the residence in the time of Edward III. of the Branscombe

family, and thence till 1618 of the Wadhams, the last of

whom founded Wadham College In Oxford. Three valleys,

flanked by picturesque hills, diverge from the vicinity of the

village, and are traversed by streams, which uniting run into

the sea at a small bay below the village, called Branscombe

Mouth, at which is the coastguard station. The li\ing is a

vicarage in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £250 with resi-

dence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Exeter. Tlie

church is cmciform and partly Norman, partly English, has a

central tower, and contains an ancient monument of the Wad-
ham family, with two kneeling effigies. There is also in the

same (north) transept a much older one of the Holcombe

family, once resident at Hole, now a farmhouse.

Bransdale, a mountain vale in the N. R. Yorkshire. It

commences at the S side of Bottom-Head Mountain, 7 miles

SE by S of Stokesley, and extends 12 miles south-south-

eastward to the southern vicinity of Kirkby-Moorside.

Bransdale-East-Side, a township in Kirkby-Moorside

parish, N. R. Yorkshire, in Bransdale, 9 miles N by E of

Hclmsley. Post town, York, Bransdale-cum-Farndale is

the ecclesiastical parish. Population, 759. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of York; net value, £238 with resi-

dence, in the gift of the Eai'l of Feversham. The church,

an old Norman edifice, has been lately restored.

Bransdale-West-Side, a township in Kirkby-Moorside

parish, N. R. Yorkshu-e, in Bransdale, 8J miles N of Helms-

ley. Post town, York. Acreage, 2047 ;
population, 64.

The Earl of Feversham is lord of the manor and principal

landowner. Cockayne Lodge, Lord Feversham's shooting box,

is a substantially built stone mansion in the neighbourhood.

There is a Wesleyan chapel. There are remains of a Roman
road at the north end of Bransdales, and Roman and Saxon

relics are sometimes found.

Bransford, a township and a chapelry in Leigh parish,

Worcestershire, on the river Teme, 4 miles SW by W of

Worcester. The township has a station of the name of

Bransford Road on the G.W.R., and a post office at Brans-

ford Bridge ; money order and telegi'aph office, Worcester.

Acreage, 1062; population, 230. Bransford Bridge was

built in 1338 by Bishop Walstan. The chapelry is annexed

to the rectory of Leigh. The church is a small ancient build-

ing, containing a piscina.

Bransgore, an ecclesiastical parish formed in 1874 from

the parishes of Christchui-ch and Sopley, in Hampshire. It

stands near the river Avon, and 3 miles from Holmsley

station on the L. & S.W.R. It has a post and money order

office under Ringwood ; telegraph office, Hinton St Michael.

Population, 955. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Winchester; net value, ,£173 with residence. The church is

a building of brick and stone in the Perpendicular style,

and has been very much enlarged and restored. There is

also a Wesleyan chapel.

Branson. See Branston.
Branston, Branstone, or Braunston, a parish in Leices-

tershire, 4 J miles SE from Harby and Stathern station on

the G.N. and L. & N.W. Joint railways, and 8 NNE of

Melton-Mowbray. It has a post office under Grantham
;

money order and telegraph office, Knipton. Acreage, 1837;

population, 257. The linng is a rectoiy in the diocese of

Peterborough ; net value, £266 with residence. Patron, the

Duke of Rutland. The church is a building of stone partly

in the Perpendicular style.

Branston or Branson, a parish in Lincolnshire, 4 miles

SE of Lincoln, and 1^ mile S from Branston and Heighing-

ton station on the G.E. and G.N. Joint line from Spalding

to Doncaster. It includes a fen allotment, and has a post,

money order, and telegi*aph office under Lincoln. Acreage,

5679; population, 1221. The living is a rectoiy in the

diocese of Lincoln; net value, X575 with residence. Tiie

chm'ch is a building of stone in the Early Noi*man and Early

English styles. It was restored in 1876. There is a Wes-
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leyan chapel. Branston Hall and Long Hills are chief

residences.

Branstone or Branson, a township and an ecclesias-

tical parish in Burton-upon-Trent parish, StaflFordshu'e, on
the Grand Ti-unk Canal, 2 miles SW of Burton-upon-Trent,
under which there is a post office, and at which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage of township, 2482;
population, 1422. The parish was constituted in 1870. The
Marquis of Anglesey is lord of the manor. Sinai Park is in

this township, and there are remains of a Roman camp.
The chnrch is a plain brick building erected in 1864. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield

;
gross value,

£140 with residence. There is also a Congi'egational chapel.

Branstree Fell, a mountain 2J miles S of the head of

Hawes Water, in Westmoreland.

Branswell. See Brauncewell.
Brant, The, a stream of Lincolnshire. It rises a little

SWof Normanton, and runs about 10 miles northward to

the river Witliam, 5 miles SSW of Lincoln.

Brant-Broughton, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire,

3 miles W from Leadenham station on the G.W.R., and 8 E
from Newark, under which there is a post and money order

office; telegraph office, Leadenham. Ai'ea of parish, 2990 acres;

population, 657. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Lincoln ; net yearly value, £493 with residence. The chm'ch

is a fine bnilding of Ancaster stone in the Decorated and
Perpendicular styles. It has been thoroughly restored and

a new chancel built, and contains a good organ and some

very fine specimens of stained glass and oak carving. There

are also W^esleyan Reformed and Wesleyan Methodist chapels,

and a Friends meeting-house. Bishop Warburton was for a

long period rector of this paiisli.

Brant Fell, an eminence J a mile E of Bowness, in West-

moreland. It commands one of the noblest and most com-
prehensive views of Windermere.

Brantfield. See Bramfield.
Brantham, a parish in Suffolk, on the river Stour, 2 miles

NNE of Manningtree station on the G.E.R., and 7^ SSW of

Ipswich. It has a post office under Manningtree, which is

the money order office ; telegi'aph office, Stutton. Area, 1882
acres; population, 695. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Norwich ; net value, £400 with residence. Patron,

Emmanuel College, Cambridge. The church is a building of

rubble in the Early Decorated style. There is a xylonite

factory.

Branthwaite, a township with a railway station, in Dean
parish, Cumberland, on the Cleator railway, 5 miles SE of

Workington. Stone is quanied, and there are paper mills,

and a Methodist chapel.

Brantingbam, a township and a parish in E. R. York-

shire. The township lies 2 miles N by E of Brough station

on the N.E.R., and 3 S by E of South Cave station on the

Hull and Barnsley railway. Post town, Brough, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1591

;

population of the towTiship, 269; of the ecclesiastical parish,

568. The parish contains also the townships of EUerker and
Thoi-pe-Brantingham. Thorpe Hall, a large mansion of the

time of Queen Ehzabeth, is the seat of the Wade family.

The hying is a vicarage, united with the pei-petual curacy of

EUerker, in the diocese of York; gi'oss value, £375 with

residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Durham.

Brantingthorpe. See Bruntingthorpe.
Branton, a township in Eglingham parish, Northamber-

land, on the river Breamish, Hj miles SSE of Wooler, and

1| mile from Hedgeley station on the N.E.R. Alnwick is

the post town. Acreage, 1175; population, 77. There is

a Presbyterian chapel.

Branton, a hamlet in Cantley parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 2

miles SE of Doncaster.

Branton-Green. See Dunsforth, Upper.
Brantwood, a villa, with charming gi'ounds, on the E

side of Coniston Water, in Lancashu*e, the residence of Mr
Ruskin. A seat in the grounds was the poet Wordsworth's

favourite point for viewing the lake, and bears the name of

Wordsworth's seat.

Branxton, a township, a village, and a parish in North-

umberland, near the river Till, 2^ miles ESE of Coldstream

railway station, and 9 NW by N of Wooler. There is a post

office under Corahill (R.S.O.) Acreage of township, 1508
;
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population, 222. Here is the field of the battle of Flodden,

fatal to James IV. of Scotland, fought in 1513. [See

Flodden.] The living is a vicai'age in the diocese of New-
castle-on-Tyne ; net value, £320 with residence. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Dm-ham. The church is good but

small. Stockdale the poet was a native.

Brascote, a hamlet in Newbold-Verdon parish, Leicester,

2 miles ESE of Market-Bosworth.

Brashfield. See Bkaishfield.

Brasil Bank, a sea-hank off the mouth of the Mersey, in

Lancashire, on the N side of the Kock Cliannel, 1 mile W of

the hghthonse.

Brassacott, a hamlet in North Petlierwin p.arish, Devon-

shire, 5^ miles NW of Launceston.

Brassington, a township, a village, and a parish in

Derbyshire. The township lies 4 miles W by N of Wh-ks-

worth station on the M.R., and has a post office under

Derby ; money order office, Hognaston ; telegraph office,

Wirksworth. Acreage, 4222
;
population, 667. There are

stone quai'ries in the neighbourhood, and paint and colours

are raanufactiu-ed. The living is a vicai'age in the diocese

of Southwell
;
gross value, £116 with residence. The church

is partly Norman, and was repaired in 1880. There are

three dissenting chapels, and several charities.

Brass-Knocker, a locaUty 2| miles from Bath, with a

post office under Bath.

Brasted, a vill.age and a parish in Kent. The village

stands on the river Darenth, 4 miles WNW of Sevenoaks, and
has a station on the S.E.R., 22 miles from London. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office. The parish

compiTses 4449 acres ; population of the civil parish, 1327
;

of the ecclesiastical, 1129. Brasted Park is the scat of the

Tipping family, and was once the retreat of Louis Napoleon.

The land lies on the edge of the Weald, and has fine views.

The Uving is a rectoiy in the diocese of Canterbury ; net

value, £552 with residence. Patron, the Archbishop of

Canterbury. The chnrch, interiorly, is chiefly Early English,

exteriorly, of vai-ious characters. It was almost entirely

rebuilt in 1880, and in 1882 the tower was repau-ed and the

bells recast. There are Mission rooms and a Baptist chapel.

Brathay, The, a stream of Westmoreland and Lancashire.

It rises on the Stake Mountain, and runs 9 miles east-south-

eastward to the head of Windennere. It traverses Great

Langdale, expands into Eltcr Water, makes a f,all of about

20 feet a little below that lake, and is joined by the Rothay
a few yards from Windeimere. Char and trout enter its

mouth from Windermere, and all the char go up the Brath.ay,

while all the trout go up the Rothay.

Brathay, an ecclesiastical parish in Lancashu"e, on Brathay

river and Windermere Lake, 2 miles SW of Ambleside, and

4^ from Windermere railway station. Post town, Ambleside

;

money order and telegraph office, Elterwat^r. Population,

542. Brathay Hall is tlie seat of the Redmayne family.

The scenery around Brathay is very beautiful. The li\'ing

is a vicarage in the diocese of Cai'lisle; net value, £208 with

residence, in the gift of three trustees. The church is a

recent erection, on a wooded knoll, in the neighbourhood of

Brathay-Bridge.

Bratoft or Braytoft, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the

East Lincoln branch of the G.N.R., 2 miles NE from Fii'sby

Junction station, and 4i E by S of Spilsby. Post town.

Burgh (R.S.O.), which is the money order office ; telegraph

office, Fu-sby (R.S.) Acreage, 1833
;
population of the ci\-il

parish, 190 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Irby-in-the-Marsh,

331 The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln, con-

sohdated in 1887 with the vicarage of Irby-in-the-Marsh

;

net yearly value, £211 with residence. Patron, the Lord
Chancellor. The church comprises nave and aisles, with

clerestory ; contains an ancient font ; and has in the tower

a contemporary painting of the defeat of the Armada. It

was thoroughly restored in 1890.

Brattleby, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the Wolds, 4^
miles NE of Saxilby station on the G.E. & G.N. Joint rail-

ways, and 7 NNW of Lincoln, which is the post town;
money order and telegraph office, Ingham. Acreage, 1142;
population, 138. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Lincoln ; net value, £180 with residence. The church is a
building of stone in the Early English style. Brattleby Hall

is a chief residence.

BRAU6HING

Bratton, an ecclesiastical district io Wilts, 3 miles

ENE of Westbury station on the G.W.R. It has a post,

money order, and telegiaph office under Westbury. Popu-
lation, 610. Bratton Castle, on the crown of a hill, is an
ancient camp of 23 acres, partly defended by a double ram-
part, in some parts 36 feet high, and said to have been con-
structed by the Danes. The White Horse, on the S slope

below the camp, is a colossal figure simihu* to the Wliite

Horse of Berks, probably ancient, and originally of rude

design, but remodelled in 1778. The liWng is a vicarage in

tlie diocese of Salisbmy ; value, £300. Patron, the Vicar

of Westbury. The church is a stone building in the Early

English style. There are Wesleyan and Baptist chapels.

A public hall was built in 1889.

Bratton, a township in Wrockwardine parish, Salop, 2

miles W of Wellington.

Bratton-Clovelly, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The village stands 8 miles WSW of Okehampton, 4 from

Ashbm-y station on the L. &, S.W.R., and 12 N by W of

Tavistock, is large and scattered, and has a post office under

Lew-Down (R.S.O.) ; money order office, Lifton ; telegraph

office, Ashbury. The parish comprises 7254 acres ; popu-
lation of the civil parish, 487 ; of the ecclesiastical, 650.

The manor bore anciently the name of Bracton, and was the

birthplace of Henry de Bracton, an eminent lawyer of the

time of Edwai'd I. An ancient earthwork, called Broadbury

Castle, defended by valhun and fosse, is an eminence about 3

miles N of the village. About 2000 acres of the land are moor.

Fairs are held on the second Tuesday in May and the first

after 19 October. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Exeter; gross value, £450 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Exeter. The church is a fine edifice of the 15th

centmy, with a lofty tower, and has a handsome font. There

arc also three Bible Chinstian chapels.

Bratton-Fleming, a parish in Devonshire, on an affluent

of the river Taw, 7 miles NE of Biirnstaple station on the

G.W.R. and L. & S.W. R. It has a post and telegraph office

under Barnstaple, which is the money order office. Acreage,

5893 ;
population, 499. The manor belonged anciently to

the Fleming family, passed to the Dillons, and belongs now
to the Chichester family. Part of the surface is hilly. Six

standing-stones occur at Nightascott, and are supposed to

have been part of a Druidical circle. A fair is held on 19

August. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter

;

net value, £538 with residence. Patron, Caius College, Cam-
bridge. The chui-ch is Perpendicular English ; consists of

nave, chancel, and north aisle, with a tower; and was restored

in 1861. There are also a small Baptist chapel, and one

for Bible Christians.

Bratton-Seymonr or Bratton-St-Maur, a parish in

Somersetshire, 2i miles NW of Wincaiiton station on the

Somerset and Dorset Joint railway, and 3j SE of Castle

Cary. Post town, Wincanton (under Bath), which is the

money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1486
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 166 ; of the ecclesiastical, 111. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net

value, £140 with residence. The church stands on a green

eminence overhanging a dell.

Braughing, an ancient town and a parish which gives

its name to a hundred in Herts. The town stands on the river

Quiu, adjacent to Ermine Street, and to the Buntingford

branch of the G.E.R., 3^ miles SE by S of Buntingford.

and has a station on the railway, and a post office under

Ware; money order and telegi-aph office, Puckeridge. It

was a domain of the Saxon kings ; was known to the Saxons

as Brooking, and to the Normans as Brackinges ; and was

long a place of considerable importance, and a market-town.

Its fail- on Whit Monday and Tuesday lasted until 1889,

when it was abolished by order of the Home Secretary at the

request of the principal residents. Vestiges of the Roman
Ad-Fines are at Campwood in its neighbourhood. The

parish includes also p:irt of the village of Puckeridge. Acre-

age, 4368
;
population, 974. The liring is a vicarage in the

diocese of St Albans ; net value, £190 with residence. The

church, a building of flint in the Lancet and Perpendicular

styles, contains some interesting tombs and monuments,

and was handsomely restored in 1888 at a cost of £2250.

There are also Congregational and Wesleyan chapels. Hamels

Park is a chief residence,
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Bratmcewell, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3 miles WNVV
from Rusldngton station on the G.E. &, G.N. .Joint railway,

and 6 NNW from Sleaford. Post town, Lincoln ; money
order and telegraph office, Wellingore. Acreage, 2682

;

population of the civil parish, 148; of the ecclesiastical,

with Anwick, 422. The living is a rectory, united vpith

the vicarage of Anwick, in the diocese of Lincoln
;

gross

value, X780 with residence. The church is a building of

stone in the Early English style. Dunsby St Andrew is a

hamlet IJ mile SW. It was formerly a parish, and the

parish of Brauncewell was at one time designated Braunce-

well-with-Dunsby.

Braunston, Leicestershire. See Branston.
Bratmston or Brandestone, a village and a parish in

Northamptonshhe. The tillage stands at the junction of the

Oxford and the Grand Junction canals, SJ miles NW of

Daventry, and has a station on the line from Daventry to

Leamington, and a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Rugby. Little Braunston hamlet stands half a mile

to the E. The parish comprises 3261 acres; population,

983. The Grand Junction Canal here passes through a

tunnel 1 iV mile long. The liWng is a rectory in the diocese of

Peterborough; net yearly value, £600. Patron, Jesus' Col-

lege, Oxford. The church, rebuilt in 1847, is a bnildmg of

sandstone in the Geometrical Early English style. There are

Baptist and Wesleyan chapels. Bragborough Hall is a chief

residence.

Braunston or Bravenston, a parish in Rutland, on

the river Gwash, 2J miles SW of Oakham station on the

M.R. It has a post office under Oakham, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1577
;
popula-

tion, 350. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peter-

borough ; net yearly value, £250 with residence. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. The church is an ancient

Gothic building of stone, and there are also Wesleyan and

Primitive Methodist chapels.

Braunston, Little. See Braunston, Northamptonshire.

Braunstone, a township and an ecclesiastical district in

Glenfield parish, Leicestershire, on the Union Canal, 2i miles

SW of Leicester, which is the nearest railway station,

and post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage

of township, 1489; population, 169. Braunstone Frith

(population, 10), exti'a-parochial, adjoins on the NW. Braun-

stone Hall, a fine mansion of brick, stands in a park of 10

acres. The district is a perpetual curacy, in the rectory of

Glenfield, in the diocese of Peterborough. The church, an

ancient edifice of stone in the Later Norman style, is said

to date from the 14th century.

Braunton, a village and a parish in Devonshire. The

village stands near the mouth of the river Taw, with a station

on the L. & S.W.R., 217 miles from London. It is a con-

siderable place, with several streets and many shops, and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O) It

was originally called Branockstown, and took that name

from St Branock, a prince of Calabria, who came hither in

the year 300 as a missionary. The parish comprises 10,265

acres of land and 1492 of foreshore and water
;
population,

2171. There are several manors, and one of them belonged

in Edward the Confessor's time to the Crown, and was after-

wards given to St Peter's, Exeter. From several points in

the neighbourhood magnificent views are obtained. An ex-

tensive tract between the village and the sea, called Braun-

ton Field, is noted for fertility. A tract of drift sand on

the coast, called Braunton Bun'ows, has witnessed many ship-

wrecks, and has two lighthouses 933 feet apart, erected in

1820—one a fixed light, the other a tid.al light—for dhecting

vessels over Bideford Bar. An ancient chapel, called St Ann's,

is embedded in the burrows, and remains of another, ascribed

to St Branock, crown a neighbouring hill NE of the church.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter
;

gross

value, £536 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Exeter.

The church is Early English, and was restored in 1887
;

it contains some very fine pieces of wood caning of the 15th

century. There are also Congregational and Methodist chapels,

a school with £83 endowment, and other charities. Richard

Knill, the missionary, was a native.

Brawby, a village and a township in Salton paiish, N. R.

Yorkshue, on the river Rye, 7 miles NNW of New Malton,

and 2| from Barton-le-Street station on the N.E.R- There
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is a post office under Pickering, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage of township, 1013; popula-

tion, 148. There is a Prunitive Methodist chapel.

Brawdy, a parish in Pembrokeshire, near the coast, 6

miles E of St David's, and 9 NW by W of Haverfordwest.

Post town, Penycwm (R.S.O.) Acreage, 5534, of which 60

ai-e water ; population of the civil parish, 477 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, with Hayscastle, 762. The living is a vicarage,

united with the vicarage of Hayscastle, in the diocese of

St David's
; gross value, £326. Patron, the Bishop of St

David's.

Brawitli. See Knaytos-with-Brawith.
Braxted, Great, a parish in Essex, on the river Black-

water, adjacent to the G.E.R., 3i miles ENE of Witham

station. Post town, Witham, which is the money order

office; telegraph office, Rivenhall End. Acreage, 2613 of

land and 22 of water; population, 361. Braxted Park, a

handsome mansion amid extensive grounds, is the seat of

the Du Cane familj'. A black priory stood at Tiptree, and

was founded about the time of Edward I. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of St Albans
;

gi'oss value, £469 with

residence. Patron, Corpus Christi College, Cambridge. The

church has some Norman portions, and is good. The village

of Braxted is locally known as " Bung Row."

Braxted, Little, a parish in Essex, on the river Black-

water, adjacent to the G.E.R., 1 mile E by S of Witham,

which is the post town and money order office ; telegraph

office, Wickham-Bishops. Acreage, 622
;

population, 125.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net

value, £81 with residence. The church is a small Norman
building with apsidal chancel ; it contains a brass to W.
Roberts, auditor to Henry VIII. (1508), also two very ancient

bells of unusual shape hung in a wooden belfry.

Bray, a village and a parish which gives its name to a

hundred, in Berks. The village stands on the Thames, IJ

mile S by E of Maidenhead station on the G.W.R., and has

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Maidenhead.

It occupies the site of the Roman station Bibracte, and is

now within the liberty of Windsor Forest. The civil parish

consists of the divisions of Boyne Hill, Bray, Touchen, and

Water-Oakley, and contains part of the borough of Maiden-

head. Acreage, 8976 of land and 87 of water
;
population

of the ci\il parish, 7991 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Touchen-

End, 1968. Jesus' Hospital, founded in 1627 by William

Goddard, and placed by him under the government of the

Fishmongers' Company of London, is a pictui"esque brick

quadrangle, with an old chapel and 40 houses with cultivated

gardens in the centre and rear. Monkey Island, about a

mile SE of the tillage, contains a decayed fishing-house,

built by the third Duke of Jlarlborough, the drawing-room

of which was grotesquely decorated with paintings of monkeys.

It is now used as an ion, and is a favourite resort of anglers

and oarsmen. The firing is a ricarage, united with the per-

petual curacy of Touchen-End, in the diocese of Oxford ; net

yearly value, £360. Patron, the Bishop of Oxford. The

parish church, dedicated to St Michael, is Early Eng-

lish and Decorated, has a much later square tower,

and was repaired and altered in 1862 ; it contains

numerous ancient and interesting brasses and monu-
ments. Bray Wick is a hamlet in this parish, 1 mile S

from Maidenhead station. Bray Wick Grove is a tine man-

sion of red brick, erected in 1675 and enlarged in 1760.

Braywood is an ecclesiastical parish which was fonned in

1871 out of the parishes of Bray and Winkfield. It is 3

miles S from Bray, and it includes the hamlets of Oakley

Green and Fifield, with portions of Winkfield and Cranbom'ue.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly

value, £100. The chm-ch, a building of flint and stone in

the Early English and Decorated styles, was erected in 1866

at the sole cost of the late Madame Van de Weyer. Touchen-

End is a chapeliy in the parish of Bray, about 3J miles W
from Maidenhead station. It has a small church erected in

1862, which is served by the vicar of Bray and the assistant

curate, and a post office under Maidenhead. Holyport is a

hamlet in this parish, situated about 1 mile W of Bray village.

It has a Wesleyan chapel, and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Maidenhead. Money Row Green and

Water Oakley ai'e hamlets. Boyne Hill is noticed under a

separate heading. Ai'chbishop Laud had a farm in the parish,
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and Simon Aleyn, notable for having repeatedly changed his

creed from Roman Catholicism to Protestantism and from
Protestantism to Roman Catholicism, was vicar in four reigns,

and died in 1588. An old ballad represents him as saying

—

"And this is law, I will maintain
Until my dying day, sir.

That whatsoever king shall reign,

I'll be the vicar of Bray, sir."

The ballad commences—"In good King Charles' golden

days." It probably refers to Simon Aleyn, but is wrong as

to the sovereign under whom he lived.

Bray, High. See Highbray.
Braybrooke, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire.

The village stands 3 miles W from Desborough station on

the M.R., and 3 SSE of Market-Harborough, under which
it has a post office ; money order office, Desborough ; tele-

graph office, Desborough station. It gives the title of Baron
to the family of Neville-Griffin. The parish comprises 2893
acres

;
population, 294. The m.anor belonged to the Griffins,

ancestors of Lord Braybrooke, and had a castle. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly value,

£392 with residence. The church contains effigies of Sir

T. Latimer and Sir N. Griffin, and is a building of stone in

the Early English and Early Decorated styles. There is

also a small Baptist chapel. Robert de Braybrooke, Lord

Chancellor at the beginning of the 15th centuiy, was a native.

Braydeston. See Bradeston.
Braydon, a township in Purton parish, Wilts, 4J miles

S by W of Cricklade. Acreage, 1184
;
population, 63.

Braye. See Alderney and Eaton-Bray.
Brayfield, Cold, a parish in Bucks, on the river Ouse,

3^ miles E of Olney, and 2 W of Turvey station on the JI.E.

Post town, Newport-P.agnell ; money order and telegi*aph

office, Turvey (Beds). Acreage, 744
;

population of the

civil palish, 80 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Lavendon,

745. The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the rectory

of L.avendon, in the diocese of Oxford. The church is an

ancient btiilding of stone in the Norman style. Br.iyfield

House is a chief residence.

Brayford, a hamlet in Charles p.arish, Devonshire, 9 miles

WNVV of Barnstaple.

Braystcnes, a hamlet in Lowside-Quarter township, St

Bees palish, Cumberland, on the Fineness railway, 3 miles

S of Egi-emont. It has a station on the railway.

Braytoft. See Bkatoft.
Brajrton, a village in Aspatria parish, Cumberland, ad-

jacent to the Carlisle and JIaryport railway, 2 miles E by N
of Aspatria. It has a station on the railway, and a post

office under Carlisle ; money order and telegraph office,

Aspatria. Br.ayton Hall, in the vicinity, is the seat of Sir

W. Lawson, Bart.

Brayton, a township, a village, and a parish in W. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the Selby Canal between
the rivers Ouse and Aire, and on the Leeds and Selby rail-

way, 1^ mile WSW of Selby, the nearest railway station.

It has a post office under Selby, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage of the township, 1945
;
popula-

tion, 509; of the ecclesi.-istiral parish, 1860. The parish

contains also the townships of Gateforth, Hambleton,
Thorpe-Willoughby, Bum, Barlow, and the manor of

Bm-ton. The Earl of Londesborough is lord of the

manor. The living is a vicarage with Hambleton in the

diocese of York
;
gross value, £342 with residence. Patron,

the Archbishop of York. The church is of various dates and
character, from Norman downward, consists of nave, aisles,

and chancel, with lofty west steeple, shows much beautiful

Norman work, was thoroughly restored in 1878, and cont;uns

a fine sculptured font. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Breadsall, a village and a parish in Derbyshire, on the

Little Eaton Canal, with a station on the G.N.R., 2^ miles

NNE of Derby, under which there is a post office ; money order

and telegraph office. Little Eaton. Acreage of parish, 2442

;

population, 571. A fine building-stone is quarried. The
Priory House, a late Elizabethan or Jacobean building, occu-
pies the site of an ancient priory founded here in the time of

Henry III., of which only a few loose fragments now remain
above ground. The living is a rectory in the diocese of South-
well

;
gross value, £650 with residence. Patron, the lord
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of the manor. The church is Decorated English in good
condition. There is a Wesleyan chapel and some small
charities. Hierom, the abridger of Poole's " Synopsis," was
rector, and Dr Darwin, the naturaHst, was a resident.

Breadstone, a township in Berkeley parish, Gloucester-
shire, 2 miles NE of Berkeley. Acreage, 1202

; population,
120.

Breage or St Breage (pronounced Brague), a village

and a parish in Cornwall. The village stands on the coast,

4 miles W of Helston station on the G.W.R., and h.as a post
office under Helston, which is the money order office ; tele-

graph office, Porthleven. It is said to have been founded by
the Irish St Breaca. The parish comprises 7265 acres of

land and 130 of foreshore and water; population of the civil

parish, 2751; of the ecclesListical, with Germoe, 2187. Much
of the property belonged formerly to the Godolphin family,

but the sole heiress marrying the Duke of Leeds, it passed
into that family. Godolphin mansion is now used as a
farmhouse. Godolphin and Tregonning Hills rise to al-

titudes of 495 and 596 feet, consist of granite, and are rich

in minerals. China clay is worked out of part of Tregonning
and Godolphin Hills and sent to neighbouring ports for ship-

ment. Huel-Vor or Wheal-Vor tin mine is in the same
hills, was worked iu lodes 30 feet wide, extends upwards
of IJ mile under ground, and yielded at times a clear

profit of £10,000 in three months, but is now worked out.

The living is a vicarage with Germoe in the diocese of Truro
;

net v.alue, £200. Patron, the Crown. The church con-
t.ains the remains of Mrs Godolphin, and was restored in

1890 at a cost of £4000. Many frescoes were discovered,

some of which h,ave been restored. The church is now one of the

finest in Cornwall, and possesses the largest bell. The vicar-

age of Godolphin and that of Cury and Gunwalloe are sepa-

rate benefices. There are Wesleyan, Bible Christian, and
Methodist chapels, and a mission church at Ashtown. Lord
Treasurer Godolphin and the first Viscount Exmouth were
bom here.

Bream or Breem, a village and a tithing in Newland
parish, and an ecclesiastical parish formed in 1854 out of

the parish of Newland and the township of West Dean, in

Gloucestershire. The village lies in the Forest of Dean, 2
miles from Parkend station on the Severn and Wye and
Severn Bridge railway, 4 miles NW of Lydney station on
the G.W.R., and 4J SSE of Coleford. It has a post office

under Lydney ; the telegraph office is at Whitecroft railway

station. Near the village are some ancient Roman mines.

Population of ecclesiastical parish, 2023. The manor belongs

to the Crown. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £300 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. The church
was partly rebuilt in 1861. There is a mission church at

Yorkley Wood. There are Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist,

and Bible Christian chapels.

Breamish or Brennich, The, the part of the river Till

above Wooler, in Northumberland, a favourite resort of

anglers. It gave name to the Saxon kingdom of Bernicia.

Breamore or Breamer, a parish and a liberty in Hants,

on the river Avon, with a station on the Salisbury and Dorset

railway, 8 miles S of Salisbury. The parish includes Outwick,
and has a post office under Salisbury ; money order office, Ford-
ingbridge ; telegraph office at railw.ay station. Acreage, 2676;
population, 592. The manor belongs to the family of Hulse.

Breamore House was burnt down in 1856. A priory of black

canons was founded in the time of Henry I. by Baldwin, Earl

of Devon, and given at the dissolution to the Marquis of

Exeter. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Win-
chester ; net value, £619 with residence. The church is

ancient and good; the chancel was restored in 1874. The
liberty is in Ringwood division, and conterminate with the

parish. There is also a Methodist chapel.

Breau, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Axe and on
the co.ast, 4 miles from Burnham station on the Somerset
and Dorset joint railway, 4 from Brent Knoll station on the

G.W.R., and 8 W of Axbridge. The area is 1193 acres of

land and 2277 of foreshore .and water ; population, 159, which
includes Steep Holm Island. Post town, Bridgewater; money
order and telegraph office, Burnham. Brean Down is 300 feet

high, and projects into a promontory 1^ mile long westward

from the mouth of the river Axe. It was fortified by the
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Government in 1866. Cliffs, with abundance of samphire are

on the coast, and a great extent of sandy beach lies below. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells

;
gross

value, 4^2-19 with residence. The chtu'ch is good, and was
restored in 1883. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Brearly, a hamlet in Midgley township, Halifax parish,

in the W. R. Yorkshire, 4^- miles ESE of Otley.

Brearley. See Brierley.
Breaxton, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical parish

in Knai-esborough and Ripley parishes, in the W. R. York-

Bhh'e, 3 miles NW of Knaresborough station on the N.E.R.

Post town, Ripley. Area of township, 1562 acres; popula-

tion, 130 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 157. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Ripon; value, £200, in the gift of

the Vicar of Knaresborough. The church was built in 1836

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Brearton or Brierton, a township in Stranton parish,

Durham, 3 miles W from West Hartlepool, and 2J from

Seaton Carew station on the N.E.R. Area, 762 acres;

population, 38. The manor was anciently held by the Grey-

stocks, and after many changes is now the property of the

Kirkleatham Fr^e School and the trustees of the Lamb
family.

Breaston, a township forming with Risley an ecclesiastical

parish in the union of Shardlow, Derbyshire, on the Derby

Canal and the M.R., half a mile from Draycott station, and

8 miles ESE of Derby, under which it has a post office
;

money order and telegraph office, Draycott. Area of town-

ship, 1493 acres; population, 882; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 1130. The li\'ing is a rectory united with that of

Risley in the diocese of Southwell
;

juint net value, £330.

Patron, the Bishop of Southwell. The church was restored

in L871, and there are two Methodist chapels, an endowed

school at Risley, dating from 1583, free to children of the

seven neighbouring parishes.

BrecMa, a parish in Carmarthenshu-e, on the river Cothi,

7 miles N of Nantgaredig station on the Central Wales and
Carmarthen Junction branch of the L. & N.W.R., 8 NW by

W of Llandilo, and 12 isE of Carmarthen. It has a post

office under Nantgaredig (R.S.O.), which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 634
;
population, 85. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of St David's
;

gi'oss value,

£74. The chmcli is good.

Breckenbrough. See Newsham.
Breckles, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 1;^ mile S

from Stow Bedon station on the G.E.R., and 5 SSE of

Watton. Post town, Attleborough ; money order and tele-

graph office, Great Hockham. Acreage, 1644; population,

121. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich;

gross value, £42. The church ia a structure of flint in the

Early English style.

Breckles, Little, a hamlet in Shi-opham parish, Nor-

folk, 6^ miles SSE of Watton. It was anciently a separate

pai'ish.

Brecknock or Brecon, a county and market-town, three

parishes, a municipal borough and the head of a poor law union

and county court district in Brecknockshire. The town

stands at the confluence of the Honddu and the Usk,

16 miles S of Builth, 15 SW of Hay, 20 WNW of Aberga-

venny, 22J N of Merthyr Tydfil, and 171 from London. A
canal connects it with Abergavenny, Newport, and Bristol.

Several distinct lines of railway run from the town: the Cam-
brian, northwards to Builth and Llanidloes; the Brecon and

Merthyi*, to Merthyr and Newport; the Neath and Brecon, to

Neath and Swansea; and the Swansea, Brecon, and Hereford

branch of the Midland, to Hay and Hereford. It was anciently

called Brycheiniog, and is now sometimes called AberhonddH.

The Romans, under Ostorius Scapula, built an entrenched

camp in a.i>. 54 at Bannuim, now called Y Gaer or Caer

Bannau, about 2^ miles W of the present town, and the native

princes long continued to make it a centre of strength, and

were hence called Princes of Brycheiniog. Bernard de

Newmarch, a Norman bai*on, obtained from the English

Crown in 1092 a grant of a lai'ge tract around it, took pos-

session of this by force of anns, and built at the town in 1094

a strong castle to maintam his power. The castle passed to

the Braoses, the Bohuns, and the Staffbrds, and was eventually

resumed by the Crown ; and, together with strong walls and

other fortifications which were erected around the town, it was
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used for ages to repress the turbulence of the native tribes,

and both it and the town walls were dismantled by the

townspeople in the Civil War of the 17th century to avert

the honors of siege. The keep of the castle was made
the prison of Morton, Bishop of Ely, under charge of the

crafty Duke of Buckingham, and became the scene of the

intrigue of these two dignitaries for dethroning Richard III.

and enthroning Henry VTI., and hence is called the Ely

Tower.

Tbe town lies in the heart of the grandest part of South

Wales. The tract around it is an assemblage of vales and

mountains, picturesque by nature and embellished by art,

with the twin peaks called the Brecon Beacons, culminating

6 miles to the SSW. The town consists chiefly of three

streets on the left bank of the Usk, and the flat suburb of

Llanfaes on the right bank, and is altogether about a mile

long. The remains of tbe ancient castle, consisting of two

square towers hi the garden of the Castle Hotel, not older

than the time of Edward III., and of a lofty mound on

which the keep stood, are on an eminence in an angle

between the Honddu and the Usk. The original structure is

believed to have been built of materials from the Roman
station of Caer-Bannau, and the completed castle formed an

oblong of about 300 feet by 240. Remains of an ancient

Benedictine priory, comprising an embattled gateway and
part of the walls, are on a height a little N of the castle.

The priory was founded in 1096 by Bernard de Newmarch
in compunction for his deeds of violence, and was made
subject to Battle Abbey. A mansion, now called Brecknock

Priory, a seat of the Marquis of Camden, stands adjacent to

the ruins, and was built out of the demolished parts of the

monastery by Sir Chai^les C. Price. Charles I. was sheltered

here by Sir H. Price after the battle of Naseby, and George IV.

spent a night here in 1821 after his return from Ireland.

The priory walks connected with the mansion are extensive,

wooded, and picturesque, and are open to the public, and
another fine walk called the Captain's Walk lies along the

banks of the Usk under the old town walls. Three bridges

span the Horfddu, and one the Usk. The upper Honddu
bridge leads to the priory ; the middle one formerly led to the

castle and supported a drawbridge, and has two arches with

a vastly thick piei' in the centre; the lower one is an iron-girder

erection. The Usk bridge connects the main body of the town

with the Llanfaes suburb, has seven arches, and commands a

fine \'iew. The County or Sliire Hall was built in 1843 at a

cost of £12,000. It is in the Classic style, and contains

courts for the sittings of quarter sessions, petty sessions, and

the county court. The county jail was built in 1780, enlarged

in 1858, and again in 1871. The town-hall is a fine stone

building, in which the meetings of the town council are held.

There are a mai'ket-house, extensive baiTacks, a theatre, an

infirmary, and a workhouse. A statue of the Duke of Wel-
lington, 8 feet high, on a pedestal of 10 feet, was placed in

1854 on the Bulwark. St John's Chm'ch was originally the

church of the Benedictine priory, extensively rebuilt in the

13th and 14th centuiaes. It was carefully restored between

1861 and 1875 by Sir G. Gilbert Scott, 'it is a large cruci-

form building, with a massive central tower ; on the north of

the chancel is a large chapel containing some interesting monu-
ments ; there is a curious Norman font. The east window
is filled with stained glass to the memory of the officers and

men of the 24th Foot (South Wales Borderers) who fell nt

Isandhlwana. St Mary's Church, originally Norman, has a

toweringoodPerpendicularEnglish, and was enlarged in 1858.

St David's Church in Llanfaes fell down in 1852, was

rebuilt in 1859, is in the Early English style, and consists of

nave and chancel, with tower and spire. Christ's College

was originally the chapel of a Dominican friaiy, was changed

in 1531 under a chapter of Henry VIII. into a seat of

learning under a dean and 19 prebendaries. It is now en-

tirely an educational establishment administered under a

scheme of the Charity Commissioners, the greater part of the

existing buildings having been built in 1864. The chapel is

in Early English, and contains an antique stone cross, and

monuments of several bishops. There are Roman Catholic,

Congregational, Baptist, Calvinistic 5Iethodist, and Wesleyan

chapels, and a theological college for Congi'egationalists.

The town has a head post office and three banks, is the seat

of assizes and of quai'ter sessions for the county, and of th^
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county court, borough court, and county petty sessions, and
publishes three weekly newspapers. Mai'kets are held on Fri-

day and on the first Tuesday of every month for cattle,

sheep, &&; and fairs on the first Tuesday of May, July, Sep-

tember, and Nov. The town is well built, paved, and well

supplied with water. The chief trade has connection with aj^ri-

culture. The town sent a member to Parliament since the time

of Henry VIII., was chartered in 1656 by Mary, but is now
merged in the county by the Redistribution of Seats Act,

1885. It is governed by a mayor, four aldermen, and twelve

councillors. The depot of the South Wales Borderers (late

24th Foot) Territorial Regiment and the headquarters of the

24th Regimental district .are situated here. The borough

has a separate commission of the peace. Under the provisions

of the Local Government Act, 1888, the borough ceased to

maintain a separate police force, and the county pohce act there-

in. Area of municipal borough, 2835 acres
;
population, 5646

;

area of the urban sanitary district, 2868 acres
;
population,

5704; area of the civil parishes, 5106 acres; population,

Brecknock St John's, 1603 ; Brecknock St David's, 1548

;

Brecknock St Mary's, 2686. Popidation of the ecclesiasticiil

parish of Brecknock St John, 4399 ; of Brecknock St David,

1671. Mrs Siddons and Charles Kemble were natives.

The town gives the title of baron to the Marquis of Camden.
St John's parish consists of the lower division or chapelry

of St Mary, and the upper division, which includes the ham-
let of Venny-Vach. St David's also consists of a lower

division (or Llanfaes) and .an upper division. Both are vicar-

ages in the diocese of St David's, and the former has united

to it the perpetual curacy of St Mary ; net value of St John,

£270 with residence; of St David, X312. Patron of St
David, the Archdeacon of Brecon.

Brecknockshire or Breconshire, an inland county of

South Wales. It is bounded on the NW by Cardiganshire,

on the N and NE by Radnorshire, on the E by Hereford-

shire and Monmouthshire, on the S by Monmouthshire
and Glamorgan, and on the W by Carmarthenshire. Its out-

line is not far from being roughly triangular, with the sides

toward the NE, the S, and the W. Its length from N to S
is 38 miles, its greatest breadth from E to W 32 miles, its

circumference about 108 miles, and its area 469,894 acres.

The greater part of the sm^face is mountainous and wild. A
region of hills coming in from Cardiganshu'e occupies most
of the NW and the N, to the vicinity of the Yrfon river, cul-

minating in Drygarn, 2120 feet high, and many of them well

clothed with wood and heather. A barren chain, called

Myuydd-Epynt, commences at the western boundary, 3 miles

above Trecastle, and extends north-eastward across the

county to Builth, presenting abrupt accUrities to the NW
and gradual ones to the SE. A series of mountain masses
and ridges, intersected by narrow valleys, occupies all the

southern half of the county, culminating successively from W
to E in the Talsara Mountain, the Capellante Mountain, the

Brecon Beacons (twin peaks), and Pen-y-cader-fawr, respec-

tively 2596, 2382, 2910, 2862, and 2546 feet high, and ex-

hibiting a great variety of form and character. The valleys

are larger and more level than in some other paj-ts of Wales,
and, together with the slopes of the hills and the skirts of the

mountains, give a great .aggregate of gi'ound to the plough.

The chief rivers are the Usk, the \Vye, and the Yrfon, and
the minor ones the Tawe, the Taf, the Cilieii, the Brem, the
Yscir, the Hepste, the Mellte, the Honddu, the Cray, the
Senni, the Tiu'ell, the Pyryddin, the Llech, and the Dul.as.

Picturesque falls occur on the Hepste, the Mellte, and the
Llech. The chief lake is the Llyn-Safaddau, the largest in

South Wales, and the chief others Llyn-y-Fan-fawr and
Llyn-y-Carw. Mineral springs are at Builth, Llanwrtyd, and
Llangammaich. A large tract in all the NW, to withm 5 miles
of Builth, consists of lower Silurian rocks. A tract in the
N, around Builth, together with two nanow belts thence to the
SSW, are upper Silurian. An extensive tract across all the
centre of the county, filling more than half of its area, is old
red sandstone. A narrow belt along all the southern border
of this tract is carboniferous limestone and shale, and some
parts intermixed with that belt, and S of it to the boundary,
belong to the coal measures, which extend thence into the
great coal-field of Monmouthshire and Glamorgan. Limestone
is singularly scarce in the Silurian regions. Excellent fireclay

is worked at Pendeijn. Chert is quarried for hearths and
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millstones, and pennant stone for roofing. Limestone, coal,

and iron are worked in the S. Some lead, copper, and
tripoli are found.

The soils are exceedingly various, and range in fertility

from the poorest to the richest. That in the best parts of

the N is stiff clay loam, that of the vale of Usk a sandy
loam, that of the vale of Wye a good, brown, gravelly loam.

In 1892 there were 201,675 acres in cultivation, and 199,151
of mount.ain or heath land. Great improvements have been

effected through the exertions of the Brecon Agi'icultural

Society, Field crops ai*e raised in sufficient quantity for

home consumption ; butter, cheese, timber, wool, and cattle

are exported, and some hops and orchard produce ai'e grown.

The leases are various, and the f.armhouses are better than in

most other p.arts of Wales. The Hereford cattle have gener-

ally superseded the old Welsh bl.ack breed in the lowlands,

and a hardy race of small mountain sheep depaature the up-

lands.

Ageicultokal Statistics, 1893.

Crops.
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total of 3346; and those of milliner and dressmaker, 770.

There were also iu the county 57 blind persons, 12 deaf, 25
deaf and dumb, and 62 mentally deranged. There were
6228 persons able to speak only the Welsh language, and
13,699 who could speak both Welsh and English.

The Romans gained possession of Brecknockshii'e after

the defeat of Caractacus, and made it part of the province

of Britannia Secnnda. It was once called Garth-Madryn,
and it took its present name from a Welsh prince called

Brychan, who lived in the oth century. Most part of it

came under the power of the Normans after the overthrow
of Bleddyn, Prince of Brycheiniog, in a great battle in 1088,

but parts of it among the mountains maintained resistance

two centuries longer, till the fall of Llewelyn. It was long

swayed by the fortunes of Brecknock Castle, and was
harassed by the predatoiy attacks of Owen Glendower. The
antiquities include a kistvaen at Ty-Illtyd, British camps at

Cefn-y-Gaer, Pen-y-Crug,Penmuarth, Alltfillo, Lamhanilwch,
and Benni-wood ; Roman camps at Caer-Bannau, and Gaer
near Cwm-ddu ; traces of the Via Julia Montana and of two
vicinal roads from Caer-Bannau ; remains of castles at Breck-
nock, Cart-y-Carw, Crickhowell, Penkelly, Builth, Brynllys,

Brynllyfn, and Tre'r-twr, several old churches or parts of

churches, and some old seats.

Brecon. See Brecknock and Brecknockshire.
Brecon Beacons. See Brecknockshire.
Brecon Canal, a canal south-eastward from the centre

of Brecknockshire and Brecknock to the Monmouth Canal
near Pont-y-Pool in Monmouthshire. It was fonned in

1811, at a cost of £170,000; is 33 miles long; has capacity

for barges of 25 tons ; falls 68 feet, with eight locks, in the

first 18J miles to Clydach, and goes thence on a level past

Abergavenny to the Monmouth Canal.

Brecongill, a hamlet in Coverham parish, in the N. R.

Yorkshire, 2 miles SW of Middleham.

BreconhiU or Brackenhill, a township in Arthnret
parish, Cumberland, on the river Line, 3^ miles E by N of

Longtown station on the North British railway.

Bradbury, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Stockport parish, Cheshire, adjacent to the Peak Forest

Canal, 2^ miles ENE of Stockport, with a station on the

M.S. & L.R., and another at Woodley, a hamlet in this

township, at the junction of the same railway with (he

Cheshire lines. There is a post office at Woodley, under
Stockport. The township includes the hamlets of Hatherlow
and Woodley. Acreage, 2536; population, 3901. It is

governed, together with Romiley, by a local board of 18
members, and contains collieries, brickfields, chemical works,

wool - carding works, and two hat manufactories. The
ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1846. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Chester; gross value, ,£313
with residence. The church is good, and there are Congre-
gatioual and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Brede, a parish in Susses, on the river Brede, 6 miles

from Rye, and 6^ from St Leonards, which aie the most
convenient railway stations. It has a post office, of

the name of Brede Hill, under Rye (R.S.O.); money order

office, Westfield ; telegraph office, Sedlescombe. Acreage,

4380; population of the civil parish, 1046 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 1071. The manor belonged anciently to the Atte-

fords, and passed in the time of Heniy IV. to the Oxen-
bridges. The manor-house, called Brede Place, shows in-

teresting ancient features, commands a fine view, and is now
occupied by a farmer. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Chichester; net value, £560 with residence. The church

was enlarged in the early part of the 16th century by Sir

Goddard Osenbridge, contains a monumental effigy of him,

and flamboyant traceries introduced by him, and is in good
condition. It was partly restored in 1868, and again iu

1889. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Brede HilL See Brede.
Brede, The, a stream of Sussex. It rises 2 miles E of

Penhurst, and runs 12 miles eastward to the Rye.

Bredenbury or Bridenbury, a pai-ish iu Herefordshire,

3 miles WNW of Bromyard. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Worcester. Acreage, 852

;
population

of the civil parish, 110; of the ecclesiastical, with Wacton,
171. Bredenbury Court is the seat of the lord of the

manor. The parish was for ecclesiastical purposes united
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with Wacton in 1876, and in 1882 portion of the township

of Wiuslow and of the parish of Avenbury were added.

The living is a rectory, with the vicarage of Wacton annexed,

in the diocese of Hereford; net value, £168 with residence.

The old church was pulled down in 1876, and a new one

erected.

Bredfield, a parish in Suffolk, 2 miles NW from Melton
station on the G.E.R.,and 3 N of Woodbridge. Ithasapost
office under Woodbridge, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 1107
;
population of civil parish, 375;

of ecclesiastical, with Pettistree, 625. Bredfield House is

an ancient mansion standing in a park of 66 acres. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich, with Lowd-
ham and Pettistree annexed; joint net value, £168 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church, an

ancient building of flint in the Early English style, was re-

stored in 1875.

Bredgar, a parish in Kent, among the chalk hills, 3 miles

SSW of Sittmgbourne station on the L.C. & D.R. It has a

post and money order office under Sittingbourne ; telegi'aph

office, Borden. Acreage, 1762; population, 570. Bredgar

House is a chief residence. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £139 with residence. The
church is Perpendicular English, with a curious Norman
doorway under the tower, has Roman bricks in its walls, con-

tains a brass of 1508, and is in good condition. A chantry

or small college was founded in it in the time of Richard II.

by Robert de Bredgar, There is a Wesleyan chapel, built

in 1868.

Bredhurst, a parish in Kent, 3 miles SSW of Rainliam

station on the L.C. & D.R., and 5 from Maidstone. It has

a post office under Chatham ; money order and telegraph

office, Rainham. Acreage, 602
;

population of the ci\'il

pai'ish, 121 ; of the ecclesiastical, 307. In 1884 the ham-
let of Lidsing, in the civil parish of GilHugham, was ecclesi-

astically annexed to this parish. The living is a vicarage,

with Lidsing, in the diocese of Canterbury ; net value, £261
with residence. Patron, the Ai'chbishop of Canterbury. The
church is old but good.

Bredicot, a village and a parish in Worcestershire, 4

miles E of Worcester, which is the post town ; telegi'aph

office, Spetchley railway station. Acreage of parish, 399;
population, 47. The living is a rectory, united with the

vicarage of Tibberton, in the diocese of Worcester. The
church is a small ancient building, was restored in 1843,

and contains a piscina.

Bredon, a village and a pai'ish in Worcestershire. The
village stands on the river Avon, 3J miles NE of Tewkes-
bury, and has a station on the M.R., and a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Tewkesbury. Eanulf

,
grand-

fatlier of King OfTa, got a grant of it from Ethelbald, King

of Mercia, and founded at it a monastery, which ceased to

exist before the Conquest, at which period the lands were

given to the See of Worcester. The parish includes also the

hamlets of Norton-by-Bredon, Hardwick-with-Mitton, Kins-

ham, and Westmancote, and the chapelry of Cutsdean. Acre-

age, 3187; population of civil parish, 1099; of ecclesi-

astical, with Norton, 1447. Bredon Hill separates the vales

of Cotswold and Evesham, has an altitude of 960 feet, and

commands an extensive prospect. It is rich in rare plants,

and numerous fossils have been found in its quarries ; Bam-
bury Stone, a huge mass of oolitic rock on the summit, has

been connected by some with the Druids, t^arthworks occur

on the hill, and a Roman camp, with a double trench, can

be traced on the top. Coins and other Roman remains have

been found. The living is a rectory, comprising the chapelries

of Bredon's Norton and Cutsdean, in the diocese of Wor-
cester, with ancient exempt jurisdiction, the rector being lord

of the manor of Bredon rectory
;
gross value, £1600 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Duke of Portland. The church occu-

pies the site of the ancient monastery, is an old and interesting

edifice of different periods, the nave and doorways being Nor-

man, the south chapel Early English, and the rest Decorated

English ; it has a central tower 72 feet high, surmounted by

a graceful spire of 89 feet, and was restored in 1845. It con-

tains a piscina, sedilia, and an aumbry, and the seats are of solid

oak with can'ed ends. The remains of Dr. Prideaux, Bisliop

of Worcester in the time of Charles L, lie iu the chancel; a

rich monument of Giles Reed, of date 161 Ij is in the south
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chapel ; there are several other ancient monuments, and altio

a remaikable coped high tomb in the churchyard. The tithe

barn on the manor farm near the church is of immense size.

There is a Baptist chapel at Westmancote.

Bredon-on-the-Hill. See Bkkei>on-on-the-Hill.

Bredon's Norton or Norton by Bredon, a township

and chapelrj in Bredon parish, Worcestershire. There is a

post office under Tewkesbury. Acreage of township, 1106;

population, 222. The church, a chapel of ease to St Giles,

Bredon, is Norman and Early English, with an embattled

western tower; it was restored in 1883.

Bredwardine, a village and a parit>h in Herefordshire.

The village stands on the river Wye, 2 miles NE of Dorstone

station on the Golden Valley railway, 3 SW of Kinnersley

station on the Swansea, Brecon, and Hereford branch of the

M.K., and 7^ E by N of Hay. It has a post office under

Letton (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph office, Staunton-

on-Wye. Acreage of parish, 2262 ;
population of the civil

pai'ish, 274; of the ecclesiastical, with Brobury, 340. Bred-

wardine Castle was the seat of the Bredwardine family, and
Thomas Bredwardine, Archbishop of Canterbury, "The Pro-

found Doctor," was a native. Scarcely a trace remains of it.

The Wye is crossed here by a bridge of six arches. The living

is a vicarage, united with the rectory of Brobury, in the diocese

of Hereford; tithe rent commuted at £304 with residence.

The church is Early Norman, consisting of chancel and nave,

with a recent tower; it was restored in 1875 On the N side

ifi some herring-bone work, believed to be Saxon ; there is

some good carving above the doors ; it contains a curious

Norman font, and two ancient monuments. The one on south

side, of alabaster, is supposed to represent Sir Roger Vaughan
of Bredwardine, who married the daughter of Sir David Gaw,
and fell with his father-in-law at the Battle of Agincom't.

Bredy, Little, or Littlebredy, a pai-ish in Dorsetshire,

on the Downs, at the source of the Bredy stream, 2^ miles

from Abbotsbury station on the G.W.R., and 6f W by S of

Dorchester, under which it has a post office ; money order

office, Winterbourne Abbas ; telegraph office, Abbotsbury.

Acreage, 1613; population, 193. Stoue is quarried. The
living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the rectory of Long
Bredy, in the diocese of Salisbury. The church is good.

Bredy, Long, or Longbredy, a parish in Dorsetshii-e, on
the Downs, near the source of the Bredy stream, 4 miles

from Abbotsbury station on the G.W.R., and 8 W of Dor-
chester. It includes the hamlet of Upper Kingston. It has
a post office under Dorchester ; money order and telegi'aph

office, Abbotsbury. Acreage, 2153 ; population of the civil

parish, 215; of the ecclesiastical, with Littlebredy, 460.

The living is a rectory, united with the perpetual curacy of

Littlebredy, in the diocese of Salisbury
; gross value, £380

with residence. The church is good. There is also a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel.

Bredy, The, a stream of Dorsetshire. It rises on the

Downs in Littlebredy parish, and runs 8 miles westward to

the sea at Bridport.

Breedon, a village, a township, and a parish in Leicester-

shire. The village stands at the base of a high limestone rock,

near the verge of the county, | a mileW of Tonge and Breedon
station on the M.R., and 5 miles NE of Ashby-de-Ia-Zouch,

under which it has a post office ; money order office, Melbourne;

telegraph office, Worthington station. A small monastery of

black canons, subject to the prioiy of St Oswald in Yorkshire,

was founded here in 1144 by Ferrers, Earl of Nottingham, and
given at the dissolution to the Shirleys. The township in-

cludes also the hamlets of Wilson and Tonge. Acreage,

3143; population, 649; of the ecclesiastical parish, 876.

The parish of Breedon-on-the-Hill contains also the township
of Staunton-HaiTold, which is noticed under a separate

heading. Limestone is worked. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Peterborough; gi'oss value, £186. Patron,

Lord Donington. The church, which surmounts the limestone

rock at the village and contains tombs of the Shirleys, is good.

There are Wesleyan chapels in Breedon, Tonge, and Wilson.

Breem. See Bream.
Brehar or Bryher, one of the Scilly Islands, which lies

nil Land's End, in Cornwall, in the NW of the gi'oup, 2^
miles NW of Hugh-Town. It is 2 miles long, rugged, wild,

and high, and inhabited chiefly by fishermen. It contains

pome Druidical remains. Acreage, 360; population, 91.
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Brehon, an islet, f of a mile long, separated by a narrow
strait from the W side of Sark, in the Channel Islands.

Breidden Hills, a group of three steep wooded hills on

the E border of Montgomeryshire, overhanging the river

Severn, 6^ miles NNE of Welshpool. The most northerly,

Breidden Hill proper (about 1200 feet high), is crowned by
an obelisk to Admii'al Rodney, and is supposed to have been

the scene of the last battle between Caractacus and Ostorius

Scapula. The other peaks are Middletown Hill and Moel-
y-Golfa (1300 feet), the former of which has traces of an

ancient camp called Cefn-y-Castell.

Breightmet, a township and part of the ecclesiastical

parish of Tonge-cum-Breightmet, Lancashire, 2 miles E of

Bolton railway station. It has a post and telegraph office

under Bolton ; money order office. Bury New Road. Acre-

age of township, 873; population, 1720. The hving of

Tonge, with Breightmet, is a vicarage in the diocese of Man-
chester; gross value, £330 with residence, alternately in the

gift of the Crown and the Bishop of Manchester. There
is a modeni church and a Wesleyan chapel. In this town-
ship there are cotton mills, bleachworks, and a colliery.

Breighton-cum-Gunby, a village and a township in

Bubwith parish, E. R. Yorkshire, on the river Derwent, near

the Selby and Hull railway, 4J miles NW of Howden, and
1 mile from Bubwith station on the N.E.R. Post town,

Howden. Acreage of township, 1746; population, 131.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Breinton, a parish in Herefordshire, on the river Wye,
2^ miles W by S of Hereford. It is divided into Upper and
Lower Breinton, and contains the hamlets of Warham and
Swainshill. A portion of the parish is within the municipal

borough of Hereford. There is a post office at Swainshill

(R.S.O.); money order and telegraph office, Hereford. Acre-

age, 1647
;
population of the civil parish, 436 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 445. There is an extensive nursery at King's Acre,

Upper Breinton. The li\'ing is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford ; net value, £200 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Hereford. The church is ancient, has a western

tower with a spire, and contains several memorial stained

windows.

Breisworth. See Braiseworth.
Brelade, St, a paiish in the SW of Jersey. It contains

the town of St Aubin, which has a post office under Jersey.

Acreage, 3157; population, 2253. St Brelade Bay, 1^ mile

SW of St Aubin, has a horse-shoe outline about f of a mile

wide, shows charming features, and is a favourite resort on
account of its mild climate, its blue waters, and its lovely

sands. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Winchester.

Patron, the Crown. The church stands on the W side of

the bay, and was consecrated in 1111. The " Fisherman's

Chapel " in the churchyard possesses some nide remains of

frescoes, and dates from about 760. There are two good
hotels in the parish.

Bremble. See Bremhii.l.

Bremhill or Bremble, a village and a parish in Wilts.

The village stands on the Roman road to Bath, near the

Wilts and Berks Canal, 2i miles from Calne station on the

G.W.R., and 4 E by N of Chippenham. It has a post office

under Calne, which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

The parish includes also the tithings of East Tytherton,

Studley, Spirthill, Chai'lcott, and Foxham. Acreage, 5912;
population of the civil parish, 1090; of the ecclesiastical,

with Highway, 1048. A fai-mhouse is built on the site of

Studley House, formerly belonging to the Hungerfords.

A monumental pillar, surmounted by a female figure in the

costume of the time of Edward IV., is at Wickhill. The
pillar and the figure are modem ; from this point and from
some other points around the village there are fine views.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury,

with the rectory of Highway and Foxham annexed
; gross

value, £632 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Salis-

bury. The church is an ivy-clad edifice in very good con-
dition, and had a finely-carved rood-loft and rood-screen,

which were destroyed when the church was "restored" in 1850.
In the chancel is an elaborate and ugly monument to one of

the Hungerfords, 1698. Two ancient crosses are adjacent,

and several epitaphs in the churchyard are from the pen of

the poet Bowles, who held the vicarage, and died in 1850.

There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, and a
285
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Moravian settlement at East Tytherton. There are free

libraries at Bremhill, Foxham, and Charlcott. There is a

chapel of ease at Foxham, erected in 1880, and replacing the

ancient chapel of St John the Baptist. Highway is a small

parish (population, 74) annexed to Bremhill, which is nearly

5 miles distant. The church of St Peter was rebuilt, 1867,
but the rood-screen has been preserved, and a portion of the

old wall with a Norman dooi'way now closed up.

Bremilham or Gowage, an ecclesiastical parish in Wilts,

on the river Avon, near Akeraan Street, 2 miles SW by W
of Malmesbury station on the G.W.R. Post town, Malmes-
bury, wliich is the money order and telegi'aph office. Popu-
lation, 44. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Glou-

cester and Bristol
;
gross value, £106.

Brenchley, a village and a parish in Kent. Tlie village

stands 2 J miles S by E of Paddock-Wood station on tlie

S.E.R., and 7 ENE of Tunbridge Wells. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office (S.O.) Some good old

timbered houses are in it, and a clump of trees on high

ground near it figures conspicuously over many miles. The
parish includes also the hamlets of Colts-Hill, Mascalls-

Pound, Henlys, Piersons-Green, and Pettridge. Acreage,

7804 ;
population of the civil paiish, 3822 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 1624. There are mineral waters similar to those of

Tunbridge. A holiday home in connection with the Ragged
School Union was opened here in 1886. Hops and fruit are

extensively grown. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Canterbury ; net value, £560 with residence. The church

is old, cruciform, and good, and has a lofty tower. Paddock-
Wood and Mattield are sepai'ate benefices. There are a
Baptist chapel, a Wesleyan chapel, and small charities.

Brendon, a parish in Devonshire, at the northern ex-

tremity of the county, adjacent to the coast and to Exmoor
Forest, 1^ mile ESE of Lynton, and 17 miles NE of Baimstaple

station on the G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R. It has a post office

under Barnstaple ; money order and telegraph office, Lynton.

Acreage, 6780
;
population, 294. The manor belonged in

the time of Edwai'd the Confessor to Ailward Tochestone,

was given by William the Conqueror to Ralph de Pomerois,

and passed to the Beaples and the Chichesters. Much of

the surface is sheep-walk and deer preserve. The Vale of

Brendon is narrow, deep, and picturesque. JIajor Wade, a

leader in the insurrection under the Duke of Monmouth, was

made prisoner at Farley Farm. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Exeter; net value, £146 with residence. The
church is a structiu'C partly of 1733, mainly of 1828.

Brendon Hills, a range of hills in Somersetshire, 7 miles

SSW of Watchet. It is several miles long and 1210 feet

high, consists of loose, shelly limestone, and contains a

vein of carbonate of iron. For a time this was worked

by the Ebbw Vale Company, wlio constructed a railway to

Watchet ; but it ceased to be profitable, and the mines have

beeu closed for some years. A British camp, called Ell-

worthy Barrows, is on the W point of the range, and Brit-

ish urns have been found.

Brenkley, a township in Dinnington parish, Northumb-

erland, 2 miles from Cramlington station on the N.E.R.,

and 7^ N by W of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, which is the post

town. Acreage, 025 ;
population, 36.

Brenson or Breuston, a hamlet in Newchurch parish,

Isle of Wight, 1^ mile S of Newchurch. The Dairyman's

Cottage, immortalized by Legh Richmond, is adjacent.

Brent. See Brent, South, Devon.

Brent, The, a stream of Herts and Middlesex. It rises

near Barnct, and runs 16 miles south-south-westward, past

Handon and Hanwell, to the Thames at Brentford.

Brent, East, a village and a parish in Somersetshire.

Tlie village stands 1^ mile from Brent Knoll station on the

G.W.R., and 6 miles WSW of Axbridge. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Highbridge (R.S.O.)

The parisli includes also the hamlets of Rooksbridge and

Edingworth. Acreage, 3631 ;
population of the civil parish,

716 ; of the ecclesiastical, 683. Brent Knoll, on the southern

border, is a conical hill 883 feet high, commands an extensive

view, and is crowned with vestiges of a doubly entrenched

Roman camp. Roman coins and other relics have been

found here, and King Alfred is said to have fought with the

Danes at Battleborough, at the foot of the hill. The liviug

is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells; value,
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£666 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Bath and Wells.

The church, dedicated to St Mary the Virgin, is an interest-

ing edifice, with a spire 140 feet high, and has several

windows of ancient painted glass. There is also a Method-
ist chapel, and there was anciently a cell to Glastonbm'y

Abbey.

Brent-Eleigh or Brent-Ely, a village and a parish in

Suffolk, near the river Brett, 7 miles NE by N of Sudbury,

and 2^ SE from Lavcnham station on the G.E.R. There is

a post office under Lavenham (R.S.O.), which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage of parish, 1684; popu-
lation, 221. Brent-Eleigh Hall is a chief residence. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; gi'oss value com-
muted, £482 with residence. The church is good, and was
rebuilt in 1850. A market was formerly held in the parish,

Brentford-End, a hamlet in Isleworth parish, Middlesex,

1 mile WSW of Brentford. It has a station on the G.W.R.
A chapel, with friaiy or fraternity of All Angels, was founded

here by Somerset, chaplain of Henry VI., and given, in the

time of Edward VI., to the Duke of Somerset.

Brentford, New and Old, a market and union town in

the parishes of Hanwell and Ealing, Middlesex. The eastern

part of the town is known as Old Brentford, and is in Ealing

parish, the western portion, or New Brentford, being in the

pai'ish of Hanwell. The town stands at the influx of the

river Brent to the Thames, about 6 miles W of Hyde Park

corner. The Grand Junction Canal unites here with tlie

Brent, and accompanies it to the Thames. Tlie L. & S.W.,

G.W., North London, and Metropolitan District railways

communicate with the town in various ways, and have stations

for it, and the G.W. connects here likewise with large docks

for heavy traffic by water to London. The town is ancient,

and took its name from a ford on the line of a great thorough-

fare across the Brent. It was the scene in 1016 of a de-

structive overthrow of the Danes by Edmund Ironside, and
in 1642 of a still more important overthrow of the Parlia-

mentai'ians by the Royalists. A chapter of the Garter was
held at it in 1445, and six martyrs were bm-nt in it in 1558.

The " Two Kings of Brentford " have done great ser\'ice with

all sorts of poets and poetasters, from William Cowper to

Tom D'Urfey. John Lowin, the landlord of the '" Three

Pigeons" here in the time of Ben Jonson, was a famous
actor, and performed in Shakespeare's own company. The
town is described by the poet Gay as a " tedious town, for

dirty streets and white-legged chickens known," and by the

poet Thomson as " Brentford town—a town of mud." It

now comprises one long principal street, and contains some
good houses. A bridge connects the lower end of the town,

across the Thames, with Kew, and another bridge, erected in

1825 on the site of a very ancient one, crosses the Brent.

It is governed by a local board of health consisting of 12

members, is supplied with gas by a local company, and with

water by the Grand Junction Waterworks Company. It has

extensive drainage and sewage works, which were completed

in 1884, The town-hall and market-house is a handsome
brick and stone edifice standing in New Brentford. The
county court and petty sessions are held here. A market

for the sale of garden produce was erected at a cost of

about £8000 in 1892. The town is divided into three

ecclesiastical districts— viz., St George and St Paul's

in Ealing pai-ish, and St Lawrence in Hanwell parish.

The living of St George is a vicarage
;
gross yearly value,

£300 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Ealing. The
living of St Paul's is a vicarage; net yeai'ly value, £300
with residence. Patrons, the Crown and the Bishop of Lon-

don alternately. The living of St Lawrence is also a vicar-

age ; net yearly value, £264 with residence, in the gift of the

Rector of Hanwell. All three livings are in the diocese of

London. The church of St George was erected in 1887,

and is a building of Kentish rag stone and brick in the

Decorated style. The church of St Paul's, erected in 1867-68,

is in the Early Decorated style, and has a lofty spire. That

of St Lawrence was rebuilt for the most part in 1764, but

it has an ancient embattled western tower. There are also

Baptist, Roman Catholic, Congregational, Primitive Methodist,

and Wesleyan chapels, and there is a place of worship used

by the Brethren. The industries of the town include some

extensive maltings, two breweries, a large pottery, a soap

manufactory, some large timber yards with saw mills, and a
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gasworK. The Grand Junction Waterworks Company have

extensive works here, with a huge chimney 150 feet high.

The mai'ket day is on Tuesday, and fairs are held on the 17,

18, and 19 May, and tlie 12, 13, and 14 September. The
town has a head post, money order, and telegraph office. Syon
House, a seat of the Duke of Nortliumberland, Osterley Park,

the seat of the Eaid of Jersey, Boston House, the seat of Col.

Clitherow, and many handsome villas are in the neighbour-

hood. Area of the urban sanitary district, 1109 acres
;
popu-

lation, 13,738; area of the civil parish of New Brentford,

216 acres; population, 2069; of the ecclesiastical (St Law-
rence), 2069; of Old Brentford (St George), 4457; St

Paul, 7344.

Brentford Parliamentary Division of Middlesex was
formed under the Redistribution of Scats Act of 1885, and
returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

69,804. The division includes the following :—Brentford

(part of)—Hanwell (except the detached part in the Ealing

division), Heston, Isleworth, Norwood, Twickenham ; Brent-

ford—Local Government District.

Brentingby, a chapelry in Wyfordby parish, Leicester-

shire, on the river Wreak and the JLK., 2 miles E of Mel-
ton-Mowbray, and 1 mile W from Saxby railway station.

Post town, Melton-Mowbray, which is the money order and
telegraph office. Population, with Thorpe-Arnold, 205.

The living is annexed to the vicar.ige of Thorpe-Arnold, in

the diocese of Peterborough.

Brent-Knoll. See Brent, South, Somersetshire.

Brent-Mill, a hamlet in South Brent parish, Devonshire.

Brentor. See Brent-Tor.
Brent-Pelham, a pai-ish in Herts, on the verge of the

county, 5 miles E of Buntingford station on the G.E.R. It has

a post office under Buntingford (R.S.O.), which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1036; population of

the civil parish, 215 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Furneanx-
Pelham, 755. The living is a vicarage, united with Furneaux-
Pelham, in the diocese of St Albans

;
joint gi-oss yearly value,

£360. Patron, the Bishop of St Albans. The church is a
building of flint in the Early English style. Pelham Hall is

a chief residence.

Brentside, a hamlet in Middlesex, on the river Brent, 3

miles N by W of Brentford.

Brent, South, a village and a parish in Devonshu-e.
The village stands on the river Avon, 7 miles W of Totnes,

and has a station of the n-ame of Brent on the G.W.E., 225
miles from London. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under I^jbridge. It was formerly a market-
town, and it still has large fairs on the last Tuesdiiy of April

and September, and cattle markets on the last Tuesday of

February, August, and November. The parish comprises
9422 acres; population, 1580. The manor once belonged
to the Abbot of Buckfastleigh, but has been dismembered.
The surface is diversified, and includes the striking eminence
of South Brent-Toi*. Micaceous iron-ore, used for the sand-
ing of manuscript, is found. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Exeter ; tithe commuted at i'965 with residence.

The church is old and large, consists of nave, chancel, and
aisles, and has a Norman tower. It was restored in 1871.
There are Congregational and Baptist chapels, parish lands
yielding £152 a year, and other charities, and a literary

institute.

Brent, South, or Brent-Knoll, a village and a parisli

in Somersetshire. The village stands under Brent-Knoll, 1

mile from Brent-Knoll station on the G.W.R., and 7| miles
SW of Axbridge. It has a post and money order office

under Highbridge (R.S.O.); telegraph office. East Brent.
The parish includes also the hamlet of Wick. Acreage,
3339

; population of the civil parish, 770 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 789. The manor belonged formerly to the abbots of

Glastonbury. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath
and Wells

;
gross value, £545 with residence. Patron, the

Archdeacon of Wells. The church is partly Norman, and
contains a large monument to a Somerset of 1663. There
is a Bible Christian chapel.

Brent-Tor or Brentor, a parish in Devonshu-e, on the
river Lyd, 2 miles from Lidford station on the G.W.R. and
L. & S.W.R. In 1879 the hamlets of North and South
Brentor and West Black Down, formerly part of St Mary Tavy
parish, were added to this parish for ecclesiastical ptu-poses.

BREOCK, ST

Post town, Bridestowe ; money order office, Tavistock ; tele-

gi-aph office, Lydford railway station. Acreage, 3363
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 476
; of the ecclesiastical, 675.

The manor belonged formerly to the abbey of Tavistock, and
belongs now to the Duke of Bedford. A remarkable emin-
ence here, bearing the same name as the parish, starts

abraptly from an elevated down, lias an altitude of 1100
feet, is seen at a gi-eat distance, and serves as a mai'k for

vessels entering Plymouth harbour. Its form is conical, its

surface rocky, and its mineral structm-e a subject of much
discussion among geologists. A mine of manganese was long
worked, but has been abandoned. The living is a vicarage
in the diocese of Exeter

; gi'oss value, £235 with residence.

Patron, the Duke of Bedford. The church surmounts a
precipice on the crown of the Tor, is a curious weather-worn
structure 37 feet by 14J, and is said to have been built by a
merchant who, overtaken by a storm at sea, vowed to erect

a church on the first point of land he saw.

Brent-Town, a village in Preston parish, Kent, in tlie

vicinity of Faversham.

Brentwood, a small town and a parish in Essex. The
town stands adjacent to the G.E.R. main fine, on which
it has a station, 5J miles NE by E of Romford. Its

name is a cori-uption of Brunt-Wood, and was derived from
the burning long ago of a circumjacent forest. Some Roman
antiquities have been found in it. The town was a seat of
assizes until the time of George I., when they were removed
to Chelmsford. It consists chiefly of one long and wide
street, and it has some pleasant suburbs with a good many
new houses. The scenery around forms some of the best
in the county. The town-hall was built in 1864, and is in

the Italian style, with Corinthian portico. The county lunatic

asylum, an edifice m the Tudor style, was opened in 1853,
and was enlarged in 1864 and in 1871. It has upwards of
130 acres of land attached to it, and it affords accommoda-
tion for about 1200 patients. The grammar school was
founded in 1557 by Sir Anthony Broivne, and has a large

endowed income. The Hackney Union Training Schools
here afford accommodation for 600 children, and there are
also an industrial and some large Roman Cathohc schools
for the reception of children from the workhouses. The old
church was built in 1221, but only the tower now remains.
The new church is a handsome stractui'e in the style of the
13th century, with a tower surmounted by a spire 180 feet

high containing a fine peal of 8 bells. The church accommo-
dates 1100. Total cost about £22,000, which was raised

by subscription. The Roman Catholic chapel was built in

18G1, is formed of Kentish rag, with Bath stone facings;
consists of nave, aisles, and chancel, with a tower and spire

110 feet high, and was a gift of Lord Petre, whose seat

near Ingrave is about 2 miles to the S. There are also

Baptist, Congregational, and Wesleyan chapels. The town
has a head post, money order, and telegi-aph office, two banks,
some good inns, and is a seat of petty sessions. The weekly
market has ceased, but cattle fairs are held on 16 and 17
Oct. Brickmaking and brewing are carried on. Acreage
of parish, 460

;
population, 4949. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St Albans; net yearly value, £216 with
residence.

Brenzett, a parish in Kent, | of a mile from Brookland
station on the S.E.R., and 4J miles WNW of New Romney.
It has a post office (S.O.) under New Romney, which is the

money order office ; telegraph office, Brookland (R.S.) Acre-
age, 1819

;
population, 284. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Canterbury
;
gross value, £92 with residence. The

church belonged anciently to Guisnes Abbey in Artois, has
some Norman portions, and is in good condition.

Breock, St, a parish in Cornwall, on the river Camel, in-

cluding part of the town of Wadebridge, 1 mile from Wade-
bridge station on the G.W.R Post town, Wadebridge, which
is the money order and telegraph office. Acreat'e, 7976,
with 264 of water and foreshore; population, 1763. The
manor belonged once to the Morices, and passed to the
Molesworths. An eminence called the Beacon is crowned by
a cromlech, and commands a fine view. A mineral traffic is

carried on by railway with Bodmin and Camelford. The
living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Truro, annexed to

\Vhiterocke
;
gross value, £969 with residence. The church

occupies a picturesque site, contains some old monuments
287
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and two brasses, and is in good condition ; it was well re-

stored in 1881. There are Congi-egational, Bible Cbristian,

and Wesleyan chapels. The parish bore the name of Pawton
at the Domesday suiTcy.

Brerding. See Brading.
Brerehurst. See Brieryhurst.
Brereton, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in Rngeley

parish, Staffordshire, 1^ mile SE of Rugeley, with a post

office under Rugeley, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. The ecclesiastical parish was constituted in

i843; population, 19r)5. Coal is worked. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield
;
gi'oss value, £301 with

residence. Patron, the Vicar of Rugeley. The chmxh, en-

larged in 1878, is a fine building io the Gothic style, and
contains a font of Caen stone^ a handsome reredos, and
stained windows. There are sis almshouses for poor widows,

and a AVesleyan chapel.

Brereton-ciun-Smetliwick, a village, a township, and

a parish in Cheshire, on the river Croke, 2 miles SE of

Holmes-Chapel station on the Manchester and Crewe section

of the L. & N.W.R., and 3 NE by N of Sandbach. There is a

post office, of the name of Brereton, under Sandbach ; money
order and telegraph office, Holmes-Chapel. Acreage of town-

ship, 4599
;
population, 5G8. Brereton Hall was built by

Sir W. Brereton, and is now the seat of the Howards. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Chester ; net value, £442
with residence. The church is Perpendicular, and contains

some ancient monuments. There are Wesleyan and Pi^imi-

tive Methodist chapels.

Breasingham or Brissingham, a parish in Norfolk, on

the verge of the county, 2:^ miles W of Diss, and 3 from

Diss station on the G.E.R. It has a post office under Diss,

the money order and telegi^aph office. Acreage, 2421 ;
popula-

tion, 553. There are remains of a large conduit, constructed

by Sir Richard de Boyland. The linng is a rectory in the

diocese of Norwich; net yearly value, £357 with residence.

The church is an old building of flint and stone in the Per-

pendicular style, and has a lofty tower. There are also

Baptist and Primitive Methodist chapels. Bressingham Hall

is a chief residence.

Bret or Breton, The, a river of Suffolk. It rises near

Bradfield-Combust, and runs 17 miles south-south-eastward,

past Lavenham and Hadleigh, to the Stour, 3f miles E of

Nayland.
Bretby, a chapelry and a township in Repton parish,

Derbyshire, 4 miles from Burton-upon-Treut railway station,

and about lOi SE from Derby. There is a post and money
order office under Burton-upon-Trent ; telegi-aph office, Swad-
hncote. Acreage of the township, 1868; population, 377;
of the ecclesiastical district, 3G7. The living is a donative

chapehy in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £200 with

residence. Patron, the Earl of Carnarvon. The church was
rebuilt in 1878 by Anne Elizabeth, Countess of Chesterfield,

in memory of her husband and son, the sixth and seventh

Earls of Chesterfield, and her daughter, Eveljm, Countess of

Carnarvon. It seats 130 persons, and has a good organ, a

stained-glass window, and a carillon of 5 bells. Bretby

Hall, standing in a lovely park of 400 acres, is a magni-

ficent stone mansion built in 1865 by the fifth Earl of

Chesterfield. The present owner is the Eai-1 of Carnarvon.

Bretford, a hamlet in Wolston parish, Warwickshire, on

the Avon, 1^ mile NE of Wolston. It forms with Brandon

a township. Acreage of the township, 1988
;
population,

387.

Bretforton, a village and a parish in Worcestershire, IJ
mile SE of Littleton and Badsey station on the G.W.R., 1

mile SW of Honeybourne Junction, and 3f miles E of Eves-

ham, under which there is a post and telegraph office ; money
order office, Bengeworth. Acreage of parish, 1706

;
popula-

tion, 529. Bretforton Manor is the chief residence, and is a

part of the ancient manor. At Bretforton Hall there is a

remarkably large walnut tree in the garden. An old gi'ange,

the ancient manor house of the abbots of Evesham, with an

ancient bai-n and fish pond, exists in this parish. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £132
with residence. The chm'ch is ancient, ranging from Late

Norman to Late Perpendicular ; it was restored in 1823, and

again in 1847. The carving of the Nonnan capitals is good

;

there is an embattled tower of the 15th century.

BREWARD, ST

Bretherdale, a township in Orton parish, Westmoreland,

1 mile from Tebay station on the L. & N.W.R., and 4 miles

SW of Orton.

Bretherton, a township and ecclesiastical parish in Croston

civil parish, Lancashire, on the Douglas river, 1 mile E of

Croston railway station, and 9 SSW of Preston, under which
there is a post office; moneyorderand telegraph office, Croston.

Acreage of township, 2437
;
population, 785. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Manchester ; net value, £190 with

residence. Patron, the Rector of Croston. The church is a

recent structm-e in the Early English style. There are Con-
gi'egational and Wesleyan chapels, and a school, founded in

1654, with an endowment now producing £180 per annum.
Breton, The. See Bret.
Brettell Lane, a hamlet in the ecclesiastical parish of

Brierley Hill and the civil parish of Kingswinford, StafTord-

shire, 1^ mile NNE of Stourbridge. It has a station on the

G.W^R., a post, money order, and telegraph office (T.S.O.)

under Stourbridge, several potteries, and firebrick, iron and
glass works. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist

chapels.

Brettenham, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the

Roman Peddar-way and the Little Ouse river, 4 miles E
from Thetford station on the G.E.R. Post town, Thetford,

which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage

of the civil parish, 2006; population, 103; of the ecclesi-

astical, with Rushford, 292. The living is a rectory, con-

solidated with the adjoining benefice of Rushford, in the dio-

cese of Norwich ; net value, £236. The ancient church was
burnt in 1693. The present church is a small quadi'augular

structure with square tower.

Brettenham, a parish in Suffijlk, on the river Bret or

Breton, 3j miles NNW of Bildeston, and 5 NE from

Lavenham station on the G.E.R. It has a post office under

Bildeston (S.O.), which is the telegi-aph office; money order

office, Felsham. Acreage, 1438
;

population of the cinl

parish, 336; of the ecclesiastical (St Mary), 354. Bretten-

ham Hall belonged formerly to the Wenyeves, and passed to

the Beales. Some vestiges in the parish are supposed to

mark the site of the Roman station of Combretonium. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely ; net value, £320
with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The chui'ch

is an ancient building of flint and stone in the Decorated

and Perpendicular styles.

Bretton, a township in Hawarden parish, Flintshire, near

Saltney Marsh, 3 miles SE by E of Hawarden.

Bretton, Monk, a large village, a township, and a parish

in the W. R. Yorkshire. The township is also called Burton,

lies on the Barnsley Canal, has a station (Monk-Bretton)

on the M.R., and is 2 miles NE of Barnsley. It includes

the hamlets of Burton-Grange, Cliff'-Bridge, Old Mill, and

Smithies, and has a post and money order office of the name
of Monk-Bretton under Barnsley, which is the telegi'aph office.

Area of the township, 2221 acres
;
population, 3426 ; of the

ecclesiastical parish, 5033. A Cluniac monasteiy was
founded at Burton-Grange in the time of Henry II. by Adam
Fitz-Swain. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

York; gross value, £285 with residence. Patron, the Vicar

of Royston. The church was built in 1839, and rebuilt in

1877. There are also six Methodist chapels— including one

at Smithies, one at Old Mill, and one at Cliff Bridge—six

almshouses, and some charities. The inhabitants are chiefly

employed in the collieries, but paper-making, cornmilling,

and stone quarrying are also carried on. The township is

governed by a local board. The township of Cudworth,

formerly included in Monk-Bretton pai-ish, was made into a

separate ecclesiastical district by Order in Council in 1893.

Bretton, West, a village and a township in Sandal-

Jlagna and Silkstone parishes, in the W. R. Yorkshire, 1

mile from Haigh, and 6 miles SW by S of Wakefield, under

which there is a post and money order office called Bretton;

telegi-aph office, Crigglestone. Acreage of township, 2098;
population, 323. Bretton Hall is the seat of the lord of the

manor and sole landowner. There is a chapel in Bretton-Park,

the living of which is a donative in the diocese of Wakefield.

Brett-Sampford. See Saaipford-Brett.

Breward, St, or Simonward, a parish in Cornwall, on

the river Lank, under Brown Willey Mountain, 7 miles N by

E of Bodmin station on the G.W.R., 5J from Camelford
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Btation on the L. & S.W.R. aiiJ 8 N by W of Bodmin Road

station on the G.W.R. It has a post, money order, and tele-

gi-aph office under Bodmin. Acreage, 9435; population,

779. Tlie surface is prevailingly moorish, upland, and

rugged, but encloses tine scenes, and commands fine pros-

pects. Brown Willey and Rough Tor Mountains figure

conspicuously in the landscape. Hanter-Gantick, 1 mile S

of the church town, is a deep romantic valley, sometimes

called the Cornish Valley of Rocks. The stone for the Eddy-

stone Lighthouse and Tower Bridge was quarried at the Eddy-

stone quarries in the parish. Tin, copper, and china clay are

also worked. The living is a ricarage in the diocese of

Truro ; net value, £230. P.atrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Ti-uro. The church is partly Norman in style, and in fair

condition.

Brewham-Lodge, an extra-parochiiil tract in Somerset-

shire, on the east border of the county, 4J miles ENE of

Bruton. It was a hunting seat of King John.

Brewham, North, a parish in Somersetshire, 3 miles

NE of Bruton station on the G.W.R. Post town. South

Brewham, under Bath. Acreage, 1870; population, 234.

The liring is annexed to South Brewham, and the church is

used as a bam.

Brewham, South, a p.arish in Somersetshire, 2J miles

NE by N of Bruton station on the G.W.R. It has a post

office under Bath ; money order and telegi-aph office, Bruton.

Acreage, 3852
;
population, 347. The living is a vicanage,

with North Brewham, in the diocese of Biith and Wells

;

gross value, £104. The church is good, and was restored in

1882, and there are also Wesleyan and Baptist chapels.

Brewhouse-Yard, a small township, | mile from Not-

tingham, which is the nearest railway station. Population, 42.

Brewood (pronounced Brood), a small town and a parish

in StafTordslihe, in the petty sessional division of Pcnkridge.

The town stands on an eminence near Watling Street and the

river Penk, and on the Birmingham and Liverpool Canal, 2J
miles WNW of Four Ashes station on the L. & N.W.R., 4|
SW by S of Pcnkridge, 4J N of Codsall station, 8 from Wol-
verhampton, its market town, 11 from St.afford, and 134J
from London. There is a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Stafford. It formerly had a weekly market, and

still has a f.air on 19 Sept. There is a library and reading-

room, and a bank. The parish includes also the liberties of

Chillington, Somerford, Engleton, Horsebrook, Coven, Kid-

dermore-Green, and Hattons and Gunstone. Aci'e.age, 12,152;

population of the civil parish, 2667; of the ecclesiastical,

1590. Before the Conquest Brewood was a residence of the

Bishops of the See of Mercia, and continued such until the

13th century. The last bishop resident was Roger de Wese-

ham, who died there in 1258. Chillington Hall has been

since the reign of Henry If. the seat of the GifFard family.

The present mansion, which stands in an extensive well-

wooded pai'k, was built in the 18th century on the ruins of

the old house, which was partially destroyed after a siege

sustained against the Parliamentarian forces in the Civil War.

Queen Elizabeth visited Chillington in 1575. Brewood Hall

was the seat of the Fowkes and Plimley families. Somerford

Hall, another mansion in this parish, was the scat of the

Bai'bors, and now belongs to the Monckton f.amily. Two
nunneries, Cistercian and Benedictine, were founded in the

parish, the former in the reign of Richard I. or of Joim

;

they were known as the White Ladies and the Black Ladies,

and they figure under these names in the narrative of Charles

II. 's concealment in the neighbouring locality of Boscobel,

after the battle of Worcestershire. The Black Ladies, in

an excellent state of preservation, is now a farmhouse ; the

White Ladies, a min, has almost disappeared. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £293 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Lichfield. The church is

chiefly Perpendicular, and was restored in 1879 ; it has a
handsome tower and spire, and contains many ancient monu-
ments to the Giffard, Monckton, Plimley, and other families.

Kiddemore Green is included in Bishopswood ecclesiastical

parish, and Coven is also a separate benefice. There are

Roman Catholic, Congregational, Primitive Methodist, and
Wesleyan chapels. There is a gi-ammar school, founded by
Dr. Knightley in the time of Queen Eliz.abeth, and at which
Bishop Hard and Sir E. Littleton were educated. The trades

tf lockmaking, malting, brewing, and tanning, formerly car-
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ried on, have almost entirely died out owing to want of rail-

way facilities.

Brewood Forest, an ancient forest on the mutual border

of Staflbrdshire and Salop, around Brewood.

Briadun. See Buadon-Fokest.
Brlan's-Bell, a manor and a hamlet in Belbroughton

parish, Worcestershire, 4i miles S of Stourbridge.

Brian's-Puddle. See Bryant's-Puddle.
Brianston. See Bryaustonk.
Briavels, St, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire.

The village stands near Ofta's Dyke and the river Wye, 2
miles ESE of Bigsweir station on the G.W.R., and 4k SSW
of Ooleford, under which it has a post, money order, and tele-

gr.aph office. It formerly was a market-town, and was of

importance as a defence-post against the Welsh. It was
since very early times the seat of the government of the

Forest of Dean, .and the court leets are still held here. There
is a reading-room and library. A castle was built in the

time of Henry I. by Fitzwalter, Earl of Hereford; was enlarged

and strengthened at several periods, and goveraed by dis-

tinguished peers from the reign of King John till that of

George IIL The entrance gateway, two round towers

flanking the gateway, a long pile of building behind, and
some interesting features in the interior, such as a turnspit's

wheel and an ancient chimney-piece, still remain. Area of the

civil parish, 4796 acres; population, 1112; of the ecclesi-

astical, 578. The manor belongs to the Crown. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net

value, £133 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter
of Hereford. The church is chiefly Norman and Early
English, and has been restored in 1830, 1861, and 1882;
it contains a stone pulpit. There is a Congregational chapel.

Bricett, Great, a parish in Suffolk, 2| miles E by N of

Bildeston, and 4i SW of Needham Market station on the

G.E.R. Post town, Bildeston (S.O.), which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 92G

;
population,

245. An Augustinian Priory was founded here in 1110
by Ralph Fitz-Brian, annexed to the monastery of Nobiliac

in France, and conveyed in the time of Henry VI.

to King's College, Cambridge. The living is a perpetual

curacy in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £145
with residence. Patron, King's College, Cambridge. The
church is a plain building of flint in the Perpendicular

style.

Bricett, Little, a h.amlet in Ofton parish, Suffolk, 4J
miles ESE of Bildeston. It was formerly a parish and a
rectory, but has no church.

Brickendon, a liberty in All Saints parish, Herts, which
for civil pm'poses fonus a parish in the union of Hertford,

3 miles S of Hertford. Acreage, 1534; population, 1007.

Brickendon-Bury belonged formerly to Waltham Abbey, and
is now the seat of the Hill family.

Bricket-Wood, a station in Herts, on the L. & N.W.R.,
2 miles NNE of Watford.

Brickhill, a hamlet in Rockboum parish, Hants, 3J miles

NW of Furdingbridge.

Brickhill, Bow, a village .and a parish in Bucks. The
village stands near Watling Street, the river Ouzel, and the

Grand Junction Canal, 2 miles E of Fenny-Stratford station

on the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Bletchley station ; money
order and telegraph office, Fenny-Stratford. Acreage of

parish, 1848
;
population, 464. The sm-face includes Bow-

Brickliill eminence, 683 feet high, and is partly conunon.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford
; gross

yearly value, £430 with residence. The chm'ch stands con-

spicuously on a steep eminence above the village, and is a
building of sandstone in the Nomian and Perpendicular

styles. There are also Congi'egational and Wesleyan chapels.

Caldecot is a hamlet J a mile NW.
Brickhill, Great, a village and a parish in Bucks. The

village stands near Watling Street, the river Ouzel, and the

Grand Junction Canal, 3 miles SSE of Fenny-Stratford, and
3 SE of Bletchley st.ation on the L. & N.W.R., and has a
post office under Bletchley station ; money order office,

Fenny-Stratford; telegraph office. Little Brickhill. The
parish comprises 2383 acres

; population, 522. The manor,

with Great Brickhill Manor House, belongs to Sir P. H. P.

Duncombe, Bart. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Oxford
;
gross value, £405 with residence. Patron, Sir P,
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H. P. Duncombe, Bart. The chureli, a building of stone in

the Decorated style, contains monuments of the Duucombes,
the Pauncefoots, and others. There are Baptist and Wes-
leyau chapels, and some small charities.

BrickhiU, Little, a village and a parish in Bucks. The
village stands near Watling Street, 2 miles SE of Fenny-
Stratford station on the L. & N.W.R. It formerly had a

weekly market, and was at one time a seat of assizes. It

has a post and telegi-aph office under Bletchley station
;

money order office, Fenny-Stratford. The parish comprises

1367 acres; population, 312. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Oxford
;

gi'oss value, X200 witli residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Oxford. The chm*ch, which dates

from the 14th century, is a building of stone in the Decorated

and Perpendicular styles. A popular rhyme says, respecting

the three Brickhill villages

—

Bricklehampton, a township and a chapelry in St

Andi'ew-Pershore parish, Worcestershire, near the river

Avon, 3 miles NW of Hinton station on the M.R., and 3i SE
of Pershore, the post town. Acreage of township, 914

;
popu-

lation, 173. Bricklehampton Hall is a fine mansion in the

Italian style, erected in 1848. The living is a chapelry,

annexed to the ^'icarage of Pershore, in the diocese of

Worcester. The chuixh was originally Norman, and retains

a fine Norman doorway and font; the chancel contains

sedilia, a piscina, some stained windows, and some monu-
ments. It was restored in 1877.

Brickleton, a tithing in Hurstbourne-Tarrant parish,

Hants, 5^ miles N of Andover.

Brickleton, Berks. See BKianTWALTHAM.
Brickwall-Park, the seat of the Frewen family, near

Northiam, in Sussex. The mansion has a three-gabled

timber front of the time of Qneen Elizabeth, was visited by
that monarch in 1573 on her way to Rye; was the birth-

place of Accepted Frewen, the hot opponent of Cromwell,

and afterwards Archbishop of York ; and contains some
interesting pictures and old curiosities.

Brickworth, an old modernized mansion, 6 miles SE of

Salisbury, in Wilts, long the seat of the Eyres, and now be-

longing to Earl Nelson.

Bride or Brit, The, a river of Dorsetshire. It rises in the

northern vicinity of Beaminster, and rans 8 miles southward

to the Channel at Bridport Harbour.

Bride, Isle of Man. See Kirk-Bride.
Bridekirk, a township and a parish in Cumberland. The

township lies near the river Derwent and the Cockermouth
railway, 2 miles NNW of Cockermouth, which is the post

town. Acreage, 1044; population of the township, 107
;

of the ecclesiastical parish, 880. The parish contains also

the townships of Papcastle, Little Broughton, Great Brough-
ton, Ribton, Dovenby, and Tallentire. The manor belonged

to Gisburn Abbey, and was given at the dissolution to the Tol-

sons. Bridekirk House is the seat of the " Greek " Thompson
family. Freestone and limestone are quarried. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle ; net value, £184 with

residence. The parish church was a small ancient building

with a Norman doorway, and contained a curious carved

square font, about 2 feet high, supposed to have been Roman.
A new church was erected in 1870. Sir Joseph Williamson,

secretary of state to Charles II., and Thomas Tickell the

poet were natives.

Bridell, a parish in Pembrokeshire, near the river Teifi,

IJ mile SW of Kilgerran station on the Whitland and Car-

digan section of the G.W.R., and 2^ miles S by E of Cardigan,

which is the post town. Acreage, 2219
;
population, 276.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Da\'ids
;
gross

value, £135. The church is ancient, and in good condition.

It has recently been thoroughly restored. A St Catherine's

cross is in the churchyard.

Bride-Netherwent, St, a parish in Monmouthshire, on

the Julian Way, 2 miles N by E of Magor station on the

G.W.R., and G^ E by S of Caerleon. It includes the hamlet

of Llandevenny, and its post town is Newport ; money order

and telegraph office, Magor. Area, 804 acres; population of

the civil parish, 112 ; of the ecclesiastical with Llandevenny,

168. There are remains of a Roman camp and a barrow.
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The living is a rectory in the diocese of Llandaff; net value,

£172 with residence. The church was restored in 1848.

Bride, St. See London.
Brides, St, a parish in Pembrokeshire, on the S side of

St Brides Bay, 7^ miles WNW of Milford, and 9 W of

Johnston station on the G.W.R. Post town. Little Haven,
which is the money order office ; telegi-aph office, St Ann's
Head. Acreage, 2577

;
population, 181. St Brides Haven,

near the church, has anchorage for small craft. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of St Davids; value, £149 with
residence.

Brides, St, Glamorgan. See Brides-super-Elt, St.

Brides Bay, St, a large bay in Pembroke. It faces the

W ; is flanked on the N side of the entrance by Ramsey
Island, on the S side by Skomer Island, goes 10^ miles

inland, and is 9^ miles wide at the widest part, and 6f near
the head. It is unsafe when the winds are westerly, and
has in one part a reef, but is otherwise safe, and gives

anchorage for small craft in Solva Haven near St Davids,

and in Goultrop Road, and St Brides Haven, near St Brides.

Brides-Major, St, a hamlet and a parish in Glamorgan.
The hamlet stands between Ogmore river and the Bris-

tol Channel, 3^ miles S by W of Bridgend, under which
it has a post office ; money order and telegraph office,

Southeradown. Acreage of the civil parish, 5032 of land

and 547 of foreshore and water; population, 621; of

the ecclesiastical, with Wick, 987. The parish contains

also the hamlets of Lampha and Southerndown. Dun-
raven Castle, a modern edifice, stands on a rocky pro-

montory about a mile SE of Southerndown ; it is the

seat of the Earl of Dunraven, who is lord of the manor.

Near it stood Dundrivan Castle, which has disappeared.

Southerndown is a little watering-place with a post office.

The Windhole cavern and other caves are on the coast. The
living is a vicarage, united with the chapelry of Wick, in the

diocese of Llandaft'; gi'oss value, £300 with residence. The
chm-ch is partly Early Norman, and was restored in 1853

;

it contains a Nonnan font and an altar-tomb to the Botcher
family of Dunraven. There are Baptist and Calvinistic

Methodist chapels.

Brides-Minor, St, a township and a parish in Glamor-
gan. The township lies on the river Ogmore, 2J miles

N by W of Bridgend. Acreage, 1919; population of the

township, 1072; of the ecclesiastical parish, 2120. The
parish includes also the hamlet of Ynysawdre, and its post

town is Bridgend. Remains of Ogmore Castle are in the

palish of Merthyr Mawr, and consist of a small square

Norman keep with fragments of walls. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of LlandafF; net value, £104 with

residence. Patron, the Eai'l of Dunraven. The church has

been restored.

Bridestow, a ^'illage and a parish in Devonshue. The
village lies in a pleasant valley near Dartmoor, 6 miles SW
of Okehampton, and has a station on the L. & S.W.R., 204
miles from London. It was formerly called Bridgetstow,

and has a post office (R.S.O.) ; money order office, Oke-
hampton; telegraph office, Bridestow (R.S.O.) The parish

comprises 5687 acres
;
population of the civil parish, 586 ; of

the ecclesiastical, 589. Millaton House is the seat of the

Newton family, and contains a collection of natural history

objects from Dartmoor, and Leawood was long the seat of

the Calmady family, and is now the seat of the Hamlyn
family. The living is a rectory united with the perpetual

curacy of Sourton in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £256
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Exeter. The church

is very old, has a curious Norman gateway, and was restored

in 1866. There are also Congregational, Wesleyan, and

Bible Christian chapels.

Brides-super-Ely, St, a parish in Glamorgan, on the

river Ely, 1 mile SE of Peterston station on the G.W.R.,

and 4 miles W of Llandaff. It has a post office of the name
of St Bride's under Cardiff; money order and telegraph

office, St Pagan's. Acreage, 601; population of the civil

parish, 94; of the ecclesiastical with Michaelstone-super-

Ely, 153. The living is a rectory united with the rectory of

Michaelstone-super-Ely in the diocese of Llandaff; value,

£300 with residence. The churches are good.

Bride-Wentlooge, St, a parish in Monmouthshire, on the

coast, on Wentlooge Level, adjacent to the mouth of the river
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Usk, 2 miles E by N of ^Inrsh field station on the G.W.R.,

and -i SSW of Newport. It li:is a post office under Car-

diff; money order and telegi'aph office, Castleton. Acreage,

1910 of land and 1843 of foreshore and water
; population of

the civil pai'ish, 241 ; of the ecclesiastical with Coedkernew,

376. The living is a vicarage united with the vicarage of

Coedkernew in the diocese of Llandaff
;
gross value, £300

with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Llandaff. The church

belongs to the Decorated and Perpendicular periods, and

has a fine tower t)6 feet high. It leans out of the perpen-

dicular 3 feet to theW and 1 foot to the N. It has 8 bells,

which are considered about the finest in Monmouthshire—one

of them is over a ton in weight. There is a tablet in the porch

recording an inundation of the sea which happened in 160G,

with a mark about 6 feet from the ground showing the

height of the flood. There is a chapel on the N side of the

church of a much older date. There are also Congi-egational

and Baptist chapels.

Bridiord or Bridgeford, a parish in Devonshire, on the

dver Teiga, 3 miles from Ashton station on the G.W.R., and
9 SW of Exeter, under which it has a post office ; money order

office, Dunsford ; telegraph office, Moreton-Hampstead.

Acreage, 4151
;

population, 429. A lead mine is -worked.

The hving is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; net value,

£346 with residence. The church is a small structure with

tmTeted tower, and has a fine screen. It was well restored

in 1883.

Bridge, a village and a parish in Kent. The village

stands on WatUng Street and on the Little Stour river,

with a station on the S.E.R., 66 miles from London, 3 miles

SE of Canterbmy, under which it has a post, money order,

and telegi'aph office. The parish comprises 1170 acres;

population of the civil parish, 850 ; of the ecclesiastical with

Patrixbom-ne, 1114. The manor belonged to an ancient

abbey on the giound now occupied by the church, and passed

to the Dutch family of the Braeams. Bridge-Hill House
was the seat and death-place of Baron de Jlontesquieu,

grandson of the famous president. The living is a incarage

annexed to the vicarage of Patrixboume in the diocese of

Canterbmy. The church, which was rebuilt in 1859, contains

some well-preserved remains of Norman architecture, a
remarkable monumental effigy supposed to be of a steward

of the ancient abbey, and some singular carvings represent-

ing the creation and fall of man. There is a spacious

room called the " Reading Room," which is the property of

the Marquis Cunyngham, and is lent by him to the vicar

and churchwai'dens for parochial purposes. The artist Jansen
resided much in Bridge, and painted here his portrait of the

lady popularly called the " Star in the East."

Bridge-Casterton. See Casterton, Great.
Bridge-End, a railway station in Flintshii-e, on the

\\'rexham, Mold, and Connah's Quay railway, near Caer-

gwrle.

Blidgefoot, a station on the Cleator railway, in Cumber-
land, 4 miles ESE of Workington, under which it has a post

office; money order office, Great Clifton; telegi'aph office,

Workington.

Bridgeford. See Buidford.
Bridgeford, East and West. See Bridgford.
Bridgeford, Great and Little, two hamlets in Seighford

parish. Staftbrdshire, 3j and 4 miles NW by N of Staffijrd.

There is a station at Great Bridgeford on the L. & N.W.R.
Bridgegate, a hamlet in Abson parish, Gloucestershire,

IJ mUe SW of Abson.
Bridge, Great, a locality in Staffordshire, 2 miles NXE

of Dudley. It has a station on the Birmingham and Dudley
branch of the G.W.R. and the Walsall and Dudley branch
of the L. & N.W.R., and a post office (T.S.O.) under Tipton.

Bridgeham. See Bridgham.
Bridgehampton. See Bridghasipton.
Bridge-Hewlck, a township in Sharow parish, in W. R.

Yorkshiie, 2 miles E of Ripon station on the N.E.R. Acre-
age, 911; population, 04.

Bridge-Hill, an ecclesiastical parish fomied from Belper

parish, Derbyshire, near the river Derwent and the M.R., and
part of the town of Helper, It was constituted in 1845.
Post town, Belper. Population, 2873. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Southwell ; value, £230. The
church is in the Early English style, and was built in 1849.
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Bridgehouses, a \illage suburban to Sheffield, in the

W. R. Yuik,shire, with a station (goods) on the M.S. & L.R.

Bridgemere, a village and a township in Wybunbury
parish, Cin'^hiie, on tiie verge of the county, 3 miles SW of

Betley Road station on the L. & N.W.R., and G^ SSE of

Nantwich. Acreage of township, 1130; population, 157.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bridgend, a hamlet in Bexley parish, Kent, 3^ miles W
of Dartfoid.

Bridgend, a liamlet in Horbling parish, Lincolnshire, 4j
miles EXE of Folkingbam. A Gilbertine prioiy was founded
here in the time of King John by a London citizen, and
given at the dissolution to Edward Lord Clinton..

Bridgend, a hamlet in St Dogmells parish, Pembroke-
shire, in the vicinity of Cardigan.

Bridgend, a hamlet on the Yealm estuary, in Devonshire,

adjacent to Newton-Ferrers, G^ miles SE of Plymouth.

Bridgend, (Welsh, Pen -y- bont Ar Og^uy), a small

market-town and the head of a poor-law union in Glamorgan.

The towni is in the parishes of Coity and Newcastle,

and stands on the river Ogmore, 7 miles NW of Cow-
bridge, 20 W of Cardiff, 26 from Swansea, and 190 by
rail from London. It has a station on the South Wales
section of the G.W.R., and is the terminus of the Llynn
and Ogmore branch of the same line. It is a straggling

place, and consists of three parts—Bridgend-proper, Old-
castle, and Newcastle. The latter two are on opposite sides

of the river, and took their name from ancient fortalices.

The Oldcastle fortalice has disappoai-ed, but remains of the

Newcastle one, consisting of outer walls and a Norman gate-

way, still exist. The town-hall is a handsome structure,

containing offices on the gi'onnd floor, and it also contains

the Mechanics' Institute, with reading-rooms and library. A
handsome masonic hall stands in the centre of the town, having

the local board offices on the gi'ound floor. There is also a

Conservative club building. The comity court and petty

sessions are held at the police station. St Illtyds, New-
castle, was rebuilt in 1850 and restored and enlarged in

1893-94. The living of Newcastle, with Tondu, Laleston,

and Tytheaston annexed, is a vicarage in the diocese of

Llandaff; net value, £170 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Llandaff. There are Roman Catholic, Congre-
gational, Baptist, Wesleyan, Calvinistic iletiiodist, and Uni-
tarian chapels. The town has a post, money order, and
telegraph office, a workhouse, a police station, two di'ill

halls, banks, is a seat of petty sessions and county com'ts,

and publishes two weekly newspapers. A weekly market is

held on Saturday, also large fortnightly cattle markets on
the first and third Mondays of each month, and fairs on
1 April, Holy Thursday, and 17 November. There are iron

and brass foundries, an agi'icultural implement factory, a

brewery, tanneries, limekilns ; and iron-works, coal mines, and
stone quarries are in the neighbouihood. The Glamorgan
County Lunatic Asylum, erected in 1864, is situated about

Ig- mile from the town, and consists of an extensive pile of

buildings. Another asylum, which stands on Cefn-Hirgoed

Common, about half a mile distant, was enlarged in 1893-94.

The area of the ui'ban sanitary district is G98 acres; popu-
lation, 4676.

Bridgenorth. See Bridgxorth.
Bridgenile, East and West, a parish and two townsliips

in Devonshire, on the river Tamar and the Bude Canal, 4^
miles E by S of Holsworthy station on the L. & S.W.lC
There is a post office under Holsworthy, which is the tele-

graph office ; money order office, Whitestone. Acreage of

East Bridgerule, 1618 ; of West, 1016
;
population of East

Bridgernle, 119; of West, 248; and of the ecclesiastical

pai'ish of Bridgerule (St Bridget), 395. A part comprising

1010 acres is on the right aide of the Tamar, and was for-

merly in CornwalL The manor was given by William the

Conqueror to Reginald Adobed, abbreviatedly Ruald or Rule

Adobed, and it is named jointly from him and from a bridge

over the Tamar. The living is a vic^irage in the diocese of

Exeter; net value, £212 with residence. The chuixh is

variously Early English and debased; it was well restored

in 1878, and has a good porch. In 1890 it was greatly

improved by the addition of a fine organ, can'ed oak choir

seats, and a rood-screen of a handsome Gothic design—the

lower part of which is filled with paintings of the twelve
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apostles after the statues of the same ia Amiens Cathedral

in 13th century style. The north transept is screened off

and beautifully fitted as a lady chapel. There are Bible

Christian and Wesleyan chapels.

Bridge-SoUers or Bridge-SoUars, a parish in Hereford-

shire, bordering on Offa's Dyke and the river Wye, 2J miles

WSW of Credenhill station on the Swansea, Brecon, and

Hereford branch of the JI.E., and G miles W of Hereford.

It has a post ofBce (R.S.O.); money order and telegi-aph

office, Stauuton-on-Wye. Acreage, 788; population, 71.

There is a feny here across the Wye. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, i)C8. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The chuich, a Norman structure dedicated

to St Andrew, contains some Early English det.ail, the east

window being Jacobean. It has recently been restored.

Bridget-Beckemiet, St. See Beckermet, St Bkidget.

Bridgetown. See Bekry-Pojierot.

Bridge-Trafford, a village and a township in Plemon-

stall parish. Cheshire, li mile N of Mickle-Trafford railway

station, and i\ miles NE of Chester. Acreage of township,

273 ;
population, 6G.

Bridgewater or Bridgwater, a municipal and parlia-

mentary borough and a parish in Somersetshne. The town

stands on a level, well-wooded country, on the river Parret,

with a station on the G.W.K., 151 miles from London, 6

SSE of Bridgewater Bay, and 32J SSW of Bristol. A short

line connects Bridgewater with Edington station on the

Somerset and Dorset railway, reducing the distance to Lon-

don to about 145 miles, and affording easier communication

with the south of England. The town dates from remote times,

and was anciently called Burgh-Walter. It took that name

from Walter de Dony, a Norman baron to whom the Con-

queror gave the manor, and it may have obtained its present

name either by corruption of the ancient one or from a

bridge across the Parret. William de Briwere or Bruer be-

came owner of it in the time of Henry II., and founded at

it a stone bridge, instituted an hospital, and built a strong,

large, moated castle. The last gave the place military con-

sequence, and drew on it the scourge of the civil wars. The

baroBS seized it in the revolt against Heniy III. ; the Koyal-

ists garrisoned it in support of Charles I. ; and the Parlia-

mentarians, under Fairfax, besieged it, captured it, and laid

it desolate. The castle mounted 40 guns ag.ainst Fairfax,

and soon after being taken by him was demolished. The

Duke of Jlonmouth took special post in the town, was re-

ceived and proclaimed as l^ng, mustered his forces on the

castle field, and marched hence to his f.ate at Sedgemoor.

Many of his partisans, who fell into the hands of the victors,

were afterwards treated cruelly or put to death here by Judge

Jeffries and his minion Ivirke.

The town stands chiefly on the right bank of the Parret,

was almost entirely rebuilt after the damage done to it by

Fairfax, is now a neat place, principally of red brick houses,

and contains some good streets. The part of it on the right

bank is subm-ban and inferior, and bears the name of East-

over. An iron bridge of one arch, on the site of the ancient

stone one, connects the main body with the suburb, and a

bridge with an arch of 100 feet in span takes across the

railway. The castle stood in King Square, and a fragment

of it exists in Northgate. The ancient hospital stood on the

ground now occupied by St John's Chmxh, and was upheld

for a community of Augustinian monks, and for the enter-

tainment of pilgrims. An ancient monastery of Grey Friars,

probably originating with the same founder as the hospital,

stood in Silver Street, and an arched doorway of it still

exists. A house in Blake Street, of Tudor .architectme, was

the birthplace of Admiral Blake. The town-hall contains

three pieces of tapestry which were formerly at Enmore

Castle. In 1880 the Coi-poration established waterworks at

Ashford Spaxton for supplying the town with water. The

market-house is a handsome modern structure with an Ionic

portico, and is surmounted by a dome. St IMary's Church

is a large edifice of red stone, partly of the 14th century,

but principally of the 15th, has a slender spire rising 120

feet from the tower and 174 from the gi-ound, and contains

an altar-piece after Guido and a monument of 1620 to Sir

Francis Kingsmill. The church has been restored from time

to time, and in 1871 a fine organ was placed in the north

chapel. Trinity Church is a modern Gothic stnicture, built
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at a cost of over £3000. St John's Church, in Eastover, is-

a handsome edifice of Bath stone, built in 1841i at a cost of

£10,000. The tomb of Oldmison the historian, who was a

native of the town, is in the churchyard of St Mary, and a

memorial stone over victims of the cholera is in that of St

John. The Roman Catholic church, dedicated to St Joseph,

in Binford Place, is a building of red brick and Bath stone

in the Early Decorated style, erected in 1882. A new Con-
gregational chapel was built in 18C3 at a cost of £5000.

There are also Baptist, Quaker, Unit.irian, Wesleyan, Con-

gregational, and Roman Catholic chapels, two endowed

schools, a school of art, a literary and scientific institution,

a workhouse, built at a cost of £9000, an infirmaiy, alms-

houses, and other charities. The Com Exchange was opened

in 1875. The premises of the Young Men's Christian Asso-

ciation, known as " The George Williams Memorial Build-

ings," are in Eastover, and were erected in 1887, and consist

of an upper and lower hall, with class-rooms, gymnasium, &c.

The town has a head post, money order, and telegraph office,

two railway stations, and several banks ; is a seat of quarter

sessions, and a coastguard station ; and publishes two weekly

newspapers. Weekly markets are held on Wednesday and

Saturday, great market first Wednesday in December, and

fairs on the last Wednesday in January, March, June, and.

Sept. ; for horses and cattle, and general, second Thursday

in Lent, 2, 3, and 4 Oct., and 28 Dec. The chief manufac-

tures are bath-bricks, red bricks, coarse pottery, and iron-

ware. The bath-brick works are the only ones in the world,

and produce bricks to the value of about £13,000 a year.

They are made from a peculiar settlement of mud and sand

brought up by the tide and deposited on the banks of the

Parret. The Parret is navigable up to the town for vessels

of 300 tons, rises at the mouth in spring tides to 36 feet,

and, like other rivers in the Bristol Channel and the Solway

Frith, flows in a sudden upright wave of great velocity.

This is usually 5 or 6 feet high, but sometimes after a wes-

terly gale 9 feet higb, and is liable to do great damage to

shipping. A canal 12|^ miles long, cut in 1811, goes from

the town to T.aunton, and is continued thence to Chard.

Chief exports are bath-bricks, and chief imports timber,

tallow, hemp, wine, and coal. The town was constituted a

borough by King John, is governed by a mayor, 6 aldermen,

and eighteen councillors, and at one time sent two members

to Parharaent, but was disfranchised in 1870, and is now
included in the Bridgewater division. The borough has a

commission of the peace and a separate court of quarter

sessions. Area of the municipal borough, 717 acres
;
popu-

lation, 12,436. The town gave the titles of Earl, Marquis,

and Didie to the Egertons.

The parish includes also the hamlets of East Bower, West

Bower, Dunweai-, Hersey, Hamp, and Haygi'ove. Area of

the civil parish, 3967 acres
;
population, 13,341 ;

popula-

tion of the ecclesiastical parish of St Mary with Cliilton,

3716 ; of Holy Trinity, 3290. The living of St Mary is a

vicarage, united with the rectory of Chilton, in the diocese

of Bath and Wells; gi-oss value, £325 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. Trinity and St John are

separate benefices, St John being a perpetual curacy with

net yearly value of £307 and residence, in the gift of the

Bishop of Bath and Wells ; and Trinity a vicarage w-ith a

gross value of £100, in the gift of the Vicar of Bridgewater.

Bridgewater Parliamentary Division of Somersetshire

was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,

and returns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-

lation, 48,226. The division includes the following:

—

Ilminster (part of)—Ashill, Beercrocombe, Broadway, Buck-

land St Mary, Combe St Nicholas, Cuny JIallet, Donyatt,

Fivehead, Hatch Beanchamp, Ilminster, Ilton, Isle Abbots,

Isle Brewers, South Bradon, Whitestaunton ; Bridgewater

—

Ashcott, Asholt, Bawdrip, Bridgewater, Broomfield, Canning-

ton, Catcott, Chariinch, Chedzoy, Chilton Common (extra-

parochial), Chilton-super-Polden, Chilton Trinity, Cossing-

ton, Durleigh, Durston, Eduigton, Edstock and Beer, Enmore,

Goathurst, Greinton, Huntspill, Lyng, Middlezoy, Moorlinch,

North Petherton, Othery, Otterhampton, Pawlett, Puiiton,

St Michael Church, Shapwick, Spaxton, Stawell, Stockland

Bristol, Sutton Mallett, Thurloxton, Wembdon, Westonzoy-

laud, Woolavington; Taunton (part of)—Bickenhall, Cheddou

Fitzpaiue, Corfe, Creech St Michael, Cuidand, North Curry,.
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Hillfarrance, Orchard Portnian, Huishton, Staple Fitzpaine,

Stoke St Gregory, Stoke St Mary, Thomfalcon, Tlmrlbear,

West Hatch, West jlonckton; Bridgewater, municipal borough.

Bridgewater Bay, an expansion of the SE side of Bristol

Channel. It is the Vexaia yEstuariiun of the Romans. It

commences between Horsedown Point and Brean Down,

which are 22i miles apart, and goes inward 9 miles to the

mouth of the'Parret river. Jlost of it has a depth of from

3 to 10 fathoms at high water, and great part of it is dry

at low water. The Gore .and the Culver Sands are part of

its bottom. Stert Island lies at its head in the mouth of the

Pan-et estuary, and lights at Bumham, NE of that island,

guide the fair-way into the estuary.

Bridgewater Canal, a canal iu Lancashire and Cheshu-e.

It was cut by Brindley for the first DtOie of Bridgewater in

1758-65. It went from Manchester west-south-westward

past Stretford, Altrmcham, and Preston-Brook to Kuncorn-

Gap on the Mersey, sent off a bi-anch from Stretford west-

north-westward to Barton, Worsley, and Leigh, and made

a junction at Preston Brook with the Gr.and Trunk Canal.

It measured over 28 miles from Manchester to Runcorn-Gap,

and went all the way on a level, but fell to the Mersey 80

feet by twelve locks. The branch to Leigh is 11 miles, goes

on a higher level, and crosses the Irwell on a lofty viaduct.

An embankment, 2700 feet long, 17 feet high, and 112 feet

wide at the base, is on the main line near BoUin. It is now

included in the Manchester Ship Canal. See Manchester
Ship C.is.\L.

Bridgford, East, a small \'illage and a parish in Notts.

The village stands near the Fosse Way and on the river Trent,

3 miles X of Bingham, and 9 ENE of Nottingham, under

which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office. The
nearest station is at Lowdh.am (2 miles) on the M.R. It

occupies the site of the Roman JIargidnnmn, and is some-

times called Bridgford-on-the-Hill. The civil parish com-

prises 1943 acres; population, 8CG. An abundant supply

of fine gypsum is obtained here. Roman coins and other

Roman rehcs have been found on Castle Hill. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £400 with

residence. Patron, Magdalen College, Oxford. The church

is in the Perpendicular style, and was reseated and partially

restored in 1862. There are Congi'egational and Wesleyan

chapels, and a temperance hall, built in 1883 to hold 300

people.

Bridgford, West, a village, a township, and a parish in

Notts. The township lies on the Grantham Canal, near the

M.R., 2 miles SE of Nottingham, under which it has a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1124; popula-

tion of the township, 2502 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 2589.

The parish contains also the township of Gamston, and part

of the hamlet of Basingfield. A small part of the parish,

without houses or population, is in the county borough of

Nottingham. A great flood occui'red here in 1875, caused

by the Trent oveiHowing its banks. The Notts County

cricket ground is near the Trent Bridge. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Southwell; gross value, £597 with

residence. The church is good, and there is an endowed

school with £27 a year.

Bridgham, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the

Thet river, 2j miles SW of Harling-Road station on the

G.E.R., and 6 E by N of Thetford, under which there is

a post office ; money order and telegi"aph office. East Harhng.

Acreage of parish, 2734; population, 294. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Norwich; net value, £189 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church, a building

of brick and stone in the Early English style, has a Norman
porch, and is good. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Bridghampton, a tithing in Yeoviltou parish, Somerset-

shire, 2 miles E by N of Ilchester.

Bridging, a locality near Bexlcy, in Kent, with a post

office under Besley-Heath, London, SE.

Eridgnortli, a market-town, municipal borough, the head

of a poor-law union and of a county court district, and of

three parishes and a township, comprising the municipal

borough, in Salop. The town stands ou the river Severn, 10

miles S by W of Shifnal, 13J SW by W of Wolverhampton,

14 S by E of Wellington, 139 by road, and 150 by railway

from London. The town was founded by Ethelfleda, daughter

of Alfred the Great, and was .anciently called Brugge or
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Bruges. A castle was built by Ethelfleda, the site of

which is supposed to be in the adjoining parish of Old-
bm'y. A new castle of great strength was erected in 1098
by Robert de Belesrae, Earl of Shrewsbury, on the summit of

a lofty and precipitous rock above the Severn. Henry I.

speedily took the castle, and made it a royal fortress. Henry
II. visited it, and Oliver Cromwell n.arrowly escaped death

beneath its walls. Thomas ii Beckett lodged in it. John
made several visits, and confeiTed a charter on the town. It

subsequently received visits from several kings. Charles I.

came to it at the commencement of the great disasters of his

reign, and pronounced the promenade, called the Castle Walk,

connected with it, the finest walk in his kingdom, The Par-

liamentarians in 1646 laid siege to it, obtained possession of

it at the end of three weeks by capitulation, and then dis-

mantled it, and blew up its fortifications. Nearly the whole

of the town was burned to the ground during the siege.

Little remains now of the castle except a tower 70 feet high,

leaning out of the perpendicular at an angle of 13 degi'ees.

Henry IV. is represented as saying, in reference to his rendez-

vous (just before the battle of Shrewsbm-y)

—

" On Wednesday next. Harry, you shall set forward

;

On Thursday, we ourselves will march; our meetinjj

Is Bridgnorth; and Harry, you shall march
Through Gloucestershire; by which account.

Our husiness valued, some twelve days hence
Our general forces at Bridgnorth shall meet."

Shakespeare, Uenry IV., act iii. scene 2.

The town is divided by the Severn into two portions, called

the Upper and tlie Lower. The upper portion is on the

rit^ht bank, on the sides and summit of a red sandstone rock,

rising 180 feet above the level of the river, and presents a

remarkably picturesque appearance. The houses rest on the

live rock, and in some instances cellars and cottages are

hewn out of it ; a hollow way, called the " Stoneway," 20

feet deep, goes down the slope of the rock to the river ; and.

a railed tenrace, cut along the front of the bluff, wends

above gardens and around the castle's site, and commands

a splendid view. The High Street is spacious, and once

had "rows" as at Chester. A handsome bridge, with

seven arches, crosses the Severn. The town-hall, in the

middle of High Street, was built in 1652, and is a half-

tunbered building supported by pillars; it is used for the

transaction of municipal business, magistrates' meetings, and

quarter sessions. It was restored and embellished with

stained glass wmdows in 1887-88 as a memorial of the

Queen's Jubilee. The agi-icultnral hall, built in 1867, has

a large room for concerts, public meetings, &c. The market-

hall, erected in 1855, is now used for shops and offices,

a warehouse, and a reading-room. The markets are held

on Saturdays, stalls being erected in the High Street, and

the space under the town-hall being used for the sale of

butter, eggs, and poultry. A half-timbered house in Cart-

way wasthe birthplace of Bishop Percy ; it has been restored;

there are several other ancient houses in the town. St Maiy
Magdalene's Church was originally founded at Quatford in

the time of WiUiam Rufus, by Roger, Earl of Shrewsbury,

but was soon removed to the castle at Bridgnorth, made
collegiate for a dean and six prebendaries, exempted by King

John from ecclesiastical jmisdiction, and constituted parochial

in the time of Edward III. The present edifice is in the Ionic

style, has a tower and cupola, and was erected in 1792 by

Telfourd. St Leonard's Church is Early Decorated English,

was restored in 1862, consists of nave, chancel, and north

and south aisles, with a western pinnacled tower rebuilt in

1870; the n.ave with aisles is 91 feet wide ; it contains a

carved oak pulpit, a handsomely carved stone reredos, and

several stained windows. There are Roman Catholic, Con-

gi-egational, Wesleyan, Baptist, and In-ingite chapels. There

is a good gi-ammar school, founded in 1503 by the cor-

poration, with three exhibitions at Oxford, a blue-coat school,

an hospital .and almshouses, a literary institute, with reading-

room, library, billiard-room, and school of art; a theological

libraiy, founded by Dean Stackhouse ; a cemetery, a work-

house, and an infirmary and dispensary. The town is well

drained and well supplied with water. It h.as a head post

office, a station on the G.W.R., three banks, is a seat of

petty sessions, and publishes a weekly newspaper. Fairs .are

held on the third Monday of Jan., Feb., March, Aug., and
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Kept. ; on the second Monday of June, Julv, and Dec, and
on 1 May and 20 Oct. JIuch business is done in agricul-

tural produce, and manufactures are caiTled on in carpets,

yarn spinning, tanning, malting, and brewing. The town
was chartered by Henry II., sent two members to Parliament

from the time of Edward I. till 1867, had its representation

reduced in that year to one, and was disfranchised by the

Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885. It is governed by a

mayor, four aldermen, and twelve councillors. It has a sepa-

rate grant of quarter sessions, whicli are held by the recorder;

the county court is held here every second month. The muni-
cipal borough includes the two town parishes, part of Quatford

-parish, and the township of Quatt Jervis in Quatt parish.

Area of tlie municipal borough, 2998 acres; of the civil

parish—St Leonard, 670; and St Mary Magdalene, 598;
population of the municipal borough, 5865 ; and of the civil

parish—St Leonard, 2821; and St Mary Magdalene, 2603.

The two parishes are St JIary Magdalene or Low town parish

and St Leonard or High town parish; population of ecclesi-

astical parish of St Leonard, 2809 ; of St Mary Magdalene,

2615. The livings are both rectories in the diocese of Here-
ford

;
gross value of St Mary Magdalene, £240 with resi-

dence
;
gross value of St Leonard, £280 with residence.

Bridgtown, a submb of Cannock, Staffordshire, ^ mile

SE of that town. It contains an edge-tool manufactory and
boiler works, a school church, an iron chnixh, and Wesleyan,
Primitive, and Xew Connexion Methodist chapels. It has a

post office under Stafford. See Cannock.
Bridgwater. See Bridgewater.
Bridlington or Burlington is a seaport town and a

parish in the E. R. Yorkshire. The town stands on a gentle

declivity, at the Gipsy-Race river, adjacent to the Hull
and Scarborough railway, about § of a mile from the

sea, 6 miles WSW of Flamborougb Head, and 30f NXE of

Hull. A Roman station probably occupied its site, and a

Eoman road can be traced in a line from it across the Wolds
toward York. An Augustinian priory was founded in the

time of Henry I. by Walter de Ghent, and fortified in the

"time of Richard II. to resist invasion by sea. Tlie sur-

Tomiding manor belonged to it, and at the dissolution was
purchased by the inhabitants. The town received Henrietta

Maria, queen of Charles L, with military stores brought bv
iier to the neighbonring bay from Holland, and it then was
bombarded by the Parliamentarian fleet under Admiral
Batten. It now consists chiefly of one long nan'ow street,

but possesses interest for the beauty of its environs, and for

its priory chm'ch, now the parish church. Tliis was origin-

ally 360 feet long, with an Early English choir of seven

bays, an Early English transept, a magnificent reredos, and
five chapels in one range, and at the beginning of this century

was a ruin, but has been restored at various times at con-

siderable cost, mainly under the direction of Sir G. Gilbert

Scott, RA., and now consists chiefly of the nave, 185 feet

2ong, 68 feet wide, and 89 feet high, in the best geometrical

Decorated English ; contains a hexagonal stone pulpit, and
a turbinated madi'eporite font, and has an east window, con-

etructed in 1861. William de Newbm-gh, the monkish his-

torian, Thomas Newman, commemorated by a tablet in the

churchyard, and Kent the landscape gardener were natives,

and several men of note were connected with the priory. A
gatehouse of the priory is used as the town-hall, and some

cells have been used as a prison and a school. A markct-

iiouse, with a corn-exchange, was built in 1856. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of York ; gross value £364 with

'residence. There are here or at Bridlington Quay Congi-e-

gational, Baptist, Wesleyan Methodist, Primitive Jlethodist,

and United Free Methodist chapels, a grammar school,

founded in 1637, an endowed knitting school for girls;

charities, including the two schools, to the amount of £650
a year*; a workhouse, two subscription libraries, a small

museum, and several hotels. The town has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Bridlington Quay, a railway

station, and two banks, and is a seat of county com*ts, A
weekly mai'ket is held on Saturday, and fairs for cattle,

horses, and sheep on the Monday befo're Whitsunday and 21

Oct. A statute fair for hiring servants is held on the nearest

Tuesday to 14 Nov. Bridlington is the scene of three of

Montgomery's sonnets.

The parish includes the townships of Bridlington and
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Bridlington Quay, Bucton and Hilderthorpe, the townships
and chapelry of Sewerby-with-Marton and Grindall, the
chapelry of Speeton, and the hamlet of Easton. Ai-ea of

urban sanitary district, 2636 acres; of civil parish, 2519 of

land and 25 of foreshore and water
; population of urban

sanitary district, 8916 ; of civil parish, 6840 ; of ecclesias-

tical parish of Bridlington (St Mary), 3761 ; Bridlington

Quay (Christ Church), 4521 ; and Holy Trinity, 780,

Bridlixgton Quay stands on the shore, on a fine bay,

about a mile from Bridlington ; is a seaport, a sea-bathing

resort, and a coastguard station, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. It comprises a spacious princi-

pal street, descending to the harbour, and some other streets,

and is well built and lively. The Victoria public rooms are

a Tudor edifice, with embattled tower, built at a cost of

£8000, and include promenade, exhibition, billiard, and news
rooms. The church is a structure in the Early English
style, built in 1840. The living (Christ Church) is a vicar-

age in the gift of the Vicar of Bridlington
;
gioss value,

£300 with residence. There is also a perpetual curacy

(Holy Trinity) in the gift of the Archbishop of York; gi'oss

value, £304 with residence. There are hot and cold sea-

water baths. The bathing accommodation on the beach is

very good, the sands firm, and the views and walks delightful.

A spring within high water-mark gives a copious supply of

the purest water, inteimittent springs are in the neighbour-

hood, and a chalybeate spring, of similar quality to the

springs of Scarborough, is about ^ of a mile distant. The
harbour has two piers, extending far into the sea, and is

defended by a cross battery, and the bay is a commodious
anchoring place, sheltered by Flamborougb Head and the

Smithwick sand. The port is under Hull, and hns a con-

siderable trade in corn, malt, and manures. The seats of

Boynton, Thorpe-Hall, Bessingby, Sewerby, and Sledmere

Park, and some beautiful villas are in the neighbourhood.

The hai'bour was improved in 1867 by an addition to the

north pier, and in 1885 was deepened 2 feet. This is a life-

boat station. There are recreation grounds, a sailors' insti-

tute, a convalescent home, two churches, a Roman Catholic

church, four dissenting chapels, and a sailors' bethel A sea-

tigbt between three American vessels under Paul Jones and
two British ones took place in the \dcinity in 1799.

Bridport, a municipal borough, a market-town, a parish,

and a poor law union in Dorsetshire. The town stands on a

gentle eminence between the rivers Brit and Asker, a little

above their confluence, surrounded by hills, 1^ mile N of the

Bride's Mouth, 9J miles by railway WSW by Mai deu-Newton,
and 15 by road W of Dorchester. It has a station on the

G.W.R., 154 miles from London. There is a branch to

Maiden-Newton and another to West Bay. It had a mint
and 120 houses at the time of the Conquest; was occu-

pied by both the Royalists and the Parliamentarians, but not

contested by either, during the Civil War ; made a riotous

outburst at the time of the Duke of Monmouth's landing at

Lyme, and had an ancient priory dedicated to St John the

Baptist. It consists of three spacious, airy streets, contains

many handsome houses, and commands from its summit-
gi'ound many fine vista-views. The town-hall occupies the

site of an ancient chapel, was built in 1786, and is a hand-
some edifice of brick and Portland stoue. The parish church

is cruciform, chiefly Later English, has a central, square,

pinnacled tower, was restored in 1860 at a cost of upwards
of £3000, and contained a monument to a kinsman of Queen
PhiHppa, and some other interesting monuments. St An-
drew's Church, near the northern entrance to the town, is a

small, beautiful edifice. There are Congregational, Baptist,

Quaker, Unitarian, Methodist, and Roman Catholic chapels,

almshouses, and other chai-ities, a literary and scientific

institution, and a working men's reading-room and club.

Bridport Harbour is at the mouth of the Brit, 1^ mile

distant, and takes its name from a basin enclosed by a

double wooden pier, flanked by picturesque clifis, and capable

of admitting vessels of 250 tons.

Bridport has a head post, money order, and telegi'aph office,

two banks, is a seat of sessions, a coastguard station, and a

bonding port, and publishes a weekly newspaper. Markets

are held on Wednesday and Satui'day, and fairs for cattle

and cheese on 6 April, Holy Thursday, and 11 Oct. Manu-
factures are cai^ried on in shoe-thread, twine, cordage, sail-
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cloth, and fisliing nets. The coidage was at one time a great

staple, supplied nearly all the royal navy in the time of Henry

V'lII., and became so identified with the work of the hang-

man as to be popularly called " the Bridport dagger." The
chief exports are cheese, butter, and the local manufactures,

and the chief imports hemp, flax, tallow, coal, and slate.

The town was chartered by Henry III., sent two members to

Parliament from the time of Edward I. till 1807, was reduced

iu 1867 to the right of sending only one, and by the Ke-

distributiou of Seats Act, 1S85, the borougli was merged in

the county division. The town is governed by a mayor, 6

aldermen, and IS councillors. The borough includes all

Bridport and Allington pai'ishes, and parts of Burton-Brad-

stock, Bothenhampton, Walditch, Bradpole, and Symondsbury

parishes. Area of municipal borough, 591 acres; popula-

tion, 6611 ; area of civil parish, 98 acres
;
population, 37G8.

In 1884 a detached part of Loders, known as Loders West
End, was amalgamated with Allington. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £257 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Salisbury. The Church

of St Swithin, erected in 1827, is a plain building of stone

in the Greek style, and contains 800 seats. The liring is

a vicai'age; value, £210.

Bridport Haxbour. See Bridpokt.
Bridstow, a village and a pai-ish in Herefordshire, on the

river Wye, Ik mile W by N of Ross, which is the post town.

Acreage of the civil parish, 2233 ;
population, 623 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 634. The pai'isli also includes the hamlet of

Wilton. Wilton castle is a ruin with a modern residence

within its walls. Dadnor, Morastone, The Weir End, Wilton-

dale, Wilton Hall, Wilton House, and Wyeville are chief resi-

dences. The Governors of Guy's Hospital are lords of the

manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford

;

net value, £230 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Hereford. The chiurch (St Bridget's) is Decorated English,

with a Norman chancel arch, and was rebuilt in 1861. It

contains an altar-tomb to one of the Greys of Wilton, removed

about forty year's ago from W'ilton Castle. W^ilton Bridge,

over the Wye, was built iu 1597, and one arch was broken

down in the Civil War in 1644.

Bridy. See Bredt.
Briercliffe, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Whalley parish, Lancashire. The township bears the name
of Brierclift'e-with-Extwistle, and lies near the L. & Y.R.,

3 miles NE by E of Burnley, which is the nearest railway

station. Post town, Buraley. Acreage, 4227; population

of the township, 1647; of the ecclesiastical paiish, 2174.

There are quan'ies and cotton mills. The Duke of Buccleuch

is lord of the manor. The liring is a ^•ica^.age in the diocese

of Slanchester
;
gross value, £300 with residence. Patrons,

Hulme's Trustees. The church was built in 1840. There

are also two Baptist chapels.

Brierdean or Burradon, a township in Earsdon parish,

Northumberland, on the Blyth railway, 5 miles NNW of

North Shields. The nearest railway station is Ivillingworth (1

mile) on the N.E.R. It has a post and money order office

called BuiTadon, under Dudley (R.S.O.); telegi'aph otHce,

Forest Hall. Acreage, 545
;
population, 1156. Coal and

stone ai*e worked. A dreadful coUiery disaster occtuTed here
in March, 1860.

Brierfield, a township and an ecclesiastical district in the

ancient parish of Whalley, 2^ miles from Burnley, Lanca-
shne, with a station on the L. & Y.K.,and a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Burnley. Area of the

lu-ban sanitary district, 1051 acres; population, 588S; of

the ecclesiastical district, 6060. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Manchester
;
gi-oss value, £256 with residence,

in the gift of the Bishop of JIanchester. The church is a

building in the Gothic style, and was erected in 1872.
There are four dissenting chapels. Brierfield is governed by
a local board, and the inhabitants are chiefly employed in

cotton manufactme.

Brierley, a township in Felkirk pai-ish, in the W. R.

Yorkshire, adjacent to the Bamsley Canal and the North
Midland railway, SJ miles NE of Bamsley. The railway

station is at Hcmsworth (li mile) on the West Hiding and
Grimsby Joint railway. It'includes the hamlet of Grime-
thorpe, and has a post and money order office under Barns-
ley ; telegr-aph office, Hemsworth. Acreage, 25U1

;
popnla-
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tion, 502. The church is a modern one in the Early Englisli

style, and is in the charge of a curate.

Brierley, a village in Sedgley parish, Staffordshire, 3^
miles NE of Dudley.

Brierley Hill, a market-town and an ecclesiastical parisli

in Kingswinford civil parish, Staffordshire. The town stands

on the Stourbridge and Birmingham Canals, 2J miles NNE
of Stombridge, and has a station on the G.W.R., and a
head post office. A new post office was erected in 1894.

It lies in a hilly tract of great mineral wealth, has a prin-

cipal street about a mile long, and several other streets,

carries on industry in coal mines, iron, brick, glass, and boiler

works, clay fields, iron rolling-mills, chain and spade factories,

and malting establishments, and publishes two weekly news-

papers. The town is a seat of petty sessions, and is governed

by a local board, which meets at the town-hall, a building

erected in 1874, and containing also a free public reading-

room and library. Markets are held on Tue5d.ay and Satur-

day. The town forms part of the parliamentary borough of

Dudley. The church is a cruciform stmctm'e, built in 1765,

enlarged in 1823 and 1837, and restored in 1885. It has

a tower which commands .an extensive view. There is a mis-

sion church at Delph, and Roman Catholic, Congregational,

Baptist, .and Wesleyan, and Primitive and New Connexion

Methodist chapels at Harts Hill. The ecclesiastical parish

includes the town, and was constituted in 1842. Acreage of

the urban sanitary district, 1023; population, 11,847. The-

living is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield ; value, £320
with residence. Patron, the Rector of Kingswinford.

Briertou. See Beearton.
Briery-Cottages, a small township in Crosthwaite p.arish,

Cumberland, 1 mile from Keswick town and station on the

Cumberland, Keswick, and Penrith railway. Post, money
order, and telegraph office, Keswick. Acreage, 46

;
popula-

tion, 97.

Brieryhurst or Brerehurst, a township in Wolstanton

parish, Staffordshire, 2 miles NNE of Newcastle-under-Lyme,

The working of coal and iron-ore is carried on.

Briestfield, a hamlet and a vill.age in Lower Wliitley

township, Thornhill parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles

from Dewsbury, which is the railway station and post office.

The inhabitants are employed in the mills and collieries oJ

Thornhill Lees and Grange Moor, and in agricultm'e. There

is a Wesleyan chapel.

Brigg or Glanford Brigg, a township and a market and
union town in the parishes of Bigby and Wrawby, and a
parliamentary division, in Lincolnshu-e, on the river Ancholme,

16 miles SW from Hull, and 19 W from Grimsby. The
town has a station on the M.S. & L.R., and is a head post,

money order, and telegraph office. It was formerly a small

fishing hamlet, and the surrounding country consisted chiefly

of open heath, but it is now a busy thriving town, and aU
the land is under cultivation. It is governed by a local

board of 15 members under the Local Government Act,

and was made an ecclesiastical parish in 1872 from the

civil parishes of Bigby, Bronghton, Scawby, and Wrawby.
It is well lighted, and has an excellent supply of water.

The market day is Thursday, and it has a fair for the sale of

cattle, &c., on 5 Aug., and a hiring fair for servants on the

Friday before Old May Day. There is a corn exchange,

which was built in 1850, and a poUce station, where the

sittings of the petty sessions and county court are held;

The living is designated the vicai'age of Glanford Brigg, in

the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly v.alue, £226 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Bishop of Lincoln. The church, an

edifice of stone in the Gothic style, was built in 1842-43.

There are also Roman Catholic, Congregational, Free and
Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels. The workhouse,

erected in 1835, has accommodation for 220 inmates. There

are two banks, a reading-room, an endowed grammar
school, and a weekly newspaper. In 1886 a very ancient

ship, over 48 feet in length, hewn from a single oak, way
found on the land belonging to the Brigg gasworks. Acreage

of the township, 403
;
population, 3100 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish of Glanford Brigg, 3122.

Brigg (or North Ltndseg') Parliamentary Division of
Lincolnshire was formed imder the Redistribution of Seats

Act of 1885, and returns one member to the House of

Commons. Population, 49,096. The division includes the
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following:—Winterton—Alkborough, Appleby, Ashbv, Bot-

tesford, Bromby, Burringham, Burton-npon-Stathcr, Butter-

wick (East), Crosby, Flixborough, Frodingham, Gunhouse,

Halton (West), Holme, Manton, Slessingbam, Kaventhorpe,

Roxby, Scunthorpe, Twigmorc, Whitton, Winteringbam,

Winterton, Yaddlethorpe ; Brigg— Barnetby-le-Wold, Bigby,

Brocklesby, Broughton, Caistor, Cadney-cum-Howsbam,

Clisby, Croxton, Elsham, Glanford Brigg, Grasby, Hilbald-

stow, Kcelby, Kii-mington, Limber (Great), Melton Ross,

Nettleton, Newstead, North Kelscy, Redbourne, Searby-cum-

Owmby, Scawby-cum-Sturton, Snitterby, Somerby, Wad-
dingham, Worlaby, Wrawby; Barton—Barton (St Mary),

Barton (St Peter), Barrow, Bonby, Femby (South), GoxhiU,

Habrough, Halton (East), Horkstow, Killingholme (Kortli),

Killingholme (South), Saxhy, Thornton Curtis, Ulceby,

Wootton; Grunbsy (part of)—Ashby-cum-Fenby, Aylesby,

Bamoldby-le-Beck, Beelsby, Bradley, Brigsley, Cabouni,

Clee-with-Weelsby, Cleethorpes, Coates (Great), Coates

(Little), Cuxwold, Grimsby (Great), Hatcliffe, Healing, Im-

mingbam, Irby, Laceby, Ravendale (East), Ravendale (\Vest),

Eiby, Eothwell, Scarthoe, Stallingborough, Swallow, Wal-

tbam ; Great Grimbsy, municipal borough.

Brigge. See Bkidgnokth.
Brigham, a village, a township, and a parish in Cumber-

land. The township lies on the river Derwent, and on the

Cocker-mouth and Workington railway, 2 miles W of Cocker-

mouth, and has a station on the railway, and a post and

money order ofiice under Cai'lisle ; telegraph ofSce, Cocker-

mouth. Area of township, 1759 acres; population, 818.

The parish contains also p.ai-t of the town of Cockermouth,

and the townships of Blind-bothel, Greysouthen, Setmurthy,

Eaglesfield, Mossar, Buttermere, Wliinfell, Lorton, Wytbop,

and Embleton. The surface is greatly diversified, ranging

from soft valley to bold high mountain, and contains much

brilliant scenery. Limestone, freestone, slate, and coal are

worked. The hving is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle

;

net value, £328 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Lons-

dale. The church is Decorated English, in good condition.

Brigham, a village and a township in Foston-on-the-Wolds

parish, in the E. R. Yorkshire, near the Hull and Scarborough

railway, ik miles SE of Great DriiEeld. Acreage of town-

ship, 13U8
;
population, 73. There is a Wesleyan chapeh

Brighouse, a market-town, a municipal borough, and an

ecclesiastical parish in Hipperholme-cum-Brighouse town-

ship, in the W. E. Yorkshire. The town stands on the river

Calder, 5 miles ESE of Halifax, and has a station on the

L. & Y.R. and the G.N.R. It has a head post office, and

the market day is Saturday. Trade is carried on in silk,

cotton, woollen, and worsted m.annfactures, and in the work-

ing and exporting of building-stone. The corporation own
the gas and water works. The burgh was incorporated in 1893

;

population, 20,666. It is governed by a mayor, 8 aldermen,

and 21 councillors. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Wakefield
;
gross value, £300 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Halifax. The church is a modern Gothic edifice,

built at a cost of £3515. There are also a chapel of ease,

erected in 1874, and a Roman Catholic and five dissenting

chapels. The town, which has grown considerably in recent

years, was incorporated with Rastrick and Hove Edge in 18'.I3.

There is a large town-hall, which contains an assembly room to

hold 1000, a mechanics* institute, newsroom, &c., a cemetery,

and a police station. Three newspapers are published.

Brighthampton, a township in the ciril parish of Bampton
and in the ecclesiastical parish of Bampton Aston, Oxford-

shire, 4 miles E from Bampton. Acreage, 626 ; popula-

tion, 61.

Brighthelmstone. See Brighton.
Brightholmlee, a hamlet in the parish of Bradfield, W.

R. Yorkshire, tii miles NW of Sheffield. There is a Wes-
leyan ch.apel here.

Brightley, a hamlet in Okehampton parish, Devonshire,

near Okehampton.

Brightley, a hamlet in Chittlehampton parish, Devonshire,

2k mik's from Chittlehampton.

Brightling, a parish in Sussex, in the Weald, 4 miles

WSW of Robertsbridge station on the S.E.R., and 6J NW
of Battle. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

(S.O.) Acreage, 4900
;
population of the civil parish, 7.50

;

of the ecclesiastical, 730. Brightling Down is 650 feet high,
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and commands an extensive panoramic view. The li\'ing is

a rectory in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £292 with

residence. The church is a very ancient one, stands in a

beautiful churchyard, and has a very fine peal of bells. The

obeUsk named the "Needle" at Brightling is the second

highest point in the eastern division of Sussex, being 650

feet above the level of the se.o. There is, it is said, more

woodland and less arable in Brightling than in any other

parish of its size in England.

Brightliiigsea, a town and a parish in Essex. The town

stands on the estuary of the Colne, opposite Mersea Island, and

is connected with the G.E.R. by a branch line from Wivenhoe,

8 miles SE by S of Colchester, is a sub-port to Colchester

and a member of the Cinque port of Sandwich, and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Colchester. A
fair is held on St Swithin s day or the Thursday before, and

a large trade is can'ied on in the fishing of sprats and oysters.

The parish comprises 2873 acres, of which 682 are tidal

water and foreshore
;

population, 3920. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value, £223.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church, a building of

rubble and fiint chiefly in the Perpendicular style, has a

fine tower nearly 100 feet high, serving as a sea-mark, and

contains a number of brasses, chiefly of the Beriffe family.

Besides a chapel of ease, erected in 1837, there are Con-

gregational, Free Methodist, Wesleyan, and Swedenhorgiaii

chapels.

Brighton, a parliamentary and municipal borough, a

county borough under the Local Government Act of 1888,

and the most popular watering-place in England, is situated on

the coast of Sussex. The town stands on swell, slope, and

clifiF, under the South Downs, 18 miles W by N of Beaeby-

Head, 27 E by N of Selsca Bill, 8 SW by W of Lewes, 28J
E of Chichester, and 60 1 S of London. The sea before it

forms a great slender bay, bounded by Be.achy-Head and

Selsca Bill, and gives an open view past the latter to the

Isle of Wight. One railway goes direct to London, another

to Lewes and thence to Kent, and a third to Chichester and

Portsmouth, and thence to the west. The railway terminus,

in the north-west of the town, is a commodious stnicture,

whose front is surmounted by an illuminated clock. It

covers an area of 20 acres.

The name popularly is alw.ays Brighton, but anciently w.as

Brighthelmstone, and was derived from some person of the

name of Brighthelm, supposed probably to have been an Anglo-

Saxon bishop of Selsea. The place is thought to have been

a scene of Draidical worship ; and from the discovery at it

of Roman coins and other Roman relics, is concluded to have

been occupied by a Roman station. The manor belonged

in the time of Edward the Confessor to Earl Godwin,

descended to his son Harold, who fell in the battle of Hast-

ings, was given by the Conqueror to William de Warrene,

and transfeiTed soon afterwards to the priory of Lewes. A
town on it was so considerable at the end of the 13th century

as to become then the seat of a market, and consisted of two

parts—one on the beach, inhabited by fishermen, the other

on the cliffs, inhabited by landsmen. The Flemings, the

French, and the Spaniards made attacks on the town, or

descents in its neighhom'hood, through a period of three

centuries, and continually checked its prosperity. A block-

house for arms and ammunition, and encompassing strong

walls, with four gates, were erected for its defence in the

times of Henry VIII. and EHzabeth, but were gradually

destroyed by the sea. Even the lower part of the town

itself underwent assaults from the billows, and eventually

disappeared. Charies II. fled hither from his overthrow at

Worcester, spent a night at an inn, still existing in West

Street, and emb.arked in the neighbourhood for Fecamp

in Normandy. The town declined till about 1750, .and had

then only about SCO inhabitants, chiefly poor fishermen.

Dr Russell, a distinguished physician, drew attention to it

at that time as a desnable bathing-place, and some persons

of influence and fashion soon began to visit it from London.

Dr Johnson, with Mrs Thrale and Fanny Bumey, was there

in 1770 ; the Prince of Wales, afterwai'ds George IV., first

came in 1782, and then founded a peiTnanent summer resi-

dence in 1784. Brighton suddenly underwent a change of

fortune, and it has gone on increasing, steadily and rapidly,

from that time till the present, so as to be now the greatest
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watering-place in the world. '• It is tlie fashion to run down
George IV., but what myriads of Londoners ought to thank

him for inventing Brighton !
" So wrote Thacljeray in " The

Newcomes."

The tol^^l extends neaily 4 miles, from Hove on the W to

Kemp-Town on the E, and presents snch an imposing front-

age to the sea as cannot be excelled by any other place in the

kingdom. There is not only a fine drive the whole distance,

but a footpath for pedestrians on the side next the sea of the

same length. The King's Koad and Esplanade are lighted

by forty 1000 c.p. electric arc lamps, and the illumination

of this road at night is not equalled by anything of the kind

in London or Pai"is. The whole town, with a small exception,

is modern, and much is handsome, elegant, or ga-and. There
are altogether more than 700 streets, terraces, crescents, and
squares. Some parts stand on slopes, descending from the

.skirts of the South Downs, some on low flat grounds at the

bottom, and some on clifls immediately overhanging the sea.

The central portion includes the Steyne, named after the
" stane "' or rock on which the fishermen of the old times used

to dry their nets, and contains some houses of the last centnr}',

the Pavilion or pal.ace built by George IV., and two large en-

closures tastefully Laid ont in flower beds and planted with
shrubs. The western portion includes the more recent fashion-

able extensions, and contains streets, squares, crescents, and
terraces, edificed with as splendid houses as almost any in the

kingdom. Kemp-Town, on the east, surmounts a chff neai'ly

100 feet high, was commenced in 1831, on the estate of Thomas
Kead Kemp, Esq., and includes a crescent 800 feet across, with
wings 350 feet each. The streets for the most part are spa-

cious, and intersect one .another at right angles; the higher

places have reliefs of gai-den or shrubbery, and command
fine views.

A sea-wall, for resisting further encroachment by the sea,

extends nearly a mile westward from Kemp-Town. The
planting of hardy shrubs, and the training of ivy, &c., over

the plain f.ace of the wall, has done much to beautify this

«nd of the town, and to render the underclifF di^ive .and

promenade a pleas.ant resort for invalids and pleasure seekers

during the keen northerly winds. The promenade is fur-

nished with spacious shelter halls and covered walks. An
electric railway rans along the beach. A chain-pier, situated

at the west end of the sea-wall, which extends 1014 feet

into the sea, was constructed in 1823 by Captain Brown,
at a cost of £30,000 ; it suffered much injury from storms in

1824 and 1833, but has since been repaired and strengthened.

The pier is divided by iron towers into four spans, of 225
feet each ; it measures 13 feet in width along the roadway,

and expands at the head into a platform 80 feet squ.are.

It is, however, comparatively little used, as it has practically

been superseded by the west pier, on iron supports. Neai'

the Chain-pier is the Aquarium, a marine zoological garden
of the greatest interest, and the largest building of the kind
in the world. It is one of the most attractive sights in

Brighton, and in addition to the fine marine collection, there

are daily concerts, dramatic entertainments, cScc. The West
Pier wtis opened in 1866. It is 1115 feet long, and has
promenading space for more than 2500 persons. On each
side of the pier is a row of lamps arranged alternately as

regards the colour of the glass—red, white, and blue—which
produce a picturesque effect by night. In 18S13 the pier head
was widened 40 feet on each side of the original stnictiue. A
landing stage 11 feet wide along the whole of the east and
west sides of the pier was provided, projecting seawards 100
feet. The most conspicuous addition was, however, the new
pavilion, which is 120 feet long by 100 feet broad, suiTounded
by a colonnade th.at provides a sheltered open-air promenade.
This pavilion is, so far as the framework is concerned, almost
entirely an iron building, and, being intended for musical
and other performances, was designed so as to afford ample
space in the auditorium, which will seat about 1400 persons,

besides which there is room in the gallery for a lai'ge num-
ber of spectators.

The Pavilion or palace of George IV. was commenced in

1784, but not entu-ely finished until 1827. It assumed a
fantastic character, with domes, minarets, cnpolas, and spires,

alleged to resemble the Kremlin at Moscow ; and was occasion-
ally visited by William IV. and Queen Victoria. It had origi-

nally cost nearly a million sterling. Who can forgel> Byron's

canstic lines when in 1823 more money was being lavis'

on tlie royal toy.'

—

In 1850 it was sold to the local authorities of Brighton for

£53,000, and has been, as far as possible, restored to its

original splendour. The public are admitted daily at a small
charge, and the rooms are used for balls, concerts, lectures,

exhibitions, and public meetings. The entrance-hall is mag-
nificent, the banqueting-room measures 60 feet by 42, the
music-room is of similar size, the rotunda is 55 feet in

diameter, and the Chinese g.-illery is 162 feet long. The
stables connected with the Pavilion were in the ^loorish

style, with a vast glazed dome lighting a circle of .about 250
feet. They have been formed into a concert hall and rooms,
and are .also used for large public meetings. The whole of

the buildings and gi'ounds ai'e lighted by electricity, and few
provincial towns in England possess so fine and convenient

a public hall as the " Dome." The house in which Mrs
Fitzherbert (who was mairied to George IV.) resided is

adjacent. A bronze statue of George IV., by Chantry,
erected in 1828 at a cost of £3000, and a fount.ain,

called the Victoriii, are in the Steyne. The town-hall is

144 feet long and 113 feet broad, with three double porti-

coes, erected at a cost of £30,000, and contains a principal

apartment 85 feet by 35, .and vai"ions committee, magistrates',

and assistants' rooms. The market-house stands on the site

of the old town-hall, was built in 1830, and is in the form
of a T. County-court offices, in Gothic style, were built in

1SG9. The theatre has been enlarged and remodelled, and
will now accommodate an .audience of about I'JOO. There is

an illuminated clock in the centre of the town, erected in 1888
at a cost of £2000, in commemoration of Her ilajesty's

jubilee. The watei^works—which are the property of the

corporation—are suppHed from wells in the chalk, pumped
by powerful engines, sending the w.ater to reservoirs at levels

which command the highest houses. The corponation have
undertaken the supply of electricity for public and private

purposes within the borough. They have established large

works for the purpose, and in addition to lighting the King's

Road, before alluded to, are supplying about 15,000 c.p.

lamps to priv.ate consumers. A complete system of main
di'ainage has been carried out, and several public baths
established, and in various ways the corporation has shown
itself to be one of the most enterprising in the kingdom.
There is also a Turkish bath and several private baths in the

town. Little, if anything, is left undone which could add to

the improvement and attractiveness of the town. Brighton

is unusually well supplied with hotels of all kinds. The two
largest are the Grand and the Metropole, both of which are

palatial structures. There ai^e also a large number of bearding

houses, and over 1000 houses in which apartments ai'e let.

It is doubtful if there is any seaside place in England which
has such a constant stream of visitors all the yeai' round .as

Brighton. Like its congeners, it has its special seasons, but

Brighton is so frequently recommended to their patients by
the faculty of London that hotels and private lodging-houses

along the sea front are at all times well occupied. In
the height of the aristocratic season at Brighton (October to

December) there is probably no sight in the world like that

beautiful stretch of gi^eeu on which the "Church parade"
takes place. The shops in the main streets of the town are

quite equal to those in the west end of London.

St Nicholas Church (formerly the parish church), on an
eminence in the X^V of the town, dates from the tmie

of Edward III., and for hundreds of years served .as a land-

mark for fishermen. It was rebuilt, in 1854, as a memorial
of the Duke of Wellington, who habitually attended it while

a pupil of the vicar. It is in the Perpendicular English

style, with picturesque appearance, retains the original Per-

pendicular screen, and an ancient cu^cul.oi- Norman font,

and has in the chantry a richly decorated cross, about 18
feet high, dedicated to the Duke of WeUington, and insci'ibed

round the shaft with the names of Ids chief victories. The
churchyard contains monumental stones of Captain Tettersell,

the preserver of Charles II. ; Phoebe Hessell, who fought at

Fontenoy ; and Mrs Crouch, the actress. St Peter's (the

present parish church), in the centre of the town, was built ia
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1830, after a design by Sir Charles Barry, at a cost of £20,000;
is in the best Pointed style, with windows of ramified tracery

;

comprises nave, aisles, and semi-octagonal transepts, and
has a neat tower, ornamented with pinnacles. In 1893 it

was enlarged by the addition of a chancel. The living of

Brighton is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester; gross

value, £936 ; net value, £48-i. Patron, the Bishop of

Chichester. St Paul's Church, in West Street, near the

shore, is a very beautiful stnacture, built in 1847, has a

porch with medallion bas-reliefs from the life of St Paul,

and is celebrated for its extreme ritualistic sen'ices. There

are about thirty other churches, and fifty chapels for all

denominations of dissenters, some of them veiy handsome
buildings.

Brighton has a college of high repute, a clergy daughters'

school, a training school for governesses, a grammar school,

high schools, board and voluntary schools, a school of science

and art belonging to the municipality, and other schools for

manual and technical instruction, and as one result of the

healthy situation and favourable climate boys' and girls'

private schools abound.

The County Hospital, in Kemp-Town, was foundedin 1826

;

lias since acquired two wings, called the Adelaide and the

Victoria, and contains accommodation for 150 patients. The
Asylum for the Bhnd, close by the County Hospital, was built

in 1861, is in the Venetian Gothic style, and forms nearly a

square edifice, in red and black brick. On the northern por-

tion of the Pavilion estate a public lending and reference

libraiy, also a museum and fine arts gallery, have been estab-

lished by the corporation, whilst some of the rooms of the

Pavilion itself are occupied by collections of old prints of

Brighton and the locality. The corporation have also a fine

collection of British birds, situated on the Dyke Road, to

which admission is free. There are a natural history and
philosophical society, several young men's literary societies,

and numerous subscription reading rooms and libraries in the

town. There are two parks—Queen's Park and Preston

Park, in the north and east of the borough respectively.

Three cemeteries lie to the N of the town : one, opened in

1851, belongs to a private company; another, opened in 1859,

consists of two distinct portions—one, called the Brighton

Parochial Cemetery, is 20 acres in extent, and was given to

the town by the Marquis of Bristol; the other, of 23 acres,

was purchased by the parish, and adjoins it. The Brighton

and Preston Cemetery, dpened in 1886, comprises 30 acres,

and is adjacent to the Brighton Cemetery.

The climate differs, as to warmth, in the higher and lower

parts, and in the E and W ; but, on the whole, is of com-
paratively brisk dry character, excellent for children and
healthy adults, and suitable for invalids of well-toned con-

stitution. One season, for sea-bathing, runs from July to

October, and another, for repose, from October till April.

The bathing beach is partly shingly and steep, partly

smooth hard sand, and is plentifully provided with machines,

divided into groups for ladies and gentlemen. Bathing
establishments, with every variety of baths, and also a large

public swimming bath, are in the town. Pleasure-boats are

in constant waiting for hire; regattas, concerts, lectures, and
all other kinds of entertauiments are frequent ; two theatres

and two music-halls ai*e maintained iu brisk service ; harrier

hunts and fox hunts take place almost daily in the season

over the neighbouring downs ; races are run in August, and
excursions can be made, in various directions, to many objects

and places of interest.

A heiTiug fishery is carried on from October till Christmas;

a mackerel fishery, from May till July; and a general fishery,

for the supply of the local market, by about a hundred
boats every day. Manufactures and commerce are little

more than nominal. The retail trade is extensive. A weekly
market is held on Thursday, and fairs on Holy Thursday and
4 Sept. There are a head post office, several receiving and
telegraphic offices, and eight banks. There is one daily

newspaper and two evening ones, and several others published
Aveekly or oftener.

The town is govenied, under a chai'ter of 1854, by a
mayor, 13 aldermen, and 42 councillors; and, under the Act
of 1832, sends two members to Parliament. The municipal
borough includes the parishes of Brighton and East Preston.

The parliamentai7 borough consists of the parishes of Brighton,
248

BRIGHTWELL

Preston, and Hove, Hove has its own governing body (see

Hove). The area of the parliamentai-y borough of Brighton
is 3715 acres, of which 116 are water and foreshore; popu-
lation, 142,129. The area of the municipal and county
borough is 2529 acres

;
population, 115,873. A police force

is maintained, consisting of a chief constable and about 174
men.

Brighton, New, a \-inage and an ecclesiastical parish in

Wallasey civil parish, Cheshire. The ullage stands within
Liscard township, on the Irish Sea, at the mouth of the
Mersey, near the lighthouse, 5 miles N by W of Birkenhead.
It enjoys a salubrious climate, commands fine bathing grounds,
aud is much frequented as a summer watering-place. It has
a post office under Liverpool, a station at the terminus of a
branch of the Wirral railway, a convalescent home, a life-

boat station, a church, two mission churches, and Koman
Catholic and Wesleyan chapels. The ecclesiastical parish

includes the village, and was constituted in 1861, Popu-
lation, 7574. The living is a A-icarage iu the diocese of

Chester; net value, £420 with residence. Patron, the
Bishop. The church was built in 1856, and is in the
Early English style, with a tower aud spire.

Brighton-Place, a fannhouse, 4 miles E of Sutton-
Valence, in Kent, long the seat of the Wottons, the birth-

place of Sir Henry Wotton, and afterwards the residence of

Horace Mann.
Brighton Railway. See London, Brighton, and

South Coast 1vail\vay.

Brighton, Uckfield, and Tunbridge-Wells Railway.
See Uckfield and Tunbuidge-Wells.

Brightside, a township and a parish in the AV. R. York-
shire, and now included in the city of Sheffield. The town-
ship lies near the Sheffit^ld aud Kotherham railway, and
has a station on the M.R., and a post and money order

office under Sheffield, which is the telegraph office. There
are many handsome residences in the township. There are

two churches at Wicker and Brightside—viz., Holy Trinity,

built in 1848 and restored in 1876, aud All Saints', erected

at a cost of nearly £12,000 in 1869; while a third, St

Thomas', Grimesthorpe, was built in 1854. The living of

Holy Trinity is a vicarage in the gift of the Church Pat-

ronage Society and of All Saints', and a perpetual curacv

in the gift of trustees; gross value, £340 and £350 each
with residence. The living of St Thomas is a vicarage in

the gift of the Crown and Bishop alternately
;

gi'oss value,

£300 with residence. Population of Holy Trinity, 13,146
;

of All Saints', 11,317 ; of St Thomas', 13,575. Aj*ea of

to^\aiship, 2821 acres, of which 44 are water; population,

67,083. The Duke of Norfolk is lord of the manor. Besides

several coal-pits in the district, there are cutlery-works,

rolling-mills, and gasworks, a cemetery of about 27 acres,

a Church Institute, two Methodist chapels, a library, and
charities.

Brightwalton orBrightwaltham (pronounced Brigolteii),

a parish in Berks, near the Do\\'US, 6 miles S of Wantage, 8^
N of Newbury, and 7 NW from Heimitage station on the

G.W.R. It has a post and money order office under Wan-
tage; telegraph office, Chaddleworth, Acreage, 2054; popu-

lation, 365. The hvingis a rectoiy in the diocese of Oxford;

net yearly value, £380 with residence. The church, a building

in the Early English style, was erected in 1862-63, and
there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Brightwell, a parish in Berks, near the river Thames
and the G.W.R., 2^ miles ^VNW of Walhngford station, and

3^ E of Didcot. It has a post and money order office mrder

Walhngford, which is the telegraph office. Acreage, 2064 ;

population of the civil parish, 613 ; of the ecclesiastical, with

Sotwell, 735. The manor belongs to the Ecclesiastical Com-
missioners. An ancient castle stood here, and was destroyetJ

about the time of Henry II. The living is a rectory, with

the chapelry of Sotwell annexed, in the diocese of Oxford

;

net yearly value, £500 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Oxford. The church is a building of stone in the Early

Enghsh style. Slade-End and Hackney are hamlets in this

pai'ish. Godwin, author of a work on Jewish and Roman
antiquities, Bernard the astronomer, and Wintle the Oriental-

ist were rectors.

Brightwell, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 2 miles NE
from On^'elI station on the G.E.R., aud 5^ E by S of Ipswich,
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which is the post, monej order, and telegraph oflSce. Acre-

age of parish, 1114 ;
population, 60. The living is a vicarage,

united with the perpetual curacj of Kesgrave and Foxhall,

in the diocese of Norwich ; value, £93. The church is a

buildmg of rubble in the Early English style, containing some

monuments to the families of Easington and Baniardiston.

Brightwell or Britwell, a parish in Oxfordshire, 3

miles W from Watlington station on the G.W.R., and

6 NE from WalHugford, It includes the liberty of Cad-
well, and its post town is Tetsworth ; money order and
telegraph office, Watlington. Acreage, 1612

;
population,

242. Brightwell Park is a chief residence. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; value, £318 with resi-

dence. The church is fine Decorated English, with rich

Perpendicular tower, and contams tombs of the Carletons.

Brightwell Upper Town is a small village in this parish.

Bishops Westfaling and Paul were rectors.

Brigmerston, a hamlet in Milston parish, Wilts, on the

river Avon, 3^ miles N of Amesbmy.
Brignall, a village, a township, and a parish in the N. R.

Yorkshire, near the Tees, on an affluent of that river, SA-

miles SE of Barnard Castle railway station. The township

contains part of Greta-Bridge, with a post office under Bar-

nard Castle, which is the telegraph office ; money order office,

Baruingham. Acreage, 2120; population, 131. Most of

the property belongs to the lord of the manor. Slate quarries

are worked. A Roman camp is adjacent to Greta-Bridge,

and a Roman road went thence to the Tees at Pierse-Bridge

and to the Swale at Catterick-Bridge. The scenery is pic-

turesque, and rmis up to Scargill cliff and woods, sung by
Scott in his " Rokeby." Brignall banks themselves are thus

sung in that poem :

—

"O Brignall banks are wild and fair,

And Greta woods are green

;

And you may gather garlands there
Would grace a summer queen."

The liring is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon , net value,

£266 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Ripon. The
church, built in 1833-34, is in the Early English style.

Some rmns of the ancient chm'ch still remain. The old font

has been preserved, and is still in use; also the pre-Refor-

mation bell with the inscription

—

Ave Maria Gratia Plena.

Brigsley, a small village and a parish in Lincolnshire, 2

miles WSW of Holton-le-Clay station on the G.N.R., and 5

S by W of Great Giimsby. Post town, Waltham, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage of parish,

1'25
; population, 108. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Lincoln
;
gross value, £49. Patron, the Bishop of Ripon.

The church is a building of chalkstone in the Norman and
Early English styles. There are also small Primitive Method-
ist and Wesleyan chapels.

Brigsteer, a hamlet in the townships of Levens and Hel-

siugton, Westmoreland, 3^ miles SSW of Kendal.

Brigstock, a large village and a parish in Northampton-
shire. The village stands on an affluent of the river Nen,
near Rockingham Forest, 5^ miles NNW of Thrapston, 7|
NE of Kettering, and 5 ENE from Geddingtou station on
the M.R. It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office

under Thrapston, and fairs on 25 April, 4 September, and
22 November, and was once a market-town. The parish

comprises G147 acres
;
population of the civil parish, 1035

;

of the ecclesiastical, with Stanion, 1347. Farming Woods,
the seat of Lord Lyveden, and Brigstock Manor House, the

property of the Duke of Buccleuch, are chief residences.

The living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Stanion, in the diocese of Peterborough
;
joint gross yearly

value, £260 with residence. Patron, Lord Baniard. The
church is pai-tially Norman and good, and there ai-e Con-
gregational and Primitive Methodist chapels. Here are the

kennels of the Woodland Pytchley foxhounds.

Brill, an ancient town and a parish in Bucks. The town
stands on an eminence within the ancient Bernwood Forest,

3^ miles S of the Julian Way, and 7J NNW of Thame station

on the G.W.R. There is a tramway which starts 1 mile N
of Brill, and passes through Waddeson Road siding, Wescott,

Wotton station. Church siding, and Wood siding to the

Quaintou Road station of the Metropolitan railway. It

has a post, money order, and telegi-aph office under Thame,
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and was formerly a market-town. Its ancient name was
Brechullar Brinhely. Edward the Confessor had a hunting-
lodge adjacent to it; Henry II. kept his court here in

1160, attended by Becket, and again in 1162; King John
spent his Christmas here in 1205 ; Henry III. held his court

here in 1224; and Sir G. Gerard, under Charles I., placed

a force here in 1642 and repelled au attack by Hampden.
The parish comprises 2939 acres; population of the civil

palish, 1251 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Boarstall, 1439.
The manor was given by the Conqueror to Nigel the hunts-
man, and has descended from him to the Aubrey family.

A chalybeate spring in the immediate neighbourhood of the

village has some medicinal repute. A grove near the town
is probably a relic of Bernwood J'orest. Muswell or Muzzle
Hill is crowned by an ancient camp and a hermitage, and
commands a fine view. The living is a vicarage, united with

the vicarage of Boarstall, in the diocese of Oxford
;
joint net

yearly value, £187 with residence. The church is partly

Norman and good. It was restored in 1890, all the ancient

features of the building being retained. There are a Wes-
leyan and two Congi'egational chapels. Little London is a
hamlet half a mile S.

BriUey St Mary, a parish in Herefordshire, on the

verge of the county, near the river Wye, 1^ mile NW of

Whitney-on-the-Wye station on the Swansea, Brecon, and
Hereford branch of the 5LR., and 5^ miles NNE of Hay. Post

town, Whitney (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph office,

Hay. Acreage, 3926; population, 390. The living is a

vicarage, united with the rectory of Michaelchurch in Radnor-
shire, in the diocese of Hereford

;
gross value, £268 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The church

is ancient, and was restored in 1862. There is a Calvinistic

Methodist chapel and a meeting-house.

Brimfield, a village and a parish in Herefordshire. The
village stands near the river Teme, 1 mile SE of Wooferton
station on the Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (G.W. and
L. & N.W.) railway, and 5 miles S by E of Ludlow, and has

a head post office (R.S.O.) The parish includes also the

hamlet of Wyson. Acreage, 1853
;
population, 560. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford; net value,

£201 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Hereford.

The church is a plain, good edifice, with a modern tower, and

has been restored in 1834 and 1884. There is a Primi-

tive Methodist chapel at Wyson.
Brimliain, a hamlet in the township and parish of Hart-

with-with-Winsley, in the W. R. Yorkshire, 3J miles WNW
of Ripley. Brimham Crags are groups of shattered rocks on

a moor neai'ly 1000 feet above the sea level, of romantic char-

acter and antiquarian interest, and of most fantastic shapes,

to which various names have been given, such as the Oyster,

the Baboon's Head, the Pulpit, &.c. One called the Cannon
Rock is perforated, another called the Idol is supposed to

have been Drnidical, and several others are great rocking-

stones, two of them computed to weigh 100 tons each, are

movable by hand.

Brimington, a parish in Derbyshire, near the Chester-

field Canal and the M.R. and M.S. & L.R., 2 miles NE of

Chesterfield, The village is modern and well built, and has

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Chesterfield.

Acreage, 1343
;
population, 4034. Brimington Hall is a

chief residence. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Southwell ; net value, £200 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Chesterfield. The church was built in 1808, and

rebuilt, all except the tower, in 1847. There are also a

mission church, three Methodist chapels, and some charities.

Brillipsfi.eld, a parish in Gloucestershire. The old Ermine

Street was on the N side of it. It is 5j miles from Leck-

hampton station on the Oxford, Banbur}', and Cheltenham

line, and 6^ miles from Cheltenham. It includes the hamlet

of Caudle-Green and part of that of Birdlip. It has a

post office under Gloucester ; money order office. Pains-

wick ; and telegraph office at Birdlip. Acreage, 2729

;

population of the civil parish, 337 ; of the ecclesiastical with

Granham, C54. A castle belonging to the GitTai'ds stood

here, and was destroyed by Edward IT. A Benedictine

priory also was here, a cell to Foutenay Abbey in Nonnandy.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and

Bristol ; net value, £230 with residence. The church is

partly Norman, and is supposed to have •riginally formed
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portion of the priory ; it has an embattled Perpendicular

tower, which divides the chancel from the nave, and contains

a piscina and some brasses. It was restored in 1883, when
some fragmentary Maltese crosses were found below the soil

adjoining it.

Brimpton, a parish in Berks, on the rivers Emborne and

Kennct. 2 miles SW from Jlidgham station on the G.W.E.,

and G ESE of Newbury. It has .1 post office under Reading

;

money order and telegraph office, Woolhampton. Acreage,

1883 with 22 of water; population, 3'J2. A preceptory of

the Knights Templars, afterwards of the Knights Hospital-

lers, was here. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Oxford; gross yearly value, £248 with residence. The

church, erected in 1869, is a building of flint and stone in

the Decorated style. There is a Baptist chapel and seven

endowed almshouses.

Brimpton, a parish in Somersetshire, 2 miles W by S of

Yeovil station on the G.W. and L. & S.W.K. It includes

the hamlets of Alvington .and Houndstoue. Post town, Yeovil.

Acrrage, 576; population of the ciril parish, 126; of the

ecclesiastical, 102. The manor once belonged to the Syden-

hams, and Brimpton House now belongs to the Hon. Sir

Spencer Ponsonby-Fane, K.C.B. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Bath and Wells; net value, £137. The
church is fair, and contains sever.al good monuments.

Brimscombe, a tithing, a village, and an ecclesiastical

parish in Minchinh.ampton and Rodborongh parishes, Glou-

cestershire. The village stands adjacent to the Thames and

Severn Can.al, 2^ miles ESE of Stroud, and has a station on

the G.W.R. It h.as a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Stroud. The ecclesiastical parish includes the hamlets

of Burleigh, Hyde, Cowcombe, and Wall's Quany, and was

constituted in 1840. Population, 1585. The living is a

vic.ai'age in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net value,

£231 with residence. The church was built in 1839 and

restored in 1881. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Brimslade. See S-iveknake, South.
Brimstage, a township in Bromborough parish, Cheshire,

1 mile W of Spit.al station on the Bukenhead and Chester

section of the L. & N.W. & G.W. Joint railway, and 5 miles

SW of Bu-kenhead. Acreage, 1019
;
population, 199.

Brimstone, a village in H.ays-Castle parish, in Pembroke-
shire, G^ miles N of Haverfordwest.

Brincamisir, a township in Berriew parish, Montgomery-
shire. 3^ miles NW of Montgomery.

Brincliffe-Edge, a hamlet in Ecclesall-Bierlow township,

in the W. R. Yorkshire, 4^ miles SW of Sheffield.

Brind, a hamlet in WresscU parish, in the E. R. York-

shu-e, on the Selby and Hull railway, 2 miles NNW of

Howden.
Brindle, a village, a township, and a parish in Lanca-

shire. The parish lies on the Leeds and Liverpool Canal,

and on the L. & Y.R., 2 miles from Hoghton station, 5 N by

E of Chorley, under which it has a post office ; money order

office, Whittle-le-Woods ; telegr.aph office, Gregson Lane.

Area of ci^'il palish, 3104 acres; population, 1106. The
m.anor belongs to Lord Chesham. There are chemical works,

a cotton factory, and qujuiies. The lining is a discharged

rectory in the diocese of IManchester; net value, £390 with

residence. Patron, the Duke of Devonshire. The church

is good, and there are a Roman Catholic chapel and some

charities.

Brindley, a township in Acton parish, Cheshire, 4i
miles WNW of Nantwich. Acreage, 1250

;
population,

154. There is a Wesleyan chtipel.

Brindley-Ford, a village in Wedgwood township, New-
chapel ecclesiastical parish, Staffordshire, adjacent to Black

Bull station on the North Staffordshire railway, and 2

miles S of Bradley Green. It has a post office under Con-
gleton ; telegraph office. Black Bull railway station. Exten-

sive iron and coal works are in the neighbourhood. There

is a church mission room and Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels.

Brindleys, formerly an extra-parochial tract, but now in-

cluded in the p.irish of Wressel, in the E. R. Yorkshire, 2

miles N of Howden st.ation on the N.E.R.

Bringhurst, a village and a township which, with the

townships of Dnayton and Great Easton, forms a parish in

Leicestershire. The township lies on the river Welland, § of
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a mile SW of Great Easton and 2 miles W of Rockingham
station on the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Uppingham.
Acreage of the township, 519

;
population, 33 ; of the

ecclesiastical parish with Great Easton and Drayton, 648.

The Uving is a vicarage united with the perpetual curacy of

Great Easton and Drayton in the diocese of Peterborough
;

joint gi'oss yearly value, £338 with residence. Patron, the

De.an and Chapter of Peterborough. The church is a tine

building of stone in the Early English and Norman styles of

architecture.

Bringsty Common, a place in \Vliitbonrne parish, Here-
fordshire, 3 miles E by N of Bromyard. It has a post office

under Worcester ; telegraph office, Suckley railway station.

There is a mission church and also a Primitive Jlethodist

chapel.

Brington, a village and a parish in Huntingdonshire, on
an affluent of the river Ouse, 3 miles NNW from Kimbolton
station on the M.R., and 5i N by W of Kimbolton. There is

a post office under Huntingdon ; money order office, Catworth

;

telegraph office, Kimbolton station. Acreage of the civil

parish, 1055
;

population, 137 ; of the ecclesiastical, with
Bythom and Old Weston, 567. The living is a rectory,

united with the chapelries of Bythorn and Old Weston, in

the diocese of Ely
;

joint net yearly value, £141 with resi-

dence. Patron, Clare College, Cambridge. The church is a
building of stone in the Early English and Decorated styles

with spire.

Brington, a parish comprising two villages in North-
amptonshire. The villages are Great Brington and Little

Brington, and the former stands 1 mile N of the latter, in

the western -s-icinity of Althorp P.ark, 1 SW from Althorpe

Park station on the L. & N.W.R. , and 7 miles NW of

Northampton, under which it has a post, money order, and
telegi'aph office. The parish includes also the hamlet of

Nobottle. Acreage, 3068
;
population of the civil parish,

742 ; of the ecclesiastical, 852. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Peterborough; net yearly value, £413 with

residence. Patron, Earl Spencer. The church contains some
fine monuments of the Spencer family, has a fine set of open

benches of the loth century, and is an ancient building of

stone in the Decorated and Perpendicular styles. In the

chancel there is a stone with an inscription and family arras

(stars and stripes) to Laurence Washington, great-gi"eat-

great-grandfather of George Washington. There is a chapel

of ease and a Baptist chapel at Little Brington.

Briningham, a parish in Norfolk, 1 mile from Melton

Constable station on the Eastern and Midland railway, and
4 miles SW of Holt. It has a post and money order office

(S.O.) under East Dereham ; telegraph office. Melton Con-
stable. Acreage, 1224; population, 237. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £86 with

residence. The church is a small building in the Decorated

and Peq)endicular styles.

Brinkbum, an ecclesiastical parish with Long Framling-

ton comprising the townships of High, Low, and South Brink-

burn, in Northumberland, on the river Coquet, 4^ miles SE
by E of Rothbury, with a station on the North British railway.

Post town, Morpeth. Acreage of Brinkburn High Ward,

2863; population, 120; acreage of Low Ward, 592; popu-

lation, 40 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 610. The manor
belonged to a priory of Black Augustinian Canons, founded

here in the time of Henry I. by W. Bertram, Lord of Jlit-

ford ; was given at the dissolution of monasteries to the

Earl of Wai-wick, and passed to the Cadogans, who are

the present lords of the manor. Ruins of the priory, in-

cluding most of the walls of the church, still exist. Brink-

burn Priory, built on the site of the old priory, is occupied

by the Fenwicks. The church, restored in 1858, is Transi-

tional-Norman, cruciform, with low square tower, narrow,

plain, and gloomy, an interesting relic of the age in which it

was built. A branch of Watling Street intersected the

chapelry, and traces of a Roman station and bridge can stiU

be seen. Some persons suppose Brinkbrnn to be the Brunan-

burgh, where Athelstane in 938 defeated the Danes.

Brinkhill, a small village and a parish in Lincolnshire,

5i miles WSW of Alford station on the G.N.R., and 7 NNW
of Spilsby, under which there is a post office ; money order

office, Hagworthingham ; telegi'aph office, Tetford. Acreage

of parish, 873
;
population, 148. The living is a rectory.
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consolidated with that of Harrington, in the diocese of Lin-

coln; joint gi'oss yearly value, £l'2it. The church, rebuilt

in 1857, is a structure of old gi'een sandstone and brick

in the Early English style. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Brinkley, a village and a parish in Cambridgeshire, 3

miles S from Dullingham station on the G.E.R., and 5i S by

W of Xevrmarkct. The parish has a post office under Sis

Mile Bottom (S.O.); money order and telegraph office, West
Wratting. Acreage, 1303 ;

population, 278. Brinkley Hall

is a chief residence. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Ely; net vtilue, £194: with residence. Patron, St John's

College, Cambridge. The church is .an ancient building in

the Perpendicular and Decorated styles. It was restored in

1874.

Brinklow, a village and a parish in Warwickshire. The
village stands on the Fosse Way and the Oxford Canal, C

miles NW of Kugby. It has a station on the L. & N.W.R.,

a post, money order, and telegraph office under Coventry, and
was formerly a market-town. The parish comprises 1487
acres

;
population, 714. The manor belonged anciently to

the Mowbr,ays, and had a castle of theirs, which h.as dis-

appeared. Traces of a tumulus, called Brinklow Tump, and
of a Roman camp exist, and some Roman relics have been

found. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester

;

gross value, £150 with residence. Patron, the Lord Ch.an-

cellor. The church is variously Early English and Perpen-

dicular, was restored in 1862, and has an embattled tower.

There is a Congregational chapel. The family of Rous the

antiquary were residents.

Brinkworth, a village and a parish in Wilts. The village

stands on a head-stream of the Avon, 3:^ miles "WNW of

Wootton-Basset station on the G.W.E., "and 6i ESE of

Malmesbury, and it has a post and money order office under

Chippenham ; telegi'aph office, Wootton-Bassett. The parish

includes also tlie tithing of Grittenham. Acreage, G059

;

population of the civil parish, 1185; of the ecclesiastical,

1176. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol
;
gross value, £900. Patron, Pembroke College,

Oxford. The chm-ch is Early English, with a square tower,

and there are Congregational and Jlethodist chapels, and a

chapel of ease, bnllt in 1889. Crisp the Antinomian was
rector.

Briiminghani. See BnrxiNGHAM.
Brinnington, a township in Stockport parish, Cheshii-e,

adjacent to the Peak Forest Canal, 2 miles NE of Stockport.

Acreage, 778
;
population, 7061. A portion of the townshp

is within the municipal borough of Stockport.

Brinscall, a village in Withnell township and ecclesia.s-

tical parish, Lancashire. It is about 5 miles from Black-

burn, and 206 from London, and has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Chorley and a station on the L. &
X.W.R. There are Wesleyan and Free Methodist chapels.

Brinscombe, a hamlet in Weare parish. Somersetshire.

Brinsley, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in Greaslcy

parish, Xotts. The pruish lies on the river Erewash, the

Nottingham Canal, and the JI.E. and G.N.E., the station

being Eastwood (2 miles). Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, 1423, chiefly employed in the collieries. The liring

is a vicarage in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £167
with residence. Patron, the Duke of Newcastle. The church

was restored in 1877. There are two Wesleyan chapels.

Brinsop, a parish in Herefordshire, li mile N of Creden-
hill station on the Swansea, Brecon, and Hereford branch of

the M.R., and 5^ miles NW of Hereford, which is the post

town. Acreage, 1413; population, 120. Portions only of

the 14th centru-y manor house are incorporated into a more
modem dwelling. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Hereford ; net value, £240 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Hereford. The church is Early English, and
contains monuments to the Dansey family, and a memorial
window to the poet Wordsworth. It was restored in 1867.

Brinsworth, a township in Rotherham parish, in the

W. R. Yorkshire, adjacent to the North Jlidland railway, 2

miles SW by S of Eotherham, the nearest railway station.

Acreage, 1473
; population, 1678, chiefly engaged in agii-

culture.

Brinton, a village and a parish in Norfolk, 2 miles from
Melton Constable station on the E.astem and Jlidland rail-

way, and 3J SW by W of Holt. There is a post office under
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Briningham (S.O.); money order .and telegraph office, Mel-
ton Constable. Acreage of p.arish, 629

;
population, 116.

The liring is a rectory, annexed to the rectory of Thorn.age,

in the diocese of Norwich. The church is a very ancient

building, has traces of Saxon work, and has been well

restored. There is a Free Jlethodist chapel.

Briscoe, a hamlet in Lythe township and parish, in the

N. K. Yorkshii-e, 4|- miles NW of Whitby railw.ay station.

Briscoe, a hamlet in Cotherstone township, Eomald Kirk
p,arish, in the N. E. Yorkshke, 3i miles N\V of Bamard-
Castle.

Briscoe or Eirksceugh, a township in St Cuthbert's (i-ural)

parish, Carlisle, Cumberland, on the river Petterill, and the

Carlisle and Lancaster railway, 3 miles SSE of Carlisle, the

nearest railway station. It has a post office under Carlisle,

which is the money order and telegi-aph office. The first

wheat ever grown in Cumberland was grown in Briscoe in

1700.

Briset-Magna. See Bricett, Great.
Briskedwin, a hamlet in Llandilo-Talybont parish, Gla-

morgan, on the river Llwchwr, 4i miles NNE of Castell-

Llwchwr.

Brisken, a hamlet in Llanfynydd parish, CarmarthensHre,

5j miles NW of Llandilofawr.

Brisley, a p.arish in Norfolk, 3 miles W from Elmham
station on the G.E.R. , and 6 NW of East Dereham, under

which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph office,

Elmham. Acreage, 1209, including about 180 of common

;

population of the civil parish, 317; of the ecclesiastical,

with Gately, 472. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Norwich, with the vicarage of Gately annexed ; net yearly

value, £380 with residence. P,atron, Christ's College, Cam-
bridge. The chm'ch is a building of flint and stone in the

Gothic style.

Brislington, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Avon
and the G.W.R., 2^ miles SE of Bristol, and 119 from Lon-
don. It has a post office, with money order and telegraph

departments, under Bristol. Acreage, 2309
;

population,

1771. Brislington Hall is the chief residence. BrisHngton

House is a large and well-arr.anged lunatic asylum. Bris-

lington Tunnel, on the line of the railway, goes through the

shale and s.andstone of the coal-measures, is 3148 feet long,

and has fow ventilating shafts. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Bath and Wells
;

gi-oss value, £270. Patron,

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The church is good, and
was restored and enlarged in 1874. There ai'e also Wesleyan
and Congregational chapels.

Brisons or Sisters, The, two dangerous rocks, between

60 and 70 feet in height, about a mile off Cape Cornwall,

4J miles N of Land's End, in Comwall. The brig Xew
Commercial was wrecked here in a remarkable way in

January, 1851.

Brissingham. See Bressingham.
Bristol, a seaport and city in the west of England, 118J

miles by G.W.R. from London, lying p.artlyin Gloucestershire

and partly in Somersetshire. 'The Largest area lies to the N
of the Avon and is in Gloucestershire, of which county Bristol

contains .about a third of the population. The Somerset-

shire portion, which includes the ward of RedclitTe and suburb

of Bedminster, lies to the S of the Avon and contains a popu-

lation equal to that of the largest city in that county. Bris-

tol, which is situated in N. latitude 61° 27' 6-3", .and W.
longitude 2° 35' 28*6", was, however, constituted a county

in itself by a charter of Edward III. The sees of Gloucester

and Bristol are still united, although an act of parliament h.as

been passed which, when the provisions are carried out, will

restore to Bristol the undivided see, of which she was deprived

in 1836. In the administration of justice Bristol is con-

sidered as part of the western circuit, and therefore connected

with Somersetshire. The municipality is divided into ten

wards, which, with certain out-p.arishes, including CUfton

and Westbury on Trym. comprise an ai'ea of 4879 acres with

a circuit of about 15 miles. The population at the census of

1891 was 221,665. The burgesses return forty-eight mem-
bers to the town council, who ai'e elected for three years.

Besides these members are sixteen aldermen, whose first elec-

tion was made under the provisions of the Municipal Reform

Act of 1835. This election secured the m.ajority of the Con-

servatives in the council, which they have ever since retamed.
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Eight retire every three years, and the election to fill their

places is made by the town council, but the eight retiring are

disqualified from voting for their successors. The city is

divided into thirteen wards, three of which—Bristol, Clifton,

and Redcliflfe—return six members, the remaining wards

three each. The meetings of the council are presided over

by the mayor, who is also a member of the different com-

niittees into which the council is subdivided, such as Docks

Committee, Street Improvement Committee, Free Libraries

Committee, &c.,all of which, with the exception of the Sani-

tary Committee, sit with closed doors. The town council

on 9th November of each year elect one of the citizens to be

mayor for the ensuing year. The mayor is the chief magis-

trate of the city, and by virtue of the office is styled the Eight

Worshipful the I\Iayor of Bristol, and takes precedence of

everyone in the city. He has the right to take his seat on

the bench of any of the common law courts. As an instance

of the exercise of this right it is on record that in the year

1762, when John Noble was mayor, he being in London pro-

ceeded to the Court of Admiralty at Westminster and claimed

the right. The judge then sitting was much surprised, and

was about to take harsh measures, until he was informed by

one of the counsel that the Mayor of Bristol was by charter

thus privileged. The mayor having been accommodated with

a seat by the side of the judge, rose, bowed, and said that

having asserted the claims of his city he would at once with-

draw. The allowance to the mayor is £1000 a yeai" and a

caiTiage.

Local historians are fond of attributing a Koman founda-

tion to Bristol, though it is hard to see upon what evidence.

Cleanliness and godliness were always marks of Koman colon-

isation, but no aJtar or bath, nor indeed constructive rehc of

any kind, has been discovered from which to infer that these

people ever settled at this point of the Avon, though it is

certain they occupied the rocky heights of that river at Clif-

ton in the neighbourhood. In the days of the Ccesars the

valley of the future city was an unclaimed morass constantly

subject to tidal overflows—a physical condition of which evi-

dence yet survives in the names of several districts of the

municipality, such as Canons' JLarsh, JIarsh Street. Frog-

mere Street, St. Philip's Marsh, &c. At what early time

the ground was recovered from the heron and wild fowl and
became habitable to man is uncertain ; but the process must
have been gradual and of many centuries' duration. So far

as history gives witness the gi'owth of the town was as silent

as the uplifting of a coral reef, the earliest testimony to its

existence as a centre of human life and industry being two

silver pennies of withered the Unready (978-1016). In-

scribed coinage itself is history, and even written history—it

tells that a place was one of traffic and of sufficient import-

ance to be a centre of mintage of the king's money. In the

present instance it not only testifies that the Danes landed

but settled at Bristol. Of the pennies of Canute, Mr. Ruding

says he has found four or five varieties. At any rate the

local coinage confirms the statement of Polydore Vergil (1525),

that the Danes had here a habitation; and the mention of

Bristol in the pages of history is certainly anterior to the

date (1061) assigned by Mr Freeman and Mr Huut. Bris-

tol until the time of Charles I. was a section of the royal

manor of Barton (still called Barton Regis), the manor house,

so to speak, being the strong fortress that overlorded

the town. The king's head representative was in fact the

constable of the castle, to whom the town in the person of

the mayor was tributary. The right to choose a mayor
annually was given by Henry III., who held his first parlia-

ment in his castle of Bristol after his coronation at Glou-

cester. As the Tower of London was without the city, so

was the Castle of Bristol without the town; and as the

mayor of London took office before the Constable of the

Tower, so the mayor of Bristol took oath of the constable of

the royal castle. For the confirmation of their charters and
privileges, includmg the right of choosing their mayor as in

London, presenting him in due form to the constable of tlie

castle, the burgesses in 1300 paid Edward I., who held the

Castle, Barton, and Town, a tribute of 300 marks. At this

time the manor of Bedminster, including Redcliffe on the S

side of the Avon, was held by the Lords of Berkeley, who
attempted by violent measures to compel the burgesses to

be answerable to their authority in the courts held within
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their jurisdiction. Between the tyranny of the Berkeleys on

one side the Avon and the domination of the castle on

the other, the townsmen must have had need of patience.

In 1331 (5, Edw. III.) parliament interfered on behalf of

the oppressed burgesses; the claims of the Berkeleys were

annulled, and the lordship of the castle was suspended; the

custody of Town and Barton being delivered to the mayor
and burgesses, to be held by them for five years at the annual

rent of £240. Thenceforward the mayor no longer took

oath within the Castle barbican, but of his predecessor in

the Guildhall before the townsmen. From the marriage of

Edward I. to Eleanor of Castile, Bristol was called the

Queen's Chamber, from the fact that it was generally assigned

to her as part of her man'iage portion. She received the rent

of the town, and usually leased it to the mayor and corpor-

ation. This lasted to the days of Henrietta Maria, by whose
request the castle was detached from the county of Glou-

cester and incorporated with Bristol. The rental of the city

was finally redeemed in the reign of Charles L, and the

burgesses became their ovm landlords.

With regard to the ancient munition of the place, from Bran-
don Mount, between the City and Clifton, might have been

counted as many as twenty-three strong towers upon the lines

of embattled walls that encompassed the town, besides nine

over the principal gates. The inner of these double walls

sustained in its circuit five parish churches, of which St

John's, with its spired tower springing from the crest of a
14th century portcullised gateway, yet exists. To the east

were the embrasured walls and seven towers of the feudal

castle, of which the donjon keep was like in form and
dimensions to the White Tower of London. Within the area.

thus guarded there were no less than eighty towers, besides

crosses, conduits, holy wells, and the numberless gabled

houses and Gothic public buildings, every one of which was
more or less a study for a painter when no one painted.

No single episode of the Civil War affected Charles more
deeply, or proved more decisive of the entire stniggle, than

the disloyalty of Bristol and its final deliverance into the

hands of the Parliament. " We had not killed of ours in the

storm," says Cromwell, "nor in all this siege 200 men. He-

who runs may read that this is none other than the work of

God. He must be a ver}' Atheist that doth not acknow-
ledge it." Soon after this the " Committee for Establishing

a Godly and Pious Ministry " was appointed, and Cromwell
rejoices that "Presbyterians, Independents, all have here-

(Bristol) the same spirit of faith and prayer, the same
presence and answer : that they agree here, have no names
of difference; pity it should be otherwise anywhere."

Since the Great Rebellion local events have been of

domestic rather than of national importance, and the energies

of the citizen have been characterised by devotion to the ex-

pansion of trade and commerce, and to works of philanthropv,

with buildings related to which latter the city abounds; the

general quiet being occasionally disturbed by outbreaks on the

part of the ruder population of the place, the Reform Bill

Riots of 1831 being the most considerable of these events.

Owing to the temporaiy paralysis, or possibly humane for-

bearance, of both civil and military dictatorship, an im-

portant section of the city was laid in ashes by the dregs of

the populace. Forty-one spacious houses in Queen Square

were consumed, besides four toll houses, the Bridewell,

Gaol, and Lawford's Gate Prison, and the Bishop's Palace.

The delirium of destruction lasted three days, when at

last peremptory request was sent from the mayor to the

chief officer of the 14th Dragoons, who had been summoned
to the scene, to quell the riots at any cost. The troops

thereupon spread across Queen Square, the focus of the

devilish revels, and picked out the rioters, ten or twelve of

whom they immediately cut down. Four of the leaders were

subsequently hanged. The compensation for damages fixed

by the Parliamentary Commissioners and assessed on the

citizeiis amounted to £68,208.

The position of Bristol at the head of the great estuary,

the Bristol Channel, which runs up towards the middle of the

southern half of England, obviously gives the port enormous

advantages, as the centre from which sea-borne commodities

can be most cheaply disti'ibuted to the Midland districts,

and from which shipments from these districts can be most

cheaply made. The direct course which can be taken by
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vessels to and from the American continents, and to and

from the south, are advantages to shipowners, to which is

added, now that the Severn Tunnel is complete, a supply of

coal almost as cheap as at the coal shipping port of South

AVales. An old traveller describes the place as appearing to

float upon the waters, and to Pope the poet's eye the streets

eeemed fall of ships, for the Avon and Frome with their tall

aiasts and busy wharves meet us in almost every direction.

The Society of Meichant Venturers is the one pre-

Kefomiation guild which escaped suppression. In respect

to their being a kind of feudal corporation and monopolists of

foreign trade, their once enormous authority has collapsed,

hut they have renewed their youth in even nobler form than

mercantile sway over the great world of waters by becoming

the almoners of civic charities and promoters of educational

institutions, in which dispensations they have proved most

faithful stewards. While the powerful fellowships of

weavers, of fullers, of tailors, of bakers, of brewers, and

numerous others have passed away, and their halls, where

each guildmaster, fenced by the ordinances and penal laws of

his fraternity, was as safe from interlopers as the neigh-

bouring Baron of Berkeley, secured by fosse and portcullis in

his castlehold, have been forsaken and desolated, the 5Ier-

chant Venturers of Bristol retain their proud superiority of

being a select community of leading citizens entitled to

respect both by their inherited territorial wealth and char-

tered privileges, as well as by their interesting history and

traditions and public benefactions. In the settlement of

Virginia and other American colonies the merchants of

Bristol took a prominent part. On 20 Feb., 1632, a patent

%vas granted to Robert Aldworth and Giles Elbridge, mer-

chants, of 12,000 acres of land in New England, and an ad-

ditional 100 acres for every person transported by them to

New England within 7 years. The 12,000 acres were to be

laid out near the river Primaquid, and were allotted in con-

sideration of their having undertaken to build a town there,

and settle inhabitants for the good of that country. A kind

of freightage for which the merchant ships of Bristol were

sometimes found useful consisted of Irish prisoners. In

the Cromwellian settlement of Ireland a short and easy

method was found of unpeopling the country to make room
for English settlers by transporting cargoes of natives to the

West Indian plantations. On October 7, 1G52, the Council

of
J
State wrote to the Commissioners in Ireland to deliver to

Thomas Speed, merchant of Bristol, from such places as they

may think fit 200 Irish rebels, to be carried to Barbadoes for

the plantation; the effect of such banishment beiug that the

lands of the exiles became the property of English settlers

without the embarrassment of the neighbourhood of the Irish

owners. On July 19 a-nd 20, 166G, 23 Virginia ships came
into Bristol port laden with tobacco, sugar, indigo, and cotton,

and a good quantity of beaver. They had been guarded

by six men of war ; the customs due from them amounted to

upwards of £30,000. They were in time for St James's Fair,

one of the greatest fau's in England. At the period of their

arrival a splendid fifty gun frigate, the Saint Patrick, having

been lately built and launched at Bristol, and waiting for a

crew, 500 able seamen were pressed from the Virginia ships.

Almost the only part of their charter now observed with

strictness by the merchants, is the care they take to elect none

into their society who are not already freemen of the city. No
salary is paid to the master of the merchants, nor does any
pecuniary benefit accrue to members. The Merchants' Hall,

so renowned for its banqueting, is a quiet-looking Italian

structure, rebuilt in 1701.

In order to remedy the evils occasioned by the rapid ebb of

the Avon, and to give the city a better dock than a mere
tidal river, a Dock Company was formed in 1803. Tbis

company dug a new channel for the Avon, called the New
Cut, from Rownham to Totterdown, turned the Frome and
the Avon into a floating harbour of 2^ miles in extent by a

system of dams and locks, and, in addition, made Bathm'st

Basin.

Steam communication was begun between Bristol and Ire-

land as early as 1826 ; and to Bristol b'dongs the honour of

being the first port in the kingdom that estahhshed a regular

steam communication with the United States, the first

voyage having been performed by the Great Western steam-
ship. This vessel was built at Bristol at a cost of X60,000,
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and the Great Britain and the ill-fated Demerara were
also cradled here, the former costing £120,000. Leaving
Bristol on April S, 1838, the Great Western reached New
York in 15 days and 10 hours, and the small amount of coal

she consumed afforded the first proof that steam traffic with

America could be conducted with advantage. The import-

ance of the event was so fully appreciated in New York that

100,000 people gathered to see her start on her homeward
voyage, which occupied 14 days. Great rejoicings were made
in Bristol on her return, and the G.W.S. Company hoped to

secure the permanence of the American trade. Unfortu-

nately they made the fatal mistake of attempting to begin a

line of navigation with a single ship. The Cunard Com-
pany entered into competition, building four large ships for

the Transatlantic service, and, obtaining the mail contract,

made Liverpool the chief port for communication with

America. To regain her position Bristol has since 1877-80
established two fresh docks, one at Avonmouth, on the Glou-

cestershire side, and the other at Portshead, on the Somerset

side of the Avon. Each dock, however, was built by a

separate and private company, and their situation outside

the tortuous and narrow passage of the Avon, and in ready

communication with the ocean, intercepted ships to the city

harbour. This dislocation of commerce was not of long

duration. In 1S8-1 the several docks were consolidated

under the control of the Town Council. At the present

time a large extension of dock accommodation is going on,

with resolution to recover lost ground in mercantile enterprise.

Perhaps the chief manufacture is Fry's Chocolate Works,
which employ 2000 hands. Tobacco is another great article

of preparation. The wholesale boot and shoe trade is also

an important industry. The imports of grain have much
Increased of late years, and now amount to 3,000,000

quarters per annum. The value of imports of all kinds in

181*2 was £9,742,482, and of the exports £1,753,000. The
customs revenue was £1,261,410. The number of vessels

registered as belonging to the port in 18113 was: sailing,

91) (16,579 tons); steam, 77 (27,196 tons); total, 176
(43,775 tons). The entries in 181)2 were: 9040(1,343,960
tons), and the clearances 8633 (1,381,511 tons).

Though greatly modernised Bristol still retains many inter-

esting remains of the past. Anglo-Norman or 12th century

construction is exemplified by the rude and heavy tower of St

Peter's, the mother church of the town ; by the massive nave

and west front of St James's, once the church of a Benedic-

tine Priory; by the singularly enriched chapter room of the

Cathedral, once the Abbey Church of St Augustine Black
Canons; together with the great gateway and some lesser

features of the same Abbey; and much excellent early

English work will also be found in the Cathedral, which

mainly consists, however, of Decorated work of the time of

Edward 11. St JIary Redcliffe is a church of sovereign

beauty, consisting mainly of the best type of Perpendicular,

hut including some fine remains of 13th and 14th century

construction. It should have been a proud moment for

Bristol when Redcliffe with its glorious church was in 1373
added to its municipality. The whole building is a choice

study for both architect and artist. The new spire was added

in 1872; height, 267 feet. More than £10,000 have been

spent in the restoration of the fabric during the present

reign.

Conventual remains of the 13th century will be found

at St Bartholomew's Priory, Christmas Street, and at the

Dominican Priory, Jlerchant Street. Two chambers of the

castle of the days of Henry III. are preserved in Castle

Green, and a massive portal of the old walled town of the

same epoch may be seen at the end of Broad Street.

The tower and spire of St John Baptist's Church has

happily been the means of preserving the only portcullised

gateway of the old town. The church, havi[ig formed a part

of the town wall, has no eastern or western windows, tran-

sept, nor projecting porch, being a simple parallelogram

pierced by eight 15th century windows on each side. It is

based on a gi-ound crj-pt, which served in pre-Reformation

times as a chapel for a religious guild. The stately tower of

St Stephen's is 133 feet in height, and is generally allowed to

be one of the handsomest parish towers in England. '' It is

remarkable," says Mr Freeman, " for having sesthetically

dispensed with buttresses." This architectural independ-
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ence seems to rank St Stephen's witli Mr Euskin's iJcal

class of towers, which require as a point of necessity " that

they shall seem to stand in their own strength, not by help

of buttresses, nor artful balancings on this side and that."

The Holy Cross or Temple Church, with its leaning tower,

nearly 5 feet out of the perpendicular, retains no structural

connection with the Knights Templars, but undoubtedly

occupies the site of a small church of these martial monks.

The present building, including the leaning tower, is mostly

of 15th century date. The church was restored in 1873,

when the foundations of a small Norman Church were

discovered.

Opposite the Council House yet stands All Saints, the

church of a curious guild named Kalendars. These were a

quite distinct fraternity from the one-eyed dervishes of that

name in the Ai-abian Nights who so delighted our boyhood

with their lying tales. They were a brotherhood and sister-

hood of semi-monastics, clergy and laity being of the com-

munity, including women. Over the north aisle of the

chm'ch was their college and library, the latter being open to

the pubhc, and it is the earliest ascertained free library

established in England. The fierce light that now radiates

from a thousand centres of knowledge is, of course, in

violent contrast with the mild beams from the humble lamp

of learning once kindled within the windows of this church,

but like the torch which sent its flame from Ida to Lemnos,

and onward to the rock of Cithieron, torch answering to

torch till the land was full of flame, the lamp here lit, as

being the parent beam of the blaze of enlightenment from

our present hundred halls of free culture for the multitude,

becomes to our eyes a bright, particular star. Within the

west doorway of All Saints are four stout Norman piers,

originally left short to support, two on each side of the nave,

the prior's house on the south, and the library on the north

of the church. The prior's house yet stands. The library

was destroyed by fire in 14G6, after a brief existence. It

was erected or re-erected by the Bishop of Worcester in

14G4, who ordained that access should be freely granted

from 7 to 11 in the forenoon, to all willing to receive

instruction, the prior undertaking to explain difficult pas-

sages of Holy Scripture, and to give a public lecture in the

library every week. This fact supplies evidence against the

popular belief that the Bible was a lightly valued book in

old days, and restrained from the knowledge of the people.

Christ's Church is a modern building on an old foundation.

Allusion is made to this church by the self-called " Piers

Plowman" in a curious alliterative poem on the deposition

of Kichard II. At the time of that event " Piers Plow-
man " was, he says, in the blessed borough of Bristowe and
attending mass at Trinity Church " that Christ Church is

classed among the common people," when " suddenly sounded

selcouth things," these " selcouth " or strange things being

the landing of the duke, proud BoHngbroke, whose great

northern army was soon after beneath the walls of Bristol.

This was followed by tragic issues close to the door of the

church where priests were lifting the chalice, as Plowman
says. Readers of Shakespeare's Richard 11. will remember
a scene connected with the beheading of Scrope, Earl of

Wiltshire, Sir John Bushey, and Sir Henry Greene, ad-

herents of the falling king, which occurred before the

carved imagery of the High Cross, the monarch bewailing

their fall in the solemn passage wherein he refuses to be

consoled, and will talk only of graves, and worms, and
epitaphs. Within recent years an attempt was made to

revive the earldom of Wilts, in a descendant of the Lord

Scrope here executed, whose attainder involved the for-

feiture of the family estates, includmg the right of wearing a

kingly crown in the Isle of Man.
Though Bristol has always been distinguished as a

borough of churches, it has never been, in point of over-

lordship, an ecclesiastical to\vn or city, such, for example, as

Glastonbury, Wells, Ely, Reading, or St Albans. In these

and kindred places the central power was vested in the

spiritual lord ; but in Bristol there was no over-lord, abbot,

or bishop, and the monasteries and churches having no joint

or corporate jurisdiction were separately too weak to resist

the force of the secular arm. The superior of the gi'eat

Abbey of Augustinian Canons, the church of which is now
the cathedral, was numbered among the twentv-six mitred
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abbots; but even this political importance was so slighted

by its possessor that, if ever he once attended the King's-

Parliament, he so little cared for the privilege that he
craved royal exemption from the trouble of journeying to

the legislative assembly. Bristol, however, became self-

dependent, self-contained, and self-governed by the civil

magistracy. As a seaport and commercial city it has-

flourished in consequence, rather than in spite of the
absence or departure of the temporal or spiritual lord ; and
has shown the might of labour and commerce by extending

its limits ten times beyond its original compass in Saxon
times. The area then lay between St Nicholas' Church
southward, St John's northward, St Peter's eastward, and
Stuckey's Bank (near St Stephen's, Corn Street) westward.
These points give the length and breadth of the first walled

Saxon town.

Old domestic architecture will be found in St JIaryleport

Street, where the overhanging houses attached to the church
have held their ground at least three centuries. St Peter's

Hospital, in St Peter Street, is a gabled mansion of the day&
of James I,, and is a fine specimen of Jacobean work. At
the corner of Wine Street is a cross-timbered house, marked
with as many squares as a Highlander's plaid, and is

strikingly picturesque. A tablet in Wine Street denotes

the house in which Robert Southey was born in 1774 ; his

father was a draper. The Council House, All Saints'

Church, the Exchange, Commercial Rooms, and Lloyd's

Bank, with its gorgeously-sculptured frontage, are enough
to give importance to Corn Street. In the church are pillars

of Norman date (1150). The Exchange was opened in 1743,
the building (by Wood, of Bath) having cost £50,000.
Lloyd's (formerly the W^est of England) Bank stands on the

site of the Bank Inn, where lodged Mr Pickwick, according

to Dickens. Small Street, with the spacious buildings of

the General Post Office on one side, and the Assize Courts,

incorporated with the Guild Hall on the other, seems-

almost entirely modern in character ; but within the library

of the Assize Courts are 12th century columns of a house of

Norman date. There is also a grand mullioned window of

Tudor times.

The Central Free Library claims the prestige of beinc:

historically the earliest of English free libraries established

after the Reformation. The founder was a Mr Robert Red-
wood, and the library was opened in 1615, but was re-

established under the Act in 1876. So little was it valued

by the town that the building fell into a ruinous state, and
the books were in danger of being spoiled by neglect. A
new building, the present one, was erected in 1740, but it is

quite inadequate to the requirements of the users. There

are, however, five flourishing district libraries in connection

with the central one. Since their first opening under the Act,

no less than 7,600,000 books have been issued to borrowers,

while about 15,000.000 visits have been paid to the maga-
zine and news-rooms of the joint libraries. The issue of

books increased from 74,552 in the first year (1876) to

G0ii,557 in 1892. The total number of volumes in the sis

libraries jointly is about 83,000. Fifty assistants are em-
ployed, of whom 25 are female.

The staff employed at the Bristol post office is 770

;

letters annually delivered, 30,000,000.

The water supply is in the hands of a private company,
and is obtained by gravitation from springs in the triassic

conglomerates and in the cai'boniferous limestone on the sides

of the Mendips, at distances of from 5 to 16 miles from the city.

The company has a capital of £1,200,000, and about 8^ per

cent, is retnnied to shareholders. The supply is calculated at

about 23 gallons per head a day.

The Bristol United Gaslight Company derives a profit of

about £34,000 annually for shareholders, whose dividend is

10 per cent, on the original capital. The corporation insti-

tuted electricity for public lighting in 1893, when the main
streets of the city were so lighted up.

The internal passenger conveyance is in the hands of the

Bristol Tramways and Cai"riage Company, which pays its

shareholders 6 per cent, per annum.
Of educational establishments, the grammar school, founded

in 1532 by Robert Thome, under royal charter of Henry
VIII., is one of the oldest. It was re-organised by the

Schools Commission, 1875, and is a public school of the
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highest grade. It is canued on in buildings of Tudor Gothic

design, erected in tlie years 1877-70, on a site of nearly six

acres in extent in Tyndall's Pai'k, at the point of junction of

the suburbs of Clifton, Gotham, and Eedland, and outside

the northern margin of the city. There are two scholarships

of £100 per annum each, tenable for five years at St John's

College, Oxford. There ai-e also several minor scholarships.

The Slerchant Venturers' School is a buildiu^ four storeys

high, and covers an area of 20,000 feet. Besides class

rooms, it includes technological and engineering workshops,

chemical and physical science lecture rooms, laboratories, &c.

The University College supplies for persons of either sex

above the ordinary school age the means of continuing their

studies in science, languages, history, literature, and theoi*y

of music, and particularly affords appropriate and systematic

instruction in those branches of applied science which are

more nearly connected with the ai'ts and manufactures. The
Bristol medical school is affiliated to the college.

The extensive and picturesque buildings of Clifton College

now accommodate 700 boys, and is one of the most important

pubhc schools of England. It was founded in 1851, and has

been incorporated by royal charter. The religious teaching

is in conformity with the Church of England. There are

five scholarships, varying from £25 to £90 a year.

Milller's Orphan Houses are one of the most extensive and

interesting philanthropic establishments in England. Five

lai-ge houses have been erected at a cost of £115,000, for

the accommodation of 2050 orphans. These orphans rely

for their daily bread upon the almsgiving of people in all

parts of the civilized world, who are never asked, at least by

any governing agent of the institution, to contribute towards

their subsistence. Jlr George Jluller states in his last

" Brief Narrative of Facts " :
—" Without anyone having been

personally applied to for anything by me, £8-18,588, 3s. 6d.

has been given to me for the orphans, as the result of prayer

to God, since the commencement of the work, which sum
includes the amount received for the building fund for the

five houses."

Under the Redistribution of Seats Act Bristol sends 4 mem-
bers to ParHament. One of the most honourable episodes in

the history of the city was the election of Edmund Burke as

one of its representatives in Parliament. The season was the

end of autumn (1774), and during the month the poll was kept

open the great statesman had ample opportunity of viewing

the remarkable scenery of the neighbourhood. The acclivl-

tous woods on one side the Avon had lost their foliage, but

the majestic rocks on the Clifton side afforded him an apt

illustration when, upon his election after energetic opposition,

and the usual display of temper on either hand, he had the

welcome duty " to thank his friends." " As for the trifling

petulance," he said, " which the rage of party stirs up in

little minds, though it should show itself even in this Court

(the Guildhall), it has not made the slightest impression on

me. The highest flight of such clamorous birds is winged in

an inferior region of the air. We hear them, and we look

upon them, just as you, gentlemen, when you enjoy the

serene ah" on your lofty rocks, look down upon the gulls that

skim the mud of your river when it is exhausted of its

tide." Burke did not, however, on the whole please the

electors. He took a course that offended them on the ques-

tion of the American War, on subjects relating to the Roman
Catholics, &c. His defence, on the hustings of Bristol in

1780, of the policy which had dictated the course he had
followed on each of these topics, is one of the most con-
vincing pieces of popular oratory on record.

Burke was invited to stand for Bristol by Richard Cham-
pion, a Quaker, who, besides association with the eloquent

senator, has a claim to be remembered by the excellence of

his china manufacture. Though Bristol china is now more
eagerly in request than any other porcelain, it would appear

from a local advertisement in 1772, that its early reputation

was very small. " The manufactory," it is remarked, " is

not sufficiently known," and an N.B. is added to the effect

that " there is some of the old china which will be sold veiy

cheap." In contrast to this cheapness three fine vases were
recently exhibited at the Bui'lington Fine Arts Club that were
valued at £1000. At an auction in London, in April, 1871,
some pieces of the magnificent service presented by Cham-
pion to Burke soon after that statesman's election for the
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city sold as follows;— The tuapot, 100 guineas; cream jug"

and cover, 115 guineas; a chocolate cup and saucer, 90
guineas ; two tea cups and saucers, 70 and 40 guineas ; the

cover of the sugar basin, 60 guineas. At another sale iu

February, 1875, a cup and saucer of the Burke set brought

£83, and a set of three jugs £120. On the dispersion of

the Edkins collection in 1874, a Bristol vase with landscape

sold for £300 ; four figm-es, emblematic of the quarters of

the world, brought £G10 ; and a pair of compotiers, £270.
The newspapers published in Bristol are The Western

Dalit/ Press (Liberal), Bristol Mercuru and Daily Post

(Liberal), Bristol Times and Mirror (Conservative), Clifton

Chronicle (weekly, on Wednesday), Clifton Society (weekly).

Bristol Observer (weekly, Liberal), Comic, Bristol Magpie
(weekly).

Bristol Channel, the outer part of the estuary of the

Severn. It is bounded on the left by Somersetshire and
Devonshire, on the right by Monmouthshhe, Glamorgan,

Carmarthenshhe, and Pembrokeshhe. It commences in

King Road, at the mouth of the Avon, goes south-westward

to the E side of Bridgewater Bay, and proceeds thence west-

ward to the ocean. Its width at King Road is about 5 miles,

at other parts, thi'oughout its central reaches, from 8 to 22

miles, and at its mouth between Hartland Point, through

Lundy Island to St Gowan's Head, about 48 miles. Its

length from King Road to Lundy Island is nearly 80 miles.

Its total coast line is about 220 miles, it receives a drainage of

11,000 square miles, and is the largest inlet in the United

Kingdom. Its depth in the upper part, between extensive

shoals called the English Grounds and the Welsh Grounds,

is from 5 to 16 fathoms; iu the part at Cardiff between the-

islands called the Steep and Flat Holms, from 5 to 8

fathoms; in the part opposite Noss Point, from 13 to 15
fathoms ; and in the open part between Bideford and Car-

marthen Bays, from 30 to 40 fathoms. The tidal rise i&

gi-eater than anywhere else on the British coasts, and mns
into the mouth of the rivers with a high, upright, rapid wave,

locally called a bore, which is often dangerous to shipping-

but is considerably modified by the strength and du'ection of

the winds. The chief bays are Carmarthen Bay, Buny river

or inlet, Swansea Bay, Cardiff Roads, Bridgewater Bay, and
Bideford or Barnstaple Bay.

Briston or Burston, a small town and a parish in

Norfolk. The town stands on the river Bure, 1 mile K
from Melton Constable station on the Eastern and Midland
railway, and 4 miles SSW of Holt. It has a post and
money order office under Melton Constable (S.O.), which is

the telegi'aph office. The parish comprises 2955 acres

;

population of the civil parish, 1110 ; of the ecclesiastical,

with Little Borough and Melton Constable, 1503. There

is a weekly market for stock and pigs held on Tuesdays, a
fair on the 26 May, and a large cattle sale on the last Thurs-

day in May. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Norwich
;
gross yearly value, £268 with residence. Patron^

Lord Hastings. The church is Decorated and Pei-pendicular

English, and had formerly a round tower. There are Con-
gi'egational, Free, Primitive, and Wesleyan Methodist chapels.

Britain, Little, a hamlet in Exhall parish, Wanvickshire,

2 miles SE of Alcester.

Britannia, a village in the Rhondda valley Llantrissant

pai-ish, Glamorgan, 1 mile from Forth station on the Taff

Vale railway. It has a post and money order office nnder
Pontypridd ; telegi-aph office, Forth.

Britannia, a part of Bacup, with a station on the L. & Y.R.,

202 miles from London. It has a post and money order

office (T.S.O.) under Bacup.

Britannia Bridge, a tubular viaduct over the Menai Straits,

between Carnarvonshire and Anglesey, on the line of the

Chester and Holyhead section of the L. & N.W.R., 1 mile

SW of the Jleuai Bridge, and 2 miles W by S of Bangor

station. It was designed by Mr Robert Stephenson, was

commenced in 1846 and opened iu 1850, and cost£601, 865.

The channel at its site is 1100 feet wide, is swept bya very

rapid tide, ordinarily rising 20 feet, and is beset in the

middle by a rock, called the Britannia rock, which is bare

to the height of 10 feet at low water, and covered to thu-

same height by full tide. This rock gave name to the bridge,

and afforded a main facility for constructing it. The bridgu

consists of two abutments at the euds, two towers 230 feet
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distant from the aljutments, a central tower on the Bntannia
rock, 460 feet distant from the other towers, and two vast

wrougbt-iron tubes or tunnels, placed side by side, and rest-

ing on the abutments and the towers. Each abutment is 176
feet long, each of the nearer towers 32 feet broad, the central

towQV 45^ feet broad, and the total roadway 1841 feet long.

The approaches ai"e ornamented by two colossal Egyptian
statues of lions couchant, each 25^ feet long and 12 feet

8 inches high; the two nearer towers measm-e 62 feet by 52tV

at the base, taper to 55 feet by 32 at the top, and rise 190
feet above high-water level; the central tower has similar

measurements of base and taper, and rises 230 feet from its

foundation on the rock. The bottom of the roadway is

elevated 101 feet above the level of high water. The two
tubes or tunnels consist each of 4 pieces made of wrought-iron

.plates, joined together by h'on rivets, and strengthened at

the joints by T-sliaped irons ; are flat in the bottom and
arched in the top, have an exterior height increasing from

22f feet at the ends to 30 feet in the centre, are 4 feet

lower in tbe interior than in the exterior, and each 14 feet

wide, and possess a total computed weight of about 10,640

tons. The strain due to the contraction and expansion of

the metal through variations in the temperatm-e was provided

against by a series of hollow cells along the top and the

bottom of the tubes ; in addition, the tubes at either end are

not permanently fixed, but travel on movable iron rollers.

Tbe trains going ^Y invariably pass through one line of tube,

and those going E invaiiably pass thi-ough the other. The
bridge possesses none of the pictm-esqueness of its beautiful

neiglibom' the suspension bridge
;

yet, on close inspection,

impresses the mind with a sense of vastness and power.

Britford or Burford, a village and a parish in Wilts.

The village stands adjacent to the Salisbury and Southampton
Canal, Ij mile SE of Salisbury station on tbe G.W. and L. &
S.W.E., and has a fair on 12 Aug. It has a post office

under Salisbury, which is the telegi'aph office; money order

office. East Harnham. The parish includes also the tithing

of East Harnham, and the hamlet of Longford, and its post

town is Salisbury. Acreage, 3107 of land and 74 of water

;

population of the civil parish, 918 ; of the ecclesiastical, 382.

The manor belonged anciently to King Harold, and belongs

now to the Earl of JRadnor. Longford Castle, the seat of

the Earl, was built about 1591 by Sir Thomas Gorges, is a
curiously constructed edifice, of triangular fonn, with inner

com-t, and possesses a very fine picture gallery. The living

is a "^dcarage in tbe diocese of Sahsbm-y
;
gross value, i23S

with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Salis-

bmy. The church is crucifonn, and contains a mausoleum
of the Bouveries, and a cmious sculptured altar-tomb, usually,

but eiToneously, said to be that of the Duke of Buckingbam
who was beheaded by Elchard IIL The chm'ch was restored

in 1873. East and West Harnham are united vicarage

benefices, with a net value of X256 with residence. The
parish contains Alderbury workhouse.

Brithdir, a hamlet in Gelligaer parish, Glamorgan, on
the river Rhymney, at the verge of tbe county, near Dar-
ran station on the Brecon and Jlerthyr railway, 5 miles N
of Gelligaer, and 8 SE of Jlerthyr-Tydfil. It has a post

and money order office under Cardiff; telegraph office. New
Tredegar. The inhabitants are employed chiefly in iron

works and in collieries. There is a chapel of ease.

Brithdir, a township in Berriew parish, Montgomeryshire,

4j miles NW of Montgomery.

Brithdir, a township in Llanrhaiadr-yn-Mochnant parish,

ilontffomeryshire, 4^ miles N of Llanfyllin.

Brithdir, a township in Llanidloes parish, Montgomery-
shire, near Llanidloes.

Brithdir, a village in Dolgelly parish, Merionethshire,

near Bont-Newydd station on tbe G.W.R., 3^ miles NW of

Dolgelly.

Brithrickstow. See Bridestow.
British Channel. See Channel, The.
Briton. See Bringtox, Northamptonshire.

Briton-Ferry, a seaport town and a parish in Glamorgan.

The town stands at the mouth of the Neath river, the end of

the Neath Canal, 2^ miles SSE of Neath, lOJ E by rail from

Swansea, 35 VV from Cardiff, and 205^ distant from London.

It has a station on the South Wales section of the G.W.R.,

and another, Britou-Ferry Road, on the Vale of Neath section,
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and has a head post office. The docks comprise a tidal and
floating area of 27 acres, and afford shipping accommodation
to the mineral districts of Aberdare and Merthyr-Tydfil. The
South Wales Mineral Railway has a station at these docks,

placing them in communication with the extensive mining
districts of Glyncorrwg and j\Iaesteg. The Swansea and
Rhondda Bay railway has a station in the town ; this railway

crosses the Neath river between Briton-Ferry and Neath.
There are large iron and four tin-plate works, an iron foundiy,
steel, coke, and brick works, and collieries. The steel works
manufacture chiefly bars for the making of tin plates. The
town is likewise tbe port of Neath, and has developed rapidly

owing to the constmction of the docks. It is governed by a
local board of nine members. A public library was erected

in 1894. There is a working man's club, a reading-room
connected with the Briton-Ferry Reconstruction Works, and
two cemeteries, one belonging to the church and the other
a public cemetery. The parish comprises 1521 acres; popu-
lation, 5778. In 1801 the population was only 201. The
manor belongs to the Earl of Jersey. The local scenery was
formerly among the finest in South Wales. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Llandaff and niral deaueiy of

Neath. The churches ai-e—St Clement's, which is the parish

church ; St Mary's, used entirely for Welsh services ; and the

mission churches of St John the Baptist and St Thomas.
St Mary's—foi-merly the pai-ish church—was rebuilt in 1892.
The tower was preserved, and some of the old bells presented

in IGlo were re-cast in 1893. The old church and chm'ch-

yard were justly celebrated by the late Rev. William Mason,
tbe frieud of Gray, in a much admired elegy written in 1787.
There are also Coiigi-egational, Baptist, Wesleyan, Calvinistic

and Bible Christian chapels.

Britton. See Bretton.
Britwell, a liberty in Bmmham parish, Bucks, 3^ miles

NE of Maidenhead.

Britwell, Oxford. See Brightwell.
Britwell Prior, a chapehy in Newington pai-ish, Oxford,

under the Chilterns, 1^ mile SW of Watlington station on
the G.W.R., and 6 NE from Wallingford. Post town, Tets-

worth ; money order and telegraph office, Watlington. Acre-

age, 720
;
population, 61. An ancient priory stood here, and

a nunnery of St Clare was set up for some time by French
nuus who fled from the first revolution. Tbe lining is a per-

petual curacy, annexed to the rectory of Britwell Salome, in

the diocese of Oxford. The church was taken down in 1865.

Britwell House is a chief residence.

Britwell Salome, a parish in Oxfordshire, on Icknield

Street, under the Chilterns, 1^ mile SW from Watlington

station on the G.W.R., and 6 NE from Wallingford. It has

a post office under Tetsworth; money order and telegraph

office, Watlington. Acreage, 884 ;
population of the civil

palish, 124; of the ecclesiastical, 185. The south-eastern

part, toward the Chilterns, rises into Britwell Downs, and
has an ancient camp. The li\nng is a rectory in tbe diocese

of Oxford, with the chapelry of Britwell Prior annexed; joint

net yearly value, £180 with residence. The chmxh is partly

Norman, and has two brasses. It was rebuilt in 1867.

Brixham, a market and seaport town and extensive fishing

station in Devoushu-e. Tbe town stands at the southern

point of Torbay, with a station on the G.W.R., 222 miles

from London, and 4 NE of Daatmoutb. It is a coastguard

station, and a seat of petty sessions, and has a head post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) designated Brix-

ham, South Devon. It consists of two pai-ts, lower and
upper, and extends fully 1^ mile from the quay up a valley.

It is iiTegulai'ly built, but occupies a picturesque site,

and, had it been well edificed, would have been one of

the most channing places in the county. The parish

chmxh in its upper part is an edifice of the 14th cen-

tury, repaired in 1852 at a cost of about £700, and

again in 1867 at a cost of about £1200, and contains

several monuments, one of them to Judge BuUer. The Free-

masons' hall was erected in 1886. The market-house, built

of stone in 1877 at a cost of about £3000, comprises mai'ket

and public halls, magistrates' room, and local board and

other offices. There are Conservative and Liberal Clubs.

A recreation gi-ound and an allotment garden for the poor

have been laid out. The British Seaman's Orphan Home
for the western part was established in 1861. Markets are
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!ield on Tuesday and Saturday. Some business is done in

shipbuilding and ropemaking. About 200 sloops of between

30 and 40 tons are employed in trawl-fisbing, and nearly

100 boats in hook-fishing. The exports ai-e chiefly

malt, and the imports coal and timber. The appear-

ance of the fish-market on every week-day evening is very

Btrildng, and a peculiar mode of selling at it is the subject

of a famous picture by Collins. The pier was built in 1808,

the harbour is a refuge for vessels in stormy weather, and a

breakwater was recently formed to increase the secuiity of

the anchorage. The Prince of Orange landed here in 1688.

A handsome statue to him was erected in 1888 on the cele-

bration of the bicentenary of his landing, at a cost of upwards

of £800, the King of Holland contributing £100. A spring

on the outskirts of the upper town was long celebrated for

ebbing and flowing, but in consequence of changes on the

gi'ound near it, for a time lost its intermittent property,

but lately it has returned. The parish includes also the

hamlets of Boohay and Woodhush. Acreage, 5612; popu-

lation of the civil parish, 7078 ; of the urban sanitary dis-

trict of Lower Brixham, 6224; of the ecclesiastical parish

of St Mary, with Churston Ferrers, 2106 ; and Lower Brix-

ham, 6439. A fourth of the manor was purchased many
years ago by twelve of the fishermen, and the shares of

this were afterwards divided. A magnificent view of Torbay

is obtained from Furzham. Traces of an ancient camp are

at Berryhead. A large bone cave has been discovered, con-

taining bone and flint objects of a kind involved in recent

geological discussions. The liWng is a vicarage, united with

the vicarage of Churston-FeiTers, in the diocese of Exeter;

gross value, £.503 with residence. Patron, the Crown. The
Church of All Saints (Lower Biixham) is a plain building

of stone erected in 1820; it was enlarged in 1872 and
1886, and in 1889 fmther alterations and additions were made.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net value,

£77 with residence. Patron, the Crown. St Peter's Mission

Church for seamen was erected in 1874. There are places of

worship for Roman Catholics, Baptists. Congregationalists,

Wesleyans, Primitive Methodists, and Plymouth Brethren.

Brixton, a village and a paiish in Devonshire. The vil-

lage stands near the river Yealm, 4 miles SSW of Plympton
station on the G.W.R., 3J E of Plymstock station on the

S.W.R., and 5 ESE of Plymouth, under which it has a

post and money order office ; telegraph office, Yealmpton.

Acreage of parish, 3126 of land and 98 of foreshore and
water; population, 622. The manor was long held by a family

of the name of Brithrichstone, from which Brixton is con-

tracted. Remains of a mansion of the time of Henry VIL are

at Harestone. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Exeter; net value, £170 with residence. Patrons, the Dean
and Canons of Windsor. The church is Decorated English,

with a lofty tower, and was restored in 1893-94.

Brixton or Brighstone, a village and a parish on the

SW coast of the Isle of Wigljt. The village stands on a

brook, § of a mile NNE of Grange Chine, and 6 SW of New-
port, under vFhich it has a post, money order, and telegraph

office. The parish includes also the hamlet of Limerston,

and part of the hamlet of Chilton. Acreage, 2853 of land

and 71 of foreshore and water
;
population of the civil parish,

.528 ; of the ecclesiastical, 543, The land was formerly part

of the manor of Swainston. A slight adjacent encuiTature

of the sea bears the name of Brixton Bay ; the coast is cut

with a series of chines presenting picturesque features; and
the interior, at the distance of Ij mile, is a range of hill

(•ailed Mottestone, Brixton, and Limerston Downs. The
living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Winchester ; net value,

£247 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Winchester.

The church was rebuilt on the site of an ancient previous

one in 1852, and is variously of Norman, Early English,

Decorated, and Perpendicular character. The parsonage is

a picturesque edifice, and was the home of Bishop Ken two
years as rector, and the asylum of the old age of William
Wilberforce. There is a Bible Christian chapel. At Brigh-

stone grange there is a lifeboat station.

Brixton-Deverill, a parish in Wilts, on a headstream of

the river Wiley, and on the Roman road to Salisbuiy, 5 miles

fc> of Warminster station on the G.W.R. Post town, War-
minster, which is the money order and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 2487

;
population, 112. Alfred halted here a night on
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his march against the Danes. The li\-ing is a rectory in the

diocese of Salisbmy; value, £480. Patron, the Bishop of

Salisbuiy. The church was repaired in 1862.

Brixton, one of the metropolitan suburbs and a precinct

of Lambeth, about 3J miles S of Blackfriars Bridge, on the

L.C. & D.R. and S.W.R. The houses are of a superior de-

scription, and surrounded by trees and shrubs. At Brixton

Hill are situated the female convict prison and the St

Anne's Society Asylum.

Brixton Down. See Brixton, Isle of Wight.

Brixworth, a village, a parish, and the head of a union in

Northamptonshue. The village stands adjacent to the North-

ampton and Market-Harborough branch of the L. & N.W.R,,

7 miles N of Northampton, and has a station on the railway,

and a post, money order, and telegraph office under Northamp-

ton. It was formerly a market-town under the Fitz-Simons.

Here are a workhouse, built at a cost of £5800, and the

kennels of the Pitchley hounds. The parish comprises 3147

acres; population, 1108. Brixworth Hall, an ancient quad-

rangular mansion of stone, belonged formerly to the Nicholses,

and passed to the Woods. It now belongs to the Bevan
family. Some of the inhabitants are lace-makers, and some
quarriers. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peter-

borough; net yearly value, £220 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Peterborough. The church shows fine featiires

of veiy early Saxon and Norman, wdth additions of later

character, has a curious staircase leading to the tower, is

supposed to have been built on the foundations of a Roman
basilica, and was restored in 1865. Roman bricks enter

very largely into the composition of many of the arches.

There are a Wesleyan chapel, an endowment of £62 used for

educational pui-poses, and some small charities.

Brize-Norton, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire.

The village stands 3 miles N by E of Barapton, and 4 SW
of Witney. It has a post office (S.O.) under Bampton,
which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Bampton
station on the G.W.R. is in this parish. Acreage, 3265;
population, 610. The linng is a discharged vicarage in the

diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value, £150 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Canons of Christ Church, Oxford.

The church, an ancient building of stone in mbted styles,

with an Early English tower at the W end, which has a

good parapet. There is a fine Norman doorway in the south

porch, and a beautiful ancient screen separating the nave from

the chancel. The chmxh was restored in 1868 by the late

Mr. G. E. Street. There is also a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Broad-Blunsdon. See Bluxsdon St Andrew.
Broadbottom, a suburb of Mottram, in Mottram parish,

Cheshire, on the river Etherow, which here divides Cheshire

from Derbyshii'e, 3 miles W of Glossop. It has a station on
the M.S, & L.R., and a post office under Manchester. A
chapel of ease was erected in 1890 to Jlottram parish church.

There are cotton and calico mills.

Broadbridge, a tithing in Bosham parish, Sussex, 3^
miles W of Chichester. Broadbridge Heath here is a meet

for the Horsham hounds.

Broadbury Castle. See Bratton-Clovellv.
Broad-Campden, a hamlet in Chipping Campden parish,

Gloucestershire, 1 mile SE of Chipping Campden.
Broadcar, a hamlet in Shropham parish, Norfolk, 3^ miles

N of East Hurling. It was anciently a parish.

Broadcarr, a hamlet in Elland parish, W. R. Yorkshire,

1^ mile from Elland station on the L. & Y.R., 4^ miles S of

Barnsley, and 1^12 from London.

Broad-Chalky a village and a parish in Wilts. The vil-

lage stands on the Vale of Chalk, near Cranbome Chase, 4
miles S by E of Dinton station on the L. & S.W.R., and 5J
SW of Wilton, and has a post and money order office under

Salisbury ; telegraph office, Dinton. It was for some time

the residence of John Aubrey the antiquaiy. The parish

includes also the hamlets of Knighton and Stoke-Fai-thing.

Acreage, 6966
;

population, 661. The manor originally

belonged to the Abbess of Wilton. In 1447 she presented the
" Prebendaryship of Chalke" to Henry VI.. who in the year

following gave it to his newly founded " King's College,"

Cambridge, the present patrons of the living (in the diocese

of SaUsbury); the present value is £250. The church

belongs mostly to the time of Heniy VII., the tower and

south transept being later, while the chancel, north transept,
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and west doorway are Early English. The chui'ch was care-

fuUj restored in 1874. There are Congregational and
Primitive Methodist chapels.

Broad Clist, a village and a parish in Devonshii-e. The
village stands on the river Clist, 5 miles NNE of Exeter, and

lias a station on the L. & S.W.R., 1G7 miles from London.

It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office under Exeter.

It was bm-nt in 1001 by the Danes. The parish includes

also the hamlets of Bere and "Westwood. Acreage, 932G

;

population, 2003. The manor belonged at Domesday to the

Crown, was given by Henry I. to the Nov.ant family, passed

to the Chudleighs, the Ai'undcUs, and others, and belongs

now to Sir T. D. Acland, Bait. Killerton, on wliich is Kil-

leiton House, the seat of the Acland family, belonged once to

a family of its own name, passed through several hands, and
was pmchased about the middle of the 17th century by the

Aclands. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter;

value, £495. The chm-ch is Later English, has a lofty

tower, and w^as repaired in 1833. The chapel of St Paul,

"Westwood, erected in 1873, is a building of stone in the

Decorated style. There is a domestic chapel in the pai'k of

Killerton House. There is also a Baptist chapel.

Broadfield, a township united to Cottered, but ha^^ng

its own palish officers, in Herts, 1 mile N of Cottered. Acre-

age, 375
;
population, IG.

Broadfield, a station in Lancashu'c, on the L. & Y.R.,

194 miles from London.

Broadfield, a tithing in 'Wrington pai-ish, Somersetshu-e,

8 miles S\V of Bristol. Broadfield Down here possesses fine

scenery, commands chai'ming ^iews, and has on its NW
shoulder an igneous vent, noticed by Dr Buckland.

Broadgate or Bradgate Park, formerly an extra- paro-

chial tract, now part of the parishes of Newtown, Linford,

Anstey, and Ulverscroft, in Leicestershu'e, 6 miles NW of

Leicester. The reservou" of the Leicester "Waterworks Com-
pany is situated here. This was part of the manor of Groby,

belonged to successively the Earls of Leicester, the Earls of

Winton, and the Lords Grey of Groby, and was the birth-

place of Lady Jane Grey. A lai'ge and splendid mansion

stood on it, and some picturesque ruins of the edifice still

remain, along with a chapel containing a fine monument of

the Greys.

Broadgreen, a village on the L. & N.W.R., Lancaslm-e,

4| miles E by N of Liverpool, and 198 from London. It

has a station on the railway, and a post, money order, and

telegraph office under Liverpool. It is wholly modern, and

includes several villas.

Broadhaven, a village on the coast of Pembrokeshire,

on St Bride's Bay, 6 miles WSW of Haverfordwest. It is

frequented for sea-bathing, presents a pleasant appearance,

has a fine, film, sandy beach, aud commands splendid coast

views.

Broad Haven, a small bay on the south coast of Pem-
brokeshire, between Stackpole and St Govan's Heads, 4^
miles S by W of Pembroke.

Broadheath, a hamlet in North Hallow parish, Worces-
tershire, 1 mile NW of Worcester. It has a chapel of ease,

a Slethodist chapel, and a chapel for Lady Huntingdon's

Connexion.

Broadheath, a station on the L. & N.W.R., 9 miles SW
of Jlanchester. It serves for Altrincham.

Broadhembury, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The \'illage stands in a fertile valley, 5 miles ESE of Col-

lumpton station on the G.W.K., and G NW of Houiton,

under which it has a post and money order office ; telegi-aph

office, Sidmouth Junction (R.S.) It was formerly a market-

town. The parish includes also the hamlets of Collaton,

Luton, Dulford, aud Kerswell. Acreage, 4822
;
population,

001. The manor belonged anciently to the Tovington family,

was given to Dunkeswell Abbey, and passed in the time of

Elizabeth to the family of Drewe. A Cluniac abbey stood

at Kerswell, and was subordinate to Montacute Priory in

Somerset. An ancient entrenchment, called Hembmy Fort,

crowns a bold spm- of high land, commands an extensive

prospect, comprises an oval area engu't by three well-preserved

lofty ramparts, seems to have been foniied by the Britons,

but was occupied by the Romans, and is thought by some
antiquaries to have been the Roman station Moridunum.

The living is a ncarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net value,
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£230 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of
Exeter. The church is a fine ancient edifice, consists of
nave, chancel, and south aisle, with pinnacled western tower,-

and contains a neat oak screen, a Saxon font, and monu-
ments of several families. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Broadhempston, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The village stands 2 miles from the Dart river, 2J from
Staverton station on the G.W.R., and 4 N of Totnes, under
which it has a post office ; money order office, Ipplepen

;

telegi-aph office, Totness. The parish comprises 2201)

acres
;
population of the civil parish, 525 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, 61G. The manor belonged formerly to the Cantelupes^

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net value,

£280. Patron, the Crown. The chm-ch consists of nave,

chancel, and aisles, and has an ancient oak screen. It was
partly restored in 1879. There are Congregational and
Wesleyan chapels.

Broad-Hinton, a parish in Wilts, 4^ miles SE of

Wootton-Basset station on the G.W.R., and 6 SSW of
Swindon, under which it has a post and money order

office; telegi'aph office, Wroughton. Acreage, 3114; popu-
lation, 372. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Salisbm'y ; net value, £127. Patron, St Nicholas Hospital,

Salisbury. The chm-ch is old but good, and has a square

embattled tower .and several cm-ious and interesting monu-
ments to the Wroughton and Glanville families. It was-

thoroughly restored in 1S80. The vicarage of Broad-Town
is a separate benefice. Sir John Glanville, the eminent
lawyer and Speaker of the Short Parliament, was a resident,

and is bm-ied in the church. There is a reading-room and
small library.

Broad-Hinton, a hbei-ty in Hurst pai-ish, Berks, 4 miles

N by AV of Wokingham. Acreage, 1734 of land and 14 of

water; population, 722. Stanlake Park and Haines Hill

are chief residences.

Broadholme, a township in Thorney pai-ish, Notts, on
the verge of the county, 7 miles W of Lincoln, loG froni

London and 5 from Saxilby railway st.ation. Acreage, G40 ^

popidation, 102. A small nunnery was fomided here in the

reign of Stephen by Agnes de Cam\-ille, and given in the

time of EUzabeth to John Coniers and William Haber.

Eroadlaey, a hamlet in St Ishmael's parish, Carmarthen-
shire, on the river Towy, 3i miles NW of Kidwelly.

Broadlands, a seat in Hants, belonging at one time to-

Lord Palmerston, on the river Anton, 1 mile S of Romsey.
The house is of white brick with stone dressings, was de-

signed by " Capability Brown," and contains a good collec-

tion of pictures and some antique statuary. The park is

small, and has little variety.

Broadlands, a seat of lace manufacture in the vicinity of

Newport, Isle of Wight. The man-iage robes of .Alexandra,

Princess of Wales, were manufactm-ed here.

Broadlane, a hamlet in North Curry parish, Somerset-

shire, 7 miles E of Taunton.

Broadley Wood, a hamlet in Spotland township, Roch-

dale parish, Lancashire. Post town, Rochdale. It has ai

station on the L. & Y.R., and a cotton factory.

Broad-Marston, a hamlet in Pebworth parish, Glouces-

tershire, 4i miles N of Chipping-Campden.

Broad Mayne or Main-Martel, a parish in Dorset-

shire, 4 miles SE of Dorchester, under which it has a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 997
;
popula-

tion, 479. The living is a rectory annexed to the rectory

of West Ivnighton in the diocese of SaUsbury. The church

is dedicated to St Martin. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

The industry is chiefly agi-icultuial ; there are also brick-

fields in the parish.

Broad-Nymet, a chapeh-y in North Tawton parish,

Devoushu-e, 1 mile W of Bow and G W of Yeoford railway

station. The living is a sinecm-e rectory in the diocese of

Exeter. The church is Early English, and has interesting

features, but has gone to ruin.

Broadoak or Bradock, a p.arish in Cornwall, 2 miles

SSW of Doublebois station on the G.W.R,, and 4 NE by

E of Lostwithiel. It includes West T.aphouse hamlet, and

its post town and money order office is Lostwithiel; tele-

gi-aph office, Doublebois station. Acreage, 3404; popu-

lation, 285. The manor was held at Domesday by Robert,

Earl of Mortaigne. Broadoak Down was the scene of the
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defeat in 1G43 of the Parliamentarians under Kutliven Ijv

the Rojalists under Hopton. The li\ing is a rectory annexeu

to the rectory of Boconnoo in the diocese of Exeter. Tlic

church is good, and has an ancient font. It was restored in

1887, and a new organ was presented in the same year by

Colonel C. D. Fortescne. There is a Wesleyau chapel at

West Taphouse.

Broad-Oak, a tithing and hamlet in Westbury-on-Sevcrn

parish, Gloucestershue, 1 mile NE of Newnham.
Broad-Oak, a hamlet in Gonway parish, Herefordshire,

5^ miles NW of Slonmouth. It has a post office under

rioss ; money order office, St Weonards ; telegr.iph office,

Monmouth.
Broadoak-Green, a hamlet in Ecclesall Bierlow town-

ship, Sheffield parish, W. R. Yorkshire, about 2 miles SW of

Sheffield.

Broadock, a place in Symondsbury parish, Dorsetshire

near Bridport. A church was built here in 186G.

Broad-Parkham, a hamlet in Pai'kham parish, Deron-

shire, 7 miles SW of Bideford.

Broadroyd-Head, a hamlet in Darton township and

parish, in the W. R. Yorkshii'e, 3;^ miles NW of Barnsley.

Broadside, a grieveship in AUandale parish, Northum-
berland.

Broad Sound, a belt of sea among the Scilly Isles, XW
of St Agnes. It is obstrTicted by the Crim shoal, and is

dangerous to vessels from its tidal currents.

Broadstairs, the ancient name of which is Bradstow^ but

in some documents designated Broadstai/ers, is a growing

town on the NE coast of Kent, about midw.ay between Margate

and Ramsgate, with a station on the L.C. & D.R., 77 miles

from London, and a head post office (R.S.O.) It is an ancient

place, was the scene of a fierce battle in 853 between the

Saxons and the Danes, had extensive foi-tifications, pierced

by a sea-gate with a portal ai'ch, some part of which remains,

took its name from the " broad stairs " which led up from

the sea-gate, possessed a little above the fortifications a Lady
chapel of so high repute that ships lowered their topsails in

going past it. The rillage w.is a favourite resort of Charles

Dickens, and is described in his " Bleak House." It is now
much frequented as a bathing-place. It has good accom-

modation, and a firm sandy beach, and commands splendid

views. It is really an offshoot of St Peter's, with which it is

united for the purposes of local government. The district

extends from Kingsgate to Dumpton, including North Fore-

land, and possesses a sea frontage of nearly 4 miles. " St

JIary's shrine at Bradstowe" was famous in the 15th century.

Area of the urban sanitary distinct of Broadstairs St Peter,

1442 acres; population, 5234; of the ecclesiastical painsh of

Holy Trinity, 21'33. The li\ing is a rectory in the diocese of

Canterbury; value, £185. Patron, the Vicar of St Peter. The
church was built in 1828, and had a tower added in 1852.

There are Baptist, Congregational, Roman Catholic, and
Wesleyan chapels, and a weekly newspaper is published.

Broadstone, a township, a village, .and a chapelry in

Munslow parish, Salop, 6^ miles SE of Church-Strettou.

The chapelry is annexed to the rectory of Munslow. There
is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Broad-Town, a hamlet and a parish formed in 1844 out

of Broad-Hinton and Clyffe-Pvpard parishes, in Wilts. In

1884 it was made a civil parish. The hamlet lies IJ mile

NW of Broad-Hinton village and 3 miles SE of Wootton-
Basset station on the G.W.E. It has a post office under
Swindon ; money order office, Broad-Hinton ; telegi'aph

office, Wootton-Basset. The area of the parish is 2040 acres;

population, 483. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Salisbm7; value, £101 with residence. Patrons, the Vicars
of Broad-Hinton and Clyffe-Pypard alternately.

Broadward, a township in Clungnnford parish, Salop,

on the river Chin and the verge of the county, 8 miles W of

Ludlow. Broadward Hall is a mansion here.

Broadward, Brierley, and Wharton, a township in

Leominster out-parish, Herefordshire, IJ mile S of Leo-
minster. It forms portion of the ecclesiastical portion of

I\ington.

Broadwas, a village and a parish in Worcestershire, on
the river Teme, 3j miles from Knightwick station on the
G.W.R., and (J W of Worcester, under which there is a post
office; money order office, Knightsford Bridge; telegraph
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office, Suckley railw.ay station. The parish includes the

hamlet of Broadgreen. Acreage, 1108; population, 2!i5.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester ; net

value, £216 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and

Chapter of Worcester. The church is partly Norman of the

Transition period, partly Early English and Decorated. The
chancel is paved with ancient heraldic tiles.

Broadwater, the lake of Bassenthwaite, in Cumberland.

See Basskstiiwaite.

Broadwater, a hundred in Herts. It lies around Ben-

nington and Dutchworth, and contains twenty-two parishes.

Broadwater, a village and a parish in Sussex. The
village stands li mile N of Worthing station on the L.B. &
S.C.I!., and has a post, money order, and telegi-aph office

(T.S.O.) under Worthing. It was formeriy a market town

under the Camois family, who had a castle adjacent to it.

The parish includes also the township and town of Wor-
thing. Acreage, 2730 of land and 379 of foreshore and

water
;
population of the civil parish, 15,931 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 3C31. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Chichester; value, £427 with residence. The church is

cruciform, and was restored in 1826, and again in 1864.

The vicarages of Christ Church, Holy Trinity, and St George

in Worthing are separate benefices. There is a reading-

room.

Broadwaters, a hamlet in Wolverley pai-ish, Worcester-

shire, 1 mile N of Kiddeiminster.

Broadway, a village and a parish in Dorsetshire. The
village stands on the river Wey, and has a station on the

G.W.R., 140 miles from Loudon, and 2i N by W of Wey-
mouth. The parish includes also Little Moor hamlet and

part of Nottingham hamlet. It has a post and money order

office under Dorchester ; telegi'aph office, Upway. Acreage,

1051
;
popuLation, 774. The living is a rectory, annexed to

the rectoiy of Bincomhe, in the diocese of Salisbury
;
gross

united value, £337 with residence. Patrons, the Master and
Fellows of Caius College, Cambridge. The chm'ch is good,

and was restored in 1874. A temperance hall was erected

in 1879, with 120 sittings and reading and coffee rooms

attached. There is also a small Wesleyan chapel.

Broadway, a village and a parish in Somersetshire. The
vilkage stands near the Chard Canal, 2 miles NW of Ilminster

station on the G.W.R., took its name from a Roman way
across its site and thi-ough Neroche Forest, and has a fair

on 14 Sept. The p.arisli includes also the tithings of Cap-

land and Rapps. Its post towTi is Ilminster, which is the

money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 2056
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 332 ; of the ecclesiastical, 372.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells

;

gi'oss value, £165 "with residence. The church is ancient

and cracLform. There is a Congregational chapel.

Broadway, a village and a parish in Worcestershire. The
village stands 4|- miles W of Chipping Campden station on

the G.W.R., and G SE by S of Evesham, and has a head

post office. It consists of a street nearly a mile long and

vei'y wide, and contains many picturesque stone houses of the

16th and 17th centuries, with mullioned windows and gables.

The old manor house of the Abbots of Pershore, dating from

the 15th century, still exists, and has been repaired. An
ancient inn, now the Lygon Ai'ms, received sevei'.al visits from

Ch.iiies I. dming the Ciril War. The parish comprises 4990

acres
;

population, 1536. The Broadway Hills were the

quarters of the Royalists after the battle of Evesham, and

command a fine view. Middle Hill and Spring Hill are the

chief residences. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Worcester; net value, £350 with residence. The old parish

church, a craciform building of the 12th century, situated in

a rom.antic valley about a mile south of the village, havincf

been put in substantial repair, is now used as a mortuary

chapel and for afternoon senices during summer. It contains

a very .ancient font, an el.abor.ately car^'cd oak pulpit, and a.

curious old Puritan pulpit, with black-letter text round it

—

" Where the Word of God is not preached the people perish;

"

several ancient brasses, and fragments of rare old st.ained

glass in the windows. The present parish church was erected

in 1839. There are also Rom.au Catholic, Congi-egational

and Wesleyan chapels.

Broadwell, a hamlet in Leamington-Hastings parish,

Warwickshire, 3i miles NE of Southam.
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Eroadwell, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on

the Fosse Way, 1^ mile NNE of Stow-on-the-Wold, and "2

miles WNW of Ad'lestrop station on the G.W.R. There is a

post office under Moreton-in-the-Marsh ; money order and

telegi'aph office, Stow-on-the-Wold. Acreage of the civil

^ai-ish, 1817; population 373; of the ecclesiastical, with

Adlestrop, 537. Broadwell House is the seat of the Egerton

Leigh family. The living is a rectory, united with the rec-

tory of Adlestrop, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol.

Patron, Lord Leigh. The church is Early English and Per-

pendicular, and was restored in 18G6 ; it contains an ancient

.alabaster monument, some brasses, and two stained windows.

Broadwell or Bradwell, a village and a parish in Ox-
'fordshire. The village stands near the ancient Akeman Street,

2 miles W of Alvescot station on the G.W.E., and 4 NNE
•of Lechlade. The parish includes also the ecclesiastical

•parish of Filkins, and the township and chapelry of Kelmscott.

Post town, Lechlade (S.O.), which is the money order and

telegi'aph office. Acreage, 3559; population of the civil

parish, 687 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Kelmscott, 284. The
li\ing is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Kelmscott, iu the diocese of Oxford
;
joint gross yearly value,

^200 with residence. The church is cmciform and good,

lias a fine spire, and contains monuments of the Colstons.

Bradwell Grove is a chief residence.

Broadwindsor, a \'illage and a parish in Dorsetshire. The
Tillage stands 3 miles WNW of Beaminst«r, and 6 S of

^^rewkerae station on the L. & S.W'.R., and has a post,

fliouey order, and telegraph office under Beaminster (R.S.O.)

The parish includes also the tithings of Childhay, Dibberford,

Drimpton, and Little Windsor. Acreage, 6303; population,

1105. The liring is a vicarage, united with the perpetual

curacy of Blackdowu, iu the diocese of Salisbury ; net value,

£76 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Salisbmy. The
chm'ch is ancient, and has a tower ; it was restored and

almost rebuilt in 1868. There is also a Congi'egational

chapel, and chai'ities. Thomas Fuller, author of the " His-

tory of the Holy Wai','' was ™ar. The manufacture of

sailcloth is carried on.

Broadwood-Kelly, a parish in Devonshire, 5j miles E
by N of Hatherleigh, and 6 from Eggesford station on the

L. & S.W'.R. Post town, W'iukleigh, which is the money
order and telegi"aph office. Acreage, 3012; population of

the civil parish, 261 ; of the ecclesiastical, 251. The Vunng

is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £168 witli

residence. The church stands on elevated ground, consists

of nave, chancel, and aisles, and was well restored in 1868.

Broadwood-Widger, a \'illage and a parish in Devon-

shire. The village stands on the accHnty of a hill, 4 miles

from Lifton station on the G.W.R. and Ashwater on the

L. & S.W' .R., and 11 NNW of Tavistock. It has a post office

under Lifton (R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. The parish comprises 10,655 acres; population of tlic

ciril parish, 803; of the ecclesiastical, 671. About 1500

acres are open moorland. In 1884 a detached part of Lifton,

known as Westweek, was amalgamated with this parish.

The living is a Wcarage in the diocese of Trm'O ; net value,

£290 w^th residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Bristol. The chm'ch is an old edifice, and there are Wesleyan

and Bible Christian chapels.

Brobury, a parish in Herefordshire, on the river Wye,
3 miles S of Kinnersley station on the Swansea, Brecon, and

Hereford branch of the M.R., and 8^ E by N of Hay.

Post town, Hereford; money order and telegi-aph office,

Staunton-on-Wye. Acreage, 830
;

population, GQ. Bro-

bury Scar, a hill in the neighbom-hood, is a bold grand

object, amid the fine sceneiy of the W^ye. The linng is a

rectory, annexed to the vicarage of Bredwardine, in the dio-

-cese of Hereford. The church is a small plain Eaily English

edifice, and contains an ancient font and canopied tomb. It

is now used as a mortuaiy chapel.

Brock, a station on the L. & N.W.R., which here crosses

the river Brock, 3 miles S by E of Gai-stang, iu Lancashire.

-.Claughton Hall, a mansion of the time of Charles L, is in

ithe neighbourhood.

Brockamin, a hamlet in Leigh parish, W'orcestershirc,

5^ miles SW of Worcester.

Brockdish, a \illage and a parish in Norfolk, on the

•river Waveney, 4 miles SW by W of Harleston station on the
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G.E.R., and 6 E of Diss. There is a post and money order

office under Scole ; telegraph office, Harleston. Acreage of

parish, 1092
; population, 377. The li™ig is a rectory in the

diocese of Normch; net value, £245 with residence. The
church is an ancient building of flint in the Early English

style. In the S aisle there is a cmious old altar tomb, and
the lower portion of the chancel screen is presen'ed in good
condition. The tower, erected in 1865, contains 6 good bells.

There is also a Free Methodist chapel. Tliorpe Abbotts,

The Grove, the Grange, and the Red House are chief resi-

dences. Brockdish Hall, now a farmhouse, is a very inter-

esting old place.

Brockenhurst, a village and a parish in Hants. The
village stands, enshrouded in wood, in the New Forest, on
the river Boldre, 4 miles N by W of Lymington, with a
station on the L. & S.W.R., 92 from London. A railway

has been made from Brockenhurst to Christchurch, shortening

the distance to Bournemouth by about 19 miles. It has a

post, money order, and telegi-aph office (R.S.O.) The parish

lies wholly in the New Forest, and comprises 4044 acres;

population of the civil parish, 1298; of the ecclesiastical,

1347. Brockenhurst Park has charming forest scenery, and
some very tine old oaks, and is a meet for the New Forest

Haniers. Brockenhurst Lodge or Watcorabe House was for

tlu'ee years the residence of Howard the philanthropist.

Sway Common, in the \'icinity, has several tumuli. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester

;
gross value,

£150 with residence. The church crowns a knoll about ^
a mile S of the callage ; is variously Saxon, very Early Nor-
man, Late Norman, and Early English, but has been much
remodelled, and contains an ancient square Norman font

of Purbeck marble. There is also a Baptist chapel. An
enormous yew tree and a gi'and i\y-elad oak are in the

churchyard.

Brockford, a hamlet in Wetheringsett parish, Suffijlk, 3J
miles NW of Debenham.

Brockhall, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire,

on Watling Street, the Grand Junction Canal, and the L. &
N.W.R., 2^ miles N of Weedon station, and 5^ E of Daven-
tiy. Post town, Weedon, which is the money order and tele-

p-aph office. Acreage of parish, 874
;
population, 50. The

Hall, a fine ancient mansion of stone, standing in a park of

63 acres, belonged formerly to the Eytonsand the Tyi'whitts,

and belongs now to the Thorntons. The Hviug is a rectory

in the diocese of Peterborough; net value, £160 with resi-

dence. The chui'ch is partlv Norman, and was restored in

1874.

Brockham or Brockham Green, a village and a chapelry

in Betchworth paiish, SuiTey. The village stands on the

river Mole, 1^ mile SW'of Betchworth station on the S.E.R.,

and 2 miles E of Dorking. It has a post and money order

office under Betchworth (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph

office. The chapelry was constituted in 1848. Population,

1030. The liWng is a vicarage in the diocese of Rochester;

gi'oss value, £140 with residence. The chm'ch is a ne^t

edifice in the Norman style, with a spu*e, and there are

a Baptist chapel and a guls' orphanage. There is also an

infants' home.

BrockJaampton, a tithing in Havant parish, Hants, near

Havant.

Brockhampton, a parish in Herefordshire, on the river

Wye. 2 miles ENE of Fawley station on the G.W.R., and 6

N of Ross, which is the post town and telegi'aph office

;

money order office, How-Caplc. Acreage, 1561; popula-

tion, 228. Brockhampton Manor is the chief residence.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ; net

value, £64. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Hereford.

The chui'ch is of the Decorated period, and has a low

ii'estem tower ; in the cbm-chyard are remains of a preach-

ing cross and fragments of an octagonal monolith.

Brockhampton or Norton-with-Brockhampton, a

township in Herefordshire, lies 2 miles NE of Bromyard,

wliii-h is the post town. Acreage, 3160; population, 550.

The place contains several good residences suburban to

Bromyard. Brockhampton House is a fine mansion on

the Downs, erected in 1760, and has a chapel attached.

The old mansion is adjacent, and is an interesting and

well-presen-ed specimen of a 14th centuiy residence ; adjoin-

ing is a small chapel in ruins. The estate has for centuries
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been in tlie iiossession of tlie Barneby family. On tlie

Downs are also stone quames, rifie butts, and a racoeoui'se.

Brockhampton, a hamlet (with Soutbam) in Bishops Cleve

parish, Gloucestershu-e, 3 miles NE of Cheltenham. See

SOUTHAJI AND BkOCKHAMPTOS.
Brockhampton, a hamlet in Sevenbarapton parish, Glou-

cestershue, 2-t miles N by E of Andoversford. It has a

post otEce under Andoversford (R.S.O.), which is the money

order and telegi-apb ofiiee. Brockliampton Park is a fine

old mansion, enlarged and partly rebuilt in 1864, and situ-

ated in a well-wooded deer park. There is a Baptist chapel.

Brockhampton, Oxfordshire. See Brookh.ymptox.
Brockholes, a hamlet in Honley parish, in tlie "W. R.

Yorkshire, 4^ miles SE by S of Hudderstield, under which it

has a post, money order, and telegraph office. It has a sta-

tion on the L. & Y.R., and a church.

Brockholes, Lancashhe. See Gbimsargh asd Brock-
holes.

Brockhurst, a hamlet in Blynhill parish, Staffordshire, 4

miles N\V of Brewood.

Brocklebank, a township in Westward parish, Cumber-

land, 4J miles S by E of Wigton. Brocklebank Fell is a

frontier mass of the upLands which extend southward in

the Caldbeck Fells and Skiddaw.

Brocklesby, a parish in Lincolnshire, 8 miles WNW of

Great Grimsby. It has a station on the 5I.S. & L.R., and

includes the hamlet of Little Limber, and it has a post

office (S.O.) under Ulceby ; money order and telegraph office,

Ulceby. Acreage, 393'J
;

population of the civil parish,

282 ; of the ecclesiastical with Kirmington, 713. Brocklesby

Park is the seat of the Earl of Yarborough. The hall

has a fine picture gallery, and the grounds have a mauso-

leum by Wyatt in the form of a Greek temple, with cata-

combs below. The living is a rectory united with the vicar-

age of Kirmington in the diocese of Lincoln
;

joint gross

yearly value, <£450 with residence. Patron, Lord Yar-

borough. The church is a beautiful building of stone in the

Decorated style.

Brockley, a parish in Somersetslrire, near Nailsea station

on the G.W.E., 8 miles SW of Bristol, which is the post

town. Acreage, 1148
;
population of the civil parish, 1.52

;

of the ecclesiastical, 107. Brockley Hall is the seat of the

Piggotts. Brockley Combe is a rocky wooded hollow, about

300 feet, flanked by hills, and was a favourite resort of the

poet Coleridge. Lead ore is found. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Bath and Wells; net value, X96 with resi-

dence. The chm-ch is good.

Brockley, a parish in Suffolk, 6^ miles SSW of Bury
St Edmunds on the G.E.R. It has a post office called

Brockley Green under Bury-St-Edmunds; money order office,

Hartest; telegraph office, Glemsford. Acreage, 1538; popu-

lation, 279. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely;

net value, £279 with residence. The church is an ancient

structure with a good tower, and contains some monuments
of the Sprigge family. There is a B.iptist chapel, and there

are some charities.

Brockley is a rapidly increasing suburb of London, in

Kent, with a station about 3^ miles from London Bridge on
the L.B. & S.C.R. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office, and is in the Parliamentary borough of Deptford,

and within the county of Loudon as constituted by the Local

Government Act, 1888. St Peter's is an ecclesiastical

parish, formed December 1871 from Deptford St Paul civil

parish. The church is a crucifoim building in the Flemish

Gothic style, and will seat 1100 persons. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Rochester ; value, about £900, all

from pew rents. There is no endowment of any kind.

Patron, the Bishop of Rochester. There are Presbyterian,

Baptist, Wesleyan, and Congregational chapels. St John's

is a portion of this district, and has a station on the S.E.R.

Brockley Combe. See Bkocklet, Somerset.

Brockley Hill, an eminence on the northeni verge of

Middlesex, in the line of Watling Street, 2 miles NNW of

IMgeware. JIany relics have been found here.

Brockley Hill, Kent. See Sydenham.
Brockley Whins, a railway station in the N of Durham,

on the N.E.R., 6 miles W of Gateshead, 265 from London.
Brockmanton, a township in Puddlestone parisli, Here-

fordshire, 4J miles E of Leominster.
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Brockmoor, an ecclesiastical parish in Kingswinford parish,

Stati'ordsbire, J a mile N\V of Brierley Hill. It was consti-

tuted in 1844, and it has a post office (T.S.O.) under Brierley

Hill. Population, 3615. Most of the inhabitants arc em-
ployed in coal and iron works. The Uving is a vicarage in

the diocese of Lichfield ; gross value, £200 with residence.

Patron, alternately the Crown and the Bishop. The church

is a building of firebrick in the Early English style, and
there are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Brocksfield. See Broxfield.
Brockthrop. See Brookthorpe.
Brockton, a township in Sutton Madock parish, Salop,

H mile NE oi Cualport.

Brockton, a township in Longford parish, Salop, 2 miles

SW of Newport.

Brockton, a township in North Lydbury parish, Salop, 2^
miles S of Bishops-Castle.

Brockton, a township in Worthen parish, Salop, on the'

verge of the county, 5 miles WSW of Minsterley. There is-

a Baptist chapel.

Brockton or Brocton, a township in Baswich parish,

Statfurdshire, adjacent to the Staffordshire Canal, 4 miles

SE of Stafford. Acreage, 2341
;
population, 212. It lias-

a station (Milford and Brocton) on the L. & N.W. R. Brock-

ton Hall and Brockton Lodge are the chief residences.

Brockwear or Brockweir or Brooks-Weir, a village on

extra-parochial ground contiguous to Hewelsfield parish, in

Gloucestershire, on the river Wye^ ^ a mile from Tintern

station on the G.W.R., and 6 miles N of Chepstow. It has

a post office tmder Coleford ; money order and telegi-aph

office, Tintern. It used to have some shipping trade.

There are a Moravian chapel, built in 1832, and remains of

an ancient camp.

Brockwell, a locality about a mile W of DuUvich, on the

NE border of Surrey. Brockwell Park, which is well laid,

out, is under the management of the London county council.

Brockworth, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on

Ermine Street, in the vale of Gloucester, 4 miles ESE of.

Gloucester, under wliich it has a post office ; money order

office, Hncclecote ; telegraph office. Churchdown. Acreage of

parish, 1957
;
population, 411. The grounds called the Court

were the site of a Roman station, and have yielded Roman
remains. Cooper's Hill, a steep projection from neighbour-

ing hills, commands a brilliant view. The manor formerly

belonged to Llanthorny Priory. Well Close and Dray's

Court are the chief residences. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net value, £175 with

residence. The church is Early Decorated, with Norman
arches under the tower. John Theyer the antiquary, who
died in 1673, was a native. His library, which included

numerous manuscripts from the monastic library of Llan-

thorny, was purchased by the King, and formed part of the

collection given by George III. to the British Museum.

Brocton, a township in Sbipton .and Long Stauutoa

parishes, Salop, 2 miles W of Presthape station on tha

G.W.R., and 5 S of Much Wenlock.

Brodsworth, a township and a parish in the W. R. Y'ork-

shire. The township lies 3 miles SW of Adwick-le-Street

railw.ay station, and 5 NW by N of Doncaster, under which

it has a post office ; money order office, Barmborough ; tele-

graph office, Adwick-le-Street (R.S.) The parish includes

also the hamlets of Pickbourne and Scawsby. Acreage^

3120; population, 336. Brodsworth Park belonged to the

Earls of Kinnoul, passed by sale to Peter Tbellusson, Esq..

who died in 1798, bequeathing it to be under trustees for

three generations. After sixty-two years of litigation the

House of Lords decided that it should be inherited by Lord

Rendlesham, nephew of Peter Tbellusson. Limestone wa&
formerly quarried. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

York
;
gross value, £406 with residence. Patron, the Arch-

bishop. The church is in the Early Norman style, and was-

restored in 1873. There is a Wesleyan chapel and some

charities.

Brogden, a township in Barnoldswick parish, in the

W. R. Yorkshire, adjacent to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal.

3 miles from Earby station on the M.R., and 9 SW by \V of

Skipton. Acreage, 1782 ; population, 120.

Brokehampton and Kuowle, a tithing in Buckland-

Newton parish, Dorsetshire, 3^ miles NE of Cenie-Abbas.
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Brokenborough, a parish in Wilts, 2 miles NW of Malmes-

bmy station on the G.AV.R. It lias a post office under

Malmesbury, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 2(134; population, 381. The manor belonged to

the Saxon kings, and passed to the Jlolines. Some Roman
remains have been found. The living is a vicarage annexed

to the vicarage of Charlton in the diocese of Gloucester and

Bristol. The church is good. The Jlalmesbnry Union
Workhouse is situated in this parish.

Broken-End. See Undekcliff.
Brokenheugh, a hamlet in the parish of Hajdun Bridge,

Northumberland, 6 miles WXW of Hexham, and 1^ ENE
of Haydon Bridge station on the Newcastle and Carlisle

section of the K.E.E. Hexham is the post town ; money

order and telegraph office, Haydon Bridge.

Brombil. See Beoombill.
Bromblow. See Brojilo^v.

Bromborought ^ township and a parish in Cheshire. The
township lies on the Mersey, 4^ miles S by E of Birkenhead,

and has a station on the Bhkenhead and Chester section of

the L. & N.W.R. and G.W.R., and a post, money order, and

telegraph office (S.O ) under Birkenhead. It had formerly a

weekly market, and an annual fan' by charter of lung Edward
I. It adjoins the Eastham feiTy on the Mersey, and is

believed to be the site of the battle of Brunenburgh, fought

by King Atbelstan ui 937. Acreage, 1531) of land and

1690 of water (including 902 tidal water and 772 foreshore);

population, 1662. The parish includes also the township

of Brimstage, which foiins pai-t of Thornton Hough ecclesi-

astical parish. Bromborough Hall is the chief residence.

Bromborough Pool, a creek of the Jlersey, is occupied by
the Liverpool floating gunpowder magazines, and has on its

shore the establishment of Price's Patent Candle Com-
pany. A small priory was founded at Bromborough about

012 by Ethelfleda. The livmg is a rectory in the diocese of

Chester
;
gross value, i!343 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Chester. The church was rebuilt in

the Early English style in 1865. There is a church at

Bromborough Pool and a cottage hospital.

Bromby or Bnimby, a township and a village in Frod-

ingham parish, Lincolnshire, 7 milesWNW of Glanford-Brigg.

Acreage of township, 3024; population, 756. There is a

Wesleyan chapel here.

Brome or Broome, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 2

miles N of Eye station on the G.E.R., and 3J ENE of

Mellis. There is a post office under Scole, which is the money
order and telegi*aph office. Acreage of the cini parish, 90S

;

population, 274; of the ecclesiastical, with Oakley, 534.

Brome Hall belonged anciently to the Buctons, passed to the

Cornwallis family, and is now the seat of the Bateman
family. The old mansion, built about the middle of the 16th

century, has been taken down, and a new one erected on its

site. The living is a rectory, united with the rectoiy of

Oakley, in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £340 with

residence. The church is a stnicture of flint with stone

dressings, in mixed styles; it contains some handsome
monuments to members of the ComwalUs family.

Brome, Norfolk. See Broo.'»ie.

Brome, South. See Southbroom.
Bromeswell, a ^-illage and a parish in Suffolk, on the

river Deben, 1 mile NE of Melton station on the G.E.R.,

and 2^ miles NE of Woodbridge, which is the post town

;

money order and telegraph office, Jlelton. Acreage of parish,

1787, of which 29 are foreshore and water
;
population, 236.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Nonvich ; net value,

£180 with residence. Patron, the Mai-quess of Bristol.

The church is a building of flint, nibble, and brick, in the

Early English style.

Bromfield, a parish in Kent, on an affluent of the Med-
way, 2 miles from Harrietsham station on the L.C. &, D.R.

Post town, Maidstone ; money order and telegraph office,

Leeds. Acreage, 1449; population, 164. The living is

a vicarage, annexed to the vicarage of Leeds^ in the diocese

of Canterbm-y ; value, £300. Patron, the Archbishop of

Canterbury. The church is good, and was well restored in

1881.

Bromiield, a township and a parish in Cumberland. The
township lies on an affluent of the river Waver, 2^ milesNW
of Leegate railway station, and G W by S of Wigton. It
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includes the hamlets of Crookdale and Scales. Acreage,

3028
; population of the township, 384 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 1565. The pai'ish contains the four civil parishes

of Bromfield, Crookdale, and Scales ; Langrigg and Meal-
rigg; Blencogo ; Dundraw, Kelsic and W^heyrigg, and has
post offices at Langrigg under Aspatria and Allonby under
Maryport. The surface extends 9|- miles south-westward
to the coast, and borrows character from the proximity of

the Caldbeck and Skiddaw mountains. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle

;
gi-oss value, £295

with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Carhsle. The church
was restored in 1862, and again in 1803. A free endowed
school was founded in 1612 for fifteen scholars by Richard
Osmotherlawe, and it was enlarged in 1861. Under a scheme
of the Charity Commissioners it has become an elementary

school under the education department. Boucher the anti-

quarian was a native, and is burled here.

Bromfield, a village, a township, and a parish in Salop.

The village stands near the confluence of the Onny and the

Teme, 2^ miles NW by N of Ludlow, and has a station on

the Shrewsbury and Hereford Joint (G.W. and L. & N.W.)
railway, and a post, money order, and telegraph office (R. S.O.)

The township includes also the sub-townships of Lady Halton

and Priors Halton, Cookeridge, High Walton, Whitbatch, and
Burway. Acreage, 6722

;
population, 646. The parish

formerly contained the chapelry of Halford. Oakly Park,

contiguous to the village, is the seat of Lord Windsor. It is

a fine mansion, situated in a finely wooded park, containing

some very ancient oaks. A church and a religious house

containing twelve secular canons stood here in the reign of

Edward the Confessor (1042-66). It is also mentioned as

the church of St Maiy in the Domesday Book of William the

Conqueror (1080). In 1135 the College of Secular Canons
was transformed into a Priory of Regulars, who in 1155
affiliated themselves to the great Benedictine Abbey of St

Peter at Gloucester. In common with all other religious

houses it was dissolved in the reign of Heniy VIII., when
the property passed into the hands of Stephen Hadwall,

and by him was subsequently sold to Charles Foxe, whose
daughter married Matthew Herbert, from whom it descended

to the present owners. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Hereford; net value, £200 with residence. The
church adjoins some remains of the ancient priory; is an

ancient structure of various dates, with a tower, and was
repaired in 1850, and thoroughly restored in 1889-90.

Bromfleet. See Broomfleet.
Bromhall, a hamlet in Sunninghill parish, Berks. Here

was a small Benedictine nunnery, founded before the time of

King John, and given at the dissolution to St John's College,

Cambridge. Here also was the residence of Richard II.'s

queen, Isabella.

Bromhall. See Broomhall, Cheshue.

Bromham, a parish with a village in Bedfordshh-e, on the

river Ouse, 2 miles SW of Oakley station on the JI.R., and
3 WNW of Bedford. There is a post offlce under Bedford;

money order and telegi-aph office, Bedford. Acreage, 1827 ;

population of the civil parish, 319; of the ecclesiastical,

with Oakley, 569. Bromham Hall is the seat of the

Dynevor family. A bridge of 26 arches crosses the Ouse
at the village. The living is a vicarage, united with the

vicarage of Oakley, in the diocese of Ely
;
joint net yearly

value, £270 with residence. Patron, Eton College. The
church is very ancient but good, has a square tower, and
contains monuments of the Dyves and the Trevors. There

is a fine brass of 1435 date.

Bromham, a village and a parish in Wilts. The village

stands 1^ mile N of the Kennet and Avon Canal, 1| S of the

Roman road to Bath, 3 miles N by E of Seend station on

the G.W.R., and 3j NW of Devizes, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Chippenham. The parish

comprises 3519 acres; population of the ci^^l parish, 1137;
of the ecclesiastical, 932. The manor was held in the time

of Edward the Confessor by Earl Harold, and belonged in the

time of Henry VI. to Lord St Amand. Sloperton Cottage,

in the north, near Bowood Park, was long the residence and
eventually the death-place of the poet I\Ioore. The living is a

rectoiy in the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £764 with

residence. The church is Decorated English, richly sculp-

tured, has a handsome spire, was restored in 1869, aud con-
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tains tomts of the Bayntons, an alabaster tomb of Sir William

Tecotes, and a monmnental tablet to Dr Season, ivlio wrote
" Season on the Seasons." The chm'chjard contains the

grave of the poet Jloore. There are Baptist and Wesleyan

chapels, and almshouses. Bishop Webbe, the Somerset

county historian ColUnson, and Dr Season were natives.

Bromholm, a hamlet in Bacton parish, Norfolk, 4J miles

NE of North Walsham. It once had a market and priory.

See Bacton.
Bromley, a market-town and a parish in Kent. The

town has stations on the L.C. & D.E. and S.E.K., is 10

miles from London, and stands on high gi'ound, rising from

the Ravensboume river. It commands good news to the

W, SW, and S, and has many fine residences. It has a

post, money order, and telegi-aph ofiice. The town hall

is a brick structure in the Elizabethan style, erected in

1865. There are Conservative and Liberal clubs, a drill

hall and g}'mnasium, a recreation ground, a school of science

and art, a cottage hospital, a literary institute, and a bank.

The town is governed by a local board of 12 members. The
chm'ch has traces both of Norman and Deconated work, but

was mainly rebuilt in 1829, and consists of nare, chancel,

and aisles. It has at the west end an ancient embattled

tower, surmounted by a cupola, and contains a Norman
font, a brass of 1356, a monument of Dr Hawkesworth,

the chief writer of the " Adventurer," and the graves of

Bishop Pearce, Bishop Yonge, and the wife of Dr Johnson.

It was enlarged in 1873, and again in 1884, and now has

1200 sittings. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Canterbury
;

gross value, £500 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Worcester. The Church of St John is a stone

building in the Perpendicular style. The living is a vicarage

;

net value, £325 with residence. Christ Chui'ch was erected

in 1887, and is a brick structm-e in the Early English style.

There are Congregational, Wesleyan, Primitive ]\lethodist,

and Swedenborgian chapels, and a cemetery of 5 acres.

Bromley College is a large brick structm*e, founded in

1666 by Bishop Warner, and repaired in 1765; ^ves
residences and support to 40 widows. In 1875 the Gothic

chapel in connection with this college w.as rebuilt. The
civil parish comprises 4706 acres; population, 21,684;
population of the ecclesiastical parishes of Holy Trinity,

Bromley Common, 927; of St John the Evangelist, 2849;
of St Luke, Bromley Common, 4135 ; and of St Peter and

St Paul, 8505. The manor was given in the 8th centm-y by
Ethelbert, King of Kent, to the bishops of Rochester, con-

tinued with some slight intermptions to be held by them
till a few years ago. A palace was built on it by one of the

bishops soon after the Conquest, undei"went improvemeuts

hy successive bishops, was visited by Walpole and Pope, and
gave place in 1776 to a new palace, a plain brick mansion,

now the residence of the Child family. A chalybeate spring

is in the palace-gi-ounds, and another spring was formerly

there called St Blaize's Well, which had anciently a small

oratory, and was a resort of pilgruns in the Romish times at

Whitsuntide. An old mo.ated mansion, at the southern

extremity of the town, belonged successively to the Bangnels,

the Clai'ks, and the Simpsons. Plaistow Lodge, Bickley

Park, and Sundiidge are in the neighbom-hood.

Bromley, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, 1 mile

NNE of Bridgnorth.

Bromley, a township in Eccleshall parish, Staffordshire,

8 miles NW of Stafford.

Bromley, a hamlet in Wortley parish, near Sheffield, W.
E. York.slm-e, 7 miles SW of Barnsley.

Bromley-Abbots. See Abbots-Bromley.
Bromley-Bagots. See Bagots-Bromley.
Bromley-Common, a chapelry in Bromley pai-ish, Kent,

3 miles from Bromley town and railway station. It was
constituted in l.s43, and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph othce under Bromley. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Canterbury
; gi'oss value, £230 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The church was built in

1841, and is a handsome edifice in the Gothic style. St

Luke's, Bromley Common, is an ecclesiastical parish formed
in 1889.

Bromley-Cross, a station on the Bolton and Blackburn

section of the L. & Y.R., 2 miles N of Bolton, under which
there is a post, money order, and telegraph office.
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Bromley, Great, a village and a parish in Essex. The
village stands 3 miles SSE of Ardleigh station on the G.E.R.,

and 5i E of Colchester, under which it has a post office

;

money order office, Elrastead ; telegraph office, Ardleigh.

The parish comprises 2996 acres; population, 699. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans

;
gross value,

£077 with residence. The church is a fine building of flint,

rubble, and brick, cliiefly in the Perpendicular style. There
are also Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels. Great

Bromley Lodge is a chief residence, for many years in the

possession of the Unwin family. The Hall is beautifully

£itu.ated close to the church, with Large om.amental giounds,

and a lake 3 acres in extent.

Bromley-Hurst. See Abbots-Bromley.
Bromley, Little, a parish in Essex, 2J miles SE of Ard-

leigh station on the G.E.R., and 6 E by N of Colchester.

It has a post office under Manningtree, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 1844; population, 341. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of St Albans; net value,

£373 with residence. Patron, Wadham College, Oxford.

The church is an ancient building of pudding-stone, consist-

ing of chancel, nave, and an embattled western tower. There

is also a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bromley-Regis. See King's Bromley.
Bromley-St-Leonard or Bromley-by-Bow, a parish in

Jliddlese.x, on the river Lea, the Limehouse Cut, and the North

London and Eastern Counties railways, near Bow and Strat-

ford stations, 3| miles ENE of St Paul's, London. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office under Bow, London, E.

It has numerous mills and factories, with a brewery and dis-

tillery, and many of the inhabitants are employed in the East

and West India Docks. The limits include part of the City of

London Workhouse and part of Tower Hamlets Cemetery.

The parish comprises 8241 acres; population, 70,000. A
Benedictine nunnery, dedicated to St iLeonard, was founded

at Bromley in the time of the Conqueror by William Bishop

of London, and given at the dissolution to Sir Ralph Sadler.

The li\ang is a vicarage in the diocese of London
;
gross

value, £400 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of London,

The church belonged to the nunnery, and has Nonnan
traces. The vicarages of St Michael and St Gabriel are

separate benefices ; net value of St Michael, £300 ; of St

Gabriel, £213 with residence. St Michael's Church was
buUt in 1806-68, and is in the Early English style. St An-
drew's and St G-abriel's were built in 1869. There are also

the rectory of All Hallows, Devon Road, and the vicar-

age of All Hallows, East India Docks, with St Frideswide,

the latter having a net value of £300, and built in 1880.

There are a Wesleyan and various other denominational

chapels, almshouses, and some charities.

Bromlow, a township in Worthin parish, Salop, 3^ miles

WSW of Minsterley.

Bromore. See Breamore.
Brompton, a town and two chapelries in Chatham and

Gillingliam parishes, Kent. The town consists of two parts,

New and Old ; the former has a station on the L.C. & D.R.,

36 miles from London, and Ij mile E of Chatham; the latter

is on the brow of a hill overlooking the Medw.ay, 1 NE of

Chatham, under which it has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office. A grand naval hospital, barracks for the Royal

JIarines Light Infantry, barracks and hospital for the infantry

of the line, and barracks, with stables, for the Royal Engi-

neers are here, all within the extensive fortifications which
defend the dockyard and gun-wharf of Chatham. The bar-

racks include a museum, containing models and relics, and
there is a large military gymnasium. The chapelries are

Old and New Brompton. Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, 6205. The livings are vicarages in the diocese of

Rochester; value, £300 each. Old Brompton Church is a
neat edifice in the Pointed style, with a spire. New Bromp-
ton Church was built in 18G6 at a cost of £5800, and is in

the Early Decorated style. There are Wesleyan, Free Metho-
dist, and Bible Christian chapels.

Brompton, a suburb of London, in the parish of

Kensington, Middlesex, between Knightsbridge and Chel-

sea, 3i miles SW by W of St Paul's. It has post offices

under London, SW, and the railway stations of West Bromp-
ton and South Kensington. The north-eastern part is called

Old Brompton, and the south-eastern part New Brompton,
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Large part of the area is occupied by streets, terraces, cres-

cents, and squares, chiefly of modern erection, and form a

continuous town between Belgravia and Chelsea. A part,

formerly called Brompton Park, was famous for nearly 200

years as a nursery-garden. Henry Cromwell, William Penn

Ford, Count Rumford, A. Murphy, John Philpot Curran,

Sir Richard Phillips, the Rev. W. Beloe, Charles Incledon,

George Colmau, and John Reeve, were residents. See also

London.
Brompton, a large village, a township, and a parish

in the N. R. Yorkshire, adjacent to the N.E.R., IJ mile

N of Northallerton. The village has a station on the

railway, and a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Northallerton. Acreage of township, 3842; population, 1245.

The Ecclesiastical Commissioners are lords of the manor.

Here is Standard Hill, the scene of the victory over the Scots

in 1138. The inhabitants are chiefly weavers. The living

is a vicai'age in the diocese of York ; net value, £'24:Q with

residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Durham.

The church is good, and there are Wesleyan, Primitive

Methodist, and Baptist chapels.

Brompton, a tow-nship, a village, and a parish in the N. R.

Yorkshire. The township lies near the river Derwent, with

a station called Sawdon on a branch of the N.E.R., and 8

miles SW by W of Scarborough, and it has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under York. Acreage of the township,

5317; population, 702; of the ecclesiastical parish, 1405.

The parish contains also the townships of Snainton, Trouts-

dale, and Sawdon. The manor is thought to have been a

royal domain of the Northumbrian kings, who had a seat on

an eminence, now called Castle Hill, and it afterwards passed

to the Cliffords and the Cayleys. The living is a vicarage,

and includes the parochial chapehy (unendowed) of Snainton,

in the diocese of York; net value, £183. The church is

spacious and elegant. The poet Wordsworth was married

here in 1802. John de Brompton, the Cistercian monk, who
wrote a history of England, is supposed to have been born

here. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Brompton and Bhiston, a township in Church Stoke

parish, Salop, 1^ mile W of Chmxh Stoke. Acreage,

1817; population, 144.

Brompton, New and Old. See BKOJirxoN, Kent and

Middlesex.

Brompton-Patrick East or Patrick Brompton, a town-

ship and a parish in the N. R. Yorkshire. The township

lies on an affluent of the river Swale, near the Northallerton

and Leybum railway, 3^ miles NW by W of Bedale, under

which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph office,

Newton-le-Willows. Acreage, 1238; population, 163. The
parish contains also the township of Newton-le-Willows,

and part of the townships of Hunton, Scotton, and Arra-

thorne. Population of the ecclesiastical parish of Patrick

Brompton and Hunton, 856. The Duke of Leeds is lord

of the manor and one of the principal landowners. The

living is a vicarage, united with the chapelry of Hunton, in

the diocese of Ripou ; value, £229. Patron, the Bishop of

Ripon. The Church of St Patrick, which is ancient, was

thoroughly restored in 1864. The Aysgarth parish school

is situated in the township of Newton-le-Willows.

Brompton Potter, a hamlet in Canton parish, in the

E. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles E of Sherburn, on the York and

Scarborough railway.

Brompton-Balph, a parish in Somersetshire, 4 miles

from Wiveliscombe station on the G.W^.R. It has a post

office under Wiveliscombe (R.S.O.), which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 2736
;
population of the civil

parish, 360 ; of the ecclesiastical, 365. There are traces of

a Roman camp. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Bath and Wells: net value, £340 with residence. The
church is old. There is a Congregational chapel.

Brompton-Regis, a village and a parish in Somersetshire.

The village stands near the river Ese, 4^ miles NE of Dul-

verton station on the G.W\R., aud has a post office under

Dulverton (R.S.O.), which is the money order aud telegi'aph

office. It was once a market-town. The parish comprises

9029 acres; population, 682. A priory of Black canons

was founded at Barlinch in the time of Henry IL by William

de Lay. Building stone abounds. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Bath and W'ells ; net value, £286 with
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residence. Patron, Emmanuel College, Cambridge. Th*
church was restored m 1887. There are Congregational and

Bible Christian chapels.

Brompton-upon-Swale, a village and a township in

Easby parish, in the N. R. Yorkshh-e, on the river Swale, 3^
miles E of Richmond. The railway station is at Catterick

Bridge (IJ mile) on a branch of the N.E.R. There is a post

office under Richmond. Acreage of township, 1700; popu-

lation, 435 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, with Easby, 875.

There is a chapel of ease and a W^esleyan chapel.

Brom's Asll, a hamlet in Linton parish, Herefordshire-,

4 miles E of Ross, under which it has a post office; money
order office, Weston-undor-Penyard.

Bromsberrow or Bromsborough, a parish in Glouces-

tershire, on the verge of the county, 4 miles SE of Ledbury

station on the G.W.R. It has a post office. Bromsberrow

Heath, under Gloucester ; money order office, Redmarley

;

telegraph office, Eastnor. Acreage, 1810
;
population, 282.

The manor was granted by Cromwell to Culonel Yate for his

services in the Civil War, and passed to the Ricardo family,

in whose possession it remains. BromsbeiTow Place, the

manor house, is an e.^:tensive mansion in a good situation.

Perry is made in this parish. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Gloucester and Bristol; gross value, £309 wdth

residence. The church is ancient and excellent, and contains

two standards belonging to a regiment of cavalry of the Pai-lia-

meutarian aniiy commanded by Colonel Yate.

Bromsgrove or Broomsgrove, a market -town, the

head of a poor law union, and a parish, in W^orcester-

shu-e. The town stands on the river Salwarp, under

the Lickey Hills, 1^ mile W of the Bromsgrove station on

the M.R., near the Worcester and Birmingliam Canal, 13

miles NE by N of Worcester, and 144 (by rail) from London.

It was anciently called Bremesgi-ave, sent two members tO'

Parliament in the time of Edwai-d I., and held long the

estates of a corporate town, with bailiff, recorder, aldermen,

and other officers. It consists chiefly of one street about a

mile long, and contains many good modern houses, with

some very ancient ones, curious and picturesque. The old

Hop Pole Inn, a beautiful half-timbered huuse of 1572, was

restored in 1867, and is now used as a bank. Bromsgrove

has a head post, money order, and telegraph office, a railway

station, two banks, a town-hall of 1832, a gi-ammar school,

a college, a literaiy institute, a large drill hall, a school of

art, a cottage hospital, a corn exchange, a police station,,

and a workhouse ; and it is a seat of petty sessions and county

courts, aud publishes two weekly newspapers. It is governed

by a local board. The parish church is a fine building

situated on an eminence at the west side of the town; the

exterior is mainly Decorated and Perpendicular, the interior

contains some Early English arches, eleven stained -glass

windows, a fine organ, and a recently erected chancel

screen; it has a tower and spire 200 feet high, was re-

stored in 1858 by Sir G. Gilbert Scott at a cust of £5600,
and contains several altar-tombs and brasses to members

of the Talbot family and others. All Saints is a separate

ecclesiastical parish; the chm^ch was erected in 1874 in the

Decorated style. The Roman Catholic chapel was built in

1863, is in the Decorated English style of architecture, and

forms a conspicuous object to travellers entering the town.

There ai*e also Baptist, Congi-egational, Wesleyan and Piimi-

tive Methodist chapels. The gi-ammar school dates from

the time of Edward VI., and holds a scholarship at Wor-
cester College, Oxford. It was reorganized by the Charity

Commissioners in 1868, and considerably enlarged in 1883;
new buildings were added in 1893, called the "Lyttleton House."

A weekly market is held on Tuesday ; cattle fairs are held

on the second and last Tuesday of each month except De-

cember, when they are held on the first three Tuesdays;

there is also a pleasm-e, cattle, and horse fair on 24 June.

A considerable linen manufacture was formerly canned on,

but has ceased, and the chief manufacture now is nails;

there is also a button manufactory. Lord Windsor is lord

of the manor. Area of the civil parish, 11,649 acres
;
popu-

lation, 13,006 ; of the ecclesiastical parishes of St John the

Baptist, 4788, and All Saints, 4280. The parish includes

also the ecclesiastical parish of Catshill and portion of that

of Lickey, aud the hamlets of Dadford, Sidemoor, Bm'cot,

aud Rockhill. The Lickey Hills, a little north of the towiii,
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are on the watershed betweon the Severn and the Trent, and
command delightful views. A Premonstratensian priory

was founded in the time of Henry I, at Dodford, and part

of it is included in a farmhouse. There are mission churches

at Dodford and Sidemoor, and a Baptist chapel at the former,

and a Jlethodist chapel at the latter. Dodford is chiefly

occupied by market gardens, the pnncipal product bemg
strawbeiTies. The lining is a \'icarage in the diocese of

Worcester ; net value, £500 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Worcester. The Hving of All Saints

is a vicarage, in the gift of the Vicar of Bromsgi'ove
;
gross

value, -£2y9 with residence. The vicarage of Lickey is a

separate benefice, also in the gift of the Vicar of Bromsgrove.

Bromston, a hamlet in St Peter parish, Kent, near

Broadstatrs.

Bromwich, Castle. See Castle Bromwich.
Bromwich, Little, a hamlet in Aston parish, Warwick-

shire, 3t niiles E of and within the parliamentai'y borough of

Birmingham. It is included in the ecclesiastical parish of

Ward End.

Bromwich, West. See West Bromwich.
Bromyard, a small market-town, a township, the head

of a pour law union, and a parish in Herefordshire. The
town stands on the river Frome, 12 miles E of Leominster,

14 SW of Worcester, 14 NE of Hereford, and 134 from

London ; and has a station on the Worcester and Bromyard
branch of the G.W.R. It has pleasant, well-wooded, liilly

environs, and consists of a few streets. Many of the houses

are old and wooden ; but the town has been much improved
in recent years, and many new houses erected. It sent mem-
bers to Parliament in the time of Edward I., and is now a

seat of a county court, publishes a weekly newspaper, and
has a post, money order, and telegi-aph office under Wor-
cester, two banks, a church, a grammar school founded

by Queen Elizabeth, a cottage hospital, and Congregational,

Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels. The church

is chiefly Norman, consists of nave, chancel, aisles, with

a central embattled tower, contains an ancient alter-tomb

of a Baskerville, a number of other monuments, some stained

windows, and was anciently collegiate for three prebendaries.

A large building erected in 1871 is used as a temperance hall

and assembly rooms. There is a small trade in malting and
tanning, and a manufactni'e of spade handles ; but agriculture

is the chief interest. A weekly market is held on Thursdays,

fortnightly stock sales on Thursdays, and fairs on the

Thursday before 25 ilarch, the 2.5 March, 1 May, 3 May,
the Thursday before 25 July, 29 September, and the Thurs-
day before 29 October. Bromyard is noted for its races,

which are called " The Herefordshire Derby," and take place

on the Downs about a mile from the to^Mi. Acreage of town-
ship, 165

;
population, 1460 ; of the ecclesiastical parish,

2913. The parish contains also the townships of Winslow,
Linton, and Norton with Brockhampton. The living is a
^-icai-age in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £303 with
residence. Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The work-
house is in Linton township.

Bron or Bryn, an ancient British name or prefix, signify-

ing a slope, a hill side, an eminence, or a bill.

Broncastellan, a township in Llanbadarn-fawr parish,

Cardiganshire, on the river Rheidol, 1^ mile ESE of Aberyst-
with. Acreage, 508

;
population, 13'9.

Broncoed, a township in Mold parish, Flintshire, 1 mile

from Mold. It contains the hamlet of Gwernymynnydd.
Brondesbiiry, an ancient hamlet in Willesden parish,

Middlesex, adjoining Kilburn and West Hampstead, 2 miles

E of Willesden, and 3 from the Marble Arch, Hyde Park, on
the main high road to Edgeware. Population, 5622. It has
stations on the North London and Metropolitan railways, and
is being rapidly covered with houses. It gives the name to a
prebendal stall in St Paul's Cathedral, its lands having been
attached to that oflfice from a remote period, and it was
formed into an ecclesiastical district in 1867. The district

includes portions of the parishes of Willesden and Kilburn,
with the hamlet of Mapesbury which, like Brondesbury,
furnishes the name to a prebendal stall in the Metropolitan
Cathedral The church, erected in 1866 at a cost of £9000,
defrayed by the Rev. W. C. Williams, D.D., F.R.A.S., is a
building of stone in the Eariy English style. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of London
;
gross yearly value, £275
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(a rectory-house was built in 1892). There is a Baptist chapel

and an English Presbyterian church, the latter erected in

1888-89.

Brongwyn, a parish in Cardiganshire, near the river Teifi,

2 miles NW of Newcastle-Emlyn, and 11 W by N of Llan-
dyssil station on the G.W.R. It has a post ofBce undcp
Newcastle-Emlyn (R.S.O.), which is the money order and
telegi-aph ofiice. Acreage, 1645

;
population, 254. The

living is a vicarage, annexed to Bettws-Evan, in the diocese

of St Davids. The church is good, and there is a Congi'e-

gational chapel.

Bronington or New Fenns, a township-cbapeliy in Han-
mer parish, Fhntshire, 1 mile W of Fenns Bank station on the

Cambrian railway, and 4^ miles WSW of Whitchurch. It

has a post office under Whitchurch (Salop) ; money order

offices, Whitchiu'ch and Hanmer; telegi*aph office, Hanmer.
There are large brick and tile works, and peat moss litter

works. Acreage, 4692, much of which is peat
;
population,

624. The benefice is a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph;
value, £110.

Bronllys, a township in Llanbister parish, Radnorshire,

11^ miles W of Knighton.

Bronllys, Broynllis or Brynllys, a village and a parish-

in Brecknockshu'c. The village stands on the river Llyfni,

1 mile NW of Talgarth, and 7 miles SW of Hay, and has a

post office under Talgarth (R.S.O.), which is the money order

and telegraph office. The parish comprises 2187 acres:

population, 297. A rained castle here has been thought by

some to be of Phoenician origin, but was really a structure of

the 13th century, built after the model of the round tower

of Pembroke Castle. The li\-ing is a rectory in the diocese

of St Da\-id's
; gi'oss value, £131 with residence. The

church lias some Noiman windows and a detached bell-

tower. There is also a Calvinistic Methodist chapeh

Bronsil Castle, an ancient ruined castle in Eastnor
parish, Herefordshire, 2 miles E of Ledbury, near Eastnor
Castle. It was sun*ouuded by a double moat, and was once
the residence of Lord Beaucbamp, Lord Treasurer to

Henry VI.

Bronwydd Arms, a railway station in South Wales, on
the Carniarthi'n and Cardigan branch of the G.W.R., 3 miles

NNW of Carmarthen. There is a post office (R.S.O.) under
Carmarthen, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Bronygartli, a township in St Martin parish, Salop, 2^
miles W of Chirk, and 4J NNE of Oswestry. It has a post

office under Rnabon ; money order office. The Lodge; tele-

gi-aph office. Chirk. It is part of The Lodge ecclesiastical

parish.

Brook, a parish in the Isle of Wight, on the SW coasts

2j miles \VNW of Brighstone. There is a post office under
Newport ; money order and telegi-apli office, Brighstone-

Acreage, 995; population of the civil parish, 250; of the

ecclesiastical, 183. The manor belonged formerly to the

Bowennans, and belongs now to the Seely family. The manor-
house was built toward the close of last centrny, and occu-

pies the site of a previous one in which Henry VII. was
entei-tamed. The coast includes Brook Chine and Brook
Point, at the latter of which are remains of a very carious

mass of petrified trees. The living is a rectory in the d-ocese

uf Winchester
;
gross value, £250. The church is a very late

structm*e, pictm'esquely situated, and was gutted by fire ia

1863, but was rebuilt in 1864 in the Gothic style. The long

ledge of rocks makes this a dangerous coast, and lifeboats

are stationed at Brooks, Brighstone, and Atherfield.

Brook, a hamlet in Bramshaw parish, Hants, 7 miles SW
of Romsey.

Brook, a tithing in Kings-Sombourn parish, Hants, 7
miles N of Romsey.

Brook, a locality with a strong mineral spring, near Tavis-

tock, in Devonshire.

Brook, a parish in Kent, 2| miles SE of Wye station on
the S.E.R., and 4 NE of Ashford, under which it has a post

office; money order and telegraph office, Willesborough.

Acreage, 588
;
population, 143, The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Canterbury
; gi-oss value, £176. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of Canterbmy and Sir C. Honeywood,
alternately.

Brook or Gasper, a hamlet in Stourton parish, Somerset,

3J miles W of Mere.
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Brooke, a village and a parish iu Xovfolk, on an affluent

•of tlie river Yarc, 4f miles WNW of Loddon. Tlie nearest

station is Trowse, a suburb of Xorwich, distant G miles. The

village is 7 miles from Xorwich, under which it has a post and

money order office ; telegraph office, Loddon. Acreage of par-

ish, 215.3; population, 629. Brooke Hall, Brooke House, and

Brooke Lodge are the chief residences, and the first of these is

an edifice in the Grecian style, built in 1830. The Hving is

a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich; net value, £152 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is an

an ancient building of flint and stone in the Early English

style, and there is also a Baptist chapel.

Brooke, a village and a parish in Rutland, on the brook

Gwash, 2J miles SSE of Oakham station on the JLE. Post

town, Oakham, which is the money order and telegi-aph

office. Acreage of parish, 1439
;
population, 102. A small

Augustinian priory was founded here iu the time of Richard

I. by Hugh Ferrers, made subordinate to the monastery of

Kenilworth, and given at the dissolution to Anthony Coope.

The living is a chapelry, anne.'ied with Egleton and Langham

to the vicarage of Oakham, iu the diocese of Peterborough

;

united gi'oss yearly value, £800 with residence. It derives

its name from' the little brook (Saxon, broc) above mentioned.

The church has been thoroughly restored in the Jacobean,

its origin.al style.

Brookend, a locality in Woolaston parish, Gloucestershh-e,

4 miles S of Lydney. It has a post office under Lydney,

which is the money order and telegraph office.

Brookend, a hamlet in Shenley parish, Bucks, near the

L. & X.W.R., 3| mUes WISTW of Fenny-Stratford.

Brookend, Beds. See Nortiiill.

Brookfield or Highgate-Rise, an ecclesiastical parish

formed in 1853 out of the civil parish of St Pancras, Jliddle-

sex, near Higbgate. It is in the northern metropolitan postal

district. Population, 4123. The living is a vicar.age in the

diocese of London
;

gross yearly value, £442 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of London. The church, a building of

.stone in the Gothic stj-le, was erected in 1853. There is a

mission room and p.nrish house erected in 1883.

Brook-Green, a vilKage in Fulham parish, Jliddlesex,

adjacent to the north side of Hammersmith. It has a gi'oup

of Roman Catholic buildings, including a church, some alms-

houses, a Normal college, and reformatories for boys and girls.

Brookhampton, a township in Holdgate parish, Salop,

8 miles SW of Much-Wenlock.

Brookhampton, a tithing in Newingtou parish, Oxford,

on the river Thame, 2 miles N of Drayton.

Brookhill, a seat on the east side of the mouth of Dart-

mouth Harbour, Devonshire, in a wooded cove, screened by

hills, IJ mile SE of Dartmouth. The house contains sou-

venirs of Sir Walter Raleigh, and a rich series of historical

•emblazonments, and the grounds show fine scenic features

and contain the foundations of an ancient strong castle.

Brookhouse, a hamlet in Laughton-en-le-Morthen parish,

\y. R. Yorkshire, 6i miles SW of Tickhill.

Brookhouse, part of the village of Caton, in the parish of

Lancaster, Lancashire. See Caton.

Brookhouses, a hamlet in Cheadle parish, Staffordshire,

near Cheadle. The Cheadle gasworks are situated here.

Brookland, a parish in Kent, with a station on the S.E.R.,

68 miles from London. It has a post office under New
Romney (S.O.), which is the money order and telegi-aph

office. Acreage, 1892
;
population of the civil parish, 396 ;

of the ecclesiastical, with Fairfield, 465. The living is a

vicaiage, with Fairfield, in the diocese of Canterbmy ; gross

value, £300 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter

of Canterbury. The church is Early English, and has a

leaden-figured Norman font, and the bell-tower stands de-

tached, and is constructed of timber. There is a Wesleyan

chapel.

Brooklands, a suburb of Manchester, in Baguley ecclesi-

astical and Bowdon civil parish, Cheshire, 2J miles NE of

Altrincham, and 6 S of Manchester. It has a post, money

order, and telegraph office under Manchester, and a station

on the Manchester and Altrincham section of the L. & N.W.R.

Brook, North, a locality 1J mile from Exeter, in Devon-

shire, with a post office under Exeter.

Brook, North and South, two tithings in Jlitcheldevcr

fparish, Hants, 7 miles NNE of Winchester.
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Brooksby, a parish iu Leicestershire, on the river Wreak,

and on the Syston and Peterborough branch of the M.R.,

3 miles E of the Fosse Way, and 6J WSW of Melton-Mow-

bray. It has a station on the railway, and its post town is

Leicester; money order office, Rearsby; telegi-aph ofiice at

Brooksby station. Acreage, 867
;
population, 42. Brooksby

Hall was formeriy the seat of the Villierses, and was the

birthplace of the first Villiers Duke of Buckingham. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough; net value,

£200. The church, a fine building of stone m the Decorated

style, contains monuments of the Villierses.

Brook-Street, a hamlet in South Weald parish, Essex, on

Watling Street and the Ingerburn river, near the G.E.R.,

IJ mile WSW of Brentwood. A leper hospital, with chapel,

was founded here before the time of Edward I. by the

Bruyns.

Brookthorpe or Brookthrop or Brockthrop, a village

and a parish in Gloucestershu-e, under the Wolds, 2|- miles

NNE of Haresfield station on the M.R., and 4 miles S of

Gloucester. There is a post office under Gloucester, which is

the money order and telegraph office. Acreage of the civil

parish, 1094 ;
population, 180 ; of the ecclesiastical with

Whaddon, 426. The living is a vicarage united with the

vicarage of Whaddon and part of Tuflley in the diocese of

Gloucester and Bristol
;

gi'oss value, £254 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Gloucester, two turns, and

the Neeld family, one turn. The church is Early English,

with a saddle-b.ack tower, and has on the cornice of the south

porch a curious inscription relating to the execution of

Charles I.

Brookwood, a necropolis with branch railway to it near

Woking, in Surrey. See Woking.
Broom, a hamlet in Southill parish, Beds, 2 miles SW of

Biggleswade, under which it has a post office, and at which is

the money order and telegraph office.

Broom, a township in St Oswald parish, Durham, 2 miles

W of Durham city, which is the post, money order, and

telegraph office. Acreage, 108G
;

population, 1608. The

Ecclesiastical Commissioners are lords of the manor. There

is a small mission church at Broom Park, erected in 1883.

Bear Park, a populous colliery district and ecclesiastical

parish, includes this township. The church is Eariy English,

and was built in 1S79. The living of Bear Park is a vicar-

age in the gift of the Dean and Chapter of Durham ; net

value, £300. There is also a Wesleyan and a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Broom or King's Broom, a hamlet in Bidford parish,

Warwickshire, 2 miles S of Alcester. It has a station,

Broom Junction, on the Midland and East and West Junc-

tion railways, and a post office under Redditch ; money order

office, Bidford ; telegraph office at the railway station.

Broom or Broome, a parish in Worcestershue, 1 mile E
of Churchill station on the G.W.R., and 3| miles S of Stour-

bridge, which is the post town ; money order office, Clent

;

telegraph office, Hagley. Acreage, 731 ;
population, 109.

Broom House is a chief residence. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Worcester
;
gross value, £160 with resi-

dence. The clmrch is a brick structure, with a tower, and

contains a marble figure and tablet by Flaxman to Jlrs. Hill.

Broom and Rowton, a township in Stokesay, Clungun-

ford, and Hopesay parishes, Salop, 10 miles NE of Knighton,

with a station on the L. & N.W.R.

Broomhill, a hamlet in Margam paiish, Glamorgan, 2

miles SE of Abcravon.

Broome, a township in Cardington parish, Salop, 5J miles

NE of Church-Stretton.

Broome, a parish in Norfolk, near the Waveney river,

IJ mile NW of EUingh.am station, and Ij NE of Ditch-

ingham station on the G.E.R., and 2 miles NNE of Bungay,

which is the post, money order, and telegraph office. Acre-

afe, 1459
;
population, 491. The living is a rectory in the

dfocese of Norwich; net value, £191 with residence. The

church is an ancient building of flint and nibble in the Early

Gothic style. Broome House is a chief residence.

Broome or Brome, Suffolk. See Brome.

Broomfield, a parish in Essex, on the river Chelmer, near

the G.E.R., 2 miles N of Chelmsford, under which it has a

post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 2332
;

population o£ the civil parish, 898 ; of the ecclesiastical, 821.
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Tbe living is a vicarage io the diocese of St Albans ; net

yearly value, £218 witli residence. Patron, the Bishop of

St Albans. The church is a spacious building, with a large

round tower.

Broomfield. a parish in Somersetshire, among the Quan-

tock Hills, 5 miles N of Taunton station on the G.W.R., and

^j WSW of Bridgewater, under which it has a post oilice

;

money order and telegraph office, Kingston. Acreage, 4080
;

population of the civil parish, 3Si ; of the ecclesiastical, 394.

Fyne Court and Broomfield Hall are the chief residences.

Much of the surface is picturesque, and some points comm.and

extensive views. The living is a perpetual cm'acy in the dio-

cese of Bath and Wells; gross value, £tl7 with residence.

The church is good, and the churchyard has a stone cross.

Ked deer are occasionally found wild in this parish.

Broomfield, Cumberland. See Bkomkield.
Broomfleet or Bromfleet, a village and a township, fonn-

sng with Fasflect and part of Walling Fen an ecclesiastical

parish, in the E. R. Yorkshire. The township lies on the

river Hnmber, the Market-Weightou Canal, and the Hull

and Selby railway, on which it has a station for goods, oj
miles ESE of Staddlethorpe railw.ay station, and 8J E by

S of Howden. Post town, Brough. Acreage, 1745
;
popu-

lation of township, 243 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 451.

The railway crosses the canal here on a bridge with a cast-

iron span of 70 feet. The living is a perpetual curacy in

the diocese of York; gross value, £117 with residence.

There is a Wesleyan and a Primitive Jlethodist chapel.

Broomhall (St Mark's), an ecclesiastical parish in the

township of Ecclesall Bierlow, which foiius the SW portion

of Sheffield, in tbe W. E. Yorkshire. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of York; gross viilue, £600 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Vicar of Sheffield. The church, con-

secrated in 1S71, is in the Jliddle Pointed style, and has

a tower with a spire, and contains a richly carved pulpit of

al.abaster, and a beautiful reredos representing the Last

Supper.

Broomhall or Bromhall, a village and a township in

Wrenbnry-cum-Frith parish, Cheshire, 3i miles SSW of

Nantwich. Acreage, 1332; population, 12"7.

Broomhaugh, a township in Bywell-St-Andrew parish,

Korthumberland, on the river Tyne, adjacent to the New-
castle and Carlisle railway, oh miles ESE of Corbridge.

Hiding Mill (R.S.O.) is the post, money order, and telegraph

olfice, also tbe railway station. Acreage, 830
;
population,

234. Broomhaugh was a Roman settlement. There is a

chapel of ease and a Baptist chapel.

Broomhill, a parish in Kent and Susses, on the coast,

near the Ashford and Hastings railway, 4 miles E by S of

Eye, which is the post, money order, and telegraph office.

Acreage, 2495, of which 182 are water; population, 118.

It is a member of the Cinque Port of New Eomney, and
has no church.

Broomhill, a manor in Belbroughton parish, Worcester-

shire, oj miles ESE of Kidderminster.

Broomhill, a station on the Amble branch of the N.E.R.

and a hamlet, in the pai'ish of Chevington, Northumberland.

Post town, Acklington. There is a colliery here producing

excellent coal, which is conveyed to Amble on the coast,

and there shipped.

Broomholm. See Bromholjf.
Broomhope and Buteland, a township in Birtley parish,

Northumberland, 3 miles ESE of Bellingham station on the

North British railway.

Broomhouse, a hamlet in Abbeylands township, Alnwick
parish, Northumberland, 1 mile NE of Alnwick.

Broomley, a township in Bywell-St-Peter parish, North-
nmbfrland, on the Newcastle and Carlisle railway, 4i miles

SE of Corbridge. Stocksfield (R.S.O.) is the post, money
order, and telegraph office. Acreage, 4135

;
population, 676.

Broom Lodge. See Broomy Walk.
Broom-Park, a township in Ediingham parish, Northum-

berland, situated on the river Aln, 5^ miles W by S of Aln-
wick, which is tbe post town ; money order and telegi'aph

office. Glanton. Acreage, 471 ;
population, 50.

Broom Park, a seat in Barham parish, Kent, 7^ miles

SE of Canterbury. The house was built about 1G20 by a
member of the Dixwell family, and has marked architectural

features. The park contains some fine beeches.

EROTHERTON

Broomridge, once a considerable village, now annexed to

the Kimmerston Farm, in Furd parish, Northumberland, 6

niUes N by W of Wooler. This place, in common with
Brinkbura, is thought to be the Brunenburgh where Athel-
stane in 938 defeated the Scots and the Danes; and Haltwell

Sweire, about J a mile to the south, was the scene of Earl
Bothwell's defeat in 1558 by Sir Henry Percy. Cornhill

(R.S.O.) is the post office.

Broom, South. See Southbroom.
Broomsthorpe, a township in East Endh.am parish, Nor-

folk, 5J miles W of Fakenham. Acreage, 435
;
population,

16. It is sometimes described as a piirish.

Broomy Walk, an extra-parochial tract in Harbridge and
EUingham parishes, Hants, in the New Forest, on the river

Avon, 2i miles N of Ringwood. It includes Broom or Broomy
Lodge, and comprises 6880 acres.

Broseley, a small town and a parish in Salop. The town
stands on the river Severn, 4 miles NE of Much-Wenlock,
6 N of Bridgnorth, 7| SSE of WelHngton, and 158 by r.ail

from London. It has a station, Ironbridge and Broseley, on

the Severn Valley branch of the G.W.R., about a mile from

the town. It extends away from the river a distance of 2 miles,

in an irregularly-built sti-eet, crossed at intervals by small lanes.

It is eniTonnded by a mining district, in which coal and iron-

stone are worked ; it carries on manufactures of fire-bricks,

tiles, and tobacco pipes, and it has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (R.S.O.), a bank, a town-hall, and a newsroom
and library. A handsome fountain of Grinshill stone, in the

Early Decorated style, was erected as a memorial to Mr.
Pritchard, who was a native of Broseley .and high-sheriii' of

Salop. The church is in the Perpendicular style, and was
rebuilt in 1845 at a cost of £9000, with handsome square

crocketed pinnacled tower. There are Roman Catholic, Con-
gregational, Baptist, Wesleyan, Primitive Jletbodist, and Ply-

mouth Brethren chapels. The town is within the municipal

borough of Much-Wenlock, and is a seat of petty sessions.

There is a fair on the last Tuesday of April. The parish com-
prises 1991 acres

;
population of the civil p.arish, 4033 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 3047. The living is a rectory, united with the

rectory of Linley, in the diocese of Hereford
;
gross value,

£327 with residence. Patron, Lord Forester. The rectory

of Jackfield is a separate charge ; value, £120 with residence.

Brothercross. a hundred in Norfolk. It lies on the coas',

.around Burnhani-Westgate, and contains nine parishes.

Brotherick. See Brotheevvick.
Brothers-Water, a lake at the head of Patterdale, in

Westmoreland, 2 miles S of Patterdale Inn. It is f of a

mile long, ^ a mile broad, and 72 feet deep, fed by the

streams from the Red Screes, and it lies amid rugged masses

of rock and mountain, and has a picturesque character. Its

ancient name was Broadwater.

Brothertoft, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Kirton civil parish, Lincolnshire, 1 mile SSW of Langrick

station on the G.N. R., and 4i miles WNW of Boston, there

is a post office at Brothertoft ; money order office, Boston
;

telegraph office, Langrick Feny. Acreage of the township,

1835; population, 235; of the ecclesiastical parish, 125.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, £172. The church is a small building of stone in the

Early English style, rebuilt about the middle of the 19th

century, formerly belonged to Sempringham Abbey. Brother-

toft Hall is a chief residence. There is a charity worth
about £40 a year.

Brotherton, a large vilhage, a township, and a parish in the

W. R. Yorkshire. The village lies on the river Aire, and on

the York and North Midland railw.ay, 3 miles NNE of Ponte-

fract, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Noiananton. The station is at Burton Salmon (1 mile) on

the N.E.R. The parish contains the townships of Brother-

ton and ByT3in-cum-Sutton. Acreage of township, 933;

population, 1308 ; of civil and ecclesiastical p.arish, 1413.

Sir John W. R.amsden, Bart., is lord of the manor. A
plot of ground near the church was the site of a house in

which Thomas de Brotherton, son of Edward I. and ancestor

of the Dukes of Norfolk, was born while his mother was
with a hunting party. Limestone of superior quality is

found. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York ; net

value, £276 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter

of York. The church is very good, and there are Congre-
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p;ational, Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist cliapels, and

sume charities.

Brotherwick, a township in Warkworth parish, Nor-

thnmberland, on the river Coquet, adjacent to the N.E.R., G

miles SSE of Alnwick. Acreage, 186 ;
population, 23.

The Duke of Northumberland is lord of the manor. The

station is at Warkworth (1 mile) on the N.E.K.

Brotton, a township and ecclesiastical parish in the N. R.

Yorksliire. The township lies on the coast, with a station on

theN.E.R., 2k miles N of Saltburn-by-the-Sea, 6 KE bj

E of Guisbrough, and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office called Brotton (R.S.O.) The parish contains

also the townships of Kilton and Skinningrove and the

mining hamlet of Carlin How. Acreage of township, 2076

of land and 321 foreshore; population, 3544; of ecclesi-

astical parish, 5622. Ironstone is extensively worked.

The li\-ing is a rectory in the diocese of York ; net value,

£300. Patrou, the Archbishop. There are three dissenting

chapels, a cottage hospital, and a church in the parish.

The church is a new one in the Perpendicular style, erected

in 188S ; the old one is used as mortuary chapel.

Brough, a small old town, a township, and a parish in

Westinoi eland. The town stands on Watling Street and on

the rivulet Swindale, in the valley of the Eden, 3^ miles from

Warcop on the N.E.R., and 5 miles NNE of Kirkby-

Stephen. It occupies the site of the Roman station Veten-a,

was very early a place of importance, but now consists chiefly

of one long street. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Kirkby-Stephen, remains of an ancient

castle, a parish church, three other places of worship, and a

free school on the foundation of an hospital founded in

1506, now turned into a parish room or public hall.

The castle dates prior to the Conquest, was sacked in 1175
by William the Lion of Scotland, belonged for a time to the

Veteriponts, and passed to the Cliffords, suffered severe

injury in 1521 by accidental fire, and was repaired in 1660 by

the celebrated Countess Anne Clifford. The parish church

is an ancient edifice with a tower of 1513 or earlier, and

contains a monolithic stone pulpit and some old monuments.

The gi-eat Westmoreland horse and cattle fair is held on a

hill near the town on 30 Sept. and 1 Oct. The township in-

cludes the town, and is divided by the Hellbeck rivulet into

Market-Brongh and Church-Brougb. The parish contains

also the townships of Hellbeck, Stainmore, and Brough-
Sowerby, and is sometimes called Brough-under-Stainmore.

Ai'ca of civil parish, 21,650 acres; population, 656; of

ecclesiastical, 984. Some doubt exists as to the precise

boundary between the ecclesiastical parish and that of

South Stainmore. Hellbeck Hall, once the seat of the De
Hilbecks, afterwards of the Blenkiosops, stands on high

ground, commanding an extensive view. An ancient cross,

erected by William the Conqueror and Malcolm of Scotland

to mark the boundary between England and Scotland, stood

in Stainmore forest. The parish is hilly, and contains mines

of coal, limestone, and lead. A chalybeate spring is near

the church, and some Roman coins and other Roman relics

have been found. The lining is a vicarage in the diocese of

Carlisle ; net value, £500 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Carlisle. Lord JIayor Buckle was a native. There are

Baptist, Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels. In

1880, when the parish church was restored, a stone with an
ancient Greek inscription was found under the old porch.

The stone is now in the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge.

Brought ^ hamlet in Elloughton parish, in the E. R.

Yorkshire, on Ennine Street, and on the Selby and Hull

railway, adjacent to the Humber, lOi miles W by S of Hull.

It has a station on tiie railway, and a post, money order,

and telegi-aph office, and is sometimes called Brough-Ferry,
from a ferry on the Humber, It is said to be the site of the

Roman Petuaria, and Roman coins, bronzes, &c., have been

found here. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Brough, a township in Catterick parish, in the N. R.
Yorkshire, on the river Swale, 5 miles ESE of Richmond,
formerly a Roman settlement. Acreage, 1177; population,

105. An ancient hospital stood here, founded about the

time of Edward I. Brough Hall formerly belonged to the

family of De Burgh, hut is now the seat of the Lawsons.
There is a beautiful Roman Catholic chapel near the hall,

built in 1837 by Sir William Lawson.
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Brough, Skipsea, in the E. R. Yorkshire. See Dring-
HOE, Upton, and Brough.

Brough, Derby. See Brough and Shatton.
Broughall, a township in AVhitchurch parish, Salop, 2

miles E of Whitchurch. It has a Congregational chapel.

Earl Brownlow is lord of the manor.

Brougham, a parish in Westmoreland. The castle

stands on the river Lowther, adjacent to its confluence

with the Eamont, near the Lancaster and Carlisle rail-

way, 1| mile SE of Penrith. Near the castle is the

site of the Roman station Brovoniacum, and the Saxou
town of Burgham, a place of note now extinct. Post

town, Penrith. Acreage, 6226
;
population, 295. Brougham

Castle dates from the Saxon times, was granted by William
the Conqueror to his nephew, Hugh de Albiuois, passed to

the Cliffords, suffered desolation in the wars with the Scots,

was rebuilt by the Countess Anne in 1652, and passed to

the Tuftons. It comprised three square towers with con-

necting walls enclosing a large court, and extensive ruins of

it, grand and striking, still exist. James I. was entertained

here during three days on occasion of his last retmn to

England ; and the poet AVordsworth makes it the scene of

the great festival at the restoration of the *'good Lord
Clifford :"

'* From town to town, from tower to tower,
The red rose is a gladsome flower;
Behold her, how she smiles to-day
On this great throng, this bright array!
Knight, squire, and yeoman, page and groom,
We have them at the feast of Brough'm."

Faint traces of Roman works are seen in the vicinity, and
several Roman altars, urns, and coins have been found. A
neat, lofty, stone obelisk, called the Countess' Pillar, stands

a short distance to the south, erected by the Countess Anne
Clifford in 1636 to commemorate her parting from her

mother, and sung by Wordsworth, Rogers, JIrs Hemans, and
other poets. Brougham Hall, the seat of Lord Brougham,
crowns an eminence adjacent to the Lowther river, commands
a brilliant view to the mountains beyond Ullswater, and has

often been called the Windsor of the north. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Carlisle; net value, i;260 with

residence. Patron, Lord Hothfield. The parish church of

Brougham, dedicated to St Ninian, stands in a beautiful

situation near the river Eamont, 2j miles from Brougham
Castle, and away from any of the parishioners. Near to

Brougham Hall is an ancient chapel, originally erected in,

all probability for the convenience of the village of Brougham,
long since demolished. It was rebuilt by the Countess of

Pembroke in the year 1658-59. Being in a dilapidated

state about the year 1840, Lord Brougham thoroughly re-

pau'cd and beautified it, and it is still used for semce on
Sunday afternoons.

Brough and Shatton, a township in Hope parish, Derby-

shire, on head-streams of the river Derwent, 3^ miles ESE of

Castleton. The railway station is Miller's Dale on the M.R.
Acreage, 1040 ;

population, 56. The remains of a Roman
camp were found here, and Roman coins, bricks, and other

relics have been discovered.

Brough-on-Bain. See Burgh-upon-Balv.
Brough-Sowerby, a township in Brough parish, West-

moreland, lA mile S of Brough. Population, 128.

Broughton, a parish in Bucks, on the verge of the county,

3 miles SSE of Xewport-Pagnell station on theL. &N.W.R.^
and 4 NE by N of Fenny-Stratford. Post town, Newport-
Pagnell, which is the telegraph office ; money order office,

Milton Keynes. Acreage, 937; population, 122. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford

;
gross value,

£bS with residence. The church is a building of stone in

the Early Decorated style, and has some ancient brasses and
monuments.

Broughton, Aylesbury, Bucks. See Biekton-with-
BROUGHTON.

Broughton. a township in Wrexham parish, Denbighshire,

near Offa's Dyke, IJ mile NW of Wrexham, under which it

has a post office ; money order and telegraph office, Biymbo.

Acreage, 1242 ;
population, 5030. The inhabitants are em-

ployed in coal, iron, and lead mines, foundries, and quairies.

Broughton, a chapelry in Hawarden parish, Flintshire, 2

miles SE of Hawarden, and 5 SW of Chester. It has a
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station of the name of Brougliton-Hall on the L. & N.W.I!.,

and a post office nuder Chester; money order and telegraph

office, Hawarden. Brougbton Hall is a modern mansion

occupying the site of an ancient one. Ecclesiastically belong-

ing to Hawarden rectory, it has a beautiful church and

parsonage house close to it for the curate in charge of the

district.

Broughton, a hamlet in Monknash parish, Glamorgan,

5i miles SW of Cowbridge.

Broughton, a rillage and a parish in Hants. The Ullage

stands near to tlte Roman road from Winchester to Salisbur}',

probably on the site of the station Brigis or Brige, near tlie

river Anton, and 3 miles from Horsebridge station on the

L. & S.W.R. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Stockbridge (S.O.) The parish includes also

the tithing of Frenchmoor and the hamlet of Pittleworth.

Acreage, 345 ; population of the civil parish, 842 ; of the

ecclesiastical, with Bossingtou, 986. The living is a rectory,

united with the rectory of Bossington, in the diocese of Win-
chester; joint net valne, £000 with residence. The church is

good, and there are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels.

Broughton, a parish in Huntingdonshire, 4 miles W of

Warboys station on the G.E.R., and 5 NE of Huntingdon,

under which it has a post office ; money order and telegraph

office, Warboys. Acreage, 2372; population, 301. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely

;
gross yearly value,

about £220 with residence. The church, which was restored

in 1888-89, has a very interesting Early English double

piscina and an Early Norman font. Tliere is also a Baptist

ehapel.

Broughton, a township, a village, and a parish in Lan-
cashire, adjacent to the Preston and Lancaster railway, 3

miles N of Preston, with a station on the railway jointly

with Barton, and a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Preston. Acreage of township, 2356 ; population,

610. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Manchester,

in the gift of trustees ; net value, £190 with residence. The
church is dedicated to St John the Baptist. The tower is

good and dates from 1533. The nave was rebuilt in 1826.
and there are a Roman Catholic chapel and school, and also a

grammar school founded in the reign of Henry VIII. with an
endowment producing £120 a year. The parish also contains

the hamlets of Church, Ingol Head, Durton, Lightfoot Houses
and Sharoe, Haighton, and part of Barton.

Broughton, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire. The
village stands on Ermine Street, probably on the site of a

Roman station, near the river Ancholme, 3 miles NW of

Glanford Brigg, and 3i N of Scawby station on the JI.S. &
L.R., and has a post and telegraph office under Brigg ; money
order office. Scawby. The parish includes also the township

of Castlethorpe, and the hamlets of Manby and Gokewell.

Acreage, 7073
;
population, 1257. A nunnery was founded

here in 1185 by William de Alta Ripa. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Lincoln
; gross value, £940 with

residence. The church is an ancient edifice in mixed styles,

and contains some interesting brasses and monuments.
There are Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Broughton, a parish in Northamptonshire, on an affluent

of the river Nen, 3 miles SW of Kettering station on the

il.R. It has a post and money order office under Kettering,

which is the telegraph office. Acreage, 1742
;
population,

978. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough;

gross value, £500 with residence. Patron, the Duke of

Bucclench. The chmxh, an ancient building of stone in the

Norman, Early Decorated, and Perpendiculai- styles, was re-

stored in 1854. There is a Union dissenting chapeL

Broughton, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The
village stands on an affluent of the river Cherwell, 2i miles

SW by W of Banbury station on the G.W. and L. & N.W.R.
The parish includes also the township of North Newington,
and has a post office under Banbury, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Area of Broughton, 975 acres

;

population, 164; area of North Newington, 1108 acres; popu-
lation, 375; population of the ecclesiastical parish of Brough-
ton, with North Newington, 539. The manor belonged to the

De Broughtons, passed to the Wykehams and the Fiennses, and
belongs now to Lord Saye and Sele. Broughton Castle, the

mansion of the manor, stands on low ground, engirt by a wide
moat, and defended by a tower, comprises structures of the
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14th, the 16th, and the 10th centuries, built by respectively

the De Broughtons, the Wykehams, and the Fiennses, shows
marks of injuries sustained during the Civil War, includes

apartments where the death of Charles I. was decided on, and
where Cromwell's officers were quartered before the battle of

Edgehill, and contains some interesting pictures, old arms,
and curious works of art. The living is a rectory, with
North Newington, in the diocese of Oxford

;
gross yearly

value, £740 with residence. The church is of the 14th
century, with tower and spire, and contains some very fine

monuments. There is a Congregational chapel at North
Newington, and .an endowed school with £50 a year.

Broughton, a parish in Salop, 3i miles SSW from Wem.
It includes the township of Yorton, which has a station ou
the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Shrewsbury ; money order

office, Harmer Hill; telegraph office, Hadnall. Acreage,

904; population, 171. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Lichfield ; gross value, £64. The church was built in 1858,
is in the Early Decorated style, and consists of nave and
chancel, with bell-tniTet and vestry.

Broughton, a township in Bishops-Castle parish, Salop,

1 mile NW of Bishops-Castle.

Broughton, a township in Claverley parish, Salop, 4J
miles E of Bridgnorth. Acreage, 904; population, 171.

Broughton, a hamlet in Stoke St Mary parish, Somerset-
shire, 3| miles SE of Tamiton.

Broughton, a township in Croxton parish, Staffordshire,

4i miles W of Standon-Bridge station on the L. & N.W.R..
and 5J NW of Eccleshall, which is the post town. Brough-
ton Hall is an old Tudor mansion. The living is a perpetual

curacy in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value, £102. The
church, built in 1630, is small, and has a tower with six

very fine bells. It contains some ancient monuments and
brasses, and ancient stained windows.

Broughton, Warwickshire. See Bruton.
Broughton, a township in Kirby-in-Cleveland parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, which comprises the hamlets of Great and
Little Broughton, 3 miles SE of Stokesley station on the

N.E.R. It has a post office at Great Broughton, under
Northallerton, which is the telegraph office ; money order

office, Stokesley. Acreage, 3091
;
population, 604. A cairn,

on the summit of a mountain here, is alleged to be monu-
mental of a Danish chief. At Great Broughton, formerly a
Roman settlement, the hills contain a good supply of jet.

There are Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist, and Congregational

chapels.

Broughton. a township in Appleton-le-Street parish, in

the N. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles NW of Malton, which is the

post town. Acreage, 866
;
population, 97. An hospital

was founded here in the reign of Stephen by Eustace St
John.

Broughton-Astley, a township and a parish in Leicester-

shire. The township lies on the M.R., near the Fosse Way,
5^ miles N by W of Lutterworth, and has a station on the

railway. The parish contains also the hamlets of Prime-
thorpe and Sutton-in-the Elms, and has a post office under
Rugby, which is the telegraph office ; money order office,

Primethorpe. Area of the civil parish, 2472 acres
; popu-

lation, 785 ; of the ecclesiastical, 773. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly value, £600
with residence. The church is a large ancient building of

stone, chiefly in the Early English and Decorated styles. It

was restored in 1882. There is a Pai'ticular Baptist chapel

at Sutton.

Broughton-Brant. See Brast-Broughton.
Broughton Castle. Sec Broughton, Oxford.

Broughton-Church. See Chukch-Broughton.
Broughton-Cross, a station on the L. & N.W.R., 2J

miles W of Cockermouth, in Cumberland.

Broughton-oum-Filkins. See Broughton-Poggs.
Broughton, East, or Broughton-Field, a township and

a chapelry. formed into a separate parish in 1875 from the

parislx of Cartmel, in Lancashire, which includes the hamlets

of Aynsome, Field-Bronghton,Wood-Bronghton, and Grange,

3^ miles N of Cartmel railway station, and 9 NE of Ulver-

stone. Post town, Carnforth. Acreage, 3425 ;
population,

1743. Broughton Grove, Broughton Hall, and Broughton

Lodge are chief residences. The living is a perpetual curacy

ill the diocese of Carlisle
;
gross value, £241 with residence.
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Patron, tbe Duko of Devonshire and three other tmstces.

The church is plain.

Broughton-Gifford, a parish in Wilts, on the river Avon,

near the Kennet and Avon Canal, 1^ mile SW of Jlellvshani

station on the G.W.E., and 4 miles ENE of Bradford. It has

a post office under Jlelksham ; money order and telegi'aph

ofSce, Holt. Acreage, 1C29
;
population, 667. The living

is a rectoiy in the diocese of Salisbury ; net value, £350 with

residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is of

the time of Henry VII., was restored in 1878, and has a

brass of 1620. There are AVesleyan and Baptist chapels.

Roman coins have been found in the neighbom-hood. In this

parish Muukton fiu-m was once a small monastery, Little

Broughton, which was given by Henry VIII. to the Duke of

Somerset, who was subsequently beheaded.

Brouglitoii, Great, a township and a parish in Cumber-

laud. The township lies on the liver Derwent adjacent to

the Cockermouth and Workington railway, on which it has

a station. It has a post and money order office under

Cockermouth, which is the telegraph office. Acreage, 2073

;

population of township, 1417 ; of ecclesiastical parish, 2200.

The parish is more extensive than the township, and includes

Little Broughton and Eibston. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Carlisle ; net value, .£149 with residence. The
church is new. There are Baptist, Wesleyan, and Primitive

Methodist chapels, and a Friends' meetmg-house; also an

endowed school and almshouses.

Broughton, Great and Little, hamlets in Broughton

township, Kirby-in-Cleveland parish, N. E. Yorkshire. See

BnocGiiTOX.
Broughton-Hackett, a village and a parish in W^orcester-

shire, 5 miles E of Worcester, which is the post town and

money order office ; telegi'aph office, Spetchley (goods) station

on the M.R , which is a mile distant. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Worcester ; net value, £55 with residence,

in the gift of the Crown. The church is Early English, and
was restored in 1856.

Broughton-Hall, a station on the L. & N.W.Pi., 5 miles

SW tf Chester.

Broughton, Higher and Lower. See IIanchestee.
Broughton-in-Airedale, a vilhige, a township, and a

parish in the W. li. Yorkshire. The rillage stands near the

river Aire, the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, and the North

Midland railway, 1 mile from Elslack railway station, and

4 miles WSW of Skipton, under which there is a post office

;

money order and telegraph office, Carleton. It is thought

to occupy a Roman station. The parish includes also the

village and township of Elslack. Area of the township,

2401 acres; population, 165 ; of the parish, 257. Broughton

Hall is the seat of the Tempest family. At Broughton Hall

there has been for many years a noted strain of shorthorn

cattle. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon ; net

value, £184 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Canons

of Christ Church, Oxford. The church was originally Nor-

man, and still shows traces of that style, among these being

two Xorman doorways and a Norman font ; the tower .and

pillars are Early English ; the east window, which has evi-

dently taken the place of a much larger one, is of debased

Perpendicular style. There is a Roman Catholic chapel ad-

joining Broughton Hall.

Broughton-in-Fumess or West Broughton, a small

market-town and parish, Lancashire. The town stands tV mile

from the river Duddon, near the Furness railw.ay, on the

branch line to Coniston, 10 miles by road and 15 by rail NW
of Ulverston, is situated on a slope, with houses of stone

clustered round a regnltir square, and has of late years

undergone great improvement. It has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Carnforth, two chief inns, an en-

dowed school, and three banks. A weekly market is held on

Wednesday, and fairs on 27 April, 1 Aug., and 6 Oct. for

cattle .and sheep, and fairs for hiring of servants at Whit-
suntide and JIai-tinmas. A manufacture of woollen yarn

used to be carried on, and an export trade in roofing-slates,

wooden hoops, and spale baskets is now considerable. Acre-

age of the civil parish, 7298; population, 1159; of the

ecclesiastical pai-ish, 1178. The manor belonged for several

centuries to the Broughton family, and was forfeited in 1487
by Sir Thomas Broughton, who joined Lambert Simnel, and
fell in the battle of Stoke. Broughton Tower crowns an
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eminence commanding the town, and includes part of the
ancient mansion of the Bronghtons, with a brilliant and
extensive view of the estuary of the Duddon and neigh-
bouring mountains. The living is a vicarage in the diocese-

of Carlisle, in the gift of five trustees
;
gross value, £300

with residence. The church is an old stone building with
Saxon remains in fair state of preservation, was partly rebuilt

in 1873, with a beautifully situated mission church, ia
Dunnesdale. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Broughton-Lane, a station on the 5LS. & L.E., adjacent
to Sheffield.

Broughton, Little, a township in Bridekirk parish,

Cumberland, 3i miles W by N of Cockermouth. Acreage,
1022

;
population, 820. There is a Baptist chapel ami a.

Friends' meeting-house.

Broughton-Mill, a hamlet on the NW verge of Lanca-
shire, on the river Lickle, 2i miles N of Broughton-in-
Fm-ness.

Broughton, Nether, a parish in Leicestershire, on the-

verge of the county, near the Fosse Way and the Grantham
Canal, 6 miles N\V by N of Melton-Mowbnay, and H mile

NE of Old Dalby station on the M.R. It has a post' office-

under Melton-Mowhr.ay ; money order office, Hickling ; tele-

gi'aph office, Old Dalby. Acreage, 2301
;
population, 400.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; value,

about £368 with residence. The church has an embattled

pinnacled tower, and is an ancient building of stone in the-

Gothic style. There are a Wesleyan chapel and a small

charity for the poor.

Broughton-Poggs or Broughton-Pogis, a village and a.

parish in Oxfordshire, on the verge of the county, 3 miles N
of Lechlade station, and 3 W of Alvescot station, both on
the G.W.R. Post and telegraph office, Lechlade ; money
order office, Filkins. Acreage of the civil parish, 909 ;.

popidation, 8S; of the ecclesiastical, 114. The living is a
rectory in the diocese of Oxford, and until 1864 was united

with Filkins
;
gross value, £300 with residence. The chiu'ch

is a small building of stone in the Early English, Norman^
and Decorated styles.

Broughton-Sulney or Upper Broughton, a township,

a village, and a parish in Nottinghamshire, on the high

road between Nottingham and Melton-Mowbray, and on tlie-

verge of the county, near the Fosse Way and the Grantham
Canal, with a station on the M.R. There is a post office

called Upper Broughton, under Jleltou-Mowbray, which is-

the telegi-aph office ; money order office, Hickling. Acreage
of township 1902

;
population, 345. Stilton cheese is made-

in the neighbourhood, and bricks and tiles are manufactured.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell
;

gross,

value, £409 with residence. The church was partly rebuilt

in 1855. There is a Baptist chapel.

Broughton-under-Blean. See Boughtox - usder-
BI,E.i^.-.

Broughton, Upper. See Broughton-Sulney.
Broughton, West, a hamlet in Doveridge parish, Derby-

shire, 9 miles NW of Burton-upon-Trent.

Broughton, West, Lancashire. See Broughton-ix-
FUKNESS.
Brown-Bank, a shoal in the North Sea, midway between

Norfolk and Holland.

Brown-Candover, a pai-ish in Hants, 5 miles from.

Alresford station on the L. & S.W.R. It has a post office,

under Alresford ; money order and telegraph office, Prestoni

Candover. Acreage, 2810 ;
population of the civil p.ai'ish,

259 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Chilton Candover, 348..

The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of Chilton

Candover, in the diocese of Winchester
;

gi-oss value. £33i^

with residence. Patron, Lord Ashburton. The church is

an erection of 1845, in the Early Tudor style.

Brown-Clee, a hill, Sh miles SW of Bridgnorth, in Salop.

It has an altitude of 1801 feet, comprises numerous thin

strata of coal, ironstone, and limestone, overlaid by basalt,

has much wood on its ascents, especially on the east, and is

flat-topped. It has two summits, each marked by an ancient

camp. Abdon-Burf and Clee-Burf.

Brown-Edge, an ecclesiastical parish in Norton-in-the-

Moors parish, Staffordshire, 3 miles N of Burslem. It was
constituted in 1844, .and h.as a post office under Stoke-upon-

Trent ; money order office, Norton ; telegraph office, Milton,
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Population, 1052. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Lichfield ;
gross value, £204 with residence. P,atron, the

Bishop of Lichfield. The church was built in 1845. There

are Weslej.an and Primitive llethodist chapels.

Brown-Edge, a hill, 1000 feet high, close to Ashton-

under-Lyne, in Lancashii'e, commanding views of Yorkshire

Moors.

Brownestone, a chapeliT, with a village, in Modbury
parish, Devonshire, 2 miles from Ivy Bridge station on the

G.W.R.. and 3 N of Jlodbuiy. The living is a perpetual

curacy, annexed to the vicarage of Modbui'y, in the diocese of

Exeter. The church is a bad specimen of modern Gothic

architecture.

Brown-Gilly, a hill, (U miles NW of Liskc.ard, in Corn-

wall. It is 1100 feet high.

Brownhill, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in Batley

township and municipal borough, W. R. Yorkshire, 6J miles

NW of Wakefield. Birst.all is the railway station and post

office. Population of ecclesiastical parish, 4256. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Wakefield, in the gift

of the Vicar of Batley ; value, £245 with residence. The
church is a modern building in the Early English style of

architectui-e.

Brownhills, a village and an urban sanitary district in

Staffordshire. The vilkage is in Ogley Hay ecclesiastical

parish, near Cannock Chase, 5i- miles NNE of Walsall, and

6 W of Lichfield. It has a st.ition on the L. & N.W.E. and
also on the Brownhills and Alridge branch of the M.K. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Walsall.

There are extensive coal mines, giving employment to a con-

siderable population. The village is governed by a local

board. There are Congregational, Wesleyan, and Primitive

Methodist chapels. AiTa of the ui'ban sanitaiy district,

8842 .acres ; population, 13,703.

Brownlow-Hill. Sec Liverpool.
Brown-Rigg, a hill, dividing the head of Long Dale

from the head of Harwood-Dale, 9 miles S of Whitby, N. E.

Yorkshh-e.

Brownsea or Branksea, an island and a chapehy in

Dorsetshire. The island lies in Poole hai'bom', 2 miles

SSE of Poole, measui'es about 4 miles in cuxnit, and forms

a romantic gi'oup of glens and hillocks, with about 100
acres recently reclaimed from the sea. It is ^ mile distant

from the Sand Bank, where is a very beautiful road to

Bournemout, 4 miles distant. It was long used as a deer-

park, but has now a rillage. A castle on it was bnilt in the

time of Elizabeth fordefence of the harbour, and sti'ongly forti-

fied in the time of Charles I. for the wars. It was thoroughly

restored in 1888. The chapelry was constituted in 1855, and
is conterminate with the island. Parkstone is the post

town, and the money order and telegraph office. The area is

1000 acres ;
population, 122, The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £30. The chmTh was
built in 1854, and is in the Early Decorated style, of Pm-
beckstone, with a square embattled tower.

Brownshall, a hamlet and a hundred in Dorsetshire.

The h.amlet is in Caundle-Bishop parish, 5i miles SE of

Sherborne, and is an ancient place. The hundi'ed contains

Caundle-Bishop parish and three other parishes.

Brownsholme or Browsholme, the seat of the Pai-kers,

on the W border of W. E. Yorkshu-e, in the valley of the

Hodder, 4 miles NNW of Clitheroe. The house is in the

Tudor style, dating from the reign of Henry VII., and con-
tains the original seal of the Commonwealth, and some
interesting paintings and antiquities.

Brownside. See Chixley, Bugsworth, .o>'d Brown-
side.

Brownsover, a township-chapelry in Clifton-on-Duns-
more parish. Warwickshire, near the confluence of the Avon
and the Swift, and the Oxford Canal, 3 miles N by E of

Rugby, which is the post town. Acreage, 913
; popula-

tion, 72. Brownsover House is the seat of the Leighs. The
living is a chapehy, annexed to the vicarage of Clifton-on-

Dunsmore, in the diocese of Worcester. The church is

Early English, and was restored in 1877 by Sir G. Gilbert

Scott; it consists of chancel and nave, and contains a pulpit

said to have been brought from a Belgian monasteiy. Laur-
ence Sheriff, the foimder of Eugby school, is clauned as a
native.
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Browns-Wells, a hamlet in Fimhley parish, Middlesex,

1 mile SW of New Southgate and Friern Bamet station on
the G.N.E., and 7 miles NXW of St Paul's, London. The-
Islington and St Pancras cemeteries are adjacent.

Brown-Willy, a mountain on the watershed of the NE
of Cornwall, 4i miles SE of Camelford. It consists of

gi-anite, has an altitude of 1368 feet, is crowned by a pile of

stones, serves as a sea-mark, and commands a new of the

remotest parts of Devon and Cornwall, with part of Somerset
and the Bristol Channel. A large stream-work for tin of its

own name is at its base.

Browston, a hamlet in Belton parish, Suffolk, i\ miles

SSW of Yarmouth. Browston Hall is the chief residence.

Broxa, a township in Hackness parish, in the N. R. York-
shire, 4J miles NW of Scarborough. Acreage, 533

;
popula-

tion, 41. Lord Derwent is lord of the manor and sole land-

owner.

Broxbourne or Broxbome, a village, a township, and a
parish in Herts, on the river Lea. The New river also

iiins through the parish. The village stands on the

verge of the county, ^ of a mile W of the G.E.E., and

4J miles N by W of Wiiltham Abbey, has a station on the

railw.ay, aud a post, money order, and telegi-aph ofKce-

(S.O.) The township includes the vilkage, and comprises

1932 acres ;
population of the civil parish, 776 ; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, 1179. The parish includes also part of the

town and chapelry of Hoddesdon. The manor belonged to the-

Knights of St John, .and passed to the Cocks, the Jlonsons,

.and others. Broxbonrne-Bury is now the seat of the Smith-
Bosanquets, and here Sir H. Cock entertained Jiimes I. The
living is a vicariige in the diocese of St Albans ; net value,

£361 with residence. The church is a fine building of the

Perpendicular period, dating about 1420, and consists of

nave, chancel, aisles, and two small chapels, with a plain

tower and beacon-turret; contains an old pillared font,

Norman or Saxon, and many interesting brasses and monu-
ments; was restored in 1857, and further repaired and
improved in 1880. The perpetual curacy of Hoddesdon is a
separ.ate benefice. There are some decorative terra-cotta

works, and some extensive nursery grounds in the neigh-

bourhood. The village is also a favourite resort during the

summer months on account of its facilities for boating and
fishing.

Broxfield, a township in Embleton parish, Northumber-
land, 2t miles NNE of Alnwick, and ^ mile from Little Mill

station on the N.E.R. The Duke of Northumberland is lord

of the manor and sole landowner. Alnwick is the post, money
order, and telegraph office. Acreage of township, 319

;

population, 20,

Broxholme, a parish in Lincolnshire, adjacent to the-

G.N. .and G.E. Joint railways, 2^ miles N of Saxilby station,

and 6 NW of Lincoln, which is the post town ; money order

and telegraph office, Saxilby. Acreage, 1351; population,

85. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net

v.alue, £181 with residence. The church, a building of

stone in the Decor.ated style, was rebuilt in 1857.

Broxted or Great Broxted, a parish in Essex, on the

river Chelmer, 4 miles E of Elsenham station on the G.E.E.,

and 5 NW of Dunmow, under which it has a post and money
order office ; telegi'aph office, Elsenham. Acreage, 3178

;

population, 588. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

St Albans; net yearly value, £320 with residence. The
church, an ancient edifice of stone in the Early English

style, was restored in 1876. There is also a Congregational

chapel.

Broxton, a township in Malpas parish, Cheshu-e, 4J miles

N of JIalpas. It has a station on the Chester and Shrews-

bury branch of the L. & N.W,E,, and a post and telegraph

office under Chester ; money order office, Clutton. Acreage,

2131
;

population, 558. Broxton Hall and Bolesworth

Castle are the chief residences. There is also a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Broxtow, a hamlet and a wapentake in Notts. The
hamlet is in Bilborough parish, 3J miles NW of Nottingham,

and was once a parish. The wapentake lies around the

hamlet, extends 23 miles northward from the Trent, and 22
eastward from Derbyshire, and is cut into two divisions,

north and south. The north division contains 19 parishes

;

the south division 15 pai'ishes.
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Broxwood, a manor and a liamlet in Pembridgc parisli,

Herefordshire, oj miles SW of Pembridge. It has a post

'iffice under Leominster ; money order office, Pembridge
;

telegraph office, Lyonshall.

Broyle, The, an ancient embankment about a mile N of

Chichester, in Sussex. It extends a considerable distance N
and W, and is thought to indicate the Roman station Reg-

mum, but has not been fully investigated.

Broynllis. See Bronllys, Brecknockshire.

Brue, The, a river of Somerset. It rises in Selwood

Forest, on the eastern border, and runs about 30 miles west-

M-ard, past Bruton, Castle-Cary, and Glastonbuiy to Bridge-

water Bay, near the estuary of the Pan-et.

Bruen-Stapleford, a village and a township in Tarvin

parish, Cheshire, 7 miles E of Chester. Acreage, 754
;
popu-

lation, 145.

Btoiera. See Churtox Heath.

Bruem, a township which fonns part of the ecclesiastical

parish of I\Iilton-under-Wychwood,in Oxfordshire, 5 miles N
of Burford, and 2j SW of Chipping-Norton Junction station

on the G.W.R. There is a post and money order ofBce at

Milton, under Chipping-Norton ; telegraph office, Shipton

railway station. Acreage, 1876
;
population, 38. A Cister-

cian abbey was founded here in 1147 by Nicholas Basset, and

given in the time of James I. to Sir Anthony Cope. The

buildings were changed into a private residence, and were

destroyed by lire in the 18th century. Old fish-ponds con-

ziected with them still exist.

Brugham or Burgham, The, a stream of Montgomery-

shire, falling into the Severn near Llanidloes.

Bmisyard, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on the river

Aide, 3 miles NE of Framlingham station on the G.E.E., and

4^ WNW of Saxmundham. There is a post office under Sax-

mundham; money order and telegi"aph office, Peasenhall. Acre-

age of parish, 1138
;
population, 252. The manor belongs to

the Earl of Stradbroke. A chantry or college was removed

hither in 1354 from Campsey, changed afterwards into a

nunnery, and given at the dissolution to Nicholas Hare.

The living is a \-icarage in the diocese of Norwich ; net value,

£60. Patron, the Earl of Stradbroke. The church, a small

building of flint in the Perpendicular style, has a brass of

1611.

Brumby. See Bkomby,
Brumstead or Brimstead, a parish in Norfolk, 1 niile N

of Stalham station on the Eastern and Midland railway, 3

jniles SW of the coast, 7 SE of North Walsham, and 16 NE
of Norwich. Post town, Stalham, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 797
;
population, 101. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich; net yearly

value, £140 with residence. The church, a small edifice of

flint and stone, was restored in 1866.

Bmnanburch. See Brinkuurn and Broomridge.
Bnmd, a hamlet in Sheen parish, Staffordshire, on the

Manifold, 2J miles SE of Longnor.

Bnmdall, a village and a parish in Norfolk, on the river

Yare and the G.E.R., 5f miles E of Norwich. There is a

station on the railway, and a post and telegraph office under

Norwich ; money order office, Blofield. Acreage of parish,

1012
;
population, 347. Brundall House is a chief residence.

The living is a rectory annexed to the rectory of Witton in

the diocese of Norwich
;

joint net yearly value, £314 with

residence. The church, a small edifice of stone in the Early

First and Second Pointed styles, and dedicated to St Laurence,

has a curious font said to be 700 years old.

Brundish, a village and a parish in Suffolk, 4^- miles N
by W of Framlingham station on the G.E.R. There is a post

office under Framlingham (R.S.O.), which is the money order

office ; telegraph office, Stradbroke. Acreage of parish, 2126;

population, 377. The living is a perpetual curacy annexed

to the vicarage of Tannington in the diocese of Norwich
;
joint

net yearly value, £150 with residence, in the gift of the

Bishop of Norwich. The church is a building of flint in the

Perpendicular style.

Birtmdon. See Ballingdon-cum-Brundon.
Brunenburgh. See Axminster.
Bnmsley. See Brinsley.
Bmnslow, a township in Edgton parish, Salop, at Tong-

ley Hill, 3^ miles SE of Bishops-Castle.

Brunstead. See Brumstead.
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Brunstock, a village in Crosby-upon-Edcn parish, Cum-
beriand, 3 miles NNE of Cariisle.

Bnintcliffe, a hamlet in Morley-with-Churwell parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, 7 miles W of Wakefield, and 1 mile from
Morley railway station. It has a post and money order office

under Leeds ; telegraph office, Gildersome. There is a mission

church and a Primitive Methodist mission room,

Bninthwaite, a hamlet in Silsden parish, W. R. York-
shire, 31 miles N of Keighley.

Bnintingtborpe, a parish in Leicestershire, 4 miles ESE
of Broughton-Astley station on the M.R., and 5j NE by
N of Lutterworth. It has a post office under Lutterworth,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Countes-

thorpe on the M.R. is the station generally used. Acreage,

1266
;
population, 258. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Peterborough ; value, £150 with residence. The church

was rebuilt in 1873. There is a fine picture of the Descent
from the Cross, painted by a former rector named G. Free-

man, an academician. There is also a small Baptist chapel.

Bnmton, a tithing in CoUingbourne-Kingston, parish,

Wilts, 4^ miles NNW'of Ludgershall.

Brunton, East and West, two townships in Gosforth

parish, Northumberland, 4 miles N of Newcastle. Area of

East Brunton, 056 acres; population, 133; area of West
Brunton, 1143 acres; population, 78. Coal of superior

quality exists here, but has in great measure been worked out.

Brunton, High and Low, form a townsiiip called Brunton

in Embleton parish, Northumberland, adjacent to the N.E.R.,

7^ miles NNE of Alnwick. The railway station is at Christon

Bank, 2 miles distant. Acreage, 972 ;
population, 33.

Bmsbfield, a township in Bakewell parish, Derbyshire,

5^ miles NW by W of Bakewell. Post town, Stockport.

Acreage, 648 ;
population, 26. The Duke of Devonshire is

lord of the manor and sole landowner. Monsal Dale (IJ
mile) on the M.R. is the station.

Brushfield, Hants. See Braishfield.
Brushford, a parish in Devonshire, 3 miles from Egges-

ford station on the L. & S.W.R., and 5 S by W of Chum-
leigh. Post town, Wembworthy, whick is the money order

office; telegraph office, Winkleigli. Acreage, 923; popula-

tion, 69. The manor belonged anciently to Hartland Abbey,

and has belonged since the time of Elizabeth to the Luston

family. The living is a private curacy in the diocese of

Exeter; gross value, £51. The church consists of nave and
chancel, with porch and tower. It was restored in 1878.

Brushford, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Exe,

1 mile S of Dulverton station on the G.W.R. Post town,

Tiverton ; money order and telegraph office, Dulverton. Acre-

age, 2848; population, 370. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Bath and Wells; net value, £350 with residence.

Patron, Earl Carnarvon. The church is good, and was re-

stored in 1887. There are a Wesleyan chapel and an endowed
school.

Bruton, a small town and a parish in Somersetshu-e. The
town stands on the river Brue, among a cluster of hills, 10^
miles SSW of Frome, and has a station on the G.W.R., 117

miles from London. It is a place of considerable antiquity.

A Benedictine monastery was founded at it in 1005 by Algar,

Earl of Cornwall ; changed into a priory of black canons in

1142 by William de Mohun, Earl of Somerset; raised to

the dignity of an abbey in the time of Heniy VIII., at the

instance of the then prior, who was coadjutor to the Bishop

of Bath and Wells ; and given at the dissolution to Sir

Maurice Berkeley. The town consists of three streets, and

has a post, money order, and telegraph office (S.O.), a bank,

a pax-ish church, a Congregational chapel, a Wesleyan chapel,

a gi-ammar school, and an hospital. The church is Later

English and large, has two quadrangular towers, one at the

west end, the other at the north aisle, the former richly

ornamented, and contains a fine tomb to Sir Maurice Berkeley

and his two wives, and some other good monuments. The
parsonage adjoining the church was built in 1822 from the

ruins of the abbey. The grammar school was founded in

the time of Edward VI. by Fitz-James, bishop of London,

has £400 a year from endowment, and holds two exhibitions

at the universities. The school also receives £300 a year

from Hugh Sexey's Hospital, which is awarded in scholarships

tenable at the school. There is a newly erected technical or

trade school, with an endowment of £400 a year and about
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SO pupils. An hospital, founded in 1C18 by Hngh Sexey,

said to have been a waiter in the town, maintains 30 old men
and women, and 15 girls are trained for domestic service.

It gives £1400 a j-eai- to various schools for educational pur-

poses. Brewing and manufactures of horse hair are carried

on. Dampier the na\'igator was a native. The parish in-

cludes also part of the pai'ish of Eastrip containing Sheepliouse

Fai-m. Acreage, 4007 ; population of the civil parish, 1788 ;

of the ecclesiastical, 1582. Eedlj-nch Park is a seat of the

F.arl of Ilchester. A Roman pavement was found in 1711

at Discove. » The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath
-ind Wells; gross value, £168 with residence.

Bruton or Broughton, a hamlet in Whitchurch pai-ish,

AVarwiokshire, 5^ miles S of Stratford-on-Avon.

Bryan-Askham. .^ti- Askiiam-Bry.in.

Bryan-Maimd or Maund-Bryan, a townsliip in Boden-
liam parish, HLrefonlsliire, S miles XXE of Hereford.

Bryanstone or Blandford-Bryan, a parish in Dorset-

shire, on the river Stuur. 1 mile from Blandford station on

the Somerset .and Dorset Joint raihv.ay. It has a post office

under Blandford, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 1644 ; population, 242. Bryanstone House
liere is the seat of Viscount Portman, is a large ijiansion

after a design by Wyatt, has an octagoniil staircase 30 feet

in diameter, and stands in a park upwai'ds of a mile long.

The living is a rectory, annexed to the rectory of Durweston,
in the diocese of Salisbury ; value, £442. Patron, Viscount

Portm.in.

Bryants-Puddle, a tithing in AfF-Puddle parish, Dorset-

shire, on the river Piddle, 7i miles NW of Wareham.
Bryher. See Breh.\k.
Brymbo, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in Wrex-

h.am parish, Denbighshire. The township lies on Offa's Dyke,

3j miles NW of Wrexham, under which it has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. It has a station on the Wrexham,
Mold, and Connah's Quay railway, and on a short branch of

the G.W.E. from Wrexham. Acresige of the township, 2543
;

population, 4213; of the ecclesiastical parish, 8345. The
ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1844. Brymbo Hall

was designed by Inigo Jones. There are collieries and ex-

tensive ironworks. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

St As,aph; net value, £220 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Wrexham. The church was erected in 1837. There
are Congregarional, Calvinistic Jlethodist, Wesleyan, and
Baptist chapels.

Brymmburgh. See Brajiber.
Brympton. See Bkimptox.
Bryn. See Brox.
Bryn, a township in Llan-y-Blodwel parish, Salop, 5j

miles SW of Oswestry.

Brynammau or Upper Bryuajmnan, an ecclesiastical

parish in Carmarthenshire, on the Swansea Valley branch of

the Midland and the Garnant branch of the G.W.R., 18 miles

KXE of Llanelly. It has a railway station, and a post,

money order, and telegraph office (Upper Brynammau, R.S.O.)

Population, 1617. There are collieries, tinworks, and iron-

works. The ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1889.
The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St David's

;
gross

value, £16. Patron, the Bishop of St David's. The church
was erected in 1884. There are Congregational and Calvin-
istic Methodist chapels.

Brynammau, Lower, a h.amlet in Llangwicke parish,

Glamorgan, adjacent to Upper Brynammau, 6 miles N of

Pontardawe. It has a post office under Upper Brynammau
(R.S.O. ), which is the money order and telegi-aph office.

There are Baptist and Congregational chapels.

Bryncethin, a hamlet 3 miles from Bridgend in Glamor-
gan, with a post office under Bridgend ; money order and
telegraph office, Aberkenfig.

Bryncoch, a locality 2 miles XAV of Xeath, Glamorgan,
with a post office under Neath, which is the money order and
telegraph office.

Bryncoedifor, an ecclesiastical parish in Dolgelly parish,

Merionethshire. It was constituted in 1853, and its post town
is Dolgelly. Population, 173. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Bangor; gross value, £160 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Bangor.

Bryncroes, a parish in Carnarvonshire, on the river Soch,
under Jlynydd-Rhiw, 12 miles WSW of Pwllheli railway
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st.ation. Post town, Pwllheli, which is the money order and
telegraph office. Acreage, 3717; population, 796. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor ; net valire, £101.
There .are Calrinistic Methodist and Baptist chapels.

Bryncrug, a hamlet in Towyn parish, Merionethshire, 2h
miles from Towyn. It has a post and money order office

under Towyn (R.S.O.), which is the telegraph office. There
are Wesleyan and Calvinistic Methodist chapels.

Bryncwm, a township in Llanelidan parish, Denbighshire,

5.i miles S of Ruthin.

Bryn-Eglwys, a p.arish in Denbighshire, 6 miles NE of

Corwen railway station, and 11 WNW of Ruabon. It is

divided into the townships of Bodynwydag, Bryntangor,

Fanybedwell, Gwrthrina, and Llan, and it has a post office

under Corwen, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 3584; population, 312. Much of the surface is

upland. There is a mineral spring. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St As,aph ; net value, £131 with residence.

There are Calvinistic Jlethodist and Wesleyan chapels.

Brjmffyuon, a village in Llanfair-is-Gaer parish, Carnar-

vonshire, 2 miles NE of Carnarvon.

Brynford, a township in Holywell parish, and an ecclesi-

astical parish in Holywell and Ysceifiog p.arishes, Flintshire.

The township lies 2 miles SE of Holywell. The eccleshas-

tical parish was constituted in 1853. Post town, Holywell.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 704. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of St Asaph; gross value, £200.
Patron, the Bishop of St Asaph.

Brynglas, a township in Llanfair-Caereinion parish, Mont-
gomeryshire, 1 mile SW of Llanfair.

Brynglas, a station on the Tal-y-Llyn railway, 3 miles

NE of Towyn, Merionethshire.

Bryn-Gwaeddan, a township in Llangadfan parish, Mont-
gomeryshire, 7 miles AVNW of Llanfair.

Bryngwran, a hamlet in Anglesey, 3i miles N by W of

Valley station on the L. & N.W.R., and 8' ESE of Holyhead.

It has a post and money order office under Valley (R.S.O.)

;

telegi'aph office, Bodedern.

Brjmgwyu, a township in Tremeirchion parish, Flintshire,

3J miles E of St Asaph.

Bryngwyn, a parish in Monmouthshire, 2J miles WSW
of Kaghiu station on the G.W.R., and 7 SE by E of Aber-
gavenny. Post town, Raglan. Acreage, 1481 ;

population,

252. There is a British camp. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Llandaff; net viilue, £195 with residence.

Patron, the Marquis of Abergavenny. The church is Early
English.

Bryngwyn, a parish in Radnorshire, on the river Arrow,
6 miles NNW of Hay, which is the post town. Acreage,

4587
;
population, 209. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of St David's ; net value, £160 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of St David's.

Bryngwyn, a station on the Llanymynech and LlanfylUn

branch of the Cambrian railway, 2 miles W of Llanfyllin,

Montgomeryshire.

Bryngwyn, a station on the North Wales nai-row gauge
railway, 2 miles N of Nantlle, Caniarvonshire.

Bryngwyn, Isa and Ucha, two townships in Caerwys
parish, Flintshire, on the verge of the county, 6 miles ESE
of St Asaph.

Bryning-with-Kellamergh, a township in Kirkham
parish, Lancashire, 2 miles SW of Kirkham. Acreage, 1061;
population, 102.

Brynkinalt, a township in Chirk parish, Denbighshire,

on the river Dee, 1 mile NE of Chirk. Brynkinalt House,

a modern Gothic mansion, belongs to the Trevor family, the

direct line of which became extinct on the death of Lord
Dungannon in 1862. It was the scene of much of the early

hfe of the Duke of Wellington, his mother being thed.aagbter

of Lord Dungannon.

Brjmkir, a station on the CarnaiTonshire branch of the

L. & N.W.K.. tl miles NW of Afon-Wen.
Brynllywaroh, a township in Kerry parish, Jlontgomery-

shire, 2 miles SE of Newton.

Brynmawr, a market-town and a civil and ecclesiastical

parish in Breconshire. The town is 14^ miles west-nortli-

west of Merthyr Tydtil, 22 north of Cardiff, and 173 from
London. It has a station on the Ebbw Vale, Mertbyr,

,".nd Abergavenny branch of the L. & N.W.K., aud a
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post office with money order and telegraph departments.

Acreage of the civil parish, 1436; population, 6413;

of the ecclesiastical parish, G143. It was once a large

seat of coal and ii'on-works, but the coal is exhausted and

the iron ore is not suited to the present method of manu-
factui'ing steel. Markets are held on Saturdays, and fairs

on Whit Monday and the Slonday before 25 Sept. The
town is governed by a local boai'd, which holds its meetings

in the Market Chambers, and is a scat of petty sessions.

There are also a public hall and two banks. The cemetery

of 11 acres was opened in 1851, and the chm-chyai-d was

consecrated in 1888. The ecclesiastical parish was consti-

tuted in 1875. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St

David's ; net value, £230 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of St David's. The church was erected in 1872. There are

Roman Catholic, Congi-egational, Baptist, Wesleyan, Primi-

tive and Calvinistic Methodist, and Presbyterian chapels.

Brynmenin, a hamlet in Llangeinor parish, Glamorgan,

1 mile X of Tondu, and 4 miles NE of Bridgend. It has a

station on the Llynvi and Ogmore branch of the G.W.K.,

and a brL-wery.

Brynmill Road, a station on the Swansea and ilumbles

railway, 1^ mile SVV of Swansea. Brynmill Park is adjacent.

Brjra-Saddler, a locality 2 miles SW of Llantrissant, in

Glamorgan, with a post office under Pontyclun (R.S.O.),

which is the money order and telegi-aph office. There is a

Calvinistic Methodist chapel.

Brynshenkin or Brynsiencjni, a village in Llanidan

parish, Anglesey, G miles SWof Menai Bridge, and 4^ from

Llanfah'. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Llanfair (R.S.O.), a chui'ch, and three dissenting

chapels.

Bryntalch, a township in Llandysil parish, Montgomery-
shire, 2 miles SW of Montgomery.

Bryntangor, a township in Bryn-Eglwys parish, Den-
bighshhe, 5^ miles NW of Llangollen.

Brynteg, a locality in Anglesey, 3^ miles S of Pentraeth,

with a post office under Menai Bridge (R.S.O.), which is the

money order and telegraph office.

Brynuchel-with-Tafolog, a township in Cemmes paiish,

Montgomery ^hire, 8 miles NE of Machynlleth.

Bubb-DoWB, a wooded eminence in Dorsetshire, adjacent

to the Wyemouth and Yeovil railway, 2 miles N by E of

Evershot. It forms a conspicuous landmark, and commands
a very extensive and brilliant \'iew.

Bubbenhall, a paiish in Warwickshire, on the river Avon,

4 miles SW by S of Brandon station on the L. & N.W.R.,

and 5 SSE of Coventiy. It has a post and money order

office under Kenilworth; telegraph office, Wolston. Acreage,

1265 ;
population, 234. The li^dug is a rectory in the

diocese of Worcester; net value, £116 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Worcester. The church is good.

Bubnell. See Baslow.
Bubwith, a large village, a township, and a parish in

E. E. Yorkshire. The township lies on the river Derwent,

and on the Selby and Market-Weighton railway, 65- miles

NE by E of Selby, and has two stations on the railway,

Bubwith and Bubwith-High-Field, f of a mile distant from

each other, and a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Selby. Acreage, 1545
;
population, 566 ; of ecclesias-

tical parish, 1166. The parish contains also the townships

of Harlthorpe, Foggathorpe, Gribthorpe, Willitoft, Spalding-

ton, and Breighton-cum-Gunby. A bridge of three large and
seven smaller arches crosses the Derwent in Bubwith town-

ship. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York, in the

gift alternately of the Lord Chancellor and the Dean and
Chapter of York

; gross value, £205 with residence. The
church is a &ae edifice consisting of nave, aisles, and chancel,

with square, embattled, and pinnacled tower. There are Wes-
leyan and Pruuitive Methodist chapels and several charities.

Bishop Nicholas de Bubwith, who attended the council of

Constance, was a native.

Buckabank or Buckhow-Bank, a village in Dalston

parish, Cumberland, on the river Caldew, IJ mile from
Dalston station on the Carlisle and Maryport railway, and

5^ miles SW of Carlisle, which is the post town. It includes

the hamlets of Unthank and Lingey Closehead.

Buckby, Long, a village and a paiisli in Northampton-
Bhire. The village stands near the head of the river Nen,
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1^ mile E of Watling Street, and 5^ XE of Daventrj'. It-

has a station of the same name on the L. & N.W.E., and a
post, money order, and telegraph office under Rugby. Acre-
age of the civil parish, 4U78

;
population, 2267; of the

ecclesiastical, 2263. The paiish includes also Long Buckby
Wharf, a hamlet situated 2 miles from the village, on the
banks of the Grand Junction Canal, and containing a mission
church, and part of the hamlet of Murcott. Long Buckby
has a large market-place, in the centre of which stands a
fine coronation pole. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Peterborough ; net yearly value, £305 with residence, in

the gift of the Bishop of Peterborough. The parish church
of St Laurence was probably built in the Early Enghsh period,

and afterwards Decorated. Its restoration was completed in

1883. There is a Congi-egational chapel erected in 1773
with a minister's residence, and a Baptist chapel built in

1846. Many of the inhabitants are engaged in the making
of boots and shoes, and brewing, malting, Ume bui-ning, and
brick-making are also carried on. Fairs are held on 1 May
and 11 Oct., and dming the summer months cattle sales are
held fortnightly ou Tuesdays. Buckby Hall, a modern
country seat, is situated near the centre of the "village.

Buckden, a village and a parish in Huntingdonshire.

The village stands 4 miles SW of Huntingdon, and 5 Nfrom
St Neots. There is a station of the same name on the M.R.
within 1 mile N of the village, and the OSbrd and Buckdea
station of the G.N.R. stands a short distance to the E. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Hunting-
don. The parish includes also Stirtloe hamlet. Acreage,

3114; population, 1048. The manor was given in the time
of Henry I. to the bishops of Lincoln. The residence of the

bishops, an ancient, moated, brick structure, was here till

1838, and then authority was given by order in Council to

pull it down and apply the proceeds towards the providing

of a new palace. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Ely; gross yearly value, £350 with residence. Patron, the
Bishop of Peterborough. The church is a handsome edifice

of stone in the Perpendicular style, consisting of chancel,

nave, aisles, south porch, and an embattled western tower

with a spire. There are Baptist aud Wesleyan chapels, an
endowed school, four almshouses, and other charities, £200,
Bishop Maltby of Durham was vicar. Slhtloe and Buckden
Towers are country seats in this parish.

Buckden, a township and a village in Ai-ncli£fe parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, on the river Wharfe, llj miles NE of

Settle. The township includes the hamlets of Craye, Deep-
dale, Yokenthwaite, Beckermonds, and Oughtershaw. and
has a post office under Skipton ; money order office. Kettle-

well; telegraph office, Grassington. The area of the township^

which consists chiefly of moorland, is 16,076 acres
;
popula-

tion, 239. Cattle and sheep fairs are held on 13 Sept. and
12 Oct. respectively. There is a Wesleyan chapel-

Buckeuham, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Yare, and
on the G.E.R., 7^^ miles ESE of Norwich. It has a station

on the railway. Post town, Norwich ; money order office^

Burlingham; telegraph office, Brundall. Acreage, 928;
population of the civil parish, 95 ; of the ecclesiastical, with

Hasingham, 217. A Roman station is supposed to have-

been here, and there is a ferry over the Yare. The lining is

a rectory, united with fehe rectory of Hasingham, in the

diocese of Norwich; joint net yearly value, £205 with resi-

dence. The church, an ancient building of flint in the-

Norman style, has an octagonal tower, and a stained east

window.

Buckenliam, New, a parish and a small town in Norfolk.,,

5 miles SE of Attleborough station ou the G.E.R., and 7^
S by W of Wymondham, with a post, money order, and

telegi'aph office under Attleborough. The town consists

chiefly of small narrow streets, and is u-regularly built. A
weekly market was formerly held on Satm-day, and fairs are

still held on the last Thmsday of Jlay and 22 Nov. for

cattle. The parish comprises 360 acres; population. 525.

A town was founded here in the time of Henry II. by William

de Albini. The liWng is a vicarage in the diocese of Nor-

wich ; net yearly value, £85 with residence. Patrons, the

inhabitants who are ratepayers. The church is partly of

1479, partly earlier, and has a square tower. There are

Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels, and almshouses

for four women.
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Buckenham, Old, ;i pleasant and very salubrious village

in Norfulk, for the most part sm'roundiug a park or green of

40 acres, 3 miles SSE of Attleborough station on the G.E.E.

It has a post and money order ofJice under Attleborough

;

telegi-aph office, New Buckenham. Acreage of parish, 5021

;

population, 10C3. There is a fine old parish church with

thatched roof, the patronage of which is vested in a body of

resident trustees; value of the benefico, £8G per annum.

The manor was given by the Conqueror to William d'Albiui,

and in 1146 William d'Albini the younger, E,irl of Arundel,

founded a priory here for Austin monks, and another for

Augustine canons. A castle was built here by him on the

site of an old Saxon castle, and as he made it his resi-

dence, the place was formerly of considerable importance.

The castle is now in ruins. There are Baptist and Primi-

tive Methodist chapels, and charities worth about £105
a year.

Buckenham-Tofts or Buckenham-Paxva, a township

in Norfolk, on the river Wissey, G miles NE of Brandon station

on the G.E.R., and 8 SW by W of Watton. Post town,

Mnndford (R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegra^jh

office. Acreage, 666
;

population, 43. It is attached to

Ickbm'gh, and these, together with Langford, constitute one

parish. Buckenham-Tofts Hall, formerly called Buckenham
House, is a chief residence.

Buckenhill, a township in Woolhope parish, Hereford-

shire, 6J miles N of Ross.

Buckerell, a parish in Devonshire, on leknield Street, the

river Otter, and the L. &. S.W.R., 2^ miles from Sidmouth

Junction. It has a post office under Honiton, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1340 ;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 243 ; of the ecclesiastical, 274.

Buckerell Lodge and Hembury Fort are chief residences.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net viilue,

£161 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Exeter. The church is cruciform, .and has a richly carved

oak screen.

Buckfast Abbey. See Buckfastleigh.
Buckfastlelgb, a small manufacturing town and parish of

Devon. The town stands on the river Dart, and has a station

on the G.W.R., 224 miles from London. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.), and a town-hall.

It dates from old times, was formerly a m.irket-town, and

cai'ries on blanket, serge, and paper manufactures. There

are also some tanneries. Fairs are held on the third Thurs-

day of June and the second Thursday of September. The
parish, which includes part of Dartmoor, comprises 5882
acres

;
population, 3009. The manor belonged to Buck-

fast Abbey, was given at the dissolution to Sir Thomas
Dennis, It now belongs to the Earl of Macclesfield.

Buckfast Abbey stood on the Dart, about a mile N of the

village, succeeded a Saxon monastery founded in 918, and
was itself a Cistercian establishment of 1137 founded by

Ethelbard, son of William Pomeroy. The buildings of it

covered several acres. The abbey has been purchased by the

Roman Catholics, partly rebuilt, and is now a Benedictine

monasteiy. Black niai-ble and limestone are quarried, chiefly

to supply kilns. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Exeter; gross value, £250 with residence. The church sur-

mounts a limestone eminence overhanging the Dart, half a

mile from the village, is Early English, with mixtures of

Perpendicular and Debased Tudor. The churchyard con-

tains ivy-clad remains of an ancient chmch or chantry, and
there is a Norman font in the church in addition to the high

altar. There were originally four side altars. A chapel of

ease was built in the Plymouth Road in 1894. There are

Congregational and Wesleyan chapels.

Buckhom-Weaton, a parish in Dorsetshire, on the verge

of the county, 3i miles WSW of GiUingham station on the

L. it S.W.R., and 4 SE of Wincanton. It has a post office

under Bath; money order and telegraph office, Sandley.

Acreage, 1705; population, 491. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Salisbury; gross value, £273 with residence.

Buckhow-Bank. See Buckab^vkk.
BuGkhurst Hill, an ecclesiastical district in Chigwell civil

parish, Essex, on the G.E.R., containing about 150 acres of

Epping Forest, 10 miles NE of London. It is situated in

some of the highest land in the neighbom'hood of the forest,

over which it commands extensive views, and has a station of
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the same name on the railway, and a post, money order, and
telegraph office (S.O.) It w.as constituted a rectory in 1860.
Population, 4130. The living is a rectory in the diocese of
St Albans ; net yearly value, £400 with residence, in the
gift of the Vicar of Chigwell. The church, a modern struc-

ture in Early EngUsh style, w.as first erected in 1837 and
enlarged in 1864, 1879, .and in 1892. The tower, with spire,

was erected in 1879, and contains two bells. The mission

church of St Stephen, built of brick in 1876, provides for

the residents on the cast side of the G.E.R. There are a
Baptist, a Wesleyan. and two Congregational chapels, also

a place of worship UNcd by the Plymouth Brethren.

Buckhurst Park, the seat of Lord Delawarr, in Sussex,

Oi miles ESE of East Grinstead. The gate tower of the

splendid, ancient, extinct mansion of the Sackvillcs is ad-
jacent.

Buckingham, a municipal borough and a market and
union town in Bucks. The town stands on a bend of

tlie river Ouse, and has a station on the L. & N.W.E.,
by which it has communication in five directions toward
Banbury, Oxford, Aylesbmy, Bedford, and London, and
a branch canal of 10 miles, formed in 1801, goes from
it north-eastward down the valley of the Ouse to the
Grand Junction Canal and Stony-Stratford. The town
dates from ancient times. Remains of a Roman \-illa were
discovered within two miles of it in 1837. The Roman
general Anlus Plautius on some spot near it surprised and
routed the Britons under the command of the sons of Cnno-
belin. The Saxon saint Enmbald, the subject of wondrous
legends, was buried in it, and a shiine being erected over his

grave and afterwards renovated attracted for ages crowds of

pilgrims. Edw.ard the Elder resided a short time in it in

918, and raised two forts for its defence. The Danes rav-

aged it in 941, and .again in 1010. A castle was built on
an eminence within it soon after the Conquest, but does not

make any figure in history, and has disappeared. A great

fire in 1725 laid waste 138 dwelling-houses, and destroyed

property to the amount of £38,000. The town had pre-

viously been the capital of the county, but it then lost that

character, and has never since acquired any great prosperity.

Buckingham is surrounded on every side except the north
by the river Ouse, which is crossed by two ancient bridges

and one modern one, all solid and substantial structures. It

consists chiefly of one long irregular street, and is built

almost entirely of brick. Its water supply is derived from
waterworks constructed in 1893, and the water is obtained

from the Akeley Hills, and supplied by gravitation. The town
hall is a large brick structure of 1685. The ground floor con-

tains a private council chamber and offices for the borough and
county magistrates, and there is a large hall and a court room
for quarter sessions and county court business on the first floor.

The jail, a castellated structure erected by Lord Cobham in

1748 and enlarged in 1839, is not now in use. The church

stands on the mount of the ancient castle, was built in 1784
at a cost of about £7000, and has a handsome steeple, 150
feet high. The church itself was formerly considered one of

the ugliest in England, but since 1862 it has undergone ex-

tensive alterations, and has been greatly improved in accord-

ance with the plans of Sir G. G. Scott, R.A., who was a
native of Gawcott, a hiimlet in the parish. The churchyard

is surrounded by a broad, shady walk, and from its elevated

position commands extensive views of the sun'ounding coun-
try. The living is a discharged vicarage forming a pectdiar

in the diocese of Oxford
;
gross yearly value, £478 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Bishop of Oxford. The Congregational

chapel was built in 1857, and is in the Early English style.

There are also Wesleyan and Piiinitive Methodist chapels.

The cemetery was opened in 1856, and has two neat chapels.

The grammar school was the chapel of a chantry founded in

1268 by Archdeacon Stratton, has a Norman doorway, and
fine carved seats, .and is inclosed by ancient walls. It

was restored in 1875 from designs furnished by Sir G.

G. Scott, and its approach was greatly improved in 1890.

The town possesses numerous endowments and charities,

but they are all of small amounts. The workhouse cost

£5500, and it has accommodation for 125 persons. There

is a Nursing Home, established in 1868 in connection

with the parish church, which now occupies a handsome
building erected in 1887 at the cost of Lord Addington.
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Lambard's house occupies the site of a mansion which was

inhabited some time by Catherine of Arragon, the first queen

of Henry VIII., was built in 1611, occupied next year by

Prince Rupert, and gave quarters for a night in 1645 to

Charles I. Another bouse still extant was visited by Queen
Elizabeth. The prebendary-house, of the same date as Lam-
bard's, is a curious edifice with a crooked chimney.

The town has a head post office and three banks, is

a seat of petty sessions, and publishes two weekly news-

papers. Slarkets are held on Monday and Saturday, and

fairs on the third Saturday in June for wool, and Satur-

day after Old Jlichaelmas Day for pleasure. There is also

a large fat-cattle fair and sale early in December. The
town contains a brewery, three water and ste.am corn mills,

several maltings, and a manufactory of artificial manure.

Pillow lace is also made in the town, chiefly by the poorer

female inhabitants. The town was regularly incorporated

as a borough in the reign of Queen Mary by charter dated

27 Jan., 1553. This was renewed by Charles II. in 1684;

and by the Slunicipal Corporations Act of 1835 the govern-

ment was vested in a mayor, four aldermen, and twelve

councillors. From the 36th of Heniy VIII. to the yrar

1867 the borough constantly sent two members to parlia-

ment. In 1867 the number was reduced to one. and by the

Kedistribution of Seats Act of 1885 the representation of the

borough was merged in that of the county. Population of

the town and municipal borough, 3364 ; acreage, 5007.

The parish includes the precinct of Prebend-End, the

«hapelry of Gawcott, and the hamlets of Lenborough, Bour-

ton, and Bourtonhold. Gawcott was formed into a separate

chapelry in 1862. The living is a ™arage in the diocese

of Oxford ; total gross yearly value, £478 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Oxford. The church, erected in 1828,

consists of chancel, south porch, and western tower. Len-

borough is 2 miles S of the town, Bourton 1 mile E, .and

Bom-tonbold forms part of the town itself. Buckingham has

given the title of duke to the families of successively St.atford,

Villiers, Sheffield, and CTrenville, but in 1889 the title became

extinct by the death of the last Duke of Buckingham and

Chandos. Buckingham manor belonged anciently to the

Giffords, Earls of Bucliingham; passed to successively the

Clares, the Breoses, and the Staffords; sufTered forfeiture, and

was given to Richard Fowler in 1460 ; was restored to the

Staffords in 1485, and forfeited again in 1521; passed to

successively Lord JIaruey, the Careys, and the Brocas family

;

and was leased iu 1574, for 999 years, to the corporation.

Lenborough manor lay annexed to Buckingham manor till

1521, was held thence for uearly a century by the Crown,

passed then to tlie Dormers, was purchased in 17 18 by Edward
Gibbon, Esq., the grandfather of the historian, and passed

afterwards to the Goodriches. Stowe, formerly the magnifi-

cent seat of the Duke of Buckingham, is in the neighbouring

parish of Stowe. Population of the ecclesiastical parish,

'2889.

Buckiiiffham Parliamentari/ Division, or Northern Bucks,

was formed tmder the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, and

returns one member to the House of Commons. Population,

57,401. Tiie division includes the following:—Buckingham

(three hundreds of)—Addington, Adstock, Akely, B.arton

Hartshorn, Biddlesden, Charndon, Chetwode, Edgcott, Fos-

<:ott, Hillesden, Leckbampstead, Lillingstone Dayrell, Lilling-

stone Lovell, Lufiield Abbey, JIaidsmoreton, Marsh Gibbon,

Middle Claydon,Padbury,Powndon,PrestonBissett,R.idclive-

cum-Cbackmore, Shalstone, Steeple Claydon, Stowe, Thorn-

horough, Tliornton, Tingewick, Turweston, Twj-ford, Water

Stratford, Westbury ; Stony Stratford—Beachampton, Brad-

well Abbey, C.alverton, Castle Thorpe, Loughton , Shenley Brook

End, Shenley Church End, Stony Stratford (^East), Stony Strat-

ford (West)," Wolverton ; Newport (first division of the three

hmidreds of)—Astwood, Bletchley, Bradwell, Brickhill (Bow),

Brickbill (Gieat), Brickhill (Little), Broughton, Chicliley,

Clifton Reynes, Cold Brayfield, Crawley (North and Little),

Emberton," Gayhnrst, Hanslope, Hardmead, Haversham,

Lathbury, Lavendon, Linford (Great), Linford (Little), Mil-

ton Keynes, Mulsoe, Newport Pagnell, Newton IJlossomville,

Newton Longville, Olney, Olney Park, Petsoe Manor, Raven-

stone, Sherington, Simpson, StantonbuiT, Stoke Goldington,

Stoke Hammond, Stratford (Fenny), "Tyi-ingham and Fil-

grave, Walton, Warrington, Water Eton, Wavendon, Weston
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Underwood, Willen, Woolstone (Great), Woolstone (Little),

Woughtou; Ashendon (three liundreds of)—Ashendon, Boar-

stall, Brill, Chearsley, Chilton, Dorton, Grendon Underwood,
Ickford, Kingswood, Long Crendon, Ludgershall, Oakley,

Shabbington, Woodham, Worminghall, Wotton Undei"wood;
Winslow (part of)—Claydon (East), Drayton Parslow, Dnn-
ton, Grandborough, Hogshaw, Hogston, Horwood (Great),

Horwood (Little), Marston (North), Mursley, Nash, Swan-
bourne, Tattenhoe, Whaddon, Winslow ; Buckingham, muni-
cipal borough.

Buckinghamshire, or Bucks, an inland county, bounded
on tlie NW and N by Northamptonshire, on the NE by Beds,

on the E by Beds and Herts, on the SE by Middlesex,

on the S and SW by Berks, and on the W by Oxfordshire.

It has an irregular outline, but forms on the whole a slender

oblong, lying N and S. Its only natural boundaries are the

river Thames, dividing it from Berks, and a few miles of

other streams, dividing it from parts of other counties. Its

greatest length is 53 miles ; its greatest breadth, 27 miles ;

its mean breadth, about 18 miles; its circumference, 138
miles; and its area, 475,694 acres. Its surface in the north

is gently undulated, in tlie centre comprises the rich vale of

Aylesbury, watered by the Thame, and in the south includes

part of the Chiltern Hills, about 16 miles broad, with sum-
mits from 683 feet to 904 feet high. The chief rivers are

the Thames, the Thame, the Ouse, the Colne, the Ousel, and
the Wick. Lias rocks occupy a small tract on the NW
border, adjacent to Brackley ; oolites, successively lower,

middle, and upper, occupy most of the county from the

northern boundary to lines a little south of Stoke-Hammoud
and Aylesbury ; cretaceous rocks, successively lower green-

sand, upper greensand, and chalk, the last much the broadest,

occupy most of the county thence to the southern boundary;

and rocks of the lower eocene occupy a tract on the southern

border around Farnham. Fuller's earth on the eastern bor-

der, and some tolerable marble near Newport-Pagnell, are the

chief useful minerals.

The soils include sandy, marly, and clayey spots, but

principally range from rich loam to poor chalk. Little land

is waste, and much is disposed in dairy pasture. Farms
average about 200 acres, and few exceed 400. Approved
rotations are followed on most of the arable lands; and wheat,

barley, oats, sainfoin, and beans are gi'own even on parts of

the Chiltenis. Commons of some extent are at Wickham,
Ivor, and Stoke, and heaths at Fulnier and Great Harwood.

Beech and oak are the principal timber; and the former,

called in Saxon " buecen," is said by some antiquarians to

have given the name to the county. Woods are plentiful

on the Chilterns, in Whadden-chase, and around Brill. Much
butter and some cream-cheese and condensed milk are made
for the London market ; the cattle are chiefly Hereford and

Yorkshire shorthorns ; and the sheep, variously Dorsets for

lambs, Southdowns for mutton, and mi.xed Gloucester and

Leicester for wool. Berkshire hogs are reared numerously

on the dairy farms, many calves also are fattened there for

veal, and over £20,000 worth of ducks is sent annually to

London.

Agricultdeal Statistics for 1893.

Crops. Acres.

Corn Crops 102.628

Green Crops, .... 28,870

Cloyer,Sainfoin,Grasses. 26.343

Permanent Pasture, . 233,708

Bare Fallow, .... 9,886

Orchards 2,612

Market Gardens, . . . 668
Small Fruit 472
Nursery Grounds, . . . 135

Woods and Plantations, 30,732

Live stock. Number.
Horses— Used solely for

Agriculture,. 12,913
' Unbroken, . . 4,630
" Mares kept for

Breeding. . . 698
Cows and HeilersinMilk

or Calf, 30,639

Other Cattle 43,435

-beep, 219,376

Pigs, 26,022

The chief manufactures of Bucks are paper, woven silk,

shoes, and wooden-ware, with straw-plaiting and bonnet mak-

ino-. Wood-work has become quite an important industiy,

the beech with whicli the county abounds being worked up

into brush handles, bowls, wooden spades, and into wooden

chairs of various pattenis, which are produced in large num-

bers. Formerly lace-making was the all-important industiy

of tlie county, bnt this has now, for the most part, passed to

Nottingh.am'and other towns, where machinery is employed.

The county is well supplied witli railway accommodation,

the chief line being that of the L. & N.W., which runs for
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25 miles in the NE, by way of Tring, Leigliton Buzzard,

Bletcbley, and Wolverton ; with branches from Cheddingtoii

Junction to Aylesbury, from Bletchley by Fenny Stratford

to Bedford and by Winslow to Oxford, and from Wolverton

to Newport-Pagnell. The G.W.R. crosses the SE tract,

•ntering by Colnbrook, and passing by Slough to Jlaidenhead,

Reading, and the west of England; with branches to Eton

and "Windsor, through High Wycombe to Princes Risborough,

and from thence to Thame and Oxford on the W, and to

Aylesbury and Buckingham on the N. There are also

branches from the High Wycombe line to Great JIarlow,

from Princes Risborough to Watlington, and from Colnbrook

to Staines. The metropolitan extension, opened for traffic

at the end of 1892, atFords facilities to Amerslaam and

Ohesham from all parts of the metropolis. The Grand
Junction Canal traverses the XE of the county somewhat
parallel to the N.W.R. from the vicinity of Tring to the

vicinity of Stony Stratford, sending off branches to Wen-
dover, Aylesbury, and Buckingham.
The county is divided into the hundreds of Ashendon,

Aylesbury, Buckingham, Burnham, Cottesloe, Desborough,

Newport, and Stoke. The hundreds of Burnham, Desborough

,

and Stoke form the Chiltern Hundreds, the stewardship of

which, now a purely nominal office, is retained in the gift of

the Chancellor of the Exchequer, and is given to members
of the House of Commons who wish to resign their s eats,

in order to comply with the regulation which forbids resig-

nation except by the acceptance of an office of honour and

profit under the Crown. The ancient county is divided for

parliamentaiy purposes into three divisions, and includes also

a portion of the parliamentary borough of New Windsor;
it has 207 ecclesiastical pai'ishes or districts, with parts of d

others. The administrative county includes two municipal

boroughs, has one court of quarter sessions, is divided into 12

petty sessional divisions; and contains 221 civil parishes, and
uarts of 3 others ; the boroughs of Buckingham and Chipping

Wycombe have separate commissions of the peace.

The shire is in the Midland Circuit, the assizes being

held at Aylesbmy, where the quarter sessions are also

held. The municipal boroughs are Buckingham and Wy-
combe, and the market-towns are Amersham, Aylesbury,

Beacousfield, Buckingham, Chesham, Colnbrook, Fenny-
Stratford, Great Slarlow, Ivinghoe, Newport Pagnell, Olney,

Princes-Risborough, Stony- Stratford, Wendover, Winslow,
New Wolverton, Woobum, and High Wycombe. The poor

law unions are Amersham, Aylesbury, Buckingham, Eton,

Newport Pagnell, Winslow, and Wycombe. The chief seats

are Stowe and Cliveden, Ascott Park, Ashridge Park, Aston-
Clinton, Bradenham House, Brickbill Manor House, Bul-

strode Park, Chequers Court, Claydon House, Ditton Park,

Doddershall House, Durton House, Dropmore, Eythrop,

Gayhurst House, Halton, Hampden, Hanslope Park, Langley
Park, Lilies, Little JLuluw Jlanor House, Little Missenden
Abbey, Mentmore Towers, Newland Park, Padbury Lodge,

Penn House, Sbardeloes, Stoke Park, Taplo.v Court, Wad-
desdon Manor, Westhorpe House, Wilton Park, Winchendon
Priory, Woobum House, Wotton House, and Wycombe Abbey.
By the Local Government Act, 1888, Buckinghamshire

became an administrative county governed by a County
Council consisting of 17 aldermen and 51 councillors. Its

meetings ai*e held at Aylesbury. The county is principally

in the diocese of Oxford, and forms an archdeaconry which
is subdivided into the rural deaneries of Amersham, Ayles-
bury, Bletchley, Buckingham, Burnham, Claydon, Ivinghoe,

JIursley, Newport, Waddesdon, Wendover, and Wycombe.
Bucks formerly returned three members for the undivided

county, bat by the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, three

divisions were made, one member being returned from each

—

namely, the Northern or Buckingham division; the Mid or

Aylesbury division, and the Southern or Wycombe division.

By the provisions of this Act also the representation of the

boroughs of Aylesbury, Buckingham, Great JIarlow, and Wy-
combe was merged in that of the county. Population (1801)
108,132,(1821) 135,133.(1841) 156,439,(1861) 167,993,
(1881) 176,323, (1891) 185,284.

According to the census returns issued in 1893, the chief

occupations of the people of the county were:—Professional,

2345 males and 1718 females; domestic, 782 males and
10,144 females; commercial, 4253 males and 89 females;
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agricultural, 17,842 males and 250 females; fishing, 17
males; industrial, 25,539 males and 7627 females; and
*' unoccupied,"inclading retired business men, pensioners, those

livingontheirownmeans,andothersnot specified, 10,070 males
and 43,362 females ; or a total in the county of 60,848 males
and 63,190 females. The largest number of men employed
in any one industry was, agricultural labourers, 12,064

;

general labourers, 3782 ; cabinetmakers, 3390
;

gardeners,

2159; shoemakers, 2002, and fanners, 1733. The chiei:

occupations of women are, domestic service, with a total of

7996; millinery and dressmaking, 2006; laundry-work, 1425;
and lace manufacture, 1108. There were also in the county

132 blind persons, 134 deaf, 91 deaf and dumb, and 632
mentally deranged.

The territory now forming Buckinghamshire was in-

habited in the ancient British times by the tribes Cassil.

Ancalites, and Dobuni ; it was included by the Romans,
first in their province of Britannia Superior, afterwards hi

that of Flavia Ccesariensis, and it formed a part of the Saxou
kingdom of Mercia. The county made a great figure in the

Civil War of the time of Charles I. ; took the lead in raising

arras against the king and in swaying the action of parlia-

ment, and was for some time the headquarters of the king'&

forces. Remains or traces of ancient camps and entrench-

ments—variously British, Roman, and Saxon— occur ai

Wycombe, Danesfield, All-Hollands, Cholsbury, Hawridge,
Hedgerleydean, Mendenham, and EUesborongh. Icknield

Street came in from Dunstable, and went past Andover and
Princes-Risborough into Oxfordshire; Watling Street went
past Fenny -Stratford and Stony-Stratford, and Akeman
Street went across the north. Ancient castles stood at

Buckingam, Castlethorpe, Lavendon, Whitchurch, and several

other places, but have all disappeared. Remains exist of

abbeys at Medmenham and Notley, of a priory at Missenden,
of nunneries at Burnham and Ivinghoe, of monastic colleges

at Ashbridge and Eton, and of a monastic hospital at New-
port-Pagnell; but all remains of 14 other monasteries and
9 other hospitals, which once existed, are extinct. Eight
churches show ancient Norman features, and two others are

good specimens of ancient English. The county gives the

title of Earl to the family of Hampden-Hobart.
Buckish-Mills, a fishing village in Parkham and Wool-

fardisworthy parishes, Devonshire, on the coast, 6^ miles

SW of Bideford. It has a Wesleyan chapel, and a glen at

it is a pleasing feature amid a range of clitts and woods.

Buckland, a village and a parish in Berks. The village

stands l^mile S of the river Thames, 4 miles NE by E of

Faringdon station on the G.W.R., and 13J SW by'w of

Oxford, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Faringdon. The parish includes also the hamlets of

Barcot and Carswell. Acreage, 4505; population, 747.

Buckland House, a seat of the Throckmortous. was built in

1757 after designs by Wood of Bath, and contains relics of

Mary Queen of Scots and Charles L. some other cui'iosities,

and some fine pictures. Carswell House stands about 1

mile to the W of the village. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Oxford
;
gross value, -£205 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. The church,

a tine cmciform building chiefly in the Early English style,

was restored in 1870. There are Baptist and Roman Catholic

chapels, an endowed school, and some charities.

Buckland, a parish in Bucks, intersected by the Ayles-

bury and the Wendover Canals, 3 miles WN\V of Tring,

and 4 from Aylesbury. Post town, Tring ; telegraph

office, Aston Clinton. Acreage, 1609 ; population, 849.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford; net

value, £160. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln.

The church, an edifice of stone in the Early English style,

dates fi'om 1294. There is also a small Wesleyan chapel.

Buckland Common is a hamlet 5^ miles SE of the parish

church. It has a chapel of ease and a small Wesleyan
chapel.

Buckland, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on

the verge of the county, under the Cotswolds, 2 miles SW
of Broadway, and 5 SP] of Hinton station on the M.R. The
parish includes the hamlet of Laverton, and its post town is

Broadway. Acreage, 2275; population, 259. The manor
belonged fonnerly to the Greshams. The living is a rectory

with Laverton in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol;
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gross value, £210 with residence. The church was erected

by the abbey of Gloucester in the 13th century, and is a fine

building with an embattled tower; it was restored in 1885.

In the nave are ancient carved oak benches, and the east window
contains some good painted glass. The register dates from

1539. There are many picturesque old houses in the village

of the Tudor and earlier period^; in one of the 14th century,

the rectory, built for the abbo'ts of Gloucester, the ancient

hall is still in au excellent state of preservation.

Bucklaud, a parish in Herts, neoi' Ermine Street and
the sources of the Rib and Quin rivers, 3 miles N of Bunting-

ford station ou the G.E.R. It includes the village of Chip-

ping, and has a post office under Euutingford, which is the

money order and telegi'apb office. Acreage, 1629; popula-

tion of the civil pai'ish, 376; of the ecclesiastical, 483. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of St. Albans ; net value,

i;i55 with residence. Patron, King's College, Cambridge.

The church is an ancient building of flint consisting of chancel,

nave, south aisle, south porch, and an embattled western

tower.

Buckland, a parish in Kent, near the river Swale and 1^
mile from Leynham station on the L.C. & D.R., and 3 miles

NW by \V of Faversham, which is the post town. Acreage,

336 ;
population, 73. The living is a sinecure rectory in

the diocese of Canterbury; net value, £120. The church

has long been in ruins.

Buckland, a parish in Kent, on the river Dour, is now part

of Dover town. Acreage, 972
;
population, 4344. The sur-

face is hilly. There are paper and corn mills. A lepers'

hospital was founded about 1150. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Canterbury; value, £260. Patron, the

Archbishop of Canterbury. The church, partly in Norman
and partly in Early Decorated styles, has been thoroughly

restored and considerably enlarged. There is au ancient yew
tree in the churchyard, which was transplanted in 1880. A
new organ was erected in 1884. There is also a AVesleyau

chapel.

Buckland, a parish in Surrey, on the S.E.R., 1 mile ESE
of Betchworth station, and 2 miles \V of Reigate. It has a

post and money order office under Betchworth (R.S.O.), which
is the telegraph office. Acreage, 1S76; population of the

civil parish, 497 ; of the ecclesiastical, 473. Buckland
House is a chief residence. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Rochester ; net value, £385 with residence. Pa-
tron, All Souls College, Oxford. The church was rebuilt in

1860. Spencer, the biographer of Archbishop Chicheley,

was rector.

Buckland, a mansion under a very romantic mountain
(Jlynydd Buckland), on the river Usk, about Ij mile SW of

Talybont railway station, and 7 miles SW by W of Brecon.

It is the seat of the Gwynne-Holford family.

Buckland-Beacon. See BucKLA>-D-ix-TnE-MooE.
Buckland-Brewer, a village and a parish in Devonshire.

The village .stands ;> miles from the coast, and 4A- SS\V of

Bideford railway station, and has a post office under Bide-

ford, which is the money order office; telegraph office. Great

Torrington. It was formerly a market-town. Acreage of the

civil parish, 6111; population, 684; of the ecclesiastical, 676.

The manor belonged in the time of Henry III. to the Brewers,

and belongs now to the Rolle family. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Exeter; net value, £148 with residence.

Patron, the Crown. The church, which was restored in 1880
at a cost of £1500, is large, has a Norman door and a lofty

tower, and contains many ancient monuments. There are

Baptist, Wesleyan. and Bible Christian chapels.

Buckland-Denham, a village and a parish in Somerset.

The village stands on a hill, 3J miles NNW of Frame rail-

way statiou, and has a post office under Frome, which
is the money order and telegraph office. It was formerly

:i market-town. The parish comprises 1432 acres; popu-
lation, 428. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Bath and Wells ; net value, £182 with residence. Patron,

the Bishop of Bath and Wells. The church has been re-

stored. There is also a Wesleyan chapel

Buckland, East, a parish in Devonshire, on an affluent

of the river Taw, 2 miles from Filleigh station on the G.W.R.
It has a post office at "West Buckland, under South Molton

;

money order office, Filleigh ; telegi'aph office, Filleigh railwa}'

station. Acreage, 1612; population, 111. The manor he-
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longs to Earl Fortescue. The living is a rectoiy, united

with the rectory of Filleigh, in the diocese of Exeter; value,

£200. Patron, Earl Fortescue. The church is small. It

was rebuilt in 1861, but the tower is ancient.

Buckland-Egg. Sec Egg-Buckland.
Euckland-Filleigli, a parish in Devonshire, 6|- miles NW

of Ilatherleigh, and 14 S of Bideford railway station. Post

town, Highampton; money order office, Shebbeare; telegraph

office, Dunsland Cross. Acreage, 3014; population, 159.

The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Exeter; value, £163
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Exeter. The chnrch

is a small edifice, which has been handsomely restored,

with every window of stained glass by various artists, splen-

did oak bench ends, and much brass work. The gi-een drives

round the park are 3 miles long, and the woods are some of

the largest in Devonshire. It was the birthplace of the cele-

brated Sir Faithful Fortescue, to whom a fine window was
erected by his descendant, Lord Clermont. The views from

the district embrace Exmoor, Dartmoor, and Brown Willy.

Buckland-in-the-Moor, a parish in Devonshire, on the

river Dart, adjacent to Dartmoor, and 3 miles from Ash-
burton station on the G.W.R. Post town, Ashburton, which

is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1493;
population, 71. The manor, with Buckland House, belongs

to the family of Bastard. Buckland Beacon is a rocky emin-

ence commanding a veiy brilliant panoramic view. The liv-

ing is a \-icarage, annexed to the vicarage of Ashburton, in

the diocese of Exeter. The church is small.

Buckland-Minchin. See Buckland-Sororum.
Buckland - Honackorum, a village and a parish in

Devonshire. The village stands near the river Tavy, l^-

mile from Horrabridge station on the G.W.R., and 4 miles

S by E of Tavistock. It has a post office under Yelverton

(R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegi'aph office.

It was formerly a market-town. The parish comprises

6715 acres; population of the civil parish, 1414; of the

ecclesiastical, 1159. The manor belongs to the Lopes

family. Buckland Abbey, a Tudor edifice, was the favourite

residence of Sir Francis Drake, the famous navigator, and

contains some interesting souvenirs of him. A Cistercian

abbey was founded in the parish in 1278 by Amicia, countess-

dowager of Devonshire, castellated by one of its abbots, given

at the dissolution to Richai-d Greyfieldj and ganisoned during

the Civil "War. Small but interesting remains of the buildings

still exist. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ;

net value, £230 with residence. The church is Perpendicular

English and cruciform, with a tower, and contains carved

old seats, and a monument by Bacon to Lord Heathfield,

the defender of Gibraltar. A Baptist chapel is in the village,

and a handsome church and a Wesleyan chapel are at Horra-

bridge. The fast increasing village of Yelverton is in this

parish.

Buckland-Newton or Buckland-Abbas, a parish and a

hundred in Dorsetshire. It contains six tithings (Buckland,

Duntiphe, Brockhampton, Knoll, Little Minteme, and Plush).

The parish lies 3^^ miles NE by N of Cerne-Abbas, and 6 E
by N of Evershot railway station, and includes a village,

which foiTOerly was the seat of a market. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Dorchester. The
civil parish comprises 6250 acres; population, 873. The
living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Plush, in the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £235 with

residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Wells. The

parish church has an Early English chancel and Perpen-

dicular nave and aisles. The chancel was restored in 1870,

and the remainder of the building in 1878. There are also

Baptist, Congregational, and Primitive Jlethodist chapels.

Plush church is a neat structure of 1848, and was partially

restored in 1883.

Buckland-Rings, a large ancient earthwork about a mile

X of Lymington, in Hants. It forms an irregular circle, has

a deep trench, a double vallum, and additional strong out-

works, and probably was British. Oak and holly now cover

the trench.

Buckland-Ripers, a parish in Dorsetshhe, 2 miles from

Broadway station on the Abbotsbury branch of the G.W.R.

It includes part of Nottington hamlet. Post town, Dor-

chester ; money order office, Broadway ; telegraph office,

Upway. Acreage, 1255
;
population, 143. The living is a
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rectory in the diocese of Siilisbury; gioss value, £165 with

residence. The church is good.

Buckland-St-Maxy, a village and a parish in Somerset-

shire. The village stands 1^ mile from the verge of the

county, 4i miles NW of Chai'd station on the G.W.R. and

L. & S.WTR., and 6 W by S of Ilminster, and it has a post

office under Chard ; money order and telegraph office, Yar-

combe. The p.arish comprises 31)54 acres
;
population, 586.

Traces of a Roman fort bear the name of Neroche Castle, and

relics of conflicts between the Saxons and the Danes have

been found. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath

and Wells ; net value, £300. The church was rebuilt in the

nine years prior to 1864 .at a cost of about £20,000, chiefly

defrayed by the rector, the Rev J. E. Lance ; is in the Decor-

ated English style ; consists of nave with aisles, chancel with

side chapels, a south porch, and a massive western tower

;

and has ornature of coloured marbles, polychromy, statuary,

and painted windows. Remains of an ancient stone cross are

in the churchyard. There is a Baptist chapel.

Buckland-Sororum or Buokland-Minchin, a locality

in Durston parish, Somersetshire, 4^ miles W of Taunton.

A house of regular canons was founded here in 11G7 by

William de Erleigh, but soon suppressed. The property of

it was given in 1180 to the Knights Hospitallers. A nunnery

and a preceptory succeeded the monastery, and the former

consisted at first of the sisters of the Knights Hospitallers

but afterwiu'ds was separated from them and became Augus-
tinian. The property was given at the dissolution to Alex-

ander Popham and William Halley.

Buokland-Tout-Saints, a parish in Devonshire, 2 miles

NE of Kiugsbridge station on the G.W.R. Post town,

Mounts ; money order and telegi-aph office, Kiugsbridge.

Acreage, 1872 : population, 2lJ0. Bnckland House is a

chief residence. The living is a chapelry, annexed to the

vicarage of Loddiswell, in the diocese of Exeter. The
Chapel of St Peter was mostly rebuilt in 1779. The
place is named after the Tonssaint family, who resided

there anterior to the loth century.

Buckland, West, a p.arish in Devonshire, 6 miles inv of

.Sonth Jlolton, and 2 from Filleigh station on the G.W.R.
It has a post office under South Jlolton ; money order office,

Filleigh ; telegraph office, Filleigh railway station. Acreage,

2592; population of the civil parish, 402 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, 292. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter

;

net value, £158 with residence. The church has been almost

entirely rebuilt, retains the tower of a previous ancient cruci-

foi-m church, is in the Decorated English style of the Transi-

tion period, and shows elaborate ornature in coloured marbles,

polychromy, and gilt ironwork- There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Buckland, West, a parish in Somersetshire, under Black-

down Hill, near the Bristol and Exeter railway, 2J miles E
of Wellington. It has a post office under Wellington, which
is the money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 3697;
population, 785. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the

vicarage of Wellington, in the diocese of Bath and Wells.

The church, excepting the tower, was rebuilt in 1863.

Bucklebury, a village and a parish in Berks. The village

stands on an affluent of the Thames called the Pang, 3 miles

NE from Midgham station on the G.W.R., and 7 NE from
Newbury. It has a post office under Reading; money order

and telegraph office, Woolhampton. The parish includes the

liberties of Hawla-idge and JIarlston. Area, 6130 acres;

population, 1151. The li\-ing is a vicarage with the chapelrv

of JIarlston annexed in the diocese of Oxford
;
joint net

yearly value, £456 with residence. The church is an ancient

building of chalk and flint, and contains some Norman work.
There is also a Congi'egational chapel. There is an iron

foundry in the village. In JIarlston there is an ancient

chapel of flint and rubble, which was restored in 1855.
Bucklershard, a vill.ige in Beaulieu parish, Hants, on

Beaulieu creek, G miles EXE of Lymington. It was designed
by the second Duke of Jlontague to be a town, with sugar
refineries in connection with his West India estates; and had
for some time several shipyards, but the place is now of little

importance.

Bucklesham, a village and a parish in Suffolk, Ij mile
NE from Orwell station on the G.E.R., and 7 miles ESE of
Ipswich. The parish has a post office under Ipswich ; motley
order office, Allan Road ; telegraph office, Nacton. Acreage,
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1826 ;
population, 289. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Norwich ; net yearly value, £339 with residence. The
church is of flint and stone, and was nearly all taken down
and rebuilt in 1878. In this parish there are sever.al crag

pits from which numerous interesting fossils h.ive been

obtained.

Buckley, a large straggling village partly in Jlold and
partly in ILawarden parish, and an ecclesiastical parish in

Flintshire, 2i miles NW of Hawarden, and 3i E of Jlold,

with a station, Buckley Junction, on the Cheshire Lines

railway and the Wrexham, Jlold, and Connah's Quay railway,

and a post, money order, and telegraph office under Chester,

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 2648. It includes the

townships of Buckley, Bistre, and Argoed, in Jlold parish,

and Peutrabbin and Ewloe in Hawai'den parish. There are

coal-mines in the neighbourhood, and a manufacture of fire-

bricks and tiles is carried on very extensively. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of St As.aph ; net value, £400
with residence. There are several dissenting chapels.

Bucklow Hill, a township in Rostherne parish, Cheshire.

Buckminster, a village and a parish in Leicestershire.

The village stands on the verge of the county, 6 miles NE of

Saxby station on the JI.R., and 9i EXE of Jlelton-JIow-

bray. The parish includes .ilso the chapelry of Sewstem.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Grantham. Acreage of Bnckminster, 1964; population,

328; acreage of Sewstern, 1117; population, 203; total

population, 531. Bnckminster Park, with a flue Grecian

mansion of 1798, is the seat of the Earl of Dysart. The
living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Sewstern, in the diocese of Peterborough; joint net yearly

value, £125. Patron, the Earl of Dysart. The church is

ancient, of various dates, and has a tower and spire. There

is a chapel of ease at Sewstern, erected in 1842, and the

Wesleyans have a place of worship at Buckminster.

Bucknall, a parish in Lincolnshire, on an affluent of the

river Witham, 2^ miles NE from Stiswould station on the

G.N.R., and 6^W of Horncastle. It has a post office under

Lincoln ; money order office, Bardney; telegraph office, Sonth-

rey (R.S.) Acreage, 2543; population, 331. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £170
with residence. The chm-ch is a building of stone in the

E.irly English style, and there are Wesleyan and Primitive

Jlethodist chapels. The parish is under the jurisdiction of

the Commissioners for Draining Fen Lands.

Bucknall, two townships and an ecclesiastical parish in

Stoke-npon-Trent pai-ish, Staffordshire. The townships are

Bucknall and Bucknall-Eaves. Bucknall is It mile E of

Hanley, and 2 miles NE of Stoke-upon-Trent ; has a station

on the North Staffordshire railway, and includes the hamlet

of Ubberley. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Stoke-on-Trent. Bucknall-Eaves lies about a

mile farther XE. The ecclesiastical parish bears the name
of Bucknall-cum-Bagnall ; includes also the township of

Bagnall, and was constituted in 1856. Population, 4491.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value,

£361 with residence. The church of St JIary the Virgin

at Bucknall was erected in 1856, and is a large building in

the Early English style, with an embattled tower. Thei-e

is a chapel of ease at Bagnall, and Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels are at Bucknall.

Bucknell, a parish in Oxfordshire, 2J miles NW of

Bicester. It has a post office under Bicester, which is the

money order and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1894
;
popula-

tion, 233. BuekneU House, a fine country seat, is in this

parish. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford

;

net yearly value, £180 with residence. Patron, New College,

Oxford. The chm'ch is E.arly English, with a Norman tower,

and has some ancient brasses. About a quarter of a mile

east of the chm'ch are traces of an ancient Saxon village.

Bucknell, a township and a parish ; the former in Salop,

the latter partly also in Herefordshire. The township lies

on the river Teme, ii miles EXE of Knighton. It has a

st.ation on the L. & N.W.R., and a post office (R.S.O.) nnder

Brampton Brian ; money order and telegraph office, Leint-

wardine. Acreage of township, 2461; popul.ation, 490;
acreage of parish, 3773

;
population, 643. The parish in-

cludes also the township of Buckton and Coxall in Hereford-

shire. The living is a vicar,age, united with the perpetual

279



BUCEBOSE

cnracy of Buckton, in the diocese of Hereford ; net united

value, £260 with residence. Patron, the Grocers' Company,
London. The church is partly Norman and partly Early

En^'lish, and was restored in 1870. There are Primitive

Methodist and Baptist chapels.

Buckrose, a wapentake and, a parliamentary and petty

sessional division in the E. R. Yorkshire. It is bounded on

the N and the W, above and below New Jloltou, by the river

Derwent; area of the petty sessional division, 92,663 acres;

population, 13,036.

Buckrose Parliamentary Division of E. R. Yorkshire

was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885,
and returns one member to the House of Commons. Popu-
lation, 50,877. The division includes the following:—
Bainton Beacon—Bainton, Beeford, Bracken, Brigham, Cot-

tam, Cowlam, Dalton (North), Driffield (Great), Driffield

(Little), Eastbui-n, Emswell. Foston, Frodingham (North),

Garton, Gembling, Harpham,Hutton, Oranswick, Kelk (Great),

Kilhani, Kilnwick, Kirkburn and Battleburn, Langtoft, Low-
thorpe, Lund, Middleton, Nafferton, Neswick, Rotsea, Ruston
(Parva), Skerne, Sledmere and Groom, Southburn, Sunder-
laudwick, Tibthorpe, Wansfordj'VVatton, Wetwang; Buckrose

—Acklam-with-Baiihorpe, Birdsall, Burythorpe, Duggleby,

Eddlethorpe, Firby, Fimber, Fridaythorpe, Ganton, Grimston
(North), Helperthorpe, Heslerton (East), Heslerton O^^st),

Howshara, Kennythorpe, Kirby Grindalythe, Kirkham, Knap-
ton, Langton, Leavening, Leppington, Luttons Ambo, Menny-
thorpe, Norton, Raisthorpe and Burdale, RiUington, Scaggle-

thorpe, Scampston, Scrayingham, Settrington, Sherburn,

Thirkleby, Thorpe Bassett, Towthorpe, Weaverthorpe, Westovr,

Wharram-le- Street, Wharram Percy, Willerby, Wintringham,
Yedinghara ; Dickering—Argam, Auburn, Barmston, Bemp-
ton and Newsholme, Bessingby, Boynton, Bridlington, Buck-
ton, Burton Agnes, Butterwick, Carnaby, Easton, Filey,

Flamborough, Folkton, Fordon, Foxholes, Fraisthorpe, Grans-
moor, Grindall, Haisthorpe, Hildeithorpe, Hunmanby, Kelk
(Little), Lissett, Muston, North Burton, Reighton, Ruduton,

Sewerby and Marton, Speeton, Thornholme, Thwiug, Ulrome,
Wilsthorpe, Wold Newton.

Bucks. See Buckinqhamsiiiue.
Bucks-Green, a hamlet in Rudgwick paiish, Sussex.

Bucksmills, an ecclesiastical parish in Devonshire, near

the town and railway station of Bideford, under which it

lias a post, money order, and telegraph office. Population,

250. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter;

net value, £195 with residence. The chui'ch was built in

1862.

Buckstone, The, a former famous rocking-stone in Glou-

cestershire, near the Kymin, 1 mile N of Coleford. It hes ou

a conspicuous eminence, consists of old red conglomerate, and
measures about 53 feet in circumference; it is about 12 feet

high, 13 feet broad, and its gi-eatest length on the top is 19

feet, and it rests on a point about 3 feet in diameter. It

probably was detached, by natural causes, from the subjacent

rock. It has been thrown out of balance and no longer rocks.

Buckthorpe, a village, a township, and a parish in the

E. R. Yorkshire, on an affluent of the river Derwent, 4 miles

E of Stamford Bridge railway station, and 7 N by W of Pock-
lington. The township has a post office under York ; money
order and telegraph office, Stamford Bridge. Acreage, 11195

;

population, 232. The living is a vicarage and rectory in

the diocese of York; gross value, £212 with residence.

Patron, the Archbishop of York. There was a church in

this parish in Saxon times. The choir, chancel, and tower

of the present building, with the remains of the Lady
Chapel, date from the 13th century. The nave was rebuilt

in 1861, and the remainder of the chmxh was restored in

1879. It is dedicated to St Andrew. The Saxon name of

this parish, as given in Domesday Book, was Buchetorp.

Buckton, a hamlet in the parish of Kyloe, Northumber-
land, bh miles NNW of Belford. Beal (R.S.O.) is the post

town and money order and telegi-aph office.

Buckton, a township in Bridlington pai'ish, E. R. York-
shire, on the coast and on the Bridlington railway, 3j miles

N of Bridlington. Post town York; money order office,

Bempton ; telegraph office, Flamborough. Acreage, 1982
;

population, 141.

Buckton and Coxall, a township in Bucknell parish,

Herefordshire, on the river Teme^ 7 miles ENE of Knighton.
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Acreage, 1312; population, 153. There is a small iron,

church, erected in 1877.

Buckworth, a parish in Huntingdonshire, 6 miles \V of

the G.N.R. station of Abbots Riptou, and 7 NW of Hunting-
don. Post-town, Alconbury, which is the money order office;

telegi-aph office, Huntingdon. Acreage, 2023
;

population,

178. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Ely; gross

yearly value £330 with residence. The church is a building

of rubble in the Early English style, and was restored in 186^
and in 1884.

Budbrooke, a parish in Warwickshire. It lies near the

Birmingham and Warwick canal, 1^ mile NW of Warwick.
It includes the hamlets of Hampton-on-the-Hill, and Lower
Norton, and its post-town is Warwick. Acreage, 3289;
population, 908. Grove Park here is the seat of Lord Dor-
mer, who is lord of the manor. The living is a vicarage in,

the diocese of Worcester; gross value, £370 with residence-

The church, originally Norman, was restored in 1874, and
contains monuments of the Dormers. The headquarters of

the 6 th Regimental District and the Royal Warwickshire
Territorial Regiment are situated here. There is also a
Roman Catholic chapel at Hampton-on-the-Hill.

Budby, a village and a township in Edwinstowe parish,

Notts, 2J miles NW by W of Ollerton. Post town, Newark

;

money order and telegraph office, Ollerton. Acreage of town-
ship, 2118; population, 121. Earl Manvers is lord of the manor
and sole proprietor. An iron chm'ch was erected in 1887.

Buddies, a hamlet in St Peter's parish, Kent, in Thanet^
2 miles N of Ramsgate.

Bude or Bude Haven, a small seaport on the N coast of

Cornwall, 9 miles from Holsworthy station on the L.&N.W.R.,
26 from Bideford, and 20 from Launceston. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.), a hotel, and a
large number of lodging-houses. It possesses an exceptionally

favoured clunate, being warm, but not relaxing, and has good
sea-bathing, and excellent golf links. The scenery is grand.

Bude formerly did a considerable trade in sea sand, but this

has much diminished of late years. It is, however, steadily

growing in popularity as a health and holiday resort. A
fair is held on 26 Sept. Population, 1054. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Truro ; value, £175 with resi-

dence. The church is modern, built when the parish was
constituted in 1836.

Budeaux, St, a village and a parish in Devonshu-e. The
viUage stands on the Hamoaze estuary, near the Albert

Bridge and the Saltash station of the Cornwall railway, 4
miles NW of Plymouth. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Devonport, and a station on the

L.&S.WR. Acreage of civil parish, 2650; population, 2470.

The parish includes also Honic-knowle and King's Tamerton,
and Knacker's-Knowle and Whitleigh. The manor belonged

anciently to the Budocksheds, and an ivy-covered tower of the

old manor house remains. Nearly 100 acres of rich land have

been reclaimed from the bed of the estuary. A powder maga-
zine was constructed in 1857 at Bull Point. The chm'ch and
churchyard were strongly fortified in the Civil Wai* by the

Royalists, and stormed and taken by the Parliamentarians.

Tlie living is a vicai'age in the diocese of Exeter; value, £105.
Patron, the Vicar of St Andrew, Plymouth. The church is ai

neat edifice of 1569, was the marriage-place of Sir Francis

Drake, and contains monuments of the Budocksheds and the

Gorges. There are also several Church of England mission

chapels, as well as two Methodist and a New Connexion one

in the parish.

Bude Canal, a canal of Cornwall and Devonshire. It

commL'nces at Bude, goes eastward past JIarham, Pancras-

wiek, and Holsworthy to Thornbury, and sends a branch

southward down the Tamar and into that river toward

Launceston. It was formed in 1826 at a cost of £128,000,

and it affijrds communication to the aggregate extent of

nearly 40 miles. Seven inclined planes on it, worked by

cuiious machinery, serve as substitutes for locks.

Budle, a township in Bambrough parish, Northumber-

land, on the S side of Warren Bay, near the N.E.R., 3 miles-

E by N of Belford, which is the post, money order, and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 760; population, 59. Cockles are

plentiful near it, and rocks of different kinds alternate rapidly

on its coast. A Roman road went from it to Alnwick. Budle

House belonged to the Forsters, and passed to the Smiths.
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Budleigh, East, a village, a parish, and a Imndred in

Devonshire. The village stands near the river Otter, about 2

miles from the coast, 4 E of Lynipstone railway station, and

5 WSW of Sidmouth. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office. It is large and straggling, consists chiefly of

cub cottages, and was once a market-town. The parish

includes also the village of Budleigh-Salterton,and the ham-
lets of Great and Little Knowle. Acreage. 3179 ;

population,

'2636. Poer-Hayes or Dukes'-Hayes belonged successively to

the Poer and the Duke families; and Hayes-Barton, a Tudor
edifice, now a farm-house belonging to the Rolle family,

was the birthplace and property of Sir Walter Raleigh.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net

value, i;i88 with residence. The church is Perpendicular

English, consists of nave, aisles, and chancel, and contains

the Raleighs' pew, and many monuments. There are a

chapel of ease and Baptist and Wesleyan chapels at Bud-
leigh-Salterton, and a Congregational chapel at East Bud-
leigh. A stone fountain with inscription to commemorate the

Queen's jubilee was erected in 1887 in the centre of the village.

Budleigh-Salterton, a village in East Budleigh parish,

Devonshire, on the coast, immediately west of the mouth of

the Otter, 2;^ miles S of East Budleigh, and 5 from Exmouth
railway station, and has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (S.O.) Area of the urban sanitary district, 783
acres; population, 1770. It was formerly an obscure

tishing hamlet, and is now a fashionable watering-place, with

hotels and many respectable lodging-houses. It occupies a

dell running obliquely to the shore, looks warm and luxuriant,

and commands rich, means of comfort and recreation, Cole-

ridge says of the Otter in its neighbourhood,

"Mine eyes
I never shut amid the siiiiny ray,

But straight with all their tints thy waters rise;
Thy crossing plank, thy marge with willows gray.

And bedded sand that, veined with various dyes,
Gleamed through thy bright transparence.''

Budney, a hamlet in Whitchurch parish, Salop, 1 mile

NW of Whitchurch.

Budock or St Budock, a parish in Cornwall. It adjoins

Falmouth on the SW, extends thence to Falmouth Bay, in-

cludes Pendennis Castle, and has ready communication with

Falmouth railway station. Post town, Falmouth. Acreage,

3734; population of the civil parish, 2414; of the eccle-

siastical, 1397. Granite abounds. A college was founded
in 1270 at Glasenay by Bishop Bronescombe. The li^^ng is

a vicarage in the diocese of Truro. The church contains

monuments of the Killigrews, and is good. It is the mother
parish and church of Falmouth and Penwaris, and in the

i3th century was the mother church of St Gluvias also.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Budon. See Beedox.
Budworth, Great, a village, a township, and a parish in

Cheshire. The village lies on the Grand Trunk Canal, near

the river Weaver, 2^ miles N of Xorthwich, under which it has
a post office; money orderoffice, Marston ; telegraph office, Com-
berbach. Acreage of township, 903

;
population, 510. The

ancient parish includes the following ecclesiastical parishes:

—

Great Budworth (containing the townships of Great Bud-
worth, Aston-by-Budworth. Cogshall, Comberbach, Crowley,
ilarbury, Pickmere, and Tabley-Inferior), population, 2010

;

Antrobus (Antrobus and Sevenoaks), population, 602 ; Barn-
ton (Barnton and Anderton), population, 2666 ; Little Leigh
(Little Leigh, Bartington, and Dutton), population, 888

;

Lower Peover (Peover-Nether, Peover-Inferior, Allostock,

and Plumley), population, 1234; Lostock-Gralara (Lostock-
Gralam, Lach Dennis, and part of Wincham), population,

1596 ; Whitley (Higher Whitley and Lower Whitley), popu-
lation, 508; Witton (Witton-cum-Twambrooks, Northwich,
Castle Northwich, and Winnington), population, 12,033;
Marston (Marston and pai't of Wincham), population, 1671

;

the following townships and ecclesiastical parishes :—Apple-
ton (population, 375) and Stretton (population, 651); and
parts of the ecclesiastical parishes of Aston-by-Sutton, Hart-
ford, Danebridge, and Stockton Heath. Budworthmere and
Pickmere are small lakes. JIany of the inhabitants are em-
ployed in salt works. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Chester ; net value, £340. Patron, Christ Church College,

Oxford. The church is ancient, and was restored in 1870,
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has au embattled tower, and contains monuments of the

Pooles, the Warburtons, and the Leycesters.

Budworth, Little, a village, a township, and a parish in

Cheshire, on an affluent of the river Weaver, near Delamer^
Forest, 4 miles SE of Delamere station on the Cheshire Lines-

railway, and 3 NE by E of Tarporley. There is a post and
telegraph office. Acreage of the civil parish, 3867; popu-
lation, 585; of the ecclesiastical, 534. Oulton Park is the

chief residence, situated in an extensive deer park. The Earl
of Shrewsbury and Talbot is lord uf the manor. The living-

is an impropriated rectory in the diocese of Chester; net

value, £150 with residence. The ancient church belonged to

St Mary's Nunnery in Chester, and was rebuilt in 1800.

Buersill, a hamlet in Castleton township, Rochdale parish,.

Lancashire, 2 miles SE of Rochdale.

Buerton, a village and a township in Audlem parish^

Cheshire, 2 miles E of Audlem. Acreage of township, 2981

;

population, 471. Highfields Hall, a fine mansion, built in

1G13 and restored in 1883, is in this township. There are

Wesleyan and United Free Methodist chapels.

Buerton, a township in Aldford parish, Cheshire, 5 miles

5 of Chester. Acreage, 673; population, do.

Bugbrooke, a village and a parish in Northamptonshire.

The parish lies on Watling Street, the Grand Junction Canals

and the L. & N.W.R., 3 miles SE of Weedon station, and.

6 WSW of Northampton. It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Weedon. It comprises 2242 acres ;

population, 857. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Peterborough; gi'oss yearly value, £450 with residence. The
church is ancient, and has lately been restored at a con-

siderable expense. It has a pre-Reformation screen and an
octagonal font. There ai'e a Baptist chapel and several use-

ful charities.

Buglawton, a village, a towiiship, and an ecclesiasticai

parish in Astbiiry parish, Cheshire. The township lies near-

the river Dane and the Macclesfield Canal, 1 mile NE of

Congleton. It has a post and money order office (T.S.O.)

under Congleton, which ii the telegraph office. Acreage,

2911
;
population, 1382. Bugiawton Hall is the chief resi-

dence. There are several silk mills, and Tui'kish towels are

manufactured. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Chester ; net value, £282 with residence. Patron, the Rector

of Astbury. The church was erected in 1840, and i-estoreA

in 1873. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist

chapels.

Bugley, a hamlet in Gilliugham pai'ish, Dorsetshire, 5^
miles WNW of Shaftesbury.

Bugsby's-Maxsh, a locahty on the Thames, 14 mile be-

low Greenwich, in Kent. It has a post office under Green-

wich, London, S.E. Bngsbys Reach is a bend of the Thames
contiguous to it, about a mile long.

Bugsworth, a hamlet, with a railway station, in Glossop

parish, Derbyshire, on the M.R., 3 miles NNW of Chapel-

en-le-Frith, and 8 from Buxton. It has a post office under

Stockport; money order office, Chinley; telegraph office,

Whaleybridge. There are lai'ge quarries, three collieries, a
cotton mill, and a lime kiln. This place is the terminus of

the Peak Forest Canal, and the commencement of the Peak
Forest tramway. The church is modern, and is under the

vicar of Glossop. There ai-e also a Primitive Methodist and

a Congi-egational chapel.

Buildwas, a village and a parish in Salop, on the river

Severn, 3^ miles SE of the Wrekiu, 2 NW of Ironbridge,

and 4 NE of Much-Wenlock, with a station on the G.W.R.,

at the junction of the Wellington and Craven Arms branch

with the Severn Valley branch. The post town is Iroubridge

(R.S.O.) Acreage of parish, 2181; population, 228. There

is a fine iron bridge over the Severn here, erected by Telford.

Buildwas Park, a modern mansion, is the seat of the lord of

the manor. A Cistercian abbey was founded in the parish

in 1135 by Roger, bishop of Chester, and given at the dis-

solution to Lord Powis. The side aisles and the chapels of

the abbey church have perished, but the chancel, the nave,

the transept, and the chapter-house mostly remain, are

Transition Norman and Early English, and form a noble

i-uin. The church is 163 feet in length, of which the nave

is 70 feet ; the chancel contains three Early English sedilia,

and has a Norman window with three lights ; the chapter-

house contains several stone coffins of the 13th century.
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The atbot's house, chiefly 13th century -n-ork, has been re-

stored, and is used as a residence. The living is a vicarape

in the diocese of Lichfield; gross value, £112. The parish

ohurch of Holy Trinity was rebuilt iu 1720, and is a small

plain edifice, consisting of chancel, nave, and bell tuiTet.

Builth, a small market-town, a parish, and the head of

a, union and county court district in Breconshire. The town
stands on the right bank of the river Wye, 14^ miles SW of

New Radnor, 16 N of Brecon by road, 26 by rail, and 18-1

from London. It has a station (Builth Wells) on the oppo-

site side of the Wye on the Cambrian railway, and another

station on the same line about 2 miles NW (Builth Road or

Llechryd"), close to which is the Builth Road station of the

L. & N.W.R. The Welsh name is Buallt, and the parish is

sometimes called Llanfah*-yn-MualIt. It occupies the site of

the Romau station Bull^eum, and had a castle in the 11th

century, said to have been built by Bernard de Newmarch.
It was held by the De Braose family for some tune, and was

captured by Llewelyn in 1260 from Sir Roger Mortimer, who
was holding it for the Crown. Llewelyn retained possession

of it till his death, which came about through the refusal of

the inhabitants to admit him on his return from an expedi-

tion to collect auxiliaries; he was surprised by the English,

and slain iu a dingle 3 miles to the west, since called Cwm-
Llewelyn. A fragment of the N wall is all that remains of

the masonry, but the site of the castle can still be traced

and the moat is nearly perfect, and there are earthworks,

probably pre-Norman. The town consists chiefly of two
parallel streets, which form iiTegular terraces on the side of

a steep declivity. The castle and the greater part of the

town were destroyed by fire in 1691. A bridge of sis arches

ppans the Wye, and connects the town with Radnorshire.

The parish church of St Maiy (Llanfair-in-Builth) was en-

tirely rebuilt in 1875, with the exception of the massive 14th
century tower, and consists of chancel, nave, S aisle, and S
porch ; it contains a monument to John Lloyd, gentleman
of the bodyguard to Queen Elizabeth. There are Congi'e-

2;ational, Baptist, Wesleyan, and Cahanistic Methodist chapels.

Builth enjoys some celebrity for its medicinal springs. The
Park Wells, three mineral springs, severally saline, cha-

lybeate, and sulphurous, are about IJ mile to the NW, near

the junction of the Yrfon mth the Wye; there is a pump-
room and baths. The Glanne Wells, less than a mile to the

W, have chalybeate and sulphurous springs, and are pro-

vided with baths, &c. The envu'ons generally are picturesque,

the climate salubrious, and the sport for anglers good. The
town is governed by a local board, and is well drained, lighted,

and paved, and has a good supply of water. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.), a workhouse, a
police station, and an endowed school. There is a market-
liouse near the bridge, the upper portion of which is used for

public meetings, concerts, &c. There is a weekly market
'»n Jlondays, and fairs are held on 2 Feb., the Friday before

12 May, 27 June, the Monday following the third Sunday
after 12 Aug., 2 Oct., and 6 Dec. It is a seat of petty

sessions. The parish includes the town, and comprises 701
acres; population, 1414; area of the urban sanitaiT district,

391 acres; population, 1383. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of St Davids ; net value, £230 with residence.

Bulbourn, a rinilet falling into the river Gade near Box-
moor, in Herts.

Bulbridge, a tithing in Wilton parish, Wilts, near Wilton.

It formerly was a parish, and it ranks as a rectoiy, annexed
to the rectoiy of Wilton in the diocese of Salisbury.

Bulby, Lincolnshire. See Irnham.
Bulcamp, a hamlet in Blythburgh parish, Lincolnshire,

"J miles SK of Haleswoith.

Eulcote, a township and a chapelry in the Newark division

of Notts, on the river Trent and the M.R., 1 mile NE of

Burton-Joyce railway station, and 6 miles NE of Nottingham.

Post town, Burton-Joyce, under Nottingham. Acreage, 650

;

population, 101. The living is a chapehy, annexed to the

vicarage of Burton-Joyce, in the diocese of Southwell ; joint

net value, £210 with residence, in the gift of the Earl of

Carnarvon.

Buley Castle, a mined castle on the river Eden, 3^ miles

NW of Appleby, in Westmoreland. It was built by John
do Builly, and passed to the Veteriponts and the bishops of

Carlisle.
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Bulford, a parish in Wilts, on the river Avon, 2 miles

NNE of Amesbury, and 4| N by W of Porton railway station.

It has a post office under Salisbury ; money order and tele-

gi-aph office, Amesbur}'. Acreage, 3642; population, 341.
Bulford House is a chief residence. Some Druidical stones

occur, and an earthwork, supposed to represent an ancient

British village, is adjacent within Durrington. The living is

a ncarage in the diocese of Salisbury ; net value, £100. The
church is picturesque, and there is also a Congregational

chapel.

Bulk, a township in Lancaster parish, Lancashire, adjoin-

ing the town of Lancaster, which is the post town and money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1158

;
population, 671.

Bulkeley, a township in Malpas parish, Cheshne, 4 miles

E of Broxton station on the L. & N.W.R., and 5j NE of

ilalpas. Acreage, 975 ; population, 180. It has a Primi-
tive Methodist chapel.

Bulkington, a village and a parish in Warwickshire.

The village stands near the Coventry Canal, 2^ miles E of

Bedworth, and 4 SE by S of Nuneaton, and has a station on
the Trent Valley section of the L. & N.W.R., and a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Nuneaton. The parish,

which is governed by a local board, includes also the hamlets

of Marston-Jabbett, Ryton, Weston-in-Arden, Hollyhupst,

and parts of Barnacle and Bramcott. Area of the civil

parish, 4892
;
population, 1400 ; area of the urban sanitary

district, 4832 acres
;
population of the urban sanitary dis-

trict and ecclesiastical parish, 1389. Many of the inhabit-

ants are ribbon weavers. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Worcester; gross value, £270 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church, erected in the

loth century, formerly belonged to the Abbey of Leicester,

and is a fine building with an embattled western tower ; it con-

tains a monument of Carrara marble, the work of Richard

Haywood, an amateur sculptor, who formerly resided at

Weston Hall ; also a font, the pedestal of which is a frag-

ment of marble of great antiquity brought from Rome and
presented by Mr Haywood. There are Congregational and
Primitive Methodist chapels. At Weston-in-Arden is a

Roman Catholic chapel, and at Barnacle and Ryton there are

Wesleyan chapels.

Bulkington, a parish in Wilts, 6 miles E of Trowbridge.

Post town, Devizes; money order office, Seend; telegraph

office, Potterne. Acreage, 974; population, 172. The hv-

ing is a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbury
;

gi'oss value,

£74. There are the remains of an ancient bull ring in the

village, where bull-baiting took place up to modern times.

There is also remaining a fine pedestal of a large wayside

cross. There is a Methodist chapel.

Bulkworthy, a parish in Devonshire, on the river Tor-

ridge, 7 miles S\V by W of Great Torrington, and 9 SSW of

Bideford railway station. Post town, Brandis Corner; money
order and telegraph office, Holsworthy. Acreage, 1504;
population, 124. The manor belongs to the RoUe family.

The living is a chapelry, annexed to the vicarage of Buck-
land-Brewer, in the diocese of Exeter. The church was built

by Lord Chief-Justice Hankford.

Bullbarrow, a chalk down 4 miles NW of Milton-Abbas,

in Dorset. It has an altitude of 927 feet above the sea, and
is crowned by Rawlsbury Camp, a circular work with double

ramparts, commanding a very extensive view.

Bull Bay, a small bay on the N coast of Anglesey, 1^
mile W of Amlwch. The village of the same name is a small

watering-place and a lifeboat station.

Buller's-Green, a township, now incorporated with Mor-
peth, Northumberland.

Bulley, a parish in Gloucestershire, 1^ mile NAV of Oakle

Street station on the G.W.R., and 5 miles "WNW of Glouces-

ter, which is the post town. Acreage, 963 ;
population,

1G6. The living is a chapelry, annexed to the vicarage of

Churcham, in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol. The
church is ancient and small; the chancel arch and the S

doon\'ay are Norman. The register dates from 1541.

Bull-Gill, a station on the JIaryport and Cailisle railway,

in Cumberland, 4| miles Nli of Maryport.

Bullingham, a hamlet on the west border of Hereford-

shire, 3 miles from Kington.

Bullingliam or Bullinghope, Lower, a parish in Here-

fordshire, on the river Wye, 1^ mile S of Hereford, It has a
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post office of the ii.ime of Lower Bullingliam under Hereford,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage,

1106
;
population, 46ii. A nunnery conforming to the rule

of St Francis of Assisi was established in 1870. St Charles's

Home is a building erected in 1887 as an almshouse.

Bullingham or Bullinghope, Upper, a parish in Here-

fordshire, on the ri\er Wye, _' miles ,S of Hereford, which is

the post town. The parish is ecclesiastically united with

Lower Bullingham and Grafton parishes, but for civil pur-

poses it was merged in 1885 into the parishes of Grafton and

t>t Martins. Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 651.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford ; net value,

,£254 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Hereford. The

church is modern, erected to replace the ancient church, which

had fallen into ruins. The Ecclesiastical Commissioners are

lords of the manor.

BuUington, a parish in Hants, on an atHueut of the river

Test, li mile N from Sutton Scotney railway station, and ih
miles S of Whitchurch. Post town, Jlicheldever ; money order

and telegraph office, Sutton Scotney. Acreage, 1635
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 161 ; of the ecclesiastical, with

Tufton , 298. There is an old Roman encampment called

^' Tidbury Ring,'' where many Roman antiquities have been

found. The living is a vicarage, united with the vicarage

of Tufton, in the diocese of Winchester ; net value, £200
with residence. The church is good.

BuUington, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3 milesW of Wragby,
and 3 E by N of Langworth station on the M.S. & L.E.

Post town, Wragby, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 8'Jl
;
population, 50. A Gilbertine priory

and convent were founded here in the time of Stephen by

Simon Fitzwilliam, and given at the dissolution to the Duke
of Suffolk. There is a small Wesleyan chapel, which was

erected in 1878.

Bullman's Village, a part of Gosforth. See Gosfoeth.
Bullock's Hall, a township in Chevington parish, North-

umberland, adjacent to the N.E.R., 7 miles SW of Warkwortli.

Acreage, 210
;
population, 15.

Bullock-Smithy. See Hazel Grove.
Bull Point, a headland on the NW coast of Devonshire,

3J miles W by S of Ilfracombe.

Bull Sand, a shoal in the mouth of the Humber, near

Spurn Head, in the E. R. Yorkshire. A lightship is on it,

in 4t fathoms, showing a fixed light visible at the distance

of 10 miles.

BuU's-Ctoss, a -i-illage in Enfield parish, Middlesex, 2 miles

W of W.altham Abbey. It has a post office under Waltham,
which is the money order and telegraph office.

BuU's-Head Hill, an eminence in Lincolnshire, 2^ miles

WSW of Alford. It serves as a landmark.

Bull's-Lake Hill, an eminence on the mutual border of

Dorset and Somerset, 2 miles E of Milbomeport. It com-

mands extensive views both E and 'W.

Bullslaughter Bay, a small b.ay near St Gowan's Head,

on the south coast of Pembrokeshire.

Bullwell. See Bulwell.
Bulmer, a village and a parish in Essex. The parish lies

on the verge of the county, near the river Stour, 2 miles

WSW of Sudbury station on tlie G.E.E., and has a post office

under Sudbury, which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. Acreage of the civil parish, 2806
;
population, 718

;

of the ecclesiastical, with Belchanip-^Valter, 1243. The
living is a vicarage, united with the vicarage of Belchamp-

Walter, in the diocese of St Albans; net value, £240. The
chancel of the church id Early English ; it was restored in

1883. The nave and nortli aisle are Perpendicuar, and were

restored in 1891. There is also a Congi-egational chapel,

e ected in 1873. Auberies, a fine comitry seat standing in

a park of about 150 acres, is in this parish.

Bulmer, a township, a parish, and a wapentake in N. R
Yorkshire. The township lies on an affluent of the river

Derwent, 2 miles ^VNW of Barton Hill railway station, and
a^ SW by W of New Malton. Acreage of township, 1666

;

population, 214; of the ecclesiastical parish, with Welburn,

604. The parish contains also the township of Welburn,

which has a post and money order office under York. The
living is a rectory, including a chapel of ease at Welburn,

in the diocese of York ; net value, £347 with residence.

Patron, the Earl of Carlisle. The church is an ancient
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building in the Norman style. There is a Wesleyan chapel

at Buhner, and one .also at Welburn.

Bulmershe Court, a seat in the eastern vicinity of Read-
ing, Berks. It was the residence of the prime minister

Viscount Sidmouth, often visited by Pitt and Windham, and
is now the property of the Bmce family.

Bulstrode Park, a fine country seat, 2J miles ESE of

Beaconsfield, in Bucks. It belonged anciently to the Bul-

strodes, passed to the JefTreyses, was sold about the end of

the 17th century to the Earl of Portland, and resold in 1807
to tiie Duke of Somerset. A mansion was built on it by
,Tudge Jeffreys, and is described in Mrs Montagu's letters.

The present mansion was rebuilt in 1870 by Sir .John Rams-
den, Bart. A circular entrenchment, enclosing 21 acres, is

in the park.

Bulthey, a township in Great Wollaston parish, Salop, 1

J

mile NW of Great Wollaston.

Bulvau or Bulfan (the Bull-Fen'), a parish in Essex,

2 miles W from East Hornden station on the London, Til-

bury, and Southend railway. 5 NW of Stanford-le-Hope, and

0^ SSE of Brentwood. Post town, Romford, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage of the parish,

1713; population, 294. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value, £260 with resi-

dence. The church is a small building of stone dating

from the 14th century. '

Bulverhithe, a manor within Hastings borough, Sussex,

on the coast, and 1 mile from St Leonard's station on the

L.B. & S.C.R., and 2 miles W of Hastings. It is supposed

to be the place of Caesar's landing.

Bulwell, a populous parish in the municipal and parlia-

mentary borough of Nottingham, to which it was added

under the Nottingham Borough Extension Act of 1887.

Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 11,481. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £50Q
with residence. See Nottixgham.

Bulwick, a parish in Northamptonshire, on an affluent of

the rivi.r Nen, 4 miles SW from King's Cliffe station on the

L. & N.W.R., and 7 NW by W of Oundle. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under W'ansford. Acreage,

2165
;
population, 286. Bulwick Hall, a fine countiy seat,

which stands on an eminence in a well-wooded park, is in

this parish. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Petei'-

borcugh ; net yearly value, £230 with residence. The church

is Decorated and Later English, and has an elegant tower

and spire. There is also a small Baptist chapel erected in

1855.

Bulwick-short-Leys, formerly an estra-parochial tract

in Northamptonshire, now incoi'porated with Southwick

p.irish.

Bumpstead, Helion, a parish in Essex, on the N verge

of the county, and on the Colne Valley and Halstead rail-

way, 3j miles from Haverhill station, and 8 NNE of Thaxted.

It has a post office under Haverhill, which is the money

order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2853
;
population, 661.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans : gross

yearly value, £219 with residence, in the gift of Trinity

College, Cambridge. The church is an edifice of stone and

brick in the Early English style.

Bumpstead, Steeple, a parish in Essex, 2\ miles S from

Sturmer station on the G.E.R., and 8A NE by E of Thaxted.

It has a post and money order office under Haverhill, which

is the telegi'aph office. Acreage, 3766
;
population of the

civil parish, 1014; of the ecclesiastical, 972. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans; net value, £182
with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church

is a finely proportioned edifice of ffint and brick in the Per-

pendicular style. There is .also a Congregational chapel,

rebuilt in 1884. Moyns Park and Bower Hall are country

seats in this parish.

Bunbury, a village, a township, and a parish in Cheshire.

Tlie village and township lie on the Chester and Ellesmere

(^'anal, between the stations Beestou Castle and Calveley on

the Chester and Crewe section of the L. & N.W.R., 3i miles

SSE of Tarporley, and have a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Tarporley, and a public hall. Acreage of towm-

ship, 1161; population, 857; of ecclesiastical parish, with

Spurston, Ridley, Haughton, and Beeston, 1822. The parish

contains also the townships of Tilstone-Fearnell, Alpraham,
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Tiverton, Calveley, Peckforton, and Bunvardsley. Tlie manor
belonged to Hugh Lupns, and passed to the Bunburvs. A
college for a master and six chaplains was founded here in

1386 by Sir Hugh Caheley, and was purchased from the
Crown in the time of Elizabeth by Thomas Aldersey of Lon-
don. The living is a preachership, endowed by Thomas
Aldersey with £66, 13s. 4d. and 28 acres of glebe, with a
rectory house ; net value, £110. There is also a licar-curate,

assistant to the preacher, endowed by Thomas Aldersey with
-t20, with augmentations, !1f acres of glebe, and a vicarage

house; net value, £110. There are perpetual curacies of

Burwardsley with Peckforton, Tilstone-Fearnell with Alpra-
ham and Tiverton, and Calveley with Wardle. The preacher-

ship and vicar-curacy are under the patronage of the Haber-
dashers' Company. The church is Decorated and Perpen-
dicuhu", and consists of nave, chancel, aisles, 3 chapels, and a
massive embattled western tower, was injured by the RoyaHsts
in 1643, underwent restoration in 1865, and contains monu-
ments of Calveley, the Cheshire hero of the 14th century,

and Beeston, one of the commanders against the Spanish
Armada. The perpetual curacies of Tilstone and Burwardsley
are separate benefices. There are Wesleyan and Primitive

]\Ietl]odist chapels at Bunbury.

Buncton, a hamlet in Ashington parish, Sussex, 3^ miles
N\V of Steyning. It forms a cm-acy with Ashington. See
ASHIKGTON.

Bimdley. See Bosdleigh.
Bungay, a mai-ket-town, two parishes, and a petty sessional

division in Suffolk. The town stands on the verge of the

county, within a fold of the river Wavenev, on the Waveney
Valley branch of the G.E.P.., 6 miles W of Beccles. The
name of it is said to be a corruption of Le Bon Eye, " the

beautiful island." A castle at it was the seat and stronghold
of the Bigods, Earls of Norfolk; was garrisoned by one of

tliem for Stephen, and thought to be impregnable; passed to

the Crown in the time of Edward I., was afterwards given to

the Mortimers, and reverted to the Crown in the time of

Edward IV. Remains of it still exist on a tine site with
pleasant views, and a bowling green has been laid down in

tlie castle grounds. An old ballad represents one of the
Bigod owners of the castle, the troublesome Earl Hugh, as
saying, on his retreat from Framlingham

—

"Were I in my strong castle of Bungay,
Upon the water of Waveney,

I would ne care for the King of Cockayne,
Nor all his bravery."

A Benedictine nunnery wiis founded on a spot between the

two parish churches in 1160 by Roger de Glanville and his

wife the Countess Gundreda, and given at the dissolution to

tlie Duke of Norfolk. The town, excepting one street, was
destroyed by fire in 168S, and most of it now is modern, and
consists of spacious well-built streets containing many good
houses and shops. There is an excellent water supply derived

from springs. The cost of the lighting and paving is defrayed

out of the income derived from the town lands, which is about

£400 a year, and which leaves a surplus that is devoted

to improvements and to charity. The market-place, which
stands on rising ground in the centre of the town, formerly

had two market crosses, but now has only one, an octagonal
" Butter Cross," built in 1690. The market day is Thurs-
day. There is a corn exchange, which was formerly a

tlicatre. Bungay comprises the two parishes of St JIary

and Holy Trinity, and there are two parish churches. St

Mary's Church is a large and stately structure of flint and
stone in the Perpendicular style, and has a fine tower. It

was restored in 1870. The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £204 with residence, in the

gift of trustees. Holy Trinity Church is a small building

of rubble and flint, supposed to have been built in the lltli

century. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Norwich

;

net yearly value, £226 with residence, in the gift of the

Bishop of Norwich. There are also Baptist, Roman Catholic,

Congregational, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

There are two cemeteries—one for each parish—of about

2 acres each. There is an endowed grammar school, ori-

ginally founded in 1592, which is regulated by a scheme
of the Endowed Schools Commission issued in 1870. There

are two commons under the management of common reeves
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—Ontney Common, a capital green space of about 402
acres to the N of the town; and Stow Fen, to the S, contain-
ing 88 acres. The town has a station on the railway, is a
head post, money order, and telegraph office, has two banks,
is the head of a petty sessional division, and a polling-place

for the northern division of the county. Area of civil parish
of Holy Trinity, 2052 acres; population, 1801; of the eccle-

siastical parish, 1874 ; area of St Mary, 590 acres
; popula-

tion, 1759; of ecclesiastical parish, 1707. The Waveney is

navigable hither, and a considerable trade is can-ied on in

gi'ain, flour, malt, and hme. At Ditchingham, on the Nor-
folk side near the town, there is a large silk manufactory
which atfords employment to a gi-eat number of females,

and in the town itself are extensive printing offices. Busi-
ness is also done in malting, lime burning, iron-founding,

and milling, and there ai-e some steam saw-mills. Upland
Hall, a fine country seat, famous for its huge Levant oak,

stands about a mile from the town on the Flixton Road.

Bunny, a village, a township, and a parish in Notts, 3

miles SW of Plumtree railway station, and 6J S of Notting-
ham, which is the post town. Acreage of the township,

2137; population, 239; of the civil and ecclesiastical parish,

with Bradmore, 483. Bunny Park was the seat of the eru-

dite and eccentric Sir T. Parkyns, and passed to Lord Ean-
cliffe. The living is a vicarage, united with the vicarage of

Bradmore, in the diocese of Southwell ; net value, £327 with
residence. The church is partly Decorated English, and has

a crocketed spire. There is an endowed school and some
charities.

Buntingford, a union town in Herts. It stands on the

river Rib, 10 miles N from Ware and 7 S from Royston. The
terminal station of the Ware and Buntingford branch of the

G.E.R. is about h.alf a mile S of the town. It is in the

parishes of Aspenden. Layston, Throcking, and Wyddial, is

the head of a petty sessional division, and has a head post,

money order, and telegi'aph office. The parish of Layston,

which includes the greater part of the town, formerly had
an area of 2203 acres, but by the Parish Boundaries Act
this was reduced to 1434. Population of Buntingford, 1408.

The parish chm'ch of Layston is an edifice of flint in the

Early English and Perpendicular styles. The living is a
rectory in the diocese of St. Albans, with the chapelry of

Buntingford annexed; gi'oss yearly value, £167. There is

a chapel of ease, erected in 1014-26, and there are Congi'e-

gational and Particular Baptist chapels. The town formerly

had a weekly market, but this has been given up; it has still

a yearly fair, which is held 29 June. Layston House and
Corney Bury are chief residences.

Bunwell, a parish in Norfolk, 3J miles NE of New Buck-
enham, and 4^ WSW of Forncett station on the G.E.R.

It has a post office under Attleborough ; money order and
telegraph office. New Buckenham. Acreage, 2495; popula-

tion, 807. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich;

net value, £396 with residence. The church, a building of

flint and stone in tlie Early Perpendicular style, was restored

in 1890.

Burback. See Bdbbage, Leicester.

Burbage, a village and a parish in Wilts, 71 miles from.

London on the railway from Swindon to Andover. Saver-

nake station on the G.W.R. is also in tlie parish. The
village stands near the Kennet and Avon Canal, 6J miles

SSE of ^larlborough, is a straggling picturesque place, and
has a post, money order, and telegi-aph otfice under Marl-

borough. Acreage of the civil parish, 4013 ;
population,

1213 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1078. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £231 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Salisbury. The church is an edifice

of 1854 (enlarged and renovated in 187C) with an old tower,

and has two memorial windows, the one to Bishop Denison,

the other to four natives who fell in the Crimean War.

There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Burbage, a parish in Hartingtou, Upper Quarter, Der-

byshire, 1 mile S of Buxton, nnder which there is a post,

money order, and telegraph (R.S.O.) office. There are some
large quan-ies. Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 2635.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Southwell

;

gi'oss value, £240 with residence, in the gift of the Duke of

Devonshire. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist

chapels.
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Burbage, a cbapelry, a village, and towQsbip in Leicester-

shii-e. The chapelry is in Aston-Flamville parish, lies on the

verge the county, at Watling Street, IJ mile SE of Hinckley

station on the L. & N.VV. & M.R., and has a post, money

order, and telepraph office under Hinckley. Acreage of town-

ship, 3105
;
population, 1876. Many of the inhabitants are

framework knitters. The living is a perpetual curacy annexed

to the rectory of Aston-Flamville, in the diocese of Peter-

borough. The church, rebuilt in 1842, is in the Early Eng-

lish style, and has a tower and spire. There are Congrega-

tional, Wesleyan, and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Burbeach, a hundred in the rape of Bramber, Sussex.

It contains Beediog and Ifield parishes, and part of Edbnrton.

Burbeck, a streamlet falling into the river Lnne, near

Whinfeli, in Westmoreland.

Burbo-Flats, a sandbank off the mouth of the Mersey

and the Dee, Lancashire and Cheshire. It is 7 miles long,

and from 3 to 5 broad, and is partly bare at half-tide. The

main channels to the Mersey are to the N of it, and the

Horse and Rock channels to the S. Buoys mark its limits

all round, and the Floating and Kock lights show the

channels.

Bnrbrook, a streamlet falling into the river Derwent,

near Chatsworth, in Derby.

Burcombe, a parish in Wilts, on the river Nadder, 2 miles

W of Wilton railway station. It includes the tithing of North

Burcombe, and is itself sometimes called South Burcornbe.

It has a post office under Salisbury ; money order and tele-

graph office, Wilton. Acreage, 1864 ;
population of the civil

parish, 330 ; of the ecclesiastical, 305. The Hving is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Salisbury; net value, £59 with resi-

dence. Patron, the Prior of St John's Hospital, Burcombe.

The church is so old as to have traces of Saxon, and was

restored and enlarged in 1860.

Burcot, a hamlet in Bromsgrove parish, Worcestershire,

1^ mile NE of Bromsgrove.

Burcote, a township in WorSeld parish, Salop, on an

affluent of the Sevein, 2 miles NE of Bridgnorth.

Burcott, a hamlet and a township in Dorchester parish,

Oxfordshire, on the river Thames, 5 miles E by S of Abing-

don, and in the Abingdon union. Post town, Abingdon

;

money order, and telegraph office, Dorchester. Acreage of

township, 679 ;
population, 141. It has no church, but

divine ser^'ice is held in the school.

Burcott, a hamlet in Wing parish, Bucks, 3| miles SW
of Leighton-Buzzard,

Burcott, a tithing in St Cuthbert-Out, within Wells

city, Somersetshire, 1 mile W of Wells.

Burdale, a station on the Maltoii and Driffield branch of

the N.E.R., E. R. Yorkshire, 9 miles SE of New Malton.

Burdon, a hamlet in Highhampton parish, Devonshire, 3

miles from Halwill Junction on the L. & S.W.R.

Burdon, a small village and township in Ryhope parish,

Durham, near the Durham and Sunderland railway, 4 miles

S by W of Sunderland, which is the post town and tele-

graph office; money order office, Ryhope Colliery. Acreage

of township, 11-^5; population, 125.

Burden, Great, a village and a township in Haughton-

le-Skerne parish, Durliam, near the Stockton railway, 2i
miles NE of Darlington, which is the post town. Acreage

of township, 604; population, 104. The Dean and Chapter

of Durham are the chief owners of the land and the mines.

Buxdoswald, a locality in Lanercost parish, Cumberland,

on the Roman wall, 4^ miles NE by E of Brampton. The
Roman station Amboglaua was here, and many Roman in-

scriptions have been found.

Bure, The, a river of Norfolk- It rises near Hindolves-

ton, and runs about 42 miles south-eastward, past Aylsham
and Acle, to the Yare at Yarmouth. It receives the Ant
and the Thone in the marshes above and at Acle, and is

navigable to Aylsham.

Bure, a tithing in Christchmrch parish, Hants, on the

bay, 2 miles from Christchurch station on the L. & S.W.R,
Bures, a township in the Esses part of Bm-es-St-Mary

parish, which is for the most part in Suffolk, lies on the

river Stour, with a station on the G.E.R., 5 miles SSE from
Sudbuiy. Colchester is the post town ; money order and
telegraph office, Bures-St-Mary. Acreage, 1846; popula-
tion, 500. Malting and brickmaking are carried on.
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Bures-Mount, a parish in Esses, on the river Stour, 1

mile S from Burcs station on the G.E.R., and 6 miles S by
E of Sudbury. Post town, Colchester; money order and
telegraph office, Bures-St-Mary. Acreage, 1293

;
population

of the civil parish, 252 ; of the ecclesiastical, 246. An
ancient artificial mound here, about 80 feet high, and of

unknown origin, has a base of nearly 1^ acre. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; net yearly value, £270
with residence. The church is an ancient structure of brick

and stone in the Norman style. It was restored in 1875.

There is also a Baptist chapel. By a Local Government

Order issued in 1884, certain detached parts of Bures in the

Sudbury union were united with this parish.

Bures-St-Mary, a parish in the counties of Essex and

Suffolk, on the river Stour, with a station on the G.E.R., 5

miles SSE of Sudbury. It contains the hamlet of Bures.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.)

Acreage, 2574; population of the civil parish, 906; of the

ecclesiastical, 1404. Edmund, king of East Anglia, was

crowned here. The site of his coronation is known as St

Edmund's Hill on the Sudbury Road. The living is a vicar-

age, united with Bures Hamlet, in the diocese of Ely ; net

yearly value, £260 with residence. The church is ancient,

and was restored in 1865 ; the chancel was internally restored

and beautified in 1891. Malting and brickmaking are carried

on, and there is also a tanyard.

Burfa. See Evenjobb.
Burfield. See Bukghfield.
Burford, a market-town, a township, and a parish in

Oxfordshire. The town stands on the river Windrush, near

Wychford forest, 5 miles S of Shipton station on the G.W.R.,

7 W from Witney, and 18 W by N of Oxford. It is a place

of high antiquity. A synod was held here in 705, in pres-

ence of the kings Ethelred and Berthwald, to correct opinions

respecting Easter. A battle was fought in its vicinity, at

Battle-Edge, in 752, between Ethelbald, king of Mercia, and

Cuthred of the West Saxons, who was tributary to him, when
Cuthred obtained the victory, and threw oft" the Jlercian yoke.

A stone coffin, of great size and weight, was found some

years ago a little below the surface near the scene of action,

and is supposed to have been deposited there after the battle.

An action was fought in the vicinity also in 1649, between

Fairfax and the Royalists, when the latter were defeated, and

some of them imprisoned in the church. The town contains

many old houses, consists chiefly of three streets, and has a

good water supply. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office (R.S.O. ), a town-hall, a parish church, Baptist, Quaker,

and Wesleyan chapels, an endowed grammar school, and alms-

houses. Area of the township, 760 acres; population, 1346.

The church is large, cruciform, and interesting, has a Norman
central tower, other Norman portions, and some Early English

work, but is mainly Perpendicular, of various dates; includes

several large chapels, and a very rich south porch, and con-

tains curious monuments of Su- Lawrence Tanfield, Edmund
Harman, and others. The living is a vicarage with the chapelry

of Fulbrook annexed, in the diocese of Oxford ;
joint net value,

£165 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Oxford.

A weekly market is held on Saturday, and fairs on the last

Saturday of April and 25 September. A considerable trade

in saddlery, rugs, and other articles was formerly earned on,

but has greatly declined. Heylin, the author of "" Micro-

cosmos," Needham, the author of " Mercurius Britannicus,"

and Beechey the painter, were natives. Tlie town gives the

title of Earl to the Duke of St Albans. The parish includes

also the hamlets of Upton and Signett. Population of the

ecclesiastical parish with Fulbrook, 1907. A small priory,

a cell to Keynsham abbey in Somerset, anciently stood near

the town, and was given at the dissolution to Edm nd
Harman, and conveyed by the Long Parliament to he
famous Speaker Lenthall. A mansion, in the Tudor style,

and called Burford Priory, which was partly erected by

Speaker Lenthall on the site of an ancient religious institution,

has now been allowed to fall into deplorable and premature

decav. About half a mile SW from Bnrford were the St

Christopher's or Kitt's quarries, from which were supplied

much of tiie material used lu the erection of St Paul's

Cathedral.

Burford, a township and a parish in Salop. The town-

sluD lies on the river Teme and the Knighton Canal, 1 mil«
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W of Tenbuiy, and had foiinerly a raai-ket. Post towu,Ten-
buiy, which is the money order and telegraph office. Acre-
age, 1558; population, 35G; population of ecclesiastical

parish, first portion, St JIary, with Boraston and Nash, 484
;

second portion, with "Whitton, 354 ; third portion, St Slary,

395. The parish contains also the townships of Boraston,

Kash, Tilsop, Weston, Whatmore, and AVhitton. The
manor was for generations in the possession of the Coruewall

family. Burford House, erected in the reign of George II.,

is the manor-house. Tenbury gasworks ai-e in tbis parish.

The living is divided into three portions in the diocese of

Hereford : the first portion is a vicarage miited with the per-

petual cm'acies of Boraston and Nash, the second portion a

rectory united with the perpetual curacy of Whitton, the

third portion a rectory; net value of the first, ^3G0 with resi-

dence, second £299 with residence, third £336 with resi-

dence. The township of Stoke, which in 1884 was annexed

to the parish of Greete for civil purposes, is in this parish for

ecclesiastical purposes. The mother church is Early English

with later additions, and consists of chancel, nave, and a low

massive western tower ; it contains a Perpendicular font, a

piscina, a triptych of 1588, many monuments to the Corne-

wall family, and one to Princess Elizabeth, daughter of John
of Gaunt, who mamed Sir John Coraewall, Lord Fanhope.

There are chmches also in Boraston, ^Miitton, and Nash.

Burford, Wilts. See Britfokd.

Burgage, a part of Southwell parish, Notts. See South-
well.

Burgate, a parish in Suffolk, 1^ mile NE of Slellis station

on the G.E.R., and 4^ miles WNW of Eye. Post town.

Diss, which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

2007
;

population, 273. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £352 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Norwich. The church has a double-

canopied brass of 1409, and is an ancient building of flint

in the Early English style of architecture. There is also a

Wesleyan chapel.

Burgate, Middle, North, and South, three tithings in

Fordingbridge parish, Hants, on the river Avon, 1 mile from

Breamore station on the L. &. S.W.R., with a post office

under Salisbury ; money order and telegraph office, Fording-

bridge. Burgate House belongs to the Coventry family.

Burgedin, a township in Guilsfield parish, Jlontgomeiy-

shire, 4 miles N of Welshpool.

Burgess Hill, an urban sanitary district and an ecclesi-

astical parish in the S of Susses, Sh miles S by E of Cuck-

tield, on the L.B. & S.C.R. 41 miles from London, with

a post, money order, and telegraph office (li.S.O.) Area of

the urban sanitary district, 1505 acres; population, 4145;
of the ecclesiastical parish St John, 44 1 3. The dis-

trict, which comprises parts of Clayton and Keymer, is

governed by a local board of 12 members. Large drainage

works on Denton^s system have been can'ied out. There are

mission rooms and a literary mstitute with a library. A
hu-ge sheep and Iamb fair is held on 5 July. Bricks and

tiles are largely manufactured in this district. A church

was erected here in 1863 at a cost of £5000, is in the

Early Decorated style ; consists of nave, aisle, and transept,

with tower and spire ; the walls brick, the facings variously

colom-ed brick and Bath stone. It was much enlarged in

1889, and at the same time a fine organ was erected. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester ; value, £300.

There are Congregational and Baptist chapels, and a Ply-

mouth Brethren meeting-house.

Burgh, Borough, Burg, or Bury, a name of Saxon

origin, signifying a town, a city, a fort, or a castle.

Burgh, Cumberland. See Burgh-by-Sands.
Burgh, Lincolnshire. See Buegh-in-the-Maksh.
Burgh, Norfolk. See Burgh St. Peter, &c.

Burgh or Burgh-next-Aylsham, a parish in Norfolk,

on the river Bure, 2 miles SE of Aylsham station on the

G.E.R., and 114 N of Norwich. It has a post office under

Aylsham, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 816
;

population, 215. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £100 with resi-

dence. The church is an interesting structure of flint and

stone in the Early English style; the chancel was restored in

lfs78. There is a Primitive Methodist chapel, erected in 1868.

Burgh, a pai-ish in Suffolk, 3 miles N of Bealiugs station
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on the G.E.R., and 4 NW of Woodbridge, under which it

has a post office ; money order office, Gmndisburgh ; tele-

gi'aph office, Little Beahngs. Acreage, 1242; population,

220. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Non\'ich; net
value, £212 with residence. The church, which stands in

a very picturesque situation, is an old building of rubble

and brick in the Eai-ly Enghsh style. Thistleton Hall, an
old country seat, stands about a mile E of the village.

Burgham, The. See Brugham.
Burgham, a tithing in Worplesdon parish, Surrey, near

the Guildford and New Portsmouth railway, 2 miles NNW
of Guildford. A church was built here in 1860 in the Early-

English style, .at a cost of £967.
Burgham, Westmoreland. See Brougham.
Burgh-Apton or Bergh-Apton, a parish in Norfolk, 4^

miles SSW of Buckingham station on the G.E.R., and 4
NW of Loddon. It has a post and money order office under
Norwich ; telegi\iph office, Loddon. Acreage, 1989

; popu-
lation of civil parish, 405 ; of ecclesiastical, with Holver-

stone, 503. The living is a rectory, united with the rectory

of Holverstone, in the diocese of Norwich; net value, £350
with residence. The chm'ch is an ancient cruciform edifice

of flint and stone, with a lofty tower. It was restored in

1881.

Burgh-by-Sands, a ^illage, a township, and a parish in

Cumberland. The township lies on the Roman wall and on
the Carlisle and Silloth railway, 2 miles S of the influs of

the Eden to the Solway Firth, and 5^: NW by W of Carlisle,

and has a station of the name of Burgh on the railway, and
a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) The
Roman station Axelodunum is believed by many antiquaries

to have been here ; some traces either of that station or of

the Roman wall can still be seen, and a number of Roman
urns, altars, and inscribed stones have been found. A castle

also was erected here soon after the Conquest; captured

»

in 1174, by WilHam the Lion of Scotland, and committed,

in 1253, to the keeping of Stephen Longespec, but has dis-

appeared. Acreage, 6170 ;
population, 857. The parish

contains also the townships of Longburgh, Boustead Hill,

Dykesfield, Thurstonfield, and Moor-House. The manor
belonged anciently to the De Morvilles, was given to the

Abbey of Holme-Cultram ;
passed to the Mnltores, the Dacres,

and the Howards, and belongs now to the Earl of Lonsdale.

The tract upon the Solway has, in recent times, been en-

croached on by the sea, and is protected by embankments.

The parish was the scene in old times, especially in 1216
and 1520, of many encounters between the English and the

Scots ; and a spot in it, about a mile N of the village, was
the deathplace of Edward I. An obelisk, commemorative

of this event, was built on the spot in 1685 by the Duke of

Norfolk; fell down in 1795, and was rebuilt in 1805 by the

Eai'l of Lonsdale. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Caiiisle; gross value, £283 with residence. The church

has a Norman door and a castellated tower, was constructed

as much for military defence as for public worship, and is

still in good condition.

Burgh Castle, a village and a paiish in Suffolk. The
village stands neai- the river Waveney, at the confluence of the

Yare, which unite to form Breydon Water, If mile WNW of

Belton station on the G.E.R., and 4 miles SW by W of Yar-

mouth. It has a post office under Great Yarmouth ; money

order office, Belton ; telegi'aph office, Gorleston. The parish

comprises 1496 acres; population, 469. It is ancient and

historically interesting. The manor belonged to the kings of

East Anglia, and part of it was given in 630 by King Sigebert

to the Irish monk Fursajus for the founding of a mon-
astery. There is a Roman camp, occupying fully 5^ acres,

and showing features of strong construction. Courses of

Roman bricks gi'eatly ornament the walls, and the place has

been identified by many antiquai-ies with the Roman Garia-

nonum. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ;

net yearly value, £260 with residence, in the gift of the

Lord Chancellor. The church is ancient and of various

periods. The oldest pai't may have been of the Norman
time. It has an embattled tower, an ancient font, and

good oak benches throughout. There are three good bells.

The church is dedicated to St Peter. There is also a Meth-

odist New Connexion chapel, builfc in 1864. There is a

manufactory of bricks and Portland cement in the Ullage.
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Burghclere, a parish in North Hants, 61 miles from Lou-

don, iutorsected by the Didcot, Newbury, and Southampton

railway (worked by the G.W.R.), having; two stations—High-

clere and Burghclere—situated respectively in the northern

and southern parts of the parish. The houses are scattered

over a lai'ge area, there being no village properly so called. The
country is pleasantly diversified and undulating, the general

level being about 400 feet above the sea. The hill fortress

for the defence of the district appears to have been preserved

for defensive purposes from the Celtic period to the early

Anglo-Sasou time; and the name Burghclere is thought by

some to derive its name from one or both of the old British

camps on high hiUs on either side of the valley, which forms

the only natural pass for many miles from the Berkshire

country into Hampshire, and which was a place ^vhere toll

was taken as late as the date of the Domesday Sm'vey. The
termination clere possibly denotes a clearing of the forest-

land. Burghclere has a post office under Newbury ; money
order office, Woolton Hill ; telegraph office, Newtown. Acre-

age, 5270
;
population, 779. The paiish of Newtown, which

has always been held with Burghclere, has a population of

221, and an area of 480 acres. Near the Burghclere station

are two conspicuous chalk hills—Beacou Hill, with a well-

marked aucient camp with a deep trench, just outside High-

clere Park, the Hampshii'e seat of the Earl of Carnarvon

;

and Sidown (or Sidon) Hill, covered with wood, just within

the park. Extensive views are obtained from both these

hills. Adbui-y Park, the seat of Mr Fox, is a handsome
house, surrounded by extensive and picturesque grounds,

ornamented by a good collection of pines and other Coniferie.

The living of Burghclere, with Newtown, is a rectory in the

diocese of Winchester, the tithe rent charge being com-
muted at gross sum of £1100 (present gross value, £778)
and 188 acres of glebe ; net value of living, about £400 with

residence. Patron, the Earl of Carnarvon. The parish

church, near the Highclere station, was built about 50 years

ago, but a new chancel and spire were added lately. The old

church, near the Burghclere station, which had fallen into

decay, was restored about 30 years ago, and contains some
interesting features. The church at Newtown was built in

I860, and is a picturesque specimen of a small modern village

church. There is a small Primitive Methodist chapel near

Highclere station. A large parish room, with coflee room
attached, situated near the parish, forms a picturesque and
important feature in the parish. It was built by his friends

in memory of the late rector, the Rev. Canon Portal.

Burgliersh. See Burwash.
Burglifield or Burfield, a parish in Berks, on the river

Kennet, 2j miles SE of Theale station on the G.W.R., and 5

SW of Reading, under which it has a post and telegraph office;

money order office, Burghfield Common. Acreage, 4309

;

population, 1327. Part of the land is common. A bed of

sand and cockle shells, a foot thick, under soft stone was found

at Hose Hill. Culverlands and Highwoods are country seats

here. Burghfield Common, Bm'ghtield Hatch, Sheffield Bot-

tom, and Pingewood are hamlets in this paiish. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford; net yearly value, £814
with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Shrewsbury. The
church, rebuilt in 1843, is a large Romanesque cruciform

structm-e with apse ; a chancel was added in 1892. There

are also Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan chapels, three

almshouses, and some small charities.

Burghill, a village and a parish in Herefordshire. The
village stands near the river Lug, 1^ mile SW of Moreton
station on the Shrewsbm-y and Hereford (L. & N.W. and
G.W. Joint) railway, and 4 miles NW of Hereford. It

has a post and telegraph office under Hereford, which is the

money order office. The parish includes also the township

of TiUington and the hamlets of Huntingdon and Portway.

Acreage, 3765; population, 1341. Biu'ghill Com-t, TiUing-

ton Com't, and the Hermitage are the chief residences. An
ancient square camp occm*s in the parish, neai" the Port-way
to Kenchester. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford
;
gross value, £144. The chm'ch is Norman with a

pinnacled tower, was entirely restored in 1824, and repaired

iu 1S54 and 1862; it contains a very fine rood loft with a
piscina above it. an ancient figui-ed metal font, a loth cen-

tury alabaster altar tomb to Sir John Jlilbourne and family,

aud two ancient brasses. In the chmchyard is an avenue of
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fine old yew trees. The Hereford County and City Lunatic
Asylum, opened in 1871, is situated iu this parish. There
is a Primitive Methodist chapul at TiUington.

Burgh-in-the-Maxsh. a smaU market-town and a parish

in Lincolnshire. The town stands 2 miles E from Burgh
station on the G.N.R., 4 Wof the sea, and 6;^ E by S of Spilsby.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.), and
three banks. A weekly market is held on Thursday, and a
large stock market is held weekly during the summer and
monthly during the winter. Fahs for the sale of cattle are

held on the second Thursday in May and 26 September.
Brick-making, brewing, and malting are industries carried ou
here. A Roman station was here, and remains of a Roman
castrum still exist on high ground, partly natural, partly

artificial. Roman coins also have been foiuid, and there arc

two tumuli, one of them very high, called CockhUl. There
were formerly two churches, but one of them has been

demolished. The other, now the parish church, is Later

English, consists of nave, aisles, and chancel, has a fine era-

battled, turreted, western tower, the battlements adorned

with quatrefoUs, and contains a richly carved oaken pulpit

and an octagonal font, with cover of carved oak of the same
date as the pulpit (1623). The font cover was restored iu

1802, and at the same time a chancel screen was constructed,

partly composed of cai-ved oak which formed part of the

chantry screens removed some yeai-s before. The church
was reseated in 1889. There are Baptist and Wesleyau
chapels. A Chm'ch of England Training College for the pre-

paration of students for missionary work was opened in 1878.

The parish comprises 4399 acres
;
population of the civil

parish, 969; of the ecclesiastical with Winthorpe, 1295.

The living is a vicarage united with the vicarage of Win-
thorpe in the diocese of Lincoln

;
joint net yearly value, £270

with residence. Patron, the Bishop of London.

Burghley House, the seat of the JIarquis of Exeter, on
the NE border of Northamptonshii-e, adjacent to the river

Welland, in the southern vicinity of Stamford St Martin.

The mansion was founded in 1575 by SirWilUam Cecil, Baron
Burghley, ancestor of the Marquises of Exeter and Salisbury,

is a great hollow Tudor quadi'angle, and contains a fine col-

lection of pictures. The park is large, containing about 1500
acres. It is divided into three portions, the upper used as a
deer pai'k, the middle devoted to gi-azing aud game presening,

and the lower, which is open to tho public.

Burgli, Little. See Burgh-Parva, Norfolk.

Burgh-IVrattishall or Mattishall Burgh, a parish in

Norfolk, on an affluent of the river Wensum, 4 miles ENE
from Yaxham station on the G.E.R., and ."i^ E by S of East
Dereham. Post town, Mattishall, which is the money order

and telegraph office. Acreage, 623; population, 153. The
living is a rectory annexed to the rectory of Hockering in the

diocese of Norwich. The church is a small Gothic building.

Burgh-Parva, a hamlet in Jlelton-Constable parish, Nor-
folk, 4^ miles SW of Holt. It was formerly a parish, and
ranks as a rectoiy annexed to Melton-Constable, but its

chm'ch is in ruins.

Burgh St Margaret and St Mary, or Flegg Burgh, a-

parish in Norfolk, near the river Bure, 2 miles SW from
Martham station on the Eastern and Jlidland railway, and

7t from Yarmouth station ou the G.E.R. It has a post

and money order office of the name of Fleggburgh, under
Yarmouth; telegi'aph office, filartham. It had formerly a
market. Acreage, 1700

;
population of the civil parish,

557 ; of the ecclesiastical with Billockby, 628. The living

is a double rectory in the diocese of Norwich
;

joint gros^

yeai'ly value, £392 with residence. The church of St Mar-
garet is an ancient building of flint, chiefly in the Decorated

and Perpendicular styles, and that of St JIary is in ruins.

There are also Primitive Jlethodist and Wesleyan chapels,

and some considerable charities.

Burgh St Peter or Wheatacre Burgh, a parish in

Norfolk, on the river Waventy, 2.V miles KSE from Aldeby
station on the G.E.R. , and 6 ENE of Beccles, under which

it has a post office ; money order office. Toft ; telegraph office,

Beccles. Acreage, 1951; population, 341. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value. £298
with residence. The church is an aucient building of flint in

the Early English style, and there are Primitive Methodist

and Wesleyan chapels.
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Burgh-South or Southbergh, a parish in Xorfolk, on
tlie river Yare, 2h miles NNW of Hingham, and 3^ SW of

Tlmxton station on the G.E.R. It has a post office under
Watton (S.O.) ; money order and telegraph office, Hingham.
Acreage, 1249 ; population, 230. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Norwich with those of Letton and Cran-
worth

;
joint net yearly value, £307 with residence at Cran-

worth. The churcli, a building of fiint and stone in the

Early English style, was tlioroughly restored in 1878-82.

Burgh-upon-Bain or Brough-on-Bain, a parish in Lin-

colnshire, on the river Bain, among the Wolds, 7 miles W of

Louth, and about 4 E by S from South WilHngham station

on the G.N.R. It includes the hamlet of Girsby, and has a

post office under Lincoln ; money order and telegi-aph office,

Hainton. Acreage, 1597
;
population, 154. The living is a

vicarage in tlie dioctUde of Lincoln
;
gross yearly value, XlOO

with residence. The church, a building of stone in the Early

English stylf, was restored in 1872.

Burghwallis, a village, a township, and a parish in the

W.K. Vuikshire. The township lies on the Koman road to

York, 1^- mile SW of Askern railway station, and 7 miles

NNW of Doncaster, under which it has a post ofBce ; money
order office, Askern. Acreage, 941 ;

population of the civil

parish, 138; of the ecclesiastical, 129. Burghwallis House
belongs to the lord of the manor and chief landowner. It is

2 miles due west of Askern, and was enlarged and received

a modern front about the beginning of the nineteenth cen-

tury. The living is a rectory in the diocese of York ; net

value, £204 with residence. The chui-ch contains some old

monuments.

Burham, a parish in Kent, on the river Medway, near

Snodland station on the SE.R., 4^ miles NNW of Maid-
stone. It has a post and money order office under Rochester

;

telegraph office, Wouldham. Acreage, 1635; population of

the civil parish, 1GG7 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1680. Lime
works here send large supplies to London, and there are ex-

tensive pottery and cement works. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Rochester ; net value, £280 with residence,

in the gift of the Cubitt family. The old chm"cli, after

having been closed for some years, except for funerals, was
restored and reopened in 1891. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Buriton, a tithing and a parish in Hants. The tithing

Jies on the verge of the county, 2|- miles from Petersfield

station on the London and South-Westem railway, and has a

post office under Petersfield, which is the money order office.

The parish includes also the tithings of Nurstead and
"Weston. Acreage, 6435 ;

population of the civil parish,

1276 ; of the ecclesiastical, 840. Gibbon the histoiian lived

At the manor-house close to the church. Grey Imiestone is

<iuarried. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Win-
chester ; net value, £480 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Winchester. The church is Norman, has an ivy-clad

square tower, and contains a screen and a modem altar piece.

There is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Burland, a township in Acton parish, Cheshire, on the

Ellesmeve Canal, 3 miles NW by W of Nantwich. Acreage,

1610
;

population, 622. Bm'land Hall is the chief resi-

dence. There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Burleigh House. See Burghley House.
Burlescombe, a parish in Devonshire, under Blackdown,

on the Roman Port way from Somerset to Exeter, 170 miles

from London on the G.W.R. It includes the tithing of

Appledore and the hamlet of Westleigh, and has a post office

under Wellington, which is the telegi-aph office; money order

office, Halcombe Rogus. Acreage, 3645
;
population of the

civil parish, 719 ; of the ecclesiastical, 735. An Augus-
tinian priory was founded at Canonsleigh in the time of

Henry II. by William de Clarville, conveyed in 1284 to

Maud, Countess of Devon, and changed by her into a nun-

nery; passed after the dissolution through a number of

hands, and belongs now to the family of Browne. Some
small remains of it, including a massive Tudor gateway, still

exist. Limestone of superior quality abounds, and gi'eat

quantities of it are sent off" by canal and railway. This parish

has the privilege of appointing a governor to the Ayshford

Grammar School for girls at Uffculme. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £198 with resi-

dence. The chui'ch is chiefly of the time of Henry VII., was
renovated in 1843, contains a beautiful ancient screen and

288

BURLEY-IN-WHARFEDALE

fine monuments of the Aj'shfords. An ancient chapel, which
has been restored, stands on the Ayshford estate.

Burlestone, a parish in Dorsetshire, on the river Piddle,

4 miles NNW of Moreton railway station, and 6 ENE of

Dorchester. Post town, Piddletown, under Dorchester. Acre-
age, 306

;
population, 78. The living is a rectory, annexed

to the rectory of Athelhamptou, in the diocese of Salisbury.

Burley, a hamlet in Brimscombe ecclesiastical, and Minch-
inhaniptuu civil, parish, Gloucestershire, near Minchinhampton.

Burley, a township in Hants. It is situated at the

SW of the New Forest, 2 miles NW of Holmsley station on

the L. & S.W.R., and 6 E by S of Ringwood. It has a

post office under Ringwood, which is the money order office

;

telegraph office, Holmsley (R.S.) It was made a township
by order of the Poor Law Board in 1868, when those parts

of the New Forest known as Burley Walk and Holmsley
Walk were added ; the whole is now styled Burley town-
ship. Acreage, 11,275

;
population, 602. The living is in the

diocese of Winchester ; net value, £100, in the gift of the

Vicar of Ringwood. An ancient church here is supposed to

have been demolished by the Conqueror when making the

New Forest. The present church is a brick structure in

modern Gothic. There is a dissenting chapel.

Burley, a township in Culmington parish, Salop, 4^ miles

NNW of Ludlow.

Burley, an ecclesiastical parish within the municipal

borough of Leeds. See Leeds.
Burley or Burley-on-the-Hill, a large parish in Rutland,

on the liigh ground to the X of the vale of Catmose, and 2

miles NE of Oakham station on the M.R, It has a post

office under Oakham, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 3051
;
population, 252. The Duke of Buck-

ingham in his mansion here entertained James L with Ben
Jonson's "Mask of the Gypsies," and had the dwarf Geoffrey

Hudson served up at table, in the presence of Charles I. and
his queen, in a great pasty. The mansion was burnt in the

Civil Wars, but the stables belonging to it are still standing.

Burley-on-the-Hill, a Grecian edifice built by Daniel, Earl of

Nottingham, and now the residence of the Finch family, occu-

pies the site of the Duke of Buckingham's mansion, is 196 feet

long, commands a beautiful extensive view, and contains many
family portraits and some masterpiece pictures. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough
;
gross value,

£290 with residence, in the gift of the Finch family. The.

church, a fine edifice of stoue in the Norman style, is pleas-

antly surrounded with trees.

Burley-Dam, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in

Audlem and Acton parishes, Cheshire, on the verge of the

county, 3^ miles SSE of Wrenbury station on the Crewe and

Shrewsbury branch of the L. & N.W.R., and 4|- E by N of

Whitchurch, which is the post town. Population of the

ecclesiastical parish of St Mary and St Michael, 423. Tlie

village is partly in the township of Dodcott-cum-Wilksley

and partly in that of Newhall. The ecclesiastical parish was
constituted in 1879, and includes the township of Dodcott-

cum-Wilksley. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Chester; net value, £203 with residence. Patron, Lord

Combermere. The church was built iu 1769, and enlarged

in 1886.

Burley-in-Wharfedale, a village, a township, and an

ecclesiastical parish iu the civil parish of Otley, in the W. R.

Yorkshire, on the Leeds and Ilkley railway, 2 miles NWfroni
Otley, and 10 from Bradford. The township has a post,

money order, and telegi'aph office under Leeds, and a station

at the junction of the M.R. and N.E.R. Area, 3133 acres :

population of township, 2661 ; of ecclesiastical parish, 2467.

It is governed by a local board of nine members. Green-

holme, Walton House, Escroft Hall, Mooi-ville, Burley Hall,

Burley House, Wharfeside Grange, and Wharfeside are chief

residences. Burley House was built in the latter part of the

last century by Maude, the descriptive poet. Many of the

inhabitants are employed in the Greenholme Mills, connected

with the Bradford trade, of which mills the Right Hon. W. E.

Forster, M.P., was for many years the piincipal proprietor.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon
;

gi-oss value,

£220 with residence. The church is a building in the Gothic

style, erected in 1843 on the site of an earlier structure, and

was restored and beautified in 1870 at a cost of upwards of

£2000. There are Congregational, Wesleyan, and Primitive
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Methodist cliapt-ls. A Jubilee Drill Hall was built in 1888,

and is used fur public meetings and entertainments. The

lecture hall and schools of Greenholme form a beautiful

stmcture in the centre of the village, where a monument was

erected by the villagers to the memory of the Right lion.

W. E. Forster, M.P., who died in 188G. His remains

are interred in the God's Acre, opened in 1885, a short

distance from the church he so regularly attended.

Burlingham St Andrew or North Burlingham, a parish

in Norfolk, 1 mile N of Lingwood station on the G.E.K., 2J
miles W by S of Acle, 8 from Norwich, and 11 from Yar-

mouth. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office of

the name of Bm'lingham, under Norwich. Acreage, 752;

population of the civil pai'ish, 175; of the ecclesiastical,

237. Burlingham Hall is the chief residence. The living

is a rectory, united with the rectory of Burlingham St Peter,

in the diocese of Norwich
;

joint net yearly value, £285
with residence. The church, a building of flint in the Gothic

style, has been well restored. It has a painted rood screen

of the 14th or 15th century.

Burlingliam St Edmund or South Burlingham, a

parish in Norfolk, contiguous to Burlingham St Aiidrew.

Post town, Burlingham, under Norwich; money order office,

Burlingham St Andrew ; telegraph office, Blofield. Acreage,

657; population of the civil parish, 87; of the ecclesiastical,

with Lingwood, 508. The living is a rectory, united with

the vicarage of Lingwood, In the diocese of Norwich
;

joint

net yearly value, £285 with residence. The church Is an

ancient building of flint with thatched roof in a plain Norman
style.

Burlingham St Peter, a parish In Norfolk, 1| mile NE
from Ling^vood station on the G.E.R., and 2 miles W by S
of Acle. Post town, Burlingham St Andrew, which Is the

money order office ; telegraph office, Blofield. Acreage, 410

;

population, G2. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Norwich, annexed to that of BurUngham St Andrew
;
joint

net yearly value, £285 with residence. The church, a

building of flint in the Gothic style of the 15th century,

has been beautifully restored, and has a figured stone font,

and also a fine carved rood screen. There are several monu-
ments to the family of Burroughes of Burlingham Hall.

Talbot, the antiquary, was rector.

Burlingjobb. See Radnor, Oi-d.

Burlington. See Bridlington.
Burlow Castle. See Arlington, Sussex.

Burlton, a village and a township in Loppington parish,

Salop, 2J miles SW of Loppington, and 4^ NE of Baschurch.

There is a post office under Shrewsbury ; money order and
telegraph office, Baschurch.

Burmantofts. See Leeds.

Burmarsh, a parish in Kent, on the coast, adjacent to the

Military Canal, 3 miles SSW of Westerhanger station on the

S.E.R,, and 4 SW by W of Hythe. Post town, Folkestone
;

money order and telegraph office, Dymchurch. In 1888
a part of the parish of West Hythe was annexed to this

parish. Acreage, 2176
;
population of the civil parish, 24o;

population of the ecclesiastical parish, 139. The living is

a rectory in the diocese of Canterbury
;
gross value, £200

with residence. Patron, the Crown. The church has been

restored.

Burming^on, a parish in Warwickshire, on the river Stour,

2 miles S by E of Shipston-on-Stour. It has a post office

under Shipston-on-Stour, which is the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 753
;
population, 155. The manor

belonged in the time of Henry VI. to Su* Humphrey Staflbrd,

and passed to the Strangeways. The living is a perpetual

curacy in the diocese of Worcester
;
gross value, £140 with

residence. Patron, Merton College, Oxford. The church is

ancient.

Bum, a township in Brayton parish, in the W. R. York-
shire, on the Selby Canal, adjacent to the river Aire, 3 miles

SW of Selby. It has a post office under Selby, which
is the money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2482

;

population, 317. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bum, The, a stream of Norfolk, running 6 miles north-

ward to the sea, 3 miles NNE of Bumham-Westgate.
Bum or Brun, The, a stream of Lancashire, running

past Burnley to the river Calder.

Bumage. See Manchester.
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Bumaston, a township in Etwall parish, Derbyshire, 4J
miles SSW of Derby. The station is at Willington on the

M.R. Acreage, 979
;
population, 222. There is a Primitive

Methodist chapel.

Bumby, a village, a township, and a parish in E. R.

Yorkshire, on an affluent of the river Derwent and on the

York and Market-Weighton railway, 2^ miles ESE of Pock-
lington. There Is a station called Nunburnholme on the rail-

way, and the post town Is Hayton. Acreage of township,

1702; population, 115. The living Is a rectory in the diocese

of York; net value, £280 with residence. Patron, Lord
Londesborough. The cliurch is ancient, in the Early English

style, with some Norman remains.

Bumcross, a hamlet in Ohapeltown parish. In the W. R.

Yorkshire, 5J miles N of Sheffield, under which It has a post

office; money order and telegraph office, Chapeltown.

Bumeside, a village and an ecclesiastical parish In Kendal

parish, Westmoreland, on the river Kent and the Windermere
railway, 2 miles NNW of Kendal. There is a station on the

railway, and a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Kendal. Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 1161. The
manor belongs to the Earl of Lonsdale. Burneside Hall was
formerly the seat of the Braithwaites, one of whom wrote
" Drunken Barnaby's Journal." Godmond Hall belonged for-

merly to the Godmonds, and was fortified. There Is a " holy

well." Paper-making is carried on. The living is a per-

petual curacy in the diocese of Carlisle; net value, £170 with

residence. Patrons, trustees. The church was rebuilt in

1825, and enlarged in ISOI. There Is an endowed school.

Bumeston, a township and a parish in the N. R. York-
shire. The township lies near the river Swale, 4 miles SE
of Bedale, and 3 W of Sinderby railway station. Acreage,

1228
;
population of the township, 238 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 7y0. The parish contains the townships of Gatenby,

Theakstone, and Carthorpe, and has a post office under Bedale;

money order and telegraph office, Londonderry. The living Is a

vicarage In the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £350 with resi-

dence. The church was restored in 1854, and has a splendid

eastern memorial window. There are a Wesleyan chapel,

and almshouses for five old people.

Burnett, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Chew,

2J miles from Keynsham station on the G.W.R. Post town,

Pensford. Acreage, 619; population, 68. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net value, £122.
Patrons, trustees. The church has a brass of 1575, and In

1880 was thoroughly restored.

Burngullow, a station in Cornwall, on the G.W.R., 282
miles from London, and 2J SW of St Austell.

Burnham, a village and a parish in Bucks. The village

stands adjacent to the G.W.R., near the river Thames, 3
miles E by N of Maidenhead, under which it has a post,

money order, and telegraph office. It was formerly a
market-town. The parish embraces the liberties of Lower
Boveney, Britwell, East Burnham, Cippenham, and Town and
Wood, Acreage, 6810

;
population of the civil parish, 2633

;

of the ecclesiastical, with Boveney, 2749. An Augustinian

abbey was founded about a mile from the village In 1265
by Richard, king of the Romans, and given at the dissolu-

tion to William Tyldesley, and some small remains of It still

exist, A fragment of an ancient forest In this locality beai's

the name of Burnham Beeches. Though of small extent, it

is a very beautiful piece of English forest scenery, Its chief

feature being a number of enormous beech trees, all pollarded.

It is now preserved as an open space by the Corporation of

the City of London, who purchased the land in 1879. The
living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Boveney, in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value, £300
with residence. Patron, Eton College. The church is Early

and Decorated English. The perpetual curacy of Dropmore
is a separate benefice. Bishop Aldrich,who died in 1556,

was a native, and the learned Jacob Bryant and George

Grote were residents. There is a Congregational chapel,

built in 1790 and enlarged in 1859, and a workmen's reading-

room, opened in 1876.

Btimham, a village and a parish in Essex. The village

stands on the river Crouch, opposite Wallasea Island, 9 miles

NE from Southend, and has a station on the Sonthminster

branch of the G.E.R. It has a post, money order, and tele-

graph office (S.O.), dates from old times, includes a good
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street, is a seaport and coastguard station, and bas a custom-

honse, a convenient quay, and a ferry. Tlie river Croucli is

famous for its oyster beds, and oyster culture and iisbing

form an important industry. Fisbing, cbiefiy for berrings,

is also carried on, and a good business in boat-bviilding,

sail-making, and corn and coal dealing. Several vessels

from 50 to 200 tons are employed bere. The parisb includes

also the bamlet of Ostend. Acreage, 452G
;
population, 2360.

The land is marshy. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of St Albans
;
gross yearly value, £424 with residence. The

church is a building of stone and flint in the Late Perpen-

dicular style. Its tower was formerly very lofty, serving as a

Landmark for ships at sea, but h.aving been blown down it was

rebuilt at a lower elev.ation. There ai'e Baptist, Catholic

Apostolic, Congi'egational, and Primitive Methodist chapels,

a public ball erected in 1887, and a workmen's reading-room.

Bumham, a hamlet in Thornton-Curtis parisb, Lincoln-

shire, 3^ miles SE of Barton-upon-Humber.

Bumham, a hamlet in Haxey parish, Lincolnshire, 2 miles

S of Epworth.

Burnham, a watering-place and a pai-isb in Somersetshire.

The town stands on the coast, Jit the mouth of the rivers

Brue and Parrot, and is the terminus of the Somerset and

Dorset railway, 145 miles from London, 2 NW of the High-

bridge Junction, and i) SW by W of Axbridge. It has a

post, money order, and telegi'aph office (R.S.O.), and is much
frequented as a watering-place. The beach .at it is fine sand,

but is left bare to the breadth of half a mile at low water.

Steamers occasionally ply dm'ing the summer months to Ilfra-

combe, Minehead, Watchet, C.ardift', and round the Holmes.

There is an escellentmarket-house, a town-ball, and two banks.

There are two lighthouses to warn ships of the danger of tlie

Gore Sands—one on the Berrow Pioad, intermittent. 111 feet

high; the other, 23 feet high, 1600 feet .away, constant;

also a station of the Royal National Lifeboat Institution, with

a lifeboat. There is a very fine water supply from Mendips, and

a thorough drainage system. The Esplanade is half a mile

long. The town possesses gi-e.at educational advantages. The
parish includes also the tithing of Huish-juxta-Highbridge, and

the hamlets of Edithmead and Higbbridge. Acreage, 3907
;

population of the civil parish, 4200 ; of the ecclesiastical, 2431;

acreage of urban sanitary district, G56
;
population, 23G0.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; net

value, £340. Patrons, the De.an and Chapter of Wells. The
church is an ancient building, 140 feet in length, with a lofty

tower serving as a landmark, was well restored in 1878-79,

and contains a magnificent altar-piece designed by Inigo

Jones. There are also Wesleyan and Baptist ch.apels and a

Roman CtithoHc church. The convent of the Retreat of the

Sacred Heart of Jesus is a brick building, known as " The
Rookeiy."

Burnham Beeches. See Burnham, Bucks.

Burnham-Deepdale, a small village .and a parish in

Norfolk, on the coast, 2J miles NW by N of Burnham Mai'ket

station on the G.E.R., and 7i W by N of Wells. Post town,

King's Lyun ; money order and telegraph office, Brancaster.

Acreage of parish, 1048 ;
population, 94. Part of the

surface is natm-ally salt marsh, but has been reclaimed

;

the rest is diversified, the gi'ound rising in parts to 200

feet above the sea. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Norwich ; net v.alue, £190 with residence. The church is

Norman and of flint, with a round tower, has three memorial

windows, and a Saxon font with rude sculptures emblematic

of the months of the year*.

Burnham, East, or AUards, a liberty in Bumham parish,

Bucks, 4A miles NE of Maidenhead.

Bumham-Flats, a series of sands off the NW coast of

Norfolk. It includes the Docking, the BLakeney, and the

Stakey overfalls, the Woolback, the Middle, and the Sunk
banks ; extends 15 miles along the coast, and about the

same distance seaward ; flanks the east side of the Lynn
Deeps ; and is partly dry at low water, but mostly has from

1 to 5 fathoms.

Bumham Market, a small town in Norfolk, formed of

the parishes of Burnham-Westgatc .and Burnhiim-Sutton.

It has a station on the West Norfolk Junction of the

G.E.R. It is 10 miles NW from Fakenham and Gj W
from Wells-next-tbe-Sea, and bas a post, money order, and

telegraph office under King's Lynn, and a b.auk. A stream
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runs between the town and Burnham-Overy. It has a

market, held every alternate Monday, and fairs for pleasure

on the Monday and Tuesday in Easter week, and on the 1

and 2 August. The p.arish of Burnham-Westgate has an

area of 3078 acres; population, 710. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Norwich, united with half of the

rectories of Burnham-Norton and Bumham-Ulph; gross

yearly value, £389 with residence, in the gift of Christ's

College, Cambridge. The church, a building of flint and
freestone, has an embattled western tower, and was care-

fully restored in 1880. There .are also Congregational and
Primitive Methodist chapels. There is an iron foundry and
.agricultural implement works, and wind and steam corn

mills. A good deal of malt is also made in this district for

the London market. Burnham Hall is a fine country seat,

having a beautiful park with pleasure grounds and woods.

Eumham-Norton, a pai-isb in Norfolk, 1 mile N of

Bumham Market station on the G.E.R., and G miles W of

Wells. Post town, Burnham M.arket, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2325 with 1158 of

foreshore and water
;
population, 139. A Carmelite priory

was founded here in 1241 by Sir Ralph de H,ampnall and
Sir William de C.althorp, and given at the dissolution to

Lord Cobham. Bale the historian was prior of it. The
living is a divided rectory, .annexed partly to the rectory of

Burnham-Westgate .and partly to that of Burnham-Sutton,

in the diocese of Norwich. The church, which is half a

mile from the village, stands on a hill fronting the sea, and is

a stracture of flint in the Pei-pendicular style.

Bumham-Overy, a parish in Norfolk, IJ mile NE of

Burnham M;u-ket station on the G.E.R., and 5 W of Wells.

Post town, Burab.am Market, which is the money order .and

telegr.aph office. Acreage, 2014 with 295 of foreshore and

water
;
population, 622. The rivulet Burn goes here into

the sea and forms Bumham H.arbour, and a grain trade and

fisheries are carried on. Limestone is worked, and bricks

are made. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory

of Burnham-Sutton, in the diocese of Norwich; joint net

yearly value, £3G9 with residence, in the gift of the Lord

Chancellor. The church is old but good, and has a square

tower surmounted by a turret. The village of Overy Staith,

situated about a mile from the parish church, is included in

this parish. It has a harbour and coastguard station, and

carries on a trade in corn, coals, and oil-cake. There is a

Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bumham-Sutton-cum-Bumham-UIph, a parish in

Norfolk, containing Burnham Market stiition on the G.E.R.,

and G miles W by S of Wells. Post town, Burnh.am M.arket,

which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

1473
;

population, GOO. The present p.arish comprises

two ancient p.arishes. The living of Bumham-Sutton is a

rectory, united with the vicarage of Burnham-Overy and with

half of the rectories of Burabam-Norton and Burnham-Ulpb,
in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £369 with residence.

Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is an ancient

building in the Perpendicular style. The other half of the

rectory of Burnbam-Ulph is .annexed to the rectory of

Burnham-Westg.ate. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Bumham-Thorpe, a parish in Norfolk, on the rivulet

Burn, IJ mile E of Burnham M.arket station on the G.E.K.,

and 4^ miles W by S of Wells. It formerly had a weekly

market and a fair. Its post town is Burnham Market, which

is the money order and telegr.aph office. Acreage, 23G4 ;

population, 353. The manor belonged .anciently to the Cal-

tboi"pes. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich

;

gross yearly value, £700 with residence. Patron, the Earl of

Orford. The church is Later English, and contains a cano-

pied brass of Sir W. Calthorpe and a mural tablet to Vis-

count Nelson's father, who w.as rector. The oak lectern of

this church was made from the wood of H.M.S. Victory^

presented by the Lords of the Admiralty in 1881. Viscount

Nelson was bora in the p.arsonage, .and took from the place

the title of Baron. The Nelson Memorial H.all was erected

in 1892. The thorough restoration of the church in 1893-

94 was suggested by H.R.H. the Prince of Wales as a local

memorial to Nelson. It cost altogether £7000. There is a

Primitive Methodist chapel, erected in 18G4.

Bumham-Ulph. See Biir.NHAM-SuTToN.

Burnham-Westgate. See Buknham Market.
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Bum Hill, a junction station on tlie WearJale Extension

railway, in Durham, Hj miles N\V of Bishop-Auckland.

Burnhill Green, a place in Fatyhull parish, Staffordshire,

3 miles NW of Albrighton, with a post otRce under Wolver-

hampton ; money order office, Pattingham ; telegi-aph office,

Albrighton.

Bumhope, a township partly in the ecclesiastical parish

of Holmside, Dnrliam. It is 2J miles from Lanchester sta-

tion on the N.E.R., and has a post and money order office

under Durham ; telegraph office, Lanchester. There are

collieries here.

Bumhope, The, a head-stream of the river Wear, on the

western border of Durham, joining the main stream 14 miles

W of Wolsingham.

Bumingliam. See Bkiningiiam.

Burniston, a village and a township in Clonghton parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, on the coast, 3J miles NNW of Scarborough,

with a post office under Scarborough, which is the money

order and telegi'aph office. Acreage of township, 1480;

population, 299. There are Wesleyan and Baptist chapels.

The manor belongs to the Duchy of Lancester.

Burnley is a county borough and an important cotton

manufacturing town, in the higher division of the hundred of

Blackburn, in the county of Lancaster, and is represented in

Parliament by one member. The municipal borough com-

prises portions of the townships of Burnley, Habergham-
eaves, Briercliffe-with-Extwistle, Recdly Hallows, Filley

Close, New Laund Booth, and Ightonhill Park, embracing

4015 acres. The area of the parliamentary borough is G213
acres. The principal industries are cotton manufacturing,

machine making, engineering, paper-making, and coalmining.

It is well situated for trade, bemg watered by the streams of

the Brnn (from which the town takes its name) and the

Calder, tributaries of the river Kibble, and is almost en-

circled by the Leeds and Liverpool Canal. The Lancashire

and Yorkshire Railway Company have two lines running

through the town, and there are four stations within the

borough.

In 1819 the first Improvement Act for regulating and

governing the town was obtained. The area was three-

quarters of a mile, and IG commissioners were by it em-
powered to " watch, light, cleanse, pave, and otherwise regu-

late the town.*" In 184G another Act was passed increasing

the number of commissioners to GO, and empoweiing them
to purchase the waterworks established in 1819. In 1854
another Improvement Act was obtained with additional

powers, and to purchase the powers and interest of the old

gaswork company. A charter of incorporation was granted

on the 24th October, ISGl, and Burnley was created a

pai'liamentary borough in 1867, A consolidating Act of

Parliament was obtained in 1871 extending the boundaries

of the borough, with further powers for governing. In

1883 an Act was obtained to amend and extend former

Acts, and to authorise the construction of new waterworks
;

and in 1889 another Act conferring further powers upon
the corporation with respect to their gas undertaking. Pro-

visional orders were obtained in 187G for street improve-

ments ; 1878, borrowing powers for gas extensions, £35,000;

1879, borrowing powers for various purposes, £21,000;
1880, for waterworks purposes, £80,000 ; 1883, gasworks

purposes, £11,000; 1884, gas stoves, £4000; 1885, new
municipal offices, £30,000, and gas purposes, £15,000

;

1887, general pm-poses, £100,000; 1890, electric lighting;

1890, purchase of land for sewage purposes at Altham
;

1890, general purposes, £100,000 ; 1891, local government

order as to distribution of proceeds of residue of share of

local taxation (customs and excise) duties ; 1892, compulsory
purchase of lands for street improvements.

There are eight churches in the town— the parish church,

St Peter's, dating from the reign of Henry I. ; Holy Trinity,

built in 1836; St James' in 1849, St Paul's in 1853, St

Andrew's in 18G7. In 1877 the foundation stones of two
new churches were laid, viz., St Stephen's and St Matthew's,

aud shortly after St John's. These were consecrated in

1879. In the case of the four latter the Rector of Burnley

(the Rev. Canon Parker) and his family generously provided

an endowment for each of £150 per annum. The parish

registers of births, marriages, and deaths were commenced
iu 15C2, aud are complete to the present time. The Roman
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Catholics, Wesleyans, Congregationalists, Baptists, United
Free Methodists, Primitive Methodists, and United Method-
ists have erected handsome places of worship and schools.

Upon the dissolution of the chantries in the 1st year of

Edward I. the chantry lands of Burnley, among others, were
sequestrated, and sold to Sir Richard Towneley ; but after-

wards, by the consent of the Royal Commissioners, were con-

ferred upon Sir Gilbert Fairbank, the last chantiy priest, for

his life, and after his death to the use of a schoolmaster and
the support of a free gi'ammar school for the town. Dr
William Wliitaker the controversial author, Alexander Nowell
dean of St Paul's, and Sir Jonas Moore the mathematician

and companion of Fiamsteed, here received the first rudi-

ments of their education. In consequence of a dispute with

the Towneley family and the parish authorities as to the

right of possession, the chantry-house, which stood in tlie

parish churchyard, ceased to be available for a school, and in

1693 a new school was built at North Parade. This becom-
ing dilapidated a new school of classic design was built at a

short distance, and opened in 1874. The technical school, in

Elizabeth Street, was erected iu 1892 at a total cost of £4552.
The Victoria Hospital was opened in 1886 by the late Duke
of Clarence, on a suitable site off Briercliffe Road, given for

that purpose by Sir John Hardy Thursby, Bart. The cost

was £15,000, and the number of beds provided at the present

time is 76.

In the 22nd year of Edward I. Henry de Lacy, Earl of

Lincoln, obtained a charter for holding a weekly market and
a fan- annually on the '* eve, day, and mori'ow of the Apostles

Peter and Paul." A market company was formed in 1829,
which became a limited company in 18G4, and the under-

taking was sold to the Corporation of Burnley in 1865.

In 18G6 the foundation stone of a new market hall was
laid with masonic honours, and the building, which had
cost about £12,000, was opened for public use in January,

1870.

The town-hall, situated in Manchester Road, is a handsome
structure, with council chamber, committee rooms, offices, a

court for the holding of the quarter sessions and the petty

sessions. The building was opened in 1888, and has cost

£56,600 inclusive of the site and public baths adjoining,

opened in 1887. The Queen's Park, pleasantly situated

at the Ridge, and comprising an area of 28 acres, was gen-

erously given by Sir John Hardy Thursby, Bart., the

coi-poration having expended £14,000 in forming roads,

erecting buildings, planting, and laying out the same. The
Scott Park, on the Hood House estate, will shortly be com-
menced, and will have an area of about 16 acres. The cost

of the site and the laying out, &c., will be defrayed out of a

bequest by the late Alderman Scott, a former mayor of the

borough. In addition to these two parks there are nine

recreation grounds, which have a total area of 55 acres, and
are situated in various parts of the borough. The electric

lighting station was opened in 1893—the cost of the building,

plant, and cables amounting to about £18,000. There

are five reservoirs, which have a total holding capacity of

440,000,000 gallons. The cemetery, about two miles from

the centre of the town, with an area of 26 acres tastefully

laid out, was opened in 1854.

The borough is divided into two drainage areas, which con-

tain populations of respectively 78,000 and 15,000. The
sewage from the larger area is treated at the Duckpits and
Woodend by chemical precipitation and subsequent filtration of

the clarified sewage through porous beds of land. Tlie smaller

area works are on similar lines to the works of the larger

drainage area. Before the liquid is turned into the adjoin-

ing stream it is clear, colourless, and devoid of smell. The
whole scheme is the conception of F. S. Button, Esq., the

borough engineer. The total area of the land acquired for

these purposes is about 83 acres, and the cost of constructing

intercepting sewers and sewage outfall works will be about

£130,000.

The Co-operative and Industrial Society is one of the most
flourishing establishments in the country. The central build-

ing is in Hammerton Street, and their 54 branch shops are

spread over the town. They have 11 newsrooms and a lib-

rary free to members containing 5000 volumes. The niunber

of members is 8577, capital £78,665, and the receipts are

nearly £301.1,000 per annum.
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The most notable builJings in the town are the Mechanics'

Institute, the Literary Institute, with good libraries, news-
rooms, and classes ; the banks of four companies, two

building societies, poor law offices, and the Victoria Theatre.

The Burnley Union Workhouse is a fine and commo-
dious building at Rake Head, and there are two board

schools.

A steam tramway, 7 miles in length, connecting the

borough of Nelson and the town of Padiham, passes through

the main street of the town.

So late as the beginning of this century agi'icnlture and a

small domestic manufacture of woollen and cotton were the

main occupations of the inhabitants, but about 1826 steam

machinery was introduced into the latter, which has so

flourished as to make the town the second largest cotton

manufacturing town in the world.

There are two bi-weekly papers, the Burnley Express

(Conservative) and the Burnley Gazette (Liberal). Popu-

lation of the parliamentary borough (Clitheroe division),

80,034 ; of the municipal borough, 51,712 ; and of the civil

parish, 39,550.

Bum Moor. See Bourn Moor.
Bummoor-Tam, a mountain lakelet in Cumberland, '.)

miles NE of Ravenglass.

Buruopfield, an ecclesiastical parish in Durham, with a

post, money order, and telegi'aph office (R.S.O.) The nearest

station is Lintz Green, IJ mile distant, on the N.E.R.

Population, 41G0. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Durham; net value, £284 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Durham. There are four Methodist chapels.

Burnsall, a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire, lies on the

river Wharfe, C miles N of Bolton Abbey, and 9 NE of

Skipton. It has a post and telegraph office. The parish

includes the townships of Burnsall, Appletreewick, Hartling-

ton, and Thorpe-snb-Montem. Area, 10,429 acres
;
popu-

lation, 429. Burnsall Fell is IGGO feet high, and the church,

which is dedicated to St Wilfrid, stands 611 feet above sea

level. The benefice is a rectory in the diocese of Ripon

;

net annual value, £235 with residence. Patron, the Earl of

Craven. There is a gi"ammar school, founded and endowed

by Sir W. Craven (afterwards Lord Mayor of London) in

1605. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Bumtash and Bumtash Green, two localities in the W
of Kent, about Ij and 2 miles SSE of Lewisliam, and near

Lee station on the S.E.R.

Bumt-Bradfield. See Bradfield-Combu.<;t.

Burnt Fen, a quondam marsh, now reclaimed, on the

mutual border of Cambridge and Suffolk, between the rivers

Ouse and Lark, between Mildenhall and Littleport.

Burnt-Mill, a station on the G.E.R., on the western

verge of Essex, adjacent to the river Stort, 2^ miles E by N
of Koydon.

Burnt-Mill, a locality on Icknield Street, in Herts, 1 mile

NE of Hitcbin. It has remains of an ancient station.

Bumt-Walls, the supposed site of the ancient Benavenna,

in Northamptonshire, under Borough Hill, h a mile S of

Daventry. It comprises about 6 acres, and has yielded frag-

ments of ancient buildings and other relics.

Bumtwood, a hamlet, a joint township with Chase

Town, and an ecclesiastical parish in the p.arish of St Michael,

Lichfield, Staffijrdshire. The hamlet lies 2 miles NNW of

Hammerwich st.ation on the L. & N.W.R., and 3^ W
of Lichfield. It has a post and money order office under

Lichfield, which is the telegr.aph office. The township in-

cludes also the hamlets of Edial and Woodhouses. Acre-

age (with Chase Town), 4426 ;
population, 7113, The

ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1845
;

population,

2827. Chase Town is a separate ecclesiastical parish. There

are extensive collieries, owned by the Cannock Chase Colliery

Company, in the neighbourhood. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Lichfield
;

gi'oss value, £362 with residence.

Patron, the Vicar of St Mary's, Lichfield. The church is a

brick edifice, erected in 1819, and has .an embattled western

tower. I\Iap]e Hayes, situated on an eminence about 1| mile

from Lichfield, is the chief residence. The Marquis of An-
glesey is lord of the manor.

Bumt-Yates, a hamlet in Clint township, Ripley parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, 1 mileW of Ripley, and 3 miles from Ripley

Valley station on the N.E.R.
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Burpham, a parish in Sussex, on the river Aran, 2 miles

NE by E of Arundel station on the L.B. & S.C.R., to which
a new road was constracted in 1882. Post town, Arundel.

Acreage, 2726
;
population, 280. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Chichester; gross value, £163 with resi-

dence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Chichester. The
church is partly Norman, restored in 1873.

Burr, an island in the mouth of the Avon, in Devonshire,

6 miles W of Kingsbridge. It has an area of about 10 acres,

and is connected with the mainland at low water. It once

bad a ch.ipel, and it is a station for the pilchard fishery.

Burradon. See Brierdean.
Burrals, a township in Appleby St Lawrence parish, West-

moreland, on a branch of the river Eden, IJ mile SW of

Appleby.

Btirrill-cum-Cowling, a township in Bedale parish, N.
R. Yorkshire, If mile SW of Bedale. It has a post office,

of the name of BurriU, under Bedale, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1071

;
population, 123.

It forms with Bedale an ecclesiastical parish. There is a
Wesleyan chapel.

Burringham, a village and a township in Bottesford

parish, Lincolnshire, on the river Trent, 5j miles NE of

Epworth, with a station on the M.S. & L.R., and a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office under Doncaster. Acreage

of township, 1653; population, 565. Burringham ranked

formerly as a chapelry under the vicarage of Bottesford, but

was declared a rectory in 186C, in the diocese of Lincoln,

united with Gunhouse under the title of Gunhouse-cum-

Burringham; joint yearly value, £419 with residence at

Gunhouse, in the gift of the Bishop of Norwich. There is

a church, a building of red brick in the Gothic style, which
was erected in 1857, and there are Wesleyan and Primitive

Jlethodist chapels.

Burrington, a parish in Devonshire, on the rivers Mole
and Taw, 2 miles from South Melton Road station on the

L. & S.W.R. It has a post office under Chulmleigh, which

is the money order office ; telegraph office. South Molton

Road (S.O.) Acreage, 6349
;
population, G78. The manor

belonged anciently to Tavistock Abbey, and belongs now to

the Earl of Portsmouth. Northcote belonged once to the

Hankfords, passed to the Pollards, and belongs now to the

Buckinghams. The surface of the parish is diversified, and
shows some romantic scenery. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Exeter ; net value, £272 with residence. The
church is an edifice of different dates from about 1150 to

1650, and was restored in 18G9, consists of nave, chancel, and

south aisle, with an embattled tower, and has a handsome
carved oak screen. The piers supporting the roof are solid

monoliths of granite.

Burrington, a parish in Herefordshire, near the river Teme,

3 miles ESE of Leintwardine, and 6 WSW of Ludlow, which

is the post town ; money order and telegraph office, Leintwar-

dine (R.S.O.) Acreage, 2644; popuhation, 170. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Hereford. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is small, and contains an

ancient font and many tablets to the Knight family. Bringe-

wood Hills are in this parish.

Burrington, a village and a parish in Somerset. The
village stands amid romantic sceneiy, at the northern skirt

of the highest part of the Mendip Hills, 5 miles NE by N of

Axbridge, and 6 from Winscombe st.ation on the G.W.R. It

has a post office (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegriiph office,

Bl.igdon. Acreage of parish, 2019
;

population, 409. A
romantic hollow leads from the village up the Mendips, and

is flanked by ribbed masses of mountain limestone. A de-

scending cavern, at the side of this, about a J of a mile from

the village, was discovered in 1795 to contain about fifty

human skeletons, supposed to h.ave been entombed here by

the ancient Britons, and discovered afterwards to contain

bones of horses, sheep, and other .animals, supposed to have

taken refuge in it after it ceased to be a place of sepultm-e.

An earthwork, called Burrington Ham, occurs on a hill

f.arther wp, and is tbonglit to have been a scene of Druidical

rites. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Bath and

Wells; net value, £124 with residence, in the gift of the

parishioners. The church, of Early Perpendiculai' date, was

restored in 1856 and again in 1884, and faithfully repro-

duced upon the original lines.
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Burrough or Burrow-on-the-Hill, a parish in Leicester-

shire, IJ inih> NE from Jolm of Giiunt station on the JIarket

Harborough, Slelton and Nottingham branch of the G.N. and

L.& N.W. Joint railways. The post, money order, and tele-

graph office is at Somerby, under Oakham. Acreage, 15S0;

population of the civil parish, 13tl ; of the ecclesiastical, 111.

Burrough Hill, called also Caesar's Camp, commands a fine

view. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough

;

gross yearly value, £367 with residence. The church, a very

ancient Gothic building of stone, has a figm'ed circular font,

a piscina, and the tomb of a Stockden, and is good.

Burrough-Green, a parish in Cambridgeshire, 2j miles

ESE of Dullingham station on the G.E.K., and 6k S of New-
market. Post town, Newmarket, Six Mile Bottom (S.O.);

money order office, Brinkley ; telegraph otiice, Stetchworth.

Acreage, 2272
;
population, 430. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Ely ; net yearly value, £280 with residence.

The church is an ancient building of flint in the Early Eng-
lish and Decorated styles, and has a tower and several

ancient moniunents. There is a small endowed school.

Burrowash. See Borrowash.
Burrow-Bridge. See Borougiiukidge.
Burrow-with-Burrow, a township in Tunstall parish,

Lancashire, on the river Lune, 2 miles SE of Kirkby-Lons-

dale, which is the post town and railway station. Acreage,

2426; population, 242. The Roman station Bremetonacum
is thought to have been here ; Roman pavements, altars,

inscriptions, urns, and coins have been found, and a Roman
milestone is on the road. Burrow Hall is the seat of the

Fenwick family.

Burrows, Northam. See Noktham.
Burry Port, a seaport in the parish of Pembrey, Carmar-

thenshire, adjacent to Pembrey village, with a station called

Pembrey and Burry Port on the G.W.K., 4 miles \V of

Llanelly. It is situated at the north side of the mouth of

the Burry river or inlet. There is an excellent harbour and
two floating docks. Anthracite coal and fire-clay are ex-

ported. Collieries, copper and white-lead works are in the

neighbourhood, and there is a mineral railway belonging to

the Buri'y Port and Gwendraeth Vale Railway Company.
Bun'y Port has a post, money order, and telegraph office

(R.S.O.), a church, erected in 1877 as a chapel of ease to

Pembrey parish church, and Congregational, Baptist, Cal-

vinistic Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels. There are a custom-
bouse, a coastguard station, and a very fine beach, with a
beautiful stretch of sand, affording facilities for bathing.

Burry River, the estuary of the Lloughor or Llwchwr and
Amman rivers, off the east side of Carmarthen Bay, on the

mutual border of Carmarthenshire and Glamorgan. Its length

downward is 12 miles, and its width, at the mouth, is 4^
miles. The depth over the bar, at low water or spring tides,

is 6 feet ; and the rise of the tide there in neaps is about 13
feet, and in springs about 30. The chief channel up is not

more than f of a mile, but is well buoyed. Pembrey harbour,

with light, is on the north side ; Llanelly h.arbour, with docks,

is near the head ; and Burry Holmes, a small island, with
ruins of a cell to Llangennith Priory, is on the south side.

Burscough, a township sub-district in the Ormskirk rural

sanitary authority. See Burscough Bridge.
Burscough Bridge, a village and an ecclesiastical parish

in the civil parish of Ormskirk, Lancashire. The village

stands 3 miles NNE of Ormskirk, on the main road from
Liverpool to Preston. The ecclesiastical pai'ish of Burscough
Bridge, or Lathom St John, formed in 1831 out of the parish

of Ormskirk, comprises the greater part of the townships of

Burscough and Lathom. The populous hamlets of Burscough
Town, New Lane, Hoscar Moss, and several smaller hamlets
are comprised within the parish. Post town and telegraph

office, Burscough Town. Population, 4000. The main line

of the L. & Y.R. (Burscough Junction), Liverpool to Preston
and the north, runs through the p^uish. The Southport and
Manchester branch also has stations at Burscough Bridge,

Hoscar Mose, and New Lane. The neighbourhood is entirely

agricultural, potatoes being the chief product. There are

also large com mills. The Leeds and Liverpool Canal runs
through the village. The Ordnance Stores for the North-
western Military District arc situated here. The parish

church of St John the Baptist was built m 1831 at a cost

of £3000, and has since been restored and a new chancel
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added at a cost of over £2000. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Liverpool ; net annual value, about £200, in

the patronage of the Vicar of Ormskirk. There are also

Roman Catholic and Wesleyan chapels. In the south corner

of the parish are situated the remains of the priory church

of St Nicholas, Burscough. It was founded by Robert

Fitz-Henry de Lathom about 1124 for Black or Canons
Regular of the Augustiuian order, and endowed with the

advowsons of Ormskirk and three other churches, with the

weekly mai-ket at Ormskirk and a yearly fair there, and with

considerable lands. At the dissolution its net revenues were

estimated to have been equal to £1000 of our money, and
the priory was then granted by the king to Sir William Paget,

K.G., principal Secretary of State. The priory was for some
years the burialplace of the Earls of Derby, descendants of

its founder, but at the dissolution the bodies were removed
to the Derby chapel erected in Ormskirk Chm*ch in 1572.

The great tenor bell is now part of the peal in Ormskirk
Church. In the immediate neighbourhood stands Lathom
House, the seat of the Earl of Lathom, and formerly the seat

of the Earls of Derby, built on the site of the former church,

which sustained two sieges by the troops of the Parliament

in 1644 and 1645.

Burscough Town, a populous hamlet, 2 miles from
Ormskhk, in the pai'ish of BuiiscouGH Bridge, with a post

and telegraph office.

Bursledon, a village and a parish in Hants. The village

stands on the Hamble Creek, is a station on the branch line

from Southampton to Fareham via Netley, and is 4f miles

ESE of Southampton, under which it has a post and money
order office ; telegraph office at the railway station. Area of the

parish, 775 acres, with 60 of foreshore and water; population,

550. There is a small quay, and trade is carried on in corn

and coals. Shipbuilding was formerly done to the extent of

constructing some large men-of-war. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Winchester ; net value, £140 with resi-

dence, in the gift of Winchester College. The church pos-

sesses some antiquarian interest, but was in an altogether

unsatisfactory state until its restoration was undertaken in

1888. It is now one of the most perfect village churches

in the county.

Burslem, a municipal borough, a township, and a parish in

Staffordshire. The town stands on the side of a hill, on the

Trent and Mersey Caual, 3 miles NNE of Newcastle-under-

Lyme, 3 NW of Stoke-upon-Trent, and 14'J distant from
London. It has stations (Bm'slem, Cobridge, and Long-
port) on the North Staffordshire railway. It was known
at the Conquest as Burwardeslyn ; it came early into notice

in connection with excellent clays beneath and around it,

for the manufacture of earthenware ; it took the lead of

all the towns and hamlets of England in improvements

in pottery ; it was the birthplace of Wedgwood, and
the scene of his many achievements till his removal to

Etruria, and it has been called, both on account of its

history and of its central position in the great Staffordshire

pottery tract, the " Mother of the I^otteries." It is irregu-

larly though substantially built. The streets ai'c well paved,

and there is an abundant supply of water, and a good system

of drainage. The town-hall, built in 1854, is a handsome
building in the Italian style, and contains municipal offices

and a spacious hall for entertainments. The Wedgwood
Jlemorial Institute, opened in 186H, near the town-hall, and
near the place where Wedgwood's manufactory stood, com-
prehends a school of art, a museum, and a free library, and

presents an ornamental facade decorated with terra-cotta

mouldings, tile mosaics, Delia Robbia panels, and other pro-

ducts of the ceramic art. There is a large covered vegetable

market, the erection of which cost £22,000, .as well as two
market halls, and a Charity Hospital, erected in 1887. The
cemetery, laid out at an expense of over £20,000, situated

near Smallthorne hamlet, comprises 28 acres and is under

the control of a burial board. A handsome public park w;is

laid out in Moorland Road in 1894, and public baths have

been erected at a cost of over £10,000. St John's Church is

ancient, was rebuilt in 1717, with the exception of the massive

embattled tower, and was restored in 1878. St Paul's Church,

in Longport, is a large handsome stone structure erected in

1830 at a cost of £14,000 ; it has an embattled tower with

pinnacles and several stained windows. Christ Church,
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Cobridge, is an edifice of brick with stone pinnacles, built

in 1839 and enlarged in 1S42. Holy Trinity, Sneyd, is a

fine stone stnicture of 1852. There are Roman Catholic,

Congregational, Baptist, Wesleyau, Primitive Methodist, and

other dissenting chapels. There are numerous pottery estab-

lishments in the town and its neighbourhood, producing

every variety of porcelain and earthenware, and these to-

gether with glass-works, colour-mills, smelting-fm'naces, and

various works connected with the potteries and the mines,

employ nearly all the inhabitants. The town has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Stoke-upon-Trent,

and is a seat of petty sessions and a polling-place for the

borough of Hanley. It was incorporated in 1878, and is

governed by a town council consisting of a mayor, 6 alder-

men, and 18 councillors. The cotmty court sits monthly at

the town-hall. Markets ai'e held on Monday, Wednesday,

and Saturday, and fairs on the Saturdays before Shrovetide,

Easter, WTiitsuntide, first Sunday after 24 June, and Christ-

mas, for horses, cattle, and sheep, and for pleasure on the

first Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday after 24 June.

Monthly cheese fairs were commenced in 1887. Acreage of

the municipal borough, 1861; population, 31,999.

The township includes Longport and Dale-Hall. The
parish includes also the hamlet of Sneyd, the ville of Rush-

toD-Grange, and the lordship of Abbey-Hulton. Area of

the civil parish, 3090 acres, with 32 of water; population,

32,767 ; of the ecclesiastical parish of St John the Baptist,

10,483 ; of St Paul, Longport, 10,086 ; of Christ Church,

Cobridge, 6424; and of Holy Trinity, Sneyd, 4920. Potter's

clay forms a bed from 2 to 10 feet thick, fire clay lies below to

considerable depth, and coal lies below the fire clay. The living

of St John the Baptist is a rectoi-y in the diocese of Lichfield
;

net value, i!315 with residence. St Paul, Longport, is a

separate ecclesiastical parish, constituted in 1845. The
living is a vicarage in the gift of the rector of Bui'slem

;

gi'oss value, £300 with residence. Christchnrch, Cobridge,

was constituted in 1845 an ecclesiastical parish, comprising

the lordship of Abbey-Hulton and the ville of Rushton-

Grange. The living is a vicarage in the gift of the rector

of Burslem; net value, £310 with residence. Holy Trinity,

Sneyd, was constituted in 1844 ; the living is a vicarage in

the gift alternately of the Crown and the Bishop of Lichfield;

net value, £106 with residence.

Burstall, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on an affluent

of the river Orwell, 2j miles WSW of Bramford station on

the G.E.R., and 4f W of Ipswich, under which there is a post

office ; money order and telegraph office, Bramford. Acreage

of parish, 7G8
;
population, 215. The living is a vicarage,

annexed to that of Bramford in the diocese of Norwich
;
joint

gross yearly value, £300, in the gift of the Dean and Chapter

of Canterbury. The church is a small edifice of rubble in

the Early Decorated style.

Burstall, Leicester. See Birstall.

Burstead, Great, a parish in Essex, surrounding the

town of Billericay, and including it for cinl pui'poses

;

but the town is a separate ecclesiastical parish. The parish

is Ij mile S of Billericay station on the G.E.R., and 7

miles W from Brentwood, under which it has a post

office ; money order and telegraph office, Billericay. Acre-

age, 3709; population of the civil parish, 1962; of the

ecclesiastical, 638. The lining is a vicarage in the diocese

of St Albans; gross yearly value, £159 with residence, in

the gift of the Bishop of St Albans. The vicarage of Billeri-

cay is a sepai'ate benefice. The church is an old building of

rubble in the Decorated and Perpendicular styles, and there

is a Particular Baptist chapel.

Burstead, Little, a parish iu Essex, If mile SSW of

Billericay, and 6 miles E by S of Brentwood station on the

G.E.R. It has a post office under Brentwood; money order

and telegraph office, Billericay. Acreage, 1839
;
population of

the civil parish, 239 ; of the ecclesiastical, 352. The Uving is

a rectory in the diocese of St Albans ; gross yearly value,

£316 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of St Albans.

There is a good church, and some useful charities.

Bur&tock, a parish in Dorsetshire, on the verge of the

county, 4| miles WNW of Beaminster, and 4 SSW of Crew-

kerne station on the L. & S.W.R. Beaminster is the post

town ; money order and telegi'aph office, Broad-Windsor.

Acreage, 931; population, 139. The living is a vicarage
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in the diocese of Salisbury; value, £170. The church is

good, with a curious old font; it was restored in 1877.

Burston, a parish in Norfolk, on an affluent of the river

Waveney, with a station on the G.E.R., 3 miles NNE of

Diss. It has a post office under Diss, which is the money
order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1466

;
population, 375.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £400 with residence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

The church is a flint structure in good condition, with round

lower and octagonal turret.

Burston, a village in Stone parish, Staffordsliire, on the

river Trent, 1 mile NW of Sandon station on the North
Staffijrdshire railway, and 3 miles SE of Stone. It forms

part of the ecclesiastical parish of Aston. There is a small

chapel, erected in 1859.

Burston, an old seat in Hunton parish, Kent, 4f miles

SW of Maidstone. It was the seat of the Fanes, but is

now a fannhouse, and it is notable for commanding a fine

\'iew over tlie Weald.

Burston, Erpingham, Norfolk. See Briston.

Burstow, a parish in Surrey, 2J miles SE of Horley

station on the L.B. & S.C.R., and 7^ SE by S of Reigate.

Horley is the post town, and the money order and tele-

graph office. Acreage, 4760
;
population of the civil parish,

1225; of the ecclesiastical, 523. The living is a rectory In

the diocese of Rochester; net value, £327. Patron, the

Lord Chancellor. The church is Early English and was

restored in 1884. There is a Baptist chapel.

Burstwick, a village, a township, and a parish in E. R.

Yorkshire. The township is joined with SkeckHng, includes

part of Ridgmout, lies on the Hull and Withemsea railway,

near the Humber, 8 miles ESE of Hull, and has a station

on the railway, and a post and money order office under

Hull ; telegraph office, Hedon. Acreage of the township,

4338; population, 437; of the parish, 700. The parish

contains also the townships of Ryhill and Camerton. The
living is a discharged vicarage in the diocese of York ; net

value, £240 with residence. The church is Later English,

and was completely restored in 1893. There are also Wes-
levan and Primitive Blethodist chapels, and small charities.

Burtersett, a hamlet in Hawes parish, N. R. Yorkshu^e,

1 mile E of Hawes, which is the railway station. Hawes is

also the post town, and the money order and telegraph office

(R.S.O.) There are Wesleyan and Congregational chapels,

and stone quarries.

Burtholme, a township in Lanercost parish, Cumberland,

on the river Irthing, 3 miles NE by N of Brampton. Acre-

age, 2682; population, 288.

Burthorpe. See Eastleach-JIartix.

Burtle, a chapelry in Moorfinch parish, Somersetshii'e, 3^
miles SSW of Edington Road railway station, and 5J ENE
of Bridgewater, which is the post town. Population, 292.

It was constituted in 1856. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Bath and Wells; net value, £250. The church

is very good.

Burtoft, a hamlet inWigtoft parish, Lincolnshire, 2 miles

SE of Swineshead.

Burton, a name contracted from " burgh-town " or " burgh-

ton," and applied to a place where there was anciently a

castle or fortallce.

Burton, a township and a parish in Cheshire. The town-
ship lies on the estuary of the Dee, 2J miles S of Hadlow
Road station on the Birkenhead railway, aud 8^ NW by W
of Chester, and had formerly a market. Acreage, 1927, of

which 45 are water and foreshore; population of the township,

266; of the ecclesiastical parish, 416. The parish includes

also the township of Puddington, and its post office is Neston,

under Chester. Burton Hall is the seat of the lord of the

manor. An hospital was founded by Bishop Stavensby, and
given to the hospital of St John in Lichfield. The living is

a \icarage in the diocese of Chester ; gross value, £109 with

residence. The church was rebuilt in 1721 and restored in

1870. There is a Roman Catholic chapel at Puddington.

Bishop T. Wilson was a native.

Burton, a township in Gresford parish, Denbighshire, on

the verge of the county, 5j miles NNE of Wrexham. Acre-

age, 2869
;
population, 655.

Burton, a hamlet in Charminster parish, Dorsetshire, 1

mile N of Dorchester.
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Eurton, a iKimlot in JlnrnliuU parish, Dorsctsljiie, 3J
miles ENE of Stalbridge. Marble is quarried.

Burton, a tithing in Winfrith-Newburgh parish, Dorset-

shire, 6:V miles W of Wareham.

Burton, a village in Pcumaik parish, Glamorgan, 5i miles

SE of Cowbridge.

Burton, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in Hants, 2

miles N of Christchurcb, under which there is a post and

money order office. Population of the ecclesiastical parish,

782. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester

;

gross value, £130 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Win-
chester. The church was built in 1877, and has a good

organ. There is a Congregational chapel.

Burton, Lmcoln. See Bukton-by-Lincoln.
Burton, a township in B.amborough parish, Northumber-

land, 5 miles ESE of Belford station on the N.E.R. Post

town, Chathill ; money order office, N. Sunderland ; telcgi-aph

office, Seahouses. Acreage, 1085; population, 94. Earl

Grey is lord of the manor and sole landowner.

Burton, a parish in Pembrokeshire, on Milford Haven, at

Pembroke Feny, near New Milford, 3 miles N of Pembroke.

It includes the villages of Bm'ton and Houghton, and its

post town is Haverfordwest. Acreage, 3468 of land, and 200
of water and foreshore

;
population, 1027. Benton Castle is

a ruin, with a fine view. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of St David's ; net value, £220 with residence. Patron,

the Earl of Cawdor. The church dates from the 12th cen-

tury, and has an interestmg side chapel. There are Baptist

and Wesleyan chapels.

Burton, a hamlet in Stogursey parish, Somersetshire, fij
miles NW of Bridgewater.

Burton, a township in Warcop parish, Westmoreland,

under Rutman Fell, oj miles ESE of Appleby. It belonged

to the Wyberghs and the Hyltons, and was the birthplace of

Car'dina] Bainbridge. Lead ore is mined.

Burton, a place on the NW border of Wilts, 8 miles

NW of Chippenham, under which it has a post office ; money
order office, Acton Tm'ville ; telegraph office. Badminton.

Burton, E. K. Yorkshire. See Hounsea-with-Bukton.
Burton, West Cheshire. See Burton-by-Tarvin.
Burton or Bodexton, a parish in Sussex, on the river

Ruther and the Ai'undel Canal, 1 mile from Petworth station

on the L.B. & S.C.R. Post town, Petworth, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 810
;
popula-

tion of the civil parish, 57 ; of the ecclesiastical, 141. Bur-
ton Park is the seat of the Biddulphs. The hving is a
rectory, united with the perpetual curacy of Coates, in the

diocese of Chichester; net value, £120.

Burton and Holme, a station on the Lancaster and Car-
lisle railway, 1 Oj miles N by E of Lancaster.

Burton-Agnes, a village, a township, and a parish in E.K.

Yorkshire. The township lies on the Hull and Scarborough
railway, 5J miles SW of Bridlington, and has a station on
the railway, and a post and money order office under Hull

;

telegr-aph office at station. Acreage, 2664 ; population,

321 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, with Harpham, 833.
The parish contains also the townships of Haisthorpe, Thoni-
holme, and Gransmoor. Burton-Agnes Hall is the seat

of the Boynton family, was built by Inigo Jones, and stands
on a fine slope of the Wolds, forming a striking object from
the railway. The living is a rectory, united with the vicar-

age of Harpham, in the diocese of York ; net value, £778
with residence. The church has a nave of three bays and a
good western tower, contains an Anglo-Norman font, an altar-
tomb of 1336, and a tomb with effigy of 1481. The chancel
was restored by Archdeacon Robert Wilberforce. There is a
Wesleyan chapel, a reading-room with library, opened in

1886, an endowed school, and almshouses for four poor
widows.

Burton-Bradstook, a parish in Dorsetshire, lying on
the river Bredy and on the coast, 3 miles SSE of Brid-
port railway station, and including the tithing of Sturthill.

it has a post office under Bridport, which is the money order
office

; telegraph office, West Bay. Acreage, 2746
; popu-

lation of the civil parish, 889 ; of the ecclesiastical, with
Shipton George, 1207. Cliffs on the coast consist of fuller's

earth. The vale of the Bredy here is beautiful. There, are
flax-mills and a twine-factory, also a coastguard station.

The living is a rectory, united with the chapeh-y of Shipton
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George, m the diocese of Salislimy ; net value, £261 with
residence. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Burton-by-Lincoln, a village and a parish in Lincoln-
shire, near tlie G.N.R., 2 miles NNW of Lincoln, which is

the post town; money order and telegraph office, Lincoln.
Acreage of the parish, 2390; population, 248. The manor
and Burton Hall, a tine mansion standing in a well-wooded
park, belong to Viscount Oxenbridge. 'fhe living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £400 with
residence, in the gift of Viscount Oxenbridge. The church
is a building of stone in the Norman and Perpendicular styles.

Burton-by-Tarvin, a village and a township m Tarvin
parish, Glieshire, oj miles NW of Tarporley. Acreage of
township, 346

;
population, 66.

Burton Cherry or Cherry Burton, a village, a township,
and a parish in E. R. Yorkshue, with a station on the
Beverley and Market Weighton railway. There is a post,

money order, and telegraph office (S.O.) of the name of Cherry
Burton. Acreage of parish, 34G9

; population, 429. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of York ; net value, £538
with residence. The church was rebuilt in 1852-53 in the
Early Decorated English style, and consists of nave, north
aisle, and chancel, with a tower.

Burton-Coggles, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire,

on an affluent of the river Glen, and on the G.N.R., 1| mile
NW of Corby railway station. There is a post office under
Grantham ; money order and telegraph office, Corby. Acreage
of parish, 2676 ; population, 236. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £400 with residence.

The church is an ancient edifice of stone in the Early English
and Later styles. There is also a Primitive Methodist
chapel.

Burton-Constable, a hamlet in the township of West New-
ton, Swme parish, E. R. Yorkshire, with a station on the
Hornsea railway, 8J miles NE of Hull. Aldbrough is the
post and money order office ; telegi-aph office at the station.

Burton-Constable House, formerly the property of the CUf-
fords, now the seat of the Clifford-Constable family, is one
of the oldest and finest baronial halls in England, with fronts

of 131 and 133 feet, and a tower at each corner; and contains
a large collection of local manuscript history, and many family
portraits.

Burton-Constable or Constable-Burton, a township in

Finghall parish, N. R. Yorkshire, with a station on the
Northallerton and Hawes branch railway, 3j miles E of

Leybum. It mcludes the hamlet of Studdow. Post town,
Bedale ; money order and telegraph office, Leybm'n. Acre-
age, 2650; population, 189.

Burton-ciun-Walden or West Burton, a township in

Aysgarth parish, N. R. Yorkshire, at the junction of Bishop-
dale and Wensleydale, li mile SW of Aysgarth station. It

has a post and money order office, of the name of West Biu-
ton, under Aysgarth station, which is the telegi-aph office

;

and fairs are held on 10 March and 6 May. Acreage, 7659
;

population, 425. There are Wesleyan and Congregational
chapels. Lead and stone are found in the immediate neigh-
bourhood.

Burton-Dassett, a village and a paiish in Warwickshu'e.
The village stands 2 miles W by S of Fenny-Compton sta-
tion on the G.W. and East and West Junction railways,
and 4 E of Kington, and was once a market-town under the
name of Chipping Derset. The parish includes also the
hamlets of Little Dassett, North End, and Knightcote, and
its post town is Fenny-Compton, under Leamington. Acre-
age, 4975

; population, 632. The manor belonged anciently
to the Southleys, and passed to the Belknaps, the Wottons,
the Stanhopes, and the Temples. The surface is hilly, and
continued long to be a haunt of wild beasts. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester; net value £133 with
residence. The church is large, partly Norman, has an
embattled tower with pinnacles, and contains some ancient
monuments. Oliver Cromwell is said to h.ave witnessed the
battle of Edgehill from the tower. At North End are situ-

ated a cliapel of ease, and Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist
chapels.

Burton-Extra, a township in Burton-upon-Trent parish,

Staffordshire, forming part of the town of Burton-upon-
Trent. Acreage, 983

;
population, 14,244. See Burton-

upon-Tkent,
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Burton-Fleming or North Burton, a village, a town-

ship, and a parish in E.K. Yoikshire, on the Gipsy-Kace

river, 3i miles W by S of Hunmanby railway station, and 7 N\V
of Bridlington. There is a post office under Hunmanby
(R.S.O.), which is the money order and telegi-aph office.

Acreage of township, 3910
;
population, 425 ; of the ecclesi-

astical parish, with Fordon, 463. The living is a vicarage, to

which Fordon is annexed, in the diocese of York; gross

value,. X253 with residence. There are two Methodist

chapels.

Burton-Gate, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the river

Trent, 1 mile S from Lea station, and 1 N\V from Stow

Park station on the Spalding extension of the G.E. & G.N.R.

Post town, Lincoln; money order office, Madton; telegraph

office, Stow-Park. Acreage, 1114; population, 118. The
living is a rectory, united with Knaith, in the diocese of

Lincoln; net yearly value, X172 with residence. Gate-

Burton Hall is a fine mansion of white brick, very pleasantly

situated near the eastern bank of the Trent.

Burton-Grange, a village in Monk-Bretton township and

parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 1 mile NE of Barnsley.

Burton-Hastings, a parish in Warwickshire, near Wat-
ling Street and Ashby-de-la-Zouch Canal, 2j miles N
of Bulkingtou station on the Trent Valley section of the

G.W.R., and 3j ESE of Nuneaton. Post town, Nunea-

ton, which is the telegraph office ; money order office,

Bulkington. Acreage, 1488; population of the civil parish,

175 ; of the ecclesiastical, 151*. The manor belonged in the

time of Edward IV. to William Lord Hastings, and passed

by man-iage to the Cotton family. The Hving is a vicarage

in the diocese of Worcester; net value, £81 with residence.

The church formerly belonged to the monastery of Nuneaton,

is Early English, and has a low embattled tower.

Burton, High, a village in Kirk-Burton parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, 4^ miles SE of Huddersfield.

Burton-Hill, a tithing in Malmesbury St Paul parish,

Wilts, near Malmesbury.

Burton-in-Kendal, a small town, a township, and a

parish in Westmoreland. The town is adjacent to the Kendal

Canal, 1^ mile E of Burton and Holme railway station, near

Farlton-Knot, 10 miles NNE of Lancaster. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office called Burton (AVestmore-

land). The town is small, clean, and well built, and

pleasantly situated on rising-ground, and contains a market-

place with a handsome stone cross. The market, estab-

lished in 1661, was at one time the chief corn market in the

county; it began to decline in 1819, and has for many years

been discontinued. A fair is held here on Easter Monday
for the sale of cattle and sheep ; with it is combined a show

of entire horses. The parish formerly consisted of a long,

narrow, and inegular tract of country in South Westmoreland.

It was divided into the five townships of Burton, Dalton,

Holme, Holme Scales, and Preston Patrick. The present

ecclesiastical parish of Burton, where the old mother chmxh
is situated, consists of the townships of Burton and Dalton,

the latter in Lancashire. Acreage of township, 1473; popu-

lation, 693 ; of ecclesiastical parish, 861. In 1775 the in-

habitants spent a large sum in draining the mosses and bring-

ing them under cultivation. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Carlisle. The church, dedicated to St Jaraes, is

an ancient edifice. The tower, of Norman structure, is

square, and contains a fine peal of six bells. The body of

the church, of Gothic structure, consists of nave, chancel,

side aisle, and two mortuary chapels founded by the owners

of Dalton and Preston Hall. The Dalton chapel was founded

in 1628, the Preston chapel in 1634. There are two ancient

stones in the church, supposed to be memorials of some

members of the Croft family who resided at Dalton in the

13th century.

Burton-in-Lonsdale, a village and township in Thomton-
in-Lonsdale pai-ish, W. R. Yorkshire, on the liver Greta,

adjacent to the M.R., J mile from Ingleton station on

the L. & N.W.R. and M.R. There is a post and money
order office under Kirkby Lonsdale; telegraph office, Ingleton.

Acreage of township, 1558; population, 589. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon ; net value, £275 with

residence. Patron, the Vicar of Thornton. The church was

built and endowed at the sole expense of T. Thornton,

Esq., in 1870. There are a Wesleyan chapel and schools
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endowed with £350 yearly, a cotton mill, and several potteries

in this township.

Burton-Joyce, a village and a parish in Notts. The village

stands on the river Trent, adjacent to the M.R., 5 miles NE
by E of Nottingham, and has a station on the railway, and
a post and money order office under Nottingham; telegraph

office, Carlton. Acreage of the civil parish, 1388; popu-
lation, 877 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Bulcote, 978. The
Eail of Carnarvon is lord of the manor. A number of the

inhabitants are stocking-makers. The living is a discharged

vicai'age, united with the perpetual curacy of Bulcote, in the

diocese of Southwell; net value, £210 with residence.

Patron, the Earl of Carnarvon. The church is ancient but
good, has a tower and spire, and contains a number of

monuments. It was restored in 1879 by the Earl of

Carnarvon. There are Congregational and Wesleyan chapels

and a cemetery.

Burton-Kirk. See Kirk-Burton.
Burton-Latimer, a parish in Northamptonshire, 3J miles

SE of Kettering, It has a station, jointly with Isham, on

the M.R.,and a post, money order, and telegraph office under
Kettering. Acreage, 2756; population, 1948. The manor
belonged once to the Latimers. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Peterborough ; value, from 700 acres of glebe,

uncertain, with residence. Thechm-ch, a large and beautiful

building in the Norman and Early English styles, was re-

stored in 1867. There are a Baptist chapel and some useful

charities. Bm*ton Hall, a large mansion, is at the entrance

of the village,

Burton-Lazars, a township, a village, and a chapelry in

Melton - Mowbray parish, Leicestershire, adjacent to the

Melton-Mowbray and Oakham Canal, and 1| mile SE by

S of I\Ielton-Mowbray, which is the nearest railway station.

There is a post office under Melton-Mowbray, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage of township, 2780

;

population, 311, A lepers' hospital was founded here in the

time of Stephen, pmtly by a general collection throughout

England, but chiefly by the Mowbrays, and was the chief

lazar-house in England. The living is a perpetual curacy,

annexed to the vicarage of JM elton-Mowbray, in the diocese of

Peterborough. The church is an old building of stone in the

Decorated style. Burton Hall is a handsome mansion of

red stone.

Burton-Leonard, a township and a parish in the W. R.

Yorkshire, on the Northallerton and Ripon branch of the

N.E.R. near Wormald Green station, 5 miles SSE of Ripon.

There is a post, money order, and telegraph office under Leeds.

Acreage, 1796
;
population, 374. The Duke of Devonshire is

lord of the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Ripon
;

gi'oss value, £294 with residence. Patrons, the

Dean and Chapter of York. The church is a building of

stone in the Decorated style, and was consecrated in 1878
;

there are also two Methodist chapels.

Burton, North. See Burton-Fleming.
Burton-on-the-Wolds, a township in Prestwold parish,

Leicestershire, 4^ miles ENE of Loughborough. It has a

post office under Loughborough ; money order office, Wymes-
wald ; telegraph office, Barrow-on-Soar. Acreage, 2585

;

population, 309. Burton Hall is a seat of the Duke of Somer-

set. There are a mission church and a Wesleyan chapel.

Burton-Overy, a parish in Leicestershire, near the Union

Canal, 8 miles SE from Leicester, 2^ NE from Glen station,

and 3 N from Kibworth station, both on the M.R. It has a

post office under Leicester; money order and telegraph office,

GreatGlen. Acreage, 1899; population, 348. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough; gi'oss yearly

value, £400 with residence. The church is Decorated and

Later English; it was restored in 1863. There are a

Congregational chapel and some small charities.

Burton-Pedwardine, a parish in Lincolnshire, 1^ mile

NW from Helpringham station on the G.N. & G.E. Junction

railway, 2 miles SW of Heckington station on the G.N.R.,

and 4^ SE of Seaford. Post town and money order and tele-

graph office, Heckington (S.O.) Acreage, 1898
;
population,

163. The manor was given by the Conqueror to Alan de Craon,

and passed to the Pedwardines. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value, £200 with resi-

dence. The church, wliich stands on au ancient site, was

erected in 1870-71.
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Burton-Pidsea, a village, a township, and a parish in the

E. R. Yorkshire. The village stands on an eminence, witli

an extensive view, 3k miles NNE of Burstwick railway

station, and B NW by N of Patrington, and has a post

and money order office under Hull ; telegraph office, Hedon.

The parish comprises 2304 acres
; population, 342. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of York ; net value, i!200

with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of York.

The church, which is an ancient building in the Later English

style, was restored in 1866. There are also a Wesleyan chapel

and an iron and brass foundry.

Burton-Pynsent, a tithing in Drayton, Curry-Rivell,

and p'ivehead parishes, Somersetshire, on the Downs, 2 miles

SW of Langport. The estate belonged to the Pynsents, but

was bequeathed to William Pitt, afterwards Earl of Chatham.

The Earl of Chatham occasionally resided here, and he erected

a column 140 feet high, popuhu'ly called the Burton steeple,

to the memory of Sir William Pynsent. This crowns an

eminence, with a tine view.

Burton-Salmon, a township in Monk-Fryston parish, in

the W. K. Y'orkshire, with a station on the N.E.K., 2 miles

NE of Pontefract. Acreage. 956
;
population, 268. There

is a small Wesleyan chapel here.

Burton-upon-Stather, a village and a parish in Lincoln-

shire. The village stands above the river Trent, near its

mouth, some of the houses being situate at the Staith or

Stather, where there is a small pier daily used by the vessels

of the Hull and Gainsborough Steam Packet Co. It is 5

miles NNW from Frodingham station on the M.S. & L.R.,

and 13 NW of Glanford-Brigg. It has a post, money order,

and telegraph otfice under Doncaster. It figured formerly

as a considerable market-town. Brick and tile making are

carried on ; but the shipbuilding, for more than 100 years

the important industry of the parish, has now ceased.

The parish includes also the hamlets of Normanby, Thealby,

and part of Coleby. Acreage, 3610
;
population of the civil

parish, 765; of the ecclesiasticil, with Flixborough, 1072.

The hving is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory of Flix-

borough, in the diocese of Lincoln. The church is of the

13th centui"y, and in good condition. It contains some
interesting monuments and memorials. There ai'e also

Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels. Normanby
Hall, a tine country seat with a deer park of 300 acres, is

about 1 mile SE of Burton.

Burton-upon-Trent, a township, a market-town, a muni-
cipal borough, and a parish on the E border of Staffordshire,

and partly in Derbyshire. The township is included in the

town. The town lies on the river Trent, and on the M.R.,

adjacent to the Grand Trunk Canal, 11 miles SW of Derby,

12 NE of Lichfield, and 127 by railway from London.
There is good railway communication with all parts

of the kingdom. The town wiis known to the Saxons as

Byi'eton or Buryton. A religious establishment was founded

in the 9th century by the Irish lady Modwena, who had the

reputation of a saint and of a great mediciner. A Benedic-

tine abbey succeeded this establishment in 1004, founded

by Wulfric, Earl of Mercia; was changed by Henry VIII.

into a collegiate church, and given soon afterwards to Sir

WiUiam Paget, the ancestor of the present JIarquis of An-
glesey. Edward II. in 1321 obtained a decisive victory here

over the Earl of Lancaster, and both parties in the Civil

War, in the time of Charles I., were here at several periods

both vanquished and victors. The town occupies low level

ground, formerly liable to inundation by the Trent, and over-

looked by the precipitous thickly wooded hill of Scalpley.

It is substantially built. The old bridge across the Trent,

which was pulled down in 1864, was said to have been erected

about the time of the Conquest. A chapel stood at one end
of it, built by Edward II. to commemorate his \'ictory over
Lancaster. The present bridge, built by the Midland Railway
Company in 1864, is 469 yards long, and has 29 arches.

Some remains of the ancient abbey exist in the churchyard,

opposite the end of New Street. The present parish church
of St Modven was built in 1720, stands on the east side of

the market-place, is a fine large edifice in the Italian style,

with western square tower, and contains a beautiful altar-

piece of white marble, an ancient stone font, which probablv
belonged to the old church, and some monuments and stained
windows. Christ Church, in Moor Street, was erected in

BURTON-UPON-TRENT

1845, and is a cruciform building with a lower and spire

150 feet high. Holy Trinity Church, in Horninglow Street,

is a large edifice in the Early Decorated style, erected in

1882 on the site of an earlier church. St Paul's Church,

in St Paul's Square, was built in 1874 at the cost of the

late M. T. Biiss, Esq., M.P., and is a fine cruciform build-

ing in the Early Decorated style, with a maasive central

tower. Holy "Trinity, Christ Church, and St Paul are

separate ecclesiastical parishes, constituted in 1825, 1845,

and 1873 respectively. St Margaret's, in Shobnall Street,

is a chapel of ease to St Paul's, and was built in 1881 by

the late M. T. Bass, Esq. All Saints, in West Street, is a

chapel of ease to Christ Church, and there is a mission room

in Green Street in connection with the same church. The
Roman Catholic chapel in Guild Street is a red brick edifice

with stone dressings, and was erected in 1851 and rebuilt in

1879. The Congi'egational chapel in High Street occupies

the site of a previous chapel of 1662. There are also Baptist,

Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist, and Presbyterian chapels. The

grammar school, in Lichfield Street, was founded in 1520 by

Abbot Beane, and has a large endowed income. The market-

hall is a commodious structure erected in 1883. There is

also a cattle market, where sales are held every alternate

Monday.

St Paul's Institute, near St Paul's Church, was erected by

Mr. Bass in 1883 at a cost of i:40,000, and contains a large

and handsome hall, with organ, which is used for entertain-

ments, class rooms, &c. St George's Hall in George Street is

used for concerts, &c. There ai*e municipal offices, an infiiTn-

ary and dispensary, public baths, a mechanics' institute, with

schools of art and science, a county police station, and a fire

brigade station. There are numerous schools, both in the

town itself and in the outlying portions of the district. The
workhouse is in Horninglow township. The cemetery is to

the east of the town, comprises 22 acres, and has cost over

£20,000.
There are several recreation grounds. The county court

house, in Station Street, was erected in 1862. Sittings of

the county court are held monthly. The town has a head

post office, a railway station, and three banks ; is a seat of

petty sessions, and publishes an evening and two weekly news-

papers. A weekly mai-ket is held on Thm'sday, and fairs on

Candlemas Day, 5 April, Holy Thursday, 22 and 29 Oct.,

and on the Monday after Michaelmas Day for the hiring of

servants. The chief employment, from remote times, has

been the brewing of ale, and this is now carried on here to a

greater extent than anywhere else in the kingdom. The
superior excellence of the Bm'ton ales is attributed to the

presence of sulphate of lime in large quantities in the water

used in their manufactm-e. There are 28 breweries, of which

the most important are those connected with the names of

Bass and AUsopp. The premises of the former brewery

occupy over 140 acres. There are also iron, boiler, and copper

works, and plaster and cement mills. The town was incor-

porated in 1878, and is governed by a mayor, 8 aldermen,

and 24 councillors. The municipal borough is divided into

the wai'ds of Burton-Extra, Burton-on-Trent, Horninglow,

and Stapenhill and Winshill. Area, 4207 acres; population,

46,047 ; area of the township of Burton-upon-Trent, 591

acres; population, 8245; area of Burton-Extra, 983 acres;

population, 14,244.

The parish contains the townships of Burton-upon-Trent,

Burton-Extra, Horninglow, Branstone, and Stretton, in

Staffordshire, and the townships of Stapenhill and Winshill,

in Derbyshire. Population of the ecclesiastical parish of

St Modven, 2169; of Christ Church, 14,624; of Holy
Trinity, 3191 ; and of St Paul, 8725. The manor belongs

to the Marquis of Anglesey. The parochial living, and the

livings of Christ Church, Holy Trinity, and St Paul, are

vicarages in the diocese of Lichfield
;
gross value of St Mod-

ven, £112. Patron, the Bishop of Lichfield. Gross value of

Christ Church. £338 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of

Burton-upon-Trent. Net value of Holy Trinity, £250 with

residence. Patron, the Marquis of Anglesey. Net value of

St Paul, £400 with residence. Patron, Lord Burton. Horn-

inglow, Branstone, Stretton, Stapenhill, and Winshill are

separate benefices.

Burton Parliamentary Division of Staffordshire was

formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885, and
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returas one member lo the House of Commons. Population,

58,64U. The division includes the following :—Burton-upon-
Trent—Anslow, Bai'ton-under-Ncedwood, Branstone, Bmton
(Extra), Burton-upon-Trent, Dunstall, Hanbury, Horninglow,

Rolleston, Scropton (part of), Strctton, Tatenhill, Tutbury,

Wichnor, Yoxhall ; Uttoxeter (part of)—Abbots Bromley,

Blithfield, Bramshall, Draycott-in-the-Clay, Field, Gratwich,

Kingstone, Leigh, Marchington, Marchington Woodlands,
Newborough, Prestwood, Uttoxeter.

Burton-upon-Ure, ascattered township in Masham parish,

in the N. R. Yorkshire, 1 mile from Masham station on the

N.E.R., and 5 miles SW by S of Bedale. Acreage, 2156
;

population, 126. Aldburgh Hall and Nutwith Cote are

chief residences.

Burtou, West, a parish in Nottinghamshire, on the river

Trent, 1J mile E of Sturton railway station, and 3J miles SSW
of Gainsborough. Post town, Lincoln ; money order and tele-

graph office, Stm"ton-le-Steeple. Acreage, 862
;
population,

52. The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to the rectory

of South Wheatley and vicarage of North Wheatley, in the

diocese of Southwell
;
joint net value, £480. Lord Middle-

ton is lord of the manor and sole landowner. The church

is old, and is no longer used for service.

Burton, West, a tithing in Bury parish, Sussex,
1
J mile

from Amberley station on the L.B. & S.C.R., and 4J miles

N of Arundel.

Burton, West, in the N. R. Yorkshhe. See Bukton-
ciim-Wai.i>en.

Burton Wood, a township and a chapelry in Warrington

parish, Lancashire, adjacent to the S.ankey Canal and the

Liverpool and Manchester railway, 1 mile S of Collins-Green

railway station, and 5 miles NW by N of Warrington. There
is a post, money order, and telegraph office under Newton-
le-Willows. Acreage, 4193; population, 1584. Dallam,

Eewsey, and Collins-Green are comprised in this township.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Liverpool

;

net value, .£200 with residence. Patron, the Rector of War-
rington. The church will seat 250. There is also a Roman
Catholic church and a Wesleyan chapel.

Burwardsley, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Bunbmy parish, Cheshire, 4i miles SSW of Tarporley, on
the W slope of Pcckforton Hills. The railway station is at

Tattenhall. Post town, Chester. Acreage, mostly pasture

in sm.all holdings, 1058
;
population, 383. The living is a

perpetual curacy in the diocese of Chester ; net value, £S7
with residence. Patrons, trustees. The church was built

in 1735, and enlarged in 1889. There is a Primitive Method-

ist chapel.

Burwarton, a village and a parish in Salop, on the slopes of

the Brown Clee Hill, 9 miles SW of Bridgnorth, and 9i NE
from Ludlow, with a post, money order, and telegraph office.

Acreage of parish, 1248; population, 230. Burwarton Hall

is a seat of Viscount Boyne, who is lord of the manor

;

the mansion is in the Itahan style, and the grounds extend

to a considerable height on the Brown Clee Hill. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, -£300 with

residence. Patron, Viscount Boyne. The church was built

in 1876 to repliice the old Nonnan church. There is a Wes-
leyan chapel.

Burwash or Burghersh, a village and a parish in Sussex.

The village stands on an aifluent of the river Bother, 2^ miles

WSW of Etchingham railway station, and 8 NW of Battle,

and has a post, money order, and telegraph office (S.O.)

It was formerly a market-town, and is a seat of petty sessions

held at Hurst Green. Acreage of the civil parish, 7452

;

population, 2093; of the ecclesiastical, 1340. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Chichester ; net value, £614
with residence. The church is Early and Later English in

style, and was restored in 1856, and again in 1890. A
chapel of ease in the Early English style was built at Bur-
wash Common in 1867. There are Congregational and

Wesleyan chapels, and a Roman Catholic church dedicated

to St Joseph. Burwash gives the title of Viscount to the

Earl of Westmoreland.

Burwash Weald, a p.arish in Sussex, 3 miles from Tice-

hurst Road station on the S.E.K. It has a post and money
order office (S.O.); telegraph office, Burw.ash. Population

of the ecclesiastical parish, 990. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Chichester ; net value, £186 with residence.
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Patron, the Bishop of Chichester. The church, which is

in Early EngUsh style, is good. There is also a Wesleyan
chapel.

Burwell, a village and a parish in Cambridgeshire. The
village stands 4 miles ESE of the river Cam, 6 NW of New-
market, consists chiefly of one irregular street, and has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Cambridge, with a
st.ation on the Cambridge and Mildenhall branch of the

G.E.R. Traces of a castle are here, built before the Con-
quest, and besieged in the war between Stephen and the

Empress Matilda. Seventy-eight persons were accidentally

burnt to death in a barn here in 1727. The parish includes

also part of the hamlet of Reach. Acreage, 7446 ;
popu-

lation, 1998. About one h.alf of the land is fen. The hving

is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely; net yearly value, £272
with residence. Patron, the University of Cambridge. The
chmch is fine Perpendicular English, was partly restored

in 1861, and has a pinnacled tower. There is a mission

church of 1863, besides B.aptist, Congregational, Primitive

Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels. There ai-e also an

endowed school, and an estate worth about £100 yearly, the

mcome from which is devoted to the repair of the church

and the endowed school.

Burwell, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2§ miles W by S of

Authorpe station on the G.N.R., and 5\ SSE of Louth. It

has a post office under Louth ; money order and telegraph

office, Tetford. Acreage, 2044
;
population, 164. Burwell

Park, a fine mansion standing in a well-wooded park of 200
acres, was the birthplace of SarahJennings, the famous Duchess
of Marlborough. A Benedictine priory was founded in the

parish by John de Hay, ancestor of the Umfravilles, made a

cell to St Mary's Abbey, Bordeaux, and passed eventually to

the Duke of Suffolk. The living is a vicarage with Walms-
gate and Muckton annexed

;
joint net yearly value, £169

with residence. The church is an ancient structm'e of stone

in the Norman style.

Burwood Park, in Surrey, is near the Walton station of

the S.W.R., 2^ miles SE of Chertsey. The mansion was
built towards the end of the 18th century. The orangery

is of some size and celebrity.

Bury, a name of the same meaning as burgh or burr/, and
.apphed to a place which had anciently a fort.

Bury, a parish in Huntingdonshire, on an affluent of the

river Nen, f of a mile S of Ramsey station on the G.N.R.,

and 8 miles N by W of St Ives. It has a post office under

Huntingdon ; money order and telegi-aph office, Ramsey.

Acreage, 1446 ; population of the civil parish, 377; of the

ecclesiastical, 417. The manor belonged to Ramsey Abbey,

and passed to successively the Williamses, the Bainbridges,

.and the Bai'nards. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Ely ; net yearly value, £112 with residence. Patron, the

Duke of Manchester. The church is pai'tly Norman and
Early English, and is good.

Bury, a parish and a hundred in Sussex. The parish lies

on the river Arun, 1^ mile NW of Amberley station on the

L.B. & S.C.R., and 6 miles SSE of Pctworth, includes the

tithing of West Bm'ton, and has a post office under Pul-

borough (R.S.O.); money order office, Arundel; telegraph

office, Amberley (R.S.) Acreage, 3408; population, 531.

Buiy Hill here is crowned with a large barrow. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Chichester ; net value, £330
with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Glouces-

ter. The chm'ch has been restored. A working men's club

and reading-room was opened in 1880.

Bury, a municipal, parliamentary, and county borough
and parish in Lancashire. The town was incorporated by
Royal Charter in 1876, and has a mayor, 10 .aldermen, and
30 councillors. It is divided into five wards, has a com-
mission of the peace, and was extended by the Bury Improve-

ment Act of 1885. Bury lies on the river Irwell, 2 miles

above its confluence with the Roach, and 8 NNW of Man-
chester. The Bury, Bolton, and Manchester canal goes

south-westward, and railways go westward, northward, east-

ward, and southwai'd. A Roman station is thought by some
to have been on the town's site, a Saxon fort seems certainly

to have been here, and a biironial castle of early date stood

in Castle Croft in the town's vicinity, and was demolished in

1644 by the troops of Cromwell. The manor belonged in

the time of Henry II. to John de Lacy, and passed succes-
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sivcly to the Buiys, the Pilkingtons, and the Stanleys. A
muster of 20,000 men in the Koyalist cause was made in

1642 on a heath in the neighbourhood by Lord Strange,

afterwards Eail of Derby.

The town was described in 1738 as "a little market

town ;" but it must then have been only a village, and it has

risen rapidly to magnitude under manufacturing enterprise.

Formerly it contained old dilapidated buildings, and had

a dingy appearance ; but it has undergone great improvement

by rebuilding of houses, by formation of new streets, and by

construction of drainage works, and it now presents a well-

built and cleanly appearance, is well lighted, and plentifully

supplied with water. The market-place, constructed in 1840, is

covered with a roof of wrought iron and glass. A bronze statue

of Sir Robert Peel on a massive pedestal of granite was erected

in the old m;u-ket-place in 1852 at a cost of i)3000. The town-

hall is a handsome edifice in the Italian style, contains an

assembly room, and includes court-houses and police office.

The Atbenfeum, adjoining the town-h.all, is a handsome build-

ing, and contains a hall, a museum, class-rooms, library, and
reading-rooms. A technical school was opened in 181)4,

costing £23,000. The banking offices, the savings bank,

the railway station, the public baths, and the grammar
school are good biuldings. The pai-ish church of St Mary's,

said to have been erected at the end of the 10th centmy, was

rebuilt in 1780, and had a tower and spire rebuilt in 1844
;

the present building, was erected in 1871-1876 at a cost

of .£25,000, raised by subscription. St John's Chm'ch

was built in 1770, St Paul's in 1841, Holy Trinity in

1865, St Thomas' in 1867; the last is a structure in the

Gothic style with lofty tower and spne ; St Mark's was built in

1 884. St Stephen's Chm'ch, a Wesleyan chapel, and a Roman
Catholic chapel are handsome edifices. There are four Con-
gregational, three Baptist,twelve Methodist, a Unitarian, a

Swedenborgian, and two Roman Catholic chapels; a cemetery

(1869), comprising 33 acres, with two mortuary chapels; a

grammar school, founded in 1726, and with an endowed income
of about £800, and three exhibitions at the universities, and
a choristers' school connected with it ; an hospital and a dis-

pensary, erected in 1882 by public subscription, public re-

creation grounds, formed in 1886, and a theatre, erected in

1889. The town has a post, money order, and telegraph

office, two railway stations, several banks, many good inns,

a weekly market on Satm'day, and three annual fairs, is a

seat of petty sessions and county com'ts, and publishes two
weekly newspapers.

Woollen manufacture was formerly the principal industry

of the town, and is still carried on in several large fiictories.

Cotton manufactm'e in various departments, which is now the

staple, received a great impulse from inventions by two natives,

John and Robert Kay, and from the enterprise of the late

Sir Robert Peel's father, and maintains at present nmnerous
factories for spinning and weaving, printing and bleaching,

and for dyeing. There are also several iron-foundries,

machine-making works, hat-making houses, and other manu-
factm'ing establishments. The surface is hilly, and the strata

yield coal and building stone. The parliamentary borough,

of which the boundaries were extended by the Act of 1885,
has returned one member to the House of Commons since

1832. Its boundaries, in addition to all Bui-y township, in-

clude part of the township of Elton. Area of the parha-
mentary borough, 4368 .acres; population, 55,491; area of

the county borough, 6028 acres
;
population, 57,212.

The parish includes the townships of Bury, Elton, Heap,
Walmcrsley-cmn-Shuttleworth, Tottington-Lower-End, Tot-
tington-Higher-End, Musbury, Musden Head, and the Tripit

of Ogden, and Coupe Lench, with Newhall-Hey and Hall-

Carr. Area of civil parish of Bury, 2330 acres
;
population,

41,038; of the ecclesiastical parish of Holy Trinity, 6147;
St John, 5945 ; St Mark, 8344 ; St Mary, 4480 ; St Paul,

6899 ; St Peter, 4409 ; and St Thomas, 4834. St Mary's
is a rectory; St John's, St Paul's, Holy Trinity, and St M.-u-k's

are vicarages. St Peter's and St Thomas' are perpetual cura-
cies, in the diocese of Manchester ; value of St Mary's, £1500;
of St John's, £400 ; of St Paul's, £300 ; of Holy Trinity,

£343 ; of St Thomas', £293 ; of St Mark's, £300 ; of St
Peter's, £304. Patron of St Mary's, the Earl of Derby, and
of the others, the Rector. Chamber Hall, in the vicinity of

the town, was the birthplace of the late Sir Robert Peel.
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Bury, Sufl'ulk. See Buky-St-Edmunhs.
Buryaai, St, a parish in Cornwall. The parish lies 4^

miles E by N of Lands-End, and 4f SW of Prnzance rail-

way station, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office (R.S.O.) Acreage, 6975; population, 1288. The
surface consists lai-gcly of black granite hills. A small town
of ancient note was here, but is now represented by only a

few cottages. An oratory was founded at it at an early

period by St Buriena, a holy woman from Ireland. A secular

college was founded here in 909 by Athelstane, changed after-

wards into an exempt deanery, and destroyed in the time of

the Commonwealth by Shrubshall, governor of Pendeunis

Castle. A number of Druidical remains, including the

Merry Maidens, the Boscawen-Un, and the Rosmodrevy

circles, occur among the hills. A cattle fair is held on the

first Tuesday in March. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Exeter, and till 1864 was united with Levan and

Sennen ; value, £300. Patron, H.R.H. the Duke of Corn-

wall. The church stands on a wild open eminence 415

feet high, has a lofty tower commanding a view to the Scilly

Islands, is an ancient edifice greatly altered by modern
renovations, and contains a fine cai-ved screen and a curious

coffin-shaped monument with a Norman-French inscription.

An ancient chapel called the Sanctuary stands about a mile

to the SE. Attorney-General Noy, of the time of Charles

L, was a native.

Bury-Ditches, an ancient camp in Salop, on Tangley

Hill, 3J miles S of Bishops-Castle. It commands a fine

view. It is supposed by some to be an enelosm'c protecting

the house of a Saxon chief. There are three nearly circular

earthworks.

Bury-Hill, the seat of the Barclay family, 1 mile SSE of

Dorking, in Smrey. The grounds are ornate and interesting,

containing an observatory stored with the best instruments,

and are open to the public.

Burjrmead, a hamlet i a mile SW of Hannondsworth,
Middlesex.

Bury, New, an ecclesiastical parish, formed in 1865 from

the parish of Farnworth-cum-Kearsley, in the civil parish of

Deane, L.ancashire, 2 miles SE of Bolton, which is the post

town. Population, 5627. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Manchester; value, £350, in the gift of five trus-

tees. The church was built in 1864.

Bury - St - Edmunds, a municipal and parliamentary

borough, an assize, market, and union town, and head of a

county court district in Suffolk. The town stands on the

river Larke, which is navigable up to within a short dis-

tance of it, and it has good railway communication by the^

G.E.K. It is 14 miles E from Newmarket, and 76 from

London via Sudbury. The town is thought to have been

the Villa Faustina of the Romans. It was made a seat

of royalty soon after the settlement of the Saxons, and
named Bcodericsworth, signifying " the dwelling of Beoderic,"

after a person who had possessed it. Sigbright, the fifth

king of East Anglia, on embracing Christianity about

638, founded at it a monastic church. Edmund, who suc-

ceeded to the throne of East Auglia in 855, was crowned
either here or at Bures, and upon his being slain by the

Danes, and acquiring the reputation of a martyr, his body,

after having lain some time elsewhere, was solemnly deposited

here, and occasioned the place to be called Bury-St-Edmunds.
Miracles were alleged to be wrought, and great reputed

sanctity was attained. A new church over the royal remains

was founded in 925 by Athelstane, and a splendid enlarge-

ment of this, with the character of a Benedictine abbey, was
commenced in 1020 by Canute, and consecrated in 1032.

A gorgeous shrine for Edmund's body was constructed in it,

and Canute came hither in person and offered his crown. A
further enlargement of the edifice was begun soon afterwards,,

and completed in 1095. Edward the Confessor frequently

dismounted within a mile of the abbey, and entered it on foot.

Henry I. did homage in it for his safe return to his dominions.

Eust,ace plundered it in 1153. Henry II. was crowned in

it, and he carried the banner of St Edmund in front of his

troops at the battle of Fornham, and ascribed to its influence

the victory he obtained. Richard I. made a visit to the

shrine before going to Palestine. King John was at Bury-
St-Edmunds in 1201 and 1203, and a meeting of barons
here shared with that of Runnimede the honour of wresting
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from him the Magna Chaita. The Dauphin Luuis plundered

the abbey in 1216, and tools away Edmund's body. Henry
III. held a parliament here in 1272, and it was at Bury St

Edmunds he contracted the disease which terminated in his

death. Edward I. and his queen visited the shrine tive times

in the course of his reign, and he held a parliament in the town
in 1206. Edward II. Isept his Christmas here in 1326, and

his queen Isabella marched hither with the troops from the

Prince of Hainault, and made Bury her rallying point. An
assault with great damage was made on the abbey in 1327 by

the townspeople, and suppressed by military force. Edward
III. and Richard II. made visits to the shrine. The insurgents

under Jack Straw in 1381 beheaded Lord Chief Justice

Cavendish at Bury, attacked the abbey, and slew the abbot.

Henry VI. spent his Christmas here in 1433, and also

held a parliament in 1416, and Shakespeare lays a scene here

in that monarch's reign. Henry VII. was here in 1486.

The Dukes of Suffolk and Norfolk in 1526 assembled their

troops at Bury to quell the insun-ection at Lavenham, Sudbury,

and the adjacent country. The Duke of Northumberland,

on proclaiming Lady Jane Grey to be successor of Edward
VI., made Bury the rendezvous of his troops in support of

her cause. Twelve persons were burnt at the stake here on

account of religious tenets in the reign of Mary. A visit

was made to Bury in 1578 by Elizabeth. A great fire broke

out in 1608, destroyed 160 dwelling-houses, and property

to the value of £60,000. The plague made such havoc in

1636 that the grass grew in the streets. Forty persons in

the reign of James I., two of them tried before Sir JIatthew

Hale, were put to death in Bury for the imaginary crime of

witchcraft.

The town occupies a gentle descent, on a sandy soU, amid
pleasant environs. It measures about 1^ mile by IJ, and is

well built. The shire-hall is a modern erection, incorporat-

ing part of the ancient church of St Margaret, and contains

two convenient courts for criminal and civil causes. In this

building the quarter sessions and the summer assizes are held,

the spring assizes formerly held here having been removed to

Ipswich. The Guild-hall gives name to a street, is a hand-

some edifice with an old porch, and contains some interesting

old portraits. It is used for the transaction of the general

business of the borough, one wing being devoted to the use

of the West SufTolk Library. The old County Bridewell is

now used as an hospital for infectious diseases. Moyses'

Hall or the -Jews' House is a fine and almost unique specimen

of Norman Domestic architecture, some portions dating back

to the end of the 11th century. It was formerly used as a

police station, but a new station, constnicted on the most

approved modern principles, was erected in 1892. The
Corn Exchange was built in 1862, has a frontage of 82 feet

and a depth of 119 feet, consists of uave and aisles, and has

an elliptical iron roof, glazed for about 20 feet on each side

of the arch. The Athenaeum was built in 1854, is a spacious

structure, and contains apartments for a public club, a read-

ing-room, a museum, a library of about 12,000 volumes, and

a large hall. The Mechanics' Institute, formerly held in the

Town Hall, was in 1878 removed to the AtheuEeum. The
Botanic Garden was established in 1820. The theatre was

built in 1819. Mediseval vaults are under the Angel Inn.

Five gates were in the town walls, but have disappeared. A
Franciscan priory, a college, five hospitals, and at least

twenty-eight churches or chapels, besides the existing parish

churches and the abbey chapels, were in the town at the

Reformation, but most are known now only by their sites or

even only by their names. The college was founded by

Edward IV., .and is now used by the poor-law guardians as

a board-room, pay-room, vaccination station, &c.; St Saviour's

Hospital was founded in 1184, appears to h.ive been of great

extent, and has all perished except a gateway; St Nicholas'

Hospital was converted into a farmhouse ; the stone chapel

became a small inn ; and two or three other chapels are re-

presented by fragmentary ruins. The abbey church was

cruciform, 606 feet from end to end, 241 feet along the

transept -, had a nave of thirteen bays, a choir of five bays,

a circular apse containing the shrine, several chapels, a central

lantern, and two octagonal western towers ; and was built

of flint and boulder cased with Barnack stone. The cloisters

and other buildings connected with it were of corresponding

magnitude. Three arches of the west front are incorporated
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with modern houses; the central tower, 36 feet wide and 86
feet high, still stands, was restored in 1847, forms now the

grand entrance to the churchyard of the two parish churches,

and is a fine specimen of Norman architecture ; and the abbey
gatehouse, 50 feet by 40 and 62 feet high, also still stands,

and is rich Decorated English ; but all the other parts have

perished. The revenues were equivalent to about £50,000
of the present day, and passed at the dissolution chiefly to

the Ayres and the Bacons. St Mary's Church, one of the

finest churches in England, was built in 1005 and rebuilt in

1424-80, is 213 feet long, and contains altar-tombs of

Mai'y Tudor, Queen of France, and five persons of the

15th century. St James' Church was built in 1200, re-

built in 1500, and repaired in 1820, and the chancel was
rebuilt very ornately in 1869. St John's Church was built

in 1841 at a cost of X6000, and is a handsome struc-

ture. St Peter's Church, a plain flint and stone building,

with spure in the Decorated style, was erected in 185S.

There are also several dissenting chapels in Bury. The
Baptists have chapels in Westgate Road and Garland Street.

The Roman Catholic chapel in Westgate Street was erected

in 1837, and has a fine statue of St Edmund, the martyr
king, and an alms box said to have been made from the

wood of the tree to which he was bound. There is a Con-
gregational chapel in Whiting Street; a Friends' meeting-

house in St John's Street, erected in 1750; a Primitive

Methodist chapel in Garland Street, rebuilt in 1851 ; a Uni-
tarian chapel, built in 1750, in Churchgate Street ; and a

Wesleyan Methodist chapel in Brentgood Street, erected in

1878. The Brethren have also a small chapel in Garland

Street. The Grammar School was founded by Edward VI.,

and is well endowed. It was formerly held in Northgate

Street, but was moved to a more open site in 1883. It is

now managed in accordance with a scheme sanctioned by the

Charity Commissioners in 1879, and possesses some valuable

exhibitions and scholarships. There .are also the Guildhall

Feoffment Schools, consisting of the Guildhall middle school,

the girls' elementary school, and the boys' elementary school,

which are partially endowed. The Suffolk General Hospital

w.as rebuilt in 1864 at a cost of £13,000. Clopton's Asylum
for decayed trjidesmen of the town, with an annual income

of £700, is an edifice in the Tudor style, built in 1842.

The town of Bury is well built, and is governed by a

mayor, sis aldermen, and eighteen councillors, and a recorder.

Under the sanction of the corporation, sewer, main drainage,

and irrigation works have been completed at a cost of

about £38,000, .and the corporation having become the

urban sanit<iry authority, have secured an excellent supply

of water at a cost of about £12,000. The town formerly

returned two members to Parliament, but by the provisions

of the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, it now returns

one only. Very little manufacture is carried on here, but

the town is a great market for agricultural produce of all

kinds. The market days are Wednesd.ays and Saturd.ays

—

the Wednesday market being chiefly for corn and cattle,

and the S.iturday market for provisions. A large fair for

cattle is held here on the first Tuesday in December, but

the fairs formerly held in Easter and October have fallen

into disuse. It has a head post office, is the seat of

assizes and sessions, publishes three weekly newspapers,

and has three banks. Its borough boundaries, both parlia-

mentarily and municipally, are the same as those of the

two parishes and of the district. Acreage, 2947; popula-

tion of the municipal and parliamentary borough, 16,630
;

area of the civil parish of St James, 1331 acres; popula-

tion, 9968; area of St Mary, 1616 acres; population, 6662.

Lord Chancellor Aungervile, Bishop Gardner, Battely the

antiquary. Sir J. CuUum, Capel Lofft, Bishop Tomline, Bishop

Blomfield, and Repton the landscape gardener, were natives

;

Norwold the annalist, Eversden the historian, and Lydgate

the poet, were connected with the abbey ; Archbishop San-

croft, Lord Keeper North, Anstey, Cumberhand, the Bun-
burys, Romilly, and a number of other distinguished men
were educated at the grammar-school, and Madame de Genlis,

Defoe, and Wollaston were residents. The town gives the

title of Viscount to Earl Albemarle.

The two civil parishes are St l\Iary and St James ; the

latter includes the ecclesiastical parish of St John, formed in

1846, and all three vicarages are in the diocese of Ely. The
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vicarage of St James is of the gross ye.iily value of £480
;

tlie vicarage of St JIary, of the gross value of £350 with

residence. St Johu's was endowed with XlOO yearly out of

land at Little Saxham by the then Marquess of Bristol, and
it receives aid from the Ecclesiastical Commissioners and

from Queen Anne's Bounty. It is in the gift of the Bishop

of Ely. St Peter's Church is without endowment, and serves

as a chapel of ease to St Mary. Population of the ecclesi-

astical parish of St Mary, 66G2 ; of St James, 4281 ; and

of St John, 5G87.

Burythorpe, a village, a township, and a parish in E. R.

Yorkshire, near the river Derwent, 3J miles E by S of Kirk-

h.am railway station, and 4 S of New Malton. The township

includes the hamlet of Thornthorpe, and has a post office under

York; money order office. Leavening; telegraph office, Kirkham
Abbey. Acreage, 1250

;
population, 227. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of York
;
gross value, £207 with resi-

dence. P.atron, the Lord Chancellor. The church is a hand-
some edifice in the Early English style,and contains an ancient

Nomian font, which belonged to a previous church. There

are also Wesleyan and United Free Methodist chapels.

Bury-Wood, a place with a large and strong Danish
camp, near Slaughterford, in Wilts.

Busbridge, a chapelry in Godalming parish, Surrey, IJ
mile S of Godalming. Population, 1122. The church was
built in 18G7. Busbridge Hall is surrounded by fine park
scenery, and contains some good pictures.

Busby, Great and Little, two towmships in Stokesley

parish, N. R. Y'orkshire, 2A miles S of Stokesley. Post
town, Northallerton ; money order and telegraph office,

Stokesley. Acreage of Great Busby, 1404
;
population, 99;

of Little Busby, 705 ;
population, .32.

Buscot, a village and a parish in Berks, on the river

Thames, 4^ miles WNW of Faringdon station on the G.W.R.,
and 2;^ SSE of Lechlade station. There is a post office

under Lechlade, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage of parish, 2887
;
population, 423. Buscot

House, built in 1780, and greatly altered and improved
in 1890, stands in the midst of beautiful grounds extend-
ing into Eaton-Hastings parish. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of 0,<;ford ; net yearly value, £360 with

residence. The church is old, dating from the 13th and
lijth centuries. There is a Baptist chapel, erected in

1883, and some small charities.

Bushbury, a village, a township, and a p.arish in Stafford-

shire. The village stands near the Stafford and Worcester
Canal, 3 miles N by E of Wolverhampton, and has a station

on the L. & N.W.R., and a post and money order office under
the name of Bushbury Lane (T.S.O.) under Wolverhampton,
which is the telegi-aph office. The township includes also

the hamlets of Moseley and Oxiey. Acreage, 3520
;
popula-

tion, 2252. The parish includes also the township of Essing-

ton
; population, 3G20. Moseley Court and OxIey Manor

House are the chief residences. At Moseley Old Hall, Charles

IL was concealed after the b.attle of Worcester. At Essington

are collieries and a brick and tile manufactoiy. The living

is a ricarage in the diocese of Lichfield; net value, £234
with residence. The church is very ancient, partly Norman,
and has an embattled tower with six bells, and an open
timber roof; the east window is of the Decorated period,

and in the chancel are sedilia and a piscina; there are an
ancient font, an ancient monument to Hugh de Bushbury,
and some later monuments. Essington h.as a chapel of ease,

and Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels. There is a
Primitive Methodist chapel at New Town.
Bushby, a hamlet and a township in Thumby parish,

Leicestershire, 4 miles E by S of Leicester. Acreage of

township, G79
;
population, 47.

Bushey, a village and a parish in Herts. The village

stands j of a mile E of the L. & N.W.R., near the river

Colne, Ij mile SE of Watford, has a station on the railway,

and a post, money order, and telegraph office under Wat-
ford, and was once a market-town. The parish includes

also Bushey Heath, which likewise has a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Watford, and is 3 miles from that

town. Acreage, 3218; population of the civil p.arisli, 5052; of

the ecclesiastical parish of Bushey, 1954, and of Bushey Heath,
1608. The living is a rectory; net value, £490 with residence.

The church is a structure of brick faced with flint and Bath
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stone, rebuilt in 1871. It has sever.al interesting memorials
and monuments. St Peters, Bushey-Heath, formerly a
clkapel of ease, h.ad a district assigned in 1889. The living

is a vicar.age, gross yearly value, £235. The church, an
edifice of brick, was erected In 1838. Both livings are in

the gift of a private patron, and in the diocese of St Albans.
There are also Baptist, Roman Catholic, Congregational, and
Primitive Methodist chiipels. Bushey Hall, asplendid mansion
of red brick, originally built at a cost of £150,000, was in

1882 converted into a hydro-therapeutic establishment.

The high grounds of Bushey Heath command an extensive

and beautiful view of the valley of the Thames. There are

ten well-endowed almshouses, and some small charities.

Bnshey-Grove, Bnshey-Mill, and Caldicot Hill are small
adjacent hamlets.

Bushey Heath. See Bushey.
Bushey Park. See Bushy Park.
Bush-Hill Park, a village in Enfield parish, Middlesex,

1^ mile S of Enfield. It has two post, money order, and
telegraph offices under Enfield, a station on the G.E.R., and
a chapel of ease dedicated to St Mark. Population included

In Enfield.

Bushley, a village and a parish in Worcestershire, on the

Severn, lA mile NNW of Tewkesbury, with a post office under
Tewkesbury, which is the money order and telegiaph office.

Acreage of p.arish, 1834; population, 30C. Pull Court,

the seat of the lord of the m.anor, is situated in an extensive

well-wooded park, which contains some fine cedars of Leba-
non

;
the mansion was rebuilt in 1835. The manor belonged

formerly to the Abbey of Tewkesbury, and in the reign of

James I. came into the possession of the Dowdeswell family,

in whose hands it has remained till the present day. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester

;
gross value,

£355. The church was rebuilt in 1843, the chancel being
erected by Sir Gilbert Scott in 18G5. It contains monu-
ments to the Dowdeswell family, among which is one to Wil-
liam Dowdeswell, who was Chancellor of the Exchequer in

17G5, and bears an epitaph from the pen of Edmund Burke
;

there is an ancient brass.

Bushmead, a seat on the north border of Beds, 5 miles
W of St Neots. A priory of Black canons was founded here

in the time of Henry II. by the Beauchamps, .and came at

the dissolution to Sir W. Gascolgne. Much of the conventual
buildings remains, but the front of the mansion is of modern
d.ate.

Bushwood, a township and a hamlet in Old Stratford

parish, Warwickshire, lOJ miles N of Stratford-on-Avon.
For ecclesiastical purposes Bushwood is united with Lapworth
parish. Acreage of township, 482

; population, 34.

Bushy Park, a royal park in Teddington parish, Middle-
sex, on the Thames adjacent to Hampton. It comprises
1110 acres, and includes all the enclosures belonging to

Hampton Court, except the Home P.irk. There are nine
avenues of chestnuts and limes, noted for beauty and magni-
ficence. A right of passage through it having been withheld
from the public, was recovered by the exertions of a humble
shoemaker named Timothy Beunet, a resident at Hampton-
wick. The house in it is a square brick structure, erected
by the Earl of Halifax, and much Improved by William IV.;
it was occupied occasionally by George IV., and much by
William IV. and his dow.ager queen. It is now used as the
residence of the ranger. There Is a station of Teddington and
Bushy Park on the L. & S.W.R.

Buslingthorpe, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2 miles NNW
of Wickenby station on the JI.S. & L.R., and 3 SW of Market
Rasen. Post town, Market Rasen, which is the money order
and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1407

;
population, 82. The

living is a rectory annexed to Faldingworth in the diocese of

Lincoln
;

joint net yearly value, £353, in the gift of a private

patron and the governors of the Charterhouse three to two
respectively. The church, originally a very ancient structure
in the Early English style, was rebuilt in 1835. It con-
tains a brass of 1310. The manor and lands belong to the
Charterhouse, London.

Buslingthorpe, an ecclesla-stical parish in Leeds, W. R.
Yorkshire, constituted in 1849. Post, money order, and tele-

graph office, Meanwood Road, Leeds. Population, 8533.
The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon

;
gross value,

£307 with residence.
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Bussage, an ecclesiastical parish formed in 1848 from

the parifsli of Bisley, Gloucestershire, 1^ mile N of Brims-

combe station on the G.W.R., and 4 SE of Stroud, under

which it has a post office ; money order and telegi'aph office,

Brimscombe. Population, 320. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; gross value, £127 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol.

The church is a handsome edifice, erected in 1848. There

is a reformatory for women.
Bussez, a hamlet in Weston-Zoyl.ind parish, Somerset-

shire, near Sedgemoor, 2 miles SE of Bridgewater station

on the G.W.R.

Bustabeck, a township in Castle-Sowerby parish, Cum-
berland, R miles SE of Hesket-Newmarket.

Bustleham. See Bisham.
Huston, High and Low, two townships in Warkworth

parish, Northumberland, on the N.E.R., between the Alne

and the Coquet rivers, 4i and 5j miles SE of Alnwick.

Area of Buston High, 721 acres
;
population, 81 ; of Buston

Low, 899 acres; population, 9G.

Busy-Gap, a pass through the hills on the SW border of

Northumberland, adjacent to the Roman Wall, 3 miles NW
of Haltwhistle. It used to be infested by moss-troopers.

Butcombe, a parish in Somersetshire, near the river Yeo,

5 miles from Sandford and Bauwell station on the G.W.R.,

and 8 NE of Axbridge. It b.as a post office under Wrington

(R.S.O.); money order and telegraph office, Blagdon. Acre-

age, 1110; popnUtion of the civil p.irish, 208; of the

ecclesiastical, 189. Butcombe Court is a chief residence.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells

;

net value, £127 with residence. The church is very ancient,

and in good condition. There are remains of a Friend's

burial-ground.

Bute Docks. See Cakdipf.
Buteland. See Broomhope.
Butleigh, a parish in Somersetshire, on the river Brue, 4

miles SSE of Glastonbury station on the Somerset and

Dorset railway. It includes the hamlet of Butleigh-Woot-
ton. It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under

Glastonbury. Acreage, 3928; population of the civil parish,

772; of the ecclesiastical with Baltonsborough, 1500. But-

leigh Hill is prominent, and blue lias is found. Sir George

Bowles's Hospital, a large stone building with residence for

surgeon, was erected in 1882 at a cost of about £5000.
The living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Baltonsborough, in the diocese of Bath and Wells
;
gross

value, £423 with residence. The church is decorated Eng-

lish, and was restored in 1851, and enlarged in 1859. A
Wesleyan chapel was built in 1883.

Butleigh-Wootton, a hamlet in Butleigh parish, Somer-

setshire, 3 miles NE of Somerton.

Butler's Court or Gregories, a seat J a mile N of

Beaconsfield in Bucks. It was the residence and death-place

of Burke, who purch.ased the estate—600 acres—for £22,000.

The house was burned down in 1813, but the shrubberies

remain, and bear the name of Burke's Grove.

Butler's Cross, a locality 2| miles SW of Wendover, in

Bucks, .among the Chiltern Hills" 7 miles SW of Tring, with

a post, money order, .and telegraph office.

Butler's Marston, a village and a parish in W.arwick-

shire, on an .affluent of the river Avon, 1 j mile SW of Kine-

ton. Post town, Kineton, under Warwick. Acreage of

parish, 1777; population, 230. There are two tumuli in

the villiige. The living is a vicar.age in the diocese of Wor-
cester; net v.alue, £170. Patron, Christ Chureh, Oxford.

The church is Norman, and was restored in 1872; it con-

tains an old carved oak puplit, and brasses to the Woodward
family, who were in possession of the manor for many
generations. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Butley, a village and a township in Prestbury parish,

Cheshire, adjacent to Prestbury station on the L. & N.W.R.,

3i miles N of Macclesfield, which is the post town ; money

order and telegraph office, Prestbury. Acreage of township,

1811 ;
popuhation, 523. Butley Hall and Bonis Hall are the

chief residences. Some of the inh.abitants are silk weavers.

Roman remains have been found. Newton, who wrote a

history of the Saracens, was a native.

Butley, a parish in Suffolk, on a sea-creek of its own

name, 3 miles W of Orford, and 6 E from Meltou station
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on the G.E.R. It has a post office under Wickham-Markef
; ^

money order and telegraph office, Tunst.all. Acreage, 1973
of hand and GG of water, tidal water, and foreshore ; popula-

tion of the civil parish, 337 ; of the ecclesiastical, with

Capel, 520. A priory of Black canons was founded here in

1171 by Ranulph de Glanville, and given at the dissolution

to the Duke of Norfolk and William Forth. Ruins .and frag-

ments of the abbey occupy nearly 12 acres, and part of the

gatehouse has been fitted up as a residence for the vicar.

The living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Capel, in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £140 with resi-

dence. Patron, Lord Rendlesham. The church is a building

of stone in the Early English style, and there is a Wesleyan

place of worship.

Buts Ash, a hamlet in Fawley parish, Hants, 4 miles from

Southampton.

Butser Hill, a hill 3 miles SW of Petersfield, in Hants.

It forms the western termination of the South Downs, has

an altitude of 917 feet, and commands a magnificent view.

Butsfield, a scattered village in Satley pai'ish, Durh.am,

on Watling Street, adjacent to the Weardale Extension rail-

way, 5J miles NNE of Wolsingham. Post town, Satley
;

money order and telegr.aph office, Lanchester. Knitsle)', 3

miles distant, is the railway station.

Butter-Bump, a hamlet in Willoughby parish, Lincoln-

shire, 3J miles S of Alford.

Butterby, a locality on the river Wear, in Sunderland

Bridge township, Crosdale parish, 3 miles S by E of Durham.
It was formerly called Beantrove, and belonged then to the

Lumleys and the Chaytors. It has salt .and sulphur springs.

Shiucliflf, 1 mile distant, is the railway station.

Butter-Crambe, a village and a township in Bossall

parish, in the N. R. Yorkshire, on the river Derwent, under

Aldby Park Camp, 3 miles E of Sand-Hutton. Post town,

York ; money order and telegraph office, Stamford Bridge.

Acreage of township, 2691; population, 169. It forms a

^'icarage with Bossall in the diocese of York; joint net

value, £496.

Butterknowle, a village in the parish of Lynesack and

Softley, Durham. It has a post, money order, and telegraph

office (R.S.O.) West Auckland, on the N.K.R., is the rail-

w.ay station. There is a colliery in the neighbourhood.

Butterlaw, a township in Newburn p.arish, Northumber-

land, 5 miles W by N of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, which is the

post, money order, and telegraph office.

Butterleigh, a parish in Devonshire, near the river Exe, 2h
miles S by E of Tiverton, and 4 W by N of Collumpton rail-

way station. Post town, Collumpton. Acreage, 485 ;
popu-

lation, 115. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter

;

net value, £220 with residence. The church is small and

phain. Date of dedication by Bishop Stapeldon, 1319. There

was a much earlier church.

Butterley, a hamlet in Ripley township, Derbyshire, is a

seat of ironworks, 2^ miles S of Alfretou. It has a post

office under Derby ; money order .and telegraph office, Ripley.

The works were begun in 1792, and lie amid a rich tract of

coal and lime ; they soon began to employ about 1500 men,

and to make magnificent castings ; and they possess ready

means of transport by railway and canal, being close to the

Cromford Can.al, and having a branch line from Codnor Park

station.

Butterley, a hamlet formerly in Edwin-Ralph parish, but

now attached to that of Wiicton, Herefordshire, 3h miles NE
by N of Bromyard.

Butterlip-Howe, a picturesque wooded knoll at the head

of Grasmere Lake, in Westmoreland. It commands a charm-

ing view.

Buttermere, a village, a township, a chapelry, and a lake

in Brigham parish, Cumberland. The village stands about

midway between Buttermere Lake and Crummock Water, 8.J

miles SW of Keswick railw.ay station, and 10 SSE of Cocker-

mouth, and consists of only a church, two good inns, and a

few scattered houses. The church is a neat building on the

site of a previous one, which was said to be the smallest in

England, .and one of the inns supplies boats for the neigh-

bouring lakes, and is notable for the pathetic story of " Mary
of Buttermere." The chapelry includes the village, which

has a post office under Cockermouth ; money order ofEce,

High Lorton ; telegraph office, Portinsc.ale. Acreage of the
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township, 6851; population, 07 ; of tlie chapelry, 121. The
general surface is a grand vale, engirt with mountains, and
much occupied with lakes. A steep mountain pass, called

Buttermere-Haws, goes from the village to an elevation of
ahout IBOO feet, on the road to Keswick. Blue slate is

quarried. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle;
net value, i:73 with residence. Patron, the Earl of Lonsdale.
The lake extends from the head of the vale to within a mile
of Crummock Water, is IJ mile long, | of a mile broad, and
90 feet deep, and has a surface elevation of 247 feet above
the level of the sea. Its face looks gloomy, but its skirts are
magnificent, being immediately overhung by Honister Crag,
with a precipitous front about 1500 feet high, and by the
Hay-Stacks, High-Crag, High-Stile, Red-Pike, Buttermere-
Moss, and Great-Eobinson Mountains.
Buttermere, a parish in Wilts, 6 miles S of Hungerford

railway station. Post town, Hungerford, which is the tele-
graph office; money order office, Shalbourne. Acreage, 1502;
population, 138. The living is a rectory in the diocese of
Salisbury; net value, £155 with residence. Patron, the
Bishop of Oxford.

Buttershaw, an ecclesiastical parish, North Bierley town-
ship, Bradford parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire. It was con-
stituted in 1842, and has a post and money order office under
Bradford

; telegraph office, Wibsey. Population, 4149. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ripon

;
gross value,

£280 with residence. The church was built in 1838, and a
handsome Congregational chapel w.as built in 18G1.

Butterthwaite, a hamlet in Ecclesfield township and
parish, in the W. R. Yorkshire, oi miles N of Sheffield.

Butterton, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical
parish in i^Iaj-field civil parish, Staffordshire, 5 miles S of
Longuor, and 8 E of Leek, which is the post town ; money
order office, Wetton ; telegi-aph office, H.ai-tington. Acreage of
township, 1499

; population, 246. In the neighbourhood are
sevenal ancient barrows. The living is a vicarage in the dio-
cese of Lichfield. The church was rebuilt in 1872, and has an
embattled tower with a spire. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Butterton, a township in Trentham parish, and an ecclesi-
astical parish in the civil parishes of Trenth.am, Swynnerton,
and Stoke-upon-Trent, Staffordshire. The township lies ad-
jacent to the Grand Trunk Canal, 2 miles S of Newcastle-
under-Lyme, and includes the hamlet of Acton. Acreage
of the township, 1499; population, 246; of the ecclesiastical
parish, 417. Butterton Hall is the seat of the Pilkingtons.
The ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1845, and
includes the township of Seabridge, and its post town
is Newcastle-nnder-Lyme. The living is a vicarage in
the diocese of Lichfield; net value, £137. The church
was erected in 184.5.

Butterton Hill, a hill between South Brent and Ivy-
Bridge, in Devon. Its altitude is 1203 feet.

Butterwiok, a township in Sedgefield parish, Durham,
near the river Skern, 2 miles E by N of Sedgefield, which is

the post town and the railway station. Acreage, 1543 •

population, 51.
'

Butterwiok, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the coast, near
Boston Deeps, 4J miles E of Boston railway station. It in-
cludes an allotment in the East Fen, and has a post office
under Boston, which is the money order and telegraph office.
Area, 1224 acres of land and 19 of water; population, 473.
The living is a vicarage annexed to the vicarage of Frieston,
in the diocese of Lincoln

;
joint net yearly value, £266 witli

residence. The chnrch has an Eariy English octagonal font,
and a rood turret. It was restored in 1880. There are
Wesleyan and United Free Church Methodist chapels. Church
of England Home for the Reclamation of Penitent Females,
and an endowed school, founded iu 1665.

Butterwiok, a township and a small parish, in the E. R.
Y'orkshire, 2^ miles SSE of Sherbnrn station on the N.E.R.
Post town, Scarborough, under York. Acreage, 1781

; popu-
lation, 92. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York;
gross value, £63 with residence. Patron, the Rector of Fox-
holes. The church has an effigy of a knight in armour.

Butterwiok, a toivnship in Barton-le-Street parish, in
the N. R. Yorkshire, on the river Rye, 7 miles NW of New
Malton. Post town, Malton. Acreage, 661; population,
69. There is a chapel of ease, erected in 1858 and altered
in 1889. Lord Headley is lord of the manor.
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Butterwiok, East, a village and a township in Bottesford
and Messingham parishes, Lincolnshire, on the river Trent,
3 miles from Althorpe station on the M.S. & L.R. Post
town, Brigg. Acreage of township, 1034

;
population, 274.

There are a mission church, erected in 1884, and Baptist,
Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Butterwiok, West, with ICelfield, a village, a township,
and a parish in Lincolnshire, on the river Trent, 3 miles S
of Althorpe station on the M.S. & L.R. The village has a
ferry to East Butterwiok, and the Hull and Gainsborough
steam packets call daily. It has a post and money order office

imder Doncaster; telegraph office, Burringham. Acreage
of the civil parish, 2394

;
population, 663 ; of the ecclesi-

astical, 667. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of
Lincoln ; net yearly value, £279 with residence. Patron,
the Vicar of Owston. The church was built in 1841. There
are General Baptist, Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan
Methodist chapels.

Butterworth, a township in Rochdale parish, Lancashire.
It hes on the verge of the county, near the Manchester and
Leeds railway, 2 miles E of Rochdale, and includes the ham-
lets of Clegg, Wildhouse, Belfield, Lowhouse, Hanging Lees,
and Roughbank. Post town, Rochdale. Acreage, 7766;
population. 9438. There are cotton and woollen factories,

and two collieries. There are now two parishes—St James",
Milurow, and St Thomas', Newhey; the latter church was
rebuilt in 1876. There are six dissenting chapels in the
township, and three railway st.ations.

Buttington, a village and a parish in Montgomeryshire,
on Offii's Dyke and the river Severn, 2 miles NE of Welsh-
pool. There is a station on the Shrewsbury, Welshpool, and
Cambrian railways. The parish includes the townships of
Cletterwood, Hope, and Trewern, and its post town is Welsh-
pool. Acreage, 5266; population, 674. A sharp victory
was obtained here in 894 by the Saxons over the Danes, and
nearly the last of the sanguinary struggles of the Welsh for
national independence was made here. Several ancient en-
trenchments are on the hills, and a vast quantity of human
bones was found in digging for a foundation. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value, £207 with
residence. Patron, the Vicar of Welshpool. The church is

Early English, and contains a cmious font, supposed to be
the capital of a pillar, and taken from the abbey of Strata
Marcella. There is a curious window in the west end made
up of fragments of old glass, and containing a shield of the
arms of Sutton, Baron Dudley.

Button-Hill, a hamlet in Ecclesall-Bieriow township,
Sheffield parish, W. E. Yorkshire, 4J miles SW of Sheffield.

Buttsbury, a parish in Essex, on the river Wid, 3 miles
SE of Ingat«stone station on the G.E.R., and 6J SSW of
Chelmsford. Post town, Ingatestone, which is the telegraph
office; money order office, Stock. Acreage, 2113

;
popula-

tion, 507. The living is a vicarage, annexed to the rectory
of Ingatestone, in the diocese of St Albans. The chnrch is

a small but ancient building of brick and plaster iu the Per-
pendicular style.

Buxbury, an eminence projecting from the Downs, 11
miles SW of Salisbury, in Wilts.

Buxey-Sand, a shoal at the month of the river Crouch,
in Essex.

Buxhall, a village and a parish in Suffolk, on the rivers
Ged and Orwell, 3J miles WSW of Stowmarket station ou
the G.E.R., with a post office under Stowmarket, which is

the telegraph office ; money order office, Great Finborough.
Acreage of p.arish, 2560 ; population, 424. The living is a
rectory in the diocese of Norwich

;
gross yearly value, £626

with residence. The church is a very ancient edifice of flint

in the Norman style. There are a Primitive Methodist
ch.apel and a few small charities.

Buxlow, a hamlet in Knodishall parish, Sufiblk, 2i miles
SE of Saxmundham.

Buxted, .a village and a parish in Sussex, on the L.B.&
S.C.R., 44 miles from London. There is a post, money order,
and telegraph office under Uckfield. Acreage of the civil

parish, 8901
;
population, 2039 ; of the ecclesiastical, St Mar-

garet, 485, and St Mary, 540. The parishes of High-Hurst
Wood, St Mary's, a portion of Iladlow Down, and (iu the
12th century) Uckfield have all been formed from the parish
of Buxted. Busted Park is the property of Viscount Port-
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man. Hog House is a structure of 1581, and was the seat

of the Hogges. One of this family, Ralph Hogge, in 1543,

made the first cast-iron cannon ever made in England;

and his name, altered into Huggett, is still common among
the Sussex blacksmiths. The living (St Margaret's) is a

rectory in the diocese of Chichester; net value, £486 with

residence. Patron, the Archbishop of Canterbury. The

church is chiefly Early English, in good condition; has a low

shingled spire, and contains a brass of 1375. St Mary's is a

vicarage; gross value, £150 with residence. High-Hurst

Wood (Trinity) is also in the gift of the Archbishop ; value,

£300 with residence. Wotton the linguist, and the two

Clarkes, grandfather and father of Clarke the traveller, were

rectors.

Buxton, a smiill town, a township, and a chapelry, in

Derbyshire. The town stands in a valley, at an elevation

of 1000 feet above the level of the sea, almost environed

by lofty hills, near the source of the river Wye, .and is the

terminus of a branch-line from the Manchester and Maccles-

field railway, also the terminus of tlie Ambergate .Junction

branch of the Midl.and railway, 12 miles E of Macclesfield,

and 12 WNW of Bakewell. It was formerly called Bade-

stanes, Bawkestanes, and Buckstones. It possesses great

medicinal springs, and has long been famed for them. It

seems to have been known to the Druids, and it cer-

tainly was known to the Romans. Cromlechs and Druidical

circles occur on the heights in its neighbourhood; three

Roman roads, with branches, went from it ; Roman coins

and tiles have been fomid here ; a Roman station, with

baths, is believed by most antiquaries to have been on its

site ; Saxon barrows, in which interesting relics h.ave been

found, are near it ; and shrines, with baths, images, and offer-

ings made by devotees resorting to it for health, were here

for ages preceding the Reformation. The shrines and baths

were destroyed by an emissary of Henry VIII., but the latter

were speedily restored. Mary Queen of Scots, while in the

custody of the Earl of Shrewsbury, came hither four times

for health ; Lord Burleigh and the Duke of Sussex came in

1577 and 1580 ; and other personages of note soon followed,

giving the place a permanent celebrity. The third Earl of

Devonshire, in 1070, enlarged a house which had been built

for Queen Mary, which is now known as the Old Hall Hotel.

Buxton was then a mere hamlet, but it thence grew steadily

to be first a village and then a town. A pile of buildings,

called the Crescent, was erected by the Duke of Devonshire

in 1780, at a cost of £120,000. This has a frontage of

31G feet, consisting of two wings 58 feet each, and an inter-

mediate curve of 200 feet; is three storeys high, and includes

two hotels and several shops. The basement storey forms

an arcade ; the upper part is adorned with Doric pilasters,

entablature, and balustrade, and the ground in front is laid

out in beautiful terraces. The Devonshire Hospital, a chari-

table institution, is covered with a dome said to be the largest

in the world ; the upper storeys are used as wards for invalids.

All old buildings near the Crescent have disappeared, and

have been replaced with large residences and shops, now called

Eagle Parade, and one of the finest places in the town.

The waters of Buxton have been much recommended by

eminent physicians, and warmly sung by sever.al poets.

They rise in springs both tepid and cold, within 12 inches of

each other, and are clear, and of a pale blue colour. This

mineral water is found to be specially beneficial in cases of

rheumatism, or neiTOUs affections, such as neuralgia, sciatica,

and tic-doloreux. The public baths are very complete, and

comprise every variety of bath fitted up with every conveni-

ence. An analysis of them by Lord Playfair shows per gallon,

0-66G gi-ain of silica, 0-24 of oxide of iron and alumina, 7-773 of

carbonate of lime, 2-323 of sulphate of lime, 4-543 of car-

bonate of magnesia, 0-114 of chloride of magnesium, 2-42 of

chloride of sodium, 2-5 of chloride of potassium, a trace of

fluorine, and a trace of phosphoric acid, and is .surcharged

with nitrogen gas. Two elegant buildings, covered and lighted

with roofs of glass, adjoin the ends of the Crescent, the one

for hot baths, the other for natural baths ; and a new erection,

in room of an old one, called St Anne's Well, is in front of the

Crescent, for the use of drinkers. The town can accom-

modate about 12,000 visitors at a time, and is usually well

filled during the season (May till October). It lias a head post

office, two railway stations, several good hotels, a town-hall
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public free library, and court-house erected in 1888-89 on the

site of the old market-hall, a police station, a Liberal club, and
five annual fairs ; is a seat of petty sessions, and publishes

three weekly newspapers. A trade is can-ied on in the manu-
facture and sale of ornaments in alabaster and other minerals.

Important sewage works were constructed in 1885-8G. There

are four churches: one is old, and was restored in 1885;
another, a structure of 1812, in the Tuscan style, with a neat

tower ; another, which serves as a chapel of ease to the parish

chui-ch, was erected about 1870 ; and a fourth, erected in

1883. There are Congregational, Wesleyan, Primitive Metho-
dist, and Unitarian chapels, also Roman Catholic and Catholic

Apostolic churches; a school, founded in 1G75, with increasing

income from endowment; the Devonshire Hospital and Bath

Charity for invalids, maintained by subscription ; a sanatorium

and several large hydropathic establishments. W.alks, rides,

and natural curiosities, of an interesting character, are in the

neighbourhood. Public gardens were formed in 1871 by the

Buxton Improvement Company, Limited, out of 12 acres of

land given by the Duke of Devonshire, .and were enlarged in

1878 and 1884, and now include a large lake. The river

Wye i-uns through the gardens and forms small lakelets and
artificial cascades. A pavilion of iron and glass has been

erected, to which important additions have recently been made,

providing ample accommodation for concerts, balls, dramatic

performances, with a large covered promenade. There are

.also reading and news-rooms, a skating rink, and lawn tennis

grounds. A further piece of land, about 3^ acres in extent,

adjoining tlie g.ardens, was presented to the town by the Duke
of Devonshire in 1890. The Duke's Drive is a circuit of

about 2 miles, through Ashwood-dale. A splendid walk goes

by Topley Pike, along and across the Wye, and over cliffs to

Chee Tor. This is a mass of rocks, 300 feet high, covered

lightly with foliage and presenting a delightful view. Poole's

Hole, about a mile from the town, is a cavern, with stalactites

and stalagmites in grotesque forms .and of fantastic names,

one of them tr.aditionally associated with a visit of Mary
Queen of Scots. Diamond Hill, not far from Poole's Hole,

affords beautiful specimens of quartz crystal, and commands
a brilliant view. Other caverns, vales, and mountains of

fascinating character, in fact all the attractions of the Derby

Peak and of some tracts beyond, are within easy distance.

Some of the railway works also, on the lines leading to the

town and near it—tunnels, viaducts, and cuttings—are very

striking. Area of the urban sanitary district, which includes

part of Buxton, Hartington, Upper Quarter, Fairfield, and

Fernilee, 1189 acres; population, 7540; area of the town-

ship, 1823 acres
;

population, 4668
;

population of the

ecclesiastical parish, 4473.

The manor belongs to the Duke of Devonshire. The living

of the parish church is a vicarage in the diocese of South-

well; gi-oss value, £430 with residence. Patron, the Duke
of Devonshire.

Buxton, a village and a parish in Norfolk. The village

stands on the river Bure, 4 miles SSE of Aylsham, and 8 N
of Norwich, under which it has a post, money order, and

telegi-aph office, and a st.ation called Buxton-Lamas on the

G.E.R. A Roman station is supposed to have been here,

and Roman urns and other Roman relics have been found.

The parish comprises 1316 acres; population of the civil

parish, 546 ; of the ecclesiastical, with Oxnead, C16. The
living is a vicarage, united with the rectory of Oxnead, in

the diocese of Norwich
;

joint net yearly value, £350 with

residence. The church is ancient, has a square tower, and

was restored in 1881-82. There are a Baptist and a Wes-
leyan chapel, and some useful charities.

Bwlch, a Celtic name signifying a pass, defile, gap, or

hollow.

Bwlch, a pass and a small village in the E of Brecon-

shire, 2i miles SE of Talybont station on the Brecon and

Merthyr railway, and 6 NW of Crickhowell, on the road to

Brecon. The pass is 800 feet high, and is the highest point

of the road from Brecon to Abergavenny, crossing here the

Bucklaud Mountain. It commands a fine view. The village

is straggling, and has a post and money order office (R.S.O.);

telegraph office, Talybont,

Bwlch-Gwyn, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in

Wrexham parish, partly in Denbighshire and partly in Flint-

shii-e, 3 miles NW of Adwy'r Clawdd, and 5 N\V of Wrex-
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ham, under which it has a post and money order office;

telegraph office, Adwy'r Clawdd. Population, 1083. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph

;
gross value,

£192 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of St Asaph. In

the vicinity are lead mines of great antiquity.,

Bwlch-Oerddrws, a grand mount.ain pass, about 1200

feet high, on the road from Dolgelly to Dinas-Mawddwy, in

Merionethshire. The name means Gold Door Pass.

Bwlch-Trewyn, a township in Cwmyoy parish, Mon-
mouthshire, on the river Monnow, 5j miles N of Abergavenny.

Acreage, 836 ;
population, 108.

Bwlch-Tyddiad, a pass near Rhinog-Fawr, in Merioneth-

shire, about 7^ miles W of Llanbedr. This pass is remai'k-

able for the Roman steps, a p.avement of slabs of slate or

flagstone, carried with gi'eat regularity to the veiy top of the

pass; it is uncertain whether this work is of British or

Roman origin.

Bwlch-y-Cibau, an ecclesiastical parish constituted in

1865 out of the pai'ishes of Llanfechan, Llanfyllin, Llansiiint-

ffraid, and Sleifod, Montgomeryshhe, 3 miles from LlanfylUn

station on the Cambrian railw.ay, and half a mile distant from

Bryngwyn station, at whicli all passenger trains stop on

notice being given to the guard. It has a post office under
Oswestry; money order and telegraph office, Llanfyllin.

Population, 394. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

St Asaph ; net value, £185 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of St Asaph. The chnrch was built in 1864, and is

in the Early English style.

Bwlch-y-Ddeufaen, a pass in Carnarvonshu-e, about 4

miles SW of Aber. It is 1400 feet high, and forms part of

a Roman road from Aber to Conovium (Caerhun). Tlie

summit is marked by a large upright stone about 8 feet

high; and a prostrate stone a little distance off is said to be

the second of the two stones from which the pass derives

its name. Near the pass was found in 1883 a Roman mile-

stone marking the eighth mile from Conovium.

Bwlch-y-Groes, a mountain pass on the mutual border of

Merionethshire .and Jlontgomeryshire, 8 miles S of Bala, on

the road to Dinas-Mawddwy. It is about 1950 feet higli,

and the name, which signifies the " the pass of the cross,"

was given to it on account of a rude crucifix having been

placed on its summit to stimulate the faith and courage of

travellers.

Bychton, a township in Whitford parish, Flintshire, 2

miles NW of Holywell.

Byers-Green, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical

parish in Durham. The township lies on the river Wear,

3| miles NNE of Bishop-Auckland, and has a station on

the N.E.R., and a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Spennymoor. Acreage, 1069
;
population, 2346 ; of

the ecclesiastical parish, 3505. The parish was constituted in

1845, and embraces the township of Newfield, the larger

part of that of Binchester, and nearly all that of Byers-

Green. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Durham

;

net value, £330 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Durham. There are two Methodist chapels, a church insti-

tute, a library, and reading-rooms. The inhabitants ai'e

almost wholly employed in coal mining.

Byfield, a Large village and a parish in Northamptonshhe,
with a station on the East and West Junction railway,

7^ miles SW by S of Daventry, and a post, money order,

and telegraph office (R.S.O.) Acreage of the civil parish,

2760 ; population, 737 ; of the ecclesiastical, 749. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net value, £440
with residence, in the gift of Corpus Christi CoUege, Oxford.

The church is an ancient structm'e of stone in the Decorated

style, dating from about 1360. There are Congregational

and Primitive Methodist chapels, and some small charities,

Byfleet, a village and a parish in Surrey, on the L. &
S.W.R., 22 miles from London. The village stands near

the river Wey and the -Junction Can.al, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Weybridge. It is a cm-i-

ons picturesque place, and includes several old mansions.

Acreage of parish, 2075; population, 1384. The manor
belonged anciently to the Crown, was given by Edward II. to

Piers Gaveston, came again to the Crown, and was settled by
James I. on Anne of Denmark. Byfleet Park, now a farm-
house, is said to have been built by the Black Prince, and
both it and Dorney House in the village are alleged to have
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been the nursing place of Henry VIII. A mansion was
founded on the manor by Anne of Denm-ark, and completed

by Sir James Fullerton. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Winchester
;
gross value, £296 with residence. Patron,

the Lord Chancellor. The church, built early in the 14th
century, was restored and enlarged in the present century.

Stephen Duck, the poetical protege of Queen Caroline, and
Joseph Spence, the author of " Polymetis," were rectors.

St John's Mission Church is a small iron structure built in

1872. There is a Wesleyan chapel. The St Nicholas Home
for crippled " waifs and str.ays " was opened in 1893. There

is an extensive brewery, and also a rose-water and essential-

oil distillery.

Byford, a paxish in Herefordshire, on the river Wye, and
the road from Hereford to Brecon, 3 miles S of Moorhampton
station on the M.R., 6 S of Weobley,and 7| WNW of Here-
ford, which is the post town ; money order and telegraph

office, Staunton-on-Wye. Acreage, 942; population of the

civil parish, 185. The living is a rectory, united with the

vicarage of Mansell Gamage, in the diocese of Hereford ; net

value of Byford, £168 with residence. Population of the

ecclesiastical district, 310. The chm'ch is ancient, and was
restored in 1883 ; it is a fine building of the Early English

and Decorated periods, and consists of chancel, nave, south

transept, south aisle, and an embattled tower.

Bygrave, a parish in Herts, near Icknield Street and
Metlcy Hill, 2^ miles NE of Baldock station on the G.N.R.
Post town, Baldock, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 1794; population of the civil parish, 99 ; of

the ecclesiastical, 195. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of St Albans ; net yearly value, £237 with residence, in the

gift of the Marquess of Salisbury, K.G. The chmch is an

ancient edifice dating from the 14th century.

Byker, a township and an ecclesiastical parish, in New-
castle-upon-Tyne, Northumberland. The township lies on
the river Tyne, near the line of the Roman wall, Ij mile E
of Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Acreage, 879

;
population, 32,332.

See Ni':'\vcASTLt:-urox-TYNE.

Byland, Old, a village, a township, and a parish in

the N. R. Yorkshire, on the river Rye, 4i miles NW of

Helmsley station on the N.E.R. Post town, Helmsley (R.S.O.)

Acreage of township, 2737
;
population, 149. A Cistercian

Abbey, an offshoot from Furness, was founded here in 1143 by
Roger de IMowbray, but was removed four years afterwards to

Byland Abbey, now Byland-with-Wass. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of York; value, £65. The church is old,

having been built in 1 100. There is also a Wesleyan chapel.

Byland-with-Wass (formerly Byland Abbey}, a town-
ship in Coxwold parish, in the N. R. Yorkshire, \^ mile

from Coxwold station on the N.E.R., and 8^ miles ESE of

Tliirsk. Acreage, 2568 ;
population, 162. A Cistercian

Abbey was removed hither in 1147 from Old Byland, and
given at the dissolution to Sir William Pykering. The west
front, one end of the transept, pai-t of the aisles, and a frag-

ment of the central tower still stand, and are m transitional

Norman. Edward II. while dining here with a small retinue

in 1322 was sm-prised by a body of Scots, and had a narrow
escape.

Bylaugh, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Wensum, 3:^

miles ESE of Elmham station on the G.E.K., and H S of

Foulsham. Post town. East Dereham, which is the tele-

graph office ; money order office, Sw<anton Morley. Acreage,

1590; population, 115. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Norwich
;
gross yearly value, £70. The church

is a sm.all building of flint with stone dressings in the Per-
pendicular style. Bylaugh Park in this parish is a hand-
some mansion, designed by Sir Charles Barry.

Bylchan, an ecclesiastical parish in Henllanand Llansannan
parishes, Denbij;hshire, 5 miles \v of Denbigh. It was con-
stituted in 1855, and it has a post office under Denbigh;
money order and telegi'aph office, Denbigh. Population, 467.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of St Asaph ; net value,

£260 with residence. Patron, alternately the Crown and
the Bishop. There are three lakes wholly or partly in the

parish, which are much visited during the summer.
Byley-cum-Yatehouse, a township in Cheshire, situ-

ated 2 miles N of Middlewich. Acreage, 1767; population,

203. It together with the townships of Stublacb, Leese,

part of Cranage, and part of Rudbeath lordship, forms part
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of the ecclesiastical parish of Byley-cum-Leese. Population

of ecclesiastical parish, 480. The benefice is a rectory in the

diocese of Chester; value, £134. Patron, Vicar of Middlewich.

The church was erected in 1846. Post town, Middlewich.

BjTiea, a railway station with telegraph in Camiarthen-
sliire, on the Llanelly, Llandilo, and Llandovery branch of

tlie G.W.R., 2 miles E of Llanelly.

Bynweston. See Binwestox.
Bjn^am-cmn-Sutton, a township in Brotherton parish,

in the \\^ R. Yorkshire, on the river Aire, H mile from

Burton-Salmon station on the N.E.R. By an order of the

West Riding of Yorkshire County Council, which came into

operation in 1891, the civil parishes of Bj'ram-cum-Poole and

Sutton were amalgamated under the name of Byram-cum-
Sutton. Acreage, 1455; population, 105. Byrome Hall is

the seat of the Ramsden family, who are lords of the manor
and principal landowners.

Bymess, formerly a chapelry in Elsdon parish, but made
a separate parish in 1883, Northumberland, on the river

Reed, among the Cheviots, 10 miles NW of Otterburn, and

13 from Bellingham station on the N.E.R. The name is

supposed to be derived from the Acglo-Sason, meaning
"burial of ashes." Post town, Otterburn (R.S.O.), under

Newcastle-on-Tyne. Population, 173. The living is a rec-

tory in the diocese of Newcastle
;

gross value, £120 with

residence. The church was built in 1786 and restored in

1884.

Bystock, a hamlet in Colyton-Rawleigh parish, Devon-

shire, 2 miles W of Sidmouth.

Bytham-Castle, a village and a parish in Lincolnshire.

The village stands on the river Glen, 2 miles W by N of

Little Bytham railway station on the G.N.R., and 5 S of

Corby, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Grantham. Area of parish, 4080 acres
;
population,

815. The manor was given by William the Conqueror to his

brother-in-law Odo, Earl of Albemarle, and passed to the

Colvilles. An ancient castle stood on it, and was burned by

Edward IIL, and afterwards rebuilt. The earthworks of

this are still in a tolerable state of preservation. The living

is a discharged vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly

value, £220 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop and

Dean and Chapter of Lincoln alternately. The church,

which stands on an eminence, is an ancient cruciform build-

ing of stone, with a fine E window, and a Norman doorway

ornamented with beakheads. There is also a Wesleyan

chapel, which was enlarged in 1866.

Bytham, Little, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the river

Glen and the G.N.R., 5 miles S by E of Corby. It has a

station on the railway, and a post and money order oflBce

imder Grantham ; telegraph office, the railway station. Acre-

age, 1233
;

population, 482. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln; net yearly value, £103 with residence.

Patron, alternately the Bishop of Lmcoln and the Dean

and Chapter of Lincoln. The church is an edifice of stone

in mixed styles, with two good Norman doors. The clay

of this place was worked by the Romans, and it is still used

extensively for the manufacture of a peculiarly hard kind of

brick. The scenery around the village is very pleasant.
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Bythorn, a parish in Huntingdonshire, on the verge of

the county, 3 miles NE from Raunds station on the M.R.,

4^ ESE of Thrapston, and 7 NW by N of Kimbolton. It

has a post office under Thrapston ; money order office. Cat-

worth; telegraph office, Raunds (R.S.) Acreage, 1570;
population, 185. The living is a perpetual curacy annexed
with that of Old Weston to the rectory of Brington, in the

diocese of Ely
;

joint net yearly value, £141 with residence,

in the gift of Clare College, Cambridge. The church is

Early English.

Byton, a parish in Herefordshire, on the river Lugg, near

Shobdonhill Wood, 4 miles NNW of Pembridge station on the

G.W.R., and 4 E of Presteign, which is the post town
(R.S.O.); telegraph office, Shobdon. Acreage, 950; popu-

lation, 132. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Here-

ford ; net value, £98. Patron, the Lord Chancellor. The
church was built in 1860, and is a cruciform structm'e in the

Early English style. The previous church was burned.

There is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Bywell, a village in the townships of Bywell-St-Andrew
and Bywell-St-Peter, Northumberland, on the river Tyne,

adjacent to Stocksfield railway station, 7j miles E of Hex-
ham, and contains the two ancient parish churches of St

Andrew and St Peter. A weir with a fall of about 10 feet

goes across the river below ; and a bridge, built at the cost of

£17,000, spans the river. A Roman bridge crossed the

Tyue here. Bywell Hall, a seat of the Beaumont family, and
the ruins of an ancient castle of the Baliols and Nevilles,

built in the 15th century, are in the vicinity. The sm'-

rounding manor belonged to the Baliols, passed to the Ne-
villes and the Fenwicks, and belongs now to the Beaumont
family.

Bywell-St-Andrew, a township and a parish in Nor-
thumberland. The township includes part of Bywell village.

The parish includes also the townships of Stocksfield Hall,

Riding, Bearl, Styford, and Broomhaugh, lies along the river

Tyne and the Newcastle and Carlisle railway, and contains

the railway station of Riding Mill. Post town and money
order and telegraph office. Riding Mill. Acreage of the

township, 1598 of land and 48 of water; population, 203;

of the ecclesiastical parish, with Riding Mills, 673. The
Beaumont family are lords of the manor and principal

landowners. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of New-
castle ; net value, £120 with residence. The church has a

lofty westprn tower, and was restored in 1858 and enlarged

in 1870.

Byweil-St-Peter, a township and a parish in Northum-
berland. The township includes part of Bywell village. The
parish includes also the townships of East Acomb, westward

to Broomley, and extends southward to the West Auck-
land turnpike road. Post town, Stocksfield (R.S.O., Nor-

thumberland). Population of the ecclesiastical parish, 674.

j\Iuch of the land in the south is high and poor. The hving

is a vicarage in the diocese of Newcastle ; net value, £280
with residence. Patron, the Aixhdeacon of Northumberland.

The chm'ch has a low squai'e tower of the 14th century,

evidently added and constructed with a view to warlike de-

fence. It was thoroughly restored in 1873.
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Cabillo, a village in Ystradgynlais parish, Breconstire, 9

miles N of Neath.

Caboum, a parish in Lincolnshire, lA mile ENE of Caistor,

and 4J miles ENE of Moortown station on the M.S. & L.E.

Post town, Caistor, which is the money order and telegi'aph

office. Acreage, 2927 ;
population, 139. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Lincoln ;
gross yearly value, £190 with

residence. Patron, the Earl of Yarborough. The church,

an Early Norman building of stone, was restored and im-

proved in 1872.

Cabum Hount, .an eminence 2 miles ESE of Lewes, in

Susses, isolated by a pass from the South Downs, overhang-

ing the railway, commanding a hne view, and crowned by an

ancient round camp,

Cabus or Cabas, a township in C-u'stang parish, Lanca-

shire, on the river Wyre and the Lancaster Canal, 2 miles N
of Garstang railway station. Post town, Garstang (R.S.O.),

which is the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage,

1388; population, 179. There are large steam tile works.

Cad, The, a stream of Devonshu'e, rising in the centre of

Dartmoor Forest, and i-unning 10 miles south-south-westward

to the Plym at Shaugh village, 8j miles NNE of Plymouth.

It is properly the Plym, being longer than the headstrc.am

bearing that name. Its vale is a wild glen, replete with

character, overhung by cliiFs and rocky hills, and flanked in

parts with torrents of fallen masses of granite.

Cadbury, a parish in Devonshire, 2?^ miles from Thorver-

ton and C'adeleigh and Bickleigh stations on the G.W.R., and

6^ ENP^ of Crediton. It has a post office under Tiverton

;

money order and telegraph office, Thorverton. Acreage, 1880

;

population, 234. The manor, with Fm-sdon House, belongs to

the Fursdon family. Cadbury Castle is the remnant of an

ancient British earthwork, was the rendezvous of Fairfax's

army for several days in 1645, and has yielded a quantity of

antique ornaments, found at the bottom of a well. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of E.teter; net value, £126 with

residence. The church is a substantial structure of the 15th

century, and was restored in 1860.

Cadbury, North, a village and a parish in Somersetshire.

The village stands on an eminence, 2 miles NE of Sparkford

railway station, and 5 WSW of Wincanton. It has a post

and money order oiBce under Bath ; telegi'aph office, Spark-

ford. The parish includes also the hamlets of Galhampton

and AVoolston. Acreage, 2686; population, 850. The manor
belonged to the Botreauxes and the Hungerfords, and passed

to the Bennetts. The manor-house was built in 1581 by the

third Eai-1 of Huntingdon. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Bath and Wells; net value, £603 with residence.

Patron, Emmanuel College, Cambridge. The church was
built m the time of Henry VI. by the Botreauses, and con-

tains several ancient monuments. There is a Wesleyan chapel

and a theatre capable of holding 400 persons.

Cadbury, South, a parish in Somersetshire, 2 miles E
of Sparkford station on the G.W.I!., and 6 WSW of Wincan-
ton. It has a post office under Bath; money order office,

North Cadbury; telegraph office, Sparkford. Acreage, 695;
population, 159. Cadbury Castle, situated on the northern

extremity of a ridge of hills, and anciently called Camelot,

is thought to have been a Roman station, and probably was
the Cathbrigion where Arthur routed the Saxons in a great

battle ; has yielded weapons, articles of camp equipage, a

silver horse shoe, and many Roman coins ; comprises four

concentric deep ditches and as many massive ramparts, en-

closing an area of about 20 acres ; and has in the centre a
moated mound, called King Arthur's Palace, in the fom-th

ditch a spring called King Arthur's Well, and on the north

side another called Queen Anne's Wishing Well. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells; value, £237
with residence. The chmxh is good, and was completely re-

stored in 1874.

Caddington, a parish in Bedfordshire .and Hertfordshire,

2 miles WSW of Luton, under which it h.as a post office

;

money order office, Slip End ; telegraph office, Luton. Area,
4603 acres, of which 2996 are in Herts and 1607 in Bedford-

shire
;
population in Bedfordshire, 1021 ; in Hertfordshire,

1055. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Ely; net

yearly value, £200 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and

Chapter of St Paul's. The church is ancient, and has two

brasses of the 16th century. There are Wesleyan, Baptist,

and Union chapels. Mai-kyate Cell and Caddington Hall are

country seats in this parish, which includes the hamlets of

Chaul End, Aley Green, Slip End, and Woodside.

Cadeby, a township and a parish in Leicestershire. The

township lies lA mile SE by S of Market-Bosworth station

on the Ashby and Nun Junction railway, and 5 miles WSW
of Desford station on the M.R. The parish contains also the

township of Osbaston, and its post town is Hinckley ;
money

order and telegraph office, llarkct-Bosworth. Acreage of the

civil parish, 1008; population, 166; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 226. The Uving is a rectory in the diocese of Peter-

borough
;

gross yearly value, £322 with residence. The

church is a small but ancient edifice of stone in the Early

EngUsh style.

Cadeby, a township in Sprotbrough parish, W. R. York-

shire, on the river Don, near the Conisbrough station on the

M.S. & L.R., 4J miles SW by S of Doncaster, which is the

post town and telegi'aph office ; money order office, Balby.

Acreage, 1234; population, 169. It forms a cmacy with

Sprotbrough.

Cadeleigh, a parish in Devonshire, on the Exe Valley branch

of the G.W.R., 183 miles from London. Post town, Tiverton.

Acreage, 2182; population, 260. The surface rises into

bold romantic hills, with brilliant views. The Uving is a

rectory in the diocese of Exeter ; value, £226 with residence.

The church, which has been restored, is old, consists of nave,

chancel, north aisle, and western tower, contains a canopied

monument to Sir Simon Leach, and stands on high ground,

forming a conspicuous landmark. There is a Congregational

chapel at Little Silver.

Cadenham, a village 3 miles N of Lyndhurst, in Hants.

An oak tree here is remarkable for budduig in the depth of

winter.

Cader, a township in Llanrhaidr-in-Kinmerch parish,

Denbighshire, 3 J miles S by W of Denbigh. Cader-Gwladus

here is an eminence rich in curious minerals, and command-
ing a tine view.

Cader-Idris, a mountain-ridge in the SW of Merioneth-

shire, culminating 4A miles SW by S of Dolgelly, and 8J
ESE of the sea at Barmouth. It extends south-westward

from a point about IJ mile SE of Dolgelly, is 6 miles long

as the crow flies, but nearly 10 by the curvatures of its

summit-line, and varies in breadth from less than A a mile

to about 3 miles. It consists of igneous rocks, principally

gi'eenstone. Its highest points are Pen-y-Gader and

Mynydd-Moel, 2949 and 2835 feet high respectively. Its ac-

clivities are generally steep, yet present every variety of grada-

tion, and its breaks, hollows, and other features of contour give

it more richness of scenic character than is possessed by almost

any other mountain mass in Wales. The views from it are

of vast extent, and exhibit striking contrasts.

Cadgewith, a fishing village on the coa.st of Cornwall,

in a romantic valley, 2J miles NNE of the Lizard. It has

a post and telegraph office under Ruan Minor (R.S.O.) It is

inhabited chiefly by fishermen, and is a coastguard station.

A pit or amphitheatre near it (called the Devil's Frying-pan)

is nearly 2 acres in area, with sides 200 feet high.

Cadishead, a hamlet in Barton-npon-Irwell township,

Eccles parish, Lancashire, 11 miles W of Manchester, under

which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office, with

a station on the Cheshire Lines railway. The inhabitants

are chiefly employed in fustian cutting. There are Wesleyan

and Congi'egational chapels, and a mission room.

Cadlands, a hamlet in Fawley parish, Hants, on South-

ampton Water, 5^ miles W of Fareham. Cadlands Park is

the seat of the Dnimmonds, and has rich grounds.

Cadmore-End with Lewknor-up-Hill, an ecclesiastical

parish, formed out of portions of Fingert in Buckinghamshire,

and Lewknor and Stokenchurch in Oxfordshire, 6^ miles

NW from Wycombe, and 4 from West Wycombe station

on the G.W.R. Post town. High Wycombe ; money order
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and telegi'aph office, Lane End. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Oxford; net yearly value, £175 with resi-

dence, in the gift of the Bishop of Oxford. The church,

erected in 1851, is a small building of flint and stone in the

Early English style.

Cadney-cum-Howsham, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the

Lincoln and Hull branch of the M.S. & L.R., 2J miles SSE of

Glanford-Brigg. It has a station of the name of Howsham
on the railway. Its post town is Glanford-Brigg, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Acreage, 4548; popula-

tion of the ci\il parish, 425 ; of the ecclesiastical, with

Housham, 468. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Lincoln ; net value, -£250 with residence, in the gift of the

Earl of Yarborough. The church is a dilapidated structure

in the Norman and Gothic styles, and there are also Congi-e-

gational and Primitive Methodist chapels. There is a chapel

of ease, and there are also Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan

chapels at Howsham.

Cadoxton or Cadoxton-juxta-Neath, a village and a

pai-ish in Glamorgan. The village stands on the Sarn-Helen

Roman way and the river Neath, adjacent to the Neath

Canal, 1 mile N of Neath, and is within Neath borough. It

has a post and money order office under Neath, which is the

telegraph ofhce. Population of the parish, 3953. The sur-

face is hilly, and displays much fine scenery. Aberpergwm,

the seat of the Williams famUy, is remarkably picturesque.

Ynis-las, Cadoxton Lodge, and Cadoxton Place also are chief

residences. Coal and ores abound, and there are several

collieries and ironworks in the parish. The living is a vicai'age

in the diocese of Llandaff; net value, £242. The church is

good, and contains the pedigree of the Williams family

engraved on sheets of copper. There are Baptist, Wesleyan,

Calvinistic Methodist, and other dissenting chapels. The
parish, under a modified form of its name, gives title to Earl

Cadogau.

Cadoxton-Juxta-Barry, a town and a parish in Gla-

morgan. The town is 2 miles NE of Barry, and G SW of

Cardiff. It has a station on the Taff Vale and Barry rail-

ways, and a post, money order, and telegraph office (T.S.O.)

under Barry Dock. Cadoxton, formerly a small village,

gi-ew rapidly after the formation of the docks at Barry. It

has a public hall, a reading-room, a market-hall, a theatre,

and three banks. Two weekly newspapers are published.

The inhabitants are chiefly employed at the docks. Brick-

making is carried on. With Cadoxton, Merthyr Dovan, and
part of Sully, it forms a district governed by a local board of

twelve members. It is a seat of petty sessions. The parish

comprises 873 acres
;
population (1881) 1538, (1891) 8228.

The increase in the population is mainly due to the construc-

tion of the Barry Docks and railway. The Hving is a rectory

in the diocese of Llandaff; gross value, £100. The chiuch

is ancient, and was restored in 1885 ; it contains an ancient

font and a piscina. There are Baptist, Calvinistic Methodist,

W^esleyan, Presbyterian, and Congregational chapels, and a

cemetery.

Cae-Athraw, a small village IJ mile from Carnarvon.

It has a post and telegraph office under Carnarvon, which is

the money order office. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Caenby, a parish in Lincolnshire, 8 miles W of Market-

Kasen station on the M.S. & L.R. Post town, Lincoln;

money order office, Normanby ; telegraph ofiice, Market-

Rasen. Acreage, 1456; population, 116. The living is a

rectory in tlie diocese of Lincoln
;
gross value, £277 with

residence. The chm'ch, dedicated to St Nicholas, is a Gothic

building of stone. There was a chm'ch on the same site

anterior to the Conquest.

Caen-Wood, a seat adjacent to the west side of High-

giite, in Sliddlesex. It belonged formerly to Lord Bute, and
lii'longs now to the Earl of Mansfield. The house is in the

Ionic style, after a design by Adams, and contains valuable

paintings and portraits. The Fifth Monarchy men in 1661

took refuge in the grounds, and were attacked here by the

Guards.

Caer, Car, or Gar, a Celtic or old British prefix, signify-

ing a fort or any other artificial mifitary strength.

Caer Arianrod, a submerged town in Carnar\-on Bay,

about 2 miles from the shore, off the mouth of the river Llifon,

7j miles SW by S of Carnarvon. The ruins of it are visible

at low water.

CAEBLEON

Caerau, Glamorgan. Sec Caira.

Caer-Bannau, the site of the Roman Bannium, in Brecon-

shire, on the Julian Way, 3i miles W of Brecon, adjacent to

Aberyscir at the junction of the Yscir with the Usk. The
Koman works here are still traceable, and Roman inscriptions

and coins have been found. A town sprang up in connection

with the military defences, and was destroyed after the Nor-

man conquest by Bernard de Newmarch, who used its stones

in building Brecon Castle.

Caer-Bran, an ancient fort, now almost entirely in ruins,

in the south-western peninsula of Cornwall, 4^ miles WSW
of Penzance. It engirds and crowns a hill, comprises outer

ditch, outer vallum, inner ditch, inner wall, and central

circle, and is 90 paces in diameter.

Caer-Caradoc, a hill on the SW border of Salop, at the

river Clmi, near Offa's Dyke, 3 miles NE of Knighton. It

is, according to tradition, the place of Caractacus' last stand

against Ostorins Scapula, and it retains traces of a large,

neaidy circular camp.

Caereinion-Fechan, a township in Mallwyd parish,

Montgomeryshire, on the verge of the county, on the river

Dovey. 2 miles S of Dinas-Mawddwy.

Caerfagu, a locaUty 6 miles ESE of Rhayader, m Radnor-

shire. It is traversed by a Roman road, and is supposed by

many antiquaries to be the site of the Roman station Slagos.

Numerous Roman relics have been found in its neighbour-

hood.

Caer-Fallwch or Caerallwcli, a township and an ecclesi-

astical parish in Northop parish, Flintshire, 3 nules S by E
of FHnt. Population of parish, 791. Some of the inhabitants

are employed in lead mines. There is a very perfect ancient

British camp on Halkin Mountain, near here, called Moel-y-

Gaer. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Asaph

;

net value, £240 with residence.

Caergwrle, a tillage, a township, and a contributory

parliamentary borough in Hope parish, Flintshire, on the

river Alyn, 5 miles NNW of Wrexham, with a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Wrexham, and a station on

the Wrexhara, Mold, and Connah's Quay railway. Bridge

End station, on the same line, is near the village. Popula-

tion, 1128. It unites with Flint, Holywell, Mold, St Asaph,
Rhuddlau, Overton, and Caerwys m returning a representa-

tive to the House of Commons. It was a Roman station,

an outpost of Deva. Tiles inscribed with the name of the

20th legion, a hypocaust or vapour-bath, and other Roman
relics have been found at it, and traces of Roman smeltiug-

works and of two Roman roads are in the neighbourhood.

A castle stood at it, on a lofty hill, prior to the time of Henry
II., was visited by Edward 1. and his queen, was soon after-

wards burned down by accident, and seems to have been re-

built in 1307. A mutilated circular tower of the castle and
some fa-agments of the walls still remain. Traces of the

British post of Caer Estyn are in the neighbourhood. There

are Congregational and Presbyterian chapels. The township

is noted for its tool manufactory.

Caergrwrwain or Caegwrwain, a hamlet in Llangnick

parish, Glamorgan, on the verge of the county, at the river

Twrch, 10 miles N of Neath.

Caerhim or Caer-Rhun, a village and a parish in Car-

narvonshire. The village stands on the Conway river, 4i
miles S of Conway. It occupies the site of the Roman Cono-
vium, and has yielded many Roman relics. The parish in-

cludes the townships of Isar-afon, l\Iaen-y-Bardd, Penfio,

and Rhwng-y-Ddwyafon, and its post town is Conway.
Acreage, 12,770; population of the civil parish, 946 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 899. The sm'face comprises mountains, glens,

woods, and chasms, and is highly picturesque. It is the

resort of numerous artists, who have a flourishing club in the

neighbourhood. The living is a ^icarage in the diocese of

Bangor; net value, £300 with residence. The church is

very ancient and quaint, dating back to the 7th century.

Caerleon, a township in Monmouthshire, in the parish of

Llangattock, and on the river Usk, 2j miles NE of Newport,

under which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office,

and has a station on the G.W.R. Acreage, 526
;
popula-

tion, 1411. Caerleon was an important Roman town under

the name of Isca Silurum, and was the headquarters of the

2nd Augustan legion, and the capital of the province of Bri-

taimia Secunda. Aliemau Street went from it to Cirencesterj
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the marilime Julian Way passed tlirongb it from Bath to

Neath and St David's, and the mountain Julian Way to

Abergavenny, with a branch to Monmouth. The Roman
city included a gieat fortress, and is said to have been

superbly built, and about 9 miles in circuit. It is the

traditional capital of King Arthur. A castle was built at

the Conquest, and captured by Edward I. Christianity also

made a figure here, both in pristine struggles with Paganism

and in erecting establishments. Martyrs were slain, a monas-

tery was founded at an eai'ly period and succeeded by an

abbey before the time of King John, and a bishop's see was

constituted by Dubricius, the opponent of the Arians, and

removed by his successor David to Menevia, which then took

the name of St David's.

The buildings have now nearly all perished, but very numer-
ous small relics have been preserved, and some great substruc-

tions and mounds remain. A local museum, erected by the

Caerleon Antiquai'ian Association, has a rich collection of the

relics. The chief large remaining works are fragments of

the walls of the Roman fortress, 12 feet thick and 1800

yards in circuit, an oval bank of earth, the vestige of the

Roman amphitheatre, 10 feet high and 222 feet by 192, an

artificial mound of doubtful character, 90 feet high and 300
yaids round at the base, remains of the castle overhanging

the Usk, ruins near the bridge, and a romid tower near the

old-fashioned inn, the Hanbury Arms. An old tradition

regards the amphitheatre as the festival scene of King Arthur

and his knights
;
popular nomenclature calls it King Arthur's

Round Table.

Caerleon was formerly incorporated, and was governed by

a mayor and burgesses ; it is now governed by a local board.

Most of the houses are old, and many of them are partly

constnicted with Roman bricks. The bridge is a handsome
modern structure, in room of a curious old wooden one.

There is a suburb on the other side of the bridge called

Caerleon-ultra-Poutem. The church, which was restored in

18G7, is partly Norman, chiefly Perpendicular, and consists

of chancel, nave, aisles, south porch, and tower. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Llandaff; value, £302 with

residence. Patron, the Dean and Chapter of Llandaff. There

are Roman Catholic, Baptist, Congregational, Primitive Meth-
odist, and Wesleyan chapels. A reading-room and library

was opened in 1875. Caerleon is a seat A petty sessions.

Fairs are held on the third Wednesday of Feb., 1 Jlay, 20

July, and 21 Sept. There are malthouses and old estab-

lished tin works in the neighbourhood.

Caermarthen. See Carmarthen.
Caernarvon. See Carnakvox.
Caerphilly, a market-town and an ecclesiastical parish in

Glamorgan. The town is in the hamlet-tract of Energlyn, in

the parish of Eglwysilan, and stands on a plain, suiTounded

by lofty mountains, near the Rhymney river, 7 miles by road

and 7 by railway N by W of Cardiff. It has a station on the

G.W. and Rhymney Joint railway, and also on the Pontypridd,

Caerphilly, and Newport line. A castle seems to have been built

here soon after the Conquest; was dismantled in 1219 by

Rhys Vychau; rebuilt about 12 GO by Gilbert de Clare: en-

larged and sti'engthened by Ralph Mortimer and Hugh de

Spencer ; used as a fastness by the Spencers for plundering

the circumjacent countiy ; made the refuge of Edward II. in

his flight from his rebellious barons ; sustained then a very

vigorous and obstinate siege; was held in 1400 by Owen
Glendower, but then was " a fortress great in ruins

;

" and
ceased thereafter to be much noticed in history. The ruins

of it now extant cover an area of 30 acres, display remark-
able magnificence, and include outworks, gateways, towers,

a great hall, a chapel, and a ponderous leaning tower 80 feet

high, much shattered, 10 feet out of the perpendicular, and
supposed to have sustained its injuries from an explosion

at the time of the great siege.

The town has been very much improved of late years, and
is managed by a local board. It was formerly a borough, and
lias a post, money order, and telegraph office under Cardiff,

three banks, and is a seat of petty sessions. Markets are

lield on Thursdays, and cattle fairs on 28 Feb., 5 April,

Trinity Thursday, 19 July, 25 Aug., 9 Oct., IG Nov., and
the Thursday before Christmas. A manufacture of flannel

is carried on, and collieries, ironworks, and a stone quarry

are in the neighbourhood. The ecclesiastical parish includes

CAERWYS

all Energlyn and the hamlet of Van, and was constituted in

1850. Population, 3313. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Llandaff; net value, X272 with residence. Patrons,

the Dean and Chapter of Llandaff. The church was erected

in 1879, and there are Baptist, Congregational, Calvinistic

Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Caerseddfan, a township in Darowen parish, Montgomery-
shire, 6 miles E by N of Machynlleth.

Caersws, a hamlet in Llanwnog parish, Montgomeryshire,

on the river Severn, 5| miles WNW of Newtown. It has

a station on the Cambrian railway, and a post, money order,

and telegraph office (R.S.O.) A Roman station was here,

commanding the neighbouring passes, and a camp still exists,

enclosing about 7 acres. A farmhouse is within the en-

closure, and many Roman remains have been found, including

coins of Vespasian, Trajan, Severus, &c., tiles, pottery, ^c.

Several Roman roads converged to Caersws, which continued

to be a place of some importance long after the Roman
era, as Leland records that it was a borough and a

market-town in his time. Several British camps are in the

neighbourhood. There is a chapel of ease at Caersws, and
also Baptist, Calvinistic Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Caervorran, a locality on the SW border of Northum-
berland, on the Roman wall, the Maiden Way, and the river

Tippal, near Thirlwall castle and the Newcastle and Carlisle

railway, 4^ miles WNW of Haltwhistle. It was the Roman
Magna on the Wall, the station occupied by the second

Dalmatian cohort; and altars, Inscriptions, and other Roman
relics have been found.

Caerwent, a village and a parish in Monmouthshire. The
village stands on the Julian Way, 2J miles NW of Port-

skewett station on the G.W.R., and 5 WSW of Chepstow,

under which it has a post ofKce ; money order office, Caldi-

cot ; telegraph office, Portskewett. Caerwent was the chief

city of the great Caractacus. The Romans under Ostorius,

Agi'icola's lieutenant, crossed the Severn in boats and landed

at Portskewett, then seized Caerwent and fortified it, and
lield it for 400 years, naming it Venta Silurum. Caractacus

was sent to Rome as a prisoner, where he uttered those

touching words :
—

*'Alas, that a people possessed of so much
magnificence at home should envy me a humble cottage in

Britain," on which the Emperor Claudius released him. St

Paul was at this time a prisoner in Rome. The family of

Caractacus were converted under him to Christianity, and
on returning home introduced the Gospel to Britain ; and it

is probable that these early Christians met for worship on

the place where the church of Caerwent now stands. There

were Christians also in the Roman army stationed at Caer-

went, so that Caerwent church must have been one of the

earliest ecclesiastical foundations on the Welsh side of the

Severn. Many tessellated pavements, &c. , have been found

;

an extensive one not far from the church was discovered in

1893. The ground is full of them, and they extend miles

beyond the fortified walls. The latter extend 505 yards by

390 ; in parts they are from 9 to 12 feet thick, and 30 feet

high. The Via Julia passed right through Caerwent to

Caerleon, the second Roman station, Caerwent being the

first and their base of operations. Caerwent is situated on

a slightly elevated ground in the midst of a plain which

looks Uke the bed of a prehistoric estuary, and is sun*ounded

on all sides (except that to the Bristol Channel) with high hills.

It is one of the most picturesque and fertile districts in the king-

dom. The parish includes the hamlet of Crick. Acreage, 2002;
population of the civil parish, 348 ; of the ecclesiastical, 514.

The living is a vicarage, united with the perpetual curacy of

Llanvair-Discoed, in the diocese of Llandaff; net value, X165
with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Llandaff.

The church has a rich porch, and striking Early English

arcades ; was probably built of materials of the Roman city,

and is in good condition. There is a Baptist chapel.

Caerwys, a village and a parish in Flintshire. The vil-

lage stands 5 miles SW by W of Holywell, and 6 E of St

Asaph, and has a station on the L. & N.W.R., and a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office under Holywell. It is

thought to occupy the site of a Roman station ; it was the

scene of the court of the last Prince Llewellyn ; it witnessed

Eisteddfodau, or congresses of bards and minstrels, at various

periods till 1798 ; was formerly a market-town, and it unites

with Flint and other places in sending a member to parlia-
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ment. It comprises four streets, crossing each other in the

centre ; and has a town-hall, a church, and Wesleyan and
Calvinistic Methodist chapels. Great cattle fairs are held here

periodically. The parish includes also the townships of

Bryngwyn-Issa and Bryngwyn-Ucha. Acreage, 2737; popu-

lation, 765. The manor belongs to Lord Mostyn. Maes-

Mynam, the site of the residence of Prince Llewellyn, is SW
of the town. The living is a rectory in the diocese of St

Asaph
;

gross value, £344 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of St Asaph. Lloyd, the friend of Pennant, was

vicar, and Bishop Wynne was a native.

Gsesax's Camp, an ancient fortification in Windsor Forest,

Berks, on an eminence, 3 miles SE of Wokingham. It has

an irregular outline and a double ditch. A Roman road

went southward from it across Bagshot heath.

Caesar's Camp, an ancient entrenchment on the confines

of Hants and Surrey, on a hill at the western extremity of

the North Downs, 3 miles W of Aldershot. It has an irre-

gular outline and a triple vallum ; was probably formed by

the ancient Britons, and may have been occupied by Alfred

the Great in 81)3.

Cain, The, a river of Merionethshire, running 7 miles

SSW to the Mawddach, 4 miles N of Dolgelly. A fine water-

fall of 150 feet, called Pistyll-Cain, occurs on it.

Calnham or Caynham, a parish in Salop, on the river

LeJwich, 3^ miles ESE of Ludlow. It includes the town-

ship of Bennet's-End, and its post town is Ludlow. Acre-

age, 2569
;
population of the civil parish, 1075 ; of the ec-

clesiastical, 390. Cainham Court is the seat of the lord of

the manor. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Here-

ford; net value, £316. The church is Early English, and
has been restored; there are remains of an ancient cross in

the churchyard. There is an ancient camp in the neigh-

bourhood.

Cainscross, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in Stone-

house, Stroud, and Randwick parishes, Gloucestershire, 1 mile

W of Stroud, under which it has a post, money order, and
telegraph office. The ecclesiastical parish includes Ebley,

Dudbridge, and parts of Pakenhill and Westrip. Population,

2598. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol; gross value, £154 with residence. The church

was erected in 1837, and has an embattled western tower.

There is a Congregational chapel at Ebley, and a cloth-mill

at Dudbridge.

Caio. See CONWiL Cayo.
Caira, Cairau, or Caerau, a village and a parish in Gla-

morgan, on the Julian Way, near St Pagans station on the

G.W.R., 3^ milesW of Cardiff, which is the post town. Acre-

age of the civil parish, 773
;
population, 187; of the ecclesi-

astical, 881. An ancient camp of about 12 acres is here, and

seems to have been British, though often regarded as Roman.
The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Llandaff ; net value,

£130. Patron, the Bishop of LlandafF. The church stands

within the camp, and is good.

Caistor, Castor, or Caster, a union and a mai-ket-town,

a township, and a parish, in Lincolnshire. The town stands

on the side of a hill, on the Wolds, one of the highest

situations in the county, 3 miles ENE of Moortown station

on the M.S. & L.R., and 9 SE of Glanford Brigg. It was

called by the ancient Britons Caer-Egarry, and by the Saxons

Thong-Ceastre. A Roman station of great importance, being

one of tlie nine chief stations in tlt» country, was on its site,

and a castle was built at it by the Saxon Hengist. Rowena,

the daughter of Hengist, was betrothed here to Vortigern

;

and Egbert, in 827, here subdued Wiglof, king of Mercia.

The town presents a pleasant appearance, and is well watered

by four springs, called the Cypher Well, the Pigeon Spring,

Stot's Well, and the Spa. It has a head post office,

and is the head of a county court district and a seat

of petty sessions. The land around Caistor is fertile

and well cultivated, and iron ore of good quality is found.

At Ilundon there is an establishment for fish-hatching,

which has achieved considerable success. There ai'e two

banks in the town and several good inns. There is also

a public hall in tlie High Street, which was erected in

1887, and a reading-room opened m 1879. The market

day is Saturday, and fairs for liorses, oxen, and sheep are

held on the Fridays and Saturdays before Palm Sunday and

Whit Sunday, September 16, and the Friday and Satui'day
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after October 11. The grammar school was founded in 1630
by Francis Rawlinson, rector of South Kelsey, as a free school,

and has about £275 a year from endowment. The parish in-

cludes the hamlets of Audleby, Fonabv, and Hundon, and the
chapelries of Clisby and Holton-le-Moor. Acreage, 3304

;

population of the civil parish, 1788; of the ecclesiastical,

1990. The living is a vicarage, united with those of Clixby and
Holton-le-Moor, in the diocese of Lincoln ; net yearly value,

£150 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Lincoln.

The church stands on the site of the ancient castle, has

Saxon, Norman, and Early English features and a fine tower,

contains a brass of 1460, and was restored in 1862. There
are ancient stone monuments of the Knights of Hundon
and the Maddison family. There are also Congregational,

P]-imitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Caistor-next-Yannouth, a village and a parish in

Norfolk. The village stands on the coast, near the river

Bure, 2^ miles N of Yarmouth, is supposed by some anti-

quaries to occupy the site of the Roman Garianonum ; has

a post and money order office of the name of Caistor, under

Yarmouth, which is the telegraph office, and is a coastguard

station. The parish comprises 2831 acres; population, 1488.

A strong moated castle was built about a mile from the village

in the 15th century, by Sir John Fastolf a native, the capturer

of John II. of France, sometimes mistaken for the Falstati'

of Shakespeare ; and a lofty round tower and part of the

north and west walls are still standing. An ancient free

chapel stood on the manor as early as the time of Edward I.,

and was erected into a college for seven monks or priests,

either by Sir John Fastolf or by one of his successors, and
some remains of it exist near the castle ruins. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value,

£526 with residence. The church is an ancient building of

stone in the Early English and Perpendiculai- styles, and has

a lofty square tower. There is a chapel of ease at West
Caistor, and there are also Primitive Methodist and Wesleyan
chapels.

Calstor-St-Edmund, a small village and a parish in

Norfolk. The village stands on the river Tas, 2 miles N
from Swainsthorpe station on the G.E.R., and 3 S of Nor-
wich. The Venta-Icenorum of the Romans, their principal

station in the country of the Iceni, was here, and Roman
roads went hence to Brancaster, Cromer, Burgh-Castle,

Dunwich, Bury, Cambridge, Colchester, and London. Sub-
structions or traces of Roman buildings occur over an area

of 30 acres, and Roman urns, bronzes, numerous coins, and
other relics have been found. Ancient Norwich is believed

to have been built of materials from the Roman structures

here. It has a post office under Norwich; money order and
telegraph office, Trowse Newton. The parish comprises 1070
acres; population of the civil parish, 137; of the ecclesiastical,

184. Caistor Hall is a plain mansion of white brick. The
living is a rectory, united with the sinecure rectory of Marks-
hall, in the diocese of Norwich; net yearly value, £325
with residence. The church, which is a small building of

flint in the Early English and Decorated styles, stands within

the old Roman enclosure, and has a few Roman bricks in its

masonry.

Caistron, a township in Rothbury parish, Northumber-
land, on the river Coquet, 5 miles from Rothbury station on

the North British railway. Post town, Rothbury. Acreage,

401 ;
population, 31.

Caius College. See Cambridge.
Cakebole, a hamlet in Chaddesley Corbett parish, M'or-

cestershire, 1^ mile N of tlie village of Chaddesley Corbett.

Corbett's steam saw and flour mills are situated here.

Cakeham, a manor in West Wittering parish, Sussex, on

the east side of Chichester harbour, 6^ miles SW of Chiches-

ter. A palace of the Bishops of Chichester formerly stood

here, and a lofty brick hexagonal tower connected with it,

and built in the early part of the 16th century by Bishop

Sherborne, still stands.

Cakemore, a township in Blackheath ecclesiastical and
Halesowen civil parish, Worcestershire, on the verge of the

county, 2 miles W of Halesowen. Acreage, 622
;
popula-

tion, 1057.

Calbourne, a village and a parish in the Isle of Wight.

The village stands 5 miles WSW of Newport, which is

the post town j money order and telegraph office, Brigh-
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stone. By an Order in Council in 1871 the cbapelrj and

borough of Newtown, with about 2730 acres, were taken

from the parish of Calbourne, and with a portion of the dis-

trict of Porchfield taken from the parisli of Shalfleet, was

constituted the separate parish of Newtown-cum-Porchfield.

Acreage of civil parish, 6551
;
population, including New-

town, 830 ; of ecclesiastical, 479. Westover manor bt'lunged

to the Estm-s, passed to the Lisles and the Holmeses, and

belongs now to Lord Heytesbury in right of his grand-

mother, the daughter of the late Sir Leonard W. Holmes.

The house on it is modern. Calbourne Bottom, 1^^ mile

SSW of the village, is a depression between Brixton and
Moltestone Downs. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Winchester; net value, £397 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of "Winchester. The church is Early English, much
modernized, and has a fine brass of a knight in armour, sup-

posed to be of William de Montagu, sixth son of William,

fifth Earl of Salisbury, born "25 June, 1328, created lord of

the island for life, and died 3 June, 1397.

Calceby, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3 miles S by W from

Aby station on the G.N.R., and 4 W from Alford. Post

town and money order office, Alford ; telegraph office,

Aby station. Acreage, 634; population, 41. The living is

a vicarage, annexed to the rectory of South Ormsby, in the

diocese of Lincoln. The church is in ruins, and the inhabit-

ants attend that of South Ormsby.

Calcethorpe, a parish in Lincolnshire, 6 miles W by N
of Louth station on the G.N.R. Post town and telegraph

office, Louth; money order office, Ludford. Acreage, 1103;
population, 89. The living is a sinecure rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln; value, £G0. The church is in mins.

Calcott Park, a seat of the Blagrave family, in Berks, 3

miles WSW of Reading. It once belonged to John Kendrick,

who bequeathed £7500 to build the Oracle at Reading, and
was the scene of the romantic marriage of his descendant,

the " Berkshire lady," to Benjamin Child.

Caldbeck, a village, three townships, and a parish in

Cumberland. The village stands on the river Caldbeck at

tlie foot of the fells, 8 miles from Plumpton station on the

L. & N.W.R., and 9 SSE of Wigton, under which it has a

post and money order office. It was founded together with

an hospital, soon after the Norman conquest, by D'Engaine,

forester of Inglewood, for the protection of travellers. It

has a scattered character, yet looks pleasing and even pictur-

esque. A number of its inhabitants are employed in the

manufacture of bobbins, blankets, flannels, and stocking yarn.

The three townships are Low Caldbeck, High Caldbeck, and
Caldbeck-Haltcliff. Acreage, 13,742; population, 1068. The
parish includes also the township of Mosedale, in the district

of Penrith. Caldbeck House was the seat of the Backhouse

family, and Woodhall was the seat of George Fox, the

founder of Quakerism. About 13,000 acres are on the fells,

and available only for sheep pasture. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Carlisle ; net value, £440 with residence.

Patron, the Bisliop of Carlisle. The church dates from

1112, but has been modernized, and was renovated and

embellished in 1880-81. There are a Quaker meeting-

house, and a Wesleyan chapel. The fells are a nortli-

eastern offshoot of the Skiddaw range. They culminate on

High Pike, at an altitude of 2101 feet above the level of the

sea ; have a bleak, wild, moorish character, and aflbrd lime-

stone, copper, lead, bismuth, molybdena, and tungsten. The
river rises on the fells, and runs 7 miles north-eastward to

the Caldew, f of a mile north of Hesket-Newmarket. Both
this stream and the Caldew, at places near the village, make
great descents, and are overhung by romantic scenery.

Caldbridge or Caldbergh, forms with East Scrafton a

township in Coverham parish, N. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles SW
of Middleham. Post town, Bedale; money order and tele-

graph office, Middleham. Acreage, 3449
;
population, 75.

Caldecot, a parish in Cambridgeshire, on an affluent of

the river Cam, 3J miles ESE of Caxton, and 4 NE from

Old North Road station on the L. & N.W.R. Post town,

Cambridge; money order and telegraph office, Bourn, 2 miles

distant. Acreage, 948; population of tlie civil parish, 92;
of the ecclesiastical, 309. The living is a vicarage, annexed

to the rectory of Toft, in the diocese of Ely; joint yearly

value, £300 with residence. The church is an ancient

building of stone in the Early Perpendicular style.
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Caldecot, a parish in Huntingdonshire, Ij mile WSW of

Stilton, and 4 miles W of Hulme station on the G.N.R.

Post town, Stilton, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 795; population of the civil parish, 23;

of the ecclesiastical, 83. The manor belonged in the I3th

century to the HalHdays. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Ely, annexed to that of Denton
;

joint net yearly

value, £117 including residence. The church, a small

edifice of stone in the Early English style, was rebuilt iu

1874.

Caldecote, a parish in Norfolk, 5 miles S of Nar-

borough station on the G.E.R., and 6 SW of Swaffham.

Post town and telegraph office, Stoke -Ferry; money
order office, Beechamwell. Acreage, 708; population, 36.

The living is a sinecure rectory in the diocese of Norwich

;

gross value, £6 13s. 4d.

Caldecote, a parish in Warwickshire, on the river Anker

and the Coventry Canal, 2J miles NNW of Nuneaton, which

is the post town. Acreage, 709; population, 138. There

is a stone quarry. Caldecote Hall, the seat of the lord of

the manor, was defended in 1642 against Prince Rupert; it

was rebuilt in 1880. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of Worcester; net value, £128 with residence. The church

is ancient, and contains monuments to the Purefoy family,

and a tablet to George Abbot, Esq., the son-in-law of

Colonel Purefoy, and the hero of the gallant defence of the

manor house.

Caldecott, a township in Shocklach parish, Cheshire,

near the river Dee, 5J miles NW of Malpas. Acreage, 665;

population, 49.

Caldecott, a parish In Herts, on the verge of the county,

near Icknield Street, 3^ miles N by W of Baldock station

on the G.N.R. Post town and telegraph office, Baldock;

money order office, Stotfield. Acreage, 326; population, 31.

The living is a rectory In the diocese of St Albans ; net

yearly value, £69. The church is a small but ancient

structure in the Perpendicular style.

Caldecott, a parish in Rutland, on the rivers Eye and
Welland, adjacent to Rockingliam Castle station on the L. &
N.W.R. and G.N.R., 4^ miles S of Uppingham, which is the

post town; telegraph office, Rockingham. Acreage, 1162;
population of the civil parish, 300 ; of the ecclesiastical, 747.

The living is a vicarage annexed to the rectory of Lydding-

ton in the diocese of Peterborough. The church is an

Early English building of stone.

Calder, Tbe, a stream of Cumberland. It rises in Cope-
land Forest, near Ennerdale Water, and runs 9 miles SSW
between Cold Fell and Ponsonby Fell, and past Calder

Abbey and Calder Bridge to the sea near Sellafield railway

station.

Calder, The, a stream of Lancashire, It rises on the

eastern border of the county, NE of Buiuley, and runs 15

miles through the north-eastern part of Blackburn district to

the river Ribble, a little below Whalley.

Calder, Tbe, a stream of Lancashire. It rises on Calder

Fell, on the east border of the county, and runs 6 miles

south-westward to the Wyre, near Garstang.

Calder, The, a river of Lancashire and the W. R. York-
shire. It rises at Cliviger Dean, among the backbone moun-
tains, not far from Bm-nley, and runs about 45 miles east-

ward, exclusive of numerous windings, past Todmorden,

Sowerby, Rastrick, and Wakefield to the Aire at Castleford.

It first traverses a moorland region, and then flows through

a picturesque and well-populated country. It is followed

down much of its descent by the Manchester and Leeds rail-

way, and is connected with various canals, which give water

communication between tlie eastern and the western seas

from Liverpool to Hull.

Calder and Hebble Navigation, a canal of 21 milea

GO chains in length, extending from Wakefield to Sowerby
Bridge, where it joins the Rochdale Canal. It passes Hor-
bury, Thornhill, Dewsbury (by a branch canal), Ravensbnry,

Mirfield, Cooper Bridge (where it connects with the Hudders-
field Canal), Brighouse, Elland, and Halifax (by a branch

canal). There are no tunnels on its course, and there is one
reservoir, near Halifax, of 425,000 cubic feet capacity.

Calder-Bridge, a village in St Bridget's parish, Cum-
berland. The village stands on the Calder river, 2j milea

NNE of Sellafield railway station, and 4 SE by S of Egre-
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mont, and has a post, money order, and telegraph office

under Carntorth, and two inns. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of Carlisle; gross value, £176 including resi-

dence. The church was built in 1842, and is a cruciform

structure in the Early English style with a pinnacled tower.

Calder Abbey, the seat of the Rymer family, adjoins the abbey

ruins on the left bank of the river, about a mile above. The

abbey was founded in 1134 by Ranulph, son of Willimn

ileschines of Egremont Castle, for Cistercian monks brought

from the abbey of Furness, and was given at the dissolution

to Thomas Leigh. A large portion of its church, in mingled

Norman and Early English, with the central tower, and

richly robed in parasitic plants, still stands. Vestiges of a

Koman or British camp are on the opposite side of the river.

Caldervale, an ecclesiastical parish in Barnacre town-

ship, Garstang parish, Lancashire, 4 miles NW of Garstang

station on the Garstang and Knot-End railway. It has a

post and money order office under Garstang (R.S.O.) Popu-

lation, 861. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Man-

chester
;

gross value, £204 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Manchester. The church, a building in the Per-

pendicular style, was built in 1863.

Caldew, The, a river of Cumberland. It rises on the

east brow of Skiddaw, receives headstreams from Saddleback

and the Caldbeck fells, and runs about 25 miles north-

north-eastward past Hesket-Newmarket, Sebergham, Haugh-
ton-Head, Rose Castle, Dalston, and Cammersdale to the

Eden at Carlisle. It receives the Caldbeck river near Hesket-

Newmarket, makes the Howk Fall near the junction of that

stream, and nms underground about 4 miles from Holt Close

Bridge to Spout's Dub. See Caldbeck.
Caldewgate, a township in St Mary Carlisle parish,

Cumberland, on the Caldew river, partly within Carlisle city,

under which it has a post and money order office. Acreage,

1700
;
population, 15,028. See Carlisle.

Caldicot, a village, a parish, a stream, and a level in

Monmouthshire. The village stands on the sti'eam near the

estuary of the Seveni, lir mile W of Portskewett station on

the G.W.R., and 6 miles SW of Chepstow, under which it

has a post, money order, and telegraph office. The parish

comprises 1971 acres, and 1307 acres of adjacent foreshore;

population, 1293. The land is part of the low flat tract of

Caldicot level. A stately castle with round towers, remark-

able for the excellence of its masonry, partly Norman, but

mostly Decorated English, stands adjacent to the village.

It belonged to the Bohuns, passed to the Duke of Glou-

cester, and was annexed by Henry VIII. to the Duchy of

Lancaster. Portion of the castle has been cai'efully restored,

and is used as a residence. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of LlandalT; gross value, £185. Patron, Keble College,

Oxford. The church is ancient, and has been restored, con-

sists of n.ave, chancel, and aisles, with a bold tower, and h.as

Decorated cinquefoils in the chancel. There is a mission

chapel at Highmoor Hill. There are Wesleyan and Bible

Christian chapels. The Caldicot Wire and Tinplate Works
are in this parish. The stream bears the name of Caldicot

Pill, rises in Wentwood Chase, within 2J miles of the Usk,

and runs 7 miles south-soath-eastward to the estuary of the

Severn at Portskewett. The level lies along the Severn es-

tuary and the Bristol Channel, extends about 11 miles to

the mouth of the Usk, was at one time subject to continual

inundation, was drained and brought into cultivation by the

monks of Goldcliif, and is now a rich grazing tract. It is

protected from the sea by a series of walls and dykes, which

are under the control of a board sitting at Newport called the
*' Court of Sewers."

Caldon. See Cauldos.
Caldron Snout, a remarkable waterfall on the river Tees,

a few miles below its source, near the meeting-point of West-
moreland, Durham, and Yorkshire.

Caldwell, a township in St John Stanwick parish, in the

N. R. Yorkshire, on an afliuent of the river Tees, 8 miles N of

Richmond. Acreage, 1589
;

population, 155. Post town,

Darlington ; money order office, Aldborough. There is a
chapel of ease under Stanwick.

Caldy, a township in West Kirby parish, Cheshire, 1\
mile SE of West Kirby and 8 W of Birkenhead. Acreage,

754; population, 170. Caldy Manor, built iu 1696, is the

chief residence.
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Caldy Grange. See Geaxge.
Caldy Island or Inys-Pyr, an extra-parochial island in

Pembrokeshire, near Giltar Point, on the SW side of Carmar-

then Bay, 2J miles S of Tenby. Its length is about a mile,

and its area 449 acres
;
population, 76. It is connected on

the west by a reef of rocks, bare at low tide, with St Mar-

garet's, a small uninhabited island. Upwards of one-third is

iu good cultivation, and Hmestone is found.

Cale, The, a stream of Somerset and Dorset. It rises

ne.ar Wincenton, and runs about 12 miles southward, along

the vale of Blackmoor to the river Stour, near Sturminster.

Calehill, a seat and a hundred in Kent. The seat is in

Little Chart parish, 5 miles WNW of Ashford, and has be-

longed to the Dai'ell family since the time of Henry IV. The

hundred is in the lathe of Shepway.

Calf-Fell, a mountain on the confines of Yorkshire and

Westmoreland, in the neighbourhood of Sedbergh. A fine

waterfall, called Cautley Spout, occurs on its skirt. See

Cautley.
Calf of Man, an island in Rushen parish, Isle of Man,

near the south-western extremity of the main island, 6 miles

SW by W of Castletown. It is about 4 miles in circuit, has

cliffs upwards of 400 feet high, swarms with seafowls and

rabbits, is partly under good culture, and belongs to the

Careys. Two hghthonses areon it, erected in 1818, 560 feet

apart, with revolving lights, 305 and 396 feet high.

Calgarth Hall, a seat on the east side of Windermere,

3J miles SSE of Ambleside, in Westmoreland. It was built

and occupied in the early part of the century by Bishop

Watson of Llandaffi

CaIke or Caulk, a village, a township, and a parisli in

Derbyshire, on the SE verge of the county, 4 miles N of

Ashby-de-la-Zouch railway station. Post town, Ticknall,

under Derby ; money order and telegraph office, Melbourne.

Acreage of township, 082 ; population, 57. An Augustiniau

prioiy was founded here in 1160 by the Countess of Chester.

A mansion on the site of the priory, and called Calke Abbey,

was erected in the early part of the 18th century by Sir John

Harpur, and this is now the seat of the Crewe family, who are

lords of the manor and principal landowners. The living is

a donative in the diocese of Southwell. The church was re-

built in 1826, is a handsome Gothic edifice, with a square

tower, and contains a fine monument to the Harpurs.

Callaley-with-Yetlington, a township in Whittingham

parish, Northumberland, bi miles N by W of Kothbury

railway station. Post office, Newcastle ; telegraph oifice,

Glanton. Acreage, 3990 ;
population, 259. Callaley Hall

is the seat of the Browne family, and includes some portions

of an old castle. Callaley Crag is crowned with remains of

a Roman entrenchment. There is a chapel of ease.

Callaughton. See Bourtox.
Callerton, High, a township in Ponteland and Newburn

parishes, Northumberland, 7 miles NW by N of Newcastle-

upon-Tyne. Post, money order, and telegraph office, Ponte-

land. Acreage, 1025
;
population. 111.

Callerton, Little, a township in Ponteland pai'ish, North-

umberland, near High Callerton. Post, money order, and

telegraph office, Ponteland. Acreage, 592
;

population, 7.

Callington (formerly A'j'Hm^ioK), a small market-town and

a parish in Cornwall. The town stands on a gentle acclivity,

uear the river Lynner, 8 miles from Tavistock station on the

G.W.R. and L. & S.W.R., and 11 S of Launceston. It con-

sists chiefly of one broad sti'eet, irregularly built, and is a

seat of petty sessions. There ai'e two banks, a hotel, a

Freemasons' hall, assembly rooms, and a literary institution.

The church was built on the site of a previous one in 1460,

is Pei-pendicular English, was restored in 1859, and enlarged

in 1882. It contains a very curious old Norm.an font, and

an elaborate monument to Lord Willoughby de Broke. A
fine gabled sculptured cross is in the chm-chyard. There

are Wesleyan, Free Methodist, and Bible Christian chapels.

Many of the inhabitants are miners. A weekly market is

held on Wednesday. A lai'ge cattle market is held on the

first Wednesday in every month. The town was made a

borough in the time of Elizabeth, and sent two members to

Parliament, till disfranchised in 1832. It has a post, money

order, and telegi'aph office. Acreage of the civil parish, 2531

;

population, 1888; of the ecclesiastical, 2416. The manor

belonged to successively the Cbamperuounes, the Fen'ers, the
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Dennises, the Brokes, and others. It now belongs to Lady
Compton. Kit Hill, about 2 miles N of the town, consists

of granite, is 1067 feet high, and commands an extensive view.

Stream tin and copper ore are worked. The town is the

terminus of the East Cornwall Mineral railway. The living

is a rectory, annexed to the rectory of Southill, in the dio-

cese of Truro ; net value, £463 with residence.

Callow, a township in Wirksworth parish, Derbyshire, 2

miles SW of Wirksworth. Acreage, 1259; population, G8.

Callow, a village and a parish in Herefordshire, 2 miles E
of Tram Inn station on the G.W.R., and 4 S by W of Here-

ford, under which there is a post office ; money order and
telegraph office. Tram Inn (R.S.O.) Acreage of the parish,

631; population, 91; of the ecclesiastical district, 14.5.

The parish includes the hamlet of Twyford. The living is

a vicarage, annexed to the vicar.age of Dewsall, in the diocese

of Hereford ; net v.alue, £122 with residence. The church

was rebuilt in 1830 and restored in 1884; it has an em-
battled tower.

Callow-Down, an eminence, 2 miles SW of Princes-

Risborough, in Bucks.

Callow-End, a hamlet in Powick parish, Worcestershire,

1^ mile S of Powick. It has a post and money order office

under Worcester; telegraph office, Kempsey. There is a
library and reading-room in connection with the college for

blind sons of gentlemen.

Callow-Hill, an eminence, 5 miles SE of Bromsgrove, in

Worcestershire.

Calmsden, a tithing and a small hamlet in North Cerney
parish, Gloucestershire, near the Fosse Way, 2 miles E of

North Cerney. There is a picturesque wayside cross, sup-

posed to have been erected by the Knights Templars of

Quenuington.

Calne, a municipal borough of the North-west or Chip-

penham parliamentary division of Wiltshire. The town
stands on the river Marden, is the terminus of a branch

railway from the G.W. from Cliippenham, 99 miles from

London, and of a branch canal from the Wilts and Berks,

5J miles E by S of Chippenham. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office. Its environs are a fine mix-
ture of dale and hill, and adjoin on the SW the Marquis
of Lansdowne's seat of Bowood. It rose originally from the

ruins of a Roman station, dates from the Saxon times, and

was the scene of the synod in 977, at which St Dunstan pre-

sided, for settling the disputes respecting the celibacy of the

clergy, when all present, except the president, went down by
the falling in of the floor. It is a quaint old place, but a
number of large modern houses have been built in recent years.

It consists of one long chief street and a few minor ones.

The town is governed by a mayor, four aldermen, and twelve

councillors. A good system of sewerage was carried out in

1880. The town originally returned two members to Parlia-

ment, but lost one member in 1832, and was disfranchised

in 1885 under the Redistribution of Seats Act. A new
hospital for infections diseases has been built at Northfields.

It had an hospital so early as the time of Henry III., and has

two banks, a parish church, a chapel of ease, five dissenting

chapels, and a workhouse. The old town-hall was taken

down in 1882, and a handsome new one was erected on the

site of the old town mill. The church is Early English, with

traces of Norman, has a pinnacled tower by Inigo Jones, 93
feet high, and has been restored. The chapel of the Free

Christians was erected in 1868, and is a structure of some
elegance. The free school was founded in 16G0 by .Tohn

Bentley, and has an endowed income of £54, with two
scholarships at Queen's College, Oxford. The workhouse is

at Northfield, and cost about £5000. A large public recrea-

tion ground was opened in 1891. The field was purchased

and artistically laid out at a cost of about £5000, and pre-

sented to the town by Mr Thomas Harris. A large cloth

trade was fonnerly carried on, but has become extinct. The
most important branches of trade now are two very large

establishments for curing bacon. Population of the municipal

borough, 3495. Acreage of the parish, 10,250
;
population,

5518. The municipal borough is called the parish of Calne
Within ; the parish of Calne Without includes the tithings

of Blackland, Caistone, Quemerford, Stock, Stockley, Stndley,

Whetham, WTiitley, and part of Beversbrook. The manor
was given by Edward I. to the Cantilupes, and passed to
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the Zouches. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of
Salisbury ; value, £793. Patron, the Bishop of Salisbury.

The vicarage of Christchurch, at Derryhill, is a separate

benefice.

Calow, a township in Chesterfield parish, Derbyshire, 2^
miles E of Chesterfield, which is the post town and money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1332

; population, 609.
Earl Manvers is lord of the manor. Coal is worked. There
is a chapel of ease of 1867, and Congregational and Primitive

Methodist chapels.

Calshot Castle, an extra-pai'ochial tract in Hants, at the

W side of the mouth of Southampton Water, 7 miles SSE of

Southampton. A castle here was one of the numerous small
forts built by Henry VIII. for protecting the south coast,

and is now a dwelling-house. A lighthouse is here, with a
fixed light, bright and red ; and a light-vessel, called the

Calshot-Spit light, is in the neighbourhood, with a minute
revolving light. Calshot Castle is also a coastguard station.

Calstock, an extensive parish in Cornwall, on the Cornish

bank of the river Tamar, 1 mile from Beer-Alston station on
the L. & S.W.R., and 6 miles from Tavistock. The parish

contains several considerable villages, of which the largest

are Gunnislake and Calstock, e.ach of which has its post,

money order, and telegraph offices ; and there are also re-

ceiving offices at Albaston, HaiTowbarrow, St Anne's Chapel,

and Latchley. Acreage, 6133 ;
population, 6150. The

manor, which fonnerly belonged to the Duchy of Cornwall, is

now the property of the Williams family. Cotehele, au
ancient mansion of the Earl of Mount Edgcuinbe, is in the

parish, and Harewood House, once a seat of the Trelawnys.

At Gunnislake there are considerable gi'anite quarries, and
various beds of clays, washed down from Hingston (or Hen-
gist's Down), a lofty granite ridge of 700 feet, h.ave at dif-

ferent times led to the establishment of pottery and brick

works. There are also mines of tin, copper, and lead, of

which the most ancient is Drake Walls. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Trm-o, the tithe rent charge being

commuted at £440. Patron, the Duke of Cornwall. The
parish church is a conspicuous object with a handsome granite

tower, and contains several memorial windows. There is also

a mortuary chapel of the Edgcumbe family. A second church

at Gunnislake was consecrated in 1880, and there are mission

chapels at Harrowbarrow and Latchley. The churchyard

was enlai-ged in 18G1 and 1887, and a cemetery opened in

1888. There are several chapels belonging to diffi?rent de-

nominations.

Calstone-Wellmgton or Calstone-'Willington, a parish

in Wilts, on the Roman road from Bath, near Wans Dyke,

2^ miles SE of Calne railw.ay station. It h.as a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Calne. Population, with

Blackland, 344. The manor belonged to the Cantilupes and
the Zouches, and passed to the Lords Willington. The living

is a rectory, annexed to Blackland in 1880, in the diocese of

Salisbury ; net value, £259. Patron, the Marquis of Lans-
downe. The church w.as restored in 1885. There is a
reading-room, with a free lending library attached.

Calthorpe, a village and a p.arish in Norfolk, on an affluent

of the river Bnre, 3^ miles N of Aylsham station on the

G.E.R. Post town, Norwich; money order and telegraph

office, Hanworth. Acreage of parish, 1091
;
population, 229.

The manor belongs to the Earl of Oxford. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross yearly value, £134

with residence, in the gift of the Great Hospital, Norwich.

The church is a plain but ancient building of stone.

Calthwaite, a township in Hesket-in-the-P"orest parish,

Cumberland, on the river Petterill, .and the Lancaster and
Carlisle railway, 7J miles NNW of Penrith. It has a station

on the railway, and a post office under Carlisle ; money order

office, Southwaite ; telegraph oflice, Armathwaite (R.S.)

Calton, three townships and a chapelry in Staffordshii'e.

The townships are C.alton-in-Mayfield, Calton-in-Blore, and
Calton-in-Waterfall ; they lie in three several parishes, desig-

nated in their respective names ; and they are contiguous to

one another at a point 2,V miles W of the I'iver Dove, 4J ENE
of Eroghall station on the North Staffordshire railway, and

6| NW by W of Ashbome, which is the post town; money
order office, W^aterhouses ; telegi'aph office. Church JIayfield.

Acreage, 1542
;
population, 221. The chapelry includes also

a detached part of Croxden parish. The living is a vicai-age
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in the diocese of Lichfield; gross value, £100. The chmxh
was restored in 1875. A fair is held on 20 Sept.

Calton, a township in Kirkby-in-Malham-Dale parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, on an affiuent of the river Aire, near the

M.R., 7 miles SE by E of Settle. Post office, IMalh.am

;

money order and telegraph office, Bell Bush. Acreage, 1449

;

population, 75. General Lambert, one of the Parliamentarian

leaders in the Civil War, was a native.

Calveley, a village and a township in Cheshire, on the

Chester and Ellesraere Canal, 3J miles SE of Tarporley, and

8 W by N of Crewe. The village has a station on the Crewe

and Chester section of the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Alpra-

ham under Tarporley. Acreage of township, 1546
;
popula-

tion, 321. The manor belonged to Sir Hugh Calveley, the
" glory of Cheshire." Calveley Hall is one of the chief resi-

dences.

Calver, a township in Curbai* parish, Derbyshire, on the

river Derwent, 4 miles N by E of Bakewell. It has a post,

money order, and telegraph office under Sheffield. Acreage,

776; population, 371. There is a Primitive Methodist

chapel. The inhabitants are chiefly lime-burners and cotton-

spinners, and there are extensive cotton-mills.

Calverhall, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Prees civil parish, Salop, 5 miles SE of Whitchurch, which

is the railway station (L. & N.W.R.) and post town. Popu-
lation of township, 380. The ecclesiastical parish was con-

stituted in 1858, and includes the township of Willaston

;

a portion of the parish of Moreton-Say was added in 1891.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; net value,

£303 with residence. The church was rebuilt in 1879.

There are eight almshouses and an endowed school.

Calverlelgh, a parish in Devonshire, 2J miles NW of

Tiverton railway station. Post town, Tiverton, which is the

money order and telegraph office. Population, 77. The
manor belonged from the time of King John till that of

Henry VIII. to the Calwoodleys, and belongs now to the

Chichesters. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Exeter;

value, £150. The church, with a low tuiTcted tower, dates

from the middle of the 14th century, and has been recently

restored.

Calverley, a town and a parish in the W. E. Yorkshire.

The town stands on the south side of the river Aire, and

on the Leeds and Bradford railway, 4^ miles NE of Br.idford,

and has a station called Calverley Bridge, and a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Leeds. The civil parish in-

cludes also the town of Parsley and the hamlets of Priesthorpe

and Woodhall-Hill, and bears the name of Calverley-with-

P'arsley. Acreage, 3180
;
population of the civil parish, in-

cluding the part in the county borough of Bradford, 9657
;

of the ecclesiastical parish, 2560. The ancient ecclesiastical

parish included also the townships of Pudsey, Bolton, .and

Idle, and the hamlets of Thornbury and Windhill. Cal-

verley Hall was the seat of the ancient family of Calverley,

and the scene in 1004 of the subject of the "Yorkshire

Tragedy," erroneously ascribed to Sh.akespeare. The town

is governed by a local board. JIany of the inhabitiints are

employed in woollen and worsted mills, and there are exten-

sive stone quarries in the neighbourhood. The living is a

vicai'age in the diocese of Ripon ; value, £280 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Ripon. The church is .ancient, and

was restored in 1869. There are three dissenting chapels,

a Conservative Clnb, and mechanics' and church institutes.

Calverton, a parish in Buckinghamshire, on Watling

Street and tlie river Ouse, adjacent to the Buckingham

Canal, 1 mile S of Stony-Stratford, and 2i miles WSVV of

Wolverton sttition on the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Stony-

Stratford, which is the money order and telegiaph office.

Acreage, 1981 ;
population of the civil parish, 658 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 311. A Roman camp lay around the site of

the church, and Roman relics have been found there. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of Oxford ;
gross yearly

value, £540 with residence, in the gift of the Earl of Egmont.

The church was built in 1818, and was restored and enlarged

in 1870. Tliere are six almshouses and some small charities.

Calverton, a village and a parish in Notts. The village

stands near an atHuent of the river Trent, 6 miles from Linby

station on the G.N.R. and M.R., and 6i NNE of Nottingham,

under which it has a post, money order, and telegraph office.

The parish includes Salterford manor. Acreage, 3424;
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population, 1199. Many of the inhabitants are stocking

makers. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of South-

well ; gross value, £250. Patron, the Bishop of Manchester.

The church is of the 13th century, but contains interesting

Saxon remains. It has been restored. There are Baptist,

Wesleyan,. and Primitive Methodist chapels. Lee, the

inventor of the stocking frame, was a native and vicar.

Calwich, a township in EUastone parish, Staffordshire,

on the river Dove, 3J miles SW of Ashbome. It includes

the hamlet of Northwood. Post town, Ashborne ; money
order and telegraph office, EUastone. Acreage, 782

;
popu-

Lation, 142. A priory of Austin Canons was founded here in

the 12th century by Fitz-Nigell, and given at the dissolution

to John Fleetwood. Calwich Abbey, a modern mansion, is

the seat of the lord of the manor. I

Cam, The, a stream of Gloucestershire. It rises on the I

Cotswolds, 4 miles W of Nailsworth, and runs 7 miles north-
|

westward to the Severn, near Frampton.

Cam, The, a river of Cambridgeshire. It rises at Ashwell,

near the boundary with Beds, runs 14 miles north-eastward,

past Barrington to Granchester, receives there the Granta com-
ing 12 mOes from the west, and becomes navigable, proceeds

thence 2f miles north by eastward to Cambridge, and goes

thence 13 miles north-north-eastward past Chesterton,

Waterbeach, and Upware to a confluence with the Ouse, 3J
miles above Ely. It was widened and otherwise improved in

its course past Cambridge in 1869 at a cost of about £6000.
Cam, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire, on the

Cam rivulet, under the Cotswolds, 1 mile N of Dursley, with

a station on the Dursley branch of the M.R., and a post, money
order, and telegi-apb office under Dursley. Acreage of parish,

3304
;
population, 1782. Excellent cheese is produced.

Cloth manufacture is carried on in a large establishment, and
there ai'e three flour mills. A battle was fought here in the

time of Edward the Elder betw'een the Danes and the Saxons.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Gloucester and Bris-

tol ; value, £168 with residence. The church, dedicated to

St George, was erected in the time of Edward III., has Deco-

rated and Perpendicular features, and consists of chancel,

clerestoried nave, aisles, south porch, and an embattled western

tower with pinnacles. The church at Lower Cam was erected

in 1850, and an ecclesiastical district formed in 1888 called

6t Bartholomew's, with an endowment of £150. There are

Congregational and Wesleyan chapels, an institute with

reading and recreation rooms, and an endowed school for boys.

Camalodunum. See Colchester.
Cambeck, an affluent of the river Irthing, Cumberland.

Camber Castle, a ruined fortalice on the coast of Sussex,

nearly midwiiy between Winchelsea and Rye. It was one of

the strengths built by Henry VIII. for defence of the coast,

and was dismantled in 1642.

Camberley, a district of the ecclesiastical pai-ish of York

Town in Surrey, with a mission church opened in 1873.

Camberley has a station on the L. & S.W.R., and a post,

money order, and telegi'aph office. Population of York Town,
with Camberley, 3004. See Y'^oek Town.
Camberwell, a large parish in the south of London, hav-

ing an area of 4450 acres, and a population of 235,344.

Under the Redistribution of Seats Act of 1885 it was divided

into the three parliamentary boroughs of North Camberwell,

Peckham, and Dulwich. North Camberwell has 88,916 in-

h.abitants. Ermine Street, coming up from Lambeth Ferry,

piissed through south-eastward, going into Kent at Oak of

Honour Hih, and traces of it were found at the cutting of the

Surrey Canal. Oak of Honour Hill is said to have acquired

its name from Queen Eliz.abeth's dining on it under an oak.

St Thomas Watering, near this, was a resting-place of the

Canterbury pilgrims, and a marble he.ad of .Janus was found

there. Camberwell Grove, in the suburb, is now occupied by

a handsome range of houses. Camberwell manor house, near

Denmark Hill, was a curious ancient mansion, converted

subsequently into a school. Camberwell Green was formerly

notorious as the scene of a crowded pleasm'e fair on three

diiys in August, but is now surrounded by iron railings, and

laid out in gravel walks, flower plots, and shrubbery.

Camblesforth, a township in Drax parish in the W. E.

Yorkshire, between the rivers Ouse and Aire, 2J miles N of

Snaith. The station is at Carlton, j mile distant, on the

Hull and Banisley railway. It has a post office under Selby

;
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money order and telegraph office, Carlton. Acreage, 2132;

popnlation, 301. Lord Beaumont is the lord of the manor.

There is an endowed school for the education of children up to

seven years of age.

Cambo, a village, a township, and an ecclesiastical parish

formed from that of Hartburn, in Northumberland. The town-

ship lies near an affluent of the river Wansbeck, 1 mile from

Scot's Gap station, 11 miles SE by S of Otterburn, and has a

post, money order, and telegraph office (R.S.O.) Acreage

of township, G91
;

population, 70; of ecclesiastical parish,

479. The parish is much more extensive than the township,

and was constituted in 1844. The lord of the manor is the

chief landowner. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Newcastle; net value, £208 with residence. Patron, Sir

G. 0. Trevelyan. The church is good. There are large free-

stone quaiTies, a reading-room, and a subscription library.

Cambois, a township and an ecclesiastical parish formed

from that of Bedlington, in Northumberland. The township

lies on the coast, between the mouths of the two rivers Biyth

and Wansbeck, nearly 2f miles N by W of Blyth, which is

the railway station. The parish was constituted in 18(J3,

and embraces the townships of East and West Sleekburn,

and is bounded on the south by the river Blyth, and on the

north by the river Wansbeck, each of such boundary being

about two miles long. It has a post and money order office

under Blyth. Population, 3836. The church was erected

in 1805. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of New-
castle ; net value, £280 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of Newcastle. Brown, the landscape gardener, was a native.

One of the largest collieries in the north of England is situated

here, and there are large brickworks. There are two

Methodist chapels and a mechanics' institute.

Camborne, a town and a parish in Cornwall, on the

G.W.R., 307 miles from London. The town stands in the

centre of a rich mining tract, 14| miles WSW of Truro. It

is a thriving place, a scene of considerable traffic, a seat of

petty sessions, and has a bank, a market-house of 18GG, a

church, and four dissenting chapels. It has a head post

office. Acreage of the civil parish, G931
;
population, 14,700;

of the ecclesiastical, 7887. The town is governed by a local

board of 12 members. It is well lighted, and has a good

sytem of drainage. A Working Men's Institute was erected

in 1872, The Camborne Mining School and School of Art

adjoins this institute. New public rooms—the great hall of

which is capable of seating 1500 persons—were opened in

1891. The church is Perpendicular English, in granite, large,

but very low, contains a caiTed wooden pulpit, a new granite

font, and monuments of the family of Pendarves, and had on

llie outside an ancient inscribed stone, placed there by the

late Lord de Dunstanville, and believed to have been originally

an altar cover. This is now placed in the chancel under the

present altar. A weekly market is held on Saturday, and

fairs on 7 March, Whit Tuesday, 29 June, and 11 November.

Pendarves, about a mile S of the town, is a modern granite

edifice, contains some good pictures, and a ricli mineral

cabinet, and stands in a fine park, formed entirely out of a

moor. Tehidy, the seat of the Basset family, has a good col-

lection of pictures, and stands in a park of upwards of 700
acres. Cambrea, a rocky eminence 740 feet high, is re-

garded by Borlase as having been the chief seat of the Druids

in the west of England; and Carwinnen, a wild moorish hill

confronting Pendan'es, has at its foot a cromlech called the

Pendarves Quoit. Extensive mines are worked, and employ
most of the inhabitants. Dolcoath mine, about 3 miles W of

Cambrea, has been sunk to the depth of 2500 feet, and
extends under ground fully a mile. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Truro ; value, -£704, The vicarages of

Tucking Mill, Penponds, and Treslothan are separate charges.

A modern church in the Norman style is at Tucking Mill, and
a handsome one built in 1842 is on an eminence in Pen-
darves Pai'k. An ancient chapel stood on the latter's site

;

another stood at Trewin, adjacent to a medicinal well. Tiiere

are Roman Catholic, Wesleyan, Primitive Methodist, and
Bible Christian chapels.

Camborne or North- Western Parliamentary Division of
Cornwall was formed under the Redistribution of Seats Act
of 1885, and returns one member to the House of Commons.
Popnlation, 323,57 1. The division includes the following :

—

East Penwith (part of)—Camborne, Crowan, Gwinear, Gwith-

cambhidce

ian, Illogan, St Ives, Philhick, Redruth ; East Kerrier (part

of)—Gwennap ; West Powder (part of)—St Agnes.

Cambria. See Wales.
Cambridge, a university town, municipal and parlia-

mentary borough, and the county town of Cambridgeshire.

It is in itself one of the hundreds of the county, and i.s in

the archdeaconry and diocese of Ely. It stands on the Via

Devana, the river Cam, and the G.E.R., 51 miles by road

and 57^ by railway N by E of London. The G.E.R. has a

large station here, which is used also by the G.N., L. & N.W.,
and M.R., thus placing the town in connection with every

part of Great Britain.

History.—Cambridge is the Granta, perhaps also the

Camboricum of the Romans, and most probably the Granta-

ceaster of the Saxons. It was burnt by the Danes in 870

and 1010. A mifitary station seems to have been at it in

the times of the Saxons, certainly in those of the Romans,

and a castle was built at it, probably on the site of the pre-

vious station, by William the Conqueror to overawe the Isle of

Ely. In tiie castle was received Sir Osboni, whose legendary

conflict with a demon knight on Gogmagog Hill was used by

Sir Walter Scott for an episode in " Marmion." The town
was injured by both parties in the wars of the Barons and

the Roses, especially in 1210 and 1267, suffered from insur-

rection of the townsmen against the university in 1249,

1322, and 1381, was occupied on behalf of Queen Mary
after the attempt to place Lady Jane Gray on the throne,

and was seized and occupied under Cromwell for the Parlia-

mentarians.

Site and Streets.~~-^\\& town stands amid a great flat

tract, is not clearly seen on any approach to it till near, and

even then by only the tower of St Mary, the spire of the Roman
Catholic church, and the four turrets of King's College over a

line of trees. Tradition alleges it to have anciently extended

3 miles along the Cam from Gramchester to Chesterton, but

this is not to be believed. The present borough limits

indeed include a space about 3^ miles long with a mean
breadth of 1^^ mile, comprising 3278 acres; but the town
itself, exclusive of the suburb of Chesterton, which is not

in the borough, covere only about one-fifth of the space.

Regent Street is a fine street, Trumpington and St Andrew's
Streets also are broad, airy, and pleasant, and many new
streets of small houses have recently been formed ; but the

other streets generally are narrow, winding, and irregularly

edificed. The town has of late years been much improved by
extension or renovation of public buildings, by removal of old

private houses, and by erection of new ones; and, as the seat

of a great university, it necessarily possesses much wealth of

structure and ornament, yet it fails to impress a stranger

with a fair idea of either beauty or dignity. It suffers

severely from dearth of stone, and has betaken itself largely

to brick and stucco; and, owing to the recent rebuilding of

some of its colleges, and to the Grecian or Italian character

of large portions of others, its university looks almost

modern.

Antiquities.-—Dr Stukeley notes that the site of the Roman
Granta is very traceable on the site of Cambridge towards the

castle, that the Roman agger is identical with a fine terrace

walk in the garden of Magdalene College, that tlie gateway of

the castle and the churches of St Giles and St Peter are

mai-ked antiquities, that many Roman bricks have been found

in the latter church's walls, and many small Roman relics in

the adjoining fields, and that remains exist of three bastions

raised by Cromwell. Other antiquities will be noticed in

connection with the churches and tiie colleges.

Public Buildings.—The Guild Hall, which stands on the

Market Hill, has been erected at various periods, and includes

within its suite of buildings the municipal offices, a fine as-

sembly hall, 120 by 52 feet, which is admirably adapted for

concerts and public meetings, a suite of rooms occupied by the

Cambridge School of Art, and a reading-room and library

established by the borough under the Eree Libraries Act.

H. M. Prison and House of CoiTcction was erected in 1804
on Castle Hill, in the parish of Chesterton. Since it was

taken over from the county by Her Majesty's Government it

lias been greatly improved and enlarged, and now receives

prisoners from several of tlie suiTounding counties. The
Shire Hall, in which are held the assizes and sessions for the

county, is a building of brick and stone in the Italian style,
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standing on Castle Hill adjoining the prison. Tliere Is a

police station, erected in 1879, in the immediate vicinity.

The Market Place, in the centre of the town, was greatly en-

larged and improved about 1857, and it now forms one of

the most spacious market squares in the kingdom. A fine

Cattle Market, formed by the Corporation at a cost of about

£15,000, on land situated between the station and the town,

was opened in 1885. The Corn Exchange is a large but

plain structure at the back of the Guild Hall. The Theatre

Royal, in St Andrew's Street, is a small but neat building,

and will seat about 900 persons. The " Spinning House,"

originally founded in 1628 as a workhouse and house of cor-

rection, is a structure of brick situated in St Andrew Street,

and is now used as a place of confinement for lewd and dis-

orderly females. The workhouse, in Mill Road, was erected

in 1838, and has accommodation for 376 inmates.

Parishes.—There are 13 parishes comprised within the

borough and union of Cambridge. These are : All Saints,

St Andrew the Great, St Andrew the Less, St Bene-

dict, St Botolph, St Clement, St Edward, St Giles, St Mary
the Great, St Mary the Less, St Michael, St Sepulchre, and
Holy Trinity. St Peter's parish was amalgamated with St

Giles' parish in 1885. There are also three ecclesiastical

parishes, viz.:—St Matthew's, formed in 1870 out of the

pai'ish of St Andrew the Less ; St Paul's, formed out of the

parishes of St Andrew the Great and Less in 1845; and St

Barnabas', fonned hi 1889 from the parishes of St Andrew
the Less, St Paul, and St Matthew. The living of All

Saints is a vicarage; gross yearly value, £147, in the gift

of the Master and FeJlows of Jesus College. The living

of St Andrew the Great is a vicarage
;

gross yearly value,

£250, in the gift of the Dean and Chapter of Ely. St

Andrew the Less, formerly a separate vicarage, is now
amalgamated with the living of Christ Church, the latter

being now the parish church. The living of Christ Church
is a vicarage ; net yearly value, £395, in the gift of Ti-ustees.

St Benedict is a vicarage
;
gross yearly value about £180, in

the gift of Corpus Christi College. The living of St Botolph

is a rectory; net yearly value, £150, in the gift of Queen's

College. St Clement is a vicai'age ; yearly value, £45, in the

gift of the Master and Fellows of Jesus College. The living

of St Edward is a donative; net yearly value about £38, in

the gift of the Master and Fellows of Trinity Hall. The
living of St Giles is a vicarage with that of St Peter annexed

;

gross yearly value, £300, in the gift of the Bishop of Ely. St

Mary the Great is a vicarage; yearly value, £60, in the gift

of Trinity College. The living of St Mary the Less is a

vicarage ; net yearly value, £100, in the gift of St Peter's

College. The living of St Michael is a vicai-age
;

gi'oss

yearly value, £40, in the gift of Trinity College. St Sepulchre

is a vicarage; net yearly value, £100, in the gift of the

Parishioners ; and Holy Trinity is a vicarage ; net yearly

value, £200 with residence, in the gift of a private patron.

The living of the ecclesiastical parish of St Matthew is a

vicarage; gross yearly value, £333 with residence, in the gift

of the vicar of St Andrew the Less ; that of St Paul is a

vicarage; gross yearly value, £300 with residence, in the

gift of Trustees ; and that of St Barnabas is, with St Philip,

a perpetual curacy ; net yearly value, £148, in the gift of

the vicar of St Paul's, Cambridge, and others.

Churches.—The church of All Saints was reconstructed on

a new site in 1864, is an ornamental edifice, and contains a

monument by Chantrey to Heniy Kirk White. The church

of St Andrew the Great was rebuilt in 1643 and again in

1845, and contains a cenotaph to Cook the navigator. The
church of St Andrew the Less or Barnwell was partly built

out of Barnwell Priory, and is a small building of stone in

the Lancet style. The church of St Benedict has a Saxon
toWer, was repaired and enlarged in 1856 and 1873, contains

some interesting monuments, and was sometime served by

Thomas Fuller. The church of St Botolph is an ancient

structure, originally Norman, but now chiefly in the Perpen-

dicular style, and has many monuments. The church of St

Clement has an Early English door, and a fine tower and
spire of 1821, was restored in 1865, and contains an oc-

tagonal font, and a monument of 1329. The church of St

Edward is Early English, has a good font, and was served

by Latimer. The church of St Giles was rebuilt near the

site of the old church in 1875-1876. The church of St
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Peter, now disused, includes Roman bricks, and has a Nor-

man door. The chm'ch of St Mary the Great is the univer-

sity church, was built in 1478-1519, has a conspicuous

tower of 1593-1608, surmounted by octagonal turrets, shows

the architectural features of the age in which it was erected,

measures within walls 120 feet by 68, and contains the grave

of Martin Bucer. The church of St Mary the Less is Later

English, has a rich east window, and contains a Norman
font. The church of St Michael was built in 1337, and re-

stored in 1849, is pure Decorated English, possesses the old

stalls of Trinity College Chapel, and had the grave of Fagius.

The church of St Sepulchi-e was built by the Templars in

1101, and restored by the Camden Society in 1843, is a

round Norman edifice, with short massive piers, and includes

restored windows, south aisle, domical ribbed vault, and

campanile. The church of Holy Trinity was built in the

15 th century, has a good tower and spire, contains an altar

tomb to Sir Robert Taber the physician, and a monument to

Henry Martyn the missionary, and was seiTcd by Charles

Simeon. The chm-ches of St Paul, St Barnabas, St John

the Evangelist, Christ Church, St Philip, and St James, are

all modern erections. There are two Roman Catholic churches,

one of which was built in 1890, aud is a very beautiful

edifice, with a spire 215 feet in height. It has some fine

stained glass windows, and a magnificent baldachino over

the high altar. There are—a Presbyterian chapel, five

Baptist chapels, a Catholic Apostolic church, a Congrega-

tional chapel, a Friends' Meeting House, five Primitive

Methodist and two Wesleyan Methodist chapels, and a place

of meeting for the Plymouth Brethren.

Schools, cJt.—A grammai' school was founded in 1615 by

bequest of Dr Perse ; was rebuilt in 1842, and again in 1889-90,

and is now conducted under a scheme approved by an Order in

Council issued in 1873. The Leys School is an institution

established in 1874 by the Wesleyan Methodists for the purpose

of affording a high-class education to the sons of their minis-

ters and laymen. It is under the management of twenty-

five governors, of whom the President of the Wesleyan Con-

ference is (ex officio') Chairman. The Cambridge School of

Art is conducted in the Guildhall. There are about twenty-

five day schools in the town, which afford ample accommo-
dation for elementary and higher-grade education. Adden-
brooke's Hospitat or Infirmary was founded in 1766 by

bequest of Dr Jonn Addenbrooke, and further endowed in

1813 by bequest of John Bowtell; it has now, from endow-

ment and subscriptions, an income of about £0700. It was
greatly enlarged and almost rebuilt in 1864-65, and further

improved in 1878 and 1883. A smallpox hospital was erected

in the SE outskirts of the borough in 1884, and a sanatorium at

Jlill Road, Romsey Town, in 1893. The borough is unusually

rich in almshouses, many of which are of very ancient foun-

dation, and has many private charities, supported by volun-

tary contributions.

Trade., ^-c.—The town is maintained chiefly by supplying

the wants of the University, but it is also the centre of a large

agncultural district, and it cames on a considerable trade in

corn. It possesses some extensive flour-mills, breweries, and
maltings, some brick and tile works, a tobacco manufactory,

and some brass and iron foundries. There is a daily market,

but the chief market-day is on Saturday, and the corn market

is held on the same day. There are also fairs on June 24

aud three following days, and on September 25 and the week
following. There are also cattle fairs three times in the year.

The town is a head post office, and the head of a petty sessional

division, county court district, and union. It has fom^ banks

and publishes six newspapers.

The Boroiigh.—Cambridge is a borough by prescription,

and was incorporated by Henry I. It sent two members to

parliament from the time of Edward I. until the passing of

the Redistribution of Seats Act, 1885, when the number
was reduced to one. The town is governed by a mayor, higli

steward, recorder, ten aldermen, thirty councillors, town-

clerk, treasurer, coroner, aud the usual officers representing

the city. There are also two aldermen and six councillors,

who represent the university. It is well paved, and has

an excellent and abundant supply of water, obtained from

springs in the parishes of Cherry, Hinton, and Fulbourn.

The municipal borough is divided into five wards, ^-iz.

—East and West Barnwell, Market, Trinity, and St An-
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drews. In the parliamentary borough the greater portion of

the parish of Chesterton is included. The area of the par-

liamentary borough is 3976 acres, and the population 44,330;

the population of the municipal borough is 36,983. The
town gives the title of Duke to a prince of the blood royal.

Sir J. Cheke, tutor of Edward VI.; Gibbons, the organist;

Bishops Thirlby, Goldsborough, Rust, Townson, and Mus-
gi'ave ; Bennet the mai'tyr. Dean Duport, Jeremy Taylor,

Lady D. Masham, Essex the antiquary, Drake the trans-

lator of Herodotus, and Cumberland the di'amatist, were

natives.

The Unioersity.—Cambridge University is an incorporated

society of students in all the liberal arts and sciences. It

originated with or was restored by Sigebert, king of East

Anglia, and was revived by Edward the Elder, but first

acquired consequence about 1209, under the abbot of Croy-

land. The students lived for some time in inns and hostels

built for their reception, but were afterwards provided with

seventeen colleges. The colleges possess equal privileges,

form an aggregate body under one supreme authority, and at

the same time are ruled separately, each by its own statutes.

The present university statutes were confirmed by Queen
Victoria by Order in Council, 31st July, 1858. They are

the foundation upon which all new laws are framed. The
supreme authority comprises legislative and executive. The
legislative is a senate, composed of all the masters of arts,

and of any higher degree whose names are on the books, and
no new statute can become law without the assent of this

body. The house of congi'egation consists of certain oiiicial

persons, including the heads of colleges and professors, and
of all members of the senate who live within certain limits

of the university and its neighbourhood for 120 days in the

year. Every measure to be submitted to the senate must
first have passed this house. The council of the senate con-

sists of the chancellor, the vice-chancellor, four he.ads of

colleges, four professors, and eight other members of senate

chosen annually from the roll, who must approve all business

before it can be oBered to the house of congregation. The
executive includes a chancellor, generally a person of rank

and non-resident, a vice-chancellor or acting governor, a high

steward or judge in cases of felony, a commissary or assessor,

a public orator, who acts also as official secretary, and several

other officials. The members of the university ar^e variously

heads of colleges, professors, fellows, doctors in the several

faculties, bachelors in divinity, graduates, bachelors in civil

law and in physic, bachelors of arts, fellow-commoners, pen-

sioners, scholars, and sizars, and all, in their several ranks,

and also in their several colleges, are distinguished by differ-

ences of costume. Two-thirds, or ne.ai'ly so, of the residents,

live in the colleges, and the rest live in lodgings. The doc-

tors and regent masters of arts in convocation send two
members to parliament.

Universitij Buildings.—The senate-house stands on the

north side of a spacious square, ueai" the centre of the town
;

was built in 1722-30, after a design by BmTough, at a cost

of £20,000, is exteriorly Corinthian, and interiorly Doric
;

measures 101 feet by 42, with a height of 32 feet ; has gal-

leries of Norway oak, and contains statues of George I. and
the Duke of Somerset by Rysbrack, George II. by Wilton,

and W. Pitt by Nollekens. The public schools stand on the

west side of the same squai-e, were first founded in 1443,

form three sides of a small court, and contain apailments for

the philosophy, divinity, law, and physic schools, and for dis-

putations, exercises, and lectures. The university library

occupies the upper part of the two quadi'angles between the

senate-house and Trinity hall. It contains about 500,000
volumes and over 3000 MSS. Under the Copyright Acts it

is entitled to a copy of every new work published in the

country. The Fitzwilliam museum, in Trumpingtou Street,

originated in 1816, in a bequest of £100,000, a library, and
a collection of works of art from Viscount Fitzwilliam, was
built in 1837 and following years, after a design by Basevi,

covers an area of 160 feet by 162, has a noble octastylc

Corinthian portico, 76 feet high, and contains a valuable

collection of paintings, statuaiy, books, and a valuable manu-
script collection of music. The museums and lecture-rooms,

in the Gothic style, on the site of the old botanic garden,

were built in 1862-64. The observatoiT, on a rising-ground,

pn the Madingley Road, about a mile from the college walks,
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was built in 1822-25, by Mead, at a cost of £19,000, is 120
feet long, and has a domed house for a 20 feet telescope, pre-

sented by the Duke of Northumberland. The university

printing-office, in Trumpington Street, was built in 1831-33
by Blore, is in the Perpendicular English style, with a lofty

central tower, and looks like a church. The museum of

archaeology is in Little St Mary Lane, and was opened in

1884. It contains sections devoted to classical and local

archasology, and some valuable ethnological collections formed
in Fiji. The museum of geology, one of the best collections

for working purposes in Great Britain, occupies a suite of

rooms under the north wing of the university library. The
botanical gardens formerly lay around the site of the ancient

Augustinian prioiy, and occupied upwards of 3 acres, but now
occupy a site between Trumpington Road and Hills Road,
having an area of about 21 acres, and are both rich in speci-

mens and ornately laid out. The college walks have avenues
of limes, elms, and horse-chestnuts, and ai*e overlooked by
the backs of most of the lai'ger colleges. The buildings of

the Union Debating Society were erected in 1867 at a cost

of £10,000. They are in the Pointed style of the 13th
century.

St Peters College or Peterhouse.—This is the oldest of

the colleges, and was founded in 1284 by Hugh de Balsham,
Bishop of Ely. It stands in Trumpington Street, on ground
previously occupied by two hostels, and comprises two old

courts, the larger 144 feet by 84, and a new court built in

1826. Its chapel was erected in 1632; has a tine east

window, with painted glass representing the crucifixion, and
got all its side windows filled, in 1858-64, with painted

glass from Munich. The present foundation consists of the

master, 11 fellows, and 22 scholars. It presents to 10 bene-

fices, to one alternately with another patron, and to the

mastership of one endowed school. Eminent men educated
at it were Cardinal Beaufort, Archbishop Whitgift, Bishops
Cosin, Law, and Walton, Dean Sherlock, the poets Crashaw,
Gray, and Garth, Jer. Marklaud, Col. Hutchinson, the Duke
of Grafton, and Lord Ellenborough.

Clare College.—This was founded in 1326 by Dr Richard
Badew, under the name of University Hall, was burned to

the ground about 1342, was rebuilt by the sister and co-heiress

of Gilbert Earl of Clare, and took then the name of Clare

Hall, and was begun to be rebuilt again in 1638. It stands

on the east bank of the Cam, has, over the river, a fine old

stone bridge, and comprises a noble quadrangle, 150 feet by
111. Its chapel was rebuilt in 1769 at a cost of £7000,
and has a picture of the Salutation by Cipriani. The college

consists of a master, 15 fellows, and about 36 scholars. It

presents to 18 benefices. Eminent men educated at it were
Archbishops Heath and Tillotson, Bishop Gunning, Chaucer,

Cudworth, Whiston, W. Whitehead, Parkhurst, Nicholas

Ferrar, Hen-ey, Dr Dodd, and the Duke of Newcastle.

Pembroke College.—This was founded in 1347 by the

Countess of Pembroke. It stands in Trumpington Street,

nearly opposite St Peter's, and consists chiefly of two courts,

95 feet \iy 55, with intermediate hall ; some important addi-

tions made to these buildings were completed in 1883. Its

chapel was built by Bishop Wren, after a design by his

nephew. Sir Christopher Wren, and has a picture of the

Entombment by Baroccio. The present foundation consists

of a master, 13 fellows, and 26 scholars. It presents to 12
benefices. Eminent men educated at it were Archbishops

Grindall and Whitgift; Bishops Lyndwood, Ridley, Andrews,
Wren, Tomfin, and Middleton ; the martyrs Bradford and
Rogers; the poets Spencer, Gray, and Mason; E. Calamy,
W. Pitt, and Dr Long.

Gonville and CaUis College (usually called Caius College,

and pronounced "Keys") was founded in 1348 by Su-

Nicholas Gonville, and enlarged in 1557 by Dr John Cains.

It stands at the corner of Trumpington and Trinity Streets,

comprises three courts, was almost entirely rebuilt during

the years 1868-70, and includes two gates by John of

Padua. Its chapel is small but beautiful, and contains a
brass of 1500, a monument of Dr Caius, and a picture of

the Annunciation by Retz. The foundation now consists of

a master, about 28 fellows, and 40 scholars. It presents

to 18 benefices. This h.as always been the great medical

college of Cambridge, and among the eminent men educated

at it were Dr Harvey and many other distinguished physi-
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cians, Jeremy Taylor, Sir T. Gresham, Shadwell, Henry

Wharton, Lord Thurlow, Dr Shuckford, Jeremy Collier, Dr

S. Clarke, and the antiquaries Grater, Chauncey, and Blome-

field.

Tnnity Hall.—This was founded in 1350 by Bateman,

bishop of Norwich. It stands near Clare College, on ground

previously occupied by a hostel for the monks of Ely, and

comprises two courts, one of which is modern. Its library

is rich in law-works, and its chapel contains three brasses,

and a painting of the Presentation by Stella. A range of

students' residences, in strictly collegiate style, but of earlier

character than the rest of the college buildings, with a plain

oriel over the entrance doora-ay, and an octagonal oriel tunet

at the angle, crowned with a short spire, was built in 1861

at a cost of about £10,000, and replaced previous buildings

burned down in 1851. Trinity Hall has a master, 13 fellows,

4 law students, and 16 scholars. It presents to 6 benefices.

Eminent men educated at it were Bishops Gardiner and

Horsley, the martyr Bilney, Corbet, Tusser, Dr Andrews,

Sir R. Naunton, Lord Chesterfield, Earl Fitzwilliam, Sir

Bnlwer Lytton, and Lord-Chief-Justice Cockburn.

Corpus Christi or Benet College.—This was founded in

1359 by the two Guilds of Corpus Christi and the Virgin

Mary. It stands in Trumpington Street, and comprises an

old court of the 14th century, and a new one built in 1823.

The new court measures 158 feet by 129, and has a frontage

of 222 feet, with grand gateway and four massive towers.

The Ubrary measures 87 feet by 22, and contains many valu-

able manuscripts, bequeathed by Archbishop Parker. The
chapel was built in 1827, is in the Gothic style, and has

windows filled with stained glass from a previous chapel of

1570, built by Lord-Keeper Bacon. The college has a mas-

ter and 12 fellows, 31 scholarships, and presents to 10 bene-

fices. Eminent men educated at it were Archbishops Parker

and Tenison, the martyr Wishart, Bishop Latimer, the poet

Fletcher, Sir Nicholas Bacon, Lord-Keeper Bacon, and the

antiquaries Gough, Salmon, and Stukeley.

King's College.—This was founded in 1441 by Henry

VI. It occupies a central situation, consists of two courts,

partly Italian, pai'tly Later English, and forms the finest

group of buildings in the town. The hall measures 102 feet

by 36 ; the library, 93 feet by 27 ; the chapel, 316 feet by

45^. The last is justly regarded as the glory of Cambridge,

and is considered the best specimen of Later English in the

kingdom. It was mainly built in 1441-1530, and partly

restored by Wilkins in 1826, has eleven pinnacles on each

side and four octagonal towers at the corners, and commands
from the leads an extensive panoramic view, reaching on one

side to Ely Cathedral. The pinnacles are 101 feet high, and

rise from buttresses including a range of chantries between

their projections; the towers are 146j feet high, and capped

with cupolas; the side windows, 24 in number, are nearly 50

feet high, and filled with scripture subjects in stained glass

of the time of Henry VIII. ; the doors are very fine; the roof

is stone, gi'oined, with fan-tracery, in twelve compartments,

without the support of a single pillar, the largest and richest

of its kind in England; the stalls and screen are of the 17th

century, and the altar-piece is the Descent from the Cross

by Volterra. The college, which is governed by statutes

made in 1882, enjoys special pri\'ileges, and has a provost,

46 fellows, 48 scholars (of whom 24 are selected from Eton,

and 24 in open competition), 2 chaplains, an organist, a

schoolmaster, 6 lay clerks, and 16 choristers. It presents

to 37 benefices, and to one alternately with another patron.

Eminent men educated at it were Archbishop Rotherham,

Bishops Aldrich, Close, and Pearson, the m.artyr Frith, tlie

chronicler Hall, the poets Waller, P. Fletcher, and Anstey,

the mathematician Oughtr'ed, the historian Cose, the anti-

quary Cole, Jacob Bryant, A. Collins, Sir John Cheke, Sir

F. Walsingham, Sir W. Temple, Sir R. Walpole, Sir W.
Draper, Horace Walpole, and Lord Camden.

Queen's College.—This was founded in 1446 by Margaret

of Anjou, and enlarged in 1465 by the queen of Edwai'd IV.

Its grounds lie on both sides of the Cam, and are connected

by a rustic bridge, rebuilt in 1746. Its buildings comprise

three ancient-looking courts, with gateway, tower, and

cloisters, and were reconstracted about 1833. A new build-

ing containing thirty-two sets of rooms was completed in

1887. The gateway is of noble design. Perpendicular, with
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a Heme vault. The inner court has three alleys, each 80

feet long, and contains the room of Erasmus. The hall has

a fine open roof, the libraiy about 30,000 volumes, and the

chapel four brasses. The college has a president, 13 fellows,

1 fellow on the Edwards' foundation, about 22 scholars, and
4 exhibitioners. It presents to 11 benefices. A handsome
new chapel was erected at a cost of £12,000 in the college

in 1891. Eminent men educated at it were Erasmus, Bishops

Fisher and Patrick, the antiquary Wallis, the poets Beau-

mont and Pomfret, T. Fuller, S. Ockley, Milner, Weever,

Rymer, Shaw, and Manning.

St Catherine's College.—This was founded in 1473 by
Chancellor Wodelarke. It stands in Trumpington Street,

and forms a court, 180 feet by 120, rebuilt in 1700, of plain

appearance, but which received considerable improvement in

1869. The hall measures 42 feet by 24, the chapel 75 feet

by 30. The college has a master, who is by virtue of his

office a canon of Norwich Cathedral, 6 fellows, and 26 scholars.

It presents to 7 benefices. Eminent men educated at it

were Archbishops Sands and Dawes, Bishops Hoadley,

Sherlock, Blackall, and Overall, Dr Lightfoot, Strype, and
Sparrow.

Jesus' College.—This was founded in 1496, by Bishop

Alcock. It stands in Jesus Lane, on the site of the Bene-
dictine nunnery, and comprises three courts, one of them
140 feet by 120. The frontage extends 180 feet; the gate-

way is fine Perpendicular ; the second court has an ancient

cloister; the hall has a peculiarly elegant oriel and a fine

wooden roof ; and the chapel was the church of the nunnery,

is cruciform, belonged to the 12th centm'y, includes recent

restorations, and has an altai'- piece of the Presentation by

Jouvenet. The college has a master, 16 fellows, 15 found-

ation scholars, and 17 scholars on the foundation of Tobias

Rustat for the orphan sons of clergymen. It presents to 16

benefices. Eminent men educated at it were Archbishops

Cranmer, Bancroft, and Sterne; Bishops Goodrich, Beadon,

Bale, and Pearson; the poets Fenton, Fanshaw, and Coleridge;

the metaphysician Hartley, the traveller Clarke, Flamstead,

Venn, Sterne, Jortin, Wakefield, and K. North.

Clirist's College.—This was founded in 1456 under the

name of God's House by Henry VI., and refounded in 1505
under its present name by the mother of Henry VII. It

stands in St Andi'ew's Street, and forms two courts, partly

built by Inigo Jones, one of them 140 feet by 120. The
chapel is 84 feet long, and has paintings of Henry VII. and
others, and the gr.avestone of Cudworth ; the gardens con-

tain a mulberry-tree planted by Milton. The college has

a master, 15 fellowships, 30 scholarships, and 18 livings.

Eminent men educated at it were Archbishops Sharp and
Cornwallis; Bishops Latimer, Law, and Porteous; the poets

Milton, Cleland, and Quarles; the platonist More, the blind

professor Saunderson, Leland, Mede^ Cudworth, T. Burnet,

L. Echard, H.arrington, and Paley.

-Si John's College.—This was founded in 1511 by the will

of the mother of Henry VII. It stands in St John's Street

on ground previously occupied by a canons' hospital, and
comprises three old courts and a new one. The entrance-

gate is of brick, with four large tmTets ; the first com-t is the

oldest, built in 1510-14, and measuring 228 feet by 216
;

the second court is of the same century, and measures 270
feet by 240 ; the thud court is smaller than either of the

former; and the fourth court was built in 1830 by Rickman
and Hutchinson, measures 480 feet by 180, is in the Per-

pendicular English and the Tudor styles, and has a tower

120 feet high. The hall is 60 feet by 38 ; the library is

spacious, and contains a very extensive and valuable collec-

tion of books; and the chapel measures 120 feet by 27, and
has excellent stall-work, and a painting of St John by Sir

R. K. Porter. A covered bridge of three arches crosses the

Cam within the grounds, and is nicknamed " the Bridge of

Sighs." A spacious new court, a new master's lodge, and a
magnificent new chapel, after designs by Sh G. G. Scott, were

founded in 1864. These buildings cost an immense sum
;

they occupy the site of a large number of houses which were

removed to make way for them ; the new chapel abuts upon
St .John Street, was opened in l\Iay 1869, alone cost about

£57,000, and is a chief ornament of the town; and the other

new buildings stand between the previously existing body of

the college and the river on the Bridge Street side. Ths
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college has a master, 56 fellows, 60 foundation t^cholai's, 9

sizars proper, 42 other sizars, and an or^^anist. It presents

to 50 livings and the masterships of 5 endowed grammar
schools. Eminent men educated at it were Bishops Fisher,

Stillingfleet, Watson, Beveridge, and Morgan ; the poets

Sackville, Wyat, Ben Jonson, Herrick, Hammond, Prior,

Brome, Otway, A. Phillips, Browne, Kuke White, and
Wordsworth; the historian Cave, the antiquary Baker, Sir J.

Cheke, R. Ascham, Sir J. Wyatt, Sir K. Digby, Lord Bur-
leigh, Lord Chancellor Egerton, Lord Falkland, the Earl of

Strafford, Lord - Keeper Guildford, Fairfax, Cai-twright,

Stackhouse, Whittaker, Dr Beutley, Bowyer, Pegge, S.

Jenyns, Briggs, Home Tooke, the Marquis of Rockingham,

and Wilberforce.

Cavendish College.—The buildings of this college are

situated on the Hills Road, 1^ mile SSE of the town. The
college was founded in order to enable students to obtain the

degree of B,A. at a moderate cost, and at the earliest prac-

ticable age. It was recognised as a public hostel in 1882,
but has since ceased to exist.

Magdalene College.—This was begun in 1509 by the

Duke of Buckingham, and completed in 1542 by Lord
Chancellor Andley. It stands in Bridge Street, on the site

of the original Augustlnian priory, and comprises two courts,

one of them 110 feet by 78. The Hbrary contains the col-

lection of Samuel Pepys, including his celebrated diary. The
college has, under the statutes of 1860, 8 fellows and 12

scholars. It presents to 6 benefices. Eminent men edu-

cated at it were Archbishop Grindall, Bishops Cumberland
and Walton, Lord-Keeper Bridgman, the mathematician

Waring, Pepys, Duport, and Waterland.

Trinity College.—This was founded in 1546 by Henry
VIII. It stands in Trinity Sti'eet, on ground previously

occupied by seven hostels and two colleges. One of the

colleges bore the name of Michael House, and was founded in

1324 by Hervey de Stanton ; the other bore the name of

King's Hall, and was founded in 1337 by Edward III., and
both were suppressed by Henry VIII. Tlie present college

comprises three courts, called the Great Court, Nevile's

Court, and King's Court. The Great Court is entered by a

fine old gateway, measures 1202 feet in circuit, and has an

octagonal conduit in the centre. Nevile's Court was built In

1609 by D. Nevile, and measures 228 feet by 148. Kings
Conrt was built in 1823-26, after designs by Wilkius, at a

cost of £40,000, displays much elegance, and was named in

honour of George IV., who headed the subscription for it

with a donation of £1000. The hall In the Great Court Is

100 feet long, 40 feet wide, and 50 feet high, and is in the

Tudor style. The master's lodge, in the same court, is large

and lofty, and has since the time of Elizabeth been the resi-

dence of the sovereigns visiting the university. The library,

in Nevile's Court, was designed by Wren, is 190 feet long, 40

feet wide, and 38 feet high, and contains the manuscript of

" Paradise Lost." a statue of Lord Byron by Thorwaldsen,

and busts of eminent members of the college by Roubiliac.

The chapel in the Great Court is Late Perpendicular, 204

feet long, 34 feet wide, and 44 feet high, and has an altar-

piece by West, and the ante-chapel contains Roubiliac's

statue of Newton. The college has 60 fellowships, 74

scholarships, 16 sizarships, 3 professorships, and it presents

absolutely to 63 livings, to 2 in turn with other patrons, and
to the mastership of 1 endowed grammar school. Eminent
men educated at it were Bishops Tunstal and Watson; tlie

poets Cowley, Dryden, Donne, Herbert, G. Fletcher, Marvel,

V. Bourne, Lee, Hayley, Byron, and Crabbe ; the astrologer

Dee, Robert Eai-1 of Essex, Whitgift, Sir Edward Coke, Lord

Bacon, Fulke Lord Brooke, Sir R. Cotton, Sir H. Spelmau,

P. Holland, Hacket, Wilkins, Pearson, BaiTow, Willoughby,

Bentley, Gale, Ray, Cotes, Robert Nelson, C. Middleton, Le
Neve, Maskeline, Sir Isaac Newton, VilHers, Governor Pow-
nall. Sir R. Filmer, Spencer Percival, Lord Lansdowne, Lord

Macaulay, Dr Whewell, and Professor Sedgwick.

Emmanuel College.—This was founded in 1584 by Sir

W. Mildmay. It stands in St Andrew s Street, on the site

of the Dominican priory, and comprises two courts, one of

them 128 feet by 107. The chapel was finished in 1677 by

Archbishop Sancroft, after designs by Wren, and has an
altar-piece cf the Prodigal Son by Amiconi. In 1886 a new
lecture room was built over the library, and accommodation
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was provided for 14 additional students. The college has

13 fellowships, about 24 scholarships, and it presents to 23

livings and the mastership of 2 endowed grammar schools.

Eminent men educated at it were Archbishops Sancroft and

Manners-Sutton; Bishops Hall, Bedell, Hurd, and Percy; the

commentator Poole, the Bible translator Chaderton, the

mathematician Wallis, the orientalist Castell, the antiquaries

Twysden and Morton, Sir W. Temple, Joshua Barnes, Black-

wall, Farmer, Martyn, Parr, Temple, and Akenside.

Sidney-Sussex Co//eye.—This was founded in 1596 by

the will of Frances Sidney, Countess of Sussex. It stands

in Sidney Street, on the site of the Greyfriars monastery, and

comprises two courts, restored by Wyatville. The hall

measures 60 feet by 27, and the chapel has an altar-piece of

the Repose of the Holy Family by Pittoni. The college has

10 fellowsliips, 24 scholarships, and it presents to 8 livings.

Eminent men educated at it were Archbishop Bramhall,

Bishops Reynolds, Seth Ward, and Wilson of Sodor, 0.

Cromwell, Chief Baron Atkyns, the historian May, Fuller,

Comber, L'Estrange, and Twining.

Downing College.—This was chartered in 1800 and
founded in 1807, by will of Sir George Downing, Bart. The
buildings stand between Trumpington Street and Regent

Street, were erected after designs by Wilkins, at a cost of

£60,000, and form a quadrangle in the Grecian style. The

foundation now consists of a master, 2 professors, 6 fellow;;,

6 foundation and some minor scholai's. It presents to 2

benefices.

Sehoyii College.—This college was founded in memory
of Dr George Augustus Selwyn, bishop of New Zealand,

1841-67, and of Lichfield, 1867-78, was incorporated by

royal charter in 1882, and recognised as a public hostel by

the university in 1883. New buildings were opened in 1889.

It was estabUshed with the object of affording, at a very

moderate expense, a university education in accordance with

the principles of the Church of England. There are about

125 undergraduates in residence.

Newnham College.— This college was formed by the

amalgamation of the Newnham Hall Company with the

Association for Promoting the Higher Education of Women
in Cambridge, to afford a university education to women,
and by a gi-ace of the Senate in 1881 female students of this

and similar institutions within the precincts of the University,

who have complied with the necessary conditions, may be

admitted to the previous examination and the Tripos ex-

amination. New buildings were erected In 1893.

Ridley Hall.—This is an institution designed to furnish a

hostel for residence and study for students who are graduates

of the university and candidates for holy orders in the

Church of England. It was founded by members of the

Evangelical party, and the building, a fine edifice of brick in

the Tudor Gothic style, was dedicated iu 1882. It has

about 30 students.

Ayerst Ball.—This is a building in the Queen Anne
style, standing on the south side of Pai'ker's Place. It was
opened iu 1884, its chief object being to enable students in

theology to keep terms at Cambridge. It is, however, open

to candidates for all university examinations.

Girton College.—This institution, which is located in

Girton parish, about 1^ mile from Cambridge, was first

opened at Hitchin in 1869, and was removed here in 1873.

It is designed to afford education to young women on uni-

versity principles, and on a self-supporting basis. By a

grace of the Senate of 1881, female students of this or any
similar institution within the precincts of the university

who have fulfilled the conditions and standing which mem-
bers of the university are required to fulfil, may be admitted

to the previous examination and the Tripos examinations.

It possesses a very efficient staff of instructors, and on several

occasions the standai'd of a high-honour man has been

attained.

Cambridge, a hamlet in Slimbridge parish, Gloucester-

shire, on the river Cam, 4 miles NNW of Dursley. It has a
post ofiice under Stonehouse ; telegraph office, Eastington.

it was known to the Saxons as Cwatbricge, and was the

scene of a battle in the time of Edward the Elder, between

the Saxons and the Danes.

Cambridge Heath, a suburb situated in the nortli-cast

of London, partly in Hackney and partly iu Bethnal Green.
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It is traversed by the Regent's C;in;il, and has a station of

the same name on the G.E.R.

Cambridgeshire, an inknd county, hounded on the NW
by Northampton, on the N by Lincoln, on the E by Norfolk

and Sutfolk, on the S by Essex and Herts, and on the W by

Beds and Huntingdon. Its greatest length, from N to S, is

about 50 miles, its gi-eatest breadth about 30 miles, its cir-

cumference about 138 miles, and its area 549,565 acres. The
surface throughout the N is mostly low, level fenland, inter-

sected by canals and ditches, and even elsewhere consists

mainly of low flat tracts, diversified only by hillocks, Onvell

Hill, about 300 feet high, and the bleak, bare range of the

Gogmagog Hills. The chief rivers are the Ouse, the Cam,
the Lark, and the Nene. Alluvial and dilluvial deposits

forai the fen tracts throughout the N, chalk rocks form the

tracts throughout the S, and middle oolite, lower gi-eensand,

and upper greensand rocks form small tracts along the Cam.

Clunch appears about Burwell, and is the material of Ely

Cathedral ; blue clay or gault abounds about Ely, and is used

there for white bricks and earthenware ; and Portland oolite

appears in parts farther N.

The soil is very diversified, and generally fertile. That of

much of the fens is a very rich vegetable mould, that of the

fens about Wisbech is a good loam, that of other parts of the

fens is a strong black earth incumbent on gravel, that of the

chalk tracts is variously clay, loam, chalk, and gravel, and

that of the highest and poorest parts of these tracts is so

thin and incohesive as to be unsuitable for tillage. About
oue-third of the entire area is fenny, and the rest is variously

arable, meadow, and pasture. The farms, for the most part,

are small. The fens, in their several parts and different con-

ditions, yield variously turf-fuel, hay, green crops, hemp,

flas, and rich crops of corn. Other arable tracts yield ex-

cellent wheat, beans, turnips, and sainfoin. Dairy lands

about the centre are famous for butter, and about Cottenham

and Soham for cream cheese, though the production of the

latter has been much diminished of late years. The heath-

lands are depastured by short-woolled sheep, the fen pastures

by long-woolled sheep, and the tracts of different kinds main-

tain great numbers of cattle, draught horses, pigeons, and

wild fowl. The produce of the county consists for the most

part of corn, cattle, sheep, butter, hay, fruit, cabbages,

beans, potatoes, carrots, maugold-wurzel, cole-seed, aspar-

agus (from Ely), osiers, and reeds for thatching.

Agricultural Statistics for lSi)3.

Crops.



CAMDDWR, THE

5G15 ; laundiT-work, 144S ; ami as teachers, 1127. There

were also in the county 174 bhnd persons, 145 deaf, 80 deaf

and dumb, and 064 mentally deranged.

The territoiT now forming Cambridgeshii'e belonged first

to the Iberians, and afterwards to the Iceni. It became part

of the Roman province of Flavia Ciesariensis, and subj^e-

qnently was included mainly in East Anglia and partly in

Mercia. The Danes overran it in 870, held it in subjection

during 50 vears, were driven from it in 1'21 by Edwai'd the

Elder, and again overran it in H'lO. The Isle of Ely was a

separate jurisdiction under the name of South Ginva, andthc

rest of the county took the name of Grentebrigescire or Grant-

bridgeshire. The Isle of Ely made resistance to William

the Conqueror, and held out against him till 1074. The

county in general, and the Isle of Ely in particular, suffered

severely during the civil wars in the times of Stephen, John,

and Henry III., and they stood strongly for the Parliament

in the wai's of Charles I. Icknield Street went along the

southern border, passed Koyston and Hixton, toward New-
market. Ermine Street went across the south-west, north-

north-westward, from Royston toward Godmanchester. The
Via Devana went across the south centre, north-westward

from the \icinity of Linton, past Cambridge toward God-

manchester. The Devil's Ditch goes across the south-east, a

little west of Bui^well. Traces of British earthworks occur at

the Devil's Ditch and at Fleam Dyke. Roman coins, mns,
and other remains have been found at Cambridge, Ely, March,

Soham, Chatteris, W'ilney, the Gogmagog Hills, and other

places. Remains of abbeys and priories occur at Thoniey,

Denny, Cambridge, Isleham, and Barham. Sason or Norman
bits of architecture occur in Ely Cathtdral and in Dusford,

i>timtney, Ickleton. and other churches. Nine castles of note

stood at different places ; but all, except the gateway of one

at Cambridge, have disappeared.

Camddwr, The, a stream of Cardiganshire, rising tmder

Tregaron mountain, and running 7 miles south-eastward to

the Towy, 3 miles above Capel-Ysti*ad-fin.

Camden Place, a seat of the ilarquis of Camden, in the

north-west of Kent, close to Chiselhurst. It was the resi-

dence and death-place of Camden the antiquary, and passing

to Lord Chancellor Pratt, who was raised to the peerage in

1765, gave to him his title of Baron Camden of Camden
Place. The ex-Emperor Napoleon III. came to reside at

Camden Place in 1871 after the termination of the Franco-

German War, and died there in 1873.

Camden Town, a district of London, in St Pancras

parish, Middlesex. It adjoins the north-east side of Regent's

Park, 3^ miles NW of St Paul's, and is intersected by the

Eegent's Canal and by the North London and London and
North-Westem aod Midland railways. It was founded in

1701. and took its name from the first Slarquis of Camden,
the lessee of the manor. It contains good sb-eets, crescents,

-and places. Acreage, 170 : population, 17,416.

Cameley, a parish in Somersetshire, 1^ mile from Halla-

trow station on the G.W.R. It has a post and money order

office under Bristol; telegraph office. Temple Cloud. Acre-

age, 1648
;

population, 465. Bath stone is quarried. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells; net

Talue, £238 with residence. The church is ancient.

Camelford, a small town and a parish in Cornwall. The
town stands on the river Camel, on the skirt of a moorish

upland tract, 12 miles N by E of Bodmin. It has a station

on the L. & S.W.R. from Launceston. The parish bears also

the name of Lanteglos, and is called properly Lanteglos-

by-Camelford. Population. 1570. The manor belongs to

the Duchy of Cornwall. Camelford is an ancient place.

was incorporated by one of the Cornish Earls, sent two
members to Parliament till disfranchised in 1832. Two
battles were fought near it, the one in 543, between King
Arthur and his nephew Mordred, fatal to both; the other in

^23, between Egbert and the Curnishmen. " Ossian " Mac-
pherson represented the borough in Parliament, and Captain
Wallis, the discoverer of Tahiti, was born in its vicinity. The
town has recently undergone considerable improvement, and
jt contains a town-hall, with market-house, a free school, a
p-ammar school, and places of worship for Wesleyans, United
Free Methodists, and Bible Christians. It has a head post

cffice. three banks, inns, and is a scat of petty sessions.

A weekly market is held on Friday, and fairs on the Fridav
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after 10 March, and on -2<) May. 17 and 18 July. G Sep-

tember, the first Friday in Octobi-r, and the second Wednes-
day of November. The town gave the title of Baron to the

Pitts of Boconnoc, and the Smitiis. A deer park, attached

to the manor, was disparked by Henry VIII. Slate and stone

are worked. Traces of an ancient camp are seen on St

Siths Beacon. The church stands 3J mile west of the

town, was restored in 1S66, and contains a fine font, and
monuments of several old Cornish families. A chantry chapel

of the 14th century stood in the town, but was shut up at

the Refonnation, and has disappeared.

Camel, Queen, a village and a parish in Somersetshire.

The village stands near the river Yeo, on an affluent of that

river, 1 mile SW of Sparkford station on the G.W.R., and 6

miles ENE of Ilchester. It has a post, money order, and
telegi-aph office under Bath. Acreage of parish, 2303

;
popula-

tion, 502. A sulphurous spring of some note is half a mile to

the west. The living is a \icarage in the diocese of Bath and
Wells ; value, X200 with residence. The church is very good,

and was restored by Pearson in 1887 at a cost of £3000.

Camel, West, a parish in Somerset, on the river Yeo,

2 miles NW of Marston station on the G.W.II., and 4 EXE of

Ilchester. It includes the hamlets of Downhead and Urga-
shay. It has a post and money order office under Taunton

;

telegraph office, Queen CameL Acreage, 1993; population.

231. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and
Wells; value, £243 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of

Bath and Wells. The church is good,

Camerton, a parish in Somersetshire, on the Fosse Way,
and on the G.W.R., 123 miles from London. The parish

includes part of Carlingcott hamlet. It has a post office

under Bath ; money order and telegi-aph office, Timsbnry.
Acreage, 1782; population of the civil parish, 1877; of the

ecclesiastical, 866. Camerton Park is the seat of the Jarrett

family. Coal is worked. Roman pottery, glass, and other

relics, and remains of Roman villas have been found. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; value,

X393 with residence. The church was restored and a new
chancel built in 1891-92. It contains several very fine tombs
of the Carews. There are chapels for Baptists and Wesleyans.

Camerton, a hamlet in Burtswick parish, E. R. York-
shire, ^ mile from Rye Hill railway station.

Camerton, a township and a parish in Cumberland. The
township hes on the river Derwent, 3 miles E by N of

Workington, and has a station on the L. & X.W.R. Post
town, Workington. Acreage of township, 785 ; population,

245 ; of ecclesiastical parish, 3474. The parish includes

also the township of Seaton, and extends down the Derwent
to the sea. Camerton Hall is a chief residence. Coal is

largely worked, brick and tile making is carried on, and there

are tin-plate and iron works. There are three churches:

—

the ancient parish church at Camerton, of which the Dean
and Chapter of Carlisle are patrons—value, £300 and resi-

dence— rebuilt in 1633 at a cost of £15. also rebuilt in 1794,
and again in 1892 ; St Paul's Church, at Sealon, erected in

1883 as a chapel of ease to the former; and Holy Trinity,

for the new parish of West Seaton, built in 1893 and endowed
to the extent of £340, also provided with a new parsonage.

The patronage of Holy Tiinity has been vested in trustees.

The old church contains the tomb of '' Black Tom of the

Xorth,"' who died in 1152. At Seaton there is a Weslevan
chapel.

Cam-Fell, a mountain 4 miles SSW of Hawes, N. R.

Yorkshire, on the S side of which the river Wharfe takes its

rise. Its height is 1925 feet, and the view from its summit
is very fine.

Camlan, a township in Mallwyd parish, Merionethshire,

on the river Dovey, 2 miles S of Dinas-JIawddwy.

Camlyn, a bay on the N coast of Anglesev, 7 miles W of

Amlwch.
Cammeringham, a parish in Lincolnsliire, on the Wolds,

G miles E of Stuw Park station on the G.X. and G.E. .Toint

I

railways, and 7 XNW of Lincoln, which is the post town;
money order and telegraph office, Ingham. Acreage, 1820 ;

population, 125. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Lincoln; net yearly value, £108, in the gift of Viscount
Osenbridge. The church is an edifice of stone in the Early
English style. The manor and most of the property belong

to Viscount Oxenbridge.
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Camp, a hamlet in Miserdeu parish, Gloucestershire. 6^
miles KE of Stroud. There is a Baptist chapel.

Camp, North, a station on the Reading branch of the

S.E.Pi. , at Aldershot, in Hants. See Aldershot.
Campden, Broad, a hamlet in Chipping Campdeu parish,

Glouce.^ti--r>liire. 1 mile SE of Chipping Campden.

Campden, Chipping. See Chipping Campdkx.
Campsall, a township and a parish in W. E. Yorkshire.

The township is situated li mileW of Askern station on the

L. & Y.R., and 7^ miles N by Wof Doncaster, and includes

the hamlet of Barnsdale. It has a post office under Don-

caster ; money order and telegraph office, Askern. Acreage,

1730 ;
population, 317 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 907.

The parish contains also the townships of Norton and Sutton.

Campsall Park is the seat of the Frank family. The living

is a discharged vicarage in the diocese of York ; value, £261)

with residence. The church is of the 13th century, and has

a beautiful Decorated Norman tower. The nave is in the

Perpendicular style. The vicarage was once a Cistercian

monastery. There is also a Primitive Methodist chapel and

a cemetery.

Campsea-Ash or Ashe-by-Campsea, a small village and

a parish in Sutfolk, 2^ miles from Wickham Mai'ket, on

the East Suffolk railway, and having an important station

at Wickham Market. Campsea-Ash is also the jimction for

Framliugharn. It has a post and money order office under

Wickham Market, which is the telegraph office. Acreage,

1825
;
population, 240. Ashe High House is a fine comitry

seat, the property of the Lowther family. It stands in a

well-timbered park, which abounds with deer. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich ; tithe commuted at

£432. Patron, the Eight Hon. Lord Eendlesham. The

church of St John the Baptist has been restored. It has a

beautiful tower, and a brass to the memory of a priest. A
nunnery of St Clare was founded here in the time of King

.lohn by Theobald de Valoines, and some remains of it are

to be seen at the Abbey Farm.

Campton, a village and a parish in Beds. The village

stands on the river Ivel, 1J mile W of Shefford st.ation on the

M.E., and 6 SW of Biggleswade, and has a post office under

Shefford (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph office, Shefford.

The p.oi'ish includes also the township of Shefford. Acreage,

1607; population of civil parish, 448; of the ecclesiastical,

1438. The living is a rectory, united with the perpetual

cm-aey of Shefford, in the diocese of Ely
;

joint net yearly

\alue, £374 with residence. Both churches are good, and

the mother one has a brass of 1489. Campton church was

restored in 1894. E. Blomfield the poet was bmied here in

1823. The manor house, an ancient country seat, and High-

lands, a handsome building erected in 1876, and Campton

Grange, are chief residences.

Camrose, a village and a parish in Pembrokeshire. The
village stands on an affluent of the river Cleddau, 3J miles

NNW of Haverfordwest, and has a post office (E.S.O.);

money order and telegraph office, Haverfordwest. The parish

includes also the villages of Keeston, Wolfsdale, and Pelcomb.

Acreage, 8367; population, 833. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St David's ; net value, £49 with residence.

There are two dissenting chapels.

Cams Hill, an eminence near Malmesbury, in Wilts. It

was the scene of a battle between Stephen and the Empress

Matilda, and it has three ancient camps, two of them British,

the other supposed to be Saxon.

Can, The, an affluent of the river Chelmer, at a point

near Clu-'hnsford, in Esses.

Canda, The, a stream of Cumberland, running 9 miles

south-westward to the Eden, in the vicinity of Caiiislc.

Candlesby, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2 miles WT^W of

Burgh station on the G.N.E., and 4 ENE of Spilsby. It has

a post office under Burgh (E.S.O.) ; money order and tele-

graph office, Partney. Acreage, 1061
;

population, 236.

Candlesby Hall is a chief residence. Several pieces of old

armoiu- and weapons have been found here. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Lincoln
;
gross yearly value, £200

with residence, in the gift of Magdalen College, Oxford. The
church is a modern edifice of brick.

Candover-Chilton or Chilton-Candover, a parish in

Hants, 6 miles N of New Alresford railway station, and 9i NE
of Winchester. Post town, Alresford; telegraph office, Pres-
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ton-Candover. Acreage, 1451
;
population of the civil parish^

116 ; of the ecclesiastical, 348. The property all belongs to

Lord Ashburton. The living is a rectory, annexed to the

rectory of Brown-Candover, in the diocese of Winchester.

Caudover, Preston, a parish in Hants, in a valley through

which, at a distance of 2 miles, the Candover stream rises and

runs down to the Itchen. It is 6 miles N by E of New Ah-es-

ford railway station, and 12 NE of Winchester. It has a

post, money order, and telegraph office imder Basingstoke.

Acreage, 3457
;
population of the dvi\ palish, 435 ; of the

ecclesiastical, 672. The living is a vicarage, united with the

perpetual curacy of Nutley, in the diocese of Winchester;

value, £250. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Winchester.

The old church of the Virgin Mary has been pulled down,

with the exception of the chancel, now used as a mortuary

chapel, and the new clim'ch is situated in the centre of the

village. There is a Primitive Jlcthodist cliapel.

Canewdon, a village and a parish in Essex. The village

stands on the river Crouch, 3h miles NNE of Eochford, and

6^ N of Southend railway stations. It has a post office

under Eochford (E.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph office.

Eochford. Canute the Dane held his court here, and the

name Canewdon is a corruption of Canute's Town. A Eoman
st.ation also was here, and several Eoman urns and a torso

have been found. The parish includes part of Wallasea, for-

merly an islaud, but now joined to the mamland. Acreage,-

6239
;
population, 597. The living is a vicarage in the dio-

cese of St Albans; net value, £289 with residence, in the

gift of the Dean and Chapter of Westminster. The church

is Later EngUsh, has a massive tower, and is very good.

There is a Congregational chapel.

Canfield, Great, a parish in Essex, on the river Eoding,.

3 miles SW from Dunmow station on the G.E.R. It has a

post office under Dunmow ; money order and telegraph office,

Takeley. Acreage, 2490 ;
population, 313. There are-

remains of a moated castle, built by the De Veres. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans ;
yearly value,

£108 with residence. The church is an edifice of stone-

partly of Norman date, and has some interesting brasses and

memorials.

Canfield, Little, a parish in Essex, on the river Eoding,.

and on the G.E.E,, 3 milesW by S of Dunmow, under which

it has a post office ; money order and telegraph office, Takeley.

Acreage, 1492; population, 286. The living is a rectoiy in

the diocese of St Albans
;
yearly value, £281 with residence,,

m the gift of Christ's College, Cambridge. The church is

partly ancient, partly a renovation of 1817, pai'tly a recon-

struction of 1859, shows Norman, Perpendicular, and Deco-

rated characters in fine blending, and contains a richly

sculptured monument, erected by the Rev. C. L. Smith, M.A.,

the late rector, to the memory of his mother.

Canford, Great, or Canford Magna, a village and a

parish in Dorset. The village stands on the river Stem',

near the S.W.E., 2 miles E of Wimhornc-Minster. The

parish contahis also the village of Little Canford, and the

tithings of Kinson, Longfieet, and Parkstone, extends south-

ward to Poole harbour, and includes part of Poole borough.

It has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Wim-
borne. Acreage, 7846

;
population of the civil parish, 1416;

of the ecclesiastical, 1194. The manor belonged once to

John of Gaunt, belongs now to the Wimborne family, and is

of great extent. The mansion on it, Canford Hall, occupies

the site of an Ursuline convent, is an edifice in the Tudor

style, built in 1826 for Lord de Manly, includes remains of

the convent kitchen, with two huge fireplaces, and has a very

fine hall. A gallery, connected by a cloister with the man-

sion, contains Assyrian sculptures from Nineveh, and drives

go through fir woods to the vicinity of Poole. The living is

a vicarage in the diocese of Salisbmy ; value, £327 with resi-

dence. Patron, Lord Wimbome. The church has Norman

features, particularly in the tower, and contains monuments

by Bacon to the Willetts of Meriy : it was restored in 1876

and 1878.

Canford, Little, a village in Great Canford parish, Dor-

setshire. 2 miles NE of Great Canford.

Canklow, a hamlet in Whistou parish, in the W. E. York-

shire, 2 miles SSE of Eotherham.

Canley, a hamlet in Stoueleigh parish, Warwickshire, 2

miles SW of Coventrv.
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Caun, ui Shaston-St-Rumbold, a paiisli in Dorsctsliii-c,

on the verge of the county, adjoining Shaftesbury, and i^

miles SSE of Semley railway station. Post town, Shaftes-

buiT, which is the money order and telegraph ofHcc. Acre-

age, 987 ;
population, 501. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Salisbury; value, £200. Patron, the Earl of

Shaftesbury. There are two Primitive Methodist chapels.

Cann-Hall, a locality adjacent to Epping Forest, Esses,

J a mile N by W of Forest Gate railw.ay station, and oj miles

NE of St Paul's, London.

Cannings, All. See Allcannings.
Cannings-Bishops. See Bishops-C^vnnings.

Cannington, a village, a parish, and a htmdi'ed in Somcr-

setshii'e. The viUiige stands 2 miles SSW of a bend of the

river Parret, and Si NW by W of Bridgewater railway

station. It dates from ancient times, was known to the

Saxons as Caninganmaersees, had a Benedictine nunnery,

founded in the time of King Stephen by Robert de Com'cy,

and is supposed to have been the birthplace of the Fair Rosa-

mond of ballad notoriety. The p.-uish includes also the ham-
lets of Edstock and Beer, and impinges some distance on the

Pan-et, Post, money order, and telegraph office under Bridge-

water. Acreage, 4076; population, 1147. Cannington

House is the seat of the Clifford family ; Biyuiore, the seat

of the Bouvcrie family. Kit Hill in the vicinity lias an alti-

tude of 1067 feet. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Bath and Wells ; value, £240, in the gift of the Bishop

of Bath and Wells. The church was part of the Benedictine

nunnery, is Later English and fine, and contains tombs of

the Cliffords. It was restored in 1885. There are a Roman
Catholic chapel, a Congregational chapel, and almshouses.

Canning Town, a populous district and wai'd in the muni-
cipal and county borough of West Ham, Essex. It is in-

cluded in the area under the control of the metropolitan

police, and is in the eastern metropolitan postal district.

The G.E.R. has three stations—viz.. Canning Town, Barking

Road ; Custom House, Lilliput Road ; and Tidal Basin, Vic-

toria Dock Road—in this district. It has also a goods depart-

ment at the Victoria and Albert Dock, as have the G.N.R..

L. & N.W.R., and M.R. The docks at Canning Town are of

immense extent and capacity. The Victoria (London) docks,

excavated out of Plaistow Marsh and opened in 1855, cover

an area of 200 acres, with an entrance lock 80 feet wide,

and have nearly 28 feet depth at Trinity high water. The
Koyal Albert Docks, opened in 1880, consist of a prolonga-

tion in an easterly direction of the Victoria Docks, with which
they are connected with a canal 80 feet wide. They have a
water area of 175 acres, graving and dry docks, .and a fine

entrance 80 feet wide at Galleons Reach below Woolwich. A
further enlargement of the Galleons basin was opened in 1886,
with a new entrance from the Thames. In addition to the

docks the industries of the district comprise chemical manu-
factories, creosote works, and iron shipbuilding yards. The
district includes the ecclesiastical parishes of Holy Trinity,

St Luke's, and St Gabriel's, all in the diocese of St Albans.

Holy Trinity parish was formed in 1868 from the parishes of

West Ham and Plaistow. The living is a vicai'age
;
gross

yearly value, from the Ecclesiastical Commissioners, £250
with residence, in the gift of the Lord Chancellor. The
church is modem. The parish of St Luke's was formed in

1875 from that of West Ham. The living is a vicarage
;

yearly value, £260 from the Ecclesiastical Commissioners

;

and the church, an edifice of brick, was erected in 1874. St
Gabriel's parish was formed in 1879 from the parishes of

West Ham and St Wary and St Andrew, Plaistow. The
living is a vicai-age

;
yearly value, £603, including residence,

in the gift of the Lord Chancellor-. The church is a plain

building of brick in the Early English style. There are also

two mission churches and Baptist, Catholic, Congregational,

Free Methodist, Presbyterian, Primitive Methodist, and Wes-
leyan chapels. An hospital for seamen and others in connec-
tion with the Seamen's Hospital at Greenwich was opened in

1890 at the Albei-t and Victoria Docks.

Cannock, a market-town and the head of a poor law
anion, and a parish in Staffordshire. The town stands near
Watlirrg Street, 8 miles KNW of Walsall, and has a station

on the L. & N.W.R., and a post, money order, and tele,gr'.aph

ofEce under Stafford. The town is governed by a local board
of 12 members. A fine new hall was erected in 1890 on the
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site of the old brewery, and includes a recreation room at the

back for young men. It is well supplied with water. The
public rooms, erected in 1862, include a large ball for

lectures or concerts, a room for magistrates' meetings, and
a reading-room. The market hall is a brick building of

1869. The markets are held on Saturdays and fairs on 8
May, 24 August, and 18 October. There is a good bowling

green in the centre of the town. There is a cemeteiy of

4 acres under the control of a burial board. The making of

edge-tools is carried on. There are also brick and tile nranu-

factories and some collieries in the neighbourhood. Two
weekly newspapers are pnbhshed. The parish also includes

the township of Huntingdon, the hamlet of Leacroft, Hednes-
ford, now a separate ecclesiastical parish, and Bridgetown,

practically a suburb of Cannock. Acreage, 9313
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 20,808 ; of the ecclesiastical, 11,211.

JIuch of the surface is part of the ancient forest, and par-

takes its char.acter of moor and mineral. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Lichfield ; value, £315 with resi-

dence, and allowance for two curates. Patrons, the Dean
and Chapter of Lichfield. The church of St Luke's belongs

to the Late Perpendicular period, was repaired in 1752 and
1849, and restored in 1882. Dr Sacheverell was for some
time cur.ate here. St Chad's Church, Chadmoor, a chapel of

ease to St Luke's, was erected in 1891. There are h'on and
school churches in the parish, also Roman Catholic, Congre-
gational, Wesleyan, Primitive, New Connexion Methodist,

and Plymouth Brethren chapels, and a Cluistadelphian place

of worship.

Cannock Chase, an ancient forest in Staffordshire, ex-

tending from the vicinity of Bednall and Rugeley to Lich-

field. It has an area of about 25,000 acres, and was
anciently a hunting-ground of the Mercian and the Norman
kings. It long was covered with wood, but is now bleak,

moorish, and wild, yet is so rich in coal and ironstone as to

have been much encroached upon both for mining and for

cultivation. Large portions of it present the attractions of a
hill coimtry, and some spots have ancient standing-stones,

supposed to be Dr-uidical. Castle Hill in it is crowned by an
ancient British double-trenched camp of 8 or 10 acres, and
commands a good view. A place called the Old Nunnery, at

Kadmore, near Castle Hill, was the site of a Cistercian abbey
founded in the time of Stephen, and soon transfen-ed to Stone-
leigh, in Warwickshire.

Cannock Wood, a township in Cannock parish, Stafford-

shire, near Cannock. It forms part of Hednesford ecclesias-

tical parish.

Cann Office, a village in Llangadfan parish, Montgomery-
shire, 6J miles WNW of Llanfair. It has a post and money
order office under Welshpool ; telegraph office, Llanfair Caer-

cinion. It is a resort of anglers.

Cannonby, Cross. See Cross Canosby.
Cann Quarry, an excavation in dark blue sl.ite, 4J miles

NNE of Plymouth, in Devonshire. It is finely overhung by

foliage, and has workings of the slate by water machinery.

Cann, St Rumbold. See Canx.
Canonbury, an ancient manor in Islington, 2 miles N of

St Paul's, Loudon. It belonged at the Conquest to Ralph de

Berners, was given by him to the priory of St Bartholomew,
went at the dissolution to Lord Cromwell, afterwards Earl of

Essex, and passed to successively the Earl of Warwick, Sir

John Spencer, and Lord Compton, ancestor of the Marquis of

Northampton. Canonbniy House on it was birilt about 1362
as a mansion of the priors of St Bartholomew ; and Cauon-
bmy tower, 17 feet square and 68 feet high, was added to the

house either by Bolton the last prior or by Sir John Spencer.

Newberry the booksellor, C. Smart the poet, Chambers the

cyclopxdist, and Oliver Goldsmith had apartments in the

tower, and the last is s.aid to have written his '* Vicai' of

Wakefield " there. The manor is now built upon, and two
suites of buildings on it are called Canonbury Square and
Canonbury Grove.

Canon Frome, a village and a parish in Herefordshire, on
the river Frome, 2 miles N of Ashperton station, on the

G.W.R., and 6 NW by N of Ledbury, under which there is

a post office ; money order office. The Trumpet ; telegraph

office, Bosbuiy. Acreage of the civil parish, 1053 ; popu-

l.ation. 114 ; of the ecclesiastical, 284. Canon Frome Court,

the seat of the Hopton family, is a handsome brick mansioQ
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cf the 18th century, replacing the old manor house, wliicli

was gan-isoned for Cliarles I., and taken in 1645 after a

vigorous resistance. The living is a rectory with the rectory

of Munsley annexed in the diocese of Hei'eford
;

joint net

value, £250 with residence. The church was built in 1S61,

is in the Early English style, with richly decorated chancel

and marble reredos, and retains the tower of a previous

church of Queen Anne's reign. Munsley church, restored in

1S61, retains its ancient features. It has a curious Saxon

inscription on a stone, and a chest cut out of a solid tree.

Canongate, a township in Alnwick parish, Northumber-

land, adjoining and forming part of Alnwick, with which its

pupulution is included. Thereare gasworks in this township.

Canon-Pyon, a parish in Herefordshire, 4^ miles SE of

Weobley, and 5 WNW of Moreton-on-Lug station on the

Shrewsbuiy and Hereford joint (L. & N.W. and G.W.) raii-

W'ay. It has a post olBce underHereford ; money order office,

"Wellington ; telegraph office, Weobley. Acreage, S749; popu-

lation, 611. The Great House and Pyon House are the

\.'hief residences. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Hereford; value, £259. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Hereford. The chmxh, which was restored in 1870, is partly

Korman and Early English, and has a large old font and a

rscreen.

Canons, a property in Little Stanmore parish, iliddlesex,

1^ mile N\V of Edgeware. It belonged to the priory of St

Bartholomew, went at the dissolution to the Losses, and

passed to the Lakes and to the first Duke of Cbandos, the

" Timon " of Pope. A palace was built on it by the Duke of

Chandos, and pulled down in 1747. Canons Park here was

the residence of the sportsman OTvelly, and figured in con-

nection with his famous horse "Eclipse."

Canons-Ashby, a village and a parish in Northampton-

shire, 1 mile N from Morton Pinckney station on the East

and West Junction railway, and G miles W from Towcester.

Post town, Byfield (R.S.O.) ; money order and telegraph

office, Byfield. Acreage, 1830; population, 38. Here is the

seat of the Dryden family, an ancient quadraugular building

«nclosing a court which stands in a well-stocked deer park

of 37 acres. The living is a chaplaincy in the gift of Sir

H. E. L. Diyden, Bart., and in the diocese of Peterborough.

The church is a building of stone in the Transition style be-

tween E:u'ly English and Decorated, and it contains portions

of the old monastic church founded in the time of Henry 11.

Canonteign, the seat of Viscount Exmouth, in Devon,

en the river Teign, 8 miles SW of Exeter. The mansion is

an elegant edifice, erected by the late Viscount, and contains

many fine pictures. The previous mansion was built in the

time of Elizabeth, was garrisoned for Charles I. and taken

by Fairfax, and is now used as a farmhouse. The remains

of the hero of Algiers were interred in the neighbouring

church of Christow.

Canteloff, an ancient parish, now incorporated with

Hethersett paiish, in Norfolk, but still ranking as a distinct

rectory, annexed to the rectory of Hethersett.

Canterbury, a parliamentary and municipal borough, and

a county borough in Kent. It is also a county in itself.

It is the metropolitan see of all England, the capital of

the county, an important market-town, a principal station

on the L.C. & D.R., and also on the Ashford and Jlargate

branch of the S.E.R., is 55 miles from London by road and
<J2 by railway, 14 from Margate, 16 from Dover, and 7 from

Whitstable. Its site is a valley surrounded by hills, its

appearance as seen from any point is highly picturesque, and
its environs are diversified and very pleasant. Canterbury

returned two members to Parliament until the Redistribution

cf Seats Act in 1885, when it was deprived of one. Area

ef the parliamentaiy borough, 3S34 acres; population,

22,710; area of the county and municipal borough, 3971
seres; population, 23,062.

History.—Canterbury rose prior to the era of authentic

histoi-y, and comes into view as a British town under the

came of Dwrhwern. The Romans made it one of their prin-

'Cipal stations, rebuilt and strengthened it over nearly the

whole area occupied by the modern town, and called it Duro-
vernum. The Saxons made it the capital of the kingdom of

Kent, and called it Cantwarabyrig, " the stronghold of the

men of Kent." The arrival of Augustine in 597, followed

J.'y the conversion of Ethelbert, gave it consequence as the
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source of Christianity to England, and as the cradle of the

metropolitical see. The Danes took it in 843, 852, 918, and
1011, but were repelled successively by Elfleda and Canute.
It had a castle before the Conquest, and was called Civitas

Cantnarife at Domesday. It had begun at the fall of the

heptarchy to be eclipsed by Winchester and London, and it

continued for ages to decrease in comparative importance,

but at the murder of Thomas a Becket in its cathedral in

1170 it burst into celebrity as one of the most notable towns
in Em-ope. Pilgi-ims of all ranks from all parts of Christen-

dom crowded to its gates, and the romancers placed it side

by side with Cologne and Compostella.

Walls and Streets.—Walls most probably were built around
the town by the Romans, walls certainly stood around it in

the time of the Saxons, new walls and a ditch were formed
in the time of Richard I., and these were renovated in 1374-
81 by Archbishop Simon of Sudbury, The area within them
has been found to contain many Roman bricks, pavements,

vases, lachrymatories, and personal ornaments at about 6 or

9 feet beneath the surface, and therefore was occupied by
Roman houses. The walls were 6 feet thick, composed of

large masses of chalk cemented with a strong mortar and
lined and faced with flint, were surmounted by twenty-one

tmTets at equal distances, and had six gates. Portions of

the walls, with two or three of the tm-rets, still stand in

Broad Street, and on the south side of Dane John. The
west gate also still stands contiguous to the river, and is

a noble embattled structure flanked by two lofty round
towers. The ditch arouud the walls was originally 150
feet wide, but most of it is now built upon or converted

into gardens, the chief of which is the picturesque Dane
Jolin. Part of the present town is without the walls, and
much is modern, handsome, and substantial, but most of

it within the walls is ancient. The High Street presents

gabled ends and projecting fronts. Alleys and lanes toward
the cathedral and its precincts look antiquely picturesque.

Mercery Lane, leading off the High Street, was named from
the mercery-stalls at which pilgrims bought memorials of

their visit, and contains some window arches of the " Checquers

of the Hope," noted by the lively and laughter-loving Chaucer,

and the first opening west of this lane shows part of the court

into which the pilgrims rode. An inn still standing, called

the Red Lion, entertained the ambassadors of Charles V. in

1520, and another ancient but modernized inn, called the

Star, in the suburb of St Dunstan, on the way from the rail-

way station to the centre of the city, was a hostel for pilgrims

who arrived after the shutting of the gates at nightfall.

Public Buildings.—The guildhall, situated in High Street,

was built in 1439 and rebuilt in 1697, has been exteriorly

modernized, and contains pieces of ancient armour and some
curiuus portraits. In 1880 the whole of the interior was
rearranged and redecorated. The court or sessions-house is

a modern structure in the suburb of St Augustine. The
prison, a red brick building, adjoins the court-house in the

suburb of St Augustine, is an erection of 1808 on the radiat-

ing plan, with the keeper's house and chapel in the centre.

The music hall is in St Margaret Street. The theatre is in

Guildhall Street, was built in 1861, and will hold 800 persons.

The royal cavalry barracks were built in 1794, form three

sides of a square, and present a striking appearance. The
old infantry barracks were built in 1798, with accommoda-
tion for 2000 men, formed for some time a station for the

horse and foot artillery, and are now used for depots of

cavalry. The present infanti-y barracks were built in 1811.

The military hospital is situated behind the barracks. The
keep of the ancient castle stands in Castle Sti-eet, adjacent

to the site of one of the city gates, measures 88 feet by 80,

and is now occupied by the Gas and Water Works Company.
The castle was taken without resistance in the time of King
John by Louis of France, became afterwards a prison, and
was notable for the incarceration of the Jews. The mound
on which the donjon stood (now called the Dane John), has,

along with part of the city walls, been converted into a city-

mall 1130 feet long, laid out in spiral walks and shrubberies,

and commands a grand view of the cathedral. An adjacent

field outside the walls was the scene of the martyrdoms in

the reign of Mary, and bears the name of the Martyrs' Field.

The Archbishop's palace, founded in the time of the Saxons,

rebuilt by Lanfranc and extended by Hubert Walter and
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Stephen Laiigton, stood in Palace Street, and its n

now used partly as tlie junior department of the King's

Scliool, and partly as the liouse of the surveyor of the chapter.

This was the scene of the deatli of the Blaclc Prince, of the

prelude of the murder of Thomas a Becket, of the bridal feast

of Edward I., and of banquets to Henry VIII., Charles V., and

Elizabeth. The Canterbury Museum and Free Library, in

Guildhall Street, was founded in 1826. The library has over

5000 volumes. The museum contains many curiosities and

Komau antiquities. There is a school of art in connection with

the Ai't Department, South Kensington. A swimming bath in

Whitehall Road was built in 1S76. The Agricultm-al Hall,

a veiy fine building just outside the city wall, is much used

for cattle and flower shows. The IVIasonic Temple, situated

in St Peter's Street, is a fine building. The town has an

excellent system of sewage ; the works are situated on the

Stun-y Road. The cattle market is a large one ; the markets

are held fortnightly on Mondays. Other markets are held

on Wednesday and Saturday in each week.

The Cathedral.—A chuxxh was built by St Augustine on

the site of the cathedral, greatly injui-ed by the Danes in 938,

restored by Archbishop Ido in 940-60, damaged again by the

Danes in 1011, and almost destroyed by lire in 1067; it

contained the bodies of St Blaize, St Wilfred, St Dunsian,

St Alphege, and St Andoen, the heads of St Swithin aud St

Furseus, and the arm of St Bartholomew. The present

edifice was commenced in 1070-86 by Archbishop Laufranc,

extended, altered, and restored by successive prelates till

1495, and has undergone great and costly renovations. It

exhibits, in its various parts, all the styles of architecture,

from Early Norman to Perpendicular, makes grand displays

of them, both in their respective features and in their junc-

tions with one another, and is especially rich aud large in

Transition Norman aud Perpendiculai' English. It has a

crypt with vaulted roof 14 feet high, supported on massive

pillars, and the whole building stands aloft on a height of base

aud with a force of character unsurpassed in any other cathedral,

dominating over the city around it like an abrapt, isolated, spiry

hill over some miles of plain. It consists of a south porch;

a nave of nine bays, with aisles; a central transept, with two

chapels ; a choir of sis bays, with aisles ; a choir- transept, with

two apsidal chapels in each wing; a presbytery of two bays,

with aisles, and with northern and southern apsidal chapels

;

an eastern ambulatory, with aisles ; a main apsidal chapel of

four bays, with magnificent procession-path and aisles ; and
a circular structure to the east of this, called Beckefs

Crown; and it has a central tower and two western towers.

The dimensions of the cathedral are—nave, 2'20 feet long

and 72 in breadth ; choir, 180 feet in length and 40 in

width; great transept, 124 feet long; choir transept, 154
feet long; cloisters, 144 feet squai'e; Trinity chapel, 71 feet

long and 69 in breadth; external length, 530 feet; iuteraal

length, 514 feet; western towers, 167 feet in height; central

or Bell Harry Tower, 235 feet; including its pinnacles, 249
feet. The nave has no triforium; the main transept has no

aisles ; the chou" is approached by noble flights of stairs, and
offers the earliest instance of the pointed arch in England;
the screen is of the 15th century, with niched imagei-y of

founders and saints, and was recently restored ; the throne

was carved by Flemish workmen, and cost £1200 ; the pulpit

is of stone, by Butterfield, and was put up in 1846 ; the main
apsidal chapel is approached by broad flights of stairs, con-

tained the gorgeous shrine of St Thomas a Becket, and has a
curious mosaic pavement, with the signs of the zodiac; the

central tower is of two stages, with octagonal turrets at the

angles, and has been called " the glory of all towers;'' and
the western towers are each of six stages and much beauty,

one of them rebuilt in 1840 at a cost of £25,000. Eftigies,

altar-tombs, and other monuments, in gi*eat variety, are dis-

persed through the various parts of the pile to the memory
of the archbishops and many other notable persons, including

Henry IV., Queen Joan of NavaiTe, Edward the Black Prince

(whose surcoat, gauntlets, and shield hang above his tomb),
a Lady Mohun, a Countess of Athole, Admiral Sir G. Rooke,
Sir John Boys, Hadiian Saravia, Orlando Gibbons, W. Shuck-
ford, Odo Coligny, a Marquis of Dorset, aud a Duke of

Clarence.

The edifice served, throughout Roman Catholic limes, both
as a cathedral and as a conventual church. A Benedictine
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priory stood connected with it. and was known as the con-

vent of Christ's Church. A massive wall surrounded the

precincts, and served at once for defence and for seclusion.

The passage from the priory led to the choir- transept througti

a circular- chamber, now used .as a baptisteiy. The old

library, on the site of the prior's chapel, contains many valu-

able books and manuscripts belonging to the late venerable

Benjamin Harrison, M.A., archdeacon of JIaidstone. The
Cathedral librai-y contains a large collection of Greek and
Roman coins and old Bibles. The Chapter House, approached

from the east walk, is a fine building with an exquisitely

cai'ved roof of Irish oak; its dimensions ai'e—90 feet long,

37 broad, and 54 high. The cloisters are on the north sido

of the nave, measm^e 144 feet by 144, and have eight bays

on every side. " The space southwai-d of the choir formed

the cemetery, or God s acre, sown with the seed of the resur-

rection. ' The Oaks ' was the convent garden ; the Norman
doorway is in the precinct gate eastwai'd of the choir. The
ancient stone house on the left side turning round the Becket's

Crown formed the Honours, the guest-hall (a nave and aisles-

150 feet by 40 feet), for the reception of visitors. Con-
siderable remains of the iufirmary are observable, the chapei

and common-hall, of flint, with three tall pointed windows,

built in 1342. Near it was St Thomas' well. At this point;

occms ' the Dark Entry,' a Noiman cloister built by Prior

Wibert about 1167, with a curious bell-shaped tower, which

sei-ved as the monks' conduit; above it is now the baptistery.

On one side is the gate of the gi*eat cloisters. The arch and
ruins towards the Green Couit ai-e those of La Gloriette, the

prior's rooms built by Prior Hathbrand in 1379. Pjissing

the chapter, once the prior's chapel library, the Prior's or

Court Gate leads into the Green Court. In the Green Couit

is the Deaneiy, a fine house, containing the portraits of many
former deans of Canterbury. It was built by Dean Godwiis

in 1570, after a fii*e on the site of the Prior's lodgings. lu

it Hooper welcomed Queen Maiy. At the north-east corner

a large gateway opens into the foUings or foreigns, the space

beyond the conventual jurisdiction. On the north side were

the ancient dean's great hall, water-house, granary, refectory,

frater-house, brew-house, bake-house, and domestic build-

ings, among which great part of the dormitory remains, with

a gateway and steps. At the north-west angle is the Nor-
man precinct gate of the priory, which stood on the south

side of the court ; the back entrance to it or Larder Gate still

remains. At the south-west angle is the arched door which
led to the palace. The strangers' hall was on the west side.

In the north-west angle is likewise the Norman staircase,

with an open arcade which led into the north hall, 150 feet

by 40 feet, allotted to the stewards of the prior court; the

arches on which it was supported alone remain ; above them
the King's School was built by Jlr Austen iu 1855. They
form a passage into the Mint yard. It is the only staircase

of the period known to be in existence. In the King's School

were educated Haiwey the physician, Lord Thurlow, and
Lord Tenterden. Within the ancient almonry, on the north-

west of the Green Court, stood the chantry of St Thomas ai

Becket, which Henry VIII. converted into a mint, and Car-

dinal Pole made the King's school. In the high wall, pro-

bably a portion of Lanfranc's building, leading to the north-

west entrance of the cathedj*al, are the remains of the covered

way to the cloisters, by which the primates entered, but their

ordinary approach was through a large gateway with a square

tower of fiint and ashlai-."

Ancient MonasteHes.—An abbey was founded by St

Augustine outside the walls iu the eastern suburb of Long-
port. It was designed by him mainly as a mausoleum for

bishops and kings ; it became the burial-place of himself and
his successors, and of Ethelbert and his successors ; it pos-

sessed much gi'andeur as an edifice, and great wealth and
consequence as a monastery ; it was always regarded as more
sacred and important than the cathedral, till the latter out-

shone it by means of the glory of Becket's shrine, and it

competed to the last with the convent of Christ Churcli iu'

the splendours and fetes of its guest-hall. The buildings of

it were greatly injured at the Reformation, were, some time

after, partly converted into a royal palace, were subsequently

given to Lord Woton, were several times damaged by fire

and by flood, were eventually degraded to the uses of a
brewery, and were purchased in 1844 by Mr Beresford
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Hope, and the An<;ustine Missionary College was erected on

the site. Richard II. and his queen were guests in the abbey,

in its orighial condition ; and Elizabeth, Cbarles I., Hen-
rietta, and Charles II. were in it when a palace. The
guest-hall is preserved in the refectory of the missionary

college ; but the only other portions of it which remain

are some wall fragments of late Norman character, the ceme-

tery gate built in the time of Richard 11., and a superb great

gateway built in 1287, flanked by two tun-ets and embattled.

A ruined chapel, 31 feet by 21, at the north-east angle of

the cemetery, was originally Ethelbert's heathen place of

worship, was changed, at his conversion, into a Christian

church, dedicated to St Pancras, and was rebuilt in 1387.

A Dominican friary, in St Peter's Street, was founded in the

time of Henry III., and has left considerable remains. Part

of it was formed into private dwellings and a wool-house,

part became a Baptist meeting-house, and the refectory, with

windows high in the wall, is now a Unitarian cbapel, and was

noted for the preaching of Defoe. A Franciscan friary, in the

same vicinity, was founded in 1220, but has disappeared.

Lord Badlesmere, stewai*d of the household to Edward II.,

and many otlier men, were bui-ied in it. A priory of St

Gregory, for Augustinian Black canons, in Northgate Street,

was founded by Lanfranc, but also has disappeared. A
house of the Knights-Templars stood near the Dominican

friary, and after the suppression of the Templars was used

by the priests of the Black Prince's chantry. A Benedictine

nunnery, in the eastern suburb, contiguous to Watling Street,

about J mile from the city walls, was founded by Ai-chbishop

Anselm, had, for one of its nuns, Elizabeth Barton, the
" Maid of Kent," after her removal from Aldington, and has

left some small remains.

Churches.— The benefices of the city were rearranged under

a commission issued by Ai'chbishop Tait, and consist of St

^lildred with St Mary de Castro, in the gift of the Lord

Chancellor; of St Alphage with All Saints, St Dunstan, St

Gregory the Great with St Mary Northgate, St Martin with

St Paul, and St Peter with Holy Cross, all in the gift of

the Archbishop; St George with St Mary Magdalene, in the

gift of the Dean and Chapter ; St Blargaret with St Andrew
and St Mai'y Brcdman, in the gift of the Ai'chdeacon of Can-
terbury; and St Maiy Bredin, in the gift of the Simeon
Trustees.

St Mildred's Church occupies the site of a previous church,

is partly Later English, consists of three aisles and three

chancels, with a square tower, includes Roman bricks in its

walls, and contains monuments of the Attwoods, the Cran-

mers, and others. St Alphage's Chmxh, in Palace Street, is

of considerable antiquity ; consists of two aisles and two

chancels, with a square tower, and has some cua'ious epitaphs.

St Andrew's Church superseded a previous one about 17(J3,

is a brick structure, and consists of two aisles and a chancel,

and is now used as a mission hall. St Jlary Bredman's Church
shows Norman features, and has a monument of Heme, the

historian of Reculver. St Dunstan's Church, without the walls,

is a modernized ancient structure, with Norman features ; con-

sists of two aisles, a small western chancel, and two lai'ge

eastern ones, with western tower and contiguous half-circular

tower, and contains a piscina, a font, an ancient chaotry, and
the burial vault of the Kopers, with the head of Sir Thomas
More. A brick gateway nearly opposite, now part of a

brewery, is a remnant of the Roper's manor-house, where

Margaret, the learned daughter of Sir Thomas Slore, spent

her married life. St George's Chmxh is a modernized

ancient Norman structm'e, consists of two chancels and two

aisles, with a square tower and a narrow turret, and contains

an ancient octagonal font and a brass of 1531. St Gregory's

Church, situated near the Military Road, erected by Scott in

1848 as a memorial to Archbishop Howley, is in the Early

English style. St Slargaret's Chtu'ch, in St Margaret Street,

lias suffered nmch from mutilation, was partially restored in

1831, coubists of three chancels and three aisles, with a

square tower, and contains a monument of Somner, the city

historian. St ilartin's Church, without the walls, on a bill,

with a fine view, about half a mile from the cathedral, was
originally the oratory of Queen Bertha, became the first

church or cathedral of St Augustine, and afterwards the

church of a resident suffragan bishop, is a small edifice, re-

built at a remote date on the site of the original chuj'ch and
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Including portions of that church's walls, with Roman bricks

and fragments of Roman mortar. Dean Stanley called it

"The Mother Church of England;" and, without doubt, it

would be hard to find its equal. It has been well restored,

has modern stained glass windows, with subjects of its early

history, and contains a large Norman font, traditionally

alleged to have been that in which Ethelbert was baptized.

Byzantine and Merovint^an looped coins have been found in

the churchyard. St Paul's Church is Early English, com-
prises two chancels and two aisles, with a rudely-formed

square tower, and contains a very curious pillared font, and
a tomb of Admiral Rooke. St Martin and St Paul con-

stitute a united parish. St ]\Iary Bredin's Church was
originally Norman, was rebuilt in 1S67 at a cost of £4000,
and is in the Early English style, of flint with dressings of

Bath stone. St Peter's Chm-ch, situated in St Peter's Street,

has very thick walls, curious square columns, and an old

square font. Holy Cross Church, close to Westgate, was re-

built about 1381, and consists of three aisles and a chancel,

with a square tower. St Peter and Holy Cross constitute a

united parish. There are a Jews' synagogue, meeting houses

for the Society of Friends and Plymouth Brethren, and
Congi'egational, Presbyterian, Baptist, and "Wesleyan chapels.

The Catholic Church, situated in Burgate, dedicated to St

Thomas, is most beautifully decorated, and contains several

very fine shrines and font with carved oak canopy. The
cemetery, neai' the WTiitstable Road, comprises an area of 12

acres.

Schools, ^-c.—The King's School, already incidentally

mentioned, was founded by Henry VIII. A blue-coat school

was founded by the city corporation out of a gift by Queen
Elizabeth of an hospital and its lands, but has been merged

in a new scheme, called the Simon Langton Schools, capable

of educating about 300 boys and girls at moderate fees. St

Augustine's Missionai'y College, at St Augustine's Abbey,

was incorporated in 1848, consists of warden, sub-warden,

and sis fellows; trains young men for the service of the

Chm-ch of England in the distant dependencies of the empire,

possesses endowments and exhibitions from a number of

different benefactors, and forms a quadrangle, including hall,

chapel, library, cloisters, and corridor, in the monastic style,

by Buttertield. The philosophical Institution, in Guildhall

Street, was built by subscription in 1826, is an oi-namental

edifice, with Ionic portico, and contains a museum with some
interesting collections.

Eastbridge Hospital was founded either by Lanfranc or by

Becket, originally to receive ' wayfaring and hurt men,"

maintains inmates, and gives out-door relief, is connected

with a school for 20 children founded by Whitgift, and has

an income of £512. St John's Hospital was founded by

Lanfranc, was recently restored, includes an ancient arched

wooden gateway, and has an income of £485. Harbledown

Hospital also was founded by Lanfranc, possesses still its

original chapel, and has an income of £208. Jesus' Hospi-

tal was founded in 1595 by Sir John Boys, for persons above

55 years of age, and has an income of £618. Maynard

and Cotton's Hospital was founded in the time of Henry IL,

and has an income of £244. Cogan's Hospital, for clergy-

men's widows, was founded in 1657, and has an income of

£248. Hackington Hospital has £26, Smith's almshouses

£260, Harris's £68. The Kent and Canterbury Hospital

contains about 100 beds, and is liberally supported by annual

subscriptions. Two additional wings have been added.

Trade, cfr.—Relic-making and the supplying of the wants

of pilgiiras were the only trade in the Roman Catholic times.

Silk-weaving was introduced by refugee Walloons and French

Protestants after the Reformation. This flourished for a

period, but gave place to the manufacture of cotton and silk,

and that also has ceased. Some trade in wool is now carried

on, but the chief source of industry is the export of agi'icul-

tural produce, especially hops. The city has two banks.

The chief trading establishments ai-e tanneries, brickfields,

linen weaving, limekilns, breweries, and rope walks. Several

good weekly newspapers are published. The city is famous

for its cricket matches, held on a fine piece of ground on the

Old Dover Road, for one week (as a rule the first week in

August), when some of the strongest county elevens play

against Kent. The city is a seat of sessions, the head of an

inland revenue collection, and a headquarters of militia. It
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received mnuicipal piivilei^es from Henry II. and an Incor-

poration charter from Henry VI., is governed by a mayor,

a sheriff, 6 aldermen, and 18 councillors. The city jjives the

title of Viscomit to the Manners-Suttons. Gostliug and

Somner the autiqnai'ies, Dean Xevile, Dr. Liuacre, Aphra
Behn, JIarlowe, Richard the great Earl of Cork, and Lord

Tenterden were natives, A memorial to iJarlowe was erected

in 1891.

The Diocese.—Canterbuiy, at once as a bishopric, as an

archbishopric, and as the metropolitan see of England, dates

from St Augustine. Among its prelates were Dunstan,

Theodore. Lanfranc, Anselm, Pascal II., Becket, Langtou,

Bradwardine, Langham, Cliichele, Warham, Cranmer, Pole,

Parker, Whitgift, Laud, Sancroft, Wake, Tillotson, Tenison,

Seeker, Sutton, Howley, and Tait. The archbishop ranks as

lirst peer of the realm nest to the royal family, and places

the crown on the sovereign's head at a coronation. His seats

are Lambeth Palace and Addington Park, and his income is

£15,000. His archiepiscopal jurisdiction extends over all

"Wales, and all England except the six northern counties.

The diocese includes all Kent, except the city and deanery

of Rochester, and the deaneries of Cobbam and Gravesend

(in the diocese of Rochester), and parts of the ecclesiastical

parishes of Flimwell and Fraut (in the diocese of Chichester).

It includes likewise the part of Surrey comprising the parishes

of Addington, Addlscombe, Croydon, Norwood, Shii*ley, and
Thornton Heath, and the district of Lambeth Palace, London;
part of Sussex, comprising the pai-ishes of Lamberhui'st and
King Charles the Mart}T, and Tunbridge Wells. Population,

745,149. inhabiting 14 '2,1*10 houses. It is divided into the

archdeaconries of Canterbury and Maidstone. The chapter

includes a dean with £2000 a year, 2 archdeacons, 6 canons

with £1000 a year each, and 4 minor canons, all with resi-

dences. These amoimts depending upon the rent of land,

are now reduced to about half. One of the canons is the

Archbishop Suffragan, i.e. the Bishop of Dover.

Canterton, a tithing in Jlinstead paiish, Hants, SJ miles

SW of Romsey.

Cantium, the North Foreland promontory, at the NE
extremity of Kent. The Cantii of the Romans were the

ancient Britons of Kent.

Cantley, a parish in Norfollc, on the navigable river Yare,

over which there is a ferry, and the Norwich and Yarmouth
section of the G.E.R., 10 miles ESE of Norwich, It has
a. station on the railway, and a post office under Norwich

;

money order and telegiaph office, Reedham. Acreage, 1847;
population, 2o7. Cantley House is a chief residence. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich

;
gross yearly

value, £312 with rectory house. The church is a small

building of flint in the Nonnan and Perpendicular styles.

Cantley, a village and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire,

near the river Idle, 3^ miles ESE of Doncaster stations on

the G.N.R. and M.S. &. L.R. The parish includes the ham-
lets of Bessecar, Branton, and High and Low Ellers. It has

a post office under Doncaster, which is the money order and
telegraph office. Acreage, 5590

;
population, 547. Cantley

Hall is the seat of the Childers family. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of York; value, £471 with residence.

The church is good.

Canton, a large and populous suburb, one of the wards of

Cardiff, and an ecclesiabtical parish constituted in 1858 from
the civil parish of Llandaff, Glamorgan, half-a-mile NW of

Cardiff railway station. Population of ward, 13,166; of the

ecclesiastical parish, 32,775. A cattle market is held monthly
in the extensive market-place for Llandaffand Canton district.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Llandaff; net value,

£298 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Llandaff. St
John's Church, commenced in 1871 and completed in 1881,
is a plain stone edifice in the Early English style. St Cathe-
rine's Church is in the Early Decorated style. St Paul's

-was bnilt in 1890. There are Welsh and English Baptist,

Welsh and English Congregational, Calvinistic Methodist,

Primitive Methodist, and Wesleyan chapels.

Cantreff, a parish in Breconshire, on the river Cynrig, a
tributary of the L'sk, 2^ miles SSE of Brecon. It includes

the chapelry of Xantddu, and its post town is Brecon. Acre-
-age, 8986; population, 411. The surface includes the

Brecknock Beacons. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of St David's. The church is good.
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Cantsfield, a township in Tunstall parish, Lancashire,

near the river Greta, 4^ miles SE of Kii-kby Lonsdale station

on the L. & N.W.R. Acreage, 1222; population, 138.

Thurland Castle is the seat of the lord of the manor.

Canvey Island, a civil and ecclesiastical parish formed in

1881 in Esses, encircled by the Thames, opposite the Hope,
2 miles SW of Benfleet station on the London. Tilbury, and
Southend railway, and 4^ SW of Rayleigh. It formerly com-
prised parts of Vauge. Pitsea, Bowers-Gifford, North Benfleet,

South Benfleet, Hadleigh, Laindon, Prittleweil, and South-

church parishes. It has a post office under South Benfleet,

which is the money order and telegraph office. Area, 438.3

acres of land and 4023 of water; population, 342, The sur-

face is marsh-land sheep pasture, and it is protected all round
by erabanlcment, and connected with the mainland by a cause-

way. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans
;

gi-oss yearly value, £220 with residence, in the gift of the

Bishop of St Albans. The church is a wooden building

erected in 1875. There is also a coastguard station,

Canwell, fonnerly extra-parochial, now a parish, in Staf-

fordshire, on the verge of the county, 5 miles SW of Tam-
worth, which is the post town ; money order and telegrapii

office, Sutton Coldfield. Acreage, 347; population, 78.

Canwell Hall is the seat of the Foster family. A Benedic-

tine priory was founded here in 1142 by Geva, daughter of

Hugh Lupus, and given at the dissolution to Cardinal Wolsey

;

a few traces still remain.

Canwick, a parish in Lincolnshire, IJ mile SE of the

city of Lincoln, which is the post town, and the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 2118

;
population, 269.

Canwick Hall is the seat of the Sibthorp family. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln

;
gross in-

come, £450 with residence, in the gift of the Mercers Com-
pany of London. The church is an ancient structure of

stone in the Norman, Transitional, and Late Decorated styles,

the foundations being laid on a Roman pavement which
underlies the whole church, and which presumably belonged

to a very early sacred edifice, as Roman tombstones have
been found in immediate proximity.

Capcoch, a tillage in Aberdare parish, Glamorgan, 24-

miles SE of Aberdare, under which it has a post and money
order office ; telegraph office, Mountain Ash. There are

Welsh Baptist and Congi'egational chapels.

Cape Cornwall, a headland in the SW of Cornwall, 1

mile ^VNW of St Just, and 4| miles N by E of Land's End.
It is 230 feet high, contains quartz, jasper, tin, copper ore,

red iron, and other minerals.

Capel, an ancient British name, signifying an oratory or

a chapel.

Capel, a pai-ish in Surrey, on the L.B. & S.C.R., 32 miles

from London. It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph

office under Dorking. Acreage, 5663
;

population of the

civil parish, 1482 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1035. Part of the

surface is moorish. The living is a \icarage in the diocese

of Winchester ; value, £262 with residence. The chm*ch is

good. The ^*ica^age of Cold Harbom" is a separate benefice.

There are a Friends' meeting-house and a AVesleyan chapel,

a village hospital, built in 1864, and an almshouse.

Capel or Caple, a parish in Kent, 3 miles SE of Tun-
bridge. In 1885 it was amalgamated for all but ecclesiastical

purposes with that of Tudeley. There are some mineral

springs. The hospital of the Tunbridge Rural Sanitary

Authority, erected in 1887, stands in the parish. It has a
post office at Five Oak Green ; money order and telegi-aph

office, Paddock Wood. Acreage, 3057
;
population of the

civil parish, 1128; of the ecclesiastical, 1133. The living

is a vicarage in the diocese of Canterbury; net value, £180.
The church is small. There is also an ancient church at

Tudley, and a new chapel of ease at Five Oak Green.

Capel-Arthog, a hamlet in Llangelynin parish, Meiio-

nethshire, on the river JIawddach, under Cader-Idris, 2J
miles SE of Bannouth, and 6^ WSW of Dolgelly. It has

a post office under Dolgelly; money order and telegraph office,

Barmouth, and a station (Ai-thog) on the Cambrian railway.

There is a chapel of ease to Llangelynin parish church, and
Congi'egational, Calvinistic Methodist, and Wesh-yan chapels,

Capel-Bangor is an ecclesiastical parish formed out of

the parish of Llanbadarn-Fawi-, Cardiganshire, on the river

Rheidol, 5 miles E of Aberystwyth. It has a post and
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money order ofEce ; telegraph office, Aberystwyth. Popula-

tion, 1525. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St

David's ; net value, £143. Patron, the Vicar of Llanbadarn-

Fawr. The church is ^ood. Goginan is a small village in

the parish of Capel-Bangor.

Capel-Colbren, a cliapeh7 in Ystradgynlais parish, Breck-

nockshire, on the river Llech, 12 miles NNE of Neath. It

has a railway station, Colbren Junction, at the junction of

the Neath and Brecon railway with the Swansea, Brecon,

and Hereford branch of the M.K. Post town, Ystradgynlais,

under Swansea. The scenery is picturesque, and borrows

grandeur from the Cribarth Mountain. The Llech makes a

noble fall of 100 feet. There are remains of a Roman road.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of St David's

;

gross value, £100. Patron, the Rector of Ystradgynlais. The
church is a small primitive stnicture, and contains a curious

old tombstone, the date on which is 1001.

Capel-Colman. See Chapel-Colman.
Capel-Curig, a hamlet in Llandegai parish, and an ecclesi-

astical parish formed out of the parishes of Llanrhychwyn,

Llanrwst, Llandegai, and Llanllechid, Carnarvonshire. The
hamlet lies on the river Llugwy, at the foot of Moel-Siabod

and Snowdon, 5^ miles "W of Bettws-y-Coed, under which it

lias a post, money order, and telegi'aph office (R.S.O.) It

is a resort for tom*ists and anglers. Public coaches from

Bettws-y-Coed to Bangor, Llanberis, and Beddgelert pass

through it. The smTounding scenery is most romantic, and
the route hither to the top of Snowdon, though the most
toilsome, is one of the best. The ecclesiastical parish includes

the hamlet, and is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor ; value,

£132 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Bangor. The
chm'ch is recent and good. Population, 447.

Capel-Cynon, an ecclesiastical parish in Llaudisilio-Gogo

pai'ish, C;u*diganshire, 7 miles N of Llandyssil, which is

the post town. Population, 395. Henry VII. encamped
here on his march to Bosworth. The ecclesiastical parish

was constituted in 1859. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of St David's
;
gross value, £90. Patron, the Bishop

of St David's.

Capel-Garmon, a village and a chapelry in Llanrwst

parish, Denbighshire, on the river Conway, 1^ mile SSE of

Bettws-y-Coed, under "which it has a post office (R.S.O.)
;

money order and telegraph office, Bettws-y-Coed. Popula-

tion, 793. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of St

Asaph ; net value, £222 with residence. Patron, the Bishop

of St Asaph. The chm'ch is in good order. There is a Cou-
giTgational chapel.

Capel, Kings. See Kixg's-Caple.

Capel-le-Ferne, a parish in Kent, on the coast, and on
the Dover and Folkestone railway, 3 miles NE of Folkestone,

which is the post town ; money order and telegraph office,

Folkestone. Acreage, 1582; population of the civil parish,

232; of the ecclesiastical, 825. The living is a vicarage,

annexed to the vicarage of Alkham, in the diocese of

Canterbury; gross value, £350, and a vicarial residence at

Alkham. The church consists of nave and chancel, with

a western tower, shows interesting internal featm'es of Early

English, and contains a piscina, a sedilia, and a brass of 152G.

Capel-Newydd. See Blaenavon.
Capel St-Andrew, a parish in Suffolk, near- the coast,

G miles ESE of Melton station on the G.E.R., and 7 E of

Woodbridge, which is the post town ; money order office,

Boyton ; telegi'aph office, Tunstall. Acreage, 2330
;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 183 ; of the ecclesiastical, 520.

The living is a perpetual curacy, annexed to that of Butley,

in the diocese of Norwich. There is no church.

Capel-St-Mary, a village and a parish in Suffolk. The
parish lies on tlie Hadleigh branch of the G.E.R., 5 miles

SE of Hadleigh, and has a station on the railway and a post

office under Ipswich, both of the name of Capel; money
order office, Bentley ; telegraph office, Copdock. Acreage,

1917; population of the civil parish, 605; of the ecclesi-

astical, 001. The living is a rectoiy, united with the rectory

of Little Wenham, in the diocese of Norwich; joint gi'oss

yearly commutation value, £826 with residence. The church,

a building of rubble in the Early Decorated and Perpendicular

styles, was restored in 1869. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Capenhurst, a village and a township in Shotwick parish,

and an ecclesiastical parish in Shotwick and Neston parishes,
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Cheshire. The township is 6 miles NNW of Chester, and
has a station on the Birkenhead railway. Post town, Little

Sutton, under Chester. Acreage, 1204; population, 158.
The ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1859, and in-

cludes the township of Ledsham. Population, 241. Capen-
hurst Hall is the seat of the lord of the manor. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Chester ; net value, £150. The
chureii was frected in 1857.

Capemwray, a hamlet in Over-Kellet township, Bolton-

le-Sands pavLsh, Lancashire, 3| miles S of Burton-in-Kendal.
The nearest station is Hest Bank on the L. & N.W.R.
Capernwray Hall is the seat of the j\Iartons.

Capesthome, a township-chapehy in Prestbury parish^

Cheshire, 2^ miles ESE of Chelford station on the Crewe
and Manchester section of the L. & N W.R., and 5 W by &
of Macclesfield. Post town, Crewe; money order and tele-

graph office, Chelford. Acreage, 744 ;
population of the town-

ship, 114; of the ecclesiastical parish, 520. Capesthorne

Hall is a seat of the Davenports, to whom it passed in 1748
by mamage with an heiress of the Ward family ; the estate

had been in the hands of the latter family since the time of

Edward III. ; the mansion is Elizabethan, aud is surrounded

by extensive grounds and a well-wooded park, which contains

a large lake called Keedsmere. The living is a perpetual

curacy, annexed to that of Siddingtou, in the diocese of

Chester; net value, £365 with residence. The chm'ch waa
built in 1722. and was restored in 1888.

Capheaton, a village and a township in Kirkwhelpington

parish, Northumberland, near the Wansbeck Valley railway^

7^ miles N of the Roman Wall, and 11 WSW of Morpeth.

The nearest station is Hexham, on the N.E.R. The village

has a post, money order, and telegraph office under New-
castle-upon-Tyne. Acreage, 2318; population, 202. Cap-
heaton Castle, once a border stronghold, dates from 1267;
was rebuilt in 1668 upon a new site, and is the seat of

the Swinburne family. Roman coins and silver vessels have

been found.

Capland, a tithing in Broadway parish, Somerset, 2 miles

NW of Uminster.

Caple. See Capel, Kent.

Caple-Cross, a hamlet in Horsemonden parish, Kent, 7^
miles \] hy S of Tuubridge-Wells.

Caple, Kings. See King's-Caple.

Capton, a hamlet in Dittisham parish, Devon, near thi

river Dart, 3^ miles N of Dartmouth.

Capton, a hamlet in Stogumber parish, Somerset, A^ miles

SSE of Walchet.

Car. See Caer.
Car or Char, The, a stream of Dorset, running 5 mile&

south-westward to the English Channel at Charmouth.

Caradoc. See Caer-Caradoc.
Caradon, a hill and copper-mines in Cornwall, 4 miles N

of Liskeard. The hiU is 1208 feet high, and commands a

fine view. The mines are at the south foot of the liill, ex-

cavated in granite. A mineral railway, called the Liskeard

and Caradon railway, 8^ miles long, opened in 1846, connects

them with Liskeard.

Carbrook, a hamlet in Attercliffe-cum-Darnall township,

W. R. Yorkshire. See Sheffield.
Carbrooke, a village and a parish in Norfolk, near the

river Wissey, 3 miles NE of Watton station on the G.E.R.,

and 8 SSW of Dereham station on the G.E.R., with a post

office under Watton (S.O) ; money order and telegraph office,

Watton (S.O.). Acreage, 3129; population. 534. Carbrooke

Hall is a modern building. The chief landowners are all

non-resident. A commandery of the Knights Templars was
founded near the church in 1173 by Roger, Earl of Clare, and
transferred soon after to the Hospitallers. The founder's

tombstone is in the chancel. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Norwich ; net yearly value, £200 with residence.

The church is Later English and good, consists of nave,

two aisles, a chancel, and two porches, with a lofty square

tower, and is fitted with open benches and a fine carved

rood screen. The registers date from 1538. There are

Congregational and Primitive Methodist chapels, and some
small charities.

Carburton, a small village, a township, and a chapelry

in Notts. The chapelry is in Edwinstowe parish, is situated

on the river Poulter, and forms part of Clumber Park, 4 miles
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SSE of Worksop station on the M.S. & L.H. Post town,

OUorton ; moDey order and telegraph office, \^*orksop. Acre-

age, 2272; population, 157; of the ecclesiastical parish of

Edwinstowe with Carburtou, 1403. Carburtou Lodge was

the seat of Dr Aldrich, The living is a chapelrr, annexed to

the vioarage of Edwinstowe, in the diocese of Southwell

;

joint not value, £443 with residence. Patron, Earl Manvers.

Carcanick Tor, an eminence G^ miles WXW of Calling-

ton, in Cornwall.

Carclaye, a range of moorish downs, 2 miles N of St

Austell, in Cornwall. It has an altitude of 665 feet, and
commands an extensive view. Its substance some way down
from the surface is disintegrated schorlaceous granite, and
deeper down comparatively compact gi'anite. A tin mine,

open to the day, has been worked in it from time immemorial,

is now about a mile in circumference and fully 130 feet deep,

and exhibits a striking contrast in the whiteness of its cUfis

to the sombreuess of the suiTounding moor. Ancient imple-

ments, said to be Phcenician, have been found here.

Carclew, a seat 3^ miles N of Penryn, in Cornwall. It

belonged formerly to the D'Angerees, the Bonithons, and
others, and belongs now to the Tremayne family. The gardens

are rich in rare plants, and the park is of great extent and
grandly timbered.

Car-Colston, a village and a pai-ish in Notts, near the

Car Dyke and the river Trent, 2 miles NNE of Bingham
railway station, with a post office under Nottingham ; money
order and telegraph office, East Bridgeford, Acreage,

1642; population, 215. The living is a vicai'age in the

diocese of Southwell; value, £16U with residence. The
church is good, and there is a Wesleyan chapel.

Carcroft, a hamlet in Owston township and parish, W. R.

Yorkshire, 5J miles N of Doncaster. It has a station on the

West Riding and Grimsby branch of the G.N.R. There is a

Wesleyan chapel.

Carden, a township in Tilston parish, Cheshire, under Brox-

ton Hills. 2 miles SW of Broxton station on the L. & N.W.R.,
and 4| N by W of Malpas. Acreage, 830

;
population, 156.

Carden Hall is a fine old seat, and figured in the public events

of 1643.

Cardeston or Cardiston, a township and a parish in

Salop, Oil a tributary of the river Severn, 1^ mile N of

Yockletoii station on the Shrewsbury and Welshpool joint

(L. & N.W. and G.W.) railway, and 6J miles W of Shrews-
bury. The pai-ish includes Wattlesbnrough township, and its

post town is Shrewsbury ; money order otlice, Ford ; telegraph

office, Westhury. Acreage, with Alberbury, 7it08
; popula-

tion, 832 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 272. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £202 with resi-

dence. The church is small, rebuilt in 174it, and restored

in 1844, when the octagonal western tower was erected.

Cardiff, situated on the banks of the river Taff, a county-

borough under the Local Government Act, the capital of

Glamorganshire jointly with Swansea (the assizes being held

alternately in each town), is now generally called the Metro-
polis of Wales. A parliamentary borough jointly with Cow-
bridge and Llantrissant, returning one member to Parlia-

ment, it is the largest single-member constituency in the

kingdom. The acreage of the municipal borough is 840l>

;

population, 128,i'15.

The Romans had a station at the mouth of the river Tafl*

in the first century, established by Aulus Didius; this station

was known as Castra Didii, but the natives called it Caer
Didii, which gradually became CarditF. In Welsh the town
is still called Caerdydd. Within the enclosure of the castle

there are traces of earthworks presumed to be of British

origin, but more likely post-Roman. After the withdrawal
of the Romans a succession of Welsh princes ruled in Cardifl"

and the sun-ounding country, who fiercely resisted the in-

cursions of the Saxons and the Danes. In 1080 lestyn ap
Gwrgan, the last of the h>rds of Jlorganwg, is said to have
built largely at Cardiff'. Ten years later lestyn was at war
with Rhys ap Tewdwr, Lord of South Wales, and promised
his daughter Nest in marriage to Einion if he would pro-

cure for him the assistance of the Normans. Einion
procured the necessary help and Rhys was defeated, Imt
lestyn being unwilling to carry out bis promise Einion re-

called the Norman, Sir Robert Fitzhamon, with his twelve

knights, who defeated lestyn and seized the lordship for
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themselves. The battle was fought on the Heath at tho

northern boundary of the present borough. The adventurers

divided the county among them, but all had lodgings within

the castle at Cardiff. By the marriage of Fitzhamon's

daughter, Robert, Earl of Gloucester, acquired the lordship.

Cai'diff Castle is well known to students of history as the

place where Henry I. imprisoned his eldest brother Robert,

Duke of Normandy. The imprisonment commenced in llOH
and lasted 26 years ; it was only terminated by the death of

the captive. It is stated on tradition that Robert was treated

very cruelly, and that his eyes were put out ; but some
authorities deny this, and contend that the duke was only

a nominal prisoner, that he was allowed considerable freedom,

and was supplied with every luxury. In the 12th century

Ivor Bach, or Ivor the Little, a fiery Welsh chieftain, in re-

sentment for the oppression of the English lord of Cardiff

Castle, attacked and captured the town ; he placed ladders

against the walls by stealth, and as a result of his enterprise

can-ied off the Earl and Countess of Gloucester and their

son to his fortress some miles north of Cardiff, and held

them prisoners until they had restored the property stolen,

from the Welsh, and made further concessions. In 1171
Henry II. was in Cardiff, and an old man stopped him as he-

was going out riding on Low Sunday, and in the name of

Christ, of the Holy Virgin, of St John the Baptist and St

Peter, solemnly forbade him to tolerate buying and selling

or any work besides necessary cooking on the Lord's Day,
" which command if he should obey, his undertakings should

be prosperous." The king, in French, desired the groom to

ask the clod-hopper where he dreamt all that. The question

being put in English, the man answered in the same language
that whether he dreamt it or not, if the king rebelled against

his message he should hear that witliin the year of which
he would suffer to the day of his death, and within the year

he heard that his sons had leagued against him.

From the Earls of Gloucester the Lordship of Glamorgan
passed to the De Clai-es, Earls of Gloucester and Hertford^

and then through the female line to the De Spensers. In

1404 Owen Glendower took the town, and burnt the whole
of it except the street where the GreyfriiU's were ; this he
spared because of his love for that order. From the De
Spensers the lordship and the castle passed through the

female line to the Earl of Warwick, and again through Lady
Anne of Warwick to Richard III. Henry VII. gave it to

Jasper, Duke of Bedford, but upon his decease it reverted to

the Crown. Edward VI. sold it to Sir William Herbert,

afterwards Earl of Pembroke, and through a female descend-

ant it became the property, by mamage, in the 18th centmy,

of an ancestor of the present owner, the Marquis of Bute.

In the reign of JIary, Rawlins White, a poor fisherman, was
martyred at Cardiff. During the succeeding reign the town
was the resort of bands of pirates, who infested the Bristol

Channel to prey upon the merchant ships trading to Bristol.

The inhabitants of Cardiff are said to have sheltered and
protected the pirates, and in 1602 cannon were clandestinely

exported from Cardiff for the use of the Spaniards. During
the CivilWar the town and castle were occupied by the Royalists

and the Pai'liamentarians in tuni. The inhabitants were

much dinded, and when Chai'les I. came to Cardiff in 1645
to enlist the sympathies of the men of Glamorganshire to his

side, he met with a cold reception. A battle was fought on the
Heath in 1642, which was claimed as a victory for the Parlia-

mentiu-y forces ; the result, however, appears to have been
somewhat equivocal. After the restoration the people of

Cardiff complained of the ruin to their trade, caused by the
markets and fairs at Caerphilly, seven miles distant among
the hills; a fair held every three weeks at Caerphilly was in

consequence discontinued. Formerly the town was sur-

rounded by a moat and high walls 6 to 8 feet thick, and
strengthened and protected by massive circular towers. A
fragment of the wall and the foundations of one tower still

existed in 1893. There were four entrance gates. The
Glamorganshire Canal in its course through the town follow:*

the course of the eastern moat. The river Taff fonnerly

ran under the western town wall, and seiwed the purposes of

a moat, but its coui"se w.as diverted about 60 years ago to

facilitate the construction of the Great Western Railway.

The ancient church of St Mary stood within the walls at the

south end of the town, near the banks of the river. This
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chm-ch was washed away on the ISth Januaiy, 1G07, by a

trreat flood or tidal wave, the ravages of which extended over

large areas on both sides of the Bristol Channel. The church

of St John the Baptist is the only ancient chnrch now re-

maining. It has a very handsome tower, built in 1443 by

Hart, who is said to have also built the towers at AVresham

and St Stephen's, Bristol. The church has recently been

restored and enlai-ged, and a beautiful carved altar-piece by

Mr. Vi. Goscomb John has been added. The other ancient

religious houses were, the Blackfriars, the Greyfriars, the

Chapel of St Pirian, and the Chui-ch of St Thomas.

The house of the Blackfnars was founded in 1256; its

remains have recently been excavated at the instance of Lord

Bute, who has erected a few layers of brickwork to indicate

the lines of the building. It is in the castle grounds neai-

the river. The house of the Franciscans or Greyfriars was

m Cokerton or Crockherbtown, now Queen Street. The site

of the Greyfriars Church was excavated in 1803 at the

instance of Lord Bute. Some remains of a house, erected

by the Herberts from the ruins, are still standing in Lord

Bute's gaiden. The castle has, during recent years, been

judiciously restored and extended by the Marquis of Bute

from the designs of the late Mr. \Vm. Burgess, A.R.A. It

is now one of the principal residences of Lord Bute, and

is in every way a stately house. The old mined keep, built

upon a high mound within the enclosure, has not been dis-

turbed. Many modem churches and other places of worship

have been erected to meet the growing requirements of the

town.

In the early years of the present centuiy Cardiff was a

mean place, with a population in 1801 of 1018, and in 1821

of 3521. It owes its rapid development to the Bute Docks,

which afford magnificent facilities for the shipment of the

coal, iron, and other productions of the rich mineral and

manufacturing district by which Cardiff is surrounded. The
Bute Docks were projected by the second Marquis of Bute,

and, under the management of the trustees appointed under

his will, have been extended from time to time to meet the

rapidly growing demands of the port. There are now three

docks and one basin, of the following extent, viz. : West
Bute Dock, 19J acres; East Bute Dock, 4(iJ acres; Roath

Dock, 33 acres ; Roath Basin, 12 acres ; total water area, 112f^
acres. The West dock is now mainly used for the import

trade and for coasting vessels ; but facilities for import trade

are also provided in the Roath dock, and numerous large

warehouses have been erected for the storage of goods. The
appliances for the shipment of coal are the finest in the

world. The total tonnage of imports and exports for ISSl

was 6,607,891, and for ^1892, 9,373,938. The number of

vessels registered as belonging to the port in 1893 was

304 (176,962 tons). The entries in 1892 were 13,996

(7,106,182 tons), and the clearances 14,147 (7,390,264

tons).

IndustHes.—The chief industry is the shipment of coal,

coke, and patent fuel ; and it is to the splendid facilities

afforded by the Bute Docks for this business that Cardiff

owes its rapid advancement. The amount of coal and coke

and patent fuel shipped coastwise and to foreign ports in

1892 was 7,645,269 tons, and a large quantity was in addition

despatched by rail to London and elsewhere. The quantities

for 1844 were (coal and coke only) 258,072 tons; 1854,

1,051.748; 1864 (including patent fuel), 2,131,326 ; 1874,

2,680,199 ; 1884, 7,006,558. These figures refer to ship-

ments at the Bute docks only, omitting other docks within

the port of Cardiff, but not in the borough. The success of

the coal industry has led to the establishment of other

important works in the towa-and district. The manu-
facture of steel and iron, until recently confined to the hill

districts north of Cardiff, is now caiTied on at extensive

works erected at Cardiff by the Dowlais Company ; these

works have been placed on the sea-board, because the greater

part of the ore used is now brought by sea from Bilbao and

elsewhere. The Dowlais Works at Cardiff are constructed

upon the latest principles for producing Bessemer pig-iron,

and for the manufacture of steel. There are also works

for manufacturing patent fuel, the Tharsis Copper Company's

works, the works of the Cardiff Tin Stamping and Enamel
Company, Ltd., extensive flour mills, depots for the storage

and distribution of petroleum, large shipbuilding and ship-
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repairing yards and dry-docks, numerous engineering works,
the locomotive and carriage works of the Taff Vale and the
Rhymney Railway Companies respectively, and a number of

railway waggon works; there are also numerous industries

connected with the importation of timber, the manufacture
of jams, vinegar, chemicals, ice, railway appliances, coUieiy

plant, and other branches.

Governvient.—Cardiff has been a chartered borough from
early times. It is governed by a town council consisting of

ten aldermen and thirty councillors, and a mayor selected

annually, usually from the council, but in 1890-91 the

Marquis of Bute was mayor. It has its own courts of petty

and quarter sessions, and the assizes are held alternately at

Cardiff and Swansea. There is a burial board, a port sani-

tary authority, which has jurisdiction over vessels entering

the port, a pilotage board, a local marine board, a school

board, and it is in the Cardiff union of parishes for the

purposes of the poor law. The town council has spent large

sums in the improvement and development of the town

;

large blocks of houses have been removed for the widening
of streets ; the paving, sewering, lighting, iS:c., ai'e of the

most approved Idnd; and the erection and improvement of

bridges has been carried out with beneficial results. Water
is supplied from immense reseiToirs at Taff Vawr, 30 miles

away amongst the hills of Brecknockshire, and there is a
lai'ge system of balancing and storage reservoirs nearer the

town, together with extensive rights over various sources

which were formerly the only means of supply, and which

can be used in case of need. Gas is supplied by the Cardiff

Gaslight and Coke Co., and electric light by the corporation.

The boundaries of the borough were considerably extended

by an act passed in 1875 ; the same act authorised the

purchase of the waterworks, then the property of a company,
and the carrying out of other important public works. The
police force consists of a head constable, one superintendent,

and 157 other officers and men. The head constable is chief

of the fire brigade. There is a county court held monthly,

an official receiver in bankraptcy, and a court under the pro-

visions of the Admiralty Jurisdiction Act, which sits when
required. The joint asylum for the borough and the county

is at Bridgend. The workhouse is at Canton on the west

side of the town, and in connection herewith there is a school

for training pauper children at Ely, two miles distant. The
Cardiff and county prison is in Adamsdown. There is a

mihtary brigade depot at Maindy (erected 1871), 1 mile

from the town, to which the 1st, 2ud, and 3rd battalions of

the Welsh Regiment are attached. The headquarters of the

militia (3rd battalion of the Welsh regiment) are at this

depot. The volunteer regiments comprise the 2nd Glamorgan
artillery, the 3rd volunteer battalion (rifles), a troop of

mounted infantry, a cadet corps, and a corps of submarine

mining engineers. The custom house and the inland

revenue offices are near the Great Western railway station

;

the ofiices of the board of trade, and mercantile marine

are at the docks; there are 23 town receiving offices

and a large number of pillar and wall letter boxes. The
provision for telegraphic and telephonic business by the

post office is extensive, and several private companies have

telephone exchanges. The Lloyd's Proving House for test-

ing chains and anchors is on the west side of the Glamorgan-

shire Canal, near the docks. The exchange is in Mount
Stuart Square, The market, in St Slary Street, is open

daily.

Public Buildings and Institutions.—The town-hall and

municipal offices, St Mary Street, were erected in 1849, and

enlarged in 1878. The Free Library, Trinity Street, 53,000

volumes, with newsroom, ladies' room, magazine room, and

reference fibrary, was erected in 1881-S2 at a cost of £10,000

;

additions to cost £15.000 are now in course of erection.

Thei'e are five branches. The income is derived from a rate

of one penny in the £, under Public Libraries Acts. There

is a good collection of Welsh books, MSS., and prints. The
Museum and Art Gallery is in the Free Library Buildings;

under Museums Act, 1891, the income is derived from a rate

of ^d. in the £ ; it was formerly supported from a rate under

Public Libraries Acts, and contains a good collection of modern

paintings, local porcelain, antiquities, and geological and other

scientific specimens. The Cardiff Naturalists' Society is inti-

mately associated with the museum. The technical schools were
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formerly maintained under the Public Libraries Acts, but are

now under Technical Insfci-uction Act; income, rate of Id. in

the £ and half the grant made under Customs and Excise Act.

They are under the jurisdiction of the Technical Instruc-

tion Committee. Classes are held at the University College,

tlie Higher Grade School, and the College School, Dumfries

Place, with branches for elementary instruction in other dis-

tricts. The University College of South Wales and Jlon-

mouthshb-e, established 1883, receives a government grant

of £4000 per annum; it will be one of the colleges included

ill the new Welsh University; is also a day training college for

elementary teachers; has a school of engineering, a medical

school, a hall of residence for lady students ("Aberdare

Hall "), and extensive biological and chemical laboratones.

The college has a good students' librai-y, and the Salis-

bury Welsh collection. The Baptist college for training

ministers was removed to Cardiff from Pontypool in 1893.

The elementary schools include voluntary schools supported

by the Church of England, Roman Catholics, and Wes-
leyans, and a fine series of board schools, including a

higher grade school. The pnpil teachers are instructed in

central day classes established by the board in 18D2. Glamor-

ganshire and Jlonmonthshire infirmary, Newport Road, was

founded in 1837, and is supported by subscriptions. New
buildings, on a site granted by Lord Bute, were erected in

1883 at a cost of £28,000. Other institutions include a school

for deaf and Dumb children, the Havannah Industrial School,

an institute for the education and employment of the blind,

the Nazareth House (a home for aged, infirm, and infantine

poor), the Convent of the Good Shepherd, Young Men's

Christian Association, Young Women's Christian Association,

Jubilee Nurses' Institute, a provident dispensary, the sea-

men's hospital ship. Hamadryad, Seamen's Church and

Institute, Sailors' Home, &c
Amusements and Recreations.—There are two theatres

—

the Theatre Royal and Grand—a music hall (the Empire),

besides the Park Hall and other places available for concerts

and other public entertainments. The first Cardiff musical

festival was held in 1802, and it will be repeated triennially.

High-class music is provided by the Blusical Society, the

Orchestral Society, and the Chamber Concerts Committee,

each of which arranges a series annually. Outdoor recrea-

tions are provided for in the Cardiff Ai'ms Park and the

Sophia Gardens, both placed at the sen-ice of the town by

the owner, Lord Bute; and there are recreation grounds

belonging to various football, lawn tenis, and other clubs.

The Roath Park is the most extensive in South Wales ; it

was given by Lord Bute and two or three other landowners.

There are cricket, football, racquet, lawn tennis, photo-

graphic, quoit, fishing, chess, and other clubs. Several

of the public squares have been planted extensively with

ilowers with great success.

Communications.— The town is on the Great Western
main line between London and New ^lilford ; distances

—

London, via Gloucester, 170 miles ; via Bristol, 156 ; Bristol,

40; Birmingham, 114; Liverpool, 155; Manchester, 168;
Swansea, 4.H; and Llanelly, 54. This line was opened in

1850. The Taff Vale railway to Pontypridd, filerthyi-, and
Aberdare was opened in 1840, and the Rhymney railway in

1858. Tlie two latter are the chief mineral-carrying rail-

ways to the Bute Docks. The Bany railway has access

to the town and docks, for passengers, over the Penarth

branch of the Taff Vale. The L. & N.W.R. and M.R.
companies have depots, and a number of minor branches

of the three first named lines have been constructed to meet
the requirements of trade. The railways round the docks
comprise many miles. The Glamorganshire Canal is still

used for the conveyance of goods to and from Aberdare,

Merthyr, and intermediate places; it was opened in 1798.

A number of steamers in the summer season run frequently

between Cardiff and Ilfracombe, Lynmouth, and other places

in the Bristol Channel, and several times daily to Weston-
super-Mare. There is a daily steamer to and from Bristol

all the year round, and two or three times weekly to Belfast,

Cork, Dublin, Bridgewater, Glasgow, and Greenock ; occasional

steamers also to Bordeaux, Hull, Hamburg, London, Liver-

pool, and Amsterdam. Steamers run three times hourly to

Penai-th when the tide serves. The town is well ser\-ed with
tramcars and omnibuses.

CARDIGAN BAT

Cardigan, a marki't and seaport town, a municipal

borough, the capital of the county, the head of a county
court district, and a parish in Cardiganshire. It stands

on the river Teifi, 3 miles from its mouth, 10 WNW uf

Newcastle-Emlyn, 235 from London, at the terminus of

the Whitland and Cardigan branch of the G.W.R. The
Welsh call it Aberteifi. A castle was built at it in llG'J

by Gilbert de Clare, sustained many assaults by alter-

nately the Welsh and the English, changed owners at

least a dozen times before 1240, when it was rebuilt by Gil-

bert Marshall, and was garrisoned by the Royalists in the wars

of Charles I., sustained then a regular siege, and surrendered

to the Parliamentarian forces. Remains of it stand on a low
cHff at the foot of the ancient bridge, consist of little more
than two bastions and part of a curtain-wall, and are hidden

within the enclosure of a modem mansion. A Benedictine

priory, a cell to Chertsey, stood in the vicinity of the church,

and was converted into adweUing-house after the dissolution.

A modern mansion now occupies the site.

The to^vu stands on a gentle eminence, is well built, contains

some good houses, and is well supplied with water. A hand-
some stone bridge of seven arches crosses the Teifi here, and
connects the counties of Cardigan and Pembroke ; there is a

considerable suburb on the Pembrokeshire side. The town at

one time was walled, but the walls have disappeared. A suite

of buildings of picturesque appearance, comprising town-hall

or guild-hall, mechanics' institute, grammar school, and public

markets, was erected in 1860 at a cost of about £5000.
The previous town-hall, now used as the shire-hall for the

sitting of the county courts, county sessions, &c., was built

in 1764. The county jail was erected in 1793 by Nash. A
portion of it has been pulled down and the site built on,

and the remainder is used as a police station. The barracks

were constructed in 1847. The church is chiefly Perpen-

dicular English. It consists of spacious nave, chancel, porch,

and western square tower, and contains a good canopied

piscina. The nave was rebuilt in 1702, and the tower

in 1745. There are Congregational, Baptist (Welsh and
English), and Calvinistic Methodist chapels. A cemetery

was formed in 1876, and is under the control of a Burial

Board. There is a literary and scientific institution, with a
reading-room. Two weekly newspapers are published. The
town has a head post office and three banks. A weekly

market is held on Saturday, and fairs on 13 Feb., 5 April, 8

Sept., 10 Nov., and 19 Dec, together with monthly markets

on the ^Monday preceding the last Tuesday in each month.

A good heiTing fishery and a very productive salmon fishery

are carried on. Commerce is much cramped by a dangerous

bar in the river, where the depth of water at low rides is

sometimes so little as G feet, and in the average of neaps 11

feet, spring tides 16 feet. Vessels of 400 tons occasionally

come up to the bridge, but vessels of from 20 to 100 tons

are chiefly employed. The number of vc-sspIs registered at

the port in 1893 was 38 (1600 tons). The entries and
clearances each average 550 (20,000 tons) per annum. The
borough was incorporated by Edward I., is governed by a

mayor, 4 aldermen, and 12 councillors. The borough has

a commission of the peace, and is the seat of petty sessions

and the county court. Population of the municipal borough,

3449. The town gives the title of Earl to the family of

Brudenell.

The pai-ish comprises 2484 acres of land and 157 of tidal

water and foreshore; population, 2612. The living of St

Jlary's, Cardigan, is a vicarage in the diocese of St David's

;

gi'oss value, £157. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

Cardigan Bay, a gulf on the west coast of Wales, along

the counties of Cardigan, Merioneth, and Caraan'on, from

Cardigan Head to Braich-y-Pwll. Its length across the

entrance north and south is 48 miles ; its length, from Car-

digan Head to the top of a projection between Merioneth and
CaraaiTon north-north-eastward, is 64 miles; and its gi'eatest

breadth, from the line of entrance to the mouth of the river

Dyfi eastward, is 30 miles. Part of its bottom is the sub-

merged tract of Cantref-Gwaelod, and is there beset by the

reefs of Sarn-y-Gynfelyn, Sarn-y-Bwch, and Badrig, but the

rest is free from obstacles to navigation, and has a depth of

from 3 to 30 fathoms. Bardsey Island studs it in the

vicinity of Braich-y-Pwll, and is washed by a strong current

setting from the south. The chief harbours are those of
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CnrJigan, Abcrayron, Aberystwytli, AberJovej, Barmouth,

Pwllheli, Portmadoc, and AberdaroD.

Cardigan Head, a Iieadland at the nortbem extremity or

Peinbrukealiire, on the left side of the mouth of the river

Teiti, 3^ miles NW of Cardigan.

Cardigan Isle, an island in Cai"dio;anshire, on tlie right

side of the mouth of the river Teifi, o| miles NNW of Car-

digan. It measures about 35 acres, and is pastured by

sheep.

Cardiganshire, a maritime county of South Wales,

bounded on the west by Cardigan Bay, on the north by

Merionethshire, on the north-east by Mont<;omeryshire, on

the east by the counties of Kadnor and Brecon, on the

south by Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire. Its length

north-eastward is 45 miles, its gi-eatest breadth is 35 miles,

its circumference is about 150 miles, and its area is 440,tJ30

acres. It is the most primitive and the wildest county of South

Wales. The coast for the most part is low and rather tame.

The interior, except in three valleys, has little level land, in-

cludes vast sweeping ranges of hills, and is largely moun-
tainous. The south-western portion may, comparatively

speaking, be called low country, while the north-eastern is

high, and culminates in Plynlimmon. Some parts contain

grand scenery in varieties of the picturesque, but the upland

parts generally exhibit a dreary sameness. The river Dyfi or

Dovey goes to the sea on the northern boundary, the river

Teifi goes to the sea on the southern boundary, and the

Rheidol, the Ystwith, the Mynach, the Ayron, the Dothie, the

Claerwen, the Elan, the Berwyn, the Gwyrai, the Lery, and
other streams water the interior. Lakes are numerous, but

none of them are large. Rocks of the lower Silurian series

occupy the entire area. Metal mines of high celebrity,

yielding great wealth, were worked in the 16th century, were

for a long time almost wholly abandoned, and afterwards

partially resumed. Lead, zinc, and silver are the chief ores,

and copper ore also is found. Slate for roofs and floors is

worked.

The soil in much of the valleys is peat or vegetable mould,

in the vales among the uplands chiefly stiff clay, with mix-
ture of Hght loam, on the higher grounds of the lowland

tracts generally a light sandy loam, from 4 to 12 inches deep,

and on the uplands, for the most part, a coarse, shallow,

baiTen detritus. About one-half of the entire area is waste.

Tolerably good farming is practised in the valleys of the Teifi

and the Ayron, and in some other parts. Lime is brought

from Pembroke, and much used as a manure, but sea-weed

and peat-ashes also are much used. Barley and oats are the

chief crops, while wheat, rye, pease, beans, potatoes, and tur-

nips also are raised. The arable farms average about 150
acres. Farm buildings have been improved. Butterand pork

are produced for the market. The cattle are a small, hardy,

black breed ; the sheep also are small, but have begun to be

improved by crosses with the Southdowns, the Leicesters,

and the Dorsets, and the horses seldom exceed 14 hands in

height, but are strong and hardy.

Agricultural Statistics for 1S03.

Chops. Acres.

Com Crops, 54,713
Green Crops, .... 12,895
Clover. Sainfoin, Grasses. 40,694
Permanent Pasture, . 163,024
Bare Fallow, .... 782
Orchards 48
Market Gardens, ... 18
Small Finit, 30
Is'ursery Grounds, ... 19
"Woods and Plantations, 15,758

Live No.STOCK.

Horses— Used solely for
Agriculture, . 8,068

" Unbroken, . . 5,918
" Mares kept for

Breeding. . . 1,298
Cows and Heifers in Milk

or Calf, 26,518
Other Cattle, .... 43.441
-heep, 238,123
Pigs, 19,431

Ancient woods were extensive, but have been nearly all

swept away. Oak, ash, and alder are native trees, and some
lai'ge plantations of larch have been made. The only manu-
factures of any note are woollens and gloves for local use.

The Whitlaud and Cardigan and the Carmarthen and Cardi-

gan branches of the G.W.R. give facilities to the south-

eastern and the southern borders, and the Cambrian and the

Manchester and Milford railways give facilities to the northern

and central districts. Good roads connect the towns, and
traverse much of the interior.

The county contains three municipal boroughs, namely,

Aberystwyth, Cardigan, and Lampeter. It has one coui't of

332

CARDINaTON

quarter sessions, and is divided into nine petty sessionail

divisions. The boroughs ot Aberystwyth and Cardigan have

separate commissions of the peace, but no separate courts of

quarter sessions. The county contains il7 entire civil parishes

and part of one other parish. The county returns one member
to the House of Commons. It is governed by a lord-lieutenant,

a high sheriff, and a county council consisting of 48 council-

lors and IG aldermen. It is in the South "Wales judicial

circuit and the western military district. The assizes are

held at Lampeter. The county is in the diocese of St

David's, and, with parts of adjoining counties, fonns an arch-

deaconry. Population ia 1801,42,955; in 1821, 57,784; ia

1841, 68,766; in 1861, 72,245; in 1881, 70,270 ; and in

1891, 02,630 ; of the administrative county, 63,467.

According to the census returns issued in 1893, the chief

occupations of the people of the county were :—Professional,

1805 males and 6dd females ; domestic, 194 males and 7697
females ; commercial, 1405 males and 27 females; agricul-

tm'al, 11,099 males and 1992 females ; fishing, 59 males; in-

dustrial, 8804 males and 4213 females; and " unoccupied,"

including retii^ed business men, pensioners, those living on
their own means, and others not specified, 5306 males and

24,565 females ; or a total in the county of 28,672 males

and 39,153 females. The largest number of men employed
in any one industry was—farmers, 4354 ; and agricultural

labourers, 4261. The chief occupations of women are, do-

mestic service, with a total of 6336; and those of miUiner

and dressmaker, 1903. There were also in the county 104
blind persons, 26 deaf, 72 deaf and dumb, and 183 mentally

deranged. There were 61,624 persons able to speak only the

Welsh language, and 17,111 who could speak both Welsh and
English.

The territory now forming Cardiganshire was anciently

part of Dimetia. It had an important station of the Romans
called Loventium at Llanio, near Trefaron, and was nomi-

nally included in their Britannia Secunda. The Danes har-

assed it in 987 and 1071. The Normaus came into it in

1092, but were driven out in 1097. Henry I. gi'anted it to

the Strongbows, Henry II. restored it to Prince Rhys, and
Edward I. in 1284, on the overthrow of the last Llewelyn,

united it to England. Monuments of the ancient inhabit-

ants occur at Yspytty-Cynfyn near Lampeter, Llanarth

near AberajTon, and in other places. The Roman road

called Sam-Helen went through Loventium toward Penah
and Carnarvon. Fortifications stood at Cardigan, Aberyst-

wyth, Ystradmehic, Lampeter, Llanrhysted, Kilcennin, Din-
erth, Aberenion, Castell-Gwalter, Castell-Flemish, Moyddyn,
Penweddie, Aberayron, and a number of other places. A
famous abbey stood at Strata Florida, now Ystrad-Flur, on

the Roman Way, and monastic houses stood at Cardigan,

Llanrhysted, Lampeter, and Llanewi-Brefi.

Cardington, a village and a parish in Bedfordshire. Thg
pari.sji is bounded on the N by the river Ouse, the village

being about a mile from the river, and 2^ miles SE from
Bedford. It has a station on the i\LR,, and a post and
money order office under Bedford ; telegraph office at the

railway station. The parish includes the township of East-

cotts, which is noticed separately. Acreage of civil parish,

2523 ;
population, 438 ; of the ecclesiastical parish of

Cardington St Mary with Eastcotts, 1268. Cardington

House is known also as Howard's Villa, because a portion of

it was at one time the residence of John How^ard, the philan-

thropist. The manor and most of the land belong to the

Whitbread family. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Ely; gross yearly value, ^1250 with residence, in the gift of

Trinity College, Cambridge. The church is a building of

stone chiefly in the Perpendicular style, but with a central

Early English tower. It contains some ancient tombs and
brasses, and a mural tablet to John Howard. There is a

Wesleyan chapel, and at Cotton End, a hamlet in Eastcotts,

there is a Baptist chapel. There is a brewery at Cardington,

and some pillow-lace is still made.

Cardington, a village and a parish in Salop. The village

stands on a pleasant spot under the Caradoc and Cardington

Hill, 4 miles ENE of Church Stretton. It has a post and
money order office under Church Stretton (R.S.O.); money
order' and telegraph office, Church Stretton (R.S.O.)
Acreage of parish, 6685

;
population, 565. The parish

includes also the townships of Broome Chatwall, Coinley,
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Eiiclimarsb, HoIt-Prct-n. Lydk-y-Hcys, ri:iisli, Willstone,

and part of Grettoii. Fine clay and quartz for the pot-

teries are found. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Hereford; net value, £210 with residence. Tlie church is

ancient, and was restored in 1867 ; it has an embattled

tower, and contains an ancient monument and some brasses.

There is a Primitive Jlethodist chapel, and a partially

endowed school.

Cardinham, a parish in Cornwall, on the river Fowey, 3

miles NNE of Bodmin Eoad railway station, and 4 E by N
of Bodmin. It has a post and money order ofEce under

Bodmin; telegraph office, Bodmin. Acreage, 9034
;
popula-

tion, 590. The manor belonged to Eobert de Cardinham,

ancestor of the Lords Dinham, and has traces of an ancient

castle. Glynn, a beautiful place on the Fowey, is the seat

of Lord Vivian, and contains an early portrait by Keynolds,

which opened the way to his career as an artist. Cardinham

Bury is an ancient circular entrenchment. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Truro ; net value, £365 with resi-

dence. The church is good, and has a brass of a priest.

In the churchyard there is an unusually handsome old cross.

There is a Wesleyan chapel and a Free Methodist chapel at

Millpool.

Cardiston. See Cardestos.
Car Dyke, a cut in the fens of Lincolnshire, from Thm-lby

northward to Sleaford Canal. It is 20 miles long and 60

feet wide, extended formerly to the rivers Welland and

Witham, and is thought with good reason to have been a

work of the Romans. Rennie the engineer, who examined

this canal, said he had never seen more judicious and well-

laid out work than this of the ancients.

Caxeby, a parish in Lincolnshire, on a branch of the river

Glen, half a mile SW of Little Bytham station on the

G.N.R., and oj miles W.S.W. of Bourn. It has a post

and money order office under Stamford ; telegraph office,

Little Bytham (R.S.) Acreage, 1501; population of the

civil parish, 149 ; of the ecclesiastical, 266. The living is a

rectory united with the perpetual curacy of Holywell and
Aunby in the diocese of Lincoln

;
gross yearly value, £331

with residence. The church, a structure of stone in the Early

English style, has a western Norman tower and some inter-

esting monuments.

Carew or Carey, a village and a parish in Pembroke-

shire. The village stands on a creek of Milford Haven, 4

miles ENE of Pembroke. In the village is a veiy ancient

.and beautiful cross, probably Saxon or Danish, of a single

shaft 14 feet high, covered with Runic carvings. The parish

comprises 5095 acres of land and 499 of water and fore-

shore, audits post town is Pembroke, Population, 720. The
manor belonged to the princes of South Wales, was given as a

dowry with Nesta, daughter of Rhys ap Tewdwr, to Gerald

de Windsor, passed to Sir Rhys ap Thomas, gave entertain-

ment to the Earl of Richmond on his wiiy to Bosworth Field,

was soon afterwards the scene of a gi'eat tournament, the

iirst show of its kind in Wales, and belongs now to the

Hon. Robert Cranmer TroUope of Crowcombe, Somerset. A
fortress stood here in the times of the Welsh princes, additions

were made in the Edwardian period, and a magnificent mansion

was added to this in the time of Hemy VII. Some part of the

ancient fortress seems still to exist in a shattered, i^'y-clad bar-

bican, and the shell of the added mansion still stands, and is

one of the finest ruins in Wales. The arcbitectiu'e is rich Late

Perpendicular, the windows are large, square, and lantern-

like, and the great hall has a lofty porch, and measm-es 104
feet by 20. The chapel, the only roofed portion remaining,

appears to date from the reign of Edward II. The castle was
garrisoned for Charles I. in the Civil War, but was taken in

1644, and afterwards dismantled. The living is a vicarage

in the diocese of St David's ; net value, £197 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of tit David's. It is held in plurality

with .Redberth or Rhydberth, formerly a hamlet of Carew,

but now a distinct parish ; net value, £72, also in the

patronage of the Bishop of St David's. The church belongs to

the Decorated period, with good Perpendicular tower, and
contains monuments of the Carews and others.

Carey, a locality in Ballingham parish, Herefordshire, 1

mile SW of Ballingham village, with a post office under
Ross ; money order and telegraph office, Hoanvithy.

Cajfan. Sec Pp.isk and Cakpan.
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Cargo, a village in Stanwix parish, Cumberland, on the

river Eden, adjacent to the SiUoth railway, 3 miles NW of

Carlisle, forming part of the ecclesiastical parish of Rock-
cliff with Cargo.

Carham, a village, a township, and a parish in Northum-
berland. The village stands near the banks of the Tweed,
something more than half a mile from the Scotch border, 1

mile from Carham railway station on the N.E.R., and 4
miles from Cornhill, in a WSW direction on the public road

to Kelso. The parish comprises the townships of Carham,
Downham, Learmonth, Mindnim, Moneylaws, Presson, and
Wark, and the hamlets of Hagg, Shidlaw, Snnnilaws, Titehill,

Wark Common, Wark West Common, Howburn, and Presson

Hill. Post, moneyorder,andtclegraphoffice, Coldstream. Area
of the parish, 10,608 acres of land and 104 of water

;
popu-

lation, 1043. The Earl of T.ankerville is lord of the manor.
Carham Hall, a modern Elizabethan mansion, is the seat of the

Huntleyfamily. Shidlaw Hill and other offsets of the Cheviots

are in the south, and command charming views. A house of

black monks, a cell to Kirkham Priory in Yorkshire anciently

stood here, and was burned by the Scots under W.allace, whose
place of encampment is still called W.allace's Croft. Three
sanguinary battles were fought in the parish, one at an early

period between the Saxons and the Danes, the other two in

1018 and 1370 between the English and the Scots. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Newcastle-on-Tyne ; net

value, £216, The little church is a neat modern building,

dedicated to St Cuthbert, in good order, but with no archi-

tectural pretensions.

Carhampton, a village, a parish, and a hundred in

Somerset. The village stands near the coast, Ij mile ESE
of Dunster, and 1 from Blue Anchor station on the West
Somerset and JKnehead branch of the G.W.R. It dates from
ancient times under the name of Carumtune, and has a post

office under Taunton; money order and telegraph office, Dun-
ster. The surface of the parish is diversified with glen and hill.

Acreage, 2788; population of the civil parish, 405; of the

ecclesiastical, 612. Thelivingisavicai'agein the diocese of Bath
and Wells; gross value, £280 with residence. The church,

dedicated to St John the Baptist, is ancient, interesting, and
good, and contains a screen. The tower was rebuilt in 1872,
and contains a peal of six bells. Rodhuish, a detached pait

of this parish, was amalgamated for civil purposes only with

Withycombe in 1884. In the NE corner of the parish is

an old manor-house called Marshwood, formerly the resi-

dence of the Luttrell family, and in the W is Knowle House,
formerly belonging to the Battersby family.

Carisbrooke, a village and a parish in the Isle of Wight.
The village stands on an affluent of the river Medina, 1 mile

SW of Newport, was formerly the capital of the island and a
market town. A Roman station seems to have been here,

and previously perhaps a British city. The presence of the

Romans here, or even anywhere in the island, which had
been doubted, was fully proved in 1859 by the discovery of a
Roman villa of about 120 feet by 50 with two large halls, tes-

sellated pavements, a semicircular bath, a hypocaust, some
coins, and a few small articles. An early fortress crowned
an adjacent hill, 239 feet high, and was taken in 630 by
Cerdic the Saxon. A castle on the site of this was built by
Wilham Fitz-Osbome, the first Norman lord of Wight, re-

built in the time of Henry I. by Richard de Redvers, Earl of

Devon, enlarged in 1262-1293 by Isabella de Fortibus, repaired

and outwardly strengthened by Elizabeth, used as a state prison

by Cromwell, and made then the prison of Charles I. and his

children, long occupied by the governor and the gai-rison of

the Isle of Wight, allowed eventually to go gi-eatly to decay,

and subjected to considerable restoration. The site is very

fine, the appeai'ance of the castle is picturesque, and a walk
of about a mile goes round it, commanding delightful views.

The encompassing bastions, faced with stone, are of the time
of Elizabeth ; the entrance, by archway stone bridge, and
machicolated gatehouse with flanking circular towers, is

partly of the time of Edward IV., partly of the time of

EUzabeth; the range of building containing Charles I.'s

prison rooms, on the left past the gatehouse, belongs to the

later years of the 15th centuiy ; the polygonal keep, on a
moated mound, in the north-east corner of the inner court,

was probably the work of Richard de Redvers; the great

hall, now divided into two storeys and otherwise modernised,
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is Early English, and was probably the work of Isabella de

Foitibus ; and the chapel, at right angles with the hall,

seems to have been constnictcd along with it, and was long

desecrated and afterwards restored. The castle well is a

regular excavation through solid rock, and famous for its

depth, reputed to be 300 feet, though really no more than

145, and is covered by a structure of the 15th century

which has been restored. Sir William Davenant, the poet,

was confined in the castle. It is the property of the Cro^ii,

and the public are admitted on payment of a small fee.

The parish includes .also the hamlets of Bowcombe, Billing-

ham, and part of Chillerton, P.arkhm-st Forest, with part of

Parkhurst Prison, and the Albany BiUTacks. It has a post,

money order, and telegi-aph office under Newport (Isle of

AVight). Acreage, 8823
;
population, 9115. A prioij was

founded near the church by Fitz-Osborne, att.ached to the

Benedictine abbey of Lire, and given by Heniy V. to his now
establishment at Sheen. The living is a \'icarage with the

chapeh'y of Northwood annexed in the diocese of Winchester
;

value, £847, in the gift of Queen's College, Oxford. The
chuixh was built by Fitz-Osbonie, deprived of its chancel

and north aisle in the time of Elizabeth, has a fine tower

with pinnacles and an octagonal turret, and contains two

interesting monuments of Lady Wadham and Willi:uu Keel-

ing. The perpetual curacy of St John and that of St

Nicholas-in-the-Castlc are separate charges. There is an

Congi-egational chapel. A Dominican priory for 18 nuns was
built in 18C7 at a cost of i:ii;,000, defrayed by the Countess

of Clare. The workhouse for tlie whole of the island is

situated in this parish.

Cork, a village on the west coast of Morecambe Bay, in

Lancashire, 2 miles SW by S of Cartmel, with a station on

the Furness railway. There is a post, money order, .and

telegraph office of the name of Cark-in-Cartmel under Cam-
forth.

Carkiu, a hamlet forming part of the township of Carkin

and Forcett, in the N. K. Yorkshire, 8 miles NNE of Eich-

rnond. Acreage of township, 2270; population, 181.

Carlatton, an extra-parochi.al tract in Cumberland, 10

miles ESE of Carlisle.

Carlbury, a hamlet in Coniscliffe parish, Durham, on the

river Tees, 1 mile from Piercebiidge station on the X.E.E.,

and 6i miles WNW of Darlington. Limestone is worked.

Carlby, a parish in Lincolnshire, on the river Glen and
the G.N.K., 1 mile from Essendiue station on the G.N.E.,

and 5 miles NKE of Stamford, which is the post town

;

money order office, Essendine ; telegi'aph office, Essendine

railway station. Acre.ige, 1433
;

population, 149. The
livmg is a rectory in the diocese of Lincoln

;
gross yearly

value, £283 with residence. The church is an ancient edifice

of stone in the Early English style.

Carlcoates, a hamlet in Thurlestone township, Penistone

parish, in the W. E. Yorksliu'e, 1 mile W of Penistone.

Post town, Sheffield. There is a chapel of ease.

Carles-Work or Carl Wark, thought to be an old

British fort, on the moors, between Castleton and Hather-

sage, in Derbyshire. It is in some parts 8 feet high.

Carleton, a village in the township and ecclesiastical parish

of St John Upperby, Cumberland, adjacent to the Newcastle

railway, 3 miles SE of Carlisle, which is the neai'est railway

station.
" Carleton, a part of the township and parish of Drigg.

Cumberland, on the river Mite, near- the coast, 2 miles NNE
of Kavenglass, and 2J from Drigg station on the Furness

railway.

Carleton, a hamlet in Penrith parish, Cumberland, on the

river Eamont, 1 mile SSE of Penrith town and station.

Carleton Hall was formerly the seat of the Carletons, and
belongs now to the Cowpers.

Carleton, a small vilhige and a township, formed into a

parish in 1809, in the W. K. Yorkshire, 1 mile S of Poute-

fract, under which there is a post ofiice; money order and
telegraph office, Pontefract. Acreage, 589

;
population,

317. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of York;
value, £150 with residence. Patron, the Vicar of Ponte-

fract.

Carleton or Carleton-in-Craven, a village and a parish

in the \X. E. Yorkshire. The village stands on the river

Aire, near the Leeds and Liverpool Canal and the M.E.,
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2 miles SW of Skipton, under which it has a post, money
order, and telegraph ofiice. Acreage of the civil parish,

2317; population, 1G44; of the ecclesiastical, 1182. The
living is a rectory in the diocese of Eipon ; net value, £303-
with residence. Pation, Christ Church, Oxford. The rectory

of Lothersdale is a separate benefice. An hospital, founded
in 1700 by Jlr Spence, has an endowment producing £350'
a ye.ar, increased by a further bequest of £17,000 in 1871.
There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels.

Carleton, Durham, Leicester, Notts, Suffolk, and York-
shire. See Carltox.

Carleton or Carlton, a village and a township formed into

an ecclesiastical parish from that of Snaith, in the W. E. York-
shire, near the river Aire and the Goole railway, 1^ mile N
of Snaith. The village has a post, monev order, and telegi'aph

clfice (E.S.O.),andastation on the Hull aud Barnsley railway.

Acreage, 3681
;
population, 759 ; of the ecclesiastical parish,

779. The firing is a vicarage in the diocese of York; gi-oss

value, £205 with residence. Patron, the Vicar. The church
was built in 18G3. There are Eoman Cathohc, Wesleyan,
aud Primitive Slethodist chapels.

Carleton-Forehoe, a parish in Norfolk, on the river Yare,

2 miles NE of Kimberley station on the G.E.E., and 3J N
by W of Wymondham, which is the post town and telegraph

office ; money order office, Barnham Broom. Acreage, 734
;

population of the civil parish, 130 ; of the ecclesiastical, 237.

The firing is a rectory, with Crownthorpe annexed, in the-

diocese of Norwich ; v.alne, £129 with residence, in the gift

of the Earl of Kimberley. The church is a small building

of stone in the Perpendicular style, with a square tower, and
was repaired in 1839, and reseated in 1876.

Carleton, Great and Little, a township in Poulton-le-

Fylde parish, Lancashire, adjacent to the Blackpool railway,.

1 mile SW of Poulton station on the Preston and Wyre Joint

railw.iy. Post town, Preston, via Poulton. Acreage, 2012;
population, 417. There is an endowed school.

Caxleton-Rode, a village and a parish in Norfolk. 4 miles

NW from Tivetshall station on the G.E.E., and 5 SE from
Attleborough, which is the post town; money order and tele-

graph office. New Buckenham. Acreage, 2695; population^

677. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Norwich;.

net yearly value, £530 with residence. The church is an
edifice of flint in the Perpendicular' style. It was restored

in 1877-83. There is a Baptist chapel.

Carleton-St-Peter, a parish in Norfolk, near the river

Yare, 3 miles NNW of Loddon, and 2^ SW by S of Bucken-
ham station on the G.E. E. Post town, Norwich; money
order and telegraph office, Loddon. Acreage, 786; popu-
lation of the civil parish, 77; of the ecclesiastical, 253.

The fiving is a rectory, united with the rectory of Ashby, in

the diocese of Norwich
;

gross yearly value, £176. The-

church is an ancient structure of flint in the Early English

style.

Carlin-How, a hamlet in Brotton pai-ish, in the N. S.

Yorkshire. It has a station on the N.E.R., and a post

and money order office (R.S.O.) ; telegi'aph office, Brotton.

Carlingho'W, a hamlet and an ecclesiastical parish in

Batley township and parish, in the W. E. Yorkshire, 6^
miles NW of Wakefield. There is a post and money order

office (T.S.O.), and a station on the L. & N.W.E. The-

living is a ricarage in the diocese of Wakefield
;

gi'oss value,

£200 with residence. Patrons, the Vicars of Batley and
Brown-hill alternately. Population of the ecclesiastical

parish, 3837.

Carlisle, a city in Cumberland, and a diocese in Cumber-
land, Westmoreland, and Lancashu'e. The city stands on

the river Eden, between the rivers Petteril and Caldew, on

the gi-e.at western line of communication both by rail and road

from England to Scotland, within a mile of the Roman
Wall, 9J miles SSE of Gretna, and 301 NTsTV of London.

Eight railways give it communication with all parts of Great

Britain. All of them meet in a centr.al station, -which is one

of the largest in England.

Bistort/.—A town of the Brigantes stood on the city's

site, and bore the name of Caer-Lyivelydd, which the Eomans
made into Luguvallum. This was shortened by the Britons

into Luel, and again prefixed with Caer, their word for a

fort, and the name Caer-Luel passed in course of time into

Carleol and Carlisle, which is the only town on English soil
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which bears a purely British name. Eoiiian altars, inscrip-

tious, vases, eoius, and other relies h.ave been found within

the city, and Roman roads went from it to north, south,

cast, and west. A British capital succeeded the Eoman
station. The Cumbrian king Ai'thur figures in two famous

ancient ballads—the one on the marriage of his knight Sir

Gawaine, the other entitled the " Boy and the llautle"—as

having held his court at Cardueil or Carlisle. But the

great battle of Ai'ddeiyd or Arthuret on the Esk in 573 sub-

jected the Cumbrian Britons to the kingdom of Strathclyde.

In 605 they were defeated by the English of Bernicia. Tlie

Northumbrian king Egfred conquered them, and founded

at Carlisle a religious house, and placed it under the See of

Lmdisfarne. The Danes took and wasted the town iu S75.

WiUiam Rufus found it a min, di-ove out Dollin its ruler,

added it to the English kingdom, and ordered the castle to

be built ; he or Henry I. encircled the town with a wall.

Stephen resided some tune in it, and greatly improved its

defences. The Scots besieged it under their kmgs David I.,

Malcolm IV., William the Lion, and Alexander II., and held

possession of it during an aggi'egate of 18 yeiirs. Edward I.

retreated to it from Falkirk iu 1298, convoked his barons and
knights at it iu 1300, and held his last Parliament in it in

1307. It suffered much and often in the subsequent wars,

resisted a siege in 1315 by Bruce, and both then and after-

wards endured gi'eat disaster. It also figured m the raid iu

1388 which led to the battle of Otterburn, and served for

ages as the main bulwai-k in the west against the Scottish

forays. M:uy Queen of Scots was brought here iu custody;

Kinmont Willie, the notable Border trooper, celebrated in

song and stor}', was rescued from durance here by a bold ex-

ploit of Scott of Buccleuch; and "Hughie the Graeme,''

Hobble Noble, and other famous Scottish reivers, were here

put to death. The city endm'ed much in the troubles which
followed the Reformation, stood a siege of nine months in

1644-45 from General Leslie's ai'my, and was held by Prince

Chai-les Edward in 1745 from the time of his advance into

England till alter the retreat of his main force to Scotland.

Executions in it dimng about two centmies were umnerous,
.and those which foUjwed the atfau- of Prince Charles Edward
were rendered memorable and ghastly by the fixiug of the

heads of the victims on the city gates.

Site and Streets.—The city occupies a swell or gentle

eminence in the midst of an extensive, fertile, well-wooded
plain, and is so encircled by the three rivers on which it

stands as to be almost an island. The envhons ai'e all rich

low comitry, profusely adorned with water, culture, p.ar-ks,

and mansions. The higher points, both within the city and
around it, command a brilliant panorama, away to the North-
umberland hills, the Scottish mountains, Crifl'el beyond the

Solway, and the gi'oup of Skiddaw. The exterior of the

city, as seen from various approaches, presents a striking

appearance, and looks as if combining modern elegance w ith

remains of antiquity. The interior, as entei'cd from the

railway station, seems entirely, neatly, aud briskly modern.
The castle, which most prominently Unks it with the past,

does not come immediately into view, and the cathedral,

which also speaks largely of the past, has been so outwardly
renovated as to appear" almost new. The three principal

streets, English Sti-eet, Scotch Street, and Castle Street,

diverge from the market-place, adjacent to the central rail-

way station, and are wide and handsome. Other streets are

straight, airy, and well built; aud the city, as a whole, seems
little difl'erent from a well-planned, lively, thriving, modeni
town.

Public Buildings.—The court-houses and the county jail

form a grand suite of buildings, and were erected after de-

signs by Smu-ke at a cost of about £100,000. The court-

houses stand partly on the site of what was called the

citadel, comprising two very strong cu-cular towers for de-

fending the city gates, and they themselves form two circular

Gothic towers, on opposite sides of the south end of English
Str-eet. The county jsiil stands pai'tly on the site of the

garden of a blackfriaiy, was partly remodelled and princi-

pally rebuilt in 1800, and now has capacity for 112 male
and 5G female prisoners. An elegant bridge of five elliptical

ai'ches spans the Eden on the gi-eat road to the north, was
erected by Smirke at a cost of upw.ir-ds of £70,000, and
is conuected with the city by an arched causeway, nearly ouc-
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fourth of a mile long. Two smaller bridges span the Caldew,
and one the Pelteril. The central railway station, immediately
south of the site of the citadel, presents a neat front to Comt
Square, is along, spacious, well-contrived arcade, and contains

handsome refreshment and waiting rooms. The news-room
and library is a modern Gothic building, erected by subscrip-

tion, from a design by Rickman. JIany tall chimney stalks

are conspicuous objects. Other noticeable things are a

market-cross of 1G82, a quaint picturesque old town-hall,

where the magistrates' cotrrt and the city sessions are held,

and where the city council and other bodies meet, a
statue of the late Earl of Lonsdale on a pedestal in Court
Square, a statue of Jlr Steele in Market Square, aud a theatre.

The corporation own both the gas and water works, and of

the profits obtained therefrom have recently built public

baths. They have also completed, about three years ago, the

largest aud finest covered market in the North of England, .at

a cost of £50,000 or £00,000. Outside the town they h.ave

built large and complete public shaughter-houses. They com-
pleted in 1893 the task of converting TuUie House, a fine

17th century mansion, into a school of art, free library,

museum, and art gallery, at a cost of £20,000. ]\Iany fine

buildmgs, residential and otherwise, are due to private

enterprise.

The Castle.—The fortress built by William Rufus occupied

a site which must in all ages have been utilized for defence.

Buildings were added to it or erected adjacent by several

kings, forming fortifications, prison, aud palace, and all were

called the castle ; but they have in recent times been gi'eatly

altered. The site is a bold but not high eminence, over-

lookiug the Eden, and commands one of the best prospects

which the city or the environs afford over the rich sur-

rounding country. The entrance is through an embattled

gateway, with the ancient portcullis, .and a defaced sculpture

over it ; this admits to the outer ward, now disfigured by
modern barracks and offices. A half-moon battery formerly

defended the inner court, but is now dismantled. The
entrance to the inner ward is through another tower ; iu this-

war-d the great keep stands, and is a lofty massive tower, but

has been converted into an armory. The palace also stood in

this ward; in its long hall Edward I. held his Parlia-

ments, but it was destroyed in 1827; the chapel was turned
into barracks in 1835, and a small staircase is the only

part of it that remains. Sir William Wallace rested a night

under the castle gate, and Waverley, in Sir Walter Scott's

novel, watched from the gatehouse Fergus JIacIvor going out

to execution.

The Cathedral.—This was origin.ally the church of an
Augustini.an priory, commeuced iu 1092, completed in 1101,
and converted into a cathedral in 1133; it has undergone

sweeping changes, and great recent restorations. " The
cloisters have dis.appeared, but the entrance-gateway and the

fratry or refectory remains. The gateway has a circular arch,

with an inscription recording it to have been built by the

prior, Christopher Slee. The fratry was recently restored by
ilr Street, R.A., and contains a curious stone chair with im-

panelled fohated ceiling, most absurdly called the confessional.

It is the ^«?^ii?«ni for the readers .at meals. The fratry is

now used as the chapter-room. The cathedral is cruciform,

aud has a square embattled tower 127 feet high rising over

the intersection of the cross. The n.ave .and the transepts

are Norman, naiTOw aud without aisles. Their columns are

very massive, each 17^ feet in circumference, and 14 feet 2

inches high. The n.ave was deprived of about 90 feet of its

length in the time of Cromwell to yield material for the erec-

tion of guai'dhouses and batteries, and the rest of it was
after-wards closed with a w.all aud refitted up as a parish

church, which it had always been. The transepts measure

124 feet in length and 28 feet in width, and the north one

is now used as the consistory court. The choir was built at

great expense, with vast effort, by aid of money obtained

through sale of indulgences and remissions, in the reign of

Edward III. Jlost of it is Early English, but the east end

is Decorated. Its lencth is 137 feet, its width 71 feet, and
its height 75 feet. The east end shows rich grandeur of

design, having a most magnificent central window, witii bold

buttresses, crocheted pinnacles, and gable crosses. The in-

terior is arranged in side aisles and central aisle, with tri-

forium and clerestorv. The columns are clustered, and the
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capitals are adorned with cawed figures and flowers indica-

tive of the occupations of the seasons. The clerestory has a

ricli parapet pierced with foliated circles. The gi'eat east

window, as seen in the interior, has heen pronounced by many
competent judges the finest decorated window in the kingdom.

It measures 60 feet hy 30, contains nine lights, and is filled

in the head with surpassingly rich flowing tracery. The
windows of the side aisles have a corresponding character.

A row of beautiful arcades appears below them, and is con-

tinued all round the walls. A very fine organ, erected in

1850, stands above the entrance to tlie choir. The stalls

are embellished with tabemacle-work in carved oak, black

with age. The bishop's throne and the pulpit are modern

and not so rich in design, yet elegant and stately. The

screens in the aisles show some curious legendary paintings

fi'om the histories of St Augustine, St Anthony, and St Cuth-

bert. A tine mural monument to Dr Paley. simply recording

his name and age, appears in the north aisle, and monuments
to Bishops Bell, Law, Smith, Robinson, Barrow, Waldegrave,

and Goodwin, Dean Close, and other distinguished men, are in

other parts. A small chapel, dedicated to St Catherine,

founded and endowed by John de Capella, a citizen of Car-

lisle, stands in the angle between the chancel and the south

transept. The deanery stands within the precincts of the

cathedral. It was built by Prior Senhouse in 1507, and

contains a fine apartment used as a drawing-room, with a

remarkably ornate ceiling in carved emblazoned oak."

Churches.— St Mary's Church formerly occupied the ca-

thedral nave, but was removed from its ancient and historical

position to a new building about thirty yeai'S ago. St Cuth-

bert's Church is a plain structure of 1778, on the site of a

previous very old one, and has a monument to Cliancellor

Carlyle, Trinity Church, in Caldewgate, and Christ Church,

in Botchergate, are handsome structures of 1830, each with

a tower and spire, and are remarkable for having their altars

at the west end. St Stephen's and St John's are beautiful

edifices of 1865, the former in Early and Decorated English,

the latter in pure Early English. St James' and St Paul's

are also new churches. Value of each, £300. Patrons of

the first four, the Dean and Chapter ; of St Stephen's and

St Paul's, the Bishop; of St John's and St James', five

tmstees. The nonconformists possess several large and

handsome churches, while the Roman Catholics erected in

1893 a fine church (to supersede an older structure), which

is dedicated to Our Lady and St Joseph. It is a building of

the Perpendicular style, and occupies one of the finest sites

in the city. A rectory is connected with it.

Schools, ^'c.—The grammar school was founded in 1546

by Henry VIII., but it was reconstructed about 1882, when
large new buildings were built for it, partly from public sub-

scription, partly from funds supplied by the Ecclesiastical

Commissioners. A girls' high school was recently founded.

There is a school of art, which will presently move into new
premises in Tullie House. The infirmary was built by sub-

scription in 1828, but was enlarged and the accommoda-
tion doubled in 1878. It is an imposing pile, situated

in the west of the town, where are also a fever hospital

and a home for incurables. The dispensary, a very old-

established charity, is within the town. There are two work-

houses, both in the city.

Trade, ij'C.—The cottuu trade, once the staple trade, has

almost disappeared from Carlisle. The chief manufactures

Eiow carried on are hat-making, biscuit-making, lithographic

printing, brewing for colonial export, and iron-founding.

These and the railways employ very large numbers of hands.

The corn, seed, and bacon trades have attained large dimen-

sions. Markets are held on Wednesdays and Saturdays, and
fairs on 26 Aug., li* Sept., and the first and second Saturday

after 10 Oct. The city was formerly connected with the

Solway by a ship canal, now superseded by the Silloth rail-

way, and it ranked as a seaport, with Allonby and Port-

Carlisle as creeks or sub-poits, but the custom-house has

been removed, and Carlisle is a creek to Whitehaven. The
city has a head post office, several banking offices and first-

vate inns, and publishes several newspapers.

The Boronr/h.—The city is a borough by prescription,

was chartered by Henry IL, is governed by a mayor, 10

aldermen, and 30 councillors, and sends one member to Par-

liament. Its borough limits, both for government and for
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representation, comprise the townships of Botchergate and
English Street in St Cuthbert parish ; the townships of

Scotch Street, Fisher Street, Castle Street, Abbey Street, and
part of Caldewgate, in St Mary parish ; and the extra-paro-

chial place of Eaglesfield Abbey. Assizes are held generally

three times a year. Population of the municipal borough,

39,176; of the parliamentary, 38,112. Tlie city gives the

title of Earl to a branch of the Howard family.

The Diocese.—The see was founded in 1133 by Henry I.

The first bishop was ^Ethelwald, the king's confessor, and
among his successors have been De Everdon, De Kirkby,

Merks, Oglethorpe, Usher, Nicolson, Sterne, Vernon Har-
court, and Goodwin. The bishop's income is £4500, and
his residence is Rose Castle. The chapter comprises a dean
(salary X1425), 4 canons (£700 per annum each), and 24
honorary canons. The diocese comprehends all Cumberland
except Alston Jloor parish, with Garrigill and Nenthead, all

Westmorland, and the Lancashire deaneries of Cartmel, Dalton,

and Ulverstone, and the ecclesiastical parishes of Beathay,

Hawkshead, Satterthwaite, Lawray, Seathwaite, and Wray,
and is divided into the three archdeaconries of Carlisle, West-
morland, and Furness. Population of the diocese, 424,913.

Carlisle, Old, a locality 2 miles S of Wigton, in Cum-
berland, the site of a Roman station, the name of which is

unknown, on the Roman road from Carlisle to Ellenborough.

^Materials were taken from ancient buildings on it toward the

erection of Wigton, and numbers of Roman relics have been

found. It was the centre of a circular line of Roman camps,

and although no traces of masonry are now visible, the posi-

tion and extent of the fort can still be traced.

Carl-Lofts, a remarkable antiquity, either Druidical or

Scandinavian, in Westmorland, near the Lancaster and Car-

lisle railway, 2 miles S of Shap. It was originally an en-

closure about ^ a mile long and 30 yards wide, by lines of

unhewn granite blocks of gi-eat size, with a terminating

circle about 40 feet in diameter of similar character, but it

has been extensively demolished l>y blasting for building

material, and by the forming of the railway.

Carlton, Cumberland. See Carleton.
Carlton, a village and a township iu Redmarshall parisJi,

Durham, 4 miles NW of Stockton-upon-Tees, with a station

ontheN.E.R. Post town, Stockton. Acreage, 1501; popu-
lation, 217.

Carlton, a village, a township, and a parish in Leicester-

shire, on the Ashby-de-la-Zouch Canal, 1^ mile NW by N
of Market-Bosworth station on the Ashby and Nuneaton

section of the M.R. Post town, Hinckley; money order and

telegraph office, jMarket-Bosworth. Acreage, 747
;
population,

267. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough
;

net yearly value, £116 with residence. The church is a

small building of brick in the Gothic style. There is also a

small Primitive Methodist chapel.

Carlton, Suffolk. See Kelsale-cum-Carltox.
Carlton, a village and a township in Coverham parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, 5 miles SSW by W of Middleham, with

a post and money order office (R.S.O.) under Jliddleham.

Acreage, 2937; population, 199. The surface is the lower

part of an upland vale, traversed by a tributary of the river

Ure. There is a Wesleyan chapel, and a school-chapel under

the Vicar of Coverham.

Carlton, a village, a township, and a parish in the N. R.

Yorkshire, on an affluent of the river Tees, 1 mile from Sex-

how station on the N.E.R., and 3 miles SW of Stokesley,

with a post office under Northallerton ; money order and

telegraph office, Stokesley. Acreage, 1358
;
population, 231.

There formerly were extensive alum-works. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of York; value, £63 with residence.

The church, restored in 1878, was destroyed hy fire in 1881.

There are a Wesleyan chapel and small charities.

Carlton, a hamlet in Pockley township, Helmsley parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles N of Helmsley. There is a small

church.

Carlton, a village and a township in Guiseley parish, W.
R. Yorkshire, on the river Wai-p, 2^ miles SE of Otley, and

2 from Guiseley station on the jM.K. Acreage, 1289
;
popu-

lation, 104.

Carlton, a township and a parish formed from that of

Roystone iu the W. R. Yorkshire, adjacent to the Banisley

Canal, IJ mile from Staincross station on the M.S. & L.B.,
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and 3 miles NNE of Bamsley, under which there is a post

and money order office; telegraph office, Roystou. Acreage,

11*78
;
population, 1401. The living is a perpetual curacy in

the diocese of York ; net value, £195 with residence. Patrons,

trustees. There are extensive collieries near, also a Wesleyan

chapel. The population is rapidly increasing.

Caxlton, Wakefield, W. R. Yorkshire. See Loftiiouse-
with-Carlton.

Carlton, Pontefract, W. R. Yorkshire. See Carleton.
Carlton or Carlton-cum-Chellington, a parish in Bed-

fordshire, on the verge of the county, near the river Ouse,

*5 miles NE of Olney, and 3^ from Turvey station on the

M.R. It has a post office under Bedford ; money order and
telegraph office, Harrold. Acreage, 1530 ;

population of the

civil parish, 379 ; of the ecclesiastical, 474. The living is a

rectory, united with the rectory of Chellington, in the diocese

of Ely; net yearly value, £310 with residence. The church

is an ancient edifice of stone in the Early English, Decorated,

and Perpendicular styles. There is a Baptist chapel, which

was built in 1760.

Carlton or Carlton-in-the-Willows, a hamlet, a town-

ship, and a parish in Notts. The township lies on the

Nottingham and Lincoln railway, adjacent to the river Trent

,

3 miles ENE of Nottingham, and has a station on the rail-

way, and a post, money order, and telegi'aph office under Not-

tingham. Acreage, 1471; population of the civil parish,

Giil4 ; of the ecclesiastical, 3973. Many of the inhabitants

are lace and stocking makers. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Southwell ; value, £430 with residence. Patron,

the Earl of Carnarvon. The church was erected in 1885.

It is a basilica—a gi-and and handsome structure—built by

the late Earl of Carnarvon in memory of Countess Carnarvon.

There are General Baptist, Congregational, Wesleyan, and
Free Methodist chapels, a Roman Catholic church, opened in

1884, a Workmen's Club, with reading-room, concert hall,

&c., a cemetery, formed in 1886, and a library.

Carlton-Castle, a parish in Lincolnshire, 2^ miles N of

Authorpe station on the G.N.R., and 5 SE of Louth, which

is the post town ; money order and telegraph office, Louth.

Acreage, 471 ;
population, 27. A populous market-town was

formerly here, enjoying many privileges. Sir Hugh Bardolph
held the manor in the time of Henry I., and had a castle on

one of three artificial mounds called the Castle hills. The
living is a discharged rectory, united to that of Little Carlton;

the tithes of the consolidated rectory are commuted at £199,
and there are about 100 acres of glebe, situated in different

parishes. The church is a small building in the Perpen-

dicular style.

Carlton-Colville, a parish in Suflblk, on the East Suffolk

branch of tlie G.E.R., between the rivers Lothlng and
Waveney, 3^ miles SW by W of Lowestoft. It lias a

station on the railway, and a post office under Lowestoft;

money order and telegi-aph office, Oulton Broad. Acreage,

2828
;

population, 1826. The living is a rectory in tie

diocese of Nonvich; net yearly value, £243 with residence.

The church is an ancient building of flint in the Early

Decorated style. It was restored in 1883. There is a chapel

of ease, erected in 1884, and Congi'egational and Primitive

Methodist chapels.

Carlton-Clim-Willingham, a parish in Cambridgeshire,

on the borders of Suffolk, 5 miles ESE of Six-Mile-Bottom
station on the G.E.R., and 7 S of Newmarket, under which
it has a post and money order office of the name of Carlton

;

telegraph office, Little Thurlow. Acreage, 2415
;
population

of the civil parish, 324; of the ecclesiastical, 313. Lord
Hampden is lord of the manor. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Ely; net yearly value, £180 with residence.

The clmrch of St Peter is a small ancient rubble building, in

Early English style, consisting of chancel and nave ; the bell

turret contains two bells. It was in a very dilapidated state

until restored in 1887.

Carlton-Curlieu, a village and a parish in Leicestershire.

The village is 2 miles NE of Kibworth station on the M.R.,

and 7^ NNW of Market-Harborough. The parish includes

also the township of Ilston-on-the-Hill, and it has a post

office under Leicester; money order and telegraph office,

Kibwortli Harcourt. Acreage, 1406
;
population of the civil

parish, 90; of the ecclesiastical, 344. Carlton-Curlieu Hall

is a very fine old building in the Elizabethan style. The
22 *
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living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly

value, £180 with residence, in the gift of the Palmer family.

The church is a small building of stone in the Norman and
later styles, and has some old monuments. It was restored

in 1880.

Carlton, East, a parish in Norfolk, near Hethcrsett sta-

tion on the G.E.R., 4^ miles E of Wymondham. Post town,

Norwich ; money order office, Mulbarton ; telegi'aph office,

Hethersett. Acreage, 1226; population, 281. There were

formerly two parishes, St Mary and St Peter. The two
paiishes were consolidated in 1860, and form a rectory

in the diocese of Norwich; gross yearly value, £315. The
church of St Peter was allowed to fall into ruin in the 16th

century. The church of St Mary is a small building of flint

and rubble. It was restored in 1881.

Carlton, East, a parish in Northvamptonshire, near the

river Welland, S^ miles SVV of Rockingham statiun on the

L. & N.W.R., and 7 E by N of Mai-ket-Harborough. Post

town, Rockingliam, which is the money order and telegraph

office. Acreage, 1573 ;
population of the civil pai'ish, 87 ;

of the ecclesiastical, 92. East Carlton House is a fine country

seat of the Palmer family, standing in a well-wooded deer

pai'k of about 100 acres. The living is a rectory in the dio-

cese of Peterborough
;
gross yearly value, £251 with resi-

dence, in the gift of the Palmer family. The church is

modem, and has a tower.

Carlton, Great, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3^ miles E of

Legbourne station on the G.N.R., and 6 ESE of Louth,

under which it has a post office of the name of Carlton;

money order and telegraph office, Louth. Acreage, 2402;
population, 245. The living is a vicarage in the diocese

of Lincoln
;

gross yearly value, £3G0 with residence.

Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of Lincoln. The chufch, re-

built, with the exception of the tower, in 1860, is a building

of Ancaster stone in the Early English style, and there are

a Wesleyan chapel and an endowed school. Carlton Lodge is

a handsome mansion built in the EHzabethau style.

Carlton, Great, Lancashire. See Carleton, Great
and Little.

Carlton-Highdale, a township in Coverham parish, N.

R. Yorkshu'e, in Highdale, 9 miles SW of Middlehatn. The
nearest station is Leyburn on the N.E.R. It includes the

village of Horsehouse, and the hamJets of Gammersgill, Brad-

ley, Woodale, and Hindlethwaite. Acreage, 10,138
;
popula-

tion, 204. There are slate quarries. The surface is the

upper part of a mountain vale, traversed by a tributary of

the river Ure, and ascends in high bleak tracts, called Carlton

Moors, at the boundary with the West Riding.

Carlton-Husthwaite, a small village, a township, and a

chapelry in Husthwaite parish, N. R. Yorkshire, ^ mile from

Husthwaite Gate station on the N.E.R. Post town, Thiisk.

Acreage, 819; population, 149.

Carlton-in-Lindrick, a parish in Notts, containing two
villages, North and South Carlton, and the hamlet of Wig-
thorpe. South Carlton stands 3 miles N of the M.S. & L.R.

at Worksop, which is the nearest railway station. It was
a place of some consequence before the Conquest, and has a

post, money order, and telegi'aph office under Worksop. Acre-

age of the civil parish, 4054; population, 995; of the eccle-

siastical, 970. The manor was given at the Conquest to

Roger de Busli. Carlton Hall belonged formerly to the Cliftous

and others, and passed to the Ramsdens. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Southwell; net value, £571 with

residence. Patron, the Ai'chbishop of York. The ciuu'ch is

pai'tly Norman, has a lofty square tower, and was reseated

with oak in 1892. There .are a Wesleyan chapel and a
meeting-room fi>r Plymouth Brethren.

Carlton-Islebeck. See Cahlton-Miniott.
Carlton-le-Moorland, a parish in Lincolnshire, between

the rivers Witham and Brant, 4^ miles SSE of Swinderby

station on tlie M.R., 4^ from Wavenby station on the G.N.R.,

and 8 ENE of Newark, under which it has a post office

;

money order and telegraph office, Bas.singham. Acreage,

2252; population of the civil parish, 277; of the ecclesi-

astical, with Stapleford, 424. The living is a vicarage, united

with the vicarage of Stapleford, in the diocese of Lincoln;

joint gross yearly value, £200 with residence. The church

is an ancient structure of stone in the Elizabethan style, and
there are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels.
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Carlton, Little, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3 miles E of

Lcgboume station on the G.N.R., and 4J ESE of Lonth,
which is the post town ; money order and telegraph ofBce,

Louth. Acreage, 948; popnlation of the civil parish, 135;
of the ecclesiastical, with Castle Carlton, 1G5. The liv-

ing is a rectory, with that of Castle Carlton annexed, in

the diocese of Lincoln ; tithe commuted at £i;)9 with resi-

dence, and about 100 acres of glebe situated in various

parishes. The church is a small building in the Early

English style. There is a Free Methodist chapel.

Carlton, Little, Lancashire. See Carleton, Great
and Little.

Carlton, Little or South, a hamlet in Sonth Jluskh.am

parish, Notts, 3^ miles NW of Newark.

Carlton-Miniott or Carlton Islebeck, a rillage and a

township in Thirsk parish, N. R. Yorksline, 1 mile from
Thu-sk station on tlie N.E.E., with a post office under
Thirsk ; money order and telegraph office, Thirsk. Acre-
age, 1552; population, 410. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of York; value, £200 with residence. Patron, the

Archbishop of York. The church is very old. There is a
Wrslryan chapel.

Carlton-Moors. See Carlton-Highdale.
Carlton, North, a parish in Lincolnshire, 3| miles E by

N of Saxelby station on the G.N. & G.E. Junction railw.ay,

and 5 NNW of Lincoln. Post town, Lincoln, which is

the money order and telegi'aph office. Acreage, 1840
;
popu-

lation, 162. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lin-

coln ; net yearly value, £150, in the gift of the Bishop of

Lincoln.

Carlton, North and South. See Carlton, Worksop,
Notts.

Carlton-Rode. See Cakleton-Kode.
Carlton-Scroop, a p.arisli in Lincolnshhe, on a branch

of the river Witham, 1 mile NE from Honington st.ation on
the G.N.R., and G miles NNE of Grantham, under which it

has a post office ; money order office, Caythorpe ; telegi-aph

office, Honington. Acreage, 1372; population of the civil

parish, 231 ; of the ecclesiastical, 374. Carlton-Scroop

Hall is a chief residence. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Lincoln, with that of Nonnanton annexed; joint

net value, £400 with residence. The church is a building

of stitiic ]t:irtlv in the Norman style, and there is a sm.all

\Vesl,-y:ni c-liapel.

Carlton, South, a parish in Lincolnslme, 4 miles NNW
of Lincoln. Post town, Lincoln, which is the money order

and telegi-aph office. Acreage, 1947
;
population, 137. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of Lincoln
;

gi'oss yearly

value, £200. Patron, the Bishop of Lincoln. The chm'cb,

an ancient stnicture of stone, was thoroughly repaired and
restored in 1859. It contains a monument with alabaster

effigies of Sn John Monson, 1593, and Jane, Lady Monson,
1C25.

Carlton, South, Notts. See Carlton, Worksop, and
Carlton, Little or South.

Carlton-on-Treut, a village, a township, .and a parish

formed from that of Norwell, in Notts, on the river Trent, at

a ferry, and on the G.N.R., 7 miles N of Newark, with a

station on the railway and a post office under Newark ; money
order and telegraph office, Sutton-on-Trent. Acreage, 922

;

population, 185. Carlton House is the scat of the lord

of the manor and chief landowner. The li\'ing is a vicarage

in the diocese of Southwell
;

gi-oss value, £100, in the

gift of the Bishop of Manchester. The church is modern, in

the Early English style, and has a tall spire.

Carlton-with-Ashby,Norfolk. SccCarleton-St-Peter.
Carlton-with-Fosham, a hamlet in Aldbrough township

and parish, E. R. Yorkshire, 6^ miles S of Hornsea.

Carlyon, a locality 2 miles S of Tniro, in Cornw.all, the

reputed birthplace of Sir Tristram, the companion of King
Arthur.

Carmarthen, a market-town, a municipal and parlia-

mentary borough, the head of a county court district and

poor law union, the capitiil of the county, a county borough,

and a parish in Carmarthenshire. The town stands on the

river Towy, 9 miles NNE of its mouth, 32 SE of Cardigan,

38 ENE of Pembroke, 217 from London (by Brecon), and

230 by the G.W.R. It has two stations on the G.W.R.,

the town station and Carmarthen Jmiction, and has also
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a station on the Central Wales section of the L. & N.W.R.
The Manchester and Milford and the Pembroke and Tenby
railways form a junction with the G.W. system here. The
river Towy is navigable to it for sea-borne vessels. It was
known to the Romans as Maridununi, and for a long time to the
Welsh as Caer-Fyrddyn. It figured as the capital of Wales
till the removal of the princes to Dynevor in 877, and it re-

tained the chancery and the exchequer of South Wales from
the annexation of the Principality till the abolition of the
Welsh jurisdiction. A Roman station is said to have been
established here. A castle of the Welsh princes succeeded
the Roman station ; occupied the brow of a hill rising ab-
ruptly from the river ; was extended and strengthened into

a fortress almost impregnable ; included a citadel, interior

buildings, exterior towers and bastions, and a strong en-
compassing rampart on a ground-plan nearly square; was
taken in 1113 by GrufTydd ah Rhys, in 1140 by Owen
Gwynedd, in 1216 by Llewelyn .ap lorwerth, in 1223 by the
Normans under the Eari of Pembroke, in 1405 by Owen
Glendower, and in the civil wars of tlie 17th century by
the Parliamentarians under Laugharae; was dismantled in

1648 and converted into a prison, and continued to be used
as a prison till 1787, when a portion of it left standing was
incorporated with the county g.iol. The famous reputed
magician Jlerlin was a native, and a spot S miles distant is

alleged to have been the place of his entombment by the

Lady of the Lake, and bears the name of Meriin's Cave.
Walter Deverenx, Earl of Essex ; Lewis Bayly, chaplain to

James I., afterwards Bishop of Bangor ; and Sir William Nott,

who captured Ghuznee in the Afghan War, also were natives.

Sir Richard Steele spent his later years partly in a house of

the town which was converted into the Ivy Bush Hotel, and
pai-tly in a house in the vicinity called Ty-Gwyn, and com-
posed here his " Conscious Lovers" and other pieces.

The town occupies in-egular ground sloping to the river,

and commands extensive and beautiful views. It is about

a mile long and half a mile broad, and is well paved and
drained. Several of the streets .are very narrow, some have
been pai'tially widened, and the best contain many good
houses. A lovely public walk, called the Parade, is at the

upper end, overlooking a fine reach of the river. A grand
view of the town itself, the picturesque vale of the Towy, and
the rnins of Dynevor Castle, is got from Grongar Hill,

celebrated in the descriptive poem of Dyer. The guild-hall,

in the middle of the town, is a large building with a spacious

court-house, in which the assizes are held, containing por-

traits of Sir Thomas Pictou and Sir William Nott, and rooms
for the meetings of the gi-and jury and petty sessions, and
for the transaction of municipal business. The prison for

the counties of Carmarthen, Pembroke, and Cardigan occu-

pies the site of the old gaol, and is a handsome stone edifice.

The county police station is adj.accnt. There .are commodious
general markets and a cattle m.arket. A bridge of six

spacious arches, with four auxiliaries, spans the river. A
bronze statue of Sir William Nott, on a gnanite pedest.il, is

in front of the guild-h.all, and an obelisk to the memory of

Sir Thomas Picton, in room of a monument by N.ash pulled

down in 1846, is at the west end of the town. There is a
monument in Lammas Street to the memory of the officers

and men of the 23rd Foot (Royal Welsh FusiHers), who fell

in the Crimean War. Barracks for about 1500 men are in

Picton Terrace at the west entrance of the town, near Pic-

ton's monument. The lunatic asylum, for the counties of

Carmarthen, Cardigan, and Pembroke, is a handsome build-

ing of Welsh sandstone in a commanding situation ; the site

and gi'ounds cover about 46 acres, and there is accommoda-
tion for over 500 patients. The county and borough in-

firmary was opened in 1 858. The parish church of St Peter

is a large plain edifice, ancient and originally cruciform,

but renov.ated and altered, has a lofty square tower, and
contains a fine altar-tomb, said to be the largest in the king-

dom, to Sir Rhys ap Thomas, who died in 1527, a monu-
ment to Bishop Farrar, who was burnt in the market-place

in the reign of Mary, and another to Sir William Nott, and
a brass to Sir Richard Steele. The old colours of the 23rd

Foot (Royal Welsh FusiUers) are in the chancel. St John's

Church, a chapel of ease to St Peter's, was built in 1889 for

Welsh services. St David's is a separate ecclesiastical parish,

constituted in 1843. The chm'ch is a lai'ge edifice in the
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Gothic style, built ia 1837 and since considerably enlarged.

Christ Church, a chapel of ease to this church, was erected

in 1869. Llanllwch is an ecclesiastical parish within the

borough of Carmarthen. The church was formerly a chapel

of ease to St Peter's. There are Roman Catholic, Con-
gregational, Baptist, Unitari.an, Wesleyan, and Calvinistic

Methodist chapels. There is acemetery of 10 acres, with two
mortuary chapels, under the control of a burial board. The
grammar-school, founded in the 17th century by Bishop

Owen, has £20 from endowment, with tln-ee exhibitions.

The South Wales and Jlonmouthshire Training College for

Schoolmasters, founded in 1847, stands ^ a mile west of the

town, and is a very handsome edifice, raised .at a cost of

£8000. There are also a training college for Presbyterian

and Congi-egational ministers, and a school of art. There
are assembly rooms, a literary and scientific institution,

with library and reading rooms, a local museum, and a
workhouse.

The town has a head post office, a railway station, three

banks, publishes three weekly newspapers, and is the capital

of the county, the seat of assizes, of petty sessions, and of

quarter sessions. Slarkets are held on Wednesday and Satur-

day, cattle markets on the first Wednesday of the month, and
cattle fail's on 15 April, 3 and 4 June, 10 July, 12 Aug., 9

Sept., 9 Oct., and 14 and 15 Nov. Some manufacture is

cai-ried on in flannel, malt, ropes, and leather, much business

is done is connection with numerous copper and tin works,

and coal and lead mines in the neighbourhood, and con-

siderable traffic exists in the export of agricultural produce,

and import of miscellaneous goods. Vessels of about 300
tons can come up to the quay. Steam communication is

maintained with Bristol and Livei-pool. The town w.as created

a borough by Edward I., and a county by James I. ; it has

a jurisdiction and a sherilf distinct from the shire. It is

governed by a mayor, aldermen, and 18 councillors, and
unites with Llanelly in sending a member to Parliament.

It has a separate commission of the peace and a separate

conrt of quarter sessions. Population of Carmarthen (1841)
9526, (1861) 9993, (1881) 10,514, (1891) 10,300. The
town gives the title of Marquis to the Duke of Leeds.

The whole parish comprises 5160acres ; population, 10,338;

of the ecclesiastical parish of St Peter, 4678. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of St David's; gross value, £268
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of St David's. The
vicarages of St David's and Llanllwch are separate charges.

Population of St David's ecclesiastical parish, 4317. The
living is a vicarage in the gift of the Crown and the Bishop

alternately ; net value, £300 with residence. The living of

Llanllwch is a vicarage in the gift of the bishop of the

diocese
;

gross value, £257 with residence. Population,

1460.

Carmarthen Bay, a large bay of South Wales, on the

coast of Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire, and Glamorgan.

It opens from the Bristol Channel, between Giltar Point and
Worms Head, measures 13 miles east-south-eastward across

the entrance, makes a somewhat semicircular sweep, with

offsets at the Towy and the Bun-y rivers, and penetrates

about 9 miles from the line of entrance to the Towy's mouth.

Caldy Island lies at the west side of the entrance, the Cefu-

Sidan sandbank spreads over the north-eastern portion, and
the ports of Tenby, Saundersfoot, Carmarthen, Peinbrey, and
Llanelly are on the minor baylets or rivers. Caldy Island

forms a natural breakwater, and lights are there and else-

where to guide the navigation.

Carmarthenshire or Caermarthenshire, a m.aritime

county of South Wales, bounded on the W by Pembrokeshire,

on the N by Cai'diganshire, on the E by Breconshire, on the SE
by Glamorgan, on the S by Carmarthen Bay. It is the largest

county in the Principality. Its length, north-eastward, is

63 miles; its greatest breadth, 33 miles; its circuit, about

165 miles ; its area, 587,816 .acres. A low tract, reclaimed

from the sea, lies round Langhame; another low tract lies

along the Towy; a great congeries of hills and uplands fills most
of the interior ; a range of mountains, striking away to Plyn-

limmon in Cardiganshire, is in the north; and a loftier range,

forming the main part of the Black Mountains or Forest

Fawr, culminates in the Carmarthen Van or Beacon (2596
feet), the highest peak of which (2631 feet) is over the

border in Breconshire. The chief rivers are the Towy, with
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the Gwili, the Cothi, tlie Bran, the Sawdde, .and the Cennin;
the Taf, with the Gyniu and Cj-wyn ; the Teifi, on the bound-
ary with Cardigan

; the Llwchwr, on the eastern boundary
to the sea ; the two Gwendraeths, and the Amman. The
Towy has a course of about 50 miles in Carmarthenshire.
Several lakes occur, of no gi'cat size, yet full of interest either
to the .angler or to the tourist. Lower Silurian rocks form
the northern and the central districts ; upper Silurian rocks
form narrow belts in the SE ; old red sandstone rocks form
a considerable belt on the coast, from the western boundary
to the cast of the Towy, and thence east-north-eastward

;

and the rocks of the carboniferous series, rich in the coal
measures, constituting part of the great coal-field of South
Wales, form all the tracts on the SE, both sea-hoard and
inland. Lead ore, copper ore, ironstone, slate, building-
stone, fire-stone, .and d.ark blue marble are worked, and there
are numerous collieries.

The soils on the higher tracts over all the dift'erent kinds
of rocks are, for the most p.art, rather poor, while those in
tlie valleys, especially in the lower parts of those of the Towy
and the Taf, .are in general very fertile. About one-third
of all the hand is w.aste. Peat is the only fuel throughout
much of the uplands, .and crushed coal, mixed with clay, and
formed into balls, is the chief fuel used in the other tracts.

The enclosures are chiefly of stone. Oats are the chief gi-ain

crop, both for home use and for exportation. Butter and
bacon are sent from daiiy tracts to market. The cattle are
chiefly a small or middle-sized native breed ; but in some of
the best parts of the valleys are large kinds from other
counties. The sheep were formerly small, but h.ave been
much improved by crosses with the Sonthdowns.

Agricultdeal Statistics, 1893.

Crops. Acres.

Com Crops. 53,018
Green Crops, .... 10,021

Clover, Sainfoin, Grasses, 28,843
Permanent Pasture, . 343,710
Bare Fallow, .... f20
Orchards 160
Market Gardens. ... 14
Small Fruit, 40
Nursery Grounds, ... 34
Woods and Plantations, 22,346

Live Stock. No.

Horses—Used solely for

Agriculture, . 11,397
" Unbroken, . . 7,307
" Mares kept for

Breeding, . . 1,642
Cows and Heifers in Milk
or Calf, 51.189

Other Cattle, .... 67,508
Sheep, 243,464
Pigs 29,372

A large export trade is carried on in coal, stone, and iron,

and some manufactures exist in woollens and leather. The
G.W.R. brings Carmarthenshire into communication with
England and London, rid Bristol, the Severn Tunnel, and
Swansea. From Carm.arthen a branch runs to Llandyssil,

and another runs from Llanfalteg Junction to Cardigan.

The L. & N.W.R. has a branch from Carmarthen to Llandilo,

rans thence jointly with the G.W. to Llandoveiy, and thence

connects with Shrewsbury and Crewe. The Manchester and
Milford railway to Aberystwyth is brought into connection

with the G.W. system at Pencader, and the Pembroke and
Tenby railway connects with the G.W. system at Whitland.

Short mineral lines run north from Kidwelly, Pembrey, and
Llanelly.

The ancient county is divided for parliament.ary purposes

into two divisions ; it also includes the Carmarthen district

of boroughs, consisting of the contributory boroughs of Car-
marthen and Llanelly. The administrative county includes

the municipal boroughs of Carmarthen, Kidwelly, and Llan-

dovery. It has one conrt of quarter sessions, and is divided

into eight petty sessional divisions. The borough of Car-

marthen has a separate commission of the peace and separate

court of quarter sessions. The county contains eighty entire

civil parishes and part of one other, and seventy-five entire

ecclesiastical parishes and districts, and parts of seven others.

It is included entirely in the diocese of St Darid's. The
county is governed by a lord-lieutenant, a high sheriff, and a
county council consisting of fifty-one councillors and seventeen

aldermen. It is in the western militai-y district, and the

South Wales judicial circuit. The assizes are held at Car-

marthen. Population (1801) 67,317, (1821) 90,239, (1841)
106,326,(1861) 111,796,(1881) 124,864,(1891) 130,566.

According to the census returns issued in 1893, the chief

occupations of the people of the county were;—Professional,

1936 males and 943 females ; domestic, 190 males and 7885
females ; commercial, 2644 males and 28 females ; agricul-
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tnral, 9105 males and 1444 femak-s; fishing, lOG males
and 39 females; industrial, 21,GS8 males and 5556 females;
and " unoccupied," including retired business men, pensioners,

those living on their own means, and others not specified,

C880 males and 31,255 females; or a total in the county of

42,549 males and 47,150 females. The largest numher of

men employed in any one industry was, tin workers, 5612;
coal miners, 3808 ; farmers, 36,63 ; agricultural labourers,

3211 ; and general labourers, 1516. The chief occupations

of women are—domestic service, with a total of 6738 ; mil-

linery and dressmaking, 2578; and tin-plate working, 1173.
There were also in the county 111 blind persons, 28 deaf,

67 deaf and dumb, and 702 ment.ally deranged. There were
63,345 persons able to speak only the Welsh language, and
36,937 who could speak both Welsh and English.

The territory now forming Carmarthenshire belonged to

the Demetse or Dyfed ; was included in the Roman Brit.annia

Secunda ; afterwards formed part of Ceredigion or Dynevoi*

;

made very stout resistance to the Normans
;
gave way to the

forces of Edward I. ; and was not entirely subdued by Eng-
land till the commencement of the 16th century. Traces of

the early inhabitants still remain in the shape of cromlechs,

as at Dolwilynn near Llanboidy, inscribed stones, as the

Eidon Stone at Golden Grove. Encampments, Roman sta-

tions, and Roman roads may also he traced. Ruins or

remains of castles exist at Dynevor, Dryslwyn, Llandovery,

Can-eg-Cinnen, Carmarthen, Llanstephan, Laugharne, Kid-
welly, and Newcastle-Emlyn, and remains of monasteries are

at Talley.

The Eastern and Western parliamentary divisions of Car-
marthenshire were formed under the Redistribution of Seats

Act of 1885, and return one member each to the House of

Commons. The population of the Eastern division was
49,003, and the Western 46,956. The Eastern division in-

fludes the following:—Llandeilo (part of)—Bettws, Llan-

dilofawr, Llandebie, Llanfihangel Aberbythych, Llanfihangel

Cilfargen, Llandefeisant, Llangathen ; Llandovery—Cilycwm,
Conwil Cayo, Llancrwys, Llandingat, Llanddausaint, Llan-

fairar}'bryn, Llangadock, LKansadwrn, Llanwrda, Mothvev,
TaUey; Llanelly—Kidwelly (St Mary—Without), Llanedy,

Llanelly, Llangennech, Llanon, Pembrey. The Western
division includes the following :—Carmarthen—Abergwili,

Abernant, Conwil Elvet, Kidwelly (St Jlary—Within), Llan-

arthney, Llanddarog, Llandefeilog, Llangain, Llangendeirne,

Llangunnock, Llangunnor, Llanllawddog, Lhanpumpsaint,

Llanstephan, Jlerthyr, New Church, St Ishm.ael ; Llanboidy

—Castle Dyr.an, Cilymaenllwyd, Eglwys-fair, Egremont,
Henllan Amgoed, Kiffig, Llanboidy, Llandissilio, Llantallteg,

Llangan, Llanginniug, Llanglydwen, Llanwinio, Mydrim

;

Llandeilo (part of)—Llanegwad, Ll.anfynydd ; Llandovery

(part of)—Llansawell, Pencarreg; Llanfihangel-ar-Arth

—

lirechfa, Llanfihangel-ar-Arth, Llanfihangel-Rhos-y-Corn,

Llanllwni, Llau-by-ddar ; Newcastle-in-Emlyn— Cenjirth,

Cilrhedyn, Llangeler, Pemboir, Treleach-ar-Bettws ; St

Clears—Eglwys Cymmin, L.anghiirne (parish), Laugh.oi'ne

(township), Llandawke, Llandilo Ahercowin, Lllandowror,

Llanfihangel Abercowin, Llansadurnen, Marros, Pendine,

St Clears ; Carmarthen—municipal borough.

Carmeirs or Caimmens, a valley in Cornwall, descend-

ing from the hills of Hensbairow, south-eastward, past

Luxulian, to the vicinity of St Blazey. It is tr.aversed by a
romantic stream, and by a railwiiy from the china-clay works
of Hensb.aiTow to the Harbour of Par, is flanked by gi-anite

cliffs and tors in picturesque aiTangement, has in one part a

gi'and cascade through a wood, and presents finer groups of

scenery with water, wood, and rock, than any other valley of

Cornwall.

Carmel Head, a headland .at the NE side of the entrance

of Holyhead Bay, 7 miles NNE of Holyhead, in Anglesey.

Cam, a Celtic name signifying "a he.ap or a prominence,"

and used as a prefix.

Camaby, a township, a village, and a p.arish in E. R.

Yorkshire, on the Hull and Scarborough branch of the

N.E.R., 2J miles SW of Bridhngton, with a station on

the railway, .and a post oflice under Hull ; money order and
telegraph office, Bridlington. Acreage, 1944

;
population of

the civil parish, 200 ; of the ecclesiastical, 308. The living

is a vicarage, united with Eraisthorpe and held witli Boynton,

in the diocese of York ; value, .£66. The church is an
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ancient building in the Perpendicular style, and has a good
Later English tower. The nave of the church was restored

in 1892-93. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Camanton, a seat 2i miles WNW of St Columb, in

Cornwall. It belonged in 'the time of Charles I. to Attorney-
General Noy.

Carnarvon or Caernarvon, a borough, the head of a

poor law union, and the county and assize town of Carnar-
vonshire. The town stands at the mouth of the river Seiont,

on the SE side of the Menai Strait, in the parish of Llan-

beblig, 9 miles SW by S of Bangor, and 247^ from London.
The Roman station Segontium was at Llanbeblig, within J a

mile, on the road to Beddgelert. It occupied a quadrangular
area of about 7 acres, on the summit of an eminence gradu-
ally sloping on every side, .and was defended with strong

walls of masonry. Extensive portions of these walls, on tlie

south side, still exist, and traces of a Roman villa and baths

were discovered in 1835. Roman coins and other relics also

h.ave been found, and one of the coins is that of Vespasian,

struck at the capture of Judea. A strong fort, some remains

of which are still standing, was near the Seiont, to secure a
landing-pl.ace at high water ; other outposts, which can still

be traced, were on the opposite side of the Seiont ; a well in

the vicinity still bears the name of Helena, supposed to have

been the wife of a cousin of Constantine the Great ; and a

very strong, conspicuous, circular, artificial mound on the

sea-shore, where Roman coins have been found and which is

now called Dinas-Dinlle, was the chief outpost. The Welsh
appear to have called it Caer-Seiont and Caer-Custeint—

•

"the fort of the Seiont" and " the fort of Constantine;" and

on building a strength of their own in its vicinity, within a

district then named Arfon (th.at is, opposite Mona or Angle-

sey), called this Caer-yn-Arfon, now changed into Carnarvon.

The Welsh princes had their seat here till 873, when they

went back to Abeiffr.aw. Edw.ard I. took possession of it in

1282, and came in person and founded a castle here in

1284 ; and his son, the Prince of Wales, afterwards Edward
II., was born here in the same year. Walls were built round

the town in 1286; the castle continued to be in progress in

1291; both the walls and the castle were much demolisjied

at Madoc's insurrection in 1295, and were afterwards re-

founded; and the grandest part of the castle, called the

Eagle Tower, was built by Edward II., and finished in 1322.

Owen Glendower besieged the place in 1402, but failed to

t.ake it. In Henry VIII. 's reign, having become much dila-

pidated, it was restored. Both parties in the civil wars of

Charles I. repeatedly took and retook it, till the Parliamen-

t.arians eventually got the mastery. Tlie castle still stands on

strong ground at the west end of the town, has been carefully

repaired, is the property of the Crown, and is governed by a

constable and depnty-constable. It covers about 2^ acres, and

forms an uregnlar oblong. The external walls are very high,

contain a lofty series of galleries, and are pierced by numerous
loop-holes or aiTow slips. There are thirteen great towers,

of pent.agonal, hexagonal, and octagonal designs. The very

m.assive pectagonal Eagle Tower, guarding the mouth of the

Seiont, is so called from the mutilated figure of .an eagle,

which w.as one of Edw.ard's crests. This m.ajestic tower,

which is 124 feet high, has three turrets, and its battlements

display a mutilated series of armed heads. A small room in

this tower was assigned by tradition as the birthplace of the

first Prince of Wales, but it has been shown from the public

records that this portion of the castle was not built till

Edward 11. 's own reign. A staircase of 158 steps leads to

the top of the Eagle Tower, from which a magnificent view

of the Slenai Straits and the mountains of Snowdon is ob-

tained. In front of the noble Gothic main entrance, which

is flanked by a tower on each side, is a mutilated statue of

Edw.ard I. sheathing a sword, with a defaced shield under

his feet. The grooves of four portcullises remain. The in-

terior, which was divided into two w.ards, is a mere shell;

the state rooms were fitted with spacious windows and ele-

gant tracery, of which little is left.

The environs ai'e strikingly picturesque, comprise good

views of the Menai Straits and the Snowdon and Yr Eifl

Mountains, and contain charming drives and walks. The
Twt (Toot) Hill, a rocky mound immediately adjacent, re-

sembles the Calton Hill of Edinburgh, and commands a

brilliant panoramic prospect. The town walls, defended by
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many round towers, remain nearly complete round all the

circuit, but have mainly become private property, and are

much bloclied up by houses, and only a small part of their

summit, adjoining the church, is available for the public, but

a broad pleasant terrace runs on the outside of them from

the nortli end to the quay, and forms a fashiomible prome-

nade. The town consists of ten streets inside the walls, and

more than double that number outside, with many handsome
villas. The guild-hall, over the east town-gate, was erected

in 1874. The county hall is nearly opposite the main en-

trance to the castle. The West or Golden Gate of the town

is close to the sea, and is occupied by the Royal Welsh

Yacht Club-house. Another tower of the town walls forms

portion of the county gaol, another formerly a portion of the

North Wales Training; College, and another the vestry of St

Mary's Church. In the market-place is a handsome statue to

Sir Hugh Owen, who did so much for intermediate education in

Wales. There is a large pa^'ilion near Twt Hill capable of

holding 7000 persons, and used for Eisteddfod meetings, &c.

The market house is a modern erection. The custom house

stands at the south end of the terrace ; a pier and landing-

slip are at the north end, and the harbour extends under the

walls of the castle and along the north side of the town.

There are four churches, and Roman Catholic, Baptist, Con-

gregational, Wesleyan, and Calvinistic Methodist chapels.

The Church of St Mary, at the NW corner of the town walls,

was formerly the gan'ison chapel. The living is a vicarage,

annexed to that of Llanbeblig, in the diocese of Bangor;

juint net value, £32G. Patron, the Bishop of Chester. The
ciiurch at Llanbeblig is a very ancient and interesting building.

The town has a head post otEce, a railway station, two

banks, police station and workhouse, is the capital of the

county, with assizes, sessions, and militia headquai'ters, and

publishes six weekly newspapers. Ai'ea of the municipal

borough, 2214 acres; population, 0804. A weekly market

is held on Satmday, and fairs on 4 March, 15 May. 26 June,

11 Aug., 23 Sept., y Nov., and the first Friday of Dec. A
steam ferryboat runs to the opposite shore of Anglesey

;

steamers ply to I\Ienai Bridge, and there is also communica-
tion by steamer with Beaumaris, Llandudno, and Liverpool.

The harbour has a pier and landing-slip, and admits vessels

of 400 tons. The number of vessels registered as belonging

to the port in 1893 was 225 (30,474 tons). The entries

and clearances each average 1700 (140,000 tons) per annum.

The railway from Carnarvon forms a junction at Bangor with

the Chester and Holyhead section of the L. & N.W. system,

and the Carnarvonshire section of that line forms a junction

with the Cambrian railway at Afon-wen, and with the North

Wales naiTow gauge railway to Rhyd-ddu at Dinas. The
chief exports are slates and copper ore, and the chief imports

timber, coal, and foreign produce. The town was chartered

by Edward L, is governed by a mayor, 6 aldermen, and 18

councillors. It unites with Bangor, Conway, Criccieth, Nevin,

and Pwllheli in sending a member to Pai-liament. The borough

has a separate commission of the peace, and is dirided into

two wards. Its limits include about three-fourths of the

parish, and extend in some directions 2 miles from the town.

It is the headquarters of the 4th battalion Royal Welsh
Fusiliers (Royal Carnarvonshire Militia). The town gives

the title of Earl to the family of Herbert.

Camaxvon Bay, an offset of the Irish Sea on the west

coast of Anglesey and Carnarvonshire. It commences be-

tween Holyhead on the north and Braich-y-Pwll on the south,

measures 30 miles across the entrance, has a somewhat tri-

angular outhne,and penetrates 17 miles eastward to the SW
mouth of the Menai Strait.

Carnarvonshire or Caernarvonshire, a maritime county

of North Wales, bounded on the north by Beaumaris Bay and
the Irish Sea, on the north-east by Denbighshire, on the

south-east and the south by Merionethshire and by Cardigan

Bay, on the south-west by Carnarvon Bay, and on the north-

west by the Menai Strait, dividing it from Anglesey, Its

length south-westward is 65 miles, its greatest breadth 23
miles, its circuit about 150 miles, its area 361,097 acres.

Tlie part between Cardigan Bay and Carnar\*on Bay, 28 miles

long, and diminishing in breadth from 13 miles to a point, is

the peninsula of Lleyn, and the other parts are mainly filled

with the vales and mountains of Snowdonia. Much of the

Lleyn peninsula is low country, parts of the other seaboards
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also are low, yet these tracts abound in hold picturesque

diversities, while the mountains of Snowdonia, regarded either

in the group or in detail, are the richest for grandeur, force,

and beauty in the British Isles. The Conway river goes

along the north-eastern boundary to the sea; the Maclino,

the Lledr, and the Llugwy fall Into the Conway ; the Glas-

Llyn, a romantic stream, goes to Cardigan Bay; and the

Seiont and the Gwrfai descend from Snowdon to the Menai

Strait. Numerous lakes lie among the mountains, and in-

numerable rivulets run around their bases. Cambrian and

Silurian rocks, with vast and manifold protrusions of erupted

rocks, fill nearly all the area. The Cambrian form consider-

able belts in the north-west and the south-west ; the lower

Silurian spread from the middle west, through all the centre,

to the south and the east ; and the upper Silurian form a

small tract in the north-east. The erupted rocks range from

granite through all the traps to the simply volcanic, and in-

clude great uplifted masses of clay-slate and other schists.

Old red sandstone appears on the coast from Conway to

Bangor, also in Braich-y-Pwll, and carboniferous limestone

appears in Orme's Head and in a strip along part of the

Menai Strait. Copper, lead, and zinc are worked, roofing

slates in vast quantities are quarried, and millstone and ochre

are found.

Agkicultukal Statistics for 1803.

Crops. Acres.

Coru Crops, ..... 19.158

Green Crops, .... 8,716
Clover, Sainfoin, Grasses. 24,244

Permauent Pasture, . 141,458
Bare Fallow 127
Orchards, 87
Market Gardens, ... 55
Small Fruit, S'Z

Nursery Grounds, ... 30
Woods and Plantations, 11,654

No.

Mors.

Live Stock.

—Used solely for

Agriculture,. 4,712
" Unbroken, . . 2,879
" Mares kept for

Breeding. . . 615
Cows and Heifers in Milk

or Calf. 22,809
Other Cattle 32,484
Sheep, 239,740
Pigs, 20,948

Wheat is grown in a few fertile spots on the seaboards, but

oats, barley, and potatoes are the chief crops. Husbandry
in general has been much improved. The black cattle are

smaller than those of Anglesey ; the native sheep are a very

diminutive breed, but have been improved by judicious cross-

ing. Butter, wool, and lambs are sent to the market, and
stockings, flannel, and coarse woollen cloth ai-e manufactured.

The Chester and Holyhead section of the L. & N.W.R. goes

along the northern seaboard ; a branch runs down the valley

of the Conway from Llandudno Junction to Bettws-y-Coed

and Festiniog, and another branch from Bangor to Carnai-

von and thence to Afon-wen, where it forms a junction with

tJie section of the Cambrian railway between Pwllheli, Cric-

cieth, and Portmadoc. From Bangor and Carnarvon are

short offshoots of the L. & N.W. system to Bethesda and to

Llanberis respectively. From Dinas Junction on the line

from Carnarvon to Afon-wen, the North Wales narrow gauge
railway mns into the heart of the Snowdon district to Snow-
don station, which is connected by coach with Beddgelert.

From Portmadoc, also connected by coach with Beddgelert,

runs another narrow gauge or ''toy" railway, the Festiniog,

to Blaenau Festiniog.

The county is divided for pai'liamentary purposes into two
divisions, each returaing one member. It also includes the

Carnarvon district of boroughs, consisting of the contributory

boroughs of Bangor (city), Cm*narvon, Conway, Criccieth,

Nevin, and Pwllheli. The county includes four municipal

boroughs, namely, Bangor (city), Carnarvon, Conway, and
Pwllheli. It has one court of quarter sessions, and is divided

into sis petty sessional divisions. The borough of Cai-narvon

has a separate commission of the peace, but no separate

court of quarter sessions. The county contains 71 entire

civil parishes and parts of two others. It is included partly

in the diocese of Bangor and partly in that of St Asaph.

The county is governed by a lord lieutenant, a high sheriff,

and a county council consisting of 48 councillors and 16

aldermen. It is in the Western Military district, and in the

North Wales judicial circuit. The assizes and the quarter

sessions are held at Carnarvon. Population (1801) 41,521,

(1821)58,090,(1841)81,093,(18«1)95,694,(1881)110,349,

(1891) 118,204. of whom 5t>,49G were males and (51,708

females; of administrative county (1891) 117,233.

According to the census returns issued in 1893, the chief
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occupations of the people of the county were:—Professional,

2525 males and 121.11) females; domestic, 371 males and 9020
females; commercial, 3919 males and 55 females; agricul-

tural, 9561 males and 799 females; fishing, 119 males and
1 female; industrial, 21,701 males and 4978 females; and
" unoccupied," including retired business men, pensioners,

those living on their own means, and others not specified,

7912 males and 35,391 females; or a total in the county of

46,108 males and 52,443 females. The largest number of

men employed in any one industry was, slate qnaniers, 7661

;

agricultural labourers, 4696; farmers, 2914; general labour-

ers, 2455: seamen, &c., 1236; and stone qnairiers, 1196.

The chief occupations of women are, domestic service, with a

total of 8890 ; and those of milliner and dressmaker, 2251.

There were also in the county 98 blind persons, 41 deaf, 83

deaf and dumb, and 164 mentally deranged. There were

78,780 persons able to speak only the Welsh language, and

28,330 who could speak both Welsh and English.

The Southern or Kifion,and Northern or Arfon parliamen-

tary divisions of Carnarvonshire were formed under the Redis-

tribution of Seats Act, 1885, and return one member each

to the House of Commons. Carnarvon boroughs also send

one member. The population of the Southern Division is

42,816, and of the Northern, 45,816. The Southern Divi-

sion includes the following:—CarnaiTon (pai't of)—Bettws-

Garmon, Clynnog, Llanbeblig, Llandwrog, Llanfaglan, Llan-

fairisgaer, Llanllyfni, Llanrug, Llanwnda ; Eifionydd or

Portmadoc—Beddgelert (part), Criccieth, Dolbenmaen, Llan-

fibangel-y- Pennant, Penmorfa, Treflys, Ynyscynhaiarn

;

Pwllheli—Aberdaron, Abereirch, Bodferin, Bodvean, Bott-

wnog, Bryncroes, Carngiwch, Celdio, Denio, Edeyrn, Llan-

aelhaiarn, Llanai"mon, Llanbedrog, Llandegwning, Llandud-

wen, Llanengan, Llanfaelrhys, Llaufihangel - Bachellaeth,

Llangian, Llangwnadl, Llangybi, Llaniestjn, Llannor, Llany-

stumdwy, Meillteyrn,Nevin, Penllech, Penrhos, Pistill, Rhiw,

Tydweiliog ; Carnarvon, municipal borough. The Northern

Division includes the following:—Carnarvon (part of)

—

Llanberis, Llanddeiniolen ; Bangor—Aber, Bangor, Llandegai,

Llanfairfechan, Llanllechid ; Conway— Caerhun, Conway,
Dolgarrog (township), Dwygyfylchi, Eirias (township), Egl-

wysrhos, Gyffin, Llanbedr Cenin, Llandudno, Llangelynin,

Llangwstcnin, Llysfaen, Maenan (township) ; Nant Conway
—Bettws-y-Coed, Dolwyddelen, Eidda (township), Llanrhoch-

wyn, Penmachno, Trefriw, Trewydir (township).

The territory now forming Carnarvonshire belonged an-

ciently to the Cangi and the Ordovices, was included by the

Romans in their Britannia Secunda, and formed part of

Venedotiaor Gwynedd. It was the chief theatre of the suc-

cessive and protracted stmggles of Romans, Saxons, Normans,

and English for the subjugation of Wales, and it possessed

the stoutest means for offering resistance. Its natural de-

fences, themselves of the highest order, were so strengthened

by artificial strongholds as to make the parts of it around

Snowdon one vast mountain fortress. The passage of the

Conway was guarded by Cestell-Deganwy
;
the pass of Bwlch-

y-ddeufaen, by a fort at Caerhun ; the northern seaboard by

the great hill camp of Penniaen-&Iawr, and by forts at Aber

and in Nant-Francon ; the pass of Llanberis, by Dolbadarn

Castle; the pass under Mynydd-Mawr, by a fort overlooking

it ; and the passage over the Traeth-BIawr, or great sands,

by the castle of Harlech in Merioneth on the one side, and

by that of Criccieth on the other, with a watch-tower at

Castill-Gwyvarch, and a fort at Dolbenmaen. Snowdonia

thus could not be entered without a siege, or penetrated

without encountering the double resistance of ai-tificial de-

fences and stupendous natural fastnesses, and it in conse-

quence was the scene of continued and desperate warfare,

because the last retreat of unconquered freedom.

Cromlechs occur at Bachwen, Cefn-Amlwch, Capel Gar-

mon, and Dolbenmaen, and other Celtic antiquities exist,

while many more have been destroyed since the latter part of

the 18th century. Several large ancient British camps or forts,

especially at Deganwy, Dolbenmaen, Dinas-DinorwJg, Dinas-

Ddinlle, Braich-y-Dinas, and Trer-Caeri, still exist. Roman
stations stood at Conovium (Caerhun) and Segontium (near

Carnarvon) ; a branch of the northern Watling Street joined

the main Roman road at Caerhun; the Sarn-Helen Way
went from Carnarvon to Herira-Mons in Jlerioneth ; and

many camps and Roman antiquities have been found. The
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castles of Carnarvon and Conway are two of the finest ex-

tant specimens of their class in the kingdom, and those of

Dolbadarn and Criccieth still present features of interest.

Vestiges of monastic houses are at Bangor, Beddgelert, Clyn-
nog-Vawr, Maenan, and Bardsey, and a large ancient church

is at Clynnog. Conway and Carnarvon present the finest

examples, after Chester, of town walls to be found in the

kingdom.

Cam Brea, a railway station in Cornwall, on the G.W.R.,
306 miles from London. It has a post, money order, and
telegi-aph office (R.S.O.) In the vicinity is Carn Brea, a
rocky eminence, 740 feet in height, supposed to have been
one of the chief seats of the Druids.

Camedd-Dafydd and Camedd-Llewelyn, two peaks
of Snowdonia, in Carnarvonshire, 5 miles NW and NNW of

Capel-Curig. They have altitudes of 3430 and 3482 feet,

and are joined by a narrow ridge, 2 miles long. Both peaks
command a magnificent prospect, embracing Beamnaris
Bay, the Menai Straits, Anglesey, Bardsey Island, Carnarvon
and Cardigan Bays, Snowdon, Cader Idris, and other

mountains.

Cameddi-Hengwm, a detile 5} miles N of Barmouth, in

Merionethshire. Two large cau-ns are here, one of them con-
taining sis kistvaens. It was probably the bmial-place of an
ancient town, the remains of which may still be seen near

Llyn Irddyn, a lake in the neighbourhood.

Camedd-Llewelyn. See Caknedd-Daftdd.
Camfortli, a village, a tomiship, and a parish in Lanca-

shire, on the Fmness, L. & N.W., and Midland railways, 6

miles NNE of Lancaster, with an important junction

railway station and a head post office. Acreage, 1459

;

population, 2680. The living is a perpetual curacy attached

to Warton, in the diocese of Manchester; gi'oss value, =£300.

There ai-e Congregational and Wesleyan chapels; also exten-

sive gravel pits. A subterranean brook bursts up here after

having run 2 miles under giound from a limestone cavern at

Dunald-mill-hole. There are large hematite ironworks.

Cam-Galva, a hill on the coast of Cornwall, 5 miles

NNW of Penzance. It is beautifully crested with granite,

commands a good view, and is considered the finest hill in

the Land's End district.

Camgiwch, a parish in Carnarvonsliire, on the river

Erch, 4 miles NW of Nevin, 4 N of Pwllheli, and 5J ^VNW
of Afon-Wen station on the Cambrian railway. Post town,

Llithfaen, under Pwllheli. Acreage, 1404; population, 103.

The church is smalL

Cam-Llechart, a stone circle in Llangafelach parish,

Glamorgan, near the top of &Iynydd-Maen-Coch, in the neigh-

bourhood of Swansea. It is in a state of almost perfect

preservation.

Cam-Madryn or Fadryn, a hill 7 miles W by S of

Pwllheli, in Caruarvonshu-e. It is 1221 feet high.

Cam-Marth, a hill in the south-eastern vicinity of Red-

ruth, in Cornwall. Its height is 757 feet. An excavation

in the side of it, called Gwennap-pit, was the scene of Wes-
ley's famous preaching to the miners, and it is still used by

the Wesleyans for an anniversary celebration, generally at-

tended by upwards of 20,000 persons.

Canuuenellis, an ecclesiastical district in Cornwall, on

the river Kennal, near the Coniwall railway, 4 miles S of

Redruth, which is the post town. Population, 1676. Caiii-

menelUs Hill here is 822 feet high. The living is a \ncarage

in the diocese of Truro; value £220.

Cam-Minnis, a hill 3 miles W by S of St Ives, in Corn-

wall. Its height is 805 feet, and it commands an extensive

view.

Camo, a river, a village, and a parish in Montgomery-
shire. The river rises near the watershed with the Dyfi,and

nans 9 miles south-eastward to the Severn, 2,^ N of Llan-

dinam. A part of a Roman road is visible close to the

village. The village stands on the river, 10 miles Why N of

Newtown, and has a station on the Cambrian railway, and a

post office (R.S.O.) The parish comprises the townships of

Derlwyn, Llyssyn, and Trawscoed. Acreage, 11,004; popu-

lation of the civil pai'ish, 772 ; of the ecclesiastical, 779.

Great part of the surface is mountainous. Remains of an

entrenchment, called Caer-y-Noddfa, are contiguous to the

village. A battle, decisive of the sovereignty of North Wales,

is said to have been fought in 949 at the village. The
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lidng is a vicarage in the diocese of Bangor ; net value,

£140 with residence. The church occupies the site of an

old one of the Knights of St John of Jerusalem, and was
built in 1807. There are dissenting chapels.

Carno, a locality in the southern vicinity of Crickhowell,

in Breconshire. Ethelbal, Idng of Jlercia, on his invasion of

Wales in 728, was met and defeated here by the Britons.

Camon, a stream and a vill.age in Cornwall. The stream

nms 4 miles south-eastward, down a valiey, to the head of a

creek of Falmouth harbour, 4 miles N of Falmouth. Great

tin stream works were carried on at its mouth, over a space

300 yards wide, upwards of a mile long, some distance into

the bed of the estuary, and banked round to keep off the

water, but have been abandoned. The village stands a short

way up the stream, and has extensive works for prepaiing

arsenic from arsenical pyrites.

Caron-Isclawdd. See Tregaron.
Carperby-cum-Thoresby, a township in Aysgaith par-

rish, N. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles E of Askr'igg railway station.

It has a post oiBoe under Aysgaith station (R.S.O.); money
order, and telegraph office, Aysgarth. Acreage, 4915

;
popu-

lation, 244. There is a Wesleyan chapel and a Friends'

meeting-house.

Can*, a hamlet in Laughten-en-le-Morthen parish, W. K.

Yorkshu-e, 5A miles SW of Tickhill.

Carraton Hill, a hill 4 miles NNE of Liskeard, in Corn-
wall. Its height is 1208 feet. Prince Rupert's army en-

camped on if in 1644.

Carre, The, a tributray of the river Pan-et, in Somerset.

Carreg-Cenneu Castle, an ancient rain 3 miles SE of

Llandilofawr, in Carmarthenshire. It crowns a precipitous,

isolated, limestone rock, nearly 300 feet high, overhanging

the river Cennen, almost suiTounded by bare sandstone hills,

and commanding extensive vista-inews along valleys and to

the sea. It covers a platform of fully an acre, is inaccessible

on all sides except one, and must in old times have been

almost impregnable. Its histoiy is not known, and its origin

has been ascribed variously to the ancient Britons and the

Romans. The existing remains comprise two square towers,

defending the entrance, a lai"ge round tower, and an octagonal

tower, and do not appear to be older than the time of

Richard II.

Carreg-Gwastad Point, a headland in Llanwnda parish,

Pembrokeshire, 4i miles WNW of Fishguard. A French
force of 1400 men landed here in 1797, and were captm'ed

by a body of yeomanry under Lord Cawdor, the lord-lieutenant

of the county.

Carreghova, a township in Llan-y-Mynech parish, Mont-
gomeiyshhe, on the river Vyrawy, near Offa's Dyke and the

Slontgomery Canal, 5^ miles SSW of Oswestry. Acre.age,

1283
;
population, 465. Limestone is extensively quamcd.

Carr-End, a h,amlet in Bainbridgc township, Aysgarth
parish, N. K. Yorkshire, 1 mile SW of Askrigg.

Carr-Green, a hamlet in Darton township and parish,

W. K. Yorkshire, 3J miles NW of B.arnsley.

Carrhouse, a hamlet in Belton parish, Lincolnshire, 2
miles N of Epworth.

Carrington, a township and an ecclesiastical parish in

Bowdon parish, Cheshire, on the Mersey, 1 mile N of Part-

ington station on the Cheshire Lines railway, 5 miles

NW of Altrincham, .and 8i SW of Manchester, with a post

office under Manchester ; money order and telegraph office,

Flixton. Acreage, 2337 ;
population, 508. The corporation

of Manchester own extensive sewage faims and market gar-

dens here. 7'he ecclesiastical parish was constituted in 1886.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Chester

;

giciss value, £230. The church was erected ui 1759. There
is a Primitive ftlethodist chapel.

Carrington, a small parish in Lincolnshire, in the fens,

5i miles K\V from Sibsey station on the G.N.R., and 7J N
of Boston, which is the post town ; money order and tele-

graph office, Mareham-le-Fen and Stickney. Acreage, 3687;
population of the civil parish, 605 ; of the ecclesiastical,

1491. It was formerly a township of Ilelpringham, but was
made parochial on the draining of Wildmore Fen in 1812,
and named after Lord Cairington, the principal proprietor.

By an order of the Local Government Board issued in 1880,
Miningsby Fen Allotment, Asgarby Fen Allotment, and
detached parts of Revesby, Boston Fen, Freiston Fen, Sever-
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ton Fen, Hundleby Fen, Tumby, Westville, Thornton-Ie-Fen,
Fishtoft, Frith Bank, Skirbeck, West Keal, Sutby, and
Bolingbroke were transfexTed to Carrington. The living is

a vicarage with Frithville annexed in the diocese of Lin-
coln ; value, £270, in the gift of the Bishop of Lincoln.

The church, erected in 1816 and enlarged in 1872, is a
plain building of brick in the Late Perpendicular style.

Carrington. See NoTTINru^A^r.

Carr-Lane, a hamlet in North Brierley township, Brad-
ford pai'ish, W. R. Yorkshhe, ne.ar Bradford.

Carrock-Fell, a mountain of the Skiddaw group in Cum-
berland, 3k miles S of Hesket Newmarket. Much of it is

rocky and broken, many parts are interesting to the miner-
alogist, and on the sunnnit, which has an altitude of 2173
feet, there is an imperfectly defined circle of stones, which
is supposed to have sun*ounded a primeval fort.

Carrog, a township, with a station on the G.W.R. in

Corwen parish, Merionethshire, 3 miles E of Corwen. It has

a post office under CoiTven ; money order and telegi-aph office,

Corwen.

Carrow, a hamlet in Trowse parish, Norfolk, within the

city boundaries of Norwich.

Carrow, a hamlet in Simonburn parish, Northumberland,
on the Roman Wall, 45 miles N of Haydon Bridge. Car-
rowburgh here was the Procolitia on the Wall where the

Batavian cohort was stationed, and two Roman altars have
been found.

Carrycoats, a township in Thockr'ington p,arish, Nor-
thumberland, 5 miles from Barresford station on the North
British radway. Post town, money order, and telegraph

office, Wark (K.S.O.) Acreage, 1722
;
population, 37.

Carshalton (pronounced Casekortoii), a village and a
parish in Sui'rey, on the L.B. & S.C.R., 12 miles from
London. The village stands on the river Wandle, which is

here joined by several copious springs rising in the parish,

and forming in the centre of the town a tine expanse of

water in which there is good trout fishing. It was known
at Domesday as Aulton, and w.is once a market-town. It

has a post, money order, and telegraph office (S.O.) Acreage
of the civil parish, 2926

;
population, 5425 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, 4374. Carshalton Park was formerly the seat of Sir

N. Throckmorton, Dr. Radcliffe, and the Scawens, and is

now the seat of the Taylor family. The parish has flour,

paper, and snuff mills, also some hu'ge ironworks. A spring

over-arched with stone, close to the churchyard, is tradition-

ally associated with Queen Anne Boleyn, and beai'S her name.
The living is a rectory in the diocese of Rochester; net value,

£270. The church is Eaidy English, restored and enlarged

in 1893 at a cost of £10,000, and contains a remarkable
brass of Sheriff Gaynesford, who died in 1490, and three ela-

borate monuments of the 18th century. There are two mission

churches, a police station, a large public h.all, and a United

Methodist chapel. The town is under the jurisdiction of the

Metropolitan police, and is governed by a Local Boaid. It

is supplied with water from works at Sutton.

Carsick-Hill, a h.amlet in Upper Hallam township,

Sheffield p.arish, W. R. Yorkshire, 3 miles W of Sheffield.

Carsington, a vill.age and a p.arish in Derbyshire, on the

Peak railway, 2| miles W of Wirksworth railway station, and
5 W of Whatstandwell Bridge. Post town, Wirksworth
under Derby. Acreage, 1141

;
population, 206. Limestone

abounds, and lead ore occurs. Lead mines were worked by
the Romans. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

Southwell; net value, £130 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Southwell. The church is small, and contains a

very ancient font. Oldfield the nonconformist, and Fame-
worth the translator of JIachiavel, were rectors.

Carswell. See Buckland, Berks.

Carter Fell, one of the Cheviots, on the boundary of

Northumberland with Scotland, 16 miles NW of Otterburn.
Its height is 1602 feet. A depression on its NE shoulder,

called Carter Bar, is traversed by Watling Street, a principal

inland route to Scotland, and was always a noted pass in the

times of the Border for.ays. A smart skirmish took place in

the vicinity of the pass, on the Red Swire in 1575, at a
judicial meeting for redressing Border wrongs, and nearly

kindled national hostilities between the Scottish king and
Elizabeth. The skirmish is commemorated in a fine old

ballad given in the " Border Minstrelsy."
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Carter Knowle, a hamlet in Ecclesall Bierlow township,

Sht-meld parish, W. K. Yorkshire, 4J miles SW of Sheffield.

Carter Moor, a iiamlet in Kirkley township, Ponteland

parish, Nurthuiuburlaiul, (i-k miles SSW of Morpeth.

Carthamartha Rocks, a gi-oup of picturesque limestone

clilVs, miles S of Launceston, in Cornwall.

Carthorpe, a village and a township in Burneston parish,

N. R. Yorkshire, near the river Swale, 4^ miles SE of

Bedale, and 2^ from Sinderby station on the N.E.K., with a

post office under Bedale ; Kirklington is the money order

and telegi-apli office. Acreage, 2112 ;
population, 310.

There are Wesleyan and Primitive IMethodist chapels.

Carting^on, a village and a township in Eothbury parish,

Northumberland, on an affluent of the river Coquet, 3 miles

NW by N of Rothbury station on the North British rail-

way. Acreage, 1906; population, 72. The Duke of North-

umberland is lord of the manor. Cartington Castle, now in

luins, was a seat of the Ratcliffes and the Widdringtons.

Cartlet or Castlett, a hamlet in Lower Guyting parish,

Gloucestershire, 4^ miles ESE of Winchcomb.

Cartmel, a small town and an ecclesiastical parish in

Lancashire. The town stands in a fine valley, overhung by

the Coniston Fells, within 2J miles of the Leven sands, 2

NE of Cark-in-Cartmel railway station, and 6i E of Ulver-

stone. Egfrid, King of Northumbiia, gave the suiTOUuding

lands to St Cuthbert ; Ethelred, a successor of Egfrid, put to

death here two rivals to his throne ; and William Mareschal,

Earl of Pembroke, founded here in 1188 a gi-and Augustinian

prioi-y. The priory enjoyed the privilege of providing guides

for the Leven and Morecambe sands, and was given at the

dissolution to Thomas Holcroft. The priory chmxh still

stands, measures 167 feet along the nave and choir, 100

across the transepts, and is now the parish church. The nave

was rebuilt in the 15th centmy, the rest is Early English;

the choir Las an eight-light transomed east window ; tlie

central steeple exhibits the curious featm'e of a diagonal

belfry on a square basement ; and the church contains carved

stalls, two ancient monuments of Prior Walton and Su- J.

Harrington, and monmnents of the Prestons, the Lowthers,

and others, and an altar-tomb erected to the memory of Lord

Frederick Cavendish, who was assassinated in Phcenix Park,

Dublin, in May, 1882. The town is partly in the townships of

Lower Allithwaite and Upper Holker, and consists of good stone

houses in nan'ow irregular streets, is a seat of petty sessions,

and has a post, money order, and telegraph office under Grange-

over-Sands. It once had a weekly market, and it still has

fairs on the Wednesday before Easter, Whit-Monday, the l\Ion-

day after 23 October, and 5 November. A grammar school

has £120 from endowment. Bishop Law was a native, and

was educated in the gi*ammar school. The parish includes

also the townships of Upper Allithwaite, Upper Holker and

Lower Holker. A medicinal spring, called the Holy Well,

exists about 3 miles south of the town, and di'aws numerous

visitors. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle
;

value, £290 with residence. Population of ecclesiastical

parish, 752. There are also a Wesleyan chapel, a Friends'

meeting-house, and au institute with reading rooms and

libi'ary.

Cartmel Fell, a township and a parish, somewhat alpine

in character, formed from that of Cartmel, in Lancasbu-e, on

the river Winster, touching also Windermere Lake on the

north-west, 8 miles from Cark-in-Cai'tmel station on the

Furuess railway, 6^ from Grange station on the same line,

and 6^ NNE of Cartmel village. Post, money order, and
telegi'aph office, Newtou-in-Cartmel. Acreage, 4982

;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 287 ; of the ecclesiastical, 332.

The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese of Carlisle
;

value, £180 with residence. Patron, the Bishop of Carlisle.

The church, wliich is a pre-Reformation building, is very

quaint and antiquated in character; in fact, quite unique.

There is a Friends' meeting-house at " The Height " (which

is very seldom open for worship).

Caxtworth, a township in Kirkburton parish, in the

W. R.Yorkshire, on a branch of the river Colne, 6 miles S of

Huddersfield, and 1 from Holmfirth station on the L. & Y.R.

It includes part of the hamlet of Scholes. Acreage, 1573
;

population, 1838. Many of the inhabitants are employed in

the woollen manufacture. There are extensive reservoirs for

supplying Batley with water.
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Canuntime. See Cakhamptox.
Carville, or Carr Ville, a village in Belmont parish, Dur-

ham, 2 miles NE of Durham. The extensive works of the

Grange Iron Company, Limited, employing about 400 hands,

are situated here. There are Wesleyau and Primitive Metho-

dist chapels, and a reading-room and institute. It has a post

office under Durham ; money order and telegi'aph office, Giles-

gate Moor.

Garwood, a township in Hopesay parish, Salop, 6J miles

SE of Bishops Castle.

Cary-Fitzpaine, a hamlet in Charllon-Mackrell pai-ish,

Somerset, 3J miles NW of Ilchester.

Cary-Ljrtes, a picturesque old seat in Somerset, 2 miles

N of Ilchester. A wing of it forming the chapel is of the

time of Edward III., and the rest is of the time of Henry

VIII.

Gary's Sconce. See Alum Bay.
Cascob, a township and a parish in Radnorshire. The

township lies in Radnor Forest, near the river Lugg, 5^ miles

W by N of Presteign, and 6 SW by S of Knighton station

on the L. & N.W.R. Post town, Presteign (R.S.O.) The
parish includes also the township of Litton, Acreage, 2827

;

population, 62 ; of the ecclesiastical parish, 07. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of St David's ; net value, £93
with residence. Patron, the Bishop of St David's. The
church is an ancient edifice, and has been restored.

Casehorton. See Cakshalton.
Casewick, a hamlet in Uffington parish, Lincolnshire, 3|

miles KNE of Stamford.

Casey-Green, a hamlet in New Forest township, Kirkby-

Ravensworth parish, in the N. R. Yorkshire, 4^ miles N of

Richmond.

Cashio, a hamlet in Herts. The hamlet is in Watford

parish, and lies adjacent to Watford town, the river Gade,

and the L. & N.W.R. It bears also the name of Cashiobury,

and it occupies the site of an ancient town of the Cassii, and
was given by King Ofla to St Alban's Abbey. Cashiobury

Park, immediately N of it, belonged once to the Morrisons

and the Capels, and is now the seat of the Earl of Essex.

The mansion is a Tudor edifice, containing many fine family

portraits, and the park is spacious, and was laid out by Le

Notre.

Caskets or Casquets, The, a group of rocks in the

English Channel, 8 miles W of Alderney. They are about a

mile in circuit, granitic, fantastically shaped, barren, and so

abrupt that a line-of-battle ship c;in pa^s within an oar's

length of them. They were long a terror to mariners, but

have now three lighthouses put up in 1723, placed triangu-

larly, connected by strong walls, and showing revolving lights

visible all round at the distance of 15 miles. Admiral Bal-

cher was wrecked on them in 1744.

Cassibelan. See Albans, St.

Cassington, a village and a parish in Oxfordshire. The
village stands near the river Isis, 2 miles ENE from Eyn-
sham station on the G.W.R., 4J miles S from Woodstock,

and 6 NW of Oxford. The parish includes also the hamlet

of Worton, and its post town is Oxford ; money order and

telegraph office, Eynsham. Acreage, 2200
;
population, 356.

The manor belonged anciently to the Montacutes, and had a

castle. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Oxford

;

net yearly value, £100. Patron, Christ Church, Oxford.

The chm-ch was built by Geoffrey de Clinton, chamberlain

to Henry 11. , and is an erection of stone in mixed styles,

chiefly Norman.

Cassop-cum-Quarrington, a scattered parish and town-

ship in Dmham. The parish lies on the Hartlepool rail-

way, about 6 miles SE of the city of Durham. It has a post

and money order office of the name of Cassop Colliery under

Trimdon Grange (R.S.O.) ; telegraph office, Thornley. The
township extends beyond the limits of the ecclesiasticiil parish

taking in the colliery and \'illage of Twisdale. Acreage,

325'.); population of township, IU'2 ; of the ecclesiastical

parish, 850. The pai'lsh comprises the villages of Cassop

Colliery, Old Cassop, Quarrington Hill, Old Quarriugton,

Heugh Hall, and Bowbm-n. The living is a vicarage in the

diocese of Durham ; net value, £300 with residence, in the

gift of the Crown and Bishop of Durliam alternately. The
church was built in 1868. There are Wesleyan and Pruni-

tive Methodiat cnapels at Cassop and Quarrmgton Hill.
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Caatellan, a township and a chapelry in Penrydd paiish,

Pembrokeshire, under Vrenin-vawr, 6 miles SSE of Cardi-

gan. Acreage, 021
;

population, 167. The chapelry is

annexed to the ^icarage of Penrydd.

Castell-Caereinion. See Castle-Caereinion.
Castell-Caerseion, a ruined ancient British town on the

coast of Ciu'narvonshire, on the summit of a sen'ated ridge, 2

miles W of Conway. It comprises traces of circular bouses,

a citadel, outworks, and comm.ands .an extensive view.

Castell-Carndoohan, an ancient British fort in Jlerio-

netbshire, G^ miles S\V of Bala.

Castell-Cidwm, an ancient British fort in Snowdonia,

Carnarvonshire, on a rugged steep of Mynydd-M.iwr, 6j miles

SE of Carnarvon. Its name signifies " the Wolf's Castle."

Scarcely a trace remains.

Castell-Coch, an ancient fort in a p.ass of its own name
in Glamorgan, on the river Taf, 3 miles SW by S of Caer-

philly. Its site is a precipitous escarpment overhanging

the pass ; its plan was triangular- with a round tower at eacli

corner, and its remains show features of the time of Henry
III. Its name signifies " the Red Castle,'' and alludes to the

tint of the sandstone of which it is built.

Castell-Cymaron, an old baronial fortalice in Llandewi-
Ysfradenny parish, Radnorshire, 10 miles E of Rhayader.
It was built by the Norm.ans, and became a seat of the Jlorti-

mers.

Castell-Dinas-Bran, an ancient fortress in Denbigh-
shire, on a conical eminence 910 feet high, rising from the

Dee in the north-eastern vicinity of Llangollen. It dates

from very early times, gave refuge to GryfFydd ap Madoc at

his .alliance with Henry III., and sustained a siege in the

conflict between Owen Glendower and Lord Gray de Ruthin.

Little more than substnictions of it exist, but they show it to

have been an oblong 2f'0 feet by 140, and very strong.

Castell-Dolbadam. See Dolbadarn Castle.
Castell-Einiou-Sais, an old baronial fortalice in Brecon-

shire, in the valley of the LTsk, near Capel Bettws. It was
built by Einion, who fought under Edwiird III.

Castell-Fleming, an ancient British fort in Cardigan-

shire, near the Sarn-Helen Way, 3 miles NW of Tregaron.

Castell-Glas, a ruined fort in Cardiganshire, on the river

Ebwy, 2 miles NW of Tregaron. It was built during the

baronial wars, and a tower and traces of the walls remain.

Castell-Gwalter, an ancient hill-fort on the coast of

Cardiganshire, 3 miles NE of Aberystwith. A castle is said

to have been built on it by Walter L'Espec, and destroyed

in 1135 by Owen Gwynedd, but a circular earthwork remaius.

Castell-Lleiniog, a small i-uined fort on the E coast of

Anglesey, 2 miles NNE of Beaumaris. It is said to have

been founded in 1098 by Hugh Lupus, Earl of Chester, was
giirrisoned for the Parliament in the Civil Wai', but captmed
by the Roy.alists. It is now a square shell, situated on a
thickly wooded mound.

Castell-Prysor, an old fort in a defile of Merionethshu-e,

between Jloel-Uchaf and the lofty heights of the Gam, 4

miles S by E of Festiniog. It is now a mere fragirient, and
it has been ascribed variously to the Britons and the Romans.
Roman coins and urns have been found at it.

Castell-Rhyfell, an ancient camp in Cardiganshire, near

a remarkable ancient British road, 4J miles E by N of Tregaron.

Castell-y-Bere, an ancient castle, 7J miles NE of Towyn,
in Merionethshire. It was once one of the largest castles in

Wales, and was visited by Edward I.

Castelnau. See Baknes.
Caster, Cester, or Chester, a word varied from the

Saxon ceasier or the Latin castrum, signifying a camp, a

fort, a castle, a fortified town, or a city, and used often, in

conjunction with other words, to designate places which had
ancient military strengths.

Casterley Camp, an entrenched area of 64 acres in

Salisbury plain, Wilts, 8^ miles SE of Devizes. It is sur-

rounded by a single vallum 28 feet high, and has a sacred

circle in the centre. Su- R. C. Hoare pronounced it " one of

the most original and unaltered works of the British era in

the county."

eastern, a hamlet in Ham parish, Staffordshue, 1 mile N
of Ham.

Casterton, a township and ecclesiastical parish iuKir-kby-

Lonsdale parish, Westmoreland, on the river Lune, adjacent

CASTLE-AN-DINAS

to the Ingleton branch of the N.W.R., Ij mile NE of
Kirkby-Lonsdale, under which there is a post and money order
office. Acreage, 4324

;
population, 442. Casterton Hall,

now the property of the Earl of Bective, was formerly the
seat of the Cams-Wilsons. The scenery is so fine as to have
been called " the pride of Lonsdale." Coal and limestone are
foimd. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Carlisle

;

net v.alue, about £260 with residence. The church was built

in 1833, and has a tower. It was restored in 1891. The
school estabUshed by the Rev. W. Caras-Wilson for the
daughters of clergymen, is widely known. Charlotte Bronte
was one of the pupils.

Casterton, Little, a parish in Rutland, on the river

Gwash, IJ mile W of Ryhall station on the G.N.R., and 2i
miles N by W of Stamford. It includes the hamlet of Tol-
thorpe, and its post town is Stamford, which is the money
order and telegraph office. Acreage, 1227

;
popidation, 188.

Tolthorpe Hall is an interesting stone building of the 14th
centm-y. The living is a rectory, united with the perpetual

curacy of Tolthorpe, in the diocese of Peterborough; joint

gross yearly v.alue, £150 with residence. Patron, Lord
Chesham. The church is partly Norman and Early I'^nglisli.

There is a Wesleyan chapel at Casterton.

Casterton Magna, or Great or Bridge Casterton, a
parish in Rutland, on Ermine Street and the river Gwash, 2
miles W from Ryhall station on the G.N.R., and 2J NW of

Stamford. It has a post office, of the name of Great Casterton,
under Stamford, which is the money order and telegraph office.

Acreage, 2303; population of the civil parish, 277; of the
ecclesiastical, 448. The manor belonged foiTOerly to the
Husseys, the Scroops, the DelawaiTS, the Wodehcads, and
others, and belongs now to the Marquess of Exeter. A
Roman station, burnt by the Picts, is known to have been
here. The entire present graveyard, given from the rectory

garden in 1892, was found in 1893 to be honeycombed with
foundations, hypocausts, &c., and coins of AUectus (a.d. 30 1)
4 feet from the surface. The living is a rectory, united with
the rectory of Pickworth, in the diocese of Peterborough ; net
yeai-ly value, £350 with residence, in the gift of the Mar-
quess of Exeter. The church was Later English, but has been
rebuilt. There is a handsome and perfect Saxon font.

Casthorpe, a hamlet in BaiTowby parish, Lmcolnshire,
2 miles W of Grantham.

Castle, a hamlet adjacent to the river Brue, in Wookey
parish, 3J miles NNE of Glastonbury, in Somersetshire. It

has an eminence adjoining it, called Castle Hill, which was
the site of an ancient stronghold.

Castle, a hamlet in Pentyrch parish, Glamorgan, 31 miles

NW of Llandafi'.

Castle, Notts. See Nottisghaji.
Castle-Acre, a village and a parish in Norfolk. The

village stands on the Pcddar Way and the river Nar, 4 miles
N of Swaff'ham station on the G.E.R. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Swaffham,and fairs on 1 May
and 5 Aug. Acreage of the parish, 3260

;
population of the

civil p:uish, 1232 ; of the ecclesiastical, 1306. There are ex-
tensive remains of a castle and a priory, founded in 1085
by the E.ard of Warrenne. The castle occupied the site of

previous works, covered an area of about 1 8 acres, and h.ad

an encu-cling embattled wall 7 feet thick. The priory was
a cell to Lewes, included an area of 29 acres, had a craci-

form church 218 feet long, a chapter-house 40 feet by 20,
and a refectory 110 feet by 26, and w.as given at the dis-

solution to the Duke of Norfolk. Part of the south-west
tower, some pillars of the nave, the walls of the transepts,

the chapter-house, the refectory, the prior's lodge, and the
gatehouse are srill standing, exhibit features from Norman
to Perpendicular, and look very pictm-esque. The living is

a vicarage, annexed to that of Newton-by-Castle-Acre, in

the diocese of Norwich
;
joint net yearly value, £277, in the

gift of the Bishop of Norwich and Earl of Leicester, the
Earl hanng two turns and the Bishop one turn. The church
is ancient, large, and good, has a loffy squtue tower, and
contains an ancient font and some curious monuments.
There are Baptist, Wesleyan, and Primitive Slethodist

chapels.

Castle-an-Dinas, a hill 2^ miles ESE of St Colnmb, in
Cornwall. Its summit has a height of 735 feet, coimnands
a superb panoramic view, was occupied as a military strength
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by Britons, Romans, and Danes, and is crowned by an earth-

work and a ruined tower.

Castle-Ashby, a village and a parish in Northamptou-
shu-e, 2 miles S from Castle-Ashby and Earl's Barton station

on the h. & N.W.R., and 8 E by S from Northampton,
under which it has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office.

It includes the hamlet of Chadstone. Area of the parish,

1078 acres; population, 109. The Castle is a seat of the

Comptons, Marquises of Northampton. It is a princely

mansion, begun in 1583 and completed in 1624, very beauti-

fully situated in park lands comprising 645 acres, Jind sur-

rounded by terraces, gardens, and pleasm-e grounds. The
Marquess of Northampton is lord of the manor and sole land-

owner. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough

;

net yearly value, about £276 with residence, in the gift of

the Marquess of Northampton. The church, .an edifice of

stone chiefly in the Decorated and Perpendicular styles, has

some very interesting brasses, effigies, and mouumeuts.

Castle-Barnard. See Barnaed-Castle.
Castlebear Hill, a locality between the river Brent .ind

the G.W.R., i mile from Castle Hill station, and 2| miles

N of Brentford, in Middlesex. A mansion here was the se.at

of the Duke of Kent.

Castleberg, a limestone cliff contiguous to Settle, \V. E.

Yorkshire. It is about 300 feet high, and commands a fine

prospect.

Castle-Bigh, a p.arish in Pembrokeshire, 5 miles N of

Clarbeston Eoad station on the G.W.R., and 10 NE of

Haverfordwest, which is the post town. Acreage, 2687

;

population, 163. Part of the surface is upland, on the skht

of the Preceley mountains. An ancient mihtary stronghold

was near here, supposed to be the Romiin station Ad Vicesi-

mum, on the maritime Julian Way. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of St David's; net value, £120. Patron, the

Crown.

Castle-Bolton. See Bolton-Castle.
Castle-Bromwich, a hiimlet and an ecclesiastical parish

in Aston parish, Warwickshire, on high ground between the

rivers Tame and Cole, 5J miles ENE of Birmingham, with

a station on the IM.E., and a post, money order, and tele-

graph office under Birmingham. Population, 810. Castle-

Bromwich Hall is an Ehzabethan seat, and belongs to the

Earl of Bradford. Whateley Hall and Stechford Hall are

other residences. An ancient castle is supposed to have

stood on an eminence, still called Castle Hill. Traces of

Roman entrenchments exist, and ancient weapons have been

found. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Worcester

;

net value, £183. Patrou, the EiU-1 of Bradford. The church

is a pliiin red brick structme in the Italian style.

Castle-Bytham. See Bytiiam-Castle.

Castle-Caereinion, a village and a parish in Jlontgomery-

shire, 4^ miles WSW of Welshpool. The village has a post

office under Welshpool ; money order and telegraph office,

Llanfah. The prvrish includes the townships of Castle, Gaer,

Moydog, Sylfaen, Trefnant, Cwmgoror, Hydan-Ucha, Hyd.an-

Doi, Nantforch, and Trehelig. Acreage, 6731
;
population

of the civil parish, 686 ; of the ecclesiastical, 642. The

living is a rectory in the diocese of St Asaph ; value, £420
with lesidence. Patron, the Lord Chancellor.

Castle-Camps, a parish in Cambridgeshire, on the verge

of the county, 3 miles SE from Bai'tlow station on the

G.E.R. It has a post office under Cambridge; money order

and telegi-aph office, Haverhill. Acreage, 3184
;
population,

859. The m.anor was given at the Conquest to Aubrey de

Vere. The De Veres made over the property to the Skinuer

family, one of whom was Lord Mayor of London, .and it

changed hands again before it came to Thomas Sutton

about 1603. It was given by him to the Charter House,

London. A castle of the De Veres stood on it, and ap-

pears to have been magnificent, but is now represented by

only a deep moat round a farmhouse on its site. Large en-

trenchments of the East Angles and the Danes were in the

parish, and these, with the castle, gave rise to the name of

Castle-Camps. The liWng is a rectory in the diocese of Ely;

net yearly value, £424 with residence. Patron, the Char-ter-

House of London. The church is a stnicture of flint .and

rubble in the Perpendicular style. It was restored in 1883.

There is also a Congregational chapel. In 1886 the Cam-
bridgeshire portion of Helions Bumpsted parish was amal-

CASTLE-COMBE

gamated with this parish. Camps-End is a hamlet J a mile

W of the church.

Castle-Carlton. See Carlton Castle.
Castle-Carrock, a parish in Cumberland, on the river

Gelt, under Cumrew Fell, 2 miles SE of How-Mill rail-

way station, and 4 S of ISrampton. It has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Carlisle. Acreage, 3031

;

population of the civil parish, 236 ; of the ecclesiastical,

262. Limestone and freestone abound, and there are two
mineral springs. Tr.aces exist of two ancient militarystrengths.

The living is a rectory in the diocese of Carlisle ; value,

£206 with residence. Patrons, the Dean and Chapter of

Carlisle. The church was restored in 1888. There .are also

Congregational and Wesleyan chapels, and a school endowed
with 20 acres of land.

Castle-Cary, a small town and a parish in Somerset.

The town stands on slopes, amid chai-ming environs, and
has a station on the G.W.R., 121 miles from London. A
castle was built here by the Lovells, and made a figure

in the civil w.ars of the time of Stephen, but was then

destroyed. The foundations of the keep were uncovered in

1890. A manor-house adjacent, or a smaller house, gave

shelter to Charles II. after the Battle of Worcester, but has

been entirely rebuilt, A beautifully-broken hillside, called

Castle-Caiy Park, commands an extensive view. The prin-

cipal street of the town runs up a steep hill. The market-

house is an elegant edifice, built in 1855 at a cost of £2300,
and contains an assembly-room upwards of 50 feet long.

The parish church stands on a rising ground, has a tower

and spire erected in 1856, is itself partly Perpendicular

English of the time of Henry VII., pai-tly recent reconstruc-

tion, and contains an old font and a richly carved 16th

century pulpit with modern figures. There ai'e Congrega-

tional and Wesleyan chapels. The town is p.aved and well

di'ained, and is supplied with water from springs at the

source of the little river Carey. It has been much improved

in recent years, and several new houses erected. The Boyd
Liberal Institute w.as opened in 1885. The town has a bank

and a head post office. Every alteni.ate Tuesday there is a

cattle market, and fairs are held on the Tuesday before

P.alm Sunday, 1 May, Whit Tuesday, and the Tuesday after

19 Sept. Some trade is carried on in flax spinning and

hair-cloth weaving. The pai'ish includes also the hamlets

of Clanville, Dimmer, and Cockhill, and the manor of Fox-

combe. Acreage, 2629
;
population, 2096. The living is a

vicarage in the diocese of Bath and Wells ; value, £260 with

residence. Patron, the Bishop of Bath and Wells.

Castle-Church, a parish in Staffordshhe, adjoining the

south-western suburbs, pai'tly within the borough of Stjilford,

and including the hberty of Forebiidge and the townships

of Burton and Rickerscote. Post town, Stafford. Acreage,

3933
;

popixlation of the civil parish, 6384 ; of the eccle-

siastical, 1154. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Lichfield ; net v.alue, £182 with residence. Patron, the

Bishop of Lichfield. The church is an ancient building,

partly Norman and Early English, and was restored in 1844.

It is situated near Stafford Castle. St Paul's, Forebridge,

is a separate ecclesiastical parish within the borough of

Stafford. The church is a cruciform edifice erected in 1844.

Castle-Combe, a village and a parish in Wilts. The village

stands near Akeman Street, 6i miles WNW of Chippenham
station on the G.W.R. It has a post office under Chippen-

ham; money order and telegraph office, Yattou Keyrrell. It

was once a place of some note, and had a weekly market, and

it still has a fair for cattle, sheep, aird horses on 4 May. An
ancient market-cross is in it; a number of gable-fronted old

houses line its streets, and an old dowry-hoirse and an old

manor-house stand, the one .at the end of its principal street,

the other in the near neighbourhood. A Saxon fort, or even

a Roman camp, is supposed to have crowned air adjacent

hill, and a gi'cat castle of the Dunstanvilles was built there

.about the year 1200, and dismantled before the close of the

14th centmy. The manor passed from the Dunstanvilles to

the Badlesmeres and others, and belonged for about 500

years to the Scropes. The present mansion occupies a

romantic site on the Box brook, deeply embosomed among
steep and wooded slopes. Two notable occupants of tlie

manor were Lord Cliancellor Scrope, of the time of Richard II.,

and William Scrope, author of "Days of Deer Stalking."
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Acreage of the parish, 1555; population, 459. The living

is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester and Bristol ; net

value, £300. Most of the church is Early Perpendicular.

It consists of nave, chancel, and two aisles, with a square

tower; was restored in 1851 at a cost of £3000, and con-

tains an octagonal font and a cenotaph of the Scropos, and

some fine stained glass windows. The tower, which is very

fine for a village church, was commenced in 1434. There

are Coni^reiiational and Baptist chapels.

Castle Crag. See Borrowdale, Cumberland.

Castle-Ditch, an ancient camp on Little Haldon Hill, 2j
miles \V of Dawlish, in Devon. It is circular, and 124 yards

in diameter.

Castle-Ditch, an ancient camp, 4 miles SE of Hindon,

in Wilts. It is triangular, includes 24 acres, and has a

treble ditch and ramparts 40 feet high.

Castle-Donington, a town and a pai'ish in Leicestershire.

The town stands near the river Trent, and has a station on

the U.R., is miles SE from Derby, and 7j NW by N of

Loughborough. It was known at Domesday as Dunitone;

it takes the iirst part of its present name from an old castle,

now a fragment, said to have belonged to John of Gaunt; and

it contains vestiges of a monastery foimded in the time of

Henry II. It has a post, money order, and telegraph ofhce

under Derby. Acreage, 3840; population, 2591. The
living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly

value, £205 with residence, in the gift of Lord Donington.

The church is very old, has a large chancel, with fine east

window, and a handsome spire 180 feet high, and contains a

double canopied brass of 1458, and some old effigies. There

are Baptist, Congi-egational, and \yesleyan chapels, and the

Society of Friends have a meeting-house. The town possesses

a large silk factory, and malting, tannmg, plaster making,

and brick making are also carried on. Other industries are

basket making, framework knitting, and the manufacture of

hosieiT. The manor belonged formerly to the Plantagenets

and the Huntingdons, and belongs now to Earl Cowper.

Donington Park, a mile west of the town, is a grand edifice

in a mixed style of Pointed and Tudor by Wilkins, has pic-

turesque grounds of 400 acres, and contains an extensive

hbraiy and a large collection of valuable paintings.

Castledoor or Castle-Dor, a locahty 2^ miles N of

Fowey, in Cornwall. It takes its name from a small ancient

camp, probably Danish.

Castle-Dyke, an ancient camp on high mounds, in Ug-
brooke Park, IJ mile SSE of Chudlcigh, in Devonshire. It

is circular, and thought to be Danish, but has outworks of a

much later time than that of the Danes.

Castle-Dykes, a Roman camp at Farthingstone, in North-

amptonshire. It includes 13 acres, and is double-ditched.

It is thought to have been occupied by Ethelfleda, and burnt

in 1013 by the Danes.

Castle-Dykings, a parish in Lincolnshire, within the city

boundaries of Lincoln.

Castle-Djrrran, a hamlet in Cilymaenllwyd parish, Car-

marthenshire, 3 miles NE of Narberth.

Castle-Eaton, a small village and a parish in Wilts.

The village stands on the river Thames, adjacent to the

Thames and Severn Canal, 3j miles ENE of Cricklade, and

6^ NE of Purton railway station. The parish includes also

the tithing of Lushill. It has a post and money order ofhce

under Fairford ; telegi'aph office, Fairford. Acreage, 1979;
population, 288. Lushill House is the seat of the Archers.

A place called the Butts seems to have been notable in old

times for the practice of archery. The parish is famous for

cheese. The li^^ng is a rectory in the diocese of Gloucester

and Bristol ; value, £625 with residence. The chm*ch dates

from about 1400, and has a singular cupola. It has been

much improved, the tower having been restored, and four

stained glass windows placed in the chancel.

Castle-Eden (anciently Yoden or Jodene), a township and
a parish in Durham. (Yoden is probably from Yew-dene.

There are several denes along the coast called after the pre-

vailing trees.) The ri\*ulet traverses a romantic dell, called

Castle-Eden Dene, and flows eastward to the sea. The town-

ship, which is vei7 scattered, includes the following small

places :—Factory, Foundi-y, and Wellfield, and lies near the

Hartlepool and Feriyhill railway, 7 milesNW by W^ of Hartle-

pool, and has a station on the railway. There is a post office
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near Castle-Eden station (K.S.O.); money order and tele-

graph office, Castle-Eden station. The parish comprises

1949 acres; population, 1257. The manor belonged an-
ciently to Gisborne Priory and the see of Durham. Castle-

Eden Castle, the seat of the Burdon family, is a handsome
modern castellated edifice, surmounting a wooded precipice

contiguous to Castle-Eden Dene, and commanding brilliant

views. Coal is extensively worked, and there are brick and
tile works and a brewery, A cattle market is held fort-

nightly, and there is an annual horse show. The living is a
rectory ni the diocese of Durham

;
gross value, £270 with

residence. The church was built in 1764, and has been en-

larged at various times, is in the Early English style, and
has a fine spire. Near here have been found certain re-

mains, which are supposed to have formed the Saxon vilhige

of Yoden.

Castle-Eden Colliery. See Monk Hesleden.
Castleford, a town and a parish in the W. R. Yorkshire.

The town lies in a valley, 7^ miles ENE of Wakefield, and
9 from Leeds. The river Aire divides it from the township
of Allerton Bywater, and is largely used by vessels for con-
veying coals to Goole and Hull, and a considerable number
of steam tugs are employed in towing them to the sea. The
Leeds and other markets are by this river continuously sup-
plied with foreign fruit and vegetables. Castleford has a

head post office. The principal railway station at Castleford

is a joint station of the N.E., L. & Y., and G.N.R. Acreage
of the civil parish, 564

; population, 14,143 ; of the ecclesias-

tical, which includes Glass-Houghton, 15,620. There are

several colliery villages adjacent to the town, and within

a radius of 3 miles the population amounts to nearly

30,000. The Roman station Legiolium is supposed to

have been here, and Roman coins, urns, and tessellated

pavement have been found. Coal-mimng, glass-making,

malting, and chemical and earthenware manufacture are

largely carried on, and have occasioned a considerable

increase of population. Fryston, Wheldale, and Glass-

Houghton collieries employ upwards of 3500 hands, and the

various glassworks about 2400. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of York
;
gross value, £800 with residence. Patron,

the Duchy of Lancaster. The chui-ch is a building in the

Early EngUsh style, erected in 1866-67 on the site of the

ancient church. There are also one Roman Catholic, three

Wesleyan, three Primitive Methodist, a Free Blethodist, and
Congregational chapels, a market hall and mechanics' insti-

tute, almshouses, and a cemetery. Castleford also has two
of the most flourishing co-operative stores in Yoikshu'e.

The town is governed by a local board.

Castleford, a hamlet in Ipplepen parish, Devon.

Castle-Frome, a parish in Herefordshue, on the river

Frome, 5 miles NNE of Ashperton station on the G.W.R.,
and 6^ NNW of Ledbmy, which is the post town ; money
order office, Bosbury ; telegi'aph office, Ashperton railway

station. Acreage, 1567
;
population, 165. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Hereford ; net value, £222 with resi-

dence. The chm'ch is small, consisting of chancel, nave, and
tower, with spu'e, and was restored in 1878; it contains a
curious Norman font.

Castlegate. See York.
Castle-Gresley, a township in Church-Gresley parish,

Derbyshire, 4^ miles SE by E of Bm'ton-upon-Trent, and
^ mile from Gresley station on the fil.R. There is a large

brewery here, also a post and money order office under
Burton-upon-Trent ; telegraph office, Gresley (R.S.) The
area is 614 acres

;
population, 864.

Castle-Hedingham, a \-iIIage and a parish in Essex.

The village stands on the river Colne, and on the Colne
Valley railway, on which it has a station, 4 J miles NW of

Halstead, is a seat of petty sessions, and has a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Halstead, Acreage, 2436

;

population, 1028. A grand castle was built on an adjacent

eminence, in the early part of the 12th century, by Aubrey
de Vere, Eai-1 of Oxford ; was the death-place of Queen
Maud, made a gi-eat figure in the wars in the time of King
John, was the scene of a sumptuous entertainment to Henry
VII., suffered much demohtion in 1592 by Edward de Vere,

and was reduced to ruin in 1666 in the first Dutch War.
Only the keep of it now stands, and this is pure Anglo-

Norman, 62 feet wide, 55 feet broad, and about 100 feet
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high—the walls from 10 to 13 feet thick— the height dis-

posed in five storeys, pierced with loop-holes and narrow

windows. A Benedictine nunnery and an hospital also were

founded here by the De Veres—the former in 1108, the latter

in 1250; part of the nunnery is now a fai"mhouse. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of St Albans
;
gross yearly

value, £143 with residence. The church dates from the

time of King John, shows Norman traces, has a tower of

1616, and contains monuments of the De Veres and the

Ashursts. There is a lai"ge Congregational chapel and several

almshouses.

Castle-Hewin, an extinct ancient stronghold, at Tarn

Wadling, Cumberland, under the north side of Blaze Fell, in

the eastern ncinity of High Hesket. It is mentioned in the

old b.allad of the " Marriage of Sir Gawaine."

Castle Hill, any one of numerous eminences, in all parts

of England, either now or formerly crowned with military

works. Most of them possess little interest, except the name,

a few have vestiges or niins of ancient camps, forts, or

castles, and some give name to contiguous localities.

Castle-HlU, the seat of Earl Fortescue, in Devon, on the

river Bray, 3 miles NW by W of South Molton.

Castle-Hill Side, a h.amlet in Almondbury township and

parish of Huddersfield, W. E. Yorkshire.

Castle-Homeck, a seat in the western vicinity of Pen-

zance, in Cornwall. It belongs to the Borlase family, and

takes its name from an ancient entrenchment encirchng an

adjoining eminence.

Castle-Howard, a township in Bulmer parish, N. R.

Yorkshire, with a station on the N.E.E., adjacent to the river

Derwent, 3} miles SW of New Malton. Post town, York
;

money order office, Welburn ; telegraph office, Malton. The
mansion is the seat of the Earl of Cai'lisle, and stands

3 miles NNW of the station. It occupies the site of the old

castle of Henderskelfe, destroyed by fire, and was built in

1702 after designs by Sir John Vanbrugh. The south

front is 323 feet long, consists of a centre and two wings,

and is adoiTied at the centre with an attached Coiiuthian

portico. The north front also has a Corinthian centre,

which is surmounted by .a cupola. The great hall, situated

beneath the cupola, is 35 feet square, the dining-room 27

feet by 23, the saloon 34 feet by 24, the drawing-room

27 feet by 23, the state bedroom 26 feet by 22, the museum
24 feet square, and the .antique gallery 160 feet by 20. The

decorations, paintings, and curiosities are exceedingly rich,

and the pleasure-grounds contain statues, temples, an obelisk,

a pyramid, and a gi-and mausoleum. Queen Victoria visited

Castle-Howard in 1850, and planted a tree in the gi'ounds

Castle - Leavington, a township in Khk-Leavington

parish, N. K. Yorkshire, on a branch of the river Tees, Si-

miles SE of Yarm station on the N.E.R. Post town, money
order and telegraph office, Yarm. Acreage, 1071

;
popula-

tion, 40.

Casle-Maelgwn, the seat of the Gower f.amily, in Pem-
brokeshire, on the river Teifi, 3i miles SE by E of Cardigan.

Castle-Malwood, a walk in the New Forest, Hants, 3J
miles NW of Lyndhurst. It takes name from an old fort in

it. It contains the country seat of Sh William Harcourt,

Castlemartin, a village and a parish in Pembrokeshire.

The village stands on the coast, 6 miles WSW of Pembroke,

and has a post office under Pembroke; money order and

telegraph oihce. Angle. Acreage, 4811
;
population, 381.

An ancient entrenchment has left some vestiges. Tlie parish

extends a considerable way along a rugged co<ast. Several

ancient British and Danish remains are on the coast. The

living is a vicarage in the diocese of St David's ; gross value,

£230 with residence. Patron, Earl Cawdor. The church is

old but excellent. The hundred of Castlemai'tin is famous

for its breed of black cattle.

Castle-Wona, the quondam residence of the Dukes of

Atholl, in the Isle of JIan, adjacent to Douglas. It was a

magniiicent place, and is still surrounded by fine plantations.

Castle-Morton or Morton-Foliot, a village and a parish

ill Worcestershire, under the Malvern Hills, 4j miles SW by

W of Upton-on-Severn, and 3i S by E of Malvern Wells

station on the M.R., with a post office under Tewkesbury;

money order office, Welland ; telegraph office, Malvern Weils.

Acreage, 3701
;

population, 720. A castle of the De
Monies stood here, but has long since disappeared. The living
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is a vicarage in the diocese of Worcester
;
gross value, £300.

Patron, the Dean and Chapter of Westminster. The church
is ancient, with a Norman doorway, and was restored in

1880, and a chapel of ease for the outlying portions of

Castle-Morton and Berrow was erected in 1869 at the point
where the dioceses of Worcester, Gloucester and Bristol,

and Hereford meet. There is an almshouse for poor persons.

Castle-Northwicll, a township in Great Budworth parish,

Cheshire, on the river Weaver, in the south-westei'n vicinity

of Northwich. It obtained its name from an .ancient fortress

of which no traces remain. Acreage, 135; population,

2386. See NoRTinvicH.
Castle Precincts, extra-parochial places in the city of

Durham, the city of Bristol, and the borough of Lewes.

Castle-Rigg, an eminence Ij mile SE of Keswick, in

Cumberland. It commands an extensive and gorgeous view,

specially noted by the poets Gray and Wordsworth. Castle-

rigg, St. John's, and Wythburn form a township in the

parish of Crosthwaite. Area of the township, 3031 acres;

population, 1650.

Castle-Bings, an ancient entrenchment on the SW border

of Wilts, on Tittlepath Hill, 2i miles NE of Shaftesbury.

It consists of a ditch and lofty rampart, encloses 15^ acres,

encircles the hill, and gives it a singular shape.

Castle-Eings or Weathertmry Castle, an ancient

British camp in Dorset, 3 miles WNW of Bere-Regis. It is

rectangular, and has two ramparts and ditches. A fir plan-

tation and an obelisk are within it.

Castle-Rising, a decayed town and parish in Norfolk.

Tile town stands If mile NE of North Wootton station on

the G.E.R., and 4| NE by N of Lynn. It has a post office

under Lynn ; money order office, Lynn ; telegraph office,

HiUington. Acreage of the civil parish, 2136
;
population,

317 ; of the ecclesiastical, including Roydon, 401. A Roman
station and a Saxon fort probably were here, and a great castle

was erected on their site some time before 1176 by William de

Albini, first Earl of Sussex. Remains of the castle still exist,

and show it to have been a place of much importance. The
interior is greatly dilapidated, hut is least so in the room
where the court-leet was held. The walls of the keep are 9

feet thick, the encompassing ditch is deep, and the rampart
bold ; a strong wall, with three towers, formerly surmounted

the rampart, and the entire place was on a similar plan to Nor-

wich castle, and neai-ly as harge. Several kings made visits

to it; and Isabel, the queen of Edward II., was confined in

it from 1330, after the murder of her husband, till her death

in 1358. There are also some remains of an Anglo-Saxon

church. The town is now a small village; but was formerly

a seat of great markets, a centre of political influence, a

borough by prescription, and a seaport; and it sent two
members to parliament, till disfranchised by the act of 1832.

Tradition assumes that the sea came up to it in the same
manner that it now does to Lynn; and an old rhyme says:

—

" Rising was a seaport town
When Lynn was but a marsh;

Now Lynn it is a seaport town,
And Kisiug fares the worse !

"

The living is a rectory, united with the rectory of Roydon,

in the diocese of Norwich
;
joint net yearly value, £250 with

residence. The church is partly Norman, partly Early Eng-
lish, and was restored in 1844, 1867, and 1883. There is

an almshouse hospital, founded in the time of James II.

by Henry Howard, Earl of Northampton, which has over

£300 a year.

Castle-Bough, an .ancient camp on the N coast of Kent,

in Kemsley Marsh, 2 miles N by E of Sittingbourne. It is

an earthwork about 100 feet square, with broad ditch and

single ramp.art, and was formed by Hasten the Dane, at his

landing in 892.

Castle-Rushen. See Castletown, Isle of Man.

Castleside, a small village, forming with Healeyfield

township and Rowley hamlet an ecclesiastical parish in Dur-

ham, 3 miles SSW of Shotley-Bridge. The ecclesiastical

parish was constituted in 1864. It has a post and money
order office under Blackhill (R.S.O.) ; telegraph office, Consett.

Population, 947. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of

Durham
;
gross v,alne, £300, alternately in the gift of the

Crown and Bishop of Durham. There are Wesleyan and
Primitive Methodist chapels.
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Castle-Sowerby, a parisli in Cumberland, in Infjlewood

Forest, 3 miles NE of Carrock Fell, 3 .SE by E of Hesket-

Kewmarket, and 8 W of Plumpton railway station. It com-
prises Bustabeck-Bound, How-Bound, Kow-Bonnd, South-
ernby-Boimd, and Stockdalewath-Bound ; and its post town
is Greystoke, Penrith. Acre.age, 8C4T

;
population of the

civil p.arish, 751; of the ecclesiastical, 311. The manor
belongs to the Duke of Devonshire. An ancient fortress

once stood near the church, .ind an old circular fort is on

How-hill. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Car-
lisle; net valne, £315 with residence. Patrons, the Dean
and Chapter of Carlisle. The church has recently been

restored.

Castlesteads or Old Penrith, the Roman station Abal-
laba, on the Wall, near Plumpton railw.ay station in Cumber-
land. It measures 450 feet by 300, and the remains are

considerable; has yielded altars, inscriptions, coins, and other

relics, and gives name to an adjacent mansion, formerly the

seat of the Dacres, but now of the Johnsons.

Castle-Street, a locality on the confines of Lancashire

and Yorkshire, 1 mile from Todmorden, under which there

is a post office.

Castle-Thorpe, a p.arish in Bucks, on the verge of the

county, the river Tove, with a station on the L & N.W.R.,
and 3J miles NNE of Stony- Stratford, under which it

has a post office ; money order and telegraph office, Hans-
lope. Acreage, 1372; population of the civil parish, 441;
of the ecclesiastical, 1930. The ancient castle of the

barony of Hanslope stood here, but is represented now by
only a deep ditcli and an artificial mound. The lidng
is a chapelry anne.\ed to the rectory of Hanslope, in the

diocese of Oxford; joint gross yearly value, £127 with

residence, in the gift of the Bishop of Oxford. The church

is an old edifice, with low square tower, and has a monument
of Judge Tyrrell, of the time of Charles II. There is .also a

Wesle)'an chapel.

Castle-Thorpe, a hamlet in Broughton parish, Lincoln,

on the river Ancholme, 1 mile N of Glanford-Brigg.

Castle-Toll. See Nkwenden.
Castleton, a village, a township, and a parish in Derby-

shire. The village stands in a deep hollow, at the foot of

JI.am-Tor Mountain, 7 miles from Ch.ipel-en-Ie-Frith station

on the M.R. and L. & N.W.R., and 8 from Millers D.ale on the

M.R. Hope station on the Dore and Chinley branch of the

M.R. is only 2^ miles distant. It has a post and money order

office under Sheffield; telegraph office, Buxton. Acreage,2911;
population, 541. A steep and commanding eminence near here,

upwards of 200 feet high, is crowned by the ruined castle of

" Peveril of the Pe.ak." This is supposed by some to have been

preceded by a Saxon fort ; by others, to have been built origin-

ally by William Peveril, a son of the Conqueror. It passed

from the Peverils in the time of Hemy II. ; w!is held by the

Eiirl of Montaigne, afterw.ards King John ; was given, in the

time of Edward II., to the Earl of Wan-en
;
passed afterwards

to John of Gaunt ; and has belonged, since his time, to the

duchy of Lancaster. The keep and portions of the walls

still stand ; they consist of massive m.asonry, 9 feet thick

;

and they present a most interesting specimen of the features

of Norm.an architectiu-e. The Peak Cavern, Blue John
Cavern, and Speedwell Cavern, and all the other gi-.and

attractions of the High Peak region are visited by many
ti'avellers. The village has several hotels, a church, a Wes-
leyan chapel, a Primitive Methodist chapel, an endowed
school, and an excellent library. The church is partly Early
English, neat, and in good repair ; and has three interesting

monuments to the mineralogist Mawe, the Rev. E. Bag.shaw,

and Micha Hall. The building was much improved in 1891.

There is a peal of eight bells. The township includes the vil-

lage, and extends over neighbouring mountains. Lead ore,

flnor spar, mountain limestone, and other useful miner.als

abound. The working of lead mines long employed a large

portion of the inhabitants, but of late ye,ars has been unpro-
ductive. The manor belongs to the duchy of Lancaster, and
is leased by the Duke of Devonshire. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Southwell ; value, £260. Patron, the

Bishop of Southwell.

Castleton, a village and a township partly within and
partly beyond the borough of Rochdale, Lanca.shirc. The
township stands on the Rochdale Canal, and has a junction
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station on the L. & Y.I". It has a post, money order, and
telegraph office under Jlanchestcr. Acreage, 3812; popula-
tion, 38,509 including 31,745 in the county borough of

Rochdale. The township was extended to include parts of

Hopwood and Thornham, and is governed by a local board of

twelve members. Castleton Moor, Marland, and Trab Smithy
are also in the township. There are Roman Catholic, Con-
gi-cgational, Wesley.an and Free Methodist chapels. There
are traces of a Roman road through the township. Castleton

Hall, built about 1G88, is now a home for members of the
Wesleyan body.

Castleton, an ecclesiastical, manufacturing, and agricul-

tural parish in Castleton township, Lancashire, 2J miles

SSW of Rochdale. Post town, Manchester. Population,

6395. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Man-
chester; value, £400 with residence. Patron, the Bishop
of M.anchester. The church was built in 1862, and is a fine

edifice with a very handsome spire.

Castleton, a parish in Dorset, on the L. & S.W.R., ad-
joining Sherborne on the east, which is the post town.
Acreage, 71 ; population, 51. The living is a vicarage in

the diocese of Salisbury; value, £81.
Castleton, a vill.age in Marshfield parish, Monmouth-

shire, 5 miles SW of Newport. It h.as a post, money order,

and telegraph office under Cardiff.

Castleton, a village in Danby parish, in the N. R. York-
shire, on the Nor-th Yorkshire and Cleveland railway, 7J
miles SE of Gnisborough. It has a railw,ay st.ation with
telegi-aph, and a post and money order office under Grosmont
(R.S.O.) A Norman castle, dating from the 12th century,

formerly existed here.

Castletown, a seaport village in Portliind Isle, Dorset-
shire, 4J miles S by E of Weymouth. It has a head post
othce, a hotel, and a stone wh.arf and pier.

Castletown, a town in Kirk Malew parish. Isle of Man,
on a bay of its own name, near the southern extremity of tlie

island, 10 miles SW of Douglas, which w.is the seat of

government until 1863. Population, 2178. It has a head
post office. The b.ay is separated on the NE by only the

narrow isthmus of Langness Peninsula from Derby Haven,
measures about 2^ miles by 2, and has a white flashing light

on Langness Point and a red light on pierhead ; but is un-
sheltered from southerly winds, beset with sunken rocks, and
comparatively shallow. The town is thought to be the oldest

in the island, and was the residence of its rulers down to

comparatively recent times. It consists chiefly of stone

bouses, but the streets are somewhat naiTow and crooked.

A rivulet, called the Silverburn, runs through it to the

bay, and is crossed by two bridges for carriages and pedes-

trians. A market-place, a large square, is near the centre.

Castle Rushen, once the abode of royalty, stands on a rock

between the market-square and the rivulet, and overlooks the

country for some miles. This is said to have been erected

by the English Lords of Man in the middle ages, probably

on the site of an older stronghold of Danish origin. It re-

tains the formidable gloomy gi-andeur of the mediaeval .archi-

tecture, with massive walls and four square towers, one of

them 80 and the others 70 feet high, and has been partially

restored. A memorial to Governor Smelt, a Doric pillar, is

on the Parade. St Mary's Church, facing the Parade, is an

ornamental structure, built on the site of a previous church

in 1828. Three Roman coins were discovered at the found-

ing of the church, and a Roman altar has also been found.

King William's College, a successful public school founded

in 1830, stands at Hango Hill, and is an imposing edifice in

the Pointed style, with a tower and lantern 115 feet high.

There are a gr.ammar school and a nation.al school, besides

private education.al establishments ; also Wesleyan, Primitive

Methodist, and Roman Catholic chapels, and a literary

institution. The town has three banks and a weekly market.

Castle-Ward, one of the wards of the county of North-
umberland, extending northward from the borough boundaries

of Newcastle. It has an area of 99,374 acres, and is divided

into East and West divisions, the former comprising the

parishes of Tynemonth, Earsdon, and Wallsend, and the

latter the parishes of Gosforth, Heddon-on-the-Wall, Long-
henton, Ncwbuni, Ponteland, and St.annington, and part of

the parishes of Ovingham, St Andrew, and St .John (New-
castle), and Cramlington chapehr.
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Castlewright, a townsliip in Mainstone parish, Mont-
gomei-yshii-e, 5?^ miles S of Montgomery. Acreage, 1375

;

population, 132.

Castley, a hamlet and a township in Leathley parish, in

the W. R. Yorkshu-e, on the river Wharfe, 1^ mile from

Weeton station on the N.E.R., and 5 miles E of Otley.

Post town, Harewood ; money order office, Pool. Acreage,

51ii
;
population, 67.

Caston, a parish in Noi-folk, 1^ mile NE from Stow
Bedon station on the G.E.R., 3j miles SE of Watton, and G

WNW of Attleborough, mider which it has a post office;

money order office, Rockland All Saints ; telegraph office,

Watton. Acreage, 1575; population, 502. The living is

a rectoiy in the diocese of Norwich ; net value, £390 with

residence. The church is a fine building of flint in the

Decorated and Perpendicular styles. There is a Primitive

Metliodist chapel.

Castor, a village and an ecclesiastical parish in North-

amptonshire. The village stands on Ermine Street, adjacent

to the river Nen, 5 miles W of Peterborough, and has a sta-

tion on the L. & N.W.R., and a post and money order office

under Peterborough ; telegraph office, Peterborough. It occu-

pies part of the site of the Roman station Durobriva, and

was known to the Saxons as Castra or Dormunde-Coestre.

A nunnery was founded at it in the 7th century by a daugliter

of King Penda, and destroyed in 1010 by the Danes. The
parish contains also the hamlet of Ailesworth. Population,

1120. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Peterborough
;

net yearly value, £3GG with residence, in the gift of the

Bishop of Peterborough. The church is Norman, with highly

Decorated Norman tower, said to be the finest in England.

The spire is unique and of 14th century work. It exhibits

curiously the features and decorations of the NoiTnan period.

The vicarages of Sutton and Upton, foi'merly chapelries, are

now separate charges. Bishop Madan was rector. There

are Congregational and Free Methodist chapels. Milton

House, about 1^ mile from the village, a fine countiy seat

of the Wentworth-Fitzwilliam family, stands in a park of

600 acres.

Castor, Lincoln. See Caistor.

Caswell, a tithing in Portbury parish, Somersetshire, 5^

miles W of Bristol.

Caswell-Bay, a small bay in Glamorgan, 2 miles SW of

The Mumbles (Uystermouth). Its shores are picturesque.

Cataractonum. See Catterick.
Cat Bells, a mountain on the SW of Derwent Water, in

Ciimberlnnd. Its height is 1482 feet.

Catchburn, a hamlet in Morpeth-Castle township, Mor-
peth parish, Northumberland, 1^ mile S of Morpeth.

Catchem's End, a hamlet in Pattishall parish, North-

amptonshire, 4h miles NNW of Towcester.

Catcherside, a township in Kirkwhelpington parish,

Northumberland, 7^ miles SE of Otterburn. Acreage, G14

;

population, 9.

Catcliffe, a township in Rotherham parish, in the W. R.

Yorkshire, 3 miles S of Rotherham. It has a post office

under Rotherham ; money order and telegraph office, Tree-

ton. Acreage, 704; population, 632.

Catcomb, a tithing in Hilmarton parish, Wilts, 3^ miles

NNE of Oalne.

Catcott, a village and a parish, formerly a chapelry, in

the parish of Morelinch, Somersetshire, 3 miles SSW of Sliap-

wick railway station, and 7 ENE of Bridgewater. The parish

ineludes part of Burtle hamlet. It has a post office under

Bridgewater; money order office, Edington ; telegraph office,

Edington railway station. Acreage, 2302; population, 559.

The living is a donative in the diocese of Bath and Wells;

value, X73. The church is Norman. There are two Method-

ist chapels.

Cateby. See Cai>eby, Yorkshire.

Catel or St Mary de Castro, a parish in Guernsey, 1^
mile WNW of St Peter-Port. It contains the village of

King's Mills, and has a post, money order, and telegraph

office under Guernsey. Acreage, 2659 ;
population, 2422.

The acreage and tlie population include the district of

St Matthews Cobo. The castle of a sea-king, named Le

Grand Jeffroi, stood here on an eminence, commanding an

extensive view of the sea, and was destroyed in lOGl by

William, Duke of Nonnandv. A church, dedicated to the
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Virgin, was built on the castle's site out of its materials, and
hence the name St Mary de Castro. The living is a rectory

in the diocese of Winchester; value, £134 with residence.

Patron, the Governor. The church appears still to retain

portions of the original one of the castle, has a Norman
transept and a spire, and has been repaired. Cattle fairs are

held at Easter, Midsummer, and Michaelmas.

Caterham, a village and a parish in SuiTcy. The village

stands on the S.E.R., 7 miles S by E of Croydon, and 16
from London. It has a head post office. Acreage, 2438;
population of the civil parish, 7298 ; of the ecclesiastical,

5015. The Roman vicinal way, called Stane Street, went
through the paiish, and ancient works, indicative of warlike

operations, ai-e in it near a place called Warcoppice. The
living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Rochester; value, £216.
Tlie church is mainly Early English, and was erected in 1866.

The old parish chm*ch of St Lawrence, on the opposite side

of the road, is now used as a Sunday school. This cbnixh
probably dates from the beginning of the 14th century. The
p.atronage and advowson of the church was handed over by
King John to the abbots of Waltham, and the first rector of

whose institution, there is creditable records, was Hugh de

Aungeer, who was instituted in 1312. The perpetual curacy

of Caterham Valley is a separate charge, and was constituted

in 1866. The Warehousemen and Clerk's Orphan Asylum,
usually believed to be in Caterham, but really in Beddmgton,
was built in 18G5 at a cost of about £20,000, is in the Venetian
Gothic style, and has accommodation for 150 boys and girls.

A fine Roman Catholic church was opened in 1881. The
Metropolitan District Asylum for insane persons and im-
beciles, erected in 1870, is situated in the upper part of

this pai-ish. Adjoining tlie asylum are barracks for the re-

ciiiits of the brigade of Foot Guards.

Caterham Valley, a district lying round the Caterham
railway station, containing two ecclesiastical parishes—St
Jolm's, formed in 1884, and St Luke's, formed in 1866.

value of the living of St John's, £200 ; of St Luke's, £140.
There is a public hall, a cottage hospital, and a post, money
order, and telegraph office.

Catesby or Catesby Abbey, a parish in Northampton-
shire, on the verge of the county, near the Oxford Canal,

4 miles SW of Daventry, and G ESE of Southam Road station

on the G.W.R. It includes the hamlet of Newbold Grounds,

and its post town and telegraph office is Daventry; money
order othce, Helidon. Acreage, 2017; population, 78. A
Benedictine nunnery was founded here as early at least as the

time of Richard I. by Robert de Esseby, and given at the

dissolution to John Onley. Catesby House occupies the

nunnery's site, belonged to the Parkhursts, and was the birth-

place of Parkhurst, the Greek and Hebrew lexicographer.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Peterborough
;

value, £50. The church was long in ruins, and a new one

instead of it, incorporating some fine materials of the old,

was erected in 1861.

Catfield, a village and a parish in Norfolk, adjacent to

Barton and Hickling Broads, 8 miles SE of Worstead, with

a station on the 1\L & G.N. Joint railway, and a post and
money order office under Great Yarmouth ; telegi-aph office

at the railway station. Acreage of the parish, 24G1
;
popula-

tion, 590. Catfield Hall is a residence of the Lubbock family.

The living is a rectoiy in the diocese of Norwich ; net yearly

value, £412 with residence, in the gift of the Bishop of

Norwich and a private patron alternately. The church is

an ancient building of flint and stone in the Decorated style.

There is a Primitive Methodist chapel.

Catford, an ecclesiastical district in Kent, formed in

1888. It is in the civil parish of Lewisham, and has a

station on the S.E.R. called Catford Bridge, 6 miles from
London. It is in the S.E. postal district. It has rapidly

increased in recent years, and has a population of 4775.

The church of St Laurence was erected in 1887, and is in

the Early English style, with accommodation for 1000 wor-

shippers. The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Roches-

ter; gross value about £250, derived from voluntary offerings,

in the gift of the Bishop. There is a mission church, and
Baptist, Wesleyan, and Congregational chapels.

Catforth, a hamlet in Wood Plumpton township, Lanca-

shire, with a post office under Preston, and a Primitive

Methodist chapel.



CATFOSS

Catfoss, a township ia Sigglesthorne parish, E. R. York-

shire, 4J miles W of Hornsea. Post town, Hull; money

order and telegraph office, Leven. Acreage, 1087
;
popu-

lation, 55.

Cathanger-cum-Stowey, a tithing in Fivehead parish,

Somersetshire, 4J miles SW of Langpovt.

Cathargoed, Cathilas, and Glynn, a conjoint hamlet

in Lhinfihangel-Aberbythych parish, Carmarthenshire, 6

J

miles S of Llandilofawr.

Cathays, a suburb of Cardiff.

Cathbrigion. See Cadbury, South.

Cathedine, a parish in Breconshire, 7 miles from Criclc-

lioweli, 7 from Brecon, and 7 SSW of Talgarth, on the border

of Llangorse Lake. It contains the nominal ancient borough

of Blaenllyn6, and its post town is Bwlch (R.S.O.) Acreage,

1654 ; population, 1G4. The living is a rectory in the diocese

of St David's ; net value, £110. The church is ancient, but

was partly restored in 18G7.

Catherine, St, a village and a parish in Gloucestershire.

The village is suburban to Gloucester city, within the borougli,

on its north side. The parish includes also the hamlets of

Kingsholm and Longford, the former within the borough,

the latter not. Acreage, 201 ;
population of the civil parish,

2594; of the ecclesiastical, 3511. See Gloucester.
Catherine, St, a parish in Somersetshire, on the verge

of the county, 3i miles WNW of Bos railway station, and

3| NE by N of Batli. Acreage, 1041; population of the

civil pai'ish, 112; of the ecclesiastical, 1837. The manor
belonged to the abbots of St Peter's, Bath, and their residence,

an edifice of 14it9, with a porch added in the time of Charles

L, is still standing. The living is a perpetual curacy, an-

nexed to the vicarage of Batheaston, in the diocese of Bath

and Wells ; net value, £303, in the gift of Christ Church,

Oxford. The church was built about the same time as tlie

abbot's residence, and contains a carved pulpit, a Norman
font, and an altar-tomb of 1G31.

Catherine, St, a western suburb of Guildford, in Sun'ey.

It has a post, money order, and telegi'aph office under Guild-

ford. A small hill at it is surmounted by a ruined chapel of

tlie time nf Edward II., commanding a fine view.

Catherine's Bay, St, a bay on the east side of Jersey,

8^ miles E by N of the south-eastern extremity of the island.

It measures nearly 2 miles across the entrance, but does not

penetrate more than f of a mile. Vast works by govern-

ment were commenced to convert it all, with some area out-

ward, into an artificial harbour, 3 miles in circumference, to

serve as a harbour of refuge and as a war naval station ; but

after an enormous sum had been spent it was found that

the situation was a bad one, and that from the set of the

tides the harbour would be very liable to silt up, so, with the

exception of a lighthouse, nothing has been completed.

Catherine's Down, St, a hill on the south coast of the

Isle of Wight, 4| miles W of Ventnor. It is 7Ci» feet high,

and about a mile long, and commands a full view of most

part of the island, and of a great tract of the mainland. A
hermitage was built on it at an early period, a chapel suc-

ceeded the hermitage in 1323, and the belfry of this, an

octagonal stnicture 35 feet high, with a pyramidal roof, still

stands, and sen'es as a seamark. A lighthouse was com-
menced adjacent about 1780 but never finished ; in its place

one was erected on the sea-clifif beneath. A column 72 feet

high is on the north end of the hill, erected by Michael Ilay,

a Russian merchant, to commemorate the Emperor Alexander's

visit to England in 1814.

Catherine's Hill, St, an eminence adjacent to the river

Itchen, 1^ mile SSK of Winchester, in Hants. Its summit
has foundations of an ancient chapel, is engirt by a deep fosse

which probably belonged to a Roman camp, and commands
a tine view of Winchester and the circumjacent country.

Catherine's Hill, St, an eminence on the south-west

border of Hants, adjacent to the river Avon, 2 miles NW of

Christchurch. It has barrows, ancient earthworks, and re-

mains of a small, square, double-ditched camp, and commands
a fine view.

Catherine-Slack, a village in Northowram township,

Halifax parish, W. R. Yorkshire, 2 miles NE of Halifax.

Catherine's Point, St, a headland in the Isle of Wight,

the southernmost land of the island, under >St Catherine's

Down, 4| miles WNW of Ventnor. A coastguard station
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and a lighthouse are here, the latter a handsome structure of

1840. It is one of the few lighthouses with electric light,

which is very powerful.

Catherine's Tor, St, a conical hill on the north coast of

Devon, in the western vicinity of Hartland. The foundations

of a Koman building have been discovered on its summit.

Catherington, a village and a parish in Hants. The
village stands about a mile NNW of Horndean, under Cath-
erington Down, near Bere Forest, 3J miles NW by W of

Rowlands Castle railway station, and 5^ NNW of Havant.

It has a post office under Horndean, Acreage, 5279 ;
popu-

lation of the civil parish, 1413 ; of the ecclesiastical, 130!>.

The living is a vicarage in the diocese of Winchester; net

value, £140 with residence. The church is Early Norman,
has a massive tower, and contains a fine old monument of

Chief-Justice Hyde. It was built by Henry, Bishop of Win-
chester, brother of King Stephen, and was restored in 1883
at a cost of X4000. Admiral Sir Charles Napier is burled

here, and there are several tablets to the Napier family.

Charles Kean and Mrs Kean are also buried here. There is

a workhouse at Horndean.

Catherston-Lewston, a parish in Dorsetshire, on the

river Char, 3 miles NE of Lyme-Regis, and Gj WNW of

Bridport railway station. It has a post office under Char-

mouth, which is the money order and telegi-aph office. Acre-

age, 245
;
population, 21. Catherston was the seat of Judge

Jeftreys. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Salisbury
;

value, £G1. The church was rebuilt in 1858, and contains

some beautiful stained glass windows.

Cathorpe. See Catthorpe.
Catisfield, a hamlet in Fareham parish, Hants, near

Fareham. In the vicinity is Catisfield Lodge, tlie seat of

the Brace family.

Catley Lane, a hamlet in the ecclesiastical parish of

Nnrden, Lancashire, near Rochdale.

Catmore, a parish in Berks, near the Ridge Way, 2f
miles WSW of East Ilsley, 8 N from Newbury, and (i N
from Hermitage station on the G.W.R. It includes Liliey

tithing, and once had a market. Post town, Wantage ; money
order olfice, Brightwalton ; telegraph ofl[ice, Chaddleworth.

Acreage, 710; population, 94. The manor has been held for

upwards of five centuries by the Eystons. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Oxford ; net yearly value, i^lOi' with

residence. The church is Norman, without tower.

Caton, a township and a chapelry in tlie parish of Lan-
caster, Lancashire. The township lies on the river Lune and
the M.R., 4j miles NE of Lancaster, includes Littledale

hamlet, and has a station on the railway, and a post, money
order, and telegraph office under Lancaster. Acreage, 839G

;

population, 1248. A rising ground commands a noble view,

much praised by the poet Gray, of the valley of the Lune,

backed by Ingleborough Mountain. There are a cotton mill,

some bobbin mills, and a brick and tile manufactory. Various

Roman relics have been found. The chapelry comprises all

the township. The living is a perpetual curacy in the diocese

of Manchester; value, £229 with residence. Patron, the

Vicar of Lancaster. The church was rebuilt in 1864. There

are Congiegational, Wesleyan, and Baptist chapels. ,The

Victoria Institute, erected in 1888, comprises reading and
recreation rooms and a concert hall. The Manchester Water-
works pass through this township.

Caton, a hamlet on Enne river, near Ivybridge, in

Devonshire,

Cator, a hamlet in Widecombe-in-the-Moor parish, Devon-
shire, (I miles NW by N of Ashburton.

Cats-Deans, a hamlet in Monks- Risborongh parish,

Bucks, near Princes-Rlsborough.

Catsfield, a parish in Sussex, near the Tunbridge-Wells

and Hastings railway, 24 miles SW of Battle, under which
it has a post, money order, and telegraph office. Acreage,

3017; population, 791. Catsfield Place, the seat of the

Hayley family, is a chief residence. Normanhurst, the resi-

dence of Lord Brassey, is situated on high land in the

northern part of the parish; it is a noble mansion containing

many fine pictures, and some rare specimens of Italian

tapestry. The living is a rectory in the diocese of Chiches-

ter; value, £301 with residence. The church is Decorated

English. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

CatsgorOf a hamlet in Somerton parish, Somerset.
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Gatsgore (formerly Keats-Gore), a locality 2 miles N of

East Ilsley, in Berks. Here were the great stables erected by
the Duke of Cumberland for his race-horses.

Catshall, a tithing in Godalming parish, Sureey, near
Godalming.

Catshill or Chadshill, a village and an ecclesiastical

parish in the civil parish of Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, 2
miles N of Bromsgrove. It was constituted a separate

ecclesiastical parish in 1843, and has a post and money
order office under Bromsgi'ove, which is the telegraph office.

Population, 2728. Nails are manufactured. The living is a
vicarage in the diocese of Worcester

;
gross value, £300 with

residence. Patron, the Vicar of Bromsgrove. The church
was built in 1838, and enlarged in 188>. There are ^\'es-

leyan, Primitive Methodist, and B.aptist chapels. Bourne
Heath is a hamlet about a mile NW, and has Wesleyan and
Primitive Methodist chapels.

Catstree, a township in Worfield parish, Salop, li mile
NW of Worfield.

Cattal, a township in Hunsingore parish, W. E. York-
shire, on the river Nidd, with a station on the N.E.R. Acre-
age, 1123

;
population, 157. There is a small Wesleyan

chapel.

Catterall, a township in Garstang parish, Lancashire, on
the river Wyre, adjacent to the Lancaster Canal, with a
station called Gai-stang and Catter.all on the L. & N.W.R.
It has a post office under Garstang (E.S.O.) Acreage, 1280;
population, 336. Catterall House is the seat of the Jackson
family. There is a Wesleyan chapel.

Catterham. See Caterham.
Catterick, a village, a township, and an extensive parish

in N.R. Yorkshire. The village stands on the river Swale,

near Ermine Street, li mile S of Catterick Bridge railway

station, and 5J miles SE of Richmond, and has a head post

office (R.S.O.) Acreage, 1738
;

population of the town-
ship, C81 ; of ecclesiastical parish, 1152. An ancient camp
was here, probably around the area now occupied by the

churchyard, and an hospital was founded in the time of

Henry III. The parish includes the townships of St Martin's,

Brough, Killerby, East and West Appleton, and Tunstall.

Brough Hall is the seat of the Lawson family. Ermine
Street crossed the Swale at Catterick Bridge, about a mile

north of the vill.age. The Roman station Cataractonum was
on this way at Thornbrough, J of a mile from Catterick

Bridge, enclosed .an area of about acres, and was w.alled

along the sides, respectively 240 and 175 yards. Substrac-

tions, pavements, an altar, a bronze vessel, coins, fragments

of pottei'y, and other Roman relics have been found. An
ancient camp is on a hill about a mile SE of the village, and
several tumuli are neai'. The living is a vicarage annexed to

Tunstall, in the diocese of Ripon; value, £723 with residence.

Patron, the Bishop of Ripon. The church is Early and Per-

pendicular English, in good condition.

Catterick Bridge, a station on the N.E.R., 3J miles E
of Richmond, N. E. Yorkshire. See Catterick.

Catterick Force, a romantic waterfall, 2i miles NW of

Settle, W. R. Yorkshire.

Catterlin, a township in Newton-Regny parish, Cumber-
land, 3| miles NW by N of Penrith. Acreage, 15G1

;
popu-

lation, 104.

Catterton, a township and a village in Ilealangh parish,

W. R. Yorkshire, 2^ miles NE of tadcaster. Post town,

Tadcaster, which is also the money order and telegi'aph office.

Acreage, 742
;
population, 50.

Catthorpe or Calthorpe, a p.arish in Leicestershire, on
the verge of the county, Watling Street, and the river Avon,
near the M.R., 4 miles ENE of Rugby, and A mile NWfrom
Lilbourn station on the L. & N.W.R. It has a post office

under Rugby ; money order office, Rugby ; telegr-aph office,

Clifton. Acreage, C45
;
population, ICO. The living is a

rectory in the diocese of Peterborough ; net yearly value,

£225 with residence. The church is a small edifice of stone

in the Early English and Perpendicular styles. The font,

east window, and sepulchral slab belong to the 13th cen-

tury. A small ch.alice bears the d.ate 15G5.

Cattistock, a parish in Dorsetshire, on the Frome, IJ
mile from Maiden-Newton station on the G.W.R., and 5 miles

WSW of Cerne-Abbas. It has a post and money order office

under Dorchester ; telegraph office, Maiden-Newton. Acre-
352
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age, 3073
; population, 520. The living is a rectory in the

diocese of Salisbury ; value, £379 with residence. The church
is good, contains a beautiful peal of bells, and a magnificent
clock with Westminster chimes. A handsome tower, 108
feet, designed by Sir Gilbeit Scott, was completed in 1878.
Thirty-three new bells were presented to the church in 1882,
forming one of the most perfect carillons that ever passed
out of the foundry of the famous SiSveran Van Aerschodt of
Louvain. There is a Methodist chapel.

Catto. See Lakdmoth-with-Catto.
Catton, a township in Croxall parish, Derbvshire, on the

river Trent, 1 mile from Croxall station on the'jI.E. It has
a post town under Burton-on-Trent ; telegraph office, Alrewas.
Acreage, 1099

;
population, 131.

Catton, a village .and a parish in Norfolk. The village

stands on high gi-onnd, amid pleasant environs, 2 miles N of

Norwich, contains several large ancient houses, and has a
post, money order, and telegraph office under Nonvich. The
parish comprises 931 acres; population, 1098. The manor-
belonged at the Conquest to Archbishop Stigand, and was
given afterwards to Norwich Cathedral. The living is a vicar-

age in the diocese of Norwich
;
gross yearly value, £17(). Pa-

trons, the Dean and Chapter of Norwich. The church is a
building of flint and stone in the Early English style, has a
round tower, surmounted by an octagon, and contains a rich

monument to T. G. Adams, Esq. Catton Hall, the seat of

the Buxton family, and Catton House are country seats in

this parish.

Catton, a grieveship in Allendale p.arish, Northumberland,
near Catton Road railway station, and IJ mile NW of Allen-
dale. It has a post office under Allendale (R.S.O.), which is

also the money order and telegraph office.

Catton, two townships and villages, and a parish in the

E. R. Yorkshire. The townships are called Low Catton and
High Catton. Post town, York; money order and telegraph

office, St.amford Bridge. Area of High Catton, 1C84 acres;

of Low Catton, 1346 acres; populations, 16G and 193. The
parish contains also the townships of East .and West Stam-
ford Bridge, with Scoreby. The lixdng is a rectory, annexed
to Stamford Bridge, in the diocese of York

;
gi-oss value,

£427 with residence. Patron, Lord Leconfield. The church
is ancient and good. There .are Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels.

Catton, a township forming part of the ecclesiastical parish

of Skipton-upon-Swale, N. R. Yorkshire, on the river Swale,

5 miles SW of Thirsk, which is the post town ; money order,

telegi-aph office, and railway station, Topclifle. Acreage,

842
;
population, 118.

Catwater or Plym, The, a river of Devonshire. It rises

in Dartmoor, near Sheep's Tor, and runs 16 miles south-south-

westward to Plymouth Sound, at Plymouth. It there forms

inside of Mount Batten a good estuarial harbour, and is

crossed by a five-arclicd iron bridge 500 feet long, erected in

1827.

Catwick, a village, a township, .and a parish in the E. R.

Yorkshire, 5 miles from Hornsea station on the N.E.R., 4^
from Whitedale station, and 8 from Beverley. Post town,

Hull ; telegraph office, Leven. Acreage of township, 1570;
population, 231. The living is a rectory in the diocese of

York; net value, £160 with residence. Patron, the Lord

Chancellor. The church was rebuilt in 1864, and is in the

Decorated English style. There ai'e Wesleyan and Primitive

Methodist chapels.

Catworth, Great, a parish in Huntingdonshire, 3J miles

N by W of Kimbolton, IJ NW from Kimbolton station on

the M.K., and 7 ESE of Thrapston. It h.as a post office of

the name of Catworth under Huntingdon ; telegraph office,

Kimbolton. Acreage, 3094 ;
population of the civil parish,

547 ; of the ecclesiastical, 524. The living is a rectory in

the diocese of Ely ; net yearly value, £365. Patron, Brase-

nose College, Oxford. The church is an ancient building

of stone in the Decorated and Perpendicular styles. There

are Baptist and Wesleyan chapels, and some small charities.

Catworth, Little, a chapelry in the ecclesiastical parish

of Stow Longa, Huntingdonshire, 3J miles North of Kim-
bolton, and 8 ESE of Thrapston. Post town, Catworth,

which is the money order office ; telegraph office, Kimbolton.

The church is in ruins. Little Catworth is attached for civil

purposes to Great Catworth.
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